
           

CALENDAR FOR THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY
AND FOR SPECIAL DISTRICTS, AGENCIES, AND AUTHORITIES GOVERNED BY THE BOARD

BOARD CHAMBERS ROOM 107, ADMINISTRATION BUILDING, 651 PINE STREET

MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 94553-1229

KAREN MITCHOFF, CHAIR, 4th DISTRICT 

JOHN GIOIA, VICE CHAIR, 1st DISTRICT

CANDACE ANDERSEN, 2nd DISTRICT

MARY N. PIEPHO, 3rd DISTRICT

FEDERAL D. GLOVER, 5th DISTRICT

DAVID J. TWA, CLERK OF THE BOARD AND COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR, (925) 335-1900

PERSONS WHO WISH TO ADDRESS THE BOARD DURING PUBLIC COMMENT OR WITH RESPECT TO AN ITEM THAT IS ON
THE AGENDA, MAY BE LIMITED TO TWO (2) MINUTES.

A LUNCH BREAK MAY BE CALLED AT THE DISCRETION OF THE BOARD CHAIR.

The Board of Supervisors respects your time, and every attempt is made to accurately estimate when an item may be heard by the Board. All times specified for
items on the Board of Supervisors agenda are approximate. Items may be heard later than indicated depending on the business of the day. Your patience is
appreciated.

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA

January 21, 2014

             

10:00 A.M. Convene, Call to Order and Opening Ceremonies

Inspirational Thought- "The ultimate measure of a man is not where he stands in moments of

comfort and convenience, but where he stands at times of challenge and controversy." ~Martin

Luther King, Jr.
 

CONSIDER CONSENT ITEMS (Items listed as C.1 through C.44 on the following agenda) –

Items are subject to removal from Consent Calendar by request of any Supervisor or on request

for discussion by a member of the public. Items removed from the Consent Calendar will be

considered with the Short Discussion Items.
 

PRESENTATIONS (5 Minutes Each)
 

PR.1   PRESENTATION honoring the 100th Anniversary of the United States Power

Squadrons. (Marta Van Loan and Kevin Blatter)

 

 

PR.2   PRESENTATION honoring Richard Cabral upon his retirement from Contra

Costa County. (Supervisor Mitchoff and Supervisor Piepho)

 

 

SHORT DISCUSSION ITEMS

 

SD. 1 CONSIDER Consent Items previously removed.



 

SD.2   CONSIDER waiving the 180-day sit-out period for Joelle Luhn, Retirement

Communications Coordinator with the Contra Costa County Employees'

Retirement Association, and APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the hiring of Joelle

Luhn as a temporary County employee until the permanent position is filled.

(Marilyn Leedom, Retirement Chief Executive Officer)
 

11:00 A.M.
 

SD.3   36th Annual Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., Commemoration and Humanitarian

Awards Ceremony.
 

Closed Session

A. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS

1. Agency Negotiators: David Twa and Ted Cwiek.

Employee Organizations: Contra Costa County Employees’ Assn., Local No. 1; Am. Fed., State,

County, & Mun. Empl., Locals 512 and 2700; Calif. Nurses Assn.; Service Empl. Int’l Union,

Local1021; District Attorney’s Investigators Assn.; Deputy Sheriffs Assn.; United Prof.

Firefighters, Local 1230; Physicians’ & Dentists’ Org. of Contra Costa; Western Council of

Engineers; United Chief Officers Assn.; Service Empl. Int’l Union United Health Care Workers

West; Contra Costa County Defenders Assn.; Probation Peace Officers Assn. of Contra Costa

County; Contra Costa County Deputy District Attorneys’ Assn.; and Prof. & Tech. Engineers,

Local 21, AFL-CIO.

2. Agency Negotiators: David Twa and Ted Cwiek.

Unrepresented Employees: All unrepresented employees.

 

DELIBERATION ITEMS

 

1:30 P.M. 

 

D.1   HEARING to consider two appeals of the County Planning Commission's decision

to approve the land use permit for Phillips 66 Propane Recovery Project located at

1380 San Pablo Avenue, in the Rodeo area, County File LP12-2073; and consider

the certification of the Final Environmental Impact Report and related California

Environmental Quality Act findings. (Shute Mihaly & Weinberger and

Communities for a Better Environment, Appellants) (Phillips 66,

Applicant/Owner) (Lashun Cross and Aruna Bhat, Department of Conservation



Applicant/Owner) (Lashun Cross and Aruna Bhat, Department of Conservation

and Development)
 

D. 2 PUBLIC COMMENT (2 Minutes/Speaker)
 

D. 3 CONSIDER reports of Board members.
 

ADJOURN in memory of Ken Mercer, former Pleasanton Mayor.  
 

CONSENT ITEMS
 

Road and Transportation
 

C. 1   ADOPT Traffic Resolution No. 2014/4401 to establish speed limits on Rudgear

Road, and RESCIND Traffic Resolution No. 1961/0200, as recommended by the

Public Works Director, Walnut Creek area. (No fiscal impact)
 

Engineering Services

 

C. 2   ADOPT Resolution No. 2014/19 accepting completion of the warranty period

under the Subdivision Agreement (Right-of-Way Landscaping) for road

acceptance RA05-01186, for a project developed by Shapell Homes, a division of

Shapell Industries, Inc., a Delaware Corporation, as recommended by the Public

Works Director, Danville area. (100% Developer Fees)
 

Claims, Collections & Litigation

 

C. 3   DENY claim filed by Julie Ginkens.
 

Honors & Proclamations

 

C. 4   ADOPT Resolution No. 2014/29 recognizing Yolo County Supervisor Mike

McGowan upon his appointment as Deputy Director for the California Department

of Motor Vehicles, as recommended by Supervisor Piepho and Supervisor

Mitchoff.
 

C. 5   ADOPT Resolution No. 2014/20 honoring Richard Cabral upon his retirement

from Contra Costa County, as recommended by Supervisor Mitchoff.
 

C. 6   ADOPT Resolution No. 2014/21 honoring Chinese American Cooperation

Council at the 11th Annual Chinese Cultural Day, as recommended by Supervisor

Andersen.
 



C. 7   ADOPT Resolution No. 2014/23 recognizing Lafayette Resident Brian Aiello as

the 2014 Business Person of the Year, as recommended by Supervisor Andersen.
 

C. 8   ADOPT Resolution No. 2014/24 honoring the 100th Anniversary of the United

States Power Squadrons, as recommended by Supervisor Andersen and Supervisor

Piepho.
 

Appointments & Resignations

 

C. 9   DECLARE vacant Hazardous Materials Commission Business #1 seat and

DIRECT the Clerk of the Board to post the vacancy, as recommended by the

Health Services Director.
 

C. 10   APPOINT Patricia Bristow and REAPPOINT Barbara Guise to the

Byron-Brentwood-Knightsen Union Cemetery District, as recommended by

Supervisor Piepho.
 

C. 11   REAPPOINT Alton Moody, Trudy Negherbon and William Lipsin to the County

Service Area, P-2A Citizen Advisory Committee, as recommended by Supervisor

Piepho.
 

C. 12   ADOPT Resolution No. 2014/25 correcting the terms of office for Seat 2 and Seat

2 Alternate on the Contra Costa Transportation Authority Board of Directors to

February 1, 2014 through January 31, 2016 and restating the appointment of

Board members and other individuals to serve on Board committees, special

county committees, and regional boards/ committees/ commissions for 2014, as

recommended by Supervisor Mitchoff.
 

Appropriation Adjustments

 

C. 13   Clerk-Recorder/Elections (0043): APPROVE Appropriations Adjustment No.

5040 authorizing an internal transfer in the amount of $20,000 from

Services/Supplies to Fixed Assets to cover the one-time cost to upgrade the ballot

sorter/scanner used in county elections.
 

Personnel Actions

 

C. 14   ADOPT Personnel Adjustment Resolution No. 21404 to cancel one Lieutenant

position (represented) and add one Captain (represented) position in the Office of

the Sheriff - Town of Danville Contract Police Services. (100% Town of Danville)
 

C. 15   ACKNOWLEDGE receipt of report of suspension of competition and direct



C. 15   ACKNOWLEDGE receipt of report of suspension of competition and direct

appointment in the Animal Services Department to facilitate the return to work of

a County employee through the County Rehabilitation Program, as provided for in

the Personnel Management Regulations, Section 502, as part of the County

Disability Program, as recommended by the Assistant County Administrator,

Director of Human Resources. (100% Budgeted)
 

C. 16   ADOPT Position Adjustment Resolution No. 21411 to add one Public Health

Epidemiologist/Biostatistician position (represented) and cancel one Health

Services Planner/Evaluator - Level B position (represented) in the Health Services

Department. (Offset by salary savings)
 

C. 17   ADOPT Position Adjustment Resolution No. 21412 to add one Disease

Intervention Technician Project (represented) position and cancel one Disease

Intervention Technician (represented) in the Health Services Department. (Cost

neutral)
 

Grants & Contracts
 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE execution of agreements between the County and the

following agencies for receipt of fund and/or services:

 

C. 18   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Agricultural Commissioner, or designee, to

execute contract with the California Department of Food and Agriculture in an

amount not to exceed $4,800, to inspect recycling establishments licensed as

weighmasters for the period January 1 through June 30, 2014. (No County match)
 

C. 19   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Agricultural Commissioner, or designee, to

execute a contract with the California Department of Food and Agriculture, to pay

the County an amount not to exceed $100, to enforce California seed marketing

and labeling requirements for the period July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2014. (No

County match)
 

C. 20   ADOPT Resolution No. 2014/18 approving and authorizing the District Attorney

to submit an application and execute a grant award agreement, and any extensions

or amendments thereof, pursuant to State guidelines, with the California

Department of Insurance - Fraud Division for funding of the Disability and

Heathcare Insurance Fraud Prosecution Program in the amount of $95,438 for the

period July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2014. (100% State)
 

C. 21   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Interim Librarian, or designee, to apply for and

accept a Big Read grant in the amount of $20,000 from the National Endowment

for the Arts to provide materials and programming in West County libraries for the

period September 1, 2014 through June 30, 2015. (No Library Fund match)
 

C. 22   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the District Attorney, or designee, to execute a



C. 22   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the District Attorney, or designee, to execute a

contract with Canine Companions for Independence in an amount not to exceed

$3,000 to provide a facility dog trained to work with victims of crimes to provide

comfort and assist them in remaining calm while being interviewed or providing

testimony in the courtroom. (100% Asset Forfeiture Funds)
 

C. 23   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Employment and Human Services Director, or

designee, to execute a contract with California Department of Community

Services and Development, including modified indemnification language, to pay

the County an amount not to exceed $481,046, to provide Low Income Home

Energy Assistance Program services, for the period January 1, 2014 through

January 31, 2015. (No County match)
 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE execution of agreement between the County and the

following parties as noted for the purchase of equipment and/or services:

 

C. 24   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Employment and Human Services Director, or

designee, to execute a contract amendment with InTelegy Corporation, effective

November 1, 2013, to increase the payment limit by $123,480 to a new payment

limit of $735,392, to provide integrated customer service model(s) development

and implementation for the period July1, 2013 through June 30, 2014. (10%

County, 45% State, 45% Federal)
 

C. 25   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the County Probation Officer, or designee, to

execute a contract amendment with Rubicon Programs to change the contract

termination date from December 31, 2013 to February 28, 2014 to provide reentry

services to probationers enrolled in the Second Chance Reentry Initiative, with no

change to the payment limit. (No fiscal impact)
 

C. 26   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Health Services Director, or designee, to

execute a contract with The Bay Area Cardiology Medical Group, Inc., in an

amount not to exceed $600,000 to provide professional cardiology services for the

period January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2015. (100% Contra Costa Health

Plan member premiums)
 

C. 27   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the County Probation Officer, or designee, to

execute a contract with the National Council on Crime and Delinquency in the

amount of $140,000 to provide evaluation and assessment of the County's Smart

Probation program for the period October 1, 2013 through September 30, 2016.

(100% Federal Funds)
 

C. 28   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE County Risk Manager to execute contracts with

specified legal firms for defense of the County in workers’ compensation, medical

malpractice, and civil rights claims for the period January 1 through December 31,

2014, in accordance with a specified fee schedule. (100% Self-Insurance Internal

Service Funds)



 

C. 29   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent to execute, on behalf of the

Health Services Department, a purchase order with R-Computer in the amount of

$113,000 for maintenance and upgrades on IBM servers and related equipment

software for the period January 1 through December 31, 2014. (100% Enterprise

Fund I)
 

C. 30   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent to execute, on behalf of the

Health Services Director, a purchase order with Hyland Software, Inc., in an

amount not to exceed $133,000 for renewal of annual software maintenance and

licensing for OnBase Document Management and Image Scanning Software for

the period January 1 through December 31, 2014. (100% Enterprise Fund I)
 

C. 31   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Health Services Director, or designee, to

execute a contract with DJR Healthcare Consulting, Inc., in an amount not to

exceed $552,000, to provide professional management and oversight of the

Department’s Information Technology (IT) Unit, for the period January 1, 2014

through December 31, 2015. (100% Enterprise Fund I)
 

C. 32   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Health Services Director, or designee, to

execute a contract amendment with LTP Carepro, Inc. (dba Pleasant Hill Manor),

effective November 1, 2013, to increase the payment limit by $6,000 to a new

payment limit of $174,000 to provide additional board and care services, with no

change in the original term of February 1, 2013 through January 31, 2014. (100%

Mental Health Realignment funds)
 

C. 33   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent, or designee, to execute a

purchase order on behalf of the Sheriff-Coroner with Buchanan Food Service in

the amount of $120,000 to provide bread loaves, rolls and all related bakery items

as needed for the West County, Martinez and Marsh Creek detention facilities for

the period of January 1 through December 31, 2014. (100% General Fund)
 

C. 34   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent to execute, on behalf of the

Sheriff-Coroner, a purchase order with Producers Dairy Products Inc., in an

amount not to exceed $175,000 for the purchase of dairy products as needed for

the Martinez and Marsh Creek detention facilities for the period January 1, 2014

through December 31, 2014. (100% General Fund)
 

C. 35   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent to execute, on behalf of the

Sheriff-Coroner, a purchase order with Producers Dairy Products Inc., in an

amount not to exceed $200,000 for the purchase of dairy products as needed for

the West County Detention Facility for the period January 1, 2014 through

December 31, 2014. (100% General Fund)
 

C. 36   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent to execute, on behalf of the



C. 36   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent to execute, on behalf of the

Sheriff-Coroner, a purchase order with Allen Packaging Company in the amount

of $125,000 to provide three-compartment trays for Seal-a-Meal food to be used at

the West County, Martinez, and Marsh Creek Detention Facilities for the period

January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014. (100% General Fund)
 

C. 37   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent, or designee, to execute, on

behalf of the Sheriff-Coroner, a change to a purchase order with National Food

Group, Inc., to increase the payment limit by $43,000 to a new payment limit of

$142,000, to provide frozen and dry food as needed for the West County, Martinez

and Marsh Creek detention facilities for the period April 1, 2013 through March

31, 2014. (100% General Fund)
 

Other Actions
 

C. 38   ACCEPT the Contra Costa County Planning Commission 2013 Annual Report, as

recommended by the Conservation and Development Director.
 

C. 39   DECLARE as surplus and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent, or designee, to

dispose of fully depreciated vehicles and equipment no longer needed for public

use as recommended by the Public Works Director, Countywide. (No fiscal

impact)

 

C. 40   ACCEPT a bequest from Lili Mai Albertoni-Weedin to the Health Services

Department Homeless Shelter in Concord in the amount of $450,000, as

recommended by the County Administrator.
 

C. 41   REFER to the Finance Committee a proposal to enter into a long-term vehicle

leasing, maintenance, and fleet management program for the Contra Costa County

Fire Protection District’s light vehicle fleet and a review of implementation of an

EMS First-Responder Fee to offset expenses incurred while providing Emergency

Medical Services on over 35,000 incident annually, as recommended by the Fire

Chief-Contra Costa County Fire Protection District. (No fiscal impact)
 

C. 42   ACCEPT the 2013 Annual Report from the Finance Committee, as recommended

by the County Administrator.
 

C. 43   CONTINUE the emergency action originally taken by the Board of Supervisors on

November 16, 1999 regarding the issue of homelessness in Contra Costa County,

as recommended by the Health Services Director. (No fiscal impact)
 

C. 44   APPROVE 2013-14 Policies and Procedures and Service Plan for the Community

Services Bureau of the Employment and Human Services Department. 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION



GENERAL INFORMATION

The Board meets in all its capacities pursuant to Ordinance Code Section 24-2.402, including as the

Housing Authority and the Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency. Persons who wish to

address the Board should complete the form provided for that purpose and furnish a copy of any

written statement to the Clerk.

Any disclosable public records related to an open session item on a regular meeting agenda and

distributed by the Clerk of the Board to a majority of the members of the Board of Supervisors less

than 72 hours prior to that meeting are available for public inspection at 651 Pine Street, First

Floor, Room 106, Martinez, CA 94553, during normal business hours.

All matters listed under CONSENT ITEMS are considered by the Board to be routine and will be

enacted by one motion. There will be no separate discussion of these items unless requested by a

member of the Board or a member of the public prior to the time the Board votes on the motion to

adopt. 

Persons who wish to speak on matters set for PUBLIC HEARINGS will be heard when the Chair

calls for comments from those persons who are in support thereof or in opposition thereto. After

persons have spoken, the hearing is closed and the matter is subject to discussion and action by the

Board. Comments on matters listed on the agenda or otherwise within the purview of the Board of

Supervisors can be submitted to the office of the Clerk of the Board via mail: Board of

Supervisors, 651 Pine Street Room 106, Martinez, CA 94553; by fax: 925-335-1913.

The County will provide reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities planning to

attend Board meetings who contact the Clerk of the Board at least 24 hours before the meeting, at

(925) 335-1900; TDD (925) 335-1915. An assistive listening device is available from the Clerk,

Room 106.

Copies of recordings of all or portions of a Board meeting may be purchased from the Clerk of the

Board. Please telephone the Office of the Clerk of the Board, (925) 335-1900, to make the

necessary arrangements.

Forms are available to anyone desiring to submit an inspirational thought nomination for inclusion

on the Board Agenda. Forms may be obtained at the Office of the County Administrator or Office

of the Clerk of the Board, 651 Pine Street, Martinez, California.

Applications for personal subscriptions to the weekly Board Agenda may be obtained by calling

the Office of the Clerk of the Board, (925) 335-1900. The weekly agenda may also be viewed on

the County’s Internet Web Page: 

www.co.contra-costa.ca.us 

STANDING COMMITTEES

The Airport Committee (Supervisors Mary N. Piepho and Karen Mitchoff) meets quarterly on the

first Monday of the month at 1:00 p.m. at Director of Airports Office, 550 Sally Ride Drive,

Concord.

http://www.co.contra-costa.ca.us


The Family and Human Services Committee (Supervisors Federal D. Glover and 

Candace Andersen) meets on the second Monday of the month at 1:00 p.m. in Room 101, County

Administration Building, 651 Pine Street, Martinez.

The Finance Committee (Supervisors Mary N. Piepho and Federal D. Glover) meets on the fourth

Monday of the month at 10:30 a.m. in Room 101, County Administration Building, 651 Pine

Street, Martinez.

The Hiring Outreach Oversight Committee (Supervisors Federal Glover and Karen Mitchoff)

meets on the second Monday of the month at 10:30 a.m. in Room 101, County Administration

Building, 651 Pine Street, Martinez.

The Internal Operations Committee (Supervisors Karen Mitchoff and Candace Andersen) meets

on the first Monday of the month at 10:30 a.m. in Room 101, County Administration Building, 651

Pine Street, Martinez.

The Legislation Committee (Supervisors Mary N. Piepho and Karen Mitchoff) meets on the first

Thursday of the month at 10:30 a.m. in Room 101, County Administration Building, 651 Pine

Street, Martinez.

The Public Protection Committee (Supervisors Federal D. Glover and John Gioia) meets on the

fourth Monday of the month at 1:00 p.m. in Room 101, County Administration Building, 651 Pine

Street, Martinez.

The Transportation, Water & Infrastructure Committee (Supervisors Mary N. Piepho and

Candace Andersen) meets on the first Thursday of the month at 1:00 p.m. in Room 101, County

Administration Building, 651 Pine Street, Martinez.

Airports Committee March 3, 2014 1:00 p.m. See above

Family & Human Services Committee February 10,

2014 

1:00 p.m. See above

Finance Committee February 24,

2014

10:30

a.m.

See above

Hiring Outreach Oversight Committee February 10,

2014

10:30

a.m.

See above

Internal Operations Committee Febrary 3, 2014 10:30

a.m.

See above

Legislation Committee February 6, 2014 10:30

a.m.

See above

Public Protection Committee February 24,

2014

1:00 p.m. See above



Transportation, Water & Infrastructure

Committee

February 6, 2014 1:00 p.m. See above

PERSONS WHO WISH TO ADDRESS THE BOARD DURING PUBLIC COMMENT OR

WITH RESPECT TO AN ITEM THAT IS ON THE AGENDA, MAY BE LIMITED TO

TWO (2) MINUTES

A LUNCH BREAK MAY BE CALLED AT THE DISCRETION OF THE BOARD CHAIR

AGENDA DEADLINE: Thursday, 12 noon, 12 days before the Tuesday Board meetings.

Glossary of Acronyms, Abbreviations, and other Terms (in alphabetical order):

Contra Costa County has a policy of making limited use of acronyms, abbreviations, and

industry-specific language in its Board of Supervisors meetings and written materials. Following is

a list of commonly used language that may appear in oral presentations and written materials

associated with Board meetings:

AB Assembly Bill

ABAG Association of Bay Area Governments

ACA Assembly Constitutional Amendment

ADA Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990

AFSCME American Federation of State County and Municipal Employees

AICP American Institute of Certified Planners

AIDS Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome

ALUC Airport Land Use Commission

AOD Alcohol and Other Drugs

ARRA American Recovery & Reinvestment Act of 2009

BAAQMD Bay Area Air Quality Management District

BART Bay Area Rapid Transit District

BayRICS Bay Area Regional Interoperable Communications System

BCDC Bay Conservation & Development Commission

BGO Better Government Ordinance

BOS Board of Supervisors

CALTRANS California Department of Transportation

CalWIN California Works Information Network

CalWORKS California Work Opportunity and Responsibility to Kids

CAER Community Awareness Emergency Response

CAO County Administrative Officer or Office

CCCPFD (ConFire) Contra Costa County Fire Protection District

CCHP Contra Costa Health Plan

CCTA Contra Costa Transportation Authority

CCRMC Contra Costa Regional Medical Center

CCWD Contra Costa Water District



CDBG Community Development Block Grant

CFDA Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance

CEQA California Environmental Quality Act

CIO Chief Information Officer

COLA Cost of living adjustment

ConFire (CCCFPD) Contra Costa County Fire Protection District

CPA Certified Public Accountant

CPI Consumer Price Index

CSA County Service Area

CSAC California State Association of Counties

CTC California Transportation Commission

dba doing business as

DSRIP Delivery System Reform Incentive Program

EBMUD East Bay Municipal Utility District

ECCFPD East Contra Costa Fire Protection District

EIR Environmental Impact Report

EIS Environmental Impact Statement

EMCC Emergency Medical Care Committee

EMS Emergency Medical Services

EPSDT Early State Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment Program (Mental Health)

et al. et alii (and others)

FAA Federal Aviation Administration

FEMA Federal Emergency Management Agency

F&HS Family and Human Services Committee

First 5 First Five Children and Families Commission (Proposition 10)

FTE Full Time Equivalent

FY Fiscal Year

GHAD Geologic Hazard Abatement District

GIS Geographic Information System

HCD (State Dept of) Housing & Community Development

HHS (State Dept of ) Health and Human Services

HIPAA Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act

HIV Human Immunodeficiency Syndrome

HOV High Occupancy Vehicle

HR Human Resources

HUD United States Department of Housing and Urban Development

IHSS In-Home Supportive Services

Inc. Incorporated

IOC Internal Operations Committee

ISO Industrial Safety Ordinance

JPA Joint (exercise of) Powers Authority or Agreement

Lamorinda Lafayette-Moraga-Orinda Area

LAFCo Local Agency Formation Commission

LLC Limited Liability Company

LLP Limited Liability Partnership

Local 1 Public Employees Union Local 1

LVN Licensed Vocational Nurse

MAC Municipal Advisory Council



MBE Minority Business Enterprise

M.D. Medical Doctor

M.F.T. Marriage and Family Therapist

MIS Management Information System

MOE Maintenance of Effort

MOU Memorandum of Understanding

MTC Metropolitan Transportation Commission

NACo National Association of Counties

NEPA National Environmental Policy Act

OB-GYN Obstetrics and Gynecology

O.D. Doctor of Optometry

OES-EOC Office of Emergency Services-Emergency Operations Center

OPEB Other Post Employment Benefits

OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Administration

PARS Public Agencies Retirement Services

PEPRA Public Employees Pension Reform Act

Psy.D. Doctor of Psychology

RDA Redevelopment Agency

RFI Request For Information

RFP Request For Proposal

RFQ Request For Qualifications

RN Registered Nurse

SB Senate Bill

SBE Small Business Enterprise

SEIU Service Employees International Union

SUASI Super Urban Area Security Initiative

SWAT Southwest Area Transportation Committee

TRANSPAC Transportation Partnership & Cooperation (Central)

TRANSPLAN Transportation Planning Committee (East County)

TRE or TTE Trustee

TWIC Transportation, Water and Infrastructure Committee

UASI Urban Area Security Initiative

VA Department of Veterans Affairs

vs. versus (against)

WAN Wide Area Network

WBE Women Business Enterprise

WCCTAC West Contra Costa Transportation Advisory Committee



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

CONSIDER waiving the 180-day "sit out" period for Joelle Luhn, Retirement Communications Coordinator at

the Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association;

1.

FIND that the appointment of Joelle Luhn is necessary to fill a critically needed position; and 2.

APPROVE AND AUTHORIZE the hiring of county retiree Joelle Luhn, as a temporary County employee

until the permanent position is filled, as recommended by the Retirement Chief Executive Officer. 

3.

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Marilyn Leedom, Retirement CEO,

(925) 521-3960

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on
the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of

Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Robert Campbell, Auditor-Controller,   Ted Cwiek, Human Resources Director,   Marilyn Leedom, Chief Executive Officer/CCCERA   

SD.2

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Marilyn Leedom, CCCERA Administrator

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Temporary Hire of County Retiree - Waiver of 180 day "Sit Out" Period



FISCAL IMPACT:

Approval of this request will result in an annual cost of approximately $41,697. Since County Retirement Board

positions are funded by the Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association, this request has no impact

on the County budget.

BACKGROUND:

The Public Employees' Pension Reform Act of 2013 requires that active members who retire on or after January

1, 2013 must wait 180 days after retirement to return to work. The Act also allows the Board, based on a finding

that the appointment is necessary to fill a critically needed position, may waive the 180 day period. 

Joelle Luhn retired from the Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association (CCCERA) on December

7, 2013. Prior to retiring, Ms. Luhn held the position of Retirement Communications Coordinator and was

responsible for providing communications materials to actives, retirees and the Board, as well as creating and

compiling the Consolidated Annual Financial Report (CAFR) and the Popular Annual Financial Report (PAFR)

for CCCERA.

CCCERA is actively working with Human Resources to recruit for this position with the goal of a permanent

appointment. However, the production period for the CAFR and PAFR begins in late January and the recruitment

and selection process will not be completed by that time. 

Due to this vacancy in a critically needed position, CCCERA is requesting a waiver of the 180 day waiting period

for Joelle Luhn and approval to hire her as a temporary County employee until the position is permanently filled.

The attached request memo was approved by the Retirement Board on January 8, 2014.

Under current Contra Costs County Employees Retirement Association (CCCERA) rules, if a CCCERA retiree

returns to work for a CCCERA covered employer, the retiree can work for 960 hours or less per fiscal year. This

rule continues to apply. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

Failure to receive Board approval may jeopardize efforts of the Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement

Association's to provide high quality services to active and retired County employees and the Retirement Board.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not applicable.

ATTACHMENTS

CCCERA 180 Day Waiver Memo 





RECOMMENDATION(S): 

36th Annual Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., Commemoration and Humanitarian Awards Ceremony.

FISCAL IMPACT: 

*

BACKGROUND: 

The Reverend Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., born on January 15, 1929, is one of many selfless Americans who

sacrificed his life to better the lives of African American victims of segregationist Jim Crow laws, racism,

discrimination, the denial of employment, education and basic human dignity. In 1955 Dr. King took a leadership

role and organized a nonviolent, 382-day bus boycott in Montgomery, Alabama. This landmark event commonly

referenced in American history as the catalyst of the U.S. Civil Rights Movement, 1955 to 1965, was a demonstration

in social protest and civil disobedience. The boycott helped to end segregated busing by way of the 1956 Supreme

Court decision which declared segregated buses as unconstitutional. This event also captured worldwide attention and

catapulted Dr. King to a plateau which enabled him to help counter the effects of discrimination in southern U.S.

states through the disciplined teaching and practice of nonviolent disobedience.

Dr. King accomplished a number of phenomenal feats in a brief period of time. Dr. King worked to organize the

registration of African American voters in Alabama, fifty-one years ago in 1963 he delivered the famous "I Have a

Dream" speech to over a quarter of a million in attendance at the march on Washington, D.C., and in that same year

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  T. Lennear, (925)

335-1900

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

SD.3

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Tiffany Lennear, Chief Asst Clerk of the Board

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: 36th Annual Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., Commemoration and Humanitarian Awards Ceremony



was named Man of the Year by 



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

Time magazine. Dr. King received the Nobel Peace Prize and invested the award money into the Civil Rights

Movement. 

At the age of thirty-nine, Dr. King's last public speech was on April 3, 1968 in Memphis, Tennessee where he

traveled, by invitation, to lead a protest for city sanitation workers. In this last speech Dr. King referenced the First

Amendment to the United States Constitution and stressed its protection of the freedoms of assembly, speech, and

press; and, stated "the greatness of America is the right to protest for rights." The following evening on April 4,

1968, Dr. King was brutally assassinated and the Country suffered a great loss.

In January 1983 President Ronald Reagan signed into law the national Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Holiday to

recognize Dr. King's invaluable contributions to the United States. In 1994 Congress designated Dr. King's holiday as

a national Day of Service which calls Americans to work together within their community by volunteering their time

and service to the betterment of our nation. 

In celebration of the Reverend Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors recognize

Dr. King and the great legacy he has left our County, the United States of America, and the world of people who

choose the power of nonviolence to pursue freedom, equality and justice for all.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

1. OPEN the public hearing and take testimony on the Phillips 66 Propane Recovery Project.

2. CLOSE the public hearing.

3. CERTIFY the Final Environmental Impact Report (FEIR) dated November 2013, finding it to be adequate and

complete, finding that it has been prepared in compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and

the State and County CEQA Guidelines, and finding that it reflects the County’s independent judgment and analysis,

and specify that the Department of Conservation and Development, Community Development Division (30 Muir

Road, Martinez, CA) is the custodian of the documents and other material which constitute the record of proceedings

upon which this decision is based.

4. CERTIFY that the Board has considered the contents of the FEIR prior to making a decision on the project.

5. DENY the appeals from Communities For A Better Environment and Shute, Mihaly & Weinberger and UPHOLD

the County Planning Commission’s decision to APPROVE the Land Use Permit (County File #LP12-2073) with the

attached conditions of approval.

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  925-674-7786

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

D.1

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Catherine Kutsuris, Conservation and Development Director

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Hearing to Consider Two Appeals on the Phillips 66 Propane Recovery Project (County File #LP12-2073)



RECOMMENDATION(S): (CONT'D)

6. ADOPT the findings contained in County Planning Commission Resolution No. 19-2013, which includes the

CEQA findings, Growth Management Standards, and additional language to Land Use Permit findings, shown as

underlined text, as the basis for the Board’s actions.

7. ADOPT the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program.

8. DIRECT the Community Development Division to post a Notice of Determination with the County Clerk.

FISCAL IMPACT:

None. The applicant, Phillips 66, is obligated to pay any additional costs above the initial application deposit

associated with the processing of the application.

BACKGROUND:

1. Timeline

The following timeline illustrates the land use permit application’s progress from submittal to present:

June 22, 2012 – Phillips 66 Company applied for approval of a Land Use Permit for the Propane Recovery

Project.

July 24, 2012 – Notice of Preparation of an EIR distributed.

August 20, 2012 – Scoping session held in Martinez.

June 10, 2013 – Draft EIR (DEIR) distributed for public review.

July 15, 2013 – Public hearing held before the Zoning Administrator in Martinez to accept comments on

DEIR.

July 23, 2013 – End of public review period for DEIR extended from July 25, 2013 to August 9, 2013.

August 9, 2013 – End of public review period for DEIR.

November 6, 2013 – FEIR distributed.

November 18, 2013 – Closed hearing held before the Zoning Administrator to consider the adequacy of the

FEIR. The Zoning Administrator recommended certification of the FEIR by the Planning Commission.

November 19, 2013 – Public hearing held before the Planning Commission in Martinez regarding the Land

Use Permit and the adequacy of the FEIR. The Commission determined that the FEIR was adequate and

approved the Land Use Permit.

November 25, 2013 – Appeal from Shute, Mihaly & Weinberger on behalf of the Rodeo Citizens

Association received by the Clerk of the Board.

December 2, 2013 – Appeal from Communities for a Better Environment received by the Community

Development Division.

2. County Planning Commission Hearing

The County Planning Commission opened the public hearing on the project on November 19, 2013. Oral

testimony covered a wide variety of topics such as, but not limited to, the adequacy of the FEIR, types and quality

of crude oil, propane safety concerns, pollution, public health, greenhouse gas emissions, Refinery safety,

Refinery/community relations. There were also several speakers who testified in support of the project.

During the November 19, 2013 hearing, after evaluating the project in its entirety, including all public testimony

and evidence in the record, the Commission voted unanimously to certify the FEIR and approved the land use

permit with the conditions of approval as recommended by staff.

3. Appeal Discussion

Following the decision of the Planning Commission, two separate appeals were filed by Communities for a Better

Environment, and Shute, Mihaly & Weinberger (on behalf of the Rodeo Citizens Association).



Both appellants submitted similar points of appeal. Chiefly, they claim that the EIR fails to include an adequate

project description that links the proposed project to a future “larger project” by the Refinery to begin importing

and processing heavier lower-quality crude oil feedstocks, such as Canadian tar sands, and that the proposed

project is in preparation to implement this objective. Since this is a common point of appeal for both Shute,

Mihaly & Weinberger (SMW) and Communities for a Better Environment (CBE), it is being addressed first.

Appeal Points and Staff Responses:

A. Future Plans to Change Crude Oil Feedstocks to Lead Into a Larger Project:

The main point both appellants have raised is that Phillips 66 plans to change the crude oil feedstock and begin

processing lower-quality heavy crudes, and with the lower-quality crudes Refinery operations could be changed to

increase the production of propane and butane far beyond current levels. Phillips 66 states that the project

objective is to recover existing volumes of propane and butane already being produced at the Refinery and already

contained in the Refinery Fuel Gas (RFG) streams and not to increase the amount of propane and butane being

produced at the Refinery beyond current levels. On the contrary, instead of burning the propane and butane in

Refinery process heaters, the project will allow the applicant to capture and sell more of the propane and butane

that is already being produced at the Refinery, irrespective of the types of oil feedstock.

The applicant proposes to recover for sale approximately 4,200 barrels per day of propane and 9,300 barrels per

day of butane already existent in the RFG. This is a practice already performed by other Bay Area refineries, and

Phillips 66 is planning to catch up with similar practice. Refinery flow data provided in the Phillips 66 Response to

Appeals (Exhibit #7) shows that from January to November of 2013, the Refinery feedstock that was processed

during that time produced an average of 14,250 barrels per day of propane and butane combined. Additionally,

Master Response 2.2, on page 2-2, of the FEIR addresses all comments which asserted that a relationship between

the Propane Recovery Project and purported plans to change the type of crude oil to be processed at the Refinery.

The appellants further claim that the EIR fails to adequately define the project because importing and processing

heavier lower-quality crude oil feedstock, such as Canadian tar sands, was not mentioned in the project

description. A change in crude feedstock was not mentioned in the project description or analyzed in the DEIR

and FEIR since no changes in feedstock or a switch in crude quality are proposed as a part of the project, nor is the

project dependent on any such changes. Specifically, SMW asserts on page 7 of their 11/18/13 Letter (Exhibit

#3b) that the project description is inadequate since it did not include mention of Phillips 66’s Santa Maria

Refinery, claiming that the Rodeo Refinery will “…increase butane and propane production, once the proper

amounts of the right feedstocks arrive…” from the Santa Maria Refinery. As discussed above, implementation of

the proposed project is not dependent upon new feedstock from Santa Maria or anywhere else, nor does the

project plan to “increase” production of butane and propane, but rather it will recover butane and propane already

existent in the Refinery gas streams under current operations. With this project objective in mind, a discussion of

the Santa Maria Refinery was not considered germane; nevertheless, on page 2-4 of the FEIR in Master Response

2.2, a discussion of the Santa Maria Refinery and its association with the Rodeo Refinery was provided.

The additional appeal issues raised by the appellants are responded to in Sections B, C, and D below. It should be

noted that most of the issues raised by SMW and CBE have already been addressed in the DEIR and FEIR. Staff

has summarized the appeal points below, and in addition, a more comprehensive response has been provided

which is identified as (Exhibit #6). In further attempting to respond to the appeals, Phillips 66 submitted a

response letter to the Board of Supervisors dated January 6, 2014 (See Exhibit #7).

B. Appeal by Shute, Mihaly & Weinberger (SMW) on behalf of the Rodeo Citizens Association

The appeal by SMW comprises the following points based on their November 22, 2013 appeal letter (Exhibit

#3a). Their appeal is also supported by referencing their November 18, 2013 letter to the Planning Commission

and a technical report by Phyllis Fox, Ph.D. (Fox Report), dated November 15, 2013 (see Exhibit #3b for both

documents). The issues raised by both the Fox Report and SMW have already been addressed in the DEIR and

FEIR. The SMW appeal letter’s primary points are summarized and briefly addressed below.



Summary of Appeal Points Raised by Shute, Mihaly & Weinberger and Staff Responses:

The EIR fails to adequately evaluate the significant impacts of the project, including but not limited to its

air quality, biological, safety, health, and climate impacts.

The EIR fails to evaluate cumulative impacts.

The EIR fails to evaluate mitigation measures and alternatives and the County failed to adopt adequate

mitigation or feasible alternatives.

The County failed to adequately respond to comments on the EIR.

The County failed to recirculate the EIR.

The County’s findings, including its statement of overriding considerations, are not supported by substantial

evidence.

The County cannot make the findings for approval required by its code sections; in particular, the County

cannot find that the Project will not be a detriment to public health, safety, or welfare or that it will not

cause a nuisance in the surrounding community.

The EIR fails to adequately define the project (see previous Staff response in Section A above).

Staff Response

EIR Fails to Provide Adequate Analysis of Environmental Impacts: SMW suggests that project impacts to air

quality, biological resources, safety, health, and climate should have been considered as potentially significant

and mitigated as well. Air quality was analyzed as a potentially significant impact and mitigation measures were

established for the project to address air-quality impacts during the short-term construction phase of the project

and also to mitigate long-term emissions of criteria air pollutants after project implementation (See Mitigation

Monitoring and Reporting Program [MMRP]—Exhibit #5). Project impacts were not determined to be significant

for biological resources, safety, health, or greenhouse gases; on the contrary, the analysis of the EIR determined

how the proposal to capture the propane and butane from the RFG would be beneficial by promoting the reduction

in sulfur dioxide, reduction in flaring events, and reduction in on-site greenhouse gas emissions.

EIR Fails to Include Analysis of Cumulative Impacts: Chapter 5 of the DEIR (page 5-2) provided comprehensive

analysis of the potential cumulative impacts in terms of past, present, and future projects both at the Refinery and

in the near region. Other projects at the Refinery and at other existing refineries in the County are likely to cause

impacts that are similar to those anticipated to result from the project. Other non-Refinery projects could also

cause similar potentially overlapping impacts with those of the project. Thirteen projects within an approximately

16-mile radius were evaluated as potential projects that could have cumulative effects in conjunction with the

proposed project. The Draft EIR provided sufficient and adequate cumulative analysis of cumulative impacts and

determined them to be less than significant.

EIR Fails to Evaluate Mitigation Measures and Project Alternatives: SMW claimed in their appeal that the County

failed to adopt adequate mitigation or feasible alternatives. The EIR determined that the proposed project would

result in potentially significant environmental impacts to air quality, cultural resources, noise, and transportation

and traffic. These impacts were evaluated in the DEIR and mitigation measures were proposed as needed that

would reduce each of these impacts to a less-than-significant level (See MMRP—Exhibit #5).

Chapter 6 of the DEIR considered alternatives to all components of the project. The alternatives to the project were

duly evaluated, but were found to be infeasible in that they would be inferior in terms of meeting the project

objectives and require more energy consumption for their implementation, and therefore were not considered

feasible to the project as proposed.

A no-project alternative was discussed on page 6-6 of the Draft EIR which, when compared to the project, would

not result in a decrease in GHG and sulfur emissions from the Refinery, as well as missing the opportunity to

decrease the number of flaring events at the Refinery. Although, implementation of a reduced project alternative

was determined to be the marginally environmentally superior alternative in the Draft EIR, it would not meet all of

the project objectives.

County Failed to Adequately Respond to Comments on the DEIR: The County received 48 comment letters on

the DEIR for the proposed project. In addition, oral comments were made by individuals who attended the



publicly noticed public hearing before the Zoning Administrator on July 15, 2013. There were also several

speakers who spoke in support of the project. The County has made its best good-faith effort to respond each

comment in a professional and scientific manner.

County Failed to Recirculate EIR: CEQA Guidelines Section 15088.5 requires a lead agency to recirculate an EIR

for further review and comment when significant new information is added to the EIR after public notice is given

of the availability of the DEIR but before certification of the FEIR. New information or data that “merely

clarifies” an EIR is not significant unless the EIR is changed in a way that deprives the public of a meaningful

opportunity to comment upon a substantial adverse environmental effect of the project or a feasible way to

mitigate or avoid such an effect that the project proponent declines to implement. Various minor changes and

edits were made to the mitigation measures, text, tables and figures of the DEIR, as described in the FEIR. The

flow data (see Exhibit #7) that was subsequently provided by the applicant clarifies and confirms the conclusions

of the DEIR. This information simply confirms and provides additional support for the conclusions of the DEIR

and further confirms that impacts will remain less than significant. Therefore, recirculation is not required.

Inadequacy of Project Findings:

a. CEQA Findings: In response to the SMW point that the County’s findings, including its statement of overriding

considerations, are not supported by substantial evidence, staff would point out that the EIR identifies potentially

significant environmental impacts that would occur if the project were implemented, and requires feasible

mitigation measures that would reduce all of the potentially significant impacts to less-than-significant levels (See

MMRP—Exhibit #5). The DEIR provides a comprehensive analysis of the project’s impacts, and cumulative

impacts of the project. Furthermore, the County Planning Commission adopted the findings, analysis, and

conclusions of the EIR and based its decision to adopt the document upon the evidence referenced in the EIR and

its appendices.

b. Land Use Permit Findings: SMW further states that the County cannot make the findings for approval required

by its own code sections for Land Use Permits; in particular, they claim that the County cannot find that the

project will not be a detriment to public health, safety or welfare, or that it will not cause a nuisance in the

surrounding community. Master Response 2.3 and 2.5 of the FEIR addresses onsite hazards in response to

concerns about the risk of accidents associated with the storage of propane and butane, and Master Response 2.6

addresses railroad transportation of propane and butane. The EIR thoroughly analyzed and considered all potential

hazards that present risks to the community; therefore, as proposed and conditioned, the project will not create a

nuisance and/or enforcement problem within the neighborhood or be detrimental to the health, safety and welfare

of the community.

C. Appeal by Communities for a Better Environment (CBE):

The appeal by CBE cites a variety of issues (see Exhibit #4a). The CBE appeal is primarily based on an “expert”

report by Greg Karras (see Exhibit #4c), an employee of CBE. Comprehensive responses to the Karras report

have already been provided in the FEIR beginning on page 3.2-117. CBE also submitted two letters opposing the

project to the Planning Commission on the day of the November 19, 2013 hearing (see Exhibits #4b & #4c).

Summary of Appeal Points Raised by CBE and Staff Responses:

The FEIR fails to adequately analyze significant environmental impacts.

The FEIR fails to adequately discuss mitigation measures.

The FEIR provides an inadequate discussion of Project alternatives.

The County failed to adequately notify the community of this project.

The project description fails to disclose that this Project is part of a larger project to enable the Refinery to

process lower-quality oil feedstock (see previous Staff response in Section A).

Staff Response:

EIR Fails to Provide Adequate Analysis of Environmental Impacts: CBE asserted that the FEIR failed to properly

address potential environmental impacts, such as explosion/fire risks, air pollution, and greenhouse-gas emissions



(GHG) resulting from the refining of a heavier lower-quality oil feedstock. CBE further states that, the FEIR

avoids any discussion of any impact associated with a switch in crude quality. Indeed, the DEIR and FEIR did not

analyze any impacts associated with a switch in crude quality, since a switch in crude quality, or the refining of

heavier lower-quality oil feedstock, is not an aspect of the proposed project, nor is the project dependent on any

such switch. CBE also claimed that the proposed project will have significant impacts on biological resources as a

result of continued use of the OTC or “once-through” cooling system. As proposed, the project includes a 25%

increase of OTC volume; however, the proposed 25% increase will not require any modifications or expansions to

the existing OTC system, and does not go beyond the Regional Water Quality Control Board’s (RWQCB) current

permit requirements for the Refinery. CBE also states that the RWQCB ordered the applicant to study replacing

the OTC system and FEIR denies the existence of the study. The FEIR does acknowledge the study (see FEIR

page 3.2-122, last paragraph). The RWQCB has reviewed the DEIR and no comments or objections to the project

have been received regarding the OTC system. Finally, the FEIR responds on page 3.2-122 that no fundamental

change to the Refinery cooling system is proposed as part of the project; therefore, it is outside of the scope of this

project to include discussion on OTC systems alternatives.

EIR Fails to Provide Adequate Mitigation Measures: CBE’s appeal letter states that the FEIR fails to adequately

discuss mitigation measures relating to local and state regulations, the County Industrial Safety Ordinance, the

General Plan, and comments again in regards to the RWQCB requirements for the OTC system. The EIR

determined that the proposed project would result in potentially significant environmental impacts to air quality,

cultural resources, noise, and transportation and traffic. These impacts were identified and evaluated in the DEIR

and mitigation measures were proposed as needed that would reduce each of these impacts to a

less-than-significant level (See MMRP Exhibit #5). A more detailed response related to the Refinery's OTC

system and how it will be affected by the proposed project (including the response to the CBE's supplemental

letter, received on 1/7/2014) is found in the County response (See Exhibit #6).

County Failed to Provide Adequate Project Alternatives: As previously discussed in Section B, Chapter 6 of the

DEIR considered adequate alternatives to all components of the project as required under CEQA.

County Failed to Provide Adequate Notification: CBE also claims that the County failed to adequately notify the

community of this project . The project was noticed in compliance with the noticing requirements of CEQA and,

in addition, to the County’s noticing requirements in Section 26-2.2002 of the County Code. The notice of

completion and availability of the DEIR and the Planning Commission hearing were noticed to all property

owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the project parcels APN357-010-001 and APN357-300-005.

Copies of the DEIR and FEIR were available for public review at the Pleasant Hill and Rodeo public libraries and

at the District 5 supervisor’s office. Notices were also sent to all speakers and those who submitted comments at

the scoping session and the July 15, 2013 Zoning Administrator’s hearing on the DEIR. Notice was also given to

those individuals, agencies, and organizations that requested notice or expressed interest in the project. Notice of

the Commission hearing was published in the West County Times on November 8, 2013.

D. CBE December 12, 2013 Letter to Clerk of the Board: On December 12, 2013, CBE submitted a letter to the

Clerk of the Board (see Exhibit #4d) regarding the supposed change in crude oil feedstock. The letter references a

project being reviewed by the City of Pittsburg called the “WesPac Pittsburg Energy Infrastructure Project, Tar

Sands”. The letter describes WesPac as a crude oil transfer facility, and states that it may be a potential new

source of oil feedstock to the Rodeo Refinery. Staff has reviewed the letter and as stated above in Section A, the

Propane Recovery Project is not dependent on new feedstock from the WesPac facility or anywhere else because

it already produces enough propane and butane at the Refinery to achieve project objectives. Currently the WesPac

project is under CEQA review and a decision on this project has not been made. Since CBE’s assumption that the

proposed Propane Recovery Project and the WesPac are related was made out of speculation, and since the

County has determined that this matter is not germane to the proposed project, the County will refrain from further

commenting on this matter.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

The Propane Recovery Project would not be constructed and the Refinery would not be able to recover and sell



The Propane Recovery Project would not be constructed and the Refinery would not be able to recover and sell

the existing propane and butane, and there would be a lost benefit to the community by missing an opportunity to

decrease the amount of GHG and sulfur emissions from the Refinery, as well as losing an opportunity to decrease

the number of flaring events at the Refinery.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

No Impact.

ATTACHMENTS

Exhibit #1 - CPC Resolution No. 19-2013 

Exhibit #2 - Conditions of Approval Approved by CPC 

Exhibit #3a - Appeal Letter 11/22/13 Shute Mihaley & Weinberger (SMW) 

Exhibit #3b - SMW 11/18/13 Letter and Related Fox Report 

Exhibit #4a - Appeal Letter 12/02/13 Communities for a Better Environment (CBE) 

Exhibit #4b - CBE 11/19/13 Letter by Roger Lin 

Exhibit #4c - CBE 11/19/13 Letter and Related Report by Greg Karras 

Exhibit #4d - CBE 12/12/13 Letter Regarding WesPac Project 

Exhibit #4e - CBE 01/07/14 Letter 

Exhibit #5 - Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Exhibit #6 - County Response 

Exhibit #7 - Phillips 66 Response to Appeals 

Exhibit #8 - CPC 11/19/13 Staff Report 

Exhibit #9 - Notification List 

Exhibit #10 - Maps 

Exhibit #11 - CBE 01/14/14 Letter 



























































































































































































































































































































































































































































 1  

 

 

EXHIBIT # 6 
 

DETAILED RESPONSE TO APPEAL POINTS RAISED BY 

SHUTE MIHALY & WEINBERGER (SMW) AND COMMUNITIES FOR A BETTER 

ENVIRONMENT (CBE) 

Introduction:   

As previously discussed, most of the appeal points raised by the appellants have already been 

addressed in the Final EIR. Nonetheless, the County determined that some points raised in the 

appeal letters required additional clarification. The new clarification provided herein confirms 

the analyses and conclusions performed in both Draft and Final EIR. The responses below are 

the ones in which the County is providing additional clarification.  See margins of Exhibits # 3 

(SMW appeal documents) and Exhibit #4 (CBE appeal documents) for corresponding appeal 

points. 

SMW-8. The EIR is silent on carbon monoxide (CO) emissions from the entire Project. 

Analysis of the Project-related CO emissions was not included in the EIR discussion of 

impacts because the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) CEQA 

guidelines do not recommend the use of mass emission significance thresholds for 

project-related CO emissions. This is the case because such emissions tend not to be a 

concern in the Bay Area relative to regional air quality.   

Nonetheless, emissions of CO estimated to be generated by the Project are disclosed in 

Final EIR Appendix A, Air Quality and Greenhouse Gas Emissions Documentation. The 

total Project-related CO emissions for the proposed boiler, increased locomotive trips, 

and  increased vehicle exhaust is estimated to be approximately 39 pounds per day (see 

Final EIR Appendix A, Table 2, page 3). The potential for these Project-related emissions 

to cause or contribute to a violation of a CO ambient air quality standard is extremely 

low given that existing CO concentrations in the Project area, and the Bay Area Air Basin 

as a whole, are many orders of magnitude lower than the State and federal ambient air 

quality standards for CO (see DEIR Table 4.3-1).  

It should be noted that the BAAQMD CEQA guidelines have identified screening levels to 

identify potentially significant local CO emission concentrations at affected roadway 

intersections. For the proposed Project, the applicable screening level for potential 

significant local CO concentrations at affected intersections is an increase in trips at an 

intersection that experiences more than 44,000 vehicles per hour. Existing traffic at 



 2  

 

 

Project area intersections are less than 900 trips per hour and Project-related 

construction and operational trips would total up to 384 trips per the peak hour and 8 

trips per day, respectively (see DEIR Figure 4.17-2 and DEIR Section 4.17.5). Therefore, 

there would be no potential for the Project to result in CO concentrations at affected 

roadways that would result in a significant impact. 

  SMW-10.  The EIR fails to include criteria pollutant emissions from burning propane/butane. 

As a general rule, “[a] project applicant has traditionally been expected to only address 

emissions that are closely related and within the capacity of the project to control 

and/or influence.”
1
 With respect to the proposed Project, it is unclear where, how, or by 

whom the propane/butane produced by the Project might be used. Butane may be used 

as an additive in chemical manufacturing, which does not involve combustion. Further 

uncertainty exists relative to the baseline concerning the locations, quantities, and types 

of fuel that might be replaced by the propane/butane that would be sold by Phillips 66 

and whether such production could have the potential to affect the overall consumption 

of propane/butane or the use or non-use of another fuel for which butane or propane 

may be substituted. These issues are not within the capacity or control of the Project or 

of the County and are too speculative for inclusion in the EIR analysis.   

SMW-12:   The EIR’s Analysis of the Project’s Potential to Impact Public Health is Flawed. 

Sections 4.3 and 4.9 of the DEIR, provide the general discussion of both air emissions 

and hazards related to toxic air contaminates (TACs). Sensitive receptors are described 

in Section 4.3.2.4 of the DEIR as follows: 

“The Bayo Vista community contains the nearest sensitive receptors to the active area of the 

Refinery (e.g., schools, day care centers, libraries). The closest such sensitive receptor is a day 

care center, located approximately 2,000 feet south of the Refinery. The closest residences in the 

Bayo Vista neighborhood to the south are approximately 2,300 feet away from the Refinery fuel 

gas processing unit and approximately 4,000 feet from the proposed propane storage area and 

propane/butane loading rack.” 

This information was summarized from information contained in the Public Health 

Supplement (December, 2012) available as part of the cited public administrative record 

for the EIR. Figure 3 of that supplement provided a figure showing the exact locations of 

sensitive receptors considered for the Health Risk Assessment for the project. For the 

purposes of the EIR analysis, summaries of information contained this supplement 

provide more than adequate disclosure of the underling analysis in the EIR. 

                                                           
1 California Air Pollution Control Officers Association, "CEQA & Climate Change – Evaluating and Addressing 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Projects Subject to the California Environmental Quality Act,” pg. 50 (January 
2008). 



 3  

 

 

Furthermore, there is no need to provide any discussion on the condition of these 

nearby sensitive receptors for the purposes of the CEQA analysis as this is part of the 

existing baseline conditions present in the area. The EIR does describe the impact of the 

proposed Project on these receptors as is required by CEQA. 

The appellants imply that the area surrounding the Refinery is already considered an 

‘impacted community’ per BAAQMD guidelines. Examination of the documents that the 

appellants cite reveals that this is not the case for the Rodeo area. The BAAQMD 

guidelines cited by the appellants indicated that the Richmond/San Pablo area is an 

impacted community and the Rodeo (Selby and Crockett) area is not listed nor mapped 

as impacted.  

In a letter dated January 6, 2014, from Phillips, TAC data from stations nearby the 

Project area is presented in response to the appellants concerns (See Table 1 and 2 in 

Phillips66 Exhibit B). These data provides no new significant information and reveal no 

new environmental impact from the proposed Project. Impact 4.3-3, DEIR page 4.3-22 

incudes analysis of how the project will have a less than significant impact on TAC 

emissions. 

Additionally, as discussed in the DEIR, the proposed project will remove sulfur from the 

RFG, which will result in decreased SO2 emission from combustion of the RFG in refinery 

heaters and boilers. In regards to the Steam Power Plant, this plant is equipped with 

selected catalytic reduction (SCR) for nitrogen oxide (NOX) control. The NOX emission 

estimates reported to the BAAQMD are accurate and the emissions from this plant are 

less than those of a new boiler. See discussion in DEIR, page 4.3-18 Impact 4.3-2. 

SMW-13. The EIR provides no explanation as to why the Project would not result in any odorous 

emissions. 

The Project would add no new sources of odorous emissions, nor would it result in an 

increase in any odor-causing compounds to the atmosphere, such as H2S, SO2, or 

ammonia relative to baseline conditions. Therefore, there would be no change from 

existing conditions at the Refinery relative to odors. As stated in the DEIR, Section 4.3.4, 

the proposed Project represents an odor improvement over current conditions, since 

sulfur compounds would be removed from the RFG stream. Therefore, there would be 

no odor impacts associated with the Project. 

SMW-19:  The EIR Fails to Adequately Analyze the Project’s Impacts Related to Geologic Hazards. 

As described in Section 4.7.2.3 of the DEIR and Section 2.5 of the FEIR, the mere 

presence of liquefiable soils and/or seismic hazards does not preclude safe construction 



 4  

 

 

of critical improvements.  These adverse site conditions can easily be overcome by 

appropriate engineering design, correct site preparation, and proper construction. The 

DEIR states that each of the proposed Project components will receive a site-specific 

geotechnical investigation as required by Law. The investigations and resultant 

recommendations made by a state licensed geotechnical engineer would include design 

parameters to mitigate potential effects of liquefaction, which would be approved by 

the County Department of Conservation and Development, Building Inspection Division 

in accordance with the most recent version of the California Building Code.  

Construction would be in accordance with objective standards and performance criteria 

embodied in the regulatory codes. 

SMW-22: The EIR Contains an Inadequate Description of the Project Area’s Existing Biological 

Resources. 

The appellant asserts that the EIR fails to accurately portray the site’s underlying 

environmental conditions, despite also providing page references from the EIR 

indicating where these conditions are described. The appellant continues that the 

Project site and vicinity contain several types of wetlands, including northern coastal salt 

marsh, coastal brackish marsh, and coastal and valley freshwater marsh; that a number 

of species depend on these habitats, including salt marsh harvest mouse, California 

clapper rail, and black rail; the Project site drains into San Pablo Bay, which supports 

diverse marine biota including several federally threatened species. As the appellant 

admits with page references included in the comment, the EIR does identify and 

describe all of these habitats types and special-status species in Section 4.4, Biological 

Resources pages 4.4-2 through 4.4-18.  

The appellant asserts that the EIR relies on insufficient biological surveys that are 

outdated or entirely absent, that a review of high-resolution satellite imagery in 2013 to 

augment surveys performed in 1993, 2003, and 2006 is insufficient to identify species 

occurrences, and the United State Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) list of species 

clearly indicates that surveys should be performed for the species and habitats within 

the project area. Beginning on page 4.4-2, the EIR identifies the habitats present in the 

Refinery Complex Vicinity (RCV), the Refinery Complex (RC), and the Proposed Project 

Area (PA), and the species potentially present in these habitats. The EIR appropriately 

reduces the scope of the discussion to the habitats and species that could be directly 

and indirectly impacted by the Project. With all terrestrial impacts occurring within 

developed areas of the Refinery, the EIR adequately relies on a variety of information 

including past surveys, a review of the California Natural Diversity Database (CNDDB) 

and high-resolution satellite imagery, to confirm the habitats present and infer the 



 5  

 

 

potential for encountering any particular species. Additional terrestrial surveys would 

not contribute to an improved understanding of the biological resources present and/or 

the project’s potential impacts on these resources because the project area (PA) is 

already developed by industrial facilities and secondary (e.g., noise and visual 

disturbance impacts) would not significantly increase baseline disturbance levels and 

may not extend beyond the industrial area. A Phase II aquatic study further evaluating 

the impact of the thermal plume on aquatic life was underway at the time of the EIR and 

was not available for review or discussion during the EIR process.  The 2006 Tenera 

Environmental Study demonstrated that the submerged cylindrical wedgewire screens 

installed on the once-through cooling water intake structure complied with 

requirements to reduce impingement and entrainment of aquatic organisms and 

estimated that the configuration significantly reduced entrainment of larval fishes and 

virtually eliminated impingement of adult fishes. The increase in intake volume under 

the proposed project is within the operating parameters of the once-through cooling 

system that was sufficiently proven in the 2006 study; thus, no additional study on the 

wedgewire system was necessary. 

The appellant misapplies the language provided by the USFWS in their species list (DEIR 

Appendix B); all species on the list were considered in the EIR analysis, and those with 

potential to occur in the Project area are described in Table 4.4-1 and, where 

appropriate, discussed in the Impacts section of the DEIR.  

SMW-23:    The EIR Fails to Adequately Analyze the Project’s Impacts on Biological Resources. 

The appellant asserts that the EIR fails to analyze impacts to sensitive species that it 

acknowledges may be present in habitat areas described in the EIR (specifically salt 

marsh harvest mouse, California clapper rail, and black rail), and further states that the 

EIR erroneously dismisses impacts to these species based on the Refinery’s baseline 

disturbance levels. The EIR correctly measures impacts against the Refinery’s baseline 

disturbance levels consistent with CEQA Guidelines Section 15125, which states that the 

physical environmental conditions in the vicinity of the project, as they exist at the time 

the notice of preparation is published, will normally constitute the baseline physical 

conditions by which a lead agency determines whether an impact is significant. As 

stated in the response to SMW-22, above, the DEIR in Section 4.4, Biological Resources, 

pages 4.4-2 through 4.4-18, identifies the habitats present in the Refinery Complex 

Vicinity (RCV), the Refinery Complex (RC), and the proposed Project Area (PA); identifies 

the species potentially present in these habitats; and appropriately reduces the scope of 

the impact discussion to the habitats and species that could be directly and indirectly 

impacted by the Project. In the impact discussions beginning on page 4.4-25, the DEIR 



 6  

 

 

analyzes potential impacts to salt marsh harvest mouse, California clapper rail, and black 

rail, among other species, and finds that impacts would be less than significant based on 

the environmental baseline and distance from potentially sensitive habitats: the Project 

would not significantly increase the Refinery’s baseline disturbance levels, and 

potentially sensitive habitats are spatially separated from the PA by existing Refinery 

operational structures and features.  

The appellant erroneously asserts that the EIR does not analyze impacts to sensitive fish 

species. Species are identified in Section 4.4, Biological Resources, in Table 4.4-1, and 

potential impacts are discussed on page 4.4-27 in Impact 4.4-2: Special-status fishes 

could be adversely impacted by an increase in once-through intake water piped in from 

San Pablo Bay to use as coolant in the Refinery processes and Impact 4.4-3: Special-

status fishes could be adversely impacted by an increase in effluent temperature. The 

DEIR in Section 4.4, Biological Resources, pages 4.4-27 through 4.4-28, and the FEIR in 

Section 3.2, Response to Organization Comments, pages 3.2-121 through 3.2-123, 

discuss the baseline and future Project conditions relative to once-through cooling and 

effluent temperatures and, while referring to maximum thresholds allowed in the 

Project-specific National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit, 

identify that thresholds in the NPDES permit are based on several plans and scientific 

studies including the Water Quality Control Plan for Control of Temperature in the 

Coastal and Interstate Water and Enclosed Bays and Estuaries of California; Policy for 

Implementation of Toxics Standards for Inland Surface Waters, Enclosed Bays, and 

Estuaries of California; Policy for Compliance Schedules in National Pollutant Discharge 

Elimination System Permits; and the project-specific studies Cooling Water Discharge 

Thermal Plume Study (Tenera Environmental, 2007) and Technology Installation and 

Operation Plan (Tenera Environmental, 2006 in RWQCB, 2011). These plans serve to 

guide activities in San Francisco Bay and protect aquatic species from unsafe 

temperatures and other environmental conditions; the project-specific studies do the 

same for the Refinery environment. The finding of no significant impact to special-status 

fishes (page 4.4-27) incorporates the existing baseline intake volumes and effluent 

temperatures relative to the changes under the proposed project and relative to 

thresholds identified in the plans and studies upon which the project-specific NPDES 

thresholds are based (e.g., upon the Tenera 2007 Cooling Water Discharge Thermal 

Plume Study, which concluded that thermal plume effects would be of a minor nature 

due to their being a surface phenomena that dissipates rapidly in the nearshore area of 

the discharge and the study’s documentation of natural solar heating of nearby tidal 

flats that produce natural thermal plumes that significantly exceed temperatures of the 

ConocoPhillips thermal plume). The finding is further based on existing or proposed 

design features that avoid and minimize impacts, such as use of a wedgewire screen 



 7  

 

 

configuration and low through-screen velocity that virtually eliminates impingement of 

adult and juvenile fishes and significantly reduces the entrainment of larval fishes and 

use of sufficient cooling water to lower effluent temperatures. 

The appellant states that CEQA mandates a finding of significance for any impacts that 

“restrict[s] the range of an endangered, rare, or threatened species” and continues to 

reference various case law and CEQA guidelines. Nowhere does the appellant suggest 

how the proposed Project would restrict the range of an endangered, rare, or 

threatened species or what species is/are being referred to. The EIR does not make 

findings regarding whether the proposed Project would restrict the range of an 

endangered, rare, or threatened species because this is not a potential outcome of the 

Project.  

SMW-23:   The EIR Fails to Analyze Cumulative Impacts to Biological Resources.  

The appellant states that the EIR fails to disclose the extent and quality of biological 

resources that historically occurred in the Project area, or the amount of resources 

already lost in the region, and fails to evaluate the cumulative impacts of this Project 

and other projects on this habitat and the listed species that use it. As described in the 

response to SMW-22, the EIR identifies the habitats present in the Refinery Complex 

Vicinity (RCV), the Refinery Complex (RC), and the proposed Project Area (PA), and the 

species potentially present in these habitats. The EIR appropriately reduces the scope of 

the discussion to the habitats and species that could be directly and indirectly impacted 

by the Project. The impact discussion is thus limited to a discussion of potential indirect 

impacts (e.g. noise and visual disturbances) on marsh birds and nesting birds, and 

potential direct impacts on fishes.  

The cumulative impact discussion considers the Project’s potential for “cumulatively 

considerable” impacts on fishes in San Pablo Bay and, following the guidance of CEQA 

Section 15130 (b) to follow standards of practicality and reasonableness in the 

cumulative analysis, finds the Project’s incremental contribution to once-through 

cooling volume and thermal plume temperature is not cumulatively considerable. This is 

because the project’s anticipated increases in thermal plume temperature and once-

through cooling volume are within the operational parameters of the existing Refinery, 

very localized, and considered less than significant (DEIR at pages 4.4-23, 4.4-27, 4.4-28, 

and 5-9; FEIR at pages 3.2-137 and 3.2-138). The Bay is a highly regulated environment 

where individual and cumulative project impacts on water quality are carefully 

monitored, as described on Page 5-9 of the DEIR. The San Francisco Bay Basin (Region 2) 

Water Quality Control Plan (Basin Plan) is the Regional Water Board’s master water 

quality control planning document, designating beneficial uses and water quality 



 8  

 

 

objectives for the Bay and providing a definitive program of actions designed to 

preserve and enhance water quality and to protect beneficial uses for the maximum 

benefit to the people of California. These water quality objectives are, in fact, controls 

on cumulative effects to water quality from all sources, natural and man-made. 

Industrial wastewater point source discharges are regulated through the NPDES 

program, and the management approach includes a Strategic Plan and Watershed 

Management Initiative that finds integrated solutions through the expertise and 

authority of multiple agencies and organizations, and measures success through 

monitoring and other data collection. The NPDES program includes project oversight by 

agencies such as the National Marine Fisheries Service and California Department of Fish 

and Wildlife with specific interest in protecting fisheries resources and direct input into 

NPDES permit conditions.  As stated on Page 5-10 of the DEIR, permit maximums are 

based on scientific studies and data collected by the RWQCB and other regulatory and 

research agencies. As long as the individual permit maximums of projects in the Bay, 

which themselves take into account the potential cumulative effects of each point 

source discharge, are not breached, it follows that cumulatively considerable impacts 

are not likely to occur. 

  SMW-24: 2.  The EIR Fails to Adequately Analyze the Project’s Cumulative Environmental Impacts From 

Other Refining-Related Projects. 

The appellants assert that the EIR fails to analyze adequately cumulative impacts. Section 

5.4.2 of the DEIR provides Table 5-1 which states all cumulative Bay Area refinery projects 

known to the authors of the DEIR prior to publication in June of 2013. Since that time, a 

number of other projects involving refineries and rail have been announced. Given that 

the baseline date for the proposed Project as defined by the publication of the Notice of 

Preparation for the EIR (July 2012) was well before this, the DEIR authors conducted their 

cumulative analysis according to CEQA (as further discussed in response B4-22 in the FEIR) 

requirements with the best list then available of potential cumulative projects.   

The appellants assert that this analysis should have considered cumulative rail traffic 

within California. This was not possible as the destination of the project’s rail cars is not 

knowable and could be anywhere. It would have been speculative to have done so and 

contrary to CEQA section 15145.  

The thread that appellants are following is indicated by the statement that  “Each of the 

Bay Area refineries have either recently permitted projects or have pending permits that 

will facilitate transporting and refining tar sands crude.”  This expands on their claim of a 

“larger project” for the Propane Recovery Project, in order to link all projects and 

refineries in an overall action that requires a cumulative analysis, regardless of whether it 



 9  

 

 

is warranted under CEQA. The appellants then assert that comments by another 

organization (NRDC) about another refinery project, a proposed project at the Valero 

Benicia Refinery, support the appellants unsupportable claims and conclusions about a 

“larger project”. Since the appellants’ only physical evidence in support of their “larger 

project” claim is not true, their claim for the “larger project” is also unsupportable. The 

County cannot provide a response to these general and unsupportable assertions. 

Finally, as is discussed in detail in Section 5.4.3 of the DEIR, the proposed Project was 

analyzed for its potential to have a cumulative considerable impact on all appropriate 

CEQA categorical areas. In many cases the proposed Project had no project-related 

impacts and when considered with other projects described in Section 5.4.2, after 

analysis, no cumulative considerable impacts were found as well. The appellants do not 

suggest otherwise but simply assert that the analysis was inadequate.  

CBE-11: Significant Biological Resource Impacts due to OTC system. 

The appellant states that the Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB) has ordered 

the Project proponent to study replacing the once through cooling (OTC) system, that the 

study is referenced and attached to Citizens for a Better Environment’s (CBE’s) comments 

on the DEIR, and that the FEIR denies the existence of the study. As a condition in the 

NPDES permit for existing Refinery operations, the RWQCB required that ConocoPhillips 

conduct a study evaluating the feasibility of replacing the existing OTC technology. The 

FEIR does not deny the existence of the study (page 3.2-122, last paragraph). On pages 

3.2-137 and 3.2-138, the FEIR responds to Karras Comments 31, 32, and 33, by informing 

that the Cooling Tower Replacement Feasibility Evaluation required under the current 

NPDES permit was not finalized at the time of the FEIR and therefore the findings were 

not available for review; as such, any discussion or analysis of the feasibility evaluation 

would be speculative and thus outside the scope of the DEIR. Additionally, the FEIR 

responds on page 3.2-122 that no fundamental change to the Refinery cooling system, 

such as conversion from the existing OTC system to a closed-loop cooling system, is 

proposed as part of the Project; therefore, it is beyond the scope of the DEIR to explore 

the advantages and disadvantages of alternate cooling systems. 

CBE-17:  The County Failed to Adequately Notify the Community of this Project. 

In advance of the November 19, 2013 Public Hearing on certification of the proposed 

Projects’ EIR, the County on November 6, 2013, performed the following steps to 

properly notice the hearing in accordance with CEQA guidelines: 

1) The project noticed all property owners and occupants within 300 feet of the project 

parcels (357-010-001 and 357-300-005). 



 10  

 

 

2) The project noticed all speakers from the scoping session. 

3) The project noticed all required public agencies and those that requested to be noticed 

(e.g. City of Martinez). 

4) The project noticed all people and organizations who expressed interest in the project 

and requested to be noticed. 

5) The project was noticed in the West County Times. 

6) Hard copies of the FEIR were sent to those people, organizations, and agencies who 

commented on the DEIR. A hard copy was also available for public review at the district 

supervisor’s office and the Rodeo and Pleasant Hill public libraries. 

7) Copies of the staff report were also mailed to various people, agencies, and 

organizations. 

Furthermore, there is no known CEQA requirement to notice parties who might be 

subject to ‘taking’ or decreased property values as suggested by the appellant. In fact 

such action might be considered speculative as well. The County properly noticed the 

public hearing per CEQA requirements. 

 F-21.       The EIR did not include criteria pollutant and GHG emissions relative to electricity use. 

Electrical power would be supplied to the proposed Project from Pacific Gas and Electric 

Company (PG&E)’s existing regional power grid. It is generally not possible to determine 

the exact generation source(s) of electricity on the power grid that would supply the 

proposed project, or whether or not the electricity would even be generated within the 

Bay Area Air Basin. Since analysis of criteria pollutants is dependent on the air basin of 

the Project-related sources, indirect emissions of criteria pollutants associated with 

electricity use from the regional power grid are not addressed in the air quality analysis.  

GHG emissions associated with use of electricity from the existing power grid are 

generally addressed independent of air basin due to the global nature of the effects of 

GHG emissions. Refer to the Indirect Emissions from Increased Electrical Demand on 

DEIR page 4.8-17 for a discussion of electricity-related GHG emissions and emission 

factors that would be associated with the proposed Project. 

      F-25:          Cumulative Air Quality Impact Analysis is Inadequate  

As mentioned in response SMW-24, the baseline date (July 2012) for the proposed 

Project predates both the projects mentioned by the appellant (Santa Maria and 

Ferndale Refineries). The Santa Maria Refinery’s relationship to the proposed Project was 

discussed in detail in Section 2.2 of the FEIR as was a discussion of the relationship of 

refinery feedstocks to the proposed Project. The Ferndale Refinery project is in another 

state (Washington) and its status is outside what would be considered by CEQA. Whether 



 11  

 

 

the Phillips refinery could or could not receive crude oils or other feedstocks from the 

Ferndale refinery by marine vessel merely represents an existing, baseline condition that 

would not be altered by the proposed project.   

Response to CBE Supplemental Evidence-  Letter received January 7, 2014 

The appellant claims the EIR’s baseline level for once-through, non-contact saltwater 

flow volume is erroneous and underestimates the percent increase of the proposed 

project, and as a result underestimates the severity of potential project impacts related 

to the discharge of this water. It should be noted that the appellant’s Chart S-1 is not Phillips 

66’s submission to the Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB).  Rather, it is appellant’s 

depiction of the data.  With respect to plates B, C and D in particular, the comparisons will vary 

considerably depending upon the factors selected, including, for example, the averaging period.  

The data submitted by Phillips 66 for 2013 are consistent with the range of flow volumes in 

recent years, and confirm that the baseline used in the EIR is reasonable. 

Once-through, non-contact flow at the refinery is affected by many factors, including process 

rates, turnaround cycle, and maintenance activities, among others. The EIR used average daily 
flow volumes for one year (second half of 2011 and first half of 2012) to best represent 
current conditions of operations at the facility in order to analyze potential impacts from 
the proposed changes with the project. In accordance with CEQA requirements, “an EIR 
must include a description of the physical environmental conditions in the vicinity of the 
project, as they exist at the time the notice of preparation is published.” (Article 9 
Section 15125). Reviewing the data provided by the appellant which includes data from 
2013 that was not available at the time of preparation of the DEIR, shows relatively 
similar average flow volumes compared to 2012 (44.76 for 2012 and 43.26 for 2013) 
further supporting the appropriate use of the 2012 data as baseline conditions. Further, 
in reviewing the data from the years 2010 through 2013 provided by the appellant, there 
is no clear correlation between average flow volumes and temperature of discharge. 
Comparing 2010 data to 2012 shows an approximate increase of 20% in flow and yet the 
highest recorded monthly average temperature2 for the year only increases by 1.2% 
while the average for the year actually decreases by 0.6%. Regardless, despite 
fluctuations in flow volumes of once-through, non-contact saltwater for process cooling, 
the Refinery has a history of compliance with the effluent permit limitations including 
temperature. 

 
The EIR has disclosed on page 3-27 and on page 4.4-27 of the DEIR that the Project would 
result in an increase of once-through cooling volume to approximately 40,000 gallons per 
minute from an existing 31,500 gallons per minute. A flow of 31,500 gallons per minute is 
the equivalent of 45.4 million gallons per day which compares well with the data 
provided by the appellant showing an average daily flow of 44.6 million gallons per day. 

                                                           
2  The NPDES effluent permit limitation for temperature is based on the monthly average of daily measured 

temperatures. 



 12  

 

 

The magnitude of the flow increase has been conveyed to the reader in another 
meaningful way by describing the change as a 25% increase in flow volume from an 
existing baseline level of 31,500 gallons per minute. However, it should be noted that the 
analysis does not rely solely on this percent increase. The increase in flow volume by 
8,500 gallons per minute as proposed by the Project would be accommodated by the 
existing five pumps and would continue to operate within the National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit thresholds determined by the Regional 
Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB). As described in the DEIR (page 4.4-27) and in the 
County’s Response to Appeal Comment SMW-23, permit thresholds are based on various 
studies including the project-specific study by Tenera (2006) regarding use of wedgewire 
screens and maximum intake flows.  The appellant provides no information to support 
the claim that the proposed Project’s increase in once-through cooling volume to 40,000 
gallons per minute would result in significant impacts on special-status fishes. 

 
Therefore, based on the appropriate use of 2012 monitoring data as representative of 
existing baseline conditions for the Refinery for the EIR and the lack of data supporting a 
direct correlation between increases in flow volumes and an inability to meet water 
quality permit requirements which are protective of receiving waters and habitat, the EIR 
has adequately characterized the potential impacts of the proposed Project. 













































































1904 Franklin Street, Suite 600    •    Oakland, CA 94612    •    T (510) 302-0430    •    F (510) 302-0437
In Southern California: 6325 Pacific Blvd., Suite 300   •   Huntington Park, CA 90255   •   (323) 826-9771

BY ELECTRONIC MAIL
(Please confirm receipt to roger@cbecal.org)

14 January 2014

Clerk of the Board
Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors
651 Pine Street, Room 106
Martinez, CA 94553

Attention: Tiffany Lennear (Tiffany.Lennear@cob.cccounty.us)

Appeal of Environmental Impact Report and Land Use Permit Filed 2 Dec 2013:

Phillips 66 Company Propane Recovery Project, Environmental Impact Report (EIR) and 
Land Use Permit, EIR SCH #2012072046, County File LP12-2073;

Communities for a Better Environment (CBE) Supplemental Evidence–C 

Dear Clerk of the Board,

In support of our appeal, CBE respectfully submits Rodeo facility fuel gas propane and butane 
(LPG) content and fuel gas flow data.  This evidence is appended hereto as Attachment 4.

The proposed project would recover propane and additional butane produced from crude oil in 
amounts that could boost this refinery’s LPG yield to exceed 11 volume % on its crude oil feed.1  
Average monthly West Coast refinery LPG yields reported since 1993 never exceeded 4.1 vol. % 
on crude.2  Feedstock and products are key process variables that are fundamentally interrelated.  
Thus, changing LPG production changes oil feedstock processing.  CBE and the Rodeo Citizens 
Association (RCA) showed that the project would require increased LPG production, requiring 
a change in feedstock, and related proposals would enable such new, and likely lower quality, oil 
feeds, such as tar sands oils.1  Refining lower quality oil can worsen pollution and safety hazards 
substantially.1  The Governor’s Office of Planning and Research (OPR),3 and the Refinery Action 
Collaborative, which includes, among others, the Labor Occupational Health Program at U.C. 
Berkeley and the refinery workers’ union United Steelworkers,4 have joined CBE and RCA in 
asking that the EIR disclose and analyze potential changes in oil feedstock and resultant impacts.     

1 See CBE and RCA expert reports: Karras Report dated 4 Sep 2013; Fox Report dated 15 Nov 2013.    
2 PADD 5 Refinery Yield; www.eia.gov/dnav/pet/pet_pnp_pct_dc_r50_pct_m.htm. Download 13 Jan 2013. 
This 4.1% maximum may be an overestimate: it may include other liquefied gases (e.g., ethane, ethylene).      
3 See CBE Supplemental Evidence–A, submitted on 12 Dec 2013.
4 Refinery Action Collaborative letter of 18 Dec 2013, appended hereto as Attachment 5. 



14 January 2014
CBE Appeal Supplemental Evidence–C  
(SCH#2012072046; LP12-2073)
Page Two

The EIR admits it “did not address changes in crude oil use”5 and argues against this disclosure, 
asserting that the proposed change in LPG has no relationship to any change in oil feedstock.  
Specifically, the EIR asserts that the project “would not change, enlarge, or otherwise impact”  

the refinery’s oil feedstock5 because, it asserts: 

(1) “the actual amount of propane and butane available for recovery (determined using mea-
sured flow data and lab analysis of propane and butane content) is approximately 4,200 bpd 
[barrels per day, or b/d] of propane and 9,300 bpd of butane”5 so that; 

(2) the 4,200 b/d of propane6 and 3,800 b/d of additional butane6 the project design would re-
cover from refinery fuel gas “do not represent any anticipated increase in LPG production.”5  

Despite its explicit reliance on “measured flow data and lab analysis of propane and butane 
content” for this claimed amount of LPG recoverable in the baseline, no such data is included 
anywhere in the EIR.7  Therefore, the data in Attachment 4 are relevant to environmental review 
of this project. 

The Rodeo Fuel Gas LPG Data
Phillips 66 submitted a “Refinery Fuel Gas Speciation Profile” and “Daily U233 Fuel Gas Data” 
in attachments A-4 and A-7 to its air permits application for this project.8  These data are given 
in Attachment 4.  The Speciation Profile reports the propane and butane9 content, mass fractions, 
and molecular weight (MW) of fuel gas from analysis of samples taken at the Unit 233 fuel gas 
mix drum, described as the mix drum for the fuel gas system.  Propane and butane concentrations 
ranged by 10% and 17%, respectively, in three samples taken during August 2011.  Phillips’ At-
tachment A-7 reports daily Unit 233 fuel gas flow from Jan 2009–Nov 2012.  In the most recent 
three-year baseline period reported (Dec 2009–Nov 2012) this fuel gas flow averaged ≈29.83 
million standard cubic feet per day (MMSCFD) with a 90th Percentile flow of 35.21 MMSCFD.  

Phillips asserted that these data are representative of the refinery baseline for project review.10  
Table S-1 summarizes these baseline data.

5 FEIR at 3.2-130 [explanation added]: As used in the EIR, “bpd” refers to barrels per day (b/d).
6 Project design reported by the EIR. See DEIR at 3-23; see also DEIR at 3-21 (Table 3-2).
7 The EIR’s failure to disclose these purported baseline data is improper. See also Fox Report at 5.
8 Rodeo Propane Recovery Project BAAQMD Authority to Construct and Significant Revision to Major 
Facility Review Permit Application, February 2013. Previously submitted attached to Karras Report.
9 Butane, herein, is the sum of n-butane and isobutane, each of which is reported in Attachment A-4.
10 Indeed, this refinery baseline is asserted explicitly (“Refinery fuel gas [RFG] volume and total sulfur 
content for the baseline period were provided in the original permit application”) (emphasis added) on 
page 3 of Phillips’ 28 June 2013 response to the Air Quality Management District’s 21 May 2013 Incom-
plete Letter (included in the Karras Report “Air Permit Correspondence” Attachment). Phillips’ statement 
must refer to air permit app. attachments A-4 and A-7 as no other refinery fuel gas data were included in 
the application or its attachments.  Thus, these are the only data available at this time that represent the 
“measured flow data and lab analysis of propane and butane content” the EIR purports to rely upon, and 
Phillips asserted that these data are representative of the project baseline. CBE submits these data on this 
basis, however, more data are required for full environmental review.  For example, other, undisclosed, 
and new streams containing LPG could be routed to recovery, such as streams from the refinery’s Santa 
Maria Facility (see Fox Report), and Phillips reports analysis of only three samples for LPG in fuel gas. 



14 January 2014
CBE Appeal Supplemental Evidence–C  
(SCH#2012072046; LP12-2073)
Page Three

LPG Baseline Errors
As estimated from Phillips’ data, the baseline Rodeo facility fuel gas contains an average of 
≈2,290 b/d of propane and ≈1,880 b/d of butane.  See Table S-1.  Even at the 90th Percentile 
(conditions existing only 10% of the time) it contains only ≈2,700 b/d of propane and 2,220 b/d 
of butane.  These amounts are smaller than the “4,200 bpd of propane and 9,300 bpd of butane” 
baseline asserted by the EIR.  Thus, Phillips’ data show that the EIR overestimates the project 
LPG baseline.  Therefore, the EIR’s unsupported LPG baseline is contradicted by available data 
that the EIR has failed to disclose.

LPG Production and Feedstock Errors
Phillips data show that baseline refinery fuel gas does not contain enough LPG to implement the 
project goals.  See Table S-1.  Instead, LPG available from existing crude stocks would meet 
about half of the project’s goals—54% of projected propane production and 49% of projected 
butane production.  Therefore, the EIR’s unsupported assertion that the project goals “do not 
represent any anticipated increase in LPG production” is contradicted by available data that the 
EIR has failed to disclose.   

At roughly half of project design (see Table S-1), LPG production would roughly double—on 
average—in order to implement the project as proposed.  This substantial increase in production 
would require a change in the amount or composition of the feedstock or processing methods.  
Thus, the EIR’s unsupported claim that the project “would not change, enlarge, or otherwise 
impact” refinery oil feedstock is contradicted by Phillips’ own data, which the EIR has failed to 
disclose.  Changing refinery oil feedstock has known potential to worsen air pollution and safety 

Table S-1. Baseline LPG in Rodeo Facility Fuel Gas, December 2009–November 2012a 
Units Average 90th Percentile

U233 fuel gas flow (MMSCFD) 29.83 35.21
(million lbs/day) 1.71 2.02

Propane in fuel gas (lb/lb fuel gas) 0.2381 0.2381
(million lbs/day) 0.407 0.481
(barrels/day) 2,290 2,700
(% of project design) 54% 64%

Butane in fuel gas (lb/lb fuel gas) 0.2230 0.2230
(million lbs/day) 0.381 0.450
(barrels/day) 1,880 2,220
(% of project design) 49% 58%

(a) Project design: 4,200 b/d propane and 3,800 b/d butane; data from DEIR at 3-23.  Compressed liquid 
densities at 60 ºF: 178 lb/barrel propane and 203 lb/b butane; data from EPA’s AP 42 Appendix A.  All other 
data from Phillips 66 Air Permit Application attachments provided in Attachment 4 hereto.  Conversions from 
MMSCFD (1 atm., 60 ºF) to lbs/d based on fuel gas MW (21.75 lb/lb-mol), and on propane and butane mass 
fractions (lb/lb fuel gas shown in table), from Attachment 4. Butane shown includes n-Butane and Isobutane.



14 January 2014
CBE Appeal Supplemental Evidence–C  
(SCH#2012072046; LP12-2073)
Page Four

hazards substantially.  Therefore, the EIR’s admission that it “did not address changes in crude 
oil use” indicates a serious deficiency in the environmental review of this project.

Conclusion
CBE seeks an adequate environmental review that, among other things, resolves the EIR’s      
failure to include information on the sources, types, or quality of this refinery’s oil feedstock.  
Failing to include this information, the EIR fails to answer even the most straightforward ques-
tions about whether tar sands oils could be a new feedstock, what changes in oil feedstock are 
anticipated, potential impacts of those changes, and how those impacts will be addressed.  The 
EIR argues against this necessary environmental disclosure, inappropriately, and erroneously.  
Its claim that LPG production and oil feed changes are unrelated suffers from the logical fallacy 
that products are unrelated to feedstock, relies on unsupported conclusory statements, ignores 
related wharf, rail, and processing expansions that enable new feedstock, and—as documented 
further herein—is contradicted by substantial evidence that the project requires new feedstock.  
This new evidence further strongly supports CBE’s appeal.

Respectfully Submitted,  

Roger Lin     Greg Karras
Staff Attorney     Senior Scientist

Attachments:  CBE Supp. Attachment 4. Refinery Fuel Gas Speciation Profile and Daily U233
  Fuel Gas Data, as submitted by Phillips 66 in attachments to its air permit 
  application for the project

  CBE Supp. Attachment 5. Refinery Action Collaborative letter of 18 Dec. 2013

Copy:  Lashun Cross, Principal Planner, Department of Conservation and Development
  Laurel L. Impett, AICP, Urban Planner, Shute, Mihaly & Weinberger LLP
  Ken Alex, Director, Governor’s Office of Planning and Research
  Jean Roggenkamp, Deputy Air Pollution Control Officer, BAAQMD
  Refinery Action Collaborative, San Francisco Bay Area
  Interested Organizations and Individuals  



CBE Supplemental Attachment 4

Refinery Fuel Gas Speciation Profile and 
Daily U233 Fuel Gas Data, as submitted 
by Phillips 66 in attachments to its Air
Permit Application for the Project*

Contents

Part 1: Refinery Fuel Gas Speciation Profile
Permit App. Attachment A-4 excerpt
(5 pages)

Part 2: Daily U233 Fuel Gas Data
Permit App. Attachment A-7
(22 pages)

* Rodeo Propane Recovery Project BAAQMD Authority to  

Construct and Significant Revision to Major Facility Review  

Permit Application, February 2013.  

Previously submitted attached to 4 Sep 2013 Karras Report.  



Refinery Fuel Gas Speciation Profile

Fuel Gas Data

Instruction:

General source 
description, e.g., mix 

drum for X,Y,Z units; mix 
drum for fuel gas system 

1; etc.

Assign a 
unique ID for 

each test 
report

Enter start date 

Field: Process Throughput or Production Rate

Facility ID 
Number

Fuel gas mix 
drum ID General Description Test Report 

ID
Test Date

(mm/dd/yyyy) Run Number
Actual

Fuel Gas Flow Rate
(acfm)

Standard
Fuel Gas Flow 

Rate
(scfm)

Dry Standard
Fuel Gas Flow 

Rate
(dscfm)

Production 
comment

CA5A0280 Unit 233 mix drum for fuel gas 
system 11045.2 08/15/2011 Run 1 3,826.83                 20,011.19      19,811.08        

CA5A0280 Unit 233 mix drum for fuel gas 
system 11045.2 08/17/2011 Run 2 3,747.39                 20,394.04      20,210.49        

CA5A0280 Unit 233 mix drum for fuel gas 
system 11045.2 08/17/2011 Run 3 4,036.96                 21,014.92      20,783.76        

Molecular Wt 21.75  (per Brent's email)

Mass Fraction

Molecular Weight of RFG

Form Approved 03/28/2011
OMB Control No. 2060-0657
Approval Expires 03/31/2014

Enter the fuel gas flow rate or usage rates from measurement data, 
company records, or engineering analyses.  Use 1 atm and 60°F as 

standard conditions. 



Refinery Fuel Gas Speciation Profil

Fuel Gas Data

Instruction:

Field:

Facility ID 
Number

CA5A0280

CA5A0280

CA5A0280

Molecular Wt

Mass Fraction

Molecular W   

Form Approved 03/28/2011
OMB Control No. 2060-0657
Approval Expires 03/31/2014

    CAS No. >> 1333-74-0 630-08-0 124-38-9 7727-37-9 7782-44-7

HHV (Btu/scf) Moisture Content 
(vol%)

Hydrogen 
(vol%, dry basis)

Carbon monoxide 
(vol%, dry basis)

Carbon dioxide 
(vol%, dry basis)

Nitrogen 
(vol%, dry basis)

Oxygen 
(vol%, dry basis)

1323.33 1.00 29.44 0.43 0.11 2.03 0.43

1335.42 0.90 29.49 0.44 0.11 2.39 0.44

1320.85 1.10 29.44 0.43 0.11 2.03 0.43

18.0153 2.014 28.01 44.01 28.0134 32

0.008282897 0.027274137 0.005531228 0.002225793 0.027678106 0.006319147

Enter the fuel gas higher heating value (HHV) content and general composition data



Refinery Fuel Gas Speciation Profil

Fuel Gas Data

Instruction:

Field:

Facility ID 
Number

CA5A0280

CA5A0280

CA5A0280

Molecular Wt

Mass Fraction

Molecular W   

Form Approved 03/28/2011
OMB Control No. 2060-0657
Approval Expires 03/31/2014

Assume all TRS is H2S

    CAS No. >> 7783-06-4 463-58-1 75-15-0 74-82-8 74-84-0 74-85-1 74-86-2 74-98-6 115-07-1 463-49-0 106-97-8 75-28-5

TRS 
(ppmvd)

Hydrogen 
sulfide 

(ppmvd)

Carbonyl 
sulfide 

(ppmvd)

Carbon  
disulfide 
(ppmvd)

Methane 
(ppmvd) Ethane (ppmvd) Ethylene 

(ppmvd)
Acetylene 
(ppmvd)

Propane 
(ppmvd)

Propylene 
(ppmvd)

Propadiene 
(ppmvd)

n-Butane 
(ppmvd)

Isobutane 
(ppmvd)

505.56 8.370 29.50 0.344 285,832.00       115,500.66       6,783.18        0.53               113,270.53       13,323.18      0.53               50,774.64      35,532.76      

571.99 12.300 30.60 0.459 275,316.91       113,347.86       6,775.19        0.54               114,580.81       13,684.23      0.54               54,365.84      34,297.09      

551.55 18.300 32.70 0.359 278,916.27       123,708.52       6,628.30        0.54               124,396.66       12,803.23      0.54               47,143.31      28,321.31      

34.0809 34.0809 60.07 76.139 16.04 30.07 28.05 26.04 44.1 42.08 40.065 58.12 58.12

0.0009 0.0000 0.0001 0.00000136 0.2065 0.1625 0.0087 0.0000 0.2381 0.0257 0.0000 0.1356 0.0874

     Enter the sulfur compound composition data



Refinery Fuel Gas Speciation Profil

Fuel Gas Data

Instruction:

Field:

Facility ID 
Number

CA5A0280

CA5A0280

CA5A0280

Molecular Wt

Mass Fraction

Molecular W   

Form Approved 03/28/2011
OMB Control No. 2060-0657
Approval Expires 03/31/2014

106-98-9 107-01-7 115-11-7 590-19-2 106-99-0 109-66-0 78-78-4 287-92-3 109-67-1 627-20-3 646-04-8 563-46-2 563-45-1 513-35-9

1-Butene 
(ppmvd)

2-Butene 
(ppmvd)

Isobutene 
(ppmvd)

1,2-Butadiene 
(ppmvd)

1,3-Butadiene 
(ppmvd)

n-Pentane 
(ppmvd)

2-
Methylbutane 

(ppmvd)

Cyclopentane 
(ppmvd)

1-Pentene 
(ppmvd)

Cis-2-pentene 
(ppmvd)

Trans-2-
pentene 
(ppmvd)

2-Methyl-1-
butene 

(ppmvd)

3-Methyl-1-
butene 

(ppmvd)

2-Methyl-2-
butene 

(ppmvd)

3,845.93        3,281.74        4,959.40        0.53               90.87             6,159.25        8,323.26        603.66           840.43           239.12           487.41           603.66           364.76           700.72           

4,218.99        3,561.71        4,991.62        0.54               92.39             7,002.63        9,746.00        685.57           958.71           277.82           562.60           694.28           414.61           810.72           

3,651.76        3,012.08        3,904.83        0.54               88.31             5,850.78        7,771.96        579.37           813.06           253.07           479.22           581.52           358.61           685.98           

56.106 56.106 56.106 54.091 54.091 72.15 72.15 70.1 70.13 70.13 70.13 70.13 70.13 70.13

0.0101 0.0085 0.0119 0.0000 0.0002 0.0210 0.0286 0.0020 0.0028 0.0008 0.0016 0.0020 0.0012 0.0024

Enter the organic compound composition data



Refinery Fuel Gas Speciation Profil

Fuel Gas Data

Instruction:

Field:

Facility ID 
Number

CA5A0280

CA5A0280

CA5A0280

Molecular Wt

Mass Fraction

Molecular W   

Form Approved 03/28/2011
OMB Control No. 2060-0657
Approval Expires 03/31/2014

Assume n-Hexane

142-29-0 591-95-7 1574-41-0 2004-70-8 591-93-5 591-96-8 598-25-4 78-79-5 542-92-7 71-43-2 110-54-3

Cylcopentene 
(ppmvd)

1,2-
Pentadiene 

(ppmvd)

1-cis-3-
Pentadiene 

(ppmvd)

1-trans-3-
Pentadiene 

(ppmvd)

1,4-
Pentadiene 

(ppmvd)

2,3-Pentadiene 
(ppmvd)

3-Methyl-1,2-
butadiene 
(ppmvd)

2-Methyl-1,3-
butadiene 
(ppmvd)

Cyclopentadie
ne (ppmvd)

Benzene 
(ppmvd)

other C6+ 
(ppmvd)

121.48           19.09             159.13           40.64             6.29               N/A 10.24             26.66             N/A 257.25           12,947.76            

138.75           23.61             170.52           46.90             7.73               N/A 11.64             31.45             N/A 292.29           14,456.86            

130.41           21.54             178.12           43.18             6.57               N/A 11.42             28.32             N/A 283.22           13,355.67            

68.12 68.12 68.12 68.12 68.12 68.12 68.12 68.12 66.10114 78.11 86.18

0.0004 0.0001 0.0005 0.0001 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0001 0.0000 0.000997 0.0538

     



 

 

Attachment A-7 
Daily U233 Fuel Gas Data 
  



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
1/1/2009 36,424 272.3 1,648
1/2/2009 35,533 270.2 1,595
1/3/2009 36,013 313.1 1,873
1/4/2009 35,013 324.2 1,885
1/5/2009 35,133 310.4 1,811
1/6/2009 35,162 302.3 1,766
1/7/2009 36,438 282.3 1,708
1/8/2009 36,114 305.3 1,831
1/9/2009 35,737 283.6 1,684

1/10/2009 35,381 321.8 1,891
1/11/2009 34,445 302.8 1,733
1/12/2009 33,907 304.3 1,714
1/13/2009 34,348 306.1 1,747
1/14/2009 35,624 317.0 1,876
1/15/2009 36,061 283.7 1,700
1/16/2009 36,715 261.2 1,593
1/17/2009 36,823 272.5 1,667
1/18/2009 32,963 380.5 2,083
1/19/2009 32,132 370.0 1,975
1/20/2009 33,395 296.5 1,645
1/21/2009 32,368 304.8 1,639
1/22/2009 32,765 309.8 1,686
1/23/2009 33,833 327.0 1,838
1/24/2009 35,622 280.8 1,662
1/25/2009 36,994 256.1 1,574
1/26/2009 35,268 284.0 1,664
1/27/2009 34,667 340.9 1,963
1/28/2009 34,025 326.5 1,846
1/29/2009 33,793 313.0 1,757
1/30/2009 33,527 321.3 1,789
1/31/2009 33,817 335.6 1,885
2/1/2009 33,276 333.8 1,845
2/2/2009 32,918 352.5 1,928
2/3/2009 31,799 386.6 2,042
2/4/2009 30,532 428.0 2,171
2/5/2009 31,341 383.3 1,996
2/6/2009 31,541 298.4 1,563
2/7/2009 32,050 308.2 1,641
2/8/2009 32,440 304.5 1,641
2/9/2009 32,521 359.9 1,944

2/10/2009 32,485 320.8 1,731
2/11/2009 31,750 342.8 1,808
2/12/2009 33,553 358.9 2,000
2/13/2009 34,433 313.9 1,795
2/14/2009 33,545 355.5 1,981
2/15/2009 33,810 333.3 1,872
2/16/2009 34,462 324.9 1,860
2/17/2009 35,806 283.9 1,688
2/18/2009 35,297 260.9 1,530
2/19/2009 36,933 284.1 1,743
2/20/2009 37,503 335.7 2,091
2/21/2009 38,282 359.3 2,285
2/22/2009 39,774 297.3 1,964
2/23/2009 39,470 269.6 1,768
2/24/2009 36,443 276.8 1,675
2/25/2009 33,406 287.0 1,592
2/26/2009 33,616 278.4 1,554
2/27/2009 36,151 197.1 1,184
2/28/2009 33,562 280.2 1,562
3/1/2009 36,386 277.3 1,676
3/2/2009 33,550 277.4 1,546
3/3/2009 32,106 249.6 1,331
3/4/2009 32,612 246.1 1,333
3/5/2009 32,071 317.9 1,693
3/6/2009 29,664 301.0 1,483
3/7/2009 28,452 296.3 1,400
3/8/2009 28,035 258.3 1,203
3/9/2009 28,322 258.0 1,214

DATE



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

3/10/2009 29,279 310.8 1,511
3/11/2009 28,637 325.5 1,548
3/12/2009 28,622 287.9 1,369
3/13/2009 27,867 265.8 1,230
3/14/2009 27,652 291.3 1,338
3/15/2009 26,924 344.9 1,543
3/16/2009 25,347 380.1 1,600
3/17/2009 25,090 350.1 1,459
3/18/2009 26,214 365.7 1,592
3/19/2009 26,574 378.6 1,671
3/20/2009 25,970 403.9 1,742
3/21/2009 25,400 334.0 1,409
3/22/2009 26,028 305.1 1,319
3/23/2009 25,555 365.7 1,552
3/24/2009 25,896 327.2 1,408
3/25/2009 24,863 344.3 1,422
3/26/2009 25,724 352.6 1,506
3/27/2009 25,650 351.8 1,499
3/28/2009 25,654 347.8 1,482
3/29/2009 25,181 371.0 1,552
3/30/2009 24,548 409.9 1,671
3/31/2009 25,261 389.1 1,633
4/1/2009 24,889 408.6 1,689
4/2/2009 24,239 418.7 1,686
4/3/2009 23,935 380.7 1,514
4/4/2009 22,849 373.0 1,416
4/5/2009 23,040 404.5 1,548
4/6/2009 22,314 447.3 1,658
4/7/2009 23,849 432.7 1,714
4/8/2009 25,886 321.9 1,384
4/9/2009 26,817 329.8 1,469

4/10/2009 27,214 337.0 1,523
4/11/2009 27,201 344.3 1,556
4/12/2009 26,937 322.8 1,444
4/13/2009 27,465 329.9 1,505
4/14/2009 29,098 332.9 1,609
4/15/2009 30,389 317.2 1,601
4/16/2009 30,427 332.5 1,680
4/17/2009 30,920 325.0 1,669
4/18/2009 31,696 320.6 1,688
4/19/2009 34,618 308.2 1,772
4/20/2009 30,953 239.8 1,233
4/21/2009 25,738 25.1 107
4/22/2009 26,210 31.3 136
4/23/2009 27,990 24.5 114
4/24/2009 28,929 23.0 111
4/25/2009 28,605 23.4 111
4/26/2009 28,615 23.0 109
4/27/2009 28,963 22.1 107
4/28/2009 29,078 23.4 113
4/29/2009 28,169 20.4 95
4/30/2009 26,032 24.9 108
5/1/2009 26,005 26.9 116
5/2/2009 26,146 25.0 108
5/3/2009 27,733 102.5 472
5/4/2009 29,291 419.0 2,039
5/5/2009 30,456 547.3 2,769
5/6/2009 29,237 548.1 2,662
5/7/2009 29,067 538.0 2,598
5/8/2009 28,600 448.5 2,131
5/9/2009 30,062 463.3 2,314

5/10/2009 25,634 490.8 2,090
5/11/2009 27,591 481.5 2,207
5/12/2009 26,859 562.7 2,510
5/13/2009 26,997 566.7 2,541
5/14/2009 27,631 543.0 2,492
5/15/2009 28,233 563.9 2,645
5/16/2009 28,660 556.5 2,649
5/17/2009 28,370 561.3 2,645
5/18/2009 29,479 545.0 2,669



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

5/19/2009 28,778 522.0 2,495
5/20/2009 27,056 559.4 2,514
5/21/2009 27,554 529.5 2,424
5/22/2009 28,606 514.3 2,444
5/23/2009 27,414 527.2 2,401
5/24/2009 30,695 499.3 2,546
5/25/2009 32,257 488.2 2,616
5/26/2009 34,029 474.1 2,680
5/27/2009 33,326 477.2 2,641
5/28/2009 33,917 417.4 2,352
5/29/2009 33,488 437.3 2,432
5/30/2009 33,606 458.2 2,557
5/31/2009 33,958 446.9 2,521
6/1/2009 33,970 515.4 2,908
6/2/2009 34,419 444.8 2,543
6/3/2009 33,144 451.6 2,486
6/4/2009 31,957 434.0 2,304
6/5/2009 32,053 445.8 2,374
6/6/2009 31,981 447.1 2,375
6/7/2009 32,338 469.7 2,523
6/8/2009 32,311 486.6 2,611
6/9/2009 32,663 479.4 2,601

6/10/2009 32,185 498.1 2,663
6/11/2009 31,583 516.2 2,708
6/12/2009 31,758 484.1 2,553
6/13/2009 30,058 420.2 2,098
6/14/2009 30,315 474.9 2,391
6/15/2009 30,711 495.9 2,530
6/16/2009 31,386 506.3 2,640
6/17/2009 31,745 451.0 2,378
6/18/2009 31,702 492.8 2,595
6/19/2009 31,487 453.5 2,372
6/20/2009 32,321 478.6 2,569
6/21/2009 31,827 443.1 2,343
6/22/2009 31,517 535.4 2,803
6/23/2009 31,485 501.4 2,622
6/24/2009 32,223 486.7 2,605
6/25/2009 32,568 378.9 2,050
6/26/2009 32,315 394.5 2,117
6/27/2009 31,861 461.9 2,445
6/28/2009 32,386 402.1 2,163
6/29/2009 32,855 401.0 2,188
6/30/2009 32,476 441.2 2,380
7/1/2009 31,446 473.2 2,472
7/2/2009 31,976 465.6 2,473
7/3/2009 33,195 448.4 2,472
7/4/2009 33,548 355.9 1,983
7/5/2009 34,016 430.0 2,429
7/6/2009 33,448 386.8 2,149
7/7/2009 33,007 415.9 2,280
7/8/2009 33,215 392.2 2,164
7/9/2009 32,826 466.3 2,543

7/10/2009 32,683 420.2 2,281
7/11/2009 32,666 459.1 2,491
7/12/2009 31,153 354.5 1,835
7/13/2009 31,633 337.4 1,773
7/14/2009 31,668 489.4 2,574
7/15/2009 32,957 469.9 2,572
7/16/2009 33,305 429.6 2,377
7/17/2009 32,920 396.0 2,165
7/18/2009 32,771 410.9 2,237
7/19/2009 32,815 428.4 2,335
7/20/2009 33,403 406.5 2,255
7/21/2009 33,458 418.1 2,324
7/22/2009 33,279 372.0 2,056
7/23/2009 33,703 402.7 2,254
7/24/2009 33,484 422.1 2,348
7/25/2009 33,204 422.0 2,327
7/26/2009 32,967 452.0 2,475
7/27/2009 33,032 434.0 2,381



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

7/28/2009 32,942 471.8 2,582
7/29/2009 33,234 446.5 2,465
7/30/2009 32,999 464.2 2,544
7/31/2009 33,131 462.7 2,546
8/1/2009 33,199 484.7 2,673
8/2/2009 33,572 495.3 2,762
8/3/2009 33,847 476.2 2,677
8/4/2009 33,676 464.7 2,599
8/5/2009 33,495 488.4 2,717
8/6/2009 32,588 493.4 2,671
8/7/2009 31,314 522.1 2,716
8/8/2009 31,954 470.9 2,499
8/9/2009 32,187 510.6 2,730

8/10/2009 31,452 520.4 2,719
8/11/2009 32,112 407.7 2,174
8/12/2009 31,111 536.6 2,773
8/13/2009 31,689 495.8 2,610
8/14/2009 32,452 424.3 2,287
8/15/2009 31,919 453.6 2,405
8/16/2009 31,823 470.1 2,485
8/17/2009 31,443 471.0 2,460
8/18/2009 31,928 431.6 2,289
8/19/2009 32,200 389.6 2,084
8/20/2009 32,267 412.1 2,209
8/21/2009 32,380 461.9 2,484
8/22/2009 33,915 473.7 2,669
8/23/2009 33,003 443.2 2,430
8/24/2009 33,471 451.9 2,512
8/25/2009 33,255 431.9 2,386
8/26/2009 33,468 458.5 2,549
8/27/2009 33,597 469.5 2,620
8/28/2009 32,898 486.0 2,656
8/29/2009 32,129 463.3 2,472
8/30/2009 33,061 445.3 2,445
8/31/2009 32,987 394.9 2,164
9/1/2009 33,036 467.6 2,566
9/2/2009 32,533 509.9 2,755
9/3/2009 33,174 484.7 2,671
9/4/2009 33,515 435.9 2,427
9/5/2009 33,484 476.1 2,648
9/6/2009 33,284 490.1 2,710
9/7/2009 33,175 457.5 2,521
9/8/2009 33,047 454.0 2,492
9/9/2009 34,239 398.8 2,268

9/10/2009 33,071 422.8 2,323
9/11/2009 34,130 465.6 2,640
9/12/2009 34,070 431.3 2,441
9/13/2009 33,824 352.8 1,982
9/14/2009 33,501 405.6 2,257
9/15/2009 33,158 349.3 1,924
9/16/2009 30,697 449.2 2,290
9/17/2009 29,823 441.0 2,185
9/18/2009 30,155 473.9 2,374
9/19/2009 30,843 432.8 2,217
9/20/2009 30,442 450.4 2,277
9/21/2009 31,131 446.9 2,311
9/22/2009 29,473 416.0 2,037
9/23/2009 31,038 379.1 1,955
9/24/2009 31,735 303.4 1,599
9/25/2009 30,369 322.0 1,624
9/26/2009 32,828 341.6 1,863
9/27/2009 32,196 216.6 1,158
9/28/2009 30,296 180.9 911
9/29/2009 30,946 178.7 918
9/30/2009 33,470 176.0 978
10/1/2009 30,715 220.3 1,124
10/2/2009 31,648 198.4 1,043
10/3/2009 28,276 226.9 1,066
10/4/2009 27,083 257.7 1,159
10/5/2009 26,405 276.3 1,212



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

10/6/2009 25,487 293.8 1,244
10/7/2009 25,154 324.0 1,354
10/8/2009 25,468 288.8 1,222
10/9/2009 26,672 337.1 1,493
10/10/2009 29,994 396.8 1,977
10/11/2009 32,823 386.5 2,107
10/12/2009 35,289 352.2 2,065
10/13/2009 39,336 337.3 2,204
10/14/2009 33,275 421.6 2,330
10/15/2009 33,069 412.6 2,267
10/16/2009 31,624 431.5 2,266
10/17/2009 32,299 460.6 2,471
10/18/2009 32,665 445.8 2,419
10/19/2009 31,912 371.4 1,969
10/20/2009 31,662 410.8 2,161
10/21/2009 32,380 389.8 2,097
10/22/2009 31,272 329.3 1,711
10/23/2009 30,108 393.4 1,967
10/24/2009 29,825 440.2 2,181
10/25/2009 31,214 447.9 2,322
10/26/2009 33,290 440.0 2,433
10/27/2009 33,726 361.5 2,025
10/28/2009 32,080 256.1 1,365
10/29/2009 32,920 356.9 1,952
10/30/2009 32,553 345.4 1,868
10/31/2009 32,702 329.2 1,788
11/1/2009 32,666 335.2 1,819
11/2/2009 32,667 340.0 1,845
11/3/2009 32,678 330.7 1,795
11/4/2009 32,480 325.5 1,756
11/5/2009 30,808 380.7 1,948
11/6/2009 30,508 382.7 1,939
11/7/2009 31,993 324.9 1,726
11/8/2009 32,559 341.8 1,849
11/9/2009 30,490 341.1 1,728
11/10/2009 31,270 349.6 1,816
11/11/2009 30,780 401.8 2,054
11/12/2009 30,241 421.4 2,117
11/13/2009 31,799 384.9 2,033
11/14/2009 31,750 378.6 1,996
11/15/2009 33,049 427.4 2,346
11/16/2009 37,205 332.4 2,054
11/17/2009 37,601 327.1 2,043
11/18/2009 37,957 323.2 2,038
11/19/2009 35,313 384.5 2,255
11/20/2009 37,038 366.5 2,255
11/21/2009 37,910 316.7 1,994
11/22/2009 37,458 340.2 2,117
11/23/2009 37,229 355.0 2,195
11/24/2009 36,782 359.8 2,198
11/25/2009 36,605 372.4 2,265
11/26/2009 36,202 361.5 2,174
11/27/2009 35,433 345.8 2,035
11/28/2009 35,411 347.9 2,046
11/29/2009 35,150 386.4 2,256
11/30/2009 35,182 395.1 2,309
12/1/2009 34,616 404.9 2,328
12/2/2009 35,065 382.5 2,228
12/3/2009 34,519 406.1 2,328
12/4/2009 34,618 395.1 2,272
12/5/2009 33,858 389.8 2,192
12/6/2009 35,588 346.3 2,047
12/7/2009 34,831 347.3 2,009
12/8/2009 29,690 41.3 203
12/9/2009 27,149 20.3 92
12/10/2009 27,278 15.7 71
12/11/2009 29,776 121.5 601
12/12/2009 31,754 330.5 1,743
12/13/2009 32,746 357.6 1,945
12/14/2009 32,219 356.9 1,910



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

12/15/2009 33,455 380.6 2,115
12/16/2009 31,960 398.8 2,117
12/17/2009 32,435 413.3 2,226
12/18/2009 33,637 374.6 2,093
12/19/2009 32,468 377.7 2,037
12/20/2009 32,270 372.4 1,996
12/21/2009 31,934 361.0 1,915
12/22/2009 32,744 393.1 2,138
12/23/2009 31,613 423.6 2,224
12/24/2009 31,238 430.2 2,232
12/25/2009 31,890 408.9 2,166
12/26/2009 31,439 386.3 2,017
12/27/2009 32,049 393.5 2,095
12/28/2009 31,554 431.5 2,261
12/29/2009 33,780 387.8 2,176
12/30/2009 36,698 375.7 2,290
12/31/2009 37,763 363.8 2,282

1/1/2010 36,887 414.9 2,542
1/2/2010 37,113 419.8 2,588
1/3/2010 38,316 381.5 2,428
1/4/2010 40,225 348.6 2,329
1/5/2010 39,453 369.0 2,418
1/6/2010 34,638 403.0 2,318
1/7/2010 33,459 379.5 2,109
1/8/2010 34,474 397.6 2,277
1/9/2010 31,163 407.3 2,108

1/10/2010 35,750 409.7 2,433
1/11/2010 36,557 408.6 2,481
1/12/2010 33,343 435.9 2,414
1/13/2010 33,316 374.2 2,071
1/14/2010 33,300 414.0 2,290
1/15/2010 32,374 453.8 2,440
1/16/2010 33,445 410.8 2,282
1/17/2010 32,050 409.5 2,180
1/18/2010 33,587 412.2 2,299
1/19/2010 36,122 386.6 2,319
1/20/2010 36,892 341.7 2,094
1/21/2010 31,429 409.9 2,140
1/22/2010 29,782 419.5 2,075
1/23/2010 31,180 420.5 2,178
1/24/2010 31,421 442.4 2,309
1/25/2010 32,400 372.0 2,002
1/26/2010 35,667 347.2 2,057
1/27/2010 35,146 400.8 2,340
1/28/2010 32,510 397.8 2,148
1/29/2010 34,802 418.2 2,417
1/30/2010 36,862 389.8 2,387
1/31/2010 37,542 407.6 2,542
2/1/2010 36,951 410.3 2,518
2/2/2010 36,742 318.5 1,944
2/3/2010 36,741 320.9 1,958
2/4/2010 37,005 373.2 2,294
2/5/2010 36,717 372.8 2,274
2/6/2010 35,910 400.0 2,386
2/7/2010 35,445 368.4 2,169
2/8/2010 33,620 396.2 2,212
2/9/2010 32,640 354.5 1,922

2/10/2010 33,886 424.8 2,391
2/11/2010 33,836 403.6 2,268
2/12/2010 33,682 472.5 2,644
2/13/2010 32,035 483.1 2,571
2/14/2010 29,406 471.8 2,304
2/15/2010 33,756 463.7 2,600
2/16/2010 36,494 408.3 2,475
2/17/2010 35,735 404.6 2,402
2/18/2010 35,018 387.5 2,254
2/19/2010 33,977 405.0 2,286
2/20/2010 34,058 405.2 2,292
2/21/2010 34,436 336.8 1,927
2/22/2010 34,915 392.7 2,277



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

2/23/2010 36,740 348.8 2,129
2/24/2010 32,389 412.5 2,219
2/25/2010 33,592 360.4 2,011
2/26/2010 33,601 347.3 1,938
2/27/2010 34,773 386.3 2,231
2/28/2010 35,176 363.8 2,125
3/1/2010 34,192 418.2 2,375
3/2/2010 35,124 407.8 2,379
3/3/2010 35,965 256.7 1,533
3/4/2010 35,912 386.9 2,308
3/5/2010 35,515 390.4 2,303
3/6/2010 35,548 362.9 2,143
3/7/2010 35,284 369.5 2,165
3/8/2010 30,401 337.4 1,704
3/9/2010 29,429 352.5 1,723

3/10/2010 28,342 374.7 1,764
3/11/2010 31,064 361.8 1,867
3/12/2010 36,289 248.1 1,495
3/13/2010 38,198 269.6 1,710
3/14/2010 35,845 267.3 1,592
3/15/2010 31,116 318.7 1,647
3/16/2010 32,475 405.1 2,185
3/17/2010 31,198 432.0 2,239
3/18/2010 32,916 416.3 2,276
3/19/2010 30,368 412.5 2,081
3/20/2010 32,857 394.7 2,154
3/21/2010 32,880 372.6 2,035
3/22/2010 30,875 396.6 2,034
3/23/2010 31,347 408.6 2,127
3/24/2010 33,551 370.4 2,064
3/25/2010 33,965 380.9 2,149
3/26/2010 33,947 407.1 2,295
3/27/2010 33,539 429.4 2,392
3/28/2010 33,433 381.3 2,117
3/29/2010 34,959 393.6 2,286
3/30/2010 36,188 330.3 1,985
3/31/2010 36,101 349.6 2,096
4/1/2010 36,028 392.9 2,352
4/2/2010 37,397 364.4 2,263
4/3/2010 38,113 352.5 2,232
4/4/2010 38,378 330.2 2,105
4/5/2010 36,590 327.7 1,992
4/6/2010 32,062 413.9 2,205
4/7/2010 31,369 450.7 2,348
4/8/2010 31,123 368.5 1,905
4/9/2010 31,089 482.3 2,491

4/10/2010 30,439 420.6 2,127
4/11/2010 31,050 381.3 1,967
4/12/2010 29,711 413.2 2,039
4/13/2010 30,979 434.5 2,236
4/14/2010 32,966 375.7 2,057
4/15/2010 31,723 432.5 2,279
4/16/2010 31,865 267.8 1,418
4/17/2010 33,258 498.2 2,752
4/18/2010 32,791 533.5 2,906
4/19/2010 32,571 460.9 2,494
4/20/2010 31,485 435.4 2,277
4/21/2010 31,940 421.2 2,235
4/22/2010 31,438 491.6 2,567
4/23/2010 31,989 486.0 2,583
4/24/2010 31,457 451.5 2,359
4/25/2010 31,702 453.1 2,386
4/26/2010 31,974 465.2 2,471
4/27/2010 31,093 427.5 2,208
4/28/2010 28,295 427.8 2,011
4/29/2010 27,683 452.8 2,082
4/30/2010 28,745 541.0 2,583
5/1/2010 29,604 514.9 2,532
5/2/2010 33,958 466.5 2,631
5/3/2010 33,255 467.7 2,584



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

5/4/2010 32,786 443.4 2,415
5/5/2010 31,936 398.8 2,115
5/6/2010 29,912 449.6 2,234
5/7/2010 31,785 437.8 2,311
5/8/2010 30,381 539.0 2,720
5/9/2010 31,585 521.3 2,735

5/10/2010 34,315 434.5 2,476
5/11/2010 36,256 447.3 2,694
5/12/2010 38,217 488.5 3,101
5/13/2010 37,482 446.4 2,779
5/14/2010 36,739 453.0 2,765
5/15/2010 36,426 519.0 3,140
5/16/2010 36,508 545.3 3,306
5/17/2010 35,446 501.9 2,955
5/18/2010 34,448 505.0 2,889
5/19/2010 36,805 458.8 2,805
5/20/2010 36,988 380.8 2,339
5/21/2010 36,589 407.5 2,477
5/22/2010 36,351 406.5 2,454
5/23/2010 35,767 400.4 2,379
5/24/2010 35,583 389.9 2,304
5/25/2010 34,983 430.4 2,501
5/26/2010 35,345 463.7 2,722
5/27/2010 36,378 416.0 2,514
5/28/2010 35,527 468.4 2,764
5/29/2010 34,545 524.2 3,008
5/30/2010 35,211 546.6 3,197
5/31/2010 35,637 541.6 3,206
6/1/2010 35,366 495.6 2,911
6/2/2010 35,226 424.8 2,486
6/3/2010 33,842 400.5 2,251
6/4/2010 33,305 409.6 2,266
6/5/2010 34,104 458.8 2,599
6/6/2010 34,493 524.6 3,005
6/7/2010 34,415 543.8 3,108
6/8/2010 34,429 487.4 2,787
6/9/2010 33,489 478.1 2,659

6/10/2010 33,605 498.4 2,782
6/11/2010 34,073 521.9 2,954
6/12/2010 33,784 561.9 3,153
6/13/2010 33,281 565.2 3,124
6/14/2010 33,093 484.3 2,662
6/15/2010 33,883 458.4 2,580
6/16/2010 32,592 463.8 2,511
6/17/2010 34,323 439.5 2,505
6/18/2010 35,575 382.5 2,260
6/19/2010 35,371 269.9 1,586
6/20/2010 35,836 433.3 2,579
6/21/2010 36,147 462.7 2,778
6/22/2010 34,559 457.4 2,626
6/23/2010 34,702 486.8 2,806
6/24/2010 35,249 483.8 2,832
6/25/2010 34,883 477.1 2,764
6/26/2010 34,480 429.7 2,461
6/27/2010 34,106 401.5 2,275
6/28/2010 33,062 273.3 1,501
6/29/2010 32,157 231.8 1,238
6/30/2010 27,206 249.9 1,129
7/1/2010 23,717 308.0 1,213
7/2/2010 27,067 291.4 1,310
7/3/2010 34,369 408.5 2,332
7/4/2010 35,103 469.2 2,736
7/5/2010 33,758 465.5 2,610
7/6/2010 34,412 464.2 2,653
7/7/2010 36,702 429.9 2,621
7/8/2010 35,451 449.2 2,645
7/9/2010 34,710 506.8 2,922

7/10/2010 37,634 508.6 3,179
7/11/2010 38,242 453.8 2,883
7/12/2010 38,524 434.6 2,781
7/13/2010 37,105 449.7 2,771
7/14/2010 36,010 422.0 2,524



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

7/15/2010 35,444 397.1 2,338
7/16/2010 36,168 493.9 2,967
7/17/2010 35,353 554.4 3,256
7/18/2010 36,236 388.9 2,341
7/19/2010 36,916 431.8 2,648
7/20/2010 33,646 396.5 2,216
7/21/2010 32,115 398.8 2,127
7/22/2010 36,843 438.7 2,685
7/23/2010 35,548 454.6 2,685
7/24/2010 34,454 442.3 2,531
7/25/2010 32,324 430.0 2,309
7/26/2010 34,412 456.0 2,606
7/27/2010 34,546 407.8 2,340
7/28/2010 32,921 505.4 2,764
7/29/2010 30,741 551.5 2,816
7/30/2010 30,378 578.9 2,921
7/31/2010 30,875 499.4 2,561
8/1/2010 31,421 512.8 2,677
8/2/2010 32,666 565.7 3,069
8/3/2010 33,373 579.7 3,213
8/4/2010 33,684 550.0 3,077
8/5/2010 35,529 526.2 3,106
8/6/2010 36,907 460.4 2,823
8/7/2010 36,855 391.1 2,394
8/8/2010 35,759 412.0 2,447
8/9/2010 35,988 448.0 2,678

8/10/2010 36,285 438.7 2,644
8/11/2010 35,117 461.6 2,692
8/12/2010 34,669 472.6 2,721
8/13/2010 34,865 437.1 2,532
8/14/2010 34,822 403.6 2,334
8/15/2010 34,678 417.7 2,406
8/16/2010 34,897 442.8 2,567
8/17/2010 35,627 359.9 2,130
8/18/2010 35,294 425.6 2,495
8/19/2010 34,871 460.8 2,669
8/20/2010 35,636 427.2 2,529
8/21/2010 35,601 414.6 2,452
8/22/2010 35,484 441.4 2,602
8/23/2010 33,761 436.5 2,448
8/24/2010 32,021 477.2 2,538
8/25/2010 31,853 518.4 2,743
8/26/2010 33,051 448.6 2,463
8/27/2010 32,144 432.8 2,311
8/28/2010 32,203 449.0 2,402
8/29/2010 31,718 456.8 2,407
8/30/2010 32,554 494.5 2,674
8/31/2010 34,563 498.2 2,860
9/1/2010 35,157 450.7 2,632
9/2/2010 35,124 486.6 2,839
9/3/2010 36,082 363.5 2,179
9/4/2010 36,093 395.5 2,371
9/5/2010 35,636 420.4 2,488
9/6/2010 34,926 401.6 2,330
9/7/2010 35,203 281.7 1,647
9/8/2010 37,427 365.8 2,274
9/9/2010 38,586 338.4 2,169

9/10/2010 36,181 365.5 2,197
9/11/2010 34,683 410.1 2,363
9/12/2010 35,766 405.7 2,410
9/13/2010 33,939 388.0 2,188
9/14/2010 31,847 427.9 2,264
9/15/2010 32,304 405.9 2,178
9/16/2010 32,576 425.7 2,304
9/17/2010 32,809 479.0 2,611
9/18/2010 32,809 481.6 2,625
9/19/2010 33,414 451.1 2,504
9/20/2010 34,479 413.9 2,370
9/21/2010 33,949 376.8 2,125
9/22/2010 32,292 398.9 2,140
9/23/2010 32,040 443.2 2,359
9/24/2010 33,125 434.5 2,391



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

9/25/2010 32,672 432.0 2,344
9/26/2010 31,018 472.7 2,435
9/27/2010 31,366 491.0 2,558
9/28/2010 30,403 517.2 2,612
9/29/2010 30,588 434.9 2,210
9/30/2010 33,051 395.7 2,172
10/1/2010 32,720 418.5 2,274
10/2/2010 32,287 466.1 2,499
10/3/2010 31,483 419.4 2,193
10/4/2010 31,261 393.6 2,044
10/5/2010 30,368 469.9 2,370
10/6/2010 30,451 435.6 2,203
10/7/2010 28,546 400.5 1,899
10/8/2010 27,746 384.1 1,770
10/9/2010 31,114 308.2 1,593
10/10/2010 29,770 447.4 2,212
10/11/2010 29,272 457.0 2,222
10/12/2010 29,318 515.7 2,512
10/13/2010 30,307 421.1 2,120
10/14/2010 29,652 475.0 2,340
10/15/2010 30,179 417.1 2,091
10/16/2010 30,009 389.4 1,941
10/17/2010 30,756 388.3 1,984
10/18/2010 31,111 368.0 1,901
10/19/2010 31,142 391.4 2,025
10/20/2010 31,815 364.2 1,925
10/21/2010 32,220 339.4 1,816
10/22/2010 12,785 190.2 404
10/23/2010 9,082 43.8 66
10/24/2010 16,917 54.5 153
10/25/2010 22,740 115.5 436
10/26/2010 24,632 389.3 1,593
10/27/2010 22,132 452.1 1,662
10/28/2010 24,311 464.3 1,875
10/29/2010 26,682 363.9 1,613
10/30/2010 29,166 355.6 1,723
10/31/2010 27,253 431.8 1,954
11/1/2010 26,477 405.9 1,785
11/2/2010 25,935 395.2 1,703
11/3/2010 25,503 375.7 1,592
11/4/2010 24,985 373.9 1,552
11/5/2010 25,714 323.1 1,380
11/6/2010 28,460 309.0 1,461
11/7/2010 29,745 340.3 1,681
11/8/2010 30,151 349.6 1,751
11/9/2010 30,609 333.1 1,694
11/10/2010 31,075 263.6 1,360
11/11/2010 30,586 367.2 1,865
11/12/2010 30,035 341.1 1,702
11/13/2010 30,818 353.0 1,807
11/14/2010 30,465 397.3 2,010
11/15/2010 29,380 356.6 1,740
11/16/2010 29,690 397.2 1,959
11/17/2010 31,578 329.3 1,727
11/18/2010 32,986 269.9 1,479
11/19/2010 32,582 272.8 1,476
11/20/2010 31,174 300.5 1,556
11/21/2010 28,322 301.4 1,418
11/22/2010 29,334 271.7 1,324
11/23/2010 33,640 269.9 1,508
11/24/2010 34,882 347.2 2,012
11/25/2010 32,870 324.9 1,774
11/26/2010 32,201 325.4 1,741
11/27/2010 31,755 330.8 1,745
11/28/2010 32,096 307.2 1,638
11/29/2010 32,139 308.4 1,646
11/30/2010 30,773 304.5 1,557
12/1/2010 31,353 327.3 1,705
12/2/2010 32,247 316.8 1,697
12/3/2010 33,523 321.1 1,788
12/4/2010 33,503 353.6 1,968
12/5/2010 33,382 385.2 2,136



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

12/6/2010 32,733 375.9 2,044
12/7/2010 32,030 366.2 1,949
12/8/2010 31,364 366.1 1,907
12/9/2010 32,728 367.6 1,999
12/10/2010 33,413 397.4 2,206
12/11/2010 33,901 366.9 2,066
12/12/2010 33,095 360.1 1,979
12/13/2010 30,780 345.0 1,764
12/14/2010 31,267 264.0 1,371
12/15/2010 33,459 362.1 2,013
12/16/2010 32,773 379.6 2,067
12/17/2010 31,632 290.0 1,524
12/18/2010 30,176 203.5 1,020
12/19/2010 30,485 272.2 1,378
12/20/2010 30,595 290.5 1,476
12/21/2010 31,456 326.3 1,705
12/22/2010 30,843 378.3 1,938
12/23/2010 30,723 295.6 1,508
12/24/2010 31,130 385.0 1,991
12/25/2010 31,555 363.0 1,903
12/26/2010 31,316 324.3 1,687
12/27/2010 31,603 378.9 1,989
12/28/2010 31,687 339.8 1,789
12/29/2010 31,922 364.8 1,934
12/30/2010 31,872 349.3 1,849
12/31/2010 31,660 353.2 1,857

1/1/2011 32,152 326.7 1,745
1/2/2011 31,589 361.9 1,899
1/3/2011 31,494 361.0 1,889
1/4/2011 31,360 282.9 1,474
1/5/2011 31,563 348.8 1,829
1/6/2011 32,050 361.7 1,926
1/7/2011 32,011 371.6 1,976
1/8/2011 30,895 311.2 1,597
1/9/2011 30,838 377.1 1,932
1/10/2011 31,043 365.5 1,885
1/11/2011 31,072 386.9 1,997
1/12/2011 30,336 411.5 2,073
1/13/2011 28,579 427.3 2,028
1/14/2011 28,145 415.1 1,941
1/15/2011 27,507 430.0 1,965
1/16/2011 29,125 407.6 1,972
1/17/2011 28,648 400.1 1,904
1/18/2011 28,028 218.5 1,017
1/19/2011 28,526 199.9 947
1/20/2011 27,054 216.8 974
1/21/2011 27,836 256.6 1,186
1/22/2011 26,010 374.1 1,616
1/23/2011 24,720 362.2 1,487
1/24/2011 22,709 365.5 1,379
1/25/2011 21,157 426.4 1,499
1/26/2011 22,128 421.4 1,549
1/27/2011 22,917 370.4 1,410
1/28/2011 24,704 387.8 1,591
1/29/2011 25,447 406.9 1,720
1/30/2011 22,489 315.8 1,180
1/31/2011 19,350 19.4 62
2/1/2011 18,344 20.1 61
2/2/2011 20,365 12.3 41
2/3/2011 20,100 14.0 47
2/4/2011 21,449 23.4 83
2/5/2011 21,573 36.5 131
2/6/2011 20,448 23.8 81
2/7/2011 23,378 133.2 517
2/8/2011 28,162 304.6 1,425
2/9/2011 27,436 306.6 1,397

2/10/2011 28,365 392.2 1,848
2/11/2011 28,909 419.1 2,012
2/12/2011 29,226 447.0 2,170
2/13/2011 29,655 399.7 1,969
2/14/2011 29,444 438.5 2,145
2/15/2011 29,588 456.5 2,244



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

2/16/2011 29,098 362.5 1,752
2/17/2011 28,926 304.2 1,462
2/18/2011 29,174 338.0 1,638
2/19/2011 29,306 364.3 1,774
2/20/2011 29,673 416.8 2,054
2/21/2011 25,001 376.0 1,561
2/22/2011 19,875 345.3 1,140
2/23/2011 24,574 301.9 1,232
2/24/2011 26,411 308.9 1,355
2/25/2011 26,765 333.5 1,483
2/26/2011 27,498 369.1 1,686
2/27/2011 27,833 393.6 1,820
2/28/2011 29,285 386.4 1,880
3/1/2011 30,104 387.5 1,938
3/2/2011 31,618 387.6 2,036
3/3/2011 32,135 369.1 1,970
3/4/2011 33,162 461.5 2,542
3/5/2011 35,886 403.1 2,403
3/6/2011 32,913 386.6 2,113
3/7/2011 31,951 381.7 2,026
3/8/2011 32,517 406.4 2,195
3/9/2011 32,866 436.7 2,384

3/10/2011 32,758 425.0 2,313
3/11/2011 32,838 410.7 2,240
3/12/2011 32,113 460.6 2,457
3/13/2011 32,307 446.7 2,397
3/14/2011 31,017 513.0 2,643
3/15/2011 31,681 448.8 2,362
3/16/2011 32,758 471.8 2,567
3/17/2011 34,560 448.3 2,573
3/18/2011 35,367 412.8 2,425
3/19/2011 35,848 471.2 2,806
3/20/2011 35,251 414.4 2,426
3/21/2011 35,871 414.3 2,469
3/22/2011 36,399 368.3 2,227
3/23/2011 36,681 381.8 2,326
3/24/2011 35,653 341.8 2,024
3/25/2011 33,478 425.7 2,367
3/26/2011 33,696 474.6 2,656
3/27/2011 32,503 475.5 2,567
3/28/2011 30,971 532.9 2,742
3/29/2011 32,425 495.5 2,669
3/30/2011 33,451 513.5 2,853
3/31/2011 33,721 488.5 2,736
4/1/2011 33,081 488.3 2,683
4/2/2011 31,826 484.2 2,560
4/3/2011 33,422 524.5 2,912
4/4/2011 31,571 438.0 2,297
4/5/2011 32,832 469.0 2,558
4/6/2011 32,428 463.7 2,497
4/7/2011 32,448 450.5 2,428
4/8/2011 32,345 475.6 2,555
4/9/2011 34,603 432.6 2,486

4/10/2011 34,781 403.2 2,330
4/11/2011 34,440 446.0 2,551
4/12/2011 34,820 384.1 2,222
4/13/2011 33,525 369.2 2,056
4/14/2011 32,329 424.6 2,280
4/15/2011 31,853 428.0 2,264
4/16/2011 32,430 426.3 2,296
4/17/2011 32,762 415.6 2,262
4/18/2011 32,652 418.7 2,271
4/19/2011 32,375 430.5 2,315
4/20/2011 32,898 462.7 2,528
4/21/2011 32,823 451.8 2,463
4/22/2011 32,741 516.9 2,811
4/23/2011 32,425 567.6 3,057
4/24/2011 32,397 461.8 2,485
4/25/2011 32,259 497.0 2,663
4/26/2011 32,484 609.7 3,290
4/27/2011 32,165 669.9 3,579
4/28/2011 32,268 531.7 2,850



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

4/29/2011 32,310 447.0 2,399
4/30/2011 31,570 497.0 2,606
5/1/2011 31,388 603.8 3,148
5/2/2011 31,590 671.0 3,521
5/3/2011 31,526 590.8 3,094
5/4/2011 31,217 748.2 3,880
5/5/2011 30,551 716.1 3,634
5/6/2011 30,918 678.4 3,484
5/7/2011 31,593 414.0 2,173
5/8/2011 31,667 332.2 1,748
5/9/2011 28,672 470.1 2,239

5/10/2011 31,950 434.6 2,307
5/11/2011 25,334 184.1 775
5/12/2011 21,016 76.9 268
5/13/2011 21,842 51.8 188
5/14/2011 21,498 48.9 175
5/15/2011 21,449 54.7 195
5/16/2011 20,770 61.7 213
5/17/2011 21,105 77.0 270
5/18/2011 18,877 98.3 308
5/19/2011 19,538 67.9 220
5/20/2011 18,425 110.5 338
5/21/2011 19,882 107.1 354
5/22/2011 18,917 55.5 174
5/23/2011 18,397 152.1 465
5/24/2011 17,975 231.1 690
5/25/2011 19,702 99.1 324
5/26/2011 18,048 96.1 288
5/27/2011 16,286 110.2 298
5/28/2011 17,996 119.0 356
5/29/2011 17,896 119.0 354
5/30/2011 18,759 137.8 429
5/31/2011 20,497 207.1 705
6/1/2011 19,879 310.1 1,024
6/2/2011 20,611 50.0 171
6/3/2011 20,559 16.2 55
6/4/2011 23,771 73.0 288
6/5/2011 28,513 55.8 264
6/6/2011 27,932 6.0 28
6/7/2011 25,169 8.1 34
6/8/2011 26,088 6.0 26
6/9/2011 25,810 8.3 36

6/10/2011 25,930 7.9 34
6/11/2011 24,955 29.2 121
6/12/2011 23,674 19.8 78
6/13/2011 20,055 57.8 193
6/14/2011 20,268 105.1 354
6/15/2011 21,291 176.5 624
6/16/2011 22,329 206.9 767
6/17/2011 22,354 221.7 823
6/18/2011 22,223 211.4 780
6/19/2011 21,781 246.6 892
6/20/2011 19,434 238.4 770
6/21/2011 20,316 197.7 667
6/22/2011 21,061 174.9 612
6/23/2011 21,726 198.4 716
6/24/2011 22,590 188.1 706
6/25/2011 23,875 296.1 1,174
6/26/2011 22,012 375.1 1,371
6/27/2011 21,201 358.8 1,264
6/28/2011 23,008 267.3 1,021
6/29/2011 23,664 275.6 1,083
6/30/2011 24,109 373.9 1,497
7/1/2011 24,104 402.9 1,613
7/2/2011 26,167 425.3 1,848
7/3/2011 27,598 501.4 2,298
7/4/2011 29,142 447.7 2,167
7/5/2011 31,674 444.9 2,341
7/6/2011 33,521 440.2 2,451
7/7/2011 34,194 435.3 2,472
7/8/2011 33,956 451.0 2,544
7/9/2011 34,341 470.8 2,686



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

7/10/2011 33,950 460.2 2,595
7/11/2011 33,805 455.4 2,557
7/12/2011 33,056 394.7 2,167
7/13/2011 32,921 405.2 2,216
7/14/2011 32,298 434.3 2,330
7/15/2011 32,946 456.2 2,496
7/16/2011 32,403 470.1 2,530
7/17/2011 31,636 393.0 2,065
7/18/2011 32,137 432.7 2,310
7/19/2011 32,279 460.0 2,466
7/20/2011 31,755 504.1 2,659
7/21/2011 32,160 484.3 2,587
7/22/2011 32,060 497.7 2,651
7/23/2011 31,593 446.3 2,342
7/24/2011 30,225 384.9 1,932
7/25/2011 30,951 366.7 1,885
7/26/2011 31,700 326.1 1,717
7/27/2011 32,658 360.0 1,953
7/28/2011 33,987 390.4 2,204
7/29/2011 33,498 444.7 2,475
7/30/2011 31,913 449.8 2,384
7/31/2011 29,512 436.4 2,139
8/1/2011 29,242 445.0 2,161
8/2/2011 30,233 429.4 2,157
8/3/2011 31,352 415.6 2,164
8/4/2011 32,036 425.3 2,263
8/5/2011 32,169 459.6 2,456
8/6/2011 32,707 418.9 2,276
8/7/2011 32,491 444.8 2,401
8/8/2011 32,504 467.4 2,523
8/9/2011 33,034 427.7 2,347

8/10/2011 33,944 402.4 2,269
8/11/2011 33,468 374.5 2,082
8/12/2011 32,844 461.4 2,517
8/13/2011 33,005 510.1 2,797
8/14/2011 33,147 455.6 2,509
8/15/2011 33,340 212.9 1,179
8/16/2011 33,154 297.1 1,636
8/17/2011 32,302 419.2 2,249
8/18/2011 32,537 409.5 2,213
8/19/2011 32,774 425.0 2,314
8/20/2011 33,075 438.9 2,411
8/21/2011 36,305 390.5 2,355
8/22/2011 36,666 378.9 2,307
8/23/2011 34,933 448.3 2,601
8/24/2011 32,355 542.1 2,913
8/25/2011 32,392 531.8 2,861
8/26/2011 32,218 486.9 2,606
8/27/2011 33,021 313.8 1,721
8/28/2011 34,348 409.6 2,337
8/29/2011 33,355 403.7 2,237
8/30/2011 33,523 382.8 2,132
8/31/2011 33,636 424.0 2,369
9/1/2011 34,528 427.3 2,451
9/2/2011 35,403 448.8 2,639
9/3/2011 35,290 400.6 2,348
9/4/2011 35,612 441.2 2,610
9/5/2011 35,176 457.4 2,673
9/6/2011 34,807 438.3 2,534
9/7/2011 30,308 116.2 585
9/8/2011 29,506 69.1 338
9/9/2011 28,835 57.4 275

9/10/2011 29,577 40.1 197
9/11/2011 29,824 41.2 204
9/12/2011 31,012 91.0 469
9/13/2011 30,838 346.4 1,775
9/14/2011 30,805 333.2 1,705
9/15/2011 29,654 344.1 1,695
9/16/2011 30,495 340.2 1,723
9/17/2011 30,568 391.6 1,988
9/18/2011 30,470 422.3 2,137
9/19/2011 30,541 410.4 2,082



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

9/20/2011 31,085 387.8 2,003
9/21/2011 29,940 353.3 1,757
9/22/2011 29,517 374.2 1,835
9/23/2011 30,160 432.6 2,167
9/24/2011 32,083 393.7 2,098
9/25/2011 32,955 427.2 2,338
9/26/2011 33,498 512.9 2,854
9/27/2011 33,051 422.0 2,316
9/28/2011 31,823 561.7 2,969
9/29/2011 32,401 463.6 2,495
9/30/2011 30,691 412.2 2,101
10/1/2011 29,692 489.1 2,412
10/2/2011 29,456 488.5 2,390
10/3/2011 29,871 483.2 2,398
10/4/2011 29,720 522.2 2,578
10/5/2011 29,167 532.6 2,580
10/6/2011 28,827 605.2 2,898
10/7/2011 28,370 489.7 2,307
10/8/2011 27,300 254.5 1,154
10/9/2011 25,430 269.1 1,137
10/10/2011 25,829 286.2 1,228
10/11/2011 24,968 303.8 1,260
10/12/2011 23,599 354.0 1,388
10/13/2011 23,411 383.8 1,492
10/14/2011 26,579 586.8 2,591
10/15/2011 29,982 534.5 2,662
10/16/2011 29,376 483.6 2,360
10/17/2011 27,729 465.8 2,145
10/18/2011 27,732 496.1 2,285
10/19/2011 29,011 508.3 2,449
10/20/2011 29,964 438.3 2,182
10/21/2011 31,025 492.7 2,539
10/22/2011 28,850 509.8 2,443
10/23/2011 28,600 555.7 2,640
10/24/2011 29,501 549.3 2,692
10/25/2011 29,834 500.4 2,480
10/26/2011 28,359 526.0 2,478
10/27/2011 30,291 459.7 2,313
10/28/2011 31,011 486.9 2,508
10/29/2011 30,873 504.2 2,586
10/30/2011 29,368 543.7 2,652
10/31/2011 27,763 580.3 2,676
11/1/2011 28,691 641.1 3,055
11/2/2011 28,924 560.5 2,693
11/3/2011 30,478 479.8 2,429
11/4/2011 29,442 437.9 2,141
11/5/2011 29,917 506.0 2,515
11/6/2011 29,664 498.5 2,456
11/7/2011 29,823 432.7 2,143
11/8/2011 29,407 405.0 1,978
11/9/2011 28,961 472.0 2,271
11/10/2011 28,502 459.1 2,174
11/11/2011 27,467 434.8 1,984
11/12/2011 26,954 420.3 1,882
11/13/2011 27,904 430.2 1,994
11/14/2011 29,570 384.4 1,888
11/15/2011 29,441 517.3 2,530
11/16/2011 28,923 533.4 2,562
11/17/2011 28,129 470.1 2,196
11/18/2011 28,393 471.3 2,223
11/19/2011 29,016 506.5 2,441
11/20/2011 28,690 438.0 2,088
11/21/2011 28,827 463.4 2,219
11/22/2011 27,969 424.3 1,971
11/23/2011 28,211 394.4 1,848
11/24/2011 28,334 438.9 2,066
11/25/2011 27,803 421.1 1,945
11/26/2011 28,455 406.8 1,923
11/27/2011 28,162 440.0 2,058
11/28/2011 27,819 515.3 2,381
11/29/2011 27,615 554.9 2,545
11/30/2011 27,420 567.4 2,584



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

12/1/2011 27,237 510.9 2,311
12/2/2011 26,843 502.7 2,241
12/3/2011 26,516 431.7 1,901
12/4/2011 26,238 444.7 1,938
12/5/2011 26,377 426.4 1,868
12/6/2011 26,748 399.0 1,773
12/7/2011 25,268 369.8 1,552
12/8/2011 26,568 348.8 1,539
12/9/2011 27,486 339.6 1,551
12/10/2011 26,909 377.5 1,687
12/11/2011 26,686 426.4 1,890
12/12/2011 26,985 438.3 1,965
12/13/2011 29,921 383.9 1,908
12/14/2011 30,279 382.9 1,926
12/15/2011 29,926 363.2 1,805
12/16/2011 29,733 413.2 2,041
12/17/2011 29,670 373.8 1,842
12/18/2011 30,562 392.6 1,993
12/19/2011 29,704 401.5 1,981
12/20/2011 29,596 400.0 1,966
12/21/2011 28,852 391.1 1,874
12/22/2011 30,020 329.5 1,643
12/23/2011 27,969 305.7 1,420
12/24/2011 25,205 336.4 1,408
12/25/2011 26,987 357.6 1,603
12/26/2011 25,602 360.3 1,532
12/27/2011 25,073 384.3 1,600
12/28/2011 26,335 418.6 1,831
12/29/2011 25,906 403.8 1,738
12/30/2011 24,576 436.5 1,782
12/31/2011 25,910 473.9 2,039

1/1/2012 24,917 507.2 2,099
1/2/2012 24,453 473.4 1,923
1/3/2012 23,849 451.9 1,790
1/4/2012 24,199 373.6 1,502
1/5/2012 24,494 364.1 1,481
1/6/2012 25,264 322.9 1,355
1/7/2012 24,877 302.1 1,248
1/8/2012 25,404 385.7 1,627
1/9/2012 25,380 367.8 1,551

1/10/2012 26,270 326.9 1,426
1/11/2012 26,064 297.2 1,287
1/12/2012 25,531 409.8 1,738
1/13/2012 26,121 472.7 2,051
1/14/2012 27,354 453.1 2,059
1/15/2012 27,331 438.6 1,991
1/16/2012 25,291 426.9 1,794
1/17/2012 25,938 422.4 1,820
1/18/2012 22,606 432.2 1,623
1/19/2012 20,952 442.9 1,541
1/20/2012 22,968 451.4 1,722
1/21/2012 28,051 492.0 2,293
1/22/2012 28,179 505.8 2,367
1/23/2012 27,267 501.2 2,270
1/24/2012 26,924 543.1 2,429
1/25/2012 27,984 476.0 2,212
1/26/2012 29,514 371.6 1,822
1/27/2012 29,369 414.0 2,020
1/28/2012 28,766 432.6 2,067
1/29/2012 26,075 470.7 2,039
1/30/2012 24,580 487.7 1,991
1/31/2012 25,811 488.8 2,096
2/1/2012 27,071 549.8 2,472
2/2/2012 27,464 550.1 2,509
2/3/2012 27,543 561.8 2,570
2/4/2012 28,260 549.3 2,579
2/5/2012 27,672 552.7 2,540
2/6/2012 28,248 540.0 2,534
2/7/2012 29,096 512.1 2,475
2/8/2012 29,572 467.8 2,298
2/9/2012 29,530 517.8 2,540

2/10/2012 27,892 535.7 2,482



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

2/11/2012 27,305 581.0 2,635
2/12/2012 26,335 519.8 2,274
2/13/2012 27,105 478.5 2,155
2/14/2012 26,879 543.1 2,425
2/15/2012 26,810 527.8 2,350
2/16/2012 26,548 347.9 1,534
2/17/2012 25,271 329.1 1,381
2/18/2012 24,951 368.6 1,527
2/19/2012 26,582 562.3 2,483
2/20/2012 25,840 493.1 2,116
2/21/2012 24,550 556.5 2,269
2/22/2012 24,852 575.8 2,377
2/23/2012 25,397 568.1 2,397
2/24/2012 25,660 407.2 1,736
2/25/2012 25,788 493.7 2,115
2/26/2012 24,963 506.3 2,099
2/27/2012 24,633 303.5 1,242
2/28/2012 23,777 299.4 1,182
2/29/2012 24,099 488.0 1,954
3/1/2012 23,922 721.1 2,865
3/2/2012 22,787 625.6 2,368
3/3/2012 23,202 663.5 2,557
3/4/2012 23,466 675.3 2,632
3/5/2012 24,540 646.6 2,636
3/6/2012 24,587 638.3 2,607
3/7/2012 26,106 640.1 2,776
3/8/2012 29,576 578.1 2,840
3/9/2012 30,647 480.7 2,447

3/10/2012 30,357 402.0 2,027
3/11/2012 27,786 387.7 1,789
3/12/2012 26,564 349.1 1,540
3/13/2012 27,606 335.9 1,540
3/14/2012 25,633 371.8 1,583
3/15/2012 25,966 447.7 1,931
3/16/2012 30,010 437.4 2,180
3/17/2012 28,829 421.8 2,020
3/18/2012 26,307 463.4 2,025
3/19/2012 25,805 547.9 2,348
3/20/2012 24,897 535.6 2,215
3/21/2012 26,421 514.8 2,259
3/22/2012 28,825 493.9 2,365
3/23/2012 29,079 467.1 2,256
3/24/2012 28,995 442.0 2,129
3/25/2012 28,384 457.1 2,155
3/26/2012 26,924 492.2 2,201
3/27/2012 25,347 508.1 2,139
3/28/2012 28,974 477.8 2,299
3/29/2012 28,145 502.4 2,349
3/30/2012 28,282 498.1 2,340
3/31/2012 29,642 470.1 2,314
4/1/2012 29,799 440.0 2,178
4/2/2012 29,277 477.5 2,322
4/3/2012 29,894 435.4 2,162
4/4/2012 29,816 416.9 2,065
4/5/2012 29,441 393.9 1,926
4/6/2012 29,194 407.7 1,977
4/7/2012 28,517 424.0 2,009
4/8/2012 29,314 384.4 1,872
4/9/2012 29,036 411.0 1,982

4/10/2012 29,951 468.2 2,329
4/11/2012 29,054 426.1 2,056
4/12/2012 28,203 445.7 2,088
4/13/2012 28,028 382.7 1,782
4/14/2012 29,272 318.7 1,550
4/15/2012 28,371 329.0 1,550
4/16/2012 28,798 336.7 1,611
4/17/2012 28,984 319.8 1,540
4/18/2012 29,242 312.2 1,516
4/19/2012 29,511 319.7 1,567
4/20/2012 28,053 332.3 1,549
4/21/2012 27,543 396.2 1,812
4/22/2012 27,273 442.1 2,003



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

4/23/2012 27,074 447.5 2,012
4/24/2012 27,806 470.6 2,174
4/25/2012 27,362 425.6 1,934
4/26/2012 27,937 410.5 1,905
4/27/2012 26,784 427.7 1,903
4/28/2012 25,291 399.9 1,680
4/29/2012 24,628 409.2 1,674
4/30/2012 24,672 364.9 1,496
5/1/2012 24,929 403.4 1,670
5/2/2012 25,196 368.1 1,540
5/3/2012 25,263 374.6 1,572
5/4/2012 24,868 359.7 1,486
5/5/2012 22,923 376.8 1,435
5/6/2012 23,472 416.7 1,625
5/7/2012 23,352 416.7 1,616
5/8/2012 23,747 388.1 1,531
5/9/2012 24,438 431.5 1,752

5/10/2012 24,409 404.0 1,638
5/11/2012 24,880 381.4 1,576
5/12/2012 25,306 339.3 1,426
5/13/2012 25,646 355.5 1,515
5/14/2012 26,103 290.8 1,261
5/15/2012 26,748 322.0 1,431
5/16/2012 26,983 315.0 1,412
5/17/2012 27,886 304.2 1,409
5/18/2012 27,447 336.7 1,535
5/19/2012 27,261 397.7 1,801
5/20/2012 28,425 383.6 1,811
5/21/2012 27,946 402.4 1,868
5/22/2012 28,531 392.2 1,859
5/23/2012 27,173 355.1 1,603
5/24/2012 27,800 279.3 1,290
5/25/2012 26,695 248.2 1,100
5/26/2012 25,890 298.8 1,285
5/27/2012 25,626 261.1 1,111
5/28/2012 25,853 233.6 1,003
5/29/2012 26,519 264.6 1,165
5/30/2012 27,974 275.8 1,281
5/31/2012 29,488 222.2 1,088
6/1/2012 30,040 234.5 1,170
6/2/2012 28,529 293.7 1,392
6/3/2012 29,191 324.3 1,572
6/4/2012 28,290 351.0 1,649
6/5/2012 20,731 398.5 1,372
6/6/2012 19,313 496.4 1,592
6/7/2012 21,415 391.9 1,394
6/8/2012 20,153 396.5 1,327
6/9/2012 20,280 395.3 1,331

6/10/2012 21,508 529.9 1,893
6/11/2012 23,444 405.1 1,577
6/12/2012 23,426 366.6 1,427
6/13/2012 24,596 398.2 1,627
6/14/2012 25,924 369.4 1,591
6/15/2012 26,626 316.9 1,401
6/16/2012 25,279 311.3 1,307
6/17/2012 23,201 333.9 1,287
6/18/2012 24,892 371.7 1,537
6/19/2012 25,581 400.9 1,703
6/20/2012 25,441 387.0 1,635
6/21/2012 25,095 354.0 1,476
6/22/2012 24,738 330.2 1,357
6/23/2012 25,040 252.2 1,049
6/24/2012 25,150 326.2 1,363
6/25/2012 25,541 346.7 1,471
6/26/2012 25,914 370.3 1,594
6/27/2012 26,154 380.2 1,652
6/28/2012 26,248 393.1 1,714
6/29/2012 26,825 332.1 1,480
6/30/2012 26,241 413.1 1,801
7/1/2012 28,666 395.8 1,885
7/2/2012 28,982 404.0 1,945
7/3/2012 29,046 434.8 2,098



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

7/4/2012 29,709 403.2 1,990
7/5/2012 29,638 379.3 1,867
7/6/2012 29,661 406.7 2,004
7/7/2012 29,149 391.3 1,895
7/8/2012 28,429 334.3 1,579
7/9/2012 28,590 279.2 1,326

7/10/2012 27,664 305.9 1,406
7/11/2012 27,486 339.1 1,548
7/12/2012 27,903 410.1 1,901
7/13/2012 28,625 328.9 1,564
7/14/2012 27,279 407.2 1,845
7/15/2012 27,198 378.2 1,709
7/16/2012 27,250 317.8 1,438
7/17/2012 27,148 374.2 1,688
7/18/2012 27,782 402.1 1,856
7/19/2012 28,102 390.8 1,824
7/20/2012 28,382 390.3 1,840
7/21/2012 28,379 390.0 1,838
7/22/2012 29,039 372.3 1,796
7/23/2012 30,055 368.9 1,842
7/24/2012 29,730 364.6 1,801
7/25/2012 27,547 400.7 1,834
7/26/2012 27,320 412.8 1,873
7/27/2012 27,694 389.0 1,790
7/28/2012 29,403 327.1 1,598
7/29/2012 28,906 348.5 1,674
7/30/2012 28,707 361.0 1,721
7/31/2012 28,680 347.9 1,657
8/1/2012 27,891 375.1 1,738
8/2/2012 31,494 322.6 1,688
8/3/2012 32,095 277.5 1,479
8/4/2012 31,863 293.8 1,555
8/5/2012 31,085 388.3 2,005
8/6/2012 31,473 362.6 1,896
8/7/2012 31,243 361.9 1,878
8/8/2012 30,234 398.5 2,001
8/9/2012 32,896 444.8 2,430

8/10/2012 33,004 385.5 2,113
8/11/2012 31,145 433.7 2,244
8/12/2012 30,629 383.9 1,953
8/13/2012 30,492 409.6 2,075
8/14/2012 31,019 393.9 2,029
8/15/2012 30,839 387.0 1,982
8/16/2012 30,893 428.1 2,197
8/17/2012 30,693 433.1 2,208
8/18/2012 30,440 406.2 2,054
8/19/2012 30,321 401.2 2,021
8/20/2012 30,680 386.4 1,969
8/21/2012 30,754 357.5 1,826
8/22/2012 31,097 327.9 1,694
8/23/2012 31,574 324.0 1,699
8/24/2012 29,239 309.2 1,502
8/25/2012 25,934 291.3 1,255
8/26/2012 25,408 339.5 1,433
8/27/2012 28,534 274.5 1,301
8/28/2012 25,213 354.5 1,485
8/29/2012 28,198 159.5 747
8/30/2012 25,222 20.6 86
8/31/2012 27,639 102.4 470
9/1/2012 28,309 212.0 997



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

9/2/2012 27,038 244.0 1,096
9/3/2012 27,550 299.7 1,372
9/4/2012 29,854 391.0 1,939
9/5/2012 28,634 360.2 1,713
9/6/2012 28,078 436.2 2,034
9/7/2012 28,311 428.3 2,014
9/8/2012 28,318 409.0 1,924
9/9/2012 28,949 395.1 1,900

9/10/2012 28,968 353.1 1,699
9/11/2012 26,835 392.1 1,748
9/12/2012 29,708 438.8 2,165
9/13/2012 28,372 439.2 2,070
9/14/2012 28,472 413.0 1,953
9/15/2012 27,277 401.0 1,817
9/16/2012 27,573 401.0 1,837
9/17/2012 26,892 401.0 1,791
9/18/2012 27,723 401.0 1,847
9/19/2012 27,855 401.0 1,855
9/20/2012 27,554 401.0 1,835
9/21/2012 28,194 401.0 1,878
9/22/2012 28,305 401.0 1,885
9/23/2012 27,873 401.0 1,857
9/24/2012 28,646 401.0 1,908
9/25/2012 28,557 401.0 1,902
9/26/2012 29,131 401.0 1,940
9/27/2012 29,178 401.0 1,943
9/28/2012 29,553 401.0 1,968
9/29/2012 29,362 401.0 1,956
9/30/2012 29,186 401.0 1,944
10/1/2012 32,171 401.0 2,143
10/2/2012 30,627 401.0 2,040
10/3/2012 30,901 400.7 2,057
10/4/2012 30,913 374.2 1,921
10/5/2012 32,326 304.7 1,636
10/6/2012 26,367 293.3 1,285
10/7/2012 24,725 407.7 1,674
10/8/2012 24,683 385.6 1,581
10/9/2012 24,223 375.3 1,510
10/10/2012 24,475 423.6 1,722
10/11/2012 24,520 436.8 1,779
10/12/2012 24,336 340.9 1,378
10/13/2012 24,331 365.1 1,475
10/14/2012 23,780 340.0 1,343
10/15/2012 24,110 313.3 1,255
10/16/2012 25,388 307.0 1,295
10/17/2012 25,083 325.9 1,358
10/18/2012 26,119 259.2 1,124
10/19/2012 23,386 256.8 998
10/20/2012 19,250 285.9 914
10/21/2012 17,644 176.2 516
10/22/2012 19,941 35.5 117
10/23/2012 23,737 32.6 129
10/24/2012 24,529 181.4 739
10/25/2012 24,405 340.4 1,380
10/26/2012 26,025 502.2 2,171
10/27/2012 30,900 427.2 2,192
10/28/2012 28,619 382.9 1,820
10/29/2012 28,723 388.4 1,853
10/30/2012 28,384 407.1 1,920
10/31/2012 26,285 420.7 1,837
11/1/2012 26,646 496.8 2,199
11/2/2012 27,235 515.4 2,331
11/3/2012 26,859 460.3 2,053



U233 FG U233 Total S U233 FG SO2

MSCFD ppm lb/d
DATE

11/4/2012 26,966 491.5 2,201
11/5/2012 27,273 481.4 2,181
11/6/2012 27,422 512.9 2,336
11/7/2012 29,167 440.9 2,136
11/8/2012 29,439 343.7 1,681
11/9/2012 29,321 365.1 1,778
11/10/2012 29,759 346.1 1,711
11/11/2012 29,631 362.4 1,784
11/12/2012 26,908 417.3 1,865
11/13/2012 26,490 376.0 1,654
11/14/2012 24,863 385.3 1,591
11/15/2012 25,275 380.0 1,596
11/16/2012 25,129 353.0 1,473
11/17/2012 25,567 313.4 1,331
11/18/2012 26,089 330.0 1,430
11/19/2012 25,316 340.6 1,432
11/20/2012 25,088 433.5 1,806
11/21/2012 24,724 386.3 1,587
11/22/2012 24,968 413.6 1,715
11/23/2012 24,465 546.1 2,219
11/24/2012 25,390 543.9 2,294
11/25/2012 26,287 503.8 2,200
11/26/2012 26,716 520.4 2,309
11/27/2012 26,558 500.2 2,207
11/28/2012 26,797 501.8 2,234
11/29/2012 26,376 509.0 2,230
11/30/2012 26,244 425.0 1,852



CBE Supplemental Attachment 5

Refinery Action Collaborative letter of 
18 December 2013
(3 pages)



 
 

 

BY ELECTRONIC MAIL 

 

18 December 2013 

 

Hon. Federal Glover, Chair, and Members of the Board 

Board of Supervisors, Contra Costa County  

Hon. Elizabeth Patterson, Mayor, and Council Members 

City Council, City of Benicia 

Hon. Nancy Parent, Mayor, and Council Members 

City Council, City of Pittsburg 

Hon. Gayle McLaughlin, Mayor, and Council Members 

City Council, City of Richmond  

 

 

 

Re: Chevron Richmond Refinery “Modernization” Project, 

Phillips 66 San Francisco Refinery Rodeo “Propane Recovery” Project, 

Praxair “Contra Costa Pipeline” Project, 

Valero Benicia Refinery “Crude by Rail” Project, and 

WesPac Pittsburg “Energy Infrastructure” Project—Disclosure of 

Refinery Oil Feedstock Quality Among Data for Environmental Review 

 

Dear local government leaders, 

 

The Refinery Action Collaborative (Collaborative) is a labor-community-university 

partnership working to address critical environmental health and safety concerns shared 

by refinery workers and residents regionally.  Collaborative members include the Asian 

Pacific Environmental Network, the BlueGreen Alliance, Communities for a Better 

Environment, the Labor Occupational Health Program at UC Berkeley, the Natural 

Resources Defense Council, the United Steelworkers (USW) International Union, United 

Steelworkers Local 5, and United Steelworkers Local 326. 

 

We understand that the proposed projects identified above are currently in environmental 

review, including public review of potential environmental health and safety impacts, and 

that your city or county is the California Environmental Quality Act “lead agency” in this 

review for one or more of these projects.  The Collaborative has not taken a position on 

the projects at this time.  We write to support an adequate environmental review of these 



projects that includes, among other factors that have the potential to affect refinery safety 

and emissions, public disclosure of potential changes in refinery oil feedstock quality. 

 

Our Collaborative’s founding principles commit us to “pursue solutions that improve 

transparency and public accountability in the refinery industry.”  In a major effort earlier 

this year, our groups reached consensus on a Recommendation to Ensure Prevention of 

Feedstock-Related Emissions Increase, released in June 2013, that calls for the public 

disclosure and review of each Bay Area refiner’s oil feedstock quality.
1
  We also have 

supported community leaders’ call for full and transparent environmental review of all 

potential risks associated with the Valero Benicia proposal, including its potential to 

facilitate a change in refinery oil feedstock quality.
2
  More recently, we made 

recommendations to the Governor’s Interagency Refineries Task Force that called, 

among other things, for public reporting of refinery crude feed quality, explaining that: 

Disclosure by the refineries of the quality of crude oil entering the plant is necessary 

for assessing the efficacy of a plant’s safety measures and air pollution controls.
3
 

 

As leaders of the public environmental reviews for these proposed projects under the 

state’s Environmental Quality Act, your agencies are positioned to address these needs.  

Accordingly, we respectfully ask you to ensure that the environmental reviews of these 

proposed projects will disclose and address current and potentially changing refinery oil 

feedstock quality among the factors affecting community and worker health and safety. 

 

On Behalf of the Collaborative, 

 

 

Miya Yoshitani, Executive Director 

Asian Pacific Environmental Network 

Charlotte Brody, Vice President for Health Initiatives 

BlueGreen Alliance 

Greg Karras, Senior Scientist 

Communities for a Better Environment 

Nazima EL-Askari, MPH, Program Coordinator 

Labor Occupational Health Program, UC Berkeley 

Diane Bailey, Senior Scientist 

Natural Resources Defense Council 

Ron Espinoza, District 12 Sub-Director 

                                                 
1
 Bay Area Air Quality Management District Proposed Regulation 12, Rule 15; March 2013 

Preliminary Draft Petroleum Refining Emissions Tracking Rule; comments submitted to Jack 

Broadbent, Executive Officer, BAAQMD. 13 June 2013.  See page 3. 
2
 Supporting the Committee’s position on the Valero Crude-by-Rail Project; letter to the Benicia 

Good Neighbor Steering Committee c/o Marilyn Bardet. 25 July 2013. 
3
 Initial Response of the Collaborative to the Findings & Recommendations of the July 2013 

Draft Report of the Interagency Working Group on Refinery Safety; 10 October 2013. See p. 7. 



United Steelworkers International 

Mike Smith, Local 5 Field Rep. 

United Steelworkers Local 5 

 

Moxie J. Loeffler, D.O. 

Internal Medicine Physician 



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ADOPT Traffic Resolution No. 2014/4401 to establish speed limits on Rudgear Road (Road No. 4141 and 4144A),

and RESCIND Traffic Resolution No. 1961/0200, as recommended by the Public Works Director, Walnut Creek

area. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No fiscal impact. 

BACKGROUND: 

The establishment of speed limits on Rudgear Road is necessary to allow local authorities the ability to enforce the

speed limit. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

Unable to use local authorities’ power to enforce the California Vehicle Code. 

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT: 

Not applicable. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Monish Sen (925)

313-2187

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 1

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Julia R. Bueren, Public Works Director/Chief Engineer

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Establish speed limits on Rudgear Road (Road No. 4141 and 4144A), Walnut Creek area. (District IV)



ATTACHMENTS

Rudgear Road

Resolution 



THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF CONTRA COSTA COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

 

Adopted this Traffic Resolution on January 21, 2014 by the following vote: 

 

AYES: 

 

NOES: 

 

ABSENT: 

 

ABSTAIN: RESOLUTION NO. 2014/4401 

 Supervisorial District IV 

 

TRAFFIC RESOLUTION NO. 2014/4401 

SUBJECT: Establish speed limits on Rudgear Road (Road No. 4141 and 4144A), Walnut 

Creek area. 
 

The Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors RESOLVES that:  
 

On the basis of an engineering and traffic survey and recommendations thereon by the County 

Public Works Department's Transportation Division, and pursuant to County Ordinance Code 

Sections 46-2.002 - 46-2.012, the following traffic regulation is established (and other action 

taken as indicated):  

 

Pursuant to Section 22358 and Section 627 of the California Vehicle Code, no 

vehicle shall travel in excess of 35 miles per hour on Rudgear Road (Road No. 

4141), beginning at the Walnut Creek City Limit extending easterly to San 

Miguel Drive (Road No. 4041); 

 

THENCE, no vehicle shall travel in excess of 25 miles per hour on that portion of 

Rudgear Road (Road No. 4144A), beginning at San Miguel Drive (Road No. 4041) and 

extending easterly to the Walnut Creek City Limit (Garren Court), Walnut Creek; 

 

Traffic Resolution No. 1961/0200 pertaining to the speed limit on Rudgear Road, is 

hereby rescinded. 

  
 

   

 

 

 

 

 
MS:kh 

 

Orig. Dept.: Public Works (Traffic) 

    Contact: Monish Sen (925-313-2187) 

 

            c: California Highway Patrol 

 Sheriff’s Department 

   

I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an 

action taken and entered on the minutes of the Board of 

Supervisors on the date shown. 

 

 

ATTESTED:  

DAVID TWA, Clerk of the Board of Supervisors and 

County Administrator 

 

 

By  ,  

Deputy 



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ADOPT Resolution No. 2014/19 accepting completion of the warranty period and release of cash deposit under the

Subdivision Agreement (Right-of-Way Landscaping) for road acceptance RA05-01186 (cross-reference subdivision

SD99-08381), for a project developed by Shapell Homes, a division of Shapell Industries, Inc., a Delaware

Corporation, as recommended by the Public Works Director, Danville area. (District II) 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No fiscal impact to County Funds. The funds to be released are developer fees that have been held on deposit. 

BACKGROUND: 

The landscape improvements have met the guarantee performance standards for the warranty period following

completion and acceptance of the improvements. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

The developer will not receive a refund of the cash deposit the Subdivision Agreement (Right-of-Way Landscaping)

and performance surety bond will not be exonerated, and the billing account will not be liquidated and closed. 

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT: 

Not applicable. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  J. LaRocque,

925-313-2315

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Finance Division ,   Design/Construction,   DCD   

C. 2

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Julia R. Bueren, Public Works Director/Chief Engineer

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Accepting completion of warranty period and release of cash deposit under the Subdivision Agreement for road

acceptance RA05-01186



ATTACHMENTS

Resolution No.

2014/19 



Recorded at the request of: BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Return To: PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT ENGINEERING SERVICES

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF CONTRA COSTA COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

and for Special Districts, Agencies and Authorities Governed by the Board

Adopted this Resolution on 01/21/2014 by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

RECUSE:

Resolution No. 2014/19 

IN THE MATTER OF accepting completion of the warranty period and release of cash deposit under the Subdivision Agreement

(Right-of-Way Landscaping) for road acceptance RA05-01186 (cross-reference subdivision SD99-08381), for a project

developed by Shapell Homes, a division of Shapell Industries, Inc., a Delaware Corporation, as recommended by the Public

Works Director, Danville area. (District II)

WHEREAS on December 11, 2012, this Board resolved that the landscape improvements for RA05-01186 were completed as

provided in the Subdivision Agreement (Right-of-Way Landscaping) with Shapell Homes, a division of Shapell Industries, Inc., a

Delaware Corporation, and now on the recommendation of the Public Works Director;

The Board hereby FINDS that the landscape improvements have satisfactorily met the guaranteed performance standards for the

period following completion and acceptance.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Public Works Director is AUTHORIZED to:

• REFUND the $6,500.00 cash deposit (Auditor's Deposit Permit No. 515324, dated December 18, 2008) plus interest in

accordance with Government Code Section 53079, if appropriate, to Shapell Homes, a division of Shapell Industries, Inc., a

Delaware Corporation, pursuant to the Subdivision Agreement (Right-of-Way Landscaping) and Ordinance Code Section 94

4.406.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the warranty period has been completed and the Subdivision Agreement (Right-of-Way

Landscaping) for road acceptance RA05-01186 and performance/maintenance surety bond issued by The Continental Insurance

Company, Bond No. 929 467 100, dated June 16, 2010, are EXONERATED.

Contact:  J. LaRocque, 925-313-2315

 

I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and
entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Finance Division ,   Design/Construction,   DCD   



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

DENY claim filed by Julie

Ginkens.

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No fiscal impact.

BACKGROUND: 

*

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Joellen Balbas

925.335.1906

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 3

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: David Twa, County Administrator

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: CLAIMS



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ADOPT Resolution No. 2014/29 recognizing Yolo County Supervisor Mike McGowan upon his appointment as

Deputy Director for the California Department of Motor Vehicles, as recommended by Supervisor Piepho and

Supervisor Mitchoff. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no fiscal impact.

BACKGROUND: 

Supervisor Mike McGowan was elected to the Inaugural City Council for the newly incorporated City of West

Sacramento in 1987 and served as the city's first Mayor. In 1993, he began his tenure at the Yolo County Board of

Supervisors representing the first district, which includes West Sacramento and the farming community of

Clarksburg. Supervisor McGowan has served five terms as a Yolo County Supervisor and served four times as the

Chair of the Board.

Supervisor McGowan is an advocate for the presentation of agricultural lands and led the promotion and

enhancement of open space, and is actively involved in the issues concerning Flood Protection, 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  LEA CASTLEBERRY, 925

252-4500

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the
minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 4

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Mary N. Piepho, District III Supervisor

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: RESOLUTION FOR MIKE MCGOWAN



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

Water, and the Delta.

Supervisor McGowan was recently appointed by Governor Jerry Brown to serve as the Deputy Director of

Strategic Planning and Policy at the California Department of Motor Vehicles. Therfore, Contra Costa County

Board of Supervisors would like to recognize Supervisor Mike McGowan for his strong leadership and advocacy

for the Delta.

ATTACHMENTS

Resolution No. 2014/29 



THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF CONTRA COSTA COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

and for Special Districts, Agencies and Authorities Governed by the Board

Adopted this Resolution on 01/21/2014 by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

RECUSE:

Resolution No. 2014/29

In the Matter of Recognizing Yolo County Supervisor Mike McGowan Upon His Appointment as

Deputy Director for the California Department of Motor Vehicles

WHEREAS, Supervisor Mike McGowan is a life long resident of the City of West Sacramento.

WHEREAS, Supervisor McGowan attended local Sacramento schools through high school, California State University at

Sacramento and McGeorge School of Law; and

WHEREAS, Supervisor McGowan served in the United States Marine Corp. in Vietnam as a Section Chief on a 105MM

Howitzer Battery; and

WHEREAS, After his years of service and upon completion of law school, Supervisor McGowan opened a law office in West

Sacramento; and

WHEREAS, In 1987 Supervisor McGowan was elected to the Inaugural City Council for the newly incorporated City of West

Sacramento and served as the city’s first Mayor; and

WHEREAS, In January 1993, Supervisor McGowan began his tenure at the Yolo County Board of Supervisors representing the

first district, which includes West Sacramento and the farming community of Clarksburg; and

WHEREAS, Supervisor McGowan served five terms as a Yolo County Supervisor and served four times as the Chair of the

Board; and

WHEREAS, Supervisor McGowan is an advocate for the presentation of agricultural lands, and led the promotion and

enhancement of open space, and the provision of a myriad of services important to the well being of Yolo’s diverse population;

and

WHEREAS, Supervisor McGowan is actively involved in the issues concerning Flood Protection, Water, the Delta & represented

Yolo County on the Port of West Sacramento where he served as Chair; and

WHEREAS, In November 2009, Supervisor McGowan was elected as 2nd Vice President for the California State Association of

Counties; and

WHEREAS, Supervisor McGowan and his wife, Sue, are both life long residents of the City of West Sacramento and have a

daughter, Becky, a granddaughter, Phoebe and a grandson, Franklin; and

WHEREAS, Supervisor McGowan served as a Commissioner on the Delta Protection Commission since its origination in 1993;

and

WHEREAS, Supervisor McGowan was recently appointed by Governor Jerry Brown to serve as the Deputy Director of Strategic

Planning and Policy at the California Department of Motor Vehicles; and

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved, that the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors hereby recognizes Supervisor Mike



Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved, that the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors hereby recognizes Supervisor Mike

McGowan for his strong leadership and advocacy for the Delta.

Contact:  LEA CASTLEBERRY, 925

252-4500

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date

shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:



APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Enid Mendoza, (925)

335-1039

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes
of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Marilyn Leedom, Chief Executive Officer/CCCERA   

C. 5

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Karen Mitchoff, District IV Supervisor

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Resolution Honoring Richard Cabral Upon His Retirement



ATTACHMENTS

Resolution No.

2014/20 



In the matter of: Resolution No. 2014/20

Honoring and thanking Richard Cabral upon his retirement for over 39 years of service to the County and 36 years

serving on the Board of Retirement

 

WHEREAS, Richard Cabral began his public service with Contra Costa County as a temporary employee

on July 9, 1968 in the Public Works Department; was hired permanently on September 10, 1974 as an

Eligibility Worker I in the Social Service Department, now the Employment and Human Services

Department (EHSD); was promoted to Eligibility Worker II, Eligibility Work Specialist, and Eligibility

Worker Supervisor I; and during these 39 years of service worked in various divisions including the

Workforce Development Board, Aging and Adult Services, Workforce Services, Child Welfare, and is

ending his career in the MediCal program; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Cabral has actively mentored new supervisors in navigating their new roles; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Cabral’s deep devotion and dedicated spirit in bettering the lives of the people of Contra

Costa County will be greatly missed in EHSD; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Cabral has served as the General Member representative on the Contra Costa County

Employees’ Retirement Board since 1978, making him one of the longest serving Board members for any

’37 Act Retirement System, joining the Board of Retirement when total Contra Costa County Employees’

Retirement Association (CCCERA) assets were just under $200 million with 7,969 active and retired

participants and those assets have grown to over $6.4 Billion as of this date with a total of $19,445 active

and retired participants; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Cabral, has served the Board of Retirement in every position including Committee Chair,

Board Secretary, Vice Chair, and Chair; worked with the Board to develop a multitude of policies; and

oversaw the implementation of various tier structures, actuarial methodology revisions and the continued

diversification of investments; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Cabral has acted tirelessly and solely in the interest of, and for the exclusive purposes of

providing benefits to, participants and their beneficiaries, minimizing employer contributions thereto, and

defraying reasonable expenses of administering the system; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Cabral was a strong supporter of Board education, including Board involvement with

onsite visits to investment managers; and from a basic portfolio of stocks and bonds in 1978, CCCERA has

expanded into a highly diversified portfolio through 39 investment firms and 59 different strategies; and 

WHEREAS, during Mr. Cabral’s Board tenure with CCCERA, he became one of the founding members for

the Council of Institutional Investors and National Institute on Retirement Security, served as Treasurer

from 1994-1995 on the Director of the Council of Institutional Investors and was the former trustee of the

1st Choice Health Plan, serving as the Chairperson of the Investment Committee from 1992-1994; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Cabral has also been involved in various labor activities including serving as President of

AFSCME Local 512 from 1991 to the present and the SEIU Local 535 Contra Costa Chapter from

1977-1979;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors honors Richard Cabral upon his

retirement from the County of Contra Costa, and for his commitment to improving the lives of Contra Costa County residents

and retirees. 

___________________

KAREN MITCHOFF

Chair, 

District IV Supervisor

 

___________________ ___________________

JOHN GIOIA CANDACE ANDERSEN

District I Supervisor District II Supervisor

 

___________________ ___________________

MARY N. PIEPHO FEDERAL D. GLOVER

District III Supervisor District V Supervisor

 

I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken 



I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken 
and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date 
shown.

 
ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

 

David J. Twa, 

 
By: ____________________________________, Deputy



APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Lauri Byers, (925)

957-8860

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 6

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Candace Andersen, District II Supervisor

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Resolution Honoring Chinese American Cooperation Council



ATTACHMENTS

Resolution No.

2014/21 



In the matter of: Resolution No. 2014/21

Honoring the Chinese American Cooperation Council at their 11th Annual CCAC Tri-Valley Chinese Culture Day

 

since the founding of the Chinese American Cooperation Council in 2003, the organization has

continuously thrived to become exciting and influential to the community and to serving all of its citizens;

and 

WHEREAS, the dedicated volunteers of the Chinese American Cooperation Council (CACC) have worked

diligently to make all of the achievements possible today; and 

WHEREAS, the CACC promotes cultural heritage and enhances friendship in the Chinese American

community and facilitate the cultural and business exchanges between the United States and China; and 

WHEREAS, the 11th annual Chinese American Culture Day Celebration to celebrate the beginning of the

Chinese Lunar Year of the Horse is a very meaningful tradition and the largest Chinese community event in

the Tri-Valley area. 

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved that the Board of Supervisors of Contra Costa County does hereby honor and congratulate the

Chinese American Cooperation Council for their dedication in the past and in the future. 

___________________

KAREN MITCHOFF

Chair, 

District IV Supervisor

 

___________________ ___________________

JOHN GIOIA CANDACE ANDERSEN

District I Supervisor District II Supervisor

 

___________________ ___________________

MARY N. PIEPHO FEDERAL D. GLOVER

District III Supervisor District V Supervisor

 

I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken 
and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date 
shown.

 
ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

 

David J. Twa, 

 
By: ____________________________________, Deputy



APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Lauri Byers, (925)

957-8860

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 7

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Candace Andersen, District II Supervisor

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Resolution honoring Resident Brian Aiello as the 2014 Business person of the year



ATTACHMENTS

Resolution No.

2014/23 



In the matter of: Resolution No. 2014/23

Honoring Brian Aiello as the Lafayette 2014 Business Person of the Year

 

Brian Aiello is a lifelong Lafayette resident where he and his wife run their business and raise their family;

and 

  

Whereas, Brian is a dedicated family man and coach and equally dedicated to his community volunteering

his time serving on many boards and commissions; and 

  

Whereas, Brian works diligently on the Lafayette Art & Wine Festival serving as the Chair for the past 2

years, he serves as the artist for the Reservoir Run and offers his time and effort  to several other

community activities.

that the Board of Supervisors of Contra Costa County does hereby honor and thank Brian Aiello for his dedicated service to

Lafayette and it’s citizens.   

___________________

KAREN MITCHOFF

Chair, 

District IV Supervisor

 

___________________ ___________________

JOHN GIOIA CANDACE ANDERSEN

District I Supervisor District II Supervisor

 

___________________ ___________________

MARY N. PIEPHO FEDERAL D. GLOVER

District III Supervisor District V Supervisor

 

I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken 
and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date 
shown.

 
ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

 

David J. Twa, 

 
By: ____________________________________, Deputy



APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Lauri Byers, (925)

957-8860

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 8

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Candace Andersen, District II Supervisor

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Resolution honoring the 100th Anniversary of the United States Power Squadrons



ATTACHMENTS

Resolution No.

2014/24 



In the matter of: Resolution No. 2014/24

honoring the United States Power Squadrons on their 100th Anniversary.

 

Whereas, the United Sates Power Squadrons was founded in 1914 at the encouragement of Franklin Delano

Roosevelt, then Assistant Secretary of the Navy, as a national organization to promote boating safety; and 

  

Whereas, the United States Power Squadrons is the largest volunteer boating organization in virtually every

state, the United States territories and Japan; and 

  

Whereas, the United States Power Squadrons serves towns, cities and counties throughout the organization

to promote boating safety interests and the boating activities in the communities served; and 

  

Whereas, the United States Power Squadrons throughout its life has worked closely with the Department of

the Navy, the United States Coast Guard, the Department of Commerce, and the National Oceanographic

and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) in the education and safety of boaters; and 

  

Whereas, the United States Power Squadrons is a major provider of boating safety instruction, of the United

States Coast Guard Vessel Safety Inspections, of navigation data on nautical charts for NOAA, of

dispensing information regarding the boaters’ role in homeland security; and 

  

Whereas, the United States Power Squadrons broadcasts its motto: “Boating is fun…We’ll show you how!”

Now, therefore be it resolved that the Board of Supervisors of Contra Costa County does hereby offer its congratulations and

best wishes for the continued success of the United States Power Squadrons 

___________________

KAREN MITCHOFF

Chair, 

District IV Supervisor

 

___________________ ___________________

JOHN GIOIA CANDACE ANDERSEN

District I Supervisor District II Supervisor

 

___________________ ___________________

MARY N. PIEPHO FEDERAL D. GLOVER

District III Supervisor District V Supervisor

 

I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken 
and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date 
shown.

 
ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

 

David J. Twa, 

 
By: ____________________________________, Deputy



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

DECLARE vacant Hazardous Materials Commission Business Seat #1 held by Jimmy Rodgers due to him passing

away, and DIRECT the Clerk of the Board to post the vacancy. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None. 

BACKGROUND: 

The Hazardous Materials Commission was established in 1986 to advise the Board, County staff and the mayor’s

council members, and staffs of the cities within the County, on issues related to

the development, approval and administration of the County Hazardous Waste Management Plan. Specifically, the

Board charged the Commission with drafting a hazardous materials storage and transportation plan and ordinance,

coordinating the implementation of the hazardous materials release response plan and inventory program, and to

analyze and develop recommendations regarding hazardous materials issues with consideration to broad public input,

and report back to the Board on Board referrals.

The bylaws of the Commission provide that one business seat representative be 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Randy Sawyer 925

335-3210

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: T Scott,   C Rucker   

C. 9

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: William Walker, M.D., Health Services Director

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Declare Vacancy on the Hazardous Materials Commission



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

nominated by the West County Council of Industries, screened by the Internal Operations Committee and appointed

by the Board of Supervisors.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

REAPPOINT and APPOINT the following individuals to the Byron-Brentwood-Knightsen Union Cemetery District

to terms expiring December 31, 2017, as recommended by Supervisor Mary Piepho:

Reappoint to the Trustee 2 seat

Barbara Guise

189 Sherwood Drive

Brentwood, CA 94513

Appoint to the Trustee 3 seat 

Patricia Bristow

2866 Camino Diablo Road

Byron, CA 94514 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  LEA CASTLEBERRY, 925

252-4500

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the
minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 10

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Mary N. Piepho, District III Supervisor

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: REAPPOINTMENT TO THE BYRON-BRENTWOOD-KNIGHTSEN UNION CEMETERY DISTRICT



BACKGROUND:

The Trustee 2 and 3 seats expired December 31, 2013 on the Byron-Brentwood-Knightsen Union Cemetery District.

The seats were advertised by the district office and applications were accepted. The decision to appoint Ms. Bristow

and reappoint Ms. Guise was then determined.

There are no additional seats on the Union Cemetery District to fill at this time. The next trustee seat expires

December 31, 2014.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

The seats will remain vacant.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not applicable.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

REAPPOINT the following individuals to the County Service Area, P-2A Citizen Advisory Committee to terms

expiring December 31, 2015, as recommended by Supervisor Piepho:

Appointee 3 Seat

Alton Moody

9 Canyon Oak Place

Danville, CA 94506

Appointee 5 Seat

Trudy Negherbon

336 Pheasant Run Drive

Danville, CA 94506

Appointee 6 Seat

William Lipsin

3280 Blackhawk Meadow Drive

Danville, CA 94506 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  LEA CASTLEBERRY, 925

252-4500

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the
minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 11

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Mary N. Piepho, District III Supervisor

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: APPOINTMENT TO COUNTY SERVICE AREA P-2A



FISCAL IMPACT:

None.

BACKGROUND:

Established on July 24, 1984 by Board Resolution 84/440, the purpose of theCounty Service Area P-2A Citizens

Advisory Committee is to advise the Board of Supervisors and the Sheriff's Department on the needs of the

Blackhawk community for extended police services which includes, but is not limited to, enforcement of the State

Vehicle Code, crime prevention, letter control, etc. 

The committee consists of seven member, appointed by the Board of Supervisors, who serve for a two year term. 

The terms for appointees 3, 5 and 6 expired December 31, 2013. Applications were accepted and the

recommendation to reappoint Mr. Moody, Ms. Negherbon and Mr. Lipsin was then determined.

There are no additional seats on the County Service Area, P-2A Citizens Advisory Committee to fill at this time.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

The seats will not be filled.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not applicable. 



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

1. ADOPT Resolution No. 2014/25 correcting the terms of office for Seat 2 and Seat 2 Alternate on the Contra Costa

Transportation Authority Board of Directors to February 1, 2014 through January 31, 2016 and restating the

appointment of Board members and other individuals to serve on Board committees, special county committees, and

regional boards/ committees/ commissions for 2014, some of which include additional compensation in the form of

stipend.

2. INDICATE that the attached Resolution No. 2014/25 supersedes in its entirety Resolution No. 2014/1, which was

adopted by the Board of Supervisors on January 7, 2014. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No fiscal impact to the County from this action. 

BACKGROUND: 

The Contra Costa Transportation Authority alerted us that the terms of office adopted by the Board of Supervisors on

January 7, 2014 for the Seat 2 and Seat 2 Alternate on the Authority Board of Directors were incorrect. Today's

action is necessary to correct the seat terms to accord with the Authority's bylaws. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Julie DiMaggio Enea

925.335.1077

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the
minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: CAO   

C. 12

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Karen Mitchoff, District IV Supervisor

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: CORRECTION TO SEAT TERM FOR BOARD APPOINTEE TO CONTRA COSTA TRANSPORTATION

AUTHORITY BOARD OF DIRECTORS SEAT 2



ATTACHMENTS

Resolution No. 2014/25 

Attachments to Resolution No. 2014/25 Board Committee

Appointments 



THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF CONTRA COSTA COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

and for Special Districts, Agencies and Authorities Governed by the Board

Adopted this Resolution on 01/21/2014 by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

RECUSE:

Resolution No. 2014/25

IN THE MATTER OF CORRECTING THE TERM OF OFFICE FOR SEAT 2 AND SEAT 2

ALTERNATE ON THE CONTRA COSTA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY BOARD OF

DIRECTORS 

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS RESOLVES TO:

1. CORRECT the terms of office for Seat 2 and the Seat 2 Alternate on the Contra Costa Transportation Authority Board of

Directors the term February 1, 2014 through January 31, 2016.

2. APPOINT the Board members and other individuals to serve on Board committees, special county committees and regional

boards / committees / commissions as specified in the Master List (see attached) as Type I for Board Standing Committees, Type

II for Internal Appointments, Type III for Regional Appointments, and Type IV for Special/Restricted Appointments.

3. INDICATE that this Resolution No. 2014/25 supersedes in its entirety Resolution No. 2014/1, which was adopted by the

Board of Supervisors on January 7, 2014.

4. ACKNOWLEDGE that this correction does not require modifications to Form 806, which is used to report additional

compensation that officials receive when appointing themselves to positions on committees, boards, or commissions of a public

agency, special district, or joint powers agency or authority.



Contact:  Julie DiMaggio Enea 925.335.1077

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: CAO   



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS FOR 2014
RESOLUTION NO. 2014/25

January 21, 2014

New Term
Type* Committee Name Appointee Expiration Stipend Information

I Airport Committee, Chair Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Airport Committee, Vice Chair Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Family & Human Services Committee, Chair Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Family & Human Services Committee, Vice Chair Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Finance Committee, Chair Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Finance Committee, Vice Chair Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Hiring Outreach & Oversight Committee Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Hiring Outreach & Oversight Committee Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Internal Operations Committee, Chair Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Internal Operations Committee, Vice Chair Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Legislation Committee, Chair Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Legislation Committee, Vice Chair Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Public Protection, Chair Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Public Protection, Vice Chair John Gioia 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Transportation, Water & Infrastructure Committee, Chair Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

I Transportation, Water & Infrastructure Committee, Vice Chair Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

*Type 1:  Internal Standing Committees; Type II:  Internal appointments; Type III: Regional appointments; Type IV:  Special/Restricted appointments Page 1 of 6



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS FOR 2014
RESOLUTION NO. 2014/25

January 21, 2014

New Term
Type* Committee Name Appointee Expiration Stipend Information

II Bay Area Counties Caucus John Gioia 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Bay Area Counties Caucus, Alternate Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Bay Area Regional Interoperable Communications System (BayRICS) Authority Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II BayRICS Authority, Alternate Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II California Identification System Remote Access Network Board  (Cal‐ID RAN Board) Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II City‐County Relations Committee Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II City‐County Relations Committee Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II City‐County Relations Committee, Alternate Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Contra Costa Health Plan Joint Conference Committee Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Contra Costa Health Plan Joint Conference Committee Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Dougherty Valley Oversight Committee Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Dougherty Valley Oversight Committee Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II East Bay Regional Communication System (EBRCS) Authority Governing Board Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II East Contra Costa County Habitat Conservancy, Governing Board Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II East Contra Costa County Habitat Conservancy, Governing Board, Alternate Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II East Contra Costa Regional Fee & Finance Authority Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II East Contra Costa Regional Fee & Finance Authority, Alternate Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II eBART (Bay Area Rapid Transit) Partnership Policy Advisory Committee Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II eBART (Bay Area Rapid Transit) Partnership Policy Advisory Committee Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II EBRCS Authority Governing Board, Alternate Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II First 5 Children and Families Commission Alternate Member Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Library Needs Assessment Steering Committee Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Medical Services Joint Conference Committee, Chair Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Medical Services Joint Conference Committee, Vice Chair Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II North Richmond Waste and Recovery Mitigation Fee Committee John Gioia 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Open Space/Parks & East Bay Regional Parks District Liaison Committee, Chair Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Open Space/Parks & East Bay Regional Parks District Liaison Committee, Vice Chair Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Pleasant Hill BART/Contra Costa Centre Joint Powers Authority Board of Trustees Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Pleasant Hill BART/Contra Costa Centre Joint Powers Authority Board of Trustees Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II State Route 4 Bypass Authority Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II State Route 4 Bypass Authority, Alternate Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II SWAT (Southwest Area Transportation Committee) Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

*Type 1:  Internal Standing Committees; Type II:  Internal appointments; Type III: Regional appointments; Type IV:  Special/Restricted appointments Page 2 of 6



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS FOR 2014
RESOLUTION NO. 2014/25

January 21, 2014

New Term
Type* Committee Name Appointee Expiration Stipend Information

II SWAT, Alternate Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II TRAFFIX (Measure J Traffic Congestion Relief Agency) Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II TRAFFIX (Measure J Traffic Congestion Relief Agency), Alternate Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II TRANSPAC (Central County Transportation Partnership and Cooperation) Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II TRANSPAC, Alternate Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II TRANSPLAN (East County Transportation Planning) Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II TRANSPLAN, Alternate Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Tri‐Valley Transportation Council Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Urban Counties Caucus Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Urban Counties Caucus, Alternate Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II WCCTAC (West County Transportation Advisory Committee) Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II WCCTAC, Alternate John Gioia 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

II Central Contra Costa Solid Waste Authority Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $50/meeting; max of 2 paid/month

II Central Contra Costa Solid Waste Authority Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $50/meeting; max of 2 paid/month

II East County Water Management Association Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $170/meeting; max 6 per month

II East County Water Management Association, Alternate Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $170/meeting; max 6 per month

II Hazardous Waste Management Facility Allocation Committee Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $150 per meeting. 

II Hazardous Waste Management Facility Allocation Committee, Alternate Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $150 per meeting. 

II West Contra Costa Integrated Waste Management Authority Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $50 per meeting. 

II West Contra Costa Integrated Waste Management Authority, Alternate John Gioia 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $50 per meeting. 

*Type 1:  Internal Standing Committees; Type II:  Internal appointments; Type III: Regional appointments; Type IV:  Special/Restricted appointments Page 3 of 6



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS FOR 2014
RESOLUTION NO. 2014/25

January 21, 2014

New Term
Type* Committee Name Appointee Expiration Stipend Information

III Regional Airport Planning Committee Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 inactive

III San Joaquin Valley Rail Committee Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

III San Joaquin Valley Rail Committee Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

III Water Emergency Transportation Authority (WETA), Community Advisory Committee Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

III WETA, Community Advisory Committee, Alternate John Gioia 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

III ABAG Regional Planning Committee Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $150 per meeting. 

III Bay Area Air Quality Management District Board of Directors Mary N. Piepho 1/8/2016 Per diem of $100/meeting + travel exp; max $6,000

III Bay Area Air Quality Management District Board of Directors John Gioia 6/17/2017 Per diem of $100/meeting + travel exp; max $6,000

III CCCTA Board of Directors, Alternate Karen Mitchoff 5/1/2015 STIPEND of $100 per meeting; up to $200 month

III Central Contra Costa Transit Authority (CCCTA) Board of Directors Candace Andersen 5/1/2015 STIPEND of $100 per meeting; up to $200 month

III Contra Costa Transportation Authority (seat 1) Federal D. Glover 1/31/2015 STIPEND of $100 per meeting; up to $400 month

III Contra Costa Transportation Authority (Seat 2) Karen Mitchoff 1/31/2016 STIPEND of $100 per meeting; up to $400 month

III Contra Costa Transportation Authority, Alternate (Seat 1) John Gioia 1/31/2015 STIPEND of $100 per meeting; up to $400 month

III Contra Costa Transportation Authority, Alternate (Seat 2) Candace Andersen 1/31/2016 STIPEND of $100 per meeting; up to $400 month

III Contra Costa Transportation Authority, Second Alternate (Seat 1)  Candace Andersen 1/31/2015 STIPEND of $100 per meeting; up to $400 month

III Contra Costa Transportation Authority, Third Alternate (Seat 1) Mary N. Piepho 1/31/2015 STIPEND of $100 per meeting; up to $400 month

III Local Agency Formation Commission Federal D. Glover 5/6/2014 STIPEND of $150 per meeting. 

III Local Agency Formation Commission Mary N. Piepho 5/6/2014 STIPEND of $150 per meeting. 

III Local Agency Formation Commission, Alternate Candace Andersen 5/7/2016 STIPEND of $150 per meeting. 

III Metropolitan Transportation Commission Federal D. Glover 2/1/2015 STIPEND of $100/meeting; up to $500/month per agency

III Tri Delta Transit Authority, Board of Directors (Seat 1) Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $100/month

III Tri Delta Transit Authority, Board of Directors (Seat 2) Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2015 STIPEND of $100/month

*Type 1:  Internal Standing Committees; Type II:  Internal appointments; Type III: Regional appointments; Type IV:  Special/Restricted appointments Page 4 of 6



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS FOR 2014
RESOLUTION NO. 2014/25

January 21, 2014

New Term
Type* Committee Name Appointee Expiration Stipend Information

IV ABAG (Association of Bay Area Counties) General Assembly Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV ABAG General Assembly Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV ABAG General Assembly, Alternate Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV ABAG General Assembly, Alternate John Gioia 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV Clayton Redevelopment Successor Agency Oversight Board Karen Mitchoff Unspecified NO STIPEND

IV Concord Redevelopment Successor Agency Oversight Board Karen Mitchoff Unspecified NO STIPEND

IV Contra Costa County Redevelopment Successor Agency Oversight Board Federal D. Glover** Unspecified NO STIPEND

IV Contra Costa County Redevelopment Successor Agency Oversight Board Karen Mitchoff Unspecified NO STIPEND

IV CSAC (California State Association of Counties) Board of Directors Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV CSAC Board of Directors, Alternate Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV Delta Protection Commission Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV Delta Protection Commission, Alternate Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV Doctors Medical Center Management Authority Governing Board John Gioia Unspecified NO STIPEND

IV First 5 Children and Families Commission Member Candace Andersen 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV Kensington Solid Waste Coordinating Committee John Gioia* Unspecified NO STIPEND

IV Law Library Board of Trustees Mark Armstrong 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV Mental Health Commission Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV Mental Health Commission, Alternate Mary N. Piepho 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV North Coast Shoreline Joint Powers Authority Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV North Coast Shoreline Joint Powers Authority  John Gioia 12/31/2014 NO STIPEND

IV Pittsburg Redevelopment Successor Agency Oversight Board Federal D. Glover Unspecified NO STIPEND

IV Pleasant Hill Redevelopment Successor Agency Oversight Board Karen Mitchoff Unspecified NO STIPEND

IV Sacramento‐San Joaquin Delta Conservancy Board Mary N. Piepho Unspecified NO STIPEND

IV Sacramento‐San Joaquin Delta Conservancy Board, Alternate Karen Mitchoff Unspecified NO STIPEND

IV San Pablo Redevelopment Successor Agency Oversight Board John Gioia** Unspecified NO STIPEND

IV Walnut Creek Redevelopment Successor Agency Oversight Board Karen Mitchoff Unspecified NO STIPEND

IV ABAG Executive Board (Seat 1) Karen Mitchoff 6/30/2014 STIPEND of $150 per meeting. 

IV ABAG Executive Board (Seat 2) John Gioia 6/30/2014 STIPEND of $150 per meeting. 

IV ABAG Executive Board, Alternate 1 Candace Andersen 6/30/2014 STIPEND of $150 per meeting. 

IV ABAG Executive Board, Alternate 2 Mary N. Piepho 6/30/2014 STIPEND of $150 per meeting. 

IV Bay Conservation & Development Commission John Gioia 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $100 per meeting; max of 4 meetings.

IV Bay Conservation & Development Commission, Alternate Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $100 per meeting; max of 4 meetings.

*Type 1:  Internal Standing Committees; Type II:  Internal appointments; Type III: Regional appointments; Type IV:  Special/Restricted appointments Page 5 of 6



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS FOR 2014
RESOLUTION NO. 2014/25

January 21, 2014

New Term
Type* Committee Name Appointee Expiration Stipend Information

IV CCCERA (Contra Costa County Employees Retirement Association) Board of Trustees Karen Mitchoff 6/30/2014 STIPEND of $100 per meeting.

IV Delta Diablo Sanitation District Governing Board Federal D. Glover 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $170 per meeting; max of 6 meetings.

IV Delta Diablo Sanitation District Governing Board, Alternate Karen Mitchoff 12/31/2014 STIPEND of $170 per meeting; max of 6 meetings.
* Or his designee
* Or his designee
** Appointed by CCC Fire Protection District BOD

*Type 1:  Internal Standing Committees; Type II:  Internal appointments; Type III: Regional appointments; Type IV:  Special/Restricted appointments Page 6 of 6



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE Appropriations Adjustment No. 5040 authorizing an internal transfer in the amount of $20,000 from

Services/Supplies to Fixed Assets to cover the one-time cost to upgrade the ballot sorter/scanner used in county

elections. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

There will be no fiscal impact to the General Fund. Allocations are being moved from Services and Supplies to cover

the cost of this unexpected expenditure that is above the budgeted amount for fixed asset expenses. The department

has recognized sufficient savings in other services and supplies accounts to cover the cost. 

BACKGROUND: 

The operating system of the large Pitney Bowes high-volume scanner and sorter has become obsolete and failed

during the last election. This equipment is used to sort incoming vote-by-mail ballots into precinct order as it scans

the voters' signatures for signature authorization. The department was able to perform these functions manually

during the recent small elections. Upgrades to the operating hardware and software are required to be able to use the

equipment for the upcoming gubernatorial elections. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

Failure to upgrade the equipment will require the Elections Division to hand sort and scan vote-by-mail ballots. This

could delay final election results and perhaps prevent the division from completing the canvass within statutory

deadlines. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Debi Cooper 335-7899

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 13

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Joseph E. Canciamilla, Clerk-Recorder

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: APPROPRIATIONS ADJUSTMENT FOR ELECTIONS FIXED ASSETS



CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

None.

ATTACHMENTS

APOO 5040_Clerk-Recorder TC27 Ballot

Sorter 



jenea
JE Signature

jenea
Typewritten Text
1/14/14



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ADOPT Personnel Adjustment Resolution No. 21404 to cancel one (1) Lieutenant (6XHA) (represented) vacant

position #13554 at salary plan and grade V#X 2023 ($7,381 - $9,197), and add one (1) Captain (6XDA)

(represented) position at salary plan and grade V#X 2189 ($8,700 - $10,840) to the Field Operations Bureau – Town

of Danville.

FISCAL IMPACT: 

$31, 015.00 annual increase in salary costs; of which $13,956.00 is attributed to retirement costs. (100% funded by

the town of Danville).

BACKGROUND: 

The Office of the Sheriff has requested to cancel one Lieutenant (6XHA) position and add one Captain (6XDA)

position. The Department and the City of Danville has determined that the proposed staffing adjustment would

benefit the overall operation of the contracted City 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Lori Brown (925)

335-1552

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: MJ Robb,   Barbara Vargen,   Lori Brown,   Tanya Williams,   Roxana Mendoza   

C. 14

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: David O. Livingston, Sheriff-Coroner

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Cancel One (1) Lieutenant Position and add One (1) Captain Position to the Field Operations Bureau – Town of

Danville.



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

of Danville. 

The City of Danville agrees to cover any additional cost incurred with the above staffing adjustments.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

If this action is not approved, the City of Danville will not have the appropriate staffing levels to maintain a

highly trained and committed law enforcement staff.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

No impact.

ATTACHMENTS

P300 No. 21404 



POSITION ADJUSTMENT REQUEST 
NO.  21404

DATE  12/11/2013
Department No./

Department  Office of the Sheriff Budget Unit No. 0277  Org No. 2529  Agency No. 25

Action Requested:  Cancel one (1) Lieutenant (6XHA) position  # 13544, and Add one (1) Captain (6XDA) position to the Field 

Operations Bureau - Town of Danville.

Proposed Effective Date:  2/1/2014

Classification Questionnaire attached: Yes No    /  Cost is within Department’s budget: Yes     No 

Total One-Time Costs (non-salary) associated with request: $0.00

Estimated total cost adjustment (salary / benefits / one time):

Total annual cost $31,015.00 Net County Cost $0.00

Total this FY $12,925.00 N.C.C. this FY $0.00

SOURCE OF FUNDING TO OFFSET ADJUSTMENT  100% Town of Danville

Department must initiate necessary adjustment and submit to CAO.
Use additional sheet for further explanations or comments.

Mary Jane Robb
______________________________________
               (for) Department Head

REVIEWED BY CAO AND RELEASED TO HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT

TME 12/30/2013
___________________________________      ________________
           Deputy County Administrator            Date

HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATIONS DATE  1/9/2014
Cancel one (1) Lieutenant (6XHA) (represented) vacant position #13554 at salary plan and grade V#X 2023 ($7,381 -
$9,197), and add one (1) Captain (6XDA) (represented) position at salary plan and grade V#X 2189 ($8,700 - $10,840) to the 
Field Operations Bureau – Town of Danville.

Amend Resolution 71/17 establishing positions and resolutions allocating classes to the Basic / Exempt salary schedule.

Effective:   Day following Board Action.
(Date) TJC 1/15/2014

___________________________________        ________________
         (for) Director of Human Resources Date

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: DATE  1/15/2014
  Approve Recommendation of Director of Human Resources
  Disapprove Recommendation of Director of Human Resources TME
  Other:  ____________________________________________ ___________________________________

                 (for) County Administrator

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ACTION:        David J. Twa, Clerk of the Board of Supervisors
Adjustment is APPROVED      DISAPPROVED   and County Administrator

DATE  BY  

APPROVAL OF THIS ADJUSTMENT CONSTITUTES A PERSONNEL / SALARY RESOLUTION AMENDMENT

POSITION ADJUSTMENT ACTION TO BE COMPLETED BY HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT FOLLOWING BOARD ACTION
Adjust class(es) / position(s) as follows:

P300 (M347) Rev 3/15/01



REQUEST FOR PROJECT POSITIONS

Department Date 1/15/2014    No.  xxxxxx

1.  Project Positions Requested:

2.  Explain Specific Duties of Position(s)

3. Name / Purpose of Project and Funding Source (do not use acronyms i.e. SB40 Project or SDSS Funds)

4. Duration of the Project: Start Date End Date  
    Is funding for a specified period of time (i.e. 2 years) or on a year-to-year basis? Please explain.

5. Project Annual Cost

a. Salary & Benefits Costs:  b. Support Costs:
        (services, supplies, equipment, etc.)

c. Less revenue or expenditure: d. Net cost to General or other fund:

6. Briefly explain the consequences of not filling the project position(s) in terms of:
a. potential future costs d. political implications
b. legal implications e. organizational implications
c. financial implications

7.  Briefly describe the alternative approaches to delivering the services which you have considered. Indicate why these
alternatives were not chosen.

8.  Departments requesting new project positions must submit an updated cost benefit analysis of each project position at the 
halfway point of the project duration. This report is to be submitted to the Human Resources Department, which will 
forward the report to the Board of Supervisors. Indicate the date that your cost / benefit analysis will be submitted

9. How will the project position(s) be filled?
a. Competitive examination(s)
b. Existing employment list(s) Which one(s)? 
c. Direct appointment of:

1. Merit System employee who will be placed on leave from current job
2. Non-County employee

Provide a justification if filling position(s) by C1 or C2

USE ADDITIONAL PAPER IF NECESSARY



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ACKNOWLEDGE receipt of report of suspension of competition and direct appointment in the Animal Services

Department to facilitate the return to work of a County employee through the County Rehabilitation Program, as

provided for in the Personnel Management Regulations, Section 502, as part of the County Disability Program, as

recommended by the Assistant County Administrator, Director of Human Resources. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

There are no additional costs associated with this direct appointment. Costs associated with filling this position is

included in the Department's budget. 

BACKGROUND: 

Personnel Management Regulations, Section 502, Suspension of Competition, provides that the Director of Human

Resources may suspend competition and authorize a direct appointment to merit system positions where use of

competitive examination procedures are impractical. It also requires that a report of the suspension of competition be

reported to the Board of Supervisors.

In accordance with the above 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Cheri Branson,

925-335-1768

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 15

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Ted Cwiek, Human Resources Director

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Suspension of Competition and Direct Appointment in Animal Services Dept.



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

regulations, the Director of Human Resources is authorizing the following direct appointment in the Animal Services

Department to facilitate the return to work of a County employee through the County Rehabilitation Program:

Animal Services Clerk (BJXB) - effective 12/11/13

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

Department would not benefit from the employee's return to work.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not Applicable.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ADOPT Position Resolution No. 21411 adding one permanent full-time Public Health Epidemiologist/Biostatistician

(V7VC) position at salary level ZB5 1743 ($5,836 - $7,094) and canceling vacant Health Services Planner/Evaluator

- Level B (VCXD) position #9222 at salary level ZB2 1323 ($3,967 - $6,187) in the Health Services Department.

(Represented) 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Upon approval, this action has an annual cost of approximately $15,995 with $3,862 in pension costs. Sufficient

funding is available within the current budget allocations. 

BACKGROUND: 

The Health Services Department is requesting to add one permanent full-time Public Health

Epidemiologist/Biostatistician position in Public Health's Epidemiology, Planning and Evaluation (EPE) unit. The

new position will develop, plan organize and manage epidemiological surveillance efforts for communicable disease

control particularly related to HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis, sexually transmitted diseases and Hepatitis in a variety of

populations. Duties include managing 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Jo-Anne Linares, (925)

957-5246

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes
of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 16

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: William Walker, M.D., Health Services

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Add and cancel position in the Health Services Department



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

the epidemiological research surveys that investigate the prevalence and incidence of diseases affecting residents

as well as risk factors associated with the occurrence, developing project objectives and protocols, consulting on

program evaluation strategies, coordinating data collection methods, monitoring the input of epidemiological and

biostatistical data and coordinating the preparation of reports. To offset the cost, the department is canceling

Health Services Planner Evaluator - Level B position #9222, which has been vacant since September 2010. 

Upon approval, there is an annual cost of approximately $15, 995 with $3,862 pension costs, which is already

included in the 2013-2014 fiscal budget.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

If this action is not approved, the Department will not have adequate staff to meet the needs of the Epidemiology,

Planning and Evaluation unit in Public Health.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

N/A

ATTACHMENTS

P-300 21411 



POSITION ADJUSTMENT REQUEST 
NO.  21411

DATE  1/6/2014
Department No./

Department  Health Services Department Budget Unit No. 0450  Org No. 5869  Agency No. A18

Action Requested:  ADD one permanent full-time Public Health Epidemiologist/Biostatistician position and cancel vacant 
Health Services Planner Evaluator Level B position #9222 in the Health Services Department.

Proposed Effective Date:  1/22/2014

Classification Questionnaire attached: Yes No    /  Cost is within Department’s budget: Yes     No 

Total One-Time Costs (non-salary) associated with request: 

Estimated total cost adjustment (salary / benefits / one time):

Total annual cost $15,995.00 Net County Cost $0.00

Total this FY $6,664.00 N.C.C. this FY $0.00

SOURCE OF FUNDING TO OFFSET ADJUSTMENT  2013-14 Budget 

Department must initiate necessary adjustment and submit to CAO.
Use additional sheet for further explanations or comments.

Jo-Anne Linares
______________________________________
               (for) Department Head

REVIEWED BY CAO AND RELEASED TO HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT

Dorothy Sansoe 1/13/2014
___________________________________      ________________
           Deputy County Administrator            Date

HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATIONS DATE  
Exempt from Human Resources review under delegated authority. 

Amend Resolution 71/17 establishing positions and resolutions allocating classes to the Basic / Exempt salary schedule.

Effective:   Day following Board Action.
(Date)

___________________________________        ________________
         (for) Director of Human Resources Date

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: DATE  1/13/2014
  Approve Recommendation of Director of Human Resources
  Disapprove Recommendation of Director of Human Resources Dorothy Sansoe
  Other:  _Approve as requested by Department________________ ___________________________________

                 (for) County Administrator

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ACTION:        David J. Twa, Clerk of the Board of Supervisors
Adjustment is APPROVED      DISAPPROVED   and County Administrator

DATE  BY  

APPROVAL OF THIS ADJUSTMENT CONSTITUTES A PERSONNEL / SALARY RESOLUTION AMENDMENT

POSITION ADJUSTMENT ACTION TO BE COMPLETED BY HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT FOLLOWING BOARD ACTION
Adjust class(es) / position(s) as follows:

P300 (M347) Rev 3/15/01



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ADOPT Position Resolution No. 21412 adding one (1) Disease Intervention Technician Project (V7W1) position at

salary level QT5 1284 ($3,704 - $4,503) and canceling vacant Disease Intervention Technician (V7WB) position

#12712 at salary level QT5 1284 ($3,704 - $4,503) in the Health Services Department. (Represented) 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

This personnel action is cost neutral; full funding of the project position is in the 2013-2014 State fiscal budget. (Ryan

White Part B Agreement funds) 

BACKGROUND: 

The Health Services Department is requesting to add a Disease Intervention Technician Project position in Public

Health's HIV Care Services program to assist with various case aide and related work. The program funding for this

position is approved on an annual basis. The project position will ensure the Department meets the goals associated

with the Ryan White CARE Act, the Affordable Care Act, and the Demonstration Incentive Service Reimbursement

Program. The project position is fully funded in the 2013-2014 fiscal State budget. (Ryan White Part B Agreement 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Jo-Anne Linares, (925)

957-5246

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes
of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 17

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: William Walker, M.D., Health Services

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Add and cancel position in the Health Services Department



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

funds) 

The Disease Intervention Technician (V7WB) position #12712 has been vacant for four years due to fluctuations

in annual program funding.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

If this action is not approved, there will not be adequate staff to meet the goals of the AIDS Program in Public

Health.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

N/A

ATTACHMENTS

P-300 #21412 



POSITION ADJUSTMENT REQUEST 
NO.  21412

DATE  1/8/2014
Department No./

Department  Health Services Department Budget Unit No. 0450  Org No. 5829  Agency No. A18

Action Requested:  ADD one permanent full-time Disease Intervention Technician - Project position and cancel vacant 
Disease Intervention Technician position #12712 in the Health Services Department.

Proposed Effective Date:  1/22/2014

Classification Questionnaire attached: Yes No    /  Cost is within Department’s budget: Yes     No 

Total One-Time Costs (non-salary) associated with request: 

Estimated total cost adjustment (salary / benefits / one time):

Total annual cost $0.00 Net County Cost $0.00

Total this FY $0.00 N.C.C. this FY $0.00

SOURCE OF FUNDING TO OFFSET ADJUSTMENT  Neutral costs 

Department must initiate necessary adjustment and submit to CAO.
Use additional sheet for further explanations or comments.

Jo-Anne Linares
______________________________________
               (for) Department Head

REVIEWED BY CAO AND RELEASED TO HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT

Dorothy Sansoe 1/15/2014
___________________________________      ________________
           Deputy County Administrator            Date

HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATIONS DATE  
Exempt from Human Resources review under delegated authority

Amend Resolution 71/17 establishing positions and resolutions allocating classes to the Basic / Exempt salary schedule.

Effective:   Day following Board Action.
(Date)

___________________________________        ________________
         (for) Director of Human Resources Date

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION: DATE  1/15/2014
  Approve Recommendation of Director of Human Resources
  Disapprove Recommendation of Director of Human Resources Dorothy Sansoe
  Other:  Approve as requested by Department_______________ ___________________________________

                 (for) County Administrator

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ACTION:        David J. Twa, Clerk of the Board of Supervisors
Adjustment is APPROVED      DISAPPROVED   and County Administrator

DATE  BY  

APPROVAL OF THIS ADJUSTMENT CONSTITUTES A PERSONNEL / SALARY RESOLUTION AMENDMENT

POSITION ADJUSTMENT ACTION TO BE COMPLETED BY HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT FOLLOWING BOARD ACTION
Adjust class(es) / position(s) as follows:

P300 (M347) Rev 3/15/01



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Agricultural Commissioner, or designee, to execute Agreement #13-0369-SA

Weighmaster/Petroleum Product Program with the California Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFA) in an

amount not to exceed $4800 to inspect recycling establishments licensed as weighmasters and determine compliance

with Business and Professions Code Section 12703.1, for the period January 1, 2014 through June 30, 2014 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

This agreement will reimburse the department up to $4800 to support inspection and enforcement activities at

recycling establishments on behalf of the California Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFA) in Contra Costa

County as well as gasoline service stations and others selling petroleum products. There is no cost share requirement

and the revenue from this agreement has been anticipated in the departmental FY 13/14 budget. 

BACKGROUND: 

Gasoline service stations and others selling petroleum products are required by state law to meet advertising and

signage requirements. Service stations are also required to provide water and air free of charge to customers and to

provide handicap service to customers with some exception. This agreement will reimburse the Department for work

done that involves enforcement of these laws. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  646-52509

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 18

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Vincent L. Guise, Director of Agriculture/Weights & Measures

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Agreement #13-0369-SA Weighmaster/Petroleum Product Program



CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

Failure to accept Agreement #13-0369-SA will cause a loss of revenue. The department would be unable to hire

employees to support the inspections and enforcement activities as require.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

None



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Agricultural Commissioner, or designee, to execute a contract with the California

Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFA) in an amount not to exceed $100, to enforce California seed marketing

and labeling requirements for the period July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2014. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

This MOU will reimburse the department up to $100 for services. There is no cost share requirement and the revenue

has been anticipated in the departmental FY 13/14 budget 

BACKGROUND: 

The goal of seed law enforcement (Section 52288, California Food and Agricultural Code) is to protect seed

consumers, including vegetable and field crop growers, as well as urban landscapers. Poor quality seeds can cost

farmers and home gardeners alike considerable amounts of time, money, and resources, by way of reduced yields,

poor crop quality, contamination by weeds or other unwanted species. By enforcing California Seed Law regarding

marketing and labeling, the Department is able to ensure that consumers receive the desired product, and that there is

supportive legal action for those who are wronged.

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  646-5250

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 19

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Vincent L. Guise, Director of Agriculture/Weights & Measures

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: CA Seed Law MOU13-sd07



CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

Failure to accept CA Seed Law MOU 13-sd07 will result in loss revenue for the department.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

None



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ADOPT Resolution No. 2014/18 approving and authorizing the District Attorney to submit an application and

execute a grant award agreement, and any extensions or amendments thereof, pursuant to State guidelines, with the

California Department of Insurance - Fraud Division for funding of the Disability and Heathcare Insurance Fraud

Prosecution Program in the amount of $95,438 for the period July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2014. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The grant will fund salaries and benefits for .38 of an FTE Attorney assigned to the program.

Supplantation is prohibited. (State Funds - no match required).

BACKGROUND: 

The State Legislature has determined that one of the significant factors driving up the cost 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Cherie Mathisen

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 20

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Mark Peterson, District Attorney

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Approval to Submit an Application and Execute a Grant Award for Funding of Disability and Healthcare Insurance

Fraud Prosecution



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

of disability and healthcare insurance is fraud. The Disability and Healthcare Insurance Fraud Prosecution

award is financed by an assessment of $1.00 on all new individual life and annuity products sold

to California residents. A portion of the assessment amount is earmarked for distribution to

District Attorneys for purposes of enhanced investigation and prosecution of disability insurance

fraud cases.

ATTACHMENTS

Resolution No. 2014/18 



THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF CONTRA COSTA COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

and for Special Districts, Agencies and Authorities Governed by the Board

Adopted this Resolution on 01/21/2014 by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

RECUSE:

Resolution No. 2014/18

Funding for the Disability and Healthcare Insurance Fraud Prosecution Program.

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors, Contra Costa County, desires to undertake a certain program designated as the

Disability and Healthcare Insurance Fraud Program to be funded in part from funds made available through Disability and

Healthcare-California Insurance Code Section 1872.85, California Code of Regulations, Title 10, Section 2698.95 et.seq. and

administered by the California Department of Insurance.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the District Attorney of the County of Contra Costa District Attorney's

Office, Special Operations Division is authorized on its behalf to submit a grant proposal to the California Department of

Insurance and is authorized to execute on behalf of the Board of Supervisors the Grant Award Agreement, including any

extensions or amendments thereof.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the grant funds received hereunder shall not be used to supplant expenditures

controlled by this body.

Contact:  Cherie Mathisen

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Interim Librarian, or designee, to apply for and accept a Big Read grant in the

amount of $20,000 from the National Endowment for the Arts to provide materials and programming in West County

libraries for the period September 1, 2014 through June 30, 2015. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No Library Fund match. 

BACKGROUND: 

The Big Read grant is awarded by the National Endowment for the Arts. The purpose of the grant is to revitalize the

role of literature in American culture and to encourage citizens to read for pleasure and enlightenment. The Big Read

will bring together diverse cultures and ages in reading and discussing a single book, The Things They Carried, by

Tim O'Brien. The Big Read will also provide funding for library programs and for purchasing 900 copies of the

selected title. Books will be available through libraries, high schools and colleges to supplement book discussions .In

addition to funding, the grant provides resources such as school curriculum guides and promotional materials

designed to support widespread community and student involvement. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

The Library will not be able to provide cultural and reading enrichment programming. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Gail McPartland,

925-927-3204

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes
of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 21

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Cathy Sanford, Interim County Librarian

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Library Application for $20,000 Big Read Grant from the National Endowment for the Arts



CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

The Big Read grant meets outcomes #1 and #5 established in the Children's Report Card. Funding from the grant will

provide direct curriculum support for high school students to help them succeed in school. Grant funding will also

provide high-quality cultural and literary programming for teens and will promote intergenerational discussions

leading to a better quality of life.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the District Attorney, or designee, to execute a contract with Canine Companions for

Independence in an amount not to exceed $3,000 to provide a facility dog trained to work with victims of crimes to

provide comfort and assist them in remaining calm while being interviewed or providing testimony in the courtroom. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The cost is estimated to be approximately $2,500 - $3,000 for the first year. Most of these costs are one time training

costs for the handler. (100% State Forfeiture Funds) 

BACKGROUND: 

Facility dogs, also known as courthouse dogs when working in a criminal justice environment, are specially trained

by a certified organization to work with victims of crimes and to help them remain calm in the courtroom. Since 2003

courthouse dogs have provided comfort to sexually abused children while they undergo forensic interviews and

testify in court. These dogs also assist court participants in their recovery, visit juveniles in detention facilities, greet

jurors and lift the spirits of courthouse staff who often conduct their business in an adversarial setting.

Courthouse dogs specialize in assisting individuals with physical, psychological, or emotional trauma due to criminal

conduct. These facility dogs graduate from assistance dog organizations that are accredited members of Assistance

Dogs International to ensure that they do not create a public danger and are stable, well-behaved, and unobtrusive to

the public 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Cherie Mathisen, 957-2234

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 22

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Mark Peterson, District Attorney

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Facility Dog Program to Provide a Service Dog to Work With Victims of Crimes in Contra Costa County



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

. Courthouse facility dogs are handled by criminal justice professionals, such as a deputy prosecutor, a law

enforcement officer, a victim advocate, or a forensic interviewer.

The use of courthouse dogs can help bring about a major change in how we meet the emotional needs of all involved

in the criminal justice system. Their calming presence promotes justice with compassion. The dog's handler in the

District Attorney's office will be an assistant investigator and a victim advocate who will use the dog to provide

emotional support to victims to help them through the trial process.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Employment & Human Services Director, or designee, to execute a revenue

agreement with California Department of Community Services and Development, including an indemnification

clause, in an amount not to exceed $481,046 for Low Income Home Energy Assistance Programs with term January

1, 2014 through January 31, 2015. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

100% State funds

California Department of Community Services and Development

Pension costs: $45,051

County match: $0

CCC: 39-806-24

BACKGROUND: 

The County receives funding from the State to operate a low income home energy assistance program for eligible

residents. This board order accepts funding to operate the program during the 2014 program year. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  J. Bhambra, 313-1545

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Jagjit Bhambra,   Sam Mendoza,   Cassandra Youngblood   

C. 23

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Kathy Gallagher, Employment & Human Services

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: 2014 Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program funding



CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

If not approved, County may not receive funding to operate LIHEAP.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

The Employment & Human Services Department, Community Services Bureau energy program supports one Contra

Costa County community outcome - Outcome #4: "Families that are Safe, Stable and Nurturing." This outcome is

supported by the provision of home energy assistance to keep households warm in winter and to increase household

energy efficiency.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Employment and Human Services Director, or designee, to execute a contract

amendment with InTelegy Corporation, effective November 1, 2013, to increase the contract amount by $123,480

from $661,912 to a total contract amount of $735,392 for integrated customer service model(s) development and

implementation from July 1 2013 through June 30, 2014. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

$785,392: 10% County, 45% State, 45% Federal 

BACKGROUND: 

The Employment and Human Services Department (EHSD or Department) has been tasked with the critical

challenges of implementing two significant aspects of the Affordable Care Act. County was awarded the contract to

establish a health benefit exchange call center in partnership with Covered California. At the same time, the

Department is required to plan, develop, and implement a new system and set of business processes for the Medi-Cal

Expansion component under health care reform. The Department does not have sufficient staff resources to provide

the quality and quantity of project management oversight required to ensure the successful design and implementation

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Elaine Burres, 313-1717

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 24

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Kathy Gallagher, Employment & Human Services Director

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: InTelegy Corporation Amendment



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

of these multiple and complex aspects of health care reform.

To meet these challenges, the Department is in the ongoing process of re-engineering the client service-delivery

systems with InTelegy Corporation providing established expertise in the management of multiple projects. EHSD

has had a positive contractual relationship with InTelegy Corporation as they have provided high-quality goal

-oriented services to the Department.

This amendment will increase the total hours necessary for project management services and process development.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

Without increased funding, the Employment and Human Services Department will not complete Service Center

design and implementation & maintain the services of project management experts.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not applicable.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the County Probation Officer, or designee, to execute a contract extension with

Rubicon Programs to change the contract termination date from December 31, 2013 to February 28, 2014 to provide

reentry services to probationers enrolled in the Second Chance Reentry Initiative with no change to the payment. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No fiscal impact. Funding for the existing contract to provide reentry services is received from the Second Chance

Act Adult Offender Reentry Program for Planning and Demonstration Projects awarded by the Department of

Justice. No General Funds are being used for this contract. 

BACKGROUND: 

Effective October 1, 2012, the County was awarded the FY2012 Second Chance Act Adult Offender Reentry

Program for Planning and Demonstration Projects in the amount of $750,000. The budget included funds for

Rubicon Programs to provide reentry services including job readiness coaching, job placement and retention services,

housing placement, financial education classes and legal services. On February 5, 2013, the Board of Supervisors

approved a contract with Rubicon 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Danielle Fokkema,

925-313-4195

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes
of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 25

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Philip F. Kader, County Probation Officer

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Contract Extension with Rubicon Programs



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

Programs in the amount of $130,000 with a term of October 1, 2012 to September 30, 2013.

Because the County got off to a late start implementing this grant, the Probation Department submitted a Grant

Adjustment Notice (GAN) on August 31, 2013 to extended to grant period three months to December 31, 2013. On

November 5, 2013, the Board of Supervisors approved extending Rubicon's contract term to coincide with the grant

term (C.56).

One of the grant requirements was a $750,000 match from the County. The largest part of the match ($335,000) was

the new Probation Case Management System (CMS). Contract negotiations with the CMS vendor have taken much

longer than anticipated and it is necessary to extend the grant term for a second time. The Probation Department

submitted a Grant Adjustment Notice (GAN) on November 25, 2013 to extend the grant period two more months to

February 28, 2014. As a result of the grant extension, Rubicon's contract needs to be extended as well.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

Rubicon Programs will not be able to utilize all the grant dollars available to them.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not applicable.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

Approve and authorize the Health Services Director, or his designee, to execute, on behalf of the County, Contract

#27-781-3 with The Bay Area Cardiology Medical Group, Inc., a corporation, in an amount not to exceed $600,000,

to provide professional Cardiology services, for the period from January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2015. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

This Contract is funded 100% by Contra Costa Health Plan member premiums. Costs depend upon utiliza-tion. (No

rate increase) 

BACKGROUND: 

On February 14, 2012, the Board of Supervisors approved Contract #27-781-2 with The Bay Area Cardiology

Medical Group, Inc. for the provision of professional cardiology services, for the period from January 1, 2012

through December 31, 2013.

Approval of Contract #27-781-3 will allow Contractor to continue providing professional cardiology services

through December 31, 2015.

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Patricia Tanquary

313-6008

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: A Floyd,   C Rucker   

C. 26

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: William Walker, M.D., Health Services Director

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Contract #27-781-3 with The Bay Area Cardiology Medical Group, Inc. 



CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

If this contract is not approved, certain specialized professional health care services for its members under the terms

of their Individual and Group Health Plan membership contracts with the County will not be provided.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

NOT APPLICABLE



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the County Probation Officer, or designee, to execute a contract with the National

Council on Crime and Delinquency (NCCD) in the amount of $140,000 to provide evaluation and assessment of the

County's Smart Probation program for the period of October 1, 2013 through September 30, 2016. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

100% Federal Grant Funded. Funds for evaluation services are received from the "Smart Probation: Reducing Prison

Populations, Saving Money, and Creating Safer Communities" grant awarded by the Department of Justice. No

General Funds will be used. 

BACKGROUND: 

Effective October 1, 2013, the Contra Costa County Probation was awarded the FY2013 "Smart Probation: Reducing

Prison Populations, Saving Money, and Creating Safer Communities" grant. The budget included funds for NCCD to

provide evaluation and performance assessment.

The goal of this grant is to increase effective evidenced-based probation programs that address offender's needs and

reduce 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Danielle Fokkema,

925-313-4195

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes
of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 27

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Philip F. Kader, County Probation Officer

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Contract with National Council on Crime and Delinquency (NCCD)



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

recidivism. Funds will increase capacity within the Probation Department to implement evidence-based practices

that target high-risk probationers by developing and promoting the integration of probation supervision strategies

and tools to facilitate effective reentry, expand options for access to health care upon re-entry, and evaluate the

results of new strategies and tools tested through this initiative. Additionally, data gathered will be used to

evaluate and validate delivery of probation services and improve customer service.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

Contra Costa County Probation will not be able to evaluate the effectiveness of the Smart Probation grant program.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not applicable.

ATTACHMENTS



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the County Risk Manager to execute contracts with selected legal firms for defense of

the County in workers’ compensation, medical malpractice and civil rights claims for a period of one year effective

January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 in accordance with a specified fee schedule for the following: Craddick,

Candland & Conti; D’Andre, Peterson, Bobas & Rosenberg; Edrington, Shirmer & Murphy; Gordon, Watrous, Ryan,

Langley, Bruno & Paltenghi; Hanna, Brophy, MacLean, McAleer & Jensen; Law Offices of John F. Martin;

McClellan & Corren; McNamara, Ney, Beatty, Slattery, Borges & Brothers; Mullen & Filippi; Thomas, Lyding,

Cartier & Gaus.

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Sharon Hymes-Offord

925.335.1450

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the
minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 28

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Sharon Offord Hymes, Risk Manager

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Risk Management Legal Defense Contracts



FISCAL IMPACT:

Legal costs are funded through the Workers’ Compensation, Liability and Medical Malpractice Internal Service

Funds.

BACKGROUND:

Legal firms were selected for their experience and expertise in particular areas of legal defense. Risk Management

assigns cases to the various firms. The following legal firms selected for defense of claims agree to new one-year

contracts without a rate increase from January 2014 to December 31, 2014: Craddick, Candland & Conti; D’Andre,

Peterson, Bobas & Rosenberg; Edrington, Shirmer & Murphy; Gordon, Watrous, Ryan, Langley, Bruno & Paltenghi;

Hanna, Brophy, MacLean, McAleer & Jensen; Law Offices of John F. Martin; McClellan & Corren; McNamara,

Ney, Beatty, Slattery, Borges & Brothers; Mullen & Filippi; Thomas, Lyding, Cartier & Gaus.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

The County will not have the benefit of aforementioned firms’ legal expertise.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

None.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

Approve and authorize the Purchasing Agent, on behalf of the Health Services Department, to execute a Purchase

Order with R-Computer, in the amount of $113,000 for maintenance and upgrades on IBM servers and related

equipment software, for the period from January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014.

FISCAL IMPACT: 

100% Funding is included in the Enterprise Fund I Budget. 

BACKGROUND: 

Health Services Department has had IBM Lotus Notes support since 2000 and would like to continue support for its

email systems. R-Computer has provided this renewal in the past and the Department would like to continue using

them. R-Computer will provide the Department the renewal licenses that provide support for seven Lotus Notes email

servers that run Lotus software for over 3000 email accounts, Sametime instant messaging, and other support

applications that run on these servers. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  David Runt, 313-6228

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: T Scott,   C Rucker,   T Benedict   

C. 29

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: William Walker, M.D., Health Services Director

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Approval of Purchase Order with R-Computer



CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

If the Purchase Order is not approved the software would not be covered on a maintenance contract and when an

incident occurs, IBM will not support us. This may cause extended downtimes impacting healthcare operations.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not applicable.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

Approve and authorize the Purchasing Agent, on behalf of the Health Services Director, to execute, a purchase order

with Hyland Software, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $133,000 for renewal of annual software maintenance and

licensing for OnBase Document Management and Image Scanning Software for the period from January 1, 2014

through December 31, 2014. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

100% Funding is included in the Enterprise Fund I budget. 

BACKGROUND: 

OnBase software maintenance is a critical component of the enterprise-wide EMR solution. OnBase facilitates the

capture, management, archiving, storage, and retrieval of electronic and paper documents including all Electronic

Health Record (EHR) related documents integrated with the CCLink (Epic) application, reports used by the Finance

and Patient Accounting Units, and archived records for other Health Services Divisions including Behavioral Health

Services, Contracts and Grants, Contra Costa Health Plan, Environmental Health and Hazardous Materials. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  David Runt, 313-6228

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: T Scott,   C Rucker,   T Benedict   

C. 30

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: William Walker, M.D., Health Services Director

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Purchase Order for Hyland Software, Inc.



CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

If this purchase is not approved, the workflows associated with the above-stated functions would be adversely

impacted. Hyland provides real-time application support to Health Services for ccLink (Epic) scanning, workflow

management, and reporting solutions. That support would cease, and the integrity of data from integration of internal

scanning and printing hardware interfaced to the EHR application via web services and other interfaces could be

compromised. Connectivity failures in any of these areas could potentially result in incorrect or incomplete data

capture and management, loss of critical archived data due to inability to perform system functions, and

non-compliance with future Epic releases.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not applicable.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

Approve and authorize the Health Services Director, or his designee, to execute on behalf of the County, Contract

#23–441-3 with DJR Healthcare Consulting, Inc., a corporation, in an amount not to exceed $552,000, to provide

professional management and oversight of the Department’s Information Technology (IT) Unit, for the period from

January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2015. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

This Contract is funded 100% by Enterprise Fund I. (No rate increase)

BACKGROUND: 

On December 6, 2011, the Board of Supervisors approved Contract #23-441-2 with the DJR Healthcare Consulting,

Inc. to provide professional management and oversight of the Department’s IT Unit including, but not limited to,

providing a qualified Chief Information Officer who will provide day to day on-site management, act as the technical

expert with regard to all 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Patrick Godley, 957-5405

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: D Morgan,   C Rucker   

C. 31

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: William Walker, M.D., Health Services Director

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Contract #23-441-3 with DJR Healthcare Consulting, Inc.



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

Health Services Department IT Systems, lead the IT Steering Committee, develop formal written strategic plans,

policies and procedures, create processes for identifying system user needs and translate them into system

enhancements, work in collaboration with Department staff, physicians, providers and clients of IT systems, for the

period from January 1, 2012 through December 31, 2013.

Approval of Contract #23-441-3 will allow the Contractor to continue to provide services, through December 31,

2015.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

If this contract is not approved, the Department would not have management and oversight of the Health Services

Department’s IT Unit, which is responsible for supporting the technology infrastructure including, but not limited to,

clinical systems development, data analysis, reporting, end-user training and customer support services for the Contra

Costa Regional Medical Center and Contra Costa Health Centers, Contra Costa Health Plan, Public Health,

Environmental Health, Emergency Medical Services, Behavioral Health Services Division and Office of the

Director/Finance Division. 

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not applicable



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

Approve and authorize the Health Services Director, or his designee, to execute, on behalf of the County, Contract

Amendment Agreement #24-681-73(13) with LTP Carepro, Inc. (dba Pleasant Hill Manor), a limited liability

company, effective November 1, 2013, to amend Contract #24-681-73(11), (as amended by Contract

Amendment/Extension Agreement 24-681-73(12) to increase the payment limit by $6,000, from $168,000 to a new

payment limit of $174,000, with no change in the term of February 1, 2013 through January 31, 2014.

FISCAL IMPACT: 

This amendment is funded 83% by Mental Health Realignment funds and 17% by Mental Health Services

Administration Housing (MHSA). (Rate increase)

BACKGROUND: 

This Contract meets the social needs of the County's population in 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Cynthia Belon, 957-5201

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: D Morgan,   C Rucker   

C. 32

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: William Walker, M.D., Health Services Director

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Amendment #24-681-73(13) with LTP Carepro, Inc. (dba Pleasant Hill Manor)



BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

that it provides augmentation of room and board, and twenty-four hour emergency residential care and supervision to

eligible mentally disordered clients, who are specifically referred by the Mental Health Program Staff and who are

served by County Mental Health Services.

On February 26, 2013, the Board of Supervisors approved Contract #24-681-73(11) (as amended by Contract

Amendment/Extension Agreement #24-681-73(12) with LTP Carepro, Inc. (dba Pleasant Hill Manor), for the period

February 1, 2013 through January 31, 2014, for the provision of augmented board and care services for

County-referred mentally disordered clients. 

Due to the department needing to place two additional mentally disordered older adults, County requested and

Contractor has agreed to the immediate placement. Approval of Contract Amendment Agreement #24-681-73(13)

will allow the Contractor to provide additional (24) twenty-four hour emergency residential care and supervision

services through January 31, 2014.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

If this amendment is not approved clients will not be placed and additional services will not be provided by this

contractor.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not Applicable



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent, or designee, to execute a purchase order on behalf of the

Sheriff-Coroner with Buchanan Food Service in the amount of $120,000 to provide bread loaves, rolls and all related

bakery items as needed for the West County, Martinez and Marsh Creek detention facilities for the period of

01/01/2014 through 12/31/2014. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

$120,000 maximum. 100% County General Fund; Budgeted in fiscal year 2013/14. 

BACKGROUND: 

This replaced the previous bread vendor (IBC Sales Corp) for the West County, Martinez and Marsh Creek detention

facilities. Buchanan Food Service is a GSD-solicited bid that provides lower pricing for the bread loaves, rolls and

other related bakery items as needed to support the inmate feeding program requirements of the three (3) county

detention facilities. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Liz Arbuckle,

(925)335-1529

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Liz Arbuckle,   Heike Siewell,   Tim Ewell   

C. 33

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: David O. Livingston, Office of the Sheriff

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Purchase Order - Buchanan Food Service



CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent to execute, on behalf of the Sheriff-Coroner, a purchase order

with Producers Dairy Products Inc., in an amount not to exceed $175,000 for the purchase of dairy products as

needed for the Martinez and Marsh Creek detention facilities for the period January 1, 2014 through December 31,

2014. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

$175,000. 100% County General Fund; Budgeted in fiscal year 2013/14. 

BACKGROUND: 

The vendor is a General Services Department-selected vendor providing the dairy products and other related products

needed by Martinez Detention Facility and Marsh Creek Detention Facility to support the feeding program

requirements of the inmate population. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT: 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Liz Arbuckle, 335-1529

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Liz Arbuckle,   Heike Siewell,   Tim Ewell   

C. 34

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: David O. Livingston, Office of the Sheriff

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Purchase Order - Producers Dairy Products, Inc.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent to execute, on behalf of the Sheriff-Coroner, a purchase order

with Producers Dairy Products Inc., in an amount not to exceed $200,000 for the purchase of dairy products as

needed for the West County Detention Facility for the period January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

$200,000. 100% County General Fund; Budgeted in fiscal year 2013/14. 

BACKGROUND: 

The vendor is a General Services Department-selected vendor providing the dairy products and other related products

needed by West County Detention Facility to support the feeding program requirements of the inmate population. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT: 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Liz Arbuckle, 335-1529

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Liz Arbuckle,   Heike Siewell,   Tim Ewell   

C. 35

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: David O. Livingston, Office of the Sheriff

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Purchase Order - Producers Dairy Products, Inc.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent to execute, on behalf of the Sheriff-Coroner, a purchase order

with Allen Packaging Company in the amount of $125,000 to provide three-compartment trays for Seal-a-Meal food

to be used at the West County, Martinez, and Marsh Creek Detention Facilities for the period January 1, 2014

through December 31, 2014 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

$125,000; 100% County General Fund, Budgeted. 

BACKGROUND: 

Allen Packaging supplies the packaging equipment and supplies used for the seal-a-meal food central production

system at WCDF, where inmate meals are produced and distributed to MDF and MCDF. This central production

system has proven to increase efficiency and reduce costs for mandated provided meals to inmates. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT: 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Liz Arbuckle,

925-335-1529

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Liz Arbuckle,   Heike Siewell,   Tim Ewell   

C. 36

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: David O. Livingston, Office of the Sheriff

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Purchase Order - Allen Packaging



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent, or designee, to execute, on behalf of the Sheriff-Coroner, a

change to a purchase order with National Food Group, Inc., to increase the payment limit by $43,000 to a new

payment limit of $142,000, to provide frozen and dry food as needed for the West County, Martinez and Marsh

Creek detention facilities for the period April 1, 2013 through March 31, 2014. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

$142,000 maximum. 100% County General Fund; Budgeted in fiscal year 2013/14. 

BACKGROUND: 

The vendor provides the Office of the Sheriff with opportunity buys, enabling the department to take advantage of last

minute deals from manufacturers for cut rates on high quality bulk food items, such as frozen green beans, potato

products and poultry items as needed by the three detention facilities to support the feeding program requirements of

the inmate population. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Liz Arbuckle, 335-1529

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Liz Arbuckle,   Heike Siewell,   Timothy Ewell   

C. 37

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: David O. Livingston, Sheriff-Coroner

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Purchase Order - National Food Group, Inc.



CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ACCEPT the Contra Costa County Planning Commission 2013 Annual Report. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None. 

BACKGROUND: 

On December 13, 2011, the Board of Supervisors adopted Resolution No. 2011/497, which requires each regular and

ongoing board, commission, or committee report annually to the Board of Supervisors. The attached report presented

for Board consideration fulfills this requirement. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

The annual reporting requirement to the Board of Supervisors would not be fulfilled. 

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT: 

Not applicable. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Aruna Bhat, (925)

674-7784

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 38

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Catherine Kutsuris, Conservation and Development Director

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Contra Costa County Planning Commission 2013 Annual Report



ATTACHMENTS

2013 Annual

Report 



COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION  

ANNUAL REPORT 2013 
 

 Meeting Time:     Generally meets on the 2nd and 4th Tuesdays of the month at 7:00 P.M. 
 

 Location:      Conservation and Development Department, 30 Muir Road, Martinez 
 

 Chair:   Marvin Terrell   May 22, 2012 - present 
    

 Vice Chair:  Don Snyder  September 24, 2013 - present 

   Karen Peterson  May 22, 2012 – August 27, 2013 
 

 Staff:    Aruna Bhat 
 

 Recording Secretary: Hiliana Li   
 

 Reporting Period:  January 2013 – December 2013 

 

I. Activities/Purpose 
 

The County Planning Commission exercises all powers and duties prescribed by law (statute, ordinance or board 

order), including consideration of matters referred to it by the zoning administrator except those powers and 

duties specifically reserved or delegated to other divisions of the planning agency; initiates preparation of general 

plans, specific plans, regulations, programs and legislation to implement the planning power of the county; is 

generally responsible for advising the legislative body of matters relating to planning, which, in the opinion of the 

commission, should be studied; is the advisory agency as designated in Title 9 of the County Code for the purpose 

of passing on subdivisions; hears and decides all applications or requests for proposed entitlements estimated to 

generate one hundred or more peak hour trips unless otherwise provided by the code or board order; and hears and 

makes recommendations regarding proposed development agreements  when it is hearing the related project 

applications being processed concurrently with the development agreements.  

 

II. Accomplishments 

 
The County Planning Commission made decisions and recommendations to the Board of Supervisors on twenty 

one projects in the calendar year 2013. The Commission made recommendations to the Board of Supervisors on 

1) two general plan amendment, rezoning, major subdivision and development plan in the Discovery Bay area, 2) 

on revisions to the County Code Meteorological Towers (MET) Ordinance which would apply to the 

unincorporated areas of Contra Costa County, and 3) on a general plan amendment and specific plan amendment 

in the Dougherty Valley area. In addition, they made decisions on a zoning text amendment, a heritage tree 

permit, two general plan amendments, two rezoning applications, two major subdivisions, two mandatory 

referrals, five land use permits, two appeals, and one variance. The following are brief descriptions of the projects 

considered. 

 

Zoning Text Amendments: County File #ZT12-0003: Consideration of a proposed zoning text amendment that 

would modify sections of the County Code Chapter 88-22 – Meteorological Towers (MET) Ordinance which 

would apply to the unincorporated areas of Contra Costa County (3-26-13). 

 

Heritage Tree: Tom Newlin (Applicant & Owner), County File #HT12-0001: A request to nominate two Valley 

Oak trees pursuant to the Heritage Tree Preservation Ordinance (Chapter 816-4) at 2444 Lunada Lane in the 

Alamo area (8-27-13).  

 

Tentative Map and Subdivision Plan:  

1) William Schrader, Jr. (Applicant) – Disco Bay Partners LLC (Owner), County Files GP08-0002, RZ09-3214, 

SD09-9278, and DP09-3029: Request for approval of a General Plan Amendment, Rezoning, Major 

Subdivision and a Preliminary and Final Development Plan (2-26-13). 

2) Pantages at Discovery Bay, LLC (Applicant) – C & D Discovery Bay, LLC & East Contra Costa Irrigation 

District (ECCID) (Owners), County Files GP99-0008, RZ04-3146, SD06-9010, and DP04-3062: Request for 

approval of a General Plan Amendment, Rezoning, Major Subdivision and a Preliminary and Final 

Development Plan in the Discovery Bay area (10-22-13). 



3) Steve Savage (Applicant) – Shapell Homes (Owner), County Files DP12-3032, GP12-0004, GP12-0005, 

SP12-0001, SD12-9298 and SD12-9297: Request for approval of a General Plan Amendment, Dougherty 

Valley Specific Plan (DVSP) amendment and a modification of the Gale Ranch Phase III and IV Final 

Development Plans in order to accommodate the establishment of a new elementary school within Phase IV 

of Gale Ranch. Also requesting approval of an amendment to Chapter 6 (Circulation) of the Dougherty 

Valley Specific Plan to include revised roadway sections for the future Dougherty Road and local roads 

within Gale Ranch Phase IV (12-10-13).  

 

Mandatory Referrals:  

1) Acquisition of 2.3 (+/-) acres of land, Assessor Parcel No. 094-100-011, located north of Kirker Pass Road, 

in unincorporated Pittsburg, by the East Bay Regional Park District (CP#13-07) (2-26-13). 

2) Acquisition of 111.9 (+/-) acres of land, Assessor Parcel No. 080-070-014, at 6041 Morgan Territory Road, 

by the East Bay Regional Park District (CP13-08) (2-26-13). 

3) Acquisition of 165 (+/-) acres of land, Assessor Parcel No. 432-040-005, located along Castro Ranch Road 

in El Sobrante adjacent to the city of Richmond by the East Bay Regional Park District. (County File #CP13-

35)(11-19-13) 

4) Acquisition of 90 (+/-) acres of land, Assessor Parcel No. 015-200-009, located at 4571 Orwood Road near 

the Town of Discovery Bay by the East Bay Regional Park District. (County File #CP13-38) (11-19-13)   

 

Land Use Permit:  

1) New Cingular Wireless – AT&T Mobility (Applicant) – Contra Costa County/Northern California Joint Pole 

Association (Owners), County File #LP13-2009: A request for a land use permit to attach a New Cingular 

Wireless distributed antenna system (DAS) node to an existing utility pole in the Kensington area (9-10-13).  

2) New Cingular Wireless – AT&T Mobility (Applicant) – Contra Costa County/Northern California Joint Pole 

Association (Owners), County File #LP13-2010: A request for a land use permit to attach a New Cingular 

Wireless distributed antenna system (DAS) node to an existing utility pole in the public right-of-way in the 

Kensington area (9-10-13). 

3) New Cingular Wireless – AT&T Mobility (Applicant) – Contra Costa County/Northern California Joint Pole 

Association (Owners), County File #LP13-2011: A request for a land use permit to attach a New Cingular 

Wireless distributed antenna system (DAS) node to an existing utility pole in the public right-of-way in the 

Kensington area (9-10-13). 

4) New Cingular Wireless – AT&T Mobility (Applicant) – Contra Costa County/Northern California Joint Pole 

Association (Owners), County File #LP13-2017: A request for a land use permit to attach a New Cingular 

Wireless distributed antenna system (DAS) node to an existing utility pole in the public right-of-way in the 

Kensington area (9-10-13). 

5) New Cingular Wireless – AT&T Mobility (Applicant) – Contra Costa County/Northern California Joint Pole 

Association (Owners), County File #LP13-2019: A request for a land use permit to attach a New Cingular 

Wireless distributed antenna system (DAS) node to a new utility pole in the public right-of-way in the 

Kensington area (9-10-13). 

6) New Cingular Wireless – AT&T Mobility (Applicant) – Contra Costa County/Northern California Joint Pole 

Association (Owners), County File #LP13-2020: A request for a land use permit to attach a New Cingular 

Wireless distributed antenna system (DAS) node to an existing utility pole in the public right-of-way in the 

Kensington area (9-10-13). 

7) Phillips 66 (Applicant & Owner), County File #LP12-2073: Implement and construct the Propane Recovery 

Project, which proposes refinery processing equipment improvements to recover for sale additional amounts 

of propane and butane from refinery fuel gas (RFG) and other process streams; and to decrease sulfur dioxide 

(SO2) emissions from the refinery as a result of removing sulfur compounds from RFG streams. The proposed 

project would add and modify processing and ancillary equipment within the Phillips 66 Rodeo refinery in 

Contra Costa County (11-19-13). 

 

Board of Appeals:  

1) Gwen Douglass (Appellant) – Gordon Jurgenson (Applicant & Owner), County File #VR11-1024: An appeal 

of the Zoning Administrator’s decision to approve a minimum front yard setback variance and a minimum 

side yard setback variance for the construction of a retaining wall structure with driveway curb and bollards 

on top (5-14-13). 



2) Mesa Outdoor LLC (Applicant) – John Traverso (Owner), County File #LP11-2008: An appeal of the 

Zoning Administrator’s decision to deny an application for approval of a land use permit to establish a two-

sided, freestanding billboard on a 2.76-acre site at 4080 Cabrihlo Drive (Vine Hill, unincorporated Martinez) 

(8-13-13). 

 

III. Representation/Attendance 

 
The County Planning Commission consists of seven members.  There is one commissioner nominated from each 

of the five Supervisorial Districts and two are nominated as at large members.  The Board of Supervisors appoints 

the nominees. The term for a County Planning Commissioner is four years. There were 23 scheduled meetings. 

The Planning Commission met nine times at which a quorum was always present.  There were 13 cancelled 

meetings due to lack of items. 

 

IV. Training/Certification 

 
Commissioners were previously provided with a copy of the Advisory Body Handbook and were requested to 

view two training videos titled, “The Brown Act and Better Government Ordinance – What You Need to Know as 

a Commission, Board, or Committee Member” and “Ethics Orientation for County Officials.”  Jeffrey Wright was 

appointed to the District I seat in August and Rand Swenson was appointed to the District II seat in September. 

They received the training materials and submitted certification that they viewed both videos (attached). 

Certifications are on file for all of the commissioners.  

 

V. Proposed Work Plan/Objectives for Next Year 

 
The work plan and objectives for 2014 are the same as the Commission Activities/Purpose statement.  



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

DECLARE as surplus and AUTHORIZE the Purchasing Agent, or designee, to dispose of fully depreciated vehicles

and equipment no longer needed for public use as recommended by the Public Works Director, Countywide.

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No fiscal impact.

BACKGROUND: 

Section 1108-2.212 of the County Ordinance Code authorizes the Purchasing Agent to dispose of any personal

property belonging to Contra Costa County and found by the Board of Supervisors not to be required for public use.

The property for disposal is either obsolete, worn out, beyond economical repair, or damaged beyond repair.

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  David Gould

925-313-2151

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Auditor Controller,   County Administrator,   Public Works Accounting,   Public Works Fleet,   Public Works Purchasing,   Public Works Purchasing,   Public

Works Surplus   

C. 39

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Julia R. Bueren, Public Works Director/Chief Engineer

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Disposal of Surplus Property



CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

Public Works would not be able to dispose of surplus vehicles and equipment.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not applicable.

ATTACHMENTS

Surplus Vehicles & Equipment 





RECOMMENDATION(S): 

ACCEPT bequest from Lili Mai Albertoni-Weedin to the Health Services Department Homeless Shelter in Concord

in the amount of $450,000. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The bequest of $450,000 was made to the Central County Interim Housing program and will be used to benefit the

shelter. Because these funds are one time in nature, they will be used for one time expenses, including, but not limited

to the purchase of vehicles and infrastructure improvements such as painting, ceiling repairs, and internet access. 

BACKGROUND: 

Lili Mai Albertoni-Weedin of Oklahoma upon her death left to the Health Services Department Homeless Shelter in

Concord a bequest in the amount of $450,000. The only stipulation on these funds is that they be used for the

Concord Homeless Shelter.

California Government Code Section 25355 and Administrative Bulletin No. 117 - Gifts and Bequests require Board

of Supervisors approval on any gift, bequest or devise over $10,000. 

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 

The County would not receive the bequest. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Dorothy Sansoe,

925-335-1009

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes
of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 40

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: David Twa, County Administrator

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Accept Bequest from Lili Mai Albertoni-Weedin to the Concord Homeless Shelter



CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

Not Applicable



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

1. REFER to the Finance Committee a proposal to enter into a long-term vehicle leasing, maintenance, and fleet

management program for the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District’s light vehicle fleet, and

2. REFER to the Finance Committee a review of implementation of an EMS First-Responder Fee to offset expenses

incurred while providing Emergency Medical Services on over 35,000 incident annually. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no direct cost related to examination of the proposal by the Committee. The estimated $275,000-$350,000

annual cost of the proposed program at full implementation would be funded within the authorized operating budget

of the Fire District. Full implementation of the proposed program would result in estimated light vehicle fleet

maintenance savings of approximately $80,000 per year annually as well as provide predictable annual costs to

support, maintain, and replace the light vehicle fleet in subsequent years. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Lewis Broschard,

941-3520

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc:

C. 41

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Jeff Carman, Chief, Contra County Fire Protection District

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: REFERRAL TO FINANCE COMMITTEE VEHICLE LEASE, MAINTENANCE, AND FLEET MANAGEMENT

PROGRAM & REVIEW OF EMS FIRST RESPONDER FEE IMPLEMENTATION



BACKGROUND:

Fleet Management Referral:

The Fire District operates a fleet of approximately 80 light vehicles to fulfill its emergency response and support

functions including supply, maintenance, and facilities, as well as administration and fire prevention activities. The

fleet has been significantly reduced in size from over 100 light vehicles since 2010. Historically, the Fire District

purchased light vehicles and maintained them with private sector vendors. With very few exceptions, there have been

no purchases made or replacements scheduled to the aging light vehicle fleet since 2007. The majority of our light

vehicles are in excess of County replacement guidelines for age and/or mileage and are presenting increased costs for

operation, fuel, and unpredictable maintenance. Reliability of our emergency response and support functions is

compromised because of increased age and maintenance issues. 

The management of the light vehicle fleet was coordinated and performed by a dedicated position that was

eliminated in 2010 due to budget cuts. This function is now performed by the Fire Marshal as an additional adjunct

duty.

The Fire District has researched several innovative programs in the public and private sector for the replacement,

maintenance, and management of our light vehicle fleet. Due to the quantity of vehicles needing replacement,

coupled with insufficient capital to meet this need, a long-term leasing strategy is proposed. The leasing concept will

provide acquisition of light vehicles with no initial capital outlay and manageable monthly leasing costs. In addition,

the leasing program includes a maintenance program which will dramatically reduce our annual maintenance costs

and eliminate unpredictable costs in the future. The maintenance program allows for flexibility and convenience in

locating and selecting vendors for routine maintenance. The program includes a fleet management component with

online fuel consumption tracking, consultation on appropriate and economical vehicle selection based on anticipated

needs and use, and monitoring of maintenance programs and service intervals for compliance with the manufacturer’s

recommended service for each vehicle. 

EMS Responder Fee Referral:

The Fire Protection District Law of 1987 provides clear direction on fiscal management and case law in California

offers logical solutions such as EMS cost recovery for advanced life support (ALS) first responder fees. Insurance

companies throughout the State currently pay reimbursements to first responder agencies for these services. EMS cost

recovery is a reasonable mechanism for the District to recoup some of its operating expenses for providing these

essential services to the community. Based on a conservative collection expectation, the Fire District estimates there

is a potential to generate over one-million dollars annually. Insurance companies will provide reimbursement for

emergency medical services and there will be no impact to those patients who are uninsured. These fees are currently

being collected by other fire agencies within Contra Costa County and around the state and the program has proven to

be very successful.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

The referrals will not be made to the Finance Committee and will not become part of the Committee work-plan for

2014.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

No impact.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

RECEIVE 2013 Annual Report submitted by the Finance Committee. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No fiscal impact. This is an informational report only. 

BACKGROUND: 

On December 13, 2011, the Board of Supervisors adopted Resolution No. 2011/497, which requires that each regular

and ongoing board, commission, or committee shall annually report to the Board of Supervisors on its activities,

accomplishments, membership attendance, required training/certification (if any), and proposed work plan or

objectives for the following year. The attached report fulfills this requirement for the Finance Committee.

All Finance Committee reports from 2009 onward and attachments can be found on the County website at 

http://ca-contracostacounty.civicplus.com/index.aspx?NID=2286.

In 2013, the Finance Committee received reports and/or made recommendations to the Board of Supervisors

concerning issues related to:

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  Lisa Driscoll, County Finance Director

925-228-4188

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on
the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of

Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Robert Campbell, Auditor-Controller   

C. 42

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: David Twa, County Administrator

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: 2013 Annual Report for the Finance Committee

http://ca-contracostacounty.civicplus.com/index.aspx?NID=2286


BACKGROUND: (CONT'D)

♦ Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funding for economic development and infrastructure/public

facilities;

♦ Methodology for Interest Calculations on Construction Deposits;

♦ Establishing and Funding a Capital Renewal Fund for Facility Maintenance and Replacement;

♦ Real Estate Asset Management Plan (RAMP) Annual Report and Policy;

♦ Regular Capital Facility Updates and Specific Building Projects Including the Sheriff-Coroner Administration

Central County Office;

♦ Specific On-Call Differentials for Unrepresented Management Positions;

♦ Single Audit;

♦ Changing the Community Development Block Grant Funding Cycles to Coincide with the Five-year Consolidated

Plan;

♦ Special Revenues Administered by the Board of Supervisors (Livable Communities Trust Fund, Child Care

Affordability Fund, CCCFutures Fund);

♦ Policy Governing the Use of Special Revenues; and

♦ Proposal to Initiate a Voter Education and Information Pilot Program to Create Opportunities for the Public to

Become More Informed, Award, and Involved with Current Civic Issues and to Foster a Culture of Civic

Responsibility and Engagement. 

At year end, the Finance Committee had pending referrals on:

♦ Continuing to develop strategic priorities to guide the budget development process including defining core

services;

♦ Continuing to evaluate funding priorities for FLIP;

♦ Continuing to implement and evaluate the Real Estate Asset Management Plan (RAMP); and

♦ Continuing to review and update the binder on Special Revenues Administered by the Board of Supervisors.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

The committee will not be in compliance with Resolution No. 2011/497.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

None.



Resolution No. 

AIR-16615     Consent    

BOS Agenda Other Actions             

Meeting Date: 01/21/2014

Time (Duration):  
CONTINUE Extension of Emergency Declaration Regarding Homelessness

Submitted For: David Twa, County Administrator 

Department: County Administrator Division: Health & Human Services

Noticed Public Hearing: No  Official Body: Board of Supervisors

Presenter/Phone, if applicable: Audio-Visual Needs: 

Handling Instructions: District: All Districts

Contact, Phone: Lavonna Martin, 925-313-6736

Information

Recommendation(s):

CONTINUE the emergency action originally taken by the Board of Supervisors on November 16, 1999 regarding

the issue of homelessness in Contra Costa County.

Fiscal Impact:

None.

Background:

Government Code Section 8630 required that, for a body that meets weekly, the need to continue the emergency

declaration be reviewed at least every 14 days until the local emergency is terminated. In no event is the review to

take place more than 21 days after the previous review.

On November 16, 1999, the Board of Supervisors declared a local emergency, pursuant to the provisions of

Government Code Section 8630 on homelessness in Contra Costa County.

With the continuing high number of homeless individuals and insufficient funding available to assist in sheltering

all homeless individuals and families, it is appropriate for the Board to continue the declaration of a local

emergency regarding homelessness.

Consequence of Negative Action:

The Board of Supervisors would not be in compliance with Government Code Section 8630.

Children's Impact Statement:

None.

Budget Information

Information about available funds



Budgeted: Funds Available: Adjustment: Amount Available:

Unbudgeted: Funds NOT Available: Amendment:

Account Code(s) for Available Funds

1:

Fund Transfers

Attachments

No file(s) attached.



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

APPROVE 2013-14 Policies and Procedures and Service Plan for the Community Services Bureau of the

Employment & Human Services Department. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None 

BACKGROUND: 

Head Start Performance Standard 1305.3 (c) (6) mandates that the Head Start grantee set criteria, based on a

community assessment, that define types of children and families who will be given priority for recruitment and

selection. It also requires annual approval of written plans for implementing services which is described within the

Policies and Procedures manual. This board order accepts the Community Services Bureau Policies and Procedures

and Service Plan for the 2013-14 program year. The document is scheduled for review and approval by the Head

Start Policy Council on January 15, 2014. 

APPROVE OTHER 

RECOMMENDATION OF CNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
RECOMMENDATION OF BOARD

COMMITTEE 

Action of Board On:   01/21/2014 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF SUPERVISORS

AYES ____ NOES ____ 

ABSENT ____ ABSTAIN ____ 

RECUSE ____ 

 

Contact:  J. Sanchez-Rosa, 313-1779

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of
the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    January  21, 2014 

David J. Twa, County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

 

By: , Deputy

cc: Joanne Denardo,   Cassandra Youngblood   

C. 44

  

To: Board of Supervisors

From: Kathy Gallagher, Director

Date: January  21, 2014

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: 2013-14 Community Services Bureau Policies & Procedures manual and Service Plan



CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

If not approved, Department will not be in compliance with Head Start regulations.

CHILDREN'S IMPACT STATEMENT:

The Employment & Human Services Department Community Services Bureau supports three of Contra Costa

County’s community outcomes - Outcome 1: “Children Ready for and Succeeding in School,” Outcome 3:

“Families that are Economically Self-sufficient,” and, Outcome 4: “Families that are Safe, Stable, and Nurturing.”

These outcomes are achieved by offering comprehensive services, including high quality early childhood

education, nutrition, and health services to low-income children throughout Contra Costa County.

ATTACHMENTS

2014 CSB Policies and Procedures 

Clean Copy 2014 CSB Policy and Procedure 



 
Policy Council Approved:   
Board of Supervisors Approved:   

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT                           

COMMUNITY SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND 

PROCEDURES 
2013-2014 

 

 

      
 



CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT                           
COMMUNITY SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

SECTION 1-ADMINISTRATION 
 

 

2013-2014 

 
 
 
  

Policy Council Approved:  
Board of Supervisors Approved: 

Deleted: 2012-2013

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Deleted: 11-14-12

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Not Bold, Font
color: Auto, Not Small caps, Highlight

Formatted: Highlight



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

1 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012…013-2013 ...

Deleted: 2012…013-2013 ...

PART I PROGRAM GOVERNANCE  

A Service Area 4 

B Service Recipients 4 

C Program Governance 4 

   

PART II PLANNING  

A Philosophy 15 

B Methodology 15 

   

PART III COMMUNICATIONS  

A General Description 18 

B Internal Communication 18 

C Internal Communication with Parents 18 

D Communications with Governing Bodies and Policy Groups 19 

E External Communication 19 

F Reporting for County Child Protective Services and State Community Care 
Licensing 21 

G Reporting for Partner Agencies including Delegate Agency 25 

   

PART IV RECORD KEEPING AND REPORTING  

A General Description 26 

B Personnel Files 27 

C Family Files 27 

D Fiscal Files 27 

E Contract Files 28 

F Public Access to County Records 29 

   

PART V MONITORING  

A Purpose 31 

B Methodology 31 

C Multi-Level Monitoring   31 

D Fiscal Monitoring of the Delegate Agency by the Grantee 33 

E Early Childhood Environmental Rating Scale and Infant Toddler 
Environmental Rating Scale (ECERs and ITERs) 

33 

F Fiscal Officer or his/her Designee Reviews the Financial Information for 
Content and Consistency Before Reimbursing Monthly Expenditures 

33 

G Center Visit Documentation 34 

H Procedures for Review, Analysis and Reporting 34 

   

PART VI SELF-ASSESSMENT  

A Self-Assessment Team 36 

B Methodology 36 

C Parent Involvement 36 

D Process of Self-Assessment of Agency’s Program Services 37 

E Self-Assessment Results  37 

F Monitoring the Plan of Action Resulting from Self-Assessment 37 

   

Deleted: 4

Deleted: 4

Deleted: 4

Deleted: 15

Deleted: 15

Deleted: 18

Deleted: 18

Deleted: 18

Deleted: 19

Deleted: 19

Formatted Table ...

Deleted: 21

Deleted: 25

Deleted: 26

Deleted: 27

Deleted: 27

Deleted: 27

Deleted: 28

Deleted: 29

Formatted Table ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: 31

Formatted ...

Deleted: 31

Deleted: Procedures

Formatted ...

Deleted: 31

Deleted: Monitoring Services Areas and ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: 32

Deleted: Procedures for Review, Analysis ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: 37

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted Table ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: 39

Formatted ...

Deleted: 39

Formatted ...

Deleted: 39

Formatted ...

Deleted: 40

Formatted ...

Deleted: 40

Formatted ...

Deleted: 40



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

2 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012…013-2013 ...

...

PART VII PROGRAM HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT  

A Statement of Purpose of Policies and Procedures 38 

B Governing Board 38 

C  Organizational Structure 38 

D Additional Personnel Policies Relating to Employees of Program Services 39 

E Analysis of Staff Needs 45 

F Recruitment and Selection 45 

G Hiring of CSB Staff 46 

H Reject from Probation 47 

I 9/80 Work Schedule 47 

J Separation 48 

K Resignation 48 

L Nepotism 48 

M Enrolled Children of CSB Employees 48 

N Staff Qualifications-General 48 

O Qualification Requirements for Positions 49 

P Classroom Staffing and Ratios and Comprehensive Services Staffing 49 

Q Site Administration 50 

R Teacher Assistant Trainees (TAT) 51 

S Volunteers 51 

T Standards of Conduct 52 

U Professional Behavior and Attire 52 

V Non-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policies  53 

W Whistle Blowers Are Protected 54 

X Protocol for Tracking Staff Absences 55 

Y Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 55 

Z  Confidentiality 56 

AA Staff Performance Appraisals 58 

BB Chronological Supervision and Filing System 60 

CC Staff and Volunteer Health 60 

DD Career Development Opportunities 62 

EE Staff Training and Development 63 

FF New Employee Orientation 67 

GG Continuing Education Programs 67 

HH Delegate Agency Policies 69 

II Short-Term Contract Employees 69 

JJ Union Membership 69 

KK Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Policy 70 

LL Approval of New Personnel Policies and Revisions 70 

   

PART VIII FISCAL  

A Advance Amount for Travel 72 

B Travel Reimbursement-County Employees 72 

C Travel Reimbursement-Parent Reimbursement for Policy Council Activities 72 

D  Using Employee’s Own Funds for County Expenditures 73 

E Reimbursement for Expenses 73 

F Use of Procurement Cards 74 

Deleted: 41

Deleted: 41

Deleted: 41

Deleted: 42

Deleted: 48

Deleted: 48

Deleted: 48

Deleted: 49

Deleted: 49

Deleted: 50

Deleted: 50

Deleted: 50

Deleted: 51

Deleted: 51

Deleted: 51

Deleted: 52

Deleted: 53

Deleted: 53

Deleted: 53

Deleted: 54

Deleted: 55

Deleted: 56

Deleted: W

Formatted ...

Deleted: 56

Deleted: X

Formatted ...

Deleted: 57

Deleted: Y 

Formatted ...

Deleted: 58

Deleted: Z

Formatted ...

Deleted: 60

Deleted: AA

Formatted ...

Deleted: 62

Deleted: B

Formatted ...

Deleted: B

Deleted: 62

Deleted: CC

Formatted ...

Deleted: 63

Deleted: DD

Formatted ...

Deleted: 65

Deleted: EE

Formatted ...

Deleted: 68

Deleted: FF

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

3 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
  

G Other Compensation 75 

H Salary 75 

I Bilingual Pay Differential 76 

J Accounting Certificate Differential 77 

K Management Longevity Pay 77 

L Management Paid Personal Leave (Admin Leave) 77 

M Unemployment Compensation 77 

N Vehicle Use 78 

O In-Kind (Non-Federal Share) 78 

Deleted: 76

Deleted: 76

Deleted: 77

Deleted: 78

Deleted: 78

Deleted: 78

Deleted: 78

Deleted: 79

Deleted: 79



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

4 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 

I. Program Governance 
A. Service Area 
Contra Costa County Employment and Human Services Department, Community Services Bureau (CSB) is 
the designated Community Action Agency for Contra Costa County.  CSB is the Head Start and Early 
Head Start Grantee for Contra Costa and also administers the California Department of Education Child 
Development Programs, Community Services Block Grant, Stage 2/Alternative Payment Programs, Low-
Income Home Energy Assistance and Weatherization Programs.   
 
B. Service Recipients  
The Bureau’s services are directed toward building self-sufficiency among the county’s low-income 
residents and vulnerable populations.  CSB serves pregnant women and children ranging in age from 
birth through kindergarten, individuals and families.  All service recipients served under the various CSB 
funding streams must meet the eligibility requirements of the funding source.  
 
C. Program Governance 
1. The Board of Supervisors 
 
The Board of Supervisors is a body of publically elected officials whose role is to oversee the operations 
of county departments and to exercise executive and administrative authority through the county 
government and county administration.  The BOS also is charged with responsibility and oversight to the 
Head Start and Early Head Start grants as outlined in Appendix A in this section.  
  
2. Policy Council Composition and Formation 
 
The County Board of Supervisors and the Policy Council determine the total size of the Policy Council, 
procedures for electing parent members, and selection of community representatives.  
Policy Council composition is reviewed annually to ensure that it meets the General Membership 
guidelines of HSPS 1304.50(b)(2). Consideration is given to the number of Head Start and Early Head 
Start currently enrolled children along with program options (Full Day, Part Day, and Home Base).  The 
following steps explain how to determine Policy Council composition: 

 Determine the total number of Head Start and Early Head Start slots 

 Determine the total HS/EHS slots for each site by program option based on the current CSB slot 
map (HS/Full Day, HS/Part Day, EHS/FD, and Home Base (EHS/HS collectively). Calculate the 
percentage of each program option (multiply the number of program option slots for each site 
by the total number of slots). This will give you the percentage of membership that each option 
should represent.  

 The number of currently enrolled representatives is set at 39. This is determined using the 
formula 1/60 (1 representative per site for every 60 HS or EHS slots).   

 

Head Start Part Day 29%  9 Representatives 

Head Start Full Day 50%  13 Representatives 

Early Head Start 17 % 5 Representatives 

Home Based Option 4% 1 Representative 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: 11 

Deleted: 19 

Deleted: 8 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

5 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

This information will be included in the Policy Council Bylaws approved annually by the Board of 
Supervisors and the Policy Council. The term for members is one year, October to September. Parent 
representatives will be (re)elected annually by each center’s parent committee. Community 
representatives will be selected annually. The maximum number of one-year terms an individual can 
service is three. No grantee or delegate agency staff (or members of their immediate family) may serve 
on the Policy Council or on the Delegate Agency’s Policy Committee, except parents who occasionally 
(no more than 10 hours/month) substitute for regular Early Head Start or Head Start staff. 
Immediate family is defined as any parent, child, sibling, grandparent, significant other, co-parent or 
spouse of Community Services Bureau staff. At least 51% of the Policy Council members must be parents 
of currently enrolled children. 
 
3. Procedures for Electing Parent Representatives to the Policy Council 
 
The parent committees at each site will elect parent representatives as early as possible in the program 
year.  This is done by voting at the parent meeting. Parent representatives must be parents of currently 
enrolled children in the program. 
 
4. Procedures for Electing Community Representatives to the Policy Council 
 
Community representatives are drawn from the local community. They represent past parents and local 
community agencies. All Community Representatives must be elected by the Policy Council. 
Membership for Individual Community Representatives is also limited to 3 one-year terms 
(1304.50(b)(5). 

 Past Parent Community Representatives 
The past parent representatives must submit a letter to the Policy Council requesting 
consideration to be a community representative. Letters are read during a business meeting, 
and the Policy Council must vote to approve the parent’s request. If the Policy Council receives 
more requests than vacancies, all letters are read for consideration, and the Policy Council 
votes, and the majority decision rules. 

 Community Agency Representatives 
The Policy Council determines which community agencies they would like to invite to participate 
on the Council. Agencies are drawn from the local community and are familiar with resources 
and services for low-income children and families. CSB staff to Policy Council assists by 
contacting agencies to seek interest in joining and requesting the name of an agency 
representative to be elected onto the Policy Council as early in the program year as possible. 
Agency representatives are presented and considered for approval by the Policy Council.   

 
5. Parent Committee 
 
The Parent Committee must carry out at least the following minimum responsibilities: 
Advise center staff in developing and implementing local program policies, activities, and services. 
Plan, conduct, and participate in informal, as well as formal, programs and activities for children, parents 
and staff. 
 
6. Policy Council Responsibilities 

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: September 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.25", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.25", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

6 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The Policy Council has policy-making authority and is governed by its By-Laws.  Each year, through 
ongoing trainings, the Policy Council and Board of Supervisors are trained on Governance and Head Start 
Performance Standards, and oriented to CSB program services. CSB staff provides a comprehensive 
orientation to CSB and Policy Council roles and responsibilities each year. A make-up orientation is also 
provided for members joining later in the program year. A joint training with the Board of Supervisors is 
also scheduled annually. 
 
7. Appendix A: Governance and Management Responsibilities 
 
The following chart outlines the shared responsibilities between the Board of Supervisors, Policy 
Council, Head Start Director and EHSD Director.  

 
 
 
FUNCTION 

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F 
SU

P
ER

-V
IS

O
R

S 

P
O

LI
C

Y 
C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

H
S*

 P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 

D
IR

EC
TO

R
 

A
G

EN
C

Y 

D
IR

EC
TO

R
 

I PLANNING 1304.50(d)(1)(iii)     

(a) 1304.50(d)(1)(iii)  
 
 

A & C C B C 
 Procedures for program planning in 

accordance with this Part and the 
requirements of 45 CFR 1305.3 (this 
regulation is binding on Policy 
Councils exclusively). 

    

(b) 1304.50(d)(1)(iv)  A & C C B C 
The program's philosophy and long - 
and short - range program goals and 
objectives (see 45 CFR 1304.51(a) 
and 45 CFR 1305.3 for additional 
requirements regarding program 
planning). 

    

(c) 1304.50(d)(1)(v)  A & C C B C 
The selection of delegate agencies 
and their service areas (this 
regulation is binding on Policy 
Councils exclusively) (see 45 CFR 
1301.33 and 45 CFR 1305.3(a) for 
additional requirements about 
delegate agency and service area 
selection, respectively). 

    

(d) 1304.50(d)(1)(vii)  A  C B (Review 
Only) 

Criteria for defining recruitment, 
selection, and enrollment priorities in 
accordance with the requirements of 
45 CFR Part 1305. 

    



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

7 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

(e) 1304.50(d)(1)(i)  
 

A & C C B C 
All funding applications and 
amendments to funding applications 
for Early Head Start and Head Start, 
including administrative services, 
prior to the submission of such 
applications to the grantee (in the 
case of Policy Councils). 

    

(f) 1304.50(f)  A C B (Review 
Only) 

Policy Council, Policy Committee, and 
Parent Committee reimbursement.  
Grantee and delegate agencies must 
enable low income members to 
participate fully in their group 
responsibilities by providing, if 
necessary, reimbursements for 
reasonable expenses incurred by the 
members. 

    

(g) 1304.50(d)(1)(viii)  A C B C 
The annual self-assessment of the 
grantee or delegate agency's 
progress in carrying out the 
programmatic and fiscal intent of its 
grant application, including planning 
or other actions that may result from 
the review of the annual audit and 
findings from the federal monitoring 
review (see 45 CFR 1304.51(i)(1) for 
additional requirements about the 
annual self-assessment). 

    

 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

8 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

FUNCTION

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F
 

S
U

P
E

R
-

V
IS

O
R

S

P
O

L
IC

Y
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

H
S

* 

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R

A
G

E
N

C
Y

 

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R

II GENERAL PROCEDURES 1304.50 (d)(1)(vi)

(a) 1304.50(d)(1)(vi) A & C C B C

The composition of the Policy Council or the Policy Committee and 

the procedures by which policy group members are chosen.

(b) 1304.50(g)(1) A & C C N/A C

Grantee and delegate agencies must have written policies that define 

roles and responsibilites of the governing body members and that 

inform them of the mananagement procedures and functions 

necessary to implement a high quality program.

(c) 1304.50(d)(1)(ii) A & C C B C
Procedures describing how the governing body and the appropriate 

policy group will implement shared decision-making.

(d) 1304.50(h) A & C C B C

Internal dispute resolution.  Each grantee and delegate agency and 

Policy Council or Policy Committee jointly must establish written 

procedures for resolving internal disputes, including impasse 

procedures, between the governing body and policy group.

(e) 1304.50(d)(2)(v) B B B B

Establish and maintain procedures for hearing and working with the 

grantee or delegate agency to resolve community complaints about 

the program.

(f) 1304.50(g)(2) A N/A B B
Grantee and delegate agencies must ensure that appropriate internal 

controls are established and implemented to safeguard federal funds 

in accordance with 45 CFR 1301.13.

(g) 1304.50(d)(1)(ix) A & C N/A B B

The annual independent audit that must be conducted in accordance 

with 45 CFR 1301.12.
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

9 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

FUNCTION

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F
 

S
U

P
E

R
-

V
IS

O
R

S

P
O

L
IC

Y
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

H
S

* 

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R

A
G

E
N

C
Y

 

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R

III HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT 1304.50(d)(1)(x)

(a) 1304.50(d)(1)(x) A & C C B B

Program personnel policies and subsequent changes to those 

policies, in accordance with 45 CFR 1301.31, including standards 

of conduct for program staff, consultants, and volunteers.

(b) 1304.50(d)(1)(xi) A & C C N/A B

Decisions to hire or terminate the Early Head Start or Head Start 

Director of the grantee agency.

(c) 1304.50(d)(1)(xii) C C B C

Decisions to hire or terminate any person who works primarily for 

the Early Head Start or Head Start program of the grantee agency.

(Grantee Only)

(d) 1304.50(d)(1)(xi) N/A N/A N/A B

Decisions to hire or terminate the Early Head Start or Head Start 

Director of the delegate agency.

(e) 1304.50(d)(1)(xii) N/A N/A B C

Decisions to hire or terminate any person who works primarily for 

the Early Head Start or Head Start program of the delegate 

agency.

(Delegate Only)

D.  Determined locally.  Management staff functions as determined by the local governing body and in accordance with all Head Start 

regulations.

C.  Must Approve or Disapprove.  The group must be involved in the decision-making process prior to the point of seeking approval.  If it does 

not approve, a proposal cannot be adopted, or the proposed action taken, until agreement is reached between the disagreeing groups.

KEY AND DEFINITIONS AS USED IN CHART

* When a grantee or delegate agency operates an Early Head Start program only and not an Early Head Start and a Head Start program, 

these responsilbilites apply to the Early Head Start Director.

A.  General Responsibility.  The group with legal and fiscal responsibility that guides and oversees the carrying out of the functions described 

through the individual or group given operating responsibility.

B.  Operating responsibility.  The individual or group that is directly responsible for carrying out or performing the functions consistent with the 

general guidance and oversight from the group holding general responsibility.

 
Procedures, Plans, & Applications 
Requiring Board & Policy Council Approvals (rev. 5/19/09) 
(Existing Appendix A requirements PLUS the added ones from the 2007 HS legislation)** 

Procedure/Plan/Application 
 

Approval Required Frequency of 
Approval 

 Board of 
Directors 

Policy Council  

Planning Procedure (Road Map)            X X Annually 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

10 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Goals and Objectives  X X Annually 
 

Child Recruitment/Selection 
Procedures 

X 
(added) 

X Annually 
 

Budget and Grant Application  X X Annually - and as 
needed for 
supplements 

Self Assessment and Plan for 
Corrections  

X 
(added) 

X Annually 

Board Composition Requirements for 
non-governmental agencies 

X 
(added) 

            ____ 
 
 

One-time  
(until changed) 

Board and PC Conflict of Interest 
requirements 

X 
(added) 

X 
(added) 

One-time  
(until changed) 

Board approval of PC Composition 
Procedure for how PC members are 
selected 

X 
X 
(added) 

___ 
X 
(added) 

One-Time  
(until changed) 

Policy defining roles/ responsibilities 
of governing board members for 
implementing a high quality program  

X  One-Time  
(until changed) 

Procedures describing how shared 
governance is implemented  

X X One-Time  
(until changed) 

Dispute Resolution & Impasse 
Procedure (OHS will issue procedure) 

X X One-Time  
(until changed) 

Procedures to resolve community 
complaints, conduct investigations. 

X 
Previously 
“operating” 
role 

 
Previously 
 “operating” 
role 

One-Time 
 (until changed) 

Personnel Policies & Procedures 
(Revisions to originally approved) 

X X As Needed 
 

Service Area Plans   X Annually 
 

Financial Management Accounting & 
Reporting Policies including audit 

X 
(added) 

____ One-Time  
(until changed) 

Board:  Hiring/Termination procedures 
for Executive, Head Start, Fiscal, and 
HR Directors 
 
Policy Council:  Hiring and firing 
criteria for program staff. 

X 
(added) 
 
 
 

_____ 
 
 
 
X 
(added) 

One-Time  
(until changed) 

 

Required Reports To Board To PC Frequency 

Budget and Program Reports 
Budget Reports 
Credit Card Expense Reports 

X 
X 
X 

X 
X 
X 

Periodic 
Monthly 
Monthly 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

11 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

USDA Meals/Snacks 
Program Information Summaries 
Enrollment Reports 

X 
X 
X 

X 
X 
X 

Monthly 
Monthly 
Monthly 

** Additional clarifications and revised regulations will be forthcoming from OHS. 
 
8. Responsibilities of Board of Supervisors, Policy Council, Employment and Human Services Executive 
Director and Community Services Bureau Director 
 
i. Background 

 The responsibilities of the Board of Supervisors, Policy Council, and Director of Program Services 
are described in the Head Start Performance Standards.  The Performance Standards describe 
certain responsibilities for the Director of the Head Start program, leaving decisions regarding 
other responsibilities to Executive Directors of the local Head Start Grantee. 

ii. Reference 

 Head Start Performance Standards, 45 CFR 1304.50(g)(i) 

 Policy 
The Employment and Human Services (EHSD) Director and the Community Services Bureau Director 
shall ensure that the Policy Council and the Board of Supervisors are routinely and frequently 
informed of, and trained on, management procedures and functions, as well as the Federal laws and 
regulatory compliance issues required to ensure a quality program.  Mutual communication and 
understanding between the governing board, the policy council and program management are 
fundamental prerequisites for a healthy Head Start Program.  The EHSD Director and the Community 
Services Bureau Director will also ensure that the Board of Supervisors has an understanding and 
appreciation of the Head Start Philosophy and the role of parents and Policy Council in shared 
governance.  Careful and complete communication and planning will ensure effective oversight and 
appropriate actions and interventions that will foster the mutual understanding and actions of all 
entities responsible to maintain a quality Head Start Program. 

 
iii. Procedures 

 The Employment and Human Services Department (EHSD) Director will meet monthly with the 
County Administrator’s Office. 

 Topics for the monthly meetings will include, but not be confined to: 
o Fiscal/budget issues 
o Personnel matters 
o Facility issues 
o Policies and Procedures 
o Program planning 
o Annual Self Assessment 
o Annual independent audit 
o Grant development and submission 
o Correspondence with ACF 
o Program issues 
o Enrollment and Average Daily Attendance 
o Regulatory changes 
o Parent Involvement  
o Planning for joint Board of Supervisors/ Policy Council training activities 

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

12 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 A meeting report will be generated by the Employment and Human Services Director and the 
Community Services Bureau Director. 

 The report of the meeting will be sent monthly to the Health and Human Services Committee of 
the Board of Supervisors, agendized by the Board of Supervisors and the Policy Council. 

 The Employment and Human Services Director and Community Services Bureau Director will 
jointly meet throughout the program year, individually, with each member of the BOS to review 
reports, give updates and advice, and train on new regulations and initiatives. 

 
9. Role of Policy Council in the Annual Grant Development Process 
 
Throughout the year, the Policy Council is involved in the grant process through a variety of ways: 

 The Program Services/Ongoing Monitoring subcommittee meets throughout the year to review 
and update the annual program goals and objectives and the annual parent services budget and 
activities. 

 The Fiscal subcommittee meets monthly to develop, adjust and approve the program budget for 
the coming year’s grant and tracks it throughout the year. 

 The Policy Council approves the annual program goals and objectives. 

 The Policy Council reviews and approves the Community Assessment annual updates and the 
full assessment every three years. 

 The Policy Council also reviews and approves the Annual Planning Calendar, Child Recruitment 
and Selection Criteria, the Self Assessment and Plan for Corrective Actions, all of which are 
included in the submission of the Annual Grant Application. 

 
Once these components of the grant are reviewed and approved, the Policy Council approves the full 
grant in the fall before submission to ACF. 
 
10. Resolution of Disputes between the Board of Supervisors and the Policy Council (Impasse Policy) 
 
i. Background 

 The Performance Standards require that Head Start grantees establish a policy and necessary 
implementation procedures for the resolution of internal disputes between the Board of 
Supervisors and the Policy Council. 

 
ii. Reference 

 Head Start Performance Standards, 45 CFR 1304.50(h) 
 
iii. Policy 

 It is the policy of Contra Costa County to resolve any disagreements between the Board of 
Supervisors and the Head Start Policy Council fairly and expeditiously.  Whenever possible, 
disagreements will be resolved through processes of mediation and conciliation, including 
discussion, compromise, and consensus-seeking between parties, and, if necessary, professional 
mediation. 

 
iv. Administrative Procedure 

 Informal Resolution 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

13 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The Chairpersons of the Board of Supervisors and the Policy Council will monitor actions and 
decisions of each body as they relate to their respective responsibilities.  In the event that a conflict 
exists, they will initiate informal discussions between representatives of the two bodies and seek a 
mutually acceptable resolution.  

 Mediation 
If informal resolution is not effective, the Chairpersons of the Board of Supervisors and the Policy 
Council shall request that the Community Services Bureau Director identify qualified individuals who 
provide professional mediation services.  The Chairpersons will confer and mutually designate a 
professional mediator who will be retained to mediate the disagreement.  The mediator will use 
conciliation, compromise and consensus-seeking between the two bodies.  The mediation process 
shall be non-binding. 

 
11. Resolution of Community Complaints 
 
i. “Community complaint” is defined as any complaint from anyone other than staff. 
 
ii. The Policy Council is generally responsible for (and has the legal and fiscal responsibility for 
guiding/directing/carrying-out the establishment of) a method of hearing and resolving community 
complaints about the Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau.   
 
iii. Process for Solving Disputes/Complaints 

 Any parent (enrolled or applying for services) or community member may report a complaint to 
a program staff member of any of our program/sites, i.e. Site Supervisor, Teacher, Associate 
Teacher, or Comprehensive Services, Analyst, or clerical staff. If the complaint comes in by 
phone, the staff member documents that complaint. Complaints may come from sources other 
than the site, i.e. Board of Supervisors. Anyone receiving a complaint will immediately contact a 
program manager by phone with the following information: 

o Step 1:  Document the complaint in writing to include the following information: 
Contact information of the complainant:  Name, Address, Phone Number, email (if 
appropriate); 
Information Shared:  When was the occurrence, Who was involved, What happened, 
Where did it occur, What was the impact. 
Other information that the complainant wishes to share. 
If the complaint comes in by phone:  program staff document call, note time, date & 
staff member name 

o Step 2:  Complaint goes first to Site Supervisor who must discuss the details with their 
Assistant Director within 24 hours of the report.  The Assistant Director works with the 
program staff to attempt resolution within 48 hours.   

o Step 3:  Complaints not resolved within 48 hours will be brought to the attention of the 
Division Manager, Bureau Director, or their designee. 

o Step 4:  If the complaint is then resolved, the Bureau Director will send a memo to all 
involved, stating remedial actions to be taken by staff and the time line for these 
actions.  

o Step 5:  If satisfactory resolution is still not achieved, the Bureau Director will request 
the EHSD Director to review all documentation. When the complaint is then resolved, 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25"

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

14 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

the EHSD Director will send a memo to all involved, stating remedial actions to be taken 
by staff and the time line for these actions. 

  Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

15 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

II. Planning 
A. Philosophy 
The Community Services Bureau Philosophy of Program Management is as follows: 
To establish a culturally competent, systematic and innovative process of program planning that 
demonstrates forward mobility and strategic thinking, in an effort to meet the changing needs of the 
children and families within the community.  
 
In efforts to fulfill our philosophy, administrative staff  including fiscal, personnel, information 
technology and administration, is committed and dedicated to carry out the following program goals:  

(1) Poor health and nutrition are significantly correlated to children and families living in poverty.  
CSB will address the need to improve indicators of nutritional health through increased 
education and physical activity. 

(2) Disabilities and mental health needs continue to trend upwards.  CSB will expand mental health 
and disabilities assessment, treatment, and case management linkage opportunities for children 
and families. 

(3) Exposure to violence has a lasting impact on children’s development including their emotional, 
mental and physical health. CSB will promote positive and enduring adult-child relationships 
that increase a child’s level of secure attachments by providing services to promote the safety 
and well-being of children and families. 

(4) CSB will provide ongoing learning opportunities to enhance employees’ career development and 
assist in meeting new job requirements. 

 
CSB implements a systematic, ongoing process of program planning that includes consultation with the 
programs’ governing body, policy groups, program staff, and with other local community organizations 
that serve enrolled families. CSB planning includes: community assessment, multi-year (long-range) 
program goals and short-term objectives, systems planning calendar, and written plans for 
implementing services in each of the program areas. 
 
B. Methodology 
1. Community Assessment 

 The Community Assessment is conducted once every three years with annual updates during 
the onset of each program year. The community assessment helps keep CSB abreast of 
substantive issues facing the community which informs all systems and services of the bureau. 
Strengths, resources, needs and trends in the CSB service area are identified and integrated into 
the planning process and into the development and implementation of policies, procedures, 
service plans, goals and objectives. The findings of the Community Assessment are used to help 
reach decisions in areas such as: to help determine CSB program philosophy, long-range and 
short-range program objectives, help determine the type of services and program options to be 
provided, help determine the recruitment areas of the program, help identify locations of 
centers and home-based programs, and help set the criteria for recruitment and selection. 

 The Community Assessment process is led by a CSB Analyst. The data that is collected externally 
and internally consists of, but is not limited to demographic make-up of eligible children and 
families, other child development and child care programs serving eligible children including 
infant/toddler, and pregnancy programs, services for children with disabilities, education, 
health, nutrition and social services needs for eligible children and families and community 
resources that could address the needs of eligible children and families.  

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: Administrative 

Deleted: , 

Deleted: (1) Address the need for improved 
school readiness by enhancing program 
training and curriculum components; ¶
(2) Work collaboratively with community based 
organizations and other stakeholders to 
address the root causes of poverty by 
increasing the access of low income Contra 
Costa County residents to programs and 
services providing job training and employment 
supports; ¶
(3) To educate, role model, and establish 
healthy habits in the areas of oral health, 
nutrition and mental health in an effort to 
prevent dental decay, obesity, and community 
violence and to achieve health equity for 
families, staff and the greater community; and ¶
(4) Sustain our current Continuing Education 
Programs that ensures 50% Head Start 
teachers’ attainment of an associate degree by 
October 1, 2011 and 50% attainment of a 
baccalaureate or advance degree by 
September 30, 2013, as well as support 
additional initiatives that promote distance 
learning opportunities and increase that 
accessibility to higher education. To better 
support children and families, staff will 
adequately assess needs, plan and implement 
both short and long-term goals and objectives, 
conduct ongoing evaluation of program goals, ...

Deleted: ¶
¶

Deleted: Community 

Deleted: Assessment

Deleted: Systems 

Deleted: Planning 

Deleted: Calendar

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: . 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: is updated annually by the Systems 
Team.  The team leader is an Analyst, and ...



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

16 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 

 The Community Assessment helps to identify strengths, disparities, needs and trends in the 
community which guides management, Policy Council, and the County Board of Supervisors in 
the planning process for eligibility, recruitment, selection criteria, site and classroom placement, 
as well as general program management, including curriculum and family support services.  The 
Community Assessment also guides the program goals and objectives.   

2. Self-Assessment 

 Once each program year, CSB conducts a joint Grantee and Delegate Agency self-assessment of 
the effectiveness and progress of our programs in meeting program goals and objectives and in 
implementing federal regulations.  Self-assessment tools include resources from the OHS 
Monitoring Protocol, and CLASS assessment.  The modes of assessment in the protocols include: 
Observation, Interview, and Records Review. 

 A training and overview of the self-assessment process is given prior to the designated week the 
self-assessment is conducted.  The role of the Bureau Director and Delegate Director and/or 
their designees in the self-assessment process are as “advisor” to the team. The analyst 
responsible for the self-assessment is the Team Leader and may be supported by a consultant.  
Teams are comprised of grantee and delegate agency management and non-management staff, 
parents, community partners, and representatives of the Board of Supervisors. Teams are 
formed in November of each year. 

 The self-assessment process concludes with the team leader and/or his designee(s) writing a 
cumulative and comprehensive report that addresses program strengths as well as potential 
non-compliances.  If needed, a corrective action plan is developed to remediate areas of non-
compliance. The final report of the self-assessment, including the certifications of corrective 
actions, is presented to the Policy Council, Local Policy Committee, Delegate Board, and Board of 
Supervisors for approval in March of each year. As soon as these approvals are secured, the final 
report is then forwarded to the ACF Program Specialist. 

 The results of the self-assessment are used in the planning process, in developing and improving 
program services, and in formulating the program approach included in grant applications. 

 
3. Strategic Plan 

 With the support of the Employment and Human Services Director, CSB adopts the Program 
Goals and Objectives as the bureau’s five year Strategic Plan.  The plan addresses needs and 
concerns that are identified through the community assessment, self-assessment, and ongoing 
monitoring results.  They are also developed with input provided from parents through the 
Policy Council’s Program Services Subcommittee.  The strategic plan is reviewed and updated 
semi-annually by the Senior Management Team.  Annual updates are presented to the Policy 
Council and Board of Supervisors. 

 
4. Bureau Systems Planning Calendar 

 The purpose of the CSB Planning Calendar is to provide chronological guidance and a timeline 
for critical events such as: reviews, audits, reports, etc. that occurs within the year.   

 The planning calendar ensures continuity within the programs as well as throughout the bureau.  
Included in the planning calendar are methods to ensure consultation and collaboration with 
the program’s governing body, policy groups and program staff. The planning calendar is 
updated and submitted for approval annually by the Policy Council and the Board of Supervisors. 

 

Deleted: Self

Deleted: Assessment 

Deleted: three

Deleted: quarterly 

Deleted: Systems 

Deleted: ed



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

17 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

5. Management Planning Meetings 

 Planning is conducted on an on-going basis at varying levels throughout the bureau during 
planning meetings, staff summits, and management retreats. Additional information regarding 
management planning meetings is found under Section III-Communications. 

  

Deleted: bi-weekly 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

18 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

III. Communications 
A. General Description 
All staff is expected to communicate within the department and externally using the following 
communication tools: 

 Common, not technical terms 

 A professional tone 

 Assurance that the approach is based on each family’s cultural/linguistic preferences 

 Adherence to the principles of Facilitative Leadership 

 Encouragement of a team approach 

 Ensure that translation services are available when needed 
 
B. Internal Communication 
Employees must follow County policy with regards to courtesy and confidentiality.  High staff morale is 
dependent on friendly greetings, active listening and a display of a helpful attitude toward team 
members. The following are methods of internal communication with program staff: 

 Staff summits 

 Regularly scheduled staff meetings at varying levels, such as: 

 Senior Administrative Management 

 Senior Management 

 Comprehensive Services 

 Cluster-based 

 Site-level 

 Daily Interactions 

 Staff newsletters 

 Internal memos 

 Policies and Procedures 

 Fax 

 Email 

 Payroll notices 

 Telephone 

 Bureau Reports 

 Computerized Tracking Systems (COPA)/CLOUDS 

 Video Conferencing System 

 Annual Planning Calendar 
 
C. The following are methods of internal communication with parents: 

 Monthly Policy Council meetings – program planning, policy and financial information is shared 

 Monthly Policy Council sub-committee meetings 

 Monthly Policy Council executive board meetings 

 Monthly parent meetings 

 Parent surveys 

 Parent-teacher conferences 

 Home visits 

 Monthly Comprehensive Services Team newsletters 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

19 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Quarterly family newsletters 

 Parent bulletin board that includes: 
o Upcoming activities; posted memos; health and safety information logs; site emergency 

procedures; parents’ and child’s rights; and Policy Council minutes and agendas 

 Daily classroom schedules 

 Weekly lesson plans 

 Parent policies and procedures 

 Dissemination of pertinent information regarding program planning, communications from 
Office of Head Start, financial reports and grant applications. 

 Planned site activities  

 Planned community events 

 Social Media Tools 

 Communication with Delegate Agency and Community Childcare Partners: 

 Regularly scheduled meetings 

 Regular monitoring 

 Joint trainings 

 Appointed members from the delegates on the Policy Council 

 Joint annual self-assessments 

 Email 

 Telephone 

 Fax 

 Monthly reports 
 
D. Communications with Governing Bodies and Policy Groups 
1. The Policy Council serves as a link between public and private organizations, Delegate Agency Policy 
Committee(s), Subcontractors, the Grantee-Operated Program Site Committees, the Grantee, County 
Board of Supervisors and the community it serves. 
Mutual communication and understanding between the governing board and program management are 
fundamental for a high quality Head Start Program.  
 
2. Monthly meetings with the County Administrator’s Office: The Employment and Human Services 
Department (EHSD) Director and the CSB Director also ensure that the Board of Supervisors has an 
understanding and appreciation of the Head Start philosophy and the role of parents and Policy Council 
in shared governance.  
 
Monthly meetings are held with the County Administrator’s Office to discuss various areas of the 
program. A meeting report is generated by the EHSD Director and the CSB Director. The meeting’s 
report is sent monthly to the Health and Human Services Committee of the Board of Supervisors. In 
addition, the CSB Director and other assigned staff, meet throughout the program year, individually, 
with each member of the BOS to review reports, tour centers, give updates and advice, and train on new 
regulations and initiatives. 
 
E. External Communication 
1. Communication with Partnerships 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

20 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

CSB has several types of Community Partnerships and all of them provide valuable services to our 
children and parents.  Our reputation in the community is often dependent upon the respect and 
assistance provided our partners when in contact with them.  Every employee is responsible for 
delivering clear and helpful information to the public at large and to our partners in particular. External 
Partners include: 

 State/Local Policy Groups 

 State Department of Education 

 Local Planning Council 

 First Five Commissions 

 County Departments 

 Community-based Organizations 

 Contra Costa County SELPAs 

 Child Care Partners 

 Policy Forum 

 County Board of Supervisors 

 Local Education Agencies 

 Contra Costa County School Superintendents 

 Contra Costa One Stop Consortium 

 California Welfare Directors Association Committees 

 News / Media Inquiries 
 
2. Press Calls 
i. All press calls should come to, or be referred through, Legislative and Community Relations 
Coordinator at (925) 313-1676 or the Advanced Level Secretary at (925) 313-1769 in the Office of 
Administration for the Employment and Human Services Department.  This will guarantee that the 
Bureau Director and Senior Administrative Staff know which stories and issues are attracting press 
attention.  It will also make it easier for the reporter to be connected with the proper Department 
spokespersons who can respond fully and accurately.  It will enable the Legislative and Community 
Relations Coordinator or the Advance Level Secretary in the Office of Administration for the 
Employment and Human Services Department to follow up with reporters and Department Staff to 
ensure that deadlines are honored and follow up questions, issues and photography are well managed. 
 
The Legislative and Community Relations Coordinator or the Advanced Level Secretary in the Office of 
Administration for the Employment and Human Services Department will be available to prepare staff 
for interviews, review the topic of interest and discuss points that will help the interview be complete 
and accurate while getting the Department’s message across to the public. 
 
On occasion, members of the press will take a shortcut into the Department and contact staff directly.  If 
the staff member has been authorized by their Bureau Director to respond to the press, they are free to 
respond to the reporter.  They should then contact the Legislative and Community Relations Coordinator 
at (925) 313-1676 or the Advanced Level Secretary at (925) 313-1769 in the Office of Administration for 
the Employment and Human Services Department to discuss the story and allow for the Legislative and 
Community Relations Coordinator or the Advanced Level Secretary in the Office of Administration for 
the Employment and Human Services Department or designee to follow up. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

21 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

ii. If the staff person has not been authorized by their Bureau Director to respond to the press, they are 
required to adhere to the following: 

 Do not respond directly to print, vocal, and/or visual media representatives; 

 Politely refer all contacts to the Legislative and Community Relations Coordinator at (925) 313-
1676 or the Advanced Level Secretary at (925) 313-1769 in the Office of Administration for the 
Employment and Human Services Department; 

 Inform your manager/supervisor immediately; 

 Provide the following information: date, time, and location of contact; 

 Media representative's name, organization, and phone number and 

 Summary and nature of the inquiry 
 
There are many differing aspects and/or components related to the successful operation of our 
program.  It is unfair for individual staff members to be placed in and/or to place themselves in a 
position of stating, explaining, and/or formulating policy for the department.  An innocent comment 
intended to project a positive view can be reproduced with a negative spin or violate the right to privacy 
of our clients.  Proposed dialogue: 

 "I would like to respond to your questions.  My concerns rest with preserving and protecting the 
privacy of our children and their families.  Please give me your name, organization, and phone 
number so that I can properly refer your request.”  

 Staff with story ideas or events to promote are asked not to contact the press directly, but to 
call the Legislative and Community Relations Coordinator at (925) 313-1676 or the Advanced 
Level Secretary at (925) 313-1769 in the Office of Administration for the Employment and 
Human Services Department, so these stories can be channeled to the press most likely to 
publish them. 

 
4. Tools for External Communication are as follows: 

 Formal/informal agreements 

 Regular meetings 

 E-mail 

 Telephone 

 Membership activities 

 Social Media Tools (Facebook/Twitter and etc.) 
 
F. Reporting for County Child Protective Services and State Community Care Licensing 
The purpose of these policies and procedures are to provide all department employees with instructions 
on what specific steps they must take to properly handle any incident involving an abused and/or 
neglected child, the injury of a child, or a potential child’s rights violation.  It is important to note that 
while all employees are charged with the responsibility of reporting incidents involving an abused 
and/or neglected child, only the EHSD Director or Bureau Director or designee is charged with the 
responsibility of reporting potential child’s rights violations to State Community Care Licensing. 
 
In addition, this policy is intended to make clear the procedure for reporting incidents that may occur 
both off site and on site. 
 
1. Definitions 

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

22 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 CCL (State): The acronym for State Community Care Licensing, which is a Division of the State of 
California Social Services Department, and which is responsible for the licensing of the 
Department’s Child Care facilities. 

 EHSD Director: The Director of the Employment and Human Services Department 

 Bureau Director: The Director of the Community Services Bureau. 

 CFS (County): The acronym for Children and Family Services, formerly Child Protective 
Services, which is a Division of the County’s Employment and Human Services Department and is 
mandated by the Federal and State government to assess and investigate all referrals which 
allege that a child is endangered by abuse, neglect, or exploitation. 

 Major Injury: Any incident involving a child that requires the intervention of any medical 
professional (examples of medical professional include: medical advice nurse, hospital, clinic, 
doctor, ambulance service, emergency room). 

 Minor Injury: Any incident involving a child that does not require the intervention of any medical 
professional as noted above. 

 Child’s rights violations: Any incident that occurs at a Community Services Bureau facility and 
involves an employee, contractor, or volunteer of the Department that might violate either the 
Head Start Code of Conduct or the rights of a child in accordance with State Child Care Licensing 
Regulations. 

 
All employees, at all levels, are expected to follow the policies and procedures so that accurate and 
timely reporting can be assured to both the County CPS and the State CCL. 
 
2. Children and Family Services (CFS) (Protective Services, County) 
 
Any employee or contractor who knows or suspects that a child has been abused and/or neglected off 
site should immediately discuss his/her concerns with a Site Supervisor or Assistant Director. 
 
If the discussion leads to the reasonable suspicion that a child has been abused and/or neglected off 
site, the employee or contractor should report his/her concerns immediately to CFS. 
 
The employee or contractor making the report will provide a copy of the above referenced report to 
their Site Supervisor and Assistant Director. 
 
3. Child Injuries 
 
i. Minor Injuries: (any incident not involving any medical professional) immediately report the injury to 
your Supervisor and the parent after you have tended to the child. 
Employees do not report minor injuries to CCL. 
 
If a parent of a child who has sustained a minor injury reports back to the center that they subsequently 
took the child to be seen by any medical professional, the injury needs to be reported as a major injury. 
All head injuries regardless of staff determination that it is minor or major shall be reported to the 
Supervisor immediately who shall contact the parent immediately to pick up the child. “Head Injuries” 
are defined as injuries to the skull or cranium, and do not include the mid and lower facial areas. Staff 
shall complete a written injury report for the parent prior to pick-up time and at pick-up time talk with 

Deleted:  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

23 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

the parent to explain the injury, action taken by staff, and provide a copy of the written report. 
Supervisor shall make a complete entry in the Supervisor’s Injury Log for all injuries, minor and major. 
 
ii. Major Injuries:  Report the incident immediately to a Site Supervisor, the Assistant Director, and the 
parent. Depending on the severity of the injury, all staff present shall: 

 Comfort the child. 

 Phone 911 immediately. 

 Report the injury to the Assistant Director, Bureau Director and/or Executive Director. 

 The Site Supervisor or designee will make an Unusual Incident Report to Licensing in accordance 
with the Unusual Incident Reporting policy and procedure. 

 The Bureau Director may assign staff to investigate. 

 The Department’s Licensing Liaison may prepare a written report. 

 Staff shall complete a written injury report (form CSB-208) for the parent immediately and 
provide a copy of the written report to the parent. 

 Supervisor shall make a complete entry in the Supervisor’s Injury Log for all injuries, minor and 
major. 

 
iii. Potential Child’s Rights Violations 

 Any incident that occurs on site at a facility and involves employee(s), contractor(s), or 
volunteer(s) of the Community Services Bureau that might violate the rights of a child in 
accordance with Child Care Licensing Regulations or the Community Services Code of Conduct 
must be immediately reported to the CSB Administration in Martinez using the following 
protocol: 

o Any potential and/or unusual incident must be reported by CSB employees to the 
Center’s Site Supervisor or the designated person-in-charge no later than 15 minutes 
after being made aware that an alleged incident has or may have taken place. 

o The reporter shall be any employee, contractor or volunteer who has witnessed or 
heard about an alleged incident, or any employee, contractor or volunteer who was 
involved in an alleged incident. 

o The Site Supervisor or person-in-charge must phone-in the alleged incident to the 
Assistant Director and, as directed by the AD, one or together the AD and Site 
Supervisor will call CSB Administration Office at (925) 313-1777 no later than one hour 
after being made aware of the alleged incident. 

o Caller shall make it clear to the clerk answering the phone at CSB Administration Office 
that you are reporting a possible licensing incident that must be handled by the 
appropriate staff immediately. 

o When the Unusual Incident Report is phoned into the CSB Administrative Office, the 
front desk clerk who receives the phone call shall immediately and personally notify the 
Division Manager. If the Division Manager is not in, the notification succession shall be 
to the Bureau Director. 

o The Site Supervisor or person-in-charge will then complete, obtain AD approval of 
report, and fax CSB Unusual Incident Report to CSB Administrative Office within two 
hours of the alleged incident. The completed form shall be faxed to (925) 313-1772 to 
the attention of the Division Manager immediately followed up with a telephone call to 
CSB Administrative Office at (925) 313-1724 to verify that a copy of this report has been 
received. 

Deleted: injuries

Deleted: Bureau Director 

Deleted: report the matter 

Deleted: It is a requirement of CCL that 
the County must report all incidents to their 
office within 24 hours of the County learning 
that an incident may have occurred

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: After notifying the Division 
Manager (or Bureau Director if Division 
Manager is unavailable) the Site Supervisor 
reports these matters on behalf of the 
County to CCL

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: In accordance with CCL protocol, 
the Site Supervisor remains the official 
contact with the CCL during any on-site CCL 
review/investigation process

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: The Assistant Director must be 
notified by the Site Supervisor any time a 
representative from CCL conducts an on-site 
visit for any reason

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: Any potential and/or unusual 
incident must be reported by CSB 
employees to the Center’s Site Supervisor or 
the designated person-in-charge no later 
than 15 minutes after being made aware 
that an alleged incident has or may have 
taken place

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: reporter shall be any employee, 
contractor or volunteer who has witnessed 
or heard about an alleged incident, or any 
employee, contractor or volunteer who was 
involved in an alleged incident

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

24 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

o Site Supervisor shall compile and send upon request all written documentation related 
to the incident to the Assistant Director, Division Manager and Personnel Services 
Assistant III. Documentation may include but is not limited to CSB incident Report, small 
group conference forms, notes on discussions with parents or other employees, and 
observation notes. Materials shall be complete, legible, objective, and fact-based. 
 

 It is a requirement of CCL that unusual incidents must be reported to CCL by a telephone call 
within 24 hours of the County learning that an incident may have occurred. 

o In accordance with CCL protocol, the Site Supervisor remains the official contact with 
the CCL during any on-site CCL review/investigation process. 

o The Assistant Director must be notified by the Site Supervisor any time a representative 
from CCL conducts an on-site visit for any reason. 

 Any employee who fails to report an alleged incident as outlined above will be subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 

 Any Site Supervisor or person-in-charge who fails to follow the protocol instructions as outlined 
above will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 

 
iv. CSB Administration Responsibilities 

 When the Unusual Incident Report is received by CSB Administrative Office, the front desk clerk 
will personally deliver copies of the faxed report to the Personnel Administrator, Division 
Manager, and Bureau Director, and EHSD Director for review. When the review process is 
completed and approved copy of the Unusual Incident Report will be faxed to the appropriate 
Assistant Director to sign and either fax/scan to CCL or authorize the Site Supervisor or designee 
to fax/scan to CCL. 

 A fact finding team will be immediately convened and directed to visit the center to gather 
information and determine if a child’s rights have been violated and report these facts back to 
the Bureau Director. 

 After reviewing the facts, if the Bureau Director determines that a true incident has not 
occurred, the case will be documented as such and closed. 

 After reviewing the facts, if the Bureau Director determines that an incident may have occurred, 
the EHSD Director, Bureau Director or designee will make the mandatory telephone call to State 
Licensing. 

 Only the EHSD Director or designee has the authority and responsibility on behalf of the County 
to report these matters to Licensing. 

 Upon the notification by the EHSD Director or Bureau Director that an incident may have taken 
place, an investigation team will be sent out by the next business day to investigate and prepare 
a draft investigative report and findings. 

 
CSB Administrative Office, in conjunction with the Assistant Director and Site Supervisor of the impacted 
center, will make all decisions related to protecting the rights of children on behalf of the Department 
until the investigation has been concluded. 
 
Any employee who is considered to be involved with the violation of the rights of a child in connection 
with the incident report will be directed to leave the facility for the day and then report to the 40 
Douglas Drive office in Martinez, or other designated site, for work by the next business day. 
 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  1",  No
bullets or numbering

Deleted: Any employee who fails to report an 
alleged incident as outlined above will be 
subject to disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted ...

Deleted: .

Deleted: The Site Supervisor or person-in- ...

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: Please make it clear to the clerk ...

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: When the Incident Report is phoned ...

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: A 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted:  also

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: Executive

Deleted: Executive 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: EHSD 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted:  or 

Deleted: Director 

Formatted: Not Highlight



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

25 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Failure on the part of the employee to report to, and remain at the 40 Douglas office, or other 
designated site as directed, will cause the employee to be docked for absence without leave and subject 
to further discipline, up to and including termination. 
 
The investigative team will have three business days to perform the required investigation and prepare 
a draft report for the Bureau Director and EHSD Director. 
 
The Bureau Director and EHSD Director will review the report and decide next steps, including, if 
necessary, any disciplinary or remedial action that should be implemented as a result of the report’s 
findings and conclusions. 
The investigator’s written report shall also include a “holistic analysis” of the causes associated with the 
incident, and develop specific recommendations to prevent their recurrence.   
 
Recommendations will be reviewed by the Bureau Director and EHSD Director for consistency with 
appropriate personnel policies prior to being entered into the final report. 
 
After appropriate action is taken by the Department, pertinent information regarding each incident shall 
be shared with key managers and Site Supervisors to prevent the recurrence of a similar incident at 
another site (1). 
 
For major incidents, a detailed critique by management of the incident itself shall be provided to all 
employees on a Department-wide basis to prevent the recurrence of a similar incident at another site. 
 
G. Reporting for Partner Agencies including the Delegate Agency shall: 

 Notify and provide County with copies of any licensing citations, licensing visit reports, unusual 
incident report, and/or any other citations within 48 hours of Contractor’s receipt of the report 
or citation. 

 Maintain full compliance with Community Care Licensing Regulations and State and/or Federal 
Regulations as applicable given other funding sources received by CSB. 

 Notify and provide CSB with copies of any Medical Alerts (such as infectious disease outbreaks) 
within 48 hours. 

  

                                                
1
   Any report information shared with Department employees must be pre-reviewed by CSB Administration to ensure 

that it does not violate the confidentiality of any employees or children involved in the incident. 

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

26 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

IV. Record Keeping and Reporting 
A. General Description 
Record-Keeping and Reporting Systems 
The effective and efficient reporting system used in CSB meets federal guidelines as spelled out in the 
Performance Standards Record-Keeping Instruction and the state guidelines as required by state 
contract and licensing requirements. 
 
The system provides for accurate and timely information regarding children, families and staff and 
meets the Confidentiality Policy of the bureau. 
 
Each area of program services maintains the appropriate record-keeping and reporting systems 
according to the above mentioned federal and state guidelines to include: child and family records, site 
safety records, child records, child health records, family records, and personnel records.  Systems for 
maintaining the records, specific to a program service area, are described in each section of these 
policies and procedures. 
 
A file and records system is established/maintained by the Contra Costa County Community Services 
Bureau personnel office.  In addition, copies of certain personnel records pertaining to all permanent 
staff, including Teacher Assistant Trainees job qualifications are kept at each child care center as 
required by state licensing. 
 
i. Confidential files and records system shall be maintained in a locked cabinet to include official 
documents for each staff member. 

 Procedure for File Transfers 
When staff transfers to another site, it is the responsibility of the Site Supervisor at the new site 
to assure all required personnel files are sent to the new site by communicating with the Site 
Supervisor of the site from which the employee is transferring.  

 The following procedures are in place to protect confidentiality of all sensitive material: 
If files are faxed by CSB Personnel to the employee’s new location, CSB Personnel will contact 
the site supervisor and request the site supervisor to oversee the fax machine to verify all 
confidential information is transmitted to the site supervisor only, protecting the employee’s 
HIPAA rights to privacy. 

 After the Personnel Staff receives a confirmation from the fax machine, the Personnel Staff will 
call or e-mail the Site Supervisor to ensure that all the documents sent to that site have been 
received. 

 The site supervisor at the employee’s previous location will shred all documents pertaining to 
the transferred employee, and will send email verification to CSB Personnel when shredding is 
complete. 

 Employees have the option of personally transporting their files to their new site.  The employee 
must sign for the file material, and immediately transfer the file contents to their new site 
supervisor. The site supervisor must send verification to CSB Personnel when proper filing 
procedures have been completed. 

 Under no circumstances may files be transmitted by interoffice or “pony” mail. 
 
 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: RECORD KEEPING AND REPORTING

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

27 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

B. Personnel Files 
All personnel files are stored in the Personnel Unit in a locked cabinet and in a locked office. The access 
to the personnel files is granted only to the authorized personnel. An employee’s union representative 
must have a written authorization from the employee to obtain access to his/her personnel file. When 
reviewing a personnel file, a member from the personnel staff must accompany the authorized 
personnel at all times in the closed door office. The authorized personnel must sign, date and write the 
reasons on the “Access to File” card located in front of each personnel file.  
 
C. Family Files 
The Site Supervisor, comprehensive service staff or the head teacher at each site is responsible for 
maintaining the family’s basic data file at each site.  All children’s files must be kept in a locked file 
cabinet. Access to files is permitted only by authorized personnel.  When authorized personnel must 
access a child’s file, the protocol must be adhered to.  Two types of access and removal of a file from the 
cabinet can take place. 

 The file is taken off site for audit or review 
Authorized staff must record the removal of the file off the site premises on the Shared Folder 
called “Record Keeping Log” He/she must log: “check in/out status by completing the required 
information on the site template. “ 

 The file is accessed on site 
Authorized staff needing to work on a file on site must pull the file and in its place insert the file 
check-out card indicating: date, name and signature of staff pulling file.  Upon return of the file, 
staff must sign in verifying the return of the file, and the check-out Card is removed. 

 
In both of the above situations, an Access to File form must also be completed by the authorized person 
accessing the file.  This is located on the right hand side of the first section of the child’s file.  One must 
indicate date, name, and purpose for accessing the file. 
Files are kept on site for the current enrollment year until after the annual audit is complete.  After the 
audit, files are prepared to be archived, and sent to a warehouse for storage.  Children’s files are kept 
for five years after our services to the family ends.  Files are then shredded. 
  
Effective January 1st 2014, any document or record may be maintained on electronic format if it was 
originally created in an electronic format and kept in its original unconverted electronic format. 
Documents or records created in paper form cannot be scanned and stored electronically alone. These 
records must be stored in their original paper format. Independently of being hard copy or electronic 
format, all records must be kept for at least five years. 
 
D. Fiscal Files 
Fiscal records and documents are stored and filed in designated cabinets inside the Fiscal, Purchasing 
and/or Personnel units.  Staff is required to maintain current and accurate records of financial activities. 
This includes fiscal and accounting records in order to show the costs incurred by each program.  
Records adequately identify the use of funds for Federal and State programs. Accounting records are 
supported by documentation such as purchase and travel receipts, invoices, journals, etc. and show a 
clear audit trail for all funds received and disbursed.   
 
The following documents are maintained by the designated units: 

 Accounting Policies & Procedures Manual 

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5",
First line:  0"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Superscript

Deleted: .



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

28 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Administrative Reports - Head Start & Early Head Start 

 BRASS Files 

 Budget Statement 

 CAFR 

 CDE Projections 

 CDE Contracts 

 CDFS8501 

 CDFS9500 

 CDFS9529 

 CDFS9530a 

 CDFS CalWORKS, APP or FCCH Fiscal Report 

 CDFS CalWORKS Caseload Report 

 Child Development Audit Reports 

 Child Nutrition Expenditure/Revenue Report 

 Child Start Allocations Binder 

 Contractors' Files – Purchasing Unit 

 Delegate Agency Files 

 Employee Timesheets – Personnel & Purchasing Units 

 Expenditure Activity Report - Energy Programs 

 Expenditure Detail Report 

 Federal Financial Reports to ACF (SF-425:Semi-Annual, Annual and Final) 

 Financial Monitoring Report - Head Start & Early Head Start 

 Financial Projections Package 

 Financial Report for Drawdown - Head Start & Early Head Start 

 Financial Status Report (SF425) - Head Start & Early Head Start 

 Journals 

 Open Encumbrances Report 

 Partners' Files – Purchasing Unit 

 Payment Ledgers – Contracts/Purchasing Units 

 Payroll Detail Report – Payroll/Purchasing Units 

 Payroll Register Report – Payroll/Purchasing Units 

 Policy Council Financial Reports 

 Procurement Card Files – Personnel Unit 

 Program Improvement Grant 

 Purchase Requisitions/Orders – Purchasing Unit 

 Recommended Budget Binders 

 Revenue Detail Report 

 SBFS Files 

 Single Audit Reports 

 Supplemental Funding Applications 

 Travel Demands – Purchasing Unit 

 Vendors' Invoices, Bills, D-15 – Purchasing Unit 
 
E. Contract Files 

Deleted: CalWorks

Deleted: CalWorks 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

29 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Contract files are stored in designated cabinets in the Contract & Grants Administration office.  Contract 
staff is required to maintain current and accurate records of contract activity.  This includes contracts, 
board orders, insurance verifications, required clearances and Internal Revenue Service (IRS) 
documentation.  The documents are kept in individual contract files, labeled by contractor name and 
contract number.  Board orders are kept with each corresponding contract and in a general board order 
file, organized by month and year. EHSD Contracts and Grants Unit will maintain a record of all 
contractors’ files and will include all licensing and program mandated forms. The following documents 
are maintained by the Contracts & Grants Unit: 
 

 Independent Contractor contract files 

 County Administrator Office Questionnaire for determining Independent Contractor status 

 Corporation (non-profit and for-profit) Contractor contract files 

 Contract files for contracts with other legal status, such as general partnership  

 Contra Costa County Small Business Enterprise award forms (where applicable) 

 Board of Supervisors board orders 

 IRS W-9s and IRS W-4s (where applicable) 

 Certificate of Liability Insurance 

 Fingerprint clearance form (where applicable) 

 Current Health Screening Form or proof of current physical exam and TB clearance (where 
applicable) 

 Contra Costa County Auditor-Controller Insurance clearance 

 CSB Contract Request forms, with authorizing signatures 
 
 
F. Public Access to County Records 
In accordance with the California Public Records Act and the Better Government Ordinance, any person 
is entitled to inspect and to receive copies of the public records of the County, including records of 
individual departments.  Upon a request for a copy of public records, county staff is to make the 
requested records available to any person upon payment of applicable fees.  Disclosable county records 
may be inspected anytime during regular business hours.  Every attempt should be made to allow 
prompt inspection of the requested disclosable records.  If copies are requested, they should be 
provided no later than the next business day if possible to do so.   
 
i. Disclosable Records: 
Any existing writings containing information relating to the conduct of the public’s business prepared, 
owned, used or retained by the County regardless of physical form or characteristics are considered 
public records and should be disclosed by request.  These include, but are not limited to, papers, books, 
maps, charts, photographs, audio tapes, and video tapes, information stored in non-paper form on a 
computer or other electronic media and other material.  Additionally, writings that are not, in whole or 
in part, exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act and the Better Government Ordinance.   
 
ii. Exempt from Disclosure Records:  
Personnel, medical or similar records which cover intimate and personal information such as:  employee 
performance evaluations, employee home address, home telephone number and all personal 
information.  Certain other public employee information may be released: (1) amount of an employee’s 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

30 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

gross salary and benefits, job classification, and job duties; (2) Merit board and arbitration disciplinary 
proceedings and writings submitted in such proceedings; (3) information in case of emergency or need 
when such disclosure appears reasonable to protect any person’s health or welfare; (4) information for 
authorized criminal law enforcement purposes; (5) information required by subpoena, testimony or 
other legal process; (6) information authorized to be released to third parties by the written consent of 
the effected employee; and (7) any other information, when reviewed and approved by CC County 
Counsel prior to release. 

• Investigatory records compiled for correctional or law enforcement purposes such as: records of 
complaints, preliminary inquiries if a crime or violation has been committed, full investigations, 
and memoranda “closing” an investigation. 

• Examination data such as questions, scoring keys, examination data used to administer a 
licensing, employment or academic examination. 

• Confidential legal writings such as writings to or from the CC County Counsel to an attorney who 
represents the County or writings especially prepared for or by the County Counsel providing 
legal advice, analysis of proposed legislative actions or positions, terms of settlement of 
litigation, post-negotiation reports. 

• Health Services contracts between the County and the State and writings related to those 
contracts. 

• Particular statutory exemptions related to specific situations such as information about health 
facilities, assessment records, agricultural information, etc. 

• Real estate appraisals or engineering studies relating to the acquisition of properties or to 
prospective construction contracts. 

• Preliminary drafts, notes, memoranda and “deliberative process”. 
    
CSB employees are encouraged to contact Personnel when approached with requests for disclosure of 
documents by the public.  Personnel staff will provide advice or contact County Counsel for additional 
clarification.  In such cases, the employees are expected to provide the requestor/s with timelines in 
which the requested information will be provided to them.   
  

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.25", Bulleted + Level: 2 +
Aligned at:  0.38" + Indent at:  0.63"

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

31 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 V. Monitoring  
A. Purpose 
CSB Ongoing Monitoring is a key management system for ensuring program quality and compliance with 
Head Start/Early Head Start Performance Standards, California Child Development Title V Regulations, 
California Desired Results and Environment Rating Scales, NAEYC Standards and Title XXII Child Care 
General Licensing requirements.  Ongoing Monitoring ensures that the program is moving toward 
achieving its goals and objectives while providing high quality, comprehensive services to the ever-
changing needs of the children and families served.  CSB is committed to the continuous improvement 
of our programs though regular and ongoing monitoring of all aspects of our operations.   
 
B. Methodology 
The ongoing monitoring process is comprehensive in scope.  The system provides a method to examine 
service delivery including the tracking of child and family outcomes on an ongoing basis and 
incorporates a process to connect the results to management systems.  Staff at all operational levels 
participate in the ongoing monitoring process and any identified concerns are communicated in writing 
to the appropriate staff responsible.  Corrections are validated according to specific timelines. 
 
Ongoing monitoring occurs on a regular and routine basis to assess systems and program operations for 
evaluation and continuous improvement of our programs.  It includes the review and evaluation of 
services and systems, documentation of results, tracking and analyzing areas of concern and correction, 
and validation that correction has been completed. Results of monitoring and completion of corrective 
actions for findings are shared by the Bureau Director or designee with: EHSD Director, Board of 
Supervisors, Policy Council, Assistant Directors, Site Supervisors and their staff.  Results are used to 
conduct root cause analysis and develop plans for improvement and program planning. 
 
C. Multi-Level Monitoring  
i. Center-Level and Cluster Level Monitoring is conducted by Site Supervisors, Comprehensive Services 
Assistant Managers, Clerks, and Teachers for the purpose of monitoring day-to-day center operations, 
delivery of services, and overall health and safety of internal and external environments of children at 
the center for which they are assigned.  Assistant Directors receive monthly reports from Site 
Supervisors that provide an overview of each of the centers they are assigned to track any concerns as 
well as highlight strengths and special activities occurring each month. 
 
For partner centers, the CSB Partners Unit visits subcontracted centers weekly to monitor the delivery of 
services and health and safety to ensure ongoing communication.  The delegate agency provides 
monthly communication reports to the Analyst responsible for partners and the delegate agency.   
 
ii. Content and Service Area Monitoring is conducted by Comprehensive Services Managers and Analysts 
responsible for a specific content or service area to ensure that staff are trained and comply with 
funding requirements and regulations around a specific content or service.  CSMs and Analysts review 
trends across centers and services and identify risks or concerns and provide ongoing training as well as 
targeted training when needed.    
 
For partner agencies, the designated Analyst reviews monthly reports and monitoring performed by the 
agencies and provides support and training as needs are identified. The delegate agency completes its 

Deleted: V. Monitoring ¶
A. Purpose¶
CSB Ongoing Monitoring is a key 
management system for ensuring program 
quality and compliance with Head Start/Early 
Head Start Performance Standards, California 
Child Development Title V Regulations, 
California Desired Results and Environment 
Rating Scales, NAEYC Standards and Title 
XXII Child Care General Licensing 
requirements.  Ongoing Monitoring ensures 
that the program is moving towards achieving 
its goals and objectives while providing high 
quality, comprehensive services to the ever-
changing needs of the children and families 
served.  CSB is committed to the continuous 
improvement of our programs though regular 
and ongoing monitoring of all aspects of our 
operations.  ¶
¶
B. Methodology¶
The ongoing monitoring process is 
comprehensive in scope.  Monitoring is 
performed on an annual, semi-annual, 
monthly, weekly and daily basis.  The system 
provides a method to examine service 
delivery including the tracking of child and 
family outcomes on an ongoing basis and 
incorporates a process to connect the results 
to management systems.  Staff at all 
operational levels participate in the ongoing 
monitoring process and any identified 
concerns are communicated in writing to the 
appropriate staff responsible.  Corrections are 
validated according to specific timelines.¶
Ongoing monitoring occurs on a regular and 
routine basis to assess systems and program 
operations for evaluation and continuous 
improvement of our programs.  It includes the 
review and evaluation of services and 
systems, documentation of results, tracking 
and analyzing areas of concern and 
correction, and validation that correction has 
been completed. Results of monitoring and 
completion of corrective actions for findings 
are shared by the Bureau Director or 
designee with: EHSD Director, Board of 
Supervisors, Policy Council, Assistant 
Directors, Site Supervisors and their staff.  
Results are used to conduct root cause ...

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Not Highlight



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

32 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

own internal ongoing monitoring.  Monthly reports on these activities, including corrective actions, will 
be submitted to the Analyst overseeing the Partner Unit. 
 
iii. Agency-level monitoring is conducted by the CSB Quality Management Unit (QMU).  This unit is 
responsible for conducting compliance monitoring of directly operated, partner and delegate agency 
centers in five key areas: center health and safety, comprehensive services compliance, need and 
eligibility, education (environment), and CLASS observations.  Corrections for non-compliances are 
completed by the responsible person at the center and are validated by a Comprehensive Services 
Manager or designee.  The Assistant Director or designee completes a final review of correction and 
validation. 
 
Each directly operated; partner and delegate agency center is monitored once per year (July-June).  A 
random sample of 30% of files is reviewed in the areas of need and eligibility and comprehensive 
services compliance.  Thirty percent sample of classrooms in the center receives a health and safety 
monitoring.  All directly operated and partner agency classrooms are monitored for education 
environment. 
 
Classroom Assessment Scoring System (CLASS) Observations are conducted by a trained CLASS observer 
working with the QMU.   Fifty percent of the eligible classrooms are randomly selected using an 
automated system.  Selected classrooms receive CLASS observations twice in the year.  Ratings below 
cut-off scores require a corrective action.   CSB’s CLASS cut-off scores for corrective action may vary 
from year-to-year as they are established after the National Designation Renewal System trigger scores 
have been made available. 
 
Upon completion of each area of monitoring, the QMU distributes results and the Feedback Form listing 
areas of non-compliances and strengths to the predetermined group responsible for that center, 
classroom, or service area monitored.  The designated responsible person corrects non-compliances 
which are then reviewed and validated by a Comprehensive Services Manager.  The Assistant Director 
reviews all non-compliances, validations, and submits verification to the QMU. 
 
Data collected from monitoring is compiled into agency reports for review by staff, managers, the Policy 
Council and Board of Supervisors to inform of agency trends, strengths and areas in need of 
improvement.  All reports and findings are shared with the partner and delegate agencies. 
 
The Analyst overseeing the QMU compiles results and findings and distributes reports to senior 
management, Comprehensive Services Managers, Site Supervisors, center staff, Board of Supervisors, 
and the Policy Council twice per year.  These reports are a high-level representation of the agency’s 
compliance and non-compliance concerns in the five areas monitored by QMU.  Comprehensive Services 
Managers and senior managers responsible for a content or service area reviews these bi-annual reports 
to identify trends and develop staff training. 
  
iv. The Bureau Director or her designees will monitor all administrative internal team members with 
responsibility over service areas.  This may include periodic walk-through activities or unannounced 
visits to sites. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

33 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

v. Additional information on multi-level monitoring is available in the Appendix of the Policies and 
Procedures. 
 
D. Fiscal Monitoring of the Delegate Agency by the Grantee 
The Grantee certifies that the Delegate Agency is complying with regulations and generally accepted 
accounting principles.  Monitoring is conducted using the following format: 

 Monthly Reports:  
Delegate Agency shall submit monthly financial reports that record cumulative and accrued 
expenditures and obligations through the end of the contract year.  Monthly reports are due on the 
20th of each month for the preceding month.  Reports shall be submitted on Form M2092 (Monthly 
Financial Report) and shall include, at a minimum: 

 Separate reports for Program Accounts 20 and 22 

 Reimbursement reports for the Child Food Program 

 Line item documentation of administrative expenditures 

 Copies of contractor’s monthly financial statement and payroll reports 

 A separate monthly report summarizing the local share reported in the financial report. 
 
E. Early Childhood Environmental Rating Scale and Infant Toddler Environmental Rating Scale (ECERs and 
ITERs)  

 ECERS and ITERS observations are conducted annually for the grantee operated programs.  
Corrective action plans are developed to address any identified areas of weakness.  

 For the partners, the Education Manager assigned to the partners will conduct annual 
validations on the ECERs and ITERs that they submit.  If a partner site has more than one 
classroom, one classroom will be randomly selected for validation.  If a significant discrepancy is 
found between the partner’s ECERs/ITERs scores and the CSB validation of the scores, additional 
ECERs/ITERs from other classrooms will be validated. 

 
F. Fiscal Officer or his/her designee reviews the financial information for content and consistency before 
reimbursing monthly expenditures 

 Annual On-Site Monitoring: 
After the annual audit by a Certified Independent Accountant, the Grantee performs an on-site 
review of the Delegate Agency records using the OHS Monitoring Protocol.  This procedure is 
performed no later than May of each year for the prior award year.  The following is monitored: 

 Accounting Records:   
Records are reviewed to assure that they adequately identify the source and application of funds for 
contract-supported activities, and that they are maintained.  Records are reviewed to make sure 
that they contain information pertaining to contract awards, authorizations, obligations, un-
obligated balances, assets, outlays, income, and liabilities. 

 Internal Controls:   
Controls are reviewed for effectiveness, and that accountability is maintained for all contract cash, 
real and personal property, and all other assets.  Contractor is reviewed for adequately safeguarding 
all such property and that property is used solely for contract purposes. 

 Budgetary Controls:   
The actual and budgeted amounts for each contract allocation are compared. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

34 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The grantee will conduct regular and routine monitoring including delegate agency annual 
management and fiscal systems review. 
 
G. Center Visit Documentation 

 CSB Director, Assistant Directors, or other Administrative Managers may conduct 
unscheduled/unannounced monitoring visits at directly operated or partner agency sites.  These 
visits are documented on the Center Visit Documentation form.  Any issue requiring a corrective 
action is documented and validation of correction is assigned and verified upon completion. 
 

H. Procedures for Review, Analysis and Reporting 
The monitoring analyst will ensure that the data is entered into the Monitoring database and that 
reports are distributed to all stakeholders, including the Bureau Director, Assistant Director, and 
Comprehensive Services Managers and site staff. A monitoring results report is also prepared for the 
Delegate Agency. All monitoring results will be formally submitted to the delegate agency. Issues or 
corrections cited will be communicated with corrective action requirements as part of the notification. 
i. Monitoring Database 

 The program uses databases designed in-house to track monitoring findings and areas of 
strength to inform the reporting process and ensure the system is working effectively and 
efficiently.  The databases produce lists such as the top ten issues to improve, the top ten areas 
performing well, as well as the top 10 sites to improve and the top 10 sites that are performing 
well.  The analyst responsible for the ongoing monitoring system uses the database to track 
completion or corrective actions to ensure that closure is established for any item found to be 
non-compliant. 

 The databases allow program managers to view trends and isolated incidences and assist them 
in conducting root cause analysis and plans for improvement as appropriate in a timely fashion. 

 Non-compliances will be utilized by all staff to: to identify program weaknesses; to correct 
identified non-compliance issues; and to seek continuous improvement. 
  

ii. Monitoring Reports 

 Monitoring analyst compiles results and findings such as: program strengths, areas of 
improvement, site performance reports and other reports as needed. 

 Reports are disseminated to: senior management, comprehensive services unit, site supervisors, 
and site staff Board of Supervisors, and Policy Council. 

 Monitoring Analyst will complete Analysis Reports and Roll Up Summaries within 4 weeks of 
completion of monitoring cycles (Cycle 1: December 31 and Cycle 2: April 30). 

 
iii. Root Cause Analysis 

 Content Area Managers will review semi-annual monitoring reports for trends across their 
service area and complete a Root Cause Analysis and provide an Ongoing Monitoring Corrective 
Action Plan in response to areas identified as needing improvement within 4 weeks of report 
distribution. 

o Review the monitoring reports for areas needing improvement to address and identify 
root causes for non-compliances (tangible, materials items failed, something was done 
incorrectly, system or process to do work requires revision). 

o Define the problem, collect data, identify possible causal factors surrounding the 
problem, and identify the root cause. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

35 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

o Submit an action plan to the Assistant Director to recommend and implement solutions, 
identify responsible persons. 

o Effectiveness of action plan will be reviewed at the release of the following semi-annual 
monitoring report. 

 

 
  

Formatted: Normal,  No bullets or
numbering



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

36 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

VI. Self-Assessment 
A. Self-Assessment Team 
The Grantee and the Delegate Agency conduct a joint Self-Assessment each year. The role of the Bureau 
Director and Delegate Director and/or their designees in the self-assessment process are as “advisor” to 
team. The analyst responsible for the Self-Assessment is the Team Leader and may be supported by a 
consultant.  Small teams are comprised of grantee and delegate agency management and non-
management staff, parents, community partners, and representatives of the Board of Supervisors. A 
cross-section of staff is represented on each team. Teams are formed beginning in October of each year 
and finalized in January. 
 
B. Methodology 
1. In January of each year, the team leader and consultant, if applicable, identify sites and classrooms for 
the self-assessment. The following factors are considered in site selection: 

 Monitoring results, including recent Federal Review, licensing visits, and assessment Findings 

 History of site inclusion in last three years of self-assessment 

 Program options and funding models to ensure all variations are assessed 

 Representation of Supervisory Districts 

 Site based special initiatives and projects 

 Operational days 
 
2. The current Office of Head Start (OHS) Program Monitoring Instrument and the Classroom 
Assessment Scoring System (CLASS) are the tools used for the self-assessment each year. Slight 
modifications may be made to the tool by the team leader to streamline it for ease of use by community 
partners, parents, and board representatives. Other tools may be introduced as needed. 
 
3. A timeline is established which includes ample time for site visits and report writing, scheduled team 
check-in sessions, and ongoing training and technical assistance. 
 
4. Training is provided to all team members in January of each year and addresses the following items: 

 Purpose and Approach 

 Self-assessment process 

 Methods of collecting applicable data 

 Timelines 

 Confidentiality 

 Reporting procedure used in the “non-compliant” portion of each review team’s report 

 Report writing format and techniques 
 
C. Parent Involvement 
The Policy Council has a Self-Assessment sub-committee, which forms in October of each year after 
being provided with a description of the work of the committee. The Policy Council is oriented to the 
self-assessment process and timeline in November, at which time additional members of the sub-
committee are recruited. These parents are trained fully with the rest of the team in January and are 
paired with an experienced manager to mentor them through the process, if necessary. The varying 
availability of parents is accommodated to maximize the involvement of all parents who express an 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted:  strong 

Deleted: visits,and

Deleted: Self-A

Deleted:  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

37 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

interest in participating. Non-English speaking parents are encouraged to get involved and are paired 
with a staff person who speaks their language. 
 
D. Process of Self-Assessment of Agency’s Program Services 
The Self-Assessment is conducted in February of each year. Each team is assigned specific service areas 
and several sites to assess and determine compliance.  Examples of tasks of the various teams include: 

 Interviewing appropriate staff, community partners, and parents 

 Observing the classroom environment 

 Reviewing documents such as policies, procedures, and service plans 

 Observing procedures as they are implemented in the field 

 Completing checklists for health and safety and eligibility 
 

Teams check in regularly to report progress, problem solve questionable compliance areas, and plan 
their next day. At the conclusion of the data-collecting process, individual teams meet and review 
their findings, and determine the following: 

 Program strengths and compliances 

 Non-compliances 

 Recommendation of a plan of action to meet compliance 

 Evaluate the process using a plus/delta approach which is used to inform the process for the 
next year. 

 
E. Self-Assessment Results 
Individual results of the self-assessment teams are submitted to the Analyst, who consults with the 
Bureau Director and Delegate Agency Director, and then compiles a complete report of the self-
assessment.  
 
The written report is sent out to staff, and if non-compliances are found, content area experts are 
assigned to develop a corrective action plan. Once the corrections are validated (immediately for health 
and safety items and within 30 days for all other items), the self-assessment report and plan of action 
are submitted to the Policy Council and Board of Supervisors in March. An approval is obtained for any 
corrective action plan involved.  The final report, inclusive of the validation of submission and/or 
approval by the Policy Council and Board of Supervisors, is then submitted to the Administration for 
Children and families (ACF). 
 
The results of the self-assessment are to be used in the planning process, in developing and improving 
program services, and in formulating the program approach, service plans, and goals and objectives for 
the program. 
 
F. Monitoring the Plan of Action Resulting from Self-Assessment 
Throughout the year, management staff responsible for any areas of non-compliance identified in the 
self-assessment process shall continue to monitor the status of the corrective action, using the results of 
ongoing monitoring efforts, to ensure the issue is resolved and continues to remain compliant.      
  

Deleted:  on the teams

Deleted:  

Deleted: various 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left: 
0.25",  No bullets or numbering

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

38 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

VII. Program Human Resources Management (Personnel Policies & Procedures) 
A. Statement of Purpose of Policies and Procedures 
These personnel policies are produced for the purpose of: 

 Promoting an effective, efficient, and economic operation of programs; 

 Providing fair and equal opportunity to all qualified individuals to enter employment with 
Employment and Human Services Department, Community Services Bureau (CSB) and assuring 
that employees are promoted or advanced under impartial procedures;  

 Maintaining a program of recruitment and advancement which will provide career development 
opportunities; 

 Maintaining a uniform plan of evaluation, duties and wages based upon the relative duties and 
responsibilities of positions in CSB; 

 Employing persons who can perform their duties with competence and integrity.   
 
B. Governing Board 
The ultimate authority to manage the Head Start and Early Head Start program is vested in the County 
Board of Supervisors. According to Contra Costa County, Personnel Management Regulations, the 
Executive Director or Department has the authority to act on behalf of the County Board of Supervisors 
on certain personnel actions as stipulated throughout the regulations. All authority for day-to-day 
administration of CSB is delegated to the Community Services Director. 
 
The Board of Supervisors, upon the recommendation of the Employment and Human Services Director, 
reserves the exclusive right to hire, evaluate, compensate or release the CSB Director (HS/EHS Director), 
Human Resources and Fiscal Officers. The Policy Council shall approve or disapprove in advance the 
hiring of the Community Services Director. 
The Board of Supervisors delegates the authority of the Head Start and Early Head Start program to the 
Community Services Director or his/her designee, who is responsible for carrying out the policies, 
procedures, and intent of these policies to include power to employ, promote, assign duties and 
responsibilities, evaluate, train, reprimand, suspend, discharge, or reward employees within the 
guidelines of all applicable federal, state and local regulations.  
 
CSB will observe standards of organization, management, and administration that will ensure, so far as 
reasonably possible, that all program activities are conducted in a manner consistent with the purpose 
of Head Start Performance Standards and the objective of providing assistance effectively, efficiently, 
and free of any taint of partisan political bias or person or family favoritism.  
 
C. Organizational Structure 
This section contains policies governing the activities of all CSB employees.  It is not intended to 
supersede the Memorandum of Understanding between Contra Costa County and Public Employees 
Union, Local One (MoUs), the Personnel Management Regulations (PMRs) or any other polices adopted 
by the County Board of Supervisors.  It establishes standard procedures which are applicable to all 
programs operated by CSB, irrespective of funding source.  Unless otherwise noted, all provisions of the 
manual apply to each and every employee of CSB.  If the requirements of MoUs, PMRs, funding sources, 
et cetera are less stringent than the provisions of this section, then these provisions will apply.  If 
personnel provisions imposed by the MoUs, PMRs, funding source, et cetera conflicts with the 
provisions of these policies, then such regulations shall apply. 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: PROGRAM HUMAN RESOURCES

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: MANAGEMENT 

Formatted: Font: Bold



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

39 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The Community Services Director or designee has the authority to identify and interpret regulations 
which conflict with these policies.  Employees may not take it upon themselves to interpret regulations 
which may permit them or require them to behave in a manner which is inconsistent with the provisions 
of this policy.  If doubt arises, employees must request their supervisors to secure a ruling from the 
Community Services Director or designee. 
 
In addition to these policies, the MoUs, PMRs, management bulletins, memos, side letters, et cetera 
regarding personnel policies issued by the County and funding sources shall be considered a part of 
CSB’s personnel policies and procedures whenever applicable.  All personnel policies and practices 
contained herein are established in accordance with current applicable rules and regulations of CSB 
funding sources and other mandates. All CSB staff members are required to become thoroughly familiar 
with these policies and adhere to their provisions. 
 
The Community Services Director and senior management are charged with the responsibility for 
assuring that all provisions of these policies are administered fairly and impartially. 
 
According to Contra Costa County, Personnel Management Regulations, the Executive Director or 
Department has the authority to act on behalf of the County Board of Supervisors on Certain personnel 
actions as stipulated throughout the regulations. 
 
D. Additional Personnel Policies Relating to Employees of Program Services 
1. Criminal Record Clearance (Fingerprinting) 

i. Live Scan Process 

 According to the Head Start Act, 45 CFR 1304.3(a)(18) and California DSS, 101170(f), all 
employees/adults must be fingerprinted.  Failure to obtain clearance free of an exemption or to 
comply with fingerprinting regulations will result in refusal of employment. 

 Applicable employees must be fingerprinted and cleared before their first day of employment.  
CSB will not employ anyone without an active clearance nor will they hire anyone who has a 
clearance with an exemption. 

 CSB Personnel schedules a Livescan appointment and provides the applicant with a Livescan 
form to take to their appointment. 

 After the Live Scan is completed, the Department of Social Services notifies CSB Personnel Unit 
of the following clearances via a Letter of Criminal Record Clearance.  The following checks are 
conducted: 

o FBI 
o Child Abuse Index 
o State Department of Justice 

 Should a conviction occur while the employee is employed, CSB receives an “Immediate Action 
Required (IAR)” letter from the Department of Social Services Caregiver Background Check 
Bureau. In this case: 

o The Community Services Bureau Director determines the appropriate action to be taken 
based on individual circumstances. 

o If a manager receives an IAR letter, he/she is to notify CSB Personnel Unit immediately. 
If CSB Personnel Unit receives an IAR letter, they will notify the Manager, Site Supervisor 
and immediately have the employee removed from the facility. Disciplinary actions may 
be taken up to and including termination.  

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: According to Contra Costa County, 
Personnel Management Regulations, the 
Executive Director or Department has the 
authority to act on behalf of the County Board of 
Supervisors on certain personnel actions as 
stipulated throughout the regulations.¶

Deleted: <#>¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

40 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

o It is the responsibility of the employee to obtain a waiver form from DSS and submit the 
waiver.  Any employee who obtains a waiver may apply for reinstatement and 
applications will be considered by personnel. If no waiver is obtained as requested by 
the Personnel Unit, the employee may be terminated from employment with Contra 
Costa County. 

o Declaration-The State requires that all current/prospective employees must sign a 
declaration, Criminal Record Statement prior to employment, which reveals any 
background information that might be detrimental to their employment with CSB.  The 
declaration or Criminal Record statement must list: 
 All pending and prior criminal arrests / charges related to child sexual abuse and 

their disposition 
 Convictions related to other forms of child abuse / neglect 
 All convictions 

o The grantee must review each application for employment individually in order to 
assess the relevancy of an arrest, a pending criminal charge, or a conviction. 

o The declaration may exclude listing of: 
 Any offense, other than  the ones related to child abuse and/or child sexual 

abuse or violent felonies, committed before the prospective employee’s 18th 
birthday which was adjudicated in a juvenile court or under a youth offender 
law 

 Any conviction the record of which has been expunged under Federal or State 
law 

 Any conviction set aside under the Federal Youth Corrections Act or similar 
State authority 

2. Emergency Procedures 
i. Chemical Accident 

In case of a shelter-in-place emergency, a manager will notify all affected sites. In this case, all 
employees are required to follow shelter-in-place protocols. 
SHELTER—Go inside a building immediately to avoid exposure to airborne chemicals. 
SHUT—Seal all doors and windows/turn off ventilation systems.  (Locking doors and windows 
creates the best seal.)  Parents must be informed during orientation that staff is not authorized to 
release children during a shelter-in-place accident. 
LISTEN—Turn on the radio/listen for up-to-date information.  Avoid using the telephone unless you 
have a life-threatening emergency.  All sites must have a working radio available at all times. 

ii. Earthquake Emergency 
Duck and cover under a table or desk, crouching on knees with face down and hand covering the 
back of the head. 
Stay clear of outer walls, windows, glass, cabinets, files, or shelves. 
Evacuate the building to Assembly Area after counting 100. 

 Avoid re-entry into the building. 

 Allow the Building Warden to re-enter the building (searching for missing persons, assessing the 
extent of damage, turning off utilities as needed, and checking for gas leaks). 

 Keep clear of overhead wires, poles, buildings, trees, and falling objects if outside. 

 Prepare for aftershocks. 
iii. Fire Emergency 

Notify the fire department immediately, giving required information: 

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

41 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 CSB building, room number, address, and other means of identifying location of the fire 

 Description of size / type of fire 

 Information regarding any injured people 

 The name, telephone number, and extension of the employee reporting 

 Evacuate all people from the fire area and close off the fire area using posted emergency routes. 

 Report to Assembly Area (consult the Evacuation Plan) 

 Use appropriate type of fire extinguisher.  If smoke or heat endangers safety, evacuation of the 
area is required (to allow emergency personnel to handle the situation). 

iv. Medical Emergency 

 Provide appropriate first aid and/or cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR). 

 Call the Fire Department if advanced first aid is required (911). 

 Call an ambulance if appropriate (911). 

 Send the injured to either the physical location of his or her choice or to the nearest medical 
emergency center or hospital.  Notify the family of the injured. 

 Report injuries to the appropriate supervisor immediately.  The supervisor is responsible for 
notifying Community Care Licensing via telephone within 24 hours and in writing within 7 days. 

 If an injury results in death or hospitalization of an employee for over twenty-four hours, notify 
CSB Personnel and the Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator. She/he is responsible to 
inform the CCC Risk Management and the State Division of Occupational Safety and Health 
(CAL/OSHA). 

 
3. Work-Related Injury and Illness 
All County employees who are injured or become ill as a result of their job are covered under Workers’ 
Compensation. 
 
Workers’ Compensation is a no-fault insurance plan paid for by the County and supervised by the State.  
It is a plan where fault does not have to be proven to receive medical expenses and lost wages.  If an 
employee is unable to work because of a work-related injury or illness, (s)he is eligible for benefits.  All 
benefits are determined by the California State Legislature.   
 
i. If an employee is injured or becomes ill as a result of her/his job, the following steps should be taken: 

 The employee must immediately notify her/his supervisor.  All work-related  injuries/illnesses, 
including first-aid, need to be reported 

 The supervisor must notify CSB Personnel (the designated Workers’ Compensation/Safety 
Coordinator) 

 The supervisor and the employee are to complete the required workers’ compensation forms:  
CCC Supervisor’s Occupational Injury or Illness Report Procedures (AK 30 –Part A & B), and 
Workers’ Compensation Claim Form (DWC – 1), as soon as possible 

 The supervisor is to submit the completed forms to CSB Personnel (CSB Workers’ Compensation  
Coordinator) by the end of the business day of the injury/illness or by the end of the day (s)he 
became aware of the injury or the illness; The Supervisor is to fax the first white page of the 
DWC-1 and parts A & B of the AK-30, Supervisors Report, to the CSB Worker’s 
Compensation/Safety Coordinator at Personnel on the day of the injury and to send the original 
paperwork via the Interoffice Mail. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

42 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 The CSB Workers’ Compensation Safety Coordinator will submit the required documentation to 
CCC Risk Management Office.  County policy requires the documentation to be submitted to 
Risk Management within 24 hours of the injury/illness 

 Injured/ill employees are encouraged to seek immediate medical attention.  The CSB Workers’ 
Compensation/Safety Coordinator will provide information on medical facilities that can be 
visited in case of a work-related injury/illness 

 The injured/ill employee may only return to work with a doctor’s note stating that employee is 
cleared to return to work on that date.   If the employee is placed on  “Off Work” or any 
modified work status, (s)he must notify  her/his supervisor and the CSB Workers’ 
Compensation/Safety Coordinator about her/his status and fax/deliver the appropriate doctor’s 
note to both parties 

 Modified work will be assigned only by the CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator in 
coordination with the employee’s supervisor if accommodations are viable 

 If an employee is ordered for follow-up doctor visits or therapy as a result of a job-related injury 
or illness, (s)he is required to attend all prescribed visits and furnish Work Status Reports to 
her/his supervisor and the CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator after each visit 

 Employees leaving work for appointments connected to work-related injuries/illness are to 
claim the time off as workers’ compensation time (WC) on their time cards 

 Doctor bills and hospital expenses related to on the job injuries or illness will be paid directly by 
the County.  If an employee receives a bill that is related to a job-connected injury or illness, 
(s)he should notify the CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator and should not pay the 
bill.   

 
ii. Return-To-Work Program 
CSB participates in the Return-To-Work (RTW) Program.  It is a plan utilized by Contra Costa County with 
the main objective to manage the employees’ successful and timely return to work after a work related 
injury.  The program facilitates the earliest possible return of an injured employee to meaningful, 
productive work within the parameters of her/his physical capabilities.  If necessary, the program allows 
for temporary modifications to the employee’s job description or position to accommodate the physical 
restrictions identified by the medical provider.  Employees participating in the program are assigned 
transitional jobs.  Two main transitional jobs are available for employees through the RTW program: 

 Modified work within the employee’s unit – this is usually for on-the-job injured employees who 
can perform their usual jobs full time or part time with significant accommodations 

 Bridge Assignments – these are for employees who cannot perform their usual jobs, but can be 
assigned to other meaningful jobs.  Usually, Bridge Assignments are much broader and 
employees assigned to them may be placed in any of the EHSD’s Bureaus or even other County 
Departments. 

 
Assigning employees to transitional jobs is facilitated by the CSB RTW Coordinator (Personnel) in 
collaboration with the employee’s supervisor.  While in the RTW program, each employee is required to 
furnish Personnel with Work Status reports after each visit with the Worker’s Comp doctor.  
 
Employees with work related injuries benefit from participating in the RTW Program by returning back 
to work quickly, by continuing to participate in meaningful jobs and maintaining their self-esteem, by 
the on-the-job hardening, and faster recovery. 
 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

43 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

4. Ergonomic Safety and Evaluation 
 
All employees are expected to maintain their work environment and equipment safe and in good repair.  
Employees are to organize their work space considering basic ergonomic and safety practices such as, 
easy access/reach of desk equipment, appropriate lighting, use of appropriate equipment, avoidance of 
forceful lifting, pushing or pulling, prolonged repetitive motions.  Employees performing mainly sitting 
jobs are encouraged to periodically change activities and positions, take small stretch breaks to reduce 
repeated stress to various parts of the body.   
 
Employees who experience discomfort by using their work equipment or have doctor’s recommendation 
for ergonomic evaluation are to notify their direct supervisor and request evaluation.  The supervisor 
should contact CSB Personnel, the Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator and request ergonomic 
evaluation for the employee.  The CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator will review the 
request and arrange for the evaluation.   
 
After the completion of the ergo evaluation, the employee and her/his supervisor will receive a copy of 
the evaluation report and an Ergonomic Equipment Acknowledgment Form.  The employee is to review 
and keep the copy of the evaluation.  Both the employee and the supervisor are to sign the Ergonomic 
Equipment Acknowledgment Form and return the original to the CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety 
Coordinator at the Personnel Unit for authorization of the recommended ergonomic equipment.   
 
The CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator will work with the CCC Ergo Lab to ensure the 
appropriate accommodations are made and that the employee is trained on ergonomic and safety 
practices.  Ergonomic Equipment Acknowledgment forms sent by the employees directly to the CCC Ergo 
Lab without the authorization of the CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator will not be 
accepted by the Ergo Lab and the requested equipment/accommodations will not be provided. 
 
5. Employee Relations 
As a part of a team providing services for the benefit of the public, each employee must cooperate with 
co-workers and supervisors and the public through professionalism and mutual respect in order to set a 
high standard of work performance.  The entire staff of CSB must function as a team.  Each employee is 
required to make a positive contribution in the interest of efficient public service. 
 
Unwillingness or failure to cooperate will not be tolerated and will be cause for disciplinary action. 
 
6. Smoke-Free Environment 
CSB will create a smoke-free environment and eliminate exposure to tobacco smoke by children, staff 
and parents in the Head Start program. 
By state regulation, smoking is prohibited at all times in all space utilized by the program.  This includes 
classrooms, staff offices, kitchens, restrooms, parent and staff meeting rooms (used in the evenings as 
well as during the day), hallways, outdoor play areas, county vehicles and vehicles used for transporting 
children. 
 
If there is a designated smoking area, it will be located out of the children’s sight, and at least 20 feet 
away from the main entrances, exits and operable windows of the building (California Government 
Code, Sections 7596-7598).  All smoking trash, including butts and matches, will be extinguished and 

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

44 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

disposed of in appropriate containers.  Staff is encouraged to wear protective wear, such as a smoke or 
“smoking jacket” so that when they finish smoking, they can remove it so as to not carry the tobacco 
chemicals on their clothing into the classrooms or offices. 
 
If a CSB program shares a building with other occupants, staff will take steps to reduce children’s 
exposure to smoke from other sources in the building by altering traffic patterns or establishing a 
“smoke-free zone” around the site. 
 
Adults are also prohibited from smoking during group socialization activities, such as field trips, 
neighborhood walks, and other outdoor activities.  The only situation under which this does not apply is 
during a presentation or field trip related to American Indian cultural customs in which tobacco is 
utilized. 
 
Educational and wellness activities, such as smoking cessation programs for adults and inclusion of 
developmentally appropriate activities in health education for children will be developed to assist in 
carrying out smoke-free policies.  Staff and parents are encouraged to call the California Smokers 
Helpline at 1-800-NO-BUTTS for help in quitting.  Smoking cessation programs for adults are available 
through the program’s collaboration with the WIC Program.  Additional information and resources are 
available by contacting the Comprehensive Services Unit’s Health Services Manager. 
 
8. Drug-Free Work Environment 
In Compliance with the Federal Drug-Free Workplace Act 1988, the Contra Costa County Board of 
supervisors instituted a Drug-Free Workplace Policy (Resolution No. 90/674 from October 16, 1990). The 
Board is committed to a Drug-Free Workplace because of the inherent dangers to employees who abuse 
drugs and/or alcohol. According to the Drug-Free Workplace Policy: 

o The County prohibits the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or 
use of controlled substance in the workplace, and/or during work hours. 

o Any violation of this policy may result in disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination, or when needed, mandatory participation of the employee in a drug-abuse 
assistance or rehabilitation program. 

o Any employee convicted of any State or Federal criminal drug statute for a violation 
occurring in the County workplace or on County time, shall report the conviction to their 
supervisor, department manager or personnel officer no later than five (5) days after 
such conviction. 
 

CSB strives to maintain a workplace that is reflective of the County Smoke-Free and Drug-Free 
Workplace Environment Policy. CSB employees are expected to conduct themselves responsibly. Upon 
report that an employee appears to be under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs, the employee’s 
supervisor must notify the Assistant Director or the Division Manager, or the Personnel Administrator. 
One of these CSB Senior Managers and the employee’s supervisor will immediately meet with the 
employee and determine if she/he is under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs. If they determine 
that the employee is under the influence, the employee shall be instructed to immediately leave the 
workplace. An employee under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs is to report back to work sober 
and clean of drugs at least one day after the incident. The employee has the option to claim unpaid time 
or to use her/his own accruals. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

45 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
8. Solicitation of Goods 
Contra Costa County prohibits the solicitation of goods on any County property.  Goods for sale will not 
be accepted, bought, or sold at any Grantee office or CSB center.  This applies to commercial activities 
only.  This does not apply to parent fundraising.  Parent fundraising activities are reviewed and approved 
by the Policy Council and the Bureau Director. 
 
9. CSB Telephone Usage Policy 
There may be times when personal telephone calls must be made or received during working hours.  
Personal telephone calls must be kept to a minimum, and may not interfere with classroom or business 
activities.  CSB expects employees to make these calls during break or lunch periods.  No long distance 
calls can be made on CSB telephones.  Personal cellular phone usage, unless in an emergency situation, 
is prohibited in the classroom and business offices at all times. 
 
10. Food in the Classroom 
Food for individual staff consumption is not allowed in the classroom unless the staff member is eating a 
meal or snack with the children. Any other food and drink must be consumed by the staff member 
during break or lunchtime, away from the classroom. 
 
E. Analysis of Staff Needs 
The needs of individual staff members for assistance and training, as well as the training tools are 
analyzed regularly to ensure optimal performance and efficiency of services.  The Community Services 
Director or designee assesses staff needs by considering levels of responsibility, experience, 
performance of assigned tasks, and other relevant factors.  On the basis of such assessment, the 
Community Services Director or designee determines the delivery of needed assistance after considering 
funding limitations.  Assessment of staff needs is performed annually or as needed. 
 
F. Recruitment and Selection 
It is the policy of CSB to employ qualified, capable, and responsible personnel who are of good character 
and reputation.  Consideration will be given to provide employment opportunities to parents of enrolled 
Head Start and Early Head Start children.  CSB will follow the guidelines for recruitment as required by 
the MoUs, PMRs, Management Bulletins and other provisions established by the County and funding 
sources.   
 
CSB shall make certain that its recruiting procedures afford adequate opportunity for the hiring and 
career advancement of its parents and staff.  The attainment of a high level of education may be 
important to performance in certain positions; however, formal educational qualifications, unless 
required by state, local or federal law, where practical, shall be made discretionary rather than required 
for employment and advancement.  Head Start staff will be required to meet the educational 
requirement as established in the Head Start Act and/or Head Start Performance Standards.   
 
The Policy Council will approve or disapprove all Head Start and Early Head Start employees prior to 
employment including the Head Start Director, Director of Human Resources, Chief Fiscal Officer and 
any other person in an equivalent position in CSB. 
 
 

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: 7

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 8

Deleted: 9

Deleted: ¶
¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

46 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
G. Hiring of CSB Staff 
A position will not be filled until concurrence is reached between the Community Services Director and 
the Policy Council. The following steps are taken when hiring staff: 

 Following the approved Contra Costa County Personnel Management Regulations, the Personnel 
Unit will work with the County Human Resources Department, as required, to publicly announce 
a position for employment. 

 Upon receipt of applications, the Human Resources Department or designee will screen the 
applications to ensure that applicants meet the minimum requirements for filling the position. 

 The Human Resources Department shall designate selection procedures that may be written 
tests, oral tests, physical agility tests, assessment centers, training and experience evaluations or 
other selection procedures, or any combination of these. Selection procedures shall be practical 
and job related, constructed to sample the knowledge, skills, abilities and / or personal 
attributes required for successful job performance. 

 When, after public announcement, the number of accepted candidates is equal to or less than 
the number necessary for a full certification, after consulting with the Community Services 
Director, the Personnel Unit may waive competitive testing and certify the applicants without 
rank or score. Under these circumstances, the Community Services Director will appoint a 
Qualifications Appraisal Board within the Community Services Bureau to conduct oral interviews 
of the applicants.   

 In examinations where an oral interview is to be conducted as part of the total examination, the 
Personnel Unit shall appoint two or more qualified staff, as well as a Head Start Parent to 
conduct oral interviews. 

 After completion of the examination process, the Personnel Unit will certify to the Bureau 
Director in rank order, according to the overall scores in the examination process, the names, 
addresses and phone numbers of the persons entitled to certification. 

 The designated interview panel consisting of staff and parents will interview the prospective 
employee to determine: 

o If the individual will be able to work effectively with parents and/or children in a 
positive, supportive manner; 

o If the individual will be able to work with staff in a cooperative, team-like manner; 
o The individual’s commitment to low income families and the community; 
o The experience the individual has working with or the understanding the individual has 

of culturally diverse groups; 
o Personal characteristics such as warmth, strength, flexibility, understanding, empathy, 

ability to respond quickly under stress; 
o The ability of the individual to work within systems; 
o The individual’s respect for authority and ability to work under supervision; and  
o Any other special skills such as speaking, reading, or writing in other languages. 

 After the interview, the Personnel Unit will conduct personal and employment reference checks 
on all potential new hires prior to names being recommended to the Community Services 
Director or designee and Policy Council. 

 After the interview, staff will submit a recommendation to the Policy Council that will include 
the prospective employee’s suitability for employment in the position being considered. 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25"

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

47 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 The name and qualifications of the candidate/s will be considered for approval by the Policy 
Council.  Only after the candidate has been approved for employment by the Policy Council may 
the candidate be officially employed and report for work. 

 No Head Start funds may be obligated for payment of salary to any permanent employee not 
previously approved by the Policy Council. 

 All newly hired employees will serve a probationary period as outlined in Section 9 of the 
Personnel Management Regulations and Section 20 of the Memorandum of Understanding 
between Contra Costa County and Public Employees Union, Local One. 

 
H. Reject from Probation 
When an employee is being separated from employment while on probation, a CSB Manager or 
Assistant Director will serve a copy of a Project Employee Probation Report (CSD-50) to the employee 
and at that time shall ask for any keys and/or employee badges they may have to the facility.  
 
I. 9/80 Work Schedule 
A 9/80 work schedule has been established for a period determined by the Community Services Bureau 
Director.  The schedule is available for Senior Management and some management and middle 
management classifications.  There may be some job functions or classifications that are not feasible for 
participation in the 9/80 schedule. Additionally, probationary employees are not eligible for a 9/80 
schedule until successfully completing their probationary period.  Furthermore, temporary employees 
are excluded from the 9/80 work schedule.  The Director of Community Services Bureau has the 
authority to determine the exclusion or the participation of particular jobs or classifications in the 9/80 
shift. 
 
The 9/80 schedule is voluntary.  An employee who participates in the 9/80 schedule is not obligated to 
maintain it except for a two-week cycle from the beginning of the 9/80 shift.  If an employee opts out of 
the schedule, she/he may opt back in once in the following three-month period.  Work expectations do 
not change as a result of an employee’s participation in a 9/80 schedule.  If her/his performance 
deteriorates due to participation in the 9/80 schedule, the employee may be returned to a regular 
schedule.  This action requires the approval of the Community Services Director or designee.    
 
Employees requesting participation in the 9/80 work schedule should complete a Participation Request 
form that can be obtained from CSB Personnel Unit.  The employees are to submit the completed form 
to their supervisor.  Approval is granted by the Community Services Director or designee with 
consideration for adequate coverage of the Department and the individual units.  A copy of the 
approved request should be submitted to the Fiscal unit and to CSB Personnel to be filed in the 
employee’s personnel file. 
 
Employees participating in a 9/80 schedule must take a day off during the two-week pay period.  During 
the period, the employees work one 8 hour day and 9 hours each day thereafter.  The total work hours 
for the pay period should equal 80.  If a holiday falls on the employee’s day off, the employee should 
take her/his 9/80 day within the pay period before or after the holiday.  If a holiday falls on a work day, 
the employee must use 1 hour accruals to make the required 9-hour work day since a holiday is 8 hours. 
 
 9/80 Work Schedule For Employees Temporary Disabled Due To Industrial Injury 

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

48 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

In accordance with the Memorandum of the Office of the County Administrator, dated November 23, 
2009, and the Contra Costa County’s Return to Work Policy for Industrial Injury or Illness, Section VI, A. 
Restrictive Duty, the 9/80 or flexible work schedule for every employee who has sustained industrial 
injuries, who has an accepted worker’s compensation claim and is temporarily disabled from working 
full time will be temporarily revoked.  Upon release to full time work by the treating physician and only 
if the employee is able to work more than 8 hours per day, the 9/80 or flexible schedule may be 
resumed. 
 
J. Separation 
Employees are dismissed, suspended, and demoted in accordance with Contra Costa County, Personnel 
Management Regulations Part 11, Separation and Memorandum of Understanding between Contra 
Costa County and the Labor Unions.  
 
K. Resignation 
A resignation letter from the employee shall be made in writing and submitted to the employee’s 
immediate supervisor and/or Assistant Director. The original letter should be sent to Personnel Unit. 
 
L. Nepotism 
No immediate family member of a supervisor shall work directly under his/her supervision.  Immediate 
family member shall be defined as spouse, natural child, stepchild, foster child, child in employee’s 
custody, legally adopted child, legal guardianship, foreign adoption, tribal adoption, disabled adult child, 
domestic partner, and child of domestic partner. 
 
M. Enrolled Children of CSB Employees 
To maintain an equitable educational environment at our child care centers, CSB requires that every 
effort will be made to place the enrolled child of a CSB employee at facility that is different from the 
employee’s worksite. In NO case will an employee’s child be placed in the employee’s classroom.  CSB 
employees’ children may be enrolled in the program only if eligible. 
 
N. Staff Qualifications – General  
All site-based staff must meet the minimum qualifications of the State Department of Education matrix 
and the Early Head Start and Head Start staff qualification requirements as stated in Sections 645(A) and 
648(A) & (B) of the 2007 Head Start Act.  This includes Assistant Directors, Site Supervisors, 
Infant/Toddler Master Teachers, Master Teachers, Infant/Toddler Teachers, Teachers, Infant/Toddler 
Associate Teachers, and Associate Teachers. 
 
It is the employee’s responsibility to maintain and provide to Personnel and their Site Supervisor a 
current Permit or Temporary Certificate issued by the Office of Education and to meet the Head Start 
and Early Head Start staff qualification requirements by the established timelines. 
 
In addition, all staff must meet the minimum qualifications as stated in the Community Services Bureau 
Job Descriptions and as set forth by state and federal regulations. Should an employee fail to meet the 
minimum qualification of his or her job while employed with Contra Costa County, he or she will be 
dismissed as stipulated in the Personnel Management Regulations, Part 1108 and the Public Employees 
Union, Local One MoU, Section 24.2. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

49 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

O. Qualification Requirements for Positions 
Minimum qualification requirements are set for all Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau 
positions. 
 
The Personnel Director, in conjunction with the Assistant Directors and/or other managers, drafts 
minimum qualification requirements for certain positions.  These are received by Policy Council for input 
and review. 
 
Where minimum qualification requirements affect health, education, food service, or other component 
positions, the draft is received by the appropriate committee for input and review. 
 
The draft is then submitted to the Community Services Director for review and approval. After 
Community Services Director’s approval, the draft is sent to the CSB Personnel Unit for further 
processing. 
 
Managers receive copies of job descriptions and qualifications adopted by Human Resources. 
Preference will be given to former and current parents who meet the qualifications as set forth in the 
job descriptions. 
 
All families must be able to perform the Essential Functions as set forth by the Department at all times 
(please refer to Essential Functions documentation).  If staff is unable to perform the functions at any 
time during employment, the Department will try to accommodate needs; however there are some 
instances where this may not be possible. 
 
New Hires:  Before a new employee / volunteer who will work directly with the families and children 
begin work, (s)he must have completed the following: 

 Complete health screening by a physician including a tuberculosis test (prior to employment) or 
a written statement from a doctor stating a TB test is not required. 

 Fingerprint / criminal record clearance without any exemptions. 
 
P. Classroom Staffing and Ratios and Comprehensive Services Staffing 
1. Classroom Staffing and Ratios 
Each classroom maintains the adult/child ratios required by Title V: For children ages 3-5, 1:8; for 
toddlers, 1:4; for infants 1:3. Children under three years of age may not be in groups with more than 
eight children.  Each full-day classroom is staffed with a qualified Teacher and 2 Associate Teachers.  If 
this is not possible, an Associate Teacher may be substituted for a Teacher and a Teacher Assistant 
Trainee for an Associate.  Each part-day classroom is staffed with two Teachers and Teacher Assistant 
Trainees.  
 
CSB center classrooms will have no more than 20 children enrolled at any time, except in State 
Preschool classrooms where there may be 24 children enrolled at one time and in Head Start classrooms 
with an approved 24-waiver from the Administration for Children and Families (ACF). 
 
The Supervisor must ensure that adult/child ratios are maintained at all times.  If a staff member is 
absent, the Site Supervisor must do the following: 

Deleted: staff that comes in direct contact with 
children and 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

50 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Assess the staffing needs of the classroom based on the number of children present and the 
staff/child ratios in other classrooms at the site. 

 Request the services of a parent volunteer. 

 If a substitute is needed, the Supervisor must contact the clerk who coordinates the substitutes. 
All staff inside the classroom and outside in the yard are responsible to ensure that all children are 
visible at all times and that they are being supervised at every moment. 

• Whenever the classroom is outside on the yard or on a field trip, all members of the teaching 
team must be present to ensure the health and safety of children. No scheduled prep time or 
breaks are permitted during times scheduled outside of the classroom. 

 
Teaching staff supervise infants and toddlers/twos by sight and sound at all times. When infants and 
toddlers/twos are sleeping, mirrors, video or sound monitors may be used to augment supervision in 
sleeping areas, but such monitors may not be relied on in lieu of direct visual and auditory supervision. 
Sides of cribs are checked to ensure that they are up and locked.  
 
Teachers, assistant teachers, or teacher aides are aware of, and positioned so they can hear and see any 
sleeping children for whom they are responsible, especially when they are actively engaged with 
children who are awake.     
 
CSB management ensures that the staff reflects the cultures and languages of the children and families 
served in the program whenever possible.  If this is not possible, the Supervisor must contact the main 
office to obtain the services of a translator or the CSB Language Line in order to communicate with 
families. 
 
2. Comprehensive Services 
The program is supported at all times by the following personnel: 
A health services content area expert who is trained and experienced in public health, nursing, health 
education, maternal and child health, or health administration. Additionally, when a health procedure 
must only be by a licensed or certified health professional, the agency will ensure that this requirement 
is met. 

 A nutrition services content area expert who is a registered dietitian or nutritionist. 

 A mental health services content area expert who is a licensed or certified mental health 
professional with experience and expertise in serving young children and their families. 

 A family and community partnership or parent involvement content area expert who is trained 
and experienced in field(s) related to social, human, or family services and who is skilled in 
assisting parents of young children in advocating and decision-making for their families. 

 A disabilities services content area expert who is trained and experienced in securing and 
individualizing needed services for children with disabilities. 

 
Q. Site Administration 
Each site that receives State Department of Education funding must have a full time Site Supervisor 
housed in the building.  For sites with more than nine classrooms, an additional Site Supervisor will be 
housed at the building.  This Supervisor may be counted in the ratio if working directly with the children.  
Sites with infant/toddler care must have a Site Supervisor who, in addition to the regular qualifications, 
has completed 3 units of Infant and Toddler Care. 
 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

51 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

As an entity operating child care and development programs, providing direct services to children at two 
or more sites, CSB shall employ Assistant Directors that meet the minimum qualifications of a Program 
Director as outlined in the State Department of Education matrix. 
 
R. Teacher Assistant Trainees (TATs) 
CSB may employ Teacher Assistant Trainees (TATs) through the County or the ROP program.  The 
following applies for all teaching staff with less than 12 units in Early Childhood Education courses: 

 The TAT must be at least 18 years of age UNLESS: (S)he has a high school diploma or equivalent 
or a part of the ROP or other occupational program. 

 The TAT may never be alone with the children – the Teacher/Associate must always supervise 
the interactions with the children. 

 If the TAT has enrolled in or completed at least 6 units in Early Childhood Education, (s)he may 
supervise children at nap time and escort children to the bathroom without the direct 
supervision of a Teacher/Associate. 

In order to support the professional development and career advancement of Teacher Assistant 
Trainees, CSB will afford a select number, appropriate to funding availability, of Teacher Assistant 
Trainees the opportunity to participate in the Teacher Assistant Trainee Program, as outlined in 
31(a)(4).b of this section. 
 
S. Volunteers 
CSB encourages volunteers from the community whenever possible.  Each year, program staff recruits 
volunteers through flyers and other announcements. Before a volunteer begins in the program, (s)he 
must go through the ASA III responsible for volunteer coordination. This ensures that the volunteer has 
fulfilled the necessary requirements prior to being given an assignment. All potential volunteers must 
complete a Volunteer Application. If the volunteer works more than sixteen (16) hours at one facility 
s/he must obtain fingerprint clearance. All volunteers, regardless of the number of hours they are 
planning to work, must submit a statement of good health. The statement could be issued by a doctor, a 
medical professional or be a self-disclosure signed by the volunteer. Each volunteer must undergo a TB 
risk assessment and if at risk submit a negative TB test result at their own cost prior to volunteering.  
The statement of good health and the TB result should be provided to the ASA III and kept on file by the 
Site Supervisor as outlined in California DSS section 101170(b), certain volunteers may be exempt from 
the requirement to submit fingerprints. 
 
Once fingerprint and TB clearance is received, the volunteer coordinator will contact site supervisors to 
see if there is an appropriate volunteer opportunity at their site.  The volunteer coordinator will forward 
all paperwork to the site supervisor for their Licensing and Health file.  The Site Supervisor or designee 
will review the Volunteer Policy with the volunteer and have him/her sign the Standards of Conduct, 
Certification Statement and all other Licensing forms. Only then will CSB make the final volunteering 
assignment which includes: start date, end date, and number of days and hours per week.  The 
volunteer enters hours worked daily on an in-kind form for the whole month. At the end of the month, 
the volunteer submits the completed in-kind reporting form to the assigned volunteer supervisor to 
have them sign their approval and to make a copy of form for the volunteer. The volunteer’s supervisor 
or designee submits the in-kind records monthly to the cluster clerk for entry into the In-Kind Log in the 
shared drive.  
  
 

Deleted: Community Partnership Manager

Deleted:  and

Deleted: A

Deleted:   



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

52 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

T. Standards of Conduct 
CSB ensures that all staff, consultants, and volunteers will observe the program’s Standards of Conduct.  
All employees must sign the Standards of Conduct annually and the original will be maintained in their 
personnel file. 
 
Every employee, consultant and volunteer involved in the Program, must subscribe to the following: 

 Respect and promote the unique identity of each child/family. 

 Refrain from stereotyping on the basis of gender, race, ethnicity, culture, religion, or disability. 

 Follow program confidentiality policies concerning information about children, families, and 
other staff members. 

 Never leave a child alone/unsupervised while under their care. 

 Use positive methods of child guidance. 

 Never engage in corporal punishment, emotional/physical abuse, humiliation, intimidation, 
ridicule, coercion or threats. 

 Never prohibit a child from attending religious services outside the agency. 

 Never use methods of discipline that involve: 
o Isolation 
o The use of food as punishment or reward 
o The denial of basic needs 

 Provide a safe, healthy and accommodating environment that meets the children’s needs. 
 

Every employee engaged in the award/administration of contracts or other financial awards will sign a 
statement to the effect that they will not solicit or accept personal gratuities, favors, or anything of 
significant monetary value from contractors or potential contractors.  Additionally, employees will not 
engage in any form of picketing, protest, or other direct action that is in violation of law and must 
comply with Contra Costa County Administrative Bulletin 405.4. 
 
If a staff member, consultant, or volunteer violates any of the above Standards of Conduct, the following 
disciplinary steps may be followed: 

 Conference(s) with the individual’s supervisor to discuss implications of their behavior, and 
corrective action plans. 

 Further training for the individual may be provided. 

 A letter of Coaching and Counseling may be sent to the individual, detailing the seriousness of 
their violation(s) of the Standards of Conduct. 

 If the letter of Coaching and Counseling is ignored, the employee may receive further 
disciplinary action. 

 If the behavior of the individual does not change, disciplinary measures may be applied, such as 
Letter of Reprimand, suspension, and/or termination of employment. In some cases, 
termination may be the first discipline. 

 
U. Professional Behavior and Attire 
To ensure the health and safety of enrolled children and to foster professionalism at our child care 
centers and offices, staff is expected to adhere to the following dress code.  
 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

53 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Staff at child care centers, whether direct caregivers or support staff, must wear clean, neat, 
comfortable clothing and footwear suitable for the daily tasks of significant bending, walking, lifting, 
sitting and running. Central Kitchen staff must adhere to policies that specifically pertain to hygiene and 
attire.  

 Professional Behavior and Attire 
As representatives of County government, it is important that staff adhere to high standards of 
professional behavior at all times. Public and client perceptions of our staff and services can be 
significantly affected by a single negative interaction with any employee in our department.  

 
As professionals, staff members need to refrain from excessively negative behavior in all interactions 
with their colleagues, in meetings and training sessions, with clients, or the public. Such behavior can 
over time create a hostile work environment, be experienced as harassment, interfere with client access 
to services, or violate client rights. 
 
Examples of excessively negative behavior can include: rudeness, being overly brusque and impatient, 
showing contempt for others, being excessively critical and fault-finding, demeaning and sarcastic, 
disrespectful, slamming doors or files, raised voices, use of profanities, sexual and national origin 
harassment and discrimination, There may also be other behaviors that create a hostile or extremely 
unpleasant environment for staff or clients. 
 
Staff who engages in such behaviors will receive counseling and coaching from their supervisors. 
Continued engagement in unprofessional behavior after counseling and coaching has been provided 
may result in disciplinary action.      

 CSB Standards for Appropriate Attire 
o Shoes: heel height to a maximum of 1 inch, closed toe and heel required 
o Shorts: must reach the knee, transparent fabric is unacceptable. 
o Tops: prohibited are tops that expose the midriff, low cut necklines, backless, strapless, 

halter or tube tops, spaghetti straps, or any transparent material.   
o Skirts/dresses: hem must be knee length or longer; fabric may not be transparent. 
o Pants: hems of pants cannot drag on the floor, and waistband may hit no lower than the 

top of the hip.  Transparent fabric is unacceptable. 
o Jewelry: Earrings must be shorter than 1 inch from lobe, rings no higher than ¼ inch 

from shank.  Any jewelry that may pose a hazard to children or staff may not be worn to 
work. 

o Any articles of clothing with statements deemed by CSB to be political, offensive, or 
inappropriate are prohibited.  The display of ‘gang colors’ is prohibited.  

o Administrative staff shall dress in a manner that reflects a positive public image.  In 
general, appropriate business attire will include well maintained clothing, as described 
above.  ‘Casual Friday’ attire is acceptable, but must incorporate the above standards.  
Administrative staff may wear blue jeans on Casual Friday but may not be worn with 
sneakers, thong shoes, or T-shirts. 

 
V. Non-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policies 
It is the policy of Contra Costa County to maintain a work, service and program environment free of 
discrimination, harassment, or intimidation based on sex, gender, age, race, religion, national origin, 
ancestry marital status, sexual orientation, disability or medical condition. These policies are also 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

54 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

mandated by state and federal law. It is the policy of the Community Services Bureau to comply with all 
applicable state and federal statutes and regulations prohibiting discrimination in employment, 
contracting, buildings, facilities, and provision of services. All employees should be familiar with all of 
the provisions in the County’s “Notice of County Non-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policies” and 
the procedures for “Reporting Discrimination, Harassment, and Retaliation”.  
 
In addition to policies and regulations which prohibit harassment on the job on the basis of one’s 
membership in one of the protected classes as well as all forms of sexual harassment, please note that 
the County policy also states that: 

 “Employees are entitled to, and will be provided with, a workplace environment which is free 
from harassment…All employees are individually responsible for conducting themselves in ways 
that ensure others are able to work in an atmosphere free of discrimination, harassment or 
intimidation…Each employee has a duty to report incidents of unlawful discrimination and 
harassment. Retaliation for reporting discrimination or harassment or participating in an 
investigation of a discrimination claim is both unlawful and against County policy.” 

Supervisors have an affirmative and legal duty and responsibility to report all allegations of sexual and 
other forms of harassment or discrimination to their managers or supervisors. The Employment and 
Human Services Department will fully comply with these policies and will not tolerate discrimination, 
harassment, or intimidation in any form. Reports of violations of these policies will be promptly 
investigated and appropriate disciplinary action taken if warranted. This policy also includes more subtle 
forms of harassment, such as threats, name-calling, and use of slurs, innuendo, or misrepresentation of 
actions or intent to damage an employee’s reputation.  
  
W. Whistleblowers are Protected 
Community Services Bureau adheres to the California Whistleblower Protection Act (Government Code 
Sections 8547-8547.13) and EHSD Policy against Retaliation.  It is the public policy of the State of 
California to encourage employees to report or “blow the whistle” to an appropriate government or law 
enforcement agency when they have reason to believe their employer is violating a state or federal 
statue, or violating or not complying with a state or federal rule or regulation.  These violations may 
include fraud, waste, abuse, unnecessary government spending, an unsafe or unhealthy employer 
practices.   
 
A “whistleblower” is an employee afforded with the following protections: 

1. An employer may not make, adopt, or enforce any rule, regulation, or policy preventing an 
employee from being a whistleblower. 

2. An employer may not retaliate against an employee who is a whistleblower. 
3. An employer may not retaliate against an employee for refusing to participate in an activity that 

would result in a violation of a state or federal statute, or a violation or noncompliance with a 
state or federal rule or regulation. 

4. An employer may not retaliate against an employee for having exercised his or her rights as a 
whistleblower in any former employment. 

 
Information regarding possible violations of state or federal statutes, rules, or regulations, or violations 
of fiduciary responsibilities should be reported by calling the California State Attorney General’s 
Whistleblower Hotline at 1-800-952-5225.   
 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1,
2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

55 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

A copy of this Labor Code and how to report improper acts is posted at each CSB center.   
 
 
X. Protocol for Tracking Staff Absences 
Consistent staff attendance is critical to the operation of quality child development centers.  To maintain 
our daily staffing levels so that our work is completed effectively and efficiently it is necessary to keep 
accurate account of the use of these benefits. 
 
Use of vacation and personal leave accruals is by mutual agreement between the employee and the 
supervisor.  Request for use of this time must be made and approved in advance using the form 
provided by CSB.   
 
For employees who do not have pre-approved absence from work, each Site Supervisor is required to 
maintain a daily employee call-in log to record employee absences that were not pre-approved.  
Employees calling off of their shift must do so by 6:00am on the day of the absence.  For consecutive 
absences, employees must notify their supervisor by 3:00pm of the day prior.  If no communication 
between the employee and supervisor takes place during the first day of absence it is expected that the 
employee will be present for their shift on the next business day. The employee is required to provide 
the following information when calling in: Name, date of the absence, job classification, shift, time of 
the call, reason for not reporting to work. 
 
Supervisors are to track absences on the monthly Staff Absentee Tracking log that is provided in an Excel 
workbook. Assistant Directors are to review monthly Staff Absentee Tracking logs for analysis of staffing 
patterns, site needs for substitutes, etc. 
 
Y. Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 
CSB provides coverage under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA).  Eligible employees can receive up to 
18 weeks unpaid, job-protected leave in any 12 months period.  An “eligible” employee is an employee 
who had work for his/her employer for at least a year and had worked a minimum of 1,250 hrs. and 
meets any of the qualifying reasons listed below:  

 The birth of a child or placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster care 

 The employee’s own serious health condition 

 The employee’s need to care for her/his spouse, child, parent, due to his/her serious health 
condition 

 The employee is the spouse, son/daughter, parent, next of kin of a service member with a 
serious injury or illness (in this case the FMLA may be up to 26 weeks in a single 12 month 
period) 

 Qualifying emergency arising out of the fact that the employee’s spouse, son/daughter, parent 
is on active duty or call to active duty status in support of a contingency operation as a member 
of the National Guard or Reserves 

 
Employees needing to take FMLA are required to notify their supervisor and Personnel, and submit a 
medical certification or appropriate document/s issued by a court, law/enforcement agency or a military 
service entity showing need for the employee to take time from work.  Medical certification has to be 
provided on CCC Certification of Health Care Provider Form.  This form can be obtained from the CSB 
Personnel Unit.  The employee is required to submit the completed and signed by his/her doctor 

Deleted: W

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: X

Deleted: .



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

56 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

document within 15 calendar days of receiving the form from Personnel.  The CSB FMLA Coordinator will 
provide the employee with official letter approving/disapproving the FMLA and information on the 
employee’s benefits and rights while away of work.  
 
If a supervisor is aware that an employee is off work due to a condition qualifying under the FMLA, 
she/he should notify CSB Personnel on behalf of the employee.  Personnel will contact the employee 
and will provide information on his/her rights under the FMLA.  
 
While on FMLA, an employee may be eligible for Temporary Disability Benefits or Paid Family Leave. The 
employee is to make personal decision if (s)he wants to take advantage of these benefits. Employees are 
encouraged to contact CCC Benefits Unit at (925) 335-1746 for specific information regarding their 
benefits during time off work. While on FMLA, employees may choose to use their accruals. In this case, 
they are to contact their payroll clerk and make specific arrangements for the use of their accruals.   
 
Z. Confidentiality 
As public employees, CSB is governed by numerous federal, state, and county regulations that are 
designed to ensure that public resources are being administered in an ethical manner and that the right 
of both employees and the public CSB serves are respected and honored. These include regulations that 
ensure that the rights of individual employees are respected to work in an environment that is free of 
discrimination, intimidation, hostility, or retaliation. CSB department’s mission to serve the most 
vulnerable members of the community also requires even higher standards of professional conduct to 
ensure that rights are respected and that there will be no cause of additional harm and suffering. 
 
Knowing what these myriad regulations are and understanding their relationships to each other can be 
confusing. The purpose of this policy is to update and summarize the major policies that govern 
employee conduct. References will be made to other policy documents that contain the more detailed 
provisions. 
 
These policies will be reviewed with all existing employees and will be presented to and discussed with 
all new employees and temporary staff at the time of their orientation. New employees will sign a 
statement that certifies that they have received and read these Standards of Conduct.  
 
1. General Policies-Policies and procedures in this matter bind CSB employees who have access to 
confidential information.  The policy is: 

 No information about a child or family is to be released without written, parental informed 
consent if the material is personally identifiable. 

 “Personally identifiable” information is defined as information about a child or family that would 
make it possible to identify the child or family with reasonable certainty.  Such information 
includes: 

 The child’s name, address, telephone number 

 Medical record 

 Social Security number 

 Any other data that can readily identify the child or family. 
When the child’s name is attached to any of the following, that information is considered confidential: 

 Specific educational/medical screening 

 Diagnostic data 

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: Y

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

57 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Disability 

 Categorical diagnosis 

 Child’s functional assessment 

 Family needs assessment 

 Home visit reports 

 Progress reports 
 
2. Confidentiality Procedure 
All records containing information pertaining to a child and/or family must be kept in a locked file.  The 
locked file should be maintained at each center location, and the Site Supervisor shall designate a staff 
member to be responsible for the key. 
 
A list of individuals authorized to review files must be available at every center.  Any individual not on 
the list, but requesting access to files must be approved by the lead Teacher/Site Supervisor prior to 
release of files. 
 
Please refer to Record Keeping and Reporting Section for protocols for file review. 
An Individual Access Log must be kept in each file, and any individual working 
with/reviewing/monitoring the file must sign his/her name, date, and reason for accessing the file. 
 
Files or papers containing confidential material regarding a family must not be left on desks, tables, or 
other areas where others may have access to them.  After current business concerning a file is 
completed, the file must be returned to the file cabinet, and the cabinet locked. 
 
Discussions of family problems or situations are to be held only with those staff members working 
directly with the family.  Information should be shared only if it is relevant to that staff member in 
assisting the family.  The normal mode of information sharing is the Case Conference/Case 
Management. The following must be followed: 

 Problems of one family must not be discussed with another family. 

 Family situations/problems must not be discussed in the presence of parents, children, or 
visitors at the centers or division office. 

 Written information regarding families must not be shared with any community agency without 
express prior written authorization from the family. 

 After a child’s participation in the program has ended, no records of home visits, Case 
Conferences/Case Management, IEP’s or other confidential reports are to be forwarded to any 
school without prior written authorization from the parent(s). 

 Prior to using children’s photographs outside the program or allowing children to participate in 
research, parents’ written permission must be secured. 

 
3. Parent Access to Family Records 
The following protocols are followed with regards to family records: 

 Parents have full review / access rights to information regarding their children and themselves. 

 CSB has an obligation to explain to parents any information in the records that pertains to the 
child/family. 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

58 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Parents have the right, after reviewing their child’s records, to have them amended or 
corrected.  The request can be written or verbal; the Site Supervisor must approve it.   

 If the parents cannot come to an agreement with the Comprehensive Services team/Site 
Supervisor, then all explanations and requests for change must be kept with, and become part 
of, the child’s permanent record. 

 Parents may obtain from the Site Supervisor, upon written request, a list of locations of all 
personally identifiable information kept by CSB. 

 
AA. Staff Performance Appraisals 
1. A Uniform Service Rating System includes provision for periodic rating of employees’ performance for 
the purposes of: 

 Promotion 

 Transfer 

 Demotion 

 Termination 

 Salary adjustment 

 Re-hiring 

 Recommendation to future employers 

 Performance improvement 
 

Every employee is evaluated within the first six months of employment, in accordance with Contra Costa 
County probationary requirements.  A formal, written review of the employee is completed annually by 
the immediate supervisor.   
 
In the process of formal evaluation of the employees, CSB utilizes also peer feedback evaluation and self 
evaluation.  The information collected through the feedback evaluation tool is analyzed and summarized 
by the supervisor and included in the employee’s Performance Evaluation.  The employee is given the 
opportunity to evaluate his/her Professional Goals and submit the self evaluation form to his/her 
supervisor before the Performance Evaluation meeting.  The employee’s self evaluation is included in 
the Performance Evaluation.   
 
The initial six-month period is used as the final phase of the examination process.  It is utilized by the 
appointing authority for effective adjustment of new employees, and for release of employees whose 
performance is unsatisfactory.  Ongoing evaluation continues throughout employment. 
(For more information on the probationary period, see “Personnel Management Regulations, “Part 9, 
Sections 901 and 902, pages 9-10.) 
 
Performance Evaluation Schedules (due dates) are tracked monthly by the Personnel Unit and 
notifications are given directly to the immediate supervisors as well as the 2nd line supervisor and the 
Bureau Director. The immediate supervisor is also notified via the COPA/CLOUDS electronic system. 
 
2. When Completing Employee Evaluations 
The immediate supervisor rates an individual employee on work performance, efficiency, dependability, 
and adaptability.  Step ratings are made in a formal report by the immediate supervisor (responsible for 

Deleted: Z

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

59 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

the work of the employee being rated) for each employee at the end of the probationary period, and at 
the end of the first year of employment in the job occupied (and annually thereafter).   
 
In completing the Performance Evaluation for each employee the supervisor takes in consideration the 
feedback information received from the employee’s peers, as well as, the self evaluation completed by 
the employee.  At least two weeks before completing the employee’s evaluation, the supervisor will ask 
2-3 employees working closely and familiar with the employee to complete the appropriate feedback 
tool.  The supervisor will summarize and analyze the results and include them in the employees review.  
Prior to the meeting with the employee, the supervisor will also ask the employee to evaluate his/her 
performance in the area of Professional Goals.  The employee self-evaluation will be reviewed at the 
time of the Performance Evaluation meeting and included with the Performance Evaluation.   
Evaluations are filed in the employee’s personnel records. The formal report becomes a part of the 
employee's permanent personnel record. 
 
An employee who receives an unsatisfactory rating may be ineligible for a higher pay or job rating until a 
satisfactory rating has been received. 
 
An employee may be reassigned, demoted, or discharged for receiving an unsatisfactory rating. 
Both the employee and supervisor may review and discuss his/her performance and service rating, as 
well as their goals. The employee may review a step rating (as soon as possible) after the supervisor 
prepares the rating, but unauthorized persons may not see the rating.  After discussion, the employee 
must sign the rating form. 
 
Each employee shall receive a copy of his/her rating. 
The primary functions of supervisory personnel are:  1) guidance, and 2) improvement of the operation.  
Each supervisory visit shall be a positive approach to improvement, and add to the employee's 
contribution to the department. 
 
In accordance with section 648(A)(f) of the Head Start Act, staff and supervisors will collaboratively 
complete a Professional Development Plan that connects the employee’s professional goals to training 
and educational programs and/or resources that support attainment of such goals.  Each plan will clearly 
outline high quality activities that will improve the knowledge and skills of staff as relevant to their roles 
and functions in a manner that will improve delivery of program services to enrolled children and 
families. Supervisors shall ensure that the plans are regularly evaluated for their impact on teacher and 
staff effectiveness.  Professional Development Plans are part of the performance evaluation process and 
must be submitted with the completed evaluation tool. 
 
3. Supervisor’s Approval 
Before evaluations are reviewed with employees, they must be approved by the second level supervisor. 
The supervisor’s supervisor or designee reviews step ratings.  That reviewing official must: 

 Approve or disapprove the service rating 

 Change the service rating, without formal appeal procedures, when in the interest of sound 
administration 

 Discuss the rating with the employee 

 Upon request of the employee, provide an impartial review of the service rating. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

60 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

4. Appealing a Performance Evaluation 
If the employee is dissatisfied with the review/decision, the employee may appeal in writing (within ten 
days) to the CSB Director for an impartial review of their service rating.  The Bureau’s Director shall 
render a written decision, sustaining or modifying the rating to the employee within ten days following a 
hearing. 
 
If the employee is dissatisfied with the decision of the Community Services Director, the employee may 
appeal in writing (within ten days) the decision to the local authority for a review.  This authority reviews 
the appeal, rating, and Community Services Director's decision, and renders (in writing) a decision to the 
employee (within ten days). 
 
Policy Council must be involved in the decision if a recommendation to terminate an employee is given.  
Policy Council must approve the termination, in accordance with CSB regulations. 
 
BB. Chronological Supervision and Filing System 
Chronological Supervision is a management and record-keeping system that organizes and facilitates the 
tasks of supervision, staff development, and progressive discipline. It is based on the concept that all 
employees are trained and supervised over a chronological period of time. Since this training and 
supervision occurs over an indefinite time period, the documentation of these activities should be filed 
in the chronological order that they happened. Chronological supervision supports non-discriminatory 
documentation of employee professional growth and performance, increases management 
accountability, and contributes to personal and organizational development. Chronological Supervision 
files will contain all non-disciplinary correspondence and documents pertaining to the supervision of 
subordinate employees. Examples of mentoring and supervision include, but are not limited to 
recognition for excellent and/or consistent performance of assigned tasks; written instructions for 
improving job functioning with follow-up of monitoring activities; and documentation of meetings held 
with employees. 
 
Each site will maintain a site Chronological and Supervision File.  If a staff person’s site assignment 
changes, Site Supervisors are responsible for transferring the employee’s Chronological and Supervision 
File to the new assigned site. 
 
CC. Staff and Volunteer Health 
1. Volunteer Health 
In accordance with California Care Licensing Regulations, all volunteers (regardless of the number of 
hours volunteering) must sign and date form CSB232-Volunteer Health Statement (See Forms CSB232), 
indicating that they are in good health and pose no threat to the health and safety of the staff and 
children of the program. All volunteers  must provide proof of a negative TB test or negative chest x-ray, 
certified by a health care professional.  TB tests are not required for visiting experts. 
 
The test must be administered and the results documented by an authorized medical provider. CSB will 
help in obtaining a TB test with our LVN. Also, provide all potential volunteers with information 
regarding the latest schedule for the immunization clinics throughout the county.  Call 1-800-246-2494 
for clinic times and locations.  The cost is approximately $10.00, but may be covered under some 
insurance policies. 
 

Deleted: ¶
¶

Deleted: AA

Deleted: BB

Deleted: Individuals volunteering in the 
classroom on a regular basis

Deleted: , and parents volunteering for field 
trips and other special events.

Formatted

Formatted



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

61 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

A signed statement from a provider indicating the test date and result must be on file before the first 
day of volunteering at the site(s).  For parent volunteers, place the documentation behind the volunteer 
health statement in the health section of the comprehensive file.  For non-parent volunteers, place the 
documentation in file specific to that volunteer along with other required documentation such as 
fingerprints and volunteer applications.  Keep all information confidential. 
 
For frequency of testing and other details regarding TB test results, please refer to “Tuberculosis 
Screening Guidelines,” below. 
 
2. Staff Health 
New employees must  obtain and submit to CSB Personnel Unit a Physical and an Intradermal Mantoux 
5TU PPD skin test (note: Tine or other multiple puncture tests are not acceptable.) prior to starting 
work.  If an employee has had a positive PPD skin test in the past, a negative chest x-ray and physician’s 
statement must be obtained.  Initial Physicals and TB tests must be obtained within one year of the date 
of employment with CSB. 
 
In compliance with California Community Care Licensing regulation 101216(g)(1), staff shall obtain a 
health screening performed by or under the supervision of a physician not more than one year prior to 
or upon employment. No further re-examination is required by the State of California. 
 
3. Tuberculosis Screening Guidelines for Staff and Volunteers 
If staff or volunteers present a positive TB test (10mm or more of indurations), it must be followed by a 
chest x-ray and a statement from the examining physician indicating that the employee or volunteer is 
free from active disease. 
 
Employees and volunteers with a negative initial TB test, who do not live in the Richmond or San Pablo 
area, must repeat the test every four years.  Employees and volunteers with a negative initial TB test 
must complete a TB Risk Assessment every year (See Form CSB262) to determine whether annual TB 
testing is recommended. 
 
An employee or volunteer who lives in the Richmond or San Pablo area must have a TB test done yearly. 
Employees and volunteers with a documented positive initial TB Test that was followed with an x-ray 
showing no active disease do not require any additional exam.  These employees and volunteers must 
complete the TB Symptom Review (CSB260) every year to determine whether they require further 
medical evaluation. 
 
4. Hand Hygiene Standards at Sites 
To assist in the prevention of spreading infection and viruses, and for safety reasons, all staff at child 
care facilities, whether considered direct caregivers, clerical or management must adhere to the 
following standards of hand and fingernail hygiene. 
 
Artificial or natural fingernails must be clean, and at a maximum, ¼ inch in length. 
Large rings that extend above the ring base more than ¼ inch may not be worn while at work. 
Hands must be washed, at a minimum, before and after diapering, before and after food preparation or 
handling, before and after morning health check-in, after contact with any bodily fluid (blood, mucus 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

62 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

etc.), after personal use of the restroom, after playing with pets or other animals, after handling 
garbage, and after playground activities, including sandbox play. 
 
If staff are found in violation of the hand hygiene policy, they may be required, at the Site Supervisor’s 
or CSB management’s discretion, to rectify the problem by washing their hands, removing rings or 
trimming or cleaning nails before returning to their position. 
 
DD. Career Development Opportunities 
The County encourages/supports employees’ efforts to improve their skills, abilities, and knowledge to 
be more productive in their current assignments and to be prepared for career advancement (as 
opportunities arise).  Staff may be required to attend trainings and/or educational advancement 
programs to meet licensing, state and/or federal regulations. For example, the staff qualifications 
requirement in Section 648A(a) of the Improving Head Start for School Readiness Act of 2007, which 
requires teachers to obtain specific degrees by October 1, 2011 and September 30, 2013 may 
necessitate that staff complete additional training or other academic programs. As resources are 
available, CSB will support staff in attaining certain goals; however, it is the responsibility of CSB staff to 
meet the minimum qualifications and requirements of their position. 
 
Service Requirements may be established for certain professional development programs to comply 
with federal, state, or local regulations.  As mandated in the Improving Head Start for School Readiness 
Act of 2007, Section 648A (6), employees who receive financial assistance to pursue a degree shall: 

 Teach or work in a Head Start program for a minimum of 3 years after receiving the degree; or 

 Repay the total or a prorated amount of the financial assistance received based on the length of 
service completed after receiving the degree. 

 
Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau agrees that: 

 Career development activities are the joint responsibility of the individual and the County. 

 All staff members should engage in continuing education, whether it takes the form of formal 
courses of study, participation in technical society activities, attendance at meetings, reading, or 
other forms of communication with the profession.  CSB will make every effort possible to 
accommodate working schedules to permit occasional attendance at educational meetings.  

 To encourage continuing education, the Board of Supervisors has established a career 
development education policy.  Applications for assistance will be considered by the 
department and, subject to funding limitations. The details of this policy are outlined in 
Administrative Bulletin 112.9.  Funds may be provided for tuition, books, and other direct costs, 
providing that the following criteria are met: 

o The employee must start and complete course while associated with the County, within 
timelines. 

o The field of study must relate to assigned duties or prospective assignments. 
o Attendance at all meetings or classes is required, unless compelling reasons for missing 

sessions occur. 
o Passing grades must be maintained throughout the course. 

Certain classified, exempt, and project management employees may be eligible for reimbursement for 
up to $625 every two years for memberships in professional organizations, subscriptions to professional 
publications, professional engineering license fees required by the employee’s classification, and 

Deleted: CC

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

63 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

attendance fees at job-related professional development activities. Individual professional development 
reimbursement requests are authorized by the department head. 
 
Training sessions are held to provide opportunities for staff development and to help employees grow 
professionally.  Such sessions help orient employees to their assignments, explain policies and 
procedures, teach new skills and methods, and help prepare for a particular program.  Professional 
growth is accomplished through staff meetings and conferences, supervisory interviews, 
correspondence, extension courses, attendance at professional conferences, inspection tours, and 
directed readings. 
 
If an employee is directed to undertake a course of study or to attend any meeting or lecture requiring 
travel and/or expenditure of funds, the County reimburses the authorized expenses.  Time out of the 
office during normal working hours attending meetings will be counted as regular hours worked.  The 
details of allowable training travel and reimbursable expenses are outlined in Administrative Bulletins 
111.7 and 204.13 respectively. 
 
The department provides opportunities for employees to attend conferences which may benefit the 
employee and which would help to improve the department’s operation or service.  All employees must 
submit written reports to their supervisor within fourteen (14) days after attending a conference.  The 
written report should include a summary of ideas or methods, which may benefit or improve the 
services or operation of the department.  Requests to attend conferences are made to the department 
head.  
 
Teaching and technical staff members are encouraged to participate as active members of technical 
societies and professional organizations of their choice.  With prior approval, time off to attend local 
meetings of particular interest and benefit may be arranged.  The same pertains to national meetings 
dealing with subjects benefiting professional advancement. 
 
Ongoing staff meetings are held for all employees.  Individual employees may be called upon to present 
assigned topics to the group or be appointed to a committee to study special problems/lead discussions.  
All such meetings are held on department time and are designed to improve overall job 
performance/efficiency and services of the department. 
 
CSB has designated the Personnel Unit as the lead for professional development and training activities 
within the program.  
 
EE. Staff Training and Development 
1. Training and Technical Assistance Plan 
The Training and Technical Assistance Plan is reviewed and updated annually and included as part of the 
continuation grant process to promote program improvement and enhancement.  Senior managers, 
Content Area Experts, and other stakeholders are to submit projected trainings for each year that 
support the needs of their staff and meet program mandates, and are responsible for the delivery of 
such trainings.  These trainings are included in the Training Calendar for each program year.  Any 
training requested after the Training and Technical Assistance Plan is finalized will require approval by 
the Community Services Director or designee. 
 

Deleted: DD



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

64 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The designated Staff Development Coordinator should be informed of all scheduled CSB trainings in 
advance.  Aside from their own recordkeeping, training leaders are responsible for submitting original 
sign-in sheets and copies of training agendas and materials to the Staff Development Coordinator. 
The Training Calendar that has been developed is based, in part, on career development training needs. 
 
2. Staff Training and Development System 
Purpose/Philosophy: CSB delivery of high quality services depends on enhancing the skills, knowledge, 
and ability of the staff.  The management staff and Training Committee carefully design training and 
professional growth opportunities for staff, which serve as critical resources for maintaining and 
improving program quality. 
 
i. Strategic Training Plan 
This reflects the training and staff development needs identified through Community Assessment, 
Program Self-Assessment, Performance Indicator Report (PIR), Ongoing Monitoring, Federal and State 
Reviews and Regulations. The Strategic Training Plan is closely aligned to CSB short and long term goals 
and objectives. 
 
ii. Annual Training Plan is developed based on:  Staff Training and Professional Development Survey 
results from the program’s self-assessment and the ongoing monitoring, staff’s needs and goals 
identified in their performance evaluations, and federal, state and county regulations. 
 
iii. Training Calendar 
This identifies training topics and events for a 12-month period.  It is updated quarterly and training 
opportunities and events are reflected on a monthly program calendar available to each CSB staff 
member.  In addition, staff members are informed of ongoing community training events and 
opportunities. 
 
iv. Training Budget 
This is developed annually to support the implementation of the Training Plan.  The budget also provides 
for additional training activities, as well as for training materials and equipment. 
 
v. Training Delivery / Implementation-Required Staff/Management Training 

 Orientation – All new staff are required to complete a bureau orientation covering all 
Department and County policies relating to employment.  A site-based and program orientation 
is conducted within the first 2 weeks of employment. Additional orientation information is 
included in the New Employee Orientation section below. 

 Ongoing Training – provided throughout the year in a timely and balanced fashion to ensure 
that staff possess the knowledge, skills, and expertise required to fulfill their job responsibilities 
and to operate a successful program. 

 Head Start Required Training – provided to ensure that line and management staff develop skills 
and knowledge needed to operate a successful and effective Head Start program, one that fully 
meets the Head Start Performance Standards and the program objectives of the grantee. 

 California Department of Education (CDE) Required Training – provided to meet the 
requirements of the Exemplary Program Standards and the State regulations. 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

65 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Community Care Licensing (CCL) Required Training – provided to ensure that line and 
management staff have knowledge and skills to provide services and operate a program in 
congruence with the Community Care Licensing requirements. 

 Contra Costa County (CCC) Required Training – provided to all CSB staff to ensure that the 
program creates a working environment that meets the County requirements and that staff 
members conduct themselves in a manner prescribed by the Code of Conduct. 

 Domestic Violence Training- All Head Start and Early Head Start staff are trained on an annual 
basis regarding domestic violence.  This training includes identifying the effects these situations 
may have on a child’s behavior, how to talk with a parent who has made a disclosure of 
domestic violence, and community resources available to those in need. The role of staff is to 
listen to the parents’ needs and provide specialized resources/assistance as requested and 
appropriate following the procedure for supporting families in crisis. 

 
vi. Staff/Professional Development 
Staff/Professional Development activities are the joint responsibility of the individual and CSB.  All staff 
members are encouraged to improve their knowledge and skills to advance in their career and 
effectively serve enrolled children and families.  Staff/Professional Development training 
supported/offered by CSB are as follows: 

 Basic Professional Level – Staff members are encouraged and supported to engage in continuing 
education. 

 Participation in activities leading to an associate or bachelor degree – Teaching staff working 
toward their associate or bachelor degree are supported by various continuing education 
programs offered by CSB. Additional information is included in the Continuing Education 
Programs section below.  
 

All permanent County employees are eligible for financial assistance as specified by the policy for 
training (Administrative Bulletin 112.9) and reimbursement (Administrative Bulletin 204.13).   
 
Additional financial support may be provided for CSB teaching staff through the Teacher Degree 
Program, while funding is available, as approved by the Board of Supervisors in May of 2009. 
 
With the support of educational advancement grants for teaching staff awarded to CSB, staff is eligible 
for the benefits specified in such grant. 
 
Whenever possible, appropriate accommodations are made to allow staff participation in the training 
opportunities leading toward an associate or bachelor degree. 
 
CSB makes every effort to accommodate the work schedule to permit staff’s attendance in formal 
training classes, conferences, and professional meetings. 
 
Staff receive information about classes offered through the Community Colleges, Adult Schools, 
community based workshops, and conferences. 
 
vii. Teacher Assistant Trainee (TAT) Program – Staff with less than 12 units in Early Childhood Education 
(ECE) are given the opportunity to participate in an 18-month training program to receive their 12 units 
in ECE as required for the Associate Teacher Permit. Head Start parents seeking a career in early 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

66 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

childhood education and development are encouraged to apply for the TAT position and participate in 
the TAT program. 

 
viii. Clerical Assistant Trainee (CAT) Program – Income-eligible Contra Costa Residents, including parents, 
are provided with employment, mentorship, on-the-job training and support in establishing and 
pursuing career advancement objectives and goals within the field of clerical support and administrative 
services.   
 
ix. Professional Growth Activities for renewal of existing or receiving of a new Child Development Permit 
–staff are provided the opportunity to participate in a variety of training/ professional development 
activities offered by CSB or the educational community, leading to completion of the CDE required 
professional growth hours for Child Development Certification. It is the responsibility of the employee to 
ensure that all renewal or upgrade requirements are met to maintain a valid Child Development permit 
as required by their position.  

 CSB managers and supervisors, who are certified Professional Growth Advisors, counsel program 
staff and provide them with effective guidance and assistance in accomplishing their 
professional goals. 

 Participation in professional organizations and technical societies – staff are encouraged and 
supported to participate in technical societies and professional organizations. 

 Staff are given time off to attend meetings/conferences, whenever possible. 

 Staff’s membership in the NHSA is paid by CSB.  Participation in other professional organizations 
and technical societies is governed by the CCC Personnel Management Regulations (PMRs).  

 
x. Parent training is conducted throughout the year in a variety of settings including: 

 Annual Parent Conferences 

 Monthly Policy Council Meetings 

 Monthly Parent Committee Meetings 

 Policy Council training events 

 Monthly Parent Trainings (in each part of the County) 

 Annual Trainings 
 
xi. Evaluation and Monitoring 
Evaluation and monitoring of the training activities are effective ways to determine the extent to which 
the training achieved its objectives and to plan follow-up activities.  They also ensure a consistent 
sequence in the whole training process.  The following tools are used to evaluate and monitor the Staff 
Training and Development process: 

 Staff Performance Evaluations - provide information for effectiveness of training, follow-up 
activities, individual training needs. 

 Tracking System - provides data regarding individual staff training and the sequence for balance 
of training opportunities in general. 

 Training Summary - provides information about effectiveness of the training, the follow-up 
activities and the need for technical assistance. 

 Ongoing Monitoring and Self-Assessment findings - provide information for the update of the 
training plan.  Monitoring and Self-Assessment are used to determine the training needs and 
professional development activities for the next school year and for the next three-year 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

67 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Strategic Plan.  The Staff Training and Development System operate in a cycle.  The results from 
the Evaluation and Monitoring are crucial elements for the beginning of the new planning cycle. 

 
FF. New Employment Orientation 
1. All new employees will receive a CSB orientation covering department and county policies and 
programs and will sign a New Employee General Orientation Record form.  The Personnel Unit is 
responsible for conducting New Employee Orientation Trainings, which include but are not limited to:  

 CSB Mission Statement and Organizational Structures 

 Employee Rights and Responsibilities 

 Payroll and Claiming Expenses 

 Employee Benefits and Training 

 Information Technology and Systems 
 

2. All newly employed teaching staff, including Site Supervisors, will receive an Education Orientation.  
The CSB Education Team is responsible for conducting the Education Orientation, which includes, but is 
not limited to: 

 Performance Standards 

 Job Descriptions 

 Curriculum goals and objectives 

 Screenings, assessment, individualization, and parent-teacher conferences 

 Kindergarten transition 

 Positive Guidance and Discipline 

 Project Approach 

 Lesson Planning 
 
Additional initial and ongoing orientation trainings will be provided to new employees as required by 
County, State and Federal regulations. 
 
All volunteers and temporary/substitute staff will review the CSB Substitute and Volunteer Handbook, 
and will sign the Handbook receipt which will be kept on file at the center and the personnel files.  Both 
volunteers and substitute staff will also receive on-site orientation at the center/office.  Substitute staff 
additionally will complete the Substitute Orientation Checklist with the Substitute Coordinator. 
 
GG. Continuing Education Programs 
CSB will make every effort to support staff pursuing a degree in higher education that is relevant to the 
public services provided by CSB.   
 
1. Community Services Degree Program (CSDP) 
This program is offered to CSB staff in accordance with Administrative Bulletin 112.9 and section G.25 of 
these Policies and Procedures. CSB staff enrolled in courses required to complete an associate or 
bachelor degree are encouraged to participate in this program and receive the benefits outlined in 
Administrative Bulletin 112.9. 
 
In addition, CSB is committed to support teaching staff required to obtain an advanced degree in early 
childhood education, or related field, as specified in the Teacher Qualifications Section 648(A)(2) of the 

Deleted: EE

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: teaching staff

Deleted: outlined in the Orientation Protocol 
for Newly Hired Teaching Staff.

Deleted: FF



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

68 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Improving Head Start for School Readiness Act of 2007.  With the financial support of grants issued by 
the Administration of Children and Families, CSB has established the following continuing education 
programs through the duration of such grants: 
 
 
2. Teacher Degree Program (TDP) 
This program is available to all teaching staff interested in pursuing an associate degree or baccalaureate 
degree in early childhood education or related field.  Two program models are offered through the TDP, 
which provide several support systems to financial, tutorial, mentoring, and technological training and 
equipment.  
 
i. Individualized Education Plan: Established between the TDP participant and a college 
counselor/advisor at the college or university of attendance.  These participants have chosen to take the 
required courses for their associate or bachelor degree at their own pace, under the guidance of the 
college or university.  They are aware of the degree completion timelines and will ensure timely 
completion of all required coursework to meet the mandate deadline.   
 
ii. Structured Cohort with a local four-year college:  CSB has established a partnership with California 
State University Sacramento (CSUS) to deliver a cohort program with 14 CSB teaching staff working 
towards a Bachelor of the Arts in Early Development, Care and Education after completion of eight 
consecutive semesters.   Additional cohorts may be offered as funding sources become available. 
Program Requirements: 

• All participants must sign the Teacher Degree Program Agreement with Contra Costa County.  
The Agreement outlines both parties’ responsibilities as follows: 
 

The TDP participant agrees to: 

 Enroll in a program leading to an associate or baccalaureate degree in Early Childhood 
Education, or related field. 

 Consistently maintain enrollment in part-time classes; at a minimum of 8 quarter units or 6 
semester units until you complete an associate or baccalaureate degree program. 

 Earn a grade of “C” or better for each course. 

 Complete the required coursework for an associate or baccalaureate degree in Early Childhood 
Education, or related field. 

 Meet with a CSB mentor and/or college/university academic advisor at least once every 
quarter/semester to discuss your academic progress.  

 Submit a copy of the classes registered for at the beginning of each quarter/semester to CSB’s 
Personnel Office. 

 Submit a copy of transcripts at the end of each quarter/semester to CSB’s Personnel Office. 

 Return ALL books reimbursed/paid by CSB to the Personnel Office at the end of each 
quarter/semester.  The books will be available for future use by other TDP participants. 

 As stated in Section 648A (6) of the Improving Head Start for School Readiness Act of 2007, 
commit to continue your employment with Community Services Bureau for a minimum of three 
years after having completed your degree program, or repay the total or a prorated amount of 
the financial assistance received based on the length of service completed after receiving the 
degree. 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

69 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Not drop or withdraw from any class.  If you drop a class, it is at the discretion of CSB to 
reinstate you in the program. 

 Maintain an updated Teacher Degree Program binder with all required degree tracking 
information. 

                                                      
 Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau agrees to: 

 Reimburse/pay tuition fees for courses taken at an accredited college or university required to 
complete an associate or baccalaureate degree in Early Childhood Education, or related field, up 
to a maximum of $1,115 per quarter or $1,486 per semester.   

 Reimburse/pay for books required for the courses taken to complete an associate or 
baccalaureate degree, up to a maximum of $300.00/quarter or $400.00/semester. 

 Reimburse/pay for your campus Parking Permit. 

 Work with CSB staff, local colleges and universities, and community organizations to provide 
mentorship, tutorial, and other support services. 

 Provide a Teacher Degree Program Binder where program information and degree tracking 
documents can be organized. 

 
Degree Completion Timelines: 

 Participants must have a bachelor degree in early childhood education or related field by 
September 30, 2013.  

 
HH. Delegate Agency Policies 
The Delegate Agency develops their own policies and procedures and are reviewed annually by the 
Grantee during the Self-Assessment.  
 
The Delegate Agency is under contractual agreement to adhere to all local, state, and federal 
regulations, as applicable. 
 
II. Short-Term Contract Employees 
Contract employees working over one year must have the approval of Contra Costa County.   
The need for contract labor is determined and funds must be available for contract labor. 
 
Selection of persons to fill contract labor positions is determined by the appointing authority or 
designee. 
 
Contra Costa County Managers and Directors give input into the development of the Service Plan. 
 
Please see reference to contracts and grants under Record Keeping and Reporting.  
 
JJ. Union Membership 
Contra Costa County follows the State of California Legislature, adopting a set of codes pertaining to 
employer-employee relations for public agencies as follows: 

 The Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors recognizes collective bargaining units to 
represent certain classifications of County employees - to determine the wishes to be 
represented, and by which organizations. 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: ¶
¶

Deleted: GG

Deleted: HH

Deleted: II

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

70 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Representatives of the collective bargaining unit provide literature/information regarding the 
services of that unit, and conditions of employment (agreed to by the Board of Supervisors and 
that collective bargaining unit). 

 
The Board of Supervisors approves processes by which representatives of the bargaining unit may use 
Contra Costa County time, facilities, and bulletin boards to communicate with members. 
The collective bargaining unit provides its members with information regarding these matters.  
Questions relating to policies guiding the collective bargaining process are directed to: 
 
Human Resources Department 
Employee Relations Division 
651 Pine Street, Second Floor 
Martinez, CA 94553 
 
KK. Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Policy 
CSB shall not illegally discriminate in their recruitment, selection, promotion, or implementation of 
personnel policies and procedures against any person without regard to race, religion, sex, sexual 
orientation, national origin, age, disability, or military status.  All applicable state and federal laws will be 
followed including, but not limited to Title VI, and Title VII, of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; 
the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act 
Amendments of 1974; the Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987; the Americans with Disabilities Act of 
1990 and the Civil Rights Act of 1991.  Employment Discrimination procedures are set forth in Contra 
Costa County Administrative Bulletin 429.3. 
 
LL. Approval of New Personnel Policies and Revisions 
All personnel policies must be approved by Community Services Bureau, Policy Council, the County 
Human Resources Department, and the Board of Supervisors.  Personnel policies and procedures must 
be consistent with collective bargaining agreements, and approved by County Counsel and County 
Human Resources as appropriate.  The process is as follows: 

 A policy is drafted with input from managers and program staff, related committees, and 
appropriate department personnel. 

 County Counsel and County HR review it as appropriate. 

 The draft policy is submitted to appropriate Managers and Assistant Directors for review/input 
before it is submitted to the Community Services Director for review and approval. 

 After the Community Services Director’s approval of the draft policy, it is submitted to the Policy 
Council for review and approval. 

 If the draft policy is health-related, the draft is reviewed by the Health Advisory Committee 
before submission to the Policy Council. 

 The draft policy must be consistent with written policies of collective bargaining agreements. 

 The draft policy is submitted to the Board of Supervisors for review and approval. 

 If the content of a policy has changed since the Policy Council’s original approval, the Policy 
Council must approve the final version. 

 After personnel policies and procedures have been approved, they are made available to staff 
electronically and in hard copy if requested. 

 Policies and procedures are translated as needed. 

Deleted: JJ

Deleted: KK



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

71 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Policies and procedures are being made available in Braille as needed. 

 Community Services Director and Personnel Director are responsible for amending, revising, or 
otherwise modifying these policies and procedures. 

  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

72 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

VIII. Fiscal 
A. Advance Amount for Travel 
Advance amounts for travel are not allowed for County employees. 
 
B. Travel Reimbursement-County Employees 
County employees are allowed compensation for mileage, meals and miscellaneous other travel 
expenses. Eligible individuals are entitled to claim reimbursement for actual, reasonable, and necessary 
expenses arising from the discharge of their official duties, subject to limitations established by law and 
policy. 
 
1. Mileage 
As authorized by the department head or designee, use of private automobiles may be reimbursed for 
mileage between an individual’s normal work location and other designated work locations.  The 
reimbursement rate is set by the County, adjusted periodically to conform to IRS approved rates.  Please 
see note in item #4 below for the time frame of submitting mileage reimbursements.  
 
2. Meals 
Actual expenses, including tax and gratuity, for individual meals will be reimbursed.  However, such 
reimbursement shall not exceed the following individual maximums: 

 Breakfast: $10.00 

 Lunch: $20.00 

 Dinner: $35.00 
 
When away from the normal work area for an entire day, individuals eligible for meal reimbursement 
may claim reimbursement for the actual cost of each individual meal, notwithstanding the maximum per 
meal amounts specified above.  However, the total amount claimed for the day shall not exceed $65.00. 
 
3. Other Travel Expenses 

 Bridge tolls, parking; Telephone and facsimile charges required in connection with County 
business; BART or bus fares; and Tips, parking, and checking fees in accordance with local 
custom. 

 
See County Admin Bulletin #204.13 (02-20-08) regarding expense reimbursement and #111.7 (07-18-06) 
regarding travel. 
 
C. Travel Reimbursement-Parent Reimbursement for Policy Council Activities 
Per HSPS 1304.50(f), Policy Council, Policy Committee, and Parent Committee reimbursement- Grantee 
and delegate agencies must enable low-income members to participate fully in their group 
responsibilities by providing, if necessary, reimbursements for reasonable expenses incurred by the 
members (i.e. childcare and transportation).   
 
Parents requesting reimbursement should complete and submit Form CSB 325 to the Clerk of the Policy 
Council who will verify the request and determine the amount of reimbursement.  After approval is 
received from the ASAIII for Policy Council, a check will be issued, no later than 30 days after the 
request. 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

73 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Reimbursements are given for approved Policy Council activities only (i.e. monthly PC meetings or 
committee meetings).  Exceptions must be preapproved before reimbursements are issued. Mileage is 
calculated using distance from home to meeting location. Childcare hours include reasonable travel time 
to and from meeting and is based on reasonable arrival time to the approved activity. 
 
Representatives attending conferences and out-of-area meetings will be given a per diem allotment for 
meals and ground transportation, and reimbursed for childcare expenses. Travel requests must be 
submitted a minimum of 30 days prior to the travel date to allow ample time for approval and advance 
processing.  Upon return from the trip, Liquidation of Cash Advances requires that all receipts must be 
submitted to the appropriate PC staff person no more than 7 days after return from travel.   
 
If receipts are not received within the 7 day timeframe, a verbal reminder will be given via the ASAIII 
responsible for Policy Council. 
 
If receipts are still not received after a reasonable amount of time, a certified letter will be sent to the 
representative and a copy will be maintained in the CSB PC travel files. 
 
Failure to return receipts within the allotted time will prevent the opportunity to attend future 
conferences and can prevent reimbursement for other PC activities. 

 
*Note-Approved travel reimbursement rates are provided to parents at the beginning of each program 
year and prior to travel. 
 
D. Using Employee’s Own Funds for County Expenditures 
Only in an emergency should an employee use his/her own funds or personal credit cards to purchase 
materials/services for a County purpose.  An “emergency” is when: 

 An event occurs which requires material or service to correct a safety hazard, or to prevent 
damage to facilities or equipment. 

 A significant program need occurs which will have a significant impact on the goals of the 
program. 

 Note: Lack of planning is not considered an emergency. 

 While it is not encouraged, employees may purchase minor items that would not meet the 
criteria of an emergency as stated above.  The purchase of minor items that are required to 
meet program needs must: 

o Be approved by the Assistant Director (AD) in writing if under $100.00. 
o Anything over $100.00 must be approved by the Director, Division Manager or designee. 

 
E. Reimbursement for Expenses - Employees 
Employees will be reimbursed for approved, necessary eligible expenses, provided that reimbursement 
requests are made on the appropriate forms, in a timely manner and with receipts.  When employees 
incur expenses for an approved purpose, one of the following procedures occurs for getting reimbursed: 
 
1. Petty Cash – Most of the emergencies involving minor purchases can be met by use of the 
department’s petty cash fund maintained in each Division Administrative Office.  Normally, this fund is 
to be used for general office needs and for minor emergency requirements.  A supervisor or employee 

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

74 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

may present a request for petty cash approved by an Assistant Director, to the Petty Cash Fund 
Custodian for payment.   
 
2. Demand (Form D15) – (See EHSD Intranet> Community Services> CSB Forms > Fiscal > Demand D15). 
In the event you are unable to get payment from the petty cash fund, you may use the Demand (Form 
D-15) to get reimbursed.  This form is to be used to reimburse employees for non-travel related 
purchases.  This form should be used for items of small value, as defined above, not related to travel or 
entitlements.  
 
3. Employee Travel Demands (See EHSD Intranet> Community Services> CSB Forms > Fiscal > Travel 
Demand (Form M8154 Rev. 11/09) –– This form is designed for reporting an employee’s expenses 
relating to travel, mileage, or for other employee benefits or entitlements such as training costs.  It will 
normally not be used for any other purpose.  The purpose for each expense must be shown; for 
example, mileage should show the destination, and the reason for the trip (See Employee Handbook). 
 
Note: County regulations allow you to include expenses for only one month on a single Travel Demand.  
For example, if you have expenses for May and June, you may not combine expenses on one form, but 
must submit two separate forms - one for May and one for June.  Demands are to be submitted to your 
immediate supervisor for approval.  Claims should be submitted within one month of completion of 
travel.  The Bureau has no obligation to pay travel expense reimbursement submitted more than three 
months following completion of the travel. If an employee has over three months of mileage 
reimbursement to claim, the employee must submit a request letter, stating the reason for submitting a 
late claim, to Bureau Director or designee for approval.  
 
F. Use of Procurement Cards 
County Procurement Cards are assigned to an employee at the discretion of the EHSD Director and CSB 
Director. Card holders must abide by all policies as stated in the Procurement Card Manual, County 
Administrative Bulletin 111.8, and County Administrative Bulletin 204.13. 
 
CSB card holders must obtain written approval from a Senior Administrative Manager prior to making a 
purchase to ensure that all expenditures are known about at the time the Approving Official is reviewing 
and approving the monthly Statement of Account. 

 The Procurement Card is to be used for official County business purposes only and may not be 

used for any personal transactions. 

 Card holders are responsible for adherence to all County Policies and Procedures regardless of 

whether a transaction is allowed at the point of sale. 

 The Procurement Card is not intended to avoid or bypass appropriate purchasing procedures. 

 Each card has a preset transaction, 24 hour, and billing cycle spending limit which varies by card.  

Employees are not authorized to exceed their spending limits. 

 Disputes to charges must be made within 60 days of the statement date. 

 Authorized Purchases include: 

o Small Tools/ Computer supplies 

o Safety/ First Aid 

o Books/Subscriptions 

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

75 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

o Office Supplies (If not available through our office supply contractor) 

o Conference Registration/ Travel ( an approved travel request is still required) 

 Unauthorized Purchases include: 

o Repetitive purchases better served under a blanket purchase order 

o Meals/ Alcohol /Entertainment 

o Local/ Long distance telephone charges/Internet connection costs 

o Parking/Fuel 

o Committee membership/Professional Membership Dues 

o Services of any kind 

o Items to be reimbursed through a travel demand 

o Items available under a County Contract 

o Cash/ Gift Card/ Gift Certificate/ Money Order, etc. 

o Fines/Donations 

o Any expense prohibited under County Administrative Bulletins 

 A log must be kept of all purchases which includes: 

o Charges split between the appropriate org codes 

o Original sales receipt/ credit or return receipts/packing slips 

G. Other Compensation 
See Contra Costa County Personnel Policies and Procedures. 
 
H. Salary 
Employee salaries are set according to procedures established by the County Board of Supervisors and 
the Memorandum of Understanding as agreed to by the Board and collective bargaining units. 
 
The Salary schedule and range of steps for Community Services Bureau classifications is available in each 
work location. 
 
New employees generally are appointed at the minimum step of the salary range established for the 
particular class of positions to which the appointment is made. The appointing authority, however, may 
fill a particular position at a step above the minimum of the range. 
 
Upon satisfactory completion of the probationary period, employees receive a salary increase to the 
next step. 
 
The performance of each employee, except those employees already at the maximum salary step of the 
appropriate salary range, is reviewed on the employee’s anniversary date to determine whether the 
salary of the employee is to be advanced to the next higher step in the salary range.  Advancement is 
granted on the affirmative recommendation of the appointing authority, based on satisfactory 
performance by the employee.  The appointing authority may recommend denial of the increment or 
denial subject to one additional review at some specified date before the next anniversary, with the 
date set at the time the original report is returned.  This decision may be appealed through the 
Grievance Procedure. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

76 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Except as provided by County procedures, increments within range shall not be granted more frequently 
than once per year, nor shall more than one step within range increment be granted at one time, except 
as otherwise provided in deep class resolutions.  Nothing may be construed to make the granting of 
increments mandatory on the County. 
 
If an operating department verifies in writing that an administrative or clerical error was made in failing 
to submit the documents needed to advance an employee to the next salary step on the first of the 
month when eligible, the advancement will be made retroactive to the first of the month when eligible. 
 
A part-time employee is paid a monthly salary (in the same ratio to the full-time monthly rate to which 
the employee would be entitled as a full-time employee) as the number of hours per week in the 
employee’s part-time work schedule bears to the number of hours in the full-time work schedule of the 
department. 
 
Any employee who is appointed to a position of a class allocated to a higher salary range than the class 
previously occupied - except as provided by County procedures - receives the salary in the new salary 
range, which is next higher than the rate received before promotion.  If this increase is less than five 
percent, the employee’s salary is adjusted (to the step in the new range which is at least five percent 
greater than the next higher step), provided that the next step does not exceed the maximum salary for 
the higher class. 
 
Any employee who is demoted (except as provided under Contra Costa County procedures) will have 
the salary reduced to the monthly salary step in the range for the class of positions to which he or she 
has been demoted next lower than the salary received before demotion.  If this decrease is less than five 
percent, the employee’s salary will be adjusted to the step in the new range which is five percent less 
than the next lower step provided that the next step is not less than the minimum salary for the lower 
class. 
 
Whenever a demotion is the result of layoff, cancellation of position, or displacement by another 
employee with greater seniority rights, the salary of the demoted employee will be the step on the 
salary range which would have been achieved if the employee had been continuously in the position to 
which he/she has been demoted, all within range increments being granted. 
 
Whenever any employee voluntarily demotes to a position in a class having a salary range lower than 
that of the class from which he/she demotes, the salary remains the same if the steps in the new 
demoted salary range permit.  If not, the new salary is set at the step next below the former salary. 
 
I. Bilingual Pay Differential 
A salary differential of one hundred dollars ($100) per month is paid to incumbents of positions 
requiring bilingual proficiency as designated by the appointing authority and the Bureau Director of 
Human Resources. 
 
The bilingual salary differential is prorated for employees working less than full-time and/or who are on 
an unpaid leave of absence for a portion of any given month. 
(See Contra Costa County Management Handbook.) 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

77 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

J. Accounting Certificate Differential 
Incumbents of Management professional accounting, auditing or fiscal officer positions who are duly 
qualified as a CPA, CIA, CMA or CGFM shall receive a positive differential of five percent (5%) of base 
monthly salary. 
(See Contra Costa County Management Handbook.) 
 
K. Management Longevity Pay 
Employees who have completed ten (10) years of appointed service for the County shall receive a two 
and one-half percent (2.5%) longevity differential. 
 
Employees who have completed fifteen (15) years of appointed service for the County shall receive an 
additional two and one-half percent (2.5%) longevity differential. 
(See Contra Costa County Management Handbook.) 
 
L. Management Paid Personal Leave (Admin Leave) 
Un-represented management employees (exempt from payment of overtime) receive paid 
administrative leave (90 hours per year) annually. 
 
All management employees exempt from payment of overtime are authorized paid administrative leave 
credit for each year, in accordance with current Contra Costa County policies. 
 
Use of administrative leave credits may be requested whenever desired by the employee; however, 
approval of requests is subject to the same department process as used for vacation requests. 
 
All unused paid administrative leave will be canceled on December 31 of each year. 
For further information on management paid administrative leave, see Contra Costa County Admin 
Bulletin #423.3 (06-23-98). 
 
M. Unemployment Compensation 
Employees of Contra Costa County may be eligible for unemployment compensation.  The cost of 
unemployment compensation is borne by the County. To qualify for unemployment compensation, an 
employee must: 

 Be unemployed and registered with the State Employment Development Department for work 

 Have separated for good cause 

 Have received minimum base-period wages as currently established by State law or regulation 

 Comply with regulations in regard to filing claims 

 Be available to immediately accept suitable work 

 Be actively seeking work 

 Be physically able to work 
 

On all voluntary resignations, a Notice of Voluntary Termination of Employment (AK-219) must 
accompany the Notice of Separation (AK-16), and must be immediately forwarded to the Personnel 
Office, Records Division. 
 
On non-voluntary separations, complete details must be attached to the separation notice (with the 
exception of rejection of probation separation). 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

78 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

See County Admin Bulletin #420.1 (01-19-81) for further information. 
 
N. Vehicle Use 
The County establishes policies on the use and operation of vehicles, both County-owned and privately 
owned, on County business. 
 
Please see County Admin Bulletins #507.8 (02-20-08), County Vehicle Operation, and #535 (06-22-90), 
Use of Private Vehicles, for further information. 
NOTE:  For Contra Costa County’s Policies and Procedures, please refer to the Contra Costa County’s 
Administrative Bulletins and Management Handbook.  
 
O. In-Kind (Non-Federal Share) 
1. Background 
The Head Start Act stipulates that the Federal share of the total costs of the Head Start program will not 
exceed 80 percent of the total grantee budget unless a waiver has been granted (Head Start Act Section 
640(b)). If the grantee agency fails to obtain and document the required 20 percent, or other approved 
match, a disallowance of Federal funds may be taken. Non-Federal share must meet the same criteria 
for allowability as other costs incurred and paid with Federal funds. 
 
2. Definitions 

 Allowable Cost: Third party in-kind contributions shall count toward satisfying a cost-sharing or 
matching requirement only where, if the party receiving the contribution were to pay for them, 
they would be an allowable cost. Allowable costs are determined by the tests of reasonableness, 
necessity and allocability as defined in Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circulars A-21, 
A-87 and A-122.  

 In-Kind: Property or services that benefit a grant supported project or program and are 
contributed by non-Federal third parties without charge to the grantee. In-kind contributions 
may consist of the value of real property and equipment and the value of goods and services 
directly benefiting the grant program and specifically identifiable to it. In-kind match is counted 
for the period when the services are provided or when the donated goods are received and 
used.  

 Volunteer: An individual providing a service that is necessary to the operation of the Head Start 
program at no cost to a grantee agency. 

 CSB Categories for third party in-kind contributions: 

 Classroom Help (CH): In-Kind to assist in the classroom.  

 Field Trip Help (FT): In-Kind to assist supervising children and their activities during a field trip. 

 Home Visits (HV): Volunteer at Home visits where parent is involved in child-directed activities.  

 Parent Meetings/Family Events (PM): Volunteer at Parent Meetings: Participating in site based 
events. 

 Policy Council Meetings/Subcommittees (PC): Volunteer at Policy Council and approved related 
events. 

 Home Activities (HA): Volunteer working on educational goals with child at home. 

 Donated Goods (DG): Materials donated directly to HS including land, buildings, or space that 
offset normal operating expenses. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

79 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Donated Services (DS): Time provided by professionals within the community on a professional 
level; i.e. Fire person, fence builder, mechanic, library aide, doctor, dentist, counselor and other 
professions. 

 
3. Values of third party in-kind contributions will be determined and computed by CSB Fiscal Unit for the 
following contributions:  

 Classroom Help 

 Field Trip Help 

 Home Visit Volunteer  

 Site Meeting/Family Events Volunteer 

 Policy Council Meetings/Subcommittee Volunteer 

 Home Activities Volunteer 
 
4. Donated Goods and Services (professional) will be determined by the community member or 
professional delivering the contribution within the standards of reason for the value and goods of the 
service. 
 
5. CSB Staff will adhere to the following procedures for collection, documentation, calculation and 
record keeping of Third Party In-Kind contributions: 

 Head/Lead Teachers:       Daily/Monthly 
o Prepares CSB320 (CSB-320), in-kind form for classroom 
o Ensures proper completion of in-kind form-Full Name, Type of in-kind contribution, Service 

Time, signature of volunteer  
o Submit the CSB320 to Site Supervisor by 1st of each month with the 9400 sign-in sheets 

 Site Supervisor:                      Monthly 
o Ensures collection of in-kind forms from every classroom by the 1st of each month 
o Reviews and monitors forms for completion and accuracy 
o Sign form indicating review and approval 
o Follows up with any classrooms submitting zero or low in-kind 
o Submits the in-kind form to the Cluster Clerk by the 5th of each month with the 9400s 

 Assistant Director        Monthly 
o Reviews in-kind sheets and signs off 
o Follows-up with any sites submitting zero or low in-kind 
o Submits to Cluster Clerk for data entry 

 Cluster Clerk:         Monthly 
o Calculates the total number of in-kind hours per activity for each site 
o Calculate EHS and, HS separately as directed by CSB fiscal unit 
o Inputs data into COPA/CLOUDS by the 20th of each month 
o If a cluster clerk receives in-kind forms after the 15th, hold for next month tracking 
o Maintains original documents 

 Fiscal:            
o Determines the in-kind rate calculation for volunteer contributions  

                      (Non-professional)           Annually 
o Monitor volunteer in-kind hours once a month                    Monthly 
o Ensure proper value of in-kind rates and calculations 

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶

Formatted ...

Deleted: 

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: 

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

80 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 CSM in charge of Parent Involvement / PC Clerk:                 Monthly  
o Reviews monthly in-kind data entered by Cluster Clerks 
o Reports in-kind hours by site as reported to CSM in charge of Parent Involvement 
o Reports in-kind hours by cluster as reported to Assistant Directors 
o Provides training and support, as needed, to teachers and/or Site Supervisors 
o Provides total in-kind contributions as needed or requested 

 
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25"

Deleted:   

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.5" + Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Justified



CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT                          
COMMUNITY SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

SECTION 2-CHILD DEVELOPMENT 
 

 

2013-2014 

 
 
 

  

Policy Council Approved:                                                                                                        
Board of Supervisors Approved: 

Deleted: 2012-2013

Deleted: Policy Council Approved: 11-14-12                                                                                                       
Board of Supervisors Approved:

Formatted: Highlight



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
2 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012…013-2013 ...

...

 
PART I PREVENTION AND EARLY INTERVENTION  

A Determining Child Health Status 5 

B Protocols for Determining Child Health Status 6 

C Developmental, Sensory and Behavioral Screening 13 

D Follow-Up and Treatment 15 

E Children with Disabilities- Screening, Case Management and Referral Procedures 16 

F Child and Family Mental Health Services 19 

G Parent Involvement in Health, Nutrition and Mental Health Education 28 

H Discipline Policy 28 

I Case Management 31 

J Child Abuse Reporting Policies 34 

   

PART II SERVICES FOR CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES  

A Purpose 38 

B Definitions 39 

C List of Disabling Conditions 40 

D Responsibilities of CSB Full Inclusion Teacher 40 

E Responsibilities of School District SDC, TRI and Full Inclusion Teachers 41 

F Responsibilities of the Comprehensive Services Team 42 

G Documentation of Disabilities Services 44 

H Postural Supports /Protective Devices 44 

I Disabilities Resources 44 

Ij Service Plan 44 

k Disabilities Budget Coordination 45 

l Special Education Budget Allocation 45 

M Disabilities Screenings 45 

N Evaluations 46 

O Accessibility of Facilities 46 

P Disabilities Transitioning Services 47 

Q Transition Policy for Early Head Start Children Receiving Mental Health or Special 
Education Services 

47 

R Special Education and Related Services 47 

S Special Education with Other Agencies 48 

T Volunteers 48 

U Special Education Staff 49 

V Interagency Agreements 49 

W Recruitment and Enrollment 49 

X American with Disabilities Act (ADA) Policy – Enrollment of Children with Disabilities, 
Recruitment and Enrollment 

50 

Y Assessment Process of Children with Disabilities 51 

Z Eligibility Criteria: Health Impairment 52 

AA Eligibility Criteria: Emotional / Behavioral Disorders 52 

BB Eligibility Criteria: Speech or Language Impairments 52 

CC Eligibility Criteria: Intellectual Disability 52 

DD Eligibility Criteria: Hearing Impairment 53 

EE Eligibility Criteria: Orthopedic Impairment, Visual Impairment / Blindness 53 

FF Eligibility Criteria: Learning Disabilities 53 

GG Eligibility Criteria: Autism, Traumatic Brain Injury, Other Impairments 53 

HH Disabilities/Health Services Coordination 53 

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 6

Deleted: 13

Deleted: 15

Deleted: 16

Deleted: 18

Deleted: 27

Deleted: 27

Deleted: 30

Deleted: 33

Deleted: 37

Deleted: 38

Deleted: 39

Deleted: 39

Deleted: Full Inclusion Staff

Deleted: 40

Deleted: 40

Deleted: 42

Deleted: 42

Formatted ...

Deleted: 42

Deleted: J

Formatted ...

Deleted: 43

Deleted: K

Formatted ...

Deleted: 43

Deleted: L

Formatted ...

Deleted: 43

Deleted: M

Formatted ...

Deleted: 43

Deleted: N

Formatted ...

Deleted: 44

Deleted: O

Formatted ...

Deleted: 44

Deleted: P

Formatted ...

Deleted: 44

Deleted: Q

Formatted ...

Deleted: 45

Deleted: R

Formatted ...

Deleted: 46

Deleted: S

Formatted ...

Deleted: 46

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
3 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012…013-2013 ...

...

II Developing Individualized Education Programs (IEPs) 54 

JJ Disability Referral Procedures 54 

KK Children with Disabilities Nutrition Services 55 

LL Parent Involvement in Transition Services for Children with Disabilities 57 

   

PART III INDIVIDUALIZATION IN THE PROGRAM  

A Description 58 

B Individual Goals 58 

C  First Parent Conference / Individualized Plan 58 

D Second Parent Conference 59 

E The Infant-Toddler Individual Needs and Services Plan 59 

F Lesson Plans 59 

G Developmental, Sensory and Behavioral Screening 59 

H Assessment 59 

I Portfolio Assessment 60 

J Program Transitions 60 

   

PART IV CURRICULUM  

A Child Development and Education Approach 63 

B Curriculum Implementation 63 

C Parent Involvement and Participation in Program 72 

D  Home-Based Option 72 

E Classroom Assignments 73 

F Adult-to-Child Ratio 73 

G Sign-In and Out Procedures 74 

H General Celebration Policy 76 

I Field Trip Policy 77 

   

PART V CHILD NUTRITION  

A Identification of Nutritional Needs 81 

B Nutrition Referral 81 

C Child Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) 84 

D Child Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) Monitoring 85 

   

PART VI CHILD HEALTH AND SAFETY  

A Daily Health Inspection 87 

B Hand Washing 89 

C Infection Control in the Classroom 89 

D Napping Policy 91 

E Dental Hygiene 91 

F Health Issues in the Classroom 92 

G Child Safety and Supervision 92 

H Child Illness Procedures 93 

I Return to School After Illness 94 

J Medical Alerts 95 

K Children Injured at the Center 95 

L Blood Protocol 96 

M Medication Administration 97 

N Incomplete Health Records 100 

O Health and Safety Training for Center Staff 101 

Deleted: HH

Formatted ...

Deleted: 51

Deleted: II

Formatted ...

Deleted: 52

Deleted: JJ

Formatted ...

Deleted: 54

Deleted: KK

Formatted ...

Deleted: 54

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: 56

Formatted ...

Deleted: 56

Formatted ...

Deleted: 56

Formatted ...

Deleted: 57

Formatted ...

Deleted: 57

Formatted ...

Deleted: 57

Formatted ...

Deleted: 57

Formatted ...

Deleted: 57

Formatted ...

Deleted: 58

Formatted ...

Deleted: 58

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: 61

Formatted ...

Deleted: 62

Formatted ...

Deleted: 70

Formatted ...

Deleted: 70

Formatted ...

Deleted: 71

Formatted ...

Deleted: 72

Formatted ...

Deleted: 72

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
4 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

  

P Posting of Documents (Health Emergency Procedures) 101 

Q Pet Protocol 102 

R Safety / Sanitation Procedures 103 

S Safety Surveillance 104 

T First Aid Kits 105 

U Preparing For Emergencies 105 

V Classroom Sanitation 107 

W Kitchen Sanitation 109 

X Food Safety and Sanitation 109 

Y Procedures for Using Transport Units 111 

Z Food for Infants 112 

AA Food for Toddlers 113 

BB Potlucks 113 

CC  Food for Children, Parent Staff Meetings and Events 113 

DD Nutrition Services 114 

EE Food Defense 114 

Deleted: 99

Deleted: 100

Deleted: 101

Deleted: 102

Deleted: 103

Deleted: 103

Deleted: 105

Deleted: 107

Deleted: 107

Deleted: 109

Deleted: 109

Deleted: 111

Deleted: 111

Deleted: 111

Deleted: 112

Deleted: 112



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
5 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

I. Prevention and Early Intervention 
A. Determining Child Health Status 
Community Services Bureau establishes and maintains individual, comprehensive files for children and 
families.  Health records, developmental progress portfolios, and files, including Administrative, 
Delegate Agency, and Grantee-Operated Program and Subcontractor’s filing systems, are kept 
confidential with use of the “Access to File” form (See Form CSB900) and following the approved 
Confidentiality Policy.  All staff with access to health information is trained on HIPAA (Health Information 
Portability Accountability Act) requirements.    
 
1. Physical Examinations 
As much pertinent health information as possible is accumulated and recorded for each child, paying 
particular attention to the items required by the Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment 
Schedule (EPSDT) to ensure that children are following a schedule of complete well child care.  
The child’s initial physical examination required for program entry must be current (in accordance with 
the EPSDT schedule) and received no later than thirty days after entry into the program. One extension 
is allowed with documentation of a pending appointment.  Children returning for a second year require 
additional physical exams in accordance with the EPSDT Schedule. 
 
2. TB Clearance – CSB Center-Based Program 
In accordance with section #101220 of Licensing Code, TB Clearance documentation must be obtained 
for each child within 30 days of enrollment (admission) into the program.  TB Clearance documentation 
must consist of either: 

 A negative TB Skin Test or Chest X-Ray result, or  

 A physician’s check mark indicating “Risk Factors not present” or “Communicable TB disease not 
present “ on CSB207–Report of Health Examination for Program Entry (See CSB Forms) or other 
signed or stamped document from physician/clinic. 

The TB screening referenced in the TB Clearance documentation must be in accordance with the EPSDT 
schedule. The one extension allowed for pending Physical Exam appointments does not apply to TB 
Clearance documentation. Children without TB Clearance will be excluded if clearance is not obtained 
within 30 days of enrollment. 
 
3. Health Insurance 
Each parent is provided with a Report of Health Examination for Program Entry form (See CSB Forms > 
CSB207) for use in obtaining a physical examination. In the event that the child has no insurance, staff 
will refer the child to the Child Health and Disability Prevention (CHDP) Gateway program, assist with 
Covered California, or another appropriate resource, to obtain a free or low cost exam.  Comprehensive 
Services Teams enter all data on the physical form into the CLOUDS system.  This enables program staff 
to track services and follow-up on needed treatment. Managers access reports to help monitor progress 
in meeting program requirements in a timely manner. 
 
At intake, children and families with no medical and/or dental insurance are identified. Comprehensive 
Services Teams assist parents in determining eligibility and applying for medical/dental insurance such 
as Medi-Cal/Denti-Cal, the Kaiser Permanente Child Health Plan or services through Covered California. 
Comprehensive Services Teams also assist parents in establishing a medical/dental home (ongoing 

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: Healthy Families, California Kids and 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
6 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

source of accessible health/oral care) and navigating the managed care system to access needed 
services. 
 
4. Health Records 
In the event that health records are returned to the program with information missing, Comprehensive 
Services Teams obtain consent for release of information from parents. This consent is used to obtain 
information from medical/dental offices, medical records departments and laboratories. Every effort is 
made to educate parents regarding the EPSDT schedule and the documentation needed prior to visiting 
a dentist or doctor. 
The following information shall be obtained and entered into CLOUDS and the child’s confidential file: 

 Health and developmental history 

 Immunization Record 

 Treatment plans, including immunizations and in series/waivers 

 Age-appropriate physical exams, dental exams and screening results 

 Records of major/minor illnesses and injury during program activities 

 Schedule of daily medications, including fluoride and vitamins if applicable 

 Allergic reactions 

 Dietary intake and food habits 

 Age and gender-appropriate growth charts 

 Source of payment for services, including free federal, State of California, and locally funded 
health services 

 Medi-Cal number or private insurance identification 

 Referral and follow-up information 

 Record of follow-up and documentation of actual services provided 

 Emergency information/Parent Contact 

 Signed parent consent forms 

 Case Management Documentation 

 Teacher observations 

 Progress reports 

 Other information as needed 
 
A child whose authorized representatives adhere to a religious faith that practices healing by prayer or 
other spiritual means shall not be required to meet the requirements of the health examination. In this 
case, the authorized representatives must provide: 

 Information on the child’s health history 

 A signed statement that indicates: 
o Their acceptance of full responsibility for the child’s health. 
o Refusal to obtain a medical examination for the child. 
o Request that no medical care be given to the child. 

 
B. Protocols for Determining Child Health Status 
1. Application 
Before enrollment, Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

Deleted: that they use 

Deleted: offices,

Deleted: ,

Deleted: .

Deleted: .



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
7 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Reviewing the electronic application information/intake documents. 

 Noting concerns (known or suspected) using the Red/Yellow Flag System as indicated on the 
Eligibility Certification Checklist Form (See Form CSB604). 

 Generating a CLOUDS referral based on application information, as needed and clearly noting 
details of child’s condition in Case Notes. 

Before enrollment, the Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for: 

 Reviewing the application information/intake documents and ensuring referrals are generated 
and Red/Yellow Flags are in place if needed. 

 Coordinating with the Site Supervisor to set up case management or interventions as 
appropriate. 

Before enrollment, the Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Reviewing the application, Red/Yellow Flags, and referrals    

 Coordinating with the CSAM to set up case management or interventions as appropriate. 
 
2. Immunizations 
The State of California Immunization Branch requires that programs institute a “No Shots, No School” 
policy, however, parents and medical providers may indicate that a child may not have any or all 
immunizations. In this case, the waiver on the back of the California School Immunization Record Card 
(blue card) must be completely filled out.  Medical exemptions must be accompanied by documentation 
from a physician as to which immunization is prohibited and the date, if any, when a child may have the 
immunization.  Immunization waivers based on personal beliefs require the signature of the parent on 
the Personal Beliefs Affidavit section on the back of the California School Immunization Record Card 
(blue card) and effective January 1, 2014, personal belief exemptions require the completion of the 
Personal Beliefs Exemption to Required Immunizations Form (CDPH-8262) prior to admission to school.   
 
Names of all exempt children will be maintained on an exempt roster for immediate identification in 
case of disease outbreak in the community.  Annual immunization training, including the most current 
immunization schedule for children 0-5, is provided to staff each August prior to the completion of the 
Annual Immunization Report due to the local health department in September/October of each year. 
Children are tracked throughout their enrollment to ensure they remain up-to-date or in-series. Records 
are updated accordingly. 
 
Prior to enrollment the Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Collecting valid immunization records from parent. 

 Obtaining parent consent for use of California Immunization Registry (See CSBForms > CSB243 
CAIR Consent) and requesting immunization registry search if parent is unable to provide 
immunization verification. 

 Entering immunization data into CLOUDS and completing the results column on the right to 
indicate one of the following: In Compliance, In Series, Personal Belief Waiver, Medical Waiver 
or Non Compliance.  

 Emailing the name of child exempt from immunizations to the Comprehensive Services Manager 
(Health Content Area) for placement on the exempt roster. 

 Determining overall immunization status. 

 Notifying parent of shots needed. 

Deleted: and 

Deleted: coordinating 

Deleted: , using “Waiver/Compl.” only if child 
has a personal or medical waiver.



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
8 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Assisting the parent in obtaining a doctor office/clinic for immunizations needed. 

 Using the Red/Yellow Flag system on the CSB-604- Eligibility Certification Checklist form to 
indicate temp files as needing immunizations prior to start date. 

 Printing the Immunization Blue Card from CLOUDS/CAIR or manually filling in blanks, signing it, 
and placing it in the temporary file with documentation of a physician’s statement for Medical 
Exemptions and the completed CDPH 8262 Form for Personal Belief Exemptions.. 

 
On an ongoing basis, Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Tracking in-series children and notifying the parent of the next dose due prior to the due date. 

 As needed, Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 
o Preparing exclusion letters if child fails to obtain shots on time. 

Each August/September, Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Attending the annual immunization training and preparing the annual immunization report. 
Responsibilities of Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers  
Prior to enrollment, Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for: 

 Reviewing files to ensure up-to-date or in-series immunizations or waiver is in place before file is 
provided to Site Supervisor for placement. 

 Conducting ongoing immunization registry searches. 
On an ongoing basis, Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for: 

 Ongoing monitoring of CLOUDS for immunization compliance  

 As needed, reviewing exclusion letters generated by clerk and verifying information, which is 
forwarded to the Site Supervisor for action. 

Each September, CSAMs are responsible for: 

 Reviewing annual immunization reports prepared by clerk, verifying accuracy, and forwarding 
copies to the Site Supervisor, and the Comprehensive Services Manager (Health Content Area) 
after online submission is complete. 

Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Reviewing immunization compliance prior to enrollment 

 Returning the temp file to the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager if immunizations are 
not complete or required exemption documentation is missing. 

 As needed, verifying, signing, dating and issuing exclusion letters prepared by the clerk and 
reviewed by the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager. 

Responsibilities of the Comprehensive Services Health Manager 

 Providing annual immunization training each August. 

 Overseeing the process and submission of the annual immunization report to the County / State 
by the September/October due date of each year. 

 Conducting ongoing immunization registry searches. 

 Maintaining a roster of children who are exempt from immunizations for immediate 
identification in case of disease outbreak in the community. 

 
3. TB Clearance – CSB Center-Based Program 
Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Informing parent of TB requirement  

Deleted: , and

Formatted: Justified,  No bullets or
numbering

Deleted: : 

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: Manager (

Deleted: Content Area):



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
9 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Collecting valid TB screening records from parents which include either TB Skin Test or Chest X-
Ray results, or a Physician’s Clearance indicating: Risk Factors not present -TB test is not 
required (noted on CSB207 – Report of Health Examination for Program Entry) or other signed 
or stamped document from physician/clinic. 

 Inputting TB screening data into CLOUDS upon receipt. 

 As needed, preparing the exclusion letter if TB Clearance is not provided within 30 days of 
enrollment (TB Clearance:  Negative TB skin test or Chest X-Ray results, or a Physician’s 
Clearance) 

Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Notifying the parent of 30 day requirement at enrollment. 

 Tracking receipt of TB screening records. 

 Ensuring that no child is in the program without TB Clearance beyond 30 days from enrollment. 

 Communicating with the Comprehensive Services Clerk to prepare exclusion letters. 

 Reviewing, authorizing and signing all exclusion letters, and designating staff for distribution. 
4. Health History 
Prior to enrollment, Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Completing the Health History on CLOUDS. 

 Printing a copy of the Health History for the child’s file. 

 Obtaining signatures on the Health History if possible. 

 Placing a “sign here” sticker on the Health History document if the parent is not present to sign. 

 Reviewing information and flagging any suspected or known special needs using the Red/Yellow 
Flag System on the Eligibility Certification Checklist Form (CSB-604). 

 Generating a CLOUDS referral for any special needs noted on the Health History. 

 Providing Medical/Dental Home/Insurance intervention with all families that indicate they have 
no medical / dental provider or coverage. Document the intervention on the Health History in 
CLOUDS. 

Prior to Enrollment, Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for: 

 Reviewing the child’s Health History. 

 Ensuring proper Red/Yellow Flags are in place as appropriate with sufficient detail noted for the 
Site Supervisor. 

 Reviewing CLOUDS referrals generated from the Health History. 

 Contacting the Comprehensive Services Manager for guidance if unsure of how to proceed with 
any special needs. 

 Coordinating with the Site Supervisor to set up a pre-enrollment case management as needed.  
Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Reviewing the Health History, checking for Red/Yellow flags and referrals, coordinating with the 
Assistant Comprehensive Services Manager to set up case management / intervention as 
appropriate and returning any file without a Health History. 

 Acquiring a parent signature on the Health History, if necessary at enrollment. 

 Ensuring that teaching staff has reviewed the Health History in order to address health 
conditions/needs and the completion of the consent section. 

The Services Comprehensive Services Health Manager is responsible for  

Deleted: form 

Deleted:  and 

Deleted: Health 

Deleted: responsibilities 

Deleted: :



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
10 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Providing and/or arranging training and technical assistance as necessary for special needs 
identified in the Health History.  

 Attending Case Management for complex cases as needed.  
 
5. Physical Exam 
The Comprehensive Services Clerk is responsible for: 

 Providing a physical exam form (CSB 207-Report of Health Examination for Program Entry) to the 
parent and informing the parent of the 30 day requirement prior to enrollment. 

 Educating the parent about the Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment schedule 
copied on the back side of the CSB-207 exam form. 

 Noting in the Child Case Notes in CLOUDS that the parent was given a physical form. 

 Referring the parent to a medical provider/insurance as needed. 

 Inputting the physical exam data into CLOUDS upon receipt and documenting data entry in 
CLOUDS by placing clerks first initial, last name and date on the upper right hand side of the 
exam. 

 Immediately, upon receipt of exam, reviewing the information and notifying the Comprehensive 
Services Assistant Manager of any known or suspected disabilities. 

 Entering follow-up data on the CSB-207 under “Staff Follow up: and into CLOUDS as needed. 

 Collecting consents for release of information from parents and faxing them to providers to 
obtain incomplete/missing results. 

 Making follow up calls to clinics, doctors’ offices, and laboratories to obtain missing results. 

 Tracking physical exam due dates and sending reminder notices to parents as needed. 

  Providing handouts for screening value results and guidelines as needed. 

 Providing exclusion letters at the direction of the Site Supervisor. 
 
CHDP Assessment Guidelines for Blood Pressure Readings: 
Further evaluation or follow-up is indicated for a child who sustains a systolic or diastolic reading at or 
above the 95th percentile for age and gender (measured on at least 3 occasions and averaged together). 
In the case results are entered in CLOUDS as “Abnormal” and a CLOUDS health referral is generated. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager is responsible for: 

 Reviewing all physicals with known or suspected disabilities immediately upon receipt of exam. 

 Initiating care plans with providers as appropriate. 

 Conducting follow-up with parents on an ongoing basis. 

 
Age 
in 
Years 

90th and 95th PERCENTILE BLOOD PRESSURE 
ACCORDING TO AGE and GENDER 

Boys Girls 

Systolic Diastolic Systolic Diastolic 

90th% 95th% 90th% 95th% 90th% 95th% 90th% 95th% 

3 107 111 68 73 106 110 69 73 

4 108 112 69 73 107 111 69 73 

5 109 113 69 74 109 112 69 73 

Deleted: <#>Preparing exclusion letters at 
the direction of the Site Supervisor or 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager.¶

Deleted: Inputting Blood Pressure readings 
into CLOUDS upon receipt. If systolic or 
diastolic reading is at or above the 95th 
percentile for age and gender Enter 
“Abnormal” in CLOUDS and generate a CLOUDS 
Health Referral.

Deleted: parent with Blood Pressure 
Guidelines Handout.

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
11 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Conducting follow-up with providers to obtain documentation to complete the exam data or to 
obtain follow-up information. 

 Monitoring physical exam due dates to ensure compliance with the EPSDT Schedule. 
The Site Supervisor is responsible for the following: 

 Notifying the parent of the 30 day requirement at enrollment. 

 Tracking receipt of the annual physical exam for preschoolers on an ongoing basis 

 Tracking receipt of Well Child Exams for infants and toddlers in accordance with the EPSDT 
Schedule. 

 Ensuring that no child is in the program without a physical past 30 days (one extension allowed 
with documentation of a pending appointment). 

 Directing clerks to prepare exclusion letters as necessary. 

 Issuing Notice of Action (NOA) for children in state-funded programs that have not complied 
with requirements. 

 Referring families who need assistance in accessing care to the Comprehensive Services Team. 

 Reviewing the physical exam for each child and calling for case management when appropriate. 

 Working with teaching staff to ensure child’s medical and developmental needs are addressed 
appropriately. 

 Ensuring implementation of care plans. 
The Comprehensive Services Health Manager is responsible for the following: 

 Supporting staff and attending Case Management for complex cases as needed. 

 Interfacing with community partners for health education, services and assistance. 
 
6. Dental Exam 
Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Informing parent of the 90 day dental exam requirement upon enrollment. 

 Educating the parent about the Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment Schedule 
for Dental/Oral Health Care. 

 Providing parent with the dental form (CSB-206). 

 Providing a list of dental providers/insurance to the parent as needed. 

 Tracking dental exam due dates on an ongoing basis. 

 Preparing reminder letters to parents and follow-up letters to dental providers as needed. 

 Entering dental exam data into CLOUDS upon receipt and documenting data entry in CLOUDS by 
placing first initial, last name and date on upper right hand corner of the exam. 

 Collecting consents for release of information from 

 Generating referrals for children without dental care access, treatment needed or non-
compliance issues as needed and documenting referral follow up under referral/ case notes. 

 Obtaining parental dental consents for onsite dental services and events. 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager is responsible for: 

 Monitoring dental exam due dates on an ongoing basis. 

 Following up to ensure treatment plans are in progress, ongoing or complete. 

 Conducting case management for dental access or non-compliance issues as needed. 

 Assisting the Comprehensive Services Manager with coordination of exams by volunteer 
dentists/mobile dental care, and other oral health events/services. 

Formatted: Justified,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
12 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The Site Supervisor is responsible for: 

 Collecting dental forms and forwarding them to Comprehensive Services Clerks. 

 Attending case management for dental issues as needed and keeping teachers informed with 
updates. 

 Coordinating with Comprehensive Services staff for onsite dental activities/trainings. 
The Comprehensive Services Health Manager is responsible for: 

 Coordinating volunteer dentists, mobile services and oral health events on an ongoing basis. 

 Attending case management for complex dental issues. 

 Interfacing with the Children’s Oral Health Program, Contra Costa Dental Society and other 
community partners for oral health education, services and assistance. 

 
7. Staff Protocol for Dental Referrals 
If Dental Exam indicates Treatment Needed: 
The Comprehensive Services Clerk is responsible for: 

 Generating a Dental Referral and updating the status as needed in CLOUDS. 

 Determining dental insurance status and providing a list of local community dentists and/or 
community clinics (dental care providers near family’s home, work and/or childcare center) 
and/or the Ronald McDonald Care Mobile (RMCM) schedule–for families with Denti-Cal or 
Healthy Families. 

 Providing the parent with “Dental Exam/Treatment” Form (See Form CSB206). 

 Entering contact information and date provided or RMCM referral information in CLOUDS 
Dental Referral Case Notes (indicating status “in progress”). 

 Following-up with the parent regarding the status of scheduled appointment within 2 weeks and 
frequently thereafter until treatment is complete and enter each follow-up activity in CLOUDS 
Dental Referral Case Notes (once treatment is finished enter status “complete”). 

 If parent/child does not have dental insurance 
o Contact the parent to discuss options including community clinics, volunteer dentists, 

Ronald McDonald Care Mobile, and/or CHDP Gateway to Health Coverage or the Lebow 
Foundation. 

 Providing the parent with “Dental Exam/Treatment Needed” Form (See Form CSB206).  

 If the preferred option is RMCM, contacting CSB area liaison for status of services/to begin the 
referral process. 

 If the option selected is CHDP Gateway, providing the parent with contact information for the 
designated community clinic or Financial Counseling Line for county clinics. 

 Entering option selected and date information was provided to parent in CLOUDS Dental 
Referral/Case Notes (indicate status keep “in progress”). 

 Referring to the CSAM if the family has exhausted all options without success 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager is responsible for:  

 Monitoring CLOUDS reports to identify children in need of dental services, referrals and follow 
up.   

 Following-up with the Comprehensive Services Clerks and the parent to assist with extended “in 
progress” referrals.  

Deleted:  the following

Deleted: Health Services

Deleted:  and

Deleted: Health Referral Tracking Report – 
Dental Referrals.



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
13 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 In cases where CHDP Gateway pre-enrollment eligibility determination is “No” and/or parent 
cannot afford treatment, referring to local clinics, the Children’s Oral Health Program, Give Kids 
a Smile dentist or the Lebow Foundation. 

 Entering status/follow-up data in CLOUDS Dental Referral Case Notes. 
Referring to the Comprehensive Services Manager for health if services for treatment cannot be 
provided. Referring to the Comprehensive Services Health Manager if services for treatment cannot be 
provided the Comprehensive Services Health Manager is responsible for:   

 Collaborating with community partners to provide services on site or through local dental offices 
and dental events. 

 Initiating the request process for Head Start funds (last resort) – working with CSAM to acquire 
treatment estimate, letter from parent, date of dental appointment and additional documents 
needed. 

8. Medical/Dental Home 
Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Assisting families with health/oral health homes and coverage as well as applications as needed. 

 Documenting Medical/Dental interventions and health/oral health coverage in CLOUDS within 
90 days of enrollment. 

 Providing ongoing support for families in need of a medical/dental home. 
 
C. Developmental, Sensory, and Behavioral Screening 
All children are screened by the teaching staff in the areas of social emotional development, speech, 
self-help skills, motor and cognitive development, and as needed, by the Comprehensive Services Team 
for hearing, vision, and nutrition, within 45 days of class entry.  Parents should be informed about all 
screenings and their purposes in advance.  The results from the screenings are used as part of the 
individualization process for each child. 
 
It is the Site Supervisor’s responsibility to work with the teacher and Comprehensive Services Team to 
ensure that the speech/language, mental health, sensory and developmental screenings are completed 
within 45 days of class entry. 
 
The teacher places completed copies of the Speech and Language Checklist, Brigance Cognitive 
Screening and Behavioral Screening in the Education section of the child’s file and enters screening data 
in CLOUDS.  The originals are placed in the child’s file in the education section.  If concerns are noted, 
the appropriate service area staff will follow up to ensure services meet the needs of the child.  Teachers 
will give each child time to adjust to the new environment before completing this form. 
 
1. Protocols for Sensory (Visual and Hearing) Screening 
Screenings are to be completed within 45 days of enrollment for children who do not have results as 
part of their Well Child Exam and for returning children, as needed, based on the EPSDT schedule. 
 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager is responsible for: 

 Identifying those newly enrolled children in need of initial screenings, returning children in need 
of screenings based on the EPSDT schedule and re-screenings due within two weeks of the initial 
screening through use of CLOUDS Smart Reports. 

Deleted: ¶
¶

Deleted: The Health Services Comprehensive 
Services Managers is responsible for: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
14 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Coordinating screening team logistics for Comprehensive Services Clerks to administer 
screenings on an ongoing basis. 

 Notifying the Site Supervisor of the upcoming screening schedule with a minimum two week 
notice. Note – Two week notice may not apply for children absent on the initial screening date. 

 Directing Comprehensive Services Clerks to input data results in CLOUDS, preparing referrals as 
needed and providing follow-up until treatment is established and complete. 

 Tracking referrals to physicians and providing ongoing assistance to clerks and parents until 
testing/treatment is established and the referral is complete. 

 Completing vision and hearing screening certification courses as soon as possible after hire.  
The Site Supervisor is responsible for the following:  

 Obtaining a screening schedule from the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager and 
providing a schedule for teaching staff. 

 Providing teaching staff with the screening preparation curriculum. 

 Monitoring the implementation of screening preparation in the classroom curriculum and on 
the lesson plan. 

 Providing an appropriate screening area on site for the administration of screenings.  

 Designating teaching staff to accompany children to and from designated screening location. 
The Teaching Staff is responsible for: 

 Implementing screening preparation curriculum in the classroom. 

 Including screening preparation on the lesson plan. Note – In an effort to complete all 
screenings within the 45-day deadline, it is important to include screening preparation into the 
lesson plan for the first week of school for part year programs and two weeks prior to July 1 for 
year round programs. 

 Providing flexibility with the classroom schedule to support Comprehensive Services in 
completing the screenings.  

 Introducing Comprehensive Services Staff to children on the screening day. 

 Assisting Comprehensive Services with gathering children to be screened. Tracking children as 
they are removed from and re-enter the classroom and accompanying children to and from the 
screenings as directed by Site Supervisor. 

 Completing the Educational areas of the Screening Results Form (See Form CSB212) including 
the Brigance, Sp/Lang and Behavioral areas, signing in the designated area. 

 Assisting with the distribution of Screening Results Forms (See Form CSB212-Screening Result) 
to parents.  

Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Engaging parents in conversation about the importance of screenings. 

 Notifying parents of dates and screenings to take place by posting a flyer on site, one week in 
advance. 

 Reviewing reports of children to be screened. 

 Verifying consents for screenings on the Health History forms of those children to be screened 

 Obtaining additional consents for screening to be administered by collaborative agencies as 
needed.  

 Obtaining equipment needed and setting up screening tools on site. 

Deleted: .

Deleted: <#>Tracking children as they are 
removed from and re-enter the classroom.¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
15 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Introducing screening staff to the classroom teaching staff and allowing teaching staff the 
opportunity to introduce the screening staff to the children. 

 Encouraging teachers to assist in choosing the order in which the children will be screened. 
o Note – Those children unwilling to participate will be given future opportunities and 

parents and/or staff may be encouraged to accompany the child to complete needed 
screenings within the 45-day deadline. 

 Partnering with teaching staff and Site Supervisors to accompany children to and from the 
classroom to the location of the screening administration. 

 Administering the vision and hearing screenings and, noting results for input in CLOUDS. 

 Cleaning up the equipment and leaving the area as it was found. 

 Entering all screening data in CLOUDS and documenting screening results, re-screens and 
referrals. 

 Informing the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager and Site Supervisor of those children 
in need of re-screening. 

 Administering re-screenings within two weeks of the initial screening and within 45 days of 
enrollment if the child was unable to condition. 

 Preparing referrals to physicians and in CLOUDS for those children identified as needing further 
evaluation. 

 Contacting parents of children with referrals, offering resources for a medical/dental home and 
additional assistance as needed. 

 Completing the Screening Results Form (See Form CSB212-Screening Results) and ensuring that 
the education section is also completed prior to making a copy for the file and distributing the 
original to the parent in a confidential manner within 75 days of the child’s date of enrollment.  

 Providing ongoing assistance for referrals and resources until each referral is complete. 

 Completing vision and hearing screening certification courses as soon as possible after hire.  
The Comprehensive Services Health Manager is responsible for:  

 Overseeing the monitoring of all sensory screenings, referrals and follow up. 

 Coordinating the annual Vision/Hearing Screening Trainings with CHDP.  

 Registering Comprehensive Services Staff in need of vision/hearing training and certification as 
soon as possible after hire. 

 Coordinating screenings with collaborative agencies and notifying the Site Supervisor and 
Comprehensive Services Team of those screening dates and requirements. 

 
D. Follow-Up and Treatment 
Early medical/dental exams and other screenings enable parents and program staff to identify any 
concerns and respond in a timely manner.  Whenever concerns are present the Comprehensive Services 
Team works with the parent to obtain necessary follow-up services or treatment.  Assistance is provided 
in the acquisition of equipment needed for medical/dental conditions and parents are educated 
regarding their child’s specific condition and needs. Dental follow up/treatment includes preventive 
measures and further treatment as ordered by the dental professional.  
 
Medical Treatment includes treatment of any condition as identified in the physical exam, IFSP, or IEP.  
Follow-up treatment is tracked in the CLOUDS system using the referral feature and is referenced in the 
child’s confidential file. 

Deleted: , 

Deleted: Health Services 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
16 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

  
Where no resources exist in the community for follow-up and treatment, the program will pay for 
services as long as funds remain in the budget earmarked for this purpose. To access program funds, the 
Comprehensive Services Team must document that all available resources have been exhausted and 
that program funds are being used as a last resort. This information, along with proof of need and the 
estimated cost for treatment, must be submitted to an Assistant Director for approval and submitted to 
the fiscal unit and the Bureau Director. 
 
1. Protocols for Referrals, Follow Up and Treatment 
The Comprehensive Services Clerk is responsible for: 

 Generating a referral in CLOUDS as soon as a need is identified 

 Assisting in collecting documentation regarding the case management process on an ongoing 
basis 

 Entering related data into CLOUDS 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for: 

 Monitoring CLOUDS reports and following up on referrals on a weekly basis 

 Supporting families through the referral/case management process 

 Updating the status of the referral as it changes 

 Contacting the Comprehensive Services Manager for training or technical assistance as needed. 
 
2. Monitoring and Tracking 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for the following on an ongoing basis: 

 Monitoring the process for accuracy and compliance. 

 Creating action plans as needed 

 Providing reports and updates to the Assistant Directors as needed 

 Providing training and technical assistance as needed 
Assistant Directors are responsible for: 

 Reviewing reports 

 Ensuring follow-up and corrective action plans completion 
 
E. Children with Disabilities- Screenings, Case Management and Referral Procedures 
Early childhood experiences are known to shape the developmental outcomes for children.  Trauma 
during the early years also affects long-term outcomes by impacting brain development, cognitive, 
physical, and social/emotional functioning.  The Community Services Bureau has systems in place to 
mitigate these factors which include early screenings/assessments, case managements and linkage with 
appropriate agencies to provide any/all necessary comprehensive services the child and family might 
need. Parents need to agree and provide a written consent (Sign CSB 501 Form) prior to receiving 
referrals or linkages to any other agencies.  Agencies closely working with the Community Services 
Bureau are: the Regional Center of the East Bay, the Contra Costa School Districts, the Contra Costa 
Children and Family Services Bureau among others. 
 
1. Screenings 
The Community Services Bureau is committed to early identification of children at risk of developmental 
delays in order to provide the necessary early intervention that will lead to a better future for the child. 

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
17 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
Prior to enrollment during the application period the child’s file might be flagged using the Red and 
Yellow Flag System to alert the staff of known or suspected concerns based on the completed health 
history by the parent.  The health history briefly screens children for possible health, nutrition, and 
socio-emotional and developmental risks.   
 
Child’s Physical Exams/Baby Well Checkups provide a great source of information and they are given to 
us by the parents within 30 days of enrollment and thereafter as required by the EPSDT schedule.  
 
In addition, sensory and developmental screenings and assessments are provided to all enrolled children 
within 45 days of enrollment.   
 
Children determined to be in need of further evaluation/assessment based on screening results, staff 
observations, and/or parent observation are referred to the appropriate agency with parental consent. 
 
2. Data Gathering, Case Management and Referral  
The Community Services Bureau staff follows the next steps when referring a child for a diagnostic 
assessment and early intervention to an outside agency. 
i. Data gathering by CSB staff prior to Case Management Meeting 

 The child’s file and the CLOUDS system are reviewed to identify other related concerns. 

 The developmental history taken at enrollment is reviewed. (It provides information regarding 
the child’s history of exceptional items not normally occurring, i.e., low birth weight, allergies, 
premature and/or post-mature, difficult birth, accidents, eating behaviors, meeting milestones 
and/or other concerns). 

 The medical records completed in the last 12 months are reviewed to identify health concerns 
or other relevant information given by the pediatrician. 

 The sensory/cognitive screening and assessment results are reviewed and verified to ensure 
further evaluation if necessary. 

 The Initial Home Visit form (CSB 170) is reviewed to identify parent’s concerns.  

 The At Risk Referral Form (CSB 622) is reviewed.  (CSB 622 form indicates that the child/family 
has as an open CFS case and is receiving Child Protective Services and childcare/development 
services are necessary component of the Child Protective Services Case Plan or the child/family 
has an At-Risk Case and is NOT receiving Child Protective Services, but is at risk of abuse, neglect 
or exploitation and childcare and development services are needed to reduce or eliminate the 
risk).  

 Teacher/Site Supervisor/Disabilities Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manger observes the 
child in the classroom and produces written documentation about child’s strengths and 
challenges. 

 
ii. Case Management Meeting 
After gathering data, the site supervisor, teacher and CSAM review the strategies that will be presented 
to the parent in a case management meeting. 
 

Deleted: Gathering 

Deleted: s

Deleted: s

Deleted:  that

Deleted: s



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
18 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The Site Supervisor/CSAM invites the parent/s to a case management meeting to be held at the parent’s 
convenient time and to identify if the parent will need an interpreter. 
 
The CSAM invites the additional team members in collaboration with the site supervisor. The case 
management team members include but are not limited to the class teacher, the Site Supervisor, the 
assistant manager, content area managers, the interpreter, any other family friend/relatives, the 
physical therapist, the occupational therapist, the speech/language therapist, CFS welfare social worker 
and any other professional involved with the child/family receiving services. 
 
The meeting is facilitated by the CSAM but can be led by other agency staff. The meeting is documented 
in the Case Management Form (CSB 514) and/or directly entered in CLOUDS under “Disabilities-Case 
Management Information” attached to the Meeting/Event sign-in Sheet Form (CSB 905).  All participants 
are required to sign the CSB 905 form. These original forms will be placed in the child’s file under the 
Special Needs Section. 
 
The purpose of the meeting is to open communication relevant to the individual needs of the child, to 
provide strategies for the parent and to place necessary referrals to outside agencies for further 
evaluations. The case management meeting is dismissed after identifying actions, roles and 
responsibilities for each member and scheduling a follow up meeting if necessary. 
 
iii. Referral  
Based on the agency identified for referral, the CSAM will explain in detail the requirements for their 
referral process, their timelines, and provide copies of the parent rights and responsibilities under IDEA 
to the parent.  It is crucial that this portion be clear to the parent and an interpreter assist the parent 
with any clarification. 
 
The parent is encouraged to sign the Child Referral and Parent Consents Form (CSB 501), only after 
understanding the referral process and his/her parent rights under IDEA.  The assistant manager assists 
the team by providing the copy CSB 501 form to be signed.   
 
For Mental Health referrals, the medical provider information is completed on the referral form and a 
copy of the child’s Medical card (if insured) is attached.  When a child is on disciplinary steps and has a 
behavior action plan, a copy of this plan, the child’s Devereux Early Childhood Assessment and 
Development Screening is included with the referral. 
 
The Child Referral and Parent Consents Form (CSB 501), is reviewed to ensure the document is correctly 
filled out after acquiring parent signature.  Additional signatures are obtained from the Site Supervisor 
and the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager.  A copy of this form (CSB 501), is given to the 
parent, one to the assistant manager to process the referral and the original is placed in the file. 
 
The CSAM reviews the signed CSB 501 and processes it immediately.  Once verified referral receipt by 
phone with the appropriate School District, Early Intervention Agency, or Mental Health Unit, the 
assistant manger completes the Response to Referral Form (CSB 502). 
 

Deleted: ,

Deleted: assistant manger



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
19 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The original form (CSB 502) is placed in the child’s file while the copy is given to the parent attached to 
additional relevant informational resources. 
 
The CSAM enters the referral notes in the “Disability Intervention Referral”, “Intervention Notification” 
and “Case Management Information” under the disability tab in CLOUDS. Copy of the case management 
(CSB 514) or Case Management CLOUD’s print out form is placed in the child’s file. 
 
The CSAM contacts the family for a follow-up within 30 and 60 days after submitting the referral to 
ensure proper evaluation meetings are in place, proper support is given to the parent in preparation of 
the diagnosis meeting, and ensure participation in the IEP/IFSP meeting. 
 
Additional Case Management will follow up as needed and/or as determined in the initial meeting.  
 
F. Child and Family Mental Health Services 
1. Description 
The Community Services Bureau Mental Health Unit provides individual psychotherapeutic services to 
children enrolled in the Early Head Start and Head Start program.  The staff provides individual and 
group consultation to parents and teaching staff on child abuse, parenting skills, parent advocacy, 
developmental and mental health issues impacting the 0-5 year-old population and their caregivers.  
The Mental Health Unit operates a comprehensive Master’s level Internship Program in collaboration 
with Contra Costa County Health Services Department, Mental Health Division on a year-round basis. 
 
The Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau program staff, partners with parents and mental 
health professionals, to identify mental health concerns of children and parents in the program.  The 
task of the Case Management Team is to: 

 Ensure the delivery of appropriate mental health services in a timely manner 

 Assist in designing strategies to identify mental health concerns of children 

 Recommend appropriate placement and/or program modifications to meet the individual needs 
of children 

 Support and include parents in the decision making regarding mental health services for their 
child 

Goals of the Mental Health Unit  

 Some of the goals of prevention activities address self-concept, building positive relationships 
among children, their peers and their caregivers; developing coping and problem solving skills, 
and stress management.   

 
2. Mental Health Services 
The Mental Health Unit delivers the following services: 

 Prevention, early identification and intervention in problems that may interfere with a child’s 
development 

 Developmental/Social and Emotional Screening (ASQ3 and ASQSE) 

 Focus on early detection of concerns of caregivers, staff and children who may be in need of 
mental health services 

 Mental health assessment 

Deleted: case management notes and 
intervention/referral information 

Deleted:  (Intervention/Referral).  

Deleted:  will 

Deleted: , family, and parent 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
20 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Play Therapy (Individual Psychotherapy with children) 

 Family  Support 

 Parent (Guardian) – Child Interaction Therapy 

 Staff Training on mainstreaming and social integration techniques 

 Parent Training on social, emotional and mental health development of children 

 Parent Training on positive child rearing techniques and stress management  

 Program evaluation and performance partnership review to ensure planning and delivery of 
excellent supports and services. 

 Case Management 

 Crisis Intervention 

 Provide community resources to families 

 Child Abuse and Domestic Violence awareness 
 
The objectives of Mental Health treatment are to alleviate and resolve identified symptoms per a 
diagnosed mental health issue and medical necessity.  The clinicians perform assessment and ongoing 
treatment based on a diagnosis by their licensed supervisor.  The treatment is provided in accordance 
with the parent or legal guardian’s consent; parents or guardians are encouraged to be active 
participants in the treatment planning process as outlined by the Head Start Performance Standards.   
 
Services are individualized and are primarily provided at the preschool sites in dedicated play therapy 
rooms.  The Clinical Team coordinates care of children, parents and families with other contracted and 
non-contracted county child and family service agencies while a child is enrolled in and transitioning out 
of Head Start.  The hours of operation vary depending on the child’s school program and individual 
needs.  The school sites are generally open Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., and clinicians 
provide some services in the early morning or evening to accommodate caretakers’ work schedules.  
Additionally, all Mental Health staff is available via voicemail, and email through the Mental Health unit 
administrator.   
 
3. Mental Health Referral Procedures 
If recommendation is for referral to Mental Health services within Head Start/Early Head Start or other 
agency, the Education Staff or Comprehensive Services member will follow this protocol: 
The child’s teacher is responsible for: 

 Consulting with Site Supervisor to recommend a referral. 

 Providing documentation regarding concerns such as Positive Guidance Plan, tracking report, 
observations. 

The Site Supervisor is responsible for the following: 

 Reviewing child’s file and any pertinent screening results such as Brigance, DECA, Health History 
to identify and gather additional information to share with appropriate parties as suppor for the 
referral. 

 Scheduling a meeting with parent to offer mental health services for additional services. 

 Completing referral forms and securing parent consent and signature. (CSB 501 Child Referral 
and Parent’s Consent) 

 Processing the referral with the appropriate Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager. 
CSAM are responsible for: 

Deleted: Therapy

Deleted:  the following

Deleted: Fill out referral forms and gets 
parent consent and signature (CSB-501 Child 
Referral and Parent’s Consent)

Deleted: <#>Process the forms to Site 
Supervisor (SS) for approval and signature.¶
<#>Review referral.¶

Formatted: Justified,  No bullets or
numbering



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
21 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 When Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers receive a referral for MH, they must 
thoroughly review it before processing. All sections of the referral must be filled out on the 
CSB501 form (See CSB Forms) including: 
o Name 
o Birthdate 
o CLOUDS ID# 
o Center name and EHS or HS checked 
o MediCal # 
o Check if child has a Positive Guidance Plan and provide copy of the plan with referral 
o Check if child is on one of the 4-Step Discipline Policy Steps, and if applicable, indicate which 

step and provide copy of the Discipline Letter 
o Address 
o Phone # 
o Parent’s name 
o Home Language and English skills level of Parent and child 
o If child is being raised by grandparent or foster parent 
o Name of person making referral (not just” teacher”) 
o Reason for Referral 
o Initials for consent for assessment and exchange of information, signatures and dates. 
o CSAM name and phone number 

 Provide parent with copy of referral 

 Entering the referral in CLOUDS 

 Entering the reason for the  referral in the comment section 

 Entering ‘Parent Consent for Release of Info’ as ‘Received’ and entering the date that the 
parents signed the form 

 Entering the child’s Medi-Cal Number in CLOUDS 

 Faxing referral with cover sheet to confidential fax at CSB Mental Health Unit at (510) 374-7033. 
and Including the following documents: 

o Completed Referral Form 
o MediCal Card or other insurance documentation 
o Positive Action Behavior Plan/Discipline Step Policy Letter if on file 
o DECA (as available) 

 Sending email or call Mental Health Manager and Mental Health Clerk to advise that referral is 
being faxed. Include the following information: 

 The CLOUDS # of the child 

 If it is a high priority case and needs immediate attention, such as a CFS At-Risk referral, use the 
High Priority Flag on the email, and write in, “High Priority Case-Please process ASAP”. 

 Changing referral status from “New” to “In Process” 

 Changing the referral status in CLOUDS from “In Progress” to “On Going” when a clinician has 
been assigned 

 Adding extra notes under Case Notes as applicable 

 Scheduling case management   

 Creating a new Referral in CLOUDS if there are no available case openings, the child is not 
eligible for Medical Services, or the parent declines services and an outside provider is available 

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: When Comprehensive Services 
Assistant Managers receive a referral for MH, 
they must thoroughly review it before 
processing. All sections of the referral must be 
filled outon the CSB501 form (See CSB Forms)  
including:¶

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: CSAM are responsible for:¶

Deleted: Include 

Deleted: e

Deleted: Change 

Deleted: as needed



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
22 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

o CSAM will follow-up with the parent to see if they are receiving services. Update in 
CLOUDS Referral section and note when the child is actually receiving outside services 

o CSAM will continue to communicate with Site Supervisor and the Mental Health team 
regarding services or for support in providing referrals 

 If parent fails to obtain outside services, CSAM will assist in finding services and check back 
periodically with MH clerk to see if CSB MH has case openings and is able to serve the child, 
CSAM, updates CLOUDS to reflect status of referral (Complete, Parent Refused). 
 

Mental Health Clerk is responsible for: 

 Verifying if the child qualifies for services 

 Entering in the Case Notes section of the referral, beginning with the date, and ending with her 
first initial and last name. 

 Sending an email to CSAM and Site Supervisor to let them know the referral was received. The 
referral will be processed and assigned to a mental health clinician who will perform an 
assessment and provide ongoing services if the child symptomatic behaviors meet medical 
necessity for treatment. 

 Emailing the CSAM and Site Supervisor with child’s CLOUDS # with the child’s MediCal eligibility 
status and advise if services can be provided or if an outside referral is needed. 

 Entering in the Mental Health Section of CLOUDS “Facilitated Referral” 

 Sending an email to CSAM and CSB Site Supervisor to inform that the child’s case has been 
assigned to a clinician and when services will begin. 

 Entering the clinician assignment in the Mental Health section and Case Notes of CLOUDS 

 Emailing the CSAM and Site Supervisor when a referral is closed or returned. 
 
The Mental Health CSAM is responsible for: 

 Advising CSAM if there are no available case openings, the child is not eligible for Medical 
Services, or the parent declines services. 

o Case Management may be held to provide support/follow up and/or additional 
resources to parent. 

 Recommending a referral for outside services if appropriate (and document in referral section of 
CLOUDS) and communicating to site supervisor and CSAM. 

 Including CSB site supervisors in e-mail notifications.  (The CSAM will notify Partner agency staff)  
 

Clinicians are responsible for: 

 Contacting the child’s parents to obtain informed consent and to start services 

 Consulting with CSAM to advise and/or coordinate first parent contact meeting as appropriate 
 
CSAM or Mental Health Assistant (whichever applicable) will update CLOUDS in the Referral Section and 
change status of the original referral and select “Complete” from the drop down menu and provide brief 
explanation in Observation Comments Section. 
 
4. Mental Health Emergency/Crisis Referral Procedures 

Deleted:  

Deleted: Manager or the Mental Health Clerk

Deleted: <#>Sending an email to CSAM and 
Site Supervisor to let them know the referral 
was received. The referral will be processed 
and assigned to a mental health clinician who 
will perform an assessment and provide 
ongoing services if the child symptomatic 
behaviors meet medical necessity for 
treatment.¶
<#>Entering in the Mental Health Section of 
CLOUDS “Facilitated Referral”¶
<#>Sending an email to the CSAM and CSB Site 
Supervisor to inform that the child’s case has 
been assigned to a clinician and when services 
will begin¶
<#>Entering the clinician assignment in the 
Mental Health section and Case Notes of 
CLOUDS¶

Deleted: The Mental Health referral will 
be placed on a tracking list for follow-up to 
ensure that all children in need receive 
necessary services.

Deleted: ).

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25"

Deleted: Contacting the

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: , 

Deleted: Mental Health Manager, 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
23 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

If a CSB Site Supervisor and/or CSAM believe that a child is experiencing and/or responding to an 
emotional crisis or emergency in their life and need urgent mental health intervention, the following 
people in this order should be notified before making a referral: 

 Mental Health Clinical Supervisor, Lora Groppetti: (925) 890-7540 

 CSAM/Mental Health, Rowena (Reena) Torres: Cell (925) 383-4913 

 Lead Assistant Director, Janissa Rowley: Cell (925) 525-9951 

 Cluster A Assistant Director, Pam Arrington: Cell (925) 864-9084 

 Cluster B Assistant Director, Carolyn Johnson: Cell (925) 852-9735 

 Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers (If MH Manager or ADs cannot be reached)  
The responding Mental Health Manager, Clinical Supervisor or Agency Manager will determine an 
appropriate intervention or course of action based on the level of crisis and an initial clinical assessment.  
If CSB Mental Health determines that the case needs specialized intervention that CSB cannot provide, 
the responding clinical supervisor/manager will assist site staff in the facilitation of an appropriate 
outside referral.  If the CSB Mental Health team can provide treatment and the child is determined to be 
in crisis, a referral will be processed and treatment will be provided regardless of the child’s MediCal 
eligibility.  
 
The referral should be rushed through the current procedure; MediCal eligibility and/or health insurance 
information can be checked after the referral is faxed to the mental health unit (refer to Mental Health 
Referral section: Section 2, Part 1, F3). 
 
5. Mental Health Professional Staff 
The Mental Health unit employs licensed Clinical Supervisors and unlicensed Master’s level staff working 
towards Marriage Family Therapist or Clinical Social Worker licensure and who are specialized in 
children and families Mental Health.  The staff strives to provide excellent early intervention to children 
and support services to parent and guardian caretakers that are designed to meet their specific needs.   
 
The Mental Health unit attempts to employ staff to accommodate the linguistic and cultural needs of a 
diverse Head Start population.  The unit is supported by one full-time Bachelors level mental health 
assistant and seven CSB Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers.  These staff help provide with the 
identification and facilitation of referrals. 
 
To promote children’s mental wellness, CSB develops collaborative relationships with local mental 
health agencies for the purpose of securing ongoing prevention, intervention, consultation, and direct 
services to the program’s children and their families. 
 
6. Mental Health Services & Special Education Services Sign-In Protocol at All CSB Sites When Providing 
Mental Health and Special Education Services 
The Mental Health Professionals and site staff will follow this protocol when Mental Health services are 
provided at all CSB sites. 
Mental Health Clinicians are responsible for: 

 Signing the Site Visitor log at each site visit when providing services to a child or attending a 
meeting.  Only sign name and do not identify self as a Mental Health provider to ensure client 
confidentiality and comply with HIPAA regulations. 

Deleted: Rowena (Reena) Torres 
CSAM/Mental Health: Cell  925-383-4913

Deleted: <#>Cluster C Assistant Director, 
Suzanne DiLillo: Cell (925) 895-4887¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
24 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Adhering to appropriate classroom protocols when removing/returning child from/to classroom 
for play therapy services 

Special Education Staff are responsible for: 

 Accessing the Special Services Log from its locked location and sign it every time the Mental 
Health Intern or Special Education staff comes to the site to provide services to a designated 
child. 

 Filling in the date and both the child’s name and the intern’s name. 

 Giving special services log back to site staff (secretary at front desk, site supervisor) and ensure 
the log is returned to a locked file/drawer. 

Front Desk Staff is responsible for: 

 Signing a confidentiality statement annually. 

 Making sure Special Services Log is filled out correctly. 

 Ensuring that the Special Services Log remain in a locked location at all times when the 
intern/special education staff is not using it. 

Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Signing a confidentiality statement annually. 

 Monitoring the safe locked storage of the Special Services Log. 
CSAMs are responsible for: 

 Signing a confidentiality statement annually. 

 Entering all Special Services Log entries to the child’s chart by the end of the month. 
 
7. Policy Regarding Response to Legal Situations 
i. Description of CSB Policy Regarding Involvement in Custody Disputes by Treating Mental Health 
Clinical Staff 
 
If there is a custody dispute involving the child who is receiving Mental Health services from CSB’s 
Mental Health unit, it is the policy of this agency that the treating clinician or Mental Health Clinical Staff 
not get involved in such a custody dispute.  This dispute may be between the parent and the system or 
between Social Services and the parent(s).  
 
Mental Health Clinical Staff are discouraged from writing letter or reports in support of either side in 
such a dispute.  The treating clinician will serve their client best by staying neutral in a custody dispute.  
Taking sides opens the door for the clinician to be asked to testify in a court of law and expose 
confidential client information. 
 
If a parent (or Social Services) requests a written report about the child’s treatment, and after a Release 
form has been signed by the parent, a short treatment summary should be composed and – upon 
approval by the supervisor – mailed to the child’s parent ONLY. 
 
ii. Description of CSB Policy Regarding Subpoenas 

 Subpoena of Records 
If a subpoena for records is served to the treating clinician, the clinician must attempt to have 
the child’s parent sign a release form permitting the release of a treatment summary.  If such a 

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
25 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

release cannot be acquired, the clinician must claim the Psychotherapist/Patient privilege.  The 
court will then have to override the privilege and request the records. 

 Subpoena to Appear in Person 
If a subpoena to appear in person is served to the treating clinician, the clinician, upon 
consultation with his/her supervisor must also claim the Psychotherapist/Patient privilege.  The 
clinician must not respond to or talk to any court representative, serving officer, or lawyer for 
any party, without the special written permission of the child’s parent(s) (or Social Worker for 
Social Services).  If a Mental Health Intern gets served with a subpoena, he/she should contact 
his/her supervisor immediately for a consultation.   

 
8. On- Site Mental Health Consultation 
The Mental Health Clinical Supervisor and Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers facilitate and 
make referrals for psychological assessments for children having potential emotional or behavioral 
problems with parental written parental consent.  
 
The Mental Health Clinical Supervisor and Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers utilize the 
Directory of County Mental Health Providers to make referrals when appropriate and work with parents 
to obtain information on available school resources and services in the area of mental health, locating 
placement for individual children including securing psychological services. 
 
Parents and staff collaborate in the planning of all mental health and educational services. 
The Mental Health Supervisor, clinical staff and Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers advise the 
site supervisor and educational staff on integrating mental health activities into the curriculum. Mental 
Health clinical staff collaborates with site supervisor and classroom teachers to implement strategies 
and plans related to social emotional curriculum.  Periodic observation of children’s behavior and 
classroom learning environment is performed.  Case management meetings are held to discuss the 
observations with education staff, parents and/or Comprehensive Services Managers.  
 
The Mental Health Clinical Supervisor and clinical staff provide workshops to staff and parents on topics 
relating to child mental health, such as childhood depression, management of difficult childhood 
behaviors, stress management, recognition of child abuse/neglect, increasing children’s self-esteem, and 
play therapy and positive parenting.  Information is also provided to staff on identifying mental health 
needs, making mental health referrals and utilizing case management to facilitate a referral.  The Mental 
Health Clinical Supervisor and clinical staff provide consultation at case management meetings to 
discuss children who are presenting with atypical behavior or emotional/behavioral needs. 
 
9. Additional Mental Health Supports 
Staff and parent support group meetings are held to discuss child mental health parenting and caregiver 
issues and challenges. Case management meetings are conducted a minimum of twice per year 
depending on the needs of the family. 
 
i. Identifying Mental Health Concerns 
Mental Health Staff collaborate with CSB health, disabilities, nutrition, and education colleagues and CFS 
to determine a child’s need for a diagnostic evaluation. Diagnostic evaluations are recommended for all 

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: Manager 

Deleted: Manager 

Deleted: Manager

Deleted:  

Deleted: Manager 

Deleted: Manager

Deleted: at least 

Deleted: and on an as-needed basis.



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
26 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

children who present with symptomatic behavior indicating signs of severe stress, social, emotional, 
educational, developmental delays and/or physical concerns.  

 
Program staff, in partnership with parents, uses the following steps:  

 The teacher and/or parent assess the child's behavior (through DECA, direct observation, 
monitoring tool etc.), and determine that there are concerns at school or at home. 

 In the case of children involved in the Child Welfare System, the CFS worker may determine that 
a child needs assessment and/or intervention based on the child’s exposure to trauma as a 
result of early abuse, neglect in addition to risk factors such as prenatal drug exposure, 
prematurity, low birth weight, poverty, homelessness, parental depression, and other mental 
health problems.  The CFS worker may also deem that the child needs assessment and/or 
intervention as a result of the removal of the child from the biological home and placement in 
foster care. 

 The teacher observes and records behavior and consults with Site Supervisor before requesting 
assistance from the Comprehensive Services/Disabilities/Mental Health Supervisor.  

 The appropriate content area Comprehensive Services Manager reviews the child's file (or Child 
Health/Education Passport in CFS child case) for pertinent information (e.g., health issues, family 
history, Family Partnership Appraisal, screening results, and other areas of concern) that may 
have significant impact on the referral. 

 If the recommendation is for referral to a school district or other agency, the nature of the 
referral is discussed with parent through a case management meeting. Staff checks with parent 
for understanding, and parent initials and signs the Child Referral Parent’s Consents form 
CSB501. (see Mental Health Referral section) 

 If a parent requests service only for him/herself, the Mental Health Manager or clinical staff will 
provide brief confidential consultation and appropriate referrals utilizing the County Mental 
Health Provider directory. If the parent’s issues will have significant impact on the child’s 
classroom behavior or emotional and/or physical health and well-being, appropriate steps are 
taken to ensure the child's safety and stability.  Referrals are provided to Child Protective 
Services, County Health Services, and/or community agencies that assist with crisis, domestic 
violence, and homelessness.  

 
ii. Strategies for Behavior Management 
Any form of discipline or punishment that violates a child’s personal rights is not permitted (see 
Discipline Policy section: Section 2, H). 
 
The teaching staff must utilize positive guidance techniques and developmentally appropriate practices 
in managing children’s behavior.  Children respond differently to various intervention approaches, and 
have individual temperaments that staff must consider in behavior management. 

 STRATEGY A-implement Best Practices 

 STRATEGY B-Positive Behavior Action Plan (Refer to Form CSB-134B) 
o Case Management with parent/caregiver and site staff to develop plan 

 STRATEGY C-Case Management 
o If behavior continues/escalates, review and assess the Positive Behavior Action Plan 

 STRATEGY D-Discipline Policy Implementation 

Deleted: problems 

Deleted:  Manager

Deleted: <#>The Site Supervisor makes 
requests for Mental Health assistance for case 
consultation, classroom observations, or other 
interventions.¶

Deleted: , 

Deleted: staff 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  1" + Indent
at:  1.25"

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  1" + Indent
at:  1.25"



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
27 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

o Apply only when Strategies A-C have been executed 
o Site Supervisor must be consulted prior to implementation 
 

STRATEGY A-Implementing Best Practices 
Undesirable behavior, while a normal part of growing up, is discouraged or redirected.  The following 
strategies reflect best practices for responding to inappropriate behavior: 

 Anticipate/eliminate potential problems 

 Evaluate and adjust the environment 

 Redirect child away from conflict or negative events to more positive activity 

 Offer choices to the child 

 Assist child to learn logical/natural consequences of their actions 

 Encourage respect for the feelings/rights of others 

 Encourage initiative 

 Encourage identification and healthy and socially acceptable ways to express emotion 

 Encourage development of self regulation and behavior control through positive reinforcement 
of pro-social behavior 

Additional behavior management strategies include: 

 Let children know what is expected and why – Inform children what the rules are, and the 
reasons for these rules.  Let children help create classroom rules.  Example:  “We walk inside – 
so we don’t bump into tables or other children.” 

 Model/encourage expected behavior – Show children, with actions and words, what is 
expected.  Praise children’s actions when appropriate.  Example:   “Thank you for helping!” 

 Respect children’s developing capacities – Ensure that expectations match/respect children’s 
developing capacities.  Example:  do not expect a four-year-old to sit still/be quiet for long 
periods of time. 

 Talk to children about why they are behaving a certain way – Kneeling down/getting on the 
children’s level and listening, communicates caring concern about them as individuals. 

 When reminding children of expectations, move close to them, touching them gently on the 
hand or arm (if culturally acceptable). 

 Be patient; wait for children to respond (when appropriate) –Tell a child what behavior is 
expected, and allow time for the child to process this information.  Example:  “When the toy is 
picked up, you may join us in the circle.” 

 Allow someone else to step in and help – If a teacher becomes angry with a child, immediately 
ask another teacher/supervisor to help.  (It is best to request another adult to take over until 
you have calmed down.) 

 Observe/record behavior - especially recurring behavior – to determine factors involved in the 
behavior.  Maintain a positive/loving attitude – Keep your sense of humor, do not focus on the 
difficult behavior.  View the behavior and responses as opportunities to help children 
grow/learn. 

 Discuss with children healthy ways to deal with anger, stress, and frustration. 

 “Time out” for children is not an acceptable strategy for dealing with inappropriate behavior. 

 Use Social Emotional Learning Curriculum (DECA) screening results to determine which 
protective factors the child needs help building and employ recommended classroom strategies 
to address the child’s need. 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
28 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Consult with Mental Health clinical staff and collaborate with clinicians and parents to develop 
effective intervention plans. 

 
STRATEGY B-Positive Behavior Action Plan 
iii. Positive Behavior Action Plan 
When the above listed strategies are ineffective, the next step is for teacher, with site supervisor 
support and guidance, to consult with parent to develop a Positive Behavior Action Plan (CSB-134B-
Positive Discipline Action Plan). Steps include: 

 Identifying the child’s protective factors (Review DECA results) 

 Defining the child’s strengths 

 Defining the child’s social, emotional, physical, learning needs 

 Defining the child’s behavioral concerns  

 Partnering with parent/caregiver through mutual decision-making process in: 

 Developing a plan to redirect the behavior with specific quantifiable and observable goals  

 Developing a plan to reinforce the child’s positive behavior (specific strategies for intervention 
related to each goal). 

 Set timelines for plan implementation and progress follow up (2-4 weeks should be given to 
implement behavior plan and should be followed up with case management within 4 weeks to 
review implementation and any needed changes) 

 
iv. Case Management Team Meeting 
After classroom observations have been completed, and DECA results have been reviewed, a Positive 
Behavior Action Plan that considers any necessary modification to environment and teacher/child 
interactions (per DECA), is developed and implemented. If there is little or no progress in relation to the 
goals of the plan, or the child’s behavioral concerns increase, the Site Supervisor follows up with the 
Comprehensive Services Manager/Disabilities Manager/Mental Health Staff to schedule a Case 
Management Team meeting.  A Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager or CS Manager will facilitate 
this meeting.  The Case Management Team will discuss strengths/concerns/recommendations at this 
time.  Please see Case Management section for more details. 
 
G. Parent Involvement in Health, Nutrition, and Mental Health Education 
CHDP consultants train parents and staff on prevention of common childhood illnesses. 
(Contra Costa County Health Services) MediCal representatives provide education and information to 
parents and staff on MediCal application procedures and the Managed Care system. 
Dental representatives train parents and staff on dental hygiene. A Mental Health Consultant trains 
parents and staff on early prevention/intervention of children’s Severe Emotional Disorder, Behavior 
Disorders, and stress related behavior. 
 
H. Discipline Policy 
If a child consistently displays inappropriate behavior in the classroom, the teacher is responsible for 
calling the Site Supervisor immediately for assistance.  If a child’s behavior continues to escalate, the 
following guidelines will be followed in the classroom with the child (after having implemented the 
above strategies-implementing best practices and developing and implementing the Positive Behavior 
Action Plan). 

Deleted:  This plan, developed in collaboration 
by the Education, Comprehensive Services, 
Disabilities and Mental Health Management 
team, takes an in-depth look at the behavior and 
strategies to try to increase pro-social behavior 
and extinguish negative behavior. 

Deleted: Manager 

Formatted

Formatted



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
29 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
In compliance with Section #101221 of the Licensing Code, and in support of children’s right to be 
treated with dignity and respect, the following covers our philosophy and methods for handling 
behavior of young children. Examples of hurtful behavior include biting, hitting, spitting, damaging 
school property or hurting classroom pets. 
 
CSB will report to Community Care Licensing any incidents requiring medical attention 
To ensure that CSB provides an environment that fosters the development of a positive self-concept and 
self-control, CSB will implement this four step discipline policy. After each step, staff and parents are 
required to sign that each step has occurred: 
 
Step 1 
If the child bites, hurts someone or damages school property for the first time, the teacher will inform 
the parent privately about the incident.  At that time, parent is provided with resources and intervention 
strategies to address the specific behavior.  The parent is asked by the site supervisor if they would like 
an information/linkage to parenting classes and/or consulting (confidentially) with a CSB Early Childhood 
Mental Health/Behavioral Healthcare specialist. The Site Supervisor will evaluate the incident in the 
classroom. 
 
The following actions shall be taken:  
Teachers are responsible for: 

 Reviewing and completing the Discipline Policy- Step Letter to Parents form (CSB521- Discipline 
Policy and Step Letter) with parent and provide parent with copy. 

 Informing the Site Supervisor about the incident by submitting the Accident/Incident Report 
(See Forms CSB208) 

 Ensuring that the parent signs a copy of the “Accident/Incident Report” 

 Reviewing the Positive Guidance Plan (if not already created) or provide a copy of the plan and 
additional documentation relating to child’s behavior as applicable 

Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Evaluating the incident in the classroom. 

 Reviewing and signing the Discipline Policy- Step Letter to Parents form (CSB521- Discipline 
Policy and Step Letter) 

 Reviewing and signing the Accident/Incident Report (form CSB208). 

 Offering parent resources and/or linkages to consultation. 

 Discussing child referral for assessment with parents if appropriate and securing Parent’s 
signature on a Child Referral Parent’s Consent form (CSB501). 

Step 2 
If the child bites, hurts someone or damages school property for the second time, the parent will receive 
an incident report. The Site Supervisor will meet with parent to provide resources as needed to help 
deal with the situation at home and discuss how staff is dealing with the situation in the classroom.  The 
site supervisor will offer the parent linkage to confidential consultation with the CSB Mental Health 
Staff. 
 
The following actions shall be taken: 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted:  She/he will explain what happened. 

Deleted: will be

Deleted:  information about positive parenting 
and intervention

Deleted: will 

Deleted: also be 

Deleted: any 

Deleted: if they would like to 

Deleted: about their child’s behavior or 
parenting strategies and asked to speak with 
his/her child about the incident. 

Deleted: will be

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: Developing a

Deleted: will be

Deleted: . If parents agree to referral,

Deleted:  a Child Referral

Deleted: “” will be signed

Deleted: Manager



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
30 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Teachers are responsible for: 

 Informing the Site Supervisor about the incident by submitting the second Accident/Incident 
Report. 

 Meeting with the Site Supervisor and parent to discuss the second “Accident/Incident Report” 
and request the parent to sign. 

 Reviewing the Positive Guidance Plan with parent for progress and modifications needed. 
 
 Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Calling the parent immediately and setting up a conference to discuss the incident. 

 Meeting with the teacher and the parent.  

 Reviewing and signing the Discipline Policy- Step Letter to Parents form. (CSB521- Discipline 
Policy and Step Letter) 

 Reviewing the Positive Guidance Plan and provide resources and make adjustments as needed.  

 Offering parent linkage to confidential consultation with CSB Early Childhood Mental Health 
Manager or follow-up on previous referral to linkage. 

 Discussing child referral for assessment with parents if applicable. Completing a Child Referral 
Parent’s Consent form (CSB501) will be signed.  

 Scheduling a case management meeting with parents to discuss new strategies for behavioral 
modification and the possibility of a more appropriate placement for the child. 

 Requesting Education Manager to observe classroom. 
 
 
Step 3 
If the child bites, hurts someone, or damages school property a third time and the two previous steps 
are proving to be ineffective, parent is required to attend a team meeting to discuss the possibility of a 
more appropriate placement for the child and referrals are provided. 
 
The following actions shall be taken: 
Teachers are responsible for: 

 Informing the Site Supervisor about the incident by submitting the third “Accident/Incident 
Report”. 

 Reviewing and modifying child’s progress report and the Positive Guidance Plan if needed with 
team and Site Supervisor for behavioral modification.  

Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Calling the parent immediately to pick up his/her child if necessary. 

 Reviewing and signing the Discipline Policy- Step Letter to Parents form. (CSB521- Discipline 
Policy and Step Letter) 

 Following-up on previous linkage to referral given. 

 Securing parent’s signature and date “Accident/Incident Report.” 

 Provide documentation on the child’s progress which may include review of teacher’s progress 
report, Positive Guidance Plan or any other behavioral monitoring tool. 

 Requesting assistance from Comprehensive Services Manager and informing Assistant Director 
as needed and Mental Health Clinician if child is receiving mental health services. 

 

Deleted: will be

Deleted: will be

Deleted: ing

Deleted: f appropriate. If parents agree to 
referral, a Child

Deleted: will be

Deleted: asked 

Deleted: your 

Deleted: will be

Deleted: will be

Deleted: will be

Deleted: Offering parent with linkage to 
resources and confidential consultation with 
the Mental MH Manager or 

Deleted: f

Deleted: Having 

Deleted: .

Deleted: <#>Request and schedule the 
parent to attend a case management meeting 
to discuss new strategies for behavioral 
modification and the possibility of a more 
appropriate placement for her/his child.¶

Deleted: & 

Deleted: needed



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
31 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Step 4 
If the three previous steps prove to be ineffective and the child bites or hurts someone, or damages 
school property a fourth time, the Site Supervisor and Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are 
to assist the parent with securing or transferring the child to a more appropriate environment or 
program.  The parent is given two week’s written notice of the change or a Notice of Action to comply 
with the state regulations and termination notices).  During this period program staff is to assist the 
parent in reviewing alternative referral services and advocating for entry into a new program. 
 
The following actions shall be taken: 
Teachers will be responsible for: 

 Informing the Site Supervisor about the incident 
Site Supervisor will be responsible for: 

 Alerting the Assistant Comprehensive Services Manager, Comprehensive Services Manager & 
Assistant Director 

 Reviewing and signing the Discipline Policy- Step Letter to Parents form (CSB521- Discipline 
Policy and Step Letter) 

Comprehensive Services Manager will be responsible for: 

 Conducting a case management with Site Supervisor and Assistant Director to consult and 
discuss child’s alternative placement. 

 Informing the parent about the child’s alternate placement and referrals. 
 
I. Case Management  
1. Description 
Case management is a collaborative process involving parents, staff, social workers, specialized 
providers and specialists for the purpose of developing, implementing, coordinating, monitoring and 
evaluating plans and the various options and services available and/or required to meet children and 
family’s needs.  Shared decision making, open communication and promotion of the family and child’s 
strengths are key elements to the process and essential to quality outcomes. 
 
2. Purpose 
Case management at CSB is strengths-based and enhances access to care and improves the continuity 
and efficiency of services. Depending on the specific setting and location, Comprehensive Services 
Managers are responsible for a variety of tasks, ranging from linking clients to services to providing the 
services themselves. Other core functions include outreach to engage clients in services, assess 
individual’s needs, and arrange requisite support services (such as housing, benefit programs, job 
training, and advocating for parents rights and entitlements). 
 
Case management is not a time-limited service, but is intended to be ongoing, providing families 
whatever they need, whenever they need it, for as long as necessary. For children with disabilities or 
receiving mental health services, it is expected that at least two case managements are conducted per 
year.   
 
3. Role of the Case Management Facilitator 

Deleted: will 

Deleted: will be

Deleted:  (Must

Deleted: state

Deleted: will 

Deleted: Consulting with the Assistant 
Director to discuss child’s alternative 
placement.

Deleted: that is 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
32 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

A case management facilitator serves as a liaison between the family, service providers, teachers and 
Site Supervisors to identify what services and resources are needed. They meet with parents individually 
or as a multidisciplinary team; often at their respective sites, via telephone, or even in a casual 
environment, all for the purpose of enhancing communication between the present parties. 
 
Case management services are best offered in a climate that allows direct communication between the 
case management facilitator, the parent, and appropriate program staff in order to optimize the 
outcome for all concerned. These meetings are always facilitated in a manner that is sensitive to the 
parent, child and family’s needs, allowing the parent maximum opportunity for expression of their 
concerns, and help the parent develop advocacy skills.  All concerns, agreements and process of the 
meeting are documented in the Case Management Report (form CSB514) and the parent is offered a 
copy of this report for their records.  
 
Case management facilitators are able to identify those providers and facilities that can best serve the 
family’s needs throughout the continuum of services, while ensuring that available resources are being 
used in a timely and effective manner for families. For example, parents in need of health-related 
support and services receive assistance in navigating the healthcare system and working with other 
outside agencies. 
 
4. Case Management Team Members 
It is essential to not overwhelm parents by inviting too many people to the meeting or having too many 
items on the agenda.  Many issues being discussed at these meetings are complicated and can be 
emotionally difficult for parents.  It is also important to encourage the parent to bring an advocate if 
they feel that will help them better understand the information being discussed, or make important 
decisions.  An agenda and introductions should be required for every meeting so that the parent know 
what the goals are and who they are sharing information with and understand team members roles. 
The Case Management Team may include: 

 Parents 

 Teachers 

 Site Supervisors 

 Education Manager 

 Disabilities Manager 

 Mental Health Supervisor 

 Health Manager 

 Nutritionist 

 Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager 

 Other community professionals such as a Pediatric Nurse, Psychologist, Speech Therapist, 
Resource Specialist, CFS Child Welfare/Social Worker, Public Health Nurse, Special Education 
Teacher, and/or Mental Health professional 

 
5. Case Management Team Responsibilities: 

 To respect the civil rights of the parents, children and families involved. 

 To provide a confidential and safe place for the child/family information to be discussed. 

Deleted: Manager

Deleted: n Manager



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
33 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 To ensure that the child/family’s private information is protected and managed in accordance 
with all state and federal laws. 

 To review and discuss assessment, evaluation results, placement and outcomes for children. 

 Review and discuss appropriate placement or action to be taken. 

 Establish time lines and types of service delivery. 

 Develop and implement Family Partnership Agreements with parents. 

 Meet on an ongoing basis to review and discuss progress of child. 

 Review and evaluate Behavioral Management Plan. 

 Ensure that a family-focused approach is taken to ensure service delivery 

 Develop and implementing transition plans for children. 

 Ensure that strengths of children and families are encouraged and considered in identifying 
expected outcomes for children. 

 Ensure that family priorities, concerns, and resources are recognized and are part of the Family 
Partnership Agreement. 

 
6. The Case Management Team Meeting 
i. Description 
 
A Case Management Team meeting may be called at any time for a child as the need arises.  This 
meeting is conducted to exchange information, and to develop the most appropriate action plan for a 
child with disabilities. 
 
These plans may include development of a Family Partnership Agreement (FPA) with the parent(s), 
home visits, referrals to outside agencies or professionals, requests for additional information from 
outside agencies or professionals, and classroom placement decisions or modifications.  The following is 
the case management process: 

 Site Supervisors and teachers review all children’s files prior to Case Management 

 Summary notes from the child’s file will include but not be limited to health, dental, nutrition, 
disabilities, mental health, family services and parent involvement. All confidential mental 
health or other health records are stored in accordance with HIPAA. 

 After files have been reviewed, the Site Supervisor will submit cases to the Comprehensive 
Services unit.  The Comprehensive Services Managers will hold Case Management Meetings for 
all children with concerns or at high risk at any time as the need arises. 

To provide continuity of care for children with disabilities, Case Managements are conducted as needed 
during the year. 
 
ii. Referral for Inappropriate Behavior 
If a teacher is concerned about a child’s consistent display of inappropriate behavior, she/he should call 
their Site Supervisor. 
 
The Site Supervisor, Head Teacher, classroom staff and Comprehensive Services Manager/Assistant 
Manager observe the child in the classroom and complete documentations on their observations for use 
at a Case Management Team meeting.  A Case Management Team meeting must be scheduled to plan 
strategies on how to effectively meet the child’s needs. 

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
<#>¶

Formatted: Justified

Formatted

Formatted

Deleted:  

Deleted: will be

Deleted: will spend time in the classroom, and 
complete 

Deleted: should 

Deleted: so the

Deleted:  of the child can be met



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
34 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
The Comprehensive Services Manager/Assistant Manager will be responsible for: 

 Creating an agenda that is provided to all participants and keeping the meeting on time/track 
and have all participants sign-in 

 Facilitating Case Management Team meetings 

 Coordinating and gathering relevant information before the meeting 

 Keeping on file all documentation of Case Management Team meetings and record meeting 
notes on CSB514. 

 Inviting all applicable parties or individual advocates working on behalf or providing services for 
child/parent (with parent consent), including but not limited to legal guardian, CFS Worker, 
Speech/language Therapist, Occupation Therapist, and Mental Health Therapist. 

 Following up on next steps. 
 
The Site Supervisor are responsible for: 

 Reviewing classroom observations and Positive Guidance Plan with the teaching staff prior to a 
Case Management Team meeting 

 Discussing strategies/intervention techniques with teaching staff prior to the Case Management 
Team meeting 

 Discussing recommendations for referral with the parent(s)of a child with disabilities  

 Coordinating meeting with CS staff so appropriate staff may attend 
 
If Applicable, the Nutritionist and Health Services Manager are responsible for:   

 Gathering relevant information before the meeting 

 Writing nutritional plans for children and families 
 
J. Child Abuse Reporting Policies  
 1. CSB Staff Responsibilities 
It is essential that all CSB program staff adhere to Mandated Reporters Law to report suspected non-
accidental injury, sexual molestation, or infliction of physical and mental suffering and/or neglect of a 
child. 
 
All personnel having contact with children are required by law to report all instances of suspected child 
abuse or neglect. 
 
Grantee, Sub-contractors, and Delegate Agencies will maintain confidentiality of records concerning 
child abuse and neglect in accordance with state law and Head Start Performance Standards. 
CSB staff provides children who are identified by Child Protective Services (CFS) as at-risk highest priority 
for intervention and placement in the school program; and make every effort to retain abused and 
neglected children and/or admit allegedly abused and neglected children referred by Child Protective 
Services (if the families are income-eligible). 
 
The Comprehensive Services/Health/Disabilities/Mental Health Managers will coordinate activities 
regarding the issues of child abuse/neglect.  Their responsibilities are to: 

Deleted: will be

Deleted: will be

Deleted: will 

Deleted: give



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
35 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Providing training and consultation for staff and parents regarding identification / reporting of 
child abuse.  The purpose of this training will be to educate participants that Abusing parents or 
caretakers need help and support - not punishment. 

 Providing support services so that additional abuse/neglect does not occur. 

 Providing training to parents and staff yearly on the significant aspects of abuse / neglect.  
Comprehensive Services/Disabilities/Mental Health Managers will maintain documentation of 
such training. 

 Establishing liaison with Child Protective Services (which has legal responsibility for receiving 
reports of abuse and neglect). 

 Collaborating with Human Resources to ensure that program staff is properly informed/trained 
on procedures for identifying/reporting suspected child abuse and neglect. 

 Collaborating with Human Resources to ensure there is a signed document in each CSB program 
personnel file acknowledging that the person has been trained regarding child abuse and 
neglect. 

 Ensuring that information/training is provided for parents and staff on the legal requirements 
regarding reporting of abuse/neglect.    

 Providing written explanation of the legal requirements of reporting (given to every parent 
when he/she enrolls in the program)  

 Obtaining a signed acknowledgment from the parent that he/she has received the information, 
and understands it (HS-610) 

 Reviewing annually child abuse reporting laws and updating all employees on new 
requirements. 

 Maintaining tracking sheet for all reports. 

 Ensuring that parents are provided ongoing educational opportunities to learn about positive 
parenting and child abuse prevention techniques. 

 
2. Child Abuse Reporting Laws - Penal Code Sections 
Section 11166 (a) - requires that any: 

 Child care custodian 

 Medical practitioner 

 Non-medical practitioner 

 Employee of a child protective agency 
 
Anyone listed above having knowledge of, or observing a child in his/her professional capacity or within 
the scope of his or her employment whom he/she reasonably suspects has been the victim of child 
abuse, must report such suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency immediately by 
telephone (or as soon as practically possible), and must prepare/send a written report thereof within 36 
hours of receiving information concerning the incident. 
 
Section E of 11166 states,  “The reporting duties under this section are individual and no supervisor or 
administrator may impede or inhibit such reporting duties and no person making such report shall be 
subject to any sanction for making such report.  However, internal procedures to facilitate reporting and 
apprise supervisors and administrators of reports may be established provided they are not inconsistent 
with the provision of this article.” 

Deleted: Provide 

Deleted: Provide 

Deleted: Provide 

Deleted: Collaborate 

Deleted: Collaborate 

Deleted: Ensure 

Deleted: This information/training includes:

Deleted: Provide 

Deleted: Ensure 

Deleted:   

Deleted: If a

Deleted: has 

Deleted: observes 

Deleted: shall

Deleted: shall



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
36 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
Section 11172 (b) states, “Any person who fails to report as required by this article an instance of child 
abuse which he or she knows to exist or reasonably should know to exist is guilty of a misdemeanor and 
is punishable by confinement in the County jail for a term not to exceed 6 months or by a fine of not 
more than five hundred dollars ($500) or both.” 
 
3. Child Abuse Reporting Procedure 
All staff and volunteers in all divisions MUST report child abuse or neglect IF: 

 They have knowledge of it, 

 They have observed it, or 

 They have reasonable suspicion of its occurrence or 

 They receive second-hand information of the suspected abuse 
The report must be made as soon as the suspected abuse is noticed.  Report of child abuse takes priority 
over other matters.  In Contra Costa County, it is the responsibility of the local Welfare Department and 
the police to assess whether or not abuse has occurred. 
 
If you are unsure if a report should be made, discuss the situation with your immediate supervisor or 
your second level supervisor and/or consult the CFS directly (see contact information below). You may 
also call the Mental Health Unit for additional support  at the following number:  925-335-8911 or 925-
335-8940. 
 
When any member of the CSB staff suspects abuse or neglect of a child, they should first check the 
child’s file to gather pertinent information; this information is for the purposes of reporting.  Particular 
attention should be made to Health History, physical exam, and Family Partnership Agreement (to 
become familiar with any details that may provide further explanation for the incident prompting 
suspicion of abuse or neglect).  
 
The following steps must be taken when a member of CSB staff suspects child abuse or receives the 
information second-hand 

 Call Child Protective Services (Law requires the person suspecting child abuse/neglect to report 
it to Child Protective Services by phone immediately) 

o To report suspected child abuse, call Children & Family (Protective) Services, at (24 hour 
Hot Line) 1-877-881-1116 

 Teachers to report to their Site Supervisor immediately the information that was reported to 
them 

 Site Supervisors report the information to Assistant Director 

 Assistant Directors report the information to Division Manager 

 After an oral report is made, a written “Suspected Child Abuse Report” (see EHSD Intranet > 
FormSTAR > SS 8572) must be completed and sent within 36 hours to (mail or fax): 
 

 Central Screening Office 
Child Protective Services 

400 Ellinwood 
Pleasant Hill, CA 94523 

Deleted: Comprehensive 
Services/Disabilities/Mental Health Manager 
(Child Abuse Reporting Liaison) immediately

Deleted: 40

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5"

Deleted: The person suspecting child abuse or 
receiving the information second-hand must 
make the call to Child Protective Services then 
inform their supervisor. If the supervisor is 
unavailable, then the Assistant Director must be 
contacted.  Law requires the person suspecting 
child abuse/neglect to report it to Child Protective 
Services by phone immediately. Any staff member 
receiving second-hand information must report to 
Child Protective Services, and their immediate 
supervisor the information as reported to them, 
including the person reporting the information.

Formatted: Centered



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
37 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Fax: 925-602-6980/6981 
 

 The Person Making the report must sign the written report and provide the report to their site 
supervisor. 

Site Supervisor is responsible for: 
o Maintaining and storing of any/all CFS reports in a locked confidential file, which is 

separate from the child’s cumulative/educational file. 
o Sending a “Notification of Report” email to the appropriate Comprehensive Services 

Manager and Assistant Manager (of the corresponding Cluster) and Mental Health 
Clinical Supervisor, (Email should include only the CLOUDS child ID#) 

 

 Only authorized CSB staff will have access to review “confidential” files. 

 Comprehensive Services/Disabilities/Mental Health staff are to discuss the report with the 
family, when appropriate – with acknowledgment and approval of CPS.   

 Staff may choose to remain anonymous in filing the report.  

 This request must be honored, unless the case goes to court or there is further police 
investigation.  

 Content area managers meet regularly to discuss mutual areas of concern 

 The Mental Health Clinical Supervisor provides all requested and/or necessary follow-up and/or 
consultation to support parents and program staff with reporting or incidents involving reports 
or the removal of a child from the school program or by Child and Family Services. 

 The Mental Health Supervisor or assigned Mental Health staff actively collaborate with Children 
and Family Services to coordinate delivery of any/all necessary services to children, 
biological/foster parents to support family preservation, reunification and child/family mental 
health.  
 

For CSB Mental Health staff, above reporting procedures applicable with the exception of the following: 

 Inform and consult with clinical supervisor, rather than site supervisor. 

 Provide copy of the CFS report to MH Clerk and file report in child’s mental health file, not at 
site or child’s cumulative file. 

 
  
 

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: Provide copy of the CFS report to MH 
Clerk and file report in child’s mental health file, 
not at site or child’s cumulative file ¶
To report suspected child abuse, call Children & 
Family (Protective) Services, at (24 hour Hot Line) 
1-877-881-1116¶
¶
After an oral report is made, a written “Suspected 
Child Abuse Report” (see EHSD Intranet  >  
FormSTAR > SS 8572) must be completed and sent 
within 36 hours to (mail and/or fax):¶
Central Screening Office
Child Protective Services
400 Ellinwood¶
Pleasant Hill, CA 94523¶
Fax:  925-602-6980/6981¶
The person making the report must sign the 
written report and provide the report to their site 
supervisor.  ¶
¶
Site Supervisor is responsible for the following:¶

<#>Maintaining and storing of any/all CFS 
reports in a locked confidential file, which is 
separate from the child’s 
cumulative/educational file.¶
Send a “Notification of Report” email to the 
appropriate Comprehensive Services Manager 
and Assistant Manager (of the corresponding 
Cluster) and Mental Health Manager,¶

(Email should include only the CLOUDS child 
ID#)¶
Only authorized CSB staff will have access to 
review “Confidential” files.¶ ...



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
38 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

II. Services for Children with Disabilities 
A. Purpose 
The Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau is consistent with both Federal and center 
regulations governing the rights of the disabled.  Based on Head Start Program Performance Standards 
at 45 CFR part 1304, children with disabilities who are enrolled in Head Start programs receive all the 
services to which they are entitled.   
 
The Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau recruitment efforts include recruiting children 
who have severe disabilities and must not deny placement on the basis of a disability or its severity to 
any child when: 
(1) The parents wish to enroll the child, 
(2) The child meets the Head Start age and income eligibility criteria, 
(3) Head Start is an appropriate placement according to the child's IEP/IFSP, and 
(4) The program has space to enroll more children, even though the program has made ten percent of 
its enrollment opportunities available to children with disabilities. In that case children who have a 
disability and non-disabled children would compete for the available enrollment opportunities. 
 
The Contra Costa Community Services Bureau will access resources and plan for placement options, 
such as dual placement, use of resource staff and training so that a child with a disability for whom Head 
Start is an appropriate placement according to the IEP/IFSP is not denied enrollment because of: 
(1) Staff attitudes and / or apprehensions; 
(2) Inaccessibility of facilities; 
(3) Need to access additional resources to serve a specific child; 
(4) Unfamiliarity with a disabling condition or special equipment, such as a prosthesis;  
(5) Need for personalized special services such as feeding, suctioning, and assistance with toileting, 
including catheterization, diapering, and toilet training. 
 
The same policies governing Head Start program eligibility for children without disabilities apply to 
children with disabilities.  
 
The Contra Costa Community Services bureau has instituted a variety of enrollment placement options, 
including: 

 Joint placement with other agencies 

 Shared provision of services 

 Shared district personnel to supervise special education services 

 Shared enrollment slots 

 Accepting kindergarten-aged eligible children in collaboration with school districts when IEP 
states the need  

 Increased staff, such as classroom-support aides and volunteers 
 
There are two kinds of children with disabilities identified for services: 

 Children who may require special attention due to the specific high risk factors that do not have 
a diagnostic ability. These children may not have and IEP or IFSP.  

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: .



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
39 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Children who have been diagnosed by a certified and/or licensed professional as “possessing a 
disabling condition and have and IEP or IFSP.”  

 
B. Definitions 
(a) ACYF-Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. 
Department of Health and Human Services, and includes appropriate Regional Office staff. 
(b) Children with disabilities-Children with intellectual delays (mental retardation), hearing impairments 
including deafness, speech or language impairments, visual impairments including blindness, serious 
emotional disturbance, orthopedic impairments, autism, traumatic brain injury, other health 
impairments or specific learning disabilities; and who, by reason thereof, need special education and 
related services. The term children with disabilities for children aged 3 to 5, inclusive, may, at a State's 
discretion, include children experiencing developmental delays, as defined by the State and as measured 
by appropriate diagnostic instruments and procedures, in one or more of the following areas: physical 
development, cognitive development, communication development, social or emotional development, 
or adaptive development; and who, by reason thereof, need special education and related services. 
(c) Commissioner-Commissioner of the Administration on Children, Youth and Families. 
(d) Day-Calendar day. 
(e) Delegate agency- A public or private non-profit agency that a grantee has delegated the 
responsibility for operating all or part of its Head Start program. 
(f) Disabilities coordinator- Person on the Head Start staff designated to manage on a full or part-time 
basis the services for children with disabilities described in part 1308. 
(g) Eligibility criteria- Criteria for determining that a child enrolled in Head Start requires special 
education and related services because of a disability. 
(h) Grantee- A public or private non-profit agency that has been granted financial assistance by ACYF to 
administer a Head Start program. 
(i) Individualized Education Program (IEP) - A written statement for a child with disabilities, developed 
by the public agency responsible for providing free appropriate public education to a child, and contains 
the special education and related services to be provided to an individual child. 
(j) Least Restrictive Environment- An environment in which services to children with disabilities are 
provided: 
(1) to the maximum extent appropriate, with children who are not disabled and in which; 
(2) special classes or other removal of children with disabilities from the regular educational 
environment occurs only when the nature or severity of the disability is such that education in regular 
classes with the use of supplementary aids and services cannot be achieved satisfactorily. 
(k) Performance Standards- Head Start program functions, activities and facilities required and 
necessary to meet the objectives and goals of the Head Start program as they relate directly to children 
and their families. 
(l) Related services- Transportation and such developmental, corrective, and other supportive services 
as are required to assist a child with a disability to benefit from special education, and includes speech 
pathology and audiology, psychological services, physical and occupational therapy, recreation, 
including therapeutic recreation, early identification and assessment of disabilities in children, 
counseling services, including rehabilitation counseling, and medical services for diagnostic or evaluation 
purposes. The term also includes school health services, social work services, and parent counseling and 
training. It includes other developmental, corrective or supportive services if they are required to assist 

Deleted: .”



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
40 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

a child with a disability to benefit from special education, including assistive technology services and 
devices. 
(1) Assistive technology Device- Any item, piece of equipment, or product system, whether acquired 
commercially off the shelf, modified, or customized, that is used to increase, maintain, or improve 
functional capabilities of individuals with disabilities. 
(2) Assistive technology service- Any service that directly assists an individual with a disability in the 
selection, acquisition, or use of an assistive technology device. The term includes: The evaluation of the 
needs of an individual with a disability; purchasing, leasing, or otherwise providing for the acquisition of 
assistive technology devices by individuals with disabilities; selecting, designing, fitting, customizing, 
adapting, applying, maintaining, repairing, or replacing of assistive technology devices; coordinating and 
using other therapies, interventions, or services with assistive technology devices, such as those 
associated with existing education and rehabilitation plans and programs; training or technical 
assistance for an individual with disabilities, or, where appropriate, the family of an individual with 
disabilities; and training or technical assistance to professionals who employ or provide services involved 
in the major life functions of individuals with disabilities. 
(m) Responsible HHS official- The official who is authorized to make the grant of assistance in question 
or his or her designee. 
(n) Special education- Specially designed instruction, at no cost to parents or guardians, to meet the 
unique needs of a child with a disability. These services include classroom or home-based instruction, 
instruction in hospitals and institutions, and specially designed physical education if necessary. 
 
C. List of Disabling Conditions 
The classification of a child as “having a disabling condition” requires diagnosis by a qualified 
professional.  Children with disabling conditions require special education and related services, due to 
one or more conditions including, but not limited to: 

 Autism 

 Emotional /Behavior Disorder 

 Developmental Delay  

 Health Impairment 

 Hearing Impairment and Deafness 

 Intellectual Disability as of Oct. 2010 instead of Mental Retardation 

 Learning Disabilities 

 Orthopedic Impairment 

 Speech/Language Impairment 

 Traumatic Brain Injury 

 Visual Impairment and Blindness 

 Other impairments 
No child will be identified as having a disability because of speaking a language other than English, 
economic circumstances, ethnic or cultural factors, or normal developmental delays. 
 
D. Responsibilities of CSB Full Inclusion Teacher 

 Work with the Site Supervisor, Comprehensive Services team and school district full inclusion 
staff.  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
41 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 The CSB inclusion teacher and the School inclusion teacher (Special Education Teacher) share 
joint responsibility for all students in the class with indoor and outdoor activities.  

 Obtain appropriate documentation (copy of IEP or IFSP) that identifies the child as having a 
disability and be aware of other services provided to the child. 

 Complete classroom child observations. 

 Ensure each child’s safety and assist identified children with self-help skills while they are 
receiving services. 

 Assist school district full inclusion staff with bathroom procedures including diapering and 
toileting. 

 Participate in case management and IEP/IFS meetings regarding children in the class. 
    
E. Responsibilities of School District SDC, RTI and Full Inclusion Teachers 
CSB does not directly supervise the School District staff but works in collaboration to ensure the children 
and families benefit from their services while ensuring the education and safety of the children under 
their supervision. 
        Full Inclusion Staff 

 Follow all Community Services Bureau policies and procedures. 

 School Inclusion Teacher (Special Education Teacher) and CSB inclusion teacher share joint 
responsibility for all students’ supervision during small and large, indoor and outdoor activities.  
Assisting full inclusion children in bathroom procedures (including diapering and toileting). 

 Responsible for providing the special education for identified children, maintaining accurate 
records of evaluations progress, meeting with parents and overall ensuring the children meet 
their IEP goals. 

 Participate in team planning for classroom inclusion strategies, case management team 
meetings, meeting schedules regarding full inclusion children and IEP meetings. 
 

       Special Day Class Staff 

 Ensure the safety of the children under their direct supervision (SDC). 

 Collaborate directly with the Comprehensive Services Team to ensure the family and children 
comply with CSB mandates. 

 While in the playground, SDC teaching staff and CSB Teacher share joint responsibility for all 
students’ supervision during small and large outdoor activities. 

 SDC teachers are responsible for providing the special education for identified children, 
maintaining accurate records of evaluations progress, meeting with parents and overall ensuring 
the children meet their IEP goals. 

 Participate in case management meetings, SDC program collaboration meetings and children IEP 
meetings. 
 

       RTI Teaching Staff 

 Ensure children’s safety while providing direct supervision under RTI. (Tier II and III) 

 Collaborate directly with the Comprehensive Services Team to ensure the family and children 
comply with CSB mandates. 

 Participate in case management meetings, RTI program collaboration meetings and children IEP 
meetings. 

Deleted: Full Inclusion Staff

Deleted: inclusion 

Deleted: teacher 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
42 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

       CSB Site Supervisor Responsibilities 

 Maintain communication with school District staff (teachers and/or therapists) under the 
various programs in an effort to coordinate delivery of services at the site level such as: Ordering 
classrooms supplies, ordering meals/snacks, building maintenance/repairs, communicating site 
events, etc. 

 Monitor the safety transition of children going in and out of the classrooms and in and out of 
sites such as playground transitions, playground rations, bus arrival/departing, etc. 

 Ensure the teachers participation or represents teachers in IEP and/or case managements as 
needed based on family/child needs. 

 Maintain communication with Disability Manager and AD about the program progress in an 
effort to strengthen up the collaboration. 

 
F. Responsibilities of the Comprehensive Services Team 
1. Comprehensive Services Clerks 

 Complete CSB temp file package at intake.  

 Flag the file the file using the red/yellow flag system to alert the staff and assistant manager 
about the child’s health, nutrition, socio- emotional, developmental, parental concerns and 
family needs. 

 Communicate to comprehensive services assistant manager if child’s physical exam/baby well 
check and/or sensory/developmental screening results indicate concerns. 

 Keep accurate records of children health/nutrition and families services information. 
2. Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers 

 Review and follow up children intake packages flagged with the red/yellow flag system. 

 Review all records related to the child’s heath history, medical records and screening results to 
ensure children with suspected or identified concerns receive further evaluations and services. 

 Lead and coordinate case managements as needed to provide early interventions to children 
with identified concerns based on health, nutrition, socio-emotional and developmental 
screenings. 

 Lead and coordinate pre-enrollment case managements for new children entering our program 
with identified health, nutritional, socio-emotional and developmental needs. 

 Maintain close communication with parents and staff to ensure delivery of services, resources 
and/or referrals are in place; based on the individual needs of the child and the family. 

 With parental consent participate in IEP/IFSP meetings and any other meetings related to the 
services the child/family are receiving.    

 Maintain accurate and up-to-date documentation regarding current IEP/IFSP and other services 
provided to the child and family in the children’s file and in CLOUDS. 

 Coordinate, schedule and participate with the site supervisor in transition planning for children 
moving from Early Head Start to Head Start and from Head Start to preschool; especially for 
those children with IEP and IFSP. 

 When no other alternative is available, coordinate and schedule transportation with the 
comprehensive services team to transport the child/family to receive further 
evaluations/assessments or to the IEP/IFSP meeting. 

 Consult and maintain open communication with the disability services manager and any other 
content area managers as needed. 

Formatted: Justified,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Justified

Deleted:  

Deleted: IFSP and IEP



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
43 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

3. Responsibilities of the Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager 

 Coordinate and Monitor the delivery of services provided by Community Services Bureau in 
collaboration with outside agencies to children with suspected and diagnosed disabilities and 
their families. 

 Review, update and implement the Community Services Bureau Disability Services Plan.   

 Review, update and train Community Services Bureau staff on following disability protocols to 
ensure policies and procedures are implemented consistently. 

 Create, review, and update interagency agreements with community agencies serving children 
with disabilities in an effort to:   

o Participate in the public agency's Child Find plan under Part B of IDEA, 
o Joint trainings of staff and parents,  
o Create procedures for mutual referrals and placements,  
o Plan transitions support to children and families,  
o Resource sharing, and  
o Any other items agreed by both agencies.  

 Coordinate delivery of services and provision to children with suspected or diagnosed disability.  
o Coordinate with other content area managers the timely completion of health/cognitive 

screenings.  
o Monitor site data reports to ensure that children received early intervention as a result 

of their screening and assessments results.  
o Participate in case management meetings and IEP/IFSP meetings as needed. 
o Assist teaching staff with trainings based on a specific disability or as requested. 
o Monitor the implementation of services provided to children with disabilities based on 

their IEP or IFSP goals and objectives. 
o Monitor the disability referrals tracking system to ensure child referrals are followed up 

accordingly. 
o Coordinate and monitor classrooms adaptations, accommodations and modification 

based on the individual needs of the child.  
o Assist identified parents with resources and advocacy information to prepare for 

meeting with the Regional Center or School District to develop an Individual Family 
Services Plan (IFSP) or an Individual Education Program (IEP).  

o Regularly visit classrooms to ensure that children with suspected and identified 
disabilities receive the individualization and accommodation they need based on their 
IEP and their individual needs. Monitor the delivery of services from both Community 
Services Bureau and the collaborative agencies. 

o Monitor delivery of services to children with disabilities and their families when 
transitioning from home to center based program, from infant/toddler program (EHS) to 
Preschool Program (HS) and from Preschool Program (HS) to Kindergarten. Participate in 
transition plans and meetings as needed. 

 Provide disability content area assistance, support to upper management, teaching staff 
including home based and comprehensive services team.  

 Monitor disability reports for accuracy and timely completion of delivery of services to comply 
with PIR (Program Information Report) requirements. 

 Review Program Self-Assessment reports and create follow up action plans when needed. 

Deleted: and

Deleted: outside agency



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
44 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Manage allocated funds to purchase or lease of special equipment and materials for use in the 
program and home to assist the child to move, communicate, improve functioning or address 
objectives which are listed in the child's IEP/IFSP. 

 Track and provide detail report of the number of children with disabilities in HS/EHS services 
area, including types of disabilities to Assistant Directors. 

 
G. Documentation of Disabilities Services 
CSB must maintain records from all services provided to children with disabilities and their families.  
Children’s records are confidential and are maintained in locked files and password-protected in the 
CLOUDS data system.  Data from these records are used to prepare the annual Program Information 
Report (PIR). 
 
H. Postural Supports / Protective Devices 
The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager works with educational and health staff to ensure that 
children with disabilities use approved medical devices including, postural or supportive restraints that 
are in accordance with state requirements and have CSB approval. 
 
Children needing protective, postural or medical devices due to a disability condition must have a 
written request from a physician or an IEP/IFSP Team indicating such need. 
The use of any medical appliances, devices or supportive restraints must be secure and able to be 
released in a way that is in compliance with fire clearance and earthquake safety. 
 
CSB Teachers directly working with the children and Site Supervisor should be trained in the use and 
care of such devices prior to the child starting the program. The training should be documented in the 
case management notes with attached signatures of the trainer and trainees. 
 
I. Disabilities Resources 
The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager works with the Special Education Local Plan Area 
(SELPA) and other collaborative agencies to utilize all available resources to ensure the best involvement 
of the child and family in the program.  The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager is responsible 
for developing a coordinated plan with all agencies working with the child and family. 
 
J. Service Plan 
Community Services Bureau develops annually a disabilities service plan based on the community 
assessment results, providing strategies for meeting the community needs and the special needs of 
children with disabilities and their parents. The purpose of this plan is to assure:  

 That all components of the Community Services Bureau program are appropriately involved in 
the integration of children with disabilities and their parents.  

 Those resources are used efficiently. 
The Community Services Bureau Disability Manager coordinates with other service managers the 
provisions for children with disabilities to be included in the full range of activities and services normally 
provided to all Head Start children and provisions for any modifications necessary to meet the special 
needs of the children with disabilities. 
 

Deleted: Track and provide detail report of 
the number of children with disabilities in 
HS/EHS services area, including types of 
disabilities to Assistant Directors

Deleted: H

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: I



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
45 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

K. Disabilities Budget Coordination 
The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager is the designated liaison for special education services.  
Disabilities services outlined in the budget follow the regular budget procedure of parent and staff input 
with final approval. 
 
L. Special Education Budget Allocation 
The CSB program works within its budget to assist in providing needed services to children with 
disabilities. The program accesses all available sources to insure that all needs identified in the IEP or 
IFSP are met. This includes the local and state LEAs, SSI funding, other agency support, and local 
educational institutions.  Every effort is made to utilize community resources to meet the needs of each 
child with disabilities enrolled in the program. 
 
M.  Disabilities Screenings 
All preschool children are screened by the teaching staff in the areas of social and emotional 
development, speech and language, motor and cognitive development.  All infants and toddlers are 
screened for cognitive development.  The Comprehensive Services Team screens preschool children in 
hearing, vision, and nutrition, within 45 days of enrollment and follow CHDP schedule thereafter. 
Parents are informed about all screenings, their purpose, and give consent in advance before staff can 
complete the screenings.  Comprehensive services complete the screening results form to communicate 
results to parents. The results from the screenings are used for beginning the individualization process 
for each child. 
 
The Site Supervisors are responsible for working with the Teachers and Comprehensive Services Team to 
ensure that the speech and language screening tool, the social/emotional, sensory and developmental 
screenings are completed within 45 days of entry.  Lead teachers must review and initial all education 
screenings to ensure they are accurately completed and meet required timelines. 
 
Designated site staff enters the screening data in CLOUDS.  The Teacher places original documents of 
the Speech and Language Checklist, Brigance Cognitive Screening and Devereux Early Childhood 
Assessment (DECA) behavioral screening in the Education section of the family file.  If concerns are 
noted, the appropriate service area staff will follow up to ensure services meet the needs of the child.  
Teachers will give each child time to adjust to the new environment before completing the screenings.  
Children whose screenings show concerns may be rescreened within thirty days to ensure the validity of 
the original screening. 
 
If concerns arise after re-screening, the Teacher (for cognitive-Socio emotional-SP/L screenings results) 
or the Comprehensive Services staff (for sensory screenings results) will communicate with the Site 
Supervisor and Compressive Services Assistant Manager to follow up with strategies to refer the child 
for further evaluations.  
 
N. Evaluations 
All children identified as needing further evaluation are referred to the appropriate agency or 
professional for further evaluation and assessment.  The referral follows the established referral 
procedure: 

Deleted: J

Deleted: K

Deleted: L

Deleted: site 

Deleted: supervisors 

Deleted: teacher 

Deleted: teacher 

Deleted: teacher 

Deleted: comprehensive 

Deleted: services 

Deleted: site 

Deleted: supervisor 

Deleted: assistant manager 

Deleted: a referral for 

Deleted: M



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
46 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Through a case management, the guardian’s permission is obtained. 

 The teacher, Home Educator or Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager follows through on 
accessing the appropriate services. 

 When no other alternative is available, the Comprehensive Services Team provides 
transportation for the family and child to obtain evaluations. 

 The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager monitors the referrals and supports parents and 
staff as needed.  

 The Comprehensive Services Manager is available to provide knowledge and expertise to handle 
challenging cases. 

 
O. Accessibility of Facilities 
All Community Services Bureau facilities provide for handicapped accessibility; in addition special 
furniture, equipment and materials are provided in conjunction with other agencies working with the 
child based on their individual needs and their IEP or IFSP. 
 
P. Disabilities Transitioning Services    
All infant toddler transition plans start when the child turns 30 months old.  The Parent, Site Supervisor, 
Teacher and Comprehensive Service Assistant Manager write the transition using the Infant Toddler 
Transition Plan Form (CSB 161).  This meeting is to plan what needs to be in place for when the child 
ages out the EHS program.  Children with current IFSP are included in this plan.   
 
In addition when a child with IFSP turns 30 months and no later than 90 days prior to their 3rd birthday 
the family and child will transition from the Early Intervention Program (Part C Services of IDEA) to the 
School District (Part B of IDEA) as part of the IFSP transition.   This meeting includes but is not limited to 
the Parent and any family member for support, the Early Intervention Provider, the School District 
Coordinator, the Special Education teacher, the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager or 
Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager, and the CSB teacher or Home Educator. The team will 
create a transition plan; evaluate the child’s strengths and areas of concerns, schedule further 
evaluation by the School District and schedule a diagnosis meeting.  At the end of the evaluations the 
child may or may not qualify for an IEP services under the School District and exit the Early Intervention 
Program (IFSP) the day before the child turns 3 yrs. old.  
 
Another opportunity for transition starts when the child qualifies for an IEP and CSB placement is 
available at the site.  For that a case management conference is held to evaluate and plan how to best 
serve the child at the site and how to support his/her learning based on his/her IEP.  Evaluation of the 
classroom and outdoor environment will take place to identify accommodations needed including 
adaptive furniture or materials, modification of classroom schedules and routines to meet the individual 
needs of the child.  This Transition Plan may include a gradual transition that involves both programs 
over a period of time.  Any needed staff training will be provided as part of the plan. 
 
For children transitioning out of the program into another program, the Teacher, Home Educator or 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager coordinates with parent and School District to how to 
support the child’s transition. The meeting is to explore possible placements for the child.  Included in 
the meeting are the child’s Guardian, School District Coordinator, Teacher or Home Educator, and other 

Deleted: Disabilities 

Deleted: N

Deleted: O



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
47 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

professionals providing services for the child and family.  When the best possible placement is decided 
for the child, the Teacher and the family initiate a meeting with the new Teacher.  At that time, a plan 
for a gradual transition including visits to the new program and sharing information about the child and 
their individual plan takes place. 
 
Q. Transition Policy for Early Head Start Children Receiving Mental Health or Special Education Services 
As CSB’s Mental Health services have expanded to include services for the EHS children, CSB must 
consider these children with disabilities in transitioning from the EHS program to the HS program.  If an 
EHS child who is receiving mental health or special education services turns 3, the child must not 
automatically be terminated from the program.  Transition planning must consider the child’s individual 
developmental and emotional needs as well as age.  The Head Start performance standards, Sections 
1304.41(c) (1) and 1304.41(c) (2), require programs to establish transition procedures which take into 
account the child’s health status and developmental level and current and changing family 
circumstances among others, and allow for a child to remain in Early Head Start, following his or her 
third birthday, for additional months until he or she can transition into Head Start or another program.  
(Based on licensing regulation this might not apply to all EHS programs). 
 
In order to meet these Head Start and Early Head Start requirements and to address each child’s 
individual situation, the following policy regarding transitions will be in effect and only if the EHS 
blended program can accommodate such transition: 

 If a child is receiving mental health services from Community Services Bureau’s Mental Health 
unit, a transition-planning meeting will take place approximately 3 months before the child’s 3rd 
birthday to address this child’s individual circumstances.  The family, teachers, Site Supervisor 
and Mental Health clinician will participate in this meeting. This meeting is coordinated by the 
MH clinician. 

 If it is determined that the child is developmentally and/or emotionally not ready to move into 
the HS program, the child can remain in the EHS program until such time when it is determined 
that the child is ready to transition to the HS classroom. 

 If there is a time gap between the child’s 3rd birthday and the beginning of the HS program, in 
order to ensure continuity in educational and mental health services to this child, the child may 
remain in the EHS program until he/she can transition into the HS classroom. Follow up meeting 
with all caregivers can be held as appropriate. 

 
R. Special Education and Related Services 
All infants/toddlers and preschool age children entering Community Services Bureau must have a well-
child exam within 30 days of enrollment. Those preschool children who did not receive a hearing and 
vision screening as part of their well child exam will be screened by in-house certified trainers within 45 
days of enrollment.  
 
Any children identified as having a concern are referred back to their physician for further evaluation or 
referred to a community agency for assessment.  Children who qualify after assessment receive services 
from the Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA) or the Regional Center under an IEP or IFSP plan in 
accordance with our interagency agreement. 
 

Deleted: Prior to a child transitioning from the 
infant toddler program to the preschool program, 
an IFSP transition meeting is held. This meeting 
includes but is not limited to the participation of 
representation from the family, the infant/toddler 
care provider, the School District Coordinator, the 
Special Education teacher, the Comprehensive 
Services Assistant Manager or Comprehensive 
Services Disabilities Manager, and the CSB teacher 
or Home Educator. During this transition, the child 
will undergo evaluation by the school district to 
see if he/she qualifies for an IEP. ¶
¶
If he or she qualifies for an IEP, a case 
management conference is held to evaluate and 
plan how to best serve the child based on his/her 
IEP Goals and Objectives.  Evaluation of the 
classroom and outdoor environment will take 
place to identify accommodations needed 
including adaptive furniture or materials, 
modification of classroom schedules and routines 
to meet the individual needs of the child.    This 
Transition Plan may include a gradual transition 
that involves both programs over a period of 
time.  Any needed staff training will be provided 
as part of the plan.¶
¶
For children transitioning out of the program into 
another program, the teacher, Home Educator or 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager 
ensures that an IEP meeting takes place to 
explore possible placements for the child.  
Included in the IEP meeting are the child’s 
guardian, teacher or Home Educator, and other 
professionals providing services for the child and 
family.  When the best possible placement is 
decided for the child, the teacher and the family 
initiate a meeting with the new teacher. At that 
time, a plan for a gradual transition including 
visits to the new program and sharing information 
about the child and their individual plan takes 
place.¶

Deleted: P

Deleted: Q



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
48 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

A Mental Health Consultant is available to discuss behavioral/mental health concerns that the family, 
teacher or home visitor may have about a child.  The consultant will share non-confidential results with 
the teacher/Home Educator and families, and work with them to develop a plan for the child.  
 
When no other alternative is available, the Comprehensive Services Team provides transportation for 
the guardians and child to obtain evaluations. When services are not provided on site, parents are 
assisted in finding public transportation to clinics or service providers. 
 
Community Services Bureau works collaboratively with all other agencies involved with the child and the 
family to meet the objectives in the IEP or IFSP.   
 
Community Services Bureau, subject to budgetary allowances, will purchase any assistive devices 
identified in the IEP or IFSP that cannot be funded through outside agencies. 
 
Comprehensive Services staff undertakes collaborative partnerships with individual families to develop a 
Family Partnership Agreement twice a year. The Comprehensive Services staff provides families with 
community resources such as, parent support groups, parent trainings, advocacy and child development 
among others to assist families reaching their FPA goals. 
 
S. Special Education Services with Other Agencies 
Following the preschool age child assessment administered by the Local Education Agency (LEA), an IEP 
is held which includes the family, the teacher or Home Educator and/or Comprehensive Services 
Assistant Manager, and the LEA representative.  At that time, the appropriate placement is determined 
and a service plan is developed for the child. For children who do not qualify for placement with the LEA, 
Community Services Bureau addresses the child's individual needs within the classroom or home based 
visit and provides required support and services. 
 
For a child with disabilities transitioning in or out of the program, an IEP meeting is held to develop a 
plan to work together toward common goals. The meeting includes the Family, the Teacher/Home 
Educator, and the other service providers. CSB and the LEA share resources as appropriate. This 
resource sharing includes use of the classroom for any individual, family or group work that is necessary 
for the child's success. The LEA staff member shares ideas and materials with the CSB teaching staff 
when possible to foster attainment of IEP goals. CSB refers children to the LEA as soon as concern is 
suspected and does not wait until all screenings are completed.  
 
Children enrolled with a diagnosed disability and have a current IEP or IFSP, receive individualized 
education based on their unique needs. For Center Based Care, if a child’s IEP or IFSP indicates a part-
time schedule, he/she may share that enrollment slot with another child.  Children who have joint 
placement in Community Services Bureau and other agencies receive careful monitoring to insure that 
the program developed for them in each placement is working in concert with the other to provide an 
overall program that meets all the needs of the child.  Frequent communication among service providers 
is necessary to insure this.  The family plays a key role in assessing the success of the shared placement. 
T. Volunteers 
CSB welcomes community volunteers and student interns from colleges. 

Deleted: guidance, support, and resources to 
the family.

Deleted: R

Deleted: family

Deleted: teacher

Deleted: home 

Deleted: educator

Deleted: Children with disabilities in the 
program are provided services according to their 
IEP or IFSP.

Deleted:  

Deleted: S



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
49 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Whether paid or volunteer, all staff working with children with disabilities, are provided training that 
includes specific identified topics relating to the unique needs of each child. Also, general training topics 
include working with children in group situations and respecting child/family confidentiality. 
 
U. Special Education Staff 
Community Services Bureau ensures that the Disabilities Services Plan addresses program efforts to 
meet state standards for personnel serving children with disabilities.  Special education and related 
services are provided by or under the supervision of personnel meeting state qualifications.  
All staff working with children with disabilities meets state special education standards for personnel 
serving children with disabilities.  Training and supervision that meet special education standards are 
developed in collaboration with Local Education Agencies. 
 
V. Interagency Agreements 
CSB maintains an interagency agreement with the Contra Costa County Special Education Local Plan 
Area (SELPA) and the Regional Center of the East Bay (RCEB) to establish shared guidelines for providing 
services to identify children with disabilities within the CSB program.  
 
CSB participates in the Local Education Area (LEA) Child Find plan (Child Find is a component of the IDEA) 
by providing information on application and enrollment guidelines to the LEA and working with them to 
enroll eligible children. 
 
W. Recruitment and Enrollment 
All staff involved with the recruitment and enrollment of children is knowledgeable of all laws 
(Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Handicap in Programs and Activities Receiving or Benefiting from 
Federal Financial Assistance and of the American with Disabilities Acts) and Head Start mandates 
regarding children with disabilities.  
 
Interagency agreements between Community Services Bureau, Local Education Agencies and Regional 
Centers are developed, maintained and updated annually to aid in the recruitment, enrollment and 
mainstreaming of children with disabilities.  Referral sources are maintained, utilized and updated to 
provide needed services for children with disabilities. Special efforts are made to recruit children with 
severe disabilities. 
 
All staff involved with the recruitment and enrollment of children with disabilities receives training on 
children’s records as they apply to each child file. 
 
Obstacles (including staff apprehensions, inaccessibility of facilities, provision of additional resources 
necessary for child's specific needs, unfamiliarity with a disabling condition or special equipment, and 
the need for personalized special services) are addressed through needed program adaptations and 
trainings and do not affect a child’s enrollment.  
 
Enrollment placement takes into account the number of children receiving services under the disabilities 
area, including types of disabilities, severity of the disability, and services and resources provided by 
other agencies.  

Deleted: T

Deleted: U

Deleted: V



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
50 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
Resources and placement options are utilized according to a child’s IEP or IFSP. Children with disabilities 
enrolled in Community Services Bureau programs follow the same eligibility enrollment procedures 
stated in the Community Services Bureau Policies and Procedures and comply with all licensing 
regulations for center based programs.  Children with a current certified IEP or IFSP may have an over 
income waiver to qualify them for the HS/EHS program.  
 
Families whose children have an IEP or IFSP may qualify for an over income waiver for the HS/EHS 
program. At the same time families enrolled in double funded programs (State/Federal) may have a fee, 
based on the state portion of the program. 
 
Children with a current certified IEP or IFSP sharing blended state-federal funding need to comply with 
state requirements providing CSB with the copy of the IEP or IFSP and the Exceptional Needs Verification 
Form (See Form CSB65). 
 
The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager monitors the recruitment and enrollment of children 
with suspected disabilities and certified IEPs or IFSPs. 
 
X. American with Disabilities Act (ADA) Policy – Enrollment of Children with Disabilities, Recruitment and 
Enrollment Community Services Bureau serves children with disabilities and other exceptional needs, 
and their families, in all program options.  The following steps are taken to ensure full ADA compliance, 
to identify the unique needs of each child and family, to facilitate the individualization process 
collaboratively with parent and to make needed modifications in policies, practices and/or procedures 
as deemed reasonable. 
 
At intake, the individual needs of each child and family are evaluated. 
 
If it is determined that the child has a disability, whether developmental, behavioral, or health related 
(and may be documented by an IEP/IFSP) the parent is asked to provide documentation/records 
regarding the identified need. 
 
The site team, as well as appropriate Comprehensive Services Managers will review the records. 
 
A Case Management meeting is conducted with site team, Comprehensive Services Manager, parent 
and may include special service providers to: 

 Further identify child/family strengths and needs 

 Define needed accommodations/adaptations 

 Identify staff training needs and supports 

 Identify additional needed action 
Following the Case Management meeting and completion of additional actions needed, the site team, in 
collaboration with the Comprehensive Services Manager: 

 Will enroll the child or, initiate an Individualized Assessment of the child’s needs. 

 The Comprehensive Services Manager will lead/conduct the Individualized Assessment.  The 
process will be defined on a case by case basis which may include: 

Deleted: 2

Deleted: W

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: , or IPP from a special service provider

Deleted: will be

Deleted: will be

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25"



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
51 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

o Reviewing additional medical or special services, records/information. 
o Gathering the most current medical knowledge and/or best objective evidence 

regarding the disability. 
o Child observation in the natural environment or through parent/child site visitations. 
o Medical guidance obtained from public health agencies, Center for Disease Control, 

National Institute of Health, including the National Institute of Mental Health, and other 
like agencies. 

Based on the findings of the previous actions, accommodations/ modifications will be identified that 
would allow for the child to participate in the program. 
 
The findings/case will then be presented to a management team (including the Assistant Director) to 
determine if identified modifications constitute reasonable accommodations or if CSB can demonstrate 
that making such modifications would: 

 Create undue financial burden/hardship (all resources available for use in funding and program 
operation will be considered) 

 Fundamentally alter the nature of the program (essential elements of program as well as 
essential elements necessary for participant will be considered) 

The management team must also determine that the child’s presence would pose a direct threat to 
the health and safety of the individual child or others (factors to consider include:  nature, duration, 
and severity of risk; probability of occurrence of injury; whether reasonable modifications of 
policies, practices, or procedures will mitigate or eliminate risk). 
The team will then: 

o Recommend enrolling the child in appropriate placement. 
o Or provide a written statement of the reasons for reaching the conclusion not to enroll 

the child based on criteria stated above. 
 
Y. Assessment Process of Children with Disabilities 
The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager coordinates with health and education staff the 
sensory and cognitive screening of all children within 45 days of enrollment. 
 
The Comprehensive Services staff is involved in the screening process of all children, particularly those 
requiring further evaluation. 
 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers evaluate the need for further specialized assessment 
after all standard screenings have been completed. 
 
In a case management meeting families are informed of screening results and are encouraged to sign a 
written consent for requesting further evaluations with an outside agency.  
 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers refer children for further formal evaluation to the LEA 
(3 years to 5 years) or RECEB (new born to 2.9 years) according to the established referral procedure. 
LEA agencies have 60 days to process the referrals and develop an IEP upon receipt of family intake 
package. RCEB has 45 days to process the referrals upon receipt of parent intake package. 
 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted:   

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: X

Deleted: additional 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
52 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The evaluation procedure is conducted with the following provisions: 

 Obtain parental consent prior to evaluations 

 Informing parents of their rights and responsibilities under IDEA 

 Administered in a culturally sensitive manner by trained certified/licensed personnel that speak 
the child’s home language. Using more than one criterion in the determining of an appropriate 
program placement and having a multi-disciplinary team including the child's teacher to do the 
evaluation using assessment materials validated for the purpose for which they are used 

 
Z. Eligibility Criteria: Health Impairment 
Children will not be discriminated against if they present any health impairments such as, cancer, severe 
asthma, uncontrolled seizures, neurological disorders, rheumatic fever, heart conditions, lead poisoning, 
diabetes, blood disorders, cystic fibrosis, heart diseases, ADD, AIDS and other medically fragile 
conditions. 
 
Children who meet specific criteria including level of functioning, age, onset of indicators and 
documented reports may be classified as having Health Impairment. 
 
Children with suspected health impairments are referred for further evaluation. With the parent’s 
consent, CSB teaching staff will provide documentation of behavior observations relevant to the 
impairment, to the appropriate professional for assessment.  Upon receipt of a physician evaluation, a 
case management will take place to ensure that CSB can accommodate the individual needs of the child.  
   
AA. Eligibility Criteria: Emotional / Behavioral Disorders 
The identification of children with emotional/behavioral disorder involves specific behavioral 
characteristics, the use of multiple sources of data, and the review of the child's Head Start physical 
exam. 
 
Children suspected of having an emotional/behavioral disorder are referred for further evaluation to 
appropriate community agencies to determine whether IEP services are appropriate.  Upon receipt of a 
diagnosis, a case management will take place to ensure that CSB can accommodate the individual needs 
of the child in the classroom. 
 
BB. Eligibility Criteria: Speech or Language Impairments 
All children are screened for speech and language delays, within 45 days of enrollment.  Children with 
suspected speech/language delays are referred for further evaluation to RCEB or SELPA. If a 
determination is made for intervention or special education, an IEP or IFSP will be implemented through 
the outside agency (Regional Center or SELPAs).  When referring children for assessments, careful 
consideration is given to cultural, ethnic and bilingual differences as well as temporary disorders and 
delays that fall within the normal range for the child’s age. Upon receipt of evaluation and diagnosis, a 
case management will take place to ensure that CSB can accommodate the individual needs of the child 
in the classroom. 
 
CC. Eligibility Criteria: Intellectual Disability 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: U

Deleted: <#>Informing parents of their rights 
and confidentiality¶
<#>Review confidentiality policies¶

<#>The Comprehensive Services Disabilities 
Manager monitors the implementation of 
services provided to children with 
disabilities based on their IEP or IFSP goals 
and objectives.¶
<#>The Comprehensive Services Disabilities 
Manager monitors the disability referrals 
tracking system to ensure child referrals are 
followed up accordingly.¶

¶
¶

Deleted: Y

Deleted: ADD

Deleted: Z

Deleted: All information mentioned above is 
used in the evaluation process.

Deleted: AA

Deleted: BB



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
53 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

“Intellectual Disability” is a new term in IDEA for Mental Retardation. In October 2010, Rosa’s Law 
changed the term to be used in future to “intellectual disability.” After screening children suspected of 
having any delays/deficits in adaptive behavior are referred for further evaluation to the LEA and/or 
physician and/or MH services. A case management will be in place upon receipt of the diagnosis to 
ensure proper placement and support for the child. 
 
DD. Eligibility Criteria: Hearing Impairment  
All children are screened for hearing loss through the program or their private physician. Children 
needing further evaluation are referred back to their private physician and to the SELPA or to the 
Regional Center. Upon receipt of evaluation and diagnosis, a case management will take place to ensure 
the CSB can accommodate the individual needs of the child in the classroom. 
 
EE. Eligibility Criteria: Orthopedic Impairment, Visual Impairment / Blindness 
Children suspected of having an orthopedic impairment including but not limited to spinal bifida, 
cerebral palsy, loss of or deformed limbs, arthritis, or muscular dystrophy are referred to their 
pediatrician for further evaluation. Children requiring special services are referred to the SELPA or 
Regional Center. All children have vision screenings through the program or their physician. Children 
needing further evaluation are referred to their physician, an ophthalmologist and/or optometrist to 
determine whether the child is visually impaired. 
 
Upon receipt of evaluation and diagnosis, a case management will take place to ensure that CSB can 
accommodate the individual needs of the child in the classroom.  
 
FF. Eligibility Criteria: Learning Disabilities 
All Head Start children are screened for possible learning disabilities.  Those with suspected disabilities 
are referred to their physician and RCEB or SELPA as needed. Site Supervisors with the assistance of 
Teaching staff provide classroom observations and child’s work samples as needed to document the 
child’s needs Upon receipt of evaluation and diagnosis, a case management will take place to ensure the 
CSB can accommodate the individual needs of the child in the classroom.     
 
GG. Eligibility Criteria: Autism, Traumatic Brain Injury, Other Impairments 
Children that present behaviors like autism, traumatic brain injuries or other developmental 
impairments may qualify for services under the Regional Center or SELPA. CSB supports the early 
identification and intervention of children at risk and with parental consent children are referred for 
further evaluation to outside agencies.  Upon receipt of evaluation/diagnosis, a case management will 
take place to review the IEP.  CSB will make proper accommodations and maintain the child in dual 
enrollment if CSB is the proper placement based on the child’s IEP/IFSP goals and objectives. 
 
HH. Disabilities/Health Services Coordination 
The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager works closely with the Health Manager, CS Team and 
other staff in the screening, assessment process and follow-up to meet the needs of children with 
disabilities. 
 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Deleted: .

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: CC

Deleted:  if staff has concerns about their 
speech and language development.

Deleted: DD

Deleted: ¶
¶

Deleted: EE

Deleted: .  

Deleted: FF

Deleted: classified as having or suspected of 
having autism,

Deleted: that meet the state criterion for 
children with disabilities are eligible to receive 
services through 

Deleted: , 

Deleted: , and CSB as part of an Interagency 
Agreement.¶
With the help of LEA and appropriate 
professionals, Head Start provides evaluation, if 
necessary, and special services/assistance for any 
child meeting the criterion for Head Start. 

Deleted: GG

Formatted

Formatted



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
54 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The Health and Disabilities Managers work together to ensure children's special needs are met and 
supervision of the administration of all prescriptions and over the counter medications occurs in 
accordance with state requirements.  Children requiring medication must have the doctor's instructions 
and parental consent before the medication is administered. Individual records of all medications 
dispensed and a regular review with the child's parents occurs. 
 
All medications must be adequately labeled, locked and stored out of reach of children.  Individual 
medical plans should be shared with the teaching staff and closely monitored for compliance.  Any 
changes in a child’s behavior related to a drug must be shared with staff, parents and the physician. Pre-
enrollment case management is encouraged to ensure CSB staff is aware of the individual needs of the 
child and accommodation can be made. 
 
II. Developing Individualized Education Programs (IEPs) 
The School District in advance notifies families in writing of the time, date, location and purpose of the 
IEP meeting in advance, to enable participation. Repeated and documented attempts are made to 
facilitate the family's participation in the IEP meeting. Opportunities are provided for reviewing the 
results of the meetings. Efforts are made to assure that families are knowledgeable about their parent’s 
rights and responsibilities under IDEA and understand (including interpreters) the purpose and 
proceedings of the child's program. 
 
Head Start must evaluate all pertinent information when determining eligibility and placement options 
of children with current IEPs. The IEP such as:  

 The child's present level of functioning in all areas of development, strengths. 

 The identification of needs in areas requiring specific services, challenges. 

 Short and long term goals and objectives. 

 Specific special education and related services necessary for the child to participate in Head 
Start including those services provided by other LEAs and professionals. 

 Personnel responsible for services provided, projected dates for initiation/duration of services 
and place of services. 

 And evaluation procedures to determine the achievement of goals including family goals and 
objectives. 

 
JJ. Disability Referral Procedures 
1. Description 
The first five years of the children’s life are times of rapid growth and learning.  CSB provides rich 
learning and nurturing environment for them to grow and develop; however, some children will develop 
at different rates and would need some extra support to reach their age appropriate milestones. The 
Community Services Bureau is committed to early identification of children at risk of developmental 
delays in order to provide the necessary early intervention that will lead to a better future for the child. 
 
2. Screening for suspected concerns 
i. Prior to enrollment during the application period the child’s file might be flagged using the Red and 
Yellow Flag System to alert the staff of known or suspected concerns based on the completed health 

Deleted: HH

Deleted: Families 

Deleted: are notified 

Deleted: must include

Deleted: II



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
55 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

history by the parent.  The health history briefly screens children for possible health, nutrition, and 
socio-emotional and developmental risks.   
 
ii. Child’s Physical Exams/Baby Well Checkups provide a great source of information and they are given 
to us by the parents within 30 days of enrollment thereafter as required by CHDP (Child Health and 
Disability Prevention.)  
 
iii. Sensory and developmental screenings and assessments are provided to all enrolled children within 
45 days of enrollment.   
 
Children determined to be in need of further evaluation/assessment based on screening results, staff 
observations, and/or parent observation are referred to the appropriate agency with parental consent. 
 
3. Referral 
Based on the agency identified for referral, the assistant manager will explain in detail the requirements 
for their referral process, their timelines, and provide copies of the parent rights and responsibilities 
under IDEA to the parent.  It is crucial that this portion be clear to the parent and an interpreter assist 
the parent with any clarification. 

 Referral for Regional Center  (Children 0 to two years “2.9 yrs”)  
The process takes about 45 days from the date of referral. 

 Referral to Local Education Agencies/Family Home School District (Children 3 to 5 years) 
The process takes about 60 days from the date of referral. 

  
As part of a case management the parent is encouraged to sign the Child Referral and Parent Consents 
Form (CSB 501), only after understanding the referral process and his/her parent rights under IDEA.  The 
assistant manager assists the team by providing the copy CSB 501 form to be signed.   
 
For Mental Health referrals, the medical provider information is completed on the referral form and a 
copy of the child’s Medical card (if insured) is attached.  When a child is on disciplinary steps and has a 
behavior action plan, a copy of this plan, the child’s Devereux Early Childhood Assessment and 
Development Screening is included with the referral. 
 
The Child Referral and Parent Consents Form (CSB 501), is reviewed to ensure the document is correctly 
filled out after acquiring parent signature.  Additional signatures are obtained from the Site Supervisor 
and the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager.  
 
A copy of this form (CSB 501), is given to the parent, one to the assistant manager to process the referral 
and the original is placed in the file. 
 
The assistant manger reviews the signed CSB 501 and processes it immediately.  Once verified referral 
receipt by phone with the appropriate School District, Early Intervention Agency, or Mental Health Unit, 
the assistant manger completes the Response to Referral Form (CSB 502). 
 
Review referral before processing. The referral must be completed including: 

Deleted: T



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
56 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Child’s Name 

 Child’s Birth date 

 Child’s CLOUDS  ID # 

 Child’s Center 

 Current home address (Encourage family to avoid   moving houses while the LEA is evaluating 
the child) 

 Family Phone # 

 Parent’s name 

 Parent’s language of preference 

 Child’s language of preference 

 No need of SS# or Medi-Cal for Disability referrals 

 CSAM referral contact / name and phone number 

 Consents for exchange of information and assessment should be initialed by parent.  

 Parent’s signature 

 Site Supervisor, CSAM or Home Based Teacher signatures 
 
Agency to refer information: 

 Determine Home School District for children 3 to 5 years old.   

 Access RCEB or other intervention programs if the child is under 2 ½ years old. 

 Fax signed form CSB 501 to outside agency and follow up with a confirmation phone call to 
ensure they have received the referral.  

 Complete Response to Referral Form (CSB 502) 
 
The original form (CSB 502) is placed in the child’s file while the copy is given to the parent attached to 
additional relevant informational resources. 

 The copy of the Response to Referral Form (CSB 502) is given to the parent  

 Community resources such as CARE parent network, IEP/IFPS programs description and 
advocacy resources are given to the family with any other resources they might have requested.   

 The original Response to Referral Form (CSB 502) is placed in the child’s file under the Special 
Needs section.   

The comprehensive service assistant manager enters the case management notes and 
intervention/referral information under the disability tab in CLOUDS (Intervention/Referral).  Copy of 
the case management (CSB 514) is placed in the child’s file. 
 
The assistant manager will contact the family for a follow-up within 30 and 60 days after submitting the 
referral to ensure proper evaluation meetings are in place, proper support is given to the parent in 
preparation of the diagnosis meeting, and ensure participation in the IEP/IFSP meeting. 
 
Additional Case Management will follow up as needed and/or as determined in the initial meeting.  
 
KK. Nutrition Services for Children with Disabilities 

Deleted: ¶
For additional information on screenings, case 
management and referral procedures, please 
refer to Section 2 Child Development, Part II 
Services to Children with Disabilities.¶

Deleted: JJ

Deleted: Children with Disabilities 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
57 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager works with the Health Services Manager and the 
Nutritionist to ensure that provisions to meet the needs of each child are incorporated into the nutrition 
program. 
 
Appropriate professionals are consulted on ways to assist Head Start staff and families in regards to 
children having severe disabilities and problems with eating. 
 
Activities to help children with disabilities participate at mealtimes are implemented in the classroom 
after discussion in a case management meeting. 
 
Case Management meetings with CSB staff, other professionals and families are held to meet the 
nutritional needs of children with disabilities including the prevention of disabilities with a nutrition 
basis. 
 
LL. Parent Involvement in Transition Services for Children with Disabilities 
Description 
In an effort to support the transition of children with disabilities into CSB programs, or children 
transferring from one Community Services Bureau program to another, the parent will be asked to 
attend a Case Management meeting (transition  planning meeting) prior to enrollment or transfer.  The 
focus of the meeting will be to: 

 Review the IEP/IFSP goals and objectives as well as identify parent goals for child 

 Determine the needs of the child 

 Insure appropriate placement 

 Plan program adaptations (if needed) 

 Support family and foster team approach for service delivery 

 Provide activities and information to the family to foster the child’s development. 

 Provide activities to the family to reinforce program activities at home. 

 Provide family with resources such as Social Security (SSI), Early Periodic Screening Diagnosis 
and Treatment (EPSDT) programs and other community resources and assist them in accessing 
these resources. 

 Provide family with information to prevent disabilities among younger siblings. 

 Provide parent with information about their rights under the Individuals with Disabilities Act. 
(IDEA) 

 Provide resources to family groups for children with similar disabilities who can provide peer 
and family support. 

 Comprehensive Services Team will support family through the children’s transition from Early 
Head Start to Head Start or from Head Start to Kindergarten or to other agencies. 

 

 

  

Deleted:  Nutrition

Deleted: and Health manager 

Deleted: the 

Deleted: A 

Deleted: case

Deleted: management 

Deleted: will occur

Deleted: KK

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
58 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

III. Individualization in the Program 
A. Description 
Individualization is the process used to design a plan for each child that reflects their unique 
characteristics, strengths and needs. 
Individualization is based on information gained from: 

 Home visits 

 Child’s health and nutritional screenings and health histories 

 Educational screenings: Speech and Language, Brigance Cognitive Screen and DECA (Devereux 
Early Childhood Assessment Program) 

 Desired Results Developmental Profile (DRDP 2010) Assessment 

 Portfolio Assessments  

 Parent conferences and contacts 

 Children’s Individual Education Plans (IEP’s, IFSP’s) 
 
B. Individual Goals 
Individualization is documented on: 

 CSB Individualized Tracking Sheet 

 DRDP 2010 Individualization Form 

 Lesson Plans 

 First and Second Parent Conference Forms 

 Progress Notes 

 Case Managements 

 Behavioral Management plans 
Upon completion of the child’s first sixty days, teaching staff review the information collected from the 
parent contacts, educational screenings, the DRDP 2010 assessment, anecdotal records, health histories 
and IEP’s/IFSPs (when applicable) and determine a minimum of seven goals (2 Social emotional, 3 
Cognitive, 1 Motor and 1 Health and Safety) based on the Infant/Toddler and Preschool domains. 
 
Each child‘s goals including their DRDP 2010 measure number are listed on the CSB Individualized 
Tracking sheet form under the appropriate category. IEP/IFSP goals and special health goals such as 
nutrition interventions are listed on the form under Special Needs. In addition, each child is assigned a 
letter code that is used to document individualized activities on the lesson plan. 
 
C. First Parent Conference / Individualized Plan 
The first parent conference is scheduled within the first ninety days of enrollment. 
 
During this conference, the teacher and parents discuss the child’s progress based on screenings, DRDP 
2010 assessment, and parent observations.  The teacher and parent develop the goals for the child’s 
individual plan. The child’s strengths, individualized goals and activities that will support the 
development of goals are listed on the conference form.  A minimum of seven goals (2 Social emotional, 
3 Cognitive, 1 Motor and 1 Health and Safety) must be specified with corresponding DRDP 2010 
measures. Home activities are also planned for the parent and child to engage in at home. Parent and 
teacher must sign and date the form.  
 

Formatted: Font: Bold



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
59 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

D. Second Parent Conference 
A second parent conference is scheduled within 20 days of the completion of the second DRDP 2010. 
During this conference the parent and teacher review the child’s progress on the goals and objectives 
set during the first conference and discuss parent observations and view the child’s portfolio.  New 
learning goals and objectives are determined in collaboration with parent. Parent/child activities to 
support goals are planned for the home.  
 
If the child is going to kindergarten, the Kindergarten Transition Packet may be discussed with the 
parent.  A signed and dated copy of the second parent conference is placed in the portfolio and the 
child’s file.  The Kindergarten Transition form is signed by the parent and included in the file. 
 
E. The Infant-Toddler Individual Needs and Services Plan 
The Individual Needs and Services Plan (CSB-180) is completed prior to the first day of attendance. The 
process includes a personal interview with a family member by a staff member. The form is then 
updated quarterly. Included in the plan is: 

 The current feeding schedule and the amount and types of food provided including whether 
breast milk or formula and baby food is used. 

 The meal patterns of the child, new foods introduced, preferences and voiding patterns are 
shared. 

Staff should be aware of and may share information about community nutritional issues that may be 
identified services that are needed by a child that are different from the normal routines shall be 
provided including but not limited to special exercises for children with physical disabilities. 
 
F. Lesson Plans 
Lesson Plans are posted weekly. The lesson plan provides a variety of developmentally appropriate 
activities and materials for the children to engage in that will stimulate their physical, social and 
cognitive growth.  The lesson plan includes activities that meet the children’s individualized needs based 
on the results of their screenings and assessments. Individualization is documented on a tracking form 
with the  children’s alphabetic code. These codes are added to the activities planned to meet the 
children’s individual needs. 
 
The lead teachers are responsible for: 

 Planning and developing the weekly lesson plan with their classroom team. 

 Submitting the draft plan to the site supervisor every Thursday. 

 Posting the weekly lesson plan every Monday, 
 
The Site Supervisor is responsible for: 

 Reviewing and approving the draft weekly plan. 

 Signing off and dating the approved plan. 

 Returning the approved plan to the lead teachers every Friday. 

 Ensuring the lesson plans are posted in the classrooms every Monday morning. 
 
 
 

Deleted: major 

Deleted: such as

Deleted:  through the assessment, the Health 
Services Advisory Committee or local health 
department.¶
Any 

Deleted: . Such needs shall include but not be 
limited to

Deleted: A written plan is

Deleted:  that

Deleted: planned to 

Deleted: goals of each child.  

Deleted: by adding

Deleted:  to

Deleted: help them 

Deleted: their 

Deleted: goals

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
60 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

G. Developmental, Sensory, and Behavioral Screening 
All preschool children are screened by the teaching staff in the areas of social emotional development, 
speech and language, motor and cognitive development, and by the Comprehensive Services Team in 
hearing, vision, and nutrition, within 45 days of class entry, annually. Infants and toddlers are screened 
for cognitive development using the Brigance and for behavior development. Parents are informed 
about all screenings and their purposes in advance.  The results from the screening will be used to begin 
the individualization process for each child. 
(For more information on screenings, please refer to Part II, Services for Children with Disabilities, 
Section L, page 37). 
 
H. Assessment 
The Desired Results Developmental Profile Child Assessment (DRDP 2010) is the required assessment 
tool mandated by the California Department of Education and also includes the Head Start Outcome 
requirements. There is a DRDP for preschool, infant, and toddler age children. 
 
The tool assesses children in the four areas of the California State specified Desired Results:  Children 
are: Personally and Socially Competent, Children are Effective Learners, Children show Physical and 
Motor Competence, Children are Safe and Healthy. The DRDP 2010 assessment of children is 
accomplished through on-going observation of the child.  
 
Infants, toddlers and preschool children are assessed three times a year:  The first assessment is 
completed within the first 60 days of enrollment and the second DRDP 2010 assessment is completed 
within 150 days of enrollment, and the third DRDP is completed in May.  Assessment results are entered 
in CLOUDS within required guidelines.  Results of the assessments are shared with parents during parent 
conferences, are a basis for developing children’s individual goals and plans and are used for 
individualizing the lesson plans.   
 
I. Portfolio Assessment 
Portfolio assessment is implemented quarterly as an ongoing assessment process for curriculum 
development, individualization in the classroom and as a basis for communicating with parents. It 
enables primary caregivers, teachers and parents to follow children’s development over the year within 
and across curriculum domains.   
 
The teaching staff is responsible for collecting meaningful samples of children’s work including but not 
limited to the child’s writing, cutting and drawing skills.  Infant and toddler caregivers are responsible  
observe children’s growth and developmental changes and document those changes in the portfolios.  
Documentation may include photos, work samples that document developmental change. 
 
Information gathered in the child’s portfolio is used as part of the lesson planning process in which 
teachers reflect on gathered information and observations in relation to program goals for each child.  
Information gathered in the portfolio is periodically reviewed at parent conferences and home visits.  
New educational goals are jointly developed as the ongoing assessment process continues. 
 

Deleted:  

Deleted: for 

Deleted: beginning 

Deleted: 1.

Deleted: Revised 

Deleted: )

Deleted: ¶
This

Deleted:  

Deleted:   

Deleted: DRDP 2010 is an observational tool 
and serves as a framework for documenting 
children’s progress.  

Deleted: utilized 

Deleted: Every three months (quarterly), t

Deleted: a sample of 

Deleted: The teachers for infants and toddlers

Deleted:  for

Deleted: ing 

Deleted: ing 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
61 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

If a child transfers to another center, the portfolio will be placed in the child’s file and sent to the office.  
The Site Supervisor will then route it to the new location; when the school year is complete (June 30), 
the parent will be given a complete portfolio to utilize with the teacher in kindergarten as part of the 
transition plan.  On July 1, a new portfolio is started for a returning child. 
 
J. Program Transitions 
Parents are given the opportunity to participate in and be supported in the transition of children into 
Early Head Start, Head Start and Kindergarten.  
 
1. Transition Policies and Procedures for Infant/Toddlers  
Transition into the infant/toddler programs will start for families during the enrollment process into CSB 
program options.  Parents and children will be invited to visit the center or other program options to 
meet center staff, family childcare providers, home educators, or other program staff, and observe the 
educational environment. Classroom orientation will be done before the child starts the program, 
followed by the initial home visit. 
 
To ensure a continuation of program services to children and families, infant/toddler staff and preschool 
staff will work in conjunction to provide a quality and effective transition to preschool. The transition 
plan from the infant/toddler program to preschool is mandated to begin six months prior to the move. 
The CSB Transition form (CSB-161) will be completed by the parent, teacher caregiver and site 
supervisor six months prior to the transition and updated quarterly. At that time, the child will be placed 
on the CSB wait list and the Comprehensive Services Team will be notified that a transition is being 
initiated. Comprehensive Services staff will schedule a meeting with the parents to determine eligibility 
for CSB programs as soon as possible. If the family is eligible, as per Performance Standard 1305.7c, CSB 
will ensure whenever possible, that the child receives HS services until enrolled in school. If the family 
no longer qualifies for CSB programs, they will be provided other alternatives including partner sites and 
fee-based sites. The persons involved during the transition will be:  

 Parents 

 Teacher/Primary Caregiver 

 Teacher in new site 

 Site Supervisor(s) 

 Comprehensive Services Team 
 

After three months, the above team will meet to update the Transition Plan (CSB161) and to discuss the 
preschool placement.  
 
Three weeks prior to the transition, the child will begin visiting their preschool classroom accompanied 
by their caregiver teacher. The length of the visits and the number of visits will be determined by the 
child’s comfort level. A final home visit will close the child’s file and the caregiver teacher will continue 
to visit the child in the new setting as needed. The infant/toddler file will be placed behind the new 
preschool file.  
 
2. Transition Policies and Procedures for Preschoolers 

Deleted: and the 

Deleted: experience 

Deleted: put 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
62 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Transition will begin for children and their families during the enrollment process into CSB program 
options.  Parents and children will be invited to visit the center or other program options to meet center 
staff, family childcare providers, home educators, and other program staff, and experience the 
educational environment.  The initial home visit will be used to begin the transition.  The 
classroom/home-based orientation will further enhance the process. 
 
A child transition plan will be developed according to the individual needs of each child.  The plan will be 
designed when the parent indicates an upcoming change of placement or when the child is scheduled to 
transition.  Staff involved in the plan development with the parent(s) includes: 

 Teacher/Family Childcare Provider/Home Educator 

 Receiving site staff 

 Site Supervisor 

 Comprehensive Services team 
 

Prior to a final transition, the parent, child and CSB staff (when possible) will visit the new program. 
A final home visit will be conducted to finalize the process and determine any additional family support 
that may be needed.  
 
3. Kindergarten Transition 
Kindergarten transition meetings are scheduled between December through March.  During the 
kindergarten transition meeting, parents are given information on their local school districts enrollment 
procedures and are given written resources to help their child transition to kindergarten. 
Representatives from the local public schools are invited to speak to parents about the transition to 
kindergarten. Parents are also encouraged to attend field trips to kindergarten classes and to familiarize 
themselves and their child with the school facility.  Site staff assists parents with the Kindergarten 
registration process, and if necessary, assist parents to obtain the necessary documents required for 
Kindergarten entry. 
 
4. Kindergarten transition planning for children with disabilities 

 Identify family concerns, priorities, resources that relate to the change, and parents’ 
expectation(s) of kindergarten. 

 Provide training to parents to become knowledgeable regarding the application procedure and 
their parental rights. 

 Review placement options, parental rights as they relate to responsibilities within the school 
system, and steps they can take to help their child do well in school. 

 Review child's progress and update records.  Complete “Authorization to Release Information” 
(CSB139). 

 Provide activities for parents to do at home to prepare their child for kindergarten. 

 Inform parents of transition meetings, and allow them to decide what role they will play. 

 Schedule an introduction for parents with their new contact, either in person or by phone. 

 Encourage parents/arrange a visit to the prospective school before their children transfers  
  

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
63 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

IV. Curriculum (Education and Early Childhood Development) 

A. Child Development and Education Approach 

All CSB Centers implement The Creative Curriculum for Infants, Toddlers and The Creative Curriculum for 
Preschoolers.  Goals for curriculum promote children’s active involvement in their own learning.  
Children will have a learning environment and varied experiences appropriate to their age and stage of 
development that will help them grow physically, socially, linguistically, intellectually and emotionally.  
The education program  is guided by Head Start Performance Standards (45 CFR 1304), The California 
Department of Education, National Association for the Education of Young Children Developmentally 
Appropriate Practices, Program for Infants and Toddlers Caregivers (PITC) and Reggio Emilia Inspired 
Project Approach.  The Program Services Committee of the Policy Council provides input into the 
program curriculum and approach to children’s education.  
 
1. Educational Options 

 Center based:  Preschool/infant toddler full-day and Preschool part-day program options. 

 Full Inclusion programs: Children with disabilities are mainstreamed into center based 
classrooms in collaboration with the school districts. 

 Preschool Special Day class: school district operates two special day classes in collaboration with 
CSB. 

 Home Based:  Home base teachers serve as facilitators of children’s learning in the child’s home 
environment. The program provides one home visit per week for a period of 1.5 hours and two 
group socialization activities per month.  

 
2. CSB Educational Programs 
The curriculum goals are based on the State Child Desired Results and Head Start Child Outcomes. 

 Desired Result 1:  Children are personally and socially competent 

 Desired Result 2:  Children are effective learners 

 Desired Result 3:  Children show physical and motor competence 

 Desired Result 4:  Children are safe and healthy 
 
The curriculum is enhanced by the Project Approach to learning.  The Project Approach is a meaningful 
way to teach content built on children’s knowledge and interests.  Projects support the development of 
a child’s knowledge, skills, disposition and feelings.   
 
In addition, the curriculum is guided by: 

 Growing, Growing Strong: A Whole Health Curriculum for Young Children. 

 I Am Moving, I Am Learning infant and toddler gross and fine motor enhancement. 
 
B. Curriculum Implementation    
1. Orientation 
The CSB program operates year-round, and children are enrolling and departing throughout the year.  
Orientation is ongoing throughout the year. Orientation Steps are as follows: 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified

Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted: ¶
Infant and Toddler Curriculum is guided by 
Program for Infant Toddler Caregivers (PITC) 
approach.  The approach is relationship-based 
and emphasizes child-directed learning and the 
importance of continuity of care and how to be 
“in tune” with the infant.¶

Deleted: Gross Motor Curriculum 
Enhancement

Deleted: ¶
¶
¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
64 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Phase In: The first day of school is called phase in and lasts a minimum of two hours.  The goals 
for phase in are to welcome the child and family into the program and familiarize them with 
program philosophy and procedures.  

 During phase in, the teacher gives a tour of the classroom and play yard, introduces the daily 
schedule, lesson plans, parent conferences, emergency procedures, curriculum, screening and 
assessments, meal-time practices, celebration policies and hygiene practices.  

 The Site Supervisor informs parents about sign in-sign out procedures, parent and policy council 
meetings, attendance and drop off and pick-up policies, volunteer opportunity information, 
behavior management policies, sick child and medication policy and complaint procedures for 
parent and completes emergency forms (CSD-112).  

2. Classrooms 
Preschool Classrooms are divided in clearly defined interest areas including: 

 Block, Art, Science, Dramatic Play, Manipulative and Math, Library, Writing, Sand and Water, 
Computer and a quiet area where children can play alone or with one classmate. 

 There is a place where each child can keep personal belongings. 

 Learning materials are logically organized, age appropriate, open ended, labeled and accessible 
to children. 

 There are enough materials in each area for several children to work together. 

 Classroom displays reflect children’s work and activities. 

 Classroom rules are generated by the children and posted.  Rules are phrased in positive terms, 
for example instead of saying “no running”, say “walk”. 

 Classroom helper charts are posted. 

 The classroom is inviting to families with displays of family photographs, parent information 
boards, and some adult sized furniture. 

 Environments reflect diversity by including visual materials and activities that reflect diversity in 
gender, family composition, culture, language and ethnicity. 

 Rooms are designed to be attractive, comfortable and orderly.  
 
Infant and toddler classrooms are set up considering the needs, interests, and developmental level of 
each child.  In these classrooms, it is the child who drives the curriculum.  Teaching staff implement 
strive to plan based on relationships and adapt their behavior based on cues from the child.  In addition, 
activities are offered that facilitate child-directed learning. Classroom areas include gross and fine motor 
materials, sensory opportunities, books, and classroom displays that reflect family backgrounds and 
diversity. For toddlers, materials are offered in logical groupings such as manipulatives, blocks, art, etc. 
to encourage independent exploration.  Materials are rotated regularly as children’s interests and 
disinterests are observed by staff.  By encouraging communication with family members, classrooms are 
also able to reflect the experiences of home and neighborhood.   
 
3. Classroom Transitions 
In both the Early Head Start and Head Start classrooms, instructional staff ensures that transitions are 
considered for each child.  Transitions to and from indoor and outdoor activities are implemented 
intentionally, smoothly, and naturally.  Effectively managing and being thoughtful about transitions is 
important. Around three years of age children begin to internalize a schedule in that they can tell the 
difference between routine and transition activities from other activities during the day.  When activities 

Deleted: sensorimotor 

Deleted: ¶
¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
65 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

during the day are predictable, it can help children begin to understand the concept of time. Well 
planned transitions make the difference between a difficult and a harmonious day for early childhood 
educators as well as for children.  Anticipating what is coming next makes children feel they are in 
control of what is happening. The overall approach to classroom transition is:  

 Be proactive and be alert!  Have strategies to engage children who are having difficulties with 
transitions, and children who are learning the routines due to irregular attendance or being new 
in the classroom. 

 Always transition children in small groups, and ensure children are assigned to a small group at 
enrollment. This reduces confusion, distraction, and waiting. 

 Plan ahead and make transitions fun! Transitions are to be planned and anticipated, so that 
they are engaging for children and “empty” wait-time is minimized. Documentation on the 
Lesson Plan is recommended. 

 Prepare. All teaching materials and small group activities are prepared ahead of time so they are 
ready for the day and easily accessible.  

 Have a back-up plan for special events or sudden changes, such as when a staff member is out, 
or other emergencies arise during or before the transition. 

 Talk with the children and let them know when a transition is going to occur. Give children a 
warning or signal 3-5 minutes before. 

 Review transition safety with the children often and whenever needed, especially when 
providing required Pedestrian Safety at the start of the Program Year. 

 Follow the protocols outlined in the Transition Head Count Policy and CLOUDS In-Transition 
feature, which include a visual count and the required sweep of the environment.  

 Always sweep the environment before leaving the classroom or yard by physically walking the 
perimeter looking under and around thoroughly.  

 Communicate counts with all team members. 

 Quick and efficient transitions are a CLASS expectation in the Classroom Organization domain, 
Productivity dimension.  

 CSB has zero tolerance for lack of visual supervision! All designated caregivers are to be 
present, engaged, and calm during transitions. 

 There are a minimal number of transitions in the day.   

 All transitions that require children exiting or entering the classroom must be conducted using 
the Hourly Headcount and Transition form (See Form CSD-700 Head Count Form and CSD-700 
Hourly Head Count Protocol). Teacher placement is critical as the children transition, with one 
staff at the front of the group and one in the back. When there is only one staff member 
present, his/her placement must be such that she may be able to see every child as they 
transition.   

 
4. English Language Learners 
Education for English Learners is enhanced when preschool programs and families partner around 
children’s education. The learning environment includes usage of the child’s first language.  Promoting 
language understanding and use in this atmosphere encourages easy communication among children 
and between children and adults.  The following examples help promote language understanding: 

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: <#>Instructional staff moves 
children from one place to another in small 
groups to reduce confusion, distraction and 
waiting.¶
<#>All teaching materials and small group 
activities are prepared ahead of time so they 
are ready for the day and easily accessible. ¶
<#>Children are signaled in advance three to 
five minutes before transitioning to the next 
activity.    ¶
<#>Children are informed in advance before 
the next activity.  Teachers may say “after we 
clean up, we are going to make a delicious 
snack.”¶
<#>Children are engaged in educational 
transition activities if they must wait (See 
Teachable Transitions Resource Book by Rae 
Pica for guidance.)¶
<#>There are a minimal number of transitions 
in the day.  ¶
<#>All transitions that require children exiting 
or entering the classroom must be conducted 
using the Hourly Headcount and Transition 
form (See Form CSD-700 Head Count Form and 
CSD-700 Hourly Head Count Protocol). Teacher 
placement is critical as the children transition, 
with one staff at the front of the group and one 
in the back. When there is only one staff 
member present, his/her placement must be 
such that she may be able to see every child as 
they transition.  ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
66 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Give children ample time to talk to each other and ask questions in the language of their choice.  
Continued use and development of the child’s home language will benefit a child as he or she 
acquires English. 

 Encourage free discussions, shared experiences and conversation between children and adults. 

 Provide games, songs, stories, or poems that offer new and interesting vocabulary. 

 Encourage children to tell and listen to stories.  Interest areas offer opportunities for teachers to 
teach content as children explore materials.   

 
5. The Project Approach 
The CSB curriculum is enhanced by the project approach to learning.  Projects are in depth investigations 
on a topic based on children’s interests.  Projects: 

 Must be relevant to children’s experiences. 

 Topics of study must be real so that children can manipulate and explore real objects. 

 Literacy, math, social studies, art, science and technology are incorporated into project 
investigations. 

 Parents and caregivers are an integral part of the planning and implementation of projects. 

 Project Components include: 
o Selecting a topic based on the children’s interests 
o Creating a web: ideas to incorporate literacy, math, science, social studies, the arts and 

technology into the study 
o Opening events 
o Involving parents in the implementation of the project. 
o Project investigations 
o Field trips and visiting experts 
o Documentation of Project process 
o Closing events   

 
6. Program for Infants and Toddlers 
The infant and toddler program is enhanced by the Program for Infant Toddler Caregivers (PITC) 
philosophy, which is based on the belief that infants have their own innate curriculum.  The CA 
Department of Education partnered with PITC to create the state Infant Toddler Foundations and 
Guidelines.  Goals are achieved through a responsive curriculum that is based on supporting the child’s 
internal motivation to learn. 
 
PITC Program Components Include: 

 Care in small groups 

 Emphasis on strengthening the child’s developing family and cultural identity so children 
develop a sense of who they are and what is important within the context of their culture 

 Primary caregivers 

 Continuity of Care 

 Individualized schedules and routines 

 Inclusion of children with special needs 
 
7. Ready to Learn Curriculum Enhancement 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: include



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
67 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Teaching staff implement strategies to assist children and their parents to successfully transition into a 
preschool or infant toddler classroom.  Teaching staff facilitate this transition by welcoming new 
families; nurturing and bonding with children; modifying the classroom environment; establishing school 
rules; teaching health, safety and nutrition practices; helping children make friends; and by establishing 
caregiver groups upon entrance to the classroom. 
   
8. Anti Bias and Supporting Diversity 

 CSB curriculum is based on an anti-bias, multicultural approach. 

 Families are asked to share their culture and traditions. 

 Food served at mealtimes is culturally inclusive 

 Teaching staffs reflect the populations in the classrooms. 

 Classroom activities and environments reflect children’s ethnic identity. 

 Environments include diverse visual materials such as pictures, books and photographs.  Games, 
music, planned activities and books reflect diversity in gender, family composition, culture, 
language and ethnicity.   

 
 
 
9. Teacher/Child Interactions 
Positive teacher child interactions build trusting, nurturing bonds between staff and children, which 
supports the children’s developing a love of learning.   
Teachers: 

 Welcome children and families into the program daily. 

 Foster positive social behaviors such as cooperating, helping, conflict resolution, and turn taking 
by using modeling, coaching and encouragement. 

 Speak to the children at eye level and move to where a child is to speak with them directly. 

 Use an appropriate tone of voice.  Teacher’s voices should not be heard above children’s voices. 

 Observe children to assess their level of cognitive development and social skills. 

 Facilitate child initiated learning by offering children choices and providing them with materials 
to manipulate and explore. 

 Engage children in conversations during work time, mealtimes and throughout the day.  
Encouraging verbal expression enhances children’s self esteem and cognitive growth. 

 Comfort children who are crying and validate their feelings. 

 Engage in activities with the children on the floor by sitting on the floor with them unless a 
doctor’s note with such limitation has been provided to the personnel office.  

 
10. Caregiver Groups 
Upon entry, each preschool child is assigned to a caregiver group of six to eight children based on their 
developmental and individual needs.  The teaching staff assigned to the caregiver group will plan and 
implement individualized activities for their group during small group time and assist them during 
classroom transition times. 
 
Upon entry infants are assigned to a caregiver group of three children per caregiver and a caregiver a 
group of no more than four toddlers. Infants and toddlers remain with the same caregiver possible 

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: Infants 

Deleted: toddlers to 

Deleted: .

Deleted:   

Deleted: when 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
68 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

throughout their enrollment in the program to ensure continuity of care.  Caregivers design the learning 
environment to be responsive to the individual needs of each child.   
 
Caregiver Groups during Transitions:  

 It is CSB’s policy to transition in small groups.  

 Caregiver Groups are maintained throughout the daily activities, including transitions.  Groups 
can be named after animals, shapes, etc.  Each instructional staff works closely with that group 
at lunch and snack times, small group, bathroom time, hand washing, etc.  For children, this 
reduces confusion, distraction and waiting around and promotes attachment with the primary 
caregiver. 

 It is easier for a small group of children to go outdoors to indoors, get settled for nap, wash 
hands, etc.  When children transition in their caregiver groups, teachers enhance bonding, group 
interactions, and language. Caregiver groups also enable instructional staff to meet individual 
needs and be more responsive to the children.   

 When children are in caregiver groups, staff and children can take time for transitions and their 
schedule is more relaxed.  For example, if children go outside in a small group, there isn’t a mass 
rush to the door to get to the door first.   

 
11. Child Health and Safety 
Teaching staff integrates health and safety lessons and activities into the daily lesson plan.  Health 
curriculum includes:  I Am Moving, I Am Learning Gross Motor Activities, Little Voices for Healthy 
Choices, oral health, pedestrian safety (first 30 days), sun safety, transportation safety, hygiene 
practices, home safety, emergency safety including: fire, earthquake, shelter-in-place and school safety. 
 
Children wash hands upon entering school, before eating, after wiping noses, after touching animals, 
after sand and water play, upon returning from the play yard and after toileting. 
 
Staff inspects classroom and outside area daily to ensure all facilities, furniture, materials and structures 
are safe and free from hazards. Daily Playground Checklist (CSB form 136) is completed daily to 
document inspection of outdoor areas accessible to children. 
 
Teachers perform a daily health check of each child upon their arrival to school. Refer to section 2, VI. A 
daily Health Inspections for further guidance. 
 
For infants and toddlers, this practice is done using the Daily Communication Form where families and  
staff document for about each child at the beginning and end of the day.  The daily health check is also 
conducted and documented on this form. 
 
Teaching staff conducts head counts hourly and during transitions using CSB form 700 in accordance 
with Head County Policy as described in CSB form 700A, and checks that door alarms are set and all 
gates are secured at all times. 
 
Children are supervised at all times, and always supervised while toileting.   
 

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: Font: +Body, Bold

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: practices 

Deleted: put into place

Deleted: form 

Deleted: in which

Deleted: dialogue with families 

Deleted: their

Deleted: at this time



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
69 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

12. Nutrition 
Children participate in learning activities planned to affect the selections and enjoyment of a wide 
variety of nutritious foods. 
 
Nutrition activities include: field trips, planting gardens, reading stories about food and nutrition, and 
sampling a wide variety of foods. Nutrition activities are planned for work time and circle time. 
 
Children are involved in simple cooking projects including making their own snacks and sandwiches 
weekly.  Teaching staff serve meals family-style at the centers.  Children participate in setting the tables, 
serve themselves, pour their own beverages and scrape their plates. 
 
13. Language / Literacy Curriculum Enhancements 

 Reading is Fundamental:  A federally funded grant that provides for three book giveaways per 
child.  Children participate in motivational activities prior to giveaways to encourage an 
appreciation of books and reading. 

 Learning through Literature Curriculum Enhancement: Each month teaching staff receives a 
picture story book to read to their classroom that contains a written guidance of 
developmentally appropriate activities based on the content of the story to enhance children’s 
learning. 

 Raising A Reader:  Colorful tote bags filled with books are taken home weekly by each child.  
Parents are encouraged to read to children daily and discuss the stories.  Books are multicultural 
and include Spanish texts. 

 Books at Naptime:  Each child may choose a book to read to themselves on their mat for at least 
10 minutes at the beginning of naptime.    

 
14. Pedestrian Safety 
Children and parents are taught the importance of pedestrian safety within the first 30 days of school. 
This includes educational videos and materials on pedestrian safety for both children and parents, 
various classroom activities and educating parents at parent meetings.  
 
15. Television in the Classroom 
Videos and DVD are not to be used in the classroom unless it is connected to a project tropic or is 
approved as curriculum enhancement. Videos are not to be used for more than 15 minutes at a time. All 
videos and DVD must be approved by the site supervisor before they are viewed at the site.  
 
16. Lesson Plans 
The Infant Plans, Toddler Plans, and Preschool Weekly lesson plans are designed to ensure that all 
classrooms provide developmentally appropriate activities consistent with Performance Standards, 
NAEYC Guidelines, and Creative Curriculum.  The plan communicates to staff and parents the activities 
for each day of the week. The lesson plan must include strategies and activities that are consistent with 
the emergent, project based curriculum and focuses on the children’s individual goals and IEP/IFSP 
goals.  The teacher submits a completed lesson plan form to the Site Supervisor weekly for approval.  An 
approved lesson plan is posted in the classroom by 8:00 A.M. Monday morning of the current week.  
 

Deleted:  three

Deleted: <#>First Book:  A non-profit 
organization whose purpose is to give children 
from low-income families the opportunity to 
read and own books.  Grantees are contacted 
when books are available for distribution.¶

Deleted: ¶
¶

Deleted: have to 

Deleted:  tools 

Deleted: It 

Deleted: planned 

Deleted:  

Deleted: on the Parent Bulletin Board 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
70 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Lesson plans are completed at the center by the teaching staff, with input from parents and volunteers 
(CSB-105A Preschool, CSB-105B Infant Classroom Plans and Weekly Possibilities and CSB-105 Toddler 
Daily Possibilities).  These must include: 

 Individualization: activities planned to meet the individual goals of each child including IEP/IFSP 
goals.   Individualization is documented on the lesson plan by adding children’s alphabetic code 
to the activities planned to help them meet their goals. 

 Area Enhancements:  List of materials that have been added to centers to stimulate children’s 
interests. 

 Projects: activities or materials that are provided to facilitate children’s project investigations or 
explorations. Plan should include project related field trips and visiting experts. 

 Center Activity: a teacher planned creative activity that children may choose to engage in during 
work time. Minimum of two science activities planned per week.  

 Large Group/Circle Time – includes Music, movement, songs, finger plays, IMIL activities, short 
discussions, visiting experts. 

 Small Group Time: a minimum of three small group language/literacy activities and two small 
group math activities must be planned. 

 Outdoors time:  list of activities or materials that will be offered to the children in addition to 
bikes and balls. I Am Moving, I Am Learning Curriculum enhancement activities must be listed.  
Outdoor science, art or building activities may be included. 

 Health, Safety, Nutrition and Social Emotional activities should be listed at the bottom of the 
lesson plan in section entitled Weekly Activities Integrated into the Daily Routine.  These 
activities must also be reflected in the upper body of the lesson plan under the appropriate 
category i.e. Work time, Circle Time, Small Group Time or Outside Time.  

 
17. Required Elements of the Children’s Daily Schedule 
CSB daily routine blocks out times and establishes sequences for activities in the classroom.  It includes 
active and quiet times, large and small group activities, outdoor times and adult initiated and child 
initiated activities. 

 Greeting/ Health Check- each child and family member is warmly greeted when they enter the 
program daily.  A brief health check is conducted by the teaching staff including touching of the 
child’s skin and looking into their eyes.  Staff may ask a child how they are feeling.  Parents 
should remain during the health check and may be asked questions if there are concerns. 

 Work Time / Independent Choices – Children have access to all interest areas in the classroom.  
Project investigations and center activities are offered as additional choices for the children.  
Teachers add materials for children’s creative activities during this time.  Teachers work with 
children and ask open-ended questions to stimulate and enhance child learning.  A minimum of 
two science activities must be offered during the week.  (Approximately 75 minutes in AM).  For 
full day students, an additional afternoon work time of 60 minutes should be scheduled. 

 Small Group Time – The class is divided into small groups of ten children maximum.  This is a 
teacher-guided activity based on the developmental level of the group (approximately 15-20 
minutes in length). A minimum of three literacy/language activities must be planned weekly.  
Two small group activities a week should focus on math skills.  Small group time activities may 
be conducted anywhere in the classroom or outside.  Children must not be restricted to tables. 

Deleted: Lesson plans

Deleted: ing

Deleted:  PM

Deleted: .  A minimum of three 
literacy/language activities must be planned 
weekly.  Two small group activities a week 
should focus on math skills.  Small group time 
activities may be conducted anywhere in the 
classroom or outside.  They are not restricted 
to tables. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
71 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Large Group/Circle Time – Music, movement, songs, finger plays, IMIL activities, short 
discussions, visiting experts with large groups of children.  Every child is offered the opportunity 
to participate but no child should be forced to attend circle. Alternate activities can be provided 
until a child wishes to join the large group.  (Approximately 15 minutes). 

 Outdoor Play - Children are able to use their large muscles and develop socialization skills; 
activities include tricycles, wagons, balls, games, water tables, obstacle courses, music, art, and 
dramatic play activities (not less than 30 minutes).  Outdoor play is an extension of a child’s 
learning environment experience and reflects the same care and planning given to indoor 
activity.  For full time students, an additional 60 minutes of outdoor time should be scheduled in 
the afternoon. 

 Meal Times - Breakfast, lunch and a snack are provided for full time students.  Part time AM 
students receive breakfast and lunch and PM students receive lunch and snack.  Infants and 
toddlers are fed on an individualized schedule.  Mealtimes are learning times when teachers 
assist students with setting the tables, serving their own food and engage them in 
conversations.  Breakfast and Lunch approximately 30 minutes, snack 15 minutes. 

o Teachers are role models for the children. Adult portions are to model the CACFP-USDA 
Meal Patterns for Ages Three to Five Years Old. (CSB Forms > Nutrition > CACFP-USDA 
Meal Patterns for Older Children). 

o Each child in a part-day program will receive one meal and one snack that provide at 
least 1/3 of the child’s daily nutritional needs. A child in a full-day program will receive 
meals and snacks that provide 1/2 to 2/3 of the child’s daily nutritional needs. 

o Any child who arrives after scheduled breakfast time will be offered a nourishing 
breakfast. 

 Rest Time – Full day classrooms are required to schedule a one and a half to two-hour rest 
period. Infant and toddler classrooms also provide an “on demand” schedule for their routines, 
including napping. Every child is required to have a crib, cot or mat and once the children are 
resting, if all children are sleeping, one staff person may supervise the children. All children must 
be given an opportunity to rest without distraction or disturbance from other activities or 
children. Those unable to sleep may be given quiet activities to engage in. Teachers encourage 
children to rest by offering them a book, engaging them in soft conversation and gently rubbing 
their backs. No child is to be restrained on their crib, cot or mat at any time.    

o The napping space must be equipped with a sheet and blanket. The crib mattress, cot or 
mat is wiped with detergent as needed and disinfected weekly and when soiled or wet. 
Infant toddler bedding must be laundered daily. Preschool bedding is individually stored 
so that one child’s used bedding does not come in contact with another’s, and is to be 
laundered weekly.    

o Napping equipment is arranged to provide access to children and spaced to prevent the 
spread of germs. Cribs must be placed three feet apart. Cots are placed eighteen inches 
apart and children are placed napping so that each child is alternating head-to-feet. 

 
18. Infant Toddler Routines 
Infant and Toddler Routines include: 

 Nurturing time with the teacher caregiver 

 Indoor and outdoor activities  

Deleted: Toddlers 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75"

Deleted: 18 

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
72 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Quiet and active play 

 Group play and individual play 

 Rest and relaxation on demand with a nap schedule for children over 12 months old. 

 Feeding/eating and diapering/toileting on demand  
 
19. Parent Involvement in Planning and Implementing Curriculum 
Parents are partners in the processes of planning and implementing curriculum, and are encouraged to 
participate in the program in a variety of ways:   
 
i. Home Visits 

 Initial Home Visit: Within the first 45 days of enrollment, teachers conduct a home visit.  Parents 
begin to develop a positive relationship with their child’s teacher through this initial 
communication.  The home visit gathers information about parent’s observations of their 
children and the goals they have for them.  The initial home visit gives the child an opportunity 
to meet the teacher in a familiar setting and may be used to plan individual goals for each child. 
Staff should make every effort to conduct the home visit at the child’s house.   
If parents request that teachers meet them in an alternate location or if they prefer not to have 
staff come to their homes, the other location will be considered “home visit.” See” Initial Home 
Visit” form (CSB170-Initial Home Visit and CSB170IT-Initial Home Visit).  If the parent chooses 
not to have the visit in the home the reason for that decision must be stated on the home visit 
form.   

 Each new family will be given a CSB Child Development Brochure, a toothbrush and guidance for 
tooth brushing and hand washing.  The teacher will also assist the parent to complete a DECA 
behavioral screening.  Teaching staff will enter the parent DECA in e-DECA and print out the 
results and add it to the child’s file. 

 Returning Child Home Visit:  For children who are enrolled for a second year in the program, the 
returning child home visit form should be completed (CSB-106).  As with the initial home visit 
every effort should be made to conduct the home visit in the child’s home.  Teaching staff will 
distribute a toothbrush and hand washing/ tooth brushing guidance and assist the parent with 
to complete the DECA behavioral screening. Teaching staff will enter the parent DECA in e-DECA 
and print out the results and add it to the child’s file. 

 Final Home Visit:  During the final home visit, the teacher and parent review the child’s progress, 
portfolio and assessment results. They may establish new goals, discuss kindergarten readiness, 
plan activities for the parent and child to do at home and address questions or concerns the 
parent has.  

 
ii. Parent Conferences 
All parents must be given the opportunity to participate in two conferences a year.  Conferences are not 
home visits. 

 First Parent/Teacher Conference – Within 90 days of the child’s first day of school, each parent 
will be given the opportunity to participate in a Parent/Teacher Conference.  During this 
conference, the teacher and parent(s) will discuss the child’s progress (based on results of the 
screening, assessments, observations, and child’s work), and will develop an Individual Plan (IP).  
A minimum of seven goals to include; two social emotional, three cognitive, one motor and one 

Deleted: . The initial home visit is

Deleted: as a basis for

Deleted: ning 

Deleted: and 

Deleted: contacts 

Deleted: s

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: in filling out 

Deleted: assessment

Deleted: onto 

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: completing 

Deleted: assessment

Deleted: onto

Deleted:  any

Deleted: including 

Deleted: 1 

Deleted: 1 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
73 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

health and safety must be determined during the conference. If the child has an IEP, the IEP 
goals must also be included in the plan. DRDP 2010 measure numbers must be reflected next to 
the written goals. (See Form CSB118A-1st Parent-Teacher Conference.) 

 Second Parent / Teacher Conference – A second Parent/Teacher Conference will be scheduled 
to review the child’s progress/objectives set during the first Parent/Teacher Conference.  New 
objectives will be developed if applicable. (See Form CSB118B 2nd Parent-Teacher Conference)  
For children going to kindergarten, a kindergarten transition packet may be reviewed with the 
parent during this conference or scheduled at a different time between December and March.  
Kindergarten transition packet checklist form should be added to the file with the second parent 
conference. 

 
C. Parent Involvement and Participation in Program  
Other Elements of Participation 

 Parents have the opportunity to participate in planning and implementation of field trips. 

 Families are encouraged to share their culture and traditions by volunteering in the classroom. 

 Parents are provided with individualized home activities by the child’s teacher to reinforce 
child’s learning objectives at home. 

 Family Literacy:  A variety of family literacy programs are offered to support parents in helping 
their children develops a love and appreciation of books.  These include Raising a Reader, 
Reading is Fundamental and First Books programs. 

 
D. Home-Based Option 
CSB’s Home-based program option provides opportunities for parents to enhance the parent-child 
relationship promote the education and development of their children, enrich the home environment to 
encourage their children’s learning, identify and refer children with special healthcare needs, 
developmental delays, or disabilities. Home Educators serve as facilitators, educators, and a support 
system for parents and families.  They act as vital links to the local community and resources.  All 
services provided to the home-visited family are the same quality as those given in centers. For Early 
Head Start, the parent-child bonding and attachment is one of the most important home visitation 
goals. 
 
The Home-based Option uses the center-based sites for socialization and plans activities with the 
parents to use the home as their primary learning environment.   
Head Start’s Home-based Option services include: 

 Providing one home visit per week per family (a minimum of 42 home visits per year), lasting for 
a minimum of 1.5 hours each. 

 Providing a minimum of two group socialization activities per month for each child (a minimum 
of 16 group socialization activities each year). 

 Nutrition objectives are accomplished through both home visits and group socialization 
activities.  The emphasis is on nutrition education, helping parents learn to make the best use of 
existing resources.  Parents receive information and guidance on menu planning, consumer 
education, and money management.  

 Home Start  

Deleted: Health 

Deleted:  be



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
74 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Home Start is a locally designed option to meet the unique needs of our children and their 
families in collaboration with exempt providers in Contra Costa County.  It is a model designed 
to support the parent’s work toward self-sufficiency.  It insures quality services for the children, 
their families, and providers; enriches the exempt providers’ home environment to encourage 
young children’s learning; provides early intervention services for the children and their families; 
identifies and refers children with special health care needs, developmental delays, or 
disabilities.   The program builds bridges for the exempt providers and families to link them to 
local community resources. 

 
The program maintains an average of 10 to 12 families per Home Educator with a maximum of 12 
families for any individual Home Educator. Services include: 

 One home visit per week for each child and provider lasting for a minimum of 1.5 hours each  

 Two group socializations activities per month for each child. During socialization, activities and 
training are planned for parents and providers to increase their knowledge about child 
development issues. 

 Monthly parent meetings are planned for all the parents. Parenting classes, parents support 
groups, and trainings are scheduled through the year. 

 All services provided to the home-visited providers are the same quality as those given in 
centers.  The only difference is the home setting is used as the learning environment, and the 
provider is the educator. 

 The resource center for parents and providers allows parents to meet and use materials in a 
central location.  Materials include manipulative and educational games for children, books, and 
audio and visual training materials for parents and providers. 

 
E. Classroom Assignments 
Children are assigned to classrooms and teachers in accordance with their needs, available space, and 
other relevant variables.  Each classroom must have a roster listing all enrolled children.  The Site 
Supervisor notifies the teachers of new enrollees. 
 
Copies of class rosters are continuously available on our CLOUDS System and are kept current as 
children enroll or leave the program. 
 
Classroom rosters do not list more than twenty children on any given day, per federal enrollment 
regulations except if a waiver has been granted. State Preschool not receiving HS funding may enroll 24. 
CSB centers maintain a minimum class size of at least 95% and a maximum of twenty children, and must 
never exceed the licensing capacity of the classroom. 
 
F. Adult-to-Child Ratio 
CSB’s part day Head Start program in governed by California Community Care Licensing Title 22 
Regulations which require a 1:12 ratio. However, Head Start regulations require that the maximum class 
size is 20 (unless a waiver is granted), so the adult-to child ratio in these classrooms is 1:10. 
 
CSB’s California Department of Education programs, including those combined with other funding such 
as Head Start and Early Head Start is governed by California Community Care Licensing Title V 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
75 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Regulations which require the following ratios:  For children ages 3-5, 1:8; for toddlers, 1:4; for infants 
1:3. For preschool classrooms, Title V regulations allow a classroom to be out of ratio for up to 120 
minutes per day. These 120 minutes allow for rest time in early morning or late afternoon and do not 
apply during the core instructional time of day.  During those times, children must be supervised 
according to the Title XXII regulation of State Licensing at 1 teacher per 12 children.   
 
Children under three years of age may not be in groups with more than eight children.  Each full-day 
classroom is staffed with a qualified Teacher and 2 Associate Teachers.  If this is not possible, an 
Associate Teacher may be substituted for a Teacher and a Teacher Assistant Trainee for an Associate.  
Each part-day classroom is staffed with two Teachers and Teacher Assistant Trainees.  
 
 
The EHS Infant and toddler classrooms have the following ratios:  Infants (birth – 18 months) is one to 
three (1:3) and toddlers (18-36 months) is one to four (1:4). Maximum group size for infants is six at all 
times.  Maximum group size for toddlers is 8 at all times. 
 
All staff inside the classroom and outside in the yard are responsible to ensure that all children are 
visible at all times and that they are being supervised at every moment. Teaching staff supervise infants 
and toddlers/twos by sight and sound at all times. 
 
G. Sign-In and Out Procedures 
1. Signing-In 
Everyone must sign in at a center: visitors and guests. Upon arrival, every child must be signed in by a 
parent, friend or relative over 14 years of age, denoted on the emergency contact list.  The full signature 
is required, along with the time of arrival.  If a child arrives at the center unaccompanied, teaching staff 
must bring that child into the center, and contact the parent (and State Licensing) immediately so they 
may return and properly sign in the child.  Failure to sign children in properly may require a referral to 
County Child Protective Services. 
 
For our part-day sessions, if a parent and his/her child arrive before the start of session or stay after the 
closing of the session, the teaching staff will remind them that the child is the parent’s responsibility 
during that time.  
 
2. Signing-Out Procedures 
The parent must always sign a child out at the end of the day. 
 
Children who leave and return to the center during the day must be signed out and in by an authorized 
adult, e.g. a child leaving for a doctor’s visit.  
 
Adults who arrive at the center to pick up a child must be listed on the Children's Center File Emergency 
Card.  Picture identification must be provided before child is released.  It is the teacher's responsibility to 
keep emergency numbers current.  At least two people must be listed who can pick up the child in an 
emergency.  
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
76 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

If a person picking up the child is not on the emergency form, written preauthorization from the parents 
is required before CSB staff will release the child from the center. Children will not be permitted to leave 
the center unless accompanied by a preauthorized adult.  Parents may not give verbal authorization for 
pick-up of children. 
 
3. Child Release Policy 
The safety of the children is the priority for all CSB staff; therefore the following policy must be enforced 
at all times: 

 All parents are required to complete emergency forms during the enrollment process. 
Emergency forms with the names and telephone numbers of persons authorized to pick up the 
child will be kept in the child’s file. Emergency forms must be updated at least every 12 months 
or anytime information changes. 

 Photo identification will be required of all newly authorized individuals or individuals not 
recognized by staff prior to release of the child. Under no circumstances will a child be released 
to an unauthorized person. 

 If CSB personnel are not certain the pick-up person is who he/she claims to be, the child will not 
be released. 

 Staff will not release children if the person picking up the child smells of alcohol or if staff has 
reason to believe the person is under the influence of alcohol or other foreign substance. 

 Staff will not release children to the person picking up the child if there is a court ordered 
restraining order on file against the person. 

 Children will not be forced to leave the center with someone they are not familiar with.  
 
4. Sign-Out Disputes Due to Child Custody Issues 
If a parent requests that the other parent not be allowed to remove a child from the center, Site 
Supervisor or Head Teacher must request a copy of the court order, and place it in the child’s file in the 
locked cabinet. 
 
The parent must be informed that CSB is not a law enforcement agency and cannot undertake that role.  
(A parent cannot be denied access to his/her child unless there is a Court Order.) 
 
If a dispute over custody should occur in the classroom, the teaching staff will deal with the family 
calmly.  The staff will ask the person if they would like to talk with a Supervisor.  If it seems likely that 
the parent may become violent, the teacher may release the child, and inform the parent that they 
(teacher) must call the police as soon as the likelihood of violence becomes apparent.  Should the parent 
leave with the child prior to the arrival of the police, the teaching team must be prepared to provide a 
description of the person, the car, and the license plate number.  The teacher must call her/his Site 
Supervisor to report and document the incident.  Such unusual incidents must be reported to an 
Assistant Director and to Community Care Licensing using the standard procedure.  
 
5. Adults Signing Their Child In or Out While Under the Influence of Alcohol or Drugs 
If the parent appears to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol, the teaching staff must call 911 
immediately to notify the police.  They must attempt to keep the adult at the center by discussing the 
child's day or other broad topics until the police arrive.  One staff member will call an Assistant Director 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
77 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

and inform him/her of the problem.  Allow the person to take the child if he/she insists on leaving, or 
the staff and children are physically threatened.  The staff must get the license number of the vehicle for 
the police.  If this happens, the teaching staff must: 

 Call the police 

 Call County Child Protective Services and file a child abuse report 

 Make an unusual incident report to Community Care Licensing. 
 

If the police arrive at the center while the adult is still present, it is their responsibility to determine 
what further action should be taken.  Only a police officer can officially determine if an adult is 
intoxicated.  
 
6. Late Sign-Out Procedures 
A parent is considered to be late when he/she has not picked up their child by the agreed upon time.  
Staff should not call parents to pick up their children before these times.  (See Form CSB132-Late Child 
Notice Procedure)  When a parent is late, the teaching staff will implement the following procedure: 

 First Time - The staff will verbally inform the parent of the importance of picking up their child 
on time.  This must be documented on the child's folder at the center. 

 Second Time - When the child is picked up, the staff will give a late child notice to the parent.  A 
copy of this notice will be kept in the child's file at the center. 

 Third Time - The staff will call the Site Supervisor.  The Site Supervisor will inform the parent that 
if this occurs again the child will be suspended from the center and placed on the waiting list.  
The Site Supervisor will give a "Late Child" letter to the parent.  A copy of this letter will be 
placed in the child's folder at the center.  (See Form CSB132.) 

 Fourth Time - The staff will call the Site Supervisor, who will inform the family that their child 
will be placed on the waiting list.  If the family receives collaborative funding from the CA 
Department of Education, a formal Notice of Action will be given terminating the state funding 
after the 14-day grace period for appeal. The Site Supervisor will notify the Assistant Director 
and the Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers of the change in that child’s status. 
 

Closing Time - If a child has not been picked up by closing, and no one can be reached to pick up the 
child, the Site Supervisor will determine the plan of action (which may include calling Child Protective 
Services).  CSB staff must never transport children from the center via vehicle or on foot. 
 
7. Full-Day Program Sign In/Out Procedures 
The number of hours for each child enrolled in a full-day program is based upon their Contracted Hours 
Agreement, completed with the staff responsible for enrollment at that site.  All full-day children must 
be signed in according to their contract hours.  Each parent will have an individual sign-out time based 
on their unique needs for full-day services and Contract Agreement.  The same procedures for late 
pickup are to be followed although "late" times will vary according to the parent’s contract hours.  
Parent(s) may request a change in hours through “Request for Change of Contract Hours” form.  (CSB-
607) 
 
H. General Classroom Celebration Policy 
1. Description 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
78 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The Community Services Bureau avoids endorsing commercialism surrounding the holidays.  The focus is 
about learning and celebrating diversity.  The following guidelines are followed when planning activities 
with staff and parents: 

 Holidays are not a major part of the curriculum.  They are integrated within the total curriculum.  
No more than a few days and few activities are dedicated to any holiday. 

 Holidays are not a theme and the whole room is not to be decorated reflecting a holiday. 

 Learning about holidays broadens children’s awareness of their own, and other cultural 
experiences.  Activities must be thoughtfully planned and implemented for inclusion of all 
children and families. 

 Every group represented in the classroom (children and staff) is to be honored. 

 Teachers must not assume that everyone from the same ethnic group celebrates holidays in the 
same way.  Teachers check with the families to ensure that activities are indeed reflective of the 
cultures represented in the classroom. 

 Teachers must plan strategies for working with children whose family beliefs do not permit 
participation in holiday celebrations.  Their parents are to be included in planning a satisfactory 
alternative for these children in the classroom.  

 
2. Children’s Birthdays 
Children’s birthdays are very important and birthday celebrations are as unique as each child.  However, 
the classroom’s daily routine should not be changed to accommodate birthday celebrations.  Because 
children learn by example, and to reinforce the nutrition education in the classroom, the following ideas 
are suggested: 

 Giving and/or reading a book to the child and classmates 

 Bringing educational toys to share 

 Bringing a baby book or other symbolic item, or a special family story to share 

 Lead a game 

 Decorating the classroom 

 Performing magic acts 

 Leading a nutritious class project (any food provided cannot be served in place of regular food 
service)  

 
3. Inappropriate Activities in the Classroom 

 Staged performances, plays, and ceremonies where children have memorized vocal parts or if 
rehearsals are required 

 Lectures, where children have to sit and listen for a long period of time 

 Commercial displays 

 Adult-directed activities that focus on a product rather than a process (i.e., patterned art / work) 

 Combined classrooms with large groups of adults and children. 

 Graduation ceremonies with caps and gowns 
 
I. Field Trips 
1. Procedures 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
79 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Field trips complement the classroom educational experience, current curricula, and must be 
developmentally appropriate. Field trips encourage hands-on exploration and experimentation. Field 
trips permit the child to learn about his/her world (school, neighborhood, and community). 
 
Site supervisors must inform Nutrition office one week prior to date of a field trip using the Field Trip 
Form (CSB-115).  All field trip lunches will consist of sun butter sandwiches, string cheese, fruit, 
vegetable, and milk. 
 
Parent volunteers are encouraged to plan and participate in field trips. Only children enrolled in the 
classroom taking the field trip may participate. Parents may not bring siblings or other children on the 
field trip.    
 
Parents may drive their own child to a field trip after signing their child out of school.  Parents may not 
drive other students or parents on a field trip. 
 
Field trips are approved in advance by the Site Supervisor and are documented in the classroom lesson 
plan.  Teaching staff notifies the Site Supervisor or designee when leaving/returning from the trip.   
 
Parental permission slips are required for all field trips (CSB-114).  Transportation is provided as needed, 
primarily for staff and children. 
 
Travel time for field trips should be no more than 60 minutes in length, round trip, and allow for heavy 
traffic conditions when necessary.  Walking field trips are encouraged, with the destination within a half-
mile radius of the center. 

 A field trip should be completed within three hours, including lunch and transportation. 

 Full-day programs require a two hour nap/rest period. A field trip should not interfere with the 
regular naptime schedule.  

 Requests for additional time for field trips may be submitted to the Assistant Director for 
approval. 
 

Size of group – no more than one group of twenty children may go at one time.  AM and PM classes do 
not combine or change program hours to go on a trip.  Adult-to-child ratio on all field trips is a minimum 
of one adult for every four children (1:4).  This ratio may be adjusted lower (1:3 or 1:2) at the discretion 
of the teacher or Site Supervisor.  Staff (and volunteers) must have assigned groups of children for 
whom they are responsible at all times.  Each group must stay together, within the teacher’s area of 
vision/supervision.  Teachers are responsible for ensuring that each adult volunteer properly supervises 
his/her assigned group of children on the field trip.  Attendance on field trips will be taken at the 
following times: 

 Upon leaving the center 

 On the bus or van 

 Upon arrival at the destination 

 At random times during the field trip 

 When boarding the bus or van for the return to the center 

 After return to the center 

Deleted: . 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
80 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
Emergency information for each child, three blank accident forms, a cell phone, and a First Aid Kit must 
be taken on walking or driving trips.  (CSB-113-Field Trip Information and CSB-1015-Vehicle Use Request 
Form) 

 During field trips, each child must wear a tag at all times that only identifies the name of the 
center and the center’s telephone number on the front. Child’s name may be written on the 
back of the tag, but never on the front. 

 Field trip leaders must keep to their schedule, or call the center if there are any changes.  

 If there are insufficient adults, inclement weather or any circumstance that would make it less 
than an optimal experience, the trip must be cancelled. A well-planned field trip taken under 
adverse conditions or circumstances may become a danger.  

 
2. Planning Protocols 
When planning a field trip, the following must be completed: 

 Establish educational goals and objectives for the planned trip 

 Teacher, or their representative, is to visit the destination to check travel time and 
accommodations, and to ensure the safety of the children 

 The field trip planning form must be completed and submitted one month prior the field trip 

 If applicable, the request for change of menu and purchase requisition must be completed and 
submitted one month prior the field trip 

 Parents are notified at least two weeks in advance of the upcoming trip, at which time they are 
encouraged to volunteer for the trip 

 Children are prepared for the trip at least one week in advance through in-class discussions of 
field trip safety  

In Case of Minor Accident at Site or on Field Trip 

 A designated staff member with a valid First-Aid Certificate assesses the situation, and renders 
first aid if necessary. 

 If a minor accident occurs on a field trip, the teacher of an injured child must notify the child's 
parents on return to the center.  (As noted above, the emergency contact list must be on hand.) 

 The “Band Aid Report” form is completed, signed, and dated. 

 The teacher retains one copy for the center and gives one copy to the parents.  
In Case of Major Accident at Site or on Field Trip 

 The teacher calls paramedics immediately.  Classroom staff assesses the situation, and renders 
first aid as indicated for life-saving measures. 

 Injured children are taken to the nearest emergency facility and the teacher or Site Supervisor 
accompanies the child. 

 The teacher of an injured child must notify the child's parent(s) immediately.  (The emergency 
contact list must be on hand.) 

 The teacher must immediately notify the Site Supervisor, who will notify the Assistant Director 
and/or the Bureau Director or designee. 

 Licensing must be notified by telephone (with a follow-up of the “Unusual Incident/Injury” 
report) as soon as possible. 

 The parent may accompany the child in the emergency vehicle. 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
81 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 If the parent is not at that location, the child’s teacher accompanies the child in the emergency 
vehicle. 

 If necessary, CSB staff will provide transportation for the parent to/from the emergency facility. 

 The “Accident/Incident Report” form (See Form CSB208) is completed, signed, and dated by the 
staff person involved in the situation. 

 An insurance form is also completed, signed, and dated. 

 The teacher retains one copy of the “Accident/Incident Report” and insurance form for the 
center, and submits copies of the reports (within 24 hours) to the Site Supervisor. 

 The Site Supervisor submits copies of these reports to the Assistant Director and/or the Bureau 
Director. 

 The CDE must be notified by the Bureau Director if the client is in a program funded by the 
state. 

  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
82 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

V. Child Nutrition 
A. General Description-Identifying Children’s Needs 
To implement a comprehensive system of services for preventing health problems and intervening 
promptly when they exist, comprehensive services is responsible for identifying cases for nutrition 
referral, follow-up and parent conference referrals.  
 
B. Nutrition Referral 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers and Clerks perform the following: 

 Review medical records, health histories and growth assessments 

 Identify nutrition risk following the guidelines listed below 

 Initiate nutrition referral in CLOUDS 

 Update existing referrals instead of creating new ones, so that all relevant case notes are kept 
together 

 When talking to the parents, use nutrition terminology as indicated on the “What To Say and 
What To Do” protocol (see Shared Folder > Nutrition > Training-Flyers) based on the specific 
nutrition risk when the child has a nutritional risk 

 Complete WIC/Food Stamp screening form with parent, and provide other nutrition resources 
as appropriate (weight, iron-rich foods, picky eater, lead poisoning, and other areas of concern) 

 Encourage parents to attend nutrition presentations, such as at parent meetings 

 Document in CLOUDS all actions/services provided to parent  

 Initial and date all documentation 

 Identify nutrition risk following the guidelines listed below 
 
2. Guidelines for Identification of Nutritional Risk 
Iron Deficiency Anemia – Criteria 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Blood Lead Levels 
Provide nutrition resources to parents if child’s blood level is below 10 ug/dl. If child’s blood level is 10 
ug/dl or greater, a referral should be made to the Comprehensive Services Health Manager.  
 
Diabetes 
If child has been diagnosed with diabetes, obtain “Child Diabetes Care Plan” from child’s MD.  
 
 

Criteria for Providing Nutrition Information to Child’s Parent 

Age / Years Sex Hgb Hct 

< 2 Both 11.4 – 11.0 34.9 – 32.9 

2 < 5 Both 11.4 – 11.1 34.9 – 33.0 

5 < 8 Both 11.9 – 11.5 35.9 – 34.5 

Criteria for Initiating Nutrition Referral and MD Referral 

Age / Years Sex Hgb Hct 

< 2 Both 10.9 or less 32.8 or less 

2 < 5 Both 11.0 or less 32.9 or less 

5 < 8 Both 11.4 or less 34.4 or less 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: history 

Deleted:  child’s

Deleted: scheduled for one of the 

Deleted: in CLOUDS

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
83 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Underweight  
Input child’s height and weight under Growth Assessment in CLOUDS to determine nutritional status. 
Refer children with underweight status.  
If child’s status is underweight and there is a family history of small stature, a nutrition referral should 
not be made. If CLOUDS triggers an automatic referral, click “no referral needed,” and explain why 
under comments, unless there are additional concerns such as: 

 Failure to thrive 

 Developmental disabilities 

 Anemia 
For infants, initiate nutrition referral if following values are determined after plotting on the growth 
chart:  

 Weight-for-age < 3-5% 

 Weight-for-length < 5% 

 Head circumference < 5% 
 
Overweight & Obese 
To effectively manage Child Health and Developmental Services, nutrition follow-up must be 
accomplished in a timely manner and monitored through resolution of the problem.  Assigned staff is 
responsible for the following. 

 Comprehensive Services Clerks 
o Follow steps as indicated on the “What To Say and What To Do” protocol (see Shared 

Folder > Nutrition > Training-Flyers). 
o Download updated list of Overweight and Obese children, and distribute list to the 

respective Site Supervisors & Partner Agency Staff. 

 Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers 
o Monitor to make sure follow-up is completed. 

 

 Site Supervisor and Partner Agency Staff 
o Obtain updated list of Overweight and Obese children from the Comprehensive Services 

Clerks.    
o Distribute updated list of Overweight and Obese children to the respective teachers in 

the classrooms.  

 Teachers 
o Place updated list in “Nutrition Alert” binder. 
o Follow nutrition interventions for Overweight and Obese children in the classroom as 

indicated in the Nutrition Alert binder. 
o If child is extremely underweight or obese, staff will follow policies and procedures 

related to reporting suspected child abuse and neglect. Nutritionist and Health Services 
Manager are available for consultation as needed. 

 
3. Picky Eaters 
When picky eaters are identified, Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers and/or Clerks are 
responsible for providing the nutrition handout to parents, and to document actions and conversations 
in CLOUDS in the comment section under Health History. No referral is needed. 

Deleted: and Nutrition 

Formatted: Justified,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: “Picky Eaters” 

Deleted:  

Deleted: child’s 

Deleted: on 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
84 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
4. Tube Feeding 
Case management must be conducted with the family and a public health nurse before any child with a 
feeding tube can be admitted to the program. If, after case management, enrollment is deemed feasible 
and reasonable, Community Care Licensing must be informed in writing of CSB’s intent to provide tube 
feeding. A care plan must be developed and LIC 701B is to be used to document permission by licensing 
and the medical provider. Staff must also be trained by a qualified health care professional. 
 
5. Special Meals and/or Accommodations 
If dietary modifications are indicated based on a child’s medical or special dietary needs and/or 
religious/personal/cultural belief, the Nutritionist will modify or supplement the child’s diet on a case-
by-case basis, in consultation with parents and the child’s medical provider. 
 
6. CSB is a Peanut-Free Program 
Each CSB center is designated a Peanut-Free Zone. CSB does not serve foods that contain peanuts due to 
this increasing health risk in young children. The prevalence of childhood peanut allergies has increased 
dramatically in the past few decades.  Peanuts are currently the leading food-related cause of severe 
life-threatening allergic reactions. 
 
7. Food Allergies and Special Diets 
When food allergies and special diets are identified, the following will apply 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers, Clerks, Site Supervisors, and Site-Based Clerks must: 

 Identify food allergy/intolerance or need for special diet if any. 

 Immediately give parent a “Medical Statement to Request Special Meals and/or 
Accommodations” (See Form CSB401). This form is to be used only for food allergies and/or 
intolerances, and is not complete without the designated healthcare provider’s signature. 

 Use Request for Special Meals Due to a Cultural, Religious, and/or Personal Beliefs form for non-
medical special diets (see Form CSB402). This form is not be used for personal food preferences. 

 Follow-up with parent until form is returned. 

 Submit completed forms to Nutrition Office two business days prior to child’s first day. Original 
to be kept in child’s file, with copy sent to Nutrition Office. 

Site Supervisor or assigned staff must: 

 Schedule case management with Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager before child starts 
in the program if food allergy is life-threatening or if several different food items are restricted 
so that meal pattern becomes unbalanced. 

 Post meal modifications weekly in both kitchen and classrooms, with names covered for privacy. 
Cooks and transporters are responsible for: 

 Checking posted meal modification to confirm accurate food preparation and delivery. 

 Reviewing meal modifications and addressing any questions to the Nutritionist. 
 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager is responsible for consulting with the Nutrition Office 
regarding the possibility of accommodating other food substitutes necessary to meet child’s needs.  
 
Nutrition Clerk is Responsible For: 

Deleted: conference 

Deleted: child’s 

Deleted: Allergy 

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: clerk 

Deleted: responsible 

Deleted: for



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
85 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Adding child’s name to the Allergy List of the center in which child is enrolled. 

 Forwarding copy of list to center.   

 Updating list as information is received from Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services for 
children who are enrolled or dropped from program. 

 Keeping on file in Nutrition Office the Medical Statement to Request Special Meals and/or 
Accommodations form and Request for Special Meals Due to a Cultural, Religious, and/or 
Personal Belief form. 

 
8. Menu Change Protocol for Food Allergy/Modifications 
The Nutritionist is responsible for any food modifications/substitutions. When a   recommended food 
item is not available: 

 The Nutritionist will be immediately notified by FS Worker III, FS Manager, or AD. Nutritionist 
will give an alternate food substitute. 

 If Nutritionist is not available, the FS Manager will check past meal modifications to determine 
appropriate substitution. FS Manager will inform kitchen staff of change. 

 FS Manager will also inform Nutritionist when substitutions have been made. 

 If FS Manager is also not available, the Supervising AD will check past meal modifications to 
determine appropriate substitution. Supervising AD will then inform kitchen staff of change. 

 Supervising AD will also inform FS Manager and Nutritionist when substitutions have been 
made. 

 Nutrition Office will inform Site Supervisor or assigned staff of food substitutes. 

 Kitchen staff is not to make any substitutions without approval from Nutritionist, FS Manager, or 
Supervising AD.  

 
9. Heights and Weights   
As part of nutrition screening, heights and weights must be taken regularly by designated staff to 
determine the nutritional status of each child. 
The Child’s Teacher is responsible for:  

 Following height and weight protocol when filling out Height & Weight log. 
Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Recording heights and weights in CLOUDS from the Height & Weight Log completed by the 
teachers. 

 Returning Height & Weight Log to Site Supervisors for grantee and Site Directors for the 
partners. 

 Plotting Early Head Start length-for-age, weight-for-age, and head circumference-for-age on 
growth chart whenever information is available on well baby exam based on periodicity 
schedule. 

Site Supervisor (Grantee) is responsible for: 

 Distributing back to respective teachers the Height & Weight Log to be filed in the Nutrition 
Alert binder. 

Site Director (Partners) is responsible for: 

 Filing Height and Weight log in the Height and Weight binder. 
 
C. Child Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) 

Deleted: for 

Deleted: assigned staff of

Deleted: teachers



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
86 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

1. General Description 
To ensure our participation in the USDA Child Nutrition Program, the following must be accomplished by 
assigned staff. 
Site Supervisor or designee is responsible for: 

 Completing CACFP form before child attends school, or upon enrollment. 

 Completing CACFP enrollment document. 

 Filling in days and hours child attends and types of meals served to child while in attendance. 

 Ensuring enrollment document is signed and dated by the parent. 

 Parent’s completion of Meal Benefit form for children being enrolled, and for signing Meal 
Benefit form. 

 Determining eligibility using current eligibility guidelines. 

 Collecting enrollment document and meal benefit form from July 1st to October 31st. 

 Sending a CACFP form and CACFP enrollment document to the Nutrition Office.  

 Completing Enrollment Eligibility Roster each month, which includes: 
o Listing new children for the current month. 
o Determining whether child is free, reduced or base. 
o Marking whether child is in Head Start. 
o Listing child’s certification date. 
o Listing children who have dropped for the current month and the drop dates. 
o Sending monthly Enrollment Eligibility Roster to Nutrition Office by the 5th of the 

following month. 
 
2.  Non-Discrimination in Child Adult Care Food Program Services 
Community Services Bureau Head Start will comply with Title VI and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964. Title XI of the Educational Amendments of 1972, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 
1990 and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 
 
Each center will prominently display the “And Justice for All” poster. 
 
Staff will receive annual training on Civil Rights requirements and on handling Civil Rights Complaints. 
Nutrition Office will monitor and oversee training. 
 
D. CACFP Monitoring 
To ensure compliance and meet CACFP requirements, all grantee sites must be monitored three times a 
year. 
The Nutritionist is responsible for: 

 Unannounced monitoring of mealtimes. 

 Conducting CACFP facility reviews three times per classroom per academic year. 

 Using CACFP Centers Facility Review form (see Form CSB440). 

 Reporting findings to Site Supervisor or designee immediately after monitoring. 

 Writing corrective action plan based on recent findings. 

 Sending findings to the Assistant Director. 

 Sending original copy of CACFP Center Facility Review form to Nutrition Office.  

 Following up to confirm completion of corrective action within 60 days of findings. 

Deleted: meal 

Deleted: benefit 

Deleted: not

Deleted: .

Deleted:  and signing meal benefit form.

Deleted: Child 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
87 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Completing CACFP 5-day reconciliation to ensure accuracy of meal claims by each site. 
   
Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Implementing corrective actions and/or responding to monitoring report within 2 weeks. 

 Sending Nutritionist documentation of the corrective action plan taken and date of completion, 
e.g. Individual/Small Group Conference form, agenda and sign-in sheet for verification of 
completion of corrective action 

                          
  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
88 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

VI. Child Health and Safety 
A. Daily Health Inspection 
The teacher is mandated by Licensing to perform a daily health check of each child. The daily health 
check is performed when greeting the child and parent as they arrive. Parents are requested to remain 
present while the teacher performs this quick assessment which usually takes less than a minute. The 
Daily Health Inspection is a head-to-toe check of emotional and physical well-being.  This is an effective 
tool to develop a baseline of what is normal for each child.  This exercise helps the teaching staff reduce 
the spread of illness and establish rapport with the child and parent each day. It is important that this 
health check be conducted in the form of a greeting and that no invasive inspection, such as lifting 
clothing, or discussing findings out loud in front of others, should take place. For preschool classrooms, 
team members will complete the Daily Health Check log (CSB for 230) to document completion of the 
Health Check for each child in attendance. For infants, the daily health inspection includes a diaper 
change and is documented on the Daily Communication Form (CSB form 155).  Teachers must also 
observe the child throughout the day. 
 
To complete a daily health inspection, the teacher will do the following: 

 Listen: Greet the child and parent.  
o Ask the child “How are you today.”  
o Ask the parent the following questions: 
o “How’s (name of child)?”  
o “Was there anything different last night?”  
o “How did he/she sleep?”   

Listen to what the child and parent tell you about how the child is feeling.  If the child can talk, is 
he/she complaining of anything?  Is he/she hoarse or wheezing? 

 Look: Get down to the child’s level so you can see him/her clearly. Observe signs of health or 
illness: 

o General appearance (e.g., comfort, mood, behavior, and activity level) 
o Is the child’s behavior unusual for this time of day? 
o Is the child clinging to the parent, acting cranky, crying, or fussing? 
o Does he/she appear listless, in pain, or have difficulty moving? 
o Breathing: Is the child coughing, breathing fast, or having difficulty breathing? 
o Skin:  
o Does the child look pale or flushed? 
o Do you see a rash, sores, swelling, or bruising? 
o Is the child scratching his/her skin or scalp? 
o Eyes, Nose, Ears, Mouth: 
o Do the child’s eyes look red, crusty, goopy, or watery? 
o Is there a runny nose? 
o Is he/she pulling at his ears? 
o Are there mouth sores, excessive drooling, or difficulty swallowing? 

 Feel: Gently run the back of your hand over the child’s cheek, forehead, or neck. 
o Does the child feel unusually warm, or cold and clammy? 
o Does the skin feel bumpy? 

 Smell: Be aware of unusual odors.  

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
89 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

o Does the child’s breath smell foul or fruity? 
o Is there an unusual or foul smell to the child’s stools? 
o Pay particular attention to a child who has been absent or exposed to contagious 

disease. 
After doing the health check, teacher must now use findings to determine if the child looks healthy or 
sick. Use this chart to identify signs of health and illness: 
 

 Looking Healthy Looking Sick 

General 
Appearance 
 

Comfortable 
Cheerful, responsive 
Active, playing 
Behavior appropriate for 
child and time of day 

Excessive crying, clinginess, 
fussiness 
Doubled over in pain, unable 
to move 
Listless, lethargic, 
unresponsive 
No appetite 
Vomiting, diarrhea 

Breathing Breathing slowly 
Relaxed 
Quiet 

Breathing fast 
Difficulty breathing 
Sucking in around ribs 
Flaring nostrils 
Persistent Cough 
Wheezing 

Skin Normal skin color and texture 
for child 
Normal skin temperature 
No rashes, sores, swelling, or 
bruising 
No scratching at skin or scalp 

Pale, grayish, flushed, 
yellowish 
Hot or cold and clammy skin 
Skin rash, sores, swelling or 
bruising 
Scratching at skin or scalp 
Skin doesn’t spring back when 
pinched 

Eyes, nose, ears, 
and mouth 

Eyes bright and clear 
Nose clean 
Ears clean 
Mouth without sores, 
swallowing comfortably 

Eyes swollen, red, crusty, 
goopy, watery, yellowish, or 
sunken 
Nose congested or runny 
Ears draining pus or blood 
Pulling at ears 
Mouth or lips with sores, 
excessive drooling, difficulty 
swallowing 

Odors No odor or normal odor for 
child 

Breath smells foul or fruity 
Stool smells foul 

 
 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
90 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
 
B. Hand Washing 
Hand washing is the single most important routine in disease prevention.  Both children and staff are 
required to wash hands upon arriving to work or school, before eating, before/after preparing or serving 
food, and after outdoor play, after wiping noses or using the bathroom, after handling animals/pets, 
before and after medication administration, and before and after gloving. 
 
All adults and children in the classroom should follow the procedures for proper hand washing: 

 Use soap and running water 

 Scrub your hands vigorously for at least 20 seconds 

 Wash all surfaces, including: 
o Backs of hands 
o Wrists 
o Between fingers 
o Under fingernails 
o Under and around rings 

 Rinse well 

 Dry hands with a paper towel 

 Turn off the water using a paper towel instead of bare hands 
 
C. Infection Control in the Classroom 
In addition to Universal Precautions, the following measures are recommended for infection control in 
the classroom.  It is the teacher’s responsibility to insure that simple routine practices which reduce 
disease risks in the group setting are implemented in the classroom.  These practices include:  

 Hand washing  

 General environmental sanitation  

 Sanitary food service  

 Good personal hygiene  

 Careful diapering procedures  

 Prompt exclusion of children and adults who have signs and symptoms of communicable disease 

 Placement of cribs at least 3 feet apart and cots at least 18’’ apart 
 
Hygiene - Universal Precautions 
1. Training 
All teachers, site supervisors, managers and food service staff will be trained annually on food sanitation 
and safety. At least one employee in the Central Kitchen must be trained and certified in Safe Food 
handling through ServSafe.   
 
2. Tuberculosis (TB) Tests 
Licensing requires that proof of a negative TB test or chest x-ray of staff and volunteers (except student 
volunteers under the age of 18) must be kept in the center Licensing Folder.  Resources for obtaining a 
TB test are available for parents and other volunteers in need. 
 

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted:  practical,



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
91 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
 
3. Standard Precautions 
Precautions should be used at all times to protect staff and volunteers from the risk of being exposed to 
blood, fecal material, vomit, urine, or other potentially infectious materials.   
 
CSB Standard Precautions procedures apply to all program staff and volunteers. They will maximize 
worker protection from the spread of communicable disease resulting from occupational exposures to 
blood or other potentially infectious materials.  Staff will take the same precautions -- hand washing, use 
of gloves, disinfecting, and other safety measures -- when dealing with the blood or body fluids of all 
children and adults, whether or not they appear sick. 
 
CSB will supply staff with appropriate standard precaution personal protective equipment (e.g., gloves, 
aprons, mouthpieces for CPR). The program will ensure that all program staff receives training in the use 
of all this equipment. 
 
CSB trains staff on standard precautions as a function of the American Red Cross First Aid certification 
course. Re-certification is required every three years. 
 
If anyone has questions regarding the appropriate use of this equipment, call the Comprehensive 
Services Health Manager. If your personal protective equipment becomes damaged or lost, ask for a 
replacement immediately. 
 
4. Diapering and Toileting Procedure 
i. Description 
Since diapering and toileting are every day procedures for staff, and are a possible way that infectious 
diseases can be spread, it is extremely important that proper techniques be used at all times.  It should 
also be noted that no child may be denied the opportunity to participate in any program on the basis of 
toilet training. The program does not make successful toilet training a condition of enrollment. 
 
Each child must be kept dry at all times. The center staff must ensure that there are sufficient changes of 
clothing and diapers. Each child’s clothing and/or diapers must be changed as often as necessary to 
ensure that the child is clean and dry at all times.                    
 
ii. Diapering 

 Get organized. Assemble supplies in the changing area within reach, (disposable diaper, wipes, 
gloves, non-absorbent paper liner, clean clothing and plastic bag if needed).  Cover the entire 
changing surface or table with paper.  Wash hands thoroughly with soap and warm running 
water. 

 Place child on paper covered changing surface or table. Never leave child unattended during 
diapering processes. 

 Remove child’s clothing and put soiled clothing aside. 

 Put on gloves using posted procedure. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
92 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Unfasten diaper and leave soiled diaper under child.  Lift the child’s legs and use disposable 
wipes to clean skin creases, genitalia, and bottom.  Thoroughly as needed, wipe front to back 
using a clean wipe each time.  Place used wipers in dirty diaper 

 Remove soiled diaper.  Fold diaper inward and place in covered, hands-free, plastic-lined 
container.  Fold back paper liner if a clean surface is needed. Remove gloves. 

 Clean your hands with a disposable wipe and then clean the child’s hands with another fresh 
wipe. 

 Put clean diaper on child.  (Put ointment provided by parents upon their written request). 

 Dress the child.  Change the child’s clothing if wet or soiled. 

 Wash the child’s hands with soap and water.  Put child safely in supervised area. 

 Clean and sanitize the changing surface or table.  Throw away the paper liner in covered, hands-
free, plastic lined container.  Clean any visible soil with detergent and water.  Wet the entire 
changing surface with sanitizing solution. 

 Wash your hands with soap and water   

 Follow the posted NAEYC Proper Diapering Procedure. 
 
iii. Toileting 
The following procedure should be followed when toileting a child: 

 Have all materials at hand before starting procedures. 

 Never leave a child unattended; visual supervision is required. 

 Have child sit on potty, but never longer than 5 minutes. 

 After child has finished, teach child how to wipe self from front to back. 

 If rectal area is still unclean, the adult (using gloves) will clean the perineal/rectal area with 
disposable, wet towels. 

 Before child leaves bathroom, the child is to wash hands properly. 

 Adult returns to empty potty, disinfect seat, rinse and dry. 

 Staff member washes hands when done. 
 
D. Napping Policy 
To reduce the risk of Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS): 

 Infants, unless otherwise ordered by the physician, are placed on their backs to sleep on a firm 
surface manufactured for sale as infant sleeping equipment that meets the standards of the 
United States Consumers Product Safety Commission.  

 Pillows, quilts, comforters, sheepskins, stuffed toys, and other soft items are not allowed in cribs 
or rest equipment. 

 The infants head must remain uncovered during sleep. 

 After being placed down for sleep on their backs, infants may then be allowed to assume any 
comfortable sleep position when they can easily turn themselves from the back position. 

 If a blanket is used, the infant is placed at the foot of the crib with a thin blanket tucked around 
the crib mattress, reaching only as far as the infant’s chest. 

 
E. Dental Hygiene 

Deleted: .



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
93 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

All children with teeth shall brush or have their teeth brushed at least once during the hours the child is 
in care. For full day and family child care programs, children will brush their teeth after lunch. For part 
day morning programs, children will brush after breakfast. For part day afternoon programs, children 
will brush their teeth after lunch. Using a size appropriate toothbrush obtained through the health 
supply ordering process, the caregiver will either brush the child’s teeth (for those children lacking the 
motor skills to brush themselves), or supervise as the child brushes his/her own teeth.  The younger the 
child, the more the caregiver needs to be involved.  
 
Fluoride toothpaste is available at all centers. The caregiver should use a layer of fluoride toothpaste, 
not larger than the size of a pea, for children 3 to 5 years of age. Younger children tend to swallow the 
fluoride toothpaste, which can cause fluorosis. Therefore, children under three shall brush without 
toothpaste.  
 
After feeding, an infant’s teeth and/or gums shall be wiped with a moist cloth, or a product distributed 
to the sites called “Tenders,” to remove any remaining liquid that coats the teeth and gums, which turns 
to plaque and causes tooth decay. By doing this, caregivers are breaking up the plaque that forms to 
create a much healthier environment for the teeth that will be coming in later on. Follow these steps 
when caring for infants: 

 Wash hands thoroughly and slip “Tenders” onto your index finger 

 Moisten slightly with cool water. Do not use toothpaste 

 Carefully swab infant’s gums using a gentle circular motion 

 Place used “Tender” in garment bag to be washed prior to next use 
 
F. Health Issues in the Classroom 
Call your assigned Site Supervisor, Comprehensive Services team, or Health Manager when you identify 
a health concern.  It is crucial to provide appropriate intervention or resolution.  Any unusual behavior, 
any injury or any signs of illness requiring assessment and/or administration of first aid by staff must be 
reported to the parent and documented in the child’s confidential file. 
 
Health issues include, but are not limited to rash, high fever, head lice, signs of conjunctivitis (“pink 
eye”), diarrhea, intestinal problems, vomiting and nutritional problems. 
  
The Comprehensive Services team, Site Supervisor or Health Manager must follow up with the parent 
and medical provider(s) to confirm any diagnosis offered by the parent or family member.  This 
information will be evaluated, and a decision made as to whether the child can attend school at that 
time.   Both the Site Supervisor and the teaching staff will be kept abreast of the health considerations 
that impact this decision. 
 
G. Child Safety and Supervision 
Visiting/socializing on the playground or the premises of a child care facility while on duty is prohibited. 
Visiting/socializing with fellow employees, who are still on duty regarding non-classroom activities, 
during break times, is not allowed.  All visitors, former employees and relatives must report and sign in 
at the main office of each center before entering program areas.  Information on the nature of the visit 
will be required. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
94 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

• Whenever the classroom is outside on the yard or on a field trip, all members of the teaching 
team must be present to ensure the health and safety of children. No scheduled prep time or 
breaks are permitted during times scheduled outside of the classroom. 
 

Semi-annually, during the first month of the program year and in March, each Site Supervisor will 
complete and submit to their Assistant Director the Semi-Annual Child Safety Checklist (CSB form 751). 
This checklist will be used to confirm that the following has occurred as required:  

 Annual review of Ready To Learn Curriculum safety considerations; 

 Annual review of Pedestrian Safety Training for parents and children;  

 Semi-annual review of outdoor schedule against staff breaks and prep time and against peek 
pick-up/drop-off times to ensure no overlap; 

 Semi-annual review of schedule and plan of class consolidations in early morning and late 
afternoon;  

 Semi-annual meeting with staff to review child safety, visual supervision, staff placement , and 
safe transitions;  

 Semi-annual completion of Transition Observation Checklist (CSB form 750) in each classroom; 

 Semi-annual review of center documentation that all volunteers and substitutes have received 
an on-site orientation and have reviewed CSB Substitute and Volunteer Handbook with a signed 
Handbook receipt on file at the center; 

 Semi-annual meeting with front desk/lobby/entrance/exit staff to review procedures to ensure 
Child Safety at all times; and 

 Semi-annual meeting with parents to review Child Safety procedures, facility security, and 
handout Parent Guidance for Keeping Children Safe. 

 
H. Child Illness Procedures 
1. Admission and Exclusion 
The decision to admit or exclude a child with an illness is the responsibility of the Site Supervisor and will 
be based on whether there are adequate facilities and staff able to care for the ill child and the other 
children in the group. The Site Supervisor, not the child’s family, makes the final determination about 
whether the acutely ill child can receive care in the childcare program. Children will be excluded if: 

 The child’s illness prevents the child from participating in activities that the facility routinely 
offers for well children or mildly ill children. 

 The illness requires more care than the childcare staff is able to provide without compromising 
the needs of that particular child or of the other children in the group. 

 Keeping the child in care poses an increased risk to the child or other children or adults with 
whom the child will come in contact. 

 The childcare staff is uncertain about whether the child’s illness poses an increased risk to 
others. The child will be excluded until a physician or nurse practitioner notifies the child care 
program that the child may attend. A child whose illness does not meet any of these conditions 
listed above does not need to be excluded. 

2. Admission and Permitted Attendance 
Specific conditions that do not require exclusion are: 

 Children who are carriers of an infectious disease agent in their bowel movement or urine that 
can cause illness, but who have no symptoms of illness themselves. 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
95 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Children with conjunctivitis (pink eye) who have a clear, watery eye discharge and do not have 
any fever, eye pain, or eyelid redness. 

 Children with a rash, but no fever or change in behavior. 

 Children with cytomegalovirus infection, HIV or carriers of hepatitis b.  
 
3. Procedure for Management of Short-Term Illness 
The behavior and health of each child must be continually observed during the course of the day, and 
should a child become ill, the following steps must be taken: 

 The ill infant, toddler or child must be isolated on a cot/crib in an area, which is easily supervised 
and away from the kitchen, bathroom and any other area used by the other children.  Infants, 
toddlers and children in isolation must be under constant visual observation by designated staff. 

 Children ill enough to require isolation may not use the same toilets as other children.  One 
toilet and sink must be designated exclusively for the ill child’s use.  The other children must be 
prevented from using that toilet and sink until the sick child has been picked up, and those 
facilities have been thoroughly disinfected. 

 The Site Supervisor or designee will call the parent or other emergency numbers to arrange to 
have the child picked up.  If no one can be contacted, the child must remain on the cot/mat 
under close supervision and staff will continue to try to reach the parents or emergency 
numbers. 

 If the child's condition worsens and becomes life threatening, the teaching staff must call 911.  
Make a note in the child's file that parents were notified.  Notify the Assistant Director 
immediately.  

 
4. Short-Term Exclusion and Admittance 
As the program is not set up to care for ill children, staff and parents should use the following three 
criteria to exclude children with short-term illnesses from the group care setting: 

 The child does not feel well enough to participate comfortably in the usual activities of the 
program. 

 The staff cannot care for the sick child without interfering with the care of the other children. 

 The child has any of the following that indicate a contagious disease or an immediate need for 
medical evaluation: 

o Fever and behavior changes or other signs or symptoms, until the child’s inclusion is 
checked with a health professional who determines that the child may be in child care 

o Signs or symptoms of a possible serious condition, such as those defined below under 
“Conditions that Require Immediate Medical Attention”, until the child is checked by a 
health professional who determines that the child may be in child care 

Children may only be excluded for the period of time when they pose a significant risk to the health and 
safety of anyone in contact with the child and until the child meets the criteria for re-admission.  
 
5. Conditions that Require Immediate Medical Attention 
Get help immediately for a child with any of the following conditions: 

 Specific fevers: 
o A baby less than 4 months of age has a temperature of 101 degrees rectally or 100 

degrees axillaries (armpit). 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75"



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
96 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

o A temperature of 105 degrees or higher in a child of any age. 

 For infants under 4 months, forceful vomiting more than once. 

 Looking or acting very ill or getting worse quickly. 

 Neck pain when the child’s head is moved or touched. 

 A stiff neck or severe headache and looking very sick. 

 A seizure for the first time. 

 Acting unusually confused. 

 Unequal pupils (black centers of the eyes). 

 A blood-red or purple rash made up of pinhead sized spots or bruises that are not associated 
with injury. 

 A rash of hives or welts that appears and spreads quickly. 

 Breathing so fast or so hard that the child cannot play, talk, cry, or drink. 

 A severe stomachache without vomiting or diarrhea after a recent injury, blow to the abdomen, 
or hard fall. 

 Stools that are black or have blood mixed in through them. 

 Not urinating at least once in 8 hours, a dry mouth, no tears, or sunken eyes. 

 Continuous clear drainage from the nose after a hard blow to the head. 
 
I. Return to School After Illness 
Children who have been excluded from the classroom should not return until: 

 A physician has certified that the symptoms are not associated with an infectious agent or the 
child’s symptoms do not threaten the health of other children. 

 The child is completely “nit-free” following a head lice infestation. 

 The child has an auxiliary or oral temperature of less than 100°F, and does not have symptoms 
such as: 

o Sore throat 
o Vomiting 
o Diarrhea 
o Headache and stiff neck 
o Undiagnosed rash 

 The child has no respiratory problems, such as: 
o Difficult/rapid breathing, severe coughing or a high-pitched croup or whooping sound 

while coughing.  
o The child is unable to lie down comfortably, due to continuous coughing. 

 No Diarrhea (an increased number of abnormally loose stools in the previous 24 hours) - 
observe the child for other symptoms such as fever, abdominal pain, or vomiting. 

 No Vomiting (two or more episodes of vomiting within the previous 24 hours). 

 No Eye/Nose Drainage (thick green or yellow mucous from the eye or nose). 

 No Sore Throat - especially with fever or swollen glands in the neck. 

 No Skin Rash (undiagnosed or contagious) - infected sores; sores with crusty, yellow, or green 
drainage which cannot be covered by clothing or bandages. 

 No Persistent Itching (or scratching) of body or scalp. 
 

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: .



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
97 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

J. Medical Alerts 
Medical Alerts need to be posted by the teacher after the Site Supervisor has investigated and 
determined that there was exposure to a communicable disease. 
 
In some cases, the teaching staff may be notified by the parent regarding a confirmed diagnosis (i.e., a 
child with Chickenpox).  In this event, the Medical Alert may be posted immediately.  The Site 
Supervisor, Comprehensive Services Team member, and Health Manager must still be notified about the 
illness. 
 
After two weeks, the Medical Alert must be taken down from the classroom where it has been posted.  
(See Forms CSB221 to CSB238.) 
  
K. Children Injured at the Center 
1. Professional Medical Treatment  
All head injuries require an immediate call to the parent.  Parents can make the determination to pick up 
their child or not based on the staff report and advice as the seriousness of the injury.  The CSB-208 
form must be completed. 
 
In the event that medical treatment is required, the center staff will instruct the parent to take their 
child to the doctor.  If the parent cannot be contacted and a child needs to be transported by ambulance 
to the hospital, the teacher will accompany the child.  The teacher will notify the Site Supervisor if a 
child needs professional medical treatment. 
 
The parents will be responsible for any medical expenses incurred.  If the parent feels that it is the 
responsibility of the program to pay for these expenses, they must file a claim against the program.  
Contact the Health Manager for details regarding submission of claims. 
 
2. Student Accident Reports / Band-Aid Reports 
Whenever a member of the center staff uses first aid or informs a parent that a child has been hurt, the 
Site Supervisor or Teacher will call the Assistant Director to report the accident.  If necessary, prompt 
arrangements for obtaining medical treatment will be made. 
 
The teacher is also required to complete an “Accident/Incident Report Form,” (CSB208-Accident-
Incident Report) noting any recommendations for the parent on spaces provided.   
 
To maintain confidentiality, the names of other children involved in the incident should not be written 
on the “Accident/Incident Report Form.”  
 
If more than one child is injured, a report must be done for each child.  The information of who was 
involved is written and kept confidential, but not given in the report the parents receive. 
 
The Assistant Director should be notified immediately of all accidents/incidents.  
 

Deleted: ¶
¶
¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
98 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

If the Assistant Director notices that an elevated amount of accidents are occurring, he/she should call 
the Site Supervisor/Teacher to discuss the situation and develop a plan/solution to prevent accidents. 
Band-Aid Reports are completed for minor injuries such as scrapes or small cuts that require minor first 
aid. (CSB-255 First Aid-Band Aid Report). 
 
Site Supervisors must maintain a “Site Accident Log” for each injury at all times. 
 
L. Blood Protocol 
1. Description 
This protocol is used to prevent the remote and unlikely possibility of the spread of blood and blood 
diseases in the school setting and applies to all site personnel who have direct contact with children and 
custodial personnel as necessary 
 
2. General Information 
The so-called blood-to-blood diseases (AIDS, Hepatitis B, etc.) are spread by an organism’s travel from 
the blood of an infected person to the blood of a non-infected person. 
 
Blood and semen are the only body fluids that have been demonstrated to be capable of transmitting 
AIDS (Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome). 
 
3. Supplies needed 

 Plastic gloves (disposable) 

 Plastic bags 

 Rubbing alcohol 
 
4. Procedure 

 Wash hands and put on gloves when having any contact with child’s blood or bodily fluids. Use 
gloves for one time and only one student. 

 After completing the necessary task for the child, remove gloves by grasping the cuff and then 
stripping it off by turning it inside out.  Be careful not to touch the contaminated surfaces of the 
gloves. 

 Dispose of glove in a disposable plastic bag.  See “Disposal of Blood/Body Fluid” below. 

 Wash hands after de-gloving.  This is necessary because bacteria multiply rapidly inside a glove. 

 Fill out “Accident/Incident” and “Band-Aid” reports as applicable.  (See Form CSB208-Accident-
Incident Report and CSB255-First Aid-Band Aid Report)  File reports as required. 

 
5. Disposal of Blood / Body Fluid 
Put all blood/body fluid disposals in clearly marked garbage containers.  Examples:  soiled wet diapers, 
used gloves, wipes, vomit, blood products, and all other contaminated materials/supplies.   
 
Close the bag and tie it, then double bag, and dispose of it in a separate container marked for such 
disposals.  Make sure this container is not used for trash, and that is out of children’s reach and can be 
easily moved around. 
 

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
99 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Be safe - always wear gloves.  Questions should be directed to the Health Manager. 
 
M. Medication Administration 
1. Administering Medication 
Because administration of medication poses an extra burden for staff, and having medication in the 
facility is a safety hazard, families must check with the child’s physician to see if a dose schedule can be 
arranged that does not involve the hours the child is in the child care facility. Whenever possible, the 
first dose of medication should be given at home to see if the child has any type of reaction. Parents 
may administer medication to their own child during the child care day. 
 
2. Procedure 
Staff, designated by the Site Supervisor, will administer medication only if the parent has provided 
written consent, the medication is in an appropriately labeled and stored container, and the facility has 
on file the written or telephone instructions of a licensed physician to administer the specific 
medication. (See Form CSB213-Medication Form) 
 
For prescription medications, parents will provide caregivers with the medication in the original, child-
resistant container that is labeled by a pharmacist with the child’s name, the name of the medication, 
the date the  prescription was filled; the name of the health care provider who wrote the prescription; 
the medication’s expiration date; the administration, storage and disposal instructions. For over-the-
counter medications, parents will provide the medication in a child-resistant container.  The medication 
will be labeled with the child’s first and last names; specific, legible instructions for administration and 
storage supplied by the manufacturer; and the name of the health care provider who recommended the 
medication for the child. 
 
Instructions for the dose, frequency, method to be used, and duration of administration will be provided 
to the child care staff in writing (by a signed note or a prescription label) or dictated over the telephone 
by a physician or other person legally authorized to prescribe medication.  Instructions from a parent or 
provider may not conflict with the instructions on the prescription label. 
 
A physician may state that a certain medication may be given for a recurring problem, emergency 
situation, or chronic condition. The instructions should include the child’s name, the name of the 
medication, the dose of the medication, how often the medication may be given, the conditions for use, 
and any precautions to follow. Example: children may use sunscreen to prevent sunburn; children who 
wheeze with vigorous exercise may take one dose of asthma medicine before vigorous activity (large 
muscle) play; children who weigh between 25-35 pounds may be given 1 teaspoon of acetaminophen 
for up to two doses every four hours for fever. A child with a known serious allergic reaction to a specific 
substance who develops symptoms after exposure to that substance may receive epinephrine from a 
staff member who has received training in how to use an auto-injection device prescribed for that child 
(e.g., Epipen®). A child may only receive medication with the permission of the child’s parent and when 
the staff person who will give the medication has the skills required. All documentation regarding a 
child’s medication and its administration shall be kept in the child’s confidential file. 
Nonprescription medications may be administered without approval or instructions from the child’s 
physician if all of the following conditions are met: 

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
100 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Nonprescription medications shall be administered in accordance with the product label 
directions. 

 For each nonprescription medication, the parent must provide written approval and instructions 
that are consistent with product labeling. This documentation must be kept in the child’s 
confidential file. 
 

3. Storage 
Medications will be kept at the temperature recommended for that type of medication in a locked 
container that is inaccessible to children, separate from any other hazardous material storage.  An 
example of an acceptable location is at the back of a locked file cabinet that is not used to store any 
other hazardous products or materials. Do not place medications that do not require refrigeration, such 
as inhalers for asthma, in the refrigerator. This can damage them and render them ineffective. 
 
Medications that require refrigeration must be stored in the designated locked refrigerator medication 
boxes supplied to each center. 
 
Epipens must be stored in a designated Epipen box and should be out of reach of children in an easy and 
quick to access area with Epipen signage posted. 
 
When the child no longer needs the medication or the child drops from the center, the medication must 
be returned to the parent or disposed of if the parent cannot be reached. 
 
Medication will not be used beyond the date of expiration on the container or beyond any expiration of 
the instructions provided by the physician or other person legally permitted to prescribe medication. 
Instructions which state that the medication may be used whenever needed will be renewed by the 
physician at least annually. 
 
4. Medication Log Documentation 
A medication log will be maintained by the classroom staff to record the instructions for giving the 
medication, consent obtained from the parent, amount and time of administration, and the person who 
administered each dose of medication. Spills, reactions, and refusal to take medication will be noted on 
this log. All records of any changes in the child’s behavior, as documented on the Medication Log, will be 
communicated to the parent. Parents will be assisted in communicating these incidences to the 
physician as necessary.  (CSB213-Medication Form)  Parents will be informed as to when authorized 
medications have been given via this log. 
 
5. Asthma Protocol 
Since asthma is a very common health condition and one that typically requires medication, the 
following protocol will assist the teaching staff.  Teachers will receive training regarding asthma, its 
symptoms, and treatment procedures. 
 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager, upon review of the child’s Health History form, will 
contact both the parent and medical provider(s) to clarify the current status of the asthma condition.  It 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified

Deleted:  

Deleted:  P

Deleted:  P

Deleted: ¶

Deleted:  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
101 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

is the responsibility of the Comprehensive Services team to obtain confirmation of the diagnosis and any 
current treatment using the Asthma Action Plan (See Form CSB219). 
 
Subsequent to the initial health review by the Site Supervisor and Comprehensive Services team, if the 
teacher becomes aware of a possible asthma condition, previously unknown to staff, she must call the 
Comprehensive Services team assigned to the classroom.  The Comprehensive Services team will then 
follow the procedures described above. 
 
Once all relevant information is obtained, a meeting will be held with the Comprehensive Services team, 
Site Supervisor, parent, and teacher to ensure teaching staff have the training to carry out the action 
plan for the child and to review the following: 

 Asthma Action Plan from the doctor. 

 Medication form (See Form CSB213) completed by parent. 

 Inhaled Medication – Nebulizer Consent forms (See Form CSB219a) completed by the parent for 
each teacher/staff administering the medication.  

 
Copies of the Asthma Action Plan will be kept by the center staff, parent, and in the child’s main file. If 
the plan indicates medication is used routinely or necessary “as needed,” then CSB must have 
medication on site before the child can attend class. 
 
Until complete physician’s instructions are provided, medications to treat asthma symptoms will be 
given according to the prescription labels.  Medication will be dispensed outside of center hours 
whenever possible. 
 
When asthma symptoms occur during center hours, the teaching staff will call the parent to alert them 
about the child’s condition.  The child will be sent home if the asthma symptoms interfere with the 
child’s ability to fully participate in the program.  In the event that the parent cannot be contacted, the 
teaching staff will call 911 (if the asthma appears life threatening).  
 
6. Training of Caregivers to Administer Medication 
Any caregiver who administers medications shall be trained to: 

 Read and understand the Asthma Action Plan, the Medication Form and the Inhaled Medication-
Consent Form; 

 Check that the name of the child on the medication and the child receiving the medication are 
the same; 

 Read and understand the label/prescription directions in relation to the measured dose, 
frequency, and other circumstances relative to administration (such as in relation to meals); 

 Administer the medication according to the prescribed methods and the prescribed dose; 

 Observe and report any side effects from medications; 

 Document the administration of each dose by the time and the amount given; 

 Store and handle medication appropriately; 

 Record changes in child’s behavior and help parents communicate observations to their 
provider; 

 Demonstrate ability to comply with medication policy.  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
102 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
7. Inhaled Medications 
An Inhaled Medication-Consent Form (See LIC 9166 and CSB Form CSB219a) must be filled out and 
signed by the parent before staff administers inhaled medications.  A copy of the completed form must 
be kept in the child’s file.  A separate form must be filled out for each person (staff member) who 
administers inhaled medication to the child.  This requirement includes all inhaled medications. 
 
8. Sun Protection Policy 
Sun protection routines in childhood can establish lifelong preventive habits.  At CSB, shade is provided 
at all sites, infants under six months of age are not exposed to direct sunlight, children are encouraged 
to wear light colored, loose fitting clothing that covers as much skin as possible, parents are encouraged 
to apply sunscreen to their child’s exposed skin as part of their school drop off routine and following the 
procedure for the over-the-counter medications sunscreen provided by the parent will be applied by 
teaching staff.  Drinking water is available to children during outdoor play. 
                               
N. Incomplete Health Records 
The Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services team will notify parents and teaching staff if a child is to 
be excluded from the classroom due to incomplete health records.  
 
Exclusions due to unmet health requirements: Children must be excluded for immunizations that are not 
up-to-date or a physical or TB clearance that is not received within 30 days of enrollment.  Parents are 
allowed a onetime extension beyond the 30 day requirement for a physical exam with proof of an 
appointment on file however this extension does not apply to the TB clearance.  Children excluded for 
unmet health requirements are permitted up to three days of excused absences.  After that, a Notice of 
Action (as applicable) will be issued for termination from the program.  
 
Parents will be informed during enrollment and at Parent Conferences that the health requirements are 
the following: up-to-date immunizations, physical and dental exams, and required TB Clearance.  
Parents will be assisted in identifying and accessing a source of care and a Case Management will take 
place as needed to make every possible effort to meet the health requirements for the child.  If, after 
these notifications and assistance, the child has not obtained the needed services, the parents will be 
informed that they need to schedule an appointment that day and notify the Site Supervisor or 
Comprehensive Services Team of the appointment date and time. 
 
When the parent has no phone, contact will be made by the Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services 
team through the center.  The center staff will be asked to have the parent contact the Site Supervisor 
or Comprehensive Services team the same day.  In all cases, teachers will be notified and asked to 
reinforce the request made by the Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services Team regarding health 
requirements. 
 
Children may be excluded from the program for incomplete initial physical exam, incomplete 
immunizations, and lack of a TB Clearance only.   
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
103 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

For all other health requirements that are incomplete, the Comprehensive Services Team will request 
updated information from the parent with a Health Records Update Form (See Form CSB242). As 
needed, case management will take place with the site staff, Comprehensive Services and parents and a 
plan will be implemented.  
 
O. Health and Safety Training for Center Staff 
The Site Supervisor of each center must ensure that each of his/her staff members has current CPR / 
First Aid Certification in the following: Adult / Child/Infant CPR Training (good for one year from date of 
issue), and First Aid Training (good for three years from date of issue). Staff can be sent to training via a 
request by the Site Supervisor to the Training Coordinator. The Site Supervisor is responsible for 
maintaining the personnel records of staff at his/her site to ensure that staff is certified in CPR / First Aid 
at all times. CPR / First Aid certified staff must be available at all times when children are present at the 
facility, or when children are offsite for facility activities. 
 
In addition to the CPR / First Aid training, one staff person or Director at each day care center must have 
at least 15 hours in preventive health practices. This training must include, but is not limited to, pediatric 
cardiopulmonary resuscitation; pediatric first aid; recognition, management, and prevention of 
infectious diseases, including immunizations; and prevention of childhood injuries. The training may 
include sanitary food handling, child nutrition, emergency preparedness and evacuation, caring for 
children with disabilities and identification and reporting of signs and symptoms of child abuse. The 
supervisor makes requests for such training to the Personnel Unit. 
 
P. Posting of Documents (Health Emergency Procedures) 
CSB conforms to all Federal, State, and local regulations by posting or having on file at each facility: 
mandated notices, licenses, and permits. 
 
Site Supervisors and teachers are required to post mandated facility compliance documents on bulletin 
boards, which are attractive, neat, updated, and highly visible. Other required posted materials include: 
Dental Emergencies, Choking, CPR/First Aid, Evacuation Routes, and Emergency Numbers (posted near 
phone).  
 
The Site Supervisor is responsible for routinely monitoring bulletin boards and classroom files for 
compliance with this standard. The Comprehensive Services Managers/Assistant Directors are 
responsible for monitoring all compliance documents. 
 
Q. Pet Protocol 
Animals can bring joy to the classroom while offering children the opportunity to be responsible for 
another living creature.   
 
When an animal is being considered for inclusion in the classroom, child and staff allergies and fears 
must be considered.  The animal must be tame and classroom staff must agree to accept responsibility 
for the care of the pet.  Assistant Director’s approval must be obtained. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
104 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Turtles and reptiles are not allowed in the classroom because they are potential carriers of salmonella 
bacteria. 
 
Before the animal is included in the classroom, children will be instructed on the proper care and 
handling of the animal and the importance of proper hand washing.   
 
When the animal arrives in the classroom, the animal must be provided an appropriate habitat and 
space with opportunities to exercise, appropriate temperature, and all other natural conditions and 
activities.  
 
A Pet Care Plan must be posted to designate care needed to provide quality care to the animal.  This Pet 
Care Plan will include details specific to that particular pet and will inform staff and parents about the 
pet, and noting the specifics required to provide quality care to the animal.  The Pet Care Plan must 
include: 

 Name of animal 

 Description of the animal - example: rat - nocturnal, affectionate and playful pets 

 Description of appropriate housing/cage/bedding and recommended cleaning pattern 

 Description of food needed to provide a healthy diet including portion size and frequency 

 Explanation of exercise needed 

 Explanation of proper handling practices 

 List of vaccines needed (if any), date when administered and future due dates 

 The name and phone number of a veterinarian in case of emergency- Site Supervisors will be 
contacted for veterinarian visits approval.  
 

A log must be posted for staff to initial and date as animal care and related duties are completed.  The 
log must include: 

 daily feeding (food and water) schedule 

 daily exercise  

 cage cleaning schedule 
 
Accommodations must be made for: 

 scheduling weekend, holiday, and vacation care 

 maintaining care in the case of an emergency (natural disaster, animal illness, bites, and other 
similar situations) 

Responsibility of the teaching staff: 

 To review each child’s Health History to identify children with allergies to specific animals. 

 To complete the Pet Care Plan. 

 To maintain the overall care of the animal. 

 To initial the log noting responsibilities completed. 
 
Responsibility of the Site Supervisor: 

 Submit a request to the AD for classroom pet approval.  

 To oversee the health and well being of children, staff and animals as they interact in the 
classroom. 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
105 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
Responsibility of Assistant Director 

 Provide pet approval for a classroom on an individual basis.  
 
Any bites will be immediately reported to the Site Supervisor, the Comprehensive Services Health 
Manager and the Assistant Director. 
 
R. Safety / Sanitation Procedures 
1. General Safety 

 Facilities have available first-aid kit readily accessible/clearly marked for emergency use. 

 Facilities are equipped with a fire extinguisher securely mounted and readily accessible. 

 Employees are trained in the use and type of fire extinguishers available. 

 All fire extinguishers are tagged, noting months/years/dates of inspections/annual maintenance, 
and identified use (class of fire). 

 Facility exits are clearly marked with visible, approved EXIT signs.  Aisles, hallways, and other 
exits are kept free of obstacles, including furniture and equipment. 

 All materials and surfaces accessible to children, including toys, shall be free of toxic substances. 

 Air fresheners will not be allowed in any space accessible to children and families. 

 Baby walkers shall not be used or kept on the premises. 

 Playground equipment shall be securely anchored to the ground unless it is portable by design. 

 Equipment and furniture shall be maintained in a safe condition, free of sharp, loose or pointed 
parts. 

 Equipment and furniture shall be age and size appropriate so as to allow children present to 
fully participate in planned activities. 

 All items on shelves above three feet tall (plants, sculptures, books, and other items) shall be 
secured with museum putty, safety latches, barriers, or other similar items to prevent items  
from falling onto children. 

 Open shelves and cabinets over three feet tall shall be free of heavy objects and  

 Tall furniture over four feet tall shall be braced to the wall or floor. 

 Cots are maintained in safe condition and bedding shall not be shared by different children 
without first laundering the bedding. 

 Floor mats are constructed of foam at least ¾ inch thick and covered with vinyl, with no exposed 
foam. Floor side must be marked so that it can be distinguished from the sleeping side. 

 Aisles and trafficked areas are kept free of obstacles and obstructions, with empty food 
containers promptly removed.  Cots shall be arranged so that each child has access to a walkway 
without having to walk on or over the cots or mats of other children. 

 Safe stools/ladders are available and used for reaching shelved items. 

 Employees are trained in the proper use of equipment that their duties require them to use.  
Employees who have not been trained in the proper use of equipment may not operate such 
equipment. 

 Employees are required to be attentive to their tasks, especially when cooking or operating 
moving equipment. 

 Smoking is prohibited in all areas. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
106 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 All employees must consume food only in designated areas. 

 All employees are required to adhere to procedures for kitchen sanitation and the cleaning 
schedule. 

 Firearms and other weapons shall not be allowed on or stored on the premises of a child care 
center. 

 
S. Safety Surveillance 
1. Identification and Correction 
The Health and Safety Officer will conduct monthly inspections of the facility for hazards using the 
Health and Safety Checklist. The Site Supervisor will review the result of the site inspections and will 
arrange for correction of hazardous conditions identified. Written reports of the inspections and 
corrections will be kept in a designated binder on-site. Copies of monthly inspections and corrective 
action plans will be sent to Joanne Sanchez-Rosa. 
 
2. Escape Hazards 
The Site Supervisor will maintain and review with the staff annually a list of potential high-risk 
locations/situations where a child might escape unnoticed from the group. Staff will use this list to plan 
increased supervision in these high-risk locations and situations. If such a high-risk escape hazard is 
identified between annual reviews, staff will take action immediately. 
 
3. Evacuation Hazards 
The Site Supervisor will be responsible for establishing and updating a checklist of locations to be 
assessed during evacuation to assure complete surveillance of the building before and after evacuation 
is declared complete. The checklist will identify usual and likely-to-be-forgotten locations such as: under 
a cot, behind a sofa, in a toy bin, in a closet, kitchen, or toilet room. 
 
4. Injury Prevention 
Whenever an injury occurs, a copy of a completed Incident/Accident Report form will be filed in an 
injury log. The injury log will be reviewed every three months by the Site Supervisor or Assistant Director 
to identify hazards in need of corrective action. 
 
Staff and volunteers must be able to demonstrate safety procedures.  Both staff and volunteers will 
review safety procedures with the Site Supervisor prior to working in the classroom.  Emergency 
procedures, the Health and Safety Checklist, and playground safety shall be reviewed with each staff 
person and volunteer before any interaction with children may occur. 
 
Child and parent activities must include safety awareness for the home and in the program.  Videos, 
brochures, newsletter articles, and parent training will be used to foster safety awareness for the home 
and in the program. 
 
T. First Aid Kits 
All centers should have a first-aid kit and manual that is easily accessible (location should be marked by 
“First Aid Kit Here” signs available to staff and out of reach of children. The following items should be in 
the first-aid kit:  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
107 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 CPR Mask 

 Disposable, nonporous gloves 

 Scissors 

 Tweezers 

 Thermometer 

 Bandage Tape 

 Sterile gauze pads 

 Flexible roller gauze 

 Triangular Bandage 

 Pins for triangular bandage 

 Eye dressing (small cups) 

 Pen/pencil and note pad 

 Cold pack 

 First aid guide 

 Poison Control number 
 

The Health and Safety Officer, using the Health and Safety Checklist, will inventory the First Aid Kit 
monthly. Orders for restocking the kits are placed with designated staff. The First Aid Kits are only to be 
used in an extreme emergency. Everyday health and safety supplies such as Band-Aids, cold packs and 
gloves are stocked separately and in abundance in designated locations within each center, inaccessible 
to children. 
 
U. Preparing For Emergencies 
Each classroom has a disaster preparedness plan in case of fire, earthquake, or other emergency.  
Children and staff must be prepared to execute the plan in the event of such emergency. 
 
1. Operations Procedure 
Staff receives training on the disaster preparedness plan during their initial work orientation, and at 
subsequent staff development training.  Such training is filed and documented with training records. 
 
Fire drills are held at least once per month. 
 
Earthquake preparedness drills are held at least once per month. 
 
Shelter-in-Place drills are held once a month on the first Wednesday of each month. 
 
All CSB centers post evacuation plans, and have documentation of successfully completing monthly fire 
and earthquake drills. 
 
Documentation of earthquake and fire drills should be entered in the “Fire/ Earthquake Drill Report” for 
and the “Fire and Earthquake Drill Log” (SB116-Disaster Drill Report and CSB117-Disaster Drill Report 
Log) 
 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
108 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Classroom teachers provide an orientation to children on how to respond to an emergency as part of 
the ongoing curriculum.  
 
Fire drill and earthquake preparedness orientations must take place by the second week of program 
opening for children and monthly thereafter.  
 
Contra Costa County maintains an Office of Emergency Services (OES) Plan, which is activated during 
major disasters.  The functions performed at the OES include gathering and evaluating damage 
information, determining emergency response priorities, obtaining necessary resources (materials, 
supplies, equipment, and personnel) and providing information to the news media.  Community Services 
Bureau staff will provide information to the County OES on the status of the department's staff, 
buildings and equipment, including vehicles. 
 
A verbal report to Community Care Licensing must be made within 24 hours and written report must be 
submitted to the licensing agency within seven days of the occurrence of any of the following events: 

 Death of any child from any cause 

 Any injury to any child requiring medical attention 

 Any unusual incident or child absence which threatens the physical or emotional health or 
safety of any child 

 Any suspected physical or psychological abuse of any child 

 Epidemic outbreaks 

 Poisonings 

 Catastrophes 

 Fires or explosions occurring in/on the premises 
 

Reports must be made in writing to the funding sources as soon as possible after any of the above. 
 
2. Emergency Disaster / Earthquake Supplies 
All sites have emergency/disaster supply containers that are easily accessible.  The sealed containers 
hold the following items appropriate to the number of adults, children and infants at the site.  The 
inventory with the expiration date of the contents is listed on the outside of the container.   

First Aid Supplies Food Bars Formula Formula Bottles Bottle Bags Bottle Nipples 

Pliers Crow bar Water Latex Free Gloves Hand Sanitizer Trash bags 

Multi-purpose Tool Shovel Radio Safety Goggles Solar Blankets Work Gloves 

Gas Shut off Tool Scissors  Dust Masks Zip Lock bags Masking Tape Duct Tape 

Fleece Blankets Batteries Whistles Toilet Paper Rope Adult Vests 

Germicidal Tablets Wrench Buckets Flashlight Soap Cold Packs  

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified

Formatted Table

Deleted: Bucket Toilet Seats



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
109 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Antiseptic Wash Hammer Lanterns Shovel Eye Wash Vinyl Tarp 

Toilet Bags 
Toilet 
Chemicals 

Bucket 
Toilet Seats Dust Masks Hard Hat  

 
3. Meal Delivery-Emergency 
Each center should have the items listed below available when food cannot be transported to the 
centers due to unforeseen circumstances such as traffic, breakdown of van, or breakdown of equipment 
in kitchen. All of these food items should be stored and marked “Emergency Food’’. The requisite 
amount of milk (2½ gallons per classroom, per meal) and soymilk and lactaid (if needed for milk 
intolerances) are to be on hand at all times. 

 Infant food: 
o meats, fruits and vegetables 
o dry cereal 
o formula 

 Breakfast food: 
o dry cereal 
o canned fruit 
o milk 

 Lunch food: 
o Sunbutter 
o string cheese ww crackers 
o 1 can of fruit and 1 can of vegetables 
o 2½ gallons milk 

 Afternoon snack: 
o graham crackers 
o 2 gallons milk 

 
V. Classroom Sanitation 
1. General Description 
Each classroom is responsible for preparing the spray bottle of sanitizing solution on a daily basis.  The 
proportions of bleach to water are:  three quarters (¾) teaspoon of chlorine bleach to two (2) cups of 
water or one (1) tablespoon of chlorine bleach to one (1) quart of water.  Classroom staff is instructed to 
spray each table lightly with the bleach solution, to wipe it with paper towels and air dry. This is to be 
done before and after each meal service.  The bleach solution, as well as any other disinfectants, 
cleaning solutions, poisons and other items that could pose a danger to children, should be placed in a 
locked cabinet after each use to prevent children from reaching.  Warning Signs and Mixture instruction 
posters should be posted on the cabinet door where the solution is stored (See CSB Forms for forms 
“Warning Sign Poster” and “Warning Mixture Instruction Poster” in English and Spanish). 
 
Tabletops and eating surfaces must be cleaned/sanitized before and after each meal, counter tops are 
cleaned between preparation of different food items, and can openers are cleaned/sanitized after each 
use. 
 

Deleted: Light Sticks

Deleted: Hard Hat

Deleted: Pliers

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
110 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Classroom staff is responsible for sanitizing toys weekly, as well as cleaning shelves and all areas of the 
classroom where toys are stored. 
In classrooms that have kitchen equipment, the teaching staff will ensure that, on a weekly basis and as 
needed, the pantry is swept, and ovens and refrigerators are cleaned.  The building service worker 
washes trashcans as needed. 
 
2. Classroom Sanitation in Infant Care Centers 
Particular emphasis on classroom sanitation for infant centers is critically important in ensuring the 
health of the children and staff and in preventing the spread of communicable disease.  Keep the 
classroom sanitized by adhering to these activities: 

 All items used by pets and animals shall be kept out of the reach of infants. 

 Before walking on surfaces that infants use specifically for play, adults and children shall 
remove, replace, or cover with clean foot coverings any shoes/socks they have worn outside of 
that play area. 

 Each caregiver shall wash his/her hands with soap and water before each feeding and after each 
diaper change. 

 Only dispenser soap, such as liquid or powder in an appropriate dispenser shall be used. 

 Only disposable paper towels in an appropriate holder or dispenser shall be used for hand 
drying. 

 Washing, cleaning and sanitizing requirements for areas used by staff with infants or for areas 
that infants have access to, are as follows: 

 Floors, except those carpeted, shall be vacuumed or swept and mopped with a disinfecting 
solution at least daily, or more often if necessary. 

 Carpeted floors and large throw rugs that cannot be washed shall be vacuumed at least daily 
and cleaned at least every six months, or more often if necessary. 

 Small rugs that can be washed shall be shaken or vacuumed at least daily and washed at least 
weekly, or more often if necessary. 

 Walls and portable partitions shall be washed with a disinfecting solution at least weekly, or 
more often if necessary. 

 The diaper-changing area, where residue is splashed from soiled diapers and items and surfaces 
are touched by staff during the diaper-changing process, shall be washed and disinfected after 
each diaper change. Such areas, items and surfaces shall include but not be limited to: 

 Walls and floors surrounding the immediate diaper-changing area. 

 Dispensers for lotion, soap and paper towels. 

 Countertops, sinks, drawers and cabinets. 

 Sinks used to wash infants, or to rinse soiled clothing or diapers shall be disinfected after each 
use. 
 

Objects used by infants that have been placed in the child’s mouth or that are otherwise contaminated 
by body secretion or excretion are either to be (a) washed by hand using water and detergent, then 
rinsed, sanitized, and air dried, or (b) washed in a mechanical dishwasher before use by another child. A 
container will be placed in the infant room to collect these objects which shall be washed and 
disinfected at least daily, or more often if necessary. Such objects shall include, but not be limited to, 
toys and blankets. 

Deleted: diapers,

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
111 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
Linens laundered by the center shall be washed and sanitized at least daily, or more often if necessary. 
Such linens shall include, but not be limited to, bedding, towels and washcloths used on or by infants. 
 
A disinfecting solution, which shall be used after surfaces and objects have been cleaned with a 
detergent or other cleaner, shall be freshly prepared each day using 1/4 cup of bleach per gallon of 
water. Commercial disinfecting solutions, including one-step cleaning/disinfecting solutions, may be 
used in accordance with label directions. 
 
All disinfectants, cleaning solutions and other hazardous materials shall be placed in a locked storage 
area. 
 
W. Kitchen Sanitation 
Effective cleaning and storage of equipment and utensils used for food preparation must be enforced. 
Cleaning/sanitizing may be done by spraying, by immersion dish washing machine, or by any other type 
of machine or device (if demonstrated thoroughly to cleanse/sanitize equipment and utensils).  The 
dishwashing machine must reach a temperature of 165 degrees F (74 degrees C) during washing and 180 
degrees F during rinsing. 
 
All dishes and utensils used for food preparation, eating and drinking must be cleaned and sanitized 
after each use. 
 
Pesticides and other similar toxic materials must not be stored in food storerooms, kitchen areas, food 
preparation areas, or areas where kitchen equipment or utensils are stored. 
Soaps, detergents, cleaning compounds or similar substances must be stored in areas separate from 
food supplies. 
 
X. Food Safety and Sanitation 
1. Personal Hygiene, Food Service Staff and Classroom Staff 
No person is allowed to work in a food service facility or a food serving area if he/she: 

 Is infected with a communicable disease that can be transmitted by food 

 Is a carrier of organisms that can cause disease 

 Has a boil, infected wound, or acute respiratory infection. 
 

Employees must thoroughly wash their hands and exposed portions of their arms with soap and warm 
water: 

 Before starting work 

 Before serving food 

 During work 

 After diapering 

 After smoking 

 After eating 

 After drinking 

 After using the toilet 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
112 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 As often as otherwise necessary 
 
Employees must maintain a high degree of personal cleanliness, and conform to good hygienic practices. 
 
Minor cuts or scrapes should be thoroughly cleaned, and covered with a clean bandage.  If the affected 
area is on a hand, food service gloves should be worn until the area has healed. 
 
Employees must not use tobacco in any form while engaged in food preparation or service, nor while in 
areas used for equipment washing, utensil washing, or food preparation.  Employees may use tobacco 
only in designated areas. 
 
Potentially hazardous food must be kept at an internal temperature below 40 degrees F or above 140 
degrees F. For hot foods, the food is to be reheated to 165 degrees F. 
 
Gloves are to be used when hand comes into contact with food such as when cutting food. Gloves do 
not need to be used when serving food with a utensil. 
 
Each serving bowl on the table must have a separate spoon or other utensil. 
 
Leftovers may not be sent home with children, staff, or adults - due to the hazards of bacterial growth. 
 
Employees may not have snacks (coffee, soda, chips, candy, or other snack foods) in front of children. 
 
To help maintain kitchen sanitation, all non-kitchen staff shall not enter the kitchen except as required 
for work duties.  
 
2. Policies for Food Sanitation / Safety 
i. Mealtime Sanitation Procedures 
Tables should be cleaned with the registered disinfectant/cleaner approved for food prep surfaces 
before and after meal times. Teachers and children must wash hands before setting table or sitting 
down at table.  The assigned staff must take temperatures of foods before serving, and food must be 

warmed up to 165F if below 140F. Serving temperature and time temperature was taken must be 
recorded on transport sheet. 
 
ii. Food Utensils, Dishes and Food Containers 
Each center must return serving bowls and other tableware items daily to the Child Nutrition Central 
Kitchen for proper sanitation.  All dishes, utensils, and food containers are the property of Contra Costa 
County Community Services Bureau, and should not be taken off the premises.  All containers are to be 
returned to the Kitchen daily.  All food and utensils are to be kept in their proper storage cabinet. Non-
perishable food and food-related products are to be stored at least six inches off the ground at all times. 
 
iii. Refrigerators 
Each classroom has a refrigerator except in large centers with a separate kitchen. The thermometers 
inside the freezer and refrigerator must be checked daily.  It is the Site Supervisor’s responsibility to: 

Deleted:  

Deleted: pieces 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
113 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Order a new thermometer when needed. 

 Ensure that perishable food items are cleared from the refrigerator. 

 Ensure that the refrigerator is cleaned and sanitized.  

 Make certain that no personal food is stored in refrigerators that hold CACFP food. 
 
iv. Food storage 
Canned fruit, fresh fruit and bread should be stored in the refrigerator for later use.  Leftover milk and 
cold foods are to be rotated so they do not become outdated.  Once milk is poured into small 
containers, it should not be poured back into the milk carton. All foods will be marked with their date of 
delivery. Opened food that must be stored is to be labeled with name and date of opening.  All 
containers are to be labeled with name of food and date when packed. 
 
v. Disposal of Leftover Food 
Dangerous health problems can be caused by leftover foods being held at improper temperature.  
Teaching staff is required to dispose of all un-served cooked foods.  At the end of each meal they are 
thrown into the garbage can.  

 Food may not be kept after it has been put on the table for children. 

 Leftover un-served food can never be taken home. 

 Leftover fresh fruits, vegetables, cereals, breads and milk should be stored properly and used for 
snacks or breakfast.  Dispose of unsafe perishables daily. 

 The central kitchen will create a sample lunch plate and hold it for seven days. This food would 
be used for analysis in case of a food borne illness outbreak.  

 
Y. Procedures for Using Transport Units 
Insulated food cambros are insulated to keep hot food hot or cold food cold.  Cambros are to be 
sanitized daily. 

 Cambros are not to be stacked more than four high. 

 Always open containers just before serving food. 

 All food containers are to be rinsed before being returned to central kitchen. 

 Food may not sit at room temperature in an open insulated food container. 

 Each classroom has a food safety corner with a poster showing thermometer guidelines for food 
safety, a sanitizer formula, recalibration instructions, and glove labels with holders. 

 
Z. Food for Infants 
1. General Description 
Infants from birth through 11 months participating in the program will be offered an infant meal.  Under 
the infant meal pattern, infant formula is a required component and, as such, must always be offered 
unless the infant’s mother provides breast milk.  CSB encourages breast-feeding.  Infants and mothers 
benefit when infants are breastfed.  Facilities are available for mothers to comfortably and discreetly 
breastfeed infants. Alternatively, staff can feed infants expressed breast milk left by their mothers. 
 
The decision regarding which infant formula to feed a baby is one for the baby’s doctor and parents to 
make together.  CSB provides one house formula Enfamil with Lipil. If a parent declines the formula 
which the program provides, the parent must document this request using the form “Parent’s Form for 

Deleted: inadequate

Deleted: s

Deleted: Do not allow 

Deleted: f

Deleted: to 

Deleted: Food for 

Deleted: i



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
114 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Declining a Provider’s Formula” (See Form CSB428) and a list of iron-fortified formulas that do not 
require a medical statement in the Child and Adult Care Food Program should also be provided to 
parents.  Parent will furnish a formula which meets the CACFP requirements for iron fortification and 
nutritional content, unless the doctor has prescribed a special formula.  If the doctor-prescribed formula 
does not meet the CACFP requirements, parent and MD will need to complete a medical statement in 
addition to the declination form (See Form CSB4). 
 
Infants are to be held while being fed, and never laid down to sleep with a bottle. 
 
A baby’s developmental readiness determines which foods should be provided, what texture the foods 
should be, and which feeding styles to use.  Please refer to your training manual for complete 
guidelines. 
 
2. Feeding Infants 
The introduction of solid foods is usually started between four and seven months of age, depending 
upon each child’s nutritional and developmental needs.  The decision to introduce solid foods should 
always be made in consultation with the parents.  New foods are introduced one at a time, at least one 
week apart to make it easier to identify food allergies or intolerances.  Children will be offered single-
ingredient commercial baby food when appropriate. 
 
As children grow older, they may prefer to hold their own bottles, and may do so while in an adult’s 
arms or lap. 
 
Dental problems, such as tooth decay, may result from children using bottles as pacifiers.  For this 
reason, children are not allowed to carry bottles. 
 
Cereal or any other solid food may not be served from a bottle.  A spoon is to be used instead.  Baby 
food may not be served from jars. Before feeding, remove the approximate amount of food that infant 
might consume from the jar and place into small dish.  Do not put the baby food in a bottle. Babies fed 
such food in a bottle can choke and may not learn to eat foods properly. 
 
If parents have chosen to decline provider’s offered food and will furnish one or more food items that 
meet Child Nutrition Program (CNP) nutritional content requirements, the parent must document this 
using the Parent’s Form for Declining a Provider’s Food, (See Form CSB427) unless their doctor has 
prescribed special food.  Any food items provided by the parent must be in compliance with local health 
codes.  If the doctor’s prescribed food item(s) does not meet the CNP requirements, the doctor will need 
to complete the back of the Parent’s Form for Declining a Provider’s Food, return the original to the 
Nutrition Office, and retain a copy in the child’s file.  
 
3. Food to Avoid with Infants 
Babies are at risk of choking on food due to their poor chewing and swallowing abilities.  For a complete 
list of foods to avoid for infants and toddlers, please refer to the training manual, “FEEDING INFANTS:  A 
Guide for Use in Child Nutrition Programs.” 
 

Deleted: 07

Deleted: fed,

Deleted: Do not put 

Deleted: c

Deleted: in a bottle

Deleted: Use a

Deleted: for feeding

Deleted: Do not feed the b

Deleted:  the

Deleted: are forced to eat the food, 

Deleted: food service,

Deleted: ¶
¶
¶

Deleted: your 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
115 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

AA. Food for Toddlers 
Toddlers will be served food from the regular Child Nutrition Toddler menu.  Foods should be served 
family style and prepared so they are easy to eat (small pieces, or thin slices, no bones). 
 
BB. Potlucks 
Potlucks have historically been an integral part of CSB.  They have provided parents with an opportunity 
to share part of their family traditions, culture, personal hobbies, and strengths with other parents and 
staff in an economic and enriching manner.  As the program has grown, concerns have been raised in 
relation to sanitation and safety.  There is no regulation from either the state or county barring potlucks.   
 
This is partly due to the common practice in our community of celebrations being built around a shared 
food experience, often with participants bringing their choice of food (at school, church, temple, family, 
community organization, etc).  The food may be either homemade or purchased. 
 
A potluck can be held during classroom events, as long as it does not interfere with children being 
served the food provided by Child Nutrition Services. Parents who choose to contribute food should be 
encouraged to bring foods that are economical, healthy and prepared in sanitary conditions.  Cultural 
foods are encouraged.  Parents may prepare a plate of potluck food for their own children only, but the 
child may not be served the food in lieu of the food provided by the program. 
 
CC. Food for Children, Parent, Staff Meetings and Events 
In March 1993, in an effort to reduce chronic disease, the Board of Supervisors adopted the Contra 
Costa County Food Policy developed by the Contra Costa County Food and Nutrition Policy Consortium, 
of which CSB is a member.  The policy states that food provided at staff meetings, parties and other 
types of County social events should include choices that meet U.S. Dietary Guidelines.  All foods served 
to people or provided through food assistance programs should reflect current standards of good 
nutrition.  
 
In 2012, the Board of Supervisors and the Policy Council approved a Healthy Food & Beverage Policy. 
This policy states that Community Services Bureau recognizes frequent consumption of non-nutritious 
foods and beverages as a significant risk to the health of the children being served, and is taking a 
preventive approach. The role of CSB in serving families includes consistently modeling the behavior we 
wish to encourage. Therefore, at all CSB meetings, events, activities, or celebrations which include 
children: 

 Sugar (or corn syrup) sweetened beverages and 100% fruit juice will not be served 

 Foods containing large amounts of sugar and/or solid fats (candy, donuts, cakes, cookies, chips, 
etc.) will not be served 

Instead, CSB will provide or require healthy alternatives such as: 

 Unsweetened carbonated water (flavored or unflavored) 

 Water, perhaps flavored with a slice of lemon or other fresh fruit (and preferably served in non-
plastic containers) 

 Non-fat or 1% milk (plain) 

 Coffee and/or tea (for adults) 

 Fresh fruit 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
116 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Whole-grain snacks (crackers, etc.) 

 Raw vegetables and dipping sauce 
 
At all facilities directly operated by CSB, the CSB Healthy Food and Beverage policy will be implemented 
for any meal or special event that includes children. 
 
DD. Nutrition Services 
The Nutrition Office works with staff, professionals and parents to meet the nutritional needs of children 
with disabilities, and to help prevent disabilities that have a nutrition-related basis. 
 
The Comprehensive Services Health, Disabilities and Mental Health Managers work with the Nutritionist 
to ensure that provisions to meet special needs are incorporated into the nutrition program. 
 
Appropriate professionals are consulted on ways to assist Head Start staff and parents with regard to 
children having severe disabilities and/or problems with eating. 
 
The Nutritionist will plan and implements activities to help children with disabilities participate at 
mealtime, and to help prevent nutrition-related disabilities.    
 
EE. Food Defense 
Security measures in the central kitchen area will be followed by limiting access to the food production 
area and storage area to authorized personnel only.  
When not in use: 

 Freezers will be kept locked at all times. 

 Walk in refrigerators will be locked at all times. 

 Storage room will be kept locked at all times.  

 Food shipments will be accepted only if products are secured and sealed. 

 Access to ice making equipment is controlled. 

 Incoming food shipments are examined for potential tampering. 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: Nutrition Manager 

Deleted: Nutrition Manager

Deleted: •

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Deleted: •

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Deleted: •

Deleted:  •

Deleted: •

Deleted: • 

Deleted: tempering

Formatted: Justified



CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT COMMUNITY 
SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

SECTION 3- FAMILY AND COMMUNITY 
PARTNERSHIPS 

 

 

2013-2014 

 
 
 

 
  

Policy Council Approved:                                                                                                         
Board of Supervisors Approved: 

Formatted Table

Deleted: 2012-2013

Deleted: Policy Council Approved: 11-14-12                                                                                                        
Board of Supervisors Approved:

Formatted: Highlight



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

2 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
  

PART I FAMILY PARTNERSHIP BUILDING  

A Purpose and Methodology 3 

B Family Partnership Agreement 3 

C Accessing Community Services and Resources 8 

D Supporting Families in Crisis- (Emergency and Crisis Assistance) 8 

E Accessing Mental Health Services: Prevention Identification, Intervention, 
Program for Families 

9 

F Family Resources 9 

G Services to Pregnant Women Enrolled in the Program 10 

   

PART II PARENT ENGAGEMENT  

A General Description 11 

B Engagement in the Decision-Making Process 11 

C Engagement in the Classroom as Paid Employees, Volunteers or Observers 13 

D The Role of Staff in Parent Engagement 15 

E Development of Activities for all parents 16 

F Parent Education / Home Activities 16 

G Parent Notification of Community Services Bureau Changes 16 

H Family Literacy 17 

I Parent and Family Engagement in Health, Nutrition, and Mental Health 
Education 

17 

J Parent Engagement in Community Action 18 

K Parent and Family Engagement in Transition Activities 18 

L Parent and Family Engagement in Home Visits 19 

M Parent Engagement in Recruiting and Interviewing Head Start and Early Head 
Start Employees 

19 

N Parent’s Appeal Rights 19 

   

PART III COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS  

A Descriptions 21 

B Child Care Partnerships 21 

C Partnerships with Agencies, Entities and Individuals 21 

Deleted: 20

Deleted: 20

Deleted: 20



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

3 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
I. Family Partnership Building 
A. Purpose and Methodology 
The family partnership building process begins at the first point of contact that the families have with 
CSB staff. This may occur through a phone call to the enrollment line, an intake appointment, or a walk-
in at one of our centers. Staff members support families as co-partners by identifying the parents’ 
strengths and providing resources to meet the family’s needs.  CSB support the program parents and 
acknowledges them as being their child’s advocate and primary teacher.  CSB provides opportunities for 
interactions to occur among parents and staff throughout the year to address their child’s education and 
development. Staff meets with families to identify what their strengths and needs are and how our 
program can best support their families’ situation.  Through the availability of bilingual staff and 
Language Line Services for translation support, staff communicates with families in their primary 
language.  They are informed upon enrollment that comprehensive services staff along with their child’s 
teacher are available to provide support that is appropriate for their level of need and interest.  
 
Family partnership building is further developed upon enrollment through the Family Partnership 
Agreement Process which includes: the Parent Volunteer Survey, Parent Interest Survey, the Family 
Partnership Agreement Assessments and the Family Goal Setting Process. 
 
B. Family Partnership Agreement 
1. Family Assessment 
Comprehensive Services staff undertakes collaborative partnerships with individual families to develop a 
Family Partnership Agreement based on the family’s readiness/willingness to participate.  The process 
includes: 
 
i. Completion of an initial Family Partnership Assessment of the family’s strengths and needs 
identification takes place. 
 
Identification of the family goals and steps to achieve the goal are identified, in order to support and 
strengthen the Family Assessment.  
 
ii. If a family has a pre-existing plans/goal with another community agency, our comprehensive services 
staff or designated staff will work collaboratively with the family to support that pre-existing goal or 
identify a new one if needed.  Our goal is to assist parents in achieving their goals and support them by 
providing resources that best meet their needs and circumstance.  
 
Depending on the nature of the goal, CSB staff will work in conjunction with the other agency to identify 
and reduce barriers to achieving the set goal.  Regular communication will be established through case 
management meetings if necessary to monitor progress.  Staff will support the family in navigating 
through systems identified by the other agency to make sure that the family has proper supports in 
place. 
 
The Family Partnership Agreement - Family Assessment is completed twice each program year. The first 
Family Partnership Agreement is completed within 90 days of enrollment (individually per family) and 
the second one (follow-up) is due by April 30th.Comprehensive Services staff and parents will work 

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: parents

Formatted: Superscript



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

4 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

together and discuss various dimensions of the family’s life (Income and Budget, Shelter, and other 
aspects), identify and respond to any immediate crisis. The key points of this conversation are 
objectively documented in CLOUDS.  Using the Family Partnership Indicators, Comprehensive Services 
staff will assign one of five indicators to the dimension (thriving, safe, stable, vulnerable, or in-crisis). 
 
2. Goal Setting 
Using the information gathered in the Family Partnership Assessment, Comprehensive Services staff 
assists parents in identifying and setting a goal in an area in which the indicator was less than stable.  
Using the family’s own words in documenting goals and activities the goal is recorded in CLOUDS, Family 
Partnership Assessment Goal section, clearly stating the following: 

 Areas of Strength 

 Goal Category 

 Goal Description 

 Action Steps for what is needed to achieve goal(s) (The parent’s responsibility for the action(s)) 

 Support Needed (Staff commitment to the action(s)) 

 When the goal will be completed (within the program year) 

 Plan B (if something unexpected happens) 
 
3. Family Partnership Agreement Process:  
i. Within 90 days of Enrollment 
Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for the following: 

 Complete 1st FPA with parents and enter all information accurately on CLOUDS. Staff document 
key words based on the indicators (strengths or concerns) for each area to validate reason for 
the selected indicator.  

 Support and encourage parents to develop at least one goal that supports an area in which their 
indicator resulted below the “stable” rating. (All areas marked “in-crises” are given immediate 
support and follow-up. Comprehensive Services Manager for Parent, Family and Community 
Engagement is to be notified.  All actions, resources, referrals and results of follow-up are 
documented in the assessment)  

 Provide resources/referrals within two weeks.   

 Schedule a follow-up appointment within one month with the parent/s appropriate to the 
resource given by contacting the family to determine if resources or referrals were appropriate 
and adequate for the family. (contact can be over the phone or in person)  

 Document contact on Family Referrals and Services-Notifications in CLOUDS (enter dates and CS 
staff initials) indicating if the resource(s) met the family’s needs and if the family was satisfied 
with the referral.  

 If a family has no areas that indicate below “stable”, assist the family to develop a goal that 
supports their child’s educational goal or development. (Staff can refer families to their parent-
teacher conference goals if needed)   

 
ii. By April 30th 

 Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for the following: 

 Complete the second FPA, follow-up of the initial FPA with parents - Staff communicates with 
families to discuss and document any changes to the previous family assessment on CLOUDS 

Deleted: . 

Deleted: ). 

Deleted: . 

Deleted: ).

Deleted: .

Deleted: ). 

Deleted: May 31st:

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.25", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

5 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Follow-up on goal progress, Staff document on CLOUDS, the status of goal completion, if the 
goal changed, or if there were any barriers to completing the goal. 

 Provide resources/referrals immediately for emergency, in- crisis or within two weeks for 
vulnerable needs. 

 Schedule one month follow-up contact with families to determine if resources or referrals were 
appropriate and adequate for the family (contact can be over the phone or in person) and 
document as discussed above. 

 Follow same procedures for Referrals and Services as the First Family Partnership Assessment if 
any indicator falls below “stable.”    

 
iii. On an Ongoing Basis 
Site Supervisors are responsible for the following: 

 Review FPA’s and goals of parents at the site 

 Review CLOUDS custom report for Family Performance and Outcome by Measure by selecting 
your site. 

 Review the family information by clicking on the number above the percentage for a particular 
ranking such as: “in-crisis”, etc.  This will populate the family id, if needed click on the family ID 
and it brings up the Family data sheet with more information. 

 Ensure families entered as “in-crisis” and “vulnerable” have received support. (either by site or 
Comprehensive Services staff)   

 Should the family situation change and site staff are aware, notify comprehensive services staff 
to update Family Partnership  Assessment if needed, and provide support or resources as 
needed to teaching staff to give to the parent or given to the parent directly.  

 Provide Comprehensive Services staff with updates to Referrals and Services as parents inform 
so that CLOUDS is maintained accurate and support is provided as needed. 

 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for the following: 

 Use CLOUDS to track Family Referrals.  

 Ensure that adequate follow-up and resources were provided in a timely manner. 

 Provide support and assistance to CS Clerk in obtaining resources if requested. 

 Provide support and assistance to family when needed. 

 Hold case management meetings for referrals that require multiple steps and planning. 

 Hold case management meetings for families with two (2) or more areas indicated to be below 
“stable” or any one (1) area indicated to be “in-crisis”. 

 Work with Comprehensive Services Clerks to ensure FPA tasks are completed within the 
timelines assigned.   

 For Returning Children (unless family assessment updates are made sooner due to reported 
changes, follow the same steps above) 

 
Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for the following: 

 Complete the returning family’s Family Partnership Agreement Assessment within 90 days 
(September 30th) of the second school year. 

 Follow the same steps for completing the assessment and protocol for documentation, follow-
up by April 30th as you would for newly enrolled families.  

Deleted:  - 

Deleted: within one week 

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: support 

Deleted: – Do this by looking in CLOUDS 
Family Data Sheet under Referrals and 
Services.

Deleted: family 

Deleted: partnership  

Deleted: assessment 

Deleted: ,

Deleted: and referral 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

6 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Follow the same steps for completing the returning family’s Family Partnership Agreement 
Assessment and follow-up by May 31st as newly enrolled families. 

 Follow the same steps for documenting Family Goal progress.  Provide resource/referrals 
immediately for emergency, in-crisis or within two weeks for vulnerable needs.   

 If the family has not completed their goal from the previous year and would like to continue 
working towards the same goal, staff is to document in the existing CLOUDS goal and change the 
“by when” date. 

 
 
4. Desired Outcomes of Family Partnership Process 

 Families achieve an enhanced quality of life by engaging in a family partnership assessment 
process. Parents are provided community resources such as adult education classes, financial 
literacy assistance programs, employment counseling, school lunch programs, health resources, 
and other community services.  Such efforts are coordinated with the Comprehensive Services 
staff via the Family Partnership Agreement process and through daily interaction with site or 
comprehensive services staff at the parent’s discretion and need.  By assisting families to 
identify their own supports and strengths, development of skills, tools, and resources, families 
are able to use this process in developing goals for their families after they leave the program. 

 

 Families feel empowered and have gained life skills to be self sufficient by learning about and 
accessing community resources to support their family. 

 

 Families’ attainment of goals will be identified 
 

 Families attain and accomplish pre-existing goals if identified  
 
The Comprehensive Services staff provides guidance, support, and resources to the family, moving them 
toward successful completion of the family goal(s) and aspirations.  Documentation of support can be 
found in CLOUDS, Family Referrals and Services, and the Family Case History.  
 
When the family does not meet the timeline, the Comprehensive Services staff will provide additional 
support and guidance, by reviewing/discussing all obstacles which prevented the family from meeting 
the time line.  Families have a choice to continue moving toward meeting their goal(s) or establishing a 
new goal.  If a family chooses to set a new goal, Comprehensive Services staff will assist the family in 
identifying an area to set a goal, and follow the goal setting procedures as listed under Goal Setting.  
Comprehensive Services staff will provide support and resources for the family to work towards 
achieving the newly identified goal. 
 
If after several attempts, a family refuses to participate in the assessment or goal development, staff 
document their attempts at explaining benefits of the process, and note that parent refused. 
 
5. Parent Volunteer Survey 
During the placement appointment, Comprehensive Services staff asks parents to complete a Volunteer 
Survey (See Form CSB300).  This survey includes ways for parents to be engaged at the site level such as: 
helping in the classroom, preparing materials, sharing talents.  It also offers opportunities to volunteer 

Deleted: within one week 

Deleted: Assessment 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

7 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

on a larger scale such as: Policy Council, Nutrition Advisory Committee, Health Services Advisory 
Committee, and Interview Panels. 
 
The following is the protocol for implementation and completion of the Volunteer Surveys:  
i. Upon Enrollment 

 Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Completing Volunteer Survey with Parent 

 Completing Parent Interest Survey with Parent 

 Input names of parents indicating interest in an Advisory Committee (Policy Council, Health 
Services, Interview Panel, Nutrition etc) into the Volunteers for Advisory Committees folder on 
the Shared drive.  

ii. By September 30th 

 Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Compiling a list of site volunteers from Volunteer Survey results and 

 Utilizing the list of volunteers when needed for parent meetings. 

 Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for: 

 Working with Comprehensive Services Clerks to ensure Parent Interest Survey distribution and 
Volunteer Survey tasks are completed within the timeline.  

iii. Ongoing  

 Should parents indicate interest in volunteering at a later date, they can inform site staff or CS 
staff for volunteer opportunities.  (Volunteer Interest Survey is used upon enrollment as a 
means to discuss various engagement opportunities; however, families can participate in a 
volunteer activity at any point of enrollment). 

 
6. Parent Interest Survey 
The Parent Interest Survey is completed by Parents upon enrollment.  Results of this survey allow staff 
to identify the collective results the parents’ interests for training at the parent committee meetings, or 
resources provided on a site level interest.  The list of the top ten results are kept in the Parent Meeting 
& Policy Council binder and can also be shared via written materials, newsletter articles, speakers, and 
other forms of media.  The categories for topics include: 

 Health / safety 

 Nutrition 

 Mental health 

 Child development 

 Parenting 

 Literacy / adult education 

 Employment / job training 

 Community resources 

 The following is the protocol for implementation, timeline, distribution, and follow up for the 
Parent Interest Survey (See Form CSB-300).  

 Upon enrollment 

 Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for the following: 

 Completing the surveys with Parent 

 Tallying the completed surveys 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

8 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Providing site with top ten interests on Site Level Parent Training Form (See Form CSB-304).  

 By October / November of each year 

 Site Supervisors are responsible for the following: 

 Present the top ten interest results at next parent meeting as scheduled. 

 Work with parents to develop calendar/schedule for topic presentations. 

 Request support from Comprehensive Services as needed in obtaining or identifying speakers 

 Based on results of the Survey and Performance Standard requirements, parent education 
workshops are planned by Site Supervisors/Head Teachers, and Comprehensive Services team 
members throughout the school year.   

 
C. Accessing Community Services and Resources 
CSB collaborates and works in close partnership with several child and family services community 
agencies in a wide number of service areas such as: mental health, health, nutrition support, education 
programs, disabilities support services agencies, social services, local Food Banks, financial literacy 
education, asset development programs, and domestic violence support programs. Connecting families 
to community agencies, including the Local Education Agencies, helps families to: 

 Support and coordinate the successful transitions for enrolled children and families with other 
agencies.  

 Support communication and coordination of services between Head Start/Early Head Start staff, 
school principals, and staff from other family services agencies involved with the family through 
transitions, including joint transition meetings.  

 Support parent’s role as the primary teacher/advocate for their child’s education and 
throughout life.   

 Support families’ interests and needs to encourage parent family and community engagement in 
the in the children’s learning. 

 
CSB provides many opportunities for staff interaction with families throughout the year.  Encouraging 
parents to be actively engaged in their child’s life is the foundation for parents to continue as advocates 
for their children beyond Head Start.  Please refer to each service area for more on how staff can 
support parent opportunities for gaining access to community resources. Comprehensive Services and 
site staff also generate referrals as a response to a parent’s request.    
 
D. Supporting Families in Crisis-(Emergency and Crisis assistance) 
When a family experiences a crisis, the stress disrupts the family's usual pattern of functioning and 
family well-being.  Families sometimes find that their usual ways of coping or problem solving do not 
work; as a result, they feel vulnerable, anxious, and overwhelmed.  Sensitivity and care is taken to assess 
the nature and scope of the crisis in order to work with the family to discuss the level of support that is 
adequate yet comfortable for the family.   

 Comprehensive services and site staff will conduct a comprehensive review of the immediate 
crisis that the family has.   

 Comprehensive Services staff will contact the Mental Health unit for support. Report the 
situation and advise of potential need for crisis intervention or consultation.    

 Consult the Service Area Manager(s) most connected to the crisis as needed for case review 
assessment and ensure comprehensive services support has been considered, and track crisis 

Deleted: and 

Deleted:    ¶

Deleted: . 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

9 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

until stabilized.  The Parent, Family and Community Engagement Manager should also be 
notified regardless of the crisis area.  

 Review the documentation of events in CLOUDS. 
 
The role of Head Start staff is to recognize and assess the crisis situation, listen and provide assurance, 
and help the family use specialized resources in the broader community.  Whether staff provide the 
needed assistance or intervention, or refer families to community resources, they are key sources of 
support to the family.  
 
All situations defined as a family crisis by staff or parent will be assessed on a case by case basis. The 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager supporting the family’s site will monitor the progress of 
events until the situation is stable. Document specialized services if applicable in CLOUDS. 
 
E. Accessing Mental Health Services: Prevention Identification, Intervention, Program for Families 
CSB supports the social-emotional health and well being of both the child and the family. Opportunities 
for parents are provided to discuss concerns regarding their child or family, and assess 
support/treatment options with CSB mental health unit clinicians. Goals of the mental health prevention 
program are to: 

 Improve self-concept 

 Build positive relationships 

 Develop coping skills for problem-solving 

 Manage stress 
 

Case management meetings are offered to families as needed to identify and address child or family 
issues, so that Comprehensive Services staff can provide information or additional resources to the 
family. Staff can assist families in obtaining appropriate referrals to address needs or concerns.  
 
Child Abuse Prevention training for parents is scheduled annually at the site level during parent 
meetings. Additional resources are available to site and parents upon request. Please refer to the Family 
Handbook for more information. 
 
F. Community Resources 
1. Resource Guides 
Several community resource guides are used by Comprehensive Services staff, including: “Surviving 
Parenthood,” published by the Child Abuse Prevention Council (925-798-0546) and “Regional Guides” 
published by Contra Costa Crisis Center (925-939-1916 or 211.org).  The “Street Sheet,” published by 
Shelter, Inc. (925-335-0698) is widely used and provides an “at-a-glance” perspective of what resources 
are available to assist with basic needs. The “Street Sheet” is easy to reproduce, is available in English 
and Spanish, and is published for East, Central, and West Contra Costa County.  
 
Other community resources lists that are frequently distributed to CSB staff and parents include: one 
stop Career Center monthly calendars, First 5 Center monthly calendars, Local Library calendars, Latina 
Center calendars, and Family Law workshops. 
 
2. Internet Database 

Deleted: Parent,Family

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

10 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

For individualized resources customized to fit particular needs, Comprehensive Services staff and other 
staff can access 211 Online Database (formerly known as CORD Contra Costa Online Resource Database) 
via the Internet at www.crisis-center.org   This up-to-date system allows staff to search for resources by 
name, need, and geographical area. It has the capability of translating the resource information into 12 
different languages and has a map feature allowing the user to create a map to and from the resource 
location. Parents are encouraged to use this resource from CSB computers, or if available, from their 
personal computer.  
 
3. Other Methods of Access 
Parents are also given access to information about community services by posted information on parent 
bulletin boards at sites, in the classrooms, from resource booklets, pamphlets, CSB Family newsletters, 
and flyers distributed to parents at orientation and/or other parent meetings/trainings.   
 
4. Site Based Resource and Referrals 
Site Supervisors, site staff, and comprehensive services staff assigned to each site, should always be the 
first contact if a family has a crisis. 
 
Each Site Supervisor is provided with Street Sheets and Resource Guides for the appropriate region of 
the county to assist families in accessing frequently used or needed resources.  Copies of these Resource 
Guides should be posted on the Site Parent Board and also be distributed to each family so that it is 
easily accessible should they need it at a later time. Additional copies for photocopying and updated 
versions can be found at http://www.shelterincofccc.org/resources.html and http://www.crisis-
center.org/inforegional.html. Resource boxes are also available at each site with additional resources 
and handouts that relate to topics from the Parent Interest Surveys.  Each site has a wellness center (self 
help) that will assist those families that don’t ask for resources directly.  The wellness centers contain 
information in the areas of: CSB’s health, disabilities, nutrition, mental health, and parent, family and 
community engagement. The wellness centers are updated by the comprehensive services team on a 
quarterly basis. 
 
G. Services to Pregnant Women Enrolled in the Program 
The same methods of access to resources and services as noted above are to be used with pregnant 
women enrolled in the program.  In particular, Family Partnership Agreements will address: 

 Early and continuing risk assessments, which include assessment for nutritional status as well as 
nutrition counseling and food assistance, if necessary. 

 Health promotion and treatment, including medical and dental exams, on a schedule deemed 
appropriate by attending health care providers as early in the pregnancy as possible. 

 Mental health interventions and follow-up, including substance abuse prevention and treatment 
services as needed. 

 Pre-natal education on fetal development, labor and delivery, and postpartum recovery 

 Benefits of breastfeeding and accommodation of breastfeeding in the program. 

 Health staff will visit the newborn within two weeks after birth to ensure the well being of both 
mother and child.   

  

Deleted: ¶
¶

http://www.shelterincofccc.org/resources.htm
http://www.crisis-center.org/inforegional.html
http://www.crisis-center.org/inforegional.html


2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

11 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

II. Parent Engagement 
A. General Description 
Parents are the first and best educators of their child. Parent Engagement in CSB is integrated in the 
classroom and in the administration. It is imperative that the parent becomes engaged with his/her 
child’s educational program, and with all aspects of the program.  Parents are encouraged to participate 
in policy-making groups at the center, agency, and grantee levels.  Participation of parents is voluntary 
and is not required as a condition of the child’s enrollment.  Four ways have been designed to provide 
the parents and/or families of the program to actively participate in the following: 

• Engage in decision-making process 
• Engage as paid employees 
• Engage as volunteers 
• Engage as observers in their child’s classroom.   

 
Families can also expect to be offered the opportunity to be engaged in the program as equal partners 
in their child’s education and learning in these ways and more: 

 Attend an orientation to the program and the classroom to learn: 

 Attend two Parent/Teacher conferences per year to learn: 

 Attend Parent Meetings and parent trainings 

 Participate as a Volunteer, staff, or observer 

 Participate in the Male Involvement Program 

 Participate in Policy Council and other advisory bodies 

 Participate in the Family Partnership Assessments 
 

B. Engagement in the Decision-Making Process 
Participation in the process of making decisions about the nature and operation of the programs (as well 
as decision-making in the Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau Grantee-Operated Program 
and the Policy Council) occurs on two levels, which are:   
 
1. Site Parent Committee Meetings: (comprised exclusively of the parents of children currently enrolled 
at each center or within a program option such as the Home-based option).  This Committee deals with 
issues at the classroom, site or socialization level. 
 
The Site Parent Committee carries out at minimum, the following responsibilities: 

 Advise staff in developing and implementing local program policies, activities, and services 
(*including but not limited to classroom curriculum and activities, and center-wide activities) 

 Plan, conduct, and participate in informal as well as formal programs and activities for parents 
and staff (*including but not limited to parent training, special events, and parent/child 
activities). 

 Within the guidelines established by the governing body, Policy Council, or Policy Committee, 
participate in the recruitment and screening of Early Head Start and Head Start employees. 

 
The following is the staff protocol for implementation of parent meetings as family engagement: 

 September: 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: +Body

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: parent 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

12 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

o Comprehensive Services Clerks, Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers and CS 
Managers 

o Provide support at 1st parent meeting to establish Policy Council representative and 
Parent Committee officers 

 As needed: 
o Assist in providing resources for speakers at Parent Meeting upon request by Site 

Supervisor.  

 Monthly-week before meeting: 
o Site Parent Meeting Chair 
o Announce upcoming meeting 
o Prepare agenda, make copies, prepare minutes 
o Copy minutes from prior month 
o Post agenda on Parent Board 

Secure training/guest speakers (with Site Supervisor assistance). 
 

 Monthly (Site Supervisor with the support of Comprehensive Services staff as needed): 
o Supports Site Parent Committee Meeting Chair with monthly duties assigned 
o Provides support for translation of minutes/agendas if needed. 
o Provides staff report for meeting. 
o Ensures parent meeting binder is current for school year with training tally, agendas, 

minutes, sign-in sheets and copies of handouts given to parents. 
o Attends Parent Meeting or provide staff support to parent officers.  
o Within school year 
o Site Supervisor with the support of Comprehensive Services staff as needed: 
o Ensures that required trainings such as Pedestrian Safety (By September 30th), Child 

Abuse Prevention (April) and Kindergarten Transition are provided at the site.  
 
2. Policy Council 
The Policy Council operates in accordance with Internal Operational Procedures of the County Board of 
Supervisors, the Brown Act, Simplified Roberts Rules of Order, Head Start Revised Performance 
Standards, and Better Governance Ordinance. The Policy Council By Laws, which are reviewed and 
approved annually by the PC, contain detailed information including but not limited to the following: 

 Purpose of the Policy Council and composition information 

 Procedures for handling business 

 Duties and Responsibilities of members 

 Membership and Meeting information  

 Standards of Conduct requirements 

 For more information regarding the roles and responsibilities of the Policy Council, refer to the 
Program Governance section under Administration of the Policies and Procedures. 

 
The following is the staff protocol for implementation of Policy Council as an opportunity for Parent 
Engagement: 
i. Site Supervisors with the support of designated Comprehensive Services staff is responsible for the 
following: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

13 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 October  
o Attend 1st Parent Meeting at each site where there is Head Start or Early Head Start 

enrolled families as assigned.  
o Assist in establishing site officers and Policy Council Rep(s). (Refer to resources and 

handouts available in Parent Involvement section of CSB forms that outline general 
duties of policy council representatives.) 

o Provide newly elected Policy Council Rep(s) with Policy Council Representative Changes 
(See Form CSB-327) form to complete. 

Forward to clerk of the Policy Council.  
ii. Site Policy Council Representative with the support of site      
     staff: 

 Monthly 

 Ensures posting of upcoming Policy Council Agenda on Parent Board 96 hours before the Policy 
Council meeting. 

 File Policy Council Agendas in site Parent Meeting Binder.  

 Prepare monthly Site Report to present to Policy Council.                                 

 Share and distribute flyers and information received at the Policy Council Meeting to parents at 
the monthly site committee meeting.  

 Attend Policy Council meeting and take back information and resources to next Parent meeting 
at their site. 

iii. Site Supervisor: 

 Monthly-week of PC  

 Confirm representation for site. If rep(s) cannot attend, secure an alternate. 

 West Co. sites only: Confirm if Policy Council rep(s) needs transportation and inform Site 
Supervisor or designated staff to transportation for the respective month. 

 Facilitate election of new Policy Council representative if replacement is needed. 

 As needed 

 If the elected Policy Council Representative is unable to fulfill his/her duties, he or she submits a 
letter of resignation to site or comprehensive services staff to be forwarded to the clerk or 
manager of PC. 

 Site conducts election for replacement Policy Council representative at the next Parent 
Committee meeting. 

 Provide new Policy Council representative with Policy Council Representative Changes (See 
Form CSB-327) form to complete and forward to the clerk of the Policy Council. 

iv. Comprehensive Services Manager Assigned to Policy Council 
Monthly-after PC: 

 Provide Policy Council Summary to site for Policy Council representative to report at next parent 
meeting.  

 Post minutes and agenda on EHSD public website in both English and Spanish. 
 
C. Engagement in the Classroom as Paid Employees, Volunteers, or Observers 
1. As Paid Employees 
Contra Costa County CSB defines “paid employees” as currently-enrolled parents who have qualified for 
an employee position. 

Deleted: September 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

14 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Preference will be given to parents of children formerly or currently enrolled in CSB’s programs.  Parents 
who become paid employees of Contra Costa County (other than substitutes who work less than 10 
hours in a month in the program) may not participate on the Policy Council. 
 
2. As Volunteers 
To be considered for volunteering, a currently enrolled parent must take part in an orientation about 
the program and the specific aspects of being a volunteer.  Parents and family members are encouraged 
to participate in the classroom as frequently as their schedule permits.  Please refer to the Volunteer 
Policy under Human Resources of the Policies and Procedures for more information on CSB Volunteer 
Policy.   
 
If parents are unable to volunteer at the center, the following home activities are suggested: 

 Helping children extend their experience in the classroom 

 Helping children to use materials in different ways, providing children with appropriate work 
and strategies to help them solve problems 

 Encouraging children to communicate with one another so that they can help themselves work 
out problems and explore alternatives 

 Organizing, fixing, making toys or sewing/repair of dramatic play clothes 

 Participating in story-telling activities with children 

 Making observations of their child 

 Making flannel board stories 

 Going to the library to check out books for the classroom 

 Translating written materials. 
 
3. As Observers 
Parents of currently enrolled children may observe in their child's classroom or during the Home-based 
socialization time at any point during program operations.   
 
Other persons may observe after obtaining permission from the Site Supervisor/Early Childhood Home 
Educator by indicating the purpose of the visit, and how long they plan to visit. 
 
Parents and other family members have a responsibility to treat staff and other program participants 
with courtesy.  Aggressive or abusive actions towards any staff members, parent, or another child, by 
the child or the child’s parent is unacceptable and may result in a child/family being withdrawn from the 
program.  If this should occur, CSB will work with the parent to provide resources for alternative 
placement. 
 
4.  Male Involvement Program 
CSB supports the engagement of both parents in their children’s educational experience that will 
ultimately help the children to reach their full potential.  Regardless of living arrangements, it is our goal 
to include both parents to the maximum extent possible in the family partnership process and have 
ongoing communication with the child’s teacher as co-partners in their child’s education and 
development.  
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

15 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

CSB makes fathers feel welcome and supported at our sites and offer activities that will be meaningful 
to both father and mother. The goal of male involvement is to provide fathers and other significant 
males with opportunities to improve their lives so that they can improve the lives of their children.  
Activities and support for fathers and engaged men are determined locally through communication with 
site or comprehensive services staff in a variety of ways such as:  ongoing communication as a result of a 
parent-teacher conference, home visit, other means with a teacher or site supervisor, and fatherhood 
support groups (24/7 Dad). 
 
D. The Role of Staff in Family Engagement 
Staff members have a major role in providing opportunities for parents/families to become engaged.  
Site staff and Comprehensive Services staff (line and management) have the responsibility of ensuring 
that parents of children currently enrolled and/or family members have the opportunity to be engaged 
in all aspects of the program.  CSB defines opportunity as the staff’s willingness to assist families in 
removing barriers to their involvement. 
 
1. Orientation: CSB staff ensures that parents have the opportunity to be engaged in the program by 
providing a Parent orientation at time of placement.  Once a child is ready to be placed at a site, 
comprehensive services, or site staff meets with the family to complete the placement process. This 
includes the Parent Interest Survey and a review of the Family Handbook which provides an overview of 
our CSB program, family parent engagement opportunities, and its service models & areas. The Family 
Handbook is updated annually in conjunction with the annual review of CSB Policies and Procedures.  
Contents of the Handbook are limited to appropriate content regarding program information, school 
readiness, staff professional development, parent, family, and community engagement,  health and 
safety requirements, nutrition information, social services and more.  
Please refer to the current Family Handbook for more details. 
 
Site staff and Early Childhood Home Educators work with parents to plan classroom activities, field trips, 
socializations and home-based activities.  Planning with parents at the site level occurs at parent 
meetings and individually through parent conferences twice a year.  Child care and transportation are 
planned and provided when needed to allow for maximum family engagement. 
 
2. Family Engagement Task Force: Ensures agency-wide opportunities are communicated to all parents.  
Membership includes a staff representative from each area of the county, the Parent, Family and 
Community Engagement Manager, and at least one parent. 
 
All centers are required to have a Parent Information Board, located in plain view of all parents visiting 
the facility.  For centers with several buildings, a Parent Information Board should be included at each 
building.  These boards are used to communicate with families and should contain current events, 
parent committee meeting agendas and minutes, Policy Council agendas and minutes, job 
announcements, special events, and parent engagement opportunities such as Male Involvement, Triple 
P (Positive Parenting Program), and community events.  Materials should be posted in English and 
Spanish whenever possible. 
 
CSB monitors both Delegate Agencies and subcontractors, and the directly operated program to 
determine the extent of parent engagement, giving technical assistance to programs as needed. 

Deleted: Parent 

Deleted:  

Deleted: parental involvement

Deleted: Parent 

Deleted: Positve



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

16 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
 
 
E. Development of Activities for All Parents 
Currently enrolled parents at the classroom and site levels will develop activities for families designed to 
meet the families’ needs and interests.  
 
Parent Interest surveys are distributed to enrolled families at enrollment and are tallied by 
Comprehensive Services staff by September 30th to determine interests and needs of parents at each 
site.  Information from these surveys will be analyzed by staff, and will form the basis for development 
of activities and parent trainings that reflect the interests of the site.  Parent Engagement requests 
found consistently across the program will be considered for agency-wide opportunities. 
 
Parents should work in co-partnership with classroom staff, or with their Early Childhood Home 
Educators to design child development activities and special events. Parents and/or family members are 
encouraged to be in contact with classroom personnel on a regular basis. 
 
Staff should assist parents define their own feelings about child rearing, as well as building partnerships 
with parents (to develop confidence and knowledge about their children’s education).  In turn, parents 
contribute their experiences and values to the program in a way that is comfortable for each parent. 
Various opportunities are made available throughout the year, and support is provided by both site and 
comprehensive services staff to assist each family to participate to the extent of their comfort, ability 
and availability.   
 
F. Parent Education / Home Activities 
Teachers provide parents with individualized home activities to reinforce their child's learning 
objectives.  Home activities focus on the use of household items and emphasize a developmentally 
appropriate approach to working with preschoolers. 
 
Home activities can be introduced to parents at site parent meetings, home visits/parent conferences, 
and daily conversations with parents.  Home activity ideas offered to parents should be documented on 
the second Home Visit/Parent Conference form. 
 
Each center has a Parent Lending Library/Wellness Center available to parents on a checkout basis.  
Books and pamphlets about Parenting, Health, Mental Health, Dental Care, Nutrition, Child 
Development, and Home Activities are all part of the library. For more information on Home Activities, 
refer to the Education section of the Policies and Procedures. 
 
G. Parent Notification of Community Services Bureau Changes 
Following is the Grantee’s procedure for notification of parents of staff changes, new hires, substitutes, 
staff departures, and other applicable CSB staff movement: 

 Classroom Substitute – the Site Supervisor, Teacher or Assistant Director will notify all parents in 
writing, of a change in or substitution of Site Supervisor or teaching staff at the site (or of any 
other change affecting their children’s learning environment). 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

17 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Hiring/Assignment/Departure of Staff – in writing and verbally, the Site Supervisor or Head 
Teacher notifies parents that a new employee is on-site. 

 
H. Family Literacy 
Family Literacy will be promoted on a group and individual family basis through information obtained in 
the Family Partnership Agreements, Parent Interest Surveys, parent/teacher home visits, parent 
conferences, center parent meetings, and from other parent contacts.  Family Literacy is approached as 
a collaborative venture, wherein interagency agreements are established to streamline access to the 
services of a variety of community agencies. Examples of Family Literacy opportunities include:  

 Reading Is Fundamental, where parents are trained in storytelling and then scheduled for story 
sessions in their child’s classroom. At the end of each session, each child chooses a book to take 
home and keep as his/her own.  

 Raising a Reader book bags 

 Reading challenges 

 Home activities 
 

Comprehensive Services and site staff work consistently through the year to maintain effective working 
relationships with community agencies providing literacy support services. These may include, but are 
not limited to, United Way, Literacy Alliance, Libraries, ROP, RIF, Project Second Chance, CalWORKs, and 
Diablo Valley Literacy Council, or provide parents with resources for literacy services at their local library 
and more depending on the need and interest of families.   
 
I. Parent and Family Engagement in Health, Nutrition, and Mental Health Education 
The Family Partnership Agreement-Family Partnership Assessment utilizes a Family Development Matrix 
developed by the California Department of Community Services. This matrix specifically addresses 
health, nutrition and mental health education. By utilizing this matrix, staff gains the information they 
need to: 

 Assist parents in establishing and utilizing a medical and dental home 

 Encourage parents to be active participants in their child’s health care 

 Provide parents with the opportunity to learn the principles of preventive medical and dental 
health, health and safety education, and individualized health training specific to the child 
and/or family needs. 

In addition to addressing education via the Family Partnership Agreement, there are two advisory 
groups that allow appropriate time/opportunity for maximum engagement in Health, and Nutrition: 

 Health Services Advisory Committee:  This committee is composed of staff, parents, and experts 
in the community on the topic of health, nutrition and mental health for pregnant women, 
children 0-5 years old, and their families.  Members inform staff of current issues and practices 
so that the program can address them.  Parents also have an opportunity to express their 
concerns regarding health-related issues affecting their family or their community by providing 
input to local community agencies regarding current health-related events, trends, service gaps. 
This group meets twice per year.  Parents indicate interest on the Volunteer Survey that is 
completed at placement (See Form CSB-300)  

 Nutrition Advisory Committee:  This committee is composed of staff and parents.  Members of 
this committee exchange information regarding the food service program.  They may participate 

Deleted: ¶
¶

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

18 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

in cooking project demonstrations, and discuss and explore nutrition issues such as obesity, 
anemia, cancer, breastfeeding, and other topics of interest to the parent participants. This group 
meets twice a year.  Parents indicate interest on the Volunteer Survey. (See Form CSB300)  

 
J. Parent and Family Engagement in Community Advocacy 
Through the encouragement of parent and family engagement at all levels, the program provides 
parents with important information that will empower them and serve as a practical resource to help 
them in their day-to-day lives.  
 
One of the goals of parent and family engagement is to support and engage parents in their child’s 
education and development.  Information exchanged during the first and second parent-teacher 
conferences, through case management meetings, sharing of health screening results, and on-going 
communication with parents, staff are educating parents on the importance of seeking out support for 
the interest and well being of their child.  
 
Through the Family Partnership Agreement Process, staff support and encourage families to develop 
goals, or support existing goals in order to support the growth and well being of their family.  
 
Through the Policy Council, parents are provided an opportunity to extend their advocacy into the 
community as they are involved in the decision making process for their Head Start and Early Head Start 
Programs.  They gain experience in a public meeting setting and will have knowledge of public meeting 
rules should they wish to advocate in their local public meetings.  They are exposed to community 
resources and in turn become vital resources to other parents at their respective centers.  The executive 
committee shares information about grass roots advocacy for the Head Start program and encourages 
parents to write letters to their elected officials supporting their Head Start program.  This advocacy 
extends beyond supporting their own child which is what brought them to Head Start initially.  It is vital 
that parents remain concerned and informed about issues that affect their lives and the lives of their 
children.  Parents are encouraged to form their own opinions regarding issues and are provided with 
information on advocacy skills so that they can have a voice as well as leadership skills. 
 
K. Parent and Family Engagement in Transition Activities 
Helping each parent become an effective advocate is an important transitional strategy.  One goal 
should be to help the parent learn about her/his rights, as stated in: 

 Public Law 100476 - Individuals with Disabilities Act (IDEA) 

 American With Disabilities Act (ADA) 

 Public Law 93– 80 - The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) 

 Public Law 99-372 - Handicapped Children’s Protection, Education Handicapped Act (EHA) 
 

Parents should know their rights to ensure that they and their child(ren) are treated fairly.  CSB staff 
may need to help parents develop some assertiveness skills.  Parents need to know how to approach 
their child's teacher, and tactfully request that an arrangement is made to communicate regularly with 
the teacher.  Modeling and role-playing are effective ways to help parents learn/practice discussions 
with teachers and administrators.  This could be done individually or in small groups with other parents 
(some of whom may have had experience in working with teachers from other agencies).  The focus 

Deleted:  

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

19 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

should be positive assertion of the parent's rights. Staff should concentrate on the benefits that might 
result for the child if the parent continues an active role in the education of the child. 
 
Parents are involved in transitions throughout the program to include: home to school, infant to toddler; 
toddler to preschool, preschool to kindergarten; routine transitions during class time; and transitions 
from the parking lot to the center.  For more information on transitions, refer to the Education and 
Disabilities sections of the Policies and Procedures and the CSB Family Handbook.  
 
L. Parent and Family Engagement in Home Visits 
Head Start enrolled parents are encouraged to participate in two home visits during the program year. 
The first visit may occur at the time of placement and is intended to be an opportunity for the teacher to 
meet the child and family, and ensure that the child’s entry into the program is successful. 
Comprehensive Services staff may accompany the teacher if necessary. This provides an opportunity for 
parents to share information about their child to the teacher.   
 
Individual needs are also addressed at this time as well as completion of some required program 
documentation. The second visit occurs near the end of the program year and is intended to exchange 
information regarding progress the child has made, and to address any areas of concern before the child 
leaves the program or begins another year with the program. 
 
Parents may decline the opportunity for a home visit at any time.  While home visits are not required as 
a condition of the child’s enrollment or participation in these program options, every effort must be 
made by program staff to explain the advantages of home visits.  Home visits are, however, required for 
the Home-based option and in the Early Head Start program where staff must visit the newborn within 
two weeks of birth.  For more information regarding these programs, refer to the Education section of 
the Policies and Procedures. 
 
M. Parent Engagement in Recruiting and Interviewing Head Start and Early Head Start Employees 
 
All parents are invited to participate in the recruiting and interviewing of EHS and HS employees. 
Parents are included as part of the interview panel for consideration of employment. Parents can be 
engaged by showing interest as a Policy Council member or by way of the Volunteer Survey that is done 
upon enrollment.  A list of parents who are interested in being on interview panels is created at the 
beginning of each year.  Training and orientation of the interview process is provided for all parents who 
wish to participate.  For more information on staffing procedures, refer to the Human Resources section 
of the Policies and Procedures. 
 
N. Parent’s Appeal Rights 
Parents have the right to receive a Notice of Action that informs them of their acceptance or denial of 
CSB services. 
 
Parents have the right to appeal adverse actions. 
 
The appeal process provides a written fourteen (14) day notice before the action becomes effective. 
Information regarding the appeal process is located on the back page of a Notice of Action. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

20 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
During the appeals process, CSB must not change the services to the family except for health or safety 
reasons.  For more information, please refer to the Enrollment and Re-Enrollment section of the Policies 
and Procedures. 
  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

21 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

III. Community Partnerships 
A. Description 
CSB takes an active role in community partnership building and advocacy to enhance the delivery of 
services to children and families.  Based on a variety of information sources, such as the Community 
Assessment, Family Partnership Agreements, regulatory requirements and current legislation, program 
staff actively seeks out and enters into partnerships with various community entities and individuals to 
coordinate the access to resources and services to children, families, and staff.  These partnerships, and 
the manner in which they are conducted, are documented by virtue of interagency agreements and 
memoranda of understanding, which clearly delineate the responsibilities of both parties, are updated 
regularly, and are responsive to the needs of children and families.    
 
B. Child Care Partnerships 
CSB engages several Community-Based Organizations on a contractual basis to provide child-care and 
development services to eligible families.  Comprehensive Services Managers are assigned to these 
programs operated by our child care partners to provide support and technical assistance and to ensure 
compliance with federal and state regulations.  Collaborative partnerships with child care agencies 
enhance the educational, health care, and social services to children and families throughout the 
county. 
 
Providers of child care services include:  First Baptist Church, West Contra Costa State Preschool 
Program, We Care Services for Children, Antioch Partnership, YMCA of the East Bay, Martinez Early 
Childhood Center, Concord Childcare, Richmond College Prep, Crossroads High School, Cambridge 
Community Center, Brighter Beginnings, and Cameron School.   
 
C. Partnerships with Agencies, Entities, and Individuals 
CSB partners with over a hundred community-based organizations including but not limited to: 

 Health Services:  Family, Maternal, Child Health Program (FMCH), Child Health and Disability 
Prevention Program (CHDP), Gurnick Academy for Medical Arts, Elks Vision, CAIR, Integrated 
Pest Management- Bed Bug Task Force, John Muir Child Safety Coalition, Give Kids a Smile Day, 
Children’s Oral Health Program, Lead Prevention program, Communicable Disease program,  
Community Wellness & Prevention program. 

 Child Welfare: County Child & Family Services (CCC EHSD-CFS) 

 Mental Health:  County Mental Health Program / MediCal Reimbursement, C.O.P.E. Family 
Services program (Triple-P program). 

 Nutrition: Women, Infants and Children Nutrition Program (WIC), CCFP Roundtable, Solano & 
Contra Costa Food Bank, Healthy Families, Cooking Matters, CalFresh, BANPAC, UC Cooperative 
Extension (EFNEP). 

 Disabilities:  Regional Center, California Children’s Services, and SELPA, Child Health and 
Disability Prevention. 

 Family Support:  Department of Child Support Services (DCCS), SparkPoint Center, County 
Probation.  

 Child Abuse Prevention:  Family Stress Center’s Child Assault Prevention Program, Families 
Thrive. 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: .



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

22 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Professional Associations: California Child Development Administrator’s Association (CCDAA), 
National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC), California AEYC, Contra Costa 
AEYC, Local Planning Council (LPC), National Head Start Association (NHSA), California Head Start 
Association (CHSA), and Region IX Head Start Association (RHSA). 

 Educational Institutions: Contra Costa College District, UC Davis, UC Berkeley, and Cal State 
University East Bay. 

 Other Supportive Services:  Reading Is Fundamental, Supporting Father Involvement, Zero 
Tolerance for Domestic Violence, Raising A Reader and First 5 Commission. 

 
In addition to partnering with agencies and entities to provide services to our children, families, and 
staff, CSB also conducts outreach to organizations for the purpose of securing volunteers to participate 
in program activities.  Examples of this type of outreach include our work with the Volunteer Center, 
CalWORKs (work experience clients), Teens Link with the Community (teens fulfilling community 
services requirements in High School), and the Telephone Pioneers (retired Pacific Bell employees). 
Visiting experts are also recruited from the community to enhance training for children, staff, and 
families. 
 
Groups of parents and professionals, recruited to participate on Advisory Committees (Health Services 
Advisory, Community Colleges, Budget, Bylaws, Education and Family Services, Nutrition, and Personnel 
Committees) ensure quality planning for needs/interests of children and families.  These committees 
contribute parent and professional input to the planning and program implementation process and are 
recognized for the important role they play in community partnership building.      
 
 

Deleted: and 



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  1 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 
 

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
COMMUNITY SERVICES BUREAU 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

SECTION 4-PROGRAM DESIGN 
 
 

2013-2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Formatted: Centered, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: 36 pt

Formatted: Font color: Accent 1

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt, Line spacing:
 single

Formatted: Font: 18 pt

Formatted: Centered, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: 16 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: 16 pt, Bold



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  2 

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

PART I ELIGIBILITY, RECRUITMENT, SELECTION AND ATTENDANCE- 
ERSEA 

 

A State Child Development Program 5 

B Definitions 7 

C Child Age and Family Income Eligibility 10 

D Recruitment 10 

E Selection Process 11 

F CLOUDS Waitlist 11 

G Enrollment and Re-Enrollment 13 

H Eligibility and Need Criteria and Documentation 15 

I Certification of Eligibility 23 

J Re-certification for General Child Care Services and Full Day State 
Preschool 

24 

K Re-Certification for Part-Day State Preschool Children 24 

L Re-Certification for Head Start and Early Head Start Children 24 

M General Recertification / Re-Enrollment Procedures 24 

N Updating the Application 25 

O Contents of Basic Data File 25 

P Admission Policies and Procedures 30 

Q General Admission Procedure 30 

R Children’s Enrollment Files 31 

S Due Process Requirements 31 

T Alternative Placement for Children 32 

U Client’s Request for a hearing and procedures 32 

V Appeal Procedure for CDD Review 33 

W CSB Compliance with CDD Decision 34 

X Retention of Enrollment Records 34 

Y Enrolled but Waiting for Transfer Protocol 34 

Z Transfer of Child with Disabilities or of Child Receiving Mental Health 
Services 

34 

AA CSPP Full-Day to Part-Day or Tuition Based Approval Process 35 

BB Withdrawal of Child from the Program 36 

CC Attendance Expectations 37 

DD Attendance Accounting 38 

EE Title XXII Requirements for All Children 39 

FF Fees for Non-Head Start and Early Head Start Funded Programs 40 

GG Billing Procedures 41 

HH Fee Collection Procedures 42 

II Receipts/Banking Procedures 43 

JJ Confidentiality of Records 43 

   

PART II STAFFING REQUIREMENTS  

A Program Director  44 

B Site Supervisor 44 

C Teacher 44 

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted Table ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  3 

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

D Applicability of Staffing Requirements 44 

E Staffing Rations for Site Supervisors or Teachers 44 

F Comprehensive Services 45 

   

PART III BUSINESS SYSTEMS  

A Overview 46 

B Facilities 46 

C Use of Technology 50 

D Equipment and Supplies 51 

E Vehicle Usage Policy 56 

F Transportation 58 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted Table ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: PART I ELIGIBILITY, RECRUITMENT, ...

Formatted ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  4 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  5 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 
I. Eligibility, Recruitment, Selection, and Attendance-ERSEA  
A. State Child Development Program 
The California Department of Education Child Development Division funds the state-funded portion of 
our program. The matrix, below, provides an overview of this program. 
 
  PY = Program Year 

 CSPP CCTR 

Program type 
& hours of care 

Part-day 
3 – 3:59 hrs 

Full-day 

More than 4 hrs 

Includes ¾ time and 

Full-time 

Full-day 

Program 

Includes ½, ¾ 

Time and full-

time 

Age of Child 3 or 4 by October 1 of PY 
*Continued summer enrollment allowable 
for K-eligible children until K start if  
requested and available 

Zero – three 
(until eligible for 
CSPP) 

% Preschoolers age 4 
by October 1 of PY 

50% of CSPP children at each site N/A 

Eligibility 
Requirement 

2008 Eligibility regulations apply 

Maintaining  
Ongoing Eligibility 

 
N/A 
Once initially 
Certified, child is 
“in” for the  
Remainder of the 
PY 

All families must report changes  
to income & family size within 5 days for 
recertification of eligibility. Failure to  
meet ongoing eligibility results 
in termination of full-day services. 

Family may choose to 
receive part-day 
services based on their 
initial eligibility or pay 
full fee for services. 

 
 
N/A     

Need Requirement  
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2008 Need regulations apply 

Preschool children who 
attend only part of the 
week (e.g. M W F) or 
part of the day (11 – 5) 
can attend their class 
M-F during the “part-
day preschool portion 
of the day” 8:30-12:00. 
All hours outside of this 
time must be 
supported by need. 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt, Line spacing:
 single

Formatted Table



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  6 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Maintaining  
Ongoing Need 

 
N/A 

All families must report changes to need 
within 5 day for recertification of need. 
Failure to meet ongoing need results in 
termination of full-day services. 

Family may choose to 
receive part-day 
services or pay full fee 
for services. 

 
N/A 

Family Fees 
Assessed 

 
Yes Program 

Hours of 
Certified 
Care 

Type of Fee 
Assessed 

CCTR part-
day 

3:59 hours a 
day or less 

Part-Time 

CCTR ¾ day 
4 to 6:29 
hours a day 

Part-Time 

CCTR Full-
Day 

6:30 to 
10:29 hours 
a day 

Full-Time 

CCTR Full-
Day Plus 

10:30 or 
more hours 
a day 

Full-Time 

CSPP Part- 
Day 

3:59 hours a 
day or less 

Part-Time 

CSPP ¾ Day 
4 to 6:29 
hours a day 

Part-Time 

CSPP Full-
Day 

6:30 to 
10:29 hours 
a day 

Full-Time 

CSPP Full-
Day Plus 

10:30 or 
more hours 
a day 

Full-Time 

If family of a 3-5 yr old 
child has need for less 
than 4 hrs a day, try to 
place them in a part-
day slot (family fees 
apply). 

If family of 0-3  
Yr old child has 
need for less  
than 4 hrs a day, 
the part-time fee 
applies. 

Adjustment Factors  
N/A 

Time and special criteria adjustment  
factors apply. Time criteria are based on 
total number of hours in care (not just 
hours of need). 
CCTR toddler special criterion applies only 
until child is 36 months old regardless of 
type of class child is in. 
¾ time – 4 to 6:29 hrs 
Full-time – 6:30 to 9:59 hrs 



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  7 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Full-time Plus – 10 hrs or more 

Enrollment  
Priorities 

Transfers (i.e. families of children already 
certified for care including toddlers leaving 
CCTR) 
CPS -  CSB622 At-Risk Referral 
Homeless 
returning 4 yr olds regardless of income 
eligible 4 yr olds* 
eligible 3 yr olds* 
over income 4 yr olds (part-day only) 
over income 3 yr olds (part-day only) 
 
*Refer to 2009 Enrollment Priorities for 
State Preschool 

Transfers 
CPS or “at risk” 
Homeless 
Eligible children 
Per income 
ranking 

Over income 
waivers  

15% of part-day 
slots allowed to 
be 10% over State  
income ceiling. 

 
Not Allowed 

Recertification for 
next PY 

N/A 
Must do 2nd 
“initial” 
application prior 
to next PY. 

At least every 12 months 
When changes in income, family size or 
need. 
At the discretion of the site supervisor 
anytime during the program year. 

Reporting Revised 8501 9500 

 
B. Definitions 
As used in the Program Requirements: 

 Adjusted monthly income-The total countable income as defined below, minus verified child 
support payments paid by the parent whose child is receiving child development services, 
excluding the non-countable income listed below: 

o Earnings of a child under age 18 years; 
o Loans; 
o Grants or scholarships to students for educational purposes other than any balance 

available for living costs; 
o Food stamps or other food assistance; 
o Earned Income Tax Credit or tax refund; 
o GI Bill entitlements, hardship duty pay, hazardous duty pay, hostile fire pay, or imminent 

danger pay; 
o Adoption assistance payments; 
o Non-cash assistance or gifts; 
o All income of any individual counted in the family size that is collecting federal 

Supplemental Security Income (SSI) or State Supplemental Program (SSP) benefits; 

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted Table

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶
CSPP CCTR¶

Program type¶
& hours of care Part-day¶
3 - 3:59 hrs Full-day¶
More than 4 hrs¶
Includes ¾ time and full-time Full-day program ¶
Includes ½,  ¾ time and full-time¶
Age of child 3 or 4 by November 1 of PY¶
*continued summer enrollment allowable for K-
eligible children until K start if requested and 
available Zero – three (until eligible for CSPP)¶
% Preschoolers 4 by November 1 50% of CSPP 
children at each site N/A¶
Eligibility Requirement 2008 Eligibility 
regulations apply¶
Maintaining Ongoing Eligibility ¶
N/A¶
Once initially certified, child is “in” for the 
remainder of the PY All full-day families must 
report changes to income & family size within 5 
days for recertification of eligibility. (5-day rule 
does not apply to part day CSPP)¶ ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  8 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

o Insurance or court settlements including pain and suffering and excluding lost wages 
and punitive damages; 

o Reimbursements for work-required expenses such as uniforms, mileage, or per diem 
expenses for food and lodging; 

o Business expenses for self-employed family members;  
o When there is no cash value to the employee, the portion of medical and/or dental 

insurance documented as paid by the employer and included in gross pay; and 
o Disaster relief grants or payments, except any portion for rental assistance or 

unemployment. 

 Certify eligibility-The formal process the staff goes through to collect information and 
documentation to determine that the family and/or child meets the criteria for receipt of 
subsidized child development services. The signature of the Site Supervisor on an application for 
services attests that the criteria have been met. 

 Authorized representative-The person designated by the agency to certify eligibility for 
subsidized services.  For CSB’s program, this means the Site Supervisor (SS) for center-based 
programs or Assistant Director (Assistant Director) or designee for centers not having a Site 
Supervisor. 

 Child Protective Services-Children receiving protective services through the local county welfare 
department as well as children identified by a legal, medical, social service agency or emergency 
shelter such as abused, neglected or exploited or at risk of abuse, neglect or exploitation. 
Children with disabilities-Children who have been determined to be eligible for special 

education or early intervention services in accordance with Part B or C of the Individuals with 

Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). These children have a current Individualized Education Plan or 

Individualized Family Service Plan..These children may be developmentally disabled, hearing 

impaired, deaf, speech impaired, visually impaired, seriously emotionally disturbed, physically 

impaired, have other health impairments such as: deaf-blind, multi-handicapped or specific 

learning disabilities, requiring the special attention of adults in a child development setting.  

Children, birth to three years, may be “at-risk” or with disabilities as defined by IDEA. 

 Declaration-A written statement signed by a parent under penalty of perjury attesting that the 
contents of the statement are true and correct to the best of his or her knowledge. 

 Displace families-To de-enroll families in order to reduce service levels due to insufficient 
funding or inability of CSB to operate one or more sites because of reasons beyond control of 
the department, such as floods or fire. 

 Family-The parents and the children for whom the parents are responsible; who comprise the 
household in which the child receiving services is living. For purposes of income eligibility and 
family fee determination, when a child and his or her siblings are living in a family that does not 
include their biological or adoptive parent, “family” shall be considered the child and related 
siblings. 

 Fee schedule-The Family Fee Schedule, issued by the department pursuant to Education Code 
section 8447(e). The fee schedule is used by child development staff to assess fees for families 
utilizing State child care and development services. 

 Homeless-A person or family that lacks a fixed, regular, and adequate night-time residence and 
has a primary night time residence that is: 

o A supervised publicly or privately operated shelter, transitional housing, or homeless 
support program designed to provide temporary living accommodations or 

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: protective 

Deleted: services

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph

Deleted:  

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: ;



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  9 

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

o A public or private place not designed for, or ordinarily used as, a regular sleeping 
accommodation for human beings. 

 Income eligible-For the purpose of child care and development services that a family's adjusted 
monthly income is at or below 75 percent of the state median income, adjusted for family size. 

 Income fluctuation-Income that varies due to:  
o Migrant, agricultural, or seasonal work; 
o Intermittent earnings or income, bonuses, commissions, lottery winnings, inheritance, 

back child support payment, or net proceeds from the sale of real property or stock; 
o Unpredictable days and hours of employment, overtime, or self-employment. 

 Legally qualified professional-A person licensed under applicable laws and regulations of the 
State of California to perform legal, medical, health or social services for the general public. 

 Parent-A biological parent, adoptive parent, stepparent, foster parent, caretaker relative, legal 
guardian, domestic partner of the parent, or any other adult living with a child who has 
responsibility for the care and welfare of the child.  

 Parental Incapacity-The temporary or permanent inability of the child's parent(s) to provide care 
and supervision of the child(ren) for part of the day due to a physical or mental health condition. 

 Recipients of Service-Families and/or children enrolled in a child care and development program 
subsidized by the California Department of Education. 

 Self-Certification of Income-A declaration signed by the parent under penalty of perjury 
identifying: 

o To the extent known, the employer and date of hire and stating the rate and frequency 
of pay, total amount of income received for the preceding month(s), the type of work 
performed, and the hours and days worked, when an employer refuses or fails to 
provide requested employment information or when a request for documentation 
would adversely affect the parent’s employment; or the amount and frequency of 
sources of income for which no documentation is possible. 

 State median income-The most recent median income for California families as determined by 
the State Department of Finance. 

 Total countable income-All income of the individuals counted in the family size that includes, 
but is not limited to, the following: 

o Gross wages or salary, advances, commissions, overtime, tips, bonuses, gambling or 
lottery winnings; 

o Wages for migrant, agricultural, or seasonal work; 
o Public cash assistance; 
o Gross income from self-employment less business expenses with the exception of wage 

draws; 
o Disability or unemployment compensation; 
o Workers compensation; 
o Spousal support, child support received from the former spouse or absent parent, or 

financial assistance for housing costs or car payments paid as part of or in addition to 
spousal or child support; 

o Survivor and retirement benefits; 
o Dividends, interest on bonds, income from estates or trusts, net rental income or 

royalties; 
o Rent for room within the family’s residence; 

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: service

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  10 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

o Foster care grants, payments or clothing allowance for children placed through child 
welfare services; 

o Financial assistance received for the care of a child living with an adult who is not the 
child’s biological or adoptive parent; 

o Veterans’ pensions; 
o Pensions or annuities; 
o Inheritance; 
o Allowances for housing or automobiles provided as part of compensation; 
o Portion of student grants or scholarships not identified for educational purposes as 

tuition, books, or supplies; 
o Insurance or court settlements for lost wages or punitive damages; 
o Net proceeds from the sale of real property, stocks, or inherited property; or 
o Other enterprise for gain.  

 Update the application-The process of revising the application for services between 

recertification. The application shall be revised by completing a 9600S form with the latest 

family information that documents the continued need and eligibility for child care and 

development services.  

 

C. Child Age and Family Income Eligibility 
The Community Services Bureau’s program enrolls children according to Federal and State eligibility 
criteria.  For the Head Start program, children are selected for service based primarily on the family 
income adjusted for family size, with lowest income families selected first.  Children at risk of abuse or 
neglect are considered high priority.  Within age groups, priority in the pre-school program is given to 
four-year-old children from the neediest families. Please refer to CSB’s Selection Criteria found in the 
ERSEA folder on the Shared Drive for more information. 
 
The Community Assessment is used to determine location of centers and program options to 
accommodate the areas of greatest need in the county. 
 
Every year, parents/staff review and update placement of centers and program options, restructuring 
enrollment to best meet community needs as county demographics change.     
 
D. Recruitment 
1. Strategies 
CSB employs a variety of recruitment strategies to ensure that the neediest children from low-income 
families have access to services.  Each year, a recruitment plan responsive to changes in communities 
served by CSB is developed and implemented.  Various recruitment materials are developed and 
disseminated throughout the community. There are a variety of ways to access the program by referral 
or personal contact. Walk-ins are always welcome.  Word of mouth, via CSB parents is the best method 
of recruitment.  Staff from all content areas of the program conducts presentations to community-based 
entities wherein detailed information is provided to expedite access to our program by their clients. 
Articles and ads are published in local publications such as agency newsletters, websites, and social 
networking sites. For detailed strategies, see the Recruitment Plan in the ERSEA folder on the Shared 
Drive. 
 
2. Recruitment Policy 

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶ ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  11 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

All staff, parents, Policy Council members and partners are responsible for giving out information in 
accordance with the annual Recruitment Plan. 
All CSB Staff are responsible for: 

 Phone calls: Hotlines are answered at regularly schedule intervals throughout the day by 
designated staff that log the entries and follow up on the Shared Drive. Staff that answers pre-
registration hotlines is responsible for taking basic pre-registration information over the phone 
and entering it into CLOUDS. 

 Walk-ins: All staff assist client in filling out CSB690-Waiting List Pre-Registration Form (See CSB 
Forms) 

o If client has brought in any documentation, such as pay stubs and/or birth certificate 
make copies and staple to the waitlist form. 

o Fill in all sections of the form. 
o Put documents in a sealed envelope, with name and location of Comprehensive Services 

Clerk who supports the PRIMARY desired location of child care, as requested by the 
client.  Mark CONFIDENTIAL on envelope. 

o Place in Comprehensive Services box at site. 

 Mail Received: 
o Route to appropriate person if mail came in self-addressed envelope. 
o If not, send to Comprehensive Services Clerk who supports that center or program. 

 Faxes: All referral forms are sent to the ERSEA analyst, logged, and then forwarded to the 
appropriate office for follow up.  

 
E. Selection Process 
Children are selected from waiting lists that are maintained in CLOUDS for each Head Start classroom 
and Home-based program.  After the agency receives the application material, children are ranked 
based on CSB’s admission priorities.  Ten percent of our placement slots are designated for children with 
disabilities and every effort is made to accommodate children with disabilities.  
 
1. Selection Criteria 
To ensure that the neediest children from low-income families are selected for CSB’s services, CSB 
implements its Selection Criteria/Admissions Priorities to prioritize neediest families, which is aligned 
with the state’s priorities by a strong community need for child care for working families. 
 
At least 10% of the total number of enrollment opportunities at CSB is designated for children with 
certified disabilities.  Families of children with disabilities are asked to provide documentation from the 
doctor or a copy of the child’s IFSP or IEP. 
 
The Site Supervisor and other department managers insure that the selection criteria meet the state and 
federal regulations regarding selection of families and children to the program. The Selection 
Criteria/Admissions Priorities is updated and approved by the Director, Policy Council, and Board of 
Supervisors annually. 
 
F. CLOUDS Waitlist  
1. Procedures for maintaining Eligible / Accepted Families on Waitlist 
In Maintaining Eligible / Accepted Families, Comprehensive Service Clerks are responsible for: 

 Taking basic pre-registration information over the phone or in person and enter into CLOUDS 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: has developed and follow a 

Deleted: Chart 

Deleted: our 

Deleted: and derived from 

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  12 

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

 Conducting interviews 

 Determining income eligibility based on family size 

 Making copies of client documents e.g., pay stubs, birth certificate, immunization papers for the 
temporary file  

 Creating, signing and dating income calculation sheet 

 Establishing a temporary file for the child (CSB Eligibility/Enrollment checklist) 

 Noting on child data sheet in CLOUDS as to the location of the temporary file 
Temporary file should remain with the Comprehensive Services Clerk, who supports the PRIMARY 
desired location requested by the family, until file is ready to be reviewed by the Comprehensive 
Services Assistant Managers.  
 
Note: Eligible/Accepted temporary files are retained by the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager. 
Keep the files in a locked drawer or cabinet. 
 
Collect the following information in the temporary file: 

 Copy of the child’s birth certificate or other age verification: for state funding programs collect 
birth certificates for all children in the family size; for Head Start/Early Head Start collect only 
the birth certificate(s) of the child(ren) to be enrolled. 

 Documentation of Family Size (unborn can only be counted in family size for Early Head Start) 

 Parents’ income verification (e.g., pay stubs) or self-certification form, if applicable (signed &    
dated). 

 Income calculation worksheet (signed & dated). 

 Copies of the child’s immunization records (not necessary to determine eligibility). 

 Health history from CLOUDS (signed and dated). 

 Child Care Data Collection Privacy Notice and Consent Form. 

 Documentation of Disabilities, if applicable. 

 Documentation of Homelessness, if applicable 
Once file has been determined eligible by Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager: 

 Review and update information on file. Review and update Child and Family Data sheets. 

 Review Health History. 

 Update Emergency Information (See Form CSB214) 

 Flag file in the top right front corner of the file using the following sticker dot system: 

 Blue Dot: Child with Disabilities 

 Red Dot: Child with Health/Nutrition/Mental Health Concerns 

 Yellow Dot: Child that transitioned from I/T to Preschool 

 White Dot: Used to cover up any colored dot that is no longer applicable to the child. 
 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager is Responsible for: 

 Review temp file from Comprehensive Services Clerk. 

  Verify family eligibility. 

 Move child from Eligibility Waiting List to Eligible/Accepted Wait List in COPA once eligibility has 
been established. 

 Retain possession of temporary file until requested by a Site Supervisor or other Comprehensive 
Services team member.   

 Update Child Data sheet in CLOUDS to reflect location of temporary file.  

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: .

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  13 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 Assign task of transferring documents from temporary file to permanent child’s file when Site 
Supervisor requests the file for potential enrollment/placement.Check files for flags and ensure 
proper dots are applied to file. 

 Ensure flagged items are properly noted in CLOUDS. 

 Keep file in a locked drawer or cabinet. 

 Eligible/Accepted list in CLOUDS. 

 Purge Eligible/Accepted list on CLOUDS record of over-age children 

 Send purged list into CLOUDS archive as per the purge protocol. 
 
2. Procedures for Purging Waitlist 
The Comprehensive Services Clerks assigned to each site will maintain a current waiting list for those 
sites by following these steps: 

 Document all contacts with families on the Family Data Sheet in CLOUDS. 

 Make extra special effort via multiple methods to contact Head Start eligible families as some 
these families require extra outreach efforts. Document all steps taken. 

 Send out no contact letters (See Form CSB613) to non-responsive families on or before the 15th 
of each month; send only one letter to each family; give the family ten working days to respond 
from date letter is sent. 

 Document response/lack of response to the CSB613 on the Family Data Sheet. 

 Prepare the “Waitlist Purge Request Form” (See Form CSB603) by the 5th of each month for the 
previous month’s activities (ex. requests from May will be due on June 5); include all families on 
purge form that have not responded to letters sent out as described in #2 of this protocol. 

 Submit the “Waitlist Purge Request Form” (CSB603) to the Comprehensive Services Assistant 
Manager assigned to them. 

 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager will conduct the purge by following these steps: 

 Review the “Waitlist Purge Request Form” (CSB603) prepared by the clerk. 

 Review the Family Data Sheet for each child listed on the “Waitlist Purge Request Form” 
(CSB603). 

 Purge the records that are appropriate by the 10th of each month. 

 Shred any temporary files created for purged record. 

 Communicate with the clerk regarding any purge that is not appropriate. 

 Check to see if Family Services have been started and, if so, discontinuing services for those 
families scheduled to be purged. 

 
G. Enrollment and Re-Enrollment 
1. General Enrollment Policy 
Families find themselves in many situations and at times terminate their children’s enrollment, but then, 
later on, want to re-enroll their child.  CSB encourage families to return to the program should their 
situation allow. When families wish to re-enroll they are placed back on the waiting list and ranked 
accordingly. 
 
When children are enrolled in the Federal Head Start program, they remain eligible for services for the 
year they are enrolled and the following year regardless of changes in income. If children are enrolled 
for a third year in Head Start, the family income must be re-determined. When children are enrolled in 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
• Maintain 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: <#> ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: improve.

Deleted:  



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  14 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

the State Child Development program, they are recertified in accordance with the regulations to insure 
they remain eligible. 
 
When children are enrolled in the Early Head Start program, they remain eligible for services until they 
are three years old regardless of income. 
 
However, when EHS children reach their third birthday, they must re-apply to determine eligibility for 
Head Start preschool services. 
 
When children are enrolled in part-day State Preschool, they remain eligible for continued services until 
the beginning of the next fiscal year regardless of income changes. 
 
Part-day State Preschool children seeking a second year of services must demonstrate income and age 
eligibility for continued services but have priority in placement without regard to income ranking in 
accordance with the 2009 Enrollment Priorities guidance.  
 
Once an infant or toddler is enrolled in a General Child Care program they remain income eligible for 
subsidized services only as long as the family income remains at or below 75% of the California median 
income. 
 
When family income rises above 50% of the California median income, the General Child Care and State 
Preschool enrollees are assessed a Family Fee based on the California Family Fee Schedule.   
 
2. Enrollment Placement 
In placing a child at a center, Site Supervisors are responsible for the following: 

 Review Eligible/Accepted List in /CLOUDS. 

 Select the child with the highest priority ensuring that all Head Start eligible children have been 
placed as vacancies occur, before enrolling any child above the federal poverty guidelines. 

 Secure file from the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager via e-mail or phone call request 
using child’s CLOUDS ID#. 

 Review all sections of child’s file for special needs or concerns and proper placement of dots and 
accuracy. 

 Check for any flagged items that may need follow up or a parent signature. 

 Coordinate/schedule Case Management Meeting with parent, Comprehensive Services Assistant 
Manager, and other staff as needed. 

 Contact parent for enrollment (placement) appointment. 

 Advise family to bring any documents that are needed to update file. 

 When meeting with family: 
o Complete, date and sign new income information as needed and enter updated 

information on CLOUDS. 
o Print the 9600 form from CLOUDS to be signed and dated by Site Supervisor and parent. 
o Issue Notice of Action.. 
o Update Emergency Information (See CSB Forms > 0600-Enrollment > Licensing 

Emergency ID/Information form). . 
o Complete Admission Agreement and hours of service contract..Complete Parent 

Handbook with parent.   

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt, Line spacing:
 single

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: Full-day 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: 9600  form

Deleted: parent 

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  15 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

o Verify that the child’s immunizations are up-to-date (Do not admit until record is up to 
date).. 

o Review health history and ensure appropriate referrals have been made.. 
o Move child from Eligible/Accepted List and place into appropriate classroom and 

Program Model.. 
o Double check CLOUDS record to ensure match between paper file and CLOUDS file.. 
o Conduct final review of file for accuracy. 

 
H. Eligibility and Need Criteria and Documentation 
1. Residency Requirements 
To be eligible for child care and development services, the child must live in the State of California while 
services are being received. 
 
Any evidence of a street address or post office address in California will be sufficient to establish 
residency. A person identified as homeless is exempted from this requirement and shall submit a 
declaration of intent to reside in California. 
 
The determination of eligibility for child care and development services shall be without regard to the 
immigration status of the child or the child’s parent(s), unless the child or the child’s parent(s) are under 
a final order of deportation from the United States Department of Justice.  
 
For the Head Start and Early Head Start, children/pregnant women must be residents of Contra Costa 
County, and reside in the CSB service area. CSB does not serve a portion of Concord that is commonly 
referred to as the Monument Corridor. The area falls within the 94520 zip code in Concord and is 
bounded by Clayton Road to the North, Galindo Street to the Northeast, South along Monument 
Boulevard to Cleopatra Drive, southeast to Interstate 680 and west to State Route 242. This area is 
operated by the Unity Council of Alameda County. All other portions of the county are served by CSB. If 
a family resides outside of Contra Costa County or in the Unity Council’s service area, an authorized “Out 
of Service Area Enrollment Notification Form (CSB608) must be on file at CSB, with the agency with 
whom the family would ordinarily be served, and with the regional office. 
 
2. Documentation of Need Based on Employment, Seeking Employment, Training Toward a Vocational 
Goal, Seeking Housing, and Incapacity 
Families who are eligible for subsidized child care and development services based on income, public 
assistance, or homelessness must document that each parent in the family meets a need criterion. The 
need criteria are: vocational training leading directly to a recognized trade, para profession, or 
profession; employment or seeking employment; seeking permanent housing for family stability; and 
incapacitation.  
 
Subsidized child care and development services shall only be available to the extent to which:  

 The parent meets a need criterion that precludes the provision of care and supervision of the 
family’s child for some of the day; 

 There is no parent in the family capable of providing care for the family’s child during the time 
care is requested; and  Supervision of the family’s child is not otherwise being provided by 
school or another person or entity.   

 
3. Documentation of Employment 

Deleted: o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted:  or have 

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: Para 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  16 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

If the basis of need as stated on the application for services is employment of the parent, the 
documentation of the parent’s employment shall include the days and hours of employment.  
 
If the parent has an employer, the documentation of need based on employment shall consist of one of 
the following: 

 The pay stubs provided to determine income eligibility that indicates the days and hours of 
employment; 

 When the provided pay stubs do not indicate the days and hours of employment, staff shall 
verify the days and hours of employment by doing one of the following: 

 Secure an independent written statement from the employer;  

 Telephone the employer and maintain a record; 

 If the provided pay stubs indicate the total hours of employment per pay period and if staff is 
satisfied that the pay stubs have been issued by the employer, specify on the application for 
services the days and hours of employment to correlate with the total hours of employment and 
the parent’s need; 

 If the variability of the parent’s employment is unpredictable and precludes staff from verifying 
specific days and hours of employment or work week cycles, specify on the application for 
services that the parent is authorized for a variable schedule for the actual hours worked, 
identifying the maximum number of hours of need based on the week with the greatest number 
of hours within the preceding four weeks and the verification as noted above. Until such time as 
the employment pattern becomes predictable, need for services shall be updated at least every 
four months;  

 If the employer refuses or is non-responsive in providing the requested information, record 
attempts to contact the employer, and specify and attest on the application for services to the 
reasonableness of the days and hours of employment based on the description of the 
employment and community practice; or 

 If the parent asserts in a declaration signed under penalty of perjury that a request for employer 
documentation would adversely affect the parent’s employment, on the application for services: 

o Attest to the reasonableness of the parent’s assertion; and 
o Specify and attest to the reasonableness of the days and hours of employment based on 

the description of the employment and community practice. 
When the employed parent does not have pay stubs or other record of wages from the employer and 
has provided a self-certification of income, staff shall assess the reasonableness of the days and hours of 
employment, based on the description of the employment and the documentation provided, and 
authorizes only the time determined to be reasonable. 
 
If the parent is self-employed, the documentation of need based on employment shall consist of the 
following: 
Parent provided information that includes: 

 A declaration of need under penalty of perjury that includes a description of the employment 
and an estimate of the days and hours worked per week; 

 To demonstrate the days and hours worked, a copy of one or more of the following: 
appointment logs, client receipts, job logs, mileage logs, a list of clients with contact 
information, or similar records; and   

 As applicable, a copy of a business license, a workspace lease, or a workspace rental agreement. 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
o

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  17 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 A statement by staff assessing the reasonableness of the total number of days and hours 
requested per week based on the description of the employment and the documentation 
provided. If the parent has unpredictable hours of employment, staff shall authorize the parent 
for a variable schedule not to exceed the number of hours determined to be needed per week. 
Need for services for unpredictable hours shall be updated at least every four months. If staff 
has been unable to verify need based on the documentation provided, staff shall take additional 
action to verify self-employment that includes any one or more of the following: 

o If the self-employment occurs in a rented space, contacting the parent’s lessor or other 
person holding the right of possession to verify the parent’s renting of the space;  

o If the self-employment occurs in variable locations, independently verifying this 
information by contacting one or more clients whose names and contact information 
have been voluntarily provided by the parent; or 

o Making other reasonable contacts or requests to determine the amount of time for self-
employment. 

o If staff is unable to make a reasonable assessment of the hours needed for self-
employment after attempting to verify such hours and documenting the attempts, staff 
may divide the parent’s self-employment income by the applicable minimum wage. The 
resulting quotient shall be the maximum hours needed for employment per month. 

 
The parent shall provide a release to enable the staff to obtain the information it deems necessary to 
support the parent’s asserted days and hours worked per week. 
 
If additional services are requested for travel time or sleep time to support employment, staff shall 
determine, as applicable, the time authorized for: 

 Travel to and from the location at which services are provided and the place of employment, not 
to exceed half of the daily hours authorized for employment to a maximum of four hours per 
day; or 

 Sleep, if the parent is employed anytime between 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m., not to exceed the 
number of hours authorized for employment and travel between those hours.   

 
4. Documentation of Employment in the Home or a Licensed Family Day Care Home 
If the parent's employment is in the family’s home or on property that includes the family’s home, the 
parent must provide justification for requesting subsidized child care and development services based 
on the type of work being done and its requirements, the age of the family’s child for whom services are 
sought, and, if the child is more than five years old, the specific child care needs. Staff shall determine 
and document whether the parent’s employment and the identified child care needs preclude the 
supervision of the family's child.  
 
If the parent is a licensed family day care home provider or an individual license-exempt, the parent is 
not eligible for subsidized services during the parent’s business hours because the parent’s employment 
does not preclude the supervision of the family’s child. 
 
If the parent is employed as an assistant in a licensed large family day care home, and is requesting 
services for the family’s child in the same family day care home, the parent shall provide documentation 
that substantiates all of the following: 

 A copy of the family day care home license indicating it is licensed as a large family day care 
home;  

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  18 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 A signed statement from the licensee stating that the parent is the assistant, pursuant to the 
staffing ratio requirement of California Code of Regulations, title 22, section 102416.5(c);  

 Proof that the parent’s fingerprints are associated with that licensed family day care home as its 
assistant, which staff may verify with the local community care licensing office; and  

 Payroll deductions withheld for the assistant by the licensee, which may be a pay stub.   
 
5. Documentation of Seeking Employment 
If the basis of need as stated on the application for services is seeking employment, the parent’s period 
of eligibility for child care and development services is limited to 60 working days during the contract 
period. Services shall occur on no more than five days per week and for less than 30 hours per week. 
The period of eligibility shall start on the day authorized by staff and extend for consecutive working 
days. 
 
Documentation of seeking employment shall include a written parental declaration signed under penalty 
of perjury stating that the parent is seeking employment. The declaration shall include the parent’s plan 
to secure, change, or increase employment and shall identify a general description of when services will 
be necessary. 
 
Staff shall determine the number of working days available for seeking employment and the child care 
schedule, which may be a variable schedule, based on the documentation. During the period of 
authorization and if necessary to verify need,  staff may request that the parent provide, no more than 
once a week, a description of the activities he or she has undertaken during the previous week to seek 
employment and, as appropriate, may require additional documentation. 
 
If the Governor declares a state of emergency and if the factual basis for the Governor's declaration 
indicate that opportunities for employment have temporarily diminished to such a degree that parents 
cannot be reasonably expected to find employment within 60 working days of diligent searching, the 
State Superintendent of Public Instruction (SSPI) may investigate to determine whether the 60-working-
days limitation should be suspended. If the SSPI determines that it is in the public interest to do so, he or 
she may, by order, suspend the 60-working-days limitation on eligibility during the period of the 
emergency or for a lesser time. The scope of the suspension, including the geographic areas and the 
persons affected, and its duration, shall be no more than necessary to respond to the emergency as 
determined in the SSPI’s investigation, and shall be specifically described in the SSPI’s order. If a parent’s 
services for seeking employment were exhausted after an emergency was declared and before the SSPI 
suspends the eligibility limitation, staff may re-authorize services for seeking employment in accordance 
with the conditions specified in the SSPI’s order. 
 
If the parent has concurrently received services based on employment or vocational training for at least 
20 working days while receiving services for seeking employment, eligibility for seeking employment 
may be extended for an additional 20 working days. For such a parent, services for this purpose shall not 
exceed 80 working days during the contract period. 
 
If services for this purpose are discontinued, the number of working days remaining in the period of 
eligibility shall be available for a subsequent period of eligibility during the contract period. 
The working days used to determine the period of eligibility shall include the consecutive Mondays 
through Fridays, excluding any federal holidays.  
 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  19 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

6. Documentation of Training toward Vocation Goals 
i. General Procedures 
If the basis of need as stated on the application for services is vocational training leading directly to a 
recognized trade, para-profession, or profession, child care and development services shall be limited to 
whichever expires first: 

 Six years from the initiation of services; or 

 Twenty four semester units, or its equivalent, after the attainment of a Bachelor’s Degree. 
 

The parent shall provide documentation of the days and hours of vocational training to include: 

 A statement of the parent’s vocational goal; 

 The name of the training institution that is providing the vocational training; 

 The dates that current quarter, semester, or training period, as applicable, will begin and end; 

 A current class schedule that is either an electronic print-out from the training institution of the 
parent’s current class schedule or, if unavailable, a document that includes all of the following: 

o The classes in which the parent is currently enrolled; 
o The days of the week and times of day of the classes; and 
o The signature or stamp of the training institution's registrar.  
o The anticipated completion date of all required training activities to meet the vocational 

goal; and 
o Upon completion of a quarter, semester, or training period, as applicable, a report card, 

a transcript, or, if the training institution does not use formal letter grades, other 
records to document that the parent is making progress toward the attainment of the 
vocational goal. 
 

A parent shall report any change in his or her class schedule related to the days and times of any class, 
including a withdrawal from a class, within five calendar days of requesting the change from the 
institution. 
 
Services may be provided for classes related to the General Education Development (GED) test or 
English language acquisition if such courses support the attainment of the parent’s vocational goal. 
On-line or televised instructional classes that are unit bearing classes from an accredited training 
institution shall be counted as class time at one hour a week for each unit. The parent shall provide a 
copy of the syllabus or other class documentation and, as applicable, the Web address of the on-line 
program. The accrediting body of the training institution shall be among those recognized by the United 
States Department of Education. 
 
Continuation of services based on training is contingent upon making adequate progress. To make 
progress each quarter, semester, or training period, as applicable, the parent shall, in the college classes, 
technical school, or apprenticeship for which subsidized care is provided: 

 In a graded program, earn a 2.0 grade point average; or 

 In a non-graded program, pass the program’s requirements in at least 50 percent of the classes 
or meet the training institution’s standard for making adequate progress. 

The first time the parent does not meet the condition of making adequate progress, the parent may 
continue to receive services for one additional quarter, semester, or training period, as applicable, to 
improve the parent’s progress. At the conclusion of that session, the parent shall, in the classes for 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  1"

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  20 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

which subsidized care was provided, have made adequate progress. If the parent has not made 
adequate progress, services for this purpose shall be:  

 Terminated; and 

 Available to the parent, to the extent provided by subdivision (a), after six months from the date 
of termination. 

No later than ten calendar days after the training institution’s release of progress reports for the 
quarter, semester, or vocational training period, as applicable, the parent shall provide staff with a copy 
of the parent’s official progress report. As deemed appropriate, staff may require the parent to: 

 Have an official copy of a progress report sent directly from the training institution to staff; or 

 Provide a release, as may be required by the training institution, to enable staff to verify the 
parent’s progress with the institution. 
 

A parent may change his or her vocational goal, but services shall be limited to the time or units 
remaining from the initiation of the provision of services for vocational training. 
 
Staff shall determine the days and hours needed per week, and whether the parent is making progress, 
based on the documentation. Staff may request that the parent provide a publication from the training 
institution describing the classes required to complete the parent’s vocational goal. 
 
If additional services are requested for study time or travel time to support the vocational training, staff 
shall determine, as appropriate, the amount of services needed for: 

 Travel to and from the location at which services are provided and the training location, not to 
exceed half of the weekly hours authorized for training to a maximum of four hours per day; or 

 Study time, including study time for on-line and televised instructional classes, according to the 
following: 

o Two hours per week per academic unit in which the parent is enrolled; 
o On a case-by-case basis and as may be confirmed with the class instructor, additional 

time not to exceed one hour per week per academic unit in which the parent is enrolled; 
and 

o On a case-by-case basis, no more than the number of class hours per week for non-
academic or non-unit bearing training. 
 

The service limitations specified above shall not apply to a parent who demonstrates he or she is: 

 As of June 27, 2008, receiving services for vocational training and has attained a Bachelor’s 
Degree;  

 Receiving services from a program operating pursuant to Education Code section 66060; 

 Attending vocational training when the parent has been deemed eligible for rehabilitation 
services by the California Department of Rehabilitation; or 

 Attending retraining services available through the Employment Development Department of 
the State or its staffs due to a business closure or mass layoff. 

 
ii. School Breaks for Parents Training Toward a Vocational Goal 
Caregivers whose certified need is Training Toward a Vocational Goal, do not have a certified need for 
full-day State Child Development Services during their school/training breaks (winter, spring, summer or 
fall.) and days school is not in session (teacher in-service and other holidays).  These days are non-
contract days and the child is not allowed to attend full-day State Child Development Services or use 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  1"

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶

Formatted ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  21 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Best Interest Days on these days. To promote continuity of care, the caregiver and site supervisor may 
determine that the child should remain in services during these days if possible and would therefore 
either assess a full fee or select program model for which the child is eligible. CCTR only toddlers cannot 
take advantage of this second option and may not attend during these days as they are not age eligible 
for any other program model.  For all other children the following protocols should be followed: 

 FP/HS and FPL/HS preschool children may attend full-day under PP/HS or PPL/HS with approval 
of Request for Change from FP to PP/TB form (See Forms CSB607). 

 FP and FPL preschool children may attend ½ day during the preschool portion of the day under 
PP or PPL only with approval of Request for Change from FP to PP/TB form (See Form CSB607). 
 

If any of the above actions are taken, the program model in CLOUDS must be changed by wait listing the 
child and re-enrolling under the new program model for the duration of the school/training break days. 
Sign-in sheets, monthly 9400s, and other required documents described in the Request to Change from 
FP to PP Protocol must also reflect this program model change.  If/when the child is moved back to their 
original funding model; these same changes must be made and reflected on the appropriate 
documentation.    
 
7. Documentation of Parental Incapacity 
 If the basis of need as stated on the application for services is parental incapacity, child care and 
development services shall not exceed 50 hours per week.  
 
Documentation shall include a release signed by the incapacitated parent authorizing a legally qualified 
health professional to disclose information necessary to establish that the parent meets the definition of 
incapacity, and needs services. 
 
The documentation of incapacitation provided by the legally qualified health professional shall include: 

 A statement that the parent is incapacitated, that the parent is incapable of providing care and 
supervision for the child for part of the day, and, if the parent is physically incapacitated, that 
identifies the extent to which the parent is incapable of providing care and supervision; 

 The days and hours per week that services are recommended to accommodate the 
incapacitation, taking into account the age of the child and the care needs. This may include 
time for the parent’s regularly scheduled medical or mental health appointments;  

 The probable duration of the incapacitation; and 

 The name, business address, telephone number, professional license number, and signature of 
the legally qualified health professional who is rendering the opinion of incapacitation and, if 
applicable, the name of the health organization with which the professional is associated. 
 

Staff may contact the legally qualified health professional for verification, clarification, or completion of 
the provided statement. 
 
Staff shall determine the days and hours of service based on the recommendation of the health 
professional and consistent with the provisions of this article.  
 
8. Documentation of Seeking Permanent Housing 
If the basis of need as stated on the application for services is seeking permanent housing for family 
stability, the parent’s period of eligibility for child care and development services is limited to 60-

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: See  Forms

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  22 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

working-days during the contract period. Services shall occur on no more than five days per week and 
for less than 30 hours per week. The period of eligibility shall start on the day authorized by staff and 
extend for consecutive working days. 
 
Documentation of seeking permanent housing shall include a written parental declaration signed under 
penalty of perjury that the family is seeking permanent housing. The declaration shall include the 
parent’s search plan to secure a fixed, regular, and adequate residence and shall identify a general 
description of when services will be necessary. If the family is residing in a shelter, services may also be 
provided while the parent attends appointments or activities necessary to comply with the shelter 
participation requirements. 
 
Staff shall determine the number of weeks available for seeking permanent housing and the child care 
schedule, which may be a variable schedule, based on the documentation. During the period of 
authorization and if necessary to verify need, staff may request that the parent provide, no more than 
once a week, either a declaration signed under penalty of perjury describing the activities the parent has 
undertaken during the previous week to seek permanent housing or a signed statement from the 
shelter, transitional housing agency, or homeless support program regarding the parent’s search 
progress to date. 
 
If the parent does not expect to secure housing prior to the end of the eligibility period: 

 The parent may request an extension in a declaration of need signed under penalty of perjury 
that includes an update of the parent’s search plan and either a description of the activities 
undertaken during the previous week to seek permanent housing or a signed statement from 
the shelter, transitional housing agency, or homeless support program indicating the parent’s 
continued need for services; and 

 The staff may authorize an extension of search eligibility for up to 20 additional working days. 
If services for this purpose are discontinued, the number of working days remaining in the period of 
eligibility shall be available for a subsequent period of eligibility during the contract period. 
 
The working days used to determine the period of eligibility shall include the consecutive Mondays 
through Fridays, excluding any federal holidays. 
 
9. Documentation of Child Protective Services 
 
i. General Procedures 
CSB Head Start is committed to providing child development services for all eligible and pregnant 
women who are currently involved in the child welfare system and Children and Family Services (CFS) for 
the purpose of improving young children’s access to and continuity of comprehensive, high quality early 
care and education services.  The partnership between CSB and CFS ensures that staff understands the 
complex (social, emotional, developmental and physical) needs of this vulnerable population.  This 
partnership is in compliance with the administration for children and families’ information 
memorandum acyf-cb-im-11-01 issued January 31, 2011. 
 
If eligibility and need is based on a child/family’s involvement in the child welfare system/child 
protective services (CPS/CFS), the basic data file must contain a written referral-Form CSB622, dated 
within the six (6) months immediately preceding the date of application for services, from a legal, 
medical, social service agency or emergency shelter. The written referral must include either: 

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt, Line spacing:
 single

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  23 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 A statement from the local county welfare department, child protective services (CPS/CFS) unit 
certifying that the child is receiving child protective services and that the child care and 
development services are a necessary component of the child protective services plan, or 

 A statement by a legally qualified professional that the child is at risk of abuse or neglect and the 
child care and development services are needed to reduce or eliminate risk, and 

 The probable duration of the child protective service plan or the at-risk situation, and 

 The name, address, telephone number and signature of the legally qualified professional who is 
making the referral. 

 
ii. Children and Family Service Referrals 
Families may be referred to CSB for enrollment from Children and Family Services (CFS), if child care is 
deemed a necessary piece of the service plan.  CSB will review the referral to determine a family’s 
eligibility for Head Start, Early Head Start, Center Based, Stage II and CAPP programs.  Based on eligibility 
and need requirements the referral will be forwarded to the appropriate program, taking into 
consideration parental choice.  Once the referral is received by the appropriate unit, the family will be 
contacted to determine eligibility.  If the family is eligible and meets all necessary requirements, they 
may be enrolled in the program provided there is space.  If there is no space or funding available in any 
of CSB’s programs, the ERSEA Manager will forward the referral to an outside agency for potential 
enrollment.  At this time staff will notify the referring individual whether or not the family was enrolled 
or referred to an outside agency. 
 
I. Certification of Eligibility 
The Site Supervisor or the Assistant Director is authorized to certify eligibility prior to initial enrollment 
and at the time of re-certification.  The authorized representatives must certify each family’s/child’s 
eligibility for childcare and development services after reviewing the completed application and 
documentation contained in a basic data file that is established and maintained at the site. 
 
All data is uploaded to a central computerized database by Site Supervisors or Comprehensive Services 
team members. 
 
Prior to enrollment, Site Supervisor/Assistant Director certifies eligibility by completion of the following 
forms:  

 Application for Childcare and Development Services 
Prior to enrollment, parents may contact Site Supervisors, Assistant Directors, Comprehensive 
Services team members, and teachers at any sites in Contra Costa County to obtain an 
application for services.  Or they may call one of the enrollment hotline numbers to place 
themselves on a waiting list.  

 Notice of Action, Application for Services 
At the time the Site Supervisor certifies or recertifies eligibility of a family/child for child care 
and development services, he/she shall inform the family of the family's responsibility to notify 
the staff within five calendar days of any changes in family income, family size, or the need for 
services.  
 

This information is noted on the application of service and Site Supervisor/Comprehensive Services 
Manager must review the contents and, if needed, provide an explanation of what the “Declaration” 
means. 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: Unity 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5",
Space After:  0 pt, Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5",
Space After:  0 pt, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  24 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 
When a child’s residence alternates between the homes of separated or divorced parents, eligibility, 
need and fees should be determined separately for each household in which the child is residing during 
the time child development services are needed (i.e., separate certifications and service agreements). 
For example, a child may be subsidized during part of the week and full cost the rest of the week. 
 
J. Re-certification for General Child Care Services and Full Day State preschool 
After initial certification and enrollment, the Site Supervisor must verify need and eligibility and re-
certify each family/child as follows: 

 Families receiving services because the child is at risk of abuse, neglect or exploitation must be 
re-certified at least once every three (3) months. 

 Families receiving services because of actual abuse, neglect or exploitation must be re-certified 
at least every twelve (12) months. 

 The time of re-certification, the Site Supervisor must document that the family is 
participating in a protective services plan in accordance with the requirements of their 
local county welfare department, child protective services unit to alleviate the 
circumstances causing the abuse, neglect or exploitation. 
 

All other families must be re-certified at least once each contract period and at intervals not to exceed 
twelve (12) months. 
 
K. Re-Certification for Part-Day State Preschool Children 
Part-day State Preschool families must be certified at the beginning of service using the most recent 
income documentation and may be certified up to 120 days old before the services’ start date. 
 
After a first year of service, a family must reapply to determine income and age eligibility before a child 
can be considered for enrollment for a second year. These returning children have placement priority 
without regard to income ranking as described in the 2009 Enrollment Priorities guidance. 
 
L. Re-Certification for Head Start and Early Head Start Children 
CSB certifies Head Start children into the program based on family income eligibility at the time of 
enrollment using the federal income guidelines. 
 
Once a child is enrolled, that child does not need to be re-certified even if the family income rises above 
the federal poverty level for the first year of enrollment and the following year. Re-certification is only 
required for a child entering a third year of Head Start. 
 
Early Head Start children must be re-certified for eligibility when they transition to a Head Start program 
for preschool age children. 
 
M. General Recertification / Re-Enrollment Procedures 
1. Recertification Procedures 
During the recertification process, Site Supervisors are responsible for the following: 

 Track families needing to be recertified using Recertification Tracking Calendar. 

 Notify families 30 days prior to enrollment expiration to bring updated eligibility documentation. 

 Collect recertification or re-enrollment documentation. 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0" + Indent at:  0.25"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  1"

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  25 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 Complete new 9600 on CLOUDS at face-to-face interview with parent. 

 Complete new income calculation sheet (signed and dated). 

 Update reason for needing child care and application type on the child data sheet (See 
“eligibility information” on the child data sheet). 

 Proceed with certification procedures as listed above if family is still income eligible. 

 Issue Notice of Action, certifying continuation, changes or termination of services. (Note: 
adverse action requires a 14-day written notification, 19-days if mailed). 

 Drop file on CLOUDS on the last day of service and prepare paper file for storage.  The Children’s 
file folders are to be re-used. 

 Update CLOUDS record as needed. 

 Maintain files of terminated children in locked location at site for one year until after program 
audit in October or November. 

 Send dropped and files of terminated clients to central location after completion of program 
audit.  
 

2. Re-Enrollment Process 
During the re-enrollment process, Site Supervisors in collaboration with Comprehensive Services are 
responsible for the following: 

 In June, identify children for roll-over. 

 In July, place roll-over children into appropriate classrooms and Program Model, from 
Eligible/Accepted list in CLOUDS. 

 For previously enrolled Part-day State Preschool child requesting re-enrollment, follow 
guidelines for completely new 9600 application with all new documentation: 

 If a child’s CLOUDS record was archived within the program year, request Comprehensive 
Services Manager to reactivate child’s CLOUDS record and place child back on to Eligibility Wait 
List. 

 Follow approved guidelines for selecting children. 
 
N. Updating the Application   
The Site Supervisor must update the family’s application for General Child Care and Full-day State 
Preschool to document continued need and eligibility and determine any change to fee assessment, if 
applicable, within thirty (30) days whenever there is a change in family size, income, public assistance 
status or need.  
 
Form 9600S will be used for application updates between re-certifications. 
 
O. Contents of Basic Data File 
Site Supervisors / Comprehensive Services staff must establish and maintain a basic data file for each 
family receiving childcare and development services. The basic data file must contain a signed 
application for services with:  

 The parent’s(s) full name(s), address(es) and telephone number(s). 

 The names, gender and birth dates of all children under the age of eighteen (18) counted in the 
family size whether or not they are served by the program. 

 The number of hours of service each day for each child. 

 The names of other family members in the household related by blood, marriage or adoption. 

 The reason for needing childcare and development services, if applicable. 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶ ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  26 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 Employment or training information for parent(s) including name and address of employer(s) or 
training institution(s) and days and hours of employment or training, if applicable.. 

 Eligibility status.. 

 Family size income, if applicable.. 

 The parent’s signature and date.. 

 The signature of the Site Supervisor/Assistant Director certifying the eligibility and date of 
signature. 

 A notation on when the first services begin.. 

 A notation of the last day services were received. 
The data file must also contain, as applicable: 

 Documentation of income eligibility, including an income calculation worksheet. 

 Documentation of employment. 

 Documentation of seeking employment. 

 Documentation of training. 

 Documentation of parental incapacity. 

 Documentation of child's disabilities. 

 Documentation of homelessness. 

 Documentation of seeking permanent housing for family stability. 

 Written referral from a legally qualified professional from a legal, medical, or social services 
agency, or emergency shelter for children at risk of abuse, neglect, or exploitation.. 

 Written referral from a county welfare department, child welfare services worker, certifying that 
the child is receiving protective services and the family requires child care and development 
services as part of the case plan.. 

 If the parent of the child was on cash assistance, the date the parental cash aid was terminated. 

 A signed Child Care Data Collection Privacy Notice and Consent Form CD 9600A shall be 
included.. 

 Notice of Action (as stated above in detail) and/or Recipient of Services. 

 All child health and current emergency information required by California Code of Regulations, 
title 22, Social Security, Division 12, Community Care Facilities Licensing Regulations.  

 
1. Documentation and Determination of Family Size 
A parent shall provide the names of the parents and the names, gender and birthdates of the children 
identified in the family. This information shall be documented on a confidential application for child care 
and development services and used to determine family size. The parent shall provide supporting 
documentation regarding the number of children and parents in the family. 
The number of children shall be documented by providing at least one of the following documents, as 
applicable for the state funded program*: 

 Birth certificates. 

 Court orders regarding child custody. 

 Adoption documents. 

 Records of Foster Care placements. 

 School or medical records.  

 County welfare department records; or 

 Other reliable documentation indicating the relationship of the child to the parent. 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: .…¶ ...

Deleted: ¶
• A 

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ;…¶ ...

Deleted: ;…¶ ...

Deleted: ;…¶ ...

Deleted: ;

Formatted ...

Deleted: ;…¶ ...

Deleted: ;…¶ ...

Deleted: ;…¶ ...

Deleted: ;

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: Services …ervices.¶ ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ;…¶ ...

Deleted: ;…¶ ...

Deleted: ;…¶ ...

Deleted: ;…¶ ...

Deleted: ;…¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  27 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

               *Federally funded programs require documentation for the child to be enrolled, only. In state 
funded programs, when only one parent has signed the application and the information provided 
pursuant to subdivision (a)(1) indicates the child(ren) in the family has another parent whose name does 
not appear on the application, then the presence or absence of that parent shall be documented by 
providing any one of the following documents, as applicable: 

 Records of marriage, divorce, domestic partnership or legal separation. 

 Court-ordered child custody arrangements. 

 Evidence that the parent signing the application is receiving child support payments from that 
person, has filed for child support with the appropriate local agency, or has executed documents 
with that agency declining to file for child support. 

 Rental receipts or agreements, contracts, utility bills or other documents for the residence of 
the absent parent: or   

 Any other documentation, excluding a self-declaration, to confirm the presence or absence of a 
parent of a child in the family. 
 

If, due to the recent departure of a parent from the family, the remaining applicant parent cannot 
provide any documentation, the applicant parent may submit a self-declaration signed under penalty of 
perjury explaining the absence of that parent from the family.  
 
Within six months of applying or reporting this change in family size, the parent must provide 
documentation as noted above. 
 
If the information provided by the parent is insufficient, staff shall request any additional 
documentation necessary to verify the family composition and family size.  
 
For income eligibility and family fee purposes, when a child and his or her siblings are living in a family 
that does not include their biological or adoptive parent, only the child and related siblings shall be 
counted to determine family size. In these cases, the adult(s) must meet a need criterion.  
 
2. Documentation of Income Eligibility 
The parent is responsible for providing documentation of the family’s total countable income and the 
staff is required to verify the information, as described below  
 
The parent(s) shall document total countable income for all the individuals counted in the family size as 
follows:  
i. If the parent is employed, provide: 

 A release authorizing the staff to contact the employer(s), to the extent known, that includes 
the employer’s name, address, telephone number, and usual business hours, and 

 All payroll check stubs, a letter from the employer delivered to CSB independent of the 
employee, or other record of wages issued by the employer for the month preceding the initial 
certification, an update of the application, or the recertification that establishes eligibility for 
services.  
 

When the employer refuses or fails to provide requested documentation or when a request for 
documentation would adversely affect the parent’s employment, provide other means of verification 
that may include a list of clients and amounts paid, the most recently signed and completed tax returns, 

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: W

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ;

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ;

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ;

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: family indicating that the parent is 
the responsible party; or

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: :

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  28 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

quarterly estimated tax statements, or other records of income to support the reported income, along 
with a self-certification of income. 
 
ii. If the parent is self-employed, provide a combination of documentation necessary to establish current 
income eligibility for at least the month preceding the initial certification, an update of the application, 
or the recertification that establishes eligibility for services. Documentation shall consist of as many of 
the following types of documentation as necessary to determine income:  

 A letter from the source of the income, 

 A copy of the most recently signed and completed tax return with a statement of current 
estimated income for tax purposes, or 

 Other business records, such as ledgers, receipts, or business logs. 
 

Parents shall provide copies of the documentation of all non-wage income, self-certification of any 
income for which no documentation is possible, and any verified child support payments. 
Staff: 
 

Staff shall retain copies of the documentation of total countable income and adjusted monthly income 

in the family data file. 

 

When the parent is employed, staff shall, as applicable, verify the parent’s salary/wage; rate(s) of pay; 

potential for overtime, tips or additional compensation; hours and days of work; variability of hours and 

days of work; pay periods and frequency of pay, start date for the employee. If the employer refuses or 

is non-responsive in providing requested information or a request for employer documentation would 

adversely affect the parent’s employment, and if the information provided by a self-employed parent is 

inconsistent with the staff’s knowledge or community practice, shall request clarification in the self-

certification of income, additional income information or a reasonable basis for concluding that the 

employer exists. 

 

When the parent is self-employed, staff shall obtain and make a record of independent verification 
regarding the cost for services provided by the parent that may be obtained by contacting clients, 
reviewing bank statements, or confirming the information in the parent’s advertisements or website.  

 
If the income cannot be independently verified, the staff shall assess whether the reported income is 
reasonable or consistent with the community practice for this employment. 
 
Staff may request additional documentation to verify total countable income to the extent that the 
information provided by the parent or the employer is insufficient to make a reasonable assessment of 
income eligibility. 
 
To establish eligibility, staff shall, by signing the application for services, certify to the staff’s reasonable 
belief that the income documentation obtained and, if applicable, the self-certification, support the 
reported income, are reliable and are consistent with all other family information and the staff’s 
knowledge, if applicable, of this type of employment or employer. 
 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted:  ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Deleted: Provide 

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Deleted: •

Deleted: hall

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  29 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

If the family is receiving child care and development services because the child(ren) is/are at risk of 
abuse, neglect, or exploitation or receiving child protective services and the written referral specifies 
that it is necessary to exempt the family from paying a fee, then the parent will not be required to 
provide documentation of total countable income.  
 
If the basis of eligibility is a current aid recipient, the staff shall obtain verification from CalWIN.   
 
3. Calculation of Income 
i. General Procedures for calculating income 
Staff calculates total countable income based on income information reflecting the family’s current and 
on-going income using an income calculation worksheet that specifies the frequency and amount of the 
payroll check stubs provided by the parent and all other sources of countable income.  
 
When income fluctuates because of: 

o Agricultural work, by averaging income from the 12 months preceding the initial 
certification, an update of the application, or the recertification that establishes 
eligibility for services. 

o Intermittent income, by averaging the intermittent income from the preceding 12 
months by dividing by 12 and add this amount to the other countable income. 

o Unpredictable income, by averaging the income from at least three consecutive months 
and no more than 12 months preceding the initial certification, an update of the 
application, or the recertification that establishes eligibility for services. 
 

ii. Over-Income Families-General Description 
Both the State and Federal program allow over-income families meeting strict criteria. NO CHILD SHALL 
BE CONSIDERED FOR ENROLLMENT WITH AN INCOME ABOVE THE FEDERAL POVERTY GUIDELINE UNTIL 
ALL FAMILIES AT OR BELOW THE FEDERAL POVERTY GUIDELINES HAVE BEEN ENROLLED. To this end, it is 
critical that the recruitment plan be fully implemented and that extra efforts are made to assist income 
eligible families in completing the application to establish eligibility and be placed in the program 
expeditiously. After these efforts have been conducted, documented and certified, a request to waive 
the income guidelines may be made. The waiver form (See Forms > CSB606) includes a certification 
statement on the back of the form where the outreach efforts are documented. A simple statement that 
“the waitlist has been exhausted” is never acceptable. 
 
iii. Over-Income Protocols 
When enrolling over-income families, the Site Supervisor or Manager is responsible for: 

 Completing the over income waiver (CSB606). 

 Submitting completed waiver to Assistant Director/Partner Analyst for approval. 

 Placing original Assistant Director approved waiver in child’s file 
The Assistant Director/Partner Analyst is responsible for: 

 Receiving form and ensuring that all possible outreach has been conducted to ensure that there 
are no income eligible children to enroll.  

 Reviewing the aggregate waiver list on Shared Drive to ensure that their cluster has not 
exceeded the 10% unlimited over income designated primarily for children with an IEP or IFSP 
but for other cases as determined appropriate by the AS or 35% limited over income enrollment 

Deleted: :¶
•

Deleted: U

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  1"

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: Then, they review



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  30 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

for the Head Start and Early Head Start program, or the 15% limited over income for the part 
day preschool (PP) or the part day family literacy program (PPL). 

 Signing form 

 Forwarding the original to Site Supervisor/Mgr. for placement in file. 

 Forwarding a copy of approved waiver to Division Manager (ERSEA). 
The Division Manager (ERSEA) is responsible for: 

 Receiving copies of approved over income waivers from Assistant Directors/Partner Analyst. 

 Logging each waiver on database on shared drive. 

 Providing alerts to each Assistant Director/Partner Analyst that are nearing their over income 
allowance. 

 Analyzing placement of over income slots to inform recruitment and slot planning processes. 

 Periodically purging the list as children transition out of the program. 
 
4. Documentation of the Child’s Exceptional Needs (known as Children with Disabilities at CSB). 
The family data file shall contain documentation of the child’s exceptional needs if the staff is claiming 
adjustment factors. The documentation of exceptional needs shall include:  

 A copy of the portion of the active individual family service plan (IFSP) or the individualized 
education program (IEP) that includes the information as specified in Education Code section 
56026 and California Code of Regulations, title 5, sections 3030 and 3031; and 

 A statement signed by a legally qualified professional that: 
o The child requires the special attention of adults in a child care setting; and 
o Includes the name, address, license number, and telephone number of the legally 

qualified professional who is rendering the opinion. 
 
P. Admission Policies and Procedures 
Children are admitted into the program based on need and family income adjusted for family size. 
Highest priority goes to children with need for protective services and/or having lowest income. 
 
When a parent seeks services, the Site Supervisor/Assistant Director or Comprehensive Services Team 
member collects family information from the Waiting List Pre-Registration form (CSB690).  The child is 
placed on CLOUDS upon applying for child care services. 
 
As openings become available, names are drawn by rank from the CLOUDS waitlist for the various 
program options in accordance with the approved selection criteria/admission priorities. 
 
If multiple families have the same rank, the family waiting the longest period of time is selected first.  
CSB makes available 10% of its federally funded spaces for children with disabilities and gives priority for 
its unlimited over income allotment to these children (also 10% of its funded slots). 
 
Children will not be denied when a family needs less than full-time services. 
 
Families who have been recruited for admissions to the program will be required to complete an 
application and provide supporting documentation.  These documents must be of the current year, 
verification of income, shots, and birth certification of the child applying for enrollment.   
 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.25", Bulleted + Level: 2 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Deleted: ¶
• Providing 

Deleted: original 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted:  Administrative Services Analyst III 

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: Administrative Services Analyst III

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.25", Bulleted + Level: 2 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.25", Bulleted + Level: 2 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
o

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  31 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Letters informing the family of acceptance or denial for services must be sent once certification is 
complete.  The family has the right to dispute the denial of services by providing additional information 
to prove eligibility to receive services.  Re-Certification may happen anytime the family’s situation 
changes and requests that new documentation be reviewed. Any changes must be reported by the 
family within 5 days. 
 
Q.  General Admission Procedure 
When an opening occurs in the center, the Site Supervisor will call the parent with the highest rank on 
the CLOUDS eligible list for an appointment for processing eligibility documents, noting any change of 
income and need for service.  At this time, the parent receives an official Notice of Action (NOA) 
approving or disapproving state funded services.  The NOA provides information outlining the parent’s 
due process rights in a statement on the back of the NOA.  Parents wishing to appeal an agency decision 
must follow the procedure carefully or void the right to appeal. Following the timelines is essential. 
Parents applying for a Head Start only slot sign the Admissions Agreement and Application but do not 
receive an NOA. 
 
R. Children’s Enrollment File 
The Federal Regulations and the State of California require children’s centers to maintain a file on each 
enrolled child including the following information: 

 Birth Certificate to verify birth, age of child, gender and parents names.  Information on date of 
admission, termination and re-enrollment. 

 Names, addresses and phone numbers of parents and other relatives and/or friend that may be 
contacted in case of emergency. 

 A Health History is completed by the parent to collect information on child’s general health. 
 

This and much more information is collected during one-on-one parent meetings, while assisting the 
parent to complete the enrollment packet and assisting the parent with health needs of the child or 
issues of the parent and household.  Information must be updated and data entered into CLOUDS as it is 
received. 
 
S. Due Process Requirements 
1. Notice of Action, Application for Services 
The Site Supervisor’s decision to approve or deny services shall be communicated to the applicant 
through a written statement referred to as a Notice of Action, Application for Services. The Site 
Supervisor shall maintain copies of the Notice of Action, Application for Services in the basic data file.  
The Notice of Action, Application for Services shall include:  (1) the applicant’s name and address; (2) the 
Site Supervisor’s name and address or the name and telephone number of the CSB authorized 
representative who made the decision; (3) the date of the notice; (4) the method of distribution of the 
notice. 
 
If services are approved, the notice shall also contain: (1) basis of eligibility; (2) daily fee, if applicable; (3) 
duration of the eligibility; (4) names of children approved to receive services; and (5) the hours of 
service approved for each day. 
 
If the services are denied, the notice shall contain: (1) the basis of denial and (2) instructions for the 
parent(s) on how to request a hearing if they do not agree with the Site Supervisor’s decision in 
accordance with procedures specified below.   

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.25", Bulleted + Level: 2 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Deleted: sex 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  32 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 
2. Notice of Action, Recipient of Services 
If, upon re-certification or update of the application, CSB determines that the need or eligibility 
requirements are no longer being met, or the fee amount of service needs to be modified, the Site 
Supervisor will notify the family through a written Notice of Action, Recipient of Services. The Site 
Supervisor will maintain copies of all Notice of Action, Recipient of Services in the family’s basic file. The 
Notice of Action, Recipient of Services will include: (1) the type of action being taken; (2) The effective 
date of action; (3) the name and address of recipient; (4) the name and address of CSB; (5) the name 
and telephone number of the CSB authorized representative who is taking the action; (6) the date of 
notice is mailed or given to the recipient; (7) the method of distribution to the recipient; (8) a 
description of the action; (9) a statement of the reason(s) for the changes; (10) a statement of the 
reason(s) for termination, if applicable; and (11) instructions for the parent(s) on how to request a 
hearing if they do not agree with the Site Supervisor decisions.   
 
3. Approval or Denial of Child Care and Development Services 
The Site Supervisor will mail or deliver a completed Notice of Action, Application for Services to the 
parents within thirty (30) calendar days from the date the application is signed by the parent(s).   
 
4. Changes Affecting Service 
The Site Supervisor will complete a Notice of Action, Recipient of Services when changes are made to 
the service agreement. Such changes may include, but are not limited to, an increase in parent fees, an 
increase or decrease in the amount of services, or termination of service.  
The Site Supervisor will mail or deliver the Notice of Action to the parents at least fourteen (14) calendar 
days before the effective date of the intended action. 
 
To promote the continuity of child care and development services, a family that no longer meets a 
particular program’s income, eligibility or need criteria may have their services continued if the Site 
Supervisor is able to transfer that family’s enrollment to another program for which the family continues 
to be eligible prior to the date of termination of services. The transfer of enrollment may be to another 
program within the same administrative agency or to another agency that administers state or federally 
funded childcare and development programs within that county. 
 
T. Alternative Placement for Children 
When terminating children from the state funded portion of the program, Site Supervisors are 
responsible for the following: 

 Issue Notice of Action 14 days prior to termination date. 

 Explain to parents their appeal rights. 

 If parent does not appeal termination: 

 Enter information regarding reason for ending services in CLOUDS Child Data Sheet. Date and 
initial comments. 

 Change enrollment status in CLOUDS. 

 Discontinue services on Family Data Sheet. 

 Determine if child may return within the program year.  If so, place child back on 
Eligible/Accepted List.  If not, archive the CLOUDS record. 

 Assist the family in finding an alternate placement for the child. 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.25", Bulleted + Level: 2 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted:  

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  33 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 If parent appeals termination, send appeal notice to Assistant Director and continue to serve 

child until informed to move forward with termination. 

 
Head Start children that are deemed inappropriate for their current setting are always afforded an 
opportunity in another program option as space is available. If the parent is ineligible for Head Start or 
our state funded programs, they are to be referred to a partner site and/or to the county’s resource and 
referral agency, Contra Costa Child Care Council (925-676-KIDS). 
 
U. Client’s Request for a Hearing and Procedures 
If a parent in the state funded program disagrees with an action, the parent(s) may file a written request 
for a hearing with the Site Supervisor within fourteen (14) calendar days of the date the Notice of Action 
was received.   
 
Upon the filing of a request for hearing, the intended action shall be suspended until the review process 
has been completed.  The review process is complete when the appeal process has been exhausted or 
when the parent(s) abandons the appeal process. 
 
Within ten (10) calendar days following the receipt of the request for a hearing, the Site Supervisor will 
notify the parent(s) of the time and place of the hearing.  The time and place of the hearing will, to the 
extent possible, be convenient for the parent(s). 
 
An Assistant Director, who will be referred to as “the hearing officer” will conduct the hearing.  The 
hearing officer will be at a staff level higher in authority than the staff person who made the contested 
decision. 
 
The parent(s) or parent’s authorized representative is required to attend the hearing.  If the parent or 
the parent’s authorized representative fails to appear at the hearing, the parent will be deemed to have 
abandoned his or her appeal.  Only persons directly affected by the hearing will be allowed to attend the 
hearing. 
 
The Assistant Director will arrange for the presence of an interpreter at the hearing, if one is requested 
by the parent(s). 
 
The Assistant Director will explain to the parent(s) the legal, regulatory, or policy basis for the intended 
action. 
 
During the hearing, the parent(s) will have an opportunity to explain the reason(s) they believe the Site 
Supervisor’s decision was incorrect.  The Site Supervisor will present any material facts omitted by the 
parent(s). 
 
The Assistant Director will mail or deliver to the parent(s) a written decision within ten (10) days after 
the hearing. 
 
V. Appeal Procedure for CDD Review 
If the parent disagrees with the written decision from the Site Supervisor, the parent has fourteen (14) 
calendar days in which to appeal to the CDD.  If the parent(s) do(es) not submit an appeal request to the 

Deleted: If 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Bulleted +
Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at: 

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  34 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

CDD within fourteen (14) calendar days, the parents’ appeal process will be deemed abandoned and the 
Site Supervisor may implement the intended action. 
 
The parent(s) will specify in the appeal request the reason(s) why he/she believes the Site Supervisor’s 
decision was incorrect.  
 
The parents must submit a copy of CSB’s Notice of Action with the appeal request. 
Upon receipt of the appeal request, the CDD may request copies of the basic data file and other relevant 
materials from CSB.  The CDD may also conduct any investigations, interviews or mediation necessary to 
resolve the appeal. 
 
The decision of the CDD will be mailed or delivered to the parent(s) and the Site Supervisor within thirty 
(30) calendar days after receipt of the appeal request. 
 
W. CSB Compliance with CDD Decision 
CSB will comply with the decision of the CDD immediately upon receipt thereof. 
 
CSB will be reimbursed for childcare and development services delivered to the family during the appeal 
process.   
 
If the Site Supervisor’s determination that a family is ineligible is upheld by the State, services to the 
family will cease upon receipt by the Site Supervisor of the State’s decision. 
 
X. Retention of Enrollment Records 
Delegate Agencies, the Grantee-Operated Program, and sub-contractor retain copies of official 
enrollment application forms, which contain certification data for each child enrolled during the 
program year for 5 years. 
 
Copies of enrollment records serve as a primary source document for audit purposes. 
 
Cooperation with local Contra Costa County welfare offices is encouraged for recruiting eligible children 
into the program. 
 
Y. Enrolled But Waiting For Transfer Protocol 
When staff has a child/family that wants to transfer sites: 

 Comprehensive Services staff and site staff who learn about a family wanting to transfer 
communicate via email to all applicable SSs, CSAMs & Partners (as known or Partner CSAM) the 
need for a transfer. Make additional calls as necessary. 

 Clearly and fully document the transfer in the case file on CLOUDS. 

 Clearly and fully explain to the family about any changes they may experience as a result of a 
possible program model change at time of transfer to other center (ex: part-day to full-day  - 
family must now show need) 
 

When staff are searching to fill an open slot: 

 Notify CSAM immediately upon determination that a slot will become available. 

 CSAM check notes for any children that are enrolled but waiting for a slot.  

Deleted: staffs 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
• Comprehensive Services staff and site staff 
who learn about a family wanting to transfer 
communicate. Email to all applicable SSs, CSAMs 
& Partners (as known or Partner CSAM) the need 
for a transfer. Make additional calls as necessary. ¶
• After AD approval, Site Supervisor of current 
center or for Partner sites Partner CSAM marks 
child as E/W on CLOUDS (check box in “Additional 
Needs & Services” section at bottom of Child Data 
Sheet), and update site preferences in CLOUDS for 
child. ¶

•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: CLOUDS for E/W children first & 
identify candidates. These children are our first 
priority for consideration for 
enrollment/transfer. Go to Eligible/Accepted 
list, click “filtering”, select preferred site and 
“include ENROLLED but returning” from drop 
down boxes, click “filter”.

Deleted: ¶
•



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  35 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 CSAM of current center reviews files for pending issues prior to transfer and communicates any 
issues to receiving CSAM. Transfer file to new center’s Site Supervisor or designee. 

 Site Supervisor completes 9600S and NOA. Also, collect any additional documentation required 
for program model change (see Eligibility and Need Criteria Documentation Checklists) 

 Site Supervisor enrolls the child from CLOUDS. 
 
Z. Transfer of Child with Disabilities or of Child Receiving Mental Health Services 
When a child with disabilities or receiving mental health services transfers to another CSB site, 
communication is vital. The Comprehensive Services team member is responsible for notifying the Site 
Supervisor/Head Teacher and CS/Disabilities/Mental Health Manager in writing.  Notification is to be 
sent before the child begins at another site so that necessary arrangements or accommodations can be 
made. 
 
The Site Supervisor/Head Teacher will inform the appropriate teacher of the transfer.  The 
Comprehensive Services team member and the CS/Mental Health Manager will complete this process 
within two weeks of notification of an opening. 
 
AA. CSPP Full-day to Part-Day or Tuition Based Approval Process 
1. General Description 
In the event that a family loses eligibility or need for services during the program year, CSB has the 
discretion to offer families the option to receive services part-day (less than 4 hours per day) or pay a 
fee for full-day services (Tuition Based) rather than terminate services. Part-day services could be 
offered in the child’s same class or in another class during the “pre-school portion of the day” (8:30 – 
12:00) as available. Whenever possible, the child will be allowed to stay in their current classroom.   

 
CSB fiscal unit tracks CDE earnings monthly, and notifies program staff if the risk of under earning 
develops. If under earning is a risk, ADs cease to approve all moves to part-day until risk subsides 
according to reports from fiscal unit.  
 
2. Action Guidance for Staff  
i. Full-day or ¾ time to Part-day 

 Site Supervisor determines family no longer meets eligibility or need criteria (for more than 4 
hours of care) and issues NOA for termination of full-day (or ¾ time) services effective 14 or 19 
days as appropriate.  

 The below process must be complete no later than the effective date of action noted on the 
NOA. 

 Site Supervisor ensures that each class is fully enrolled morning and afternoon through 
enrollment and certified hours of care.  

 Site Supervisor determines if part-day services are available during the preschool portion of the 
day (8:30 – 12:00). 

 If available, the Site Supervisor and family determine if part-day services are desirable and 
appropriate. 

 If desired by the family and appropriate, Site Supervisor completes approval form CSB607 (See 
CSB Forms). 

 If part-day services are unavailable, not desired by the family or inappropriate, Site Supervisor 
terminates the child and closes the file. 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: • Site Supervisor un-checks E/W box 
in CLOUDS.¶

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: If the Site Supervisor and the family 
agree that a move to part-day services is 
available, desirable, and appropriate, the 
following will occur:¶

<#>• Site Supervisor ensures that each class is 
fully enrolled morning and afternoon through 
enrollment and certified hours of care. ¶
<#>• Site Supervisor completes Approval 
Form CSB607 (See CSB Forms).¶
<#>• AD approves or denies request, 
maintains original for her records and returns a 
copy to the site.¶

• Site Supervisor files copy in student file, 
updates CLOUDS (waitlist & re-enroll with new 
program model or terminate), and updates 
student file including NOA, 9600S, and any other 
appropriate documents, and moves child to part-
day services.

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: code

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  36 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 AD approves or denies CSB607 request, maintains original for her records and returns a copy to 
the site. 

 If approved, Site Supervisor files copy in student file, updates CLOUDS (waitlist & re-enroll with 
new program model), and updates student file including the following and moves the child to 
part-day services on date on or after AD approval date and no later than effective date of NOA 
terminating full-day (or ¾ time) services. 

o Completed 9600S – update program model at least and hours of care, and other 
information as applicable 

o Income and family size remain as they were at original enrollment unless 
documentation of current income or family size benefits the family. 

o NOA stating change to part-day services - effective date is same as effective date for 
termination of full-day services (or before if desired by the parent). 

o Update CLOUDS hours of care. 
o Update CLOUDS program model (while retaining previous enrollment history), reason 

for needing care (if applicable), program option (if applicable) to “part-day center-
based”, and any other appropriate updates.  

o Site Supervisor ensures child is reflected on appropriate 9400s for appropriate number 
of days during the month of the move. 

 
ii. Full-day or ¾ time to Tuition Based (TB) 

 Site Supervisor determines family no longer meets eligibility or need criteria (for more than 4 
hours of care) and issues NOA for termination of full-day (or ¾ time) services effective 14 or 19 
days as appropriate. 

 Site Supervisor ensures that each class is fully enrolled morning and afternoon through 
enrollment and hours of care.  

 Site Supervisor determines if TB services are available. 

 If available, Site Supervisor and family determine if TB services are desirable and appropriate. 

 If desired by the family and appropriate, Site Supervisor completes approval form CSB607 (See 
CSB Forms). 

 AD approves or denies request, maintains original for her records and returns a copy to the site. 

 If approved, Site Supervisor closes file and CLOUDS, completes all applicable paperwork and 
required forms, including an NOA stating termination of services and moves the child to TB 
services on first day after the end of the 14 to 19 day NOA waiting period. 

 Site Supervisor ensures child is reflected on 9400 for only the appropriate number of days 
during the month until the date the move to TB services was effective. 

 See section at end of this manual for Tuition Based services policies and procedures. 
 
BB. Withdrawal of Child from the Program 
When the teaching staff learns that a child has terminated services, they should note the “last day 
attended” on the child's application (9600) and the sign in/out sheet.  They must also notify the CSAM 
immediately upon knowledge of a pending vacancy.  Whenever possible, the reason for the withdrawal 
should be ascertained and recorded. The child’s termination date in CLOUDS is the first date the child 
does not attend so that attendance data can be captured for the last day of attendance.  
 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  37 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Parents who wish to reinstate must meet Title V Regulations. If the parents are successful in meeting the 
Title V Regulations, the parent must complete all required paperwork and provide income 
documentation. 
 
The following are some reasons that a child might be placed back on the waiting list (please see Parent 
Handbook for a complete listing): 

 A pattern of unexcused absences - Poor attendance / sporadic attendance is defined as three or 
more unexcused absences.  When this occurs, the teacher calls the Site Supervisor, who makes 
personal contact with the parent as soon as they realized a child has not attended and the 
parent has not called.  If multiple service needs are disclosed by a parent, he/she should be 
offered Case Management services in order to create a plan to correct the absenteeism. Every 
effort is made to assist parents in removing barriers to attendance. 

 Parent’s failure to comply with rules/regulations, resulting in danger to the health / safety of 
children / staff – (Must be approved by the Assistant Director) 

 Parent’s failure to comply with health requirements as mandated by Community Care Licensing. 

 Extreme behavior problems in a child that may be harmful to the child or others (This must be 
based on a joint assessment by the CS / Disabilities / Mental Health Manager, and the Site 
Supervisor.) 

 For General Childcare, a change in income or need eligibility status such that the family is no 
longer eligible for care. 
 

When a child has been terminated from the program, the Site Supervisor will then call the Assistant 
Director, CSAM and teacher, notifying them of a new child replacing the terminated child.  The Site 
Supervisor will call the parent of the terminated child, informing him/her that the child has been put 
back on the waiting list. If a terminated child is brought to school, the parent should be told to speak to 
the Site Supervisor.  
 
CC. Attendance Expectations 
1. General Description 
CSB children are expected to attend classes daily.  Regular attendance is strictly enforced, and each 
center maintains documentation of all attendance/absenteeism activities.  Upon registration, parents 
are oriented about enrollment/attendance policies. 
 
Each parent receives a copy of the attendance policies, and the importance of regular attendance is 
stressed to them.  Re-orientation of the enrollment/attendance policies occurs at the beginning of 
classes, and ongoing reminders are communicated as needed. 
 
2. Unexcused Absences 
After a child has been absent for two consecutive days, the center staff must contact the child’s parents 
to determine the cause of the absence and to clarify the attendance policy. 
 
After two days of unexcused absences from the center, the parent is contacted inquiring about the 
absences and clarifying the attendance policy. 
 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: •

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: .



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  38 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

After four consecutive unexcused absences, a conference with parents is called.  Parents are informed 
that failure to attend the conference may result in their child being terminated from the program and 
placed onto the waiting list. 
 
After ten consecutive or intermittent days of unexcused absences, the child is dropped from the active 
program and is put back onto the waiting list.  (Children absent due to illness are counted in the Average 
Daily Attendance criteria.) 
 
Site supervisor will check attendance sheets daily or at least three times a week to ensure attendance 
policies are implemented. 
 
DD. Attendance Accounting 
1. General Description 
Accounting for attendance is completed daily by the classroom teacher.  Attendance is entered into 
CLOUDS weekly, and reports are utilized to ensure that each center maintains 85% monthly attendance 
for all federally funded slots.  If the monthly attendance rate falls below 85%, the Site Supervisor will be 
notified by the ERSEA analyst and will utilize the CLOUDS absence reports to analyze the reasons and 
develop a corrective action plan that they submit to the Assistant Director and the ERSEA Analyst.  
 
2. Procedure 
Centers maintain attendance binders for each class as the primary source document for billing the 
funding source, for licensing and for audit purposes. This will be phased out when CLOUDS has approval 
by the California Department of Education. 
 
Parents or their designee must sign children in and out of the centers daily and note the time of drop off 
and pick up. 
 
A code is used consistently throughout the entire program to mark Present, Excused Absence, and 
Unexcused Absence.  Absences are marked with an ”A” and given the excuse provided by the parent in 
the comment section of the sign-in sheet. The teacher determines if the absence is excused in 
accordance with the excused and unexcused absence policies included herein.  When absences are 
excused, the ”A” is enclosed in a circle.   
 
At the end of the month, the teacher reviews each attendance record and totals the days of attendance, 
excused and unexcused absences, and signs and dates the sheet before sending it to the Site Supervisor. 
 
Parents are required to give the reason for a child’s absence when the child returns to school and to sign 
the comment to authenticate it.  On occasions where the child has not returned to school, the Site 
Supervisor fills in and signs the reason for absence after contacting the parent. 
 
Attendance records are reviewed by the Site Supervisor and coded by program type and special need of 
the child where applicable.   
 
Attendance sheets are alphabetized and collated according to special categories. 
 
The Site Supervisor in programs funded by the State produces computerized reports for the various 
programs at the center.  The report is entitled the CD 9400.   



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  39 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 The Site Supervisor completes and signs each page of the CD 9400s signifying that the entries 
match the children’s attendance sheets. 

 The Site Supervisor forwards the signed CD 9400s and attendance sheets to the Assistant 
Director for review. 

 The Assistant Director reviews and signs off on the CD 9400s then submits the CD 9400s with 
attached attendance sheets to the Enrollment/Attendance Cluster Clerk by the 4th work day of 
each month for the preceding month. 

 The Enrollment/Attendance Cluster Clerk reviews and signs off on the CD 9400s then submits 
the finalized CD 9400s to the Administration Office (Business Systems Clerk) by the 6th work day 
of each month. 

 The Business Systems Clerk collects all the CD 9400s then reviews, signs and submits the CDFS 
9500s and the CDFS8501 to the Fiscal Department by the 10th working day of each month. 

 The Business Systems Assistant Manager prepares the CD 801A report and submits it 
electronically to teh State CDMIS website by the 20th of every month for the preceding month. 

 The Fiscal Department reviews the submitted CDFS 9500s and the CDFS 8501 then submits 
finalized report to the California Department of Education by the 20th of the month for each 
quarter. 

 
3. Excused Absences 

 Illness: Absences may be excused for illness of the child, parent, or any sibling.  Illness absences 
lasting 3 or more consecutive days may require appropriate medical professional 
documentation.  

 Family Emergency: Absences due to family emergencies may be considered excused absences. 
The reason for the family emergency must be specified in the sign in and out sheets. Any of the 
following reasons can be considered family emergencies: 

 Death of a family member. 

 Immediate need for medical health treatment of anyone in the family unit.  

 Any incident caused by a situation which results in the family having their normal schedule 
disrupted to the extent that the parent cannot safely accompany their child to the site (i.e., 
theft, fire, flood, arrest and/or incarceration of a parent, or any other similar situations) 

 If regular means of transportation to school is disrupted, and no alternative, i.e. public 
transportation is available. 

 Any other situation at the discretion of the site supervisor. 

 Best Interest Days (BID): Absences may be excused for the “best interest of    the child” which 
would include time for a child to be with a parent or relative (i.e. vacation or visitation with non-
custodial parent, a court-mandated visit, or participating in cultural or religious holidays). Other 
requests for BID are at the discretion of the Site Supervisor.  BID absences are limited to ten (10) 
days per program year per child, with the exception of children who are recipients of protective 
services or are at risk of abuse or neglect. Proof of such services must be documented in the 
child’s data file. The reason for the “Best Interest Day” must be specified in the sign in and out 
sheets. 

 Exclusion due to unmet health requirements: Children must be excused for immunizations that 
are not up-to-date or a physical or TB clearance that is not received within 30 days of 
enrollment. Parents are allowed one extension beyond the 30 day requirement with proof of an 
appointment on file. Children are permitted up to three days of excused absences. After that, a 
Notice of Action (as applicable) will be issued for termination from the program. 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: Supervisor signs each page of the 
CD 9400 signifying that the entries match the 
children’s attendance sheets.

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Deleted:  submits the CD 9400 with attached 
attendance sheets to the enrollment / 
attendance clerk in the administrative office by 
the 7th of each month for the preceding 
month.¶
•

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Superscript

Deleted: By the 5th of each month, the 
Supervisor prepares a form CD 801-A for each 
program type listing all of the state-subsidized 
families enrolled at the center.  

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Underline

Formatted: Underline, Superscript

Formatted: Underline

Formatted: Underline, Superscript

Formatted: Underline

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  40 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 
EE. Title XXII Requirements for All Children 
Record of “up to date” immunizations must be on file before children can attend. A complete physical 
examination by the child’s physician is required within 30 days of admission.  A form is provided at the 
intake interview for use by the family physician.  An immunization record authorized by a Medical 
Doctor or a Registered Nurse must be shown.  The Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services staff will 
review and file a copy at the time of enrollment.  Immunizations must be kept current while the child is 
attending the centers. The Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services staff member notifies parents 
when immunizations are due. Children whose immunizations are not kept up to date will be excluded 
from the center until they are brought up-to-date, unless there is a medical waiver on file. 
 
Although TB clearance must be obtained within thirty days of admission, the physical must also have 
indicated the result of the TB screening on the child’s record. 
Children may be eligible for a free physical through the Child Health Disability Prevention Program.  
Parents should be encouraged to discuss this option with the Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services 
staff member. 
 
Enrollment information is kept confidential from all but: (1) authorized program staff, (2) California 
Department of Education program evaluators (3) authorized public officials. Information will not be 
released without parental permission, except as mentioned above. 
 
Children with disabilities are accepted by the centers when CSB is able to obtain appropriate 
documentation to determine the child’s needs.  CSB will work with the family to make all reasonable 
accommodations for the child. CSB complies with ADA and IDEA. 
 
FF. Fees for Non-Head Start and Early Head Start Funded Programs  
1. Purpose 
The purpose of these procedures is to document the process of billing, collecting, and depositing of 
childcare fees in accordance with County policies and the State’s Funding Terms and Conditions related 
to child development programs. 
 
2. County Administrative Bulletins  
Community Services Bureau shall comply with the requirements set forth in Administrative Bulletin 
Number 205 regarding cash collections procedures. 
 
3. Fee Assessment 
i. CSB shall use the current fee schedule prepared and issued by California Department of Education for 
child care programs funded by the State.  If more than one child in a family is participating in the state 
funded program the family’s fee shall be assessed and collected based on the child who is enrolled for 
the longest period in a day. If the children are located at different child care centers, the fee shall be 
collected by the center in which the child who is enrolled the longest period in the day is enrolled. 
 
For Fee for Service Program (Tuition Based), CSB shall use the monthly rate approved by the County 
Board of Supervisors. 
 
ii. Exclusions from Fee Assessment 

 The exclusions shall apply only to State-funded child care programs. 

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  41 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 No fees shall be collected from families with an income level that, in relation to family size, is 
less than the first entry in the fee schedule. 

 Families receiving services because the child is at risk of abuse, neglect, or exploitation, may be 
exempt from paying fees for up to three months if the referral prepared by a legally qualified 
professional from a legal, medical, or social services agency, or emergency shelter specifies that 
it is necessary to exempt the family from paying a fee. The cumulative period of time that a 
family may be exempt from paying a fee for this reason shall not exceed 12 months. 

 Families receiving services because the child is receiving protective services may be exempt 
from paying fees for up to 12 months if the referral prepared by the county welfare department, 
child welfare services worker specifies that it is necessary to exempt the family from paying a 
fee. The cumulative period of time that a family may be exempt from paying a fee for this 
reason shall not exceed 12 months. 

 In accordance with the State’s Management Bulletin 09-18, all families that currently receive a 
CalWORKS grant on behalf of the children will not be assessed a fee. Former CalWORKS grant 
recipients are not included in this exemption. 

 
iii. Credit for Fees Paid to Other Service Providers 
This section shall apply only to State-funded child care programs. 

 When CSB cannot meet all of the family’s needs for child care for which eligibility and need have 
been established, CSB shall grant a fee credit equal to the amount paid to the other provider(s) 
of these childcare and development services.  CSB shall apply the fee credit to the family’s 
subsequent fee billing period.  The family shall not be allowed to carry over the fee credit 
beyond the family’s subsequent fee billing period. 

 CSB shall obtain copies of receipts or cancelled checks for the other child care and development 
services from the parent.  The copies of the receipts or cancelled checks and a complete and 
signed CSB Fees Rendered Form shall be maintained in the parent’s fee assessment records.  

 The copies of the receipts or cancelled checks and a complete and signed CSB Fees Rendered 
Form are due by the first day of the month. Fees due shall be considered delinquent if this 
documentation and any remaining fees owed are not collected within seven (7) calendar days. 

 Copies of the receipt or cancelled check shall include the following: name of the other service 
provider, amount of payment, date of receipt or payment, the period of child care services 
covered by the payment, name of the parent, and name of the child who received childcare 
from the other service provider.  

 
GG. Billing Procedures 
Child care fees are paid in advance.  One week before the end of each month, each Center shall submit 
to the Fiscal Unit a Billing Worksheet that contains following information:  

 Name of the parent or guardian 

 Name of the child enrolled 

 Funding category of the program where the child is enrolled in. 

 Total number of school days in the billing month 

 Daily rate determined by the Site Supervisor based on State’s fee schedule (for child 
development contracts) or county approved rate (for fee for service program) 

 Total amount assessed 

 Collections made in prior month 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: <#>No fees will be assessed or 
collected for families with children enrolled in 
the California State Preschool Program for less 
than four hours per day.¶

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: ¶
¶

•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  42 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 Comment section for effective date of the daily rate, last date the child will attend the day care, 
and other pertinent information that affects the calculation of monthly billing. 

 
No adjustments shall be made for excused or unexcused absences. The parent or guardian shall pay the 
total amount billed if the child is absent regardless of the reason during the billing month. 
 
Periodic review of billing information – Assistant Directors shall reconcile or perform independent 
review from the participant’s files to the billing report to ensure all parent fees are billed correctly. 
 
Fiscal staff shall input the information from the Billing Worksheet to QuickBooks in order to generate 
the Monthly Invoice and Statement for the following month.  The Invoice and Account Statement shall 
be sent to the Site Supervisor for distribution to fee paying parents by the first of the following month.  
 
Child care fees are due by the first of the month. They shall be considered delinquent if not paid within 
seven (7) calendar days. 
 
If account is delinquent at the close of business on the seventh calendar day, a Notice of Action shall be 
issued to inform the family of the following: 

 The total amount of unpaid fees 

 The fee rate 

 The period of delinquency 
That services shall be terminated fourteen (14) to nineteen (19) calendar days (depending on 
method of issuance) from the date of the Notice of Action unless all delinquent fees are paid 
and/or documentation of credit for fees paid to other service providers is collected before the 
end of the 14-19 day waiting period.  The 14 day period pertains to NOAs that are hand 
delivered to the parent; the 19 day period pertains to NOAs that are delivered to the parent via 
the US Postal Service. 
 

If the family is unable to pay their fee the program shall accept a reasonable plan from the parents 

for payment of delinquent fees. The plan must be developed before the end of the 14-19 day 

waiting period and shall not exceed 4 months to repay the full amount of delinquent fees.  The 

center shall continue to provide services to the child provided the parents make a minimum “good 

faith” payment of at least 10% of the total delinquent fees at the time the plan is developed, pay 

their full assessed monthly fees when due and comply with the provisions of the repayment plan. 

The Delinquent Child Care Fee Repayment Plan Form can be printed from MyCSD under 0600 

Enrollment of Electronic Forms.   

 Agency staff shall submit the repayment plan to their Assistant Director or Partner Agency 
Director for approval before finalizing the plan. Once approved, the originals of the termination 
NOA and repayment plan shall be filed in the family file and copies shall immediately be 
provided to CSB Fiscal and the center’s Assistant Director or Partner Agency Director. 

 Upon termination of services from non-payment of delinquent fees, staff shall make this 
indication in CLOUDS, and the family shall be ineligible for childcare services until all delinquent 
fees are paid.   
 

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted:  

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.25", 
No bullets or numbering

Deleted: ¶
¶
•

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: ¶
¶

•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  43 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Center staff shall make reasonable attempts to collect unpaid fees from terminated families through 
letters and phone calls.  

 Attempts shall be documented and copies of letters shall be maintained in the family’s file 

 If unpaid fees are collected, staff shall send the collected fees, the pre-numbered receipt 
and a copy of the termination NOA to CSB Fiscal.  

 If unpaid fees have not successfully been collected after making several attempts to do so 
staff shall send to CSB Fiscal copies of the termination NOA and letters and case notes 
regarding attempts to collect.  

 All attempts to collect unpaid fees must be made within 45 days of termination. 

 Documentation of attempts and the termination NOA are due to CSB Fiscal not more than 
45 days after termination.  

 
HH. Fee Collection Procedures 

 Each center shall collect checks, money order or cashier check from the parents.  Cash is not 
acceptable mode of payment.  A designated center staff shall issue signed receipt to the parent 
for the amount collected.  At CSB centers this person must be a county employee, and may not 
be temporary staff. The designated staff shall be accountable for the money received and such 
money shall be stored in a locked cash box placed in a secured area of the center. 

 Center staff shall process all collected fees immediately. At least once weekly, or if fee 
collections exceed $50, the designated staff shall deposit the money to the County Wells Fargo 
Bank account.  Immediately following the deposit designated staff shall submit a copy of the 
receipt(s) issued to the parent(s), a copy of the Deposit Slip and Original Bank Receipt to the 
Fiscal Unit. 

 Fiscal staff shall check copies of Receipts to make sure that total amount agrees to Deposit Slip 
and Bank Receipt amounts. 

 Fiscal staff shall enter the payment information to QuickBooks in order to update parent 
accounts.  Receipts shall be stamped “Posted” and filed in numeric order by Center. 

 Fiscal staff shall code the collected family fees accordingly and input the data in the county’s 
Electronic Deposit Permit system. 

 Fiscal staff shall file the Deposit Slip, Bank Receipt and print out of Validated Deposit Permit in 
the Deposit binder. 

 
II. Receipts/Banking Procedures 
The S-Receipts issued to parents shall be in quadruplicate (4 copies). 

 Take the hard cardboard piece from inside the back cover of the book to use between the series 
of S-receipts. 

 Give the original S-receipt (yellow copy) to the parent and send the duplicate (white) copy of the 
S-receipt to the Fiscal Unit with the duplicate (pink) deposit slip and original (white) bank receipt 
(the transaction record). 

 The golden copy of the S-receipt shall be put in the parent’s file at the site. 

 The pink copy of the S-receipt shall stay in the S-receipt book and the entire book shall be sent 
to the Fiscal Unit when a new S-receipt booklet is needed.  

 The original (yellow), white and golden copies shall be sent to the Fiscal Unit even if an error is 
made that resulted in the voiding of the S-receipt.  Write “VOID” across it.  The voided S-receipt 
must be signed and dated by the Site Supervisor.  The reason for the void must also be written 
on the S-receipt. 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25",
Space After:  0 pt, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Deleted: . 

Deleted:  

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted:  ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  44 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 For credit for fees paid to other service providers, the center staff shall send to CSB Fiscal a copy 
of the receipt or cancelled check paid by the parent to the other child care service provider.  The 
Site Supervisor shall attach these receipts or cancelled checks to the signed Fees Rendered Form 
and submit to CSB Fiscal Unit.  The Fees Rendered Form can be printed from MyCSD under 0600 
Enrollment of Electronic Forms.  The form should be properly filled out and the credit amount 
should be equal to and no more than the amount paid to the other provider and shall not 
exceed the parent fees billed during the month.   

 
JJ. Confidentiality of Records 
The use or disclosure of all information pertaining to the child and his/her family will be restricted to 
purposes directly connected with the administration of the program. The Site Supervisor will permit the 
review of the basic data file by the child’s parent(s) or parent’s authorized representative, upon request 
and at a reasonable times and places.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
II. Staffing Requirements 
A. Program Director 

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: ¶
 ¶

Formatted: Font: Bold



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  45 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Community Services Bureau operates at two (2) or more sites; therefore CSB will employ Program 
Directors that have administrative and programmatic responsibility for the program. The Program 
Directors will meet the California Department of Education requirements. 
The California Child Development Division (CDD) may waive the qualifications for program Director upon 
a finding of one of the following:  

 The applicant is making satisfactory progress toward securing a permit issued by the 
Commission on Teacher Credentialing authorizing supervision of a childcare and development 
program operating in two (2) or more sites or fulfilling the qualifications for program Directors in 
severely handicapped programs. 

 The place of employment is so remote from institutions offering the necessary course work as to 
make continuing education impracticable, and the contracting agency Director has made a 
diligent search but has been unable to hire a more qualified applicant. 

 Any other reason established by the rules of the Superintendent of Public Instruction. 
 
B. Site Supervisor 
At each site, there will be a person designated as the Site Supervisor who has operational program 
responsibility for the program. A Site Supervisor will meet the requirements establish by the California 
Title V Regulations and the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing. 
 
The CDD will grant a waiver of this requirement upon the program’s demonstration of the existence of 
compelling need. Factors the CDD will consider in determining compelling need are as follows: (1) 
evidence that the program’s recruitment efforts have been successful in obtaining qualified applicants; 
(2) evidence of the program’s inability to offer competitive salaries; and/or (3) evidence of potential or 
current staff’s lack of reasonable access to training resources which offer required course work.  
 
C. Teacher 
Master Teachers, Teachers and Associate Teachers will meet California Title V Regulations as listed on 
the California Teacher Credentialing Permit Matrix and the Early Head Start and Head Start degree 
requirements as specified by the Head Start Act of 2007.   
 
D. Applicability of Staffing Requirements 
CSB is not subject to regulations under CCR, Title V, and the laws upon which those regulations are 
enforced if subsidized children comprise less than a majority of the enrollment at a given center. If there 
are no facilities in the area to meet the special needs of particular children, then the CDD may, upon 
request, waive its regulations in the area for staffing and ratios for programs in which subsidized 
children comprise a majority of the enrollment. 
 
E. Staffing Ratios for Site Supervisors or Teachers 
CSB Site Supervisors shall maintain at least the following minimum ratios in all centers: 

 Infants (birth to 18 months old) – 1:3 Adult to Children; 1:18 Teacher to Children (with no more 
than eight infants in a group) 

 Toddlers (18 months to 36 months old) – 1:4 Adults to Children; 1:16 Teachers to Children (with 
no more than eight toddlers in a group) 

 Preschool (36 months to kindergarten enrollment) – 1:8 Adults to Children; 1:24 Teacher to 
Children 

Compliance with these ratios shall be determined based on actual attendance. 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  46 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 
Whenever groups of children of two age categories are co-mingled and the younger age group exceeds 
50% of the number of children present, the ratios for the entire group must meet the ratios required for 
the younger age group.  If the younger age group does not exceed 50% of the total number of the 
children present, the teacher-child and adult-child ratios shall be computed separately from each group. 
Except as otherwise provided in Title 22 California Code of Regulations, Community Care Licensing 
Standards, the program may exceed teacher-child and adult-child ratios by 15% for a period of time not 
to exceed 120 minutes in any one day. 
 
F. Comprehensive Services 
The program is supported at all times by the following personnel: 

 A health services content area expert who is trained and experienced in public health, nursing, 
health education, maternal and child health, or health administration. Additionally, when a 
health procedure must only be by a licensed / certified health professional, the agency will 
ensure that this requirement is met. 

 A nutrition services content area expert who is a registered dietician or nutritionist. 

 A mental health services content area expert who is a licensed or certified mental health 
professional with experience and expertise in serving young children and their families. 

 A parent, family and community engagement content expert who is trained and experienced in 
field(s) related to social, human, or family services and who is skilled in assisting parents of 
young children in advocating and decision making for their families. 

 A disabilities services content area expert who is trained and experienced in securing and 
individualizing needed services for children with disabilities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
III. Business Systems 
A. Overview 
The Business Systems Unit supports the operation of CSB programs by ensuring that CSB has: 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: partnership / parent involvement 

Deleted: area 

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Font: Bold



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  47 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 Safe, secure facilities. 

 Technology and related services to effectively manage work. 

 Safe transportation for travel as necessary and available. 

 Grant writing leadership and support. 

 Ongoing monitoring, planning, and communication systems. 

 Equipment and supplies necessary to operate a quality program; and  

 Forums for sharing ideas and implementing continuous improvement. 
 
B. Facilities 
1. Physical Environment and Facilities  
Both the CSB and their designated contractors shall endeavor to operate offices and childcare centers 
that are free of exposure from toxins such as cigarette smoke, pesticides, herbicides, lead, and other air 
pollutants as well as contaminants from the soil and the water.   
 
Smoking is not permitted under any circumstances on the premises of the centers and is posted as such. 
Anyone found bringing in a lighted cigarette or cigar shall be directed to immediately leave the 
office/center until the item has been safely extinguished outside of the building. 
 
No center or office shall be sprayed with herbicides or pesticides when children or staff is present.  
Each center has a thermostat that must maintain a minimum of 68 degrees F. and a maximum of 85 
degrees F. 
 
All plumbing fixtures must be sanitary, safe and in working condition at all times, including hot and cold 
water availability (a minimum of 105 degrees F. and not to exceed 120 degrees F) and may not serve 
more than 15 children. 
 
i. Children’s Centers-Outdoor Environment 
The outdoor space must be safe and free from hazards at all times.  Each morning, before the children 
go outside, the Site Supervisor or designee must assess the entire outside area including the sandbox, 
climbing area, playground surfacing, fences and any other area in use by the children to ensure 
compliance with state and federal health and safety requirements.  This is done by using the “Outdoor 
Health and Safety Checklist”. 
 
If there are hazards on the playground, the Site Supervisor must: 

 Assess what needs to be done immediately to fix the hazard.  If he/she is unable to fix the 
situation immediately, he/she must make alternate space for the children until the situation is 
fixed. 

 Report the hazard to his/her immediate supervisor. 

 Complete a Facility Work Request after receiving approval from the Site Supervisor.   

 In centers with infants, toddlers and preschoolers, the age groups must be kept separated at all 
times. 

 
ii. Children’s Centers-Indoor Environment 
The indoor space must meet applicable state and federal regulations at all times.   Each morning, the 
opening staff member(s) must conduct an indoor health and safety check to ensure the facility is ready 
for children. 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ;

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ;

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ;

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ;

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ;

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  48 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 
iii. Infants Environment 
The indoor and outdoor spaces for infants must be separate from areas for children of differing ages. 
Inside it can be a separate room or separated by moveable walls or partitions that have correct square 
footage in each area. The moveable walls or partitions must be at least four feet high, made of sound 
absorbing material and designed to minimize injury to infants.  
 
The calculation of the indoor space does not include the space used by cribs. The sleeping area must be 
physically separate from the activity area. This can be accomplished by having a separate room or with 
the partitions described above. 
 
2. Building Security/Alarms and Maintenance 
i. Building Closure  
Procedures are established at each site based on the whether they have an Electronic Access System 
and/or Building Security Alarm.  Each site is responsible for developing and enforcing a building opening 
and closing procedure.  The Site Supervisor or senior staff member is responsible to see that all 
appropriate staff are informed and trained on the procedure to lock the building and arm the alarm (if 
applicable).  Information on how to contact the alarm company and who to contact for after hour 
emergencies is posted at the alarm panel. 
 
ii. Building Security Alarms  
Building security alarms are turned on by assigned staff when leaving the site at the end of the day and 
turned off at the beginning of the day.  If there are problems with arming or disarming the system, staff 
call the alarm monitoring company at the phone number shown at the arming station.  If assistance 
cannot be provided over the phone, an alarm technician will be sent to the site.  If error codes are 
present but the system is functioning, staff submits an electronic work order to Facilities stating the 
error code.    
 
The Security system performs a self test and displays a trouble code for any required maintenance on a 
daily basis.   An emergency contact list is provided to the alarm monitoring company of staff to contact 
in case of an alarm being triggered after hours. 
 
iii. Fire and carbon monoxide monitoring systems  
Fire and carbon monoxide monitoring systems are tested annually by the local fire authority and 
inspection reports are kept on site.  Any identified deficiencies must be repaired and pass re-inspection.   
Repair work orders are submitted electronically to Facilities by the Site Supervisor along with a copy of 
the Fire Inspection Report on the day of the inspection. 
 
Trouble codes are sent from the alarm system to the monitoring company which alerts the fire 
department.  When an alarm sounds staff evacuates the building to the designated evacuation area and 
wait for emergency personnel.   
 
iv. Exterior door alarms  
Exterior door alarms are located at the top of the door and are to remain active in the “On” position at 
all times.  Alarms can be over-ridden by use of a key to turn the alarm to the “Off” position to open the 
door for transition to and from a classroom.   
 



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  49 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

The Site Supervisor will submit a work order to Facilities the same day as problems occur, for example 
the alarm not sounding when the door is opened without turning the key to the “Off” position.   The 
exterior doors alarms are battery operated and beep when a battery becomes weak.   Facilities Building 
Services Workers will replace batteries within 24-hours of receiving a work order request notifying them 
of a low battery alert.   
 
The Safety Officer performs a test of exterior door alarms as part of the monthly health and safety 
checklist and all problems are reported to Facilities immediately through submission of an electronic 
work order request.    
 
v. Alarmed Push Bars on Half-doors  
Alarmed push bars on half-doors are located in building entrances and must be armed at all times.  The 
Safety Officer tests all half-doors in the facility as part of the monthly health and safety checklist and all 
problems are reported to Facilities immediately through submission of an electronic work order request.   
The Site Supervisor will submit a work order the same day as problems occur, for example by the alarm 
not sounding when a door is opened when pressing on the bar, or if the alarm does not reset after the 
door is closed.   A half door that is armed will show a red light on the alarm panel.  No light or a green 
light indicates the alarm is not set.  To activate the alarm: the key is turned to the off/green light 
position, staff waits 30 seconds, and then turns to the on/red light position. Keys to the doors are to be 
kept out of the reach of children at all times and in a discrete location from visitors.  Staff is to 
demonstrate proficiency in arming the system.  Facilities staff will review and provide training on arming 
the doors upon request.    
 
Centers with alarmed push bars on playground gates are to include the testing of the gates in the 
monthly Health and Safety checklist.   Playground gates do not have alarm panels with lights and are 
armed at all times. 
 
vi. Electronic Access Card Systems  
Electronic access card systems on exterior entry doors maintain the security of the facilities by limiting 
access.  Staff is issued electronic access cards to sites that work like electronic keys.  Exterior doors 
remain locked from the outside while allowing staff access with their electronic card.  The cards are also 
printed with staff names and photos to be used as identification cards.  If an electronic access card is 
lost or stolen it will be promptly deactivated to maintain the security of the facility.  Repairs to access 
card systems are rarely needed and are made when issues are reported by the Site Supervisor to the 
Facilities unit through an electronic work order request.    
 
vii. Keys 
Keys for entry to Community Services Bureau buildings will be furnished by Business Systems per 
request of Site Supervisor or employee’s supervisor. 
 
At time of issuance of keys, the employee will be requested to sign in copy of the Portable Media/Access 
Policy and key sign out sheet. 
 
Upon receiving access to any of the site keys, the staff member is responsible for safe keeping the key 
and its use as well as to ensure that all building doors are secured prior to leaving the building. Keys are 
not to be loaned or made available to others and any lost or stolen keys should be reported to Business 
Systems immediately. 

Deleted: access 

Deleted: card 

Deleted: s



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  50 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 
For more information, refer to Portable Media/Access Device Policy. 
 
viii. AiPhone (Video/intercom) Systems  
AiPhone systems are used at some sites to allow staff to easily allow access to families while keeping the 
facility secure.  Visitors to a center press the buzzer outside the entrance and are greeted over the 
intercom.   When they are visually identified the door is unlocked.   
 
ix. Video Surveillance Systems  
Video surveillance systems operate 24 hours a day 7 days a week.   The Site Supervisor monitors the 
surveillance cameras daily and confirms cameras are directed to show a clear unobstructed view of the 
classrooms, entrances, and playgrounds.  Any obstructions to the view or misdirected cameras are 
reported to Facilities through an electronic work order request by the site supervisor the same day as 
they occur.   The Facilities staff will check the video feed from their location and report the problem 
immediately to General Services. The facilities unit will work with General Services to make any 
necessary repairs within 24 hours of the reported problem.  
 
Requests for video footage are made to Facilities by the Site Supervisor or senior management staff 
through an electronic work order request.   Requests must be made as soon as possible as the system 
retains footage for only a few days to a week.  
 
3. Acquiring Space 
The Policy Council must be consulted on the location of space acquired for the program’s use.  Space 
acquired must meet all applicable local ordinances for both classroom and office use.  Additionally, all 
space acquired for classroom use must meet all state and federal regulations.  Negotiation of leases is 
delegated to Contra Costa County Lease Management, and lease costs must be within budgeted 
amounts designated for such expenditures.  Lease Management prepares/finalizes all leases for the 
Assistant Director’s signature.  Also, the Business Systems Manager or Division Manager must 
approve/sign all leases negotiated for CSB. 
 
4.  Use of County Facilities 
The use of county facilities is covered by the following regulations: 

 Use of County building space by private organizations is regulated by inter-agency agreement. 

 Departmental officials may make arrangements for posting official announcements on County 
bulletin boards through the General Services Department.  Use of County bulletin boards by for 
private organizations for advertising, except as provided by ordinance for employee 
organizations, is prohibited. 

 CSB program managers are responsible for County facilities and property used by employees 
under their jurisdiction.  While controlling and administering use of space/facilities, managers 
must see that employees do not introduce material which others would find objectionable / 
offensive for reasons such as different social, political, religious, or moral beliefs. 

 Solicitation of contributions and sale of merchandise within County buildings except for 
purposes authorized by the Board of Supervisors is prohibited. 

 Restrooms and lounge facilities are provided for employee use. 

 CSB classrooms and offices are not to be used as lunch or coffee rooms. 

Deleted: systems 

Deleted: viii

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: systems 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted:  

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  51 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 All facilities serving children must meet applicable state and federal regulations pertaining to 
health, safety, and developmentally appropriate practice. 

 
5.  Document Posting 
Before classes begin each program year, the Site Supervisor obtains and assures the proper posting or 
filing of the following documents at each facility and/or classroom: 

 Evacuation Plan 

 Fire / Earthquake Drill Schedule 

 Emergency Guidelines for Illness and Accident First Aid Manual 

 Emergency phone numbers for fire, police, paramedics, nearest emergency hospital, poison 
control center, physician, and administrative office 

 Parents’ Rights Form 

 Children’s Rights Form 

 No Smoking signs 

 Employee Safety Policy Statement 

 Current license 

 Any other document mandated by the state or federal government. 

 Note: Children’s contact numbers are never to be posted. 
 
6.  Safety Officer 
For each building which houses CSB personnel, a safety officer has been designated.  General 
responsibilities of safety officers are to: 

 Complete monthly health and safety checklist. 

 Instruct co-workers in emergency procedures. 

 Assume control during an emergency. 

 Keep track of persons assigned to each building. 

 Know the conditions under which a building should be evacuated. 

 Know what procedures/equipment is available for the evacuation of handicapped persons. 

 Know the location of all primary and alternate building exits and know direct routes to each exit. 

 After evacuating a building, search to make certain all individuals have left. 

 When emergency responders arrive, report to them any injured person requiring special 
attention. 

 Call roll at the evacuation assembly area and report missing persons to emergency responders. 

 Know the location of all fire alarms and fire extinguishers. 

 Know how to operate fire extinguishers. 

 Know the location of all first aid and emergency kits. 

 Know first aid and CPR.   
 
C. Use of Technology 
CSB utilizes a variety of technology throughout the bureau and is supported by the Contra Costa County 
Department of Information Technology.  
 
1. Business Systems Re-engineering Committee (BARC) 
BARC is comprised of a cross-section of staff with the following charter: to create business systems that 
maximize automation and efficiency by using streamlined processes that eliminate duplication, 

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶ ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Formatted ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  52 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

maximize output, and lend themselves to order resulting in easily and readily accessible information 
that drives quality programming. 
 
2. Child Location Observation Utilization Data System (CLOUDS) 
CSB uses CLOUDS as its management information system. Staff are required to keep the system up-to-
date in accordance with their respective roles in the organization. These roles are detailed in these 
policies and procedures in each service area. In addition, teachers are responsible for ensuring that 
parents sign their child in and out electronically. Manual systems are in place for back-up purposes. 
 
i. User Support 
CLOUDS user manuals are posed on the CSB intranet and in the Shared Drive (S:\CLOUDS) that detail 
how to use the system. In addition, training is provided in an ongoing fashion via user groups. New staff 
are assigned a mentor user to orient them to the system.  
 
ii. Ongoing System Enhancements 
All system enhancements must be requested via the content area expert for the respective portion of 
the system. Content area experts formally request the enhancement to be placed in the project queue 
via the CSB Resource Center on the CSB intranet. Enhancement requests must include attachments with 
screen shots and indicate the level of priority with a justification for the priority level. The Business 
Systems Manager will evaluate all requests and notify requestor of final decision regarding placement in 
the project queue. As enhancements are developed, content area experts are required to test them and 
then to inform staff regarding proper usage of enhancement. User manuals will be updated with 
finalized enhancements by the vendor. 
 
D. Equipment and Supplies 
1. Procedures for Ordering Materials - Employees and Supervisors 
i. General Description 
An employee or supervisor has alternatives for obtaining non-emergency material or services.  These 
are: 

 Office Supplies - Approved ordering staff at each location prepare an on-line order form.  CSB 
has an approved shopping list of discounted items that should be utilized whenever possible.  
Items can be added from the general catalog if they are not on the approved list.  The 
completed order is sent electronically to the Assistant Director for approval and submission to 
the office supply company.  Ordering staff can track their order progress on-line. 

 Classroom Supplies – Requests for classroom supplies are sent from the Site Supervisor to their 
Assistant Director for approval.  The designated Assistant Director orders classroom supplies for 
all sites. 

 Health / Janitorial Supplies – All health and janitorial supplies may be ordered on an on-line 
Supply Order Form.  Supply orders should be completed on a monthly basis by the Site 
Supervisor and are approved by the Assistant Director.  The order is then sent electronically to 
the Purchasing Unit for processing. 

 Open Purchase Order - The County has established a number of Open Purchase Orders (POs) 
with vendors in the area authorizing certain persons to pick up material and charge it to the CSB 
account. 
 

If you wish to order materials from these vendors, submit a purchase requisition to your supervisor for 
approval of the Assistant Director.  If approved, it will be forwarded to a person authorized to purchase 

Formatted: Font color: Text 2

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  53 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

material under the Open PO by credit card or other arrangement.  If an order is over $5,000 it must be 
signed by the Division Manager. 
 
After the purchase is made, the requisition and the vendor’s receipt will be forwarded to the CSB 
Accounts Payable Unit.  When the bill is received, the Accounts Payable Clerk will match it to the 
approved requisition and receipt prior to payment.  CSB has established Open Purchase Orders with 
many vendors.  A current list can be obtained from Fiscal.   If you are making a large number of 
purchases from a vendor that does not have an Open PO you may request that one be established by 
contacting the purchasing clerk. 
 
CSB Requisition - If there is no Open PO available for the material required, you must submit an 
approved CSB purchase requisition to your division’s purchasing clerk.  After a purchase is made, the 
requisition and packing receipt must be forwarded as soon as possible to CSB Accounts Payable Unit.  
When the bill is received the Accounts Payable Clerk will match it to the approved requisition and 
receipt for payment. 
 
ii. Purchasing Procedures - Purchasing Clerks 
Purchasing clerks are located in the CSB Administrative Office and are responsible for processing all 
department requisitions.  Once the purchasing clerk receives a CSB requisition he/she has several 
options of procurement methods depending on the situation.  Below is a description of the methods 
available to the purchasing clerk. 

 Warrant Request - CSB can normally use a Warrant Request to purchase items with a total cost 
under $500.  This form needs to be signed by the requester and an authorized manager.  This 
procedure is faster than a purchase order as it does not need to be processed by County 
Purchasing.   

 CSB cannot use a Warrant Request to purchase any item that can be purchased using an open 
purchase agreement.  In addition, the following items cannot be purchased using a warrant 
request:  

o Furniture 
o Printing Services 
o Appliances 
o Professional Services  
o Cellular Telephones 
o Building Related Charges 

 County Requisition (Form REQ) - For vendors not having an Open PO, or not qualifying for a 
Warrant Request, items are purchased using an approved Purchase Order.   The purchasing clerk 
completes a County Requisition form based on the submitted requisition form and forwards it to 
the General Services Purchasing Division for preparation of a Purchase Order.   

 
There is no dollar limit for a Purchase Order however it can be an extensive process as it may have to go 
through the County’s procurement process and involve soliciting competitive bids and awarding of the 
contract to the lowest qualified bidder depending on the dollar amount of the proposed contract. 
It should be noted that, when time is critical, CSB might ask the Purchasing Division for a PO number.  If 
they agree, CSB is allowed to make the purchase without the normal process. 

 Equipment Definition / purchase of equipment must adhere to both Grantee policies and 
guidelines outline in the Contra Costa County Head Start Administrative Manual.  (For local 
purposes, “equipment” is defined as any purchase costing $5,000 or more.)  Any 

Deleted:  

Deleted: .  Purchasing

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  54 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

equipment/equipment purchase not identified in the annual grant (or subsequent applications) 
must receive Policy Council, Regional, and Executive Director’s approval.  Such requests must be 
made prior to the end of the Head Start fiscal year (by December 31st of each year).  Equipment 
funded in part or wholly through CA Department of Education must have prior approval on any 
single item of $5,000. 

 Supplies 
Supplies purchased for CSB programs must be deemed necessary and appropriate by the Bureau 
Director.  (The process for expenditures of funds for supplies is outlined in the procurement 
procedure on file in the fiscal office.  It must be followed.)  All expenditures of funds must be 
approved by the Program Director. 

 
2.  CSB Equipment, Toys, Materials, and Furniture 
i. General Description 
CSB sites must provide clean sheets and blankets for children’s use at naptime to be washed each week 
or as needed.  If there are not sufficient sheets and blankets, the Site Supervisor must notify the 
Assistant Director immediately. 
 
All play structures and equipment used by the children must meet the following requirements: 

 Age and developmentally appropriate. 

 Maintained in good condition. 

 In sufficient quantity to allow full participation. 

 Free of health and safety hazards. 

 Free of toxic substances. 

 If any material in the environment does not meet the above standards, it must be removed 
immediately or deemed off limits to the children until it can be safely removed. 

 
ii. Infant Furniture 
The infant equipment and furniture, inside and outside, must be developmentally appropriate and 
include cribs, cots or mats, changing tables and other necessary equipment.  The type, height, and size 
of all furniture and equipment must be age appropriate. There must be a variety of age appropriate 
washable toys and equipment. 
 
CSB does not use swings, playpens, walkers or high chairs. Walkers may not be kept on the premises.  
Equipment that is assembled when purchased must not be modified, and if assembly is needed, it must 
be assembled according to the manufacturer’s instructions.  
 
Supplies containing toxic materials or substances shall not be purchased and used on the centers. 
All equipment and furniture must be maintained in good repair and safe condition and disinfected after 
each use. Equipment must be safe and must not have sharp points or edges or splinters, or be made of 
small parts that can be swallowed.  
 
Toilets and hand washing sinks must be in close proximity to the activity areas. 
 
Infant changing tables must: 

 Have a padded surface no less than one-inch thick and be covered with washable vinyl or plastic 

 Have raised sides at least three inches high 

Formatted: Superscript

Deleted: ¶
<#>• Equipment¶
Definition / purchase of equipment must 
adhere to both Grantee policies and guidelines 
outlined in the Contra Costa County Head Start 
Administrative Manual.  (For local purposes, 
“equipment” is defined as any purchase costing 
$5,000 or more.)  Any equipment/equipment 
purchase not identified in the annual grant (or 
subsequent applications) must receive Policy 
Council, Regional, and Executive Director’s 
approval.  Such requests must be made prior to 
the end of the Head Start fiscal year (by 
December 31st of each year).  Equipment 
funded in part or wholly through CA 
Department of Education must have prior 
approval on any single item over $5,000.¶

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Justified

Moved (insertion) [1]

Deleted: ¶
• Supplies

Moved up [1]: Supplies purchased for CSB 
programs must be deemed necessary and 
appropriate by the Bureau Director.  (The process 
for expenditures of funds for supplies is outlined 
in the procurement procedure on file in the fiscal 
office.  It must be followed.)  All expenditures of 
funds must be approved by the Program Director.¶

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  55 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 Be maintained in good repair and safe condition 

 While in use, be placed within arm’s reach of a sink 

 Not be located in the kitchen/food-preparation area 
Toy storage containers must meet the following requirements: 

 Lids and the hardware used to hinge lids on boxes or chests must be removed 

 All edges and corners must be rounded and padded 

 The container must be well ventilated 

 The container must be lockable 

 The container must be maintained in good repair and safe condition 

 Metal and wood boxes must not have sharp or splintery surfaces 
 
Pacifiers must have a shield or guard large enough that the child cannot choke. Rattles must be large 
enough that they cannot become lodged in the infant’s throat and constructed so that they will not 
separate into small pieces. 
 
It is recommended that all infant sites comply with the US Consumer Product Safety Commission advice 
for the selection and safe use of children’s toys. Avoid toys with small parts.  Look for the age 
recommendation on labels.  Toys should be suited to the skills, abilities and interests of children. 
 
iii. Infant Napping Equipment 
Each crib, mat or cot must be occupied by no more than one infant at a time.  
 
For each infant who is unable to climb out of a crib, a standard size crib meeting the following 
requirements is provided:  

 Slats must be no more than 2 and 3/8 inches apart. 

 Tiered cribs are not allowed. 

 Cribs must not limit the ability of the staff to see the infant. 

 Cribs must not limit the infant’s ability to stand upright. 

 The mattress must be at its lowest position . 

 Cribs will have stationary sides. 
Crib mattresses must be: 

 Covered with vinyl or similar moisture resistant material. 

 Wiped with disinfectant daily when soiled or wet. 

 Maintained in a safe condition with no exposed foam, batting or coils. 

 Bumper pads must not be used at CSB facilities. 
 

Each infant must have his/her own bedding used solely for him/her. It must be replaced when wet or 
soiled or when it is to be occupied by another infant.  
 
Bedding must be changed daily or more often if required, and placed in a container that is inaccessible 
to children. 
 
Floor mats or cots must be provided for all infants who have the ability to climb out of a crib.  
 
Cribs, mats or cots must be arranged so that the staff can reach each infant without having to step over 
or reach over any other infant. Placement must not hinder going in and out of the nap area. 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  56 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 
3. Use of County Communication Services 
i. General Description 
Communication services are provided for the use of County employees for work-related 
communications.  For example: 

 The telephone system is provided for the use of Contra Costa County employees in the conduct 
of their assigned duties.  (See EHSD & CSB Internet/Email/IT Standard Usage Policies) 

 Contra Costa County provides a message service (to forward written material and small 
packages among various County facilities on a regular route and time schedule).  Each work site 
served posts the time of pickup and delivery; this service is to be used where available.  
(Supervisors have further information regarding this program.) 

 The Contra Costa County General Services Department provides a centralized United States 
Postal Service operation.  All mail must be processed through this Center- except for emergency 
situations.  Materials to be mailed may be submitted through Messenger Service. 

• The department pays for all postage charges, but receives reduced costs for bulk and ZIP code 
mailings.  Contra Costa County’s Postal Service is provided for office use of County staff.  It is not 
to be used for personal benefit of employees or the public.  (Supervisors may be contacted for 
rules and Regulations regarding United States Postal Services.) 

 Fax machines are available for Contra Costa County use.  Telephone numbers for fax machines 
are listed in the Inter-Office Telephone Directory.  CSB implemented the use of E-fax, faxes 
received and sent by email, and paperless faxing through copiers to switch to paperless faxing. 

 
ii. Portable Communication Devices 
Smart phones, tablets, laptops and wireless modems (collectively referred to as portable communication 
devices) are utilized by CSB to allow management personnel to stay in communication when away from 
their primary office, when traveling on business, and in emergency situations.  Portable communication 
devices are county property and are covered under the same requirements as other county property.  
This includes: 

 Employees are responsible for the security of communication devices and are to report lost, 
damaged or malfunctioning devices to their supervisor as soon as possible after discovery. 

 Employees are responsible to ensure the confidentiality and security of information contained 
on or obtained through communication devices. 

 All communication on the device is considered county business and as such is not considered 
personal or private. 

 Voice messages, text messages, e-mails, photos and other methods of communication or 
storage of information can be reviewed at any time by appropriate county personnel.  This 
includes call, data and text logs. 

 Communication devices are to be used for county business only.  Inappropriate use of county 
property, including the personal use of communication devices that cause excess use charges to 
be incurred whether reimbursed or not, can result in loss of privileges to use county property. 

 Communication devices are to be used only by the county employee they are assigned to.  If 
devices are to be used by more than one authorized employee they will be assigned to specified 
employees for a defined time period before reassignment to other employees. (Sites make 
assignments on the Equipment Check-out Log). 

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Underline, Font color: Blue

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  57 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 Use of a device for texting while driving, whether in a county vehicle or personal vehicle on 
county business, is prohibited by state law.  Phone calls made or received while driving are 
strongly discouraged, but are allowed only if possible with the safe use of hands-free devices. 

 CSB is required to submit reports on the use of the devices to DoIT and the CAO.  The reports 
will contain information specific to each device, including any use of a device that caused 
additional charges to be incurred, and confirmation of reimbursement of those charges. 

 As with all county property, each communication device (including accessories) is to be returned 
upon change of position or separation of employment. 
 

E. Vehicle Usage Policy 
1. General Procedures 
CSB maintains vehicles for use by authorized personnel in order to conduct official County business.  
Policies on the use and operation of vehicles on County business also apply to driving personal vehicles 
while on County business.  Vehicles are reserved through designated clerical staff or vehicle reservation 
calendars.  In an effort to ensure that CSB vehicles are kept in top condition, the following procedures 
must be followed. 

 County vehicles can only be used by authorized employees. 

 Authorized drivers must have a valid California Drivers license. 

 Authorized drivers are to immediately notify their supervisor of any change in the status of their 
California Drivers license. 

 County vehicles are to be used only for authorized county business. 

 Drivers are responsible for safe driving, including parking in a well-lit area, and locking the 
vehicle at all times. 

 Drivers are to be courteous and practice defensive driving and fuel conserving practices. 

 Authorized drivers are to observe all traffic rules and regulations. 

 Car pooling in county vehicles is strongly encouraged when multiple employees are attending 
the same business function. 

 Employees are prohibited from carrying unauthorized riders while on county business. 

 Moving, parking and toll violations are the personal responsibility of the driver. 

 No smoking is allowed in county vehicles. 

 While the vehicle is in operation no eating or drinking is allowed. 

 Cell phones and other hand held devises are not to be used while operating a vehicle. 

 All persons driving or riding in a vehicle are to be properly secured with the use of seat belts or 
other approved restraint systems. 

 Vehicles are to be returned free of trash or other debris. 

 Car seats and other cargo should be secured in the cargo area of the vehicle so that they will not 
become projectiles in case of a sudden stop or accident. 

 Drivers are to wear appropriate footwear, no backless or loose sandals. 

 Vehicles are to be returned with a minimum of a half tank of fuel. 

 County vehicles are to be fueled regularly at the County Fleet station or other approved 
facilities.   

 The County credit card is to be used exclusively for purchasing gasoline at authorized fueling 
centers. (See list of centers and addresses in the vehicle binder fuel tab.)  

 If the credit card is lost it must be reported immediately to avoid fraudulent use.   

 County vehicles will be serviced at the Waterbird Fleet station except in after-hour emergencies. 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  58 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 CSB does not use Fleet loaner vehicles. Contact the Facilities clerk for possible temporary use of 
another CSB vehicle if necessary. 

 County vehicles are not to be taken to a personal residence without Sr. Management approval. 

 Vehicle binders and keys are to be returned punctually after vehicle use.   
 

It is CSB policy to use a county vehicle when one is available in lieu of using a personal vehicle.  If a 
county vehicle is available it must be utilized unless a supervisor determines that the use of a personal 
vehicle is justified.  Justification for the use of a personal vehicle is documented by the supervisor’s 
signature on the request for reimbursement of travel expenses.   
 
2. Accident and Maintenance/Repair Reporting 
Drivers are to report any accident or service need the same day as occurred.  All accidents MUST be 
reported and the proper paperwork completed and submitted to Risk Management within 24 hours of 
the accident.  Any unusual sound, odor, low fuel, maintenance light or other indication that the vehicle 
is malfunctioning or may need service is to be reported to the clerk when returning the vehicle binder. 
 
3. Child Passenger Safety Procedures  
A child will be transported in county vehicles only if the child is fastened in an approved 
developmentally appropriate safety seat, seat belt, or harness appropriate to the child’s weight, and the 
restraint is installed and used in accordance with the manufacturers’ instructions for the car seat and 
the motor vehicle.  Each child must have an individual seat belt and be positioned in the vehicle in 
accordance with the requirements for the safe use of air bags. 
 
Age and size appropriate vehicle child restraint systems shall be used for children 8 years, 80 pounds.  
Vehicle restraint systems should be secured in the back seats only.  Infants shall ride facing the back of 
the car until they have reached one year of age or weigh over 20 pounds.  A booster child safety seat 
shall be used when the child has outgrown the convertible child safety seat. A vehicle seat belt can only 
be used when the child is over 8 years, 80 pounds. The seat belt only fits properly when the lap belt lies 
low and tight across the child’s hips (not the abdomen) and the shoulder belt lies flat across the 
shoulder, away from the neck and face. Never tuck the shoulder belt under the child’s arm or behind the 
child’s back.  The child’s knees should bend easily over the edge of the vehicle seat. 
Staff transporting children must be aware of the following: 

 The rear of vehicle is the only place for a child to ride. 

 Staff should use the diagram of seating plan when placing children in vehicle.  

 Lap-belt only positions can only use the 5-point harness car seats.   

 Shoulder and lap belt position close to sliding door should be last position to seat child. 

 The car seat and seat belts should be checked before each use to make sure they are in correctly 
and that the belt straps are not twisted. 

 Empty car or booster seats should be strapped in with the seat belt system or stowed in the 
cargo area away from passengers. 

 No loose items should be on floor. 
The following are child passenger safety basics for each type of car seat: 

 Rear-Facing 
o Must ride rear facing until at-least 1 year AND at-least 20 pounds 
o Do not bundle or swaddle; no heavy clothing 
o Harnesses at or BELOW shoulder level 

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Deleted: ¶
•

Formatted: Justified, Space After:  0 pt,
Line spacing:  single

Deleted: •

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: o

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified,
Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  59 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

o Harnesses snug and flat across infant 
o Retainer clip at armpit level 
o  
o Seat secured tightly to vehicle with less than 1 inch of movement side-to-side and 

forward 

 Forward-Facing 
o Toddlers over 1 year and 20 pounds but generally weighing less than 40 pounds ride 

either in convertible or forward facing seat in the forward facing position 
o No heavy clothing 
o Harnesses ABOVE shoulder level AND in reinforced slots 
o Harnesses snug and flat across infant 
o Retainer clip at armpit level 
o Generally ride fully upright 
o Seat secured tightly to vehicle with less than 1” of movement side-to-side and forward 
o Top tether in use when available and appropriate 

 Belt Positioning Boosters 
o For children who have outgrown the car seat but do not yet fit the adult lap/shoulder 

belt 
o Lap belt crosses pelvis or top of thighs 
o Shoulder belt crosses chest 
o Middle of child’s head is below the top of the vehicle seat or booster 

 
F. Transportation 
While CSB does not provide direct transportation services to and from the centers each day, the Site 
Supervisor or Comprehensive Services team member must assess the needs of each family upon 
enrollment and attempt to make reasonable effort to assist if the family is in need of transportation 
services to the center. 
Transportation services are offered for the following: 

 To / from socialization activities 

 To / from Policy Council Meetings 

 To / from field trip locations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
                                                                         
            

 

• Lap Belts – use only 5-point 
Harness Seats.  No Boosters 
 

• Shoulder Lap with Star (*) is 
the last Shoulder Harness to 
fill 
 

• No loose items in the vehicle 
 

• Unused car or booster seats 
are strapped in or removed 
from the passenter area of 
the vehicle. 

. 

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶
o

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: o

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Deleted: •

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: ¶ ...

Formatted Table

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Formatted ...

Deleted: <#>ITEM¶ ...

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: Font color: Background 1



2013-2014 
Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  60 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

 
 
 
 
 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Line spacing:  single



CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT COMMUNITY 
SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

SECTION 5-ALTERNATIVE PAYMENT PROGRAM 
 

 

2013-2014 

 
 
 

  

Policy Council Approved:                                                                                                        
Board of Supervisors Approved:  

Deleted: 2012-2013

Deleted: Policy Council Approved: 11-14-12                                                                                          
Board of Supervisors Approved: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

2 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
  

PART I PROGRAM OVERVIEW  

A How to Qualify for Services 3 

B Share of Costs 7 

C Selection Process 7 

D Enrollment Process 8 

E Maintaining Enrollment 9 

F Alternative Payment Program Policies and Procedures 9 

   

PART II ALTERNATIVE PAYMENT PROGRAM PARENT POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

 

A Attendance Policies 10 

B Limited Term Service Leave (LTSL) 11 

C Confidentiality 11 

D Grievance Procedures 12 

E Uniform Complaint Policy 12 

F Zero Tolerance 12 

G Termination Policies 13 

   

PART III PROVIDER PARTICIPATION  

A General Requirements- Parental Choice 14 

B Provider Rate Sheet 15 

C  Attendance Sheet Policies 15 

D Child Care Agreement 16 

E Reimbursement 17 

F Provider Days of Non-Operation 17 

G School Age Children 17 

H Parents Rights to Change Providers/Providers Right to Terminate 
Services 

17 

   

PART IV STAFF ROLES AND RESPOSIBILITIES  

A Stage II/CAPP Unit Clerks 19 

B Stage II/CAPP Unit Child Care Assistant Managers (CCCAM) 19 

C Stage II/CAPP Unit Manager – (CSM) 20 

D Stage II/CAPP Fiscal Support (Accountant III) 20 

E Stage II/CAPP Program Manager (ASA III) 21 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

3 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

I. Program Overview 
The purpose of this program is to provide subsidized child care for eligible children and families living in 
Contra Costa County and to provide a wide range of child care choices for parents.  The CalWORKS Stage 
II Child Care program is limited to those parents who are in receipt of or have received CalWORKS cash 
assistance within the last twenty four (24) months. Our California Alternative Payment Program (CAPP) 
assists families referred by Children and Family Services and low-income families. Both of these 
programs support families in their child care decisions and make timely payments to their chosen child 
care providers.  
 
Children can be served from birth up to age 13, or up to age 21 if special needs are proven with 
appropriate documentation.  
 
The CSB Stage II/CAPP program administers subsidized child care through a vendor approach, providing 
full or partial payments for child care of eligible families. These programs are designed to maximize 
parental choice in selecting child care. Parents may select child care services from licensed centers and 
preschools, licensed family child care homes, licensed-exempt out of home providers, or licensed-
exempt in-home providers. Subsidized child care does NOT pay for private schooling. 
 
CSB operates in accordance with all applicable state and federal laws governing human service agencies. 
These policies may change periodically as directed by the California Department of Education (CDE). 
Addendums will be issued to parents and providers as regulations change. 
 
A. How to Qualify for Services 
1. General Description 
There are various ways that families can qualify for our programs.  The two distinctly funded programs 
administered are Stage II and CAPP. 

 Stage II – Parents in receipt of CalWORKS assistance payments and former CalWORKS parents 
(those having received CalWORKS within twenty four (24) months from the date of application 
for child care supportive services) may be eligible for subsidized child care services. There are 
various stages of funding in this program and each has its own priorities and limitations. It will 
be the responsibility of the Child Care Assistant Manager to work with the parent to determine 
the appropriate stage for child care services. 

 CAPP (California Alternative Payment Program) – Families may be eligible for CAPP funding 
based on need and eligibility criteria (such as low income working families), with 1st priority for 
those children currently receiving child protective services, or those children who are 
considered at risk of abuse, neglect or exploitation by a legally qualified professional. 

 
2. Application 
Applications for the Stage II/CAPP Child Care Unit require the completed application forms found in the 
Child Care Application packet.  Parents must provide all requested information and documentation to 
determine initial eligibility. 
 
 
 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: CalWorks 

Deleted: CalWORKS 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

4 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

3. Eligibility and Need 
i. Eligibility is determined at the time of enrollment, or within six (6) months of the date of transfer from 
CalWORKS Stage I to Stage II.   Families are required to provide their Child Care Assistant Manager the 
appropriate documentation to prove their eligibility for child care for at least one of the following 
criteria: 

 Gross wages/salaries from employment 

 Tips 

 Overtime pay 

 Cash assistance (TANF/Cash Aid) 

 Student loans 

 Disability compensation 

 Unemployment compensation 

 Spousal and/or child support received  

 Foster/Guardianship assistance 
 
Parents will be required to provide supporting documentation for all total countable income. For 
example: 

 Payroll check stubs 

 Letter from employer 

 Most recent tax returns 

 Bank statements 

 Cash aid documents 
 
ii. The family is homeless and provides a written referral from a local shelter, or legally qualified 
professional from a medical or social service agency, or submits a written parental declaration that the 
family is homeless and a statement describing the family’s current living situation. 
 
iii. Child is referred by Child Protective Services (CPS) with a written referral by the county welfare 
department indicating the child is currently receiving CPS services and child care is a necessary piece of 
the service plan. The referral must include the contact information for the social worker and the 
duration of the CPS service plan. These referrals must be dated within 6 months of receiving the child 
care application.  
 
iv. Child is deemed At-Risk of abuse/neglect and provides a written statement by a legally qualified 
professional indicating child care is needed to reduce the risk. The statement must include the 
professionals contact information and probable duration of the situation.  
 
v. Family is transferred from Stage I to Stage II by the county welfare department. Parent will be asked 
to provide documents for recertification within 6 months of the transfer effective date. 
 
4. Family Size - Upon completion of your initial application for services, you will need to provide 
supporting documentation for all children and adults listed in the family. The family members may be 
documented by the following: 

 Birth certificates 

 Court ordered child custody agreements 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

5 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Adoption records 

 Foster care placement records 

 School or medical records 

 County welfare department records 

 Any other document proving relationship between the parent and the child 

 In the absence of a second parent, documentation must be provided to support the absence. 
This documentation may be any one of the following: 

o Records of marriage, divorce, separation 
o Court ordered child custody documents 
o Evidence of child support 
o Rental agreements 
o Any other documentation to verify the presence or absence of the 2nd parent 
o The Child Care Assistant Manager may require further documentation at any time to 

prove the absence of the 2nd parent.  
o Only in the instance when the absence of a parent is a recent departure from the family, 

may the remaining applicant submit a self-declaration under penalty of perjury 
explaining the absence. The remaining applicant has from six (6) months of applying, or 
reporting the change in family size, to provide one of the previously listed documents to 
support the absence of the 2nd parent. 

 
5. Service Need - Families who are income eligible to receive subsidized child care must also have, at 
minimum, one of the following services needs to become enrolled or continue with current service. All 
parents/guardians listed in the family size must have a service need. (Hours of care provided to the 
family will be determined by the family’s need for services.) 
 
i. Child Protective Services (CPS) – Families may be eligible for child care services if the child is referred 
by CPS and parent provides a written referral by the county welfare department indicating the child is 
currently receiving CPS services and child care is a necessary piece of the service plan. The referral must 
include the contact information for the social worker and the duration of the CPS service plan. These 
referrals must be dated within 6 months of receiving the child care application. 
 
ii. At-Risk – Families may be eligible for child care services if the child is deemed at-risk of abuse/neglect 
and parent provides a written statement by a legally qualified professional indicating child care is 
needed to reduce the risk. The statement must include the professionals contact information and 
probable duration of the situation. 
 
iii. Parental Incapacity – Families may be eligible for child care services if the parent(s) are physically or 
mentally unable to provide care for their children. To qualify for child care services under this need, the 
parent would have to submit documentation from legally qualified health professional releasing 
information to verify the parent meets the definition of incapacity, as defined in the California Title 5 
Regulations. The documentation must include the extent of which the parent is unable to provide care, 
the days and hours care is recommended and the health professionals contact information. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

6 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

iv. Employment – Families may receive child care services during the time they are working and traveling 
to and from work. To qualify for child care services under this need parents would need to submit the 
following documentation: 

 An employment verification form – signed by the parents employer stating the days and hours 
worked by the parent 

 One month’s worth of current and consecutive pay stubs 

 If parent is paid in cash by their employer, parent will provide a letter from the employer 
verifying the following: 

o Employers contact information, including the employer tax identification number 
o Date of hire 
o Days and hours of employment 
o Pay rate or gross monthly income 
o Other potential income (i.e. tips, overtime) 
o Statement declaring employee is paid in cash only 

 

 If the parent is self-employed, the parent will provide the following: 
o A declaration under penalty of perjury that includes a description of the nature of their 

employment and an estimated number of days and hours worked per week 
o Copies of appointment logs, client receipts and/or mileage logs 
o Copy of their business license if available, or workspace rental agreement 
o List of clients with contact information  

 
** Note: Parents employed by child care centers, or assisting family care home providers may receive 
services, but those parents who are licensed providers registered with Community Care licensing are not 
eligible to receive child care services for their child(ren). 
 
v. Training Towards Vocational Goal – Families may be eligible for child care services if the parent(s) are 
enrolled in a program that will directly lead to a recognized trade or profession. There is a six (6) year 
limitation for services under this need and the parent must continually make adequate progress towards 
their goal. Regardless of the length of time a parent needs to complete their training, child care services 
must not exceed the six (6) year time limit. To qualify for child care under this need, parents must 
submit the following documentation: 

 Training Verification Form to be signed by registrar (or designee of program). This form includes 
such information as name and location of school/training institute, days and hours of 
class/training schedule, vocational goal of parent, etc. 

 A copy of the current class schedule if available in electronic print, if not this information may be 
indicated on the verification form listed above. 

 The anticipated completion date of all required courses/trainings to meet the vocational goal of 
the parent. 
 

vi. Actively seeking employment – Each parent in the home may qualify for child care services during the 
time they are actively seeking employment. Services must not exceed sixty (60) working days within a 
fiscal year (July 1st through June 30th) and are limited to less than thirty (30) hours of child care per 
week. Parents seeking employment will be required to submit a self declaration under penalty of perjury 
that they are looking for employment. This declaration will include their plan to secure/change 

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

7 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

employment and a general description of the child care hours necessary during this time. The Child Care 
Assistant Manger may request verification of the job search and/or interviews at any time. 
 
vii. Seeking permanent housing – Families receiving services through the CAPP program may be eligible 
for child care if they are trying to secure permanent housing to stabilize the family. Services must not 
exceed sixty (60) working days within a fiscal year (July 1st through June 30th) and are limited to less 
than thirty (30) hours of child care per week. The parents will be required to submit a self declaration 
under penalty of perjury that describes their plan to secure adequate housing for the family and a 
general description of the child care hours necessary during this time. 
 
** Child Care Assistant Managers may require further documentation to prove a families need for 
services at any time. 
 
B. Share of Costs 
1. Family fees 
Some families may be required to pay a portion of their child care costs, this is called the “family fee”. 
These fees are paid by the parent directly to their child care provider. Family fees are determined using 
the “Family Fee Schedule” provided by the California Department of Education (CDE). The following 
determines a parent’s family fee: 

 Family’s gross monthly income 

 Family size 

 The child who uses the most hours of care  

 Whether child care services are part-time (less than 6 hours a day) or full-time (greater than 6 
hours per day) 
 

Based on the above criteria the Child Care Assistant Manager will issue a notice of action to the parent 
informing them of the changes to their Child Care Agreement. An informational copy will be sent to the 
provider. 
 
The parent and provider work out a payment schedule and declare on the monthly attendance sheet 
that the fees have been paid for the month of services rendered. The provider shall issue a receipt of 
family fees paid to the parent. 
 
2. Co-Payments 
If the parent chooses a provider who charges more than the maximum amount CSB can reimburse, the 
parent will be responsible to pay the difference directly to the provider. This difference is referred to as 
a “co-payment”. The maximum amount CSB can reimburse is determined by the California Department 
of Education (CDE) income ceiling guidelines and it will be the provider’s responsibility to collect 
payment from the parent if desired. 
 
C. Selection Process 
There are various ways that families may be selected to participate in one of our programs. Families are 
enrolled based on the following (all enrollments are subject to availability of funding): 
 
 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

8 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
1. Children and Family Service Referrals  
Families may be referred to CSB for enrollment from Children and Family Services (CFS), if child care is 
deemed a necessary piece of the service plan.  CSB will review the referral to determine a family’s 
eligibility for Head Start, Early Head Start, Center Based, Stage II and CAPP programs. Based on eligibility 
and need requirements the referral will be forwarded to the appropriate program, taking into 
consideration parental choice. Once the referral is received by the Stage II/CAPP Unit the family will be 
contacted to determine eligibility. If the family is Stage II eligible and meets all necessary requirements, 
they may be enrolled under Stage II funding. If the family is not Stage II eligible, but staff verifies the 
availability of CAPP funding and the family meets all necessary requirements, they may be enrolled 
under CAPP funding. If the family does not meet the necessary requirements for either program, or 
there is no program funding available at the time of referral, the Unit Manager will forward the referral 
to an outside agency for potential enrollment. At this time staff will notify the referring individual 
whether or not the family was enrolled or referred to an outside agency.  
 
2. Eligibility Lists 
Families may be enrolled through a countywide eligibility list if available, or through an eligibility list 
maintained by CSB for families wanting to participate in subsidized child care. These lists rank families 
on their income and family size to ensure the most eligible family is being served at the time of 
enrollment. (All families with CPS, or at-risk referrals, will be enrolled as 1st priority.) 
 
3. Stage I transfers 
Families may be transferred to Stage II child care services from the Stage I child care unit upon 
discontinuance of cash assistance or when families have been considered stable by their previous child 
care worker (Families may be enrolled directly into Stage II funding if the family is deemed Stage II 
eligible).  
 
D. Enrollment process 
For those families transferred from CalWORKS Stage I to our Stage II child care unit, a Welcome Packet 
will be mailed to the parent explaining that the transfer has occurred. The packet will contain 
information regarding contact information for the family’s new Child Care Assistant Manager, their Child 
Care Agreement(s), the Participation Handbook, attendance forms, etc. An additional copy will be sent 
to the child care provider on file for that family as well.  
 
Based on the availability of funding, all other families will be notified by phone if they are selected to 
participate in our program. For those families referred by Children and Family Services or for those 
deemed At-Risk, we will contact the referring individual to verify the child’s need and begin 
communication regarding enrollment to better support the needs of the family. 
 
The family will be offered an appointment to begin the enrollment process. At the time of appointment, 
the parent will be required to bring documentation that may include, but is not limited to, the following: 

 Birth Certificates for all children counted in the family size 

 One month current/consecutive paycheck stubs 

 Verification of employment, vocational training, or parental incapacity 

 Child Support documentation 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

9 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Immunization records for non-school age children 

 If applicable, IEP/IFSP for children with special needs  

 Any other income or verification documentation as requested by the Child Care Assistant 
Manager to determine the families need and eligibility for services. 
 

During the enrollment appointment, the parent will be asked to complete an application for child care 
services. The information must be completed by the parent(s), signed, dated and then verified and 
signed off by the Child Care Assistant Manager.  
 
Once services are approved the Child Care Assistant Manager will issue the parent and provider a Notice 
of Action (NOA) indicating the certification is completed. The parent and provider will receive the Child 
Care Agreement(s) and be asked to sign and return to the Child Care Assistant Manager for services to 
begin. These agreements will outline the days and times that child care has been approved and whether 
or not there is a family fee/co-payment due to the provider. Each time there is a change to the schedule, 
increase in provider rates, change in family information, or at time of recertification, a NOA and updated 
Child Care Agreement will be issued to both the parent and provider. 
 
E. Maintaining Enrollment 
1. Recertification 
Parents are required to recertify their services once every six (6) to twelve (12) months, or more 
frequent depending on their need for services. The Child Care Assistant Manager will issue the parent(s) 
a Recertification Packet to be completed within a specified amount of time. Failure to complete the 
recertification packet by the due date indicated may result in termination of services.  
 
2. Reporting Changes 
It is the parent’s responsibility to report any changes to their family size, income, need for services, 
address, contact phone numbers, or any other information with regards to their need and eligibility 
within five (5) days of the change. Failure to notify the Child Care Assistant Manager of any change 
within the five (5) days following the change may result in termination of services.  
 
3. Fee Payment/Repayment Plans 
All family fees are to be collected by the child care provider. Due dates for these fees will be agreed 
upon by the parent and provider, and payment will be acknowledged on the monthly attendance form. 
It is the provider’s responsibility to collect all fees from the parent and notify the Child Care Assistant 
Manager if fees have not been paid. Upon receipt of notification that the parent has outstanding fees 
due to the provider, the Child Care Assistant Manager will issue a NOA for Delinquent Family Fees and 
the parent will have nineteen (19) days to pay the debt owed to the provider, or agree to a reasonable 
repayment plan signed off by both the parent and provider. If the provider notifies the Child Care 
Assistant Manager that the parent is failing to comply with the repayment plan, the family will be 
terminated from the program. 
 
F. Alternative Payment Program Policies and Procedures 
By abiding to the policies and procedures outlined in the Participation Handbook, parents may retain 
their child care services as long as they are eligible to participate. Any violation of the program 
regulations may result in termination from the program.   

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: No Spacing, Justified, Space
After:  0 pt, Line spacing:  single

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

10 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

II. Alternative Payment Program Parent Policies and Procedures 
A. Attendance Policies 
1. General Description 
Payment for services is based upon the attendance of children enrolled in the Child Care Program. The 
Child Care Program pays for “excused” absences, which include, but are not limited to child’s illness, 
parent illness, doctor’s appointments, or a family emergency. In order to be reimbursed for excused 
absences, parent must specify the type of illness, or reason for absence and then sign his/her full 
signature after the reason. This does not apply to child care in which the provider charges an hourly rate 
or has a drop-in rate. 
 
2. Excused Absences 
Providers must be sure that parents state the specific reason for absence of the child(ren) on the 
attendance sheet and sign with a full signature. (This does not apply to child care in which the provider 
charges and hourly rate or has a drop-in daily rate.) The parent will be required to submit written 
documentation, with the monthly attendance sheet, justifying a child’s absence exceeding 3 or more 
consecutive days. The following are excused absences: 

 Illness: 
o Child Illness: parent must note specific illness for the child 
o Parent Illness 
o Quarantine of child or parent 
o Dental, doctor, or therapy appointment (for child, parent, or sibling) 

 Family Emergency: 
o Parent must note explanation of family emergency. May include, but is not limited to, 

death, funeral, sibling illness, close of work or training facility due to natural disaster, 
etc. 

 Parental Jury Duty: 
o Parent must provide legal documentation 

 Court Ordered Visitations: 
o Parent must provide legal documentation 

 Best Interest Days: 
o Children are allowed up to ten (10) Best Interest Days per fiscal year for other excused 

absences. These would include time for a child to be with a parent or relative (i.e. 
vacation, visitation from a non-custodial parent/family member or participation in 
cultural or religious holidays). The reason for the Best Interest Day must be specified on 
the attendance sheet. CSB will not pay for unexcused absences or more than ten (10) 
Best Interest Days. The provider may charge and obtain payment directly from the 
parent for these absences. 

 
3. Unexcused Absences 
CSB will not pay for unexcused absences. The provider must notify the Child Care Assistant Manager if a 
child is absent for more than three (3) consecutive days and the parent has not contacted the provider 
with the reason for the absence. Failure to report the unexcused absences will result in non-
reimbursement for those absences after the child’s last day of attendance, including any payment for 
two (2) week notice to terminate.  
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

11 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

The provider may charge the parent and obtain payment directly from the parent for these absences. It 
is the parent’s responsibility to pay any charges for unexcused absences to the provider. The following 
are possible examples of absences that would not be considered excused and for which the provider will 
not be paid by CSB: 

 Absences without documentation 

 Provider was NOT available to provide child care (includes when the provider is sick, etc.) 

 Any Best Interest Days over ten (10) per fiscal year 
 

The provider must notify CSB if a parent withdraws from care without advance notice or if provider has 
knowledge of a change of parental or family status including change of address, income, employment 
and/or marital status. 
 
B. Limited Term Service Leave (LTSL) 
**Only applies to non-CalWORKS subsidized families.  
 
If the family temporarily does not have a need for subsidized child care, they may submit a written 
request for a temporary leave from services. CSB may grant the family a limited term service leave for 
no more than twelve (12) consecutive weeks, except when the parent is on a maternity or medical 
related leave of absence from his/her employment or vocational training.  
 
Maternity leave, or medical limited term service leave, shall not exceed sixteen (16) consecutive weeks 
in duration. During this time no child care services shall be provided nor be claimed for reimbursement. 
Parents will be required to provide documentation from their physician prior to going on leave and again 
when released. 
 
At the time of authorized reinstatement, when the service leave ends, CSB cannot pay another 
registration or other new provider charges.  
 
**It is important to remember that providers do not have to hold child care spaces throughout the leave 
and parents may need to seek a new child care provider(s) upon their return from leave. Also, parental 
reinstatement on to CSB’s program will depend on funding availability.  
 
C. Confidentiality 
The use or disclosure of information about the child and his/her family is limited to purposes directly 
connected with administering the program. When helping parents/families move to another subsidized 
program, information about the parent/family may be exchanged and the other program or provider is 
then bound by these same confidentiality guidelines. Parents or their authorized representatives may 
review the case file upon request and at the time and place considered reasonable by CSB. (Parents may 
only review the forms or other documentation/information that they have provided CSB and are in their 
own case file.) 
 
CSB will provide child care services to help support families and children in need. In providing these child 
care services, CSB is promoting independence, personal responsibility and self-sufficiency on the part of 
the parent(s). 
 

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5", 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

12 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

All parents will be treated with dignity and respect. The Child Care Assistant Manager will work with the 
parent to develop the best plan for the family. 
 
D. Grievance Procedures 
All parents and providers are encouraged to first speak with the Child Care Assistant Managers to 
attempt to resolve any issues that may arise. If the issue is not resolved to the parents/providers 
satisfaction the parent/provider may file a written request to be submitted to the supervisor of the staff 
in question.  
 
The supervisor will review the complaint and meet with the parent/provider by phone, or by 
appointment, to discuss the issue within ten (10) calendar days of receiving the complaint. If the 
parent/provider still feels dissatisfied, they may submit a written request for the issue to be elevated to 
staff at least one level higher than the staff person who made the contested decision. The 
parent/provider will be contacted within ten (10) calendar days of receiving the complaint and given an 
opportunity to present their concerns. The decision at this level will be final.  
 
E. Uniform Complaint Policy 
It is the intent of the Community Services Bureau to fully comply with all applicable state and federal 
laws and regulations.  
 
Individuals, agencies, organizations, students and interested third parties have the right to file a 
complaint regarding Community Services alleged violations of federal and/or state laws. This includes 
allegations of unlawful discrimination (ED Code Sections 200 and 220 and Government Code Section 
11135) in any program or activity funded directly by the State or receiving federal or state financial 
assistance. 
 
Complaints must be signed and filed in writing with: 
 

The California State Department of Education 
Child Development Division 

Complaint Coordinator 
1430 N Street, Suite 3410 

Sacramento, CA, 95814 
 
If the complaint is not satisfied with the final written decision of the California Department of Education, 
remedies may be available in federal or state court. The complainant should seek the advice of an 
attorney of his/her choosing in this event. 
 
A complainant filing a written complaint alleging violations of prohibited discrimination may also pursue 
civil law remedies, including, but not limited to, injunctions, restraining order, or other remedies or 
orders. 
 
F. Zero Tolerance 
CSB prohibits inappropriate behavior towards staff, or in the presence of families, children or providers 
on the program. Such use of abusive/foul language, intimidating actions (including belligerent emails 

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

13 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

and voicemails), physical harassment, destruction of property, threats to staff, etc., will be documented 
and may lead to termination from the program. 
 
G. Termination Policies 
1. Reasons for Terminations 
Child Care services may be terminated for any, but not limited to, the following reasons: 

 Failure to maintain required need and/or eligibility for the program with which the family is 
enrolled 

 Failure to inform the Child Care Assistant Manager within five (5) days of changes that affect the 
families need and/or eligibility to retain services 

 Failure to recertify in a timely manner 

 Failure to pay family fee or co-payment 

 Failure to make payments to licensed exempt in-home providers in a timely manner 

 Failure to use services for sixty (60) consecutive days, or two (2) consecutive months 

 Violation of the Zero Tolerance policy towards staff 

 Failure to comply with the State mandates requirements of the program 

 Family’s income exceeds the state income ceiling 

 Children are no longer age appropriate for the program with which they are enrolled, and family 
cannot provide required documentation to maintain services past that age (i.e. IEP, verification 
of non-traditional hours) 

 Failure to maintain a 2.0 GPA if services are based on a vocational training need 

 Failure to abide by attendance polices and reimbursement guidelines 
 
2. Appeal Process 
All terminations will be documented by a Notice of Action (NOA). The Child Care Assistant Manager will 
issue a NOA to the parent and send an informational copy to the provider(s). If a parent disagrees with 
an action taken by CSB, the parent may file an appeal request for a hearing with Employment and 
Human Services Department Appeals Unit: 
 

Office of Appeals Coordinator 
400 Ellinwood Way 

Pleasant Hill, CA 94523 
(925) 677-2900 

 
If the parent disagrees with the written decision of the hearing, the parent can appeal the decision to 
the Child Development Division of the California Department of Education within 14days. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

14 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

III. Provider Participation 

A. General Requirements- Parental Choice 
CSB policies provide for parental choice in selecting a child care provider. Parents are responsible for 
selecting the child care provider and the type of care, which they feel best, meets the needs of the 
family and meets enrollment requirements. Parents also have the right to change providers while they 
are participating in the child care program. Parents may choose the following types of care: 

 Licensed Child Care Centers/Licensed Family Child Care Homes 
Child care centers and family child care homes are all licensed by the California Department of 
Social Services Community Care Licensing division, which ensures all standards of health and 
safety criteria are being met. These programs will be required to submit and comply with the 
following: 

o A copy of their current license 
o A copy of their current policies, rules and rates 
o Provide services to all eligible children on a non-discriminatory basis, giving equal 

treatment and access to services without regard to race, color, creed, religion, sex, 
national origin, or any other category that is prohibited by law  

o Providers must report observed and/or suspected child abuse to the local police 
departments and/or Children and Family Services and refrain from all forms of 
punishment, cruelty, and/or physical/corporal punishment 

o Providers must maintain confidential child and family records and other information 
with the exception of authorized disclosures to CSB staff or other authorized State or 
Federal agency staff in accordance with the law 

o Allow CSB to visit licensed facilities if requested 
o Provide care for children only during the period authorized 
o Enter into Child Care Provider Agreement with CSB as an independent contractor and in 

no way be considered an employee of the CSB or any of its funding sources 
o Hold CSB harmless for any damages to person(s), or property, which arise out of the 

delivery of services under agreement with CSB 
o Inform Child Care Assistant Manager if religious instruction is part of their child care 

program or curriculum. This will allow CSB to maximize the correct funding for the child 
care program. 

 Licensed-Exempt Out of Home Providers 
Licensed-exempt providers are not licensed by the state of California. Parents are responsible 
for hiring, terminating services, and setting up the days and hours when care will be used. 
Licensed-exempt child care providers must be Trust line Registered. A Trustline registration 
means completing an application within fourteen (14) calendar days, which includes a health 
and safety self-certification and checklist and being fingerprinted through the Department of 
Justice (DOJ) and the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). 

 
• If the parent selects a grandparent, aunt or uncle of the children to provide care, they would be 

exempt from the Trustline registration. 
 

• Within fourteen (14) calendar days of application, CSB is required to have on file: 
o of the provider’s qualifications and experience 
o A health statement, including Tuberculosis clearance 

Deleted: Page Break
¶

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Line spacing: 
Multiple 1.15 li

Formatted: Font: +Body, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: a 

Deleted: a 

Deleted: provide 

Deleted: providers 

Deleted: providers 

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 2 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

15 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

o A statement from the parent that he/she has interviewed and approve of the provider 
o A California driver’s license number or a valid California ID verifying the provider to be at 

least eighteen (18) years of age 
o The exempt caregiver’s name, address and a copy of their Social Security Card 
o Names and ages of all other adults residing in the home where the child care is provided 
o The address where the care is to be provided 
o The hours and rates for the care 
o All forms signed by both the parent and provider, as appropriate 

 Licensed-Exempt In-Home Providers 
License-exempt In-home providers will be required to have the same documents on file as 
License-Exempt Out of home providers. In addition the following will be required for License-
Exempt In-Home Providers: 

o A copy of a Worker’s Compensation policy that the parent has taken out for the 
employee (care provider) 

o A copy of required documents the parent has filed indicating that they are the employer 
of record and will be withholding income tax, social security tax, and any additional 
withholdings from the provider’s pay as required for the Internal Revenue Service, the 
Franchise Tax Board and Social Security Administration 

o In-Home child care providers must be assured California Minimum Wage. Effective 
January 2008, California Minimum Wage is $8.00 per hour (subject to change as defined 
by the State of California. Adjustments to provider compensation must be made when 
those changes occur). In some cases, the highest amount CSB is authorized to pay for 
child care will not meet the minimum wage requirement. The parent, then, will be 
responsible to co-pay the provider the difference between what CSB can pay and 
California Minimum Wage to assure adequate compensation for the provider. The 
parent and provider will be asked to submit written documentation that they have 
agreed upon a payment plan to ensure minimum wage requirements are met. 

 
B. Provider Rate Sheet 
Providers shall submit a statement of their current rates to CSB. Rates must be the same for both 
subsidized and private pay families. If the provider charges more than the current Regional Market Rate 
allows CSB to pay, the parent will be responsible to pay the difference directly to the provider. If a 
provider offers any discount for siblings, the subsidized family will offered the same discount.  
 
Providers must submit a written thirty (30) day advanced notice of any changes to their rates; all rate 
increases are subject to availability of funds. New rate increases will take effect thirty (30) days after 
receipt of notice. Providers may only change their rates once per fiscal year (July 1st – June 30th). 
 
C. Attendance Sheet Policies 
Providers are responsible for the accurate completion of the CSB attendance sheets (CCARE5). They are 
the provider’s method of billing for payment and are the only form of documentation that will be 
accepted for reimbursing provider claims. CSB can only pay for childcare services, not private school 
tuition, educational fees, transportation, diapers, clothing items, or other expenses that are not part of 
the basic child care cost. 
Below are criteria for accurate and reimbursable attendance sheets: 

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

16 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Only original attendance sheets will be accepted. Parents/Providers may request additional 
attendance sheets by calling the main office or their Child Care Assistant Manager. CSB will not 
reimburse copies of any attendance sheets. 

 Attendance sheets must be filled out DAILY. The parent must sign their full name and record the 
actual in and out times for when the children are dropped off and picked up. (Do not round off 
the time, the actual time must be recorded.) If the attendance sheet appears to not have been 
filled out daily, it may result in non-payment. 

 The provider must sign school age children in and out from school on the attendance sheet 
using the exact drop off/pick up times and by initialing where appropriate. 

 The parent must fill in a reason explaining the child’s absence from care and sign appropriately. 

 The parent and provider must sign their full signatures on the back of the attendance sheet each 
month indicating the accuracy of the information on the form and acknowledgement of receipt 
of fees due the provider. 

 Attendance sheets are to be completed in blue or black ink only. Should you make a mistake on 
the attendance form, simply cross out the error, initial it and write in the correct information. 
(We will not reimburse for corrections using correction tape.) 

Complete and accurate attendance sheets are due by 5pm on the seventh (7th) day of each month 
following the month in which services were rendered. If the seventh (7th) day falls on a weekend, or 
holiday, attendance sheets will be due by 5pm on the next business day following the seventh (7th).  
 
Payments for complete and accurate attendance sheets received by the seventh (7th) of the month we 
will be processed and mailed out by the end of the month they were received. Any attendance sheet 
submitted after the 5pm on the seventh (7th) day of the month will be processed and mailed the 
following month. (For example, an attendance sheet submitted on April 8th will not be processed and 
mailed until May.)  
 
**Any attendance sheet submitted sixty (60) days after the month in which services were rendered, will 
not be reimbursed.  
 
D. Child Care Agreement 
Upon approval for child care services the Child Care Assistant Manager will issue a NOA indicating initial 
approval for services and will be accompanied by a Child Care Agreement that will outline the schedule 
approved for services and will indicate if there is a Family Fee and/or Co-payment. The Child Care 
Agreements will be sent to both parent and, if applicable, the licensed provider. These certificates must 
be signed and returned to the Child Care Assistant Manager within ten (10) days of receipt 
acknowledging the approved schedule and rates for service provided.  
 
E. Reimbursement 
1. Regional Market Rate (RMR) 
Child Care is reimbursed up to 70% of the average ceiling rate as set by the California Department of 
Education for our county. This is referred to as the Regional Market Rate (RMR). (This rate is subject to 
change, if directed from the California Department of Education (CDE).) 
 
Children attending less than thirty (30) hours of child care per week will be reimbursed at the part-time 
benefit ceiling and children attending thirty (30) hours or more will be reimbursed at the full time 

Formatted: Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

17 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

benefit ceiling. Those families that have variable schedules will be assessed by the Child Care Assistant 
Manager and assigned the most appropriate ceiling for their needs.  
 
Should the parent chose a provider with a rate exceeding the allowable payment of the program, the 
parent must pay the difference with a co-payment. This is paid by the parent to the provider directly and 
not accounted for by CSB. 
 
If the provider has a registration fee (licensed providers only) the rate for reimbursement will be 
determined by State guidelines and may be paid no more than once a year if the provider meets 
eligibility requirements.  
 
F. Provider Days of Non-Operation 
CSB will only pay for up to ten (10) days of non-operation (per fiscal year) to a licensed provider when 
the center, or family child care home, is closed if they fall on a contracted day. The provider contract 
MUST list the days of non-operation on the Provider Self Declaration form to be eligible to receive 
payment for them. Days of non-operation may include, but are not limited to the following: 

 Holiday (i.e. New Year’s Day, Christmas, Labor Day) 

 Provider Vacation Days 

 Staff Training/Development Days 

 Multiple/Alternate Providers 
 

CSB can only pay one provider per child for child care services. However, there are some exceptions: 
If a family has needs that exceed the hours of operation of the first provider, the Child Care Assistant 
Manager will assess the families need status and approve multiple providers as necessary. 
 
If a child’s usual child care provider is closed, or if the child is sick and cannot attend the usual care, the 
parent may need to seek alternate child care. CSB will contract separately with the alternate provider 
for child care services. CSB can only pay an alternate for ten (10) days per fiscal year. 
 
G. School Age Children 
Providers will not be reimbursed for school age children care during instructional minutes, whether they 
are attending public or private schools.   
 
H. Parents Rights to Change Providers/Providers Right to Terminate Services 
Parents have the right to change their providers, up to twice annually, unless they can provide the Child 
Care Assistant Manager with reasonable concerns for more changes.  CSB asks all parents to provide a 
written, or verbal, two (2) week notice to their licensed provider regarding the termination of care. The 
Child Care Assistant Manager will follow up with any notifications necessary. (**License-exempt 
providers are only paid for time the child is in their care.) 
 
Should the parent not give a two (2) week notice to the licensed provider, CSB will work with the 
licensed provider and offer any reimbursement as required by the licensed provider’s established 
policies and procedures submitted with the initial approval of care.  
 

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

18 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

A licensed provider may terminate services with cause in adherence to his/her established policies and 
procedures and with a two (2) week advance notification to the parent and the Child Care Assistant 
Manager. Should a licensed provider terminate a family without notification, CSB will not reimburse any 
days past the child’s last day of care.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

19 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

IV. Staff Roles and Responsibilities 

A. Stage II/CAPP Unit Clerks 

 Administrative Support to Unit Mangers 
o Program Calendars 
o Form Revisions 
o Mass Mailings 
o Other clerical tasks as assigned by Assistant Managers 

 Reimbursement Calculations 
o Collect, review and distribute incoming CCAREs to appropriate staff 
o Perform initial reimbursement calculations for Assistant Managers 

 Incoming Phone Calls 
o Check and empty Stage II/CAPP Unit General Voicemail 
o Return all calls within 24 hours of retrieving the message 
o Answer and forward calls to appropriate staff member 

 Mail Process 
o Log all mail on “Mail Log Sheet” 
o Forward mail to appropriate staff member 

 Scanning Process/Document Record Keeping 
o Scan and Index all documents into Northwoods Compass database  

 Stage I Transfers 
o Prepare and send Welcome Packets 
o Prepare Working Files 
o Coordinate with Unit Manager on case assignments 

 Family Recertification’s 
o Prepare and mail recertification packets 

 Suite Support 
o Monitor office supplies 
o Monitor Postage Meter 

 
B. Stage II/CAPP Unit Child Care Assistant Managers (CCAM) 

 Case Management 
o Initial intake for new/transferred families 
o Verify documents  
o Coordinate with referring agencies about prior case information 
o Review selection of provider(s) 
o Monitor families need and eligibility 
o Family/Provider Correspondence as needed 
o Recertify families need/eligibility for services at minimum once annually 
o Termination procedures where appropriate  

 Process Reimbursements 
o Review calculations 
o Process payments into CalWIN system for fiscal review/release 

 Review and release payments to providers in CalWIN 

 Monitoring/Audits/Reviews 
o Monthly monitoring of selected family files 

Deleted: Page Break
¶

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Line spacing: 
Multiple 1.15 li

Formatted: Font: +Body, Bold

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: 5

Deleted: CaseSTAR 

Deleted: <#>Coordinate payments with 
assigned accountants ¶



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

20 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

o Assist Unit Manager with fiscal and/or state audits and reviews of program 
o Prepare family files as needed for reviews 

 
C. Stage II/CAPP Unit Manager – (CSM) 

 Reports 
o Monthly to Program Director 
o Monthly to fiscal 
o As needed to CDE 

 Personnel 
o Supervise CAT Assignments 
o Supervise Field Intern Assignments 
o Supervise Clerks 
o Supervise Child Care Assistant Managers 

 Program Handbook 
o Revisions per CDE regulations  
o Annual Update 

 CDE Regulations 
o Monitor Management Bulletin Releases 
o Participate in CDE conference calls regarding program regulations 
o Review Title 5 and Education Codes as they pertain to program implementation 

 Client/Provider Correspondence 

 CCAM Support 

 Clerk Support 

 Stage I Transfer Process 
o Monitor incoming Stage I transfer process 
o Assign cases to CCAMs 
o Review potential cases to be transferred out 

 Monitoring 
o Review monthly reimbursements 
o Monitor CCAM Caseloads 
o Review terminations 
o Monitor Unit calendar 
o Fiscal Audit 
o State Reviews 

 Facility Support 
o Order office supplies for Suite 
o Design and Implement Emergency Plan 
o Submit requests for equipment/work orders 
o Maintain location binder 

 
D. Stage II/CAPP Fiscal Support (Accountant III) 

 Review and release payments to providers in CalWIN in the absence of Program staff 

 Monitor program budgets 

 Review and release payments for Maintenance of Effort contracts 

 Submit to Sate CDE monthly Fiscal and Caseload reports on or before the 20th of each month 

Deleted: Bi-weekly 

Deleted: Unit Accountants -

Formatted: Superscript



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

21 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 Submit year-end financial reports and schedules to External Auditors 

 Correspond with Unit Manager/Program Manager (Administrative Services Assistant III 
responsible for AP/CAPP program) 

 
E. Stage II/CAPP Program Manager (ASA III) 

 Program Support 

 State Correspondence 

 Liaison with Appeals Unit 

 Monthly Monitoring 

 Contract initiation/renewal 
 



CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT                  
COMMUNITY SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

SECTION 6-LOW-INCOME HOME ENERGY 
ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

 

 

2013-2014 
 

 

 

  

Policy Council Approved:                                                                                                         
Board of Supervisors Approved: 

Deleted: 2012-2013

Deleted: Policy Council Approved: 11-14-12                                                                                          
Board of Supervisors Approved:

Formatted: Highlight



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

2 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

 
  

PART I INTRODUCTION  

A Program Overview 3 

B Types of Assistance are Available 3 

C Service Center Locations 3 

   

PART II LIHEAP ELIGIBILITY GUIDELINES  

A General Guidelines 4 

B Credit Balances 4 

C High Balances 4 

D LIHEAP Questions to determine Eligibility 4 

   

PART III WEATHERIZATION REFERRALS  

A General Description 5 

B Weatherization for Rental Units 5 

C  Weatherization for Home Owners 5 

   

PART IV RECEIVEING AND PROCESSING APPLICATIONS  

A Procedures for starting a client file 6 

B Application and Documentation Review 6 

   

PART V LIHEAP/FAST TRACK COMPLAINT PROCEDURE 7 

   

PART VI APPEAL PROCEDURE  

A General Description 7 

B Appeal Procedure 7 



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

3 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

I. Introduction 
A. Program Overview 
The Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) is a federally-funded program that assists 
low-income households with their heating and cooling needs, while helping protect the health and 
safety of the household. 
 
B. Types of Assistance are Available 

 Bill Payment Assistance  
LIHEAP may pay a portion of your energy bill in the form of a dual or single party warrant or a 
direct payment to a utility company. The amount of assistance is based on household income 
and size, energy cost, and funding availability.  

 Energy Crisis Assistance  
LIHEAP funds are available to low-income households that are in a crisis situation; such as 
receiving a 48-hour disconnect notice, or service termination by a utility company.  

 Weatherization Assistance  
The weatherization program provides services designed to reduce heating and cooling costs and 
improve the energy efficiency of a home, while safeguarding the health and safety of the 
household. 

 
C. Service Center Locations 

 LIHEAP Assistance 
Summit Center 
2530 Arnold Dr. Ste. 360 
Martinez, CA  94553 
Phone: 925 335-8900 
Fax:  925 335-8905 

 

 Weatherization Assistance 
220-A Glacier Dr. 
Martinez, CA  94553 
Phone:  925-335-2100 
Fax:  925-335-2119 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Deleted: ¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶
¶

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

4 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

II. LIHEAP Eligibility Guidelines   
A. General Guidelines 

 Families with children 5 years or younger living in the household. 

 Families with elderly members (60 years or older) living in the household. 

 Families who have permanent and/or temporary disabled members in the household, and proof 
of disability. 

 Households who are new clients and have a high energy burden with very low to zero income. 

 Utility bill must be $300 or less in order to receive assistance. 

 Repeat clients with no vulnerable population will receive negative points. 

 Active Military and Veterans. 

 Documents verifying legal status in the USA for applicant of the household.  

 Copy of documentation verifying current total gross income for ALL household members. 

 ID for person named on bill. 
 
B. Credit Balances:  If credit balance on client’s account is more than double the monthly gas and electric 
charges; the client will have to re-apply when the credit balance has exhausted. 
 
C. High Balances:  HEAP or Fast Track payment must bring clients to zero balance.  If the HEAP payment 
doesn’t bring the balance to zero, the client must make a co-payment before our pledge can be made.    
 
D. LIHEAP Questions to determine Eligibility: 

 What City do you live in? (Contra Costa County residents only) 

 What is the total of your PG&E?  

 If over $300, we will determine eligibility at their appointment and will have to make a payment 
depending on eligibility.   

 Are there any children 5 years or younger? 
o If yes, birth certificates of children are required. 

 Is there anyone in the household 60 years or older? 

 If yes, verification of identification is required. 

 Is there anyone in the household disabled? 

 If yes, verification of disability can vary from State Disability, Social Security, workers comp., Paid 
Family Leave. 

 Have you been helped in the past (new client)? 

 If there an Active Military or Veteran in the household? 

 Whose name is on the PG&E bill?  Is that person over the age of 18? If so, please bring I.D. of the 
person.  

 Current monthly whole utility bill (blue strip) and a 48hr notice or shut off (if applicable), income 
of all household members over the age of 18 for the past 30 days and legal status for the 
applicant. 

 
Clients will have to make a payment depending on eligibility.  Our payment will have to bring their 
account to zero or credit balance. 
 
LIHEAP does not Guarantee Assistance. 

Formatted: Font: Bold



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

5 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

III. Weatherization Referrals 
A. General Description 
After the interview process is complete and the client is eligible for our assistance, we ask and offer 
weatherization for their homes.  We ask if they are renting or owning their home.  Weatherization will 
improve their home and make it more energy efficient.  This could include windows, doors, caulking, 
weather stripping, heaters, water heaters, stoves, refrigerators and more.  All home improvements are 
done at NO COST to landlords with eligible tenants, or eligible property owners.   
 
B. Weatherization for Rental Units 
If the client is renting they have to ask their landlord to fill out and sign the Energy Service Agreement 
for Rental Units and Post Weatherization Lead Forms.  This is requesting permission to go in the home 
and do inspection for improvement.  The Post Weatherization Lead Form is the only item not paid by the 
program and the cost is between $200 and $400.  If the landlord does not wish to pay this they can 
select wish not to pay and sign the form. 
 
C. Weatherization for Home Owners 
If the client owns the home and has been determined eligible for services the client can fill out and sign 
the Energy Service Agreement for Owner and Post Weatherization Lead forms.  This is giving the 
program authorization to inspect and improve their home to be more energy efficient.  The Post 
Weatherization Lead Form is the only item not paid by the program and the cost is between $200 and 
$400.  If the owner does not wish to pay this they can select wish not to pay and sign the form. 
 
Include these forms with the LIHEAP Intake Application, Statement of Citizenship, current monthly utility 
bill, current monthly income, legal status, Energy Service Agreement and Post Weatherization Lead 
Forms.  
 
After the forms are filled and signed include them with our LIHEAP application and fax them to the 
Weatherization office at (925) 335-2119.  As soon as the Weatherization Program receives the fax they 
will contact the applicant for an appointment and start with improvements in their home.   
 
This will ensure their home to be more energy efficient and same money on their utility bill. 
 
  

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

6 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

IV. Receiving and Processing Applications 
A. Procedures for starting a client file: 

 All documents are date stamped (date received)  

 Have client fill out application (assist if needed) 

 Ensure that client has brought all required documentation  

 Ensure that the application is signed and dated 

 Ensure that the citizenship form is filled out, signed and dated 
 
B. Application and Documentation Review 
1. Check to see if all 5 documents are included in file folder and date stamped: 

 Intake Application 

 Statement of Citizenship Form 

 Income for the past month 

 Whole monthly utility bill (48hr notice also included if FT) 

 Birth Certificate of the applicant or any children in the household under the age of 5.  
 
2. Intake Application: 

 Has date stamp on entire paperwork. 

 Application is signed and filled out completely.  

 Social Security matches on the intake form and update on the Serv Traq N-1 database. 
 
3. Statement of Citizenship Form: 

 Has name of applicant, place of birth and signature on form. 
 
4. Current Income: 

 Show current monthly income for a month from the date stamped for everyone in the 
household. 

 Total the Gross Income for the month.  

 Income can include SSI, SSA, TANF (cash aid), unemployment, state disability, retirement, 
pension, and check stubs.  

 
5. Complete Monthly Utility Bill: 

 Show whole current monthly utility bill from the date stamped.   

 Also a 48hr notice or shut off included if Fast Track. 

 The name, account number from page one and utility bill address from page 3 match the utility 
information on the application. 

 
6. Birth Certificate: 

 Attach a certified birth certificate of applicant. 

 Passport, naturalization form and green card are also acceptable.  
 
7. Complete the priority points sheet and calculate points.   
 
8. Complete Assurance 16 Activities form with appropriate action taken. 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: *

Deleted: form

Deleted: monthly 

Deleted: utility 

Deleted: bill



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

7 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

V. LIHEAP/Fast Track Complaint Procedure 
Any complaints are to be handled immediately by the intake clerk who received the complaint. 
 
Complaints that cannot be resolved by the intake clerk in a reasonable amount of time, up to two 
weeks, are to be passed to the LIHEAP Assistant Manager.   
 
Should the LIHEAP Assistant Manager be unable to resolve the complaint; it will be forwarded to the 
Program Manager. 
 
Once a complaint has been resolved, a written dated account is to be made and filed in the complaint 
file. 
 
VI. Appeal Procedure 
A. General Description 
Contra Costa County residents are entitled to apply for assistance from the Low Income Home Energy 
Assistance Program (LIHEAP) with their energy cost.  The LIHEAP program is funded by the state and 
federal government, and is administered by the State Community Services and Development 
Department in Sacramento. 
 
There are cases when a client is denied assistance.  A client does, however, have the right to appeal that 
decision.  State Regulation 22 CCR 100805 defines situations as appealable: 

 If the application was not acted upon within 15 working days 

 Unsatisfactory performance 

 If you are denied LIHEAP services 
 
B. Appeal Procedure 
1. The client receives a letter denying LIHEAP services and the reason(s) why.  If client disagrees with this 
decision the client may call the HEAP office and set up an appointment with the intake clerk for a file 
review to discuss the reasons for denial and to see if anything can be done to correct the information so 
that the application may be approved (This is not true in cases of families who are over income or who 
do not have a minimum of five priority points.  If client makes too much money or does not have enough 
priority points there is nothing we can do.) 
  
If the client is not satisfied after meeting with the Intake Clerk she/he will assist the client in completing 
an appeals form.  If the client is not interested in filing an appeal at that time, has a total of ten working 
days after the date of meeting with the Intake Clerk to file a written appeal. 
 
2. The client file and completed appeals form will then go to the Assistant Manager where he/she will 
review the information and either overrule the Intake Clerk’s decision or agree with the current 
decision.  Client is notified by letter within five (5) working days of the Assistant Manager’s decision after 
the review. 
 
3. The client file and completed appeals form will then go to the Program Manager where he/she will 
review the information and either overrule the Assistant Manager’s decision or agree with the current 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: ¶



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

8 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

decision.  Then client is notified by letter within five (5) working days of the Program Manager’s decision 
after his/her review. 
 
At this point, if satisfaction is not reached, the client still has the option to appeal at the State level by 
contacting the Department of Community Services and Development in Sacramento, CA by writing to: 
 

California Department of Community Services and Development 
PO Box 1947 

Sacramento, CA  95812 
(916) 576-7109 
(916) 263-1406 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT                                                                                                        
COMMUNITY SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND                                  
PROCEDURES 

SECTION 7-WRITTEN SERVICE PLAN 
 

 

2013-2014 

2013-2014 

  

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering



2 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

VII. WRITTEN SERVICE PLAN 

A. 1304.20 CHILD HEALTH AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Child Health and Development Services 1304.20  

(a) Determining Child Health Status 
1304.20(a)(1)(i) - 

1304.20(a)(2) 
Section 2 

Pg. 5 
CSAM 

Child Health Status shall be 
determined for all children. 

Within 90 days of 
enrollment 

(b) Screening for Developmental Sensory and 
Behavioral Concerns 

1304.20(b)(1) – 
1304.20(b)(3) 

Section 2 
Page 13 

CSAM and 
Teachers 

All children will be screened. 
Within 45 days of 

enrollment 

(c) Extended Follow-up and Behavioral 
Treatment 

1304.20(c)(1)&(2) – 
1304.20(c)(5) 

Section 2 
Page 15 

CSAM / MH Interns 
All children benefit from extensive 

follow-up and treatment for all 
identified health needs. 

Upon identification 
& ongoing 

(d) Ongoing Care 1304.20(d) 
Section 2 

Page 3 
CSAM 

All children receive treatment at 
their medical home. 

Ongoing 

(e) Involving Parents 
1304.20(e)(1) – 
1304.20(e)(5) 

Section 2 
Pages 15-27 

CSAM, Teachers 
and Site 

Supervisors 

Parents are notified immediately 
when problems are suspected or 

identified and are familiarized with 
all services. 

Ongoing 

(f) Individualization of the Program 
1304.20(f)(1) – 

1304.20(f)(2)(iv) 
Section 2 
Page 56 

All Staff/CS 
Managers 

Services are individualized to meet 
the unique needs of each child & 

family. 
Ongoing 

 

  

Deleted: L



3 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

 

B. 1304.21 EDUCATION AND EARLY CHILDHOOD DEVELOPMENT 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Education and Early Childhood Development 1304.21  

(a) Child Development and Education 
Approach for All Children 

1304.21(a)(1)(i) - 
1304.21(a)(6) 

Section 2 
Page 61 

CSM – Education 

Approach to child development 
services is developmentally and 

linguistically appropriate and 
individualized to the child’s unique 

needs and attributes. 

Ongoing 

(b) Child Development and Education 
Approaches for Infants and Toddlers 

1304.21(b)(1)(i) – 
1304.21(b)(3)(ii) 

Section 2 
Page 61 

CSM – 
Infant/Toddler 

Education 

The research-based Creative 
Curriculum for Infants, Toddlers and 
Twos is implemented for infants and 

toddlers and focuses on 
relationships.  In addition caregiving 

is provided with a focus on the 
Program for Infant and Toddler Care 

policies. 

Ongoing 

(c) Child Development and Education for 
Preschoolers 

1304.21(c)(1) – 
1304.21(2)(2) 

Section 2 
Page 61 

CSM – Pre-School 
Education 

The research based Creative 
Curriculum for Preschool is 

implemented in the program. This 
curriculum is developmentally and 

linguistically appropriate. 

Ongoing 

 

C. 1304.22 CHILD HEALTH AND SAFETY 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Child Health and safety 1304.22  

(a) Health Emergency Procedures 
1304.22(a) - 

1304.22(a)(5) 

Section 2 
Pages 92-95, 99, 

104-105 
Site Supervisors 

Health Emergency Procedures are 
implemented 

Daily 

(b) Conditions of Short-Term Exclusion and 
Admittance 

1304.22(b)(1) – 
1304.22(b)(3) 

Section 2 
Pages 85-86, 

 90-93 
Site Supervisors 

Health checks and Sick Policy is 
implemented. 

Daily 

Deleted: Approach to the development of

Deleted: , respect, and responsiveness of the 
child development services

Deleted: CSB Curriculum approach is developed 
from the researched based Head Start Outcomes 
Framework and the California State research 
based Desired Results and 



4 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

(c) Medical Administration 
1304.22(c) – 
1304.22(c)(6) 

Section 2 
Pages 95-98 

Designated Staff in 
the classroom 

Medication is stored and 
administered correctly with consent. 

Daily 

(d) Injury Prevention 1304.22(d)(1)&(2) 
Section 2 

Pages 99, 101-
102 

All Staff/Health 
and Safety Officers 

Health and Safety checks result in 
injury prevention 

Daily and Monthly 

(e) Hygiene 
1304.22(e)(1)&(2) – 

1304.22(e)(7) 
Section 2 
Page 87 

All Staff 
Staff, children and parents practice 

hygiene according to program 
standards. 

Daily 

(f) First Aid Kits 
1304.22(f)(1) – 
1304.22(f)(2) 

Section 2 
Page 103 

Site Supervisors 
and  

CSM – Health 
Services 

First Aid Kits are stocked at all times 
and readily available. 

Daily 

 

D. 1304.23 CHILD NUTRITION 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Child Health and safety 1304.22  

(a) Identification of Nutritional Needs 
1304.23(a) - 

1304.23(a)(4) 
Section 2 
Page 78 

CSAMs 
Children with nutritional risk are 

identified. 
Upon enrollment 

and within 45 days. 

(b) Nutritional Services 
1304.23(b)(1) – 
1304.23(b)(4) 

Section 2 
Page 112 

Registered 
Dietitian 

Staff, families and children benefit 
from nutritional services. 

Ongoing 

(c) Meal Services 
1304.23(c) – 
1304.23(c)(7) 

Section 2 
Pages 66, 108-

112 

Food Services 
Manager 

Children receive nutritious meals. Daily 

(d) Family Assistance With Nutrition 1304.23(d) 
Section 2 

Pages 79-82 
CSAMs 

Families receive nutrition education 
resources, and referrals to meet 

their needs. 
Ongoing 

(e) Food Safety and Sanitation 
1304.23(e)(1) – 
1304.23(e)(2) 

Section 2 
Page 108 

Food Services 
Manager 

All food is served in as safe and 
sanitary. 

Daily 

 

E. 1304.24 CHILD MENTAL HEALTH 
Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Child Mental Health 1304.24  

(a) Mental Health Services 1304.24(a)(1)(i) - Section 2 Mental Health Quality Mental Health Services are Daily 



5 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

1304.24(a)(3)(iv) Pages 24-25, 
section 3 

Page 9 

Manager/Interns provided as appropriate 



6 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

F. 1304.40 FAMILY PARTNERSHIPS 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Family Partnerships 1304.40  

(a) Family Goal Setting 
1304.40(a)(1) - 

1304.40(a)(4)&(5) 
Section 3 

Page 4 
CSAMs 

Families are engaged in meaningful 
goal setting. 

Ongoing 

(b) Accessing Community Services and 
Resources 

1304.40(b)(1) – 
1304.40(b)(2) 

Section 3 
Page 8 

CSAMs/Home Educators 
Parents receive community 

services and resources appropriate 
to their needs and desires. 

Ongoing 

(c) Services to Pregnant Women Who Are 
Enrolled in Programs Serving Pregnant 
Women, Infants and Toddlers 

1304.40(c)(1)(i),(ii)&(iii) 
– 1304.40(c)(3) 

Section 3 
Page 10 

CSM – Infant/Toddler 
Programs 

Pregnant women receive 
comprehensive services 

Ongoing 

(d) Parent Involvement – General 
1304.40(d)(1) – 
1304.40(d)(3) 

Section 3 
Page 11 

CSM – Parent, Family 
and Community 

Engagement 

Parents are engaged in all aspects 
of the program. 

Ongoing 

(e) Parent Involvement in Child 
Development and Education 

1304.40(e)(1) – 
1304.40(e)(5) 

Section 2 
Pages 70-71 

Section 3 
Pages 11, 16 

Teachers/Home 
Educators 

Parents are recognized as their 
child’s primary educator and 

involved in all aspects of education 
services. 

Ongoing 

(f) Parent Involvement in Health, 
Nutrition, and Mental Health 
Education 

1304.40(f)(1) – 
1304.40(f)(4)(i),(ii)&(iii) 

Section 3 
Page 17 

CSAMs/Home Educators 
Parents are engaged in health, 
nutrition, and Mental Health 

Education. 
Ongoing 

(g) Parent Involvement Community 
Advocacy 

1304.40(g)(1)&(2) 
Section 3 
Page 18 

CSM – Parent, Family & 
Community Engagement 

Parents are involved in advocacy 
efforts in their community. 

Ongoing 

(h) Parent Involvement in Transition 
Activities 

1304.40(h)(1)-(4) 

Section 2 
Pages 58-60 

Section 3 
Page 18 

Teachers/Home 
Educators 

Parents are engaged in transition 
activities. 

Ongoing 

(i) Parent Involvement in Home Visits 
1304.40(i)(1)-(3) – 
1304.40(i)(4)&(5) 

Section 2 
Page 69-71 
Section 3 
Page 19 

CSM – Home Based 
Services 

Parents are involved in all home 
visits and socializations. 

Ongoing 

 

  

Deleted: Partnerships

Deleted: Partnerships



7 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

 

G. COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Community Partnerships 1304.41  

(a) Partnerships 
1304.41(a)(1) - 
1304.41(a)(4) 

Section 3 
Page 20 

ASA III  
CSM – Parent,  

Family and  
Community  
Engagement 

CSB engages in multiple formal and 
informal community partnerships 
that enhance services to children 

and families. 

Ongoing 

(b) Advisory Committees 1304.41(b) 
Section 3 
Page 21 

CSM – Health and 
Registered Dietitian 

Health Services Advisory 
Committee and Nutrition Advisory 

Committee are active. 
Twice Annually 

(c) Transition Services 
1304.41(c)(1) – 
1304.41(c)(3) 

Section 3 
Page 18 

CSM – Education and 
Disabilities 

Transitions into and out of EHS and 
HS are seamless and coordinated. 

Ongoing 

 

  

Deleted: Partnerships



8 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

 

H. 1304.50 PROGRAM DESIGN AND MANAGEMENT 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Program Design and Management 1304.50  

(a) Policy Council, Policy Committee, and 
Parent Committee Structure 

1304.50(a)(1) - 
1304.50(a)(5) 

Section 1 
Pages 4-6 

CSM – Policy 
Council 

A formal structure of program 
governance provides parents and 
other community representatives 

with the authority and opportunity 
to participate in shared decision-

making concerning program design 
and implementation. 

Ongoing 

(b) Policy Council Composition and 
Formation 

1304.50(b)(1) – (b)(7) 
Section 1 
Pages 4-5 

 

CSM – Policy 
Council 

Policy groups are formed based on 
approved bylaws. 

Ongoing 

(c) Policy Council Responsibilities-General 1304.50(c)&(d) 
Section 1 

Pages 6-12 
Head Start Director 

Policy Groups are charge with the 
responsibilities as noted in Appendix 

A. 
Ongoing 

(d) The Policy Council or Policy Committee 
1304.50(c)(d) – 
1304.50(d)(2)(v) 

Section 1 
Pages 6-11 

Head Start Director 
and Delegate 

Agency Director 

Policy Council and the Local Policy 
Committee are engaged in policy 

decisions regarding the nature and 
operation of the program. 

Ongoing 

(e) Parent Committee 1304.50(e)(1),(2) &(3) 
Section 1 
Pages 5-6 

Site Supervisor 
Parent Committees are 

appropriately engaged and carry out 
their designated responsibilities. 

Ongoing 

(f) Policy Council, Policy Committee, and 
Parent Committee Reimbursement 

1304.50(f) 
Section 1 

Pages 73-74 
CSM – Policy 

Council 

Reimbursements to parents are 
reasonable and provided timely for 

any travel, lodging, childcare and per 
diem expenses. 

As requested 

(g) Governing Body Responsibilities 1304.50(g)(1)&(2) 
Section 1 

Pages 4, 6-12 
 

Head Start Director 
Governing body is engaged in 
decision making as required. 

Ongoing 

(h) Internal Dispute Resolutions 1340.50(h) 
Section 1 

Pages 12-13 
 

Head Start Director 
Internal disputes are resolved in 

accordance with policy. 
As needed 

 



9 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

I. 1304.51 MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Management System and Procedures 1304.51  

(a) Program Planning 
1304.51(a)(1)(i)-(iii) - 

1304.51(a)(2) 
Section 1 

Pages 15-17 
Directors & 

Assistant Directors 

The program has an established, 
dynamic, and cohesive management 

system that support continuous 
improvement and foster 

commitment to providing the 
highest level of services to children 

and families. 

Ongoing 

(b) Communication – General 1304.51(b) 
Section 1 

Pages 17-25 
Division Managers 

Systems are in place to ensure a 
smooth flow of two-way 

communication with staff, parents, 
governing bodies, and delegate 

agency. 

Ongoing 

(c) Communication with Families 1304.51(c)(1)&(2) 
Section 1 

Pages 18-19 
Site Supervisors 

Communication with families is 
clear, concise, respectful, 
confidential and timely. 

Ongoing 

(d) Communications with Governing Bodies 
and Policy Groups 

1304.51(d) 
Section 1 

Pages 19-20 
Head Start Director 

Communications with Governing 
Bodies and Policy Groups is of high 
quality, informational, educational 

and responsive. 

Ongoing 

(e) Communication Among Staff 1304.51(e) 
Section 1 
Page 18 

Assistant 
Directors/Senior 

Managers 

Quality outcomes for children and 
families are facilitated by various 

mechanisms for regular 
communication. 

Daily 

(f) Communication with Delegate Agencies 1304.51(f) 
Section 1 

Pages 19-20, 25 
Analyst for 

Partners 
Communication with the delegate is 

effective and timely. 
Ongoing 

(g) Record keeping Systems 1304.51(g) 
Section 1 

Pages26-30 
Business Systems 

Manager 

Multiple record keeping systems are 
in place which provides accurate and 

timely information. 
Ongoing 

(h) Reporting System 
1304.51(h)(1) – 
1304.51(h)(2) 

Section 1 
Pages 18-26 

Division Managers 
Efficient and effective reporting 

systems are in place. 
Ongoing 

(i) Program Self-Assessment Monitoring 
1340.51(i)(1) – 
1304.51(i)(3) 

Section 1 
Pages 39-40 

Analyst 
Self-Assessment is conducted to 

determine the program’s 
effectiveness. 

Annually 

Deleted: IT 



10 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

 

 

J. 1304.52 HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Human Resources Management 1304.52  

(a) Organizational Structure 
1304.52(a)(1) - 

1304.52(a)(2)(i)&(iii) 
Section 1 
Page 41 

Personnel 
Administrator 

The organizational structure outlines 
how staff & functions are set up to 

meet the program’s mission & goals. 
The structure also describes how 

Head Start fits into a larger agency. 

Ongoing 

(b) Staff Qualifications-General 
1304.52(b)(1)&(2) – 

1304.52(b)(4) 
Section 1 

Pages 51-52 
Personnel 

Administrator 

Staff and consultants have the 
knowledge, skills, and experience to 

perform. 
When hired 

(c) Early Head Start or Head Start Director 
Qualifications 

1304.52(c) 
Section 4 
Page 44 

Personnel 
Administrator 

The Head Start Director has meets 
and exceeds the required 

qualifications. 
When hired 

(d) Qualifications of Content Area Experts 
1304.52(d) – 
1304.52(d)(8) 

Section 4 
 page 45 

Personnel 
Administrator 

Content Area staff is qualified to 
fulfill their job responsibilities, 

including comprehensive services 
manager with disabilities expertise. 

When hired 

(e) Home Visitor Qualifications 1304.52(e) 
Section 1 

Page 51-52 
Personnel 

Administrator 
Home Visitors meet qualifications When hired 

(f) Infant and Toddler Staff Qualifications 1304.52(f) 
Section 1 

Pages 51-52 
Personnel 

Administrator 
Infant and Toddler Staff meet 

qualifications. 
When hired 

(g) Classroom Staffing and Home Visits 
1304.52(g)(1) – 
1304.52(g)(5) 

Section 1 
Page 52 

Personnel 
Administrator 

Staffing ratios and class sizes are 
maintained and home visits and 
home educator caseloads meet 

regulations. 

Daily 

(h) Standards of Conduct 
1304.52(h)(1) – 

1304.52(h)(2)&(3) 
Section 1 
Page 54 

Personnel 
Administrator 

All staff signs the Standards of 
Conduct Policy and adhere to 

standards. 

Upon hire and 
annually thereafter 

(i) Staff Performance Appraisals 1340.52(i) 
Section 1 

Pages 60-62 
Supervisors 

All staff receives their performance 
evaluation in a timely fashion. 

Annually, or more 
often as needed 

(j) Staff and Volunteer Health 1304.52(j)(1) – Section 1 Personnel Analyst Staff and volunteers are in good Established within 



11 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

1304.52(j)(3) Pages 62-63 and Site 
Supervisors 

health. 7 days of hire or 
when volunteering 

regularly 

(k) Training and Development 
1304.52(k)(1)-(3) – 

1304.52(k)(4) 
Section 1 

Pages 65-70 
Personnel Analyst 

Training programs are required, & it 
is mandatory staff attend. 

Attendance is tracked. 

Ongoing per 
training calendar 

 

 

K. 1304.53 FACILITIES, MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Facilities, Materials, and Equipment 1304.53  

(a) Head Start Physical Environment and 
Facilities 

1304.53(a)(1) - 
1304.53(a)(10)(xvii) 

Section 4 
Pages 46-49 

Facilities Manager 
Facilities meet state and local 

licensing requirements, are hazard 
free and safe. 

Daily 

(b) Head Start Equipment, Toys, Materials, 
and Furniture 

1304.53(b)(1) – 
1304.53(b)(3) 

Section 4 
Pages 53-55 

Site Supervisor 

Equipment, toys, materials and 
furniture are age and 

developmentally appropriate, in 
good repair, and hazard free. 

Daily 

 

L. 1305 ELIGIBILITY, RECRUITMENT, SELECTION, ENROLLMENT, AND ATTENDANCE IN HEAD START 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 

Determining Community Strengths and Needs 1305.3 
Section 1 

Pages 15-17 
Analyst – Grants 

A community assessment is 
conducted to determine strengths 

and needs. 

Every three years 
and updated 

annually 

Age of Children and Family Income Eligibility 1305.4 
Section 4 

Page 9 
CSAMs 

Enrolled children meet age and 
income requirements. 

Ongoing 

Recruitment of Children 1305.5 
Section4 

Pages 9-10 
Analyst – ERSEA 

Recruitment Plan is fully 
implemented. 

Ongoing 

Selection Process 1305.6 
Section4 

Pages 9-10 
CSAM 

Children are selection according to 
approved selection criteria. 

Ongoing 

Enrollment and Re-enrollment 1305.7 Section4 Site Supervisor Children are enrolled when Ongoing 



12 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

Pages 12-13 vacancies occur and re-enrolled in 
accordance with policy. 

Attendance 1305.8 
Section4 

Pages 36-38 
Site Supervisor 

Attendance is tracked, analyzed and 
corrective action plans are in place 

for centers below 85%. 

Daily tracking 
monthly reporting 

Policy on fees 1305.9 
Section4 

Pages 5, 39 
Site Supervisor 

No fees are charged for Head Start 
and Early Head Start Services. 

Ongoing 

Compliance 1305.10 

Section 1 
31 

Section4 
Page 9 

Analyst – ERSEA Agency is compliant with CFR 1305. Ongoing 

 

  



13 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

 

M. 1306 HEAD START STAFFING REQUIREMENTS AND PROGRAM OPTIONS 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Head Start Staffing Requirements and 
Program Options 

1306  

Subpart B – Head Start Program Staffing 
Requirements 

1306.20-1306.23  

Program Staffing Patterns 1306.20 

Section 1 
Pages 51-53 

Section 4 
Pages 44-45 

Personnel 
Administrator 

Program staffing patterns 
meet/exceed standards. 

Daily 

Staff Qualification Requirements 1306.21 
Section 4 

Pages 44-45 
Personnel 

Administrator 
Staff meets HS Act Requirements. Daily 

Volunteers 1306.22 
Section 1 

Pages 53, 62 

CSM-Family & 
Community 
Partnership 

Parents are active volunteers in the 
program 

Daily 

Training 1306.23 
Section 1 

Pages 63-67 
Personnel Analyst Staff is well trained. 

Ongoing per T/TA 
plan 

Subpart C – Head Start Program Options 1306.30-1306.36  

Provisions of Comprehensive Child 
Development Services 

1306.30 
Section 2 

Pages 61-76 
Head Start Director 

All services meet local, State, and 
Federal regulations, involve parents, 

and involve community partners. 
Daily 

Choosing a Head Start Program Option 1306.31 
Section 1 
Page 15 

Head Start Director 
Head Start options are chosen to 

meeting the needs of the 
community, family, and child. 

Ongoing 

Center-based Program Option 1306.32 
Section 2 
Page 61 

Assistant Directors 
The center-based program is 

operated in accordance with the 
regulations. 

Daily 

Home-based Program Option 1306.33 
Section 2 

Pages 61, 70-71 
Assistant Directors 

The home-based program is 
operated in accordance with the 

regulations. 
Daily 

Combination Program Option 1306.34 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Additional Head Start Program Option 
Variations 

1306.35 
Section 1 
Page 15 

Head Start Director 
24-Waiver classrooms are operation 

with ACF/OHS approval. 
Daily 

Compliance Waiver 1306.36 N/A N/A N/A N/A 



14 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

 

N. 1308 DISABILITIES SERVICES 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
A. Subpart A General  

Purpose 
1308.1 
1308.2 

Section 2 
Pages 37-38 

All Comprehensive 
Services Team 

HS grantees and Delegates ensure 
that children with Disabilities 

enrolled in HS/EHS receive all the 
services to which they are entitled. 

Ongoing 

Definitions 1308.3 
Section 2 

Pages 38-39 
All Comprehensive 

Services Team 
Understanding Definitions related to 

Disabilities service area. 
Ongoing 

B. Subpart B Disabilities Service Plan  

Purpose and Scope 130.4 
Section 2 

Pages 37-42 
Disabilities 

CSM 

Development of Disabilities Service 
Plan to meet the special needs of 
children with disabilities and their 

parents. 

Annually (July) 

C. Subpart C Social Services  

Recruitment and Enrollment 1308.5 (a)(b)(c)(d)(e)(f) 
Section 4 
Page 10 

All CSB Staff 

The grantee and delegate has 
implemented plans to locate and 
recruit children with disabilities.  
Meet 10% enrollment of children 

with disabilities. 

Ongoing 

D. Subpart D Health Services  

Assessment of children 1308.6 (a)(b)(c)(d)(e) 
Section 2 

Pages 43, 52-54 
All CS Team / 

Education Team 

All children benefit from screenings 
and assessments. Children identified 
as needing further assessments are 
referred for further evaluations to 

LEA or RCEB. 

Within 45 days of 
enrollment 

Eligibility Criteria:  

Health Impairment 1308.7 
Section 2 
Page 50 

All CS Team / 
Home Educator / 

Teachers 

Disability CSM coordinates with 
Health, Mental Health, Nutrition, 

Family Services and Education 
Manager to ensure the needs of the 

children with disabilities are met. 

Ongoing Emotional/behavioral disorders 1308.8 
Section 2 
Page 50 

Speech and language 1308.9 
Section 2 
Page 50 



15 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 

Intellectual Disability 1308.10 
Section 2 
Page 50 

Hearing impairment including 
deafness 

1308.11 
Section 2 
Page 50 

Orthopedic impairment 1308.12 
Section 2 
Page 50 

Visual impairment 1308.13 
Section 2 

Page 50-51 

Learning disabilities 1308.14 
Section 2 
Page 51 

Autism 1308.15 
Section 2 
Page 51 

Traumatic brain injury 1308.16 
Section 2 
Page 51 

Other impairments 1308.17 
Section 2 
Page 51 

Disabilities/health services coordination 1308.18 
Section 2 
Page 51 

Disabilities CSM, 
Nutrition CSM and 

Health CSM 

Disability CSM assures that the 
special needs of each child with 

disabilities are met. 
Ongoing 

E. Subpart E Education Services 
Performance Standards 

 

Developing individualized education program 
(IEP) 

1308.19 
Section 2 

Pages 43-46 

Disability CSM/ 
Family Services 

CSM / LEA / 
Education Team/ 

CS Team 

Individualized services are provided 
to meet the unique needs of each 

child with disabilities and their 
families are met. 

Ongoing 

F. Subpart F Nutrition  

Nutrition Services 1308.20 
Section 2 
Page 54 

Nutrition CSM/ 
Health CSM/ CS 

Team 

Nutrition program provides 
identification, education, resources 
and referrals to serve children with 

disabilities. 

Ongoing 

G. Subpart G Parent involvement  

Parent participation and transition of children 
into Head Start and form Head Start to public 
school. 

1308.21 
Section 2 
Page 58 

Disability 
CSM/CSAM / 

Home Educator / 
Education Team 

Transitions are provided for children 
transferring from: 

-EHS to HS 
-HS to kinder 

-Or to other related agencies 

Ongoing 

Deleted: Nutrition

Deleted: Teacher



16 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Deleted: 2012

Deleted: 2013 

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted: 11-14-12

Deleted: 01-08-13

Formatted: Highlight

Deleted:  

 

 

O. 1310 HEAD START TRANSPORTATION 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Subpart B – Transportation Requirements 1310.10 – 1310.17  

General  1310.10 
Section 4 
Page 59 

CSAM 

Agency does not provide 
transportation; families are 

connected with transportation 
resources as needed. 

Ongoing 

Child Restraint System 1310.11 
Section 4 

Page 57-59 
CSM – Health 

Services 
All children are secured in 

appropriate child restraint systems. 

Any time a child is 
transported in a car 

or van. 
Required use of School Buses or Allowable 
Alternate Vehicle 

1310.12 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Maintenance of Vehicles 1310.13 
Section 4 

Page 56-57 
Facilities Manager 

All vehicles are maintained in safe 
operating condition. 

Daily 

Inspection of New Vehicles at the Time of 
Delivery 

1310.14 
Section 4 

Page 56-57 
Facilities Manager All new vehicles are inspected Upon delivery 

Operation of Vehicles 1310.15 
Section 4 

Page 56-57 
N/A N/A N/A 

Driver Qualifications 1310.16 
Section 4 

Page 56-57 
Personnel 

Administrator 
All staff driving county vehicles has a 

valid CDL. 
Daily 

Driver and Bus Monitor Training 1310.17 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Subpart C – Special Requirements 1310.20 – 1310.23  

Trip Routing 1310.20 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Safety Education 1310.21 
Section 2 
Page 65 

CSM – Family and 
Community 
Partnerships 

All children and parents are provided 
with Pedestrian Safety Education. 

Annually in Sept. 
and Ongoing for 

children 

Children with Disabilities 1310.22 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Coordinated Transportation 1310.23 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 



 
Policy Council Approved:   
Board of Supervisors Approved:   

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT                           

COMMUNITY SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND 

PROCEDURES 
2013-2014 

 

 

      
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Table of Contents 
 

Section 1: ADMINISTRATION 
 

PART I PROGRAM GOVERNANCE  

A Service Area 4 

B Service Recipients 4 

C Program Governance 4 

   

PART II PLANNING  

A Philosophy 15 

B Methodology 15 

   

PART III COMMUNICATIONS  

A General Description 18 

B Internal Communication 18 

C Internal Communication with Parents 18 

D Communications with Governing Bodies and Policy Groups 19 

E External Communication 19 

F Reporting for County Child Protective Services and State Community Care 
Licensing 

21 

G Reporting for Partner Agencies including Delegate Agency 25 

   

PART IV RECORD KEEPING AND REPORTING  

A General Description 26 

B Personnel Files 27 

C Family Files 27 

D Fiscal Files 27 

E Contract Files 28 

F Public Access to County Records 29 

   

PART V MONITORING  

A Purpose 31 

B Methodology 31 

C Multi-Level Monitoring   31 

D Fiscal Monitoring of the Delegate Agency by the Grantee 33 

E Early Childhood Environmental Rating Scale and Infant Toddler Environmental 
Rating Scale (ECERs and ITERs) 

33 

F Fiscal Officer or his/her Designee Reviews the Financial Information for 
Content and Consistency Before Reimbursing Monthly Expenditures 

33 

G Center Visit Documentation 34 

H Procedures for Review, Analysis and Reporting 34 

   

PART VI SELF-ASSESSMENT  

A Self-Assessment Team 36 

B Methodology 36 

C Parent Involvement 36 

D Process of Self-Assessment of Agency’s Program Services 37 

E Self-Assessment Results  37 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Table of Contents 
 

F Monitoring the Plan of Action Resulting from Self-Assessment 37 

   

PART VII PROGRAM HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT  

A Statement of Purpose of Policies and Procedures 38 

B Governing Board 38 

C  Organizational Structure 38 

D Additional Personnel Policies Relating to Employees of Program Services 39 

E Analysis of Staff Needs 45 

F Recruitment and Selection 45 

G Hiring of CSB Staff 46 

H Reject from Probation 47 

I 9/80 Work Schedule 47 

J Separation 48 

K Resignation 48 

L Nepotism 48 

M Enrolled Children of CSB Employees 48 

N Staff Qualifications-General 48 

O Qualification Requirements for Positions 49 

P Classroom Staffing and Ratios and Comprehensive Services Staffing 49 

Q Site Administration 50 

R Teacher Assistant Trainees (TAT) 51 

S Volunteers 51 

T Standards of Conduct 52 

U Professional Behavior and Attire 52 

V Non-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policies  53 

W Whistle Blowers are Protected 54 

X Protocol for Tracking Staff Absences 55 

Y Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 55 

Z  Confidentiality 56 

AA Staff Performance Appraisals 58 

BB Chronological Supervision and Filing System 60 

CC Staff and Volunteer Health 60 

DD Career Development Opportunities 62 

EE Staff Training and Development 63 

FF New Employee Orientation 67 

GG Continuing Education Programs 67 

HH Delegate Agency Policies 69 

II Short-Term Contract Employees 69 

JJ Union Membership 69 

KK Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Policy 70 

LL Approval of New Personnel Policies and Revisions 70 

   

PART VIII FISCAL  

A Advance Amount for Travel 72 

B Travel Reimbursement-County Employees 72 

C Travel Reimbursement-Parent Reimbursement for Policy Council Activities 72 

D  Using Employee’s Own Funds for County Expenditures 73 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Table of Contents 
 

E Reimbursement for Expenses 73 

F Use of Procurement Cards 74 

G Other Compensation 75 

H Salary 75 

I Bilingual Pay Differential 76 

J Accounting Certificate Differential 77 

K Management Longevity Pay 77 

L Management Paid Personal Leave (Admin Leave) 77 

M Unemployment Compensation 77 

N Vehicle Use 78 

O In-Kind (Non-Federal Share) 78 

   

   

SECTION 2: CHILD DEVELOPMENT 
 

PART I PREVENTION AND EARLY INTERVENTION  

A Determining Child Health Status 5 

B Protocols for Determining Child Health Status 6 

C Developmental, Sensory and Behavioral Screening 13 

D Follow-Up and Treatment 15 

E Children with Disabilities- Screening, Case Management and Referral 
Procedures 

16 

F Child and Family Mental Health Services 19 

G Parent Involvement in Health, Nutrition and Mental Health Education 28 

H Discipline Policy 28 

I Case Management 31 

J Child Abuse Reporting Policies 34 

   

PART II SERVICES FOR CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES  

A Purpose 38 

B Definitions 39 

C List of Disabling Conditions 40 

D Responsibilities of CSB Full Inclusion Teacher 40 

E Responsibilities of School District SDC, RTI and Full Inclusion Teachers 41 

F Responsibilities of the Comprehensive Services Team 42 

G Documentation of Disabilities Services 44 

H Postural Supports /Protective Devices 44 

I Disabilities Resources 44 

J Service Plan 44 

K Disabilities Budget Coordination 45 

L Special Education Budget Allocation 45 

M Disabilities Screenings 45 

N Evaluations 45 

O Accessibility of Facilities 46 

P Disabilities Transitioning Services 46 

Q Transition Policy for Early Head Start Children Receiving Mental Health or 
Special Education Services 

47 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Table of Contents 
 

R Special Education and Related Services 47 

S Special Education with Other Agencies 48 

T Volunteers 48 

U Special Education Staff 49 

V Interagency Agreements 49 

W Recruitment and Enrollment 49 

X American with Disabilities Act (ADA) Policy – Enrollment of Children with 
Disabilities, Recruitment and Enrollment 

50 

Y Assessment Process of Children with Disabilities 51 

Z Eligibility Criteria: Health Impairment 52 

AA Eligibility Criteria: Emotional / Behavioral Disorders 52 

BB Eligibility Criteria: Speech or Language Impairments 52 

CC Eligibility Criteria: Intellectual Disability 52 

DD Eligibility Criteria: Hearing Impairment 53 

EE Eligibility Criteria: Orthopedic Impairment, Visual Impairment / Blindness 53 

FF Eligibility Criteria: Learning Disabilities 53 

GG Eligibility Criteria: Autism, Traumatic Brain Injury, Other Impairments 53 

HH Disabilities/Health Services Coordination 53 

II Developing Individualized Education Programs (IEPs) 54 

JJ Disability Referral Procedures 54 

KK Nutrition Services for Children with Disabilities 55 

LL Parent Involvement in Transition Services for Children with Disabilities 57 

   

PART III INDIVIDUALIZATION IN THE PROGRAM  

A Description 58 

B Individual Goals 58 

C  First Parent Conference / Individualized Plan 58 

D Second Parent Conference 59 

E The Infant-Toddler Individual Needs and Services Plan 59 

F Lesson Plans 59 

G Developmental, Sensory and Behavioral Screening 59 

H Assessment 59 

I Portfolio Assessment 60 

J Program Transitions 60 

   

PART IV CURRICULUM  

A Child Development and Education Approach 63 

B Curriculum Implementation 63 

C Parent Involvement and Participation in Program 72 

D  Home-Based Option 72 

E Classroom Assignments 73 

F Adult-to-Child Ratio 73 

G Sign-In and Out Procedures 74 

H General Celebration Policy 76 

I Field Trip Policy 77 

   

PART V CHILD NUTRITION  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Table of Contents 
 

A Identification of Nutritional Needs 81 

B Nutrition Referral 81 

C Child Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) 84 

D Child Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) Monitoring 85 

   

   

PART VI CHILD HEALTH AND SAFETY  

A Daily Health Inspection 87 

B Hand Washing 89 

C Infection Control in the Classroom 89 

D Napping Policy 91 

E Dental Hygiene 91 

F Health Issues in the Classroom 92 

G Child Safety and Supervision 92 

H Child Illness Procedures 93 

I Return to School After Illness 94 

J Medical Alerts 95 

K Children Injured at the Center 95 

L Blood Protocol 96 

M Medication Administration 97 

N Incomplete Health Records 100 

O Health and Safety Training for Center Staff 101 

P Posting of Documents (Health Emergency Procedures) 101 

Q Pet Protocol 102 

R Safety / Sanitation Procedures 103 

S Safety Surveillance 104 

T First Aid Kits 105 

U Preparing For Emergencies 105 

V Classroom Sanitation 107 

W Kitchen Sanitation 109 

X Food Safety and Sanitation 109 

Y Procedures for Using Transport Units 111 

Z Food for Infants 112 

AA Food for Toddlers 113 

BB Potlucks 113 

CC  Food for Children, Parent Staff Meetings and Events 113 

DD Nutrition Services 114 

EE Food Defense 114 

   

   

SECTION 3: FAMILY AND COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS 
 

PART I FAMILY PARTNERSHIP BUILDING  

A Purpose and Methodology 3 

B Family Partnership Agreement 3 

C Accessing Community Services and Resources 8 

D Supporting Families in Crisis- (Emergency and Crisis Assistance) 8 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Table of Contents 
 

E Accessing Mental Health Services: Prevention Identification, Intervention, 
Program for Families 

9 

F Family Resources 9 

G Services to Pregnant Women Enrolled in the Program 10 

   

PART II PARENT ENGAGEMENT  

A General Description 11 

B Engagement in the Decision-Making Process 11 

C Engagement in the Classroom as Paid Employees, Volunteers or Observers 13 

D The Role of Staff in Parent Engagement 15 

E Development of Activities for all parents 16 

F Parent Education / Home Activities 16 

G Parent Notification of Community Services Bureau Changes 16 

H Family Literacy 17 

I Parent and Family Engagement in Health, Nutrition, and Mental Health 
Education 

17 

J Parent Engagement in Community Action 18 

K Parent and Family Engagement in Transition Activities 18 

L Parent and Family Engagement in Home Visits 19 

M Parent Engagement in Recruiting and Interviewing Head Start and Early Head 
Start Employees 

19 

N Parent’s Appeal Rights 19 

   

PART III COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS  

A Descriptions 21 

B Child Care Partnerships 21 

C Partnerships with Agencies, Entities and Individuals 21 

   

   

SECTION 4: PROGRAM DESIGN 
 

PART I ELIGIBILITY, RECRUITMENT, SELECTION AND ATTENDANCE- ERSEA  

A State Child Development Program 4 

B Definitions 6 

C Child Age and Family Income Eligibility 9 

D Recruitment 9 

E Selection Process 10 

F CLOUDS Waitlist 11 

G Enrollment and Re-Enrollment 12 

H Eligibility and Need Criteria and Documentation 14 

I Certification of Eligibility 22 

J Re-certification for General Child Care Services and Full Day State Preschool 23 

K Re-Certification for Part-Day State Preschool Children 23 

L Re-Certification for Head Start and Early Head Start Children 23 

M General Recertification / Re-Enrollment Procedures 24 

N Updating the Application 24 

O Contents of Basic Data File 24 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Table of Contents 
 

P Admission Policies and Procedures 29 

Q General Admission Procedure 30 

R Children’s Enrollment Files 30 

S Due Process Requirements 30 

T Alternative Placement for Children 31 

U Client’s Request for a hearing and procedures 32 

V Appeal Procedure for CDD Review 32 

W CSB Compliance with CDD Decision 33 

X Retention of Enrollment Records 33 

Y Enrolled but Waiting for Transfer Protocol 33 

Z Transfer of Child with Disabilities or of Child Receiving Mental Health Services 34 

AA CSPP Full-Day to Part-Day or Tuition Based Approval Process 34 

BB Withdrawal of Child form the Program 36 

CC Attendance Expectations 36 

DD Attendance Accounting 37 

EE Title XXII Requirements for All Children 38 

FF Fees for Non-Head Start and Early Head Start Funded Programs 39 

GG Billing Procedures 40 

HH Fee Collection Procedures 42 

II Receipts/Banking Procedures 42 

JJ Confidentiality of Records 43 

   

PART II STAFFING REQUIREMENTS  

A Program Director 44 

B Site Supervisor 44 

C Teacher 44 

D Applicability of Staffing Requirements 44 

E Staffing Rations for Site Supervisors or Teachers 44 

F Comprehensive Services 45 

   

PART III BUSINESS SYSTEMS  

A Overview 46 

B Facilities 46 

C  Use of Technology 50 

D Equipment and Supplies 51 

E Vehicle Usage Policy 56 

F Transportation 59 

    

   

SECTION 5: ALTERNATIVE PAYMENT PROGRAM 
 

PART I PROGRAM OVERVIEW  

A How to Qualify for Services 3 

B Share of Costs 7 

C Selection Process 7 

D Enrollment Process 8 

E Maintaining Enrollment 9 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Table of Contents 
 

F Alternative Payment Program Policies and Procedures 9 

   

PART II ALTERNATIVE PAYMENT PROGRAM PARENT POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

 

A Attendance Policies 10 

B Limited Term Service Leave (LTSL) 11 

C Confidentiality 11 

D Grievance Procedures 12 

E Uniform Complaint Policy 12 

F Zero Tolerance 12 

G Termination Policies 13 

   

PART III PROVIDER PARTICIPATION  

A General Requirements- Parental Choice 14 

B Provider Rate Sheet 15 

C  Attendance Sheet Policies 15 

D Child Care Agreement 16 

E Reimbursement 17 

F Provider Days of Non-Operation 17 

G School Age Children 17 

H Parents Rights to Change Providers/Providers Right to Terminate Services 17 

   

PART IV STAFF ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES  

A Stage II/CAPP Unit Clerks 19 

B Stage II/CAPP Unit Child Care Assistant Managers (CCCAM) 19 

C Stage II/CAPP Unit Manager – (CSM) 20 

    

   

SECTION 6: LOW INCOME HOME ENERGY ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 
 

PART I INTRODUCTION  

A Program Overview 3 

B Types of Assistance are Available 3 

C Service Center Locations 3 

   

PART II LIHEAP ELIGIBILITY GUIDELINES  

A General Guidelines 4 

B Credit Balances 4 

C High Balances 4 

D LIHEAP Questions to determine Eligibility 4 

   

PART III WEATHERIZATION REFERRALS  

A General Description 5 

B Weatherization for Rental Units 5 

C  Weatherization for Home Owners 5 

   

PART IV RECEIVEING AND PROCESSING APPLICATIONS  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Table of Contents 
 

 

A Procedures for starting a client file 6 

B Application and Documentation Review 6 

   

PART V LIHEAP/FAST TRACK COMPLAINT PROCEDURE 7 

   

PART VI APPEAL PROCEDURE  

A General Description 7 

B Appeal Procedure 7 

SECTION 7: WRITTEN SERVICE PLAN 
 

A. 1304.20 CHILD HEALTH AND DELVELOPMENT SERVICES 1 

B. 1304.21 EDUCATION AND EARLY CHILDHOOD DEVELOPMENT 2 

C. 1304.22 CHILD HEALTH AND SAFETY 2 

D. 1304.23 CHILD NUTRITION 3 

E. 1304.24 CHILD MENTAL HEALTH 3 

F. 1304.40 FAMILY PARTNERSHIPS 4 

G. COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS 5 

H. 1304.50 PROGRAM DESIGN AND MANAGEMENT 6 

I.  1304.51 MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 7 

J. 1304.52 HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT 8 

K. 1304.53 FACILITIES, MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT 9 

L. 1305 ELIGIBILITY, RECRUITMENT, SELECTION, ENROLLMENT, AND 
ATTENDANCE IN HEAD START 

9 

M.  1306 HEAD START STAFFING REQUIREMENTS AND PROGRAM OPTIONS 11 

N. 1308 DISABILITIES SERVICES 12 

O. 1310 HEAD START TRANSPORTATION 14 

   

   



CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT                           
COMMUNITY SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

SECTION 1-ADMINISTRATION 
 

 

2013-2014 

 
 
 
  

Policy Council Approved:  
Board of Supervisors Approved: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

1 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

PART I PROGRAM GOVERNANCE  

A Service Area 4 

B Service Recipients 4 

C Program Governance 4 

   

PART II PLANNING  

A Philosophy 15 

B Methodology 15 

   

PART III COMMUNICATIONS  

A General Description 18 

B Internal Communication 18 

C Internal Communication with Parents 18 

D Communications with Governing Bodies and Policy Groups 19 

E External Communication 19 

F Reporting for County Child Protective Services and State Community Care 
Licensing 21 

G Reporting for Partner Agencies including Delegate Agency 25 

   

PART IV RECORD KEEPING AND REPORTING  

A General Description 26 

B Personnel Files 27 

C Family Files 27 

D Fiscal Files 27 

E Contract Files 28 

F Public Access to County Records 29 

   

PART V MONITORING  

A Purpose 31 

B Methodology 31 

C Multi-Level Monitoring   31 

D Fiscal Monitoring of the Delegate Agency by the Grantee 33 

E Early Childhood Environmental Rating Scale and Infant Toddler 
Environmental Rating Scale (ECERs and ITERs) 

33 

F Fiscal Officer or his/her Designee Reviews the Financial Information for 
Content and Consistency Before Reimbursing Monthly Expenditures 

33 

G Center Visit Documentation 34 

H Procedures for Review, Analysis and Reporting 34 

   

PART VI SELF-ASSESSMENT  

A Self-Assessment Team 36 

B Methodology 36 

C Parent Involvement 36 

D Process of Self-Assessment of Agency’s Program Services 37 

E Self-Assessment Results  37 

F Monitoring the Plan of Action Resulting from Self-Assessment 37 

   



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

2 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

PART VII PROGRAM HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT  

A Statement of Purpose of Policies and Procedures 38 

B Governing Board 38 

C  Organizational Structure 38 

D Additional Personnel Policies Relating to Employees of Program Services 39 

E Analysis of Staff Needs 45 

F Recruitment and Selection 45 

G Hiring of CSB Staff 46 

H Reject from Probation 47 

I 9/80 Work Schedule 47 

J Separation 48 

K Resignation 48 

L Nepotism 48 

M Enrolled Children of CSB Employees 48 

N Staff Qualifications-General 48 

O Qualification Requirements for Positions 49 

P Classroom Staffing and Ratios and Comprehensive Services Staffing 49 

Q Site Administration 50 

R Teacher Assistant Trainees (TAT) 51 

S Volunteers 51 

T Standards of Conduct 52 

U Professional Behavior and Attire 52 

V Non-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policies  53 

W Whistle Blowers Are Protected 54 

X Protocol for Tracking Staff Absences 55 

Y Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 55 

Z  Confidentiality 56 

AA Staff Performance Appraisals 58 

BB Chronological Supervision and Filing System 60 

CC Staff and Volunteer Health 60 

DD Career Development Opportunities 62 

EE Staff Training and Development 63 

FF New Employee Orientation 67 

GG Continuing Education Programs 67 

HH Delegate Agency Policies 69 

II Short-Term Contract Employees 69 

JJ Union Membership 69 

KK Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Policy 70 

LL Approval of New Personnel Policies and Revisions 70 

   

PART VIII FISCAL  

A Advance Amount for Travel 72 

B Travel Reimbursement-County Employees 72 

C Travel Reimbursement-Parent Reimbursement for Policy Council Activities 72 

D  Using Employee’s Own Funds for County Expenditures 73 

E Reimbursement for Expenses 73 

F Use of Procurement Cards 74 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

3 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 
  

G Other Compensation 75 

H Salary 75 

I Bilingual Pay Differential 76 

J Accounting Certificate Differential 77 

K Management Longevity Pay 77 

L Management Paid Personal Leave (Admin Leave) 77 

M Unemployment Compensation 77 

N Vehicle Use 78 

O In-Kind (Non-Federal Share) 78 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

4 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 

I. Program Governance 
A. Service Area 
Contra Costa County Employment and Human Services Department, Community Services Bureau (CSB) is 
the designated Community Action Agency for Contra Costa County.  CSB is the Head Start and Early 
Head Start Grantee for Contra Costa and also administers the California Department of Education Child 
Development Programs, Community Services Block Grant, Stage 2/Alternative Payment Programs, Low-
Income Home Energy Assistance and Weatherization Programs.   
 
B. Service Recipients  
The Bureau’s services are directed toward building self-sufficiency among the county’s low-income 
residents and vulnerable populations.  CSB serves pregnant women and children ranging in age from 
birth through kindergarten, individuals and families.  All service recipients served under the various CSB 
funding streams must meet the eligibility requirements of the funding source.  
 
C. Program Governance 
1. The Board of Supervisors 
 
The Board of Supervisors is a body of publically elected officials whose role is to oversee the operations 
of county departments and to exercise executive and administrative authority through the county 
government and county administration.  The BOS also is charged with responsibility and oversight to the 
Head Start and Early Head Start grants as outlined in Appendix A in this section.  
  
2. Policy Council Composition and Formation 
 
The County Board of Supervisors and the Policy Council determine the total size of the Policy Council, 
procedures for electing parent members, and selection of community representatives.  
Policy Council composition is reviewed annually to ensure that it meets the General Membership 
guidelines of HSPS 1304.50(b)(2). Consideration is given to the number of Head Start and Early Head 
Start currently enrolled children along with program options (Full Day, Part Day, and Home Base).  The 
following steps explain how to determine Policy Council composition: 

 Determine the total number of Head Start and Early Head Start slots 

 Determine the total HS/EHS slots for each site by program option based on the current CSB slot 
map (HS/Full Day, HS/Part Day, EHS/FD, and Home Base (EHS/HS collectively). Calculate the 
percentage of each program option (multiply the number of program option slots for each site 
by the total number of slots). This will give you the percentage of membership that each option 
should represent.  

 The number of currently enrolled representatives is set at 39. This is determined using the 
formula 1/60 (1 representative per site for every 60 HS or EHS slots).   

 

Head Start Part Day 29%  9 Representatives 

Head Start Full Day 50%  13 Representatives 

Early Head Start 17 % 5 Representatives 

Home Based Option 4% 1 Representative 

 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

5 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

This information will be included in the Policy Council Bylaws approved annually by the Board of 
Supervisors and the Policy Council. The term for members is one year, October to September. Parent 
representatives will be (re)elected annually by each center’s parent committee. Community 
representatives will be selected annually. The maximum number of one-year terms an individual can 
service is three. No grantee or delegate agency staff (or members of their immediate family) may serve 
on the Policy Council or on the Delegate Agency’s Policy Committee, except parents who occasionally 
(no more than 10 hours/month) substitute for regular Early Head Start or Head Start staff. 
Immediate family is defined as any parent, child, sibling, grandparent, significant other, co-parent or 
spouse of Community Services Bureau staff. At least 51% of the Policy Council members must be parents 
of currently enrolled children. 
 
3. Procedures for Electing Parent Representatives to the Policy Council 
 
The parent committees at each site will elect parent representatives as early as possible in the program 
year.  This is done by voting at the parent meeting. Parent representatives must be parents of currently 
enrolled children in the program. 
 
4. Procedures for Electing Community Representatives to the Policy Council 
 
Community representatives are drawn from the local community. They represent past parents and local 
community agencies. All Community Representatives must be elected by the Policy Council. 
Membership for Individual Community Representatives is also limited to 3 one-year terms 
(1304.50(b)(5). 

 Past Parent Community Representatives 
The past parent representatives must submit a letter to the Policy Council requesting 
consideration to be a community representative. Letters are read during a business meeting, 
and the Policy Council must vote to approve the parent’s request. If the Policy Council receives 
more requests than vacancies, all letters are read for consideration, and the Policy Council 
votes, and the majority decision rules. 

 Community Agency Representatives 
The Policy Council determines which community agencies they would like to invite to participate 
on the Council. Agencies are drawn from the local community and are familiar with resources 
and services for low-income children and families. CSB staff to Policy Council assists by 
contacting agencies to seek interest in joining and requesting the name of an agency 
representative to be elected onto the Policy Council as early in the program year as possible. 
Agency representatives are presented and considered for approval by the Policy Council.   

 
5. Parent Committee 
 
The Parent Committee must carry out at least the following minimum responsibilities: 
Advise center staff in developing and implementing local program policies, activities, and services. 
Plan, conduct, and participate in informal, as well as formal, programs and activities for children, parents 
and staff. 
 
6. Policy Council Responsibilities 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

6 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

The Policy Council has policy-making authority and is governed by its By-Laws.  Each year, through 
ongoing trainings, the Policy Council and Board of Supervisors are trained on Governance and Head Start 
Performance Standards, and oriented to CSB program services. CSB staff provides a comprehensive 
orientation to CSB and Policy Council roles and responsibilities each year. A make-up orientation is also 
provided for members joining later in the program year. A joint training with the Board of Supervisors is 
also scheduled annually. 
 
7. Appendix A: Governance and Management Responsibilities 
 
The following chart outlines the shared responsibilities between the Board of Supervisors, Policy 
Council, Head Start Director and EHSD Director.  

 
 
 
FUNCTION 

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F 
SU

P
ER

-V
IS

O
R

S 

P
O

LI
C

Y 
C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

H
S*

 P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 

D
IR

EC
TO

R
 

A
G

EN
C

Y 

D
IR

EC
TO

R
 

I PLANNING 1304.50(d)(1)(iii)     

(a) 1304.50(d)(1)(iii)  
 
 

A & C C B C 
 Procedures for program planning in 

accordance with this Part and the 
requirements of 45 CFR 1305.3 (this 
regulation is binding on Policy 
Councils exclusively). 

    

(b) 1304.50(d)(1)(iv)  A & C C B C 
The program's philosophy and long - 
and short - range program goals and 
objectives (see 45 CFR 1304.51(a) 
and 45 CFR 1305.3 for additional 
requirements regarding program 
planning). 

    

(c) 1304.50(d)(1)(v)  A & C C B C 
The selection of delegate agencies 
and their service areas (this 
regulation is binding on Policy 
Councils exclusively) (see 45 CFR 
1301.33 and 45 CFR 1305.3(a) for 
additional requirements about 
delegate agency and service area 
selection, respectively). 

    

(d) 1304.50(d)(1)(vii)  A  C B (Review 
Only) 

Criteria for defining recruitment, 
selection, and enrollment priorities in 
accordance with the requirements of 
45 CFR Part 1305. 

    



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

7 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

(e) 1304.50(d)(1)(i)  
 

A & C C B C 
All funding applications and 
amendments to funding applications 
for Early Head Start and Head Start, 
including administrative services, 
prior to the submission of such 
applications to the grantee (in the 
case of Policy Councils). 

    

(f) 1304.50(f)  A C B (Review 
Only) 

Policy Council, Policy Committee, and 
Parent Committee reimbursement.  
Grantee and delegate agencies must 
enable low income members to 
participate fully in their group 
responsibilities by providing, if 
necessary, reimbursements for 
reasonable expenses incurred by the 
members. 

    

(g) 1304.50(d)(1)(viii)  A C B C 
The annual self-assessment of the 
grantee or delegate agency's 
progress in carrying out the 
programmatic and fiscal intent of its 
grant application, including planning 
or other actions that may result from 
the review of the annual audit and 
findings from the federal monitoring 
review (see 45 CFR 1304.51(i)(1) for 
additional requirements about the 
annual self-assessment). 

    

 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

8 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

FUNCTION

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F
 

S
U

P
E

R
-

V
IS

O
R

S

P
O

L
IC

Y
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

H
S

* 

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R

A
G

E
N

C
Y

 

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R

II GENERAL PROCEDURES 1304.50 (d)(1)(vi)

(a) 1304.50(d)(1)(vi) A & C C B C

The composition of the Policy Council or the Policy Committee and 

the procedures by which policy group members are chosen.

(b) 1304.50(g)(1) A & C C N/A C

Grantee and delegate agencies must have written policies that define 

roles and responsibilites of the governing body members and that 

inform them of the mananagement procedures and functions 

necessary to implement a high quality program.

(c) 1304.50(d)(1)(ii) A & C C B C
Procedures describing how the governing body and the appropriate 

policy group will implement shared decision-making.

(d) 1304.50(h) A & C C B C

Internal dispute resolution.  Each grantee and delegate agency and 

Policy Council or Policy Committee jointly must establish written 

procedures for resolving internal disputes, including impasse 

procedures, between the governing body and policy group.

(e) 1304.50(d)(2)(v) B B B B

Establish and maintain procedures for hearing and working with the 

grantee or delegate agency to resolve community complaints about 

the program.

(f) 1304.50(g)(2) A N/A B B
Grantee and delegate agencies must ensure that appropriate internal 

controls are established and implemented to safeguard federal funds 

in accordance with 45 CFR 1301.13.

(g) 1304.50(d)(1)(ix) A & C N/A B B

The annual independent audit that must be conducted in accordance 

with 45 CFR 1301.12.
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

9 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

FUNCTION

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F
 

S
U

P
E

R
-

V
IS

O
R

S

P
O

L
IC

Y
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

H
S

* 

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R

A
G

E
N

C
Y

 

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R

III HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT 1304.50(d)(1)(x)

(a) 1304.50(d)(1)(x) A & C C B B

Program personnel policies and subsequent changes to those 

policies, in accordance with 45 CFR 1301.31, including standards 

of conduct for program staff, consultants, and volunteers.

(b) 1304.50(d)(1)(xi) A & C C N/A B

Decisions to hire or terminate the Early Head Start or Head Start 

Director of the grantee agency.

(c) 1304.50(d)(1)(xii) C C B C

Decisions to hire or terminate any person who works primarily for 

the Early Head Start or Head Start program of the grantee agency.

(Grantee Only)

(d) 1304.50(d)(1)(xi) N/A N/A N/A B

Decisions to hire or terminate the Early Head Start or Head Start 

Director of the delegate agency.

(e) 1304.50(d)(1)(xii) N/A N/A B C

Decisions to hire or terminate any person who works primarily for 

the Early Head Start or Head Start program of the delegate 

agency.

(Delegate Only)

D.  Determined locally.  Management staff functions as determined by the local governing body and in accordance with all Head Start 

regulations.

C.  Must Approve or Disapprove.  The group must be involved in the decision-making process prior to the point of seeking approval.  If it does 

not approve, a proposal cannot be adopted, or the proposed action taken, until agreement is reached between the disagreeing groups.

KEY AND DEFINITIONS AS USED IN CHART

* When a grantee or delegate agency operates an Early Head Start program only and not an Early Head Start and a Head Start program, 

these responsilbilites apply to the Early Head Start Director.

A.  General Responsibility.  The group with legal and fiscal responsibility that guides and oversees the carrying out of the functions described 

through the individual or group given operating responsibility.

B.  Operating responsibility.  The individual or group that is directly responsible for carrying out or performing the functions consistent with the 

general guidance and oversight from the group holding general responsibility.

 
Procedures, Plans, & Applications 
Requiring Board & Policy Council Approvals (rev. 5/19/09) 
(Existing Appendix A requirements PLUS the added ones from the 2007 HS legislation)** 

Procedure/Plan/Application 
 

Approval Required Frequency of 
Approval 

 Board of 
Directors 

Policy Council  

Planning Procedure (Road Map)            X X Annually 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

10 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Goals and Objectives  X X Annually 
 

Child Recruitment/Selection 
Procedures 

X 
(added) 

X Annually 
 

Budget and Grant Application  X X Annually - and as 
needed for 
supplements 

Self Assessment and Plan for 
Corrections  

X 
(added) 

X Annually 

Board Composition Requirements for 
non-governmental agencies 

X 
(added) 

            ____ 
 
 

One-time  
(until changed) 

Board and PC Conflict of Interest 
requirements 

X 
(added) 

X 
(added) 

One-time  
(until changed) 

Board approval of PC Composition 
Procedure for how PC members are 
selected 

X 
X 
(added) 

___ 
X 
(added) 

One-Time  
(until changed) 

Policy defining roles/ responsibilities 
of governing board members for 
implementing a high quality program  

X  One-Time  
(until changed) 

Procedures describing how shared 
governance is implemented  

X X One-Time  
(until changed) 

Dispute Resolution & Impasse 
Procedure (OHS will issue procedure) 

X X One-Time  
(until changed) 

Procedures to resolve community 
complaints, conduct investigations. 

X 
Previously 
“operating” 
role 

 
Previously 
 “operating” 
role 

One-Time 
 (until changed) 

Personnel Policies & Procedures 
(Revisions to originally approved) 

X X As Needed 
 

Service Area Plans   X Annually 
 

Financial Management Accounting & 
Reporting Policies including audit 

X 
(added) 

____ One-Time  
(until changed) 

Board:  Hiring/Termination procedures 
for Executive, Head Start, Fiscal, and 
HR Directors 
 
Policy Council:  Hiring and firing 
criteria for program staff. 

X 
(added) 
 
 
 

_____ 
 
 
 
X 
(added) 

One-Time  
(until changed) 

 

Required Reports To Board To PC Frequency 

Budget and Program Reports 
Budget Reports 
Credit Card Expense Reports 

X 
X 
X 

X 
X 
X 

Periodic 
Monthly 
Monthly 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

11 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

USDA Meals/Snacks 
Program Information Summaries 
Enrollment Reports 

X 
X 
X 

X 
X 
X 

Monthly 
Monthly 
Monthly 

** Additional clarifications and revised regulations will be forthcoming from OHS. 
 
8. Responsibilities of Board of Supervisors, Policy Council, Employment and Human Services Executive 
Director and Community Services Bureau Director 
 
i. Background 

 The responsibilities of the Board of Supervisors, Policy Council, and Director of Program Services 
are described in the Head Start Performance Standards.  The Performance Standards describe 
certain responsibilities for the Director of the Head Start program, leaving decisions regarding 
other responsibilities to Executive Directors of the local Head Start Grantee. 

ii. Reference 

 Head Start Performance Standards, 45 CFR 1304.50(g)(i) 

 Policy 
The Employment and Human Services (EHSD) Director and the Community Services Bureau Director 
shall ensure that the Policy Council and the Board of Supervisors are routinely and frequently 
informed of, and trained on, management procedures and functions, as well as the Federal laws and 
regulatory compliance issues required to ensure a quality program.  Mutual communication and 
understanding between the governing board, the policy council and program management are 
fundamental prerequisites for a healthy Head Start Program.  The EHSD Director and the Community 
Services Bureau Director will also ensure that the Board of Supervisors has an understanding and 
appreciation of the Head Start Philosophy and the role of parents and Policy Council in shared 
governance.  Careful and complete communication and planning will ensure effective oversight and 
appropriate actions and interventions that will foster the mutual understanding and actions of all 
entities responsible to maintain a quality Head Start Program. 

 
iii. Procedures 

 The Employment and Human Services Department (EHSD) Director will meet monthly with the 
County Administrator’s Office. 

 Topics for the monthly meetings will include, but not be confined to: 
o Fiscal/budget issues 
o Personnel matters 
o Facility issues 
o Policies and Procedures 
o Program planning 
o Annual Self Assessment 
o Annual independent audit 
o Grant development and submission 
o Correspondence with ACF 
o Program issues 
o Enrollment and Average Daily Attendance 
o Regulatory changes 
o Parent Involvement  
o Planning for joint Board of Supervisors/ Policy Council training activities 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

12 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 A meeting report will be generated by the Employment and Human Services Director and the 
Community Services Bureau Director. 

 The report of the meeting will be sent monthly to the Health and Human Services Committee of 
the Board of Supervisors, agendized by the Board of Supervisors and the Policy Council. 

 The Employment and Human Services Director and Community Services Bureau Director will 
jointly meet throughout the program year, individually, with each member of the BOS to review 
reports, give updates and advice, and train on new regulations and initiatives. 

 
9. Role of Policy Council in the Annual Grant Development Process 
 
Throughout the year, the Policy Council is involved in the grant process through a variety of ways: 

 The Program Services/Ongoing Monitoring subcommittee meets throughout the year to review 
and update the annual program goals and objectives and the annual parent services budget and 
activities. 

 The Fiscal subcommittee meets monthly to develop, adjust and approve the program budget for 
the coming year’s grant and tracks it throughout the year. 

 The Policy Council approves the annual program goals and objectives. 

 The Policy Council reviews and approves the Community Assessment annual updates and the 
full assessment every three years. 

 The Policy Council also reviews and approves the Annual Planning Calendar, Child Recruitment 
and Selection Criteria, the Self Assessment and Plan for Corrective Actions, all of which are 
included in the submission of the Annual Grant Application. 

 
Once these components of the grant are reviewed and approved, the Policy Council approves the full 
grant in the fall before submission to ACF. 
 
10. Resolution of Disputes between the Board of Supervisors and the Policy Council (Impasse Policy) 
 
i. Background 

 The Performance Standards require that Head Start grantees establish a policy and necessary 
implementation procedures for the resolution of internal disputes between the Board of 
Supervisors and the Policy Council. 

 
ii. Reference 

 Head Start Performance Standards, 45 CFR 1304.50(h) 
 
iii. Policy 

 It is the policy of Contra Costa County to resolve any disagreements between the Board of 
Supervisors and the Head Start Policy Council fairly and expeditiously.  Whenever possible, 
disagreements will be resolved through processes of mediation and conciliation, including 
discussion, compromise, and consensus-seeking between parties, and, if necessary, professional 
mediation. 

 
iv. Administrative Procedure 

 Informal Resolution 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

13 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

The Chairpersons of the Board of Supervisors and the Policy Council will monitor actions and 
decisions of each body as they relate to their respective responsibilities.  In the event that a conflict 
exists, they will initiate informal discussions between representatives of the two bodies and seek a 
mutually acceptable resolution.  

 Mediation 
If informal resolution is not effective, the Chairpersons of the Board of Supervisors and the Policy 
Council shall request that the Community Services Bureau Director identify qualified individuals who 
provide professional mediation services.  The Chairpersons will confer and mutually designate a 
professional mediator who will be retained to mediate the disagreement.  The mediator will use 
conciliation, compromise and consensus-seeking between the two bodies.  The mediation process 
shall be non-binding. 

 
11. Resolution of Community Complaints 
 
i. “Community complaint” is defined as any complaint from anyone other than staff. 
 
ii. The Policy Council is generally responsible for (and has the legal and fiscal responsibility for 
guiding/directing/carrying-out the establishment of) a method of hearing and resolving community 
complaints about the Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau.   
 
iii. Process for Solving Disputes/Complaints 

 Any parent (enrolled or applying for services) or community member may report a complaint to 
a program staff member of any of our program/sites, i.e. Site Supervisor, Teacher, Associate 
Teacher, or Comprehensive Services, Analyst, or clerical staff. If the complaint comes in by 
phone, the staff member documents that complaint. Complaints may come from sources other 
than the site, i.e. Board of Supervisors. Anyone receiving a complaint will immediately contact a 
program manager by phone with the following information: 

o Step 1:  Document the complaint in writing to include the following information: 
Contact information of the complainant:  Name, Address, Phone Number, email (if 
appropriate); 
Information Shared:  When was the occurrence, Who was involved, What happened, 
Where did it occur, What was the impact. 
Other information that the complainant wishes to share. 
If the complaint comes in by phone:  program staff document call, note time, date & 
staff member name 

o Step 2:  Complaint goes first to Site Supervisor who must discuss the details with their 
Assistant Director within 24 hours of the report.  The Assistant Director works with the 
program staff to attempt resolution within 48 hours.   

o Step 3:  Complaints not resolved within 48 hours will be brought to the attention of the 
Division Manager, Bureau Director, or their designee. 

o Step 4:  If the complaint is then resolved, the Bureau Director will send a memo to all 
involved, stating remedial actions to be taken by staff and the time line for these 
actions.  

o Step 5:  If satisfactory resolution is still not achieved, the Bureau Director will request 
the EHSD Director to review all documentation. When the complaint is then resolved, 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

14 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

the EHSD Director will send a memo to all involved, stating remedial actions to be taken 
by staff and the time line for these actions. 

  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

15 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

II. Planning 
A. Philosophy 
The Community Services Bureau Philosophy of Program Management is as follows: 
To establish a culturally competent, systematic and innovative process of program planning that 
demonstrates forward mobility and strategic thinking, in an effort to meet the changing needs of the 
children and families within the community.  
 
In efforts to fulfill our philosophy, administrative staff  including fiscal, personnel, information 
technology and administration, is committed and dedicated to carry out the following program goals:  

(1) Poor health and nutrition are significantly correlated to children and families living in poverty.  
CSB will address the need to improve indicators of nutritional health through increased 
education and physical activity. 

(2) Disabilities and mental health needs continue to trend upwards.  CSB will expand mental health 
and disabilities assessment, treatment, and case management linkage opportunities for children 
and families. 

(3) Exposure to violence has a lasting impact on children’s development including their emotional, 
mental and physical health. CSB will promote positive and enduring adult-child relationships 
that increase a child’s level of secure attachments by providing services to promote the safety 
and well-being of children and families. 

(4) CSB will provide ongoing learning opportunities to enhance employees’ career development and 
assist in meeting new job requirements. 

 
CSB implements a systematic, ongoing process of program planning that includes consultation with the 
programs’ governing body, policy groups, program staff, and with other local community organizations 
that serve enrolled families. CSB planning includes: community assessment, multi-year (long-range) 
program goals and short-term objectives, systems planning calendar, and written plans for 
implementing services in each of the program areas. 
 
B. Methodology 
1. Community Assessment 

 The Community Assessment is conducted once every three years with annual updates during 
the onset of each program year. The community assessment helps keep CSB abreast of 
substantive issues facing the community which informs all systems and services of the bureau. 
Strengths, resources, needs and trends in the CSB service area are identified and integrated into 
the planning process and into the development and implementation of policies, procedures, 
service plans, goals and objectives. The findings of the Community Assessment are used to help 
reach decisions in areas such as: to help determine CSB program philosophy, long-range and 
short-range program objectives, help determine the type of services and program options to be 
provided, help determine the recruitment areas of the program, help identify locations of 
centers and home-based programs, and help set the criteria for recruitment and selection. 

 The Community Assessment process is led by a CSB Analyst. The data that is collected externally 
and internally consists of, but is not limited to demographic make-up of eligible children and 
families, other child development and child care programs serving eligible children including 
infant/toddler, and pregnancy programs, services for children with disabilities, education, 
health, nutrition and social services needs for eligible children and families and community 
resources that could address the needs of eligible children and families.  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

16 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 

 The Community Assessment helps to identify strengths, disparities, needs and trends in the 
community which guides management, Policy Council, and the County Board of Supervisors in 
the planning process for eligibility, recruitment, selection criteria, site and classroom placement, 
as well as general program management, including curriculum and family support services.  The 
Community Assessment also guides the program goals and objectives.   

2. Self-Assessment 

 Once each program year, CSB conducts a joint Grantee and Delegate Agency self-assessment of 
the effectiveness and progress of our programs in meeting program goals and objectives and in 
implementing federal regulations.  Self-assessment tools include resources from the OHS 
Monitoring Protocol, and CLASS assessment.  The modes of assessment in the protocols include: 
Observation, Interview, and Records Review. 

 A training and overview of the self-assessment process is given prior to the designated week the 
self-assessment is conducted.  The role of the Bureau Director and Delegate Director and/or 
their designees in the self-assessment process are as “advisor” to the team. The analyst 
responsible for the self-assessment is the Team Leader and may be supported by a consultant.  
Teams are comprised of grantee and delegate agency management and non-management staff, 
parents, community partners, and representatives of the Board of Supervisors. Teams are 
formed in November of each year. 

 The self-assessment process concludes with the team leader and/or his designee(s) writing a 
cumulative and comprehensive report that addresses program strengths as well as potential 
non-compliances.  If needed, a corrective action plan is developed to remediate areas of non-
compliance. The final report of the self-assessment, including the certifications of corrective 
actions, is presented to the Policy Council, Local Policy Committee, Delegate Board, and Board of 
Supervisors for approval in March of each year. As soon as these approvals are secured, the final 
report is then forwarded to the ACF Program Specialist. 

 The results of the self-assessment are used in the planning process, in developing and improving 
program services, and in formulating the program approach included in grant applications. 

 
3. Strategic Plan 

 With the support of the Employment and Human Services Director, CSB adopts the Program 
Goals and Objectives as the bureau’s five year Strategic Plan.  The plan addresses needs and 
concerns that are identified through the community assessment, self-assessment, and ongoing 
monitoring results.  They are also developed with input provided from parents through the 
Policy Council’s Program Services Subcommittee.  The strategic plan is reviewed and updated 
semi-annually by the Senior Management Team.  Annual updates are presented to the Policy 
Council and Board of Supervisors. 

 
4. Bureau Systems Planning Calendar 

 The purpose of the CSB Planning Calendar is to provide chronological guidance and a timeline 
for critical events such as: reviews, audits, reports, etc. that occurs within the year.   

 The planning calendar ensures continuity within the programs as well as throughout the bureau.  
Included in the planning calendar are methods to ensure consultation and collaboration with 
the program’s governing body, policy groups and program staff. The planning calendar is 
updated and submitted for approval annually by the Policy Council and the Board of Supervisors. 

 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

17 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

5. Management Planning Meetings 

 Planning is conducted on an on-going basis at varying levels throughout the bureau during 
planning meetings, staff summits, and management retreats. Additional information regarding 
management planning meetings is found under Section III-Communications. 

  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

18 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

III. Communications 
A. General Description 
All staff is expected to communicate within the department and externally using the following 
communication tools: 

 Common, not technical terms 

 A professional tone 

 Assurance that the approach is based on each family’s cultural/linguistic preferences 

 Adherence to the principles of Facilitative Leadership 

 Encouragement of a team approach 

 Ensure that translation services are available when needed 
 
B. Internal Communication 
Employees must follow County policy with regards to courtesy and confidentiality.  High staff morale is 
dependent on friendly greetings, active listening and a display of a helpful attitude toward team 
members. The following are methods of internal communication with program staff: 

 Staff summits 

 Regularly scheduled staff meetings at varying levels, such as: 

 Senior Administrative Management 

 Senior Management 

 Comprehensive Services 

 Cluster-based 

 Site-level 

 Daily Interactions 

 Staff newsletters 

 Internal memos 

 Policies and Procedures 

 Fax 

 Email 

 Payroll notices 

 Telephone 

 Bureau Reports 

 Computerized Tracking Systems (COPA)/CLOUDS 

 Video Conferencing System 

 Annual Planning Calendar 
 
C. The following are methods of internal communication with parents: 

 Monthly Policy Council meetings – program planning, policy and financial information is shared 

 Monthly Policy Council sub-committee meetings 

 Monthly Policy Council executive board meetings 

 Monthly parent meetings 

 Parent surveys 

 Parent-teacher conferences 

 Home visits 

 Monthly Comprehensive Services Team newsletters 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

19 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 Quarterly family newsletters 

 Parent bulletin board that includes: 
o Upcoming activities; posted memos; health and safety information logs; site emergency 

procedures; parents’ and child’s rights; and Policy Council minutes and agendas 

 Daily classroom schedules 

 Weekly lesson plans 

 Parent policies and procedures 

 Dissemination of pertinent information regarding program planning, communications from 
Office of Head Start, financial reports and grant applications. 

 Planned site activities  

 Planned community events 

 Social Media Tools 

 Communication with Delegate Agency and Community Childcare Partners: 

 Regularly scheduled meetings 

 Regular monitoring 

 Joint trainings 

 Appointed members from the delegates on the Policy Council 

 Joint annual self-assessments 

 Email 

 Telephone 

 Fax 

 Monthly reports 
 
D. Communications with Governing Bodies and Policy Groups 
1. The Policy Council serves as a link between public and private organizations, Delegate Agency Policy 
Committee(s), Subcontractors, the Grantee-Operated Program Site Committees, the Grantee, County 
Board of Supervisors and the community it serves. 
Mutual communication and understanding between the governing board and program management are 
fundamental for a high quality Head Start Program.  
 
2. Monthly meetings with the County Administrator’s Office: The Employment and Human Services 
Department (EHSD) Director and the CSB Director also ensure that the Board of Supervisors has an 
understanding and appreciation of the Head Start philosophy and the role of parents and Policy Council 
in shared governance.  
 
Monthly meetings are held with the County Administrator’s Office to discuss various areas of the 
program. A meeting report is generated by the EHSD Director and the CSB Director. The meeting’s 
report is sent monthly to the Health and Human Services Committee of the Board of Supervisors. In 
addition, the CSB Director and other assigned staff, meet throughout the program year, individually, 
with each member of the BOS to review reports, tour centers, give updates and advice, and train on new 
regulations and initiatives. 
 
E. External Communication 
1. Communication with Partnerships 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

20 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

CSB has several types of Community Partnerships and all of them provide valuable services to our 
children and parents.  Our reputation in the community is often dependent upon the respect and 
assistance provided our partners when in contact with them.  Every employee is responsible for 
delivering clear and helpful information to the public at large and to our partners in particular. External 
Partners include: 

 State/Local Policy Groups 

 State Department of Education 

 Local Planning Council 

 First Five Commissions 

 County Departments 

 Community-based Organizations 

 Contra Costa County SELPAs 

 Child Care Partners 

 Policy Forum 

 County Board of Supervisors 

 Local Education Agencies 

 Contra Costa County School Superintendents 

 Contra Costa One Stop Consortium 

 California Welfare Directors Association Committees 

 News / Media Inquiries 
 
2. Press Calls 
i. All press calls should come to, or be referred through, Legislative and Community Relations 
Coordinator at (925) 313-1676 or the Advanced Level Secretary at (925) 313-1769 in the Office of 
Administration for the Employment and Human Services Department.  This will guarantee that the 
Bureau Director and Senior Administrative Staff know which stories and issues are attracting press 
attention.  It will also make it easier for the reporter to be connected with the proper Department 
spokespersons who can respond fully and accurately.  It will enable the Legislative and Community 
Relations Coordinator or the Advance Level Secretary in the Office of Administration for the 
Employment and Human Services Department to follow up with reporters and Department Staff to 
ensure that deadlines are honored and follow up questions, issues and photography are well managed. 
 
The Legislative and Community Relations Coordinator or the Advanced Level Secretary in the Office of 
Administration for the Employment and Human Services Department will be available to prepare staff 
for interviews, review the topic of interest and discuss points that will help the interview be complete 
and accurate while getting the Department’s message across to the public. 
 
On occasion, members of the press will take a shortcut into the Department and contact staff directly.  If 
the staff member has been authorized by their Bureau Director to respond to the press, they are free to 
respond to the reporter.  They should then contact the Legislative and Community Relations Coordinator 
at (925) 313-1676 or the Advanced Level Secretary at (925) 313-1769 in the Office of Administration for 
the Employment and Human Services Department to discuss the story and allow for the Legislative and 
Community Relations Coordinator or the Advanced Level Secretary in the Office of Administration for 
the Employment and Human Services Department or designee to follow up. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

21 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

ii. If the staff person has not been authorized by their Bureau Director to respond to the press, they are 
required to adhere to the following: 

 Do not respond directly to print, vocal, and/or visual media representatives; 

 Politely refer all contacts to the Legislative and Community Relations Coordinator at (925) 313-
1676 or the Advanced Level Secretary at (925) 313-1769 in the Office of Administration for the 
Employment and Human Services Department; 

 Inform your manager/supervisor immediately; 

 Provide the following information: date, time, and location of contact; 

 Media representative's name, organization, and phone number and 

 Summary and nature of the inquiry 
 
There are many differing aspects and/or components related to the successful operation of our 
program.  It is unfair for individual staff members to be placed in and/or to place themselves in a 
position of stating, explaining, and/or formulating policy for the department.  An innocent comment 
intended to project a positive view can be reproduced with a negative spin or violate the right to privacy 
of our clients.  Proposed dialogue: 

 "I would like to respond to your questions.  My concerns rest with preserving and protecting the 
privacy of our children and their families.  Please give me your name, organization, and phone 
number so that I can properly refer your request.”  

 Staff with story ideas or events to promote are asked not to contact the press directly, but to 
call the Legislative and Community Relations Coordinator at (925) 313-1676 or the Advanced 
Level Secretary at (925) 313-1769 in the Office of Administration for the Employment and 
Human Services Department, so these stories can be channeled to the press most likely to 
publish them. 

 
4. Tools for External Communication are as follows: 

 Formal/informal agreements 

 Regular meetings 

 E-mail 

 Telephone 

 Membership activities 

 Social Media Tools (Facebook/Twitter and etc.) 
 
F. Reporting for County Child Protective Services and State Community Care Licensing 
The purpose of these policies and procedures are to provide all department employees with instructions 
on what specific steps they must take to properly handle any incident involving an abused and/or 
neglected child, the injury of a child, or a potential child’s rights violation.  It is important to note that 
while all employees are charged with the responsibility of reporting incidents involving an abused 
and/or neglected child, only the EHSD Director or Bureau Director or designee is charged with the 
responsibility of reporting potential child’s rights violations to State Community Care Licensing. 
 
In addition, this policy is intended to make clear the procedure for reporting incidents that may occur 
both off site and on site. 
 
1. Definitions 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

22 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 CCL (State): The acronym for State Community Care Licensing, which is a Division of the State of 
California Social Services Department, and which is responsible for the licensing of the 
Department’s Child Care facilities. 

 EHSD Director: The Director of the Employment and Human Services Department 

 Bureau Director: The Director of the Community Services Bureau. 

 CFS (County): The acronym for Children and Family Services, formerly Child Protective 
Services, which is a Division of the County’s Employment and Human Services Department and is 
mandated by the Federal and State government to assess and investigate all referrals which 
allege that a child is endangered by abuse, neglect, or exploitation. 

 Major Injury: Any incident involving a child that requires the intervention of any medical 
professional (examples of medical professional include: medical advice nurse, hospital, clinic, 
doctor, ambulance service, emergency room). 

 Minor Injury: Any incident involving a child that does not require the intervention of any medical 
professional as noted above. 

 Child’s rights violations: Any incident that occurs at a Community Services Bureau facility and 
involves an employee, contractor, or volunteer of the Department that might violate either the 
Head Start Code of Conduct or the rights of a child in accordance with State Child Care Licensing 
Regulations. 

 
All employees, at all levels, are expected to follow the policies and procedures so that accurate and 
timely reporting can be assured to both the County CPS and the State CCL. 
 
2. Children and Family Services (CFS) (Protective Services, County) 
 
Any employee or contractor who knows or suspects that a child has been abused and/or neglected off 
site should immediately discuss his/her concerns with a Site Supervisor or Assistant Director. 
 
If the discussion leads to the reasonable suspicion that a child has been abused and/or neglected off 
site, the employee or contractor should report his/her concerns immediately to CFS. 
 
The employee or contractor making the report will provide a copy of the above referenced report to 
their Site Supervisor and Assistant Director. 
 
3. Child Injuries 
 
i. Minor Injuries: (any incident not involving any medical professional) immediately report the injury to 
your Supervisor and the parent after you have tended to the child. 
Employees do not report minor injuries to CCL. 
 
If a parent of a child who has sustained a minor injury reports back to the center that they subsequently 
took the child to be seen by any medical professional, the injury needs to be reported as a major injury. 
All head injuries regardless of staff determination that it is minor or major shall be reported to the 
Supervisor immediately who shall contact the parent immediately to pick up the child. “Head Injuries” 
are defined as injuries to the skull or cranium, and do not include the mid and lower facial areas. Staff 
shall complete a written injury report for the parent prior to pick-up time and at pick-up time talk with 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

23 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

the parent to explain the injury, action taken by staff, and provide a copy of the written report. 
Supervisor shall make a complete entry in the Supervisor’s Injury Log for all injuries, minor and major. 
 
ii. Major Injuries:  Report the incident immediately to a Site Supervisor, the Assistant Director, and the 
parent. Depending on the severity of the injury, all staff present shall: 

 Comfort the child. 

 Phone 911 immediately. 

 Report the injury to the Assistant Director, Bureau Director and/or Executive Director. 

 The Site Supervisor or designee will make an Unusual Incident Report to Licensing in accordance 
with the Unusual Incident Reporting policy and procedure. 

 The Bureau Director may assign staff to investigate. 

 The Department’s Licensing Liaison may prepare a written report. 

 Staff shall complete a written injury report (form CSB-208) for the parent immediately and 
provide a copy of the written report to the parent. 

 Supervisor shall make a complete entry in the Supervisor’s Injury Log for all injuries, minor and 
major. 

 
iii. Potential Child’s Rights Violations 

 Any incident that occurs on site at a facility and involves employee(s), contractor(s), or 
volunteer(s) of the Community Services Bureau that might violate the rights of a child in 
accordance with Child Care Licensing Regulations or the Community Services Code of Conduct 
must be immediately reported to the CSB Administration in Martinez using the following 
protocol: 

o Any potential and/or unusual incident must be reported by CSB employees to the 
Center’s Site Supervisor or the designated person-in-charge no later than 15 minutes 
after being made aware that an alleged incident has or may have taken place. 

o The reporter shall be any employee, contractor or volunteer who has witnessed or 
heard about an alleged incident, or any employee, contractor or volunteer who was 
involved in an alleged incident. 

o The Site Supervisor or person-in-charge must phone-in the alleged incident to the 
Assistant Director and, as directed by the AD, one or together the AD and Site 
Supervisor will call CSB Administration Office at (925) 313-1777 no later than one hour 
after being made aware of the alleged incident. 

o Caller shall make it clear to the clerk answering the phone at CSB Administration Office 
that you are reporting a possible licensing incident that must be handled by the 
appropriate staff immediately. 

o When the Unusual Incident Report is phoned into the CSB Administrative Office, the 
front desk clerk who receives the phone call shall immediately and personally notify the 
Division Manager. If the Division Manager is not in, the notification succession shall be 
to the Bureau Director. 

o The Site Supervisor or person-in-charge will then complete, obtain AD approval of 
report, and fax CSB Unusual Incident Report to CSB Administrative Office within two 
hours of the alleged incident. The completed form shall be faxed to (925) 313-1772 to 
the attention of the Division Manager immediately followed up with a telephone call to 
CSB Administrative Office at (925) 313-1724 to verify that a copy of this report has been 
received. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

24 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

o Site Supervisor shall compile and send upon request all written documentation related 
to the incident to the Assistant Director, Division Manager and Personnel Services 
Assistant III. Documentation may include but is not limited to CSB incident Report, small 
group conference forms, notes on discussions with parents or other employees, and 
observation notes. Materials shall be complete, legible, objective, and fact-based. 
 

 It is a requirement of CCL that unusual incidents must be reported to CCL by a telephone call 
within 24 hours of the County learning that an incident may have occurred. 

o In accordance with CCL protocol, the Site Supervisor remains the official contact with 
the CCL during any on-site CCL review/investigation process. 

o The Assistant Director must be notified by the Site Supervisor any time a representative 
from CCL conducts an on-site visit for any reason. 

 Any employee who fails to report an alleged incident as outlined above will be subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 

 Any Site Supervisor or person-in-charge who fails to follow the protocol instructions as outlined 
above will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 

 
iv. CSB Administration Responsibilities 

 When the Unusual Incident Report is received by CSB Administrative Office, the front desk clerk 
will personally deliver copies of the faxed report to the Personnel Administrator, Division 
Manager, and Bureau Director, and EHSD Director for review. When the review process is 
completed and approved copy of the Unusual Incident Report will be faxed to the appropriate 
Assistant Director to sign and either fax/scan to CCL or authorize the Site Supervisor or designee 
to fax/scan to CCL. 

 A fact finding team will be immediately convened and directed to visit the center to gather 
information and determine if a child’s rights have been violated and report these facts back to 
the Bureau Director. 

 After reviewing the facts, if the Bureau Director determines that a true incident has not 
occurred, the case will be documented as such and closed. 

 After reviewing the facts, if the Bureau Director determines that an incident may have occurred, 
the EHSD Director, Bureau Director or designee will make the mandatory telephone call to State 
Licensing. 

 Only the EHSD Director or designee has the authority and responsibility on behalf of the County 
to report these matters to Licensing. 

 Upon the notification by the EHSD Director or Bureau Director that an incident may have taken 
place, an investigation team will be sent out by the next business day to investigate and prepare 
a draft investigative report and findings. 

 
CSB Administrative Office, in conjunction with the Assistant Director and Site Supervisor of the impacted 
center, will make all decisions related to protecting the rights of children on behalf of the Department 
until the investigation has been concluded. 
 
Any employee who is considered to be involved with the violation of the rights of a child in connection 
with the incident report will be directed to leave the facility for the day and then report to the 40 
Douglas Drive office in Martinez, or other designated site, for work by the next business day. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

25 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Failure on the part of the employee to report to, and remain at the 40 Douglas office, or other 
designated site as directed, will cause the employee to be docked for absence without leave and subject 
to further discipline, up to and including termination. 
 
The investigative team will have three business days to perform the required investigation and prepare 
a draft report for the Bureau Director and EHSD Director. 
 
The Bureau Director and EHSD Director will review the report and decide next steps, including, if 
necessary, any disciplinary or remedial action that should be implemented as a result of the report’s 
findings and conclusions. 
The investigator’s written report shall also include a “holistic analysis” of the causes associated with the 
incident, and develop specific recommendations to prevent their recurrence.   
 
Recommendations will be reviewed by the Bureau Director and EHSD Director for consistency with 
appropriate personnel policies prior to being entered into the final report. 
 
After appropriate action is taken by the Department, pertinent information regarding each incident shall 
be shared with key managers and Site Supervisors to prevent the recurrence of a similar incident at 
another site (1). 
 
For major incidents, a detailed critique by management of the incident itself shall be provided to all 
employees on a Department-wide basis to prevent the recurrence of a similar incident at another site. 
 
G. Reporting for Partner Agencies including the Delegate Agency shall: 

 Notify and provide County with copies of any licensing citations, licensing visit reports, unusual 
incident report, and/or any other citations within 48 hours of Contractor’s receipt of the report 
or citation. 

 Maintain full compliance with Community Care Licensing Regulations and State and/or Federal 
Regulations as applicable given other funding sources received by CSB. 

 Notify and provide CSB with copies of any Medical Alerts (such as infectious disease outbreaks) 
within 48 hours. 

  

                                                
1
   Any report information shared with Department employees must be pre-reviewed by CSB Administration to ensure 

that it does not violate the confidentiality of any employees or children involved in the incident. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

26 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

IV. Record Keeping and Reporting 
A. General Description 
Record-Keeping and Reporting Systems 
The effective and efficient reporting system used in CSB meets federal guidelines as spelled out in the 
Performance Standards Record-Keeping Instruction and the state guidelines as required by state 
contract and licensing requirements. 
 
The system provides for accurate and timely information regarding children, families and staff and 
meets the Confidentiality Policy of the bureau. 
 
Each area of program services maintains the appropriate record-keeping and reporting systems 
according to the above mentioned federal and state guidelines to include: child and family records, site 
safety records, child records, child health records, family records, and personnel records.  Systems for 
maintaining the records, specific to a program service area, are described in each section of these 
policies and procedures. 
 
A file and records system is established/maintained by the Contra Costa County Community Services 
Bureau personnel office.  In addition, copies of certain personnel records pertaining to all permanent 
staff, including Teacher Assistant Trainees job qualifications are kept at each child care center as 
required by state licensing. 
 
i. Confidential files and records system shall be maintained in a locked cabinet to include official 
documents for each staff member. 

 Procedure for File Transfers 
When staff transfers to another site, it is the responsibility of the Site Supervisor at the new site 
to assure all required personnel files are sent to the new site by communicating with the Site 
Supervisor of the site from which the employee is transferring.  

 The following procedures are in place to protect confidentiality of all sensitive material: 
If files are faxed by CSB Personnel to the employee’s new location, CSB Personnel will contact 
the site supervisor and request the site supervisor to oversee the fax machine to verify all 
confidential information is transmitted to the site supervisor only, protecting the employee’s 
HIPAA rights to privacy. 

 After the Personnel Staff receives a confirmation from the fax machine, the Personnel Staff will 
call or e-mail the Site Supervisor to ensure that all the documents sent to that site have been 
received. 

 The site supervisor at the employee’s previous location will shred all documents pertaining to 
the transferred employee, and will send email verification to CSB Personnel when shredding is 
complete. 

 Employees have the option of personally transporting their files to their new site.  The employee 
must sign for the file material, and immediately transfer the file contents to their new site 
supervisor. The site supervisor must send verification to CSB Personnel when proper filing 
procedures have been completed. 

 Under no circumstances may files be transmitted by interoffice or “pony” mail. 
 
 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

27 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

B. Personnel Files 
All personnel files are stored in the Personnel Unit in a locked cabinet and in a locked office. The access 
to the personnel files is granted only to the authorized personnel. An employee’s union representative 
must have a written authorization from the employee to obtain access to his/her personnel file. When 
reviewing a personnel file, a member from the personnel staff must accompany the authorized 
personnel at all times in the closed door office. The authorized personnel must sign, date and write the 
reasons on the “Access to File” card located in front of each personnel file.  
 
C. Family Files 
The Site Supervisor, comprehensive service staff or the head teacher at each site is responsible for 
maintaining the family’s basic data file at each site.  All children’s files must be kept in a locked file 
cabinet. Access to files is permitted only by authorized personnel.  When authorized personnel must 
access a child’s file, the protocol must be adhered to.  Two types of access and removal of a file from the 
cabinet can take place. 

 The file is taken off site for audit or review 
Authorized staff must record the removal of the file off the site premises on the Shared Folder 
called “Record Keeping Log” He/she must log: “check in/out status by completing the required 
information on the site template. “ 

 The file is accessed on site 
Authorized staff needing to work on a file on site must pull the file and in its place insert the file 
check-out card indicating: date, name and signature of staff pulling file.  Upon return of the file, 
staff must sign in verifying the return of the file, and the check-out Card is removed. 

 
In both of the above situations, an Access to File form must also be completed by the authorized person 
accessing the file.  This is located on the right hand side of the first section of the child’s file.  One must 
indicate date, name, and purpose for accessing the file. 
Files are kept on site for the current enrollment year until after the annual audit is complete.  After the 
audit, files are prepared to be archived, and sent to a warehouse for storage.  Children’s files are kept 
for five years after our services to the family ends.  Files are then shredded. 
  
Effective January 1st 2014, any document or record may be maintained on electronic format if it was 
originally created in an electronic format and kept in its original unconverted electronic format. 
Documents or records created in paper form cannot be scanned and stored electronically alone. These 
records must be stored in their original paper format. Independently of being hard copy or electronic 
format, all records must be kept for at least five years. 
 
D. Fiscal Files 
Fiscal records and documents are stored and filed in designated cabinets inside the Fiscal, Purchasing 
and/or Personnel units.  Staff is required to maintain current and accurate records of financial activities. 
This includes fiscal and accounting records in order to show the costs incurred by each program.  
Records adequately identify the use of funds for Federal and State programs. Accounting records are 
supported by documentation such as purchase and travel receipts, invoices, journals, etc. and show a 
clear audit trail for all funds received and disbursed.   
 
The following documents are maintained by the designated units: 

 Accounting Policies & Procedures Manual 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

28 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 Administrative Reports - Head Start & Early Head Start 

 BRASS Files 

 Budget Statement 

 CAFR 

 CDE Projections 

 CDE Contracts 

 CDFS8501 

 CDFS9500 

 CDFS9529 

 CDFS9530a 

 CDFS CalWORKS, APP or FCCH Fiscal Report 

 CDFS CalWORKS Caseload Report 

 Child Development Audit Reports 

 Child Nutrition Expenditure/Revenue Report 

 Child Start Allocations Binder 

 Contractors' Files – Purchasing Unit 

 Delegate Agency Files 

 Employee Timesheets – Personnel & Purchasing Units 

 Expenditure Activity Report - Energy Programs 

 Expenditure Detail Report 

 Federal Financial Reports to ACF (SF-425:Semi-Annual, Annual and Final) 

 Financial Monitoring Report - Head Start & Early Head Start 

 Financial Projections Package 

 Financial Report for Drawdown - Head Start & Early Head Start 

 Financial Status Report (SF425) - Head Start & Early Head Start 

 Journals 

 Open Encumbrances Report 

 Partners' Files – Purchasing Unit 

 Payment Ledgers – Contracts/Purchasing Units 

 Payroll Detail Report – Payroll/Purchasing Units 

 Payroll Register Report – Payroll/Purchasing Units 

 Policy Council Financial Reports 

 Procurement Card Files – Personnel Unit 

 Program Improvement Grant 

 Purchase Requisitions/Orders – Purchasing Unit 

 Recommended Budget Binders 

 Revenue Detail Report 

 SBFS Files 

 Single Audit Reports 

 Supplemental Funding Applications 

 Travel Demands – Purchasing Unit 

 Vendors' Invoices, Bills, D-15 – Purchasing Unit 
 
E. Contract Files 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

29 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Contract files are stored in designated cabinets in the Contract & Grants Administration office.  Contract 
staff is required to maintain current and accurate records of contract activity.  This includes contracts, 
board orders, insurance verifications, required clearances and Internal Revenue Service (IRS) 
documentation.  The documents are kept in individual contract files, labeled by contractor name and 
contract number.  Board orders are kept with each corresponding contract and in a general board order 
file, organized by month and year. EHSD Contracts and Grants Unit will maintain a record of all 
contractors’ files and will include all licensing and program mandated forms. The following documents 
are maintained by the Contracts & Grants Unit: 
 

 Independent Contractor contract files 

 County Administrator Office Questionnaire for determining Independent Contractor status 

 Corporation (non-profit and for-profit) Contractor contract files 

 Contract files for contracts with other legal status, such as general partnership  

 Contra Costa County Small Business Enterprise award forms (where applicable) 

 Board of Supervisors board orders 

 IRS W-9s and IRS W-4s (where applicable) 

 Certificate of Liability Insurance 

 Fingerprint clearance form (where applicable) 

 Current Health Screening Form or proof of current physical exam and TB clearance (where 
applicable) 

 Contra Costa County Auditor-Controller Insurance clearance 

 CSB Contract Request forms, with authorizing signatures 
 
 
F. Public Access to County Records 
In accordance with the California Public Records Act and the Better Government Ordinance, any person 
is entitled to inspect and to receive copies of the public records of the County, including records of 
individual departments.  Upon a request for a copy of public records, county staff is to make the 
requested records available to any person upon payment of applicable fees.  Disclosable county records 
may be inspected anytime during regular business hours.  Every attempt should be made to allow 
prompt inspection of the requested disclosable records.  If copies are requested, they should be 
provided no later than the next business day if possible to do so.   
 
i. Disclosable Records: 
Any existing writings containing information relating to the conduct of the public’s business prepared, 
owned, used or retained by the County regardless of physical form or characteristics are considered 
public records and should be disclosed by request.  These include, but are not limited to, papers, books, 
maps, charts, photographs, audio tapes, and video tapes, information stored in non-paper form on a 
computer or other electronic media and other material.  Additionally, writings that are not, in whole or 
in part, exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act and the Better Government Ordinance.   
 
ii. Exempt from Disclosure Records:  
Personnel, medical or similar records which cover intimate and personal information such as:  employee 
performance evaluations, employee home address, home telephone number and all personal 
information.  Certain other public employee information may be released: (1) amount of an employee’s 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

30 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

gross salary and benefits, job classification, and job duties; (2) Merit board and arbitration disciplinary 
proceedings and writings submitted in such proceedings; (3) information in case of emergency or need 
when such disclosure appears reasonable to protect any person’s health or welfare; (4) information for 
authorized criminal law enforcement purposes; (5) information required by subpoena, testimony or 
other legal process; (6) information authorized to be released to third parties by the written consent of 
the effected employee; and (7) any other information, when reviewed and approved by CC County 
Counsel prior to release. 

• Investigatory records compiled for correctional or law enforcement purposes such as: records of 
complaints, preliminary inquiries if a crime or violation has been committed, full investigations, 
and memoranda “closing” an investigation. 

• Examination data such as questions, scoring keys, examination data used to administer a 
licensing, employment or academic examination. 

• Confidential legal writings such as writings to or from the CC County Counsel to an attorney who 
represents the County or writings especially prepared for or by the County Counsel providing 
legal advice, analysis of proposed legislative actions or positions, terms of settlement of 
litigation, post-negotiation reports. 

• Health Services contracts between the County and the State and writings related to those 
contracts. 

• Particular statutory exemptions related to specific situations such as information about health 
facilities, assessment records, agricultural information, etc. 

• Real estate appraisals or engineering studies relating to the acquisition of properties or to 
prospective construction contracts. 

• Preliminary drafts, notes, memoranda and “deliberative process”. 
    
CSB employees are encouraged to contact Personnel when approached with requests for disclosure of 
documents by the public.  Personnel staff will provide advice or contact County Counsel for additional 
clarification.  In such cases, the employees are expected to provide the requestor/s with timelines in 
which the requested information will be provided to them.   
  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

31 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 V. Monitoring  
A. Purpose 
CSB Ongoing Monitoring is a key management system for ensuring program quality and compliance with 
Head Start/Early Head Start Performance Standards, California Child Development Title V Regulations, 
California Desired Results and Environment Rating Scales, NAEYC Standards and Title XXII Child Care 
General Licensing requirements.  Ongoing Monitoring ensures that the program is moving toward 
achieving its goals and objectives while providing high quality, comprehensive services to the ever-
changing needs of the children and families served.  CSB is committed to the continuous improvement 
of our programs though regular and ongoing monitoring of all aspects of our operations.   
 
B. Methodology 
The ongoing monitoring process is comprehensive in scope.  The system provides a method to examine 
service delivery including the tracking of child and family outcomes on an ongoing basis and 
incorporates a process to connect the results to management systems.  Staff at all operational levels 
participate in the ongoing monitoring process and any identified concerns are communicated in writing 
to the appropriate staff responsible.  Corrections are validated according to specific timelines. 
 
Ongoing monitoring occurs on a regular and routine basis to assess systems and program operations for 
evaluation and continuous improvement of our programs.  It includes the review and evaluation of 
services and systems, documentation of results, tracking and analyzing areas of concern and correction, 
and validation that correction has been completed. Results of monitoring and completion of corrective 
actions for findings are shared by the Bureau Director or designee with: EHSD Director, Board of 
Supervisors, Policy Council, Assistant Directors, Site Supervisors and their staff.  Results are used to 
conduct root cause analysis and develop plans for improvement and program planning. 
 
C. Multi-Level Monitoring  
i. Center-Level and Cluster Level Monitoring is conducted by Site Supervisors, Comprehensive Services 
Assistant Managers, Clerks, and Teachers for the purpose of monitoring day-to-day center operations, 
delivery of services, and overall health and safety of internal and external environments of children at 
the center for which they are assigned.  Assistant Directors receive monthly reports from Site 
Supervisors that provide an overview of each of the centers they are assigned to track any concerns as 
well as highlight strengths and special activities occurring each month. 
 
For partner centers, the CSB Partners Unit visits subcontracted centers weekly to monitor the delivery of 
services and health and safety to ensure ongoing communication.  The delegate agency provides 
monthly communication reports to the Analyst responsible for partners and the delegate agency.   
 
ii. Content and Service Area Monitoring is conducted by Comprehensive Services Managers and Analysts 
responsible for a specific content or service area to ensure that staff are trained and comply with 
funding requirements and regulations around a specific content or service.  CSMs and Analysts review 
trends across centers and services and identify risks or concerns and provide ongoing training as well as 
targeted training when needed.    
 
For partner agencies, the designated Analyst reviews monthly reports and monitoring performed by the 
agencies and provides support and training as needs are identified. The delegate agency completes its 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

32 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

own internal ongoing monitoring.  Monthly reports on these activities, including corrective actions, will 
be submitted to the Analyst overseeing the Partner Unit. 
 
iii. Agency-level monitoring is conducted by the CSB Quality Management Unit (QMU).  This unit is 
responsible for conducting compliance monitoring of directly operated, partner and delegate agency 
centers in five key areas: center health and safety, comprehensive services compliance, need and 
eligibility, education (environment), and CLASS observations.  Corrections for non-compliances are 
completed by the responsible person at the center and are validated by a Comprehensive Services 
Manager or designee.  The Assistant Director or designee completes a final review of correction and 
validation. 
 
Each directly operated; partner and delegate agency center is monitored once per year (July-June).  A 
random sample of 30% of files is reviewed in the areas of need and eligibility and comprehensive 
services compliance.  Thirty percent sample of classrooms in the center receives a health and safety 
monitoring.  All directly operated and partner agency classrooms are monitored for education 
environment. 
 
Classroom Assessment Scoring System (CLASS) Observations are conducted by a trained CLASS observer 
working with the QMU.   Fifty percent of the eligible classrooms are randomly selected using an 
automated system.  Selected classrooms receive CLASS observations twice in the year.  Ratings below 
cut-off scores require a corrective action.   CSB’s CLASS cut-off scores for corrective action may vary 
from year-to-year as they are established after the National Designation Renewal System trigger scores 
have been made available. 
 
Upon completion of each area of monitoring, the QMU distributes results and the Feedback Form listing 
areas of non-compliances and strengths to the predetermined group responsible for that center, 
classroom, or service area monitored.  The designated responsible person corrects non-compliances 
which are then reviewed and validated by a Comprehensive Services Manager.  The Assistant Director 
reviews all non-compliances, validations, and submits verification to the QMU. 
 
Data collected from monitoring is compiled into agency reports for review by staff, managers, the Policy 
Council and Board of Supervisors to inform of agency trends, strengths and areas in need of 
improvement.  All reports and findings are shared with the partner and delegate agencies. 
 
The Analyst overseeing the QMU compiles results and findings and distributes reports to senior 
management, Comprehensive Services Managers, Site Supervisors, center staff, Board of Supervisors, 
and the Policy Council twice per year.  These reports are a high-level representation of the agency’s 
compliance and non-compliance concerns in the five areas monitored by QMU.  Comprehensive Services 
Managers and senior managers responsible for a content or service area reviews these bi-annual reports 
to identify trends and develop staff training. 
  
iv. The Bureau Director or her designees will monitor all administrative internal team members with 
responsibility over service areas.  This may include periodic walk-through activities or unannounced 
visits to sites. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

33 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

v. Additional information on multi-level monitoring is available in the Appendix of the Policies and 
Procedures. 
 
D. Fiscal Monitoring of the Delegate Agency by the Grantee 
The Grantee certifies that the Delegate Agency is complying with regulations and generally accepted 
accounting principles.  Monitoring is conducted using the following format: 

 Monthly Reports:  
Delegate Agency shall submit monthly financial reports that record cumulative and accrued 
expenditures and obligations through the end of the contract year.  Monthly reports are due on the 
20th of each month for the preceding month.  Reports shall be submitted on Form M2092 (Monthly 
Financial Report) and shall include, at a minimum: 

 Separate reports for Program Accounts 20 and 22 

 Reimbursement reports for the Child Food Program 

 Line item documentation of administrative expenditures 

 Copies of contractor’s monthly financial statement and payroll reports 

 A separate monthly report summarizing the local share reported in the financial report. 
 
E. Early Childhood Environmental Rating Scale and Infant Toddler Environmental Rating Scale (ECERs and 
ITERs)  

 ECERS and ITERS observations are conducted annually for the grantee operated programs.  
Corrective action plans are developed to address any identified areas of weakness.  

 For the partners, the Education Manager assigned to the partners will conduct annual 
validations on the ECERs and ITERs that they submit.  If a partner site has more than one 
classroom, one classroom will be randomly selected for validation.  If a significant discrepancy is 
found between the partner’s ECERs/ITERs scores and the CSB validation of the scores, additional 
ECERs/ITERs from other classrooms will be validated. 

 
F. Fiscal Officer or his/her designee reviews the financial information for content and consistency before 
reimbursing monthly expenditures 

 Annual On-Site Monitoring: 
After the annual audit by a Certified Independent Accountant, the Grantee performs an on-site 
review of the Delegate Agency records using the OHS Monitoring Protocol.  This procedure is 
performed no later than May of each year for the prior award year.  The following is monitored: 

 Accounting Records:   
Records are reviewed to assure that they adequately identify the source and application of funds for 
contract-supported activities, and that they are maintained.  Records are reviewed to make sure 
that they contain information pertaining to contract awards, authorizations, obligations, un-
obligated balances, assets, outlays, income, and liabilities. 

 Internal Controls:   
Controls are reviewed for effectiveness, and that accountability is maintained for all contract cash, 
real and personal property, and all other assets.  Contractor is reviewed for adequately safeguarding 
all such property and that property is used solely for contract purposes. 

 Budgetary Controls:   
The actual and budgeted amounts for each contract allocation are compared. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

34 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

The grantee will conduct regular and routine monitoring including delegate agency annual 
management and fiscal systems review. 
 
G. Center Visit Documentation 

 CSB Director, Assistant Directors, or other Administrative Managers may conduct 
unscheduled/unannounced monitoring visits at directly operated or partner agency sites.  These 
visits are documented on the Center Visit Documentation form.  Any issue requiring a corrective 
action is documented and validation of correction is assigned and verified upon completion. 
 

H. Procedures for Review, Analysis and Reporting 
The monitoring analyst will ensure that the data is entered into the Monitoring database and that 
reports are distributed to all stakeholders, including the Bureau Director, Assistant Director, and 
Comprehensive Services Managers and site staff. A monitoring results report is also prepared for the 
Delegate Agency. All monitoring results will be formally submitted to the delegate agency. Issues or 
corrections cited will be communicated with corrective action requirements as part of the notification. 
i. Monitoring Database 

 The program uses databases designed in-house to track monitoring findings and areas of 
strength to inform the reporting process and ensure the system is working effectively and 
efficiently.  The databases produce lists such as the top ten issues to improve, the top ten areas 
performing well, as well as the top 10 sites to improve and the top 10 sites that are performing 
well.  The analyst responsible for the ongoing monitoring system uses the database to track 
completion or corrective actions to ensure that closure is established for any item found to be 
non-compliant. 

 The databases allow program managers to view trends and isolated incidences and assist them 
in conducting root cause analysis and plans for improvement as appropriate in a timely fashion. 

 Non-compliances will be utilized by all staff to: to identify program weaknesses; to correct 
identified non-compliance issues; and to seek continuous improvement. 
  

ii. Monitoring Reports 

 Monitoring analyst compiles results and findings such as: program strengths, areas of 
improvement, site performance reports and other reports as needed. 

 Reports are disseminated to: senior management, comprehensive services unit, site supervisors, 
and site staff Board of Supervisors, and Policy Council. 

 Monitoring Analyst will complete a semi-annual analysis report and provide roll up summaries 
within 4 weeks of completion of Quarter 2 and Quarter 4. 

 
iii. Root Cause Analysis 

 Content Area Managers will review semi-annual monitoring reports for trends across their 
service area and complete a Root Cause Analysis and provide an Ongoing Monitoring Corrective 
Action Plan in response to areas identified as needing improvement within 4 weeks of report 
distribution. 

o Review the monitoring reports for areas needing improvement to address and identify 
root causes for non-compliances (tangible, materials items failed, something was done 
incorrectly, system or process to do work requires revision). 

o Define the problem, collect data, identify possible causal factors surrounding the 
problem, and identify the root cause. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

35 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

o Submit an action plan to the Assistant Director to recommend and implement solutions, 
identify responsible persons. 

o Effectiveness of action plan will be reviewed at the release of the following semi-annual 
monitoring report. 

 
 
  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

36 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

VI. Self-Assessment 
A. Self-Assessment Team 
The Grantee and the Delegate Agency conduct a joint Self-Assessment each year. The role of the Bureau 
Director and Delegate Director and/or their designees in the self-assessment process are as “advisor” to 
team. The analyst responsible for the Self-Assessment is the Team Leader and may be supported by a 
consultant.  Small teams are comprised of grantee and delegate agency management and non-
management staff, parents, community partners, and representatives of the Board of Supervisors. A 
cross-section of staff is represented on each team. Teams are formed beginning in October of each year 
and finalized in January. 
 
B. Methodology 
1. In January of each year, the team leader and consultant, if applicable, identify sites and classrooms for 
the self-assessment. The following factors are considered in site selection: 

 Monitoring results, including recent Federal Review, licensing visits, and assessment Findings 

 History of site inclusion in last three years of self-assessment 

 Program options and funding models to ensure all variations are assessed 

 Representation of Supervisory Districts 

 Site based special initiatives and projects 

 Operational days 
 
2. The current Office of Head Start (OHS) Program Monitoring Instrument and the Classroom 
Assessment Scoring System (CLASS) are the tools used for the self-assessment each year. Slight 
modifications may be made to the tool by the team leader to streamline it for ease of use by community 
partners, parents, and board representatives. Other tools may be introduced as needed. 
 
3. A timeline is established which includes ample time for site visits and report writing, scheduled team 
check-in sessions, and ongoing training and technical assistance. 
 
4. Training is provided to all team members in January of each year and addresses the following items: 

 Purpose and Approach 

 Self-assessment process 

 Methods of collecting applicable data 

 Timelines 

 Confidentiality 

 Reporting procedure used in the “non-compliant” portion of each review team’s report 

 Report writing format and techniques 
 
C. Parent Involvement 
The Policy Council has a Self-Assessment sub-committee, which forms in October of each year after 
being provided with a description of the work of the committee. The Policy Council is oriented to the 
self-assessment process and timeline in November, at which time additional members of the sub-
committee are recruited. These parents are trained fully with the rest of the team in January and are 
paired with an experienced manager to mentor them through the process, if necessary. The varying 
availability of parents is accommodated to maximize the involvement of all parents who express an 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

37 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

interest in participating. Non-English speaking parents are encouraged to get involved and are paired 
with a staff person who speaks their language. 
 
D. Process of Self-Assessment of Agency’s Program Services 
The Self-Assessment is conducted in February of each year. Each team is assigned specific service areas 
and several sites to assess and determine compliance.  Examples of tasks of the various teams include: 

 Interviewing appropriate staff, community partners, and parents 

 Observing the classroom environment 

 Reviewing documents such as policies, procedures, and service plans 

 Observing procedures as they are implemented in the field 

 Completing checklists for health and safety and eligibility 
 

Teams check in regularly to report progress, problem solve questionable compliance areas, and plan 
their next day. At the conclusion of the data-collecting process, individual teams meet and review 
their findings, and determine the following: 

 Program strengths and compliances 

 Non-compliances 

 Recommendation of a plan of action to meet compliance 

 Evaluate the process using a plus/delta approach which is used to inform the process for the 
next year. 

 
E. Self-Assessment Results 
Individual results of the self-assessment teams are submitted to the Analyst, who consults with the 
Bureau Director and Delegate Agency Director, and then compiles a complete report of the self-
assessment.  
 
The written report is sent out to staff, and if non-compliances are found, content area experts are 
assigned to develop a corrective action plan. Once the corrections are validated (immediately for health 
and safety items and within 30 days for all other items), the self-assessment report and plan of action 
are submitted to the Policy Council and Board of Supervisors in March. An approval is obtained for any 
corrective action plan involved.  The final report, inclusive of the validation of submission and/or 
approval by the Policy Council and Board of Supervisors, is then submitted to the Administration for 
Children and families (ACF). 
 
The results of the self-assessment are to be used in the planning process, in developing and improving 
program services, and in formulating the program approach, service plans, and goals and objectives for 
the program. 
 
F. Monitoring the Plan of Action Resulting from Self-Assessment 
Throughout the year, management staff responsible for any areas of non-compliance identified in the 
self-assessment process shall continue to monitor the status of the corrective action, using the results of 
ongoing monitoring efforts, to ensure the issue is resolved and continues to remain compliant.      
  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

38 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

VII. Program Human Resources Management (Personnel Policies & Procedures) 
A. Statement of Purpose of Policies and Procedures 
These personnel policies are produced for the purpose of: 

 Promoting an effective, efficient, and economic operation of programs; 

 Providing fair and equal opportunity to all qualified individuals to enter employment with 
Employment and Human Services Department, Community Services Bureau (CSB) and assuring 
that employees are promoted or advanced under impartial procedures;  

 Maintaining a program of recruitment and advancement which will provide career development 
opportunities; 

 Maintaining a uniform plan of evaluation, duties and wages based upon the relative duties and 
responsibilities of positions in CSB; 

 Employing persons who can perform their duties with competence and integrity.   
 
B. Governing Board 
The ultimate authority to manage the Head Start and Early Head Start program is vested in the County 
Board of Supervisors. According to Contra Costa County, Personnel Management Regulations, the 
Executive Director or Department has the authority to act on behalf of the County Board of Supervisors 
on certain personnel actions as stipulated throughout the regulations. All authority for day-to-day 
administration of CSB is delegated to the Community Services Director. 
 
The Board of Supervisors, upon the recommendation of the Employment and Human Services Director, 
reserves the exclusive right to hire, evaluate, compensate or release the CSB Director (HS/EHS Director), 
Human Resources and Fiscal Officers. The Policy Council shall approve or disapprove in advance the 
hiring of the Community Services Director. 
The Board of Supervisors delegates the authority of the Head Start and Early Head Start program to the 
Community Services Director or his/her designee, who is responsible for carrying out the policies, 
procedures, and intent of these policies to include power to employ, promote, assign duties and 
responsibilities, evaluate, train, reprimand, suspend, discharge, or reward employees within the 
guidelines of all applicable federal, state and local regulations.  
 
CSB will observe standards of organization, management, and administration that will ensure, so far as 
reasonably possible, that all program activities are conducted in a manner consistent with the purpose 
of Head Start Performance Standards and the objective of providing assistance effectively, efficiently, 
and free of any taint of partisan political bias or person or family favoritism.  
 
C. Organizational Structure 
This section contains policies governing the activities of all CSB employees.  It is not intended to 
supersede the Memorandum of Understanding between Contra Costa County and Public Employees 
Union, Local One (MoUs), the Personnel Management Regulations (PMRs) or any other polices adopted 
by the County Board of Supervisors.  It establishes standard procedures which are applicable to all 
programs operated by CSB, irrespective of funding source.  Unless otherwise noted, all provisions of the 
manual apply to each and every employee of CSB.  If the requirements of MoUs, PMRs, funding sources, 
et cetera are less stringent than the provisions of this section, then these provisions will apply.  If 
personnel provisions imposed by the MoUs, PMRs, funding source, et cetera conflicts with the 
provisions of these policies, then such regulations shall apply. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

39 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

The Community Services Director or designee has the authority to identify and interpret regulations 
which conflict with these policies.  Employees may not take it upon themselves to interpret regulations 
which may permit them or require them to behave in a manner which is inconsistent with the provisions 
of this policy.  If doubt arises, employees must request their supervisors to secure a ruling from the 
Community Services Director or designee. 
 
In addition to these policies, the MoUs, PMRs, management bulletins, memos, side letters, et cetera 
regarding personnel policies issued by the County and funding sources shall be considered a part of 
CSB’s personnel policies and procedures whenever applicable.  All personnel policies and practices 
contained herein are established in accordance with current applicable rules and regulations of CSB 
funding sources and other mandates. All CSB staff members are required to become thoroughly familiar 
with these policies and adhere to their provisions. 
 
The Community Services Director and senior management are charged with the responsibility for 
assuring that all provisions of these policies are administered fairly and impartially. 
 
According to Contra Costa County, Personnel Management Regulations, the Executive Director or 
Department has the authority to act on behalf of the County Board of Supervisors on Certain personnel 
actions as stipulated throughout the regulations. 
 
D. Additional Personnel Policies Relating to Employees of Program Services 
1. Criminal Record Clearance (Fingerprinting) 

i. Live Scan Process 

 According to the Head Start Act, 45 CFR 1304.3(a)(18) and California DSS, 101170(f), all 
employees/adults must be fingerprinted.  Failure to obtain clearance free of an exemption or to 
comply with fingerprinting regulations will result in refusal of employment. 

 Applicable employees must be fingerprinted and cleared before their first day of employment.  
CSB will not employ anyone without an active clearance nor will they hire anyone who has a 
clearance with an exemption. 

 CSB Personnel schedules a Livescan appointment and provides the applicant with a Livescan 
form to take to their appointment. 

 After the Live Scan is completed, the Department of Social Services notifies CSB Personnel Unit 
of the following clearances via a Letter of Criminal Record Clearance.  The following checks are 
conducted: 

o FBI 
o Child Abuse Index 
o State Department of Justice 

 Should a conviction occur while the employee is employed, CSB receives an “Immediate Action 
Required (IAR)” letter from the Department of Social Services Caregiver Background Check 
Bureau. In this case: 

o The Community Services Bureau Director determines the appropriate action to be taken 
based on individual circumstances. 

o If a manager receives an IAR letter, he/she is to notify CSB Personnel Unit immediately. 
If CSB Personnel Unit receives an IAR letter, they will notify the Manager, Site Supervisor 
and immediately have the employee removed from the facility. Disciplinary actions may 
be taken up to and including termination.  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

40 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

o It is the responsibility of the employee to obtain a waiver form from DSS and submit the 
waiver.  Any employee who obtains a waiver may apply for reinstatement and 
applications will be considered by personnel. If no waiver is obtained as requested by 
the Personnel Unit, the employee may be terminated from employment with Contra 
Costa County. 

o Declaration-The State requires that all current/prospective employees must sign a 
declaration, Criminal Record Statement prior to employment, which reveals any 
background information that might be detrimental to their employment with CSB.  The 
declaration or Criminal Record statement must list: 
 All pending and prior criminal arrests / charges related to child sexual abuse and 

their disposition 
 Convictions related to other forms of child abuse / neglect 
 All convictions 

o The grantee must review each application for employment individually in order to 
assess the relevancy of an arrest, a pending criminal charge, or a conviction. 

o The declaration may exclude listing of: 
 Any offense, other than  the ones related to child abuse and/or child sexual 

abuse or violent felonies, committed before the prospective employee’s 18th 
birthday which was adjudicated in a juvenile court or under a youth offender 
law 

 Any conviction the record of which has been expunged under Federal or State 
law 

 Any conviction set aside under the Federal Youth Corrections Act or similar 
State authority 

2. Emergency Procedures 
i. Chemical Accident 

In case of a shelter-in-place emergency, a manager will notify all affected sites. In this case, all 
employees are required to follow shelter-in-place protocols. 
SHELTER—Go inside a building immediately to avoid exposure to airborne chemicals. 
SHUT—Seal all doors and windows/turn off ventilation systems.  (Locking doors and windows 
creates the best seal.)  Parents must be informed during orientation that staff is not authorized to 
release children during a shelter-in-place accident. 
LISTEN—Turn on the radio/listen for up-to-date information.  Avoid using the telephone unless you 
have a life-threatening emergency.  All sites must have a working radio available at all times. 

ii. Earthquake Emergency 
Duck and cover under a table or desk, crouching on knees with face down and hand covering the 
back of the head. 
Stay clear of outer walls, windows, glass, cabinets, files, or shelves. 
Evacuate the building to Assembly Area after counting 100. 

 Avoid re-entry into the building. 

 Allow the Building Warden to re-enter the building (searching for missing persons, assessing the 
extent of damage, turning off utilities as needed, and checking for gas leaks). 

 Keep clear of overhead wires, poles, buildings, trees, and falling objects if outside. 

 Prepare for aftershocks. 
iii. Fire Emergency 

Notify the fire department immediately, giving required information: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

41 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 CSB building, room number, address, and other means of identifying location of the fire 

 Description of size / type of fire 

 Information regarding any injured people 

 The name, telephone number, and extension of the employee reporting 

 Evacuate all people from the fire area and close off the fire area using posted emergency routes. 

 Report to Assembly Area (consult the Evacuation Plan) 

 Use appropriate type of fire extinguisher.  If smoke or heat endangers safety, evacuation of the 
area is required (to allow emergency personnel to handle the situation). 

iv. Medical Emergency 

 Provide appropriate first aid and/or cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR). 

 Call the Fire Department if advanced first aid is required (911). 

 Call an ambulance if appropriate (911). 

 Send the injured to either the physical location of his or her choice or to the nearest medical 
emergency center or hospital.  Notify the family of the injured. 

 Report injuries to the appropriate supervisor immediately.  The supervisor is responsible for 
notifying Community Care Licensing via telephone within 24 hours and in writing within 7 days. 

 If an injury results in death or hospitalization of an employee for over twenty-four hours, notify 
CSB Personnel and the Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator. She/he is responsible to 
inform the CCC Risk Management and the State Division of Occupational Safety and Health 
(CAL/OSHA). 

 
3. Work-Related Injury and Illness 
All County employees who are injured or become ill as a result of their job are covered under Workers’ 
Compensation. 
 
Workers’ Compensation is a no-fault insurance plan paid for by the County and supervised by the State.  
It is a plan where fault does not have to be proven to receive medical expenses and lost wages.  If an 
employee is unable to work because of a work-related injury or illness, (s)he is eligible for benefits.  All 
benefits are determined by the California State Legislature.   
 
i. If an employee is injured or becomes ill as a result of her/his job, the following steps should be taken: 

 The employee must immediately notify her/his supervisor.  All work-related  injuries/illnesses, 
including first-aid, need to be reported 

 The supervisor must notify CSB Personnel (the designated Workers’ Compensation/Safety 
Coordinator) 

 The supervisor and the employee are to complete the required workers’ compensation forms:  
CCC Supervisor’s Occupational Injury or Illness Report Procedures (AK 30 –Part A & B), and 
Workers’ Compensation Claim Form (DWC – 1), as soon as possible 

 The supervisor is to submit the completed forms to CSB Personnel (CSB Workers’ Compensation  
Coordinator) by the end of the business day of the injury/illness or by the end of the day (s)he 
became aware of the injury or the illness; The Supervisor is to fax the first white page of the 
DWC-1 and parts A & B of the AK-30, Supervisors Report, to the CSB Worker’s 
Compensation/Safety Coordinator at Personnel on the day of the injury and to send the original 
paperwork via the Interoffice Mail. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

42 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 The CSB Workers’ Compensation Safety Coordinator will submit the required documentation to 
CCC Risk Management Office.  County policy requires the documentation to be submitted to 
Risk Management within 24 hours of the injury/illness 

 Injured/ill employees are encouraged to seek immediate medical attention.  The CSB Workers’ 
Compensation/Safety Coordinator will provide information on medical facilities that can be 
visited in case of a work-related injury/illness 

 The injured/ill employee may only return to work with a doctor’s note stating that employee is 
cleared to return to work on that date.   If the employee is placed on  “Off Work” or any 
modified work status, (s)he must notify  her/his supervisor and the CSB Workers’ 
Compensation/Safety Coordinator about her/his status and fax/deliver the appropriate doctor’s 
note to both parties 

 Modified work will be assigned only by the CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator in 
coordination with the employee’s supervisor if accommodations are viable 

 If an employee is ordered for follow-up doctor visits or therapy as a result of a job-related injury 
or illness, (s)he is required to attend all prescribed visits and furnish Work Status Reports to 
her/his supervisor and the CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator after each visit 

 Employees leaving work for appointments connected to work-related injuries/illness are to 
claim the time off as workers’ compensation time (WC) on their time cards 

 Doctor bills and hospital expenses related to on the job injuries or illness will be paid directly by 
the County.  If an employee receives a bill that is related to a job-connected injury or illness, 
(s)he should notify the CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator and should not pay the 
bill.   

 
ii. Return-To-Work Program 
CSB participates in the Return-To-Work (RTW) Program.  It is a plan utilized by Contra Costa County with 
the main objective to manage the employees’ successful and timely return to work after a work related 
injury.  The program facilitates the earliest possible return of an injured employee to meaningful, 
productive work within the parameters of her/his physical capabilities.  If necessary, the program allows 
for temporary modifications to the employee’s job description or position to accommodate the physical 
restrictions identified by the medical provider.  Employees participating in the program are assigned 
transitional jobs.  Two main transitional jobs are available for employees through the RTW program: 

 Modified work within the employee’s unit – this is usually for on-the-job injured employees who 
can perform their usual jobs full time or part time with significant accommodations 

 Bridge Assignments – these are for employees who cannot perform their usual jobs, but can be 
assigned to other meaningful jobs.  Usually, Bridge Assignments are much broader and 
employees assigned to them may be placed in any of the EHSD’s Bureaus or even other County 
Departments. 

 
Assigning employees to transitional jobs is facilitated by the CSB RTW Coordinator (Personnel) in 
collaboration with the employee’s supervisor.  While in the RTW program, each employee is required to 
furnish Personnel with Work Status reports after each visit with the Worker’s Comp doctor.  
 
Employees with work related injuries benefit from participating in the RTW Program by returning back 
to work quickly, by continuing to participate in meaningful jobs and maintaining their self-esteem, by 
the on-the-job hardening, and faster recovery. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

43 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

4. Ergonomic Safety and Evaluation 
 
All employees are expected to maintain their work environment and equipment safe and in good repair.  
Employees are to organize their work space considering basic ergonomic and safety practices such as, 
easy access/reach of desk equipment, appropriate lighting, use of appropriate equipment, avoidance of 
forceful lifting, pushing or pulling, prolonged repetitive motions.  Employees performing mainly sitting 
jobs are encouraged to periodically change activities and positions, take small stretch breaks to reduce 
repeated stress to various parts of the body.   
 
Employees who experience discomfort by using their work equipment or have doctor’s recommendation 
for ergonomic evaluation are to notify their direct supervisor and request evaluation.  The supervisor 
should contact CSB Personnel, the Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator and request ergonomic 
evaluation for the employee.  The CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator will review the 
request and arrange for the evaluation.   
 
After the completion of the ergo evaluation, the employee and her/his supervisor will receive a copy of 
the evaluation report and an Ergonomic Equipment Acknowledgment Form.  The employee is to review 
and keep the copy of the evaluation.  Both the employee and the supervisor are to sign the Ergonomic 
Equipment Acknowledgment Form and return the original to the CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety 
Coordinator at the Personnel Unit for authorization of the recommended ergonomic equipment.   
 
The CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator will work with the CCC Ergo Lab to ensure the 
appropriate accommodations are made and that the employee is trained on ergonomic and safety 
practices.  Ergonomic Equipment Acknowledgment forms sent by the employees directly to the CCC Ergo 
Lab without the authorization of the CSB Workers’ Compensation/Safety Coordinator will not be 
accepted by the Ergo Lab and the requested equipment/accommodations will not be provided. 
 
5. Employee Relations 
As a part of a team providing services for the benefit of the public, each employee must cooperate with 
co-workers and supervisors and the public through professionalism and mutual respect in order to set a 
high standard of work performance.  The entire staff of CSB must function as a team.  Each employee is 
required to make a positive contribution in the interest of efficient public service. 
 
Unwillingness or failure to cooperate will not be tolerated and will be cause for disciplinary action. 
 
6. Smoke-Free Environment 
CSB will create a smoke-free environment and eliminate exposure to tobacco smoke by children, staff 
and parents in the Head Start program. 
By state regulation, smoking is prohibited at all times in all space utilized by the program.  This includes 
classrooms, staff offices, kitchens, restrooms, parent and staff meeting rooms (used in the evenings as 
well as during the day), hallways, outdoor play areas, county vehicles and vehicles used for transporting 
children. 
 
If there is a designated smoking area, it will be located out of the children’s sight, and at least 20 feet 
away from the main entrances, exits and operable windows of the building (California Government 
Code, Sections 7596-7598).  All smoking trash, including butts and matches, will be extinguished and 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

44 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

disposed of in appropriate containers.  Staff is encouraged to wear protective wear, such as a smoke or 
“smoking jacket” so that when they finish smoking, they can remove it so as to not carry the tobacco 
chemicals on their clothing into the classrooms or offices. 
 
If a CSB program shares a building with other occupants, staff will take steps to reduce children’s 
exposure to smoke from other sources in the building by altering traffic patterns or establishing a 
“smoke-free zone” around the site. 
 
Adults are also prohibited from smoking during group socialization activities, such as field trips, 
neighborhood walks, and other outdoor activities.  The only situation under which this does not apply is 
during a presentation or field trip related to American Indian cultural customs in which tobacco is 
utilized. 
 
Educational and wellness activities, such as smoking cessation programs for adults and inclusion of 
developmentally appropriate activities in health education for children will be developed to assist in 
carrying out smoke-free policies.  Staff and parents are encouraged to call the California Smokers 
Helpline at 1-800-NO-BUTTS for help in quitting.  Smoking cessation programs for adults are available 
through the program’s collaboration with the WIC Program.  Additional information and resources are 
available by contacting the Comprehensive Services Unit’s Health Services Manager. 
 
8. Drug-Free Work Environment 
In Compliance with the Federal Drug-Free Workplace Act 1988, the Contra Costa County Board of 
supervisors instituted a Drug-Free Workplace Policy (Resolution No. 90/674 from October 16, 1990). The 
Board is committed to a Drug-Free Workplace because of the inherent dangers to employees who abuse 
drugs and/or alcohol. According to the Drug-Free Workplace Policy: 

o The County prohibits the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or 
use of controlled substance in the workplace, and/or during work hours. 

o Any violation of this policy may result in disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination, or when needed, mandatory participation of the employee in a drug-abuse 
assistance or rehabilitation program. 

o Any employee convicted of any State or Federal criminal drug statute for a violation 
occurring in the County workplace or on County time, shall report the conviction to their 
supervisor, department manager or personnel officer no later than five (5) days after 
such conviction. 
 

CSB strives to maintain a workplace that is reflective of the County Smoke-Free and Drug-Free 
Workplace Environment Policy. CSB employees are expected to conduct themselves responsibly. Upon 
report that an employee appears to be under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs, the employee’s 
supervisor must notify the Assistant Director or the Division Manager, or the Personnel Administrator. 
One of these CSB Senior Managers and the employee’s supervisor will immediately meet with the 
employee and determine if she/he is under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs. If they determine 
that the employee is under the influence, the employee shall be instructed to immediately leave the 
workplace. An employee under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs is to report back to work sober 
and clean of drugs at least one day after the incident. The employee has the option to claim unpaid time 
or to use her/his own accruals. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

45 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 
8. Solicitation of Goods 
Contra Costa County prohibits the solicitation of goods on any County property.  Goods for sale will not 
be accepted, bought, or sold at any Grantee office or CSB center.  This applies to commercial activities 
only.  This does not apply to parent fundraising.  Parent fundraising activities are reviewed and approved 
by the Policy Council and the Bureau Director. 
 
9. CSB Telephone Usage Policy 
There may be times when personal telephone calls must be made or received during working hours.  
Personal telephone calls must be kept to a minimum, and may not interfere with classroom or business 
activities.  CSB expects employees to make these calls during break or lunch periods.  No long distance 
calls can be made on CSB telephones.  Personal cellular phone usage, unless in an emergency situation, 
is prohibited in the classroom and business offices at all times. 
 
10. Food in the Classroom 
Food for individual staff consumption is not allowed in the classroom unless the staff member is eating a 
meal or snack with the children. Any other food and drink must be consumed by the staff member 
during break or lunchtime, away from the classroom. 
 
E. Analysis of Staff Needs 
The needs of individual staff members for assistance and training, as well as the training tools are 
analyzed regularly to ensure optimal performance and efficiency of services.  The Community Services 
Director or designee assesses staff needs by considering levels of responsibility, experience, 
performance of assigned tasks, and other relevant factors.  On the basis of such assessment, the 
Community Services Director or designee determines the delivery of needed assistance after considering 
funding limitations.  Assessment of staff needs is performed annually or as needed. 
 
F. Recruitment and Selection 
It is the policy of CSB to employ qualified, capable, and responsible personnel who are of good character 
and reputation.  Consideration will be given to provide employment opportunities to parents of enrolled 
Head Start and Early Head Start children.  CSB will follow the guidelines for recruitment as required by 
the MoUs, PMRs, Management Bulletins and other provisions established by the County and funding 
sources.   
 
CSB shall make certain that its recruiting procedures afford adequate opportunity for the hiring and 
career advancement of its parents and staff.  The attainment of a high level of education may be 
important to performance in certain positions; however, formal educational qualifications, unless 
required by state, local or federal law, where practical, shall be made discretionary rather than required 
for employment and advancement.  Head Start staff will be required to meet the educational 
requirement as established in the Head Start Act and/or Head Start Performance Standards.   
 
The Policy Council will approve or disapprove all Head Start and Early Head Start employees prior to 
employment including the Head Start Director, Director of Human Resources, Chief Fiscal Officer and 
any other person in an equivalent position in CSB. 
 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

46 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 
G. Hiring of CSB Staff 
A position will not be filled until concurrence is reached between the Community Services Director and 
the Policy Council. The following steps are taken when hiring staff: 

 Following the approved Contra Costa County Personnel Management Regulations, the Personnel 
Unit will work with the County Human Resources Department, as required, to publicly announce 
a position for employment. 

 Upon receipt of applications, the Human Resources Department or designee will screen the 
applications to ensure that applicants meet the minimum requirements for filling the position. 

 The Human Resources Department shall designate selection procedures that may be written 
tests, oral tests, physical agility tests, assessment centers, training and experience evaluations or 
other selection procedures, or any combination of these. Selection procedures shall be practical 
and job related, constructed to sample the knowledge, skills, abilities and / or personal 
attributes required for successful job performance. 

 When, after public announcement, the number of accepted candidates is equal to or less than 
the number necessary for a full certification, after consulting with the Community Services 
Director, the Personnel Unit may waive competitive testing and certify the applicants without 
rank or score. Under these circumstances, the Community Services Director will appoint a 
Qualifications Appraisal Board within the Community Services Bureau to conduct oral interviews 
of the applicants.   

 In examinations where an oral interview is to be conducted as part of the total examination, the 
Personnel Unit shall appoint two or more qualified staff, as well as a Head Start Parent to 
conduct oral interviews. 

 After completion of the examination process, the Personnel Unit will certify to the Bureau 
Director in rank order, according to the overall scores in the examination process, the names, 
addresses and phone numbers of the persons entitled to certification. 

 The designated interview panel consisting of staff and parents will interview the prospective 
employee to determine: 

o If the individual will be able to work effectively with parents and/or children in a 
positive, supportive manner; 

o If the individual will be able to work with staff in a cooperative, team-like manner; 
o The individual’s commitment to low income families and the community; 
o The experience the individual has working with or the understanding the individual has 

of culturally diverse groups; 
o Personal characteristics such as warmth, strength, flexibility, understanding, empathy, 

ability to respond quickly under stress; 
o The ability of the individual to work within systems; 
o The individual’s respect for authority and ability to work under supervision; and  
o Any other special skills such as speaking, reading, or writing in other languages. 

 After the interview, the Personnel Unit will conduct personal and employment reference checks 
on all potential new hires prior to names being recommended to the Community Services 
Director or designee and Policy Council. 

 After the interview, staff will submit a recommendation to the Policy Council that will include 
the prospective employee’s suitability for employment in the position being considered. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

47 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 The name and qualifications of the candidate/s will be considered for approval by the Policy 
Council.  Only after the candidate has been approved for employment by the Policy Council may 
the candidate be officially employed and report for work. 

 No Head Start funds may be obligated for payment of salary to any permanent employee not 
previously approved by the Policy Council. 

 All newly hired employees will serve a probationary period as outlined in Section 9 of the 
Personnel Management Regulations and Section 20 of the Memorandum of Understanding 
between Contra Costa County and Public Employees Union, Local One. 

 
H. Reject from Probation 
When an employee is being separated from employment while on probation, a CSB Manager or 
Assistant Director will serve a copy of a Project Employee Probation Report (CSD-50) to the employee 
and at that time shall ask for any keys and/or employee badges they may have to the facility.  
 
I. 9/80 Work Schedule 
A 9/80 work schedule has been established for a period determined by the Community Services Bureau 
Director.  The schedule is available for Senior Management and some management and middle 
management classifications.  There may be some job functions or classifications that are not feasible for 
participation in the 9/80 schedule. Additionally, probationary employees are not eligible for a 9/80 
schedule until successfully completing their probationary period.  Furthermore, temporary employees 
are excluded from the 9/80 work schedule.  The Director of Community Services Bureau has the 
authority to determine the exclusion or the participation of particular jobs or classifications in the 9/80 
shift. 
 
The 9/80 schedule is voluntary.  An employee who participates in the 9/80 schedule is not obligated to 
maintain it except for a two-week cycle from the beginning of the 9/80 shift.  If an employee opts out of 
the schedule, she/he may opt back in once in the following three-month period.  Work expectations do 
not change as a result of an employee’s participation in a 9/80 schedule.  If her/his performance 
deteriorates due to participation in the 9/80 schedule, the employee may be returned to a regular 
schedule.  This action requires the approval of the Community Services Director or designee.    
 
Employees requesting participation in the 9/80 work schedule should complete a Participation Request 
form that can be obtained from CSB Personnel Unit.  The employees are to submit the completed form 
to their supervisor.  Approval is granted by the Community Services Director or designee with 
consideration for adequate coverage of the Department and the individual units.  A copy of the 
approved request should be submitted to the Fiscal unit and to CSB Personnel to be filed in the 
employee’s personnel file. 
 
Employees participating in a 9/80 schedule must take a day off during the two-week pay period.  During 
the period, the employees work one 8 hour day and 9 hours each day thereafter.  The total work hours 
for the pay period should equal 80.  If a holiday falls on the employee’s day off, the employee should 
take her/his 9/80 day within the pay period before or after the holiday.  If a holiday falls on a work day, 
the employee must use 1 hour accruals to make the required 9-hour work day since a holiday is 8 hours. 
 
 9/80 Work Schedule For Employees Temporary Disabled Due To Industrial Injury 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

48 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

In accordance with the Memorandum of the Office of the County Administrator, dated November 23, 
2009, and the Contra Costa County’s Return to Work Policy for Industrial Injury or Illness, Section VI, A. 
Restrictive Duty, the 9/80 or flexible work schedule for every employee who has sustained industrial 
injuries, who has an accepted worker’s compensation claim and is temporarily disabled from working 
full time will be temporarily revoked.  Upon release to full time work by the treating physician and only 
if the employee is able to work more than 8 hours per day, the 9/80 or flexible schedule may be 
resumed. 
 
J. Separation 
Employees are dismissed, suspended, and demoted in accordance with Contra Costa County, Personnel 
Management Regulations Part 11, Separation and Memorandum of Understanding between Contra 
Costa County and the Labor Unions.  
 
K. Resignation 
A resignation letter from the employee shall be made in writing and submitted to the employee’s 
immediate supervisor and/or Assistant Director. The original letter should be sent to Personnel Unit. 
 
L. Nepotism 
No immediate family member of a supervisor shall work directly under his/her supervision.  Immediate 
family member shall be defined as spouse, natural child, stepchild, foster child, child in employee’s 
custody, legally adopted child, legal guardianship, foreign adoption, tribal adoption, disabled adult child, 
domestic partner, and child of domestic partner. 
 
M. Enrolled Children of CSB Employees 
To maintain an equitable educational environment at our child care centers, CSB requires that every 
effort will be made to place the enrolled child of a CSB employee at facility that is different from the 
employee’s worksite. In NO case will an employee’s child be placed in the employee’s classroom.  CSB 
employees’ children may be enrolled in the program only if eligible. 
 
N. Staff Qualifications – General  
All site-based staff must meet the minimum qualifications of the State Department of Education matrix 
and the Early Head Start and Head Start staff qualification requirements as stated in Sections 645(A) and 
648(A) & (B) of the 2007 Head Start Act.  This includes Assistant Directors, Site Supervisors, 
Infant/Toddler Master Teachers, Master Teachers, Infant/Toddler Teachers, Teachers, Infant/Toddler 
Associate Teachers, and Associate Teachers. 
 
It is the employee’s responsibility to maintain and provide to Personnel and their Site Supervisor a 
current Permit or Temporary Certificate issued by the Office of Education and to meet the Head Start 
and Early Head Start staff qualification requirements by the established timelines. 
 
In addition, all staff must meet the minimum qualifications as stated in the Community Services Bureau 
Job Descriptions and as set forth by state and federal regulations. Should an employee fail to meet the 
minimum qualification of his or her job while employed with Contra Costa County, he or she will be 
dismissed as stipulated in the Personnel Management Regulations, Part 1108 and the Public Employees 
Union, Local One MoU, Section 24.2. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

49 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

O. Qualification Requirements for Positions 
Minimum qualification requirements are set for all Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau 
positions. 
 
The Personnel Director, in conjunction with the Assistant Directors and/or other managers, drafts 
minimum qualification requirements for certain positions.  These are received by Policy Council for input 
and review. 
 
Where minimum qualification requirements affect health, education, food service, or other component 
positions, the draft is received by the appropriate committee for input and review. 
 
The draft is then submitted to the Community Services Director for review and approval. After 
Community Services Director’s approval, the draft is sent to the CSB Personnel Unit for further 
processing. 
 
Managers receive copies of job descriptions and qualifications adopted by Human Resources. 
Preference will be given to former and current parents who meet the qualifications as set forth in the 
job descriptions. 
 
All families must be able to perform the Essential Functions as set forth by the Department at all times 
(please refer to Essential Functions documentation).  If staff is unable to perform the functions at any 
time during employment, the Department will try to accommodate needs; however there are some 
instances where this may not be possible. 
 
New Hires:  Before a new employee / volunteer who will work directly with the families and children 
begin work, (s)he must have completed the following: 

 Complete health screening by a physician including a tuberculosis test (prior to employment) or 
a written statement from a doctor stating a TB test is not required. 

 Fingerprint / criminal record clearance without any exemptions. 
 
P. Classroom Staffing and Ratios and Comprehensive Services Staffing 
1. Classroom Staffing and Ratios 
Each classroom maintains the adult/child ratios required by Title V: For children ages 3-5, 1:8; for 
toddlers, 1:4; for infants 1:3. Children under three years of age may not be in groups with more than 
eight children.  Each full-day classroom is staffed with a qualified Teacher and 2 Associate Teachers.  If 
this is not possible, an Associate Teacher may be substituted for a Teacher and a Teacher Assistant 
Trainee for an Associate.  Each part-day classroom is staffed with two Teachers and Teacher Assistant 
Trainees.  
 
CSB center classrooms will have no more than 20 children enrolled at any time, except in State 
Preschool classrooms where there may be 24 children enrolled at one time and in Head Start classrooms 
with an approved 24-waiver from the Administration for Children and Families (ACF). 
 
The Supervisor must ensure that adult/child ratios are maintained at all times.  If a staff member is 
absent, the Site Supervisor must do the following: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

50 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 Assess the staffing needs of the classroom based on the number of children present and the 
staff/child ratios in other classrooms at the site. 

 Request the services of a parent volunteer. 

 If a substitute is needed, the Supervisor must contact the clerk who coordinates the substitutes. 
All staff inside the classroom and outside in the yard are responsible to ensure that all children are 
visible at all times and that they are being supervised at every moment. 

• Whenever the classroom is outside on the yard or on a field trip, all members of the teaching 
team must be present to ensure the health and safety of children. No scheduled prep time or 
breaks are permitted during times scheduled outside of the classroom. 

 
Teaching staff supervise infants and toddlers/twos by sight and sound at all times. When infants and 
toddlers/twos are sleeping, mirrors, video or sound monitors may be used to augment supervision in 
sleeping areas, but such monitors may not be relied on in lieu of direct visual and auditory supervision. 
Sides of cribs are checked to ensure that they are up and locked.  
 
Teachers, assistant teachers, or teacher aides are aware of, and positioned so they can hear and see any 
sleeping children for whom they are responsible, especially when they are actively engaged with 
children who are awake.     
 
CSB management ensures that the staff reflects the cultures and languages of the children and families 
served in the program whenever possible.  If this is not possible, the Supervisor must contact the main 
office to obtain the services of a translator or the CSB Language Line in order to communicate with 
families. 
 
2. Comprehensive Services 
The program is supported at all times by the following personnel: 
A health services content area expert who is trained and experienced in public health, nursing, health 
education, maternal and child health, or health administration. Additionally, when a health procedure 
must only be by a licensed or certified health professional, the agency will ensure that this requirement 
is met. 

 A nutrition services content area expert who is a registered dietitian or nutritionist. 

 A mental health services content area expert who is a licensed or certified mental health 
professional with experience and expertise in serving young children and their families. 

 A family and community partnership or parent involvement content area expert who is trained 
and experienced in field(s) related to social, human, or family services and who is skilled in 
assisting parents of young children in advocating and decision-making for their families. 

 A disabilities services content area expert who is trained and experienced in securing and 
individualizing needed services for children with disabilities. 

 
Q. Site Administration 
Each site that receives State Department of Education funding must have a full time Site Supervisor 
housed in the building.  For sites with more than nine classrooms, an additional Site Supervisor will be 
housed at the building.  This Supervisor may be counted in the ratio if working directly with the children.  
Sites with infant/toddler care must have a Site Supervisor who, in addition to the regular qualifications, 
has completed 3 units of Infant and Toddler Care. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

51 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

As an entity operating child care and development programs, providing direct services to children at two 
or more sites, CSB shall employ Assistant Directors that meet the minimum qualifications of a Program 
Director as outlined in the State Department of Education matrix. 
 
R. Teacher Assistant Trainees (TATs) 
CSB may employ Teacher Assistant Trainees (TATs) through the County or the ROP program.  The 
following applies for all teaching staff with less than 12 units in Early Childhood Education courses: 

 The TAT must be at least 18 years of age UNLESS: (S)he has a high school diploma or equivalent 
or a part of the ROP or other occupational program. 

 The TAT may never be alone with the children – the Teacher/Associate must always supervise 
the interactions with the children. 

 If the TAT has enrolled in or completed at least 6 units in Early Childhood Education, (s)he may 
supervise children at nap time and escort children to the bathroom without the direct 
supervision of a Teacher/Associate. 

In order to support the professional development and career advancement of Teacher Assistant 
Trainees, CSB will afford a select number, appropriate to funding availability, of Teacher Assistant 
Trainees the opportunity to participate in the Teacher Assistant Trainee Program, as outlined in 
31(a)(4).b of this section. 
 
S. Volunteers 
CSB encourages volunteers from the community whenever possible.  Each year, program staff recruits 
volunteers through flyers and other announcements. Before a volunteer begins in the program, (s)he 
must go through the ASA III responsible for volunteer coordination. This ensures that the volunteer has 
fulfilled the necessary requirements prior to being given an assignment. All potential volunteers must 
complete a Volunteer Application. If the volunteer works more than sixteen (16) hours at one facility 
s/he must obtain fingerprint clearance. All volunteers, regardless of the number of hours they are 
planning to work, must submit a statement of good health. The statement could be issued by a doctor, a 
medical professional or be a self-disclosure signed by the volunteer. Each volunteer must undergo a TB 
risk assessment and if at risk submit a negative TB test result at their own cost prior to volunteering.  
The statement of good health and the TB result should be provided to the ASA III and kept on file by the 
Site Supervisor as outlined in California DSS section 101170(b), certain volunteers may be exempt from 
the requirement to submit fingerprints. 
 
Once fingerprint and TB clearance is received, the volunteer coordinator will contact site supervisors to 
see if there is an appropriate volunteer opportunity at their site.  The volunteer coordinator will forward 
all paperwork to the site supervisor for their Licensing and Health file.  The Site Supervisor or designee 
will review the Volunteer Policy with the volunteer and have him/her sign the Standards of Conduct, 
Certification Statement and all other Licensing forms. Only then will CSB make the final volunteering 
assignment which includes: start date, end date, and number of days and hours per week.  The 
volunteer enters hours worked daily on an in-kind form for the whole month. At the end of the month, 
the volunteer submits the completed in-kind reporting form to the assigned volunteer supervisor to 
have them sign their approval and to make a copy of form for the volunteer. The volunteer’s supervisor 
or designee submits the in-kind records monthly to the cluster clerk for entry into the In-Kind Log in the 
shared drive.  
  
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

52 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

T. Standards of Conduct 
CSB ensures that all staff, consultants, and volunteers will observe the program’s Standards of Conduct.  
All employees must sign the Standards of Conduct annually and the original will be maintained in their 
personnel file. 
 
Every employee, consultant and volunteer involved in the Program, must subscribe to the following: 

 Respect and promote the unique identity of each child/family. 

 Refrain from stereotyping on the basis of gender, race, ethnicity, culture, religion, or disability. 

 Follow program confidentiality policies concerning information about children, families, and 
other staff members. 

 Never leave a child alone/unsupervised while under their care. 

 Use positive methods of child guidance. 

 Never engage in corporal punishment, emotional/physical abuse, humiliation, intimidation, 
ridicule, coercion or threats. 

 Never prohibit a child from attending religious services outside the agency. 

 Never use methods of discipline that involve: 
o Isolation 
o The use of food as punishment or reward 
o The denial of basic needs 

 Provide a safe, healthy and accommodating environment that meets the children’s needs. 
 

Every employee engaged in the award/administration of contracts or other financial awards will sign a 
statement to the effect that they will not solicit or accept personal gratuities, favors, or anything of 
significant monetary value from contractors or potential contractors.  Additionally, employees will not 
engage in any form of picketing, protest, or other direct action that is in violation of law and must 
comply with Contra Costa County Administrative Bulletin 405.4. 
 
If a staff member, consultant, or volunteer violates any of the above Standards of Conduct, the following 
disciplinary steps may be followed: 

 Conference(s) with the individual’s supervisor to discuss implications of their behavior, and 
corrective action plans. 

 Further training for the individual may be provided. 

 A letter of Coaching and Counseling may be sent to the individual, detailing the seriousness of 
their violation(s) of the Standards of Conduct. 

 If the letter of Coaching and Counseling is ignored, the employee may receive further 
disciplinary action. 

 If the behavior of the individual does not change, disciplinary measures may be applied, such as 
Letter of Reprimand, suspension, and/or termination of employment. In some cases, 
termination may be the first discipline. 

 
U. Professional Behavior and Attire 
To ensure the health and safety of enrolled children and to foster professionalism at our child care 
centers and offices, staff is expected to adhere to the following dress code.  
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

53 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Staff at child care centers, whether direct caregivers or support staff, must wear clean, neat, 
comfortable clothing and footwear suitable for the daily tasks of significant bending, walking, lifting, 
sitting and running. Central Kitchen staff must adhere to policies that specifically pertain to hygiene and 
attire.  

 Professional Behavior and Attire 
As representatives of County government, it is important that staff adhere to high standards of 
professional behavior at all times. Public and client perceptions of our staff and services can be 
significantly affected by a single negative interaction with any employee in our department.  

 
As professionals, staff members need to refrain from excessively negative behavior in all interactions 
with their colleagues, in meetings and training sessions, with clients, or the public. Such behavior can 
over time create a hostile work environment, be experienced as harassment, interfere with client access 
to services, or violate client rights. 
 
Examples of excessively negative behavior can include: rudeness, being overly brusque and impatient, 
showing contempt for others, being excessively critical and fault-finding, demeaning and sarcastic, 
disrespectful, slamming doors or files, raised voices, use of profanities, sexual and national origin 
harassment and discrimination, There may also be other behaviors that create a hostile or extremely 
unpleasant environment for staff or clients. 
 
Staff who engages in such behaviors will receive counseling and coaching from their supervisors. 
Continued engagement in unprofessional behavior after counseling and coaching has been provided 
may result in disciplinary action.      

 CSB Standards for Appropriate Attire 
o Shoes: heel height to a maximum of 1 inch, closed toe and heel required 
o Shorts: must reach the knee, transparent fabric is unacceptable. 
o Tops: prohibited are tops that expose the midriff, low cut necklines, backless, strapless, 

halter or tube tops, spaghetti straps, or any transparent material.   
o Skirts/dresses: hem must be knee length or longer; fabric may not be transparent. 
o Pants: hems of pants cannot drag on the floor, and waistband may hit no lower than the 

top of the hip.  Transparent fabric is unacceptable. 
o Jewelry: Earrings must be shorter than 1 inch from lobe, rings no higher than ¼ inch 

from shank.  Any jewelry that may pose a hazard to children or staff may not be worn to 
work. 

o Any articles of clothing with statements deemed by CSB to be political, offensive, or 
inappropriate are prohibited.  The display of ‘gang colors’ is prohibited.  

o Administrative staff shall dress in a manner that reflects a positive public image.  In 
general, appropriate business attire will include well maintained clothing, as described 
above.  ‘Casual Friday’ attire is acceptable, but must incorporate the above standards.  
Administrative staff may wear blue jeans on Casual Friday but may not be worn with 
sneakers, thong shoes, or T-shirts. 

 
V. Non-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policies 
It is the policy of Contra Costa County to maintain a work, service and program environment free of 
discrimination, harassment, or intimidation based on sex, gender, age, race, religion, national origin, 
ancestry marital status, sexual orientation, disability or medical condition. These policies are also 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

54 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

mandated by state and federal law. It is the policy of the Community Services Bureau to comply with all 
applicable state and federal statutes and regulations prohibiting discrimination in employment, 
contracting, buildings, facilities, and provision of services. All employees should be familiar with all of 
the provisions in the County’s “Notice of County Non-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policies” and 
the procedures for “Reporting Discrimination, Harassment, and Retaliation”.  
 
In addition to policies and regulations which prohibit harassment on the job on the basis of one’s 
membership in one of the protected classes as well as all forms of sexual harassment, please note that 
the County policy also states that: 

 “Employees are entitled to, and will be provided with, a workplace environment which is free 
from harassment…All employees are individually responsible for conducting themselves in ways 
that ensure others are able to work in an atmosphere free of discrimination, harassment or 
intimidation…Each employee has a duty to report incidents of unlawful discrimination and 
harassment. Retaliation for reporting discrimination or harassment or participating in an 
investigation of a discrimination claim is both unlawful and against County policy.” 

Supervisors have an affirmative and legal duty and responsibility to report all allegations of sexual and 
other forms of harassment or discrimination to their managers or supervisors. The Employment and 
Human Services Department will fully comply with these policies and will not tolerate discrimination, 
harassment, or intimidation in any form. Reports of violations of these policies will be promptly 
investigated and appropriate disciplinary action taken if warranted. This policy also includes more subtle 
forms of harassment, such as threats, name-calling, and use of slurs, innuendo, or misrepresentation of 
actions or intent to damage an employee’s reputation.  
  
W. Whistleblowers are Protected 
Community Services Bureau adheres to the California Whistleblower Protection Act (Government Code 
Sections 8547-8547.13) and EHSD Policy against Retaliation.  It is the public policy of the State of 
California to encourage employees to report or “blow the whistle” to an appropriate government or law 
enforcement agency when they have reason to believe their employer is violating a state or federal 
statue, or violating or not complying with a state or federal rule or regulation.  These violations may 
include fraud, waste, abuse, unnecessary government spending, an unsafe or unhealthy employer 
practices.   
 
A “whistleblower” is an employee afforded with the following protections: 

1. An employer may not make, adopt, or enforce any rule, regulation, or policy preventing an 
employee from being a whistleblower. 

2. An employer may not retaliate against an employee who is a whistleblower. 
3. An employer may not retaliate against an employee for refusing to participate in an activity that 

would result in a violation of a state or federal statute, or a violation or noncompliance with a 
state or federal rule or regulation. 

4. An employer may not retaliate against an employee for having exercised his or her rights as a 
whistleblower in any former employment. 

 
Information regarding possible violations of state or federal statutes, rules, or regulations, or violations 
of fiduciary responsibilities should be reported by calling the California State Attorney General’s 
Whistleblower Hotline at 1-800-952-5225.   
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

55 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

A copy of this Labor Code and how to report improper acts is posted at each CSB center.   
 
 
X. Protocol for Tracking Staff Absences 
Consistent staff attendance is critical to the operation of quality child development centers.  To maintain 
our daily staffing levels so that our work is completed effectively and efficiently it is necessary to keep 
accurate account of the use of these benefits. 
 
Use of vacation and personal leave accruals is by mutual agreement between the employee and the 
supervisor.  Request for use of this time must be made and approved in advance using the form 
provided by CSB.   
 
For employees who do not have pre-approved absence from work, each Site Supervisor is required to 
maintain a daily employee call-in log to record employee absences that were not pre-approved.  
Employees calling off of their shift must do so by 6:00am on the day of the absence.  For consecutive 
absences, employees must notify their supervisor by 3:00pm of the day prior.  If no communication 
between the employee and supervisor takes place during the first day of absence it is expected that the 
employee will be present for their shift on the next business day. The employee is required to provide 
the following information when calling in: Name, date of the absence, job classification, shift, time of 
the call, reason for not reporting to work. 
 
Supervisors are to track absences on the monthly Staff Absentee Tracking log that is provided in an Excel 
workbook. Assistant Directors are to review monthly Staff Absentee Tracking logs for analysis of staffing 
patterns, site needs for substitutes, etc. 
 
Y. Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 
CSB provides coverage under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA).  Eligible employees can receive up to 
18 weeks unpaid, job-protected leave in any 12 months period.  An “eligible” employee is an employee 
who had work for his/her employer for at least a year and had worked a minimum of 1,250 hrs. and 
meets any of the qualifying reasons listed below:  

 The birth of a child or placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster care 

 The employee’s own serious health condition 

 The employee’s need to care for her/his spouse, child, parent, due to his/her serious health 
condition 

 The employee is the spouse, son/daughter, parent, next of kin of a service member with a 
serious injury or illness (in this case the FMLA may be up to 26 weeks in a single 12 month 
period) 

 Qualifying emergency arising out of the fact that the employee’s spouse, son/daughter, parent 
is on active duty or call to active duty status in support of a contingency operation as a member 
of the National Guard or Reserves 

 
Employees needing to take FMLA are required to notify their supervisor and Personnel, and submit a 
medical certification or appropriate document/s issued by a court, law/enforcement agency or a military 
service entity showing need for the employee to take time from work.  Medical certification has to be 
provided on CCC Certification of Health Care Provider Form.  This form can be obtained from the CSB 
Personnel Unit.  The employee is required to submit the completed and signed by his/her doctor 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

56 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

document within 15 calendar days of receiving the form from Personnel.  The CSB FMLA Coordinator will 
provide the employee with official letter approving/disapproving the FMLA and information on the 
employee’s benefits and rights while away of work.  
 
If a supervisor is aware that an employee is off work due to a condition qualifying under the FMLA, 
she/he should notify CSB Personnel on behalf of the employee.  Personnel will contact the employee 
and will provide information on his/her rights under the FMLA.  
 
While on FMLA, an employee may be eligible for Temporary Disability Benefits or Paid Family Leave. The 
employee is to make personal decision if (s)he wants to take advantage of these benefits. Employees are 
encouraged to contact CCC Benefits Unit at (925) 335-1746 for specific information regarding their 
benefits during time off work. While on FMLA, employees may choose to use their accruals. In this case, 
they are to contact their payroll clerk and make specific arrangements for the use of their accruals.   
 
Z. Confidentiality 
As public employees, CSB is governed by numerous federal, state, and county regulations that are 
designed to ensure that public resources are being administered in an ethical manner and that the right 
of both employees and the public CSB serves are respected and honored. These include regulations that 
ensure that the rights of individual employees are respected to work in an environment that is free of 
discrimination, intimidation, hostility, or retaliation. CSB department’s mission to serve the most 
vulnerable members of the community also requires even higher standards of professional conduct to 
ensure that rights are respected and that there will be no cause of additional harm and suffering. 
 
Knowing what these myriad regulations are and understanding their relationships to each other can be 
confusing. The purpose of this policy is to update and summarize the major policies that govern 
employee conduct. References will be made to other policy documents that contain the more detailed 
provisions. 
 
These policies will be reviewed with all existing employees and will be presented to and discussed with 
all new employees and temporary staff at the time of their orientation. New employees will sign a 
statement that certifies that they have received and read these Standards of Conduct.  
 
1. General Policies-Policies and procedures in this matter bind CSB employees who have access to 
confidential information.  The policy is: 

 No information about a child or family is to be released without written, parental informed 
consent if the material is personally identifiable. 

 “Personally identifiable” information is defined as information about a child or family that would 
make it possible to identify the child or family with reasonable certainty.  Such information 
includes: 

 The child’s name, address, telephone number 

 Medical record 

 Social Security number 

 Any other data that can readily identify the child or family. 
When the child’s name is attached to any of the following, that information is considered confidential: 

 Specific educational/medical screening 

 Diagnostic data 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

57 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 Disability 

 Categorical diagnosis 

 Child’s functional assessment 

 Family needs assessment 

 Home visit reports 

 Progress reports 
 
2. Confidentiality Procedure 
All records containing information pertaining to a child and/or family must be kept in a locked file.  The 
locked file should be maintained at each center location, and the Site Supervisor shall designate a staff 
member to be responsible for the key. 
 
A list of individuals authorized to review files must be available at every center.  Any individual not on 
the list, but requesting access to files must be approved by the lead Teacher/Site Supervisor prior to 
release of files. 
 
Please refer to Record Keeping and Reporting Section for protocols for file review. 
An Individual Access Log must be kept in each file, and any individual working 
with/reviewing/monitoring the file must sign his/her name, date, and reason for accessing the file. 
 
Files or papers containing confidential material regarding a family must not be left on desks, tables, or 
other areas where others may have access to them.  After current business concerning a file is 
completed, the file must be returned to the file cabinet, and the cabinet locked. 
 
Discussions of family problems or situations are to be held only with those staff members working 
directly with the family.  Information should be shared only if it is relevant to that staff member in 
assisting the family.  The normal mode of information sharing is the Case Conference/Case 
Management. The following must be followed: 

 Problems of one family must not be discussed with another family. 

 Family situations/problems must not be discussed in the presence of parents, children, or 
visitors at the centers or division office. 

 Written information regarding families must not be shared with any community agency without 
express prior written authorization from the family. 

 After a child’s participation in the program has ended, no records of home visits, Case 
Conferences/Case Management, IEP’s or other confidential reports are to be forwarded to any 
school without prior written authorization from the parent(s). 

 Prior to using children’s photographs outside the program or allowing children to participate in 
research, parents’ written permission must be secured. 

 
3. Parent Access to Family Records 
The following protocols are followed with regards to family records: 

 Parents have full review / access rights to information regarding their children and themselves. 

 CSB has an obligation to explain to parents any information in the records that pertains to the 
child/family. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

58 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 Parents have the right, after reviewing their child’s records, to have them amended or 
corrected.  The request can be written or verbal; the Site Supervisor must approve it.   

 If the parents cannot come to an agreement with the Comprehensive Services team/Site 
Supervisor, then all explanations and requests for change must be kept with, and become part 
of, the child’s permanent record. 

 Parents may obtain from the Site Supervisor, upon written request, a list of locations of all 
personally identifiable information kept by CSB. 

 
AA. Staff Performance Appraisals 
1. A Uniform Service Rating System includes provision for periodic rating of employees’ performance for 
the purposes of: 

 Promotion 

 Transfer 

 Demotion 

 Termination 

 Salary adjustment 

 Re-hiring 

 Recommendation to future employers 

 Performance improvement 
 

Every employee is evaluated within the first six months of employment, in accordance with Contra Costa 
County probationary requirements.  A formal, written review of the employee is completed annually by 
the immediate supervisor.   
 
In the process of formal evaluation of the employees, CSB utilizes also peer feedback evaluation and self 
evaluation.  The information collected through the feedback evaluation tool is analyzed and summarized 
by the supervisor and included in the employee’s Performance Evaluation.  The employee is given the 
opportunity to evaluate his/her Professional Goals and submit the self evaluation form to his/her 
supervisor before the Performance Evaluation meeting.  The employee’s self evaluation is included in 
the Performance Evaluation.   
 
The initial six-month period is used as the final phase of the examination process.  It is utilized by the 
appointing authority for effective adjustment of new employees, and for release of employees whose 
performance is unsatisfactory.  Ongoing evaluation continues throughout employment. 
(For more information on the probationary period, see “Personnel Management Regulations, “Part 9, 
Sections 901 and 902, pages 9-10.) 
 
Performance Evaluation Schedules (due dates) are tracked monthly by the Personnel Unit and 
notifications are given directly to the immediate supervisors as well as the 2nd line supervisor and the 
Bureau Director. The immediate supervisor is also notified via the COPA/CLOUDS electronic system. 
 
2. When Completing Employee Evaluations 
The immediate supervisor rates an individual employee on work performance, efficiency, dependability, 
and adaptability.  Step ratings are made in a formal report by the immediate supervisor (responsible for 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

59 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

the work of the employee being rated) for each employee at the end of the probationary period, and at 
the end of the first year of employment in the job occupied (and annually thereafter).   
 
In completing the Performance Evaluation for each employee the supervisor takes in consideration the 
feedback information received from the employee’s peers, as well as, the self evaluation completed by 
the employee.  At least two weeks before completing the employee’s evaluation, the supervisor will ask 
2-3 employees working closely and familiar with the employee to complete the appropriate feedback 
tool.  The supervisor will summarize and analyze the results and include them in the employees review.  
Prior to the meeting with the employee, the supervisor will also ask the employee to evaluate his/her 
performance in the area of Professional Goals.  The employee self-evaluation will be reviewed at the 
time of the Performance Evaluation meeting and included with the Performance Evaluation.   
Evaluations are filed in the employee’s personnel records. The formal report becomes a part of the 
employee's permanent personnel record. 
 
An employee who receives an unsatisfactory rating may be ineligible for a higher pay or job rating until a 
satisfactory rating has been received. 
 
An employee may be reassigned, demoted, or discharged for receiving an unsatisfactory rating. 
Both the employee and supervisor may review and discuss his/her performance and service rating, as 
well as their goals. The employee may review a step rating (as soon as possible) after the supervisor 
prepares the rating, but unauthorized persons may not see the rating.  After discussion, the employee 
must sign the rating form. 
 
Each employee shall receive a copy of his/her rating. 
The primary functions of supervisory personnel are:  1) guidance, and 2) improvement of the operation.  
Each supervisory visit shall be a positive approach to improvement, and add to the employee's 
contribution to the department. 
 
In accordance with section 648(A)(f) of the Head Start Act, staff and supervisors will collaboratively 
complete a Professional Development Plan that connects the employee’s professional goals to training 
and educational programs and/or resources that support attainment of such goals.  Each plan will clearly 
outline high quality activities that will improve the knowledge and skills of staff as relevant to their roles 
and functions in a manner that will improve delivery of program services to enrolled children and 
families. Supervisors shall ensure that the plans are regularly evaluated for their impact on teacher and 
staff effectiveness.  Professional Development Plans are part of the performance evaluation process and 
must be submitted with the completed evaluation tool. 
 
3. Supervisor’s Approval 
Before evaluations are reviewed with employees, they must be approved by the second level supervisor. 
The supervisor’s supervisor or designee reviews step ratings.  That reviewing official must: 

 Approve or disapprove the service rating 

 Change the service rating, without formal appeal procedures, when in the interest of sound 
administration 

 Discuss the rating with the employee 

 Upon request of the employee, provide an impartial review of the service rating. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

60 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

4. Appealing a Performance Evaluation 
If the employee is dissatisfied with the review/decision, the employee may appeal in writing (within ten 
days) to the CSB Director for an impartial review of their service rating.  The Bureau’s Director shall 
render a written decision, sustaining or modifying the rating to the employee within ten days following a 
hearing. 
 
If the employee is dissatisfied with the decision of the Community Services Director, the employee may 
appeal in writing (within ten days) the decision to the local authority for a review.  This authority reviews 
the appeal, rating, and Community Services Director's decision, and renders (in writing) a decision to the 
employee (within ten days). 
 
Policy Council must be involved in the decision if a recommendation to terminate an employee is given.  
Policy Council must approve the termination, in accordance with CSB regulations. 
 
BB. Chronological Supervision and Filing System 
Chronological Supervision is a management and record-keeping system that organizes and facilitates the 
tasks of supervision, staff development, and progressive discipline. It is based on the concept that all 
employees are trained and supervised over a chronological period of time. Since this training and 
supervision occurs over an indefinite time period, the documentation of these activities should be filed 
in the chronological order that they happened. Chronological supervision supports non-discriminatory 
documentation of employee professional growth and performance, increases management 
accountability, and contributes to personal and organizational development. Chronological Supervision 
files will contain all non-disciplinary correspondence and documents pertaining to the supervision of 
subordinate employees. Examples of mentoring and supervision include, but are not limited to 
recognition for excellent and/or consistent performance of assigned tasks; written instructions for 
improving job functioning with follow-up of monitoring activities; and documentation of meetings held 
with employees. 
 
Each site will maintain a site Chronological and Supervision File.  If a staff person’s site assignment 
changes, Site Supervisors are responsible for transferring the employee’s Chronological and Supervision 
File to the new assigned site. 
 
CC. Staff and Volunteer Health 
1. Volunteer Health 
In accordance with California Care Licensing Regulations, all volunteers (regardless of the number of 
hours volunteering) must sign and date form CSB232-Volunteer Health Statement (See Forms CSB232), 
indicating that they are in good health and pose no threat to the health and safety of the staff and 
children of the program. All volunteers  must provide proof of a negative TB test or negative chest x-ray, 
certified by a health care professional.  TB tests are not required for visiting experts. 
 
The test must be administered and the results documented by an authorized medical provider. CSB will 
help in obtaining a TB test with our LVN. Also, provide all potential volunteers with information 
regarding the latest schedule for the immunization clinics throughout the county.  Call 1-800-246-2494 
for clinic times and locations.  The cost is approximately $10.00, but may be covered under some 
insurance policies. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

61 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

A signed statement from a provider indicating the test date and result must be on file before the first 
day of volunteering at the site(s).  For parent volunteers, place the documentation behind the volunteer 
health statement in the health section of the comprehensive file.  For non-parent volunteers, place the 
documentation in file specific to that volunteer along with other required documentation such as 
fingerprints and volunteer applications.  Keep all information confidential. 
 
For frequency of testing and other details regarding TB test results, please refer to “Tuberculosis 
Screening Guidelines,” below. 
 
2. Staff Health 
New employees must  obtain and submit to CSB Personnel Unit a Physical and an Intradermal Mantoux 
5TU PPD skin test (note: Tine or other multiple puncture tests are not acceptable.) prior to starting 
work.  If an employee has had a positive PPD skin test in the past, a negative chest x-ray and physician’s 
statement must be obtained.  Initial Physicals and TB tests must be obtained within one year of the date 
of employment with CSB. 
 
In compliance with California Community Care Licensing regulation 101216(g)(1), staff shall obtain a 
health screening performed by or under the supervision of a physician not more than one year prior to 
or upon employment. No further re-examination is required by the State of California. 
 
3. Tuberculosis Screening Guidelines for Staff and Volunteers 
If staff or volunteers present a positive TB test (10mm or more of indurations), it must be followed by a 
chest x-ray and a statement from the examining physician indicating that the employee or volunteer is 
free from active disease. 
 
Employees and volunteers with a negative initial TB test, who do not live in the Richmond or San Pablo 
area, must repeat the test every four years.  Employees and volunteers with a negative initial TB test 
must complete a TB Risk Assessment every year (See Form CSB262) to determine whether annual TB 
testing is recommended. 
 
An employee or volunteer who lives in the Richmond or San Pablo area must have a TB test done yearly. 
Employees and volunteers with a documented positive initial TB Test that was followed with an x-ray 
showing no active disease do not require any additional exam.  These employees and volunteers must 
complete the TB Symptom Review (CSB260) every year to determine whether they require further 
medical evaluation. 
 
4. Hand Hygiene Standards at Sites 
To assist in the prevention of spreading infection and viruses, and for safety reasons, all staff at child 
care facilities, whether considered direct caregivers, clerical or management must adhere to the 
following standards of hand and fingernail hygiene. 
 
Artificial or natural fingernails must be clean, and at a maximum, ¼ inch in length. 
Large rings that extend above the ring base more than ¼ inch may not be worn while at work. 
Hands must be washed, at a minimum, before and after diapering, before and after food preparation or 
handling, before and after morning health check-in, after contact with any bodily fluid (blood, mucus 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

62 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

etc.), after personal use of the restroom, after playing with pets or other animals, after handling 
garbage, and after playground activities, including sandbox play. 
 
If staff are found in violation of the hand hygiene policy, they may be required, at the Site Supervisor’s 
or CSB management’s discretion, to rectify the problem by washing their hands, removing rings or 
trimming or cleaning nails before returning to their position. 
 
DD. Career Development Opportunities 
The County encourages/supports employees’ efforts to improve their skills, abilities, and knowledge to 
be more productive in their current assignments and to be prepared for career advancement (as 
opportunities arise).  Staff may be required to attend trainings and/or educational advancement 
programs to meet licensing, state and/or federal regulations. For example, the staff qualifications 
requirement in Section 648A(a) of the Improving Head Start for School Readiness Act of 2007, which 
requires teachers to obtain specific degrees by October 1, 2011 and September 30, 2013 may 
necessitate that staff complete additional training or other academic programs. As resources are 
available, CSB will support staff in attaining certain goals; however, it is the responsibility of CSB staff to 
meet the minimum qualifications and requirements of their position. 
 
Service Requirements may be established for certain professional development programs to comply 
with federal, state, or local regulations.  As mandated in the Improving Head Start for School Readiness 
Act of 2007, Section 648A (6), employees who receive financial assistance to pursue a degree shall: 

 Teach or work in a Head Start program for a minimum of 3 years after receiving the degree; or 

 Repay the total or a prorated amount of the financial assistance received based on the length of 
service completed after receiving the degree. 

 
Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau agrees that: 

 Career development activities are the joint responsibility of the individual and the County. 

 All staff members should engage in continuing education, whether it takes the form of formal 
courses of study, participation in technical society activities, attendance at meetings, reading, or 
other forms of communication with the profession.  CSB will make every effort possible to 
accommodate working schedules to permit occasional attendance at educational meetings.  

 To encourage continuing education, the Board of Supervisors has established a career 
development education policy.  Applications for assistance will be considered by the 
department and, subject to funding limitations. The details of this policy are outlined in 
Administrative Bulletin 112.9.  Funds may be provided for tuition, books, and other direct costs, 
providing that the following criteria are met: 

o The employee must start and complete course while associated with the County, within 
timelines. 

o The field of study must relate to assigned duties or prospective assignments. 
o Attendance at all meetings or classes is required, unless compelling reasons for missing 

sessions occur. 
o Passing grades must be maintained throughout the course. 

Certain classified, exempt, and project management employees may be eligible for reimbursement for 
up to $625 every two years for memberships in professional organizations, subscriptions to professional 
publications, professional engineering license fees required by the employee’s classification, and 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

63 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

attendance fees at job-related professional development activities. Individual professional development 
reimbursement requests are authorized by the department head. 
 
Training sessions are held to provide opportunities for staff development and to help employees grow 
professionally.  Such sessions help orient employees to their assignments, explain policies and 
procedures, teach new skills and methods, and help prepare for a particular program.  Professional 
growth is accomplished through staff meetings and conferences, supervisory interviews, 
correspondence, extension courses, attendance at professional conferences, inspection tours, and 
directed readings. 
 
If an employee is directed to undertake a course of study or to attend any meeting or lecture requiring 
travel and/or expenditure of funds, the County reimburses the authorized expenses.  Time out of the 
office during normal working hours attending meetings will be counted as regular hours worked.  The 
details of allowable training travel and reimbursable expenses are outlined in Administrative Bulletins 
111.7 and 204.13 respectively. 
 
The department provides opportunities for employees to attend conferences which may benefit the 
employee and which would help to improve the department’s operation or service.  All employees must 
submit written reports to their supervisor within fourteen (14) days after attending a conference.  The 
written report should include a summary of ideas or methods, which may benefit or improve the 
services or operation of the department.  Requests to attend conferences are made to the department 
head.  
 
Teaching and technical staff members are encouraged to participate as active members of technical 
societies and professional organizations of their choice.  With prior approval, time off to attend local 
meetings of particular interest and benefit may be arranged.  The same pertains to national meetings 
dealing with subjects benefiting professional advancement. 
 
Ongoing staff meetings are held for all employees.  Individual employees may be called upon to present 
assigned topics to the group or be appointed to a committee to study special problems/lead discussions.  
All such meetings are held on department time and are designed to improve overall job 
performance/efficiency and services of the department. 
 
CSB has designated the Personnel Unit as the lead for professional development and training activities 
within the program.  
 
EE. Staff Training and Development 
1. Training and Technical Assistance Plan 
The Training and Technical Assistance Plan is reviewed and updated annually and included as part of the 
continuation grant process to promote program improvement and enhancement.  Senior managers, 
Content Area Experts, and other stakeholders are to submit projected trainings for each year that 
support the needs of their staff and meet program mandates, and are responsible for the delivery of 
such trainings.  These trainings are included in the Training Calendar for each program year.  Any 
training requested after the Training and Technical Assistance Plan is finalized will require approval by 
the Community Services Director or designee. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

64 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

The designated Staff Development Coordinator should be informed of all scheduled CSB trainings in 
advance.  Aside from their own recordkeeping, training leaders are responsible for submitting original 
sign-in sheets and copies of training agendas and materials to the Staff Development Coordinator. 
The Training Calendar that has been developed is based, in part, on career development training needs. 
 
2. Staff Training and Development System 
Purpose/Philosophy: CSB delivery of high quality services depends on enhancing the skills, knowledge, 
and ability of the staff.  The management staff and Training Committee carefully design training and 
professional growth opportunities for staff, which serve as critical resources for maintaining and 
improving program quality. 
 
i. Strategic Training Plan 
This reflects the training and staff development needs identified through Community Assessment, 
Program Self-Assessment, Performance Indicator Report (PIR), Ongoing Monitoring, Federal and State 
Reviews and Regulations. The Strategic Training Plan is closely aligned to CSB short and long term goals 
and objectives. 
 
ii. Annual Training Plan is developed based on:  Staff Training and Professional Development Survey 
results from the program’s self-assessment and the ongoing monitoring, staff’s needs and goals 
identified in their performance evaluations, and federal, state and county regulations. 
 
iii. Training Calendar 
This identifies training topics and events for a 12-month period.  It is updated quarterly and training 
opportunities and events are reflected on a monthly program calendar available to each CSB staff 
member.  In addition, staff members are informed of ongoing community training events and 
opportunities. 
 
iv. Training Budget 
This is developed annually to support the implementation of the Training Plan.  The budget also provides 
for additional training activities, as well as for training materials and equipment. 
 
v. Training Delivery / Implementation-Required Staff/Management Training 

 Orientation – All new staff are required to complete a bureau orientation covering all 
Department and County policies relating to employment.  A site-based and program orientation 
is conducted within the first 2 weeks of employment. Additional orientation information is 
included in the New Employee Orientation section below. 

 Ongoing Training – provided throughout the year in a timely and balanced fashion to ensure 
that staff possess the knowledge, skills, and expertise required to fulfill their job responsibilities 
and to operate a successful program. 

 Head Start Required Training – provided to ensure that line and management staff develop skills 
and knowledge needed to operate a successful and effective Head Start program, one that fully 
meets the Head Start Performance Standards and the program objectives of the grantee. 

 California Department of Education (CDE) Required Training – provided to meet the 
requirements of the Exemplary Program Standards and the State regulations. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

65 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 Community Care Licensing (CCL) Required Training – provided to ensure that line and 
management staff have knowledge and skills to provide services and operate a program in 
congruence with the Community Care Licensing requirements. 

 Contra Costa County (CCC) Required Training – provided to all CSB staff to ensure that the 
program creates a working environment that meets the County requirements and that staff 
members conduct themselves in a manner prescribed by the Code of Conduct. 

 Domestic Violence Training- All Head Start and Early Head Start staff are trained on an annual 
basis regarding domestic violence.  This training includes identifying the effects these situations 
may have on a child’s behavior, how to talk with a parent who has made a disclosure of 
domestic violence, and community resources available to those in need. The role of staff is to 
listen to the parents’ needs and provide specialized resources/assistance as requested and 
appropriate following the procedure for supporting families in crisis. 

 
vi. Staff/Professional Development 
Staff/Professional Development activities are the joint responsibility of the individual and CSB.  All staff 
members are encouraged to improve their knowledge and skills to advance in their career and 
effectively serve enrolled children and families.  Staff/Professional Development training 
supported/offered by CSB are as follows: 

 Basic Professional Level – Staff members are encouraged and supported to engage in continuing 
education. 

 Participation in activities leading to an associate or bachelor degree – Teaching staff working 
toward their associate or bachelor degree are supported by various continuing education 
programs offered by CSB. Additional information is included in the Continuing Education 
Programs section below.  
 

All permanent County employees are eligible for financial assistance as specified by the policy for 
training (Administrative Bulletin 112.9) and reimbursement (Administrative Bulletin 204.13).   
 
Additional financial support may be provided for CSB teaching staff through the Teacher Degree 
Program, while funding is available, as approved by the Board of Supervisors in May of 2009. 
 
With the support of educational advancement grants for teaching staff awarded to CSB, staff is eligible 
for the benefits specified in such grant. 
 
Whenever possible, appropriate accommodations are made to allow staff participation in the training 
opportunities leading toward an associate or bachelor degree. 
 
CSB makes every effort to accommodate the work schedule to permit staff’s attendance in formal 
training classes, conferences, and professional meetings. 
 
Staff receive information about classes offered through the Community Colleges, Adult Schools, 
community based workshops, and conferences. 
 
vii. Teacher Assistant Trainee (TAT) Program – Staff with less than 12 units in Early Childhood Education 
(ECE) are given the opportunity to participate in an 18-month training program to receive their 12 units 
in ECE as required for the Associate Teacher Permit. Head Start parents seeking a career in early 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

66 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

childhood education and development are encouraged to apply for the TAT position and participate in 
the TAT program. 

 
viii. Clerical Assistant Trainee (CAT) Program – Income-eligible Contra Costa Residents, including parents, 
are provided with employment, mentorship, on-the-job training and support in establishing and 
pursuing career advancement objectives and goals within the field of clerical support and administrative 
services.   
 
ix. Professional Growth Activities for renewal of existing or receiving of a new Child Development Permit 
–staff are provided the opportunity to participate in a variety of training/ professional development 
activities offered by CSB or the educational community, leading to completion of the CDE required 
professional growth hours for Child Development Certification. It is the responsibility of the employee to 
ensure that all renewal or upgrade requirements are met to maintain a valid Child Development permit 
as required by their position.  

 CSB managers and supervisors, who are certified Professional Growth Advisors, counsel program 
staff and provide them with effective guidance and assistance in accomplishing their 
professional goals. 

 Participation in professional organizations and technical societies – staff are encouraged and 
supported to participate in technical societies and professional organizations. 

 Staff are given time off to attend meetings/conferences, whenever possible. 

 Staff’s membership in the NHSA is paid by CSB.  Participation in other professional organizations 
and technical societies is governed by the CCC Personnel Management Regulations (PMRs).  

 
x. Parent training is conducted throughout the year in a variety of settings including: 

 Annual Parent Conferences 

 Monthly Policy Council Meetings 

 Monthly Parent Committee Meetings 

 Policy Council training events 

 Monthly Parent Trainings (in each part of the County) 

 Annual Trainings 
 
xi. Evaluation and Monitoring 
Evaluation and monitoring of the training activities are effective ways to determine the extent to which 
the training achieved its objectives and to plan follow-up activities.  They also ensure a consistent 
sequence in the whole training process.  The following tools are used to evaluate and monitor the Staff 
Training and Development process: 

 Staff Performance Evaluations - provide information for effectiveness of training, follow-up 
activities, individual training needs. 

 Tracking System - provides data regarding individual staff training and the sequence for balance 
of training opportunities in general. 

 Training Summary - provides information about effectiveness of the training, the follow-up 
activities and the need for technical assistance. 

 Ongoing Monitoring and Self-Assessment findings - provide information for the update of the 
training plan.  Monitoring and Self-Assessment are used to determine the training needs and 
professional development activities for the next school year and for the next three-year 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

67 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Strategic Plan.  The Staff Training and Development System operate in a cycle.  The results from 
the Evaluation and Monitoring are crucial elements for the beginning of the new planning cycle. 

 
FF. New Employment Orientation 
1. All new employees will receive a CSB orientation covering department and county policies and 
programs and will sign a New Employee General Orientation Record form.  The Personnel Unit is 
responsible for conducting New Employee Orientation Trainings, which include but are not limited to:  

 CSB Mission Statement and Organizational Structures 

 Employee Rights and Responsibilities 

 Payroll and Claiming Expenses 

 Employee Benefits and Training 

 Information Technology and Systems 
 

2. All newly employed teaching staff, including Site Supervisors, will receive an Education Orientation.  
The CSB Education Team is responsible for conducting the Education Orientation, which includes, but is 
not limited to: 

 Performance Standards 

 Job Descriptions 

 Curriculum goals and objectives 

 Screenings, assessment, individualization, and parent-teacher conferences 

 Kindergarten transition 

 Positive Guidance and Discipline 

 Project Approach 

 Lesson Planning 
 
Additional initial and ongoing orientation trainings will be provided to new employees as required by 
County, State and Federal regulations. 
 
All volunteers and temporary/substitute staff will review the CSB Substitute and Volunteer Handbook, 
and will sign the Handbook receipt which will be kept on file at the center and the personnel files.  Both 
volunteers and substitute staff will also receive on-site orientation at the center/office.  Substitute staff 
additionally will complete the Substitute Orientation Checklist with the Substitute Coordinator. 
 
GG. Continuing Education Programs 
CSB will make every effort to support staff pursuing a degree in higher education that is relevant to the 
public services provided by CSB.   
 
1. Community Services Degree Program (CSDP) 
This program is offered to CSB staff in accordance with Administrative Bulletin 112.9 and section G.25 of 
these Policies and Procedures. CSB staff enrolled in courses required to complete an associate or 
bachelor degree are encouraged to participate in this program and receive the benefits outlined in 
Administrative Bulletin 112.9. 
 
In addition, CSB is committed to support teaching staff required to obtain an advanced degree in early 
childhood education, or related field, as specified in the Teacher Qualifications Section 648(A)(2) of the 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

68 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Improving Head Start for School Readiness Act of 2007.  With the financial support of grants issued by 
the Administration of Children and Families, CSB has established the following continuing education 
programs through the duration of such grants: 
 
 
2. Teacher Degree Program (TDP) 
This program is available to all teaching staff interested in pursuing an associate degree or baccalaureate 
degree in early childhood education or related field.  Two program models are offered through the TDP, 
which provide several support systems to financial, tutorial, mentoring, and technological training and 
equipment.  
 
i. Individualized Education Plan: Established between the TDP participant and a college 
counselor/advisor at the college or university of attendance.  These participants have chosen to take the 
required courses for their associate or bachelor degree at their own pace, under the guidance of the 
college or university.  They are aware of the degree completion timelines and will ensure timely 
completion of all required coursework to meet the mandate deadline.   
 
ii. Structured Cohort with a local four-year college:  CSB has established a partnership with California 
State University Sacramento (CSUS) to deliver a cohort program with 14 CSB teaching staff working 
towards a Bachelor of the Arts in Early Development, Care and Education after completion of eight 
consecutive semesters.   Additional cohorts may be offered as funding sources become available. 
Program Requirements: 

• All participants must sign the Teacher Degree Program Agreement with Contra Costa County.  
The Agreement outlines both parties’ responsibilities as follows: 
 

The TDP participant agrees to: 

 Enroll in a program leading to an associate or baccalaureate degree in Early Childhood 
Education, or related field. 

 Consistently maintain enrollment in part-time classes; at a minimum of 8 quarter units or 6 
semester units until you complete an associate or baccalaureate degree program. 

 Earn a grade of “C” or better for each course. 

 Complete the required coursework for an associate or baccalaureate degree in Early Childhood 
Education, or related field. 

 Meet with a CSB mentor and/or college/university academic advisor at least once every 
quarter/semester to discuss your academic progress.  

 Submit a copy of the classes registered for at the beginning of each quarter/semester to CSB’s 
Personnel Office. 

 Submit a copy of transcripts at the end of each quarter/semester to CSB’s Personnel Office. 

 Return ALL books reimbursed/paid by CSB to the Personnel Office at the end of each 
quarter/semester.  The books will be available for future use by other TDP participants. 

 As stated in Section 648A (6) of the Improving Head Start for School Readiness Act of 2007, 
commit to continue your employment with Community Services Bureau for a minimum of three 
years after having completed your degree program, or repay the total or a prorated amount of 
the financial assistance received based on the length of service completed after receiving the 
degree. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

69 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 Not drop or withdraw from any class.  If you drop a class, it is at the discretion of CSB to 
reinstate you in the program. 

 Maintain an updated Teacher Degree Program binder with all required degree tracking 
information. 

                                                      
 Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau agrees to: 

 Reimburse/pay tuition fees for courses taken at an accredited college or university required to 
complete an associate or baccalaureate degree in Early Childhood Education, or related field, up 
to a maximum of $1,115 per quarter or $1,486 per semester.   

 Reimburse/pay for books required for the courses taken to complete an associate or 
baccalaureate degree, up to a maximum of $300.00/quarter or $400.00/semester. 

 Reimburse/pay for your campus Parking Permit. 

 Work with CSB staff, local colleges and universities, and community organizations to provide 
mentorship, tutorial, and other support services. 

 Provide a Teacher Degree Program Binder where program information and degree tracking 
documents can be organized. 

 
Degree Completion Timelines: 

 Participants must have a bachelor degree in early childhood education or related field by 
September 30, 2013.  

 
HH. Delegate Agency Policies 
The Delegate Agency develops their own policies and procedures and are reviewed annually by the 
Grantee during the Self-Assessment.  
 
The Delegate Agency is under contractual agreement to adhere to all local, state, and federal 
regulations, as applicable. 
 
II. Short-Term Contract Employees 
Contract employees working over one year must have the approval of Contra Costa County.   
The need for contract labor is determined and funds must be available for contract labor. 
 
Selection of persons to fill contract labor positions is determined by the appointing authority or 
designee. 
 
Contra Costa County Managers and Directors give input into the development of the Service Plan. 
 
Please see reference to contracts and grants under Record Keeping and Reporting.  
 
JJ. Union Membership 
Contra Costa County follows the State of California Legislature, adopting a set of codes pertaining to 
employer-employee relations for public agencies as follows: 

 The Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors recognizes collective bargaining units to 
represent certain classifications of County employees - to determine the wishes to be 
represented, and by which organizations. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

70 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 Representatives of the collective bargaining unit provide literature/information regarding the 
services of that unit, and conditions of employment (agreed to by the Board of Supervisors and 
that collective bargaining unit). 

 
The Board of Supervisors approves processes by which representatives of the bargaining unit may use 
Contra Costa County time, facilities, and bulletin boards to communicate with members. 
The collective bargaining unit provides its members with information regarding these matters.  
Questions relating to policies guiding the collective bargaining process are directed to: 
 
Human Resources Department 
Employee Relations Division 
651 Pine Street, Second Floor 
Martinez, CA 94553 
 
KK. Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Policy 
CSB shall not illegally discriminate in their recruitment, selection, promotion, or implementation of 
personnel policies and procedures against any person without regard to race, religion, sex, sexual 
orientation, national origin, age, disability, or military status.  All applicable state and federal laws will be 
followed including, but not limited to Title VI, and Title VII, of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; 
the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act 
Amendments of 1974; the Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987; the Americans with Disabilities Act of 
1990 and the Civil Rights Act of 1991.  Employment Discrimination procedures are set forth in Contra 
Costa County Administrative Bulletin 429.3. 
 
LL. Approval of New Personnel Policies and Revisions 
All personnel policies must be approved by Community Services Bureau, Policy Council, the County 
Human Resources Department, and the Board of Supervisors.  Personnel policies and procedures must 
be consistent with collective bargaining agreements, and approved by County Counsel and County 
Human Resources as appropriate.  The process is as follows: 

 A policy is drafted with input from managers and program staff, related committees, and 
appropriate department personnel. 

 County Counsel and County HR review it as appropriate. 

 The draft policy is submitted to appropriate Managers and Assistant Directors for review/input 
before it is submitted to the Community Services Director for review and approval. 

 After the Community Services Director’s approval of the draft policy, it is submitted to the Policy 
Council for review and approval. 

 If the draft policy is health-related, the draft is reviewed by the Health Advisory Committee 
before submission to the Policy Council. 

 The draft policy must be consistent with written policies of collective bargaining agreements. 

 The draft policy is submitted to the Board of Supervisors for review and approval. 

 If the content of a policy has changed since the Policy Council’s original approval, the Policy 
Council must approve the final version. 

 After personnel policies and procedures have been approved, they are made available to staff 
electronically and in hard copy if requested. 

 Policies and procedures are translated as needed. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

71 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 Policies and procedures are being made available in Braille as needed. 

 Community Services Director and Personnel Director are responsible for amending, revising, or 
otherwise modifying these policies and procedures. 

  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

72 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

VIII. Fiscal 
A. Advance Amount for Travel 
Advance amounts for travel are not allowed for County employees. 
 
B. Travel Reimbursement-County Employees 
County employees are allowed compensation for mileage, meals and miscellaneous other travel 
expenses. Eligible individuals are entitled to claim reimbursement for actual, reasonable, and necessary 
expenses arising from the discharge of their official duties, subject to limitations established by law and 
policy. 
 
1. Mileage 
As authorized by the department head or designee, use of private automobiles may be reimbursed for 
mileage between an individual’s normal work location and other designated work locations.  The 
reimbursement rate is set by the County, adjusted periodically to conform to IRS approved rates.  Please 
see note in item #4 below for the time frame of submitting mileage reimbursements.  
 
2. Meals 
Actual expenses, including tax and gratuity, for individual meals will be reimbursed.  However, such 
reimbursement shall not exceed the following individual maximums: 

 Breakfast: $10.00 

 Lunch: $20.00 

 Dinner: $35.00 
 
When away from the normal work area for an entire day, individuals eligible for meal reimbursement 
may claim reimbursement for the actual cost of each individual meal, notwithstanding the maximum per 
meal amounts specified above.  However, the total amount claimed for the day shall not exceed $65.00. 
 
3. Other Travel Expenses 

 Bridge tolls, parking; Telephone and facsimile charges required in connection with County 
business; BART or bus fares; and Tips, parking, and checking fees in accordance with local 
custom. 

 
See County Admin Bulletin #204.13 (02-20-08) regarding expense reimbursement and #111.7 (07-18-06) 
regarding travel. 
 
C. Travel Reimbursement-Parent Reimbursement for Policy Council Activities 
Per HSPS 1304.50(f), Policy Council, Policy Committee, and Parent Committee reimbursement- Grantee 
and delegate agencies must enable low-income members to participate fully in their group 
responsibilities by providing, if necessary, reimbursements for reasonable expenses incurred by the 
members (i.e. childcare and transportation).   
 
Parents requesting reimbursement should complete and submit Form CSB 325 to the Clerk of the Policy 
Council who will verify the request and determine the amount of reimbursement.  After approval is 
received from the ASAIII for Policy Council, a check will be issued, no later than 30 days after the 
request. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

73 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Reimbursements are given for approved Policy Council activities only (i.e. monthly PC meetings or 
committee meetings).  Exceptions must be preapproved before reimbursements are issued. Mileage is 
calculated using distance from home to meeting location. Childcare hours include reasonable travel time 
to and from meeting and is based on reasonable arrival time to the approved activity. 
 
Representatives attending conferences and out-of-area meetings will be given a per diem allotment for 
meals and ground transportation, and reimbursed for childcare expenses. Travel requests must be 
submitted a minimum of 30 days prior to the travel date to allow ample time for approval and advance 
processing.  Upon return from the trip, Liquidation of Cash Advances requires that all receipts must be 
submitted to the appropriate PC staff person no more than 7 days after return from travel.   
 
If receipts are not received within the 7 day timeframe, a verbal reminder will be given via the ASAIII 
responsible for Policy Council. 
 
If receipts are still not received after a reasonable amount of time, a certified letter will be sent to the 
representative and a copy will be maintained in the CSB PC travel files. 
 
Failure to return receipts within the allotted time will prevent the opportunity to attend future 
conferences and can prevent reimbursement for other PC activities. 

 
*Note-Approved travel reimbursement rates are provided to parents at the beginning of each program 
year and prior to travel. 
 
D. Using Employee’s Own Funds for County Expenditures 
Only in an emergency should an employee use his/her own funds or personal credit cards to purchase 
materials/services for a County purpose.  An “emergency” is when: 

 An event occurs which requires material or service to correct a safety hazard, or to prevent 
damage to facilities or equipment. 

 A significant program need occurs which will have a significant impact on the goals of the 
program. 

 Note: Lack of planning is not considered an emergency. 

 While it is not encouraged, employees may purchase minor items that would not meet the 
criteria of an emergency as stated above.  The purchase of minor items that are required to 
meet program needs must: 

o Be approved by the Assistant Director (AD) in writing if under $100.00. 
o Anything over $100.00 must be approved by the Director, Division Manager or designee. 

 
E. Reimbursement for Expenses - Employees 
Employees will be reimbursed for approved, necessary eligible expenses, provided that reimbursement 
requests are made on the appropriate forms, in a timely manner and with receipts.  When employees 
incur expenses for an approved purpose, one of the following procedures occurs for getting reimbursed: 
 
1. Petty Cash – Most of the emergencies involving minor purchases can be met by use of the 
department’s petty cash fund maintained in each Division Administrative Office.  Normally, this fund is 
to be used for general office needs and for minor emergency requirements.  A supervisor or employee 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

74 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

may present a request for petty cash approved by an Assistant Director, to the Petty Cash Fund 
Custodian for payment.   
 
2. Demand (Form D15) – (See EHSD Intranet> Community Services> CSB Forms > Fiscal > Demand D15). 
In the event you are unable to get payment from the petty cash fund, you may use the Demand (Form 
D-15) to get reimbursed.  This form is to be used to reimburse employees for non-travel related 
purchases.  This form should be used for items of small value, as defined above, not related to travel or 
entitlements.  
 
3. Employee Travel Demands (See EHSD Intranet> Community Services> CSB Forms > Fiscal > Travel 
Demand (Form M8154 Rev. 11/09) –– This form is designed for reporting an employee’s expenses 
relating to travel, mileage, or for other employee benefits or entitlements such as training costs.  It will 
normally not be used for any other purpose.  The purpose for each expense must be shown; for 
example, mileage should show the destination, and the reason for the trip (See Employee Handbook). 
 
Note: County regulations allow you to include expenses for only one month on a single Travel Demand.  
For example, if you have expenses for May and June, you may not combine expenses on one form, but 
must submit two separate forms - one for May and one for June.  Demands are to be submitted to your 
immediate supervisor for approval.  Claims should be submitted within one month of completion of 
travel.  The Bureau has no obligation to pay travel expense reimbursement submitted more than three 
months following completion of the travel. If an employee has over three months of mileage 
reimbursement to claim, the employee must submit a request letter, stating the reason for submitting a 
late claim, to Bureau Director or designee for approval.  
 
F. Use of Procurement Cards 
County Procurement Cards are assigned to an employee at the discretion of the EHSD Director and CSB 
Director. Card holders must abide by all policies as stated in the Procurement Card Manual, County 
Administrative Bulletin 111.8, and County Administrative Bulletin 204.13. 
 
CSB card holders must obtain written approval from a Senior Administrative Manager prior to making a 
purchase to ensure that all expenditures are known about at the time the Approving Official is reviewing 
and approving the monthly Statement of Account. 

 The Procurement Card is to be used for official County business purposes only and may not be 

used for any personal transactions. 

 Card holders are responsible for adherence to all County Policies and Procedures regardless of 

whether a transaction is allowed at the point of sale. 

 The Procurement Card is not intended to avoid or bypass appropriate purchasing procedures. 

 Each card has a preset transaction, 24 hour, and billing cycle spending limit which varies by card.  

Employees are not authorized to exceed their spending limits. 

 Disputes to charges must be made within 60 days of the statement date. 

 Authorized Purchases include: 

o Small Tools/ Computer supplies 

o Safety/ First Aid 

o Books/Subscriptions 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

75 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

o Office Supplies (If not available through our office supply contractor) 

o Conference Registration/ Travel ( an approved travel request is still required) 

 Unauthorized Purchases include: 

o Repetitive purchases better served under a blanket purchase order 

o Meals/ Alcohol /Entertainment 

o Local/ Long distance telephone charges/Internet connection costs 

o Parking/Fuel 

o Committee membership/Professional Membership Dues 

o Services of any kind 

o Items to be reimbursed through a travel demand 

o Items available under a County Contract 

o Cash/ Gift Card/ Gift Certificate/ Money Order, etc. 

o Fines/Donations 

o Any expense prohibited under County Administrative Bulletins 

 A log must be kept of all purchases which includes: 

o Charges split between the appropriate org codes 

o Original sales receipt/ credit or return receipts/packing slips 

G. Other Compensation 
See Contra Costa County Personnel Policies and Procedures. 
 
H. Salary 
Employee salaries are set according to procedures established by the County Board of Supervisors and 
the Memorandum of Understanding as agreed to by the Board and collective bargaining units. 
 
The Salary schedule and range of steps for Community Services Bureau classifications is available in each 
work location. 
 
New employees generally are appointed at the minimum step of the salary range established for the 
particular class of positions to which the appointment is made. The appointing authority, however, may 
fill a particular position at a step above the minimum of the range. 
 
Upon satisfactory completion of the probationary period, employees receive a salary increase to the 
next step. 
 
The performance of each employee, except those employees already at the maximum salary step of the 
appropriate salary range, is reviewed on the employee’s anniversary date to determine whether the 
salary of the employee is to be advanced to the next higher step in the salary range.  Advancement is 
granted on the affirmative recommendation of the appointing authority, based on satisfactory 
performance by the employee.  The appointing authority may recommend denial of the increment or 
denial subject to one additional review at some specified date before the next anniversary, with the 
date set at the time the original report is returned.  This decision may be appealed through the 
Grievance Procedure. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

76 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

Except as provided by County procedures, increments within range shall not be granted more frequently 
than once per year, nor shall more than one step within range increment be granted at one time, except 
as otherwise provided in deep class resolutions.  Nothing may be construed to make the granting of 
increments mandatory on the County. 
 
If an operating department verifies in writing that an administrative or clerical error was made in failing 
to submit the documents needed to advance an employee to the next salary step on the first of the 
month when eligible, the advancement will be made retroactive to the first of the month when eligible. 
 
A part-time employee is paid a monthly salary (in the same ratio to the full-time monthly rate to which 
the employee would be entitled as a full-time employee) as the number of hours per week in the 
employee’s part-time work schedule bears to the number of hours in the full-time work schedule of the 
department. 
 
Any employee who is appointed to a position of a class allocated to a higher salary range than the class 
previously occupied - except as provided by County procedures - receives the salary in the new salary 
range, which is next higher than the rate received before promotion.  If this increase is less than five 
percent, the employee’s salary is adjusted (to the step in the new range which is at least five percent 
greater than the next higher step), provided that the next step does not exceed the maximum salary for 
the higher class. 
 
Any employee who is demoted (except as provided under Contra Costa County procedures) will have 
the salary reduced to the monthly salary step in the range for the class of positions to which he or she 
has been demoted next lower than the salary received before demotion.  If this decrease is less than five 
percent, the employee’s salary will be adjusted to the step in the new range which is five percent less 
than the next lower step provided that the next step is not less than the minimum salary for the lower 
class. 
 
Whenever a demotion is the result of layoff, cancellation of position, or displacement by another 
employee with greater seniority rights, the salary of the demoted employee will be the step on the 
salary range which would have been achieved if the employee had been continuously in the position to 
which he/she has been demoted, all within range increments being granted. 
 
Whenever any employee voluntarily demotes to a position in a class having a salary range lower than 
that of the class from which he/she demotes, the salary remains the same if the steps in the new 
demoted salary range permit.  If not, the new salary is set at the step next below the former salary. 
 
I. Bilingual Pay Differential 
A salary differential of one hundred dollars ($100) per month is paid to incumbents of positions 
requiring bilingual proficiency as designated by the appointing authority and the Bureau Director of 
Human Resources. 
 
The bilingual salary differential is prorated for employees working less than full-time and/or who are on 
an unpaid leave of absence for a portion of any given month. 
(See Contra Costa County Management Handbook.) 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

77 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

J. Accounting Certificate Differential 
Incumbents of Management professional accounting, auditing or fiscal officer positions who are duly 
qualified as a CPA, CIA, CMA or CGFM shall receive a positive differential of five percent (5%) of base 
monthly salary. 
(See Contra Costa County Management Handbook.) 
 
K. Management Longevity Pay 
Employees who have completed ten (10) years of appointed service for the County shall receive a two 
and one-half percent (2.5%) longevity differential. 
 
Employees who have completed fifteen (15) years of appointed service for the County shall receive an 
additional two and one-half percent (2.5%) longevity differential. 
(See Contra Costa County Management Handbook.) 
 
L. Management Paid Personal Leave (Admin Leave) 
Un-represented management employees (exempt from payment of overtime) receive paid 
administrative leave (90 hours per year) annually. 
 
All management employees exempt from payment of overtime are authorized paid administrative leave 
credit for each year, in accordance with current Contra Costa County policies. 
 
Use of administrative leave credits may be requested whenever desired by the employee; however, 
approval of requests is subject to the same department process as used for vacation requests. 
 
All unused paid administrative leave will be canceled on December 31 of each year. 
For further information on management paid administrative leave, see Contra Costa County Admin 
Bulletin #423.3 (06-23-98). 
 
M. Unemployment Compensation 
Employees of Contra Costa County may be eligible for unemployment compensation.  The cost of 
unemployment compensation is borne by the County. To qualify for unemployment compensation, an 
employee must: 

 Be unemployed and registered with the State Employment Development Department for work 

 Have separated for good cause 

 Have received minimum base-period wages as currently established by State law or regulation 

 Comply with regulations in regard to filing claims 

 Be available to immediately accept suitable work 

 Be actively seeking work 

 Be physically able to work 
 

On all voluntary resignations, a Notice of Voluntary Termination of Employment (AK-219) must 
accompany the Notice of Separation (AK-16), and must be immediately forwarded to the Personnel 
Office, Records Division. 
 
On non-voluntary separations, complete details must be attached to the separation notice (with the 
exception of rejection of probation separation). 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

78 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

See County Admin Bulletin #420.1 (01-19-81) for further information. 
 
N. Vehicle Use 
The County establishes policies on the use and operation of vehicles, both County-owned and privately 
owned, on County business. 
 
Please see County Admin Bulletins #507.8 (02-20-08), County Vehicle Operation, and #535 (06-22-90), 
Use of Private Vehicles, for further information. 
NOTE:  For Contra Costa County’s Policies and Procedures, please refer to the Contra Costa County’s 
Administrative Bulletins and Management Handbook.  
 
O. In-Kind (Non-Federal Share) 
1. Background 
The Head Start Act stipulates that the Federal share of the total costs of the Head Start program will not 
exceed 80 percent of the total grantee budget unless a waiver has been granted (Head Start Act Section 
640(b)). If the grantee agency fails to obtain and document the required 20 percent, or other approved 
match, a disallowance of Federal funds may be taken. Non-Federal share must meet the same criteria 
for allowability as other costs incurred and paid with Federal funds. 
 
2. Definitions 

 Allowable Cost: Third party in-kind contributions shall count toward satisfying a cost-sharing or 
matching requirement only where, if the party receiving the contribution were to pay for them, 
they would be an allowable cost. Allowable costs are determined by the tests of reasonableness, 
necessity and allocability as defined in Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circulars A-21, 
A-87 and A-122.  

 In-Kind: Property or services that benefit a grant supported project or program and are 
contributed by non-Federal third parties without charge to the grantee. In-kind contributions 
may consist of the value of real property and equipment and the value of goods and services 
directly benefiting the grant program and specifically identifiable to it. In-kind match is counted 
for the period when the services are provided or when the donated goods are received and 
used.  

 Volunteer: An individual providing a service that is necessary to the operation of the Head Start 
program at no cost to a grantee agency. 

 CSB Categories for third party in-kind contributions: 

 Classroom Help (CH): In-Kind to assist in the classroom.  

 Field Trip Help (FT): In-Kind to assist supervising children and their activities during a field trip. 

 Home Visits (HV): Volunteer at Home visits where parent is involved in child-directed activities.  

 Parent Meetings/Family Events (PM): Volunteer at Parent Meetings: Participating in site based 
events. 

 Policy Council Meetings/Subcommittees (PC): Volunteer at Policy Council and approved related 
events. 

 Home Activities (HA): Volunteer working on educational goals with child at home. 

 Donated Goods (DG): Materials donated directly to HS including land, buildings, or space that 
offset normal operating expenses. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

79 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 Donated Services (DS): Time provided by professionals within the community on a professional 
level; i.e. Fire person, fence builder, mechanic, library aide, doctor, dentist, counselor and other 
professions. 

 
3. Values of third party in-kind contributions will be determined and computed by CSB Fiscal Unit for the 
following contributions:  

 Classroom Help 

 Field Trip Help 

 Home Visit Volunteer  

 Site Meeting/Family Events Volunteer 

 Policy Council Meetings/Subcommittee Volunteer 

 Home Activities Volunteer 
 
4. Donated Goods and Services (professional) will be determined by the community member or 
professional delivering the contribution within the standards of reason for the value and goods of the 
service. 
 
5. CSB Staff will adhere to the following procedures for collection, documentation, calculation and 
record keeping of Third Party In-Kind contributions: 

 Head/Lead Teachers:       Daily/Monthly 
o Prepares CSB320 (CSB-320), in-kind form for classroom 
o Ensures proper completion of in-kind form-Full Name, Type of in-kind contribution, Service 

Time, signature of volunteer  
o Submit the CSB320 to Site Supervisor by 1st of each month with the 9400 sign-in sheets 

 Site Supervisor:                      Monthly 
o Ensures collection of in-kind forms from every classroom by the 1st of each month 
o Reviews and monitors forms for completion and accuracy 
o Sign form indicating review and approval 
o Follows up with any classrooms submitting zero or low in-kind 
o Submits the in-kind form to the Cluster Clerk by the 5th of each month with the 9400s 

 Assistant Director        Monthly 
o Reviews in-kind sheets and signs off 
o Follows-up with any sites submitting zero or low in-kind 
o Submits to Cluster Clerk for data entry 

 Cluster Clerk:         Monthly 
o Calculates the total number of in-kind hours per activity for each site 
o Calculate EHS and, HS separately as directed by CSB fiscal unit 
o Inputs data into COPA/CLOUDS by the 20th of each month 
o If a cluster clerk receives in-kind forms after the 15th, hold for next month tracking 
o Maintains original documents 

 Fiscal:            
o Determines the in-kind rate calculation for volunteer contributions  

                      (Non-professional)           Annually 
o Monitor volunteer in-kind hours once a month                    Monthly 
o Ensure proper value of in-kind rates and calculations 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 1: Administration 
 

80 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 1-Administration 

 CSM in charge of Parent Involvement / PC Clerk:                 Monthly  
o Reviews monthly in-kind data entered by Cluster Clerks 
o Reports in-kind hours by site as reported to CSM in charge of Parent Involvement 
o Reports in-kind hours by cluster as reported to Assistant Directors 
o Provides training and support, as needed, to teachers and/or Site Supervisors 
o Provides total in-kind contributions as needed or requested 

 
 



CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT                          
COMMUNITY SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

SECTION 2-CHILD DEVELOPMENT 
 

 

2013-2014 

 
 
 

  

Policy Council Approved:                                                                                                        
Board of Supervisors Approved: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
2 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
PART I PREVENTION AND EARLY INTERVENTION  

A Determining Child Health Status 5 

B Protocols for Determining Child Health Status 6 

C Developmental, Sensory and Behavioral Screening 13 

D Follow-Up and Treatment 15 

E Children with Disabilities- Screening, Case Management and Referral Procedures 16 

F Child and Family Mental Health Services 19 

G Parent Involvement in Health, Nutrition and Mental Health Education 28 

H Discipline Policy 28 

I Case Management 31 

J Child Abuse Reporting Policies 34 

   

PART II SERVICES FOR CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES  

A Purpose 38 

B Definitions 39 

C List of Disabling Conditions 40 

D Responsibilities of CSB Full Inclusion Teacher 40 

E Responsibilities of School District SDC, TRI and Full Inclusion Teachers 41 

F Responsibilities of the Comprehensive Services Team 42 

G Documentation of Disabilities Services 44 

H Postural Supports /Protective Devices 44 

I Disabilities Resources 44 

Ij Service Plan 44 

k Disabilities Budget Coordination 45 

l Special Education Budget Allocation 45 

M Disabilities Screenings 45 

N Evaluations 46 

O Accessibility of Facilities 46 

P Disabilities Transitioning Services 47 

Q Transition Policy for Early Head Start Children Receiving Mental Health or Special 
Education Services 

47 

R Special Education and Related Services 47 

S Special Education with Other Agencies 48 

T Volunteers 48 

U Special Education Staff 49 

V Interagency Agreements 49 

W Recruitment and Enrollment 49 

X American with Disabilities Act (ADA) Policy – Enrollment of Children with Disabilities, 
Recruitment and Enrollment 

50 

Y Assessment Process of Children with Disabilities 51 

Z Eligibility Criteria: Health Impairment 52 

AA Eligibility Criteria: Emotional / Behavioral Disorders 52 

BB Eligibility Criteria: Speech or Language Impairments 52 

CC Eligibility Criteria: Intellectual Disability 52 

DD Eligibility Criteria: Hearing Impairment 53 

EE Eligibility Criteria: Orthopedic Impairment, Visual Impairment / Blindness 53 

FF Eligibility Criteria: Learning Disabilities 53 

GG Eligibility Criteria: Autism, Traumatic Brain Injury, Other Impairments 53 

HH Disabilities/Health Services Coordination 53 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
3 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

II Developing Individualized Education Programs (IEPs) 54 

JJ Disability Referral Procedures 54 

KK Children with Disabilities Nutrition Services 55 

LL Parent Involvement in Transition Services for Children with Disabilities 57 

   

PART III INDIVIDUALIZATION IN THE PROGRAM  

A Description 58 

B Individual Goals 58 

C  First Parent Conference / Individualized Plan 58 

D Second Parent Conference 59 

E The Infant-Toddler Individual Needs and Services Plan 59 

F Lesson Plans 59 

G Developmental, Sensory and Behavioral Screening 59 

H Assessment 59 

I Portfolio Assessment 60 

J Program Transitions 60 

   

PART IV CURRICULUM  

A Child Development and Education Approach 63 

B Curriculum Implementation 63 

C Parent Involvement and Participation in Program 72 

D  Home-Based Option 72 

E Classroom Assignments 73 

F Adult-to-Child Ratio 73 

G Sign-In and Out Procedures 74 

H General Celebration Policy 76 

I Field Trip Policy 77 

   

PART V CHILD NUTRITION  

A Identification of Nutritional Needs 81 

B Nutrition Referral 81 

C Child Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) 84 

D Child Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) Monitoring 85 

   

PART VI CHILD HEALTH AND SAFETY  

A Daily Health Inspection 87 

B Hand Washing 89 

C Infection Control in the Classroom 89 

D Napping Policy 91 

E Dental Hygiene 91 

F Health Issues in the Classroom 92 

G Child Safety and Supervision 92 

H Child Illness Procedures 93 

I Return to School After Illness 94 

J Medical Alerts 95 

K Children Injured at the Center 95 

L Blood Protocol 96 

M Medication Administration 97 

N Incomplete Health Records 100 

O Health and Safety Training for Center Staff 101 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
4 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

  

P Posting of Documents (Health Emergency Procedures) 101 

Q Pet Protocol 102 

R Safety / Sanitation Procedures 103 

S Safety Surveillance 104 

T First Aid Kits 105 

U Preparing For Emergencies 105 

V Classroom Sanitation 107 

W Kitchen Sanitation 109 

X Food Safety and Sanitation 109 

Y Procedures for Using Transport Units 111 

Z Food for Infants 112 

AA Food for Toddlers 113 

BB Potlucks 113 

CC  Food for Children, Parent Staff Meetings and Events 113 

DD Nutrition Services 114 

EE Food Defense 114 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
5 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

I. Prevention and Early Intervention 
A. Determining Child Health Status 
Community Services Bureau establishes and maintains individual, comprehensive files for children and 
families.  Health records, developmental progress portfolios, and files, including Administrative, 
Delegate Agency, and Grantee-Operated Program and Subcontractor’s filing systems, are kept 
confidential with use of the “Access to File” form (See Form CSB900) and following the approved 
Confidentiality Policy.  All staff with access to health information is trained on HIPAA (Health Information 
Portability Accountability Act) requirements.    
 
1. Physical Examinations 
As much pertinent health information as possible is accumulated and recorded for each child, paying 
particular attention to the items required by the Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment 
Schedule (EPSDT) to ensure that children are following a schedule of complete well child care.  
The child’s initial physical examination required for program entry must be current (in accordance with 
the EPSDT schedule) and received no later than thirty days after entry into the program. One extension 
is allowed with documentation of a pending appointment.  Children returning for a second year require 
additional physical exams in accordance with the EPSDT Schedule. 
 
2. TB Clearance – CSB Center-Based Program 
In accordance with section #101220 of Licensing Code, TB Clearance documentation must be obtained 
for each child within 30 days of enrollment (admission) into the program.  TB Clearance documentation 
must consist of either: 

 A negative TB Skin Test or Chest X-Ray result, or  

 A physician’s check mark indicating “Risk Factors not present” or “Communicable TB disease not 
present “ on CSB207–Report of Health Examination for Program Entry (See CSB Forms) or other 
signed or stamped document from physician/clinic. 

The TB screening referenced in the TB Clearance documentation must be in accordance with the EPSDT 
schedule. The one extension allowed for pending Physical Exam appointments does not apply to TB 
Clearance documentation. Children without TB Clearance will be excluded if clearance is not obtained 
within 30 days of enrollment. 
 
3. Health Insurance 
Each parent is provided with a Report of Health Examination for Program Entry form (See CSB Forms > 
CSB207) for use in obtaining a physical examination. In the event that the child has no insurance, staff 
will refer the child to the Child Health and Disability Prevention (CHDP) Gateway program, assist with 
Covered California, or another appropriate resource, to obtain a free or low cost exam.  Comprehensive 
Services Teams enter all data on the physical form into the CLOUDS system.  This enables program staff 
to track services and follow-up on needed treatment. Managers access reports to help monitor progress 
in meeting program requirements in a timely manner. 
 
At intake, children and families with no medical and/or dental insurance are identified. Comprehensive 
Services Teams assist parents in determining eligibility and applying for medical/dental insurance such 
as Medi-Cal/Denti-Cal, the Kaiser Permanente Child Health Plan or services through Covered California. 
Comprehensive Services Teams also assist parents in establishing a medical/dental home (ongoing 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
6 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

source of accessible health/oral care) and navigating the managed care system to access needed 
services. 
 
4. Health Records 
In the event that health records are returned to the program with information missing, Comprehensive 
Services Teams obtain consent for release of information from parents. This consent is used to obtain 
information from medical/dental offices, medical records departments and laboratories. Every effort is 
made to educate parents regarding the EPSDT schedule and the documentation needed prior to visiting 
a dentist or doctor. 
The following information shall be obtained and entered into CLOUDS and the child’s confidential file: 

 Health and developmental history 

 Immunization Record 

 Treatment plans, including immunizations and in series/waivers 

 Age-appropriate physical exams, dental exams and screening results 

 Records of major/minor illnesses and injury during program activities 

 Schedule of daily medications, including fluoride and vitamins if applicable 

 Allergic reactions 

 Dietary intake and food habits 

 Age and gender-appropriate growth charts 

 Source of payment for services, including free federal, State of California, and locally funded 
health services 

 Medi-Cal number or private insurance identification 

 Referral and follow-up information 

 Record of follow-up and documentation of actual services provided 

 Emergency information/Parent Contact 

 Signed parent consent forms 

 Case Management Documentation 

 Teacher observations 

 Progress reports 

 Other information as needed 
 
A child whose authorized representatives adhere to a religious faith that practices healing by prayer or 
other spiritual means shall not be required to meet the requirements of the health examination. In this 
case, the authorized representatives must provide: 

 Information on the child’s health history 

 A signed statement that indicates: 
o Their acceptance of full responsibility for the child’s health. 
o Refusal to obtain a medical examination for the child. 
o Request that no medical care be given to the child. 

 
B. Protocols for Determining Child Health Status 
1. Application 
Before enrollment, Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
7 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Reviewing the electronic application information/intake documents. 

 Noting concerns (known or suspected) using the Red/Yellow Flag System as indicated on the 
Eligibility Certification Checklist Form (See Form CSB604). 

 Generating a CLOUDS referral based on application information, as needed and clearly noting 
details of child’s condition in Case Notes. 

Before enrollment, the Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for: 

 Reviewing the application information/intake documents and ensuring referrals are generated 
and Red/Yellow Flags are in place if needed. 

 Coordinating with the Site Supervisor to set up case management or interventions as 
appropriate. 

Before enrollment, the Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Reviewing the application, Red/Yellow Flags, and referrals    

 Coordinating with the CSAM to set up case management or interventions as appropriate. 
 
2. Immunizations 
The State of California Immunization Branch requires that programs institute a “No Shots, No School” 
policy, however, parents and medical providers may indicate that a child may not have any or all 
immunizations. In this case, the waiver on the back of the California School Immunization Record Card 
(blue card) must be completely filled out.  Medical exemptions must be accompanied by documentation 
from a physician as to which immunization is prohibited and the date, if any, when a child may have the 
immunization.  Immunization waivers based on personal beliefs require the signature of the parent on 
the Personal Beliefs Affidavit section on the back of the California School Immunization Record Card 
(blue card) and effective January 1, 2014, personal belief exemptions require the completion of the 
Personal Beliefs Exemption to Required Immunizations Form (CDPH-8262) prior to admission to school.   
 
Names of all exempt children will be maintained on an exempt roster for immediate identification in 
case of disease outbreak in the community.  Annual immunization training, including the most current 
immunization schedule for children 0-5, is provided to staff each August prior to the completion of the 
Annual Immunization Report due to the local health department in September/October of each year. 
Children are tracked throughout their enrollment to ensure they remain up-to-date or in-series. Records 
are updated accordingly. 
 
Prior to enrollment the Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Collecting valid immunization records from parent. 

 Obtaining parent consent for use of California Immunization Registry (See CSBForms > CSB243 
CAIR Consent) and requesting immunization registry search if parent is unable to provide 
immunization verification. 

 Entering immunization data into CLOUDS and completing the results column on the right to 
indicate one of the following: In Compliance, In Series, Personal Belief Waiver, Medical Waiver 
or Non Compliance.  

 Emailing the name of child exempt from immunizations to the Comprehensive Services Manager 
(Health Content Area) for placement on the exempt roster. 

 Determining overall immunization status. 

 Notifying parent of shots needed. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
8 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Assisting the parent in obtaining a doctor office/clinic for immunizations needed. 

 Using the Red/Yellow Flag system on the CSB-604- Eligibility Certification Checklist form to 
indicate temp files as needing immunizations prior to start date. 

 Printing the Immunization Blue Card from CLOUDS/CAIR or manually filling in blanks, signing it, 
and placing it in the temporary file with documentation of a physician’s statement for Medical 
Exemptions and the completed CDPH 8262 Form for Personal Belief Exemptions.. 

 
On an ongoing basis, Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Tracking in-series children and notifying the parent of the next dose due prior to the due date. 

 As needed, Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 
o Preparing exclusion letters if child fails to obtain shots on time. 

Each August/September, Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Attending the annual immunization training and preparing the annual immunization report. 
Responsibilities of Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers  
Prior to enrollment, Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for: 

 Reviewing files to ensure up-to-date or in-series immunizations or waiver is in place before file is 
provided to Site Supervisor for placement. 

 Conducting ongoing immunization registry searches. 
On an ongoing basis, Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for: 

 Ongoing monitoring of CLOUDS for immunization compliance  

 As needed, reviewing exclusion letters generated by clerk and verifying information, which is 
forwarded to the Site Supervisor for action. 

Each September, CSAMs are responsible for: 

 Reviewing annual immunization reports prepared by clerk, verifying accuracy, and forwarding 
copies to the Site Supervisor, and the Comprehensive Services Manager (Health Content Area) 
after online submission is complete. 

Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Reviewing immunization compliance prior to enrollment 

 Returning the temp file to the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager if immunizations are 
not complete or required exemption documentation is missing. 

 As needed, verifying, signing, dating and issuing exclusion letters prepared by the clerk and 
reviewed by the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager. 

Responsibilities of the Comprehensive Services Health Manager 

 Providing annual immunization training each August. 

 Overseeing the process and submission of the annual immunization report to the County / State 
by the September/October due date of each year. 

 Conducting ongoing immunization registry searches. 

 Maintaining a roster of children who are exempt from immunizations for immediate 
identification in case of disease outbreak in the community. 

 
3. TB Clearance – CSB Center-Based Program 
Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Informing parent of TB requirement  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
9 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Collecting valid TB screening records from parents which include either TB Skin Test or Chest X-
Ray results, or a Physician’s Clearance indicating: Risk Factors not present -TB test is not 
required (noted on CSB207 – Report of Health Examination for Program Entry) or other signed 
or stamped document from physician/clinic. 

 Inputting TB screening data into CLOUDS upon receipt. 

 As needed, preparing the exclusion letter if TB Clearance is not provided within 30 days of 
enrollment (TB Clearance:  Negative TB skin test or Chest X-Ray results, or a Physician’s 
Clearance) 

Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Notifying the parent of 30 day requirement at enrollment. 

 Tracking receipt of TB screening records. 

 Ensuring that no child is in the program without TB Clearance beyond 30 days from enrollment. 

 Communicating with the Comprehensive Services Clerk to prepare exclusion letters. 

 Reviewing, authorizing and signing all exclusion letters, and designating staff for distribution. 
4. Health History 
Prior to enrollment, Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Completing the Health History on CLOUDS. 

 Printing a copy of the Health History for the child’s file. 

 Obtaining signatures on the Health History if possible. 

 Placing a “sign here” sticker on the Health History document if the parent is not present to sign. 

 Reviewing information and flagging any suspected or known special needs using the Red/Yellow 
Flag System on the Eligibility Certification Checklist Form (CSB-604). 

 Generating a CLOUDS referral for any special needs noted on the Health History. 

 Providing Medical/Dental Home/Insurance intervention with all families that indicate they have 
no medical / dental provider or coverage. Document the intervention on the Health History in 
CLOUDS. 

Prior to Enrollment, Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for: 

 Reviewing the child’s Health History. 

 Ensuring proper Red/Yellow Flags are in place as appropriate with sufficient detail noted for the 
Site Supervisor. 

 Reviewing CLOUDS referrals generated from the Health History. 

 Contacting the Comprehensive Services Manager for guidance if unsure of how to proceed with 
any special needs. 

 Coordinating with the Site Supervisor to set up a pre-enrollment case management as needed.  
Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Reviewing the Health History, checking for Red/Yellow flags and referrals, coordinating with the 
Assistant Comprehensive Services Manager to set up case management / intervention as 
appropriate and returning any file without a Health History. 

 Acquiring a parent signature on the Health History, if necessary at enrollment. 

 Ensuring that teaching staff has reviewed the Health History in order to address health 
conditions/needs and the completion of the consent section. 

The Services Comprehensive Services Health Manager is responsible for  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
10 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Providing and/or arranging training and technical assistance as necessary for special needs 
identified in the Health History.  

 Attending Case Management for complex cases as needed.  
 
5. Physical Exam 
The Comprehensive Services Clerk is responsible for: 

 Providing a physical exam form (CSB 207-Report of Health Examination for Program Entry) to the 
parent and informing the parent of the 30 day requirement prior to enrollment. 

 Educating the parent about the Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment schedule 
copied on the back side of the CSB-207 exam form. 

 Noting in the Child Case Notes in CLOUDS that the parent was given a physical form. 

 Referring the parent to a medical provider/insurance as needed. 

 Inputting the physical exam data into CLOUDS upon receipt and documenting data entry in 
CLOUDS by placing clerks first initial, last name and date on the upper right hand side of the 
exam. 

 Immediately, upon receipt of exam, reviewing the information and notifying the Comprehensive 
Services Assistant Manager of any known or suspected disabilities. 

 Entering follow-up data on the CSB-207 under “Staff Follow up: and into CLOUDS as needed. 

 Collecting consents for release of information from parents and faxing them to providers to 
obtain incomplete/missing results. 

 Making follow up calls to clinics, doctors’ offices, and laboratories to obtain missing results. 

 Tracking physical exam due dates and sending reminder notices to parents as needed. 

  Providing handouts for screening value results and guidelines as needed. 

 Providing exclusion letters at the direction of the Site Supervisor. 
 
CHDP Assessment Guidelines for Blood Pressure Readings: 
Further evaluation or follow-up is indicated for a child who sustains a systolic or diastolic reading at or 
above the 95th percentile for age and gender (measured on at least 3 occasions and averaged together). 
In the case results are entered in CLOUDS as “Abnormal” and a CLOUDS health referral is generated. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager is responsible for: 

 Reviewing all physicals with known or suspected disabilities immediately upon receipt of exam. 

 Initiating care plans with providers as appropriate. 

 Conducting follow-up with parents on an ongoing basis. 

 
Age 
in 
Years 

90th and 95th PERCENTILE BLOOD PRESSURE 
ACCORDING TO AGE and GENDER 

Boys Girls 

Systolic Diastolic Systolic Diastolic 

90th% 95th% 90th% 95th% 90th% 95th% 90th% 95th% 

3 107 111 68 73 106 110 69 73 

4 108 112 69 73 107 111 69 73 

5 109 113 69 74 109 112 69 73 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
11 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Conducting follow-up with providers to obtain documentation to complete the exam data or to 
obtain follow-up information. 

 Monitoring physical exam due dates to ensure compliance with the EPSDT Schedule. 
The Site Supervisor is responsible for the following: 

 Notifying the parent of the 30 day requirement at enrollment. 

 Tracking receipt of the annual physical exam for preschoolers on an ongoing basis 

 Tracking receipt of Well Child Exams for infants and toddlers in accordance with the EPSDT 
Schedule. 

 Ensuring that no child is in the program without a physical past 30 days (one extension allowed 
with documentation of a pending appointment). 

 Directing clerks to prepare exclusion letters as necessary. 

 Issuing Notice of Action (NOA) for children in state-funded programs that have not complied 
with requirements. 

 Referring families who need assistance in accessing care to the Comprehensive Services Team. 

 Reviewing the physical exam for each child and calling for case management when appropriate. 

 Working with teaching staff to ensure child’s medical and developmental needs are addressed 
appropriately. 

 Ensuring implementation of care plans. 
The Comprehensive Services Health Manager is responsible for the following: 

 Supporting staff and attending Case Management for complex cases as needed. 

 Interfacing with community partners for health education, services and assistance. 
 
6. Dental Exam 
Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Informing parent of the 90 day dental exam requirement upon enrollment. 

 Educating the parent about the Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment Schedule 
for Dental/Oral Health Care. 

 Providing parent with the dental form (CSB-206). 

 Providing a list of dental providers/insurance to the parent as needed. 

 Tracking dental exam due dates on an ongoing basis. 

 Preparing reminder letters to parents and follow-up letters to dental providers as needed. 

 Entering dental exam data into CLOUDS upon receipt and documenting data entry in CLOUDS by 
placing first initial, last name and date on upper right hand corner of the exam. 

 Collecting consents for release of information from 

 Generating referrals for children without dental care access, treatment needed or non-
compliance issues as needed and documenting referral follow up under referral/ case notes. 

 Obtaining parental dental consents for onsite dental services and events. 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager is responsible for: 

 Monitoring dental exam due dates on an ongoing basis. 

 Following up to ensure treatment plans are in progress, ongoing or complete. 

 Conducting case management for dental access or non-compliance issues as needed. 

 Assisting the Comprehensive Services Manager with coordination of exams by volunteer 
dentists/mobile dental care, and other oral health events/services. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
12 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

The Site Supervisor is responsible for: 

 Collecting dental forms and forwarding them to Comprehensive Services Clerks. 

 Attending case management for dental issues as needed and keeping teachers informed with 
updates. 

 Coordinating with Comprehensive Services staff for onsite dental activities/trainings. 
The Comprehensive Services Health Manager is responsible for: 

 Coordinating volunteer dentists, mobile services and oral health events on an ongoing basis. 

 Attending case management for complex dental issues. 

 Interfacing with the Children’s Oral Health Program, Contra Costa Dental Society and other 
community partners for oral health education, services and assistance. 

 
7. Staff Protocol for Dental Referrals 
If Dental Exam indicates Treatment Needed: 
The Comprehensive Services Clerk is responsible for: 

 Generating a Dental Referral and updating the status as needed in CLOUDS. 

 Determining dental insurance status and providing a list of local community dentists and/or 
community clinics (dental care providers near family’s home, work and/or childcare center) 
and/or the Ronald McDonald Care Mobile (RMCM) schedule–for families with Denti-Cal or 
Healthy Families. 

 Providing the parent with “Dental Exam/Treatment” Form (See Form CSB206). 

 Entering contact information and date provided or RMCM referral information in CLOUDS 
Dental Referral Case Notes (indicating status “in progress”). 

 Following-up with the parent regarding the status of scheduled appointment within 2 weeks and 
frequently thereafter until treatment is complete and enter each follow-up activity in CLOUDS 
Dental Referral Case Notes (once treatment is finished enter status “complete”). 

 If parent/child does not have dental insurance 
o Contact the parent to discuss options including community clinics, volunteer dentists, 

Ronald McDonald Care Mobile, and/or CHDP Gateway to Health Coverage or the Lebow 
Foundation. 

 Providing the parent with “Dental Exam/Treatment Needed” Form (See Form CSB206).  

 If the preferred option is RMCM, contacting CSB area liaison for status of services/to begin the 
referral process. 

 If the option selected is CHDP Gateway, providing the parent with contact information for the 
designated community clinic or Financial Counseling Line for county clinics. 

 Entering option selected and date information was provided to parent in CLOUDS Dental 
Referral/Case Notes (indicate status keep “in progress”). 

 Referring to the CSAM if the family has exhausted all options without success 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager is responsible for:  

 Monitoring CLOUDS reports to identify children in need of dental services, referrals and follow 
up.   

 Following-up with the Comprehensive Services Clerks and the parent to assist with extended “in 
progress” referrals.  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
13 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 In cases where CHDP Gateway pre-enrollment eligibility determination is “No” and/or parent 
cannot afford treatment, referring to local clinics, the Children’s Oral Health Program, Give Kids 
a Smile dentist or the Lebow Foundation. 

 Entering status/follow-up data in CLOUDS Dental Referral Case Notes. 
Referring to the Comprehensive Services Manager for health if services for treatment cannot be 
provided. Referring to the Comprehensive Services Health Manager if services for treatment cannot be 
provided the Comprehensive Services Health Manager is responsible for:   

 Collaborating with community partners to provide services on site or through local dental offices 
and dental events. 

 Initiating the request process for Head Start funds (last resort) – working with CSAM to acquire 
treatment estimate, letter from parent, date of dental appointment and additional documents 
needed. 

8. Medical/Dental Home 
Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Assisting families with health/oral health homes and coverage as well as applications as needed. 

 Documenting Medical/Dental interventions and health/oral health coverage in CLOUDS within 
90 days of enrollment. 

 Providing ongoing support for families in need of a medical/dental home. 
 
C. Developmental, Sensory, and Behavioral Screening 
All children are screened by the teaching staff in the areas of social emotional development, speech, 
self-help skills, motor and cognitive development, and as needed, by the Comprehensive Services Team 
for hearing, vision, and nutrition, within 45 days of class entry.  Parents should be informed about all 
screenings and their purposes in advance.  The results from the screenings are used as part of the 
individualization process for each child. 
 
It is the Site Supervisor’s responsibility to work with the teacher and Comprehensive Services Team to 
ensure that the speech/language, mental health, sensory and developmental screenings are completed 
within 45 days of class entry. 
 
The teacher places completed copies of the Speech and Language Checklist, Brigance Cognitive 
Screening and Behavioral Screening in the Education section of the child’s file and enters screening data 
in CLOUDS.  The originals are placed in the child’s file in the education section.  If concerns are noted, 
the appropriate service area staff will follow up to ensure services meet the needs of the child.  Teachers 
will give each child time to adjust to the new environment before completing this form. 
 
1. Protocols for Sensory (Visual and Hearing) Screening 
Screenings are to be completed within 45 days of enrollment for children who do not have results as 
part of their Well Child Exam and for returning children, as needed, based on the EPSDT schedule. 
 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager is responsible for: 

 Identifying those newly enrolled children in need of initial screenings, returning children in need 
of screenings based on the EPSDT schedule and re-screenings due within two weeks of the initial 
screening through use of CLOUDS Smart Reports. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
14 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Coordinating screening team logistics for Comprehensive Services Clerks to administer 
screenings on an ongoing basis. 

 Notifying the Site Supervisor of the upcoming screening schedule with a minimum two week 
notice. Note – Two week notice may not apply for children absent on the initial screening date. 

 Directing Comprehensive Services Clerks to input data results in CLOUDS, preparing referrals as 
needed and providing follow-up until treatment is established and complete. 

 Tracking referrals to physicians and providing ongoing assistance to clerks and parents until 
testing/treatment is established and the referral is complete. 

 Completing vision and hearing screening certification courses as soon as possible after hire.  
The Site Supervisor is responsible for the following:  

 Obtaining a screening schedule from the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager and 
providing a schedule for teaching staff. 

 Providing teaching staff with the screening preparation curriculum. 

 Monitoring the implementation of screening preparation in the classroom curriculum and on 
the lesson plan. 

 Providing an appropriate screening area on site for the administration of screenings.  

 Designating teaching staff to accompany children to and from designated screening location. 
The Teaching Staff is responsible for: 

 Implementing screening preparation curriculum in the classroom. 

 Including screening preparation on the lesson plan. Note – In an effort to complete all 
screenings within the 45-day deadline, it is important to include screening preparation into the 
lesson plan for the first week of school for part year programs and two weeks prior to July 1 for 
year round programs. 

 Providing flexibility with the classroom schedule to support Comprehensive Services in 
completing the screenings.  

 Introducing Comprehensive Services Staff to children on the screening day. 

 Assisting Comprehensive Services with gathering children to be screened. Tracking children as 
they are removed from and re-enter the classroom and accompanying children to and from the 
screenings as directed by Site Supervisor. 

 Completing the Educational areas of the Screening Results Form (See Form CSB212) including 
the Brigance, Sp/Lang and Behavioral areas, signing in the designated area. 

 Assisting with the distribution of Screening Results Forms (See Form CSB212-Screening Result) 
to parents.  

Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Engaging parents in conversation about the importance of screenings. 

 Notifying parents of dates and screenings to take place by posting a flyer on site, one week in 
advance. 

 Reviewing reports of children to be screened. 

 Verifying consents for screenings on the Health History forms of those children to be screened 

 Obtaining additional consents for screening to be administered by collaborative agencies as 
needed.  

 Obtaining equipment needed and setting up screening tools on site. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
15 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Introducing screening staff to the classroom teaching staff and allowing teaching staff the 
opportunity to introduce the screening staff to the children. 

 Encouraging teachers to assist in choosing the order in which the children will be screened. 
o Note – Those children unwilling to participate will be given future opportunities and 

parents and/or staff may be encouraged to accompany the child to complete needed 
screenings within the 45-day deadline. 

 Partnering with teaching staff and Site Supervisors to accompany children to and from the 
classroom to the location of the screening administration. 

 Administering the vision and hearing screenings and, noting results for input in CLOUDS. 

 Cleaning up the equipment and leaving the area as it was found. 

 Entering all screening data in CLOUDS and documenting screening results, re-screens and 
referrals. 

 Informing the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager and Site Supervisor of those children 
in need of re-screening. 

 Administering re-screenings within two weeks of the initial screening and within 45 days of 
enrollment if the child was unable to condition. 

 Preparing referrals to physicians and in CLOUDS for those children identified as needing further 
evaluation. 

 Contacting parents of children with referrals, offering resources for a medical/dental home and 
additional assistance as needed. 

 Completing the Screening Results Form (See Form CSB212-Screening Results) and ensuring that 
the education section is also completed prior to making a copy for the file and distributing the 
original to the parent in a confidential manner within 75 days of the child’s date of enrollment.  

 Providing ongoing assistance for referrals and resources until each referral is complete. 

 Completing vision and hearing screening certification courses as soon as possible after hire.  
The Comprehensive Services Health Manager is responsible for:  

 Overseeing the monitoring of all sensory screenings, referrals and follow up. 

 Coordinating the annual Vision/Hearing Screening Trainings with CHDP.  

 Registering Comprehensive Services Staff in need of vision/hearing training and certification as 
soon as possible after hire. 

 Coordinating screenings with collaborative agencies and notifying the Site Supervisor and 
Comprehensive Services Team of those screening dates and requirements. 

 
D. Follow-Up and Treatment 
Early medical/dental exams and other screenings enable parents and program staff to identify any 
concerns and respond in a timely manner.  Whenever concerns are present the Comprehensive Services 
Team works with the parent to obtain necessary follow-up services or treatment.  Assistance is provided 
in the acquisition of equipment needed for medical/dental conditions and parents are educated 
regarding their child’s specific condition and needs. Dental follow up/treatment includes preventive 
measures and further treatment as ordered by the dental professional.  
 
Medical Treatment includes treatment of any condition as identified in the physical exam, IFSP, or IEP.  
Follow-up treatment is tracked in the CLOUDS system using the referral feature and is referenced in the 
child’s confidential file. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
16 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

  
Where no resources exist in the community for follow-up and treatment, the program will pay for 
services as long as funds remain in the budget earmarked for this purpose. To access program funds, the 
Comprehensive Services Team must document that all available resources have been exhausted and 
that program funds are being used as a last resort. This information, along with proof of need and the 
estimated cost for treatment, must be submitted to an Assistant Director for approval and submitted to 
the fiscal unit and the Bureau Director. 
 
1. Protocols for Referrals, Follow Up and Treatment 
The Comprehensive Services Clerk is responsible for: 

 Generating a referral in CLOUDS as soon as a need is identified 

 Assisting in collecting documentation regarding the case management process on an ongoing 
basis 

 Entering related data into CLOUDS 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for: 

 Monitoring CLOUDS reports and following up on referrals on a weekly basis 

 Supporting families through the referral/case management process 

 Updating the status of the referral as it changes 

 Contacting the Comprehensive Services Manager for training or technical assistance as needed. 
 
2. Monitoring and Tracking 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for the following on an ongoing basis: 

 Monitoring the process for accuracy and compliance. 

 Creating action plans as needed 

 Providing reports and updates to the Assistant Directors as needed 

 Providing training and technical assistance as needed 
Assistant Directors are responsible for: 

 Reviewing reports 

 Ensuring follow-up and corrective action plans completion 
 
E. Children with Disabilities- Screenings, Case Management and Referral Procedures 
Early childhood experiences are known to shape the developmental outcomes for children.  Trauma 
during the early years also affects long-term outcomes by impacting brain development, cognitive, 
physical, and social/emotional functioning.  The Community Services Bureau has systems in place to 
mitigate these factors which include early screenings/assessments, case managements and linkage with 
appropriate agencies to provide any/all necessary comprehensive services the child and family might 
need. Parents need to agree and provide a written consent (Sign CSB 501 Form) prior to receiving 
referrals or linkages to any other agencies.  Agencies closely working with the Community Services 
Bureau are: the Regional Center of the East Bay, the Contra Costa School Districts, the Contra Costa 
Children and Family Services Bureau among others. 
 
1. Screenings 
The Community Services Bureau is committed to early identification of children at risk of developmental 
delays in order to provide the necessary early intervention that will lead to a better future for the child. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
17 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
Prior to enrollment during the application period the child’s file might be flagged using the Red and 
Yellow Flag System to alert the staff of known or suspected concerns based on the completed health 
history by the parent.  The health history briefly screens children for possible health, nutrition, and 
socio-emotional and developmental risks.   
 
Child’s Physical Exams/Baby Well Checkups provide a great source of information and they are given to 
us by the parents within 30 days of enrollment and thereafter as required by the EPSDT schedule.  
 
In addition, sensory and developmental screenings and assessments are provided to all enrolled children 
within 45 days of enrollment.   
 
Children determined to be in need of further evaluation/assessment based on screening results, staff 
observations, and/or parent observation are referred to the appropriate agency with parental consent. 
 
2. Data Gathering, Case Management and Referral  
The Community Services Bureau staff follows the next steps when referring a child for a diagnostic 
assessment and early intervention to an outside agency. 
i. Data gathering by CSB staff prior to Case Management Meeting 

 The child’s file and the CLOUDS system are reviewed to identify other related concerns. 

 The developmental history taken at enrollment is reviewed. (It provides information regarding 
the child’s history of exceptional items not normally occurring, i.e., low birth weight, allergies, 
premature and/or post-mature, difficult birth, accidents, eating behaviors, meeting milestones 
and/or other concerns). 

 The medical records completed in the last 12 months are reviewed to identify health concerns 
or other relevant information given by the pediatrician. 

 The sensory/cognitive screening and assessment results are reviewed and verified to ensure 
further evaluation if necessary. 

 The Initial Home Visit form (CSB 170) is reviewed to identify parent’s concerns.  

 The At Risk Referral Form (CSB 622) is reviewed.  (CSB 622 form indicates that the child/family 
has as an open CFS case and is receiving Child Protective Services and childcare/development 
services are necessary component of the Child Protective Services Case Plan or the child/family 
has an At-Risk Case and is NOT receiving Child Protective Services, but is at risk of abuse, neglect 
or exploitation and childcare and development services are needed to reduce or eliminate the 
risk).  

 Teacher/Site Supervisor/Disabilities Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manger observes the 
child in the classroom and produces written documentation about child’s strengths and 
challenges. 

 
ii. Case Management Meeting 
After gathering data, the site supervisor, teacher and CSAM review the strategies that will be presented 
to the parent in a case management meeting. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
18 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

The Site Supervisor/CSAM invites the parent/s to a case management meeting to be held at the parent’s 
convenient time and to identify if the parent will need an interpreter. 
 
The CSAM invites the additional team members in collaboration with the site supervisor. The case 
management team members include but are not limited to the class teacher, the Site Supervisor, the 
assistant manager, content area managers, the interpreter, any other family friend/relatives, the 
physical therapist, the occupational therapist, the speech/language therapist, CFS welfare social worker 
and any other professional involved with the child/family receiving services. 
 
The meeting is facilitated by the CSAM but can be led by other agency staff. The meeting is documented 
in the Case Management Form (CSB 514) and/or directly entered in CLOUDS under “Disabilities-Case 
Management Information” attached to the Meeting/Event sign-in Sheet Form (CSB 905).  All participants 
are required to sign the CSB 905 form. These original forms will be placed in the child’s file under the 
Special Needs Section. 
 
The purpose of the meeting is to open communication relevant to the individual needs of the child, to 
provide strategies for the parent and to place necessary referrals to outside agencies for further 
evaluations. The case management meeting is dismissed after identifying actions, roles and 
responsibilities for each member and scheduling a follow up meeting if necessary. 
 
iii. Referral  
Based on the agency identified for referral, the CSAM will explain in detail the requirements for their 
referral process, their timelines, and provide copies of the parent rights and responsibilities under IDEA 
to the parent.  It is crucial that this portion be clear to the parent and an interpreter assist the parent 
with any clarification. 
 
The parent is encouraged to sign the Child Referral and Parent Consents Form (CSB 501), only after 
understanding the referral process and his/her parent rights under IDEA.  The assistant manager assists 
the team by providing the copy CSB 501 form to be signed.   
 
For Mental Health referrals, the medical provider information is completed on the referral form and a 
copy of the child’s Medical card (if insured) is attached.  When a child is on disciplinary steps and has a 
behavior action plan, a copy of this plan, the child’s Devereux Early Childhood Assessment and 
Development Screening is included with the referral. 
 
The Child Referral and Parent Consents Form (CSB 501), is reviewed to ensure the document is correctly 
filled out after acquiring parent signature.  Additional signatures are obtained from the Site Supervisor 
and the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager.  A copy of this form (CSB 501), is given to the 
parent, one to the assistant manager to process the referral and the original is placed in the file. 
 
The CSAM reviews the signed CSB 501 and processes it immediately.  Once verified referral receipt by 
phone with the appropriate School District, Early Intervention Agency, or Mental Health Unit, the 
assistant manger completes the Response to Referral Form (CSB 502). 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
19 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

The original form (CSB 502) is placed in the child’s file while the copy is given to the parent attached to 
additional relevant informational resources. 
 
The CSAM enters the referral notes in the “Disability Intervention Referral”, “Intervention Notification” 
and “Case Management Information” under the disability tab in CLOUDS. Copy of the case management 
(CSB 514) or Case Management CLOUD’s print out form is placed in the child’s file. 
 
The CSAM contacts the family for a follow-up within 30 and 60 days after submitting the referral to 
ensure proper evaluation meetings are in place, proper support is given to the parent in preparation of 
the diagnosis meeting, and ensure participation in the IEP/IFSP meeting. 
 
Additional Case Management will follow up as needed and/or as determined in the initial meeting.  
 
F. Child and Family Mental Health Services 
1. Description 
The Community Services Bureau Mental Health Unit provides individual psychotherapeutic services to 
children enrolled in the Early Head Start and Head Start program.  The staff provides individual and 
group consultation to parents and teaching staff on child abuse, parenting skills, parent advocacy, 
developmental and mental health issues impacting the 0-5 year-old population and their caregivers.  
The Mental Health Unit operates a comprehensive Master’s level Internship Program in collaboration 
with Contra Costa County Health Services Department, Mental Health Division on a year-round basis. 
 
The Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau program staff, partners with parents and mental 
health professionals, to identify mental health concerns of children and parents in the program.  The 
task of the Case Management Team is to: 

 Ensure the delivery of appropriate mental health services in a timely manner 

 Assist in designing strategies to identify mental health concerns of children 

 Recommend appropriate placement and/or program modifications to meet the individual needs 
of children 

 Support and include parents in the decision making regarding mental health services for their 
child 

Goals of the Mental Health Unit  

 Some of the goals of prevention activities address self-concept, building positive relationships 
among children, their peers and their caregivers; developing coping and problem solving skills, 
and stress management.   

 
2. Mental Health Services 
The Mental Health Unit delivers the following services: 

 Prevention, early identification and intervention in problems that may interfere with a child’s 
development 

 Developmental/Social and Emotional Screening (ASQ3 and ASQSE) 

 Focus on early detection of concerns of caregivers, staff and children who may be in need of 
mental health services 

 Mental health assessment 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
20 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Play Therapy (Individual Psychotherapy with children) 

 Family  Support 

 Parent (Guardian) – Child Interaction Therapy 

 Staff Training on mainstreaming and social integration techniques 

 Parent Training on social, emotional and mental health development of children 

 Parent Training on positive child rearing techniques and stress management  

 Program evaluation and performance partnership review to ensure planning and delivery of 
excellent supports and services. 

 Case Management 

 Crisis Intervention 

 Provide community resources to families 

 Child Abuse and Domestic Violence awareness 
 
The objectives of Mental Health treatment are to alleviate and resolve identified symptoms per a 
diagnosed mental health issue and medical necessity.  The clinicians perform assessment and ongoing 
treatment based on a diagnosis by their licensed supervisor.  The treatment is provided in accordance 
with the parent or legal guardian’s consent; parents or guardians are encouraged to be active 
participants in the treatment planning process as outlined by the Head Start Performance Standards.   
 
Services are individualized and are primarily provided at the preschool sites in dedicated play therapy 
rooms.  The Clinical Team coordinates care of children, parents and families with other contracted and 
non-contracted county child and family service agencies while a child is enrolled in and transitioning out 
of Head Start.  The hours of operation vary depending on the child’s school program and individual 
needs.  The school sites are generally open Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., and clinicians 
provide some services in the early morning or evening to accommodate caretakers’ work schedules.  
Additionally, all Mental Health staff is available via voicemail, and email through the Mental Health unit 
administrator.   
 
3. Mental Health Referral Procedures 
If recommendation is for referral to Mental Health services within Head Start/Early Head Start or other 
agency, the Education Staff or Comprehensive Services member will follow this protocol: 
The child’s teacher is responsible for: 

 Consulting with Site Supervisor to recommend a referral. 

 Providing documentation regarding concerns such as Positive Guidance Plan, tracking report, 
observations. 

The Site Supervisor is responsible for the following: 

 Reviewing child’s file and any pertinent screening results such as Brigance, DECA, Health History 
to identify and gather additional information to share with appropriate parties as suppor for the 
referral. 

 Scheduling a meeting with parent to offer mental health services for additional services. 

 Completing referral forms and securing parent consent and signature. (CSB 501 Child Referral 
and Parent’s Consent) 

 Processing the referral with the appropriate Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager. 
CSAM are responsible for: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
21 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 When Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers receive a referral for MH, they must 
thoroughly review it before processing. All sections of the referral must be filled out on the 
CSB501 form (See CSB Forms) including: 
o Name 
o Birthdate 
o CLOUDS ID# 
o Center name and EHS or HS checked 
o MediCal # 
o Check if child has a Positive Guidance Plan and provide copy of the plan with referral 
o Check if child is on one of the 4-Step Discipline Policy Steps, and if applicable, indicate which 

step and provide copy of the Discipline Letter 
o Address 
o Phone # 
o Parent’s name 
o Home Language and English skills level of Parent and child 
o If child is being raised by grandparent or foster parent 
o Name of person making referral (not just” teacher”) 
o Reason for Referral 
o Initials for consent for assessment and exchange of information, signatures and dates. 
o CSAM name and phone number 

 Provide parent with copy of referral 

 Entering the referral in CLOUDS 

 Entering the reason for the  referral in the comment section 

 Entering ‘Parent Consent for Release of Info’ as ‘Received’ and entering the date that the 
parents signed the form 

 Entering the child’s Medi-Cal Number in CLOUDS 

 Faxing referral with cover sheet to confidential fax at CSB Mental Health Unit at (510) 374-7033. 
and Including the following documents: 

o Completed Referral Form 
o MediCal Card or other insurance documentation 
o Positive Action Behavior Plan/Discipline Step Policy Letter if on file 
o DECA (as available) 

 Sending email or call Mental Health Manager and Mental Health Clerk to advise that referral is 
being faxed. Include the following information: 

 The CLOUDS # of the child 

 If it is a high priority case and needs immediate attention, such as a CFS At-Risk referral, use the 
High Priority Flag on the email, and write in, “High Priority Case-Please process ASAP”. 

 Changing referral status from “New” to “In Process” 

 Changing the referral status in CLOUDS from “In Progress” to “On Going” when a clinician has 
been assigned 

 Adding extra notes under Case Notes as applicable 

 Scheduling case management   

 Creating a new Referral in CLOUDS if there are no available case openings, the child is not 
eligible for Medical Services, or the parent declines services and an outside provider is available 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
22 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

o CSAM will follow-up with the parent to see if they are receiving services. Update in 
CLOUDS Referral section and note when the child is actually receiving outside services 

o CSAM will continue to communicate with Site Supervisor and the Mental Health team 
regarding services or for support in providing referrals 

 If parent fails to obtain outside services, CSAM will assist in finding services and check back 
periodically with MH clerk to see if CSB MH has case openings and is able to serve the child, 
CSAM, updates CLOUDS to reflect status of referral (Complete, Parent Refused). 
 

Mental Health Clerk is responsible for: 

 Verifying if the child qualifies for services 

 Entering in the Case Notes section of the referral, beginning with the date, and ending with her 
first initial and last name. 

 Sending an email to CSAM and Site Supervisor to let them know the referral was received. The 
referral will be processed and assigned to a mental health clinician who will perform an 
assessment and provide ongoing services if the child symptomatic behaviors meet medical 
necessity for treatment. 

 Emailing the CSAM and Site Supervisor with child’s CLOUDS # with the child’s MediCal eligibility 
status and advise if services can be provided or if an outside referral is needed. 

 Entering in the Mental Health Section of CLOUDS “Facilitated Referral” 

 Sending an email to CSAM and CSB Site Supervisor to inform that the child’s case has been 
assigned to a clinician and when services will begin. 

 Entering the clinician assignment in the Mental Health section and Case Notes of CLOUDS 

 Emailing the CSAM and Site Supervisor when a referral is closed or returned. 
 
The Mental Health CSAM is responsible for: 

 Advising CSAM if there are no available case openings, the child is not eligible for Medical 
Services, or the parent declines services. 

o Case Management may be held to provide support/follow up and/or additional 
resources to parent. 

 Recommending a referral for outside services if appropriate (and document in referral section of 
CLOUDS) and communicating to site supervisor and CSAM. 

 Including CSB site supervisors in e-mail notifications.  (The CSAM will notify Partner agency staff)  
 

Clinicians are responsible for: 

 Contacting the child’s parents to obtain informed consent and to start services 

 Consulting with CSAM to advise and/or coordinate first parent contact meeting as appropriate 
 
CSAM or Mental Health Assistant (whichever applicable) will update CLOUDS in the Referral Section and 
change status of the original referral and select “Complete” from the drop down menu and provide brief 
explanation in Observation Comments Section. 
 
4. Mental Health Emergency/Crisis Referral Procedures 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
23 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

If a CSB Site Supervisor and/or CSAM believe that a child is experiencing and/or responding to an 
emotional crisis or emergency in their life and need urgent mental health intervention, the following 
people in this order should be notified before making a referral: 

 Mental Health Clinical Supervisor, Lora Groppetti: (925) 890-7540 

 CSAM/Mental Health, Rowena (Reena) Torres: Cell (925) 383-4913 

 Lead Assistant Director, Janissa Rowley: Cell (925) 525-9951 

 Cluster A Assistant Director, Pam Arrington: Cell (925) 864-9084 

 Cluster B Assistant Director, Carolyn Johnson: Cell (925) 852-9735 

 Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers (If MH Manager or ADs cannot be reached)  
The responding Mental Health Manager, Clinical Supervisor or Agency Manager will determine an 
appropriate intervention or course of action based on the level of crisis and an initial clinical assessment.  
If CSB Mental Health determines that the case needs specialized intervention that CSB cannot provide, 
the responding clinical supervisor/manager will assist site staff in the facilitation of an appropriate 
outside referral.  If the CSB Mental Health team can provide treatment and the child is determined to be 
in crisis, a referral will be processed and treatment will be provided regardless of the child’s MediCal 
eligibility.  
 
The referral should be rushed through the current procedure; MediCal eligibility and/or health insurance 
information can be checked after the referral is faxed to the mental health unit (refer to Mental Health 
Referral section: Section 2, Part 1, F3). 
 
5. Mental Health Professional Staff 
The Mental Health unit employs licensed Clinical Supervisors and unlicensed Master’s level staff working 
towards Marriage Family Therapist or Clinical Social Worker licensure and who are specialized in 
children and families Mental Health.  The staff strives to provide excellent early intervention to children 
and support services to parent and guardian caretakers that are designed to meet their specific needs.   
 
The Mental Health unit attempts to employ staff to accommodate the linguistic and cultural needs of a 
diverse Head Start population.  The unit is supported by one full-time Bachelors level mental health 
assistant and seven CSB Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers.  These staff help provide with the 
identification and facilitation of referrals. 
 
To promote children’s mental wellness, CSB develops collaborative relationships with local mental 
health agencies for the purpose of securing ongoing prevention, intervention, consultation, and direct 
services to the program’s children and their families. 
 
6. Mental Health Services & Special Education Services Sign-In Protocol at All CSB Sites When Providing 
Mental Health and Special Education Services 
The Mental Health Professionals and site staff will follow this protocol when Mental Health services are 
provided at all CSB sites. 
Mental Health Clinicians are responsible for: 

 Signing the Site Visitor log at each site visit when providing services to a child or attending a 
meeting.  Only sign name and do not identify self as a Mental Health provider to ensure client 
confidentiality and comply with HIPAA regulations. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
24 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Adhering to appropriate classroom protocols when removing/returning child from/to classroom 
for play therapy services 

Special Education Staff are responsible for: 

 Accessing the Special Services Log from its locked location and sign it every time the Mental 
Health Intern or Special Education staff comes to the site to provide services to a designated 
child. 

 Filling in the date and both the child’s name and the intern’s name. 

 Giving special services log back to site staff (secretary at front desk, site supervisor) and ensure 
the log is returned to a locked file/drawer. 

Front Desk Staff is responsible for: 

 Signing a confidentiality statement annually. 

 Making sure Special Services Log is filled out correctly. 

 Ensuring that the Special Services Log remain in a locked location at all times when the 
intern/special education staff is not using it. 

Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Signing a confidentiality statement annually. 

 Monitoring the safe locked storage of the Special Services Log. 
CSAMs are responsible for: 

 Signing a confidentiality statement annually. 

 Entering all Special Services Log entries to the child’s chart by the end of the month. 
 
7. Policy Regarding Response to Legal Situations 
i. Description of CSB Policy Regarding Involvement in Custody Disputes by Treating Mental Health 
Clinical Staff 
 
If there is a custody dispute involving the child who is receiving Mental Health services from CSB’s 
Mental Health unit, it is the policy of this agency that the treating clinician or Mental Health Clinical Staff 
not get involved in such a custody dispute.  This dispute may be between the parent and the system or 
between Social Services and the parent(s).  
 
Mental Health Clinical Staff are discouraged from writing letter or reports in support of either side in 
such a dispute.  The treating clinician will serve their client best by staying neutral in a custody dispute.  
Taking sides opens the door for the clinician to be asked to testify in a court of law and expose 
confidential client information. 
 
If a parent (or Social Services) requests a written report about the child’s treatment, and after a Release 
form has been signed by the parent, a short treatment summary should be composed and – upon 
approval by the supervisor – mailed to the child’s parent ONLY. 
 
ii. Description of CSB Policy Regarding Subpoenas 

 Subpoena of Records 
If a subpoena for records is served to the treating clinician, the clinician must attempt to have 
the child’s parent sign a release form permitting the release of a treatment summary.  If such a 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
25 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

release cannot be acquired, the clinician must claim the Psychotherapist/Patient privilege.  The 
court will then have to override the privilege and request the records. 

 Subpoena to Appear in Person 
If a subpoena to appear in person is served to the treating clinician, the clinician, upon 
consultation with his/her supervisor must also claim the Psychotherapist/Patient privilege.  The 
clinician must not respond to or talk to any court representative, serving officer, or lawyer for 
any party, without the special written permission of the child’s parent(s) (or Social Worker for 
Social Services).  If a Mental Health Intern gets served with a subpoena, he/she should contact 
his/her supervisor immediately for a consultation.   

 
8. On- Site Mental Health Consultation 
The Mental Health Clinical Supervisor and Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers facilitate and 
make referrals for psychological assessments for children having potential emotional or behavioral 
problems with parental written parental consent.  
 
The Mental Health Clinical Supervisor and Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers utilize the 
Directory of County Mental Health Providers to make referrals when appropriate and work with parents 
to obtain information on available school resources and services in the area of mental health, locating 
placement for individual children including securing psychological services. 
 
Parents and staff collaborate in the planning of all mental health and educational services. 
The Mental Health Supervisor, clinical staff and Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers advise the 
site supervisor and educational staff on integrating mental health activities into the curriculum. Mental 
Health clinical staff collaborates with site supervisor and classroom teachers to implement strategies 
and plans related to social emotional curriculum.  Periodic observation of children’s behavior and 
classroom learning environment is performed.  Case management meetings are held to discuss the 
observations with education staff, parents and/or Comprehensive Services Managers.  
 
The Mental Health Clinical Supervisor and clinical staff provide workshops to staff and parents on topics 
relating to child mental health, such as childhood depression, management of difficult childhood 
behaviors, stress management, recognition of child abuse/neglect, increasing children’s self-esteem, and 
play therapy and positive parenting.  Information is also provided to staff on identifying mental health 
needs, making mental health referrals and utilizing case management to facilitate a referral.  The Mental 
Health Clinical Supervisor and clinical staff provide consultation at case management meetings to 
discuss children who are presenting with atypical behavior or emotional/behavioral needs. 
 
9. Additional Mental Health Supports 
Staff and parent support group meetings are held to discuss child mental health parenting and caregiver 
issues and challenges. Case management meetings are conducted a minimum of twice per year 
depending on the needs of the family. 
 
i. Identifying Mental Health Concerns 
Mental Health Staff collaborate with CSB health, disabilities, nutrition, and education colleagues and CFS 
to determine a child’s need for a diagnostic evaluation. Diagnostic evaluations are recommended for all 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
26 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

children who present with symptomatic behavior indicating signs of severe stress, social, emotional, 
educational, developmental delays and/or physical concerns.  

 
Program staff, in partnership with parents, uses the following steps:  

 The teacher and/or parent assess the child's behavior (through DECA, direct observation, 
monitoring tool etc.), and determine that there are concerns at school or at home. 

 In the case of children involved in the Child Welfare System, the CFS worker may determine that 
a child needs assessment and/or intervention based on the child’s exposure to trauma as a 
result of early abuse, neglect in addition to risk factors such as prenatal drug exposure, 
prematurity, low birth weight, poverty, homelessness, parental depression, and other mental 
health problems.  The CFS worker may also deem that the child needs assessment and/or 
intervention as a result of the removal of the child from the biological home and placement in 
foster care. 

 The teacher observes and records behavior and consults with Site Supervisor before requesting 
assistance from the Comprehensive Services/Disabilities/Mental Health Supervisor.  

 The appropriate content area Comprehensive Services Manager reviews the child's file (or Child 
Health/Education Passport in CFS child case) for pertinent information (e.g., health issues, family 
history, Family Partnership Appraisal, screening results, and other areas of concern) that may 
have significant impact on the referral. 

 If the recommendation is for referral to a school district or other agency, the nature of the 
referral is discussed with parent through a case management meeting. Staff checks with parent 
for understanding, and parent initials and signs the Child Referral Parent’s Consents form 
CSB501. (see Mental Health Referral section) 

 If a parent requests service only for him/herself, the Mental Health Manager or clinical staff will 
provide brief confidential consultation and appropriate referrals utilizing the County Mental 
Health Provider directory. If the parent’s issues will have significant impact on the child’s 
classroom behavior or emotional and/or physical health and well-being, appropriate steps are 
taken to ensure the child's safety and stability.  Referrals are provided to Child Protective 
Services, County Health Services, and/or community agencies that assist with crisis, domestic 
violence, and homelessness.  

 
ii. Strategies for Behavior Management 
Any form of discipline or punishment that violates a child’s personal rights is not permitted (see 
Discipline Policy section: Section 2, H). 
 
The teaching staff must utilize positive guidance techniques and developmentally appropriate practices 
in managing children’s behavior.  Children respond differently to various intervention approaches, and 
have individual temperaments that staff must consider in behavior management. 

 STRATEGY A-implement Best Practices 

 STRATEGY B-Positive Behavior Action Plan (Refer to Form CSB-134B) 
o Case Management with parent/caregiver and site staff to develop plan 

 STRATEGY C-Case Management 
o If behavior continues/escalates, review and assess the Positive Behavior Action Plan 

 STRATEGY D-Discipline Policy Implementation 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
27 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

o Apply only when Strategies A-C have been executed 
o Site Supervisor must be consulted prior to implementation 
 

STRATEGY A-Implementing Best Practices 
Undesirable behavior, while a normal part of growing up, is discouraged or redirected.  The following 
strategies reflect best practices for responding to inappropriate behavior: 

 Anticipate/eliminate potential problems 

 Evaluate and adjust the environment 

 Redirect child away from conflict or negative events to more positive activity 

 Offer choices to the child 

 Assist child to learn logical/natural consequences of their actions 

 Encourage respect for the feelings/rights of others 

 Encourage initiative 

 Encourage identification and healthy and socially acceptable ways to express emotion 

 Encourage development of self regulation and behavior control through positive reinforcement 
of pro-social behavior 

Additional behavior management strategies include: 

 Let children know what is expected and why – Inform children what the rules are, and the 
reasons for these rules.  Let children help create classroom rules.  Example:  “We walk inside – 
so we don’t bump into tables or other children.” 

 Model/encourage expected behavior – Show children, with actions and words, what is 
expected.  Praise children’s actions when appropriate.  Example:   “Thank you for helping!” 

 Respect children’s developing capacities – Ensure that expectations match/respect children’s 
developing capacities.  Example:  do not expect a four-year-old to sit still/be quiet for long 
periods of time. 

 Talk to children about why they are behaving a certain way – Kneeling down/getting on the 
children’s level and listening, communicates caring concern about them as individuals. 

 When reminding children of expectations, move close to them, touching them gently on the 
hand or arm (if culturally acceptable). 

 Be patient; wait for children to respond (when appropriate) –Tell a child what behavior is 
expected, and allow time for the child to process this information.  Example:  “When the toy is 
picked up, you may join us in the circle.” 

 Allow someone else to step in and help – If a teacher becomes angry with a child, immediately 
ask another teacher/supervisor to help.  (It is best to request another adult to take over until 
you have calmed down.) 

 Observe/record behavior - especially recurring behavior – to determine factors involved in the 
behavior.  Maintain a positive/loving attitude – Keep your sense of humor, do not focus on the 
difficult behavior.  View the behavior and responses as opportunities to help children 
grow/learn. 

 Discuss with children healthy ways to deal with anger, stress, and frustration. 

 “Time out” for children is not an acceptable strategy for dealing with inappropriate behavior. 

 Use Social Emotional Learning Curriculum (DECA) screening results to determine which 
protective factors the child needs help building and employ recommended classroom strategies 
to address the child’s need. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
28 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Consult with Mental Health clinical staff and collaborate with clinicians and parents to develop 
effective intervention plans. 

 
STRATEGY B-Positive Behavior Action Plan 
iii. Positive Behavior Action Plan 
When the above listed strategies are ineffective, the next step is for teacher, with site supervisor 
support and guidance, to consult with parent to develop a Positive Behavior Action Plan (CSB-134B-
Positive Discipline Action Plan). Steps include: 

 Identifying the child’s protective factors (Review DECA results) 

 Defining the child’s strengths 

 Defining the child’s social, emotional, physical, learning needs 

 Defining the child’s behavioral concerns  

 Partnering with parent/caregiver through mutual decision-making process in: 

 Developing a plan to redirect the behavior with specific quantifiable and observable goals  

 Developing a plan to reinforce the child’s positive behavior (specific strategies for intervention 
related to each goal). 

 Set timelines for plan implementation and progress follow up (2-4 weeks should be given to 
implement behavior plan and should be followed up with case management within 4 weeks to 
review implementation and any needed changes) 

 
iv. Case Management Team Meeting 
After classroom observations have been completed, and DECA results have been reviewed, a Positive 
Behavior Action Plan that considers any necessary modification to environment and teacher/child 
interactions (per DECA), is developed and implemented. If there is little or no progress in relation to the 
goals of the plan, or the child’s behavioral concerns increase, the Site Supervisor follows up with the 
Comprehensive Services Manager/Disabilities Manager/Mental Health Staff to schedule a Case 
Management Team meeting.  A Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager or CS Manager will facilitate 
this meeting.  The Case Management Team will discuss strengths/concerns/recommendations at this 
time.  Please see Case Management section for more details. 
 
G. Parent Involvement in Health, Nutrition, and Mental Health Education 
CHDP consultants train parents and staff on prevention of common childhood illnesses. 
(Contra Costa County Health Services) MediCal representatives provide education and information to 
parents and staff on MediCal application procedures and the Managed Care system. 
Dental representatives train parents and staff on dental hygiene. A Mental Health Consultant trains 
parents and staff on early prevention/intervention of children’s Severe Emotional Disorder, Behavior 
Disorders, and stress related behavior. 
 
H. Discipline Policy 
If a child consistently displays inappropriate behavior in the classroom, the teacher is responsible for 
calling the Site Supervisor immediately for assistance.  If a child’s behavior continues to escalate, the 
following guidelines will be followed in the classroom with the child (after having implemented the 
above strategies-implementing best practices and developing and implementing the Positive Behavior 
Action Plan). 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
29 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
In compliance with Section #101221 of the Licensing Code, and in support of children’s right to be 
treated with dignity and respect, the following covers our philosophy and methods for handling 
behavior of young children. Examples of hurtful behavior include biting, hitting, spitting, damaging 
school property or hurting classroom pets. 
 
CSB will report to Community Care Licensing any incidents requiring medical attention 
To ensure that CSB provides an environment that fosters the development of a positive self-concept and 
self-control, CSB will implement this four step discipline policy. After each step, staff and parents are 
required to sign that each step has occurred: 
 
Step 1 
If the child bites, hurts someone or damages school property for the first time, the teacher will inform 
the parent privately about the incident.  At that time, parent is provided with resources and intervention 
strategies to address the specific behavior.  The parent is asked by the site supervisor if they would like 
an information/linkage to parenting classes and/or consulting (confidentially) with a CSB Early Childhood 
Mental Health/Behavioral Healthcare specialist. The Site Supervisor will evaluate the incident in the 
classroom. 
 
The following actions shall be taken:  
Teachers are responsible for: 

 Reviewing and completing the Discipline Policy- Step Letter to Parents form (CSB521- Discipline 
Policy and Step Letter) with parent and provide parent with copy. 

 Informing the Site Supervisor about the incident by submitting the Accident/Incident Report 
(See Forms CSB208) 

 Ensuring that the parent signs a copy of the “Accident/Incident Report” 

 Reviewing the Positive Guidance Plan (if not already created) or provide a copy of the plan and 
additional documentation relating to child’s behavior as applicable 

Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Evaluating the incident in the classroom. 

 Reviewing and signing the Discipline Policy- Step Letter to Parents form (CSB521- Discipline 
Policy and Step Letter) 

 Reviewing and signing the Accident/Incident Report (form CSB208). 

 Offering parent resources and/or linkages to consultation. 

 Discussing child referral for assessment with parents if appropriate and securing Parent’s 
signature on a Child Referral Parent’s Consent form (CSB501). 

Step 2 
If the child bites, hurts someone or damages school property for the second time, the parent will receive 
an incident report. The Site Supervisor will meet with parent to provide resources as needed to help 
deal with the situation at home and discuss how staff is dealing with the situation in the classroom.  The 
site supervisor will offer the parent linkage to confidential consultation with the CSB Mental Health 
Staff. 
 
The following actions shall be taken: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
30 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Teachers are responsible for: 

 Informing the Site Supervisor about the incident by submitting the second Accident/Incident 
Report. 

 Meeting with the Site Supervisor and parent to discuss the second “Accident/Incident Report” 
and request the parent to sign. 

 Reviewing the Positive Guidance Plan with parent for progress and modifications needed. 
 
 Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Calling the parent immediately and setting up a conference to discuss the incident. 

 Meeting with the teacher and the parent.  

 Reviewing and signing the Discipline Policy- Step Letter to Parents form. (CSB521- Discipline 
Policy and Step Letter) 

 Reviewing the Positive Guidance Plan and provide resources and make adjustments as needed.  

 Offering parent linkage to confidential consultation with CSB Early Childhood Mental Health 
Manager or follow-up on previous referral to linkage. 

 Discussing child referral for assessment with parents if applicable. Completing a Child Referral 
Parent’s Consent form (CSB501) will be signed.  

 Scheduling a case management meeting with parents to discuss new strategies for behavioral 
modification and the possibility of a more appropriate placement for the child. 

 Requesting Education Manager to observe classroom. 
 
 
Step 3 
If the child bites, hurts someone, or damages school property a third time and the two previous steps 
are proving to be ineffective, parent is required to attend a team meeting to discuss the possibility of a 
more appropriate placement for the child and referrals are provided. 
 
The following actions shall be taken: 
Teachers are responsible for: 

 Informing the Site Supervisor about the incident by submitting the third “Accident/Incident 
Report”. 

 Reviewing and modifying child’s progress report and the Positive Guidance Plan if needed with 
team and Site Supervisor for behavioral modification.  

Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Calling the parent immediately to pick up his/her child if necessary. 

 Reviewing and signing the Discipline Policy- Step Letter to Parents form. (CSB521- Discipline 
Policy and Step Letter) 

 Following-up on previous linkage to referral given. 

 Securing parent’s signature and date “Accident/Incident Report.” 

 Provide documentation on the child’s progress which may include review of teacher’s progress 
report, Positive Guidance Plan or any other behavioral monitoring tool. 

 Requesting assistance from Comprehensive Services Manager and informing Assistant Director 
as needed and Mental Health Clinician if child is receiving mental health services. 

 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
31 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Step 4 
If the three previous steps prove to be ineffective and the child bites or hurts someone, or damages 
school property a fourth time, the Site Supervisor and Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are 
to assist the parent with securing or transferring the child to a more appropriate environment or 
program.  The parent is given two week’s written notice of the change or a Notice of Action to comply 
with the state regulations and termination notices).  During this period program staff is to assist the 
parent in reviewing alternative referral services and advocating for entry into a new program. 
 
The following actions shall be taken: 
Teachers will be responsible for: 

 Informing the Site Supervisor about the incident 
Site Supervisor will be responsible for: 

 Alerting the Assistant Comprehensive Services Manager, Comprehensive Services Manager & 
Assistant Director 

 Reviewing and signing the Discipline Policy- Step Letter to Parents form (CSB521- Discipline 
Policy and Step Letter) 

Comprehensive Services Manager will be responsible for: 

 Conducting a case management with Site Supervisor and Assistant Director to consult and 
discuss child’s alternative placement. 

 Informing the parent about the child’s alternate placement and referrals. 
 
I. Case Management  
1. Description 
Case management is a collaborative process involving parents, staff, social workers, specialized 
providers and specialists for the purpose of developing, implementing, coordinating, monitoring and 
evaluating plans and the various options and services available and/or required to meet children and 
family’s needs.  Shared decision making, open communication and promotion of the family and child’s 
strengths are key elements to the process and essential to quality outcomes. 
 
2. Purpose 
Case management at CSB is strengths-based and enhances access to care and improves the continuity 
and efficiency of services. Depending on the specific setting and location, Comprehensive Services 
Managers are responsible for a variety of tasks, ranging from linking clients to services to providing the 
services themselves. Other core functions include outreach to engage clients in services, assess 
individual’s needs, and arrange requisite support services (such as housing, benefit programs, job 
training, and advocating for parents rights and entitlements). 
 
Case management is not a time-limited service, but is intended to be ongoing, providing families 
whatever they need, whenever they need it, for as long as necessary. For children with disabilities or 
receiving mental health services, it is expected that at least two case managements are conducted per 
year.   
 
3. Role of the Case Management Facilitator 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
32 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

A case management facilitator serves as a liaison between the family, service providers, teachers and 
Site Supervisors to identify what services and resources are needed. They meet with parents individually 
or as a multidisciplinary team; often at their respective sites, via telephone, or even in a casual 
environment, all for the purpose of enhancing communication between the present parties. 
 
Case management services are best offered in a climate that allows direct communication between the 
case management facilitator, the parent, and appropriate program staff in order to optimize the 
outcome for all concerned. These meetings are always facilitated in a manner that is sensitive to the 
parent, child and family’s needs, allowing the parent maximum opportunity for expression of their 
concerns, and help the parent develop advocacy skills.  All concerns, agreements and process of the 
meeting are documented in the Case Management Report (form CSB514) and the parent is offered a 
copy of this report for their records.  
 
Case management facilitators are able to identify those providers and facilities that can best serve the 
family’s needs throughout the continuum of services, while ensuring that available resources are being 
used in a timely and effective manner for families. For example, parents in need of health-related 
support and services receive assistance in navigating the healthcare system and working with other 
outside agencies. 
 
4. Case Management Team Members 
It is essential to not overwhelm parents by inviting too many people to the meeting or having too many 
items on the agenda.  Many issues being discussed at these meetings are complicated and can be 
emotionally difficult for parents.  It is also important to encourage the parent to bring an advocate if 
they feel that will help them better understand the information being discussed, or make important 
decisions.  An agenda and introductions should be required for every meeting so that the parent know 
what the goals are and who they are sharing information with and understand team members roles. 
The Case Management Team may include: 

 Parents 

 Teachers 

 Site Supervisors 

 Education Manager 

 Disabilities Manager 

 Mental Health Supervisor 

 Health Manager 

 Nutritionist 

 Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager 

 Other community professionals such as a Pediatric Nurse, Psychologist, Speech Therapist, 
Resource Specialist, CFS Child Welfare/Social Worker, Public Health Nurse, Special Education 
Teacher, and/or Mental Health professional 

 
5. Case Management Team Responsibilities: 

 To respect the civil rights of the parents, children and families involved. 

 To provide a confidential and safe place for the child/family information to be discussed. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
33 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 To ensure that the child/family’s private information is protected and managed in accordance 
with all state and federal laws. 

 To review and discuss assessment, evaluation results, placement and outcomes for children. 

 Review and discuss appropriate placement or action to be taken. 

 Establish time lines and types of service delivery. 

 Develop and implement Family Partnership Agreements with parents. 

 Meet on an ongoing basis to review and discuss progress of child. 

 Review and evaluate Behavioral Management Plan. 

 Ensure that a family-focused approach is taken to ensure service delivery 

 Develop and implementing transition plans for children. 

 Ensure that strengths of children and families are encouraged and considered in identifying 
expected outcomes for children. 

 Ensure that family priorities, concerns, and resources are recognized and are part of the Family 
Partnership Agreement. 

 
6. The Case Management Team Meeting 
i. Description 
 
A Case Management Team meeting may be called at any time for a child as the need arises.  This 
meeting is conducted to exchange information, and to develop the most appropriate action plan for a 
child with disabilities. 
 
These plans may include development of a Family Partnership Agreement (FPA) with the parent(s), 
home visits, referrals to outside agencies or professionals, requests for additional information from 
outside agencies or professionals, and classroom placement decisions or modifications.  The following is 
the case management process: 

 Site Supervisors and teachers review all children’s files prior to Case Management 

 Summary notes from the child’s file will include but not be limited to health, dental, nutrition, 
disabilities, mental health, family services and parent involvement. All confidential mental 
health or other health records are stored in accordance with HIPAA. 

 After files have been reviewed, the Site Supervisor will submit cases to the Comprehensive 
Services unit.  The Comprehensive Services Managers will hold Case Management Meetings for 
all children with concerns or at high risk at any time as the need arises. 

To provide continuity of care for children with disabilities, Case Managements are conducted as needed 
during the year. 
 
ii. Referral for Inappropriate Behavior 
If a teacher is concerned about a child’s consistent display of inappropriate behavior, she/he should call 
their Site Supervisor. 
 
The Site Supervisor, Head Teacher, classroom staff and Comprehensive Services Manager/Assistant 
Manager observe the child in the classroom and complete documentations on their observations for use 
at a Case Management Team meeting.  A Case Management Team meeting must be scheduled to plan 
strategies on how to effectively meet the child’s needs. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
34 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
The Comprehensive Services Manager/Assistant Manager will be responsible for: 

 Creating an agenda that is provided to all participants and keeping the meeting on time/track 
and have all participants sign-in 

 Facilitating Case Management Team meetings 

 Coordinating and gathering relevant information before the meeting 

 Keeping on file all documentation of Case Management Team meetings and record meeting 
notes on CSB514. 

 Inviting all applicable parties or individual advocates working on behalf or providing services for 
child/parent (with parent consent), including but not limited to legal guardian, CFS Worker, 
Speech/language Therapist, Occupation Therapist, and Mental Health Therapist. 

 Following up on next steps. 
 
The Site Supervisor are responsible for: 

 Reviewing classroom observations and Positive Guidance Plan with the teaching staff prior to a 
Case Management Team meeting 

 Discussing strategies/intervention techniques with teaching staff prior to the Case Management 
Team meeting 

 Discussing recommendations for referral with the parent(s)of a child with disabilities  

 Coordinating meeting with CS staff so appropriate staff may attend 
 
If Applicable, the Nutritionist and Health Services Manager are responsible for:   

 Gathering relevant information before the meeting 

 Writing nutritional plans for children and families 
 
J. Child Abuse Reporting Policies  
 1. CSB Staff Responsibilities 
It is essential that all CSB program staff adhere to Mandated Reporters Law to report suspected non-
accidental injury, sexual molestation, or infliction of physical and mental suffering and/or neglect of a 
child. 
 
All personnel having contact with children are required by law to report all instances of suspected child 
abuse or neglect. 
 
Grantee, Sub-contractors, and Delegate Agencies will maintain confidentiality of records concerning 
child abuse and neglect in accordance with state law and Head Start Performance Standards. 
CSB staff provides children who are identified by Child Protective Services (CFS) as at-risk highest priority 
for intervention and placement in the school program; and make every effort to retain abused and 
neglected children and/or admit allegedly abused and neglected children referred by Child Protective 
Services (if the families are income-eligible). 
 
The Comprehensive Services/Health/Disabilities/Mental Health Managers will coordinate activities 
regarding the issues of child abuse/neglect.  Their responsibilities are to: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
35 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Providing training and consultation for staff and parents regarding identification / reporting of 
child abuse.  The purpose of this training will be to educate participants that Abusing parents or 
caretakers need help and support - not punishment. 

 Providing support services so that additional abuse/neglect does not occur. 

 Providing training to parents and staff yearly on the significant aspects of abuse / neglect.  
Comprehensive Services/Disabilities/Mental Health Managers will maintain documentation of 
such training. 

 Establishing liaison with Child Protective Services (which has legal responsibility for receiving 
reports of abuse and neglect). 

 Collaborating with Human Resources to ensure that program staff is properly informed/trained 
on procedures for identifying/reporting suspected child abuse and neglect. 

 Collaborating with Human Resources to ensure there is a signed document in each CSB program 
personnel file acknowledging that the person has been trained regarding child abuse and 
neglect. 

 Ensuring that information/training is provided for parents and staff on the legal requirements 
regarding reporting of abuse/neglect.    

 Providing written explanation of the legal requirements of reporting (given to every parent 
when he/she enrolls in the program)  

 Obtaining a signed acknowledgment from the parent that he/she has received the information, 
and understands it (HS-610) 

 Reviewing annually child abuse reporting laws and updating all employees on new 
requirements. 

 Maintaining tracking sheet for all reports. 

 Ensuring that parents are provided ongoing educational opportunities to learn about positive 
parenting and child abuse prevention techniques. 

 
2. Child Abuse Reporting Laws - Penal Code Sections 
Section 11166 (a) - requires that any: 

 Child care custodian 

 Medical practitioner 

 Non-medical practitioner 

 Employee of a child protective agency 
 
Anyone listed above having knowledge of, or observing a child in his/her professional capacity or within 
the scope of his or her employment whom he/she reasonably suspects has been the victim of child 
abuse, must report such suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency immediately by 
telephone (or as soon as practically possible), and must prepare/send a written report thereof within 36 
hours of receiving information concerning the incident. 
 
Section E of 11166 states,  “The reporting duties under this section are individual and no supervisor or 
administrator may impede or inhibit such reporting duties and no person making such report shall be 
subject to any sanction for making such report.  However, internal procedures to facilitate reporting and 
apprise supervisors and administrators of reports may be established provided they are not inconsistent 
with the provision of this article.” 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
36 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
Section 11172 (b) states, “Any person who fails to report as required by this article an instance of child 
abuse which he or she knows to exist or reasonably should know to exist is guilty of a misdemeanor and 
is punishable by confinement in the County jail for a term not to exceed 6 months or by a fine of not 
more than five hundred dollars ($500) or both.” 
 
3. Child Abuse Reporting Procedure 
All staff and volunteers in all divisions MUST report child abuse or neglect IF: 

 They have knowledge of it, 

 They have observed it, or 

 They have reasonable suspicion of its occurrence or 

 They receive second-hand information of the suspected abuse 
The report must be made as soon as the suspected abuse is noticed.  Report of child abuse takes priority 
over other matters.  In Contra Costa County, it is the responsibility of the local Welfare Department and 
the police to assess whether or not abuse has occurred. 
 
If you are unsure if a report should be made, discuss the situation with your immediate supervisor or 
your second level supervisor and/or consult the CFS directly (see contact information below). You may 
also call the Mental Health Unit for additional support  at the following number:  925-335-8911 or 925-
335-8940. 
 
When any member of the CSB staff suspects abuse or neglect of a child, they should first check the 
child’s file to gather pertinent information; this information is for the purposes of reporting.  Particular 
attention should be made to Health History, physical exam, and Family Partnership Agreement (to 
become familiar with any details that may provide further explanation for the incident prompting 
suspicion of abuse or neglect).  
 
The following steps must be taken when a member of CSB staff suspects child abuse or receives the 
information second-hand 

 Call Child Protective Services (Law requires the person suspecting child abuse/neglect to report 
it to Child Protective Services by phone immediately) 

o To report suspected child abuse, call Children & Family (Protective) Services, at (24 hour 
Hot Line) 1-877-881-1116 

 Teachers to report to their Site Supervisor immediately the information that was reported to 
them 

 Site Supervisors report the information to Assistant Director 

 Assistant Directors report the information to Division Manager 

 After an oral report is made, a written “Suspected Child Abuse Report” (see EHSD Intranet > 
FormSTAR > SS 8572) must be completed and sent within 36 hours to (mail or fax): 
 

 Central Screening Office 
Child Protective Services 

400 Ellinwood 
Pleasant Hill, CA 94523 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
37 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Fax: 925-602-6980/6981 
 

 The Person Making the report must sign the written report and provide the report to their site 
supervisor. 

Site Supervisor is responsible for: 
o Maintaining and storing of any/all CFS reports in a locked confidential file, which is 

separate from the child’s cumulative/educational file. 
o Sending a “Notification of Report” email to the appropriate Comprehensive Services 

Manager and Assistant Manager (of the corresponding Cluster) and Mental Health 
Clinical Supervisor, (Email should include only the CLOUDS child ID#) 

 

 Only authorized CSB staff will have access to review “confidential” files. 

 Comprehensive Services/Disabilities/Mental Health staff are to discuss the report with the 
family, when appropriate – with acknowledgment and approval of CPS.   

 Staff may choose to remain anonymous in filing the report.  

 This request must be honored, unless the case goes to court or there is further police 
investigation.  

 Content area managers meet regularly to discuss mutual areas of concern 

 The Mental Health Clinical Supervisor provides all requested and/or necessary follow-up and/or 
consultation to support parents and program staff with reporting or incidents involving reports 
or the removal of a child from the school program or by Child and Family Services. 

 The Mental Health Supervisor or assigned Mental Health staff actively collaborate with Children 
and Family Services to coordinate delivery of any/all necessary services to children, 
biological/foster parents to support family preservation, reunification and child/family mental 
health.  
 

For CSB Mental Health staff, above reporting procedures applicable with the exception of the following: 

 Inform and consult with clinical supervisor, rather than site supervisor. 

 Provide copy of the CFS report to MH Clerk and file report in child’s mental health file, not at 
site or child’s cumulative file. 

 
  
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
38 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

II. Services for Children with Disabilities 
A. Purpose 
The Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau is consistent with both Federal and center 
regulations governing the rights of the disabled.  Based on Head Start Program Performance Standards 
at 45 CFR part 1304, children with disabilities who are enrolled in Head Start programs receive all the 
services to which they are entitled.   
 
The Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau recruitment efforts include recruiting children 
who have severe disabilities and must not deny placement on the basis of a disability or its severity to 
any child when: 
(1) The parents wish to enroll the child, 
(2) The child meets the Head Start age and income eligibility criteria, 
(3) Head Start is an appropriate placement according to the child's IEP/IFSP, and 
(4) The program has space to enroll more children, even though the program has made ten percent of 
its enrollment opportunities available to children with disabilities. In that case children who have a 
disability and non-disabled children would compete for the available enrollment opportunities. 
 
The Contra Costa Community Services Bureau will access resources and plan for placement options, 
such as dual placement, use of resource staff and training so that a child with a disability for whom Head 
Start is an appropriate placement according to the IEP/IFSP is not denied enrollment because of: 
(1) Staff attitudes and / or apprehensions; 
(2) Inaccessibility of facilities; 
(3) Need to access additional resources to serve a specific child; 
(4) Unfamiliarity with a disabling condition or special equipment, such as a prosthesis;  
(5) Need for personalized special services such as feeding, suctioning, and assistance with toileting, 
including catheterization, diapering, and toilet training. 
 
The same policies governing Head Start program eligibility for children without disabilities apply to 
children with disabilities.  
 
The Contra Costa Community Services bureau has instituted a variety of enrollment placement options, 
including: 

 Joint placement with other agencies 

 Shared provision of services 

 Shared district personnel to supervise special education services 

 Shared enrollment slots 

 Accepting kindergarten-aged eligible children in collaboration with school districts when IEP 
states the need  

 Increased staff, such as classroom-support aides and volunteers 
 
There are two kinds of children with disabilities identified for services: 

 Children who may require special attention due to the specific high risk factors that do not have 
a diagnostic ability. These children may not have and IEP or IFSP.  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
39 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Children who have been diagnosed by a certified and/or licensed professional as “possessing a 
disabling condition and have and IEP or IFSP.”  

 
B. Definitions 
(a) ACYF-Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. 
Department of Health and Human Services, and includes appropriate Regional Office staff. 
(b) Children with disabilities-Children with intellectual delays (mental retardation), hearing impairments 
including deafness, speech or language impairments, visual impairments including blindness, serious 
emotional disturbance, orthopedic impairments, autism, traumatic brain injury, other health 
impairments or specific learning disabilities; and who, by reason thereof, need special education and 
related services. The term children with disabilities for children aged 3 to 5, inclusive, may, at a State's 
discretion, include children experiencing developmental delays, as defined by the State and as measured 
by appropriate diagnostic instruments and procedures, in one or more of the following areas: physical 
development, cognitive development, communication development, social or emotional development, 
or adaptive development; and who, by reason thereof, need special education and related services. 
(c) Commissioner-Commissioner of the Administration on Children, Youth and Families. 
(d) Day-Calendar day. 
(e) Delegate agency- A public or private non-profit agency that a grantee has delegated the 
responsibility for operating all or part of its Head Start program. 
(f) Disabilities coordinator- Person on the Head Start staff designated to manage on a full or part-time 
basis the services for children with disabilities described in part 1308. 
(g) Eligibility criteria- Criteria for determining that a child enrolled in Head Start requires special 
education and related services because of a disability. 
(h) Grantee- A public or private non-profit agency that has been granted financial assistance by ACYF to 
administer a Head Start program. 
(i) Individualized Education Program (IEP) - A written statement for a child with disabilities, developed 
by the public agency responsible for providing free appropriate public education to a child, and contains 
the special education and related services to be provided to an individual child. 
(j) Least Restrictive Environment- An environment in which services to children with disabilities are 
provided: 
(1) to the maximum extent appropriate, with children who are not disabled and in which; 
(2) special classes or other removal of children with disabilities from the regular educational 
environment occurs only when the nature or severity of the disability is such that education in regular 
classes with the use of supplementary aids and services cannot be achieved satisfactorily. 
(k) Performance Standards- Head Start program functions, activities and facilities required and 
necessary to meet the objectives and goals of the Head Start program as they relate directly to children 
and their families. 
(l) Related services- Transportation and such developmental, corrective, and other supportive services 
as are required to assist a child with a disability to benefit from special education, and includes speech 
pathology and audiology, psychological services, physical and occupational therapy, recreation, 
including therapeutic recreation, early identification and assessment of disabilities in children, 
counseling services, including rehabilitation counseling, and medical services for diagnostic or evaluation 
purposes. The term also includes school health services, social work services, and parent counseling and 
training. It includes other developmental, corrective or supportive services if they are required to assist 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
40 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

a child with a disability to benefit from special education, including assistive technology services and 
devices. 
(1) Assistive technology Device- Any item, piece of equipment, or product system, whether acquired 
commercially off the shelf, modified, or customized, that is used to increase, maintain, or improve 
functional capabilities of individuals with disabilities. 
(2) Assistive technology service- Any service that directly assists an individual with a disability in the 
selection, acquisition, or use of an assistive technology device. The term includes: The evaluation of the 
needs of an individual with a disability; purchasing, leasing, or otherwise providing for the acquisition of 
assistive technology devices by individuals with disabilities; selecting, designing, fitting, customizing, 
adapting, applying, maintaining, repairing, or replacing of assistive technology devices; coordinating and 
using other therapies, interventions, or services with assistive technology devices, such as those 
associated with existing education and rehabilitation plans and programs; training or technical 
assistance for an individual with disabilities, or, where appropriate, the family of an individual with 
disabilities; and training or technical assistance to professionals who employ or provide services involved 
in the major life functions of individuals with disabilities. 
(m) Responsible HHS official- The official who is authorized to make the grant of assistance in question 
or his or her designee. 
(n) Special education- Specially designed instruction, at no cost to parents or guardians, to meet the 
unique needs of a child with a disability. These services include classroom or home-based instruction, 
instruction in hospitals and institutions, and specially designed physical education if necessary. 
 
C. List of Disabling Conditions 
The classification of a child as “having a disabling condition” requires diagnosis by a qualified 
professional.  Children with disabling conditions require special education and related services, due to 
one or more conditions including, but not limited to: 

 Autism 

 Emotional /Behavior Disorder 

 Developmental Delay  

 Health Impairment 

 Hearing Impairment and Deafness 

 Intellectual Disability as of Oct. 2010 instead of Mental Retardation 

 Learning Disabilities 

 Orthopedic Impairment 

 Speech/Language Impairment 

 Traumatic Brain Injury 

 Visual Impairment and Blindness 

 Other impairments 
No child will be identified as having a disability because of speaking a language other than English, 
economic circumstances, ethnic or cultural factors, or normal developmental delays. 
 
D. Responsibilities of CSB Full Inclusion Teacher 

 Work with the Site Supervisor, Comprehensive Services team and school district full inclusion 
staff.  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
41 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 The CSB inclusion teacher and the School inclusion teacher (Special Education Teacher) share 
joint responsibility for all students in the class with indoor and outdoor activities.  

 Obtain appropriate documentation (copy of IEP or IFSP) that identifies the child as having a 
disability and be aware of other services provided to the child. 

 Complete classroom child observations. 

 Ensure each child’s safety and assist identified children with self-help skills while they are 
receiving services. 

 Assist school district full inclusion staff with bathroom procedures including diapering and 
toileting. 

 Participate in case management and IEP/IFS meetings regarding children in the class. 
    
E. Responsibilities of School District SDC, RTI and Full Inclusion Teachers 
CSB does not directly supervise the School District staff but works in collaboration to ensure the children 
and families benefit from their services while ensuring the education and safety of the children under 
their supervision. 
        Full Inclusion Staff 

 Follow all Community Services Bureau policies and procedures. 

 School Inclusion Teacher (Special Education Teacher) and CSB inclusion teacher share joint 
responsibility for all students’ supervision during small and large, indoor and outdoor activities.  
Assisting full inclusion children in bathroom procedures (including diapering and toileting). 

 Responsible for providing the special education for identified children, maintaining accurate 
records of evaluations progress, meeting with parents and overall ensuring the children meet 
their IEP goals. 

 Participate in team planning for classroom inclusion strategies, case management team 
meetings, meeting schedules regarding full inclusion children and IEP meetings. 
 

       Special Day Class Staff 

 Ensure the safety of the children under their direct supervision (SDC). 

 Collaborate directly with the Comprehensive Services Team to ensure the family and children 
comply with CSB mandates. 

 While in the playground, SDC teaching staff and CSB Teacher share joint responsibility for all 
students’ supervision during small and large outdoor activities. 

 SDC teachers are responsible for providing the special education for identified children, 
maintaining accurate records of evaluations progress, meeting with parents and overall ensuring 
the children meet their IEP goals. 

 Participate in case management meetings, SDC program collaboration meetings and children IEP 
meetings. 
 

       RTI Teaching Staff 

 Ensure children’s safety while providing direct supervision under RTI. (Tier II and III) 

 Collaborate directly with the Comprehensive Services Team to ensure the family and children 
comply with CSB mandates. 

 Participate in case management meetings, RTI program collaboration meetings and children IEP 
meetings. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
42 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

       CSB Site Supervisor Responsibilities 

 Maintain communication with school District staff (teachers and/or therapists) under the 
various programs in an effort to coordinate delivery of services at the site level such as: Ordering 
classrooms supplies, ordering meals/snacks, building maintenance/repairs, communicating site 
events, etc. 

 Monitor the safety transition of children going in and out of the classrooms and in and out of 
sites such as playground transitions, playground rations, bus arrival/departing, etc. 

 Ensure the teachers participation or represents teachers in IEP and/or case managements as 
needed based on family/child needs. 

 Maintain communication with Disability Manager and AD about the program progress in an 
effort to strengthen up the collaboration. 

 
F. Responsibilities of the Comprehensive Services Team 
1. Comprehensive Services Clerks 

 Complete CSB temp file package at intake.  

 Flag the file the file using the red/yellow flag system to alert the staff and assistant manager 
about the child’s health, nutrition, socio- emotional, developmental, parental concerns and 
family needs. 

 Communicate to comprehensive services assistant manager if child’s physical exam/baby well 
check and/or sensory/developmental screening results indicate concerns. 

 Keep accurate records of children health/nutrition and families services information. 
2. Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers 

 Review and follow up children intake packages flagged with the red/yellow flag system. 

 Review all records related to the child’s heath history, medical records and screening results to 
ensure children with suspected or identified concerns receive further evaluations and services. 

 Lead and coordinate case managements as needed to provide early interventions to children 
with identified concerns based on health, nutrition, socio-emotional and developmental 
screenings. 

 Lead and coordinate pre-enrollment case managements for new children entering our program 
with identified health, nutritional, socio-emotional and developmental needs. 

 Maintain close communication with parents and staff to ensure delivery of services, resources 
and/or referrals are in place; based on the individual needs of the child and the family. 

 With parental consent participate in IEP/IFSP meetings and any other meetings related to the 
services the child/family are receiving.    

 Maintain accurate and up-to-date documentation regarding current IEP/IFSP and other services 
provided to the child and family in the children’s file and in CLOUDS. 

 Coordinate, schedule and participate with the site supervisor in transition planning for children 
moving from Early Head Start to Head Start and from Head Start to preschool; especially for 
those children with IEP and IFSP. 

 When no other alternative is available, coordinate and schedule transportation with the 
comprehensive services team to transport the child/family to receive further 
evaluations/assessments or to the IEP/IFSP meeting. 

 Consult and maintain open communication with the disability services manager and any other 
content area managers as needed. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
43 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

3. Responsibilities of the Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager 

 Coordinate and Monitor the delivery of services provided by Community Services Bureau in 
collaboration with outside agencies to children with suspected and diagnosed disabilities and 
their families. 

 Review, update and implement the Community Services Bureau Disability Services Plan.   

 Review, update and train Community Services Bureau staff on following disability protocols to 
ensure policies and procedures are implemented consistently. 

 Create, review, and update interagency agreements with community agencies serving children 
with disabilities in an effort to:   

o Participate in the public agency's Child Find plan under Part B of IDEA, 
o Joint trainings of staff and parents,  
o Create procedures for mutual referrals and placements,  
o Plan transitions support to children and families,  
o Resource sharing, and  
o Any other items agreed by both agencies.  

 Coordinate delivery of services and provision to children with suspected or diagnosed disability.  
o Coordinate with other content area managers the timely completion of health/cognitive 

screenings.  
o Monitor site data reports to ensure that children received early intervention as a result 

of their screening and assessments results.  
o Participate in case management meetings and IEP/IFSP meetings as needed. 
o Assist teaching staff with trainings based on a specific disability or as requested. 
o Monitor the implementation of services provided to children with disabilities based on 

their IEP or IFSP goals and objectives. 
o Monitor the disability referrals tracking system to ensure child referrals are followed up 

accordingly. 
o Coordinate and monitor classrooms adaptations, accommodations and modification 

based on the individual needs of the child.  
o Assist identified parents with resources and advocacy information to prepare for 

meeting with the Regional Center or School District to develop an Individual Family 
Services Plan (IFSP) or an Individual Education Program (IEP).  

o Regularly visit classrooms to ensure that children with suspected and identified 
disabilities receive the individualization and accommodation they need based on their 
IEP and their individual needs. Monitor the delivery of services from both Community 
Services Bureau and the collaborative agencies. 

o Monitor delivery of services to children with disabilities and their families when 
transitioning from home to center based program, from infant/toddler program (EHS) to 
Preschool Program (HS) and from Preschool Program (HS) to Kindergarten. Participate in 
transition plans and meetings as needed. 

 Provide disability content area assistance, support to upper management, teaching staff 
including home based and comprehensive services team.  

 Monitor disability reports for accuracy and timely completion of delivery of services to comply 
with PIR (Program Information Report) requirements. 

 Review Program Self-Assessment reports and create follow up action plans when needed. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
44 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Manage allocated funds to purchase or lease of special equipment and materials for use in the 
program and home to assist the child to move, communicate, improve functioning or address 
objectives which are listed in the child's IEP/IFSP. 

 Track and provide detail report of the number of children with disabilities in HS/EHS services 
area, including types of disabilities to Assistant Directors. 

 
G. Documentation of Disabilities Services 
CSB must maintain records from all services provided to children with disabilities and their families.  
Children’s records are confidential and are maintained in locked files and password-protected in the 
CLOUDS data system.  Data from these records are used to prepare the annual Program Information 
Report (PIR). 
 
H. Postural Supports / Protective Devices 
The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager works with educational and health staff to ensure that 
children with disabilities use approved medical devices including, postural or supportive restraints that 
are in accordance with state requirements and have CSB approval. 
 
Children needing protective, postural or medical devices due to a disability condition must have a 
written request from a physician or an IEP/IFSP Team indicating such need. 
The use of any medical appliances, devices or supportive restraints must be secure and able to be 
released in a way that is in compliance with fire clearance and earthquake safety. 
 
CSB Teachers directly working with the children and Site Supervisor should be trained in the use and 
care of such devices prior to the child starting the program. The training should be documented in the 
case management notes with attached signatures of the trainer and trainees. 
 
I. Disabilities Resources 
The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager works with the Special Education Local Plan Area 
(SELPA) and other collaborative agencies to utilize all available resources to ensure the best involvement 
of the child and family in the program.  The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager is responsible 
for developing a coordinated plan with all agencies working with the child and family. 
 
J. Service Plan 
Community Services Bureau develops annually a disabilities service plan based on the community 
assessment results, providing strategies for meeting the community needs and the special needs of 
children with disabilities and their parents. The purpose of this plan is to assure:  

 That all components of the Community Services Bureau program are appropriately involved in 
the integration of children with disabilities and their parents.  

 Those resources are used efficiently. 
The Community Services Bureau Disability Manager coordinates with other service managers the 
provisions for children with disabilities to be included in the full range of activities and services normally 
provided to all Head Start children and provisions for any modifications necessary to meet the special 
needs of the children with disabilities. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
45 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

K. Disabilities Budget Coordination 
The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager is the designated liaison for special education services.  
Disabilities services outlined in the budget follow the regular budget procedure of parent and staff input 
with final approval. 
 
L. Special Education Budget Allocation 
The CSB program works within its budget to assist in providing needed services to children with 
disabilities. The program accesses all available sources to insure that all needs identified in the IEP or 
IFSP are met. This includes the local and state LEAs, SSI funding, other agency support, and local 
educational institutions.  Every effort is made to utilize community resources to meet the needs of each 
child with disabilities enrolled in the program. 
 
M.  Disabilities Screenings 
All preschool children are screened by the teaching staff in the areas of social and emotional 
development, speech and language, motor and cognitive development.  All infants and toddlers are 
screened for cognitive development.  The Comprehensive Services Team screens preschool children in 
hearing, vision, and nutrition, within 45 days of enrollment and follow CHDP schedule thereafter. 
Parents are informed about all screenings, their purpose, and give consent in advance before staff can 
complete the screenings.  Comprehensive services complete the screening results form to communicate 
results to parents. The results from the screenings are used for beginning the individualization process 
for each child. 
 
The Site Supervisors are responsible for working with the Teachers and Comprehensive Services Team to 
ensure that the speech and language screening tool, the social/emotional, sensory and developmental 
screenings are completed within 45 days of entry.  Lead teachers must review and initial all education 
screenings to ensure they are accurately completed and meet required timelines. 
 
Designated site staff enters the screening data in CLOUDS.  The Teacher places original documents of 
the Speech and Language Checklist, Brigance Cognitive Screening and Devereux Early Childhood 
Assessment (DECA) behavioral screening in the Education section of the family file.  If concerns are 
noted, the appropriate service area staff will follow up to ensure services meet the needs of the child.  
Teachers will give each child time to adjust to the new environment before completing the screenings.  
Children whose screenings show concerns may be rescreened within thirty days to ensure the validity of 
the original screening. 
 
If concerns arise after re-screening, the Teacher (for cognitive-Socio emotional-SP/L screenings results) 
or the Comprehensive Services staff (for sensory screenings results) will communicate with the Site 
Supervisor and Compressive Services Assistant Manager to follow up with strategies to refer the child 
for further evaluations.  
 
N. Evaluations 
All children identified as needing further evaluation are referred to the appropriate agency or 
professional for further evaluation and assessment.  The referral follows the established referral 
procedure: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
46 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Through a case management, the guardian’s permission is obtained. 

 The teacher, Home Educator or Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager follows through on 
accessing the appropriate services. 

 When no other alternative is available, the Comprehensive Services Team provides 
transportation for the family and child to obtain evaluations. 

 The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager monitors the referrals and supports parents and 
staff as needed.  

 The Comprehensive Services Manager is available to provide knowledge and expertise to handle 
challenging cases. 

 
O. Accessibility of Facilities 
All Community Services Bureau facilities provide for handicapped accessibility; in addition special 
furniture, equipment and materials are provided in conjunction with other agencies working with the 
child based on their individual needs and their IEP or IFSP. 
 
P. Disabilities Transitioning Services    
All infant toddler transition plans start when the child turns 30 months old.  The Parent, Site Supervisor, 
Teacher and Comprehensive Service Assistant Manager write the transition using the Infant Toddler 
Transition Plan Form (CSB 161).  This meeting is to plan what needs to be in place for when the child 
ages out the EHS program.  Children with current IFSP are included in this plan.   
 
In addition when a child with IFSP turns 30 months and no later than 90 days prior to their 3rd birthday 
the family and child will transition from the Early Intervention Program (Part C Services of IDEA) to the 
School District (Part B of IDEA) as part of the IFSP transition.   This meeting includes but is not limited to 
the Parent and any family member for support, the Early Intervention Provider, the School District 
Coordinator, the Special Education teacher, the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager or 
Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager, and the CSB teacher or Home Educator. The team will 
create a transition plan; evaluate the child’s strengths and areas of concerns, schedule further 
evaluation by the School District and schedule a diagnosis meeting.  At the end of the evaluations the 
child may or may not qualify for an IEP services under the School District and exit the Early Intervention 
Program (IFSP) the day before the child turns 3 yrs. old.  
 
Another opportunity for transition starts when the child qualifies for an IEP and CSB placement is 
available at the site.  For that a case management conference is held to evaluate and plan how to best 
serve the child at the site and how to support his/her learning based on his/her IEP.  Evaluation of the 
classroom and outdoor environment will take place to identify accommodations needed including 
adaptive furniture or materials, modification of classroom schedules and routines to meet the individual 
needs of the child.  This Transition Plan may include a gradual transition that involves both programs 
over a period of time.  Any needed staff training will be provided as part of the plan. 
 
For children transitioning out of the program into another program, the Teacher, Home Educator or 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager coordinates with parent and School District to how to 
support the child’s transition. The meeting is to explore possible placements for the child.  Included in 
the meeting are the child’s Guardian, School District Coordinator, Teacher or Home Educator, and other 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
47 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

professionals providing services for the child and family.  When the best possible placement is decided 
for the child, the Teacher and the family initiate a meeting with the new Teacher.  At that time, a plan 
for a gradual transition including visits to the new program and sharing information about the child and 
their individual plan takes place. 
 
Q. Transition Policy for Early Head Start Children Receiving Mental Health or Special Education Services 
As CSB’s Mental Health services have expanded to include services for the EHS children, CSB must 
consider these children with disabilities in transitioning from the EHS program to the HS program.  If an 
EHS child who is receiving mental health or special education services turns 3, the child must not 
automatically be terminated from the program.  Transition planning must consider the child’s individual 
developmental and emotional needs as well as age.  The Head Start performance standards, Sections 
1304.41(c) (1) and 1304.41(c) (2), require programs to establish transition procedures which take into 
account the child’s health status and developmental level and current and changing family 
circumstances among others, and allow for a child to remain in Early Head Start, following his or her 
third birthday, for additional months until he or she can transition into Head Start or another program.  
(Based on licensing regulation this might not apply to all EHS programs). 
 
In order to meet these Head Start and Early Head Start requirements and to address each child’s 
individual situation, the following policy regarding transitions will be in effect and only if the EHS 
blended program can accommodate such transition: 

 If a child is receiving mental health services from Community Services Bureau’s Mental Health 
unit, a transition-planning meeting will take place approximately 3 months before the child’s 3rd 
birthday to address this child’s individual circumstances.  The family, teachers, Site Supervisor 
and Mental Health clinician will participate in this meeting. This meeting is coordinated by the 
MH clinician. 

 If it is determined that the child is developmentally and/or emotionally not ready to move into 
the HS program, the child can remain in the EHS program until such time when it is determined 
that the child is ready to transition to the HS classroom. 

 If there is a time gap between the child’s 3rd birthday and the beginning of the HS program, in 
order to ensure continuity in educational and mental health services to this child, the child may 
remain in the EHS program until he/she can transition into the HS classroom. Follow up meeting 
with all caregivers can be held as appropriate. 

 
R. Special Education and Related Services 
All infants/toddlers and preschool age children entering Community Services Bureau must have a well-
child exam within 30 days of enrollment. Those preschool children who did not receive a hearing and 
vision screening as part of their well child exam will be screened by in-house certified trainers within 45 
days of enrollment.  
 
Any children identified as having a concern are referred back to their physician for further evaluation or 
referred to a community agency for assessment.  Children who qualify after assessment receive services 
from the Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA) or the Regional Center under an IEP or IFSP plan in 
accordance with our interagency agreement. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
48 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

A Mental Health Consultant is available to discuss behavioral/mental health concerns that the family, 
teacher or home visitor may have about a child.  The consultant will share non-confidential results with 
the teacher/Home Educator and families, and work with them to develop a plan for the child.  
 
When no other alternative is available, the Comprehensive Services Team provides transportation for 
the guardians and child to obtain evaluations. When services are not provided on site, parents are 
assisted in finding public transportation to clinics or service providers. 
 
Community Services Bureau works collaboratively with all other agencies involved with the child and the 
family to meet the objectives in the IEP or IFSP.   
 
Community Services Bureau, subject to budgetary allowances, will purchase any assistive devices 
identified in the IEP or IFSP that cannot be funded through outside agencies. 
 
Comprehensive Services staff undertakes collaborative partnerships with individual families to develop a 
Family Partnership Agreement twice a year. The Comprehensive Services staff provides families with 
community resources such as, parent support groups, parent trainings, advocacy and child development 
among others to assist families reaching their FPA goals. 
 
S. Special Education Services with Other Agencies 
Following the preschool age child assessment administered by the Local Education Agency (LEA), an IEP 
is held which includes the family, the teacher or Home Educator and/or Comprehensive Services 
Assistant Manager, and the LEA representative.  At that time, the appropriate placement is determined 
and a service plan is developed for the child. For children who do not qualify for placement with the LEA, 
Community Services Bureau addresses the child's individual needs within the classroom or home based 
visit and provides required support and services. 
 
For a child with disabilities transitioning in or out of the program, an IEP meeting is held to develop a 
plan to work together toward common goals. The meeting includes the Family, the Teacher/Home 
Educator, and the other service providers. CSB and the LEA share resources as appropriate. This 
resource sharing includes use of the classroom for any individual, family or group work that is necessary 
for the child's success. The LEA staff member shares ideas and materials with the CSB teaching staff 
when possible to foster attainment of IEP goals. CSB refers children to the LEA as soon as concern is 
suspected and does not wait until all screenings are completed.  
 
Children enrolled with a diagnosed disability and have a current IEP or IFSP, receive individualized 
education based on their unique needs. For Center Based Care, if a child’s IEP or IFSP indicates a part-
time schedule, he/she may share that enrollment slot with another child.  Children who have joint 
placement in Community Services Bureau and other agencies receive careful monitoring to insure that 
the program developed for them in each placement is working in concert with the other to provide an 
overall program that meets all the needs of the child.  Frequent communication among service providers 
is necessary to insure this.  The family plays a key role in assessing the success of the shared placement. 
T. Volunteers 
CSB welcomes community volunteers and student interns from colleges. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
49 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Whether paid or volunteer, all staff working with children with disabilities, are provided training that 
includes specific identified topics relating to the unique needs of each child. Also, general training topics 
include working with children in group situations and respecting child/family confidentiality. 
 
U. Special Education Staff 
Community Services Bureau ensures that the Disabilities Services Plan addresses program efforts to 
meet state standards for personnel serving children with disabilities.  Special education and related 
services are provided by or under the supervision of personnel meeting state qualifications.  
All staff working with children with disabilities meets state special education standards for personnel 
serving children with disabilities.  Training and supervision that meet special education standards are 
developed in collaboration with Local Education Agencies. 
 
V. Interagency Agreements 
CSB maintains an interagency agreement with the Contra Costa County Special Education Local Plan 
Area (SELPA) and the Regional Center of the East Bay (RCEB) to establish shared guidelines for providing 
services to identify children with disabilities within the CSB program.  
 
CSB participates in the Local Education Area (LEA) Child Find plan (Child Find is a component of the IDEA) 
by providing information on application and enrollment guidelines to the LEA and working with them to 
enroll eligible children. 
 
W. Recruitment and Enrollment 
All staff involved with the recruitment and enrollment of children is knowledgeable of all laws 
(Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Handicap in Programs and Activities Receiving or Benefiting from 
Federal Financial Assistance and of the American with Disabilities Acts) and Head Start mandates 
regarding children with disabilities.  
 
Interagency agreements between Community Services Bureau, Local Education Agencies and Regional 
Centers are developed, maintained and updated annually to aid in the recruitment, enrollment and 
mainstreaming of children with disabilities.  Referral sources are maintained, utilized and updated to 
provide needed services for children with disabilities. Special efforts are made to recruit children with 
severe disabilities. 
 
All staff involved with the recruitment and enrollment of children with disabilities receives training on 
children’s records as they apply to each child file. 
 
Obstacles (including staff apprehensions, inaccessibility of facilities, provision of additional resources 
necessary for child's specific needs, unfamiliarity with a disabling condition or special equipment, and 
the need for personalized special services) are addressed through needed program adaptations and 
trainings and do not affect a child’s enrollment.  
 
Enrollment placement takes into account the number of children receiving services under the disabilities 
area, including types of disabilities, severity of the disability, and services and resources provided by 
other agencies.  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
50 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
Resources and placement options are utilized according to a child’s IEP or IFSP. Children with disabilities 
enrolled in Community Services Bureau programs follow the same eligibility enrollment procedures 
stated in the Community Services Bureau Policies and Procedures and comply with all licensing 
regulations for center based programs.  Children with a current certified IEP or IFSP may have an over 
income waiver to qualify them for the HS/EHS program.  
 
Families whose children have an IEP or IFSP may qualify for an over income waiver for the HS/EHS 
program. At the same time families enrolled in double funded programs (State/Federal) may have a fee, 
based on the state portion of the program. 
 
Children with a current certified IEP or IFSP sharing blended state-federal funding need to comply with 
state requirements providing CSB with the copy of the IEP or IFSP and the Exceptional Needs Verification 
Form (See Form CSB65). 
 
The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager monitors the recruitment and enrollment of children 
with suspected disabilities and certified IEPs or IFSPs. 
 
X. American with Disabilities Act (ADA) Policy – Enrollment of Children with Disabilities, Recruitment and 
Enrollment Community Services Bureau serves children with disabilities and other exceptional needs, 
and their families, in all program options.  The following steps are taken to ensure full ADA compliance, 
to identify the unique needs of each child and family, to facilitate the individualization process 
collaboratively with parent and to make needed modifications in policies, practices and/or procedures 
as deemed reasonable. 
 
At intake, the individual needs of each child and family are evaluated. 
 
If it is determined that the child has a disability, whether developmental, behavioral, or health related 
(and may be documented by an IEP/IFSP) the parent is asked to provide documentation/records 
regarding the identified need. 
 
The site team, as well as appropriate Comprehensive Services Managers will review the records. 
 
A Case Management meeting is conducted with site team, Comprehensive Services Manager, parent 
and may include special service providers to: 

 Further identify child/family strengths and needs 

 Define needed accommodations/adaptations 

 Identify staff training needs and supports 

 Identify additional needed action 
Following the Case Management meeting and completion of additional actions needed, the site team, in 
collaboration with the Comprehensive Services Manager: 

 Will enroll the child or, initiate an Individualized Assessment of the child’s needs. 

 The Comprehensive Services Manager will lead/conduct the Individualized Assessment.  The 
process will be defined on a case by case basis which may include: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
51 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

o Reviewing additional medical or special services, records/information. 
o Gathering the most current medical knowledge and/or best objective evidence 

regarding the disability. 
o Child observation in the natural environment or through parent/child site visitations. 
o Medical guidance obtained from public health agencies, Center for Disease Control, 

National Institute of Health, including the National Institute of Mental Health, and other 
like agencies. 

Based on the findings of the previous actions, accommodations/ modifications will be identified that 
would allow for the child to participate in the program. 
 
The findings/case will then be presented to a management team (including the Assistant Director) to 
determine if identified modifications constitute reasonable accommodations or if CSB can demonstrate 
that making such modifications would: 

 Create undue financial burden/hardship (all resources available for use in funding and program 
operation will be considered) 

 Fundamentally alter the nature of the program (essential elements of program as well as 
essential elements necessary for participant will be considered) 

The management team must also determine that the child’s presence would pose a direct threat to 
the health and safety of the individual child or others (factors to consider include:  nature, duration, 
and severity of risk; probability of occurrence of injury; whether reasonable modifications of 
policies, practices, or procedures will mitigate or eliminate risk). 
The team will then: 

o Recommend enrolling the child in appropriate placement. 
o Or provide a written statement of the reasons for reaching the conclusion not to enroll 

the child based on criteria stated above. 
 
Y. Assessment Process of Children with Disabilities 
The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager coordinates with health and education staff the 
sensory and cognitive screening of all children within 45 days of enrollment. 
 
The Comprehensive Services staff is involved in the screening process of all children, particularly those 
requiring further evaluation. 
 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers evaluate the need for further specialized assessment 
after all standard screenings have been completed. 
 
In a case management meeting families are informed of screening results and are encouraged to sign a 
written consent for requesting further evaluations with an outside agency.  
 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers refer children for further formal evaluation to the LEA 
(3 years to 5 years) or RECEB (new born to 2.9 years) according to the established referral procedure. 
LEA agencies have 60 days to process the referrals and develop an IEP upon receipt of family intake 
package. RCEB has 45 days to process the referrals upon receipt of parent intake package. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
52 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

The evaluation procedure is conducted with the following provisions: 

 Obtain parental consent prior to evaluations 

 Informing parents of their rights and responsibilities under IDEA 

 Administered in a culturally sensitive manner by trained certified/licensed personnel that speak 
the child’s home language. Using more than one criterion in the determining of an appropriate 
program placement and having a multi-disciplinary team including the child's teacher to do the 
evaluation using assessment materials validated for the purpose for which they are used 

 
Z. Eligibility Criteria: Health Impairment 
Children will not be discriminated against if they present any health impairments such as, cancer, severe 
asthma, uncontrolled seizures, neurological disorders, rheumatic fever, heart conditions, lead poisoning, 
diabetes, blood disorders, cystic fibrosis, heart diseases, ADD, AIDS and other medically fragile 
conditions. 
 
Children who meet specific criteria including level of functioning, age, onset of indicators and 
documented reports may be classified as having Health Impairment. 
 
Children with suspected health impairments are referred for further evaluation. With the parent’s 
consent, CSB teaching staff will provide documentation of behavior observations relevant to the 
impairment, to the appropriate professional for assessment.  Upon receipt of a physician evaluation, a 
case management will take place to ensure that CSB can accommodate the individual needs of the child.  
   
AA. Eligibility Criteria: Emotional / Behavioral Disorders 
The identification of children with emotional/behavioral disorder involves specific behavioral 
characteristics, the use of multiple sources of data, and the review of the child's Head Start physical 
exam. 
 
Children suspected of having an emotional/behavioral disorder are referred for further evaluation to 
appropriate community agencies to determine whether IEP services are appropriate.  Upon receipt of a 
diagnosis, a case management will take place to ensure that CSB can accommodate the individual needs 
of the child in the classroom. 
 
BB. Eligibility Criteria: Speech or Language Impairments 
All children are screened for speech and language delays, within 45 days of enrollment.  Children with 
suspected speech/language delays are referred for further evaluation to RCEB or SELPA. If a 
determination is made for intervention or special education, an IEP or IFSP will be implemented through 
the outside agency (Regional Center or SELPAs).  When referring children for assessments, careful 
consideration is given to cultural, ethnic and bilingual differences as well as temporary disorders and 
delays that fall within the normal range for the child’s age. Upon receipt of evaluation and diagnosis, a 
case management will take place to ensure that CSB can accommodate the individual needs of the child 
in the classroom. 
 
CC. Eligibility Criteria: Intellectual Disability 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
53 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

“Intellectual Disability” is a new term in IDEA for Mental Retardation. In October 2010, Rosa’s Law 
changed the term to be used in future to “intellectual disability.” After screening children suspected of 
having any delays/deficits in adaptive behavior are referred for further evaluation to the LEA and/or 
physician and/or MH services. A case management will be in place upon receipt of the diagnosis to 
ensure proper placement and support for the child. 
 
DD. Eligibility Criteria: Hearing Impairment  
All children are screened for hearing loss through the program or their private physician. Children 
needing further evaluation are referred back to their private physician and to the SELPA or to the 
Regional Center. Upon receipt of evaluation and diagnosis, a case management will take place to ensure 
the CSB can accommodate the individual needs of the child in the classroom. 
 
EE. Eligibility Criteria: Orthopedic Impairment, Visual Impairment / Blindness 
Children suspected of having an orthopedic impairment including but not limited to spinal bifida, 
cerebral palsy, loss of or deformed limbs, arthritis, or muscular dystrophy are referred to their 
pediatrician for further evaluation. Children requiring special services are referred to the SELPA or 
Regional Center. All children have vision screenings through the program or their physician. Children 
needing further evaluation are referred to their physician, an ophthalmologist and/or optometrist to 
determine whether the child is visually impaired. 
 
Upon receipt of evaluation and diagnosis, a case management will take place to ensure that CSB can 
accommodate the individual needs of the child in the classroom.  
 
FF. Eligibility Criteria: Learning Disabilities 
All Head Start children are screened for possible learning disabilities.  Those with suspected disabilities 
are referred to their physician and RCEB or SELPA as needed. Site Supervisors with the assistance of 
Teaching staff provide classroom observations and child’s work samples as needed to document the 
child’s needs Upon receipt of evaluation and diagnosis, a case management will take place to ensure the 
CSB can accommodate the individual needs of the child in the classroom.     
 
GG. Eligibility Criteria: Autism, Traumatic Brain Injury, Other Impairments 
Children that present behaviors like autism, traumatic brain injuries or other developmental 
impairments may qualify for services under the Regional Center or SELPA. CSB supports the early 
identification and intervention of children at risk and with parental consent children are referred for 
further evaluation to outside agencies.  Upon receipt of evaluation/diagnosis, a case management will 
take place to review the IEP.  CSB will make proper accommodations and maintain the child in dual 
enrollment if CSB is the proper placement based on the child’s IEP/IFSP goals and objectives. 
 
HH. Disabilities/Health Services Coordination 
The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager works closely with the Health Manager, CS Team and 
other staff in the screening, assessment process and follow-up to meet the needs of children with 
disabilities. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
54 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

The Health and Disabilities Managers work together to ensure children's special needs are met and 
supervision of the administration of all prescriptions and over the counter medications occurs in 
accordance with state requirements.  Children requiring medication must have the doctor's instructions 
and parental consent before the medication is administered. Individual records of all medications 
dispensed and a regular review with the child's parents occurs. 
 
All medications must be adequately labeled, locked and stored out of reach of children.  Individual 
medical plans should be shared with the teaching staff and closely monitored for compliance.  Any 
changes in a child’s behavior related to a drug must be shared with staff, parents and the physician. Pre-
enrollment case management is encouraged to ensure CSB staff is aware of the individual needs of the 
child and accommodation can be made. 
 
II. Developing Individualized Education Programs (IEPs) 
The School District in advance notifies families in writing of the time, date, location and purpose of the 
IEP meeting in advance, to enable participation. Repeated and documented attempts are made to 
facilitate the family's participation in the IEP meeting. Opportunities are provided for reviewing the 
results of the meetings. Efforts are made to assure that families are knowledgeable about their parent’s 
rights and responsibilities under IDEA and understand (including interpreters) the purpose and 
proceedings of the child's program. 
 
Head Start must evaluate all pertinent information when determining eligibility and placement options 
of children with current IEPs. The IEP such as:  

 The child's present level of functioning in all areas of development, strengths. 

 The identification of needs in areas requiring specific services, challenges. 

 Short and long term goals and objectives. 

 Specific special education and related services necessary for the child to participate in Head 
Start including those services provided by other LEAs and professionals. 

 Personnel responsible for services provided, projected dates for initiation/duration of services 
and place of services. 

 And evaluation procedures to determine the achievement of goals including family goals and 
objectives. 

 
JJ. Disability Referral Procedures 
1. Description 
The first five years of the children’s life are times of rapid growth and learning.  CSB provides rich 
learning and nurturing environment for them to grow and develop; however, some children will develop 
at different rates and would need some extra support to reach their age appropriate milestones. The 
Community Services Bureau is committed to early identification of children at risk of developmental 
delays in order to provide the necessary early intervention that will lead to a better future for the child. 
 
2. Screening for suspected concerns 
i. Prior to enrollment during the application period the child’s file might be flagged using the Red and 
Yellow Flag System to alert the staff of known or suspected concerns based on the completed health 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
55 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

history by the parent.  The health history briefly screens children for possible health, nutrition, and 
socio-emotional and developmental risks.   
 
ii. Child’s Physical Exams/Baby Well Checkups provide a great source of information and they are given 
to us by the parents within 30 days of enrollment thereafter as required by CHDP (Child Health and 
Disability Prevention.)  
 
iii. Sensory and developmental screenings and assessments are provided to all enrolled children within 
45 days of enrollment.   
 
Children determined to be in need of further evaluation/assessment based on screening results, staff 
observations, and/or parent observation are referred to the appropriate agency with parental consent. 
 
3. Referral 
Based on the agency identified for referral, the assistant manager will explain in detail the requirements 
for their referral process, their timelines, and provide copies of the parent rights and responsibilities 
under IDEA to the parent.  It is crucial that this portion be clear to the parent and an interpreter assist 
the parent with any clarification. 

 Referral for Regional Center  (Children 0 to two years “2.9 yrs”)  
The process takes about 45 days from the date of referral. 

 Referral to Local Education Agencies/Family Home School District (Children 3 to 5 years) 
The process takes about 60 days from the date of referral. 

  
As part of a case management the parent is encouraged to sign the Child Referral and Parent Consents 
Form (CSB 501), only after understanding the referral process and his/her parent rights under IDEA.  The 
assistant manager assists the team by providing the copy CSB 501 form to be signed.   
 
For Mental Health referrals, the medical provider information is completed on the referral form and a 
copy of the child’s Medical card (if insured) is attached.  When a child is on disciplinary steps and has a 
behavior action plan, a copy of this plan, the child’s Devereux Early Childhood Assessment and 
Development Screening is included with the referral. 
 
The Child Referral and Parent Consents Form (CSB 501), is reviewed to ensure the document is correctly 
filled out after acquiring parent signature.  Additional signatures are obtained from the Site Supervisor 
and the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager.  
 
A copy of this form (CSB 501), is given to the parent, one to the assistant manager to process the referral 
and the original is placed in the file. 
 
The assistant manger reviews the signed CSB 501 and processes it immediately.  Once verified referral 
receipt by phone with the appropriate School District, Early Intervention Agency, or Mental Health Unit, 
the assistant manger completes the Response to Referral Form (CSB 502). 
 
Review referral before processing. The referral must be completed including: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
56 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Child’s Name 

 Child’s Birth date 

 Child’s CLOUDS  ID # 

 Child’s Center 

 Current home address (Encourage family to avoid   moving houses while the LEA is evaluating 
the child) 

 Family Phone # 

 Parent’s name 

 Parent’s language of preference 

 Child’s language of preference 

 No need of SS# or Medi-Cal for Disability referrals 

 CSAM referral contact / name and phone number 

 Consents for exchange of information and assessment should be initialed by parent.  

 Parent’s signature 

 Site Supervisor, CSAM or Home Based Teacher signatures 
 
Agency to refer information: 

 Determine Home School District for children 3 to 5 years old.   

 Access RCEB or other intervention programs if the child is under 2 ½ years old. 

 Fax signed form CSB 501 to outside agency and follow up with a confirmation phone call to 
ensure they have received the referral.  

 Complete Response to Referral Form (CSB 502) 
 
The original form (CSB 502) is placed in the child’s file while the copy is given to the parent attached to 
additional relevant informational resources. 

 The copy of the Response to Referral Form (CSB 502) is given to the parent  

 Community resources such as CARE parent network, IEP/IFPS programs description and 
advocacy resources are given to the family with any other resources they might have requested.   

 The original Response to Referral Form (CSB 502) is placed in the child’s file under the Special 
Needs section.   

The comprehensive service assistant manager enters the case management notes and 
intervention/referral information under the disability tab in CLOUDS (Intervention/Referral).  Copy of 
the case management (CSB 514) is placed in the child’s file. 
 
The assistant manager will contact the family for a follow-up within 30 and 60 days after submitting the 
referral to ensure proper evaluation meetings are in place, proper support is given to the parent in 
preparation of the diagnosis meeting, and ensure participation in the IEP/IFSP meeting. 
 
Additional Case Management will follow up as needed and/or as determined in the initial meeting.  
 
KK. Nutrition Services for Children with Disabilities 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
57 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

The Comprehensive Services Disabilities Manager works with the Health Services Manager and the 
Nutritionist to ensure that provisions to meet the needs of each child are incorporated into the nutrition 
program. 
 
Appropriate professionals are consulted on ways to assist Head Start staff and families in regards to 
children having severe disabilities and problems with eating. 
 
Activities to help children with disabilities participate at mealtimes are implemented in the classroom 
after discussion in a case management meeting. 
 
Case Management meetings with CSB staff, other professionals and families are held to meet the 
nutritional needs of children with disabilities including the prevention of disabilities with a nutrition 
basis. 
 
LL. Parent Involvement in Transition Services for Children with Disabilities 
Description 
In an effort to support the transition of children with disabilities into CSB programs, or children 
transferring from one Community Services Bureau program to another, the parent will be asked to 
attend a Case Management meeting (transition  planning meeting) prior to enrollment or transfer.  The 
focus of the meeting will be to: 

 Review the IEP/IFSP goals and objectives as well as identify parent goals for child 

 Determine the needs of the child 

 Insure appropriate placement 

 Plan program adaptations (if needed) 

 Support family and foster team approach for service delivery 

 Provide activities and information to the family to foster the child’s development. 

 Provide activities to the family to reinforce program activities at home. 

 Provide family with resources such as Social Security (SSI), Early Periodic Screening Diagnosis 
and Treatment (EPSDT) programs and other community resources and assist them in accessing 
these resources. 

 Provide family with information to prevent disabilities among younger siblings. 

 Provide parent with information about their rights under the Individuals with Disabilities Act. 
(IDEA) 

 Provide resources to family groups for children with similar disabilities who can provide peer 
and family support. 

 Comprehensive Services Team will support family through the children’s transition from Early 
Head Start to Head Start or from Head Start to Kindergarten or to other agencies. 

 

 

  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
58 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

III. Individualization in the Program 
A. Description 
Individualization is the process used to design a plan for each child that reflects their unique 
characteristics, strengths and needs. 
Individualization is based on information gained from: 

 Home visits 

 Child’s health and nutritional screenings and health histories 

 Educational screenings: Speech and Language, Brigance Cognitive Screen and DECA (Devereux 
Early Childhood Assessment Program) 

 Desired Results Developmental Profile (DRDP 2010) Assessment 

 Portfolio Assessments  

 Parent conferences and contacts 

 Children’s Individual Education Plans (IEP’s, IFSP’s) 
 
B. Individual Goals 
Individualization is documented on: 

 CSB Individualized Tracking Sheet 

 DRDP 2010 Individualization Form 

 Lesson Plans 

 First and Second Parent Conference Forms 

 Progress Notes 

 Case Managements 

 Behavioral Management plans 
Upon completion of the child’s first sixty days, teaching staff review the information collected from the 
parent contacts, educational screenings, the DRDP 2010 assessment, anecdotal records, health histories 
and IEP’s/IFSPs (when applicable) and determine a minimum of seven goals (2 Social emotional, 3 
Cognitive, 1 Motor and 1 Health and Safety) based on the Infant/Toddler and Preschool domains. 
 
Each child‘s goals including their DRDP 2010 measure number are listed on the CSB Individualized 
Tracking sheet form under the appropriate category. IEP/IFSP goals and special health goals such as 
nutrition interventions are listed on the form under Special Needs. In addition, each child is assigned a 
letter code that is used to document individualized activities on the lesson plan. 
 
C. First Parent Conference / Individualized Plan 
The first parent conference is scheduled within the first ninety days of enrollment. 
 
During this conference, the teacher and parents discuss the child’s progress based on screenings, DRDP 
2010 assessment, and parent observations.  The teacher and parent develop the goals for the child’s 
individual plan. The child’s strengths, individualized goals and activities that will support the 
development of goals are listed on the conference form.  A minimum of seven goals (2 Social emotional, 
3 Cognitive, 1 Motor and 1 Health and Safety) must be specified with corresponding DRDP 2010 
measures. Home activities are also planned for the parent and child to engage in at home. Parent and 
teacher must sign and date the form.  
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
59 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

D. Second Parent Conference 
A second parent conference is scheduled within 20 days of the completion of the second DRDP 2010. 
During this conference the parent and teacher review the child’s progress on the goals and objectives 
set during the first conference and discuss parent observations and view the child’s portfolio.  New 
learning goals and objectives are determined in collaboration with parent. Parent/child activities to 
support goals are planned for the home.  
 
If the child is going to kindergarten, the Kindergarten Transition Packet may be discussed with the 
parent.  A signed and dated copy of the second parent conference is placed in the portfolio and the 
child’s file.  The Kindergarten Transition form is signed by the parent and included in the file. 
 
E. The Infant-Toddler Individual Needs and Services Plan 
The Individual Needs and Services Plan (CSB-180) is completed prior to the first day of attendance. The 
process includes a personal interview with a family member by a staff member. The form is then 
updated quarterly. Included in the plan is: 

 The current feeding schedule and the amount and types of food provided including whether 
breast milk or formula and baby food is used. 

 The meal patterns of the child, new foods introduced, preferences and voiding patterns are 
shared. 

Staff should be aware of and may share information about community nutritional issues that may be 
identified services that are needed by a child that are different from the normal routines shall be 
provided including but not limited to special exercises for children with physical disabilities. 
 
F. Lesson Plans 
Lesson Plans are posted weekly. The lesson plan provides a variety of developmentally appropriate 
activities and materials for the children to engage in that will stimulate their physical, social and 
cognitive growth.  The lesson plan includes activities that meet the children’s individualized needs based 
on the results of their screenings and assessments. Individualization is documented on a tracking form 
with the  children’s alphabetic code. These codes are added to the activities planned to meet the 
children’s individual needs. 
 
The lead teachers are responsible for: 

 Planning and developing the weekly lesson plan with their classroom team. 

 Submitting the draft plan to the site supervisor every Thursday. 

 Posting the weekly lesson plan every Monday, 
 
The Site Supervisor is responsible for: 

 Reviewing and approving the draft weekly plan. 

 Signing off and dating the approved plan. 

 Returning the approved plan to the lead teachers every Friday. 

 Ensuring the lesson plans are posted in the classrooms every Monday morning. 
 
 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
60 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

G. Developmental, Sensory, and Behavioral Screening 
All preschool children are screened by the teaching staff in the areas of social emotional development, 
speech and language, motor and cognitive development, and by the Comprehensive Services Team in 
hearing, vision, and nutrition, within 45 days of class entry, annually. Infants and toddlers are screened 
for cognitive development using the Brigance and for behavior development. Parents are informed 
about all screenings and their purposes in advance.  The results from the screening will be used to begin 
the individualization process for each child. 
(For more information on screenings, please refer to Part II, Services for Children with Disabilities, 
Section L, page 37). 
 
H. Assessment 
The Desired Results Developmental Profile Child Assessment (DRDP 2010) is the required assessment 
tool mandated by the California Department of Education and also includes the Head Start Outcome 
requirements. There is a DRDP for preschool, infant, and toddler age children. 
 
The tool assesses children in the four areas of the California State specified Desired Results:  Children 
are: Personally and Socially Competent, Children are Effective Learners, Children show Physical and 
Motor Competence, Children are Safe and Healthy. The DRDP 2010 assessment of children is 
accomplished through on-going observation of the child.  
 
Infants, toddlers and preschool children are assessed three times a year:  The first assessment is 
completed within the first 60 days of enrollment and the second DRDP 2010 assessment is completed 
within 150 days of enrollment, and the third DRDP is completed in May.  Assessment results are entered 
in CLOUDS within required guidelines.  Results of the assessments are shared with parents during parent 
conferences, are a basis for developing children’s individual goals and plans and are used for 
individualizing the lesson plans.   
 
I. Portfolio Assessment 
Portfolio assessment is implemented quarterly as an ongoing assessment process for curriculum 
development, individualization in the classroom and as a basis for communicating with parents. It 
enables primary caregivers, teachers and parents to follow children’s development over the year within 
and across curriculum domains.   
 
The teaching staff is responsible for collecting meaningful samples of children’s work including but not 
limited to the child’s writing, cutting and drawing skills.  Infant and toddler caregivers are responsible  
observe children’s growth and developmental changes and document those changes in the portfolios.  
Documentation may include photos, work samples that document developmental change. 
 
Information gathered in the child’s portfolio is used as part of the lesson planning process in which 
teachers reflect on gathered information and observations in relation to program goals for each child.  
Information gathered in the portfolio is periodically reviewed at parent conferences and home visits.  
New educational goals are jointly developed as the ongoing assessment process continues. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
61 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

If a child transfers to another center, the portfolio will be placed in the child’s file and sent to the office.  
The Site Supervisor will then route it to the new location; when the school year is complete (June 30), 
the parent will be given a complete portfolio to utilize with the teacher in kindergarten as part of the 
transition plan.  On July 1, a new portfolio is started for a returning child. 
 
J. Program Transitions 
Parents are given the opportunity to participate in and be supported in the transition of children into 
Early Head Start, Head Start and Kindergarten.  
 
1. Transition Policies and Procedures for Infant/Toddlers  
Transition into the infant/toddler programs will start for families during the enrollment process into CSB 
program options.  Parents and children will be invited to visit the center or other program options to 
meet center staff, family childcare providers, home educators, or other program staff, and observe the 
educational environment. Classroom orientation will be done before the child starts the program, 
followed by the initial home visit. 
 
To ensure a continuation of program services to children and families, infant/toddler staff and preschool 
staff will work in conjunction to provide a quality and effective transition to preschool. The transition 
plan from the infant/toddler program to preschool is mandated to begin six months prior to the move. 
The CSB Transition form (CSB-161) will be completed by the parent, teacher caregiver and site 
supervisor six months prior to the transition and updated quarterly. At that time, the child will be placed 
on the CSB wait list and the Comprehensive Services Team will be notified that a transition is being 
initiated. Comprehensive Services staff will schedule a meeting with the parents to determine eligibility 
for CSB programs as soon as possible. If the family is eligible, as per Performance Standard 1305.7c, CSB 
will ensure whenever possible, that the child receives HS services until enrolled in school. If the family 
no longer qualifies for CSB programs, they will be provided other alternatives including partner sites and 
fee-based sites. The persons involved during the transition will be:  

 Parents 

 Teacher/Primary Caregiver 

 Teacher in new site 

 Site Supervisor(s) 

 Comprehensive Services Team 
 

After three months, the above team will meet to update the Transition Plan (CSB161) and to discuss the 
preschool placement.  
 
Three weeks prior to the transition, the child will begin visiting their preschool classroom accompanied 
by their caregiver teacher. The length of the visits and the number of visits will be determined by the 
child’s comfort level. A final home visit will close the child’s file and the caregiver teacher will continue 
to visit the child in the new setting as needed. The infant/toddler file will be placed behind the new 
preschool file.  
 
2. Transition Policies and Procedures for Preschoolers 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
62 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Transition will begin for children and their families during the enrollment process into CSB program 
options.  Parents and children will be invited to visit the center or other program options to meet center 
staff, family childcare providers, home educators, and other program staff, and experience the 
educational environment.  The initial home visit will be used to begin the transition.  The 
classroom/home-based orientation will further enhance the process. 
 
A child transition plan will be developed according to the individual needs of each child.  The plan will be 
designed when the parent indicates an upcoming change of placement or when the child is scheduled to 
transition.  Staff involved in the plan development with the parent(s) includes: 

 Teacher/Family Childcare Provider/Home Educator 

 Receiving site staff 

 Site Supervisor 

 Comprehensive Services team 
 

Prior to a final transition, the parent, child and CSB staff (when possible) will visit the new program. 
A final home visit will be conducted to finalize the process and determine any additional family support 
that may be needed.  
 
3. Kindergarten Transition 
Kindergarten transition meetings are scheduled between December through March.  During the 
kindergarten transition meeting, parents are given information on their local school districts enrollment 
procedures and are given written resources to help their child transition to kindergarten. 
Representatives from the local public schools are invited to speak to parents about the transition to 
kindergarten. Parents are also encouraged to attend field trips to kindergarten classes and to familiarize 
themselves and their child with the school facility.  Site staff assists parents with the Kindergarten 
registration process, and if necessary, assist parents to obtain the necessary documents required for 
Kindergarten entry. 
 
4. Kindergarten transition planning for children with disabilities 

 Identify family concerns, priorities, resources that relate to the change, and parents’ 
expectation(s) of kindergarten. 

 Provide training to parents to become knowledgeable regarding the application procedure and 
their parental rights. 

 Review placement options, parental rights as they relate to responsibilities within the school 
system, and steps they can take to help their child do well in school. 

 Review child's progress and update records.  Complete “Authorization to Release Information” 
(CSB139). 

 Provide activities for parents to do at home to prepare their child for kindergarten. 

 Inform parents of transition meetings, and allow them to decide what role they will play. 

 Schedule an introduction for parents with their new contact, either in person or by phone. 

 Encourage parents/arrange a visit to the prospective school before their children transfers  
  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
63 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

IV. Curriculum (Education and Early Childhood Development) 

A. Child Development and Education Approach 

All CSB Centers implement The Creative Curriculum for Infants, Toddlers and The Creative Curriculum for 
Preschoolers.  Goals for curriculum promote children’s active involvement in their own learning.  
Children will have a learning environment and varied experiences appropriate to their age and stage of 
development that will help them grow physically, socially, linguistically, intellectually and emotionally.  
The education program  is guided by Head Start Performance Standards (45 CFR 1304), The California 
Department of Education, National Association for the Education of Young Children Developmentally 
Appropriate Practices, Program for Infants and Toddlers Caregivers (PITC) and Reggio Emilia Inspired 
Project Approach.  The Program Services Committee of the Policy Council provides input into the 
program curriculum and approach to children’s education.  
 
1. Educational Options 

 Center based:  Preschool/infant toddler full-day and Preschool part-day program options. 

 Full Inclusion programs: Children with disabilities are mainstreamed into center based 
classrooms in collaboration with the school districts. 

 Preschool Special Day class: school district operates two special day classes in collaboration with 
CSB. 

 Home Based:  Home base teachers serve as facilitators of children’s learning in the child’s home 
environment. The program provides one home visit per week for a period of 1.5 hours and two 
group socialization activities per month.  

 
2. CSB Educational Programs 
The curriculum goals are based on the State Child Desired Results and Head Start Child Outcomes. 

 Desired Result 1:  Children are personally and socially competent 

 Desired Result 2:  Children are effective learners 

 Desired Result 3:  Children show physical and motor competence 

 Desired Result 4:  Children are safe and healthy 
 
The curriculum is enhanced by the Project Approach to learning.  The Project Approach is a meaningful 
way to teach content built on children’s knowledge and interests.  Projects support the development of 
a child’s knowledge, skills, disposition and feelings.   
 
In addition, the curriculum is guided by: 

 Growing, Growing Strong: A Whole Health Curriculum for Young Children. 

 I Am Moving, I Am Learning infant and toddler gross and fine motor enhancement. 
 
B. Curriculum Implementation    
1. Orientation 
The CSB program operates year-round, and children are enrolling and departing throughout the year.  
Orientation is ongoing throughout the year. Orientation Steps are as follows: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
64 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Phase In: The first day of school is called phase in and lasts a minimum of two hours.  The goals 
for phase in are to welcome the child and family into the program and familiarize them with 
program philosophy and procedures.  

 During phase in, the teacher gives a tour of the classroom and play yard, introduces the daily 
schedule, lesson plans, parent conferences, emergency procedures, curriculum, screening and 
assessments, meal-time practices, celebration policies and hygiene practices.  

 The Site Supervisor informs parents about sign in-sign out procedures, parent and policy council 
meetings, attendance and drop off and pick-up policies, volunteer opportunity information, 
behavior management policies, sick child and medication policy and complaint procedures for 
parent and completes emergency forms (CSD-112).  

2. Classrooms 
Preschool Classrooms are divided in clearly defined interest areas including: 

 Block, Art, Science, Dramatic Play, Manipulative and Math, Library, Writing, Sand and Water, 
Computer and a quiet area where children can play alone or with one classmate. 

 There is a place where each child can keep personal belongings. 

 Learning materials are logically organized, age appropriate, open ended, labeled and accessible 
to children. 

 There are enough materials in each area for several children to work together. 

 Classroom displays reflect children’s work and activities. 

 Classroom rules are generated by the children and posted.  Rules are phrased in positive terms, 
for example instead of saying “no running”, say “walk”. 

 Classroom helper charts are posted. 

 The classroom is inviting to families with displays of family photographs, parent information 
boards, and some adult sized furniture. 

 Environments reflect diversity by including visual materials and activities that reflect diversity in 
gender, family composition, culture, language and ethnicity. 

 Rooms are designed to be attractive, comfortable and orderly.  
 
Infant and toddler classrooms are set up considering the needs, interests, and developmental level of 
each child.  In these classrooms, it is the child who drives the curriculum.  Teaching staff implement 
strive to plan based on relationships and adapt their behavior based on cues from the child.  In addition, 
activities are offered that facilitate child-directed learning. Classroom areas include gross and fine motor 
materials, sensory opportunities, books, and classroom displays that reflect family backgrounds and 
diversity. For toddlers, materials are offered in logical groupings such as manipulatives, blocks, art, etc. 
to encourage independent exploration.  Materials are rotated regularly as children’s interests and 
disinterests are observed by staff.  By encouraging communication with family members, classrooms are 
also able to reflect the experiences of home and neighborhood.   
 
3. Classroom Transitions 
In both the Early Head Start and Head Start classrooms, instructional staff ensures that transitions are 
considered for each child.  Transitions to and from indoor and outdoor activities are implemented 
intentionally, smoothly, and naturally.  Effectively managing and being thoughtful about transitions is 
important. Around three years of age children begin to internalize a schedule in that they can tell the 
difference between routine and transition activities from other activities during the day.  When activities 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
65 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

during the day are predictable, it can help children begin to understand the concept of time. Well 
planned transitions make the difference between a difficult and a harmonious day for early childhood 
educators as well as for children.  Anticipating what is coming next makes children feel they are in 
control of what is happening. The overall approach to classroom transition is:  

 Be proactive and be alert!  Have strategies to engage children who are having difficulties with 
transitions, and children who are learning the routines due to irregular attendance or being new 
in the classroom. 

 Always transition children in small groups, and ensure children are assigned to a small group at 
enrollment. This reduces confusion, distraction, and waiting. 

 Plan ahead and make transitions fun! Transitions are to be planned and anticipated, so that 
they are engaging for children and “empty” wait-time is minimized. Documentation on the 
Lesson Plan is recommended. 

 Prepare. All teaching materials and small group activities are prepared ahead of time so they are 
ready for the day and easily accessible.  

 Have a back-up plan for special events or sudden changes, such as when a staff member is out, 
or other emergencies arise during or before the transition. 

 Talk with the children and let them know when a transition is going to occur. Give children a 
warning or signal 3-5 minutes before. 

 Review transition safety with the children often and whenever needed, especially when 
providing required Pedestrian Safety at the start of the Program Year. 

 Follow the protocols outlined in the Transition Head Count Policy and CLOUDS In-Transition 
feature, which include a visual count and the required sweep of the environment.  

 Always sweep the environment before leaving the classroom or yard by physically walking the 
perimeter looking under and around thoroughly.  

 Communicate counts with all team members. 

 Quick and efficient transitions are a CLASS expectation in the Classroom Organization domain, 
Productivity dimension.  

 CSB has zero tolerance for lack of visual supervision! All designated caregivers are to be 
present, engaged, and calm during transitions. 

 There are a minimal number of transitions in the day.   

 All transitions that require children exiting or entering the classroom must be conducted using 
the Hourly Headcount and Transition form (See Form CSD-700 Head Count Form and CSD-700 
Hourly Head Count Protocol). Teacher placement is critical as the children transition, with one 
staff at the front of the group and one in the back. When there is only one staff member 
present, his/her placement must be such that she may be able to see every child as they 
transition.   

 
4. English Language Learners 
Education for English Learners is enhanced when preschool programs and families partner around 
children’s education. The learning environment includes usage of the child’s first language.  Promoting 
language understanding and use in this atmosphere encourages easy communication among children 
and between children and adults.  The following examples help promote language understanding: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
66 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Give children ample time to talk to each other and ask questions in the language of their choice.  
Continued use and development of the child’s home language will benefit a child as he or she 
acquires English. 

 Encourage free discussions, shared experiences and conversation between children and adults. 

 Provide games, songs, stories, or poems that offer new and interesting vocabulary. 

 Encourage children to tell and listen to stories.  Interest areas offer opportunities for teachers to 
teach content as children explore materials.   

 
5. The Project Approach 
The CSB curriculum is enhanced by the project approach to learning.  Projects are in depth investigations 
on a topic based on children’s interests.  Projects: 

 Must be relevant to children’s experiences. 

 Topics of study must be real so that children can manipulate and explore real objects. 

 Literacy, math, social studies, art, science and technology are incorporated into project 
investigations. 

 Parents and caregivers are an integral part of the planning and implementation of projects. 

 Project Components include: 
o Selecting a topic based on the children’s interests 
o Creating a web: ideas to incorporate literacy, math, science, social studies, the arts and 

technology into the study 
o Opening events 
o Involving parents in the implementation of the project. 
o Project investigations 
o Field trips and visiting experts 
o Documentation of Project process 
o Closing events   

 
6. Program for Infants and Toddlers 
The infant and toddler program is enhanced by the Program for Infant Toddler Caregivers (PITC) 
philosophy, which is based on the belief that infants have their own innate curriculum.  The CA 
Department of Education partnered with PITC to create the state Infant Toddler Foundations and 
Guidelines.  Goals are achieved through a responsive curriculum that is based on supporting the child’s 
internal motivation to learn. 
 
PITC Program Components Include: 

 Care in small groups 

 Emphasis on strengthening the child’s developing family and cultural identity so children 
develop a sense of who they are and what is important within the context of their culture 

 Primary caregivers 

 Continuity of Care 

 Individualized schedules and routines 

 Inclusion of children with special needs 
 
7. Ready to Learn Curriculum Enhancement 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
67 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Teaching staff implement strategies to assist children and their parents to successfully transition into a 
preschool or infant toddler classroom.  Teaching staff facilitate this transition by welcoming new 
families; nurturing and bonding with children; modifying the classroom environment; establishing school 
rules; teaching health, safety and nutrition practices; helping children make friends; and by establishing 
caregiver groups upon entrance to the classroom. 
   
8. Anti Bias and Supporting Diversity 

 CSB curriculum is based on an anti-bias, multicultural approach. 

 Families are asked to share their culture and traditions. 

 Food served at mealtimes is culturally inclusive 

 Teaching staffs reflect the populations in the classrooms. 

 Classroom activities and environments reflect children’s ethnic identity. 

 Environments include diverse visual materials such as pictures, books and photographs.  Games, 
music, planned activities and books reflect diversity in gender, family composition, culture, 
language and ethnicity.   

 
 
 
9. Teacher/Child Interactions 
Positive teacher child interactions build trusting, nurturing bonds between staff and children, which 
supports the children’s developing a love of learning.   
Teachers: 

 Welcome children and families into the program daily. 

 Foster positive social behaviors such as cooperating, helping, conflict resolution, and turn taking 
by using modeling, coaching and encouragement. 

 Speak to the children at eye level and move to where a child is to speak with them directly. 

 Use an appropriate tone of voice.  Teacher’s voices should not be heard above children’s voices. 

 Observe children to assess their level of cognitive development and social skills. 

 Facilitate child initiated learning by offering children choices and providing them with materials 
to manipulate and explore. 

 Engage children in conversations during work time, mealtimes and throughout the day.  
Encouraging verbal expression enhances children’s self esteem and cognitive growth. 

 Comfort children who are crying and validate their feelings. 

 Engage in activities with the children on the floor by sitting on the floor with them unless a 
doctor’s note with such limitation has been provided to the personnel office.  

 
10. Caregiver Groups 
Upon entry, each preschool child is assigned to a caregiver group of six to eight children based on their 
developmental and individual needs.  The teaching staff assigned to the caregiver group will plan and 
implement individualized activities for their group during small group time and assist them during 
classroom transition times. 
 
Upon entry infants are assigned to a caregiver group of three children per caregiver and a caregiver a 
group of no more than four toddlers. Infants and toddlers remain with the same caregiver possible 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
68 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

throughout their enrollment in the program to ensure continuity of care.  Caregivers design the learning 
environment to be responsive to the individual needs of each child.   
 
Caregiver Groups during Transitions:  

 It is CSB’s policy to transition in small groups.  

 Caregiver Groups are maintained throughout the daily activities, including transitions.  Groups 
can be named after animals, shapes, etc.  Each instructional staff works closely with that group 
at lunch and snack times, small group, bathroom time, hand washing, etc.  For children, this 
reduces confusion, distraction and waiting around and promotes attachment with the primary 
caregiver. 

 It is easier for a small group of children to go outdoors to indoors, get settled for nap, wash 
hands, etc.  When children transition in their caregiver groups, teachers enhance bonding, group 
interactions, and language. Caregiver groups also enable instructional staff to meet individual 
needs and be more responsive to the children.   

 When children are in caregiver groups, staff and children can take time for transitions and their 
schedule is more relaxed.  For example, if children go outside in a small group, there isn’t a mass 
rush to the door to get to the door first.   

 
11. Child Health and Safety 
Teaching staff integrates health and safety lessons and activities into the daily lesson plan.  Health 
curriculum includes:  I Am Moving, I Am Learning Gross Motor Activities, Little Voices for Healthy 
Choices, oral health, pedestrian safety (first 30 days), sun safety, transportation safety, hygiene 
practices, home safety, emergency safety including: fire, earthquake, shelter-in-place and school safety. 
 
Children wash hands upon entering school, before eating, after wiping noses, after touching animals, 
after sand and water play, upon returning from the play yard and after toileting. 
 
Staff inspects classroom and outside area daily to ensure all facilities, furniture, materials and structures 
are safe and free from hazards. Daily Playground Checklist (CSB form 136) is completed daily to 
document inspection of outdoor areas accessible to children. 
 
Teachers perform a daily health check of each child upon their arrival to school. Refer to section 2, VI. A 
daily Health Inspections for further guidance. 
 
For infants and toddlers, this practice is done using the Daily Communication Form where families and  
staff document for about each child at the beginning and end of the day.  The daily health check is also 
conducted and documented on this form. 
 
Teaching staff conducts head counts hourly and during transitions using CSB form 700 in accordance 
with Head County Policy as described in CSB form 700A, and checks that door alarms are set and all 
gates are secured at all times. 
 
Children are supervised at all times, and always supervised while toileting.   
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
69 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

12. Nutrition 
Children participate in learning activities planned to affect the selections and enjoyment of a wide 
variety of nutritious foods. 
 
Nutrition activities include: field trips, planting gardens, reading stories about food and nutrition, and 
sampling a wide variety of foods. Nutrition activities are planned for work time and circle time. 
 
Children are involved in simple cooking projects including making their own snacks and sandwiches 
weekly.  Teaching staff serve meals family-style at the centers.  Children participate in setting the tables, 
serve themselves, pour their own beverages and scrape their plates. 
 
13. Language / Literacy Curriculum Enhancements 

 Reading is Fundamental:  A federally funded grant that provides for three book giveaways per 
child.  Children participate in motivational activities prior to giveaways to encourage an 
appreciation of books and reading. 

 Learning through Literature Curriculum Enhancement: Each month teaching staff receives a 
picture story book to read to their classroom that contains a written guidance of 
developmentally appropriate activities based on the content of the story to enhance children’s 
learning. 

 Raising A Reader:  Colorful tote bags filled with books are taken home weekly by each child.  
Parents are encouraged to read to children daily and discuss the stories.  Books are multicultural 
and include Spanish texts. 

 Books at Naptime:  Each child may choose a book to read to themselves on their mat for at least 
10 minutes at the beginning of naptime.    

 
14. Pedestrian Safety 
Children and parents are taught the importance of pedestrian safety within the first 30 days of school. 
This includes educational videos and materials on pedestrian safety for both children and parents, 
various classroom activities and educating parents at parent meetings.  
 
15. Television in the Classroom 
Videos and DVD are not to be used in the classroom unless it is connected to a project tropic or is 
approved as curriculum enhancement. Videos are not to be used for more than 15 minutes at a time. All 
videos and DVD must be approved by the site supervisor before they are viewed at the site.  
 
16. Lesson Plans 
The Infant Plans, Toddler Plans, and Preschool Weekly lesson plans are designed to ensure that all 
classrooms provide developmentally appropriate activities consistent with Performance Standards, 
NAEYC Guidelines, and Creative Curriculum.  The plan communicates to staff and parents the activities 
for each day of the week. The lesson plan must include strategies and activities that are consistent with 
the emergent, project based curriculum and focuses on the children’s individual goals and IEP/IFSP 
goals.  The teacher submits a completed lesson plan form to the Site Supervisor weekly for approval.  An 
approved lesson plan is posted in the classroom by 8:00 A.M. Monday morning of the current week.  
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
70 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Lesson plans are completed at the center by the teaching staff, with input from parents and volunteers 
(CSB-105A Preschool, CSB-105B Infant Classroom Plans and Weekly Possibilities and CSB-105 Toddler 
Daily Possibilities).  These must include: 

 Individualization: activities planned to meet the individual goals of each child including IEP/IFSP 
goals.   Individualization is documented on the lesson plan by adding children’s alphabetic code 
to the activities planned to help them meet their goals. 

 Area Enhancements:  List of materials that have been added to centers to stimulate children’s 
interests. 

 Projects: activities or materials that are provided to facilitate children’s project investigations or 
explorations. Plan should include project related field trips and visiting experts. 

 Center Activity: a teacher planned creative activity that children may choose to engage in during 
work time. Minimum of two science activities planned per week.  

 Large Group/Circle Time – includes Music, movement, songs, finger plays, IMIL activities, short 
discussions, visiting experts. 

 Small Group Time: a minimum of three small group language/literacy activities and two small 
group math activities must be planned. 

 Outdoors time:  list of activities or materials that will be offered to the children in addition to 
bikes and balls. I Am Moving, I Am Learning Curriculum enhancement activities must be listed.  
Outdoor science, art or building activities may be included. 

 Health, Safety, Nutrition and Social Emotional activities should be listed at the bottom of the 
lesson plan in section entitled Weekly Activities Integrated into the Daily Routine.  These 
activities must also be reflected in the upper body of the lesson plan under the appropriate 
category i.e. Work time, Circle Time, Small Group Time or Outside Time.  

 
17. Required Elements of the Children’s Daily Schedule 
CSB daily routine blocks out times and establishes sequences for activities in the classroom.  It includes 
active and quiet times, large and small group activities, outdoor times and adult initiated and child 
initiated activities. 

 Greeting/ Health Check- each child and family member is warmly greeted when they enter the 
program daily.  A brief health check is conducted by the teaching staff including touching of the 
child’s skin and looking into their eyes.  Staff may ask a child how they are feeling.  Parents 
should remain during the health check and may be asked questions if there are concerns. 

 Work Time / Independent Choices – Children have access to all interest areas in the classroom.  
Project investigations and center activities are offered as additional choices for the children.  
Teachers add materials for children’s creative activities during this time.  Teachers work with 
children and ask open-ended questions to stimulate and enhance child learning.  A minimum of 
two science activities must be offered during the week.  (Approximately 75 minutes in AM).  For 
full day students, an additional afternoon work time of 60 minutes should be scheduled. 

 Small Group Time – The class is divided into small groups of ten children maximum.  This is a 
teacher-guided activity based on the developmental level of the group (approximately 15-20 
minutes in length). A minimum of three literacy/language activities must be planned weekly.  
Two small group activities a week should focus on math skills.  Small group time activities may 
be conducted anywhere in the classroom or outside.  Children must not be restricted to tables. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
71 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Large Group/Circle Time – Music, movement, songs, finger plays, IMIL activities, short 
discussions, visiting experts with large groups of children.  Every child is offered the opportunity 
to participate but no child should be forced to attend circle. Alternate activities can be provided 
until a child wishes to join the large group.  (Approximately 15 minutes). 

 Outdoor Play - Children are able to use their large muscles and develop socialization skills; 
activities include tricycles, wagons, balls, games, water tables, obstacle courses, music, art, and 
dramatic play activities (not less than 30 minutes).  Outdoor play is an extension of a child’s 
learning environment experience and reflects the same care and planning given to indoor 
activity.  For full time students, an additional 60 minutes of outdoor time should be scheduled in 
the afternoon. 

 Meal Times - Breakfast, lunch and a snack are provided for full time students.  Part time AM 
students receive breakfast and lunch and PM students receive lunch and snack.  Infants and 
toddlers are fed on an individualized schedule.  Mealtimes are learning times when teachers 
assist students with setting the tables, serving their own food and engage them in 
conversations.  Breakfast and Lunch approximately 30 minutes, snack 15 minutes. 

o Teachers are role models for the children. Adult portions are to model the CACFP-USDA 
Meal Patterns for Ages Three to Five Years Old. (CSB Forms > Nutrition > CACFP-USDA 
Meal Patterns for Older Children). 

o Each child in a part-day program will receive one meal and one snack that provide at 
least 1/3 of the child’s daily nutritional needs. A child in a full-day program will receive 
meals and snacks that provide 1/2 to 2/3 of the child’s daily nutritional needs. 

o Any child who arrives after scheduled breakfast time will be offered a nourishing 
breakfast. 

 Rest Time – Full day classrooms are required to schedule a one and a half to two-hour rest 
period. Infant and toddler classrooms also provide an “on demand” schedule for their routines, 
including napping. Every child is required to have a crib, cot or mat and once the children are 
resting, if all children are sleeping, one staff person may supervise the children. All children must 
be given an opportunity to rest without distraction or disturbance from other activities or 
children. Those unable to sleep may be given quiet activities to engage in. Teachers encourage 
children to rest by offering them a book, engaging them in soft conversation and gently rubbing 
their backs. No child is to be restrained on their crib, cot or mat at any time.    

o The napping space must be equipped with a sheet and blanket. The crib mattress, cot or 
mat is wiped with detergent as needed and disinfected weekly and when soiled or wet. 
Infant toddler bedding must be laundered daily. Preschool bedding is individually stored 
so that one child’s used bedding does not come in contact with another’s, and is to be 
laundered weekly.    

o Napping equipment is arranged to provide access to children and spaced to prevent the 
spread of germs. Cribs must be placed three feet apart. Cots are placed eighteen inches 
apart and children are placed napping so that each child is alternating head-to-feet. 

 
18. Infant Toddler Routines 
Infant and Toddler Routines include: 

 Nurturing time with the teacher caregiver 

 Indoor and outdoor activities  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
72 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Quiet and active play 

 Group play and individual play 

 Rest and relaxation on demand with a nap schedule for children over 12 months old. 

 Feeding/eating and diapering/toileting on demand  
 
19. Parent Involvement in Planning and Implementing Curriculum 
Parents are partners in the processes of planning and implementing curriculum, and are encouraged to 
participate in the program in a variety of ways:   
 
i. Home Visits 

 Initial Home Visit: Within the first 45 days of enrollment, teachers conduct a home visit.  Parents 
begin to develop a positive relationship with their child’s teacher through this initial 
communication.  The home visit gathers information about parent’s observations of their 
children and the goals they have for them.  The initial home visit gives the child an opportunity 
to meet the teacher in a familiar setting and may be used to plan individual goals for each child. 
Staff should make every effort to conduct the home visit at the child’s house.   
If parents request that teachers meet them in an alternate location or if they prefer not to have 
staff come to their homes, the other location will be considered “home visit.” See” Initial Home 
Visit” form (CSB170-Initial Home Visit and CSB170IT-Initial Home Visit).  If the parent chooses 
not to have the visit in the home the reason for that decision must be stated on the home visit 
form.   

 Each new family will be given a CSB Child Development Brochure, a toothbrush and guidance for 
tooth brushing and hand washing.  The teacher will also assist the parent to complete a DECA 
behavioral screening.  Teaching staff will enter the parent DECA in e-DECA and print out the 
results and add it to the child’s file. 

 Returning Child Home Visit:  For children who are enrolled for a second year in the program, the 
returning child home visit form should be completed (CSB-106).  As with the initial home visit 
every effort should be made to conduct the home visit in the child’s home.  Teaching staff will 
distribute a toothbrush and hand washing/ tooth brushing guidance and assist the parent with 
to complete the DECA behavioral screening. Teaching staff will enter the parent DECA in e-DECA 
and print out the results and add it to the child’s file. 

 Final Home Visit:  During the final home visit, the teacher and parent review the child’s progress, 
portfolio and assessment results. They may establish new goals, discuss kindergarten readiness, 
plan activities for the parent and child to do at home and address questions or concerns the 
parent has.  

 
ii. Parent Conferences 
All parents must be given the opportunity to participate in two conferences a year.  Conferences are not 
home visits. 

 First Parent/Teacher Conference – Within 90 days of the child’s first day of school, each parent 
will be given the opportunity to participate in a Parent/Teacher Conference.  During this 
conference, the teacher and parent(s) will discuss the child’s progress (based on results of the 
screening, assessments, observations, and child’s work), and will develop an Individual Plan (IP).  
A minimum of seven goals to include; two social emotional, three cognitive, one motor and one 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
73 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

health and safety must be determined during the conference. If the child has an IEP, the IEP 
goals must also be included in the plan. DRDP 2010 measure numbers must be reflected next to 
the written goals. (See Form CSB118A-1st Parent-Teacher Conference.) 

 Second Parent / Teacher Conference – A second Parent/Teacher Conference will be scheduled 
to review the child’s progress/objectives set during the first Parent/Teacher Conference.  New 
objectives will be developed if applicable. (See Form CSB118B 2nd Parent-Teacher Conference)  
For children going to kindergarten, a kindergarten transition packet may be reviewed with the 
parent during this conference or scheduled at a different time between December and March.  
Kindergarten transition packet checklist form should be added to the file with the second parent 
conference. 

 
C. Parent Involvement and Participation in Program  
Other Elements of Participation 

 Parents have the opportunity to participate in planning and implementation of field trips. 

 Families are encouraged to share their culture and traditions by volunteering in the classroom. 

 Parents are provided with individualized home activities by the child’s teacher to reinforce 
child’s learning objectives at home. 

 Family Literacy:  A variety of family literacy programs are offered to support parents in helping 
their children develops a love and appreciation of books.  These include Raising a Reader, 
Reading is Fundamental and First Books programs. 

 
D. Home-Based Option 
CSB’s Home-based program option provides opportunities for parents to enhance the parent-child 
relationship promote the education and development of their children, enrich the home environment to 
encourage their children’s learning, identify and refer children with special healthcare needs, 
developmental delays, or disabilities. Home Educators serve as facilitators, educators, and a support 
system for parents and families.  They act as vital links to the local community and resources.  All 
services provided to the home-visited family are the same quality as those given in centers. For Early 
Head Start, the parent-child bonding and attachment is one of the most important home visitation 
goals. 
 
The Home-based Option uses the center-based sites for socialization and plans activities with the 
parents to use the home as their primary learning environment.   
Head Start’s Home-based Option services include: 

 Providing one home visit per week per family (a minimum of 42 home visits per year), lasting for 
a minimum of 1.5 hours each. 

 Providing a minimum of two group socialization activities per month for each child (a minimum 
of 16 group socialization activities each year). 

 Nutrition objectives are accomplished through both home visits and group socialization 
activities.  The emphasis is on nutrition education, helping parents learn to make the best use of 
existing resources.  Parents receive information and guidance on menu planning, consumer 
education, and money management.  

 Home Start  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
74 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Home Start is a locally designed option to meet the unique needs of our children and their 
families in collaboration with exempt providers in Contra Costa County.  It is a model designed 
to support the parent’s work toward self-sufficiency.  It insures quality services for the children, 
their families, and providers; enriches the exempt providers’ home environment to encourage 
young children’s learning; provides early intervention services for the children and their families; 
identifies and refers children with special health care needs, developmental delays, or 
disabilities.   The program builds bridges for the exempt providers and families to link them to 
local community resources. 

 
The program maintains an average of 10 to 12 families per Home Educator with a maximum of 12 
families for any individual Home Educator. Services include: 

 One home visit per week for each child and provider lasting for a minimum of 1.5 hours each  

 Two group socializations activities per month for each child. During socialization, activities and 
training are planned for parents and providers to increase their knowledge about child 
development issues. 

 Monthly parent meetings are planned for all the parents. Parenting classes, parents support 
groups, and trainings are scheduled through the year. 

 All services provided to the home-visited providers are the same quality as those given in 
centers.  The only difference is the home setting is used as the learning environment, and the 
provider is the educator. 

 The resource center for parents and providers allows parents to meet and use materials in a 
central location.  Materials include manipulative and educational games for children, books, and 
audio and visual training materials for parents and providers. 

 
E. Classroom Assignments 
Children are assigned to classrooms and teachers in accordance with their needs, available space, and 
other relevant variables.  Each classroom must have a roster listing all enrolled children.  The Site 
Supervisor notifies the teachers of new enrollees. 
 
Copies of class rosters are continuously available on our CLOUDS System and are kept current as 
children enroll or leave the program. 
 
Classroom rosters do not list more than twenty children on any given day, per federal enrollment 
regulations except if a waiver has been granted. State Preschool not receiving HS funding may enroll 24. 
CSB centers maintain a minimum class size of at least 95% and a maximum of twenty children, and must 
never exceed the licensing capacity of the classroom. 
 
F. Adult-to-Child Ratio 
CSB’s part day Head Start program in governed by California Community Care Licensing Title 22 
Regulations which require a 1:12 ratio. However, Head Start regulations require that the maximum class 
size is 20 (unless a waiver is granted), so the adult-to child ratio in these classrooms is 1:10. 
 
CSB’s California Department of Education programs, including those combined with other funding such 
as Head Start and Early Head Start is governed by California Community Care Licensing Title V 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
75 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Regulations which require the following ratios:  For children ages 3-5, 1:8; for toddlers, 1:4; for infants 
1:3. For preschool classrooms, Title V regulations allow a classroom to be out of ratio for up to 120 
minutes per day. These 120 minutes allow for rest time in early morning or late afternoon and do not 
apply during the core instructional time of day.  During those times, children must be supervised 
according to the Title XXII regulation of State Licensing at 1 teacher per 12 children.   
 
Children under three years of age may not be in groups with more than eight children.  Each full-day 
classroom is staffed with a qualified Teacher and 2 Associate Teachers.  If this is not possible, an 
Associate Teacher may be substituted for a Teacher and a Teacher Assistant Trainee for an Associate.  
Each part-day classroom is staffed with two Teachers and Teacher Assistant Trainees.  
 
 
The EHS Infant and toddler classrooms have the following ratios:  Infants (birth – 18 months) is one to 
three (1:3) and toddlers (18-36 months) is one to four (1:4). Maximum group size for infants is six at all 
times.  Maximum group size for toddlers is 8 at all times. 
 
All staff inside the classroom and outside in the yard are responsible to ensure that all children are 
visible at all times and that they are being supervised at every moment. Teaching staff supervise infants 
and toddlers/twos by sight and sound at all times. 
 
G. Sign-In and Out Procedures 
1. Signing-In 
Everyone must sign in at a center: visitors and guests. Upon arrival, every child must be signed in by a 
parent, friend or relative over 14 years of age, denoted on the emergency contact list.  The full signature 
is required, along with the time of arrival.  If a child arrives at the center unaccompanied, teaching staff 
must bring that child into the center, and contact the parent (and State Licensing) immediately so they 
may return and properly sign in the child.  Failure to sign children in properly may require a referral to 
County Child Protective Services. 
 
For our part-day sessions, if a parent and his/her child arrive before the start of session or stay after the 
closing of the session, the teaching staff will remind them that the child is the parent’s responsibility 
during that time.  
 
2. Signing-Out Procedures 
The parent must always sign a child out at the end of the day. 
 
Children who leave and return to the center during the day must be signed out and in by an authorized 
adult, e.g. a child leaving for a doctor’s visit.  
 
Adults who arrive at the center to pick up a child must be listed on the Children's Center File Emergency 
Card.  Picture identification must be provided before child is released.  It is the teacher's responsibility to 
keep emergency numbers current.  At least two people must be listed who can pick up the child in an 
emergency.  
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
76 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

If a person picking up the child is not on the emergency form, written preauthorization from the parents 
is required before CSB staff will release the child from the center. Children will not be permitted to leave 
the center unless accompanied by a preauthorized adult.  Parents may not give verbal authorization for 
pick-up of children. 
 
3. Child Release Policy 
The safety of the children is the priority for all CSB staff; therefore the following policy must be enforced 
at all times: 

 All parents are required to complete emergency forms during the enrollment process. 
Emergency forms with the names and telephone numbers of persons authorized to pick up the 
child will be kept in the child’s file. Emergency forms must be updated at least every 12 months 
or anytime information changes. 

 Photo identification will be required of all newly authorized individuals or individuals not 
recognized by staff prior to release of the child. Under no circumstances will a child be released 
to an unauthorized person. 

 If CSB personnel are not certain the pick-up person is who he/she claims to be, the child will not 
be released. 

 Staff will not release children if the person picking up the child smells of alcohol or if staff has 
reason to believe the person is under the influence of alcohol or other foreign substance. 

 Staff will not release children to the person picking up the child if there is a court ordered 
restraining order on file against the person. 

 Children will not be forced to leave the center with someone they are not familiar with.  
 
4. Sign-Out Disputes Due to Child Custody Issues 
If a parent requests that the other parent not be allowed to remove a child from the center, Site 
Supervisor or Head Teacher must request a copy of the court order, and place it in the child’s file in the 
locked cabinet. 
 
The parent must be informed that CSB is not a law enforcement agency and cannot undertake that role.  
(A parent cannot be denied access to his/her child unless there is a Court Order.) 
 
If a dispute over custody should occur in the classroom, the teaching staff will deal with the family 
calmly.  The staff will ask the person if they would like to talk with a Supervisor.  If it seems likely that 
the parent may become violent, the teacher may release the child, and inform the parent that they 
(teacher) must call the police as soon as the likelihood of violence becomes apparent.  Should the parent 
leave with the child prior to the arrival of the police, the teaching team must be prepared to provide a 
description of the person, the car, and the license plate number.  The teacher must call her/his Site 
Supervisor to report and document the incident.  Such unusual incidents must be reported to an 
Assistant Director and to Community Care Licensing using the standard procedure.  
 
5. Adults Signing Their Child In or Out While Under the Influence of Alcohol or Drugs 
If the parent appears to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol, the teaching staff must call 911 
immediately to notify the police.  They must attempt to keep the adult at the center by discussing the 
child's day or other broad topics until the police arrive.  One staff member will call an Assistant Director 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
77 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

and inform him/her of the problem.  Allow the person to take the child if he/she insists on leaving, or 
the staff and children are physically threatened.  The staff must get the license number of the vehicle for 
the police.  If this happens, the teaching staff must: 

 Call the police 

 Call County Child Protective Services and file a child abuse report 

 Make an unusual incident report to Community Care Licensing. 
 

If the police arrive at the center while the adult is still present, it is their responsibility to determine 
what further action should be taken.  Only a police officer can officially determine if an adult is 
intoxicated.  
 
6. Late Sign-Out Procedures 
A parent is considered to be late when he/she has not picked up their child by the agreed upon time.  
Staff should not call parents to pick up their children before these times.  (See Form CSB132-Late Child 
Notice Procedure)  When a parent is late, the teaching staff will implement the following procedure: 

 First Time - The staff will verbally inform the parent of the importance of picking up their child 
on time.  This must be documented on the child's folder at the center. 

 Second Time - When the child is picked up, the staff will give a late child notice to the parent.  A 
copy of this notice will be kept in the child's file at the center. 

 Third Time - The staff will call the Site Supervisor.  The Site Supervisor will inform the parent that 
if this occurs again the child will be suspended from the center and placed on the waiting list.  
The Site Supervisor will give a "Late Child" letter to the parent.  A copy of this letter will be 
placed in the child's folder at the center.  (See Form CSB132.) 

 Fourth Time - The staff will call the Site Supervisor, who will inform the family that their child 
will be placed on the waiting list.  If the family receives collaborative funding from the CA 
Department of Education, a formal Notice of Action will be given terminating the state funding 
after the 14-day grace period for appeal. The Site Supervisor will notify the Assistant Director 
and the Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers of the change in that child’s status. 
 

Closing Time - If a child has not been picked up by closing, and no one can be reached to pick up the 
child, the Site Supervisor will determine the plan of action (which may include calling Child Protective 
Services).  CSB staff must never transport children from the center via vehicle or on foot. 
 
7. Full-Day Program Sign In/Out Procedures 
The number of hours for each child enrolled in a full-day program is based upon their Contracted Hours 
Agreement, completed with the staff responsible for enrollment at that site.  All full-day children must 
be signed in according to their contract hours.  Each parent will have an individual sign-out time based 
on their unique needs for full-day services and Contract Agreement.  The same procedures for late 
pickup are to be followed although "late" times will vary according to the parent’s contract hours.  
Parent(s) may request a change in hours through “Request for Change of Contract Hours” form.  (CSB-
607) 
 
H. General Classroom Celebration Policy 
1. Description 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
78 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

The Community Services Bureau avoids endorsing commercialism surrounding the holidays.  The focus is 
about learning and celebrating diversity.  The following guidelines are followed when planning activities 
with staff and parents: 

 Holidays are not a major part of the curriculum.  They are integrated within the total curriculum.  
No more than a few days and few activities are dedicated to any holiday. 

 Holidays are not a theme and the whole room is not to be decorated reflecting a holiday. 

 Learning about holidays broadens children’s awareness of their own, and other cultural 
experiences.  Activities must be thoughtfully planned and implemented for inclusion of all 
children and families. 

 Every group represented in the classroom (children and staff) is to be honored. 

 Teachers must not assume that everyone from the same ethnic group celebrates holidays in the 
same way.  Teachers check with the families to ensure that activities are indeed reflective of the 
cultures represented in the classroom. 

 Teachers must plan strategies for working with children whose family beliefs do not permit 
participation in holiday celebrations.  Their parents are to be included in planning a satisfactory 
alternative for these children in the classroom.  

 
2. Children’s Birthdays 
Children’s birthdays are very important and birthday celebrations are as unique as each child.  However, 
the classroom’s daily routine should not be changed to accommodate birthday celebrations.  Because 
children learn by example, and to reinforce the nutrition education in the classroom, the following ideas 
are suggested: 

 Giving and/or reading a book to the child and classmates 

 Bringing educational toys to share 

 Bringing a baby book or other symbolic item, or a special family story to share 

 Lead a game 

 Decorating the classroom 

 Performing magic acts 

 Leading a nutritious class project (any food provided cannot be served in place of regular food 
service)  

 
3. Inappropriate Activities in the Classroom 

 Staged performances, plays, and ceremonies where children have memorized vocal parts or if 
rehearsals are required 

 Lectures, where children have to sit and listen for a long period of time 

 Commercial displays 

 Adult-directed activities that focus on a product rather than a process (i.e., patterned art / work) 

 Combined classrooms with large groups of adults and children. 

 Graduation ceremonies with caps and gowns 
 
I. Field Trips 
1. Procedures 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
79 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Field trips complement the classroom educational experience, current curricula, and must be 
developmentally appropriate. Field trips encourage hands-on exploration and experimentation. Field 
trips permit the child to learn about his/her world (school, neighborhood, and community). 
 
Site supervisors must inform Nutrition office one week prior to date of a field trip using the Field Trip 
Form (CSB-115).  All field trip lunches will consist of sun butter sandwiches, string cheese, fruit, 
vegetable, and milk. 
 
Parent volunteers are encouraged to plan and participate in field trips. Only children enrolled in the 
classroom taking the field trip may participate. Parents may not bring siblings or other children on the 
field trip.    
 
Parents may drive their own child to a field trip after signing their child out of school.  Parents may not 
drive other students or parents on a field trip. 
 
Field trips are approved in advance by the Site Supervisor and are documented in the classroom lesson 
plan.  Teaching staff notifies the Site Supervisor or designee when leaving/returning from the trip.   
 
Parental permission slips are required for all field trips (CSB-114).  Transportation is provided as needed, 
primarily for staff and children. 
 
Travel time for field trips should be no more than 60 minutes in length, round trip, and allow for heavy 
traffic conditions when necessary.  Walking field trips are encouraged, with the destination within a half-
mile radius of the center. 

 A field trip should be completed within three hours, including lunch and transportation. 

 Full-day programs require a two hour nap/rest period. A field trip should not interfere with the 
regular naptime schedule.  

 Requests for additional time for field trips may be submitted to the Assistant Director for 
approval. 
 

Size of group – no more than one group of twenty children may go at one time.  AM and PM classes do 
not combine or change program hours to go on a trip.  Adult-to-child ratio on all field trips is a minimum 
of one adult for every four children (1:4).  This ratio may be adjusted lower (1:3 or 1:2) at the discretion 
of the teacher or Site Supervisor.  Staff (and volunteers) must have assigned groups of children for 
whom they are responsible at all times.  Each group must stay together, within the teacher’s area of 
vision/supervision.  Teachers are responsible for ensuring that each adult volunteer properly supervises 
his/her assigned group of children on the field trip.  Attendance on field trips will be taken at the 
following times: 

 Upon leaving the center 

 On the bus or van 

 Upon arrival at the destination 

 At random times during the field trip 

 When boarding the bus or van for the return to the center 

 After return to the center 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
80 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
Emergency information for each child, three blank accident forms, a cell phone, and a First Aid Kit must 
be taken on walking or driving trips.  (CSB-113-Field Trip Information and CSB-1015-Vehicle Use Request 
Form) 

 During field trips, each child must wear a tag at all times that only identifies the name of the 
center and the center’s telephone number on the front. Child’s name may be written on the 
back of the tag, but never on the front. 

 Field trip leaders must keep to their schedule, or call the center if there are any changes.  

 If there are insufficient adults, inclement weather or any circumstance that would make it less 
than an optimal experience, the trip must be cancelled. A well-planned field trip taken under 
adverse conditions or circumstances may become a danger.  

 
2. Planning Protocols 
When planning a field trip, the following must be completed: 

 Establish educational goals and objectives for the planned trip 

 Teacher, or their representative, is to visit the destination to check travel time and 
accommodations, and to ensure the safety of the children 

 The field trip planning form must be completed and submitted one month prior the field trip 

 If applicable, the request for change of menu and purchase requisition must be completed and 
submitted one month prior the field trip 

 Parents are notified at least two weeks in advance of the upcoming trip, at which time they are 
encouraged to volunteer for the trip 

 Children are prepared for the trip at least one week in advance through in-class discussions of 
field trip safety  

In Case of Minor Accident at Site or on Field Trip 

 A designated staff member with a valid First-Aid Certificate assesses the situation, and renders 
first aid if necessary. 

 If a minor accident occurs on a field trip, the teacher of an injured child must notify the child's 
parents on return to the center.  (As noted above, the emergency contact list must be on hand.) 

 The “Band Aid Report” form is completed, signed, and dated. 

 The teacher retains one copy for the center and gives one copy to the parents.  
In Case of Major Accident at Site or on Field Trip 

 The teacher calls paramedics immediately.  Classroom staff assesses the situation, and renders 
first aid as indicated for life-saving measures. 

 Injured children are taken to the nearest emergency facility and the teacher or Site Supervisor 
accompanies the child. 

 The teacher of an injured child must notify the child's parent(s) immediately.  (The emergency 
contact list must be on hand.) 

 The teacher must immediately notify the Site Supervisor, who will notify the Assistant Director 
and/or the Bureau Director or designee. 

 Licensing must be notified by telephone (with a follow-up of the “Unusual Incident/Injury” 
report) as soon as possible. 

 The parent may accompany the child in the emergency vehicle. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
81 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 If the parent is not at that location, the child’s teacher accompanies the child in the emergency 
vehicle. 

 If necessary, CSB staff will provide transportation for the parent to/from the emergency facility. 

 The “Accident/Incident Report” form (See Form CSB208) is completed, signed, and dated by the 
staff person involved in the situation. 

 An insurance form is also completed, signed, and dated. 

 The teacher retains one copy of the “Accident/Incident Report” and insurance form for the 
center, and submits copies of the reports (within 24 hours) to the Site Supervisor. 

 The Site Supervisor submits copies of these reports to the Assistant Director and/or the Bureau 
Director. 

 The CDE must be notified by the Bureau Director if the client is in a program funded by the 
state. 

  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
82 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

V. Child Nutrition 
A. General Description-Identifying Children’s Needs 
To implement a comprehensive system of services for preventing health problems and intervening 
promptly when they exist, comprehensive services is responsible for identifying cases for nutrition 
referral, follow-up and parent conference referrals.  
 
B. Nutrition Referral 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers and Clerks perform the following: 

 Review medical records, health histories and growth assessments 

 Identify nutrition risk following the guidelines listed below 

 Initiate nutrition referral in CLOUDS 

 Update existing referrals instead of creating new ones, so that all relevant case notes are kept 
together 

 When talking to the parents, use nutrition terminology as indicated on the “What To Say and 
What To Do” protocol (see Shared Folder > Nutrition > Training-Flyers) based on the specific 
nutrition risk when the child has a nutritional risk 

 Complete WIC/Food Stamp screening form with parent, and provide other nutrition resources 
as appropriate (weight, iron-rich foods, picky eater, lead poisoning, and other areas of concern) 

 Encourage parents to attend nutrition presentations, such as at parent meetings 

 Document in CLOUDS all actions/services provided to parent  

 Initial and date all documentation 

 Identify nutrition risk following the guidelines listed below 
 
2. Guidelines for Identification of Nutritional Risk 
Iron Deficiency Anemia – Criteria 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Blood Lead Levels 
Provide nutrition resources to parents if child’s blood level is below 10 ug/dl. If child’s blood level is 10 
ug/dl or greater, a referral should be made to the Comprehensive Services Health Manager.  
 
Diabetes 
If child has been diagnosed with diabetes, obtain “Child Diabetes Care Plan” from child’s MD.  
 
 

Criteria for Providing Nutrition Information to Child’s Parent 

Age / Years Sex Hgb Hct 

< 2 Both 11.4 – 11.0 34.9 – 32.9 

2 < 5 Both 11.4 – 11.1 34.9 – 33.0 

5 < 8 Both 11.9 – 11.5 35.9 – 34.5 

Criteria for Initiating Nutrition Referral and MD Referral 

Age / Years Sex Hgb Hct 

< 2 Both 10.9 or less 32.8 or less 

2 < 5 Both 11.0 or less 32.9 or less 

5 < 8 Both 11.4 or less 34.4 or less 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
83 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Underweight  
Input child’s height and weight under Growth Assessment in CLOUDS to determine nutritional status. 
Refer children with underweight status.  
If child’s status is underweight and there is a family history of small stature, a nutrition referral should 
not be made. If CLOUDS triggers an automatic referral, click “no referral needed,” and explain why 
under comments, unless there are additional concerns such as: 

 Failure to thrive 

 Developmental disabilities 

 Anemia 
For infants, initiate nutrition referral if following values are determined after plotting on the growth 
chart:  

 Weight-for-age < 3-5% 

 Weight-for-length < 5% 

 Head circumference < 5% 
 
Overweight & Obese 
To effectively manage Child Health and Developmental Services, nutrition follow-up must be 
accomplished in a timely manner and monitored through resolution of the problem.  Assigned staff is 
responsible for the following. 

 Comprehensive Services Clerks 
o Follow steps as indicated on the “What To Say and What To Do” protocol (see Shared 

Folder > Nutrition > Training-Flyers). 
o Download updated list of Overweight and Obese children, and distribute list to the 

respective Site Supervisors & Partner Agency Staff. 

 Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers 
o Monitor to make sure follow-up is completed. 

 

 Site Supervisor and Partner Agency Staff 
o Obtain updated list of Overweight and Obese children from the Comprehensive Services 

Clerks.    
o Distribute updated list of Overweight and Obese children to the respective teachers in 

the classrooms.  

 Teachers 
o Place updated list in “Nutrition Alert” binder. 
o Follow nutrition interventions for Overweight and Obese children in the classroom as 

indicated in the Nutrition Alert binder. 
o If child is extremely underweight or obese, staff will follow policies and procedures 

related to reporting suspected child abuse and neglect. Nutritionist and Health Services 
Manager are available for consultation as needed. 

 
3. Picky Eaters 
When picky eaters are identified, Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers and/or Clerks are 
responsible for providing the nutrition handout to parents, and to document actions and conversations 
in CLOUDS in the comment section under Health History. No referral is needed. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
84 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
4. Tube Feeding 
Case management must be conducted with the family and a public health nurse before any child with a 
feeding tube can be admitted to the program. If, after case management, enrollment is deemed feasible 
and reasonable, Community Care Licensing must be informed in writing of CSB’s intent to provide tube 
feeding. A care plan must be developed and LIC 701B is to be used to document permission by licensing 
and the medical provider. Staff must also be trained by a qualified health care professional. 
 
5. Special Meals and/or Accommodations 
If dietary modifications are indicated based on a child’s medical or special dietary needs and/or 
religious/personal/cultural belief, the Nutritionist will modify or supplement the child’s diet on a case-
by-case basis, in consultation with parents and the child’s medical provider. 
 
6. CSB is a Peanut-Free Program 
Each CSB center is designated a Peanut-Free Zone. CSB does not serve foods that contain peanuts due to 
this increasing health risk in young children. The prevalence of childhood peanut allergies has increased 
dramatically in the past few decades.  Peanuts are currently the leading food-related cause of severe 
life-threatening allergic reactions. 
 
7. Food Allergies and Special Diets 
When food allergies and special diets are identified, the following will apply 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers, Clerks, Site Supervisors, and Site-Based Clerks must: 

 Identify food allergy/intolerance or need for special diet if any. 

 Immediately give parent a “Medical Statement to Request Special Meals and/or 
Accommodations” (See Form CSB401). This form is to be used only for food allergies and/or 
intolerances, and is not complete without the designated healthcare provider’s signature. 

 Use Request for Special Meals Due to a Cultural, Religious, and/or Personal Beliefs form for non-
medical special diets (see Form CSB402). This form is not be used for personal food preferences. 

 Follow-up with parent until form is returned. 

 Submit completed forms to Nutrition Office two business days prior to child’s first day. Original 
to be kept in child’s file, with copy sent to Nutrition Office. 

Site Supervisor or assigned staff must: 

 Schedule case management with Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager before child starts 
in the program if food allergy is life-threatening or if several different food items are restricted 
so that meal pattern becomes unbalanced. 

 Post meal modifications weekly in both kitchen and classrooms, with names covered for privacy. 
Cooks and transporters are responsible for: 

 Checking posted meal modification to confirm accurate food preparation and delivery. 

 Reviewing meal modifications and addressing any questions to the Nutritionist. 
 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager is responsible for consulting with the Nutrition Office 
regarding the possibility of accommodating other food substitutes necessary to meet child’s needs.  
 
Nutrition Clerk is Responsible For: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
85 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Adding child’s name to the Allergy List of the center in which child is enrolled. 

 Forwarding copy of list to center.   

 Updating list as information is received from Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services for 
children who are enrolled or dropped from program. 

 Keeping on file in Nutrition Office the Medical Statement to Request Special Meals and/or 
Accommodations form and Request for Special Meals Due to a Cultural, Religious, and/or 
Personal Belief form. 

 
8. Menu Change Protocol for Food Allergy/Modifications 
The Nutritionist is responsible for any food modifications/substitutions. When a   recommended food 
item is not available: 

 The Nutritionist will be immediately notified by FS Worker III, FS Manager, or AD. Nutritionist 
will give an alternate food substitute. 

 If Nutritionist is not available, the FS Manager will check past meal modifications to determine 
appropriate substitution. FS Manager will inform kitchen staff of change. 

 FS Manager will also inform Nutritionist when substitutions have been made. 

 If FS Manager is also not available, the Supervising AD will check past meal modifications to 
determine appropriate substitution. Supervising AD will then inform kitchen staff of change. 

 Supervising AD will also inform FS Manager and Nutritionist when substitutions have been 
made. 

 Nutrition Office will inform Site Supervisor or assigned staff of food substitutes. 

 Kitchen staff is not to make any substitutions without approval from Nutritionist, FS Manager, or 
Supervising AD.  

 
9. Heights and Weights   
As part of nutrition screening, heights and weights must be taken regularly by designated staff to 
determine the nutritional status of each child. 
The Child’s Teacher is responsible for:  

 Following height and weight protocol when filling out Height & Weight log. 
Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Recording heights and weights in CLOUDS from the Height & Weight Log completed by the 
teachers. 

 Returning Height & Weight Log to Site Supervisors for grantee and Site Directors for the 
partners. 

 Plotting Early Head Start length-for-age, weight-for-age, and head circumference-for-age on 
growth chart whenever information is available on well baby exam based on periodicity 
schedule. 

Site Supervisor (Grantee) is responsible for: 

 Distributing back to respective teachers the Height & Weight Log to be filed in the Nutrition 
Alert binder. 

Site Director (Partners) is responsible for: 

 Filing Height and Weight log in the Height and Weight binder. 
 
C. Child Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
86 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

1. General Description 
To ensure our participation in the USDA Child Nutrition Program, the following must be accomplished by 
assigned staff. 
Site Supervisor or designee is responsible for: 

 Completing CACFP form before child attends school, or upon enrollment. 

 Completing CACFP enrollment document. 

 Filling in days and hours child attends and types of meals served to child while in attendance. 

 Ensuring enrollment document is signed and dated by the parent. 

 Parent’s completion of Meal Benefit form for children being enrolled, and for signing Meal 
Benefit form. 

 Determining eligibility using current eligibility guidelines. 

 Collecting enrollment document and meal benefit form from July 1st to October 31st. 

 Sending a CACFP form and CACFP enrollment document to the Nutrition Office.  

 Completing Enrollment Eligibility Roster each month, which includes: 
o Listing new children for the current month. 
o Determining whether child is free, reduced or base. 
o Marking whether child is in Head Start. 
o Listing child’s certification date. 
o Listing children who have dropped for the current month and the drop dates. 
o Sending monthly Enrollment Eligibility Roster to Nutrition Office by the 5th of the 

following month. 
 
2.  Non-Discrimination in Child Adult Care Food Program Services 
Community Services Bureau Head Start will comply with Title VI and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964. Title XI of the Educational Amendments of 1972, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 
1990 and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 
 
Each center will prominently display the “And Justice for All” poster. 
 
Staff will receive annual training on Civil Rights requirements and on handling Civil Rights Complaints. 
Nutrition Office will monitor and oversee training. 
 
D. CACFP Monitoring 
To ensure compliance and meet CACFP requirements, all grantee sites must be monitored three times a 
year. 
The Nutritionist is responsible for: 

 Unannounced monitoring of mealtimes. 

 Conducting CACFP facility reviews three times per classroom per academic year. 

 Using CACFP Centers Facility Review form (see Form CSB440). 

 Reporting findings to Site Supervisor or designee immediately after monitoring. 

 Writing corrective action plan based on recent findings. 

 Sending findings to the Assistant Director. 

 Sending original copy of CACFP Center Facility Review form to Nutrition Office.  

 Following up to confirm completion of corrective action within 60 days of findings. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
87 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Completing CACFP 5-day reconciliation to ensure accuracy of meal claims by each site. 
   
Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Implementing corrective actions and/or responding to monitoring report within 2 weeks. 

 Sending Nutritionist documentation of the corrective action plan taken and date of completion, 
e.g. Individual/Small Group Conference form, agenda and sign-in sheet for verification of 
completion of corrective action 

                          
  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
88 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

VI. Child Health and Safety 
A. Daily Health Inspection 
The teacher is mandated by Licensing to perform a daily health check of each child. The daily health 
check is performed when greeting the child and parent as they arrive. Parents are requested to remain 
present while the teacher performs this quick assessment which usually takes less than a minute. The 
Daily Health Inspection is a head-to-toe check of emotional and physical well-being.  This is an effective 
tool to develop a baseline of what is normal for each child.  This exercise helps the teaching staff reduce 
the spread of illness and establish rapport with the child and parent each day. It is important that this 
health check be conducted in the form of a greeting and that no invasive inspection, such as lifting 
clothing, or discussing findings out loud in front of others, should take place. For preschool classrooms, 
team members will complete the Daily Health Check log (CSB for 230) to document completion of the 
Health Check for each child in attendance. For infants, the daily health inspection includes a diaper 
change and is documented on the Daily Communication Form (CSB form 155).  Teachers must also 
observe the child throughout the day. 
 
To complete a daily health inspection, the teacher will do the following: 

 Listen: Greet the child and parent.  
o Ask the child “How are you today.”  
o Ask the parent the following questions: 
o “How’s (name of child)?”  
o “Was there anything different last night?”  
o “How did he/she sleep?”   

Listen to what the child and parent tell you about how the child is feeling.  If the child can talk, is 
he/she complaining of anything?  Is he/she hoarse or wheezing? 

 Look: Get down to the child’s level so you can see him/her clearly. Observe signs of health or 
illness: 

o General appearance (e.g., comfort, mood, behavior, and activity level) 
o Is the child’s behavior unusual for this time of day? 
o Is the child clinging to the parent, acting cranky, crying, or fussing? 
o Does he/she appear listless, in pain, or have difficulty moving? 
o Breathing: Is the child coughing, breathing fast, or having difficulty breathing? 
o Skin:  
o Does the child look pale or flushed? 
o Do you see a rash, sores, swelling, or bruising? 
o Is the child scratching his/her skin or scalp? 
o Eyes, Nose, Ears, Mouth: 
o Do the child’s eyes look red, crusty, goopy, or watery? 
o Is there a runny nose? 
o Is he/she pulling at his ears? 
o Are there mouth sores, excessive drooling, or difficulty swallowing? 

 Feel: Gently run the back of your hand over the child’s cheek, forehead, or neck. 
o Does the child feel unusually warm, or cold and clammy? 
o Does the skin feel bumpy? 

 Smell: Be aware of unusual odors.  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
89 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

o Does the child’s breath smell foul or fruity? 
o Is there an unusual or foul smell to the child’s stools? 
o Pay particular attention to a child who has been absent or exposed to contagious 

disease. 
After doing the health check, teacher must now use findings to determine if the child looks healthy or 
sick. Use this chart to identify signs of health and illness: 
 

 Looking Healthy Looking Sick 

General 
Appearance 
 

Comfortable 
Cheerful, responsive 
Active, playing 
Behavior appropriate for 
child and time of day 

Excessive crying, clinginess, 
fussiness 
Doubled over in pain, unable 
to move 
Listless, lethargic, 
unresponsive 
No appetite 
Vomiting, diarrhea 

Breathing Breathing slowly 
Relaxed 
Quiet 

Breathing fast 
Difficulty breathing 
Sucking in around ribs 
Flaring nostrils 
Persistent Cough 
Wheezing 

Skin Normal skin color and texture 
for child 
Normal skin temperature 
No rashes, sores, swelling, or 
bruising 
No scratching at skin or scalp 

Pale, grayish, flushed, 
yellowish 
Hot or cold and clammy skin 
Skin rash, sores, swelling or 
bruising 
Scratching at skin or scalp 
Skin doesn’t spring back when 
pinched 

Eyes, nose, ears, 
and mouth 

Eyes bright and clear 
Nose clean 
Ears clean 
Mouth without sores, 
swallowing comfortably 

Eyes swollen, red, crusty, 
goopy, watery, yellowish, or 
sunken 
Nose congested or runny 
Ears draining pus or blood 
Pulling at ears 
Mouth or lips with sores, 
excessive drooling, difficulty 
swallowing 

Odors No odor or normal odor for 
child 

Breath smells foul or fruity 
Stool smells foul 

 
 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
90 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
 
B. Hand Washing 
Hand washing is the single most important routine in disease prevention.  Both children and staff are 
required to wash hands upon arriving to work or school, before eating, before/after preparing or serving 
food, and after outdoor play, after wiping noses or using the bathroom, after handling animals/pets, 
before and after medication administration, and before and after gloving. 
 
All adults and children in the classroom should follow the procedures for proper hand washing: 

 Use soap and running water 

 Scrub your hands vigorously for at least 20 seconds 

 Wash all surfaces, including: 
o Backs of hands 
o Wrists 
o Between fingers 
o Under fingernails 
o Under and around rings 

 Rinse well 

 Dry hands with a paper towel 

 Turn off the water using a paper towel instead of bare hands 
 
C. Infection Control in the Classroom 
In addition to Universal Precautions, the following measures are recommended for infection control in 
the classroom.  It is the teacher’s responsibility to insure that simple routine practices which reduce 
disease risks in the group setting are implemented in the classroom.  These practices include:  

 Hand washing  

 General environmental sanitation  

 Sanitary food service  

 Good personal hygiene  

 Careful diapering procedures  

 Prompt exclusion of children and adults who have signs and symptoms of communicable disease 

 Placement of cribs at least 3 feet apart and cots at least 18’’ apart 
 
Hygiene - Universal Precautions 
1. Training 
All teachers, site supervisors, managers and food service staff will be trained annually on food sanitation 
and safety. At least one employee in the Central Kitchen must be trained and certified in Safe Food 
handling through ServSafe.   
 
2. Tuberculosis (TB) Tests 
Licensing requires that proof of a negative TB test or chest x-ray of staff and volunteers (except student 
volunteers under the age of 18) must be kept in the center Licensing Folder.  Resources for obtaining a 
TB test are available for parents and other volunteers in need. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
91 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
 
3. Standard Precautions 
Precautions should be used at all times to protect staff and volunteers from the risk of being exposed to 
blood, fecal material, vomit, urine, or other potentially infectious materials.   
 
CSB Standard Precautions procedures apply to all program staff and volunteers. They will maximize 
worker protection from the spread of communicable disease resulting from occupational exposures to 
blood or other potentially infectious materials.  Staff will take the same precautions -- hand washing, use 
of gloves, disinfecting, and other safety measures -- when dealing with the blood or body fluids of all 
children and adults, whether or not they appear sick. 
 
CSB will supply staff with appropriate standard precaution personal protective equipment (e.g., gloves, 
aprons, mouthpieces for CPR). The program will ensure that all program staff receives training in the use 
of all this equipment. 
 
CSB trains staff on standard precautions as a function of the American Red Cross First Aid certification 
course. Re-certification is required every three years. 
 
If anyone has questions regarding the appropriate use of this equipment, call the Comprehensive 
Services Health Manager. If your personal protective equipment becomes damaged or lost, ask for a 
replacement immediately. 
 
4. Diapering and Toileting Procedure 
i. Description 
Since diapering and toileting are every day procedures for staff, and are a possible way that infectious 
diseases can be spread, it is extremely important that proper techniques be used at all times.  It should 
also be noted that no child may be denied the opportunity to participate in any program on the basis of 
toilet training. The program does not make successful toilet training a condition of enrollment. 
 
Each child must be kept dry at all times. The center staff must ensure that there are sufficient changes of 
clothing and diapers. Each child’s clothing and/or diapers must be changed as often as necessary to 
ensure that the child is clean and dry at all times.                    
 
ii. Diapering 

 Get organized. Assemble supplies in the changing area within reach, (disposable diaper, wipes, 
gloves, non-absorbent paper liner, clean clothing and plastic bag if needed).  Cover the entire 
changing surface or table with paper.  Wash hands thoroughly with soap and warm running 
water. 

 Place child on paper covered changing surface or table. Never leave child unattended during 
diapering processes. 

 Remove child’s clothing and put soiled clothing aside. 

 Put on gloves using posted procedure. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
92 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Unfasten diaper and leave soiled diaper under child.  Lift the child’s legs and use disposable 
wipes to clean skin creases, genitalia, and bottom.  Thoroughly as needed, wipe front to back 
using a clean wipe each time.  Place used wipers in dirty diaper 

 Remove soiled diaper.  Fold diaper inward and place in covered, hands-free, plastic-lined 
container.  Fold back paper liner if a clean surface is needed. Remove gloves. 

 Clean your hands with a disposable wipe and then clean the child’s hands with another fresh 
wipe. 

 Put clean diaper on child.  (Put ointment provided by parents upon their written request). 

 Dress the child.  Change the child’s clothing if wet or soiled. 

 Wash the child’s hands with soap and water.  Put child safely in supervised area. 

 Clean and sanitize the changing surface or table.  Throw away the paper liner in covered, hands-
free, plastic lined container.  Clean any visible soil with detergent and water.  Wet the entire 
changing surface with sanitizing solution. 

 Wash your hands with soap and water   

 Follow the posted NAEYC Proper Diapering Procedure. 
 
iii. Toileting 
The following procedure should be followed when toileting a child: 

 Have all materials at hand before starting procedures. 

 Never leave a child unattended; visual supervision is required. 

 Have child sit on potty, but never longer than 5 minutes. 

 After child has finished, teach child how to wipe self from front to back. 

 If rectal area is still unclean, the adult (using gloves) will clean the perineal/rectal area with 
disposable, wet towels. 

 Before child leaves bathroom, the child is to wash hands properly. 

 Adult returns to empty potty, disinfect seat, rinse and dry. 

 Staff member washes hands when done. 
 
D. Napping Policy 
To reduce the risk of Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS): 

 Infants, unless otherwise ordered by the physician, are placed on their backs to sleep on a firm 
surface manufactured for sale as infant sleeping equipment that meets the standards of the 
United States Consumers Product Safety Commission.  

 Pillows, quilts, comforters, sheepskins, stuffed toys, and other soft items are not allowed in cribs 
or rest equipment. 

 The infants head must remain uncovered during sleep. 

 After being placed down for sleep on their backs, infants may then be allowed to assume any 
comfortable sleep position when they can easily turn themselves from the back position. 

 If a blanket is used, the infant is placed at the foot of the crib with a thin blanket tucked around 
the crib mattress, reaching only as far as the infant’s chest. 

 
E. Dental Hygiene 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
93 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

All children with teeth shall brush or have their teeth brushed at least once during the hours the child is 
in care. For full day and family child care programs, children will brush their teeth after lunch. For part 
day morning programs, children will brush after breakfast. For part day afternoon programs, children 
will brush their teeth after lunch. Using a size appropriate toothbrush obtained through the health 
supply ordering process, the caregiver will either brush the child’s teeth (for those children lacking the 
motor skills to brush themselves), or supervise as the child brushes his/her own teeth.  The younger the 
child, the more the caregiver needs to be involved.  
 
Fluoride toothpaste is available at all centers. The caregiver should use a layer of fluoride toothpaste, 
not larger than the size of a pea, for children 3 to 5 years of age. Younger children tend to swallow the 
fluoride toothpaste, which can cause fluorosis. Therefore, children under three shall brush without 
toothpaste.  
 
After feeding, an infant’s teeth and/or gums shall be wiped with a moist cloth, or a product distributed 
to the sites called “Tenders,” to remove any remaining liquid that coats the teeth and gums, which turns 
to plaque and causes tooth decay. By doing this, caregivers are breaking up the plaque that forms to 
create a much healthier environment for the teeth that will be coming in later on. Follow these steps 
when caring for infants: 

 Wash hands thoroughly and slip “Tenders” onto your index finger 

 Moisten slightly with cool water. Do not use toothpaste 

 Carefully swab infant’s gums using a gentle circular motion 

 Place used “Tender” in garment bag to be washed prior to next use 
 
F. Health Issues in the Classroom 
Call your assigned Site Supervisor, Comprehensive Services team, or Health Manager when you identify 
a health concern.  It is crucial to provide appropriate intervention or resolution.  Any unusual behavior, 
any injury or any signs of illness requiring assessment and/or administration of first aid by staff must be 
reported to the parent and documented in the child’s confidential file. 
 
Health issues include, but are not limited to rash, high fever, head lice, signs of conjunctivitis (“pink 
eye”), diarrhea, intestinal problems, vomiting and nutritional problems. 
  
The Comprehensive Services team, Site Supervisor or Health Manager must follow up with the parent 
and medical provider(s) to confirm any diagnosis offered by the parent or family member.  This 
information will be evaluated, and a decision made as to whether the child can attend school at that 
time.   Both the Site Supervisor and the teaching staff will be kept abreast of the health considerations 
that impact this decision. 
 
G. Child Safety and Supervision 
Visiting/socializing on the playground or the premises of a child care facility while on duty is prohibited. 
Visiting/socializing with fellow employees, who are still on duty regarding non-classroom activities, 
during break times, is not allowed.  All visitors, former employees and relatives must report and sign in 
at the main office of each center before entering program areas.  Information on the nature of the visit 
will be required. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
94 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

• Whenever the classroom is outside on the yard or on a field trip, all members of the teaching 
team must be present to ensure the health and safety of children. No scheduled prep time or 
breaks are permitted during times scheduled outside of the classroom. 
 

Semi-annually, during the first month of the program year and in March, each Site Supervisor will 
complete and submit to their Assistant Director the Semi-Annual Child Safety Checklist (CSB form 751). 
This checklist will be used to confirm that the following has occurred as required:  

 Annual review of Ready To Learn Curriculum safety considerations; 

 Annual review of Pedestrian Safety Training for parents and children;  

 Semi-annual review of outdoor schedule against staff breaks and prep time and against peek 
pick-up/drop-off times to ensure no overlap; 

 Semi-annual review of schedule and plan of class consolidations in early morning and late 
afternoon;  

 Semi-annual meeting with staff to review child safety, visual supervision, staff placement , and 
safe transitions;  

 Semi-annual completion of Transition Observation Checklist (CSB form 750) in each classroom; 

 Semi-annual review of center documentation that all volunteers and substitutes have received 
an on-site orientation and have reviewed CSB Substitute and Volunteer Handbook with a signed 
Handbook receipt on file at the center; 

 Semi-annual meeting with front desk/lobby/entrance/exit staff to review procedures to ensure 
Child Safety at all times; and 

 Semi-annual meeting with parents to review Child Safety procedures, facility security, and 
handout Parent Guidance for Keeping Children Safe. 

 
H. Child Illness Procedures 
1. Admission and Exclusion 
The decision to admit or exclude a child with an illness is the responsibility of the Site Supervisor and will 
be based on whether there are adequate facilities and staff able to care for the ill child and the other 
children in the group. The Site Supervisor, not the child’s family, makes the final determination about 
whether the acutely ill child can receive care in the childcare program. Children will be excluded if: 

 The child’s illness prevents the child from participating in activities that the facility routinely 
offers for well children or mildly ill children. 

 The illness requires more care than the childcare staff is able to provide without compromising 
the needs of that particular child or of the other children in the group. 

 Keeping the child in care poses an increased risk to the child or other children or adults with 
whom the child will come in contact. 

 The childcare staff is uncertain about whether the child’s illness poses an increased risk to 
others. The child will be excluded until a physician or nurse practitioner notifies the child care 
program that the child may attend. A child whose illness does not meet any of these conditions 
listed above does not need to be excluded. 

2. Admission and Permitted Attendance 
Specific conditions that do not require exclusion are: 

 Children who are carriers of an infectious disease agent in their bowel movement or urine that 
can cause illness, but who have no symptoms of illness themselves. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
95 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Children with conjunctivitis (pink eye) who have a clear, watery eye discharge and do not have 
any fever, eye pain, or eyelid redness. 

 Children with a rash, but no fever or change in behavior. 

 Children with cytomegalovirus infection, HIV or carriers of hepatitis b.  
 
3. Procedure for Management of Short-Term Illness 
The behavior and health of each child must be continually observed during the course of the day, and 
should a child become ill, the following steps must be taken: 

 The ill infant, toddler or child must be isolated on a cot/crib in an area, which is easily supervised 
and away from the kitchen, bathroom and any other area used by the other children.  Infants, 
toddlers and children in isolation must be under constant visual observation by designated staff. 

 Children ill enough to require isolation may not use the same toilets as other children.  One 
toilet and sink must be designated exclusively for the ill child’s use.  The other children must be 
prevented from using that toilet and sink until the sick child has been picked up, and those 
facilities have been thoroughly disinfected. 

 The Site Supervisor or designee will call the parent or other emergency numbers to arrange to 
have the child picked up.  If no one can be contacted, the child must remain on the cot/mat 
under close supervision and staff will continue to try to reach the parents or emergency 
numbers. 

 If the child's condition worsens and becomes life threatening, the teaching staff must call 911.  
Make a note in the child's file that parents were notified.  Notify the Assistant Director 
immediately.  

 
4. Short-Term Exclusion and Admittance 
As the program is not set up to care for ill children, staff and parents should use the following three 
criteria to exclude children with short-term illnesses from the group care setting: 

 The child does not feel well enough to participate comfortably in the usual activities of the 
program. 

 The staff cannot care for the sick child without interfering with the care of the other children. 

 The child has any of the following that indicate a contagious disease or an immediate need for 
medical evaluation: 

o Fever and behavior changes or other signs or symptoms, until the child’s inclusion is 
checked with a health professional who determines that the child may be in child care 

o Signs or symptoms of a possible serious condition, such as those defined below under 
“Conditions that Require Immediate Medical Attention”, until the child is checked by a 
health professional who determines that the child may be in child care 

Children may only be excluded for the period of time when they pose a significant risk to the health and 
safety of anyone in contact with the child and until the child meets the criteria for re-admission.  
 
5. Conditions that Require Immediate Medical Attention 
Get help immediately for a child with any of the following conditions: 

 Specific fevers: 
o A baby less than 4 months of age has a temperature of 101 degrees rectally or 100 

degrees axillaries (armpit). 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
96 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

o A temperature of 105 degrees or higher in a child of any age. 

 For infants under 4 months, forceful vomiting more than once. 

 Looking or acting very ill or getting worse quickly. 

 Neck pain when the child’s head is moved or touched. 

 A stiff neck or severe headache and looking very sick. 

 A seizure for the first time. 

 Acting unusually confused. 

 Unequal pupils (black centers of the eyes). 

 A blood-red or purple rash made up of pinhead sized spots or bruises that are not associated 
with injury. 

 A rash of hives or welts that appears and spreads quickly. 

 Breathing so fast or so hard that the child cannot play, talk, cry, or drink. 

 A severe stomachache without vomiting or diarrhea after a recent injury, blow to the abdomen, 
or hard fall. 

 Stools that are black or have blood mixed in through them. 

 Not urinating at least once in 8 hours, a dry mouth, no tears, or sunken eyes. 

 Continuous clear drainage from the nose after a hard blow to the head. 
 
I. Return to School After Illness 
Children who have been excluded from the classroom should not return until: 

 A physician has certified that the symptoms are not associated with an infectious agent or the 
child’s symptoms do not threaten the health of other children. 

 The child is completely “nit-free” following a head lice infestation. 

 The child has an auxiliary or oral temperature of less than 100°F, and does not have symptoms 
such as: 

o Sore throat 
o Vomiting 
o Diarrhea 
o Headache and stiff neck 
o Undiagnosed rash 

 The child has no respiratory problems, such as: 
o Difficult/rapid breathing, severe coughing or a high-pitched croup or whooping sound 

while coughing.  
o The child is unable to lie down comfortably, due to continuous coughing. 

 No Diarrhea (an increased number of abnormally loose stools in the previous 24 hours) - 
observe the child for other symptoms such as fever, abdominal pain, or vomiting. 

 No Vomiting (two or more episodes of vomiting within the previous 24 hours). 

 No Eye/Nose Drainage (thick green or yellow mucous from the eye or nose). 

 No Sore Throat - especially with fever or swollen glands in the neck. 

 No Skin Rash (undiagnosed or contagious) - infected sores; sores with crusty, yellow, or green 
drainage which cannot be covered by clothing or bandages. 

 No Persistent Itching (or scratching) of body or scalp. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
97 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

J. Medical Alerts 
Medical Alerts need to be posted by the teacher after the Site Supervisor has investigated and 
determined that there was exposure to a communicable disease. 
 
In some cases, the teaching staff may be notified by the parent regarding a confirmed diagnosis (i.e., a 
child with Chickenpox).  In this event, the Medical Alert may be posted immediately.  The Site 
Supervisor, Comprehensive Services Team member, and Health Manager must still be notified about the 
illness. 
 
After two weeks, the Medical Alert must be taken down from the classroom where it has been posted.  
(See Forms CSB221 to CSB238.) 
  
K. Children Injured at the Center 
1. Professional Medical Treatment  
All head injuries require an immediate call to the parent.  Parents can make the determination to pick up 
their child or not based on the staff report and advice as the seriousness of the injury.  The CSB-208 
form must be completed. 
 
In the event that medical treatment is required, the center staff will instruct the parent to take their 
child to the doctor.  If the parent cannot be contacted and a child needs to be transported by ambulance 
to the hospital, the teacher will accompany the child.  The teacher will notify the Site Supervisor if a 
child needs professional medical treatment. 
 
The parents will be responsible for any medical expenses incurred.  If the parent feels that it is the 
responsibility of the program to pay for these expenses, they must file a claim against the program.  
Contact the Health Manager for details regarding submission of claims. 
 
2. Student Accident Reports / Band-Aid Reports 
Whenever a member of the center staff uses first aid or informs a parent that a child has been hurt, the 
Site Supervisor or Teacher will call the Assistant Director to report the accident.  If necessary, prompt 
arrangements for obtaining medical treatment will be made. 
 
The teacher is also required to complete an “Accident/Incident Report Form,” (CSB208-Accident-
Incident Report) noting any recommendations for the parent on spaces provided.   
 
To maintain confidentiality, the names of other children involved in the incident should not be written 
on the “Accident/Incident Report Form.”  
 
If more than one child is injured, a report must be done for each child.  The information of who was 
involved is written and kept confidential, but not given in the report the parents receive. 
 
The Assistant Director should be notified immediately of all accidents/incidents.  
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
98 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

If the Assistant Director notices that an elevated amount of accidents are occurring, he/she should call 
the Site Supervisor/Teacher to discuss the situation and develop a plan/solution to prevent accidents. 
Band-Aid Reports are completed for minor injuries such as scrapes or small cuts that require minor first 
aid. (CSB-255 First Aid-Band Aid Report). 
 
Site Supervisors must maintain a “Site Accident Log” for each injury at all times. 
 
L. Blood Protocol 
1. Description 
This protocol is used to prevent the remote and unlikely possibility of the spread of blood and blood 
diseases in the school setting and applies to all site personnel who have direct contact with children and 
custodial personnel as necessary 
 
2. General Information 
The so-called blood-to-blood diseases (AIDS, Hepatitis B, etc.) are spread by an organism’s travel from 
the blood of an infected person to the blood of a non-infected person. 
 
Blood and semen are the only body fluids that have been demonstrated to be capable of transmitting 
AIDS (Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome). 
 
3. Supplies needed 

 Plastic gloves (disposable) 

 Plastic bags 

 Rubbing alcohol 
 
4. Procedure 

 Wash hands and put on gloves when having any contact with child’s blood or bodily fluids. Use 
gloves for one time and only one student. 

 After completing the necessary task for the child, remove gloves by grasping the cuff and then 
stripping it off by turning it inside out.  Be careful not to touch the contaminated surfaces of the 
gloves. 

 Dispose of glove in a disposable plastic bag.  See “Disposal of Blood/Body Fluid” below. 

 Wash hands after de-gloving.  This is necessary because bacteria multiply rapidly inside a glove. 

 Fill out “Accident/Incident” and “Band-Aid” reports as applicable.  (See Form CSB208-Accident-
Incident Report and CSB255-First Aid-Band Aid Report)  File reports as required. 

 
5. Disposal of Blood / Body Fluid 
Put all blood/body fluid disposals in clearly marked garbage containers.  Examples:  soiled wet diapers, 
used gloves, wipes, vomit, blood products, and all other contaminated materials/supplies.   
 
Close the bag and tie it, then double bag, and dispose of it in a separate container marked for such 
disposals.  Make sure this container is not used for trash, and that is out of children’s reach and can be 
easily moved around. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
99 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Be safe - always wear gloves.  Questions should be directed to the Health Manager. 
 
M. Medication Administration 
1. Administering Medication 
Because administration of medication poses an extra burden for staff, and having medication in the 
facility is a safety hazard, families must check with the child’s physician to see if a dose schedule can be 
arranged that does not involve the hours the child is in the child care facility. Whenever possible, the 
first dose of medication should be given at home to see if the child has any type of reaction. Parents 
may administer medication to their own child during the child care day. 
 
2. Procedure 
Staff, designated by the Site Supervisor, will administer medication only if the parent has provided 
written consent, the medication is in an appropriately labeled and stored container, and the facility has 
on file the written or telephone instructions of a licensed physician to administer the specific 
medication. (See Form CSB213-Medication Form) 
 
For prescription medications, parents will provide caregivers with the medication in the original, child-
resistant container that is labeled by a pharmacist with the child’s name, the name of the medication, 
the date the  prescription was filled; the name of the health care provider who wrote the prescription; 
the medication’s expiration date; the administration, storage and disposal instructions. For over-the-
counter medications, parents will provide the medication in a child-resistant container.  The medication 
will be labeled with the child’s first and last names; specific, legible instructions for administration and 
storage supplied by the manufacturer; and the name of the health care provider who recommended the 
medication for the child. 
 
Instructions for the dose, frequency, method to be used, and duration of administration will be provided 
to the child care staff in writing (by a signed note or a prescription label) or dictated over the telephone 
by a physician or other person legally authorized to prescribe medication.  Instructions from a parent or 
provider may not conflict with the instructions on the prescription label. 
 
A physician may state that a certain medication may be given for a recurring problem, emergency 
situation, or chronic condition. The instructions should include the child’s name, the name of the 
medication, the dose of the medication, how often the medication may be given, the conditions for use, 
and any precautions to follow. Example: children may use sunscreen to prevent sunburn; children who 
wheeze with vigorous exercise may take one dose of asthma medicine before vigorous activity (large 
muscle) play; children who weigh between 25-35 pounds may be given 1 teaspoon of acetaminophen 
for up to two doses every four hours for fever. A child with a known serious allergic reaction to a specific 
substance who develops symptoms after exposure to that substance may receive epinephrine from a 
staff member who has received training in how to use an auto-injection device prescribed for that child 
(e.g., Epipen®). A child may only receive medication with the permission of the child’s parent and when 
the staff person who will give the medication has the skills required. All documentation regarding a 
child’s medication and its administration shall be kept in the child’s confidential file. 
Nonprescription medications may be administered without approval or instructions from the child’s 
physician if all of the following conditions are met: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
100 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Nonprescription medications shall be administered in accordance with the product label 
directions. 

 For each nonprescription medication, the parent must provide written approval and instructions 
that are consistent with product labeling. This documentation must be kept in the child’s 
confidential file. 
 

3. Storage 
Medications will be kept at the temperature recommended for that type of medication in a locked 
container that is inaccessible to children, separate from any other hazardous material storage.  An 
example of an acceptable location is at the back of a locked file cabinet that is not used to store any 
other hazardous products or materials. Do not place medications that do not require refrigeration, such 
as inhalers for asthma, in the refrigerator. This can damage them and render them ineffective. 
 
Medications that require refrigeration must be stored in the designated locked refrigerator medication 
boxes supplied to each center. 
 
Epipens must be stored in a designated Epipen box and should be out of reach of children in an easy and 
quick to access area with Epipen signage posted. 
 
When the child no longer needs the medication or the child drops from the center, the medication must 
be returned to the parent or disposed of if the parent cannot be reached. 
 
Medication will not be used beyond the date of expiration on the container or beyond any expiration of 
the instructions provided by the physician or other person legally permitted to prescribe medication. 
Instructions which state that the medication may be used whenever needed will be renewed by the 
physician at least annually. 
 
4. Medication Log Documentation 
A medication log will be maintained by the classroom staff to record the instructions for giving the 
medication, consent obtained from the parent, amount and time of administration, and the person who 
administered each dose of medication. Spills, reactions, and refusal to take medication will be noted on 
this log. All records of any changes in the child’s behavior, as documented on the Medication Log, will be 
communicated to the parent. Parents will be assisted in communicating these incidences to the 
physician as necessary.  (CSB213-Medication Form)  Parents will be informed as to when authorized 
medications have been given via this log. 
 
5. Asthma Protocol 
Since asthma is a very common health condition and one that typically requires medication, the 
following protocol will assist the teaching staff.  Teachers will receive training regarding asthma, its 
symptoms, and treatment procedures. 
 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager, upon review of the child’s Health History form, will 
contact both the parent and medical provider(s) to clarify the current status of the asthma condition.  It 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
101 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

is the responsibility of the Comprehensive Services team to obtain confirmation of the diagnosis and any 
current treatment using the Asthma Action Plan (See Form CSB219). 
 
Subsequent to the initial health review by the Site Supervisor and Comprehensive Services team, if the 
teacher becomes aware of a possible asthma condition, previously unknown to staff, she must call the 
Comprehensive Services team assigned to the classroom.  The Comprehensive Services team will then 
follow the procedures described above. 
 
Once all relevant information is obtained, a meeting will be held with the Comprehensive Services team, 
Site Supervisor, parent, and teacher to ensure teaching staff have the training to carry out the action 
plan for the child and to review the following: 

 Asthma Action Plan from the doctor. 

 Medication form (See Form CSB213) completed by parent. 

 Inhaled Medication – Nebulizer Consent forms (See Form CSB219a) completed by the parent for 
each teacher/staff administering the medication.  

 
Copies of the Asthma Action Plan will be kept by the center staff, parent, and in the child’s main file. If 
the plan indicates medication is used routinely or necessary “as needed,” then CSB must have 
medication on site before the child can attend class. 
 
Until complete physician’s instructions are provided, medications to treat asthma symptoms will be 
given according to the prescription labels.  Medication will be dispensed outside of center hours 
whenever possible. 
 
When asthma symptoms occur during center hours, the teaching staff will call the parent to alert them 
about the child’s condition.  The child will be sent home if the asthma symptoms interfere with the 
child’s ability to fully participate in the program.  In the event that the parent cannot be contacted, the 
teaching staff will call 911 (if the asthma appears life threatening).  
 
6. Training of Caregivers to Administer Medication 
Any caregiver who administers medications shall be trained to: 

 Read and understand the Asthma Action Plan, the Medication Form and the Inhaled Medication-
Consent Form; 

 Check that the name of the child on the medication and the child receiving the medication are 
the same; 

 Read and understand the label/prescription directions in relation to the measured dose, 
frequency, and other circumstances relative to administration (such as in relation to meals); 

 Administer the medication according to the prescribed methods and the prescribed dose; 

 Observe and report any side effects from medications; 

 Document the administration of each dose by the time and the amount given; 

 Store and handle medication appropriately; 

 Record changes in child’s behavior and help parents communicate observations to their 
provider; 

 Demonstrate ability to comply with medication policy.  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
102 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
7. Inhaled Medications 
An Inhaled Medication-Consent Form (See LIC 9166 and CSB Form CSB219a) must be filled out and 
signed by the parent before staff administers inhaled medications.  A copy of the completed form must 
be kept in the child’s file.  A separate form must be filled out for each person (staff member) who 
administers inhaled medication to the child.  This requirement includes all inhaled medications. 
 
8. Sun Protection Policy 
Sun protection routines in childhood can establish lifelong preventive habits.  At CSB, shade is provided 
at all sites, infants under six months of age are not exposed to direct sunlight, children are encouraged 
to wear light colored, loose fitting clothing that covers as much skin as possible, parents are encouraged 
to apply sunscreen to their child’s exposed skin as part of their school drop off routine and following the 
procedure for the over-the-counter medications sunscreen provided by the parent will be applied by 
teaching staff.  Drinking water is available to children during outdoor play. 
                               
N. Incomplete Health Records 
The Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services team will notify parents and teaching staff if a child is to 
be excluded from the classroom due to incomplete health records.  
 
Exclusions due to unmet health requirements: Children must be excluded for immunizations that are not 
up-to-date or a physical or TB clearance that is not received within 30 days of enrollment.  Parents are 
allowed a onetime extension beyond the 30 day requirement for a physical exam with proof of an 
appointment on file however this extension does not apply to the TB clearance.  Children excluded for 
unmet health requirements are permitted up to three days of excused absences.  After that, a Notice of 
Action (as applicable) will be issued for termination from the program.  
 
Parents will be informed during enrollment and at Parent Conferences that the health requirements are 
the following: up-to-date immunizations, physical and dental exams, and required TB Clearance.  
Parents will be assisted in identifying and accessing a source of care and a Case Management will take 
place as needed to make every possible effort to meet the health requirements for the child.  If, after 
these notifications and assistance, the child has not obtained the needed services, the parents will be 
informed that they need to schedule an appointment that day and notify the Site Supervisor or 
Comprehensive Services Team of the appointment date and time. 
 
When the parent has no phone, contact will be made by the Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services 
team through the center.  The center staff will be asked to have the parent contact the Site Supervisor 
or Comprehensive Services team the same day.  In all cases, teachers will be notified and asked to 
reinforce the request made by the Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services Team regarding health 
requirements. 
 
Children may be excluded from the program for incomplete initial physical exam, incomplete 
immunizations, and lack of a TB Clearance only.   
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
103 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

For all other health requirements that are incomplete, the Comprehensive Services Team will request 
updated information from the parent with a Health Records Update Form (See Form CSB242). As 
needed, case management will take place with the site staff, Comprehensive Services and parents and a 
plan will be implemented.  
 
O. Health and Safety Training for Center Staff 
The Site Supervisor of each center must ensure that each of his/her staff members has current CPR / 
First Aid Certification in the following: Adult / Child/Infant CPR Training (good for one year from date of 
issue), and First Aid Training (good for three years from date of issue). Staff can be sent to training via a 
request by the Site Supervisor to the Training Coordinator. The Site Supervisor is responsible for 
maintaining the personnel records of staff at his/her site to ensure that staff is certified in CPR / First Aid 
at all times. CPR / First Aid certified staff must be available at all times when children are present at the 
facility, or when children are offsite for facility activities. 
 
In addition to the CPR / First Aid training, one staff person or Director at each day care center must have 
at least 15 hours in preventive health practices. This training must include, but is not limited to, pediatric 
cardiopulmonary resuscitation; pediatric first aid; recognition, management, and prevention of 
infectious diseases, including immunizations; and prevention of childhood injuries. The training may 
include sanitary food handling, child nutrition, emergency preparedness and evacuation, caring for 
children with disabilities and identification and reporting of signs and symptoms of child abuse. The 
supervisor makes requests for such training to the Personnel Unit. 
 
P. Posting of Documents (Health Emergency Procedures) 
CSB conforms to all Federal, State, and local regulations by posting or having on file at each facility: 
mandated notices, licenses, and permits. 
 
Site Supervisors and teachers are required to post mandated facility compliance documents on bulletin 
boards, which are attractive, neat, updated, and highly visible. Other required posted materials include: 
Dental Emergencies, Choking, CPR/First Aid, Evacuation Routes, and Emergency Numbers (posted near 
phone).  
 
The Site Supervisor is responsible for routinely monitoring bulletin boards and classroom files for 
compliance with this standard. The Comprehensive Services Managers/Assistant Directors are 
responsible for monitoring all compliance documents. 
 
Q. Pet Protocol 
Animals can bring joy to the classroom while offering children the opportunity to be responsible for 
another living creature.   
 
When an animal is being considered for inclusion in the classroom, child and staff allergies and fears 
must be considered.  The animal must be tame and classroom staff must agree to accept responsibility 
for the care of the pet.  Assistant Director’s approval must be obtained. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
104 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Turtles and reptiles are not allowed in the classroom because they are potential carriers of salmonella 
bacteria. 
 
Before the animal is included in the classroom, children will be instructed on the proper care and 
handling of the animal and the importance of proper hand washing.   
 
When the animal arrives in the classroom, the animal must be provided an appropriate habitat and 
space with opportunities to exercise, appropriate temperature, and all other natural conditions and 
activities.  
 
A Pet Care Plan must be posted to designate care needed to provide quality care to the animal.  This Pet 
Care Plan will include details specific to that particular pet and will inform staff and parents about the 
pet, and noting the specifics required to provide quality care to the animal.  The Pet Care Plan must 
include: 

 Name of animal 

 Description of the animal - example: rat - nocturnal, affectionate and playful pets 

 Description of appropriate housing/cage/bedding and recommended cleaning pattern 

 Description of food needed to provide a healthy diet including portion size and frequency 

 Explanation of exercise needed 

 Explanation of proper handling practices 

 List of vaccines needed (if any), date when administered and future due dates 

 The name and phone number of a veterinarian in case of emergency- Site Supervisors will be 
contacted for veterinarian visits approval.  
 

A log must be posted for staff to initial and date as animal care and related duties are completed.  The 
log must include: 

 daily feeding (food and water) schedule 

 daily exercise  

 cage cleaning schedule 
 
Accommodations must be made for: 

 scheduling weekend, holiday, and vacation care 

 maintaining care in the case of an emergency (natural disaster, animal illness, bites, and other 
similar situations) 

Responsibility of the teaching staff: 

 To review each child’s Health History to identify children with allergies to specific animals. 

 To complete the Pet Care Plan. 

 To maintain the overall care of the animal. 

 To initial the log noting responsibilities completed. 
 
Responsibility of the Site Supervisor: 

 Submit a request to the AD for classroom pet approval.  

 To oversee the health and well being of children, staff and animals as they interact in the 
classroom. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
105 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
Responsibility of Assistant Director 

 Provide pet approval for a classroom on an individual basis.  
 
Any bites will be immediately reported to the Site Supervisor, the Comprehensive Services Health 
Manager and the Assistant Director. 
 
R. Safety / Sanitation Procedures 
1. General Safety 

 Facilities have available first-aid kit readily accessible/clearly marked for emergency use. 

 Facilities are equipped with a fire extinguisher securely mounted and readily accessible. 

 Employees are trained in the use and type of fire extinguishers available. 

 All fire extinguishers are tagged, noting months/years/dates of inspections/annual maintenance, 
and identified use (class of fire). 

 Facility exits are clearly marked with visible, approved EXIT signs.  Aisles, hallways, and other 
exits are kept free of obstacles, including furniture and equipment. 

 All materials and surfaces accessible to children, including toys, shall be free of toxic substances. 

 Air fresheners will not be allowed in any space accessible to children and families. 

 Baby walkers shall not be used or kept on the premises. 

 Playground equipment shall be securely anchored to the ground unless it is portable by design. 

 Equipment and furniture shall be maintained in a safe condition, free of sharp, loose or pointed 
parts. 

 Equipment and furniture shall be age and size appropriate so as to allow children present to 
fully participate in planned activities. 

 All items on shelves above three feet tall (plants, sculptures, books, and other items) shall be 
secured with museum putty, safety latches, barriers, or other similar items to prevent items  
from falling onto children. 

 Open shelves and cabinets over three feet tall shall be free of heavy objects and  

 Tall furniture over four feet tall shall be braced to the wall or floor. 

 Cots are maintained in safe condition and bedding shall not be shared by different children 
without first laundering the bedding. 

 Floor mats are constructed of foam at least ¾ inch thick and covered with vinyl, with no exposed 
foam. Floor side must be marked so that it can be distinguished from the sleeping side. 

 Aisles and trafficked areas are kept free of obstacles and obstructions, with empty food 
containers promptly removed.  Cots shall be arranged so that each child has access to a walkway 
without having to walk on or over the cots or mats of other children. 

 Safe stools/ladders are available and used for reaching shelved items. 

 Employees are trained in the proper use of equipment that their duties require them to use.  
Employees who have not been trained in the proper use of equipment may not operate such 
equipment. 

 Employees are required to be attentive to their tasks, especially when cooking or operating 
moving equipment. 

 Smoking is prohibited in all areas. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
106 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 All employees must consume food only in designated areas. 

 All employees are required to adhere to procedures for kitchen sanitation and the cleaning 
schedule. 

 Firearms and other weapons shall not be allowed on or stored on the premises of a child care 
center. 

 
S. Safety Surveillance 
1. Identification and Correction 
The Health and Safety Officer will conduct monthly inspections of the facility for hazards using the 
Health and Safety Checklist. The Site Supervisor will review the result of the site inspections and will 
arrange for correction of hazardous conditions identified. Written reports of the inspections and 
corrections will be kept in a designated binder on-site. Copies of monthly inspections and corrective 
action plans will be sent to Joanne Sanchez-Rosa. 
 
2. Escape Hazards 
The Site Supervisor will maintain and review with the staff annually a list of potential high-risk 
locations/situations where a child might escape unnoticed from the group. Staff will use this list to plan 
increased supervision in these high-risk locations and situations. If such a high-risk escape hazard is 
identified between annual reviews, staff will take action immediately. 
 
3. Evacuation Hazards 
The Site Supervisor will be responsible for establishing and updating a checklist of locations to be 
assessed during evacuation to assure complete surveillance of the building before and after evacuation 
is declared complete. The checklist will identify usual and likely-to-be-forgotten locations such as: under 
a cot, behind a sofa, in a toy bin, in a closet, kitchen, or toilet room. 
 
4. Injury Prevention 
Whenever an injury occurs, a copy of a completed Incident/Accident Report form will be filed in an 
injury log. The injury log will be reviewed every three months by the Site Supervisor or Assistant Director 
to identify hazards in need of corrective action. 
 
Staff and volunteers must be able to demonstrate safety procedures.  Both staff and volunteers will 
review safety procedures with the Site Supervisor prior to working in the classroom.  Emergency 
procedures, the Health and Safety Checklist, and playground safety shall be reviewed with each staff 
person and volunteer before any interaction with children may occur. 
 
Child and parent activities must include safety awareness for the home and in the program.  Videos, 
brochures, newsletter articles, and parent training will be used to foster safety awareness for the home 
and in the program. 
 
T. First Aid Kits 
All centers should have a first-aid kit and manual that is easily accessible (location should be marked by 
“First Aid Kit Here” signs available to staff and out of reach of children. The following items should be in 
the first-aid kit:  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
107 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 CPR Mask 

 Disposable, nonporous gloves 

 Scissors 

 Tweezers 

 Thermometer 

 Bandage Tape 

 Sterile gauze pads 

 Flexible roller gauze 

 Triangular Bandage 

 Pins for triangular bandage 

 Eye dressing (small cups) 

 Pen/pencil and note pad 

 Cold pack 

 First aid guide 

 Poison Control number 
 

The Health and Safety Officer, using the Health and Safety Checklist, will inventory the First Aid Kit 
monthly. Orders for restocking the kits are placed with designated staff. The First Aid Kits are only to be 
used in an extreme emergency. Everyday health and safety supplies such as Band-Aids, cold packs and 
gloves are stocked separately and in abundance in designated locations within each center, inaccessible 
to children. 
 
U. Preparing For Emergencies 
Each classroom has a disaster preparedness plan in case of fire, earthquake, or other emergency.  
Children and staff must be prepared to execute the plan in the event of such emergency. 
 
1. Operations Procedure 
Staff receives training on the disaster preparedness plan during their initial work orientation, and at 
subsequent staff development training.  Such training is filed and documented with training records. 
 
Fire drills are held at least once per month. 
 
Earthquake preparedness drills are held at least once per month. 
 
Shelter-in-Place drills are held once a month on the first Wednesday of each month. 
 
All CSB centers post evacuation plans, and have documentation of successfully completing monthly fire 
and earthquake drills. 
 
Documentation of earthquake and fire drills should be entered in the “Fire/ Earthquake Drill Report” for 
and the “Fire and Earthquake Drill Log” (SB116-Disaster Drill Report and CSB117-Disaster Drill Report 
Log) 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
108 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Classroom teachers provide an orientation to children on how to respond to an emergency as part of 
the ongoing curriculum.  
 
Fire drill and earthquake preparedness orientations must take place by the second week of program 
opening for children and monthly thereafter.  
 
Contra Costa County maintains an Office of Emergency Services (OES) Plan, which is activated during 
major disasters.  The functions performed at the OES include gathering and evaluating damage 
information, determining emergency response priorities, obtaining necessary resources (materials, 
supplies, equipment, and personnel) and providing information to the news media.  Community Services 
Bureau staff will provide information to the County OES on the status of the department's staff, 
buildings and equipment, including vehicles. 
 
A verbal report to Community Care Licensing must be made within 24 hours and written report must be 
submitted to the licensing agency within seven days of the occurrence of any of the following events: 

 Death of any child from any cause 

 Any injury to any child requiring medical attention 

 Any unusual incident or child absence which threatens the physical or emotional health or 
safety of any child 

 Any suspected physical or psychological abuse of any child 

 Epidemic outbreaks 

 Poisonings 

 Catastrophes 

 Fires or explosions occurring in/on the premises 
 

Reports must be made in writing to the funding sources as soon as possible after any of the above. 
 
2. Emergency Disaster / Earthquake Supplies 
All sites have emergency/disaster supply containers that are easily accessible.  The sealed containers 
hold the following items appropriate to the number of adults, children and infants at the site.  The 
inventory with the expiration date of the contents is listed on the outside of the container.   

First Aid Supplies Food Bars Formula Formula Bottles Bottle Bags Bottle Nipples 

Pliers Crow bar Water Latex Free Gloves Hand Sanitizer Trash bags 

Multi-purpose Tool Shovel Radio Safety Goggles Solar Blankets Work Gloves 

Gas Shut off Tool Scissors  Dust Masks Zip Lock bags Masking Tape Duct Tape 

Fleece Blankets Batteries Whistles Toilet Paper Rope Adult Vests 

Germicidal Tablets Wrench Buckets Flashlight Soap Cold Packs  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
109 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Antiseptic Wash Hammer Lanterns Shovel Eye Wash Vinyl Tarp 

Toilet Bags 
Toilet 
Chemicals 

Bucket 
Toilet Seats Dust Masks Hard Hat  

 
3. Meal Delivery-Emergency 
Each center should have the items listed below available when food cannot be transported to the 
centers due to unforeseen circumstances such as traffic, breakdown of van, or breakdown of equipment 
in kitchen. All of these food items should be stored and marked “Emergency Food’’. The requisite 
amount of milk (2½ gallons per classroom, per meal) and soymilk and lactaid (if needed for milk 
intolerances) are to be on hand at all times. 

 Infant food: 
o meats, fruits and vegetables 
o dry cereal 
o formula 

 Breakfast food: 
o dry cereal 
o canned fruit 
o milk 

 Lunch food: 
o Sunbutter 
o string cheese ww crackers 
o 1 can of fruit and 1 can of vegetables 
o 2½ gallons milk 

 Afternoon snack: 
o graham crackers 
o 2 gallons milk 

 
V. Classroom Sanitation 
1. General Description 
Each classroom is responsible for preparing the spray bottle of sanitizing solution on a daily basis.  The 
proportions of bleach to water are:  three quarters (¾) teaspoon of chlorine bleach to two (2) cups of 
water or one (1) tablespoon of chlorine bleach to one (1) quart of water.  Classroom staff is instructed to 
spray each table lightly with the bleach solution, to wipe it with paper towels and air dry. This is to be 
done before and after each meal service.  The bleach solution, as well as any other disinfectants, 
cleaning solutions, poisons and other items that could pose a danger to children, should be placed in a 
locked cabinet after each use to prevent children from reaching.  Warning Signs and Mixture instruction 
posters should be posted on the cabinet door where the solution is stored (See CSB Forms for forms 
“Warning Sign Poster” and “Warning Mixture Instruction Poster” in English and Spanish). 
 
Tabletops and eating surfaces must be cleaned/sanitized before and after each meal, counter tops are 
cleaned between preparation of different food items, and can openers are cleaned/sanitized after each 
use. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
110 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Classroom staff is responsible for sanitizing toys weekly, as well as cleaning shelves and all areas of the 
classroom where toys are stored. 
In classrooms that have kitchen equipment, the teaching staff will ensure that, on a weekly basis and as 
needed, the pantry is swept, and ovens and refrigerators are cleaned.  The building service worker 
washes trashcans as needed. 
 
2. Classroom Sanitation in Infant Care Centers 
Particular emphasis on classroom sanitation for infant centers is critically important in ensuring the 
health of the children and staff and in preventing the spread of communicable disease.  Keep the 
classroom sanitized by adhering to these activities: 

 All items used by pets and animals shall be kept out of the reach of infants. 

 Before walking on surfaces that infants use specifically for play, adults and children shall 
remove, replace, or cover with clean foot coverings any shoes/socks they have worn outside of 
that play area. 

 Each caregiver shall wash his/her hands with soap and water before each feeding and after each 
diaper change. 

 Only dispenser soap, such as liquid or powder in an appropriate dispenser shall be used. 

 Only disposable paper towels in an appropriate holder or dispenser shall be used for hand 
drying. 

 Washing, cleaning and sanitizing requirements for areas used by staff with infants or for areas 
that infants have access to, are as follows: 

 Floors, except those carpeted, shall be vacuumed or swept and mopped with a disinfecting 
solution at least daily, or more often if necessary. 

 Carpeted floors and large throw rugs that cannot be washed shall be vacuumed at least daily 
and cleaned at least every six months, or more often if necessary. 

 Small rugs that can be washed shall be shaken or vacuumed at least daily and washed at least 
weekly, or more often if necessary. 

 Walls and portable partitions shall be washed with a disinfecting solution at least weekly, or 
more often if necessary. 

 The diaper-changing area, where residue is splashed from soiled diapers and items and surfaces 
are touched by staff during the diaper-changing process, shall be washed and disinfected after 
each diaper change. Such areas, items and surfaces shall include but not be limited to: 

 Walls and floors surrounding the immediate diaper-changing area. 

 Dispensers for lotion, soap and paper towels. 

 Countertops, sinks, drawers and cabinets. 

 Sinks used to wash infants, or to rinse soiled clothing or diapers shall be disinfected after each 
use. 
 

Objects used by infants that have been placed in the child’s mouth or that are otherwise contaminated 
by body secretion or excretion are either to be (a) washed by hand using water and detergent, then 
rinsed, sanitized, and air dried, or (b) washed in a mechanical dishwasher before use by another child. A 
container will be placed in the infant room to collect these objects which shall be washed and 
disinfected at least daily, or more often if necessary. Such objects shall include, but not be limited to, 
toys and blankets. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
111 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 
Linens laundered by the center shall be washed and sanitized at least daily, or more often if necessary. 
Such linens shall include, but not be limited to, bedding, towels and washcloths used on or by infants. 
 
A disinfecting solution, which shall be used after surfaces and objects have been cleaned with a 
detergent or other cleaner, shall be freshly prepared each day using 1/4 cup of bleach per gallon of 
water. Commercial disinfecting solutions, including one-step cleaning/disinfecting solutions, may be 
used in accordance with label directions. 
 
All disinfectants, cleaning solutions and other hazardous materials shall be placed in a locked storage 
area. 
 
W. Kitchen Sanitation 
Effective cleaning and storage of equipment and utensils used for food preparation must be enforced. 
Cleaning/sanitizing may be done by spraying, by immersion dish washing machine, or by any other type 
of machine or device (if demonstrated thoroughly to cleanse/sanitize equipment and utensils).  The 
dishwashing machine must reach a temperature of 165 degrees F (74 degrees C) during washing and 180 
degrees F during rinsing. 
 
All dishes and utensils used for food preparation, eating and drinking must be cleaned and sanitized 
after each use. 
 
Pesticides and other similar toxic materials must not be stored in food storerooms, kitchen areas, food 
preparation areas, or areas where kitchen equipment or utensils are stored. 
Soaps, detergents, cleaning compounds or similar substances must be stored in areas separate from 
food supplies. 
 
X. Food Safety and Sanitation 
1. Personal Hygiene, Food Service Staff and Classroom Staff 
No person is allowed to work in a food service facility or a food serving area if he/she: 

 Is infected with a communicable disease that can be transmitted by food 

 Is a carrier of organisms that can cause disease 

 Has a boil, infected wound, or acute respiratory infection. 
 

Employees must thoroughly wash their hands and exposed portions of their arms with soap and warm 
water: 

 Before starting work 

 Before serving food 

 During work 

 After diapering 

 After smoking 

 After eating 

 After drinking 

 After using the toilet 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
112 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 As often as otherwise necessary 
 
Employees must maintain a high degree of personal cleanliness, and conform to good hygienic practices. 
 
Minor cuts or scrapes should be thoroughly cleaned, and covered with a clean bandage.  If the affected 
area is on a hand, food service gloves should be worn until the area has healed. 
 
Employees must not use tobacco in any form while engaged in food preparation or service, nor while in 
areas used for equipment washing, utensil washing, or food preparation.  Employees may use tobacco 
only in designated areas. 
 
Potentially hazardous food must be kept at an internal temperature below 40 degrees F or above 140 
degrees F. For hot foods, the food is to be reheated to 165 degrees F. 
 
Gloves are to be used when hand comes into contact with food such as when cutting food. Gloves do 
not need to be used when serving food with a utensil. 
 
Each serving bowl on the table must have a separate spoon or other utensil. 
 
Leftovers may not be sent home with children, staff, or adults - due to the hazards of bacterial growth. 
 
Employees may not have snacks (coffee, soda, chips, candy, or other snack foods) in front of children. 
 
To help maintain kitchen sanitation, all non-kitchen staff shall not enter the kitchen except as required 
for work duties.  
 
2. Policies for Food Sanitation / Safety 
i. Mealtime Sanitation Procedures 
Tables should be cleaned with the registered disinfectant/cleaner approved for food prep surfaces 
before and after meal times. Teachers and children must wash hands before setting table or sitting 
down at table.  The assigned staff must take temperatures of foods before serving, and food must be 

warmed up to 165F if below 140F. Serving temperature and time temperature was taken must be 
recorded on transport sheet. 
 
ii. Food Utensils, Dishes and Food Containers 
Each center must return serving bowls and other tableware items daily to the Child Nutrition Central 
Kitchen for proper sanitation.  All dishes, utensils, and food containers are the property of Contra Costa 
County Community Services Bureau, and should not be taken off the premises.  All containers are to be 
returned to the Kitchen daily.  All food and utensils are to be kept in their proper storage cabinet. Non-
perishable food and food-related products are to be stored at least six inches off the ground at all times. 
 
iii. Refrigerators 
Each classroom has a refrigerator except in large centers with a separate kitchen. The thermometers 
inside the freezer and refrigerator must be checked daily.  It is the Site Supervisor’s responsibility to: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
113 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Order a new thermometer when needed. 

 Ensure that perishable food items are cleared from the refrigerator. 

 Ensure that the refrigerator is cleaned and sanitized.  

 Make certain that no personal food is stored in refrigerators that hold CACFP food. 
 
iv. Food storage 
Canned fruit, fresh fruit and bread should be stored in the refrigerator for later use.  Leftover milk and 
cold foods are to be rotated so they do not become outdated.  Once milk is poured into small 
containers, it should not be poured back into the milk carton. All foods will be marked with their date of 
delivery. Opened food that must be stored is to be labeled with name and date of opening.  All 
containers are to be labeled with name of food and date when packed. 
 
v. Disposal of Leftover Food 
Dangerous health problems can be caused by leftover foods being held at improper temperature.  
Teaching staff is required to dispose of all un-served cooked foods.  At the end of each meal they are 
thrown into the garbage can.  

 Food may not be kept after it has been put on the table for children. 

 Leftover un-served food can never be taken home. 

 Leftover fresh fruits, vegetables, cereals, breads and milk should be stored properly and used for 
snacks or breakfast.  Dispose of unsafe perishables daily. 

 The central kitchen will create a sample lunch plate and hold it for seven days. This food would 
be used for analysis in case of a food borne illness outbreak.  

 
Y. Procedures for Using Transport Units 
Insulated food cambros are insulated to keep hot food hot or cold food cold.  Cambros are to be 
sanitized daily. 

 Cambros are not to be stacked more than four high. 

 Always open containers just before serving food. 

 All food containers are to be rinsed before being returned to central kitchen. 

 Food may not sit at room temperature in an open insulated food container. 

 Each classroom has a food safety corner with a poster showing thermometer guidelines for food 
safety, a sanitizer formula, recalibration instructions, and glove labels with holders. 

 
Z. Food for Infants 
1. General Description 
Infants from birth through 11 months participating in the program will be offered an infant meal.  Under 
the infant meal pattern, infant formula is a required component and, as such, must always be offered 
unless the infant’s mother provides breast milk.  CSB encourages breast-feeding.  Infants and mothers 
benefit when infants are breastfed.  Facilities are available for mothers to comfortably and discreetly 
breastfeed infants. Alternatively, staff can feed infants expressed breast milk left by their mothers. 
 
The decision regarding which infant formula to feed a baby is one for the baby’s doctor and parents to 
make together.  CSB provides one house formula Enfamil with Lipil. If a parent declines the formula 
which the program provides, the parent must document this request using the form “Parent’s Form for 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
114 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

Declining a Provider’s Formula” (See Form CSB428) and a list of iron-fortified formulas that do not 
require a medical statement in the Child and Adult Care Food Program should also be provided to 
parents.  Parent will furnish a formula which meets the CACFP requirements for iron fortification and 
nutritional content, unless the doctor has prescribed a special formula.  If the doctor-prescribed formula 
does not meet the CACFP requirements, parent and MD will need to complete a medical statement in 
addition to the declination form (See Form CSB4). 
 
Infants are to be held while being fed, and never laid down to sleep with a bottle. 
 
A baby’s developmental readiness determines which foods should be provided, what texture the foods 
should be, and which feeding styles to use.  Please refer to your training manual for complete 
guidelines. 
 
2. Feeding Infants 
The introduction of solid foods is usually started between four and seven months of age, depending 
upon each child’s nutritional and developmental needs.  The decision to introduce solid foods should 
always be made in consultation with the parents.  New foods are introduced one at a time, at least one 
week apart to make it easier to identify food allergies or intolerances.  Children will be offered single-
ingredient commercial baby food when appropriate. 
 
As children grow older, they may prefer to hold their own bottles, and may do so while in an adult’s 
arms or lap. 
 
Dental problems, such as tooth decay, may result from children using bottles as pacifiers.  For this 
reason, children are not allowed to carry bottles. 
 
Cereal or any other solid food may not be served from a bottle.  A spoon is to be used instead.  Baby 
food may not be served from jars. Before feeding, remove the approximate amount of food that infant 
might consume from the jar and place into small dish.  Do not put the baby food in a bottle. Babies fed 
such food in a bottle can choke and may not learn to eat foods properly. 
 
If parents have chosen to decline provider’s offered food and will furnish one or more food items that 
meet Child Nutrition Program (CNP) nutritional content requirements, the parent must document this 
using the Parent’s Form for Declining a Provider’s Food, (See Form CSB427) unless their doctor has 
prescribed special food.  Any food items provided by the parent must be in compliance with local health 
codes.  If the doctor’s prescribed food item(s) does not meet the CNP requirements, the doctor will need 
to complete the back of the Parent’s Form for Declining a Provider’s Food, return the original to the 
Nutrition Office, and retain a copy in the child’s file.  
 
3. Food to Avoid with Infants 
Babies are at risk of choking on food due to their poor chewing and swallowing abilities.  For a complete 
list of foods to avoid for infants and toddlers, please refer to the training manual, “FEEDING INFANTS:  A 
Guide for Use in Child Nutrition Programs.” 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
115 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

AA. Food for Toddlers 
Toddlers will be served food from the regular Child Nutrition Toddler menu.  Foods should be served 
family style and prepared so they are easy to eat (small pieces, or thin slices, no bones). 
 
BB. Potlucks 
Potlucks have historically been an integral part of CSB.  They have provided parents with an opportunity 
to share part of their family traditions, culture, personal hobbies, and strengths with other parents and 
staff in an economic and enriching manner.  As the program has grown, concerns have been raised in 
relation to sanitation and safety.  There is no regulation from either the state or county barring potlucks.   
 
This is partly due to the common practice in our community of celebrations being built around a shared 
food experience, often with participants bringing their choice of food (at school, church, temple, family, 
community organization, etc).  The food may be either homemade or purchased. 
 
A potluck can be held during classroom events, as long as it does not interfere with children being 
served the food provided by Child Nutrition Services. Parents who choose to contribute food should be 
encouraged to bring foods that are economical, healthy and prepared in sanitary conditions.  Cultural 
foods are encouraged.  Parents may prepare a plate of potluck food for their own children only, but the 
child may not be served the food in lieu of the food provided by the program. 
 
CC. Food for Children, Parent, Staff Meetings and Events 
In March 1993, in an effort to reduce chronic disease, the Board of Supervisors adopted the Contra 
Costa County Food Policy developed by the Contra Costa County Food and Nutrition Policy Consortium, 
of which CSB is a member.  The policy states that food provided at staff meetings, parties and other 
types of County social events should include choices that meet U.S. Dietary Guidelines.  All foods served 
to people or provided through food assistance programs should reflect current standards of good 
nutrition.  
 
In 2012, the Board of Supervisors and the Policy Council approved a Healthy Food & Beverage Policy. 
This policy states that Community Services Bureau recognizes frequent consumption of non-nutritious 
foods and beverages as a significant risk to the health of the children being served, and is taking a 
preventive approach. The role of CSB in serving families includes consistently modeling the behavior we 
wish to encourage. Therefore, at all CSB meetings, events, activities, or celebrations which include 
children: 

 Sugar (or corn syrup) sweetened beverages and 100% fruit juice will not be served 

 Foods containing large amounts of sugar and/or solid fats (candy, donuts, cakes, cookies, chips, 
etc.) will not be served 

Instead, CSB will provide or require healthy alternatives such as: 

 Unsweetened carbonated water (flavored or unflavored) 

 Water, perhaps flavored with a slice of lemon or other fresh fruit (and preferably served in non-
plastic containers) 

 Non-fat or 1% milk (plain) 

 Coffee and/or tea (for adults) 

 Fresh fruit 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 2: Child Development 
 

 
116 

2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 2-Child Development 

 

 Whole-grain snacks (crackers, etc.) 

 Raw vegetables and dipping sauce 
 
At all facilities directly operated by CSB, the CSB Healthy Food and Beverage policy will be implemented 
for any meal or special event that includes children. 
 
DD. Nutrition Services 
The Nutrition Office works with staff, professionals and parents to meet the nutritional needs of children 
with disabilities, and to help prevent disabilities that have a nutrition-related basis. 
 
The Comprehensive Services Health, Disabilities and Mental Health Managers work with the Nutritionist 
to ensure that provisions to meet special needs are incorporated into the nutrition program. 
 
Appropriate professionals are consulted on ways to assist Head Start staff and parents with regard to 
children having severe disabilities and/or problems with eating. 
 
The Nutritionist will plan and implements activities to help children with disabilities participate at 
mealtime, and to help prevent nutrition-related disabilities.    
 
EE. Food Defense 
Security measures in the central kitchen area will be followed by limiting access to the food production 
area and storage area to authorized personnel only.  
When not in use: 

 Freezers will be kept locked at all times. 

 Walk in refrigerators will be locked at all times. 

 Storage room will be kept locked at all times.  

 Food shipments will be accepted only if products are secured and sealed. 

 Access to ice making equipment is controlled. 

 Incoming food shipments are examined for potential tampering. 

 

 

 
 
 
 



CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT COMMUNITY 
SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

SECTION 3- FAMILY AND COMMUNITY 
PARTNERSHIPS 

 

 

2013-2014 

 
 
 
 
  

Policy Council Approved:                                                                                                         
Board of Supervisors Approved: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

2 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

 
  

PART I FAMILY PARTNERSHIP BUILDING  

A Purpose and Methodology 3 

B Family Partnership Agreement 3 

C Accessing Community Services and Resources 8 

D Supporting Families in Crisis- (Emergency and Crisis Assistance) 8 

E Accessing Mental Health Services: Prevention Identification, Intervention, 
Program for Families 

9 

F Family Resources 9 

G Services to Pregnant Women Enrolled in the Program 10 

   

PART II PARENT ENGAGEMENT  

A General Description 11 

B Engagement in the Decision-Making Process 11 

C Engagement in the Classroom as Paid Employees, Volunteers or Observers 13 

D The Role of Staff in Parent Engagement 15 

E Development of Activities for all parents 16 

F Parent Education / Home Activities 16 

G Parent Notification of Community Services Bureau Changes 16 

H Family Literacy 17 

I Parent and Family Engagement in Health, Nutrition, and Mental Health 
Education 

17 

J Parent Engagement in Community Action 18 

K Parent and Family Engagement in Transition Activities 18 

L Parent and Family Engagement in Home Visits 19 

M Parent Engagement in Recruiting and Interviewing Head Start and Early Head 
Start Employees 

19 

N Parent’s Appeal Rights 19 

   

PART III COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS  

A Descriptions 21 

B Child Care Partnerships 21 

C Partnerships with Agencies, Entities and Individuals 21 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

3 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

 
I. Family Partnership Building 
A. Purpose and Methodology 
The family partnership building process begins at the first point of contact that the families have with 
CSB staff. This may occur through a phone call to the enrollment line, an intake appointment, or a walk-
in at one of our centers. Staff members support families as co-partners by identifying the parents’ 
strengths and providing resources to meet the family’s needs.  CSB support the program parents and 
acknowledges them as being their child’s advocate and primary teacher.  CSB provides opportunities for 
interactions to occur among parents and staff throughout the year to address their child’s education and 
development. Staff meets with families to identify what their strengths and needs are and how our 
program can best support their families’ situation.  Through the availability of bilingual staff and 
Language Line Services for translation support, staff communicates with families in their primary 
language.  They are informed upon enrollment that comprehensive services staff along with their child’s 
teacher are available to provide support that is appropriate for their level of need and interest.  
 
Family partnership building is further developed upon enrollment through the Family Partnership 
Agreement Process which includes: the Parent Volunteer Survey, Parent Interest Survey, the Family 
Partnership Agreement Assessments and the Family Goal Setting Process. 
 
B. Family Partnership Agreement 
1. Family Assessment 
Comprehensive Services staff undertakes collaborative partnerships with individual families to develop a 
Family Partnership Agreement based on the family’s readiness/willingness to participate.  The process 
includes: 
 
i. Completion of an initial Family Partnership Assessment of the family’s strengths and needs 
identification takes place. 
 
Identification of the family goals and steps to achieve the goal are identified, in order to support and 
strengthen the Family Assessment.  
 
ii. If a family has a pre-existing plans/goal with another community agency, our comprehensive services 
staff or designated staff will work collaboratively with the family to support that pre-existing goal or 
identify a new one if needed.  Our goal is to assist parents in achieving their goals and support them by 
providing resources that best meet their needs and circumstance.  
 
Depending on the nature of the goal, CSB staff will work in conjunction with the other agency to identify 
and reduce barriers to achieving the set goal.  Regular communication will be established through case 
management meetings if necessary to monitor progress.  Staff will support the family in navigating 
through systems identified by the other agency to make sure that the family has proper supports in 
place. 
 
The Family Partnership Agreement - Family Assessment is completed twice each program year. The first 
Family Partnership Agreement is completed within 90 days of enrollment (individually per family) and 
the second one (follow-up) is due by April 30th.Comprehensive Services staff and parents will work 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

4 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

together and discuss various dimensions of the family’s life (Income and Budget, Shelter, and other 
aspects), identify and respond to any immediate crisis. The key points of this conversation are 
objectively documented in CLOUDS.  Using the Family Partnership Indicators, Comprehensive Services 
staff will assign one of five indicators to the dimension (thriving, safe, stable, vulnerable, or in-crisis). 
 
2. Goal Setting 
Using the information gathered in the Family Partnership Assessment, Comprehensive Services staff 
assists parents in identifying and setting a goal in an area in which the indicator was less than stable.  
Using the family’s own words in documenting goals and activities the goal is recorded in CLOUDS, Family 
Partnership Assessment Goal section, clearly stating the following: 

 Areas of Strength 

 Goal Category 

 Goal Description 

 Action Steps for what is needed to achieve goal(s) (The parent’s responsibility for the action(s)) 

 Support Needed (Staff commitment to the action(s)) 

 When the goal will be completed (within the program year) 

 Plan B (if something unexpected happens) 
 
3. Family Partnership Agreement Process:  
i. Within 90 days of Enrollment 
Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for the following: 

 Complete 1st FPA with parents and enter all information accurately on CLOUDS. Staff document 
key words based on the indicators (strengths or concerns) for each area to validate reason for 
the selected indicator.  

 Support and encourage parents to develop at least one goal that supports an area in which their 
indicator resulted below the “stable” rating. (All areas marked “in-crises” are given immediate 
support and follow-up. Comprehensive Services Manager for Parent, Family and Community 
Engagement is to be notified.  All actions, resources, referrals and results of follow-up are 
documented in the assessment)  

 Provide resources/referrals within two weeks.   

 Schedule a follow-up appointment within one month with the parent/s appropriate to the 
resource given by contacting the family to determine if resources or referrals were appropriate 
and adequate for the family. (contact can be over the phone or in person)  

 Document contact on Family Referrals and Services-Notifications in CLOUDS (enter dates and CS 
staff initials) indicating if the resource(s) met the family’s needs and if the family was satisfied 
with the referral.  

 If a family has no areas that indicate below “stable”, assist the family to develop a goal that 
supports their child’s educational goal or development. (Staff can refer families to their parent-
teacher conference goals if needed)   

 
ii. By April 30th 

 Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for the following: 

 Complete the second FPA, follow-up of the initial FPA with parents - Staff communicates with 
families to discuss and document any changes to the previous family assessment on CLOUDS 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

5 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

 Follow-up on goal progress, Staff document on CLOUDS, the status of goal completion, if the 
goal changed, or if there were any barriers to completing the goal. 

 Provide resources/referrals immediately for emergency, in- crisis or within two weeks for 
vulnerable needs. 

 Schedule one month follow-up contact with families to determine if resources or referrals were 
appropriate and adequate for the family (contact can be over the phone or in person) and 
document as discussed above. 

 Follow same procedures for Referrals and Services as the First Family Partnership Assessment if 
any indicator falls below “stable.”    

 
iii. On an Ongoing Basis 
Site Supervisors are responsible for the following: 

 Review FPA’s and goals of parents at the site 

 Review CLOUDS custom report for Family Performance and Outcome by Measure by selecting 
your site. 

 Review the family information by clicking on the number above the percentage for a particular 
ranking such as: “in-crisis”, etc.  This will populate the family id, if needed click on the family ID 
and it brings up the Family data sheet with more information. 

 Ensure families entered as “in-crisis” and “vulnerable” have received support. (either by site or 
Comprehensive Services staff)   

 Should the family situation change and site staff are aware, notify comprehensive services staff 
to update Family Partnership  Assessment if needed, and provide support or resources as 
needed to teaching staff to give to the parent or given to the parent directly.  

 Provide Comprehensive Services staff with updates to Referrals and Services as parents inform 
so that CLOUDS is maintained accurate and support is provided as needed. 

 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for the following: 

 Use CLOUDS to track Family Referrals.  

 Ensure that adequate follow-up and resources were provided in a timely manner. 

 Provide support and assistance to CS Clerk in obtaining resources if requested. 

 Provide support and assistance to family when needed. 

 Hold case management meetings for referrals that require multiple steps and planning. 

 Hold case management meetings for families with two (2) or more areas indicated to be below 
“stable” or any one (1) area indicated to be “in-crisis”. 

 Work with Comprehensive Services Clerks to ensure FPA tasks are completed within the 
timelines assigned.   

 For Returning Children (unless family assessment updates are made sooner due to reported 
changes, follow the same steps above) 

 
Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for the following: 

 Complete the returning family’s Family Partnership Agreement Assessment within 90 days 
(September 30th) of the second school year. 

 Follow the same steps for completing the assessment and protocol for documentation, follow-
up by April 30th as you would for newly enrolled families.  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

6 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

 Follow the same steps for completing the returning family’s Family Partnership Agreement 
Assessment and follow-up by May 31st as newly enrolled families. 

 Follow the same steps for documenting Family Goal progress.  Provide resource/referrals 
immediately for emergency, in-crisis or within two weeks for vulnerable needs.   

 If the family has not completed their goal from the previous year and would like to continue 
working towards the same goal, staff is to document in the existing CLOUDS goal and change the 
“by when” date. 

 
 
4. Desired Outcomes of Family Partnership Process 

 Families achieve an enhanced quality of life by engaging in a family partnership assessment 
process. Parents are provided community resources such as adult education classes, financial 
literacy assistance programs, employment counseling, school lunch programs, health resources, 
and other community services.  Such efforts are coordinated with the Comprehensive Services 
staff via the Family Partnership Agreement process and through daily interaction with site or 
comprehensive services staff at the parent’s discretion and need.  By assisting families to 
identify their own supports and strengths, development of skills, tools, and resources, families 
are able to use this process in developing goals for their families after they leave the program. 

 

 Families feel empowered and have gained life skills to be self sufficient by learning about and 
accessing community resources to support their family. 

 

 Families’ attainment of goals will be identified 
 

 Families attain and accomplish pre-existing goals if identified  
 
The Comprehensive Services staff provides guidance, support, and resources to the family, moving them 
toward successful completion of the family goal(s) and aspirations.  Documentation of support can be 
found in CLOUDS, Family Referrals and Services, and the Family Case History.  
 
When the family does not meet the timeline, the Comprehensive Services staff will provide additional 
support and guidance, by reviewing/discussing all obstacles which prevented the family from meeting 
the time line.  Families have a choice to continue moving toward meeting their goal(s) or establishing a 
new goal.  If a family chooses to set a new goal, Comprehensive Services staff will assist the family in 
identifying an area to set a goal, and follow the goal setting procedures as listed under Goal Setting.  
Comprehensive Services staff will provide support and resources for the family to work towards 
achieving the newly identified goal. 
 
If after several attempts, a family refuses to participate in the assessment or goal development, staff 
document their attempts at explaining benefits of the process, and note that parent refused. 
 
5. Parent Volunteer Survey 
During the placement appointment, Comprehensive Services staff asks parents to complete a Volunteer 
Survey (See Form CSB300).  This survey includes ways for parents to be engaged at the site level such as: 
helping in the classroom, preparing materials, sharing talents.  It also offers opportunities to volunteer 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

7 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

on a larger scale such as: Policy Council, Nutrition Advisory Committee, Health Services Advisory 
Committee, and Interview Panels. 
 
The following is the protocol for implementation and completion of the Volunteer Surveys:  
i. Upon Enrollment 

 Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for: 

 Completing Volunteer Survey with Parent 

 Completing Parent Interest Survey with Parent 

 Input names of parents indicating interest in an Advisory Committee (Policy Council, Health 
Services, Interview Panel, Nutrition etc) into the Volunteers for Advisory Committees folder on 
the Shared drive.  

ii. By September 30th 

 Site Supervisors are responsible for: 

 Compiling a list of site volunteers from Volunteer Survey results and 

 Utilizing the list of volunteers when needed for parent meetings. 

 Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers are responsible for: 

 Working with Comprehensive Services Clerks to ensure Parent Interest Survey distribution and 
Volunteer Survey tasks are completed within the timeline.  

iii. Ongoing  

 Should parents indicate interest in volunteering at a later date, they can inform site staff or CS 
staff for volunteer opportunities.  (Volunteer Interest Survey is used upon enrollment as a 
means to discuss various engagement opportunities; however, families can participate in a 
volunteer activity at any point of enrollment). 

 
6. Parent Interest Survey 
The Parent Interest Survey is completed by Parents upon enrollment.  Results of this survey allow staff 
to identify the collective results the parents’ interests for training at the parent committee meetings, or 
resources provided on a site level interest.  The list of the top ten results are kept in the Parent Meeting 
& Policy Council binder and can also be shared via written materials, newsletter articles, speakers, and 
other forms of media.  The categories for topics include: 

 Health / safety 

 Nutrition 

 Mental health 

 Child development 

 Parenting 

 Literacy / adult education 

 Employment / job training 

 Community resources 

 The following is the protocol for implementation, timeline, distribution, and follow up for the 
Parent Interest Survey (See Form CSB-300).  

 Upon enrollment 

 Comprehensive Services Clerks are responsible for the following: 

 Completing the surveys with Parent 

 Tallying the completed surveys 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

8 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

 Providing site with top ten interests on Site Level Parent Training Form (See Form CSB-304).  

 By October / November of each year 

 Site Supervisors are responsible for the following: 

 Present the top ten interest results at next parent meeting as scheduled. 

 Work with parents to develop calendar/schedule for topic presentations. 

 Request support from Comprehensive Services as needed in obtaining or identifying speakers 

 Based on results of the Survey and Performance Standard requirements, parent education 
workshops are planned by Site Supervisors/Head Teachers, and Comprehensive Services team 
members throughout the school year.   

 
C. Accessing Community Services and Resources 
CSB collaborates and works in close partnership with several child and family services community 
agencies in a wide number of service areas such as: mental health, health, nutrition support, education 
programs, disabilities support services agencies, social services, local Food Banks, financial literacy 
education, asset development programs, and domestic violence support programs. Connecting families 
to community agencies, including the Local Education Agencies, helps families to: 

 Support and coordinate the successful transitions for enrolled children and families with other 
agencies.  

 Support communication and coordination of services between Head Start/Early Head Start staff, 
school principals, and staff from other family services agencies involved with the family through 
transitions, including joint transition meetings.  

 Support parent’s role as the primary teacher/advocate for their child’s education and 
throughout life.   

 Support families’ interests and needs to encourage parent family and community engagement in 
the in the children’s learning. 

 
CSB provides many opportunities for staff interaction with families throughout the year.  Encouraging 
parents to be actively engaged in their child’s life is the foundation for parents to continue as advocates 
for their children beyond Head Start.  Please refer to each service area for more on how staff can 
support parent opportunities for gaining access to community resources. Comprehensive Services and 
site staff also generate referrals as a response to a parent’s request.    
 
D. Supporting Families in Crisis-(Emergency and Crisis assistance) 
When a family experiences a crisis, the stress disrupts the family's usual pattern of functioning and 
family well-being.  Families sometimes find that their usual ways of coping or problem solving do not 
work; as a result, they feel vulnerable, anxious, and overwhelmed.  Sensitivity and care is taken to assess 
the nature and scope of the crisis in order to work with the family to discuss the level of support that is 
adequate yet comfortable for the family.   

 Comprehensive services and site staff will conduct a comprehensive review of the immediate 
crisis that the family has.   

 Comprehensive Services staff will contact the Mental Health unit for support. Report the 
situation and advise of potential need for crisis intervention or consultation.    

 Consult the Service Area Manager(s) most connected to the crisis as needed for case review 
assessment and ensure comprehensive services support has been considered, and track crisis 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

9 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

until stabilized.  The Parent, Family and Community Engagement Manager should also be 
notified regardless of the crisis area.  

 Review the documentation of events in CLOUDS. 
 
The role of Head Start staff is to recognize and assess the crisis situation, listen and provide assurance, 
and help the family use specialized resources in the broader community.  Whether staff provide the 
needed assistance or intervention, or refer families to community resources, they are key sources of 
support to the family.  
 
All situations defined as a family crisis by staff or parent will be assessed on a case by case basis. The 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager supporting the family’s site will monitor the progress of 
events until the situation is stable. Document specialized services if applicable in CLOUDS. 
 
E. Accessing Mental Health Services: Prevention Identification, Intervention, Program for Families 
CSB supports the social-emotional health and well being of both the child and the family. Opportunities 
for parents are provided to discuss concerns regarding their child or family, and assess 
support/treatment options with CSB mental health unit clinicians. Goals of the mental health prevention 
program are to: 

 Improve self-concept 

 Build positive relationships 

 Develop coping skills for problem-solving 

 Manage stress 
 

Case management meetings are offered to families as needed to identify and address child or family 
issues, so that Comprehensive Services staff can provide information or additional resources to the 
family. Staff can assist families in obtaining appropriate referrals to address needs or concerns.  
 
Child Abuse Prevention training for parents is scheduled annually at the site level during parent 
meetings. Additional resources are available to site and parents upon request. Please refer to the Family 
Handbook for more information. 
 
F. Community Resources 
1. Resource Guides 
Several community resource guides are used by Comprehensive Services staff, including: “Surviving 
Parenthood,” published by the Child Abuse Prevention Council (925-798-0546) and “Regional Guides” 
published by Contra Costa Crisis Center (925-939-1916 or 211.org).  The “Street Sheet,” published by 
Shelter, Inc. (925-335-0698) is widely used and provides an “at-a-glance” perspective of what resources 
are available to assist with basic needs. The “Street Sheet” is easy to reproduce, is available in English 
and Spanish, and is published for East, Central, and West Contra Costa County.  
 
Other community resources lists that are frequently distributed to CSB staff and parents include: one 
stop Career Center monthly calendars, First 5 Center monthly calendars, Local Library calendars, Latina 
Center calendars, and Family Law workshops. 
 
2. Internet Database 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

10 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

For individualized resources customized to fit particular needs, Comprehensive Services staff and other 
staff can access 211 Online Database (formerly known as CORD Contra Costa Online Resource Database) 
via the Internet at www.crisis-center.org   This up-to-date system allows staff to search for resources by 
name, need, and geographical area. It has the capability of translating the resource information into 12 
different languages and has a map feature allowing the user to create a map to and from the resource 
location. Parents are encouraged to use this resource from CSB computers, or if available, from their 
personal computer.  
 
3. Other Methods of Access 
Parents are also given access to information about community services by posted information on parent 
bulletin boards at sites, in the classrooms, from resource booklets, pamphlets, CSB Family newsletters, 
and flyers distributed to parents at orientation and/or other parent meetings/trainings.   
 
4. Site Based Resource and Referrals 
Site Supervisors, site staff, and comprehensive services staff assigned to each site, should always be the 
first contact if a family has a crisis. 
 
Each Site Supervisor is provided with Street Sheets and Resource Guides for the appropriate region of 
the county to assist families in accessing frequently used or needed resources.  Copies of these Resource 
Guides should be posted on the Site Parent Board and also be distributed to each family so that it is 
easily accessible should they need it at a later time. Additional copies for photocopying and updated 
versions can be found at http://www.shelterincofccc.org/resources.html and http://www.crisis-
center.org/inforegional.html. Resource boxes are also available at each site with additional resources 
and handouts that relate to topics from the Parent Interest Surveys.  Each site has a wellness center (self 
help) that will assist those families that don’t ask for resources directly.  The wellness centers contain 
information in the areas of: CSB’s health, disabilities, nutrition, mental health, and parent, family and 
community engagement. The wellness centers are updated by the comprehensive services team on a 
quarterly basis. 
 
G. Services to Pregnant Women Enrolled in the Program 
The same methods of access to resources and services as noted above are to be used with pregnant 
women enrolled in the program.  In particular, Family Partnership Agreements will address: 

 Early and continuing risk assessments, which include assessment for nutritional status as well as 
nutrition counseling and food assistance, if necessary. 

 Health promotion and treatment, including medical and dental exams, on a schedule deemed 
appropriate by attending health care providers as early in the pregnancy as possible. 

 Mental health interventions and follow-up, including substance abuse prevention and treatment 
services as needed. 

 Pre-natal education on fetal development, labor and delivery, and postpartum recovery 

 Benefits of breastfeeding and accommodation of breastfeeding in the program. 

 Health staff will visit the newborn within two weeks after birth to ensure the well being of both 
mother and child.   

  

http://www.shelterincofccc.org/resources.htm
http://www.crisis-center.org/inforegional.html
http://www.crisis-center.org/inforegional.html


2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

11 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

II. Parent Engagement 
A. General Description 
Parents are the first and best educators of their child. Parent Engagement in CSB is integrated in the 
classroom and in the administration. It is imperative that the parent becomes engaged with his/her 
child’s educational program, and with all aspects of the program.  Parents are encouraged to participate 
in policy-making groups at the center, agency, and grantee levels.  Participation of parents is voluntary 
and is not required as a condition of the child’s enrollment.  Four ways have been designed to provide 
the parents and/or families of the program to actively participate in the following: 

• Engage in decision-making process 
• Engage as paid employees 
• Engage as volunteers 
• Engage as observers in their child’s classroom.   

 
Families can also expect to be offered the opportunity to be engaged in the program as equal partners 
in their child’s education and learning in these ways and more: 

 Attend an orientation to the program and the classroom to learn: 

 Attend two Parent/Teacher conferences per year to learn: 

 Attend Parent Meetings and parent trainings 

 Participate as a Volunteer, staff, or observer 

 Participate in the Male Involvement Program 

 Participate in Policy Council and other advisory bodies 

 Participate in the Family Partnership Assessments 
 

B. Engagement in the Decision-Making Process 
Participation in the process of making decisions about the nature and operation of the programs (as well 
as decision-making in the Contra Costa County Community Services Bureau Grantee-Operated Program 
and the Policy Council) occurs on two levels, which are:   
 
1. Site Parent Committee Meetings: (comprised exclusively of the parents of children currently enrolled 
at each center or within a program option such as the Home-based option).  This Committee deals with 
issues at the classroom, site or socialization level. 
 
The Site Parent Committee carries out at minimum, the following responsibilities: 

 Advise staff in developing and implementing local program policies, activities, and services 
(*including but not limited to classroom curriculum and activities, and center-wide activities) 

 Plan, conduct, and participate in informal as well as formal programs and activities for parents 
and staff (*including but not limited to parent training, special events, and parent/child 
activities). 

 Within the guidelines established by the governing body, Policy Council, or Policy Committee, 
participate in the recruitment and screening of Early Head Start and Head Start employees. 

 
The following is the staff protocol for implementation of parent meetings as family engagement: 

 September: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

12 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

o Comprehensive Services Clerks, Comprehensive Services Assistant Managers and CS 
Managers 

o Provide support at 1st parent meeting to establish Policy Council representative and 
Parent Committee officers 

 As needed: 
o Assist in providing resources for speakers at Parent Meeting upon request by Site 

Supervisor.  

 Monthly-week before meeting: 
o Site Parent Meeting Chair 
o Announce upcoming meeting 
o Prepare agenda, make copies, prepare minutes 
o Copy minutes from prior month 
o Post agenda on Parent Board 

Secure training/guest speakers (with Site Supervisor assistance). 
 

 Monthly (Site Supervisor with the support of Comprehensive Services staff as needed): 
o Supports Site Parent Committee Meeting Chair with monthly duties assigned 
o Provides support for translation of minutes/agendas if needed. 
o Provides staff report for meeting. 
o Ensures parent meeting binder is current for school year with training tally, agendas, 

minutes, sign-in sheets and copies of handouts given to parents. 
o Attends Parent Meeting or provide staff support to parent officers.  
o Within school year 
o Site Supervisor with the support of Comprehensive Services staff as needed: 
o Ensures that required trainings such as Pedestrian Safety (By September 30th), Child 

Abuse Prevention (April) and Kindergarten Transition are provided at the site.  
 
2. Policy Council 
The Policy Council operates in accordance with Internal Operational Procedures of the County Board of 
Supervisors, the Brown Act, Simplified Roberts Rules of Order, Head Start Revised Performance 
Standards, and Better Governance Ordinance. The Policy Council By Laws, which are reviewed and 
approved annually by the PC, contain detailed information including but not limited to the following: 

 Purpose of the Policy Council and composition information 

 Procedures for handling business 

 Duties and Responsibilities of members 

 Membership and Meeting information  

 Standards of Conduct requirements 

 For more information regarding the roles and responsibilities of the Policy Council, refer to the 
Program Governance section under Administration of the Policies and Procedures. 

 
The following is the staff protocol for implementation of Policy Council as an opportunity for Parent 
Engagement: 
i. Site Supervisors with the support of designated Comprehensive Services staff is responsible for the 
following: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

13 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

 October  
o Attend 1st Parent Meeting at each site where there is Head Start or Early Head Start 

enrolled families as assigned.  
o Assist in establishing site officers and Policy Council Rep(s). (Refer to resources and 

handouts available in Parent Involvement section of CSB forms that outline general 
duties of policy council representatives.) 

o Provide newly elected Policy Council Rep(s) with Policy Council Representative Changes 
(See Form CSB-327) form to complete. 

Forward to clerk of the Policy Council.  
ii. Site Policy Council Representative with the support of site      
     staff: 

 Monthly 

 Ensures posting of upcoming Policy Council Agenda on Parent Board 96 hours before the Policy 
Council meeting. 

 File Policy Council Agendas in site Parent Meeting Binder.  

 Prepare monthly Site Report to present to Policy Council.                                 

 Share and distribute flyers and information received at the Policy Council Meeting to parents at 
the monthly site committee meeting.  

 Attend Policy Council meeting and take back information and resources to next Parent meeting 
at their site. 

iii. Site Supervisor: 

 Monthly-week of PC  

 Confirm representation for site. If rep(s) cannot attend, secure an alternate. 

 West Co. sites only: Confirm if Policy Council rep(s) needs transportation and inform Site 
Supervisor or designated staff to transportation for the respective month. 

 Facilitate election of new Policy Council representative if replacement is needed. 

 As needed 

 If the elected Policy Council Representative is unable to fulfill his/her duties, he or she submits a 
letter of resignation to site or comprehensive services staff to be forwarded to the clerk or 
manager of PC. 

 Site conducts election for replacement Policy Council representative at the next Parent 
Committee meeting. 

 Provide new Policy Council representative with Policy Council Representative Changes (See 
Form CSB-327) form to complete and forward to the clerk of the Policy Council. 

iv. Comprehensive Services Manager Assigned to Policy Council 
Monthly-after PC: 

 Provide Policy Council Summary to site for Policy Council representative to report at next parent 
meeting.  

 Post minutes and agenda on EHSD public website in both English and Spanish. 
 
C. Engagement in the Classroom as Paid Employees, Volunteers, or Observers 
1. As Paid Employees 
Contra Costa County CSB defines “paid employees” as currently-enrolled parents who have qualified for 
an employee position. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

14 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

Preference will be given to parents of children formerly or currently enrolled in CSB’s programs.  Parents 
who become paid employees of Contra Costa County (other than substitutes who work less than 10 
hours in a month in the program) may not participate on the Policy Council. 
 
2. As Volunteers 
To be considered for volunteering, a currently enrolled parent must take part in an orientation about 
the program and the specific aspects of being a volunteer.  Parents and family members are encouraged 
to participate in the classroom as frequently as their schedule permits.  Please refer to the Volunteer 
Policy under Human Resources of the Policies and Procedures for more information on CSB Volunteer 
Policy.   
 
If parents are unable to volunteer at the center, the following home activities are suggested: 

 Helping children extend their experience in the classroom 

 Helping children to use materials in different ways, providing children with appropriate work 
and strategies to help them solve problems 

 Encouraging children to communicate with one another so that they can help themselves work 
out problems and explore alternatives 

 Organizing, fixing, making toys or sewing/repair of dramatic play clothes 

 Participating in story-telling activities with children 

 Making observations of their child 

 Making flannel board stories 

 Going to the library to check out books for the classroom 

 Translating written materials. 
 
3. As Observers 
Parents of currently enrolled children may observe in their child's classroom or during the Home-based 
socialization time at any point during program operations.   
 
Other persons may observe after obtaining permission from the Site Supervisor/Early Childhood Home 
Educator by indicating the purpose of the visit, and how long they plan to visit. 
 
Parents and other family members have a responsibility to treat staff and other program participants 
with courtesy.  Aggressive or abusive actions towards any staff members, parent, or another child, by 
the child or the child’s parent is unacceptable and may result in a child/family being withdrawn from the 
program.  If this should occur, CSB will work with the parent to provide resources for alternative 
placement. 
 
4.  Male Involvement Program 
CSB supports the engagement of both parents in their children’s educational experience that will 
ultimately help the children to reach their full potential.  Regardless of living arrangements, it is our goal 
to include both parents to the maximum extent possible in the family partnership process and have 
ongoing communication with the child’s teacher as co-partners in their child’s education and 
development.  
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

15 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

CSB makes fathers feel welcome and supported at our sites and offer activities that will be meaningful 
to both father and mother. The goal of male involvement is to provide fathers and other significant 
males with opportunities to improve their lives so that they can improve the lives of their children.  
Activities and support for fathers and engaged men are determined locally through communication with 
site or comprehensive services staff in a variety of ways such as:  ongoing communication as a result of a 
parent-teacher conference, home visit, other means with a teacher or site supervisor, and fatherhood 
support groups (24/7 Dad). 
 
D. The Role of Staff in Family Engagement 
Staff members have a major role in providing opportunities for parents/families to become engaged.  
Site staff and Comprehensive Services staff (line and management) have the responsibility of ensuring 
that parents of children currently enrolled and/or family members have the opportunity to be engaged 
in all aspects of the program.  CSB defines opportunity as the staff’s willingness to assist families in 
removing barriers to their involvement. 
 
1. Orientation: CSB staff ensures that parents have the opportunity to be engaged in the program by 
providing a Parent orientation at time of placement.  Once a child is ready to be placed at a site, 
comprehensive services, or site staff meets with the family to complete the placement process. This 
includes the Parent Interest Survey and a review of the Family Handbook which provides an overview of 
our CSB program, family parent engagement opportunities, and its service models & areas. The Family 
Handbook is updated annually in conjunction with the annual review of CSB Policies and Procedures.  
Contents of the Handbook are limited to appropriate content regarding program information, school 
readiness, staff professional development, parent, family, and community engagement,  health and 
safety requirements, nutrition information, social services and more.  
Please refer to the current Family Handbook for more details. 
 
Site staff and Early Childhood Home Educators work with parents to plan classroom activities, field trips, 
socializations and home-based activities.  Planning with parents at the site level occurs at parent 
meetings and individually through parent conferences twice a year.  Child care and transportation are 
planned and provided when needed to allow for maximum family engagement. 
 
2. Family Engagement Task Force: Ensures agency-wide opportunities are communicated to all parents.  
Membership includes a staff representative from each area of the county, the Parent, Family and 
Community Engagement Manager, and at least one parent. 
 
All centers are required to have a Parent Information Board, located in plain view of all parents visiting 
the facility.  For centers with several buildings, a Parent Information Board should be included at each 
building.  These boards are used to communicate with families and should contain current events, 
parent committee meeting agendas and minutes, Policy Council agendas and minutes, job 
announcements, special events, and parent engagement opportunities such as Male Involvement, Triple 
P (Positive Parenting Program), and community events.  Materials should be posted in English and 
Spanish whenever possible. 
 
CSB monitors both Delegate Agencies and subcontractors, and the directly operated program to 
determine the extent of parent engagement, giving technical assistance to programs as needed. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

16 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

 
 
 
E. Development of Activities for All Parents 
Currently enrolled parents at the classroom and site levels will develop activities for families designed to 
meet the families’ needs and interests.  
 
Parent Interest surveys are distributed to enrolled families at enrollment and are tallied by 
Comprehensive Services staff by September 30th to determine interests and needs of parents at each 
site.  Information from these surveys will be analyzed by staff, and will form the basis for development 
of activities and parent trainings that reflect the interests of the site.  Parent Engagement requests 
found consistently across the program will be considered for agency-wide opportunities. 
 
Parents should work in co-partnership with classroom staff, or with their Early Childhood Home 
Educators to design child development activities and special events. Parents and/or family members are 
encouraged to be in contact with classroom personnel on a regular basis. 
 
Staff should assist parents define their own feelings about child rearing, as well as building partnerships 
with parents (to develop confidence and knowledge about their children’s education).  In turn, parents 
contribute their experiences and values to the program in a way that is comfortable for each parent. 
Various opportunities are made available throughout the year, and support is provided by both site and 
comprehensive services staff to assist each family to participate to the extent of their comfort, ability 
and availability.   
 
F. Parent Education / Home Activities 
Teachers provide parents with individualized home activities to reinforce their child's learning 
objectives.  Home activities focus on the use of household items and emphasize a developmentally 
appropriate approach to working with preschoolers. 
 
Home activities can be introduced to parents at site parent meetings, home visits/parent conferences, 
and daily conversations with parents.  Home activity ideas offered to parents should be documented on 
the second Home Visit/Parent Conference form. 
 
Each center has a Parent Lending Library/Wellness Center available to parents on a checkout basis.  
Books and pamphlets about Parenting, Health, Mental Health, Dental Care, Nutrition, Child 
Development, and Home Activities are all part of the library. For more information on Home Activities, 
refer to the Education section of the Policies and Procedures. 
 
G. Parent Notification of Community Services Bureau Changes 
Following is the Grantee’s procedure for notification of parents of staff changes, new hires, substitutes, 
staff departures, and other applicable CSB staff movement: 

 Classroom Substitute – the Site Supervisor, Teacher or Assistant Director will notify all parents in 
writing, of a change in or substitution of Site Supervisor or teaching staff at the site (or of any 
other change affecting their children’s learning environment). 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

17 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

 Hiring/Assignment/Departure of Staff – in writing and verbally, the Site Supervisor or Head 
Teacher notifies parents that a new employee is on-site. 

 
H. Family Literacy 
Family Literacy will be promoted on a group and individual family basis through information obtained in 
the Family Partnership Agreements, Parent Interest Surveys, parent/teacher home visits, parent 
conferences, center parent meetings, and from other parent contacts.  Family Literacy is approached as 
a collaborative venture, wherein interagency agreements are established to streamline access to the 
services of a variety of community agencies. Examples of Family Literacy opportunities include:  

 Reading Is Fundamental, where parents are trained in storytelling and then scheduled for story 
sessions in their child’s classroom. At the end of each session, each child chooses a book to take 
home and keep as his/her own.  

 Raising a Reader book bags 

 Reading challenges 

 Home activities 
 

Comprehensive Services and site staff work consistently through the year to maintain effective working 
relationships with community agencies providing literacy support services. These may include, but are 
not limited to, United Way, Literacy Alliance, Libraries, ROP, RIF, Project Second Chance, CalWORKs, and 
Diablo Valley Literacy Council, or provide parents with resources for literacy services at their local library 
and more depending on the need and interest of families.   
 
I. Parent and Family Engagement in Health, Nutrition, and Mental Health Education 
The Family Partnership Agreement-Family Partnership Assessment utilizes a Family Development Matrix 
developed by the California Department of Community Services. This matrix specifically addresses 
health, nutrition and mental health education. By utilizing this matrix, staff gains the information they 
need to: 

 Assist parents in establishing and utilizing a medical and dental home 

 Encourage parents to be active participants in their child’s health care 

 Provide parents with the opportunity to learn the principles of preventive medical and dental 
health, health and safety education, and individualized health training specific to the child 
and/or family needs. 

In addition to addressing education via the Family Partnership Agreement, there are two advisory 
groups that allow appropriate time/opportunity for maximum engagement in Health, and Nutrition: 

 Health Services Advisory Committee:  This committee is composed of staff, parents, and experts 
in the community on the topic of health, nutrition and mental health for pregnant women, 
children 0-5 years old, and their families.  Members inform staff of current issues and practices 
so that the program can address them.  Parents also have an opportunity to express their 
concerns regarding health-related issues affecting their family or their community by providing 
input to local community agencies regarding current health-related events, trends, service gaps. 
This group meets twice per year.  Parents indicate interest on the Volunteer Survey that is 
completed at placement (See Form CSB-300)  

 Nutrition Advisory Committee:  This committee is composed of staff and parents.  Members of 
this committee exchange information regarding the food service program.  They may participate 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

18 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

in cooking project demonstrations, and discuss and explore nutrition issues such as obesity, 
anemia, cancer, breastfeeding, and other topics of interest to the parent participants. This group 
meets twice a year.  Parents indicate interest on the Volunteer Survey. (See Form CSB300)  

 
J. Parent and Family Engagement in Community Advocacy 
Through the encouragement of parent and family engagement at all levels, the program provides 
parents with important information that will empower them and serve as a practical resource to help 
them in their day-to-day lives.  
 
One of the goals of parent and family engagement is to support and engage parents in their child’s 
education and development.  Information exchanged during the first and second parent-teacher 
conferences, through case management meetings, sharing of health screening results, and on-going 
communication with parents, staff are educating parents on the importance of seeking out support for 
the interest and well being of their child.  
 
Through the Family Partnership Agreement Process, staff support and encourage families to develop 
goals, or support existing goals in order to support the growth and well being of their family.  
 
Through the Policy Council, parents are provided an opportunity to extend their advocacy into the 
community as they are involved in the decision making process for their Head Start and Early Head Start 
Programs.  They gain experience in a public meeting setting and will have knowledge of public meeting 
rules should they wish to advocate in their local public meetings.  They are exposed to community 
resources and in turn become vital resources to other parents at their respective centers.  The executive 
committee shares information about grass roots advocacy for the Head Start program and encourages 
parents to write letters to their elected officials supporting their Head Start program.  This advocacy 
extends beyond supporting their own child which is what brought them to Head Start initially.  It is vital 
that parents remain concerned and informed about issues that affect their lives and the lives of their 
children.  Parents are encouraged to form their own opinions regarding issues and are provided with 
information on advocacy skills so that they can have a voice as well as leadership skills. 
 
K. Parent and Family Engagement in Transition Activities 
Helping each parent become an effective advocate is an important transitional strategy.  One goal 
should be to help the parent learn about her/his rights, as stated in: 

 Public Law 100476 - Individuals with Disabilities Act (IDEA) 

 American With Disabilities Act (ADA) 

 Public Law 93– 80 - The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) 

 Public Law 99-372 - Handicapped Children’s Protection, Education Handicapped Act (EHA) 
 

Parents should know their rights to ensure that they and their child(ren) are treated fairly.  CSB staff 
may need to help parents develop some assertiveness skills.  Parents need to know how to approach 
their child's teacher, and tactfully request that an arrangement is made to communicate regularly with 
the teacher.  Modeling and role-playing are effective ways to help parents learn/practice discussions 
with teachers and administrators.  This could be done individually or in small groups with other parents 
(some of whom may have had experience in working with teachers from other agencies).  The focus 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

19 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

should be positive assertion of the parent's rights. Staff should concentrate on the benefits that might 
result for the child if the parent continues an active role in the education of the child. 
 
Parents are involved in transitions throughout the program to include: home to school, infant to toddler; 
toddler to preschool, preschool to kindergarten; routine transitions during class time; and transitions 
from the parking lot to the center.  For more information on transitions, refer to the Education and 
Disabilities sections of the Policies and Procedures and the CSB Family Handbook.  
 
L. Parent and Family Engagement in Home Visits 
Head Start enrolled parents are encouraged to participate in two home visits during the program year. 
The first visit may occur at the time of placement and is intended to be an opportunity for the teacher to 
meet the child and family, and ensure that the child’s entry into the program is successful. 
Comprehensive Services staff may accompany the teacher if necessary. This provides an opportunity for 
parents to share information about their child to the teacher.   
 
Individual needs are also addressed at this time as well as completion of some required program 
documentation. The second visit occurs near the end of the program year and is intended to exchange 
information regarding progress the child has made, and to address any areas of concern before the child 
leaves the program or begins another year with the program. 
 
Parents may decline the opportunity for a home visit at any time.  While home visits are not required as 
a condition of the child’s enrollment or participation in these program options, every effort must be 
made by program staff to explain the advantages of home visits.  Home visits are, however, required for 
the Home-based option and in the Early Head Start program where staff must visit the newborn within 
two weeks of birth.  For more information regarding these programs, refer to the Education section of 
the Policies and Procedures. 
 
M. Parent Engagement in Recruiting and Interviewing Head Start and Early Head Start Employees 
 
All parents are invited to participate in the recruiting and interviewing of EHS and HS employees. 
Parents are included as part of the interview panel for consideration of employment. Parents can be 
engaged by showing interest as a Policy Council member or by way of the Volunteer Survey that is done 
upon enrollment.  A list of parents who are interested in being on interview panels is created at the 
beginning of each year.  Training and orientation of the interview process is provided for all parents who 
wish to participate.  For more information on staffing procedures, refer to the Human Resources section 
of the Policies and Procedures. 
 
N. Parent’s Appeal Rights 
Parents have the right to receive a Notice of Action that informs them of their acceptance or denial of 
CSB services. 
 
Parents have the right to appeal adverse actions. 
 
The appeal process provides a written fourteen (14) day notice before the action becomes effective. 
Information regarding the appeal process is located on the back page of a Notice of Action. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

20 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

 
During the appeals process, CSB must not change the services to the family except for health or safety 
reasons.  For more information, please refer to the Enrollment and Re-Enrollment section of the Policies 
and Procedures. 
  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

21 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

III. Community Partnerships 
A. Description 
CSB takes an active role in community partnership building and advocacy to enhance the delivery of 
services to children and families.  Based on a variety of information sources, such as the Community 
Assessment, Family Partnership Agreements, regulatory requirements and current legislation, program 
staff actively seeks out and enters into partnerships with various community entities and individuals to 
coordinate the access to resources and services to children, families, and staff.  These partnerships, and 
the manner in which they are conducted, are documented by virtue of interagency agreements and 
memoranda of understanding, which clearly delineate the responsibilities of both parties, are updated 
regularly, and are responsive to the needs of children and families.    
 
B. Child Care Partnerships 
CSB engages several Community-Based Organizations on a contractual basis to provide child-care and 
development services to eligible families.  Comprehensive Services Managers are assigned to these 
programs operated by our child care partners to provide support and technical assistance and to ensure 
compliance with federal and state regulations.  Collaborative partnerships with child care agencies 
enhance the educational, health care, and social services to children and families throughout the 
county. 
 
Providers of child care services include:  First Baptist Church, West Contra Costa State Preschool 
Program, We Care Services for Children, Antioch Partnership, YMCA of the East Bay, Martinez Early 
Childhood Center, Concord Childcare, Richmond College Prep, Crossroads High School, Cambridge 
Community Center, Brighter Beginnings, and Cameron School.   
 
C. Partnerships with Agencies, Entities, and Individuals 
CSB partners with over a hundred community-based organizations including but not limited to: 

 Health Services:  Family, Maternal, Child Health Program (FMCH), Child Health and Disability 
Prevention Program (CHDP), Gurnick Academy for Medical Arts, Elks Vision, CAIR, Integrated 
Pest Management- Bed Bug Task Force, John Muir Child Safety Coalition, Give Kids a Smile Day, 
Children’s Oral Health Program, Lead Prevention program, Communicable Disease program,  
Community Wellness & Prevention program. 

 Child Welfare: County Child & Family Services (CCC EHSD-CFS) 

 Mental Health:  County Mental Health Program / MediCal Reimbursement, C.O.P.E. Family 
Services program (Triple-P program). 

 Nutrition: Women, Infants and Children Nutrition Program (WIC), CCFP Roundtable, Solano & 
Contra Costa Food Bank, Healthy Families, Cooking Matters, CalFresh, BANPAC, UC Cooperative 
Extension (EFNEP). 

 Disabilities:  Regional Center, California Children’s Services, and SELPA, Child Health and 
Disability Prevention. 

 Family Support:  Department of Child Support Services (DCCS), SparkPoint Center, County 
Probation.  

 Child Abuse Prevention:  Family Stress Center’s Child Assault Prevention Program, Families 
Thrive. 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 3: Family and Community Partnerships 
 

22 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 3-Family and Community Partnerships 

 

 Professional Associations: California Child Development Administrator’s Association (CCDAA), 
National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC), California AEYC, Contra Costa 
AEYC, Local Planning Council (LPC), National Head Start Association (NHSA), California Head Start 
Association (CHSA), and Region IX Head Start Association (RHSA). 

 Educational Institutions: Contra Costa College District, UC Davis, UC Berkeley, and Cal State 
University East Bay. 

 Other Supportive Services:  Reading Is Fundamental, Supporting Father Involvement, Zero 
Tolerance for Domestic Violence, Raising A Reader and First 5 Commission. 

 
In addition to partnering with agencies and entities to provide services to our children, families, and 
staff, CSB also conducts outreach to organizations for the purpose of securing volunteers to participate 
in program activities.  Examples of this type of outreach include our work with the Volunteer Center, 
CalWORKs (work experience clients), Teens Link with the Community (teens fulfilling community 
services requirements in High School), and the Telephone Pioneers (retired Pacific Bell employees). 
Visiting experts are also recruited from the community to enhance training for children, staff, and 
families. 
 
Groups of parents and professionals, recruited to participate on Advisory Committees (Health Services 
Advisory, Community Colleges, Budget, Bylaws, Education and Family Services, Nutrition, and Personnel 
Committees) ensure quality planning for needs/interests of children and families.  These committees 
contribute parent and professional input to the planning and program implementation process and are 
recognized for the important role they play in community partnership building.      
 
 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  1 

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
COMMUNITY SERVICES BUREAU 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

SECTION 4-PROGRAM DESIGN 
 
 

2013-2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PART I ELIGIBILITY, RECRUITMENT, SELECTION AND ATTENDANCE- 
ERSEA 

 

A State Child Development Program 5 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  2 

B Definitions 7 

C Child Age and Family Income Eligibility 10 

D Recruitment 10 

E Selection Process 11 

F CLOUDS Waitlist 11 

G Enrollment and Re-Enrollment 13 

H Eligibility and Need Criteria and Documentation 15 

I Certification of Eligibility 23 

J Re-certification for General Child Care Services and Full Day State 
Preschool 

24 

K Re-Certification for Part-Day State Preschool Children 24 

L Re-Certification for Head Start and Early Head Start Children 24 

M General Recertification / Re-Enrollment Procedures 24 

N Updating the Application 25 

O Contents of Basic Data File 25 

P Admission Policies and Procedures 30 

Q General Admission Procedure 30 

R Children’s Enrollment Files 31 

S Due Process Requirements 31 

T Alternative Placement for Children 32 

U Client’s Request for a hearing and procedures 32 

V Appeal Procedure for CDD Review 33 

W CSB Compliance with CDD Decision 34 

X Retention of Enrollment Records 34 

Y Enrolled but Waiting for Transfer Protocol 34 

Z Transfer of Child with Disabilities or of Child Receiving Mental Health 
Services 

34 

AA CSPP Full-Day to Part-Day or Tuition Based Approval Process 35 

BB Withdrawal of Child from the Program 36 

CC Attendance Expectations 37 

DD Attendance Accounting 38 

EE Title XXII Requirements for All Children 39 

FF Fees for Non-Head Start and Early Head Start Funded Programs 40 

GG Billing Procedures 41 

HH Fee Collection Procedures 42 

II Receipts/Banking Procedures 43 

JJ Confidentiality of Records 43 

   

PART II STAFFING REQUIREMENTS  

A Program Director  44 

B Site Supervisor 44 

C Teacher 44 

D Applicability of Staffing Requirements 44 

E Staffing Rations for Site Supervisors or Teachers 44 

F Comprehensive Services 45 

   



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  3 

PART III BUSINESS SYSTEMS  

A Overview 46 

B Facilities 46 

C Use of Technology 50 

D Equipment and Supplies 51 

E Vehicle Usage Policy 56 

F Transportation 58 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I. Eligibility, Recruitment, Selection, and Attendance-ERSEA  
A. State Child Development Program 
The California Department of Education Child Development Division funds the state-funded portion of 
our program. The matrix, below, provides an overview of this program. 
 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  5 

  PY = Program Year 

 CSPP CCTR 

Program type 
& hours of care 

Part-day 
3 – 3:59 hrs 

Full-day 

More than 4 hrs 

Includes ¾ time and 

Full-time 

Full-day 

Program 

Includes ½, ¾ 

Time and full-

time 

Age of Child 3 or 4 by October 1 of PY 
*Continued summer enrollment allowable 
for K-eligible children until K start if  
requested and available 

Zero – three 
(until eligible for 
CSPP) 

% Preschoolers age 4 
by October 1 of PY 

50% of CSPP children at each site N/A 

Eligibility 
Requirement 

2008 Eligibility regulations apply 

Maintaining  
Ongoing Eligibility 

 
N/A 
Once initially 
Certified, child is 
“in” for the  
Remainder of the 
PY 

All families must report changes  
to income & family size within 5 days for 
recertification of eligibility. Failure to  
meet ongoing eligibility results 
in termination of full-day services. 

Family may choose to 
receive part-day 
services based on their 
initial eligibility or pay 
full fee for services. 

 
 
N/A     

Need Requirement  
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2008 Need regulations apply 

Preschool children who 
attend only part of the 
week (e.g. M W F) or 
part of the day (11 – 5) 
can attend their class 
M-F during the “part-
day preschool portion 
of the day” 8:30-12:00. 
All hours outside of this 
time must be 
supported by need. 

 

Maintaining  
Ongoing Need 

 
N/A 

All families must report changes to need 
within 5 day for recertification of need. 
Failure to meet ongoing need results in 
termination of full-day services. 

Family may choose to 
receive part-day 
services or pay full fee 

 
N/A 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  6 

for services. 

Family Fees 
Assessed 

 
Yes Program 

Hours of 
Certified 
Care 

Type of Fee 
Assessed 

CCTR part-
day 

3:59 hours a 
day or less 

Part-Time 

CCTR ¾ day 
4 to 6:29 
hours a day 

Part-Time 

CCTR Full-
Day 

6:30 to 
10:29 hours 
a day 

Full-Time 

CCTR Full-
Day Plus 

10:30 or 
more hours 
a day 

Full-Time 

CSPP Part- 
Day 

3:59 hours a 
day or less 

Part-Time 

CSPP ¾ Day 
4 to 6:29 
hours a day 

Part-Time 

CSPP Full-
Day 

6:30 to 
10:29 hours 
a day 

Full-Time 

CSPP Full-
Day Plus 

10:30 or 
more hours 
a day 

Full-Time 

If family of a 3-5 yr old 
child has need for less 
than 4 hrs a day, try to 
place them in a part-
day slot (family fees 
apply). 

If family of 0-3  
Yr old child has 
need for less  
than 4 hrs a day, 
the part-time fee 
applies. 

Adjustment Factors  
N/A 

Time and special criteria adjustment  
factors apply. Time criteria are based on 
total number of hours in care (not just 
hours of need). 
CCTR toddler special criterion applies only 
until child is 36 months old regardless of 
type of class child is in. 
¾ time – 4 to 6:29 hrs 
Full-time – 6:30 to 9:59 hrs 
Full-time Plus – 10 hrs or more 

Enrollment  
Priorities 

Transfers (i.e. families of children already 
certified for care including toddlers leaving 
CCTR) 
CPS -  CSB622 At-Risk Referral 
Homeless 
returning 4 yr olds regardless of income 

Transfers 
CPS or “at risk” 
Homeless 
Eligible children 
Per income 
ranking 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  7 

eligible 4 yr olds* 
eligible 3 yr olds* 
over income 4 yr olds (part-day only) 
over income 3 yr olds (part-day only) 
 
*Refer to 2009 Enrollment Priorities for 
State Preschool 

Over income 
waivers  

15% of part-day 
slots allowed to 
be 10% over State  
income ceiling. 

 
Not Allowed 

Recertification for 
next PY 

N/A 
Must do 2nd 
“initial” 
application prior 
to next PY. 

At least every 12 months 
When changes in income, family size or 
need. 
At the discretion of the site supervisor 
anytime during the program year. 

Reporting Revised 8501 9500 

 
B. Definitions 
As used in the Program Requirements: 

 Adjusted monthly income-The total countable income as defined below, minus verified child 
support payments paid by the parent whose child is receiving child development services, 
excluding the non-countable income listed below: 

o Earnings of a child under age 18 years; 
o Loans; 
o Grants or scholarships to students for educational purposes other than any balance 

available for living costs; 
o Food stamps or other food assistance; 
o Earned Income Tax Credit or tax refund; 
o GI Bill entitlements, hardship duty pay, hazardous duty pay, hostile fire pay, or imminent 

danger pay; 
o Adoption assistance payments; 
o Non-cash assistance or gifts; 
o All income of any individual counted in the family size that is collecting federal 

Supplemental Security Income (SSI) or State Supplemental Program (SSP) benefits; 
o Insurance or court settlements including pain and suffering and excluding lost wages 

and punitive damages; 
o Reimbursements for work-required expenses such as uniforms, mileage, or per diem 

expenses for food and lodging; 
o Business expenses for self-employed family members;  
o When there is no cash value to the employee, the portion of medical and/or dental 

insurance documented as paid by the employer and included in gross pay; and 
o Disaster relief grants or payments, except any portion for rental assistance or 

unemployment. 

 Certify eligibility-The formal process the staff goes through to collect information and 
documentation to determine that the family and/or child meets the criteria for receipt of 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  8 

subsidized child development services. The signature of the Site Supervisor on an application for 
services attests that the criteria have been met. 

 Authorized representative-The person designated by the agency to certify eligibility for 
subsidized services.  For CSB’s program, this means the Site Supervisor (SS) for center-based 
programs or Assistant Director (Assistant Director) or designee for centers not having a Site 
Supervisor. 

 Child Protective Services-Children receiving protective services through the local county welfare 
department as well as children identified by a legal, medical, social service agency or emergency 
shelter such as abused, neglected or exploited or at risk of abuse, neglect or exploitation. 
Children with disabilities-Children who have been determined to be eligible for special 

education or early intervention services in accordance with Part B or C of the Individuals with 

Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). These children have a current Individualized Education Plan or 

Individualized Family Service Plan..These children may be developmentally disabled, hearing 

impaired, deaf, speech impaired, visually impaired, seriously emotionally disturbed, physically 

impaired, have other health impairments such as: deaf-blind, multi-handicapped or specific 

learning disabilities, requiring the special attention of adults in a child development setting.  

Children, birth to three years, may be “at-risk” or with disabilities as defined by IDEA. 

 Declaration-A written statement signed by a parent under penalty of perjury attesting that the 
contents of the statement are true and correct to the best of his or her knowledge. 

 Displace families-To de-enroll families in order to reduce service levels due to insufficient 
funding or inability of CSB to operate one or more sites because of reasons beyond control of 
the department, such as floods or fire. 

 Family-The parents and the children for whom the parents are responsible; who comprise the 
household in which the child receiving services is living. For purposes of income eligibility and 
family fee determination, when a child and his or her siblings are living in a family that does not 
include their biological or adoptive parent, “family” shall be considered the child and related 
siblings. 

 Fee schedule-The Family Fee Schedule, issued by the department pursuant to Education Code 
section 8447(e). The fee schedule is used by child development staff to assess fees for families 
utilizing State child care and development services. 

 Homeless-A person or family that lacks a fixed, regular, and adequate night-time residence and 
has a primary night time residence that is: 

o A supervised publicly or privately operated shelter, transitional housing, or homeless 
support program designed to provide temporary living accommodations or 

o A public or private place not designed for, or ordinarily used as, a regular sleeping 
accommodation for human beings. 

 Income eligible-For the purpose of child care and development services that a family's adjusted 
monthly income is at or below 75 percent of the state median income, adjusted for family size. 

 Income fluctuation-Income that varies due to:  
o Migrant, agricultural, or seasonal work; 
o Intermittent earnings or income, bonuses, commissions, lottery winnings, inheritance, 

back child support payment, or net proceeds from the sale of real property or stock; 
o Unpredictable days and hours of employment, overtime, or self-employment. 

 Legally qualified professional-A person licensed under applicable laws and regulations of the 
State of California to perform legal, medical, health or social services for the general public. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  9 

 Parent-A biological parent, adoptive parent, stepparent, foster parent, caretaker relative, legal 
guardian, domestic partner of the parent, or any other adult living with a child who has 
responsibility for the care and welfare of the child.  

 Parental Incapacity-The temporary or permanent inability of the child's parent(s) to provide care 
and supervision of the child(ren) for part of the day due to a physical or mental health condition. 

 Recipients of Service-Families and/or children enrolled in a child care and development program 
subsidized by the California Department of Education. 

 Self-Certification of Income-A declaration signed by the parent under penalty of perjury 
identifying: 

o To the extent known, the employer and date of hire and stating the rate and frequency 
of pay, total amount of income received for the preceding month(s), the type of work 
performed, and the hours and days worked, when an employer refuses or fails to 
provide requested employment information or when a request for documentation 
would adversely affect the parent’s employment; or the amount and frequency of 
sources of income for which no documentation is possible. 

 State median income-The most recent median income for California families as determined by 
the State Department of Finance. 

 Total countable income-All income of the individuals counted in the family size that includes, 
but is not limited to, the following: 

o Gross wages or salary, advances, commissions, overtime, tips, bonuses, gambling or 
lottery winnings; 

o Wages for migrant, agricultural, or seasonal work; 
o Public cash assistance; 
o Gross income from self-employment less business expenses with the exception of wage 

draws; 
o Disability or unemployment compensation; 
o Workers compensation; 
o Spousal support, child support received from the former spouse or absent parent, or 

financial assistance for housing costs or car payments paid as part of or in addition to 
spousal or child support; 

o Survivor and retirement benefits; 
o Dividends, interest on bonds, income from estates or trusts, net rental income or 

royalties; 
o Rent for room within the family’s residence; 
o Foster care grants, payments or clothing allowance for children placed through child 

welfare services; 
o Financial assistance received for the care of a child living with an adult who is not the 

child’s biological or adoptive parent; 
o Veterans’ pensions; 
o Pensions or annuities; 
o Inheritance; 
o Allowances for housing or automobiles provided as part of compensation; 
o Portion of student grants or scholarships not identified for educational purposes as 

tuition, books, or supplies; 
o Insurance or court settlements for lost wages or punitive damages; 
o Net proceeds from the sale of real property, stocks, or inherited property; or 
o Other enterprise for gain.  



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  10 

 Update the application-The process of revising the application for services between 

recertification. The application shall be revised by completing a 9600S form with the latest 

family information that documents the continued need and eligibility for child care and 

development services.  

 

C. Child Age and Family Income Eligibility 
The Community Services Bureau’s program enrolls children according to Federal and State eligibility 
criteria.  For the Head Start program, children are selected for service based primarily on the family 
income adjusted for family size, with lowest income families selected first.  Children at risk of abuse or 
neglect are considered high priority.  Within age groups, priority in the pre-school program is given to 
four-year-old children from the neediest families. Please refer to CSB’s Selection Criteria found in the 
ERSEA folder on the Shared Drive for more information. 
 
The Community Assessment is used to determine location of centers and program options to 
accommodate the areas of greatest need in the county. 
 
Every year, parents/staff review and update placement of centers and program options, restructuring 
enrollment to best meet community needs as county demographics change.     
 
D. Recruitment 
1. Strategies 
CSB employs a variety of recruitment strategies to ensure that the neediest children from low-income 
families have access to services.  Each year, a recruitment plan responsive to changes in communities 
served by CSB is developed and implemented.  Various recruitment materials are developed and 
disseminated throughout the community. There are a variety of ways to access the program by referral 
or personal contact. Walk-ins are always welcome.  Word of mouth, via CSB parents is the best method 
of recruitment.  Staff from all content areas of the program conducts presentations to community-based 
entities wherein detailed information is provided to expedite access to our program by their clients. 
Articles and ads are published in local publications such as agency newsletters, websites, and social 
networking sites. For detailed strategies, see the Recruitment Plan in the ERSEA folder on the Shared 
Drive. 
 
2. Recruitment Policy 
All staff, parents, Policy Council members and partners are responsible for giving out information in 
accordance with the annual Recruitment Plan. 
All CSB Staff are responsible for: 

 Phone calls: Hotlines are answered at regularly schedule intervals throughout the day by 
designated staff that log the entries and follow up on the Shared Drive. Staff that answers pre-
registration hotlines is responsible for taking basic pre-registration information over the phone 
and entering it into CLOUDS. 

 Walk-ins: All staff assist client in filling out CSB690-Waiting List Pre-Registration Form (See CSB 
Forms) 

o If client has brought in any documentation, such as pay stubs and/or birth certificate 
make copies and staple to the waitlist form. 

o Fill in all sections of the form. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  11 

o Put documents in a sealed envelope, with name and location of Comprehensive Services 
Clerk who supports the PRIMARY desired location of child care, as requested by the 
client.  Mark CONFIDENTIAL on envelope. 

o Place in Comprehensive Services box at site. 

 Mail Received: 
o Route to appropriate person if mail came in self-addressed envelope. 
o If not, send to Comprehensive Services Clerk who supports that center or program. 

 Faxes: All referral forms are sent to the ERSEA analyst, logged, and then forwarded to the 
appropriate office for follow up.  

 
E. Selection Process 
Children are selected from waiting lists that are maintained in CLOUDS for each Head Start classroom 
and Home-based program.  After the agency receives the application material, children are ranked 
based on CSB’s admission priorities.  Ten percent of our placement slots are designated for children with 
disabilities and every effort is made to accommodate children with disabilities.  
 
1. Selection Criteria 
To ensure that the neediest children from low-income families are selected for CSB’s services, CSB 
implements its Selection Criteria/Admissions Priorities to prioritize neediest families, which is aligned 
with the state’s priorities by a strong community need for child care for working families. 
 
At least 10% of the total number of enrollment opportunities at CSB is designated for children with 
certified disabilities.  Families of children with disabilities are asked to provide documentation from the 
doctor or a copy of the child’s IFSP or IEP. 
 
The Site Supervisor and other department managers insure that the selection criteria meet the state and 
federal regulations regarding selection of families and children to the program. The Selection 
Criteria/Admissions Priorities is updated and approved by the Director, Policy Council, and Board of 
Supervisors annually. 
 
F. CLOUDS Waitlist  
1. Procedures for maintaining Eligible / Accepted Families on Waitlist 
In Maintaining Eligible / Accepted Families, Comprehensive Service Clerks are responsible for: 

 Taking basic pre-registration information over the phone or in person and enter into CLOUDS 

 Conducting interviews 

 Determining income eligibility based on family size 

 Making copies of client documents e.g., pay stubs, birth certificate, immunization papers for the 
temporary file  

 Creating, signing and dating income calculation sheet 

 Establishing a temporary file for the child (CSB Eligibility/Enrollment checklist) 

 Noting on child data sheet in CLOUDS as to the location of the temporary file 
Temporary file should remain with the Comprehensive Services Clerk, who supports the PRIMARY 
desired location requested by the family, until file is ready to be reviewed by the Comprehensive 
Services Assistant Managers.  
 
Note: Eligible/Accepted temporary files are retained by the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager. 
Keep the files in a locked drawer or cabinet. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  12 

 
Collect the following information in the temporary file: 

 Copy of the child’s birth certificate or other age verification: for state funding programs collect 
birth certificates for all children in the family size; for Head Start/Early Head Start collect only 
the birth certificate(s) of the child(ren) to be enrolled. 

 Documentation of Family Size (unborn can only be counted in family size for Early Head Start) 

 Parents’ income verification (e.g., pay stubs) or self-certification form, if applicable (signed &    
dated). 

 Income calculation worksheet (signed & dated). 

 Copies of the child’s immunization records (not necessary to determine eligibility). 

 Health history from CLOUDS (signed and dated). 

 Child Care Data Collection Privacy Notice and Consent Form. 

 Documentation of Disabilities, if applicable. 

 Documentation of Homelessness, if applicable 
Once file has been determined eligible by Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager: 

 Review and update information on file. Review and update Child and Family Data sheets. 

 Review Health History. 

 Update Emergency Information (See Form CSB214) 

 Flag file in the top right front corner of the file using the following sticker dot system: 

 Blue Dot: Child with Disabilities 

 Red Dot: Child with Health/Nutrition/Mental Health Concerns 

 Yellow Dot: Child that transitioned from I/T to Preschool 

 White Dot: Used to cover up any colored dot that is no longer applicable to the child. 
 
Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager is Responsible for: 

 Review temp file from Comprehensive Services Clerk. 

  Verify family eligibility. 

 Move child from Eligibility Waiting List to Eligible/Accepted Wait List in COPA once eligibility has 
been established. 

 Retain possession of temporary file until requested by a Site Supervisor or other Comprehensive 
Services team member.   

 Update Child Data sheet in CLOUDS to reflect location of temporary file.  

 Assign task of transferring documents from temporary file to permanent child’s file when Site 
Supervisor requests the file for potential enrollment/placement.Check files for flags and ensure 
proper dots are applied to file. 

 Ensure flagged items are properly noted in CLOUDS. 

 Keep file in a locked drawer or cabinet. 

 Eligible/Accepted list in CLOUDS. 

 Purge Eligible/Accepted list on CLOUDS record of over-age children 

 Send purged list into CLOUDS archive as per the purge protocol. 
 
2. Procedures for Purging Waitlist 
The Comprehensive Services Clerks assigned to each site will maintain a current waiting list for those 
sites by following these steps: 

 Document all contacts with families on the Family Data Sheet in CLOUDS. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  13 

 Make extra special effort via multiple methods to contact Head Start eligible families as some 
these families require extra outreach efforts. Document all steps taken. 

 Send out no contact letters (See Form CSB613) to non-responsive families on or before the 15th 
of each month; send only one letter to each family; give the family ten working days to respond 
from date letter is sent. 

 Document response/lack of response to the CSB613 on the Family Data Sheet. 

 Prepare the “Waitlist Purge Request Form” (See Form CSB603) by the 5th of each month for the 
previous month’s activities (ex. requests from May will be due on June 5); include all families on 
purge form that have not responded to letters sent out as described in #2 of this protocol. 

 Submit the “Waitlist Purge Request Form” (CSB603) to the Comprehensive Services Assistant 
Manager assigned to them. 

 
The Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager will conduct the purge by following these steps: 

 Review the “Waitlist Purge Request Form” (CSB603) prepared by the clerk. 

 Review the Family Data Sheet for each child listed on the “Waitlist Purge Request Form” 
(CSB603). 

 Purge the records that are appropriate by the 10th of each month. 

 Shred any temporary files created for purged record. 

 Communicate with the clerk regarding any purge that is not appropriate. 

 Check to see if Family Services have been started and, if so, discontinuing services for those 
families scheduled to be purged. 

 
G. Enrollment and Re-Enrollment 
1. General Enrollment Policy 
Families find themselves in many situations and at times terminate their children’s enrollment, but then, 
later on, want to re-enroll their child.  CSB encourage families to return to the program should their 
situation allow. When families wish to re-enroll they are placed back on the waiting list and ranked 
accordingly. 
 
When children are enrolled in the Federal Head Start program, they remain eligible for services for the 
year they are enrolled and the following year regardless of changes in income. If children are enrolled 
for a third year in Head Start, the family income must be re-determined. When children are enrolled in 
the State Child Development program, they are recertified in accordance with the regulations to insure 
they remain eligible. 
 
When children are enrolled in the Early Head Start program, they remain eligible for services until they 
are three years old regardless of income. 
 
However, when EHS children reach their third birthday, they must re-apply to determine eligibility for 
Head Start preschool services. 
 
When children are enrolled in part-day State Preschool, they remain eligible for continued services until 
the beginning of the next fiscal year regardless of income changes. 
 
Part-day State Preschool children seeking a second year of services must demonstrate income and age 
eligibility for continued services but have priority in placement without regard to income ranking in 
accordance with the 2009 Enrollment Priorities guidance.  



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  14 

 
Once an infant or toddler is enrolled in a General Child Care program they remain income eligible for 
subsidized services only as long as the family income remains at or below 75% of the California median 
income. 
 
When family income rises above 50% of the California median income, the General Child Care and State 
Preschool enrollees are assessed a Family Fee based on the California Family Fee Schedule.   
 
2. Enrollment Placement 
In placing a child at a center, Site Supervisors are responsible for the following: 

 Review Eligible/Accepted List in /CLOUDS. 

 Select the child with the highest priority ensuring that all Head Start eligible children have been 
placed as vacancies occur, before enrolling any child above the federal poverty guidelines. 

 Secure file from the Comprehensive Services Assistant Manager via e-mail or phone call request 
using child’s CLOUDS ID#. 

 Review all sections of child’s file for special needs or concerns and proper placement of dots and 
accuracy. 

 Check for any flagged items that may need follow up or a parent signature. 

 Coordinate/schedule Case Management Meeting with parent, Comprehensive Services Assistant 
Manager, and other staff as needed. 

 Contact parent for enrollment (placement) appointment. 

 Advise family to bring any documents that are needed to update file. 

 When meeting with family: 
o Complete, date and sign new income information as needed and enter updated 

information on CLOUDS. 
o Print the 9600 form from CLOUDS to be signed and dated by Site Supervisor and parent. 
o Issue Notice of Action.. 
o Update Emergency Information (See CSB Forms > 0600-Enrollment > Licensing 

Emergency ID/Information form). . 
o Complete Admission Agreement and hours of service contract..Complete Parent 

Handbook with parent.   
o Verify that the child’s immunizations are up-to-date (Do not admit until record is up to 

date).. 
o Review health history and ensure appropriate referrals have been made.. 
o Move child from Eligible/Accepted List and place into appropriate classroom and 

Program Model.. 
o Double check CLOUDS record to ensure match between paper file and CLOUDS file.. 
o Conduct final review of file for accuracy. 

 
H. Eligibility and Need Criteria and Documentation 
1. Residency Requirements 
To be eligible for child care and development services, the child must live in the State of California while 
services are being received. 
 
Any evidence of a street address or post office address in California will be sufficient to establish 
residency. A person identified as homeless is exempted from this requirement and shall submit a 
declaration of intent to reside in California. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  15 

 
The determination of eligibility for child care and development services shall be without regard to the 
immigration status of the child or the child’s parent(s), unless the child or the child’s parent(s) are under 
a final order of deportation from the United States Department of Justice.  
 
For the Head Start and Early Head Start, children/pregnant women must be residents of Contra Costa 
County, and reside in the CSB service area. CSB does not serve a portion of Concord that is commonly 
referred to as the Monument Corridor. The area falls within the 94520 zip code in Concord and is 
bounded by Clayton Road to the North, Galindo Street to the Northeast, South along Monument 
Boulevard to Cleopatra Drive, southeast to Interstate 680 and west to State Route 242. This area is 
operated by the Unity Council of Alameda County. All other portions of the county are served by CSB. If 
a family resides outside of Contra Costa County or in the Unity Council’s service area, an authorized “Out 
of Service Area Enrollment Notification Form (CSB608) must be on file at CSB, with the agency with 
whom the family would ordinarily be served, and with the regional office. 
 
2. Documentation of Need Based on Employment, Seeking Employment, Training Toward a Vocational 
Goal, Seeking Housing, and Incapacity 
Families who are eligible for subsidized child care and development services based on income, public 
assistance, or homelessness must document that each parent in the family meets a need criterion. The 
need criteria are: vocational training leading directly to a recognized trade, para profession, or 
profession; employment or seeking employment; seeking permanent housing for family stability; and 
incapacitation.  
 
Subsidized child care and development services shall only be available to the extent to which:  

 The parent meets a need criterion that precludes the provision of care and supervision of the 
family’s child for some of the day; 

 There is no parent in the family capable of providing care for the family’s child during the time 
care is requested; and  Supervision of the family’s child is not otherwise being provided by 
school or another person or entity.   

 
3. Documentation of Employment 
If the basis of need as stated on the application for services is employment of the parent, the 
documentation of the parent’s employment shall include the days and hours of employment.  
 
If the parent has an employer, the documentation of need based on employment shall consist of one of 
the following: 

 The pay stubs provided to determine income eligibility that indicates the days and hours of 
employment; 

 When the provided pay stubs do not indicate the days and hours of employment, staff shall 
verify the days and hours of employment by doing one of the following: 

 Secure an independent written statement from the employer;  

 Telephone the employer and maintain a record; 

 If the provided pay stubs indicate the total hours of employment per pay period and if staff is 
satisfied that the pay stubs have been issued by the employer, specify on the application for 
services the days and hours of employment to correlate with the total hours of employment and 
the parent’s need; 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  16 

 If the variability of the parent’s employment is unpredictable and precludes staff from verifying 
specific days and hours of employment or work week cycles, specify on the application for 
services that the parent is authorized for a variable schedule for the actual hours worked, 
identifying the maximum number of hours of need based on the week with the greatest number 
of hours within the preceding four weeks and the verification as noted above. Until such time as 
the employment pattern becomes predictable, need for services shall be updated at least every 
four months;  

 If the employer refuses or is non-responsive in providing the requested information, record 
attempts to contact the employer, and specify and attest on the application for services to the 
reasonableness of the days and hours of employment based on the description of the 
employment and community practice; or 

 If the parent asserts in a declaration signed under penalty of perjury that a request for employer 
documentation would adversely affect the parent’s employment, on the application for services: 

o Attest to the reasonableness of the parent’s assertion; and 
o Specify and attest to the reasonableness of the days and hours of employment based on 

the description of the employment and community practice. 
When the employed parent does not have pay stubs or other record of wages from the employer and 
has provided a self-certification of income, staff shall assess the reasonableness of the days and hours of 
employment, based on the description of the employment and the documentation provided, and 
authorizes only the time determined to be reasonable. 
 
If the parent is self-employed, the documentation of need based on employment shall consist of the 
following: 
Parent provided information that includes: 

 A declaration of need under penalty of perjury that includes a description of the employment 
and an estimate of the days and hours worked per week; 

 To demonstrate the days and hours worked, a copy of one or more of the following: 
appointment logs, client receipts, job logs, mileage logs, a list of clients with contact 
information, or similar records; and   

 As applicable, a copy of a business license, a workspace lease, or a workspace rental agreement. 

 A statement by staff assessing the reasonableness of the total number of days and hours 
requested per week based on the description of the employment and the documentation 
provided. If the parent has unpredictable hours of employment, staff shall authorize the parent 
for a variable schedule not to exceed the number of hours determined to be needed per week. 
Need for services for unpredictable hours shall be updated at least every four months. If staff 
has been unable to verify need based on the documentation provided, staff shall take additional 
action to verify self-employment that includes any one or more of the following: 

o If the self-employment occurs in a rented space, contacting the parent’s lessor or other 
person holding the right of possession to verify the parent’s renting of the space;  

o If the self-employment occurs in variable locations, independently verifying this 
information by contacting one or more clients whose names and contact information 
have been voluntarily provided by the parent; or 

o Making other reasonable contacts or requests to determine the amount of time for self-
employment. 

o If staff is unable to make a reasonable assessment of the hours needed for self-
employment after attempting to verify such hours and documenting the attempts, staff 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  17 

may divide the parent’s self-employment income by the applicable minimum wage. The 
resulting quotient shall be the maximum hours needed for employment per month. 

 
The parent shall provide a release to enable the staff to obtain the information it deems necessary to 
support the parent’s asserted days and hours worked per week. 
 
If additional services are requested for travel time or sleep time to support employment, staff shall 
determine, as applicable, the time authorized for: 

 Travel to and from the location at which services are provided and the place of employment, not 
to exceed half of the daily hours authorized for employment to a maximum of four hours per 
day; or 

 Sleep, if the parent is employed anytime between 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m., not to exceed the 
number of hours authorized for employment and travel between those hours.   

 
4. Documentation of Employment in the Home or a Licensed Family Day Care Home 
If the parent's employment is in the family’s home or on property that includes the family’s home, the 
parent must provide justification for requesting subsidized child care and development services based 
on the type of work being done and its requirements, the age of the family’s child for whom services are 
sought, and, if the child is more than five years old, the specific child care needs. Staff shall determine 
and document whether the parent’s employment and the identified child care needs preclude the 
supervision of the family's child.  
 
If the parent is a licensed family day care home provider or an individual license-exempt, the parent is 
not eligible for subsidized services during the parent’s business hours because the parent’s employment 
does not preclude the supervision of the family’s child. 
 
If the parent is employed as an assistant in a licensed large family day care home, and is requesting 
services for the family’s child in the same family day care home, the parent shall provide documentation 
that substantiates all of the following: 

 A copy of the family day care home license indicating it is licensed as a large family day care 
home;  

 A signed statement from the licensee stating that the parent is the assistant, pursuant to the 
staffing ratio requirement of California Code of Regulations, title 22, section 102416.5(c);  

 Proof that the parent’s fingerprints are associated with that licensed family day care home as its 
assistant, which staff may verify with the local community care licensing office; and  

 Payroll deductions withheld for the assistant by the licensee, which may be a pay stub.   
 
5. Documentation of Seeking Employment 
If the basis of need as stated on the application for services is seeking employment, the parent’s period 
of eligibility for child care and development services is limited to 60 working days during the contract 
period. Services shall occur on no more than five days per week and for less than 30 hours per week. 
The period of eligibility shall start on the day authorized by staff and extend for consecutive working 
days. 
 
Documentation of seeking employment shall include a written parental declaration signed under penalty 
of perjury stating that the parent is seeking employment. The declaration shall include the parent’s plan 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  18 

to secure, change, or increase employment and shall identify a general description of when services will 
be necessary. 
 
Staff shall determine the number of working days available for seeking employment and the child care 
schedule, which may be a variable schedule, based on the documentation. During the period of 
authorization and if necessary to verify need,  staff may request that the parent provide, no more than 
once a week, a description of the activities he or she has undertaken during the previous week to seek 
employment and, as appropriate, may require additional documentation. 
 
If the Governor declares a state of emergency and if the factual basis for the Governor's declaration 
indicate that opportunities for employment have temporarily diminished to such a degree that parents 
cannot be reasonably expected to find employment within 60 working days of diligent searching, the 
State Superintendent of Public Instruction (SSPI) may investigate to determine whether the 60-working-
days limitation should be suspended. If the SSPI determines that it is in the public interest to do so, he or 
she may, by order, suspend the 60-working-days limitation on eligibility during the period of the 
emergency or for a lesser time. The scope of the suspension, including the geographic areas and the 
persons affected, and its duration, shall be no more than necessary to respond to the emergency as 
determined in the SSPI’s investigation, and shall be specifically described in the SSPI’s order. If a parent’s 
services for seeking employment were exhausted after an emergency was declared and before the SSPI 
suspends the eligibility limitation, staff may re-authorize services for seeking employment in accordance 
with the conditions specified in the SSPI’s order. 
 
If the parent has concurrently received services based on employment or vocational training for at least 
20 working days while receiving services for seeking employment, eligibility for seeking employment 
may be extended for an additional 20 working days. For such a parent, services for this purpose shall not 
exceed 80 working days during the contract period. 
 
If services for this purpose are discontinued, the number of working days remaining in the period of 
eligibility shall be available for a subsequent period of eligibility during the contract period. 
The working days used to determine the period of eligibility shall include the consecutive Mondays 
through Fridays, excluding any federal holidays.  
 
6. Documentation of Training toward Vocation Goals 
i. General Procedures 
If the basis of need as stated on the application for services is vocational training leading directly to a 
recognized trade, para-profession, or profession, child care and development services shall be limited to 
whichever expires first: 

 Six years from the initiation of services; or 

 Twenty four semester units, or its equivalent, after the attainment of a Bachelor’s Degree. 
 

The parent shall provide documentation of the days and hours of vocational training to include: 

 A statement of the parent’s vocational goal; 

 The name of the training institution that is providing the vocational training; 

 The dates that current quarter, semester, or training period, as applicable, will begin and end; 

 A current class schedule that is either an electronic print-out from the training institution of the 
parent’s current class schedule or, if unavailable, a document that includes all of the following: 

o The classes in which the parent is currently enrolled; 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  19 

o The days of the week and times of day of the classes; and 
o The signature or stamp of the training institution's registrar.  
o The anticipated completion date of all required training activities to meet the vocational 

goal; and 
o Upon completion of a quarter, semester, or training period, as applicable, a report card, 

a transcript, or, if the training institution does not use formal letter grades, other 
records to document that the parent is making progress toward the attainment of the 
vocational goal. 
 

A parent shall report any change in his or her class schedule related to the days and times of any class, 
including a withdrawal from a class, within five calendar days of requesting the change from the 
institution. 
 
Services may be provided for classes related to the General Education Development (GED) test or 
English language acquisition if such courses support the attainment of the parent’s vocational goal. 
On-line or televised instructional classes that are unit bearing classes from an accredited training 
institution shall be counted as class time at one hour a week for each unit. The parent shall provide a 
copy of the syllabus or other class documentation and, as applicable, the Web address of the on-line 
program. The accrediting body of the training institution shall be among those recognized by the United 
States Department of Education. 
 
Continuation of services based on training is contingent upon making adequate progress. To make 
progress each quarter, semester, or training period, as applicable, the parent shall, in the college classes, 
technical school, or apprenticeship for which subsidized care is provided: 

 In a graded program, earn a 2.0 grade point average; or 

 In a non-graded program, pass the program’s requirements in at least 50 percent of the classes 
or meet the training institution’s standard for making adequate progress. 

The first time the parent does not meet the condition of making adequate progress, the parent may 
continue to receive services for one additional quarter, semester, or training period, as applicable, to 
improve the parent’s progress. At the conclusion of that session, the parent shall, in the classes for 
which subsidized care was provided, have made adequate progress. If the parent has not made 
adequate progress, services for this purpose shall be:  

 Terminated; and 

 Available to the parent, to the extent provided by subdivision (a), after six months from the date 
of termination. 

No later than ten calendar days after the training institution’s release of progress reports for the 
quarter, semester, or vocational training period, as applicable, the parent shall provide staff with a copy 
of the parent’s official progress report. As deemed appropriate, staff may require the parent to: 

 Have an official copy of a progress report sent directly from the training institution to staff; or 

 Provide a release, as may be required by the training institution, to enable staff to verify the 
parent’s progress with the institution. 
 

A parent may change his or her vocational goal, but services shall be limited to the time or units 
remaining from the initiation of the provision of services for vocational training. 
 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  20 

Staff shall determine the days and hours needed per week, and whether the parent is making progress, 
based on the documentation. Staff may request that the parent provide a publication from the training 
institution describing the classes required to complete the parent’s vocational goal. 
 
If additional services are requested for study time or travel time to support the vocational training, staff 
shall determine, as appropriate, the amount of services needed for: 

 Travel to and from the location at which services are provided and the training location, not to 
exceed half of the weekly hours authorized for training to a maximum of four hours per day; or 

 Study time, including study time for on-line and televised instructional classes, according to the 
following: 

o Two hours per week per academic unit in which the parent is enrolled; 
o On a case-by-case basis and as may be confirmed with the class instructor, additional 

time not to exceed one hour per week per academic unit in which the parent is enrolled; 
and 

o On a case-by-case basis, no more than the number of class hours per week for non-
academic or non-unit bearing training. 
 

The service limitations specified above shall not apply to a parent who demonstrates he or she is: 

 As of June 27, 2008, receiving services for vocational training and has attained a Bachelor’s 
Degree;  

 Receiving services from a program operating pursuant to Education Code section 66060; 

 Attending vocational training when the parent has been deemed eligible for rehabilitation 
services by the California Department of Rehabilitation; or 

 Attending retraining services available through the Employment Development Department of 
the State or its staffs due to a business closure or mass layoff. 

 
ii. School Breaks for Parents Training Toward a Vocational Goal 
Caregivers whose certified need is Training Toward a Vocational Goal, do not have a certified need for 
full-day State Child Development Services during their school/training breaks (winter, spring, summer or 
fall.) and days school is not in session (teacher in-service and other holidays).  These days are non-
contract days and the child is not allowed to attend full-day State Child Development Services or use 
Best Interest Days on these days. To promote continuity of care, the caregiver and site supervisor may 
determine that the child should remain in services during these days if possible and would therefore 
either assess a full fee or select program model for which the child is eligible. CCTR only toddlers cannot 
take advantage of this second option and may not attend during these days as they are not age eligible 
for any other program model.  For all other children the following protocols should be followed: 

 FP/HS and FPL/HS preschool children may attend full-day under PP/HS or PPL/HS with approval 
of Request for Change from FP to PP/TB form (See Forms CSB607). 

 FP and FPL preschool children may attend ½ day during the preschool portion of the day under 
PP or PPL only with approval of Request for Change from FP to PP/TB form (See Form CSB607). 
 

If any of the above actions are taken, the program model in CLOUDS must be changed by wait listing the 
child and re-enrolling under the new program model for the duration of the school/training break days. 
Sign-in sheets, monthly 9400s, and other required documents described in the Request to Change from 
FP to PP Protocol must also reflect this program model change.  If/when the child is moved back to their 
original funding model; these same changes must be made and reflected on the appropriate 
documentation.    



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  21 

 
7. Documentation of Parental Incapacity 
 If the basis of need as stated on the application for services is parental incapacity, child care and 
development services shall not exceed 50 hours per week.  
 
Documentation shall include a release signed by the incapacitated parent authorizing a legally qualified 
health professional to disclose information necessary to establish that the parent meets the definition of 
incapacity, and needs services. 
 
The documentation of incapacitation provided by the legally qualified health professional shall include: 

 A statement that the parent is incapacitated, that the parent is incapable of providing care and 
supervision for the child for part of the day, and, if the parent is physically incapacitated, that 
identifies the extent to which the parent is incapable of providing care and supervision; 

 The days and hours per week that services are recommended to accommodate the 
incapacitation, taking into account the age of the child and the care needs. This may include 
time for the parent’s regularly scheduled medical or mental health appointments;  

 The probable duration of the incapacitation; and 

 The name, business address, telephone number, professional license number, and signature of 
the legally qualified health professional who is rendering the opinion of incapacitation and, if 
applicable, the name of the health organization with which the professional is associated. 
 

Staff may contact the legally qualified health professional for verification, clarification, or completion of 
the provided statement. 
 
Staff shall determine the days and hours of service based on the recommendation of the health 
professional and consistent with the provisions of this article.  
 
8. Documentation of Seeking Permanent Housing 
If the basis of need as stated on the application for services is seeking permanent housing for family 
stability, the parent’s period of eligibility for child care and development services is limited to 60-
working-days during the contract period. Services shall occur on no more than five days per week and 
for less than 30 hours per week. The period of eligibility shall start on the day authorized by staff and 
extend for consecutive working days. 
 
Documentation of seeking permanent housing shall include a written parental declaration signed under 
penalty of perjury that the family is seeking permanent housing. The declaration shall include the 
parent’s search plan to secure a fixed, regular, and adequate residence and shall identify a general 
description of when services will be necessary. If the family is residing in a shelter, services may also be 
provided while the parent attends appointments or activities necessary to comply with the shelter 
participation requirements. 
 
Staff shall determine the number of weeks available for seeking permanent housing and the child care 
schedule, which may be a variable schedule, based on the documentation. During the period of 
authorization and if necessary to verify need, staff may request that the parent provide, no more than 
once a week, either a declaration signed under penalty of perjury describing the activities the parent has 
undertaken during the previous week to seek permanent housing or a signed statement from the 
shelter, transitional housing agency, or homeless support program regarding the parent’s search 
progress to date. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  22 

 
If the parent does not expect to secure housing prior to the end of the eligibility period: 

 The parent may request an extension in a declaration of need signed under penalty of perjury 
that includes an update of the parent’s search plan and either a description of the activities 
undertaken during the previous week to seek permanent housing or a signed statement from 
the shelter, transitional housing agency, or homeless support program indicating the parent’s 
continued need for services; and 

 The staff may authorize an extension of search eligibility for up to 20 additional working days. 
If services for this purpose are discontinued, the number of working days remaining in the period of 
eligibility shall be available for a subsequent period of eligibility during the contract period. 
 
The working days used to determine the period of eligibility shall include the consecutive Mondays 
through Fridays, excluding any federal holidays. 
 
9. Documentation of Child Protective Services 
 
i. General Procedures 
CSB Head Start is committed to providing child development services for all eligible and pregnant 
women who are currently involved in the child welfare system and Children and Family Services (CFS) for 
the purpose of improving young children’s access to and continuity of comprehensive, high quality early 
care and education services.  The partnership between CSB and CFS ensures that staff understands the 
complex (social, emotional, developmental and physical) needs of this vulnerable population.  This 
partnership is in compliance with the administration for children and families’ information 
memorandum acyf-cb-im-11-01 issued January 31, 2011. 
 
If eligibility and need is based on a child/family’s involvement in the child welfare system/child 
protective services (CPS/CFS), the basic data file must contain a written referral-Form CSB622, dated 
within the six (6) months immediately preceding the date of application for services, from a legal, 
medical, social service agency or emergency shelter. The written referral must include either: 

 A statement from the local county welfare department, child protective services (CPS/CFS) unit 
certifying that the child is receiving child protective services and that the child care and 
development services are a necessary component of the child protective services plan, or 

 A statement by a legally qualified professional that the child is at risk of abuse or neglect and the 
child care and development services are needed to reduce or eliminate risk, and 

 The probable duration of the child protective service plan or the at-risk situation, and 

 The name, address, telephone number and signature of the legally qualified professional who is 
making the referral. 

 
ii. Children and Family Service Referrals 
Families may be referred to CSB for enrollment from Children and Family Services (CFS), if child care is 
deemed a necessary piece of the service plan.  CSB will review the referral to determine a family’s 
eligibility for Head Start, Early Head Start, Center Based, Stage II and CAPP programs.  Based on eligibility 
and need requirements the referral will be forwarded to the appropriate program, taking into 
consideration parental choice.  Once the referral is received by the appropriate unit, the family will be 
contacted to determine eligibility.  If the family is eligible and meets all necessary requirements, they 
may be enrolled in the program provided there is space.  If there is no space or funding available in any 
of CSB’s programs, the ERSEA Manager will forward the referral to an outside agency for potential 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  23 

enrollment.  At this time staff will notify the referring individual whether or not the family was enrolled 
or referred to an outside agency. 
 
I. Certification of Eligibility 
The Site Supervisor or the Assistant Director is authorized to certify eligibility prior to initial enrollment 
and at the time of re-certification.  The authorized representatives must certify each family’s/child’s 
eligibility for childcare and development services after reviewing the completed application and 
documentation contained in a basic data file that is established and maintained at the site. 
 
All data is uploaded to a central computerized database by Site Supervisors or Comprehensive Services 
team members. 
 
Prior to enrollment, Site Supervisor/Assistant Director certifies eligibility by completion of the following 
forms:  

 Application for Childcare and Development Services 
Prior to enrollment, parents may contact Site Supervisors, Assistant Directors, Comprehensive 
Services team members, and teachers at any sites in Contra Costa County to obtain an 
application for services.  Or they may call one of the enrollment hotline numbers to place 
themselves on a waiting list.  

 Notice of Action, Application for Services 
At the time the Site Supervisor certifies or recertifies eligibility of a family/child for child care 
and development services, he/she shall inform the family of the family's responsibility to notify 
the staff within five calendar days of any changes in family income, family size, or the need for 
services.  
 

This information is noted on the application of service and Site Supervisor/Comprehensive Services 
Manager must review the contents and, if needed, provide an explanation of what the “Declaration” 
means. 
 
When a child’s residence alternates between the homes of separated or divorced parents, eligibility, 
need and fees should be determined separately for each household in which the child is residing during 
the time child development services are needed (i.e., separate certifications and service agreements). 
For example, a child may be subsidized during part of the week and full cost the rest of the week. 
 
J. Re-certification for General Child Care Services and Full Day State preschool 
After initial certification and enrollment, the Site Supervisor must verify need and eligibility and re-
certify each family/child as follows: 

 Families receiving services because the child is at risk of abuse, neglect or exploitation must be 
re-certified at least once every three (3) months. 

 Families receiving services because of actual abuse, neglect or exploitation must be re-certified 
at least every twelve (12) months. 

 The time of re-certification, the Site Supervisor must document that the family is 
participating in a protective services plan in accordance with the requirements of their 
local county welfare department, child protective services unit to alleviate the 
circumstances causing the abuse, neglect or exploitation. 
 

All other families must be re-certified at least once each contract period and at intervals not to exceed 
twelve (12) months. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  24 

 
K. Re-Certification for Part-Day State Preschool Children 
Part-day State Preschool families must be certified at the beginning of service using the most recent 
income documentation and may be certified up to 120 days old before the services’ start date. 
 
After a first year of service, a family must reapply to determine income and age eligibility before a child 
can be considered for enrollment for a second year. These returning children have placement priority 
without regard to income ranking as described in the 2009 Enrollment Priorities guidance. 
 
L. Re-Certification for Head Start and Early Head Start Children 
CSB certifies Head Start children into the program based on family income eligibility at the time of 
enrollment using the federal income guidelines. 
 
Once a child is enrolled, that child does not need to be re-certified even if the family income rises above 
the federal poverty level for the first year of enrollment and the following year. Re-certification is only 
required for a child entering a third year of Head Start. 
 
Early Head Start children must be re-certified for eligibility when they transition to a Head Start program 
for preschool age children. 
 
M. General Recertification / Re-Enrollment Procedures 
1. Recertification Procedures 
During the recertification process, Site Supervisors are responsible for the following: 

 Track families needing to be recertified using Recertification Tracking Calendar. 

 Notify families 30 days prior to enrollment expiration to bring updated eligibility documentation. 

 Collect recertification or re-enrollment documentation. 

 Complete new 9600 on CLOUDS at face-to-face interview with parent. 

 Complete new income calculation sheet (signed and dated). 

 Update reason for needing child care and application type on the child data sheet (See 
“eligibility information” on the child data sheet). 

 Proceed with certification procedures as listed above if family is still income eligible. 

 Issue Notice of Action, certifying continuation, changes or termination of services. (Note: 
adverse action requires a 14-day written notification, 19-days if mailed). 

 Drop file on CLOUDS on the last day of service and prepare paper file for storage.  The Children’s 
file folders are to be re-used. 

 Update CLOUDS record as needed. 

 Maintain files of terminated children in locked location at site for one year until after program 
audit in October or November. 

 Send dropped and files of terminated clients to central location after completion of program 
audit.  
 

2. Re-Enrollment Process 
During the re-enrollment process, Site Supervisors in collaboration with Comprehensive Services are 
responsible for the following: 

 In June, identify children for roll-over. 

 In July, place roll-over children into appropriate classrooms and Program Model, from 
Eligible/Accepted list in CLOUDS. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  25 

 For previously enrolled Part-day State Preschool child requesting re-enrollment, follow 
guidelines for completely new 9600 application with all new documentation: 

 If a child’s CLOUDS record was archived within the program year, request Comprehensive 
Services Manager to reactivate child’s CLOUDS record and place child back on to Eligibility Wait 
List. 

 Follow approved guidelines for selecting children. 
 
N. Updating the Application   
The Site Supervisor must update the family’s application for General Child Care and Full-day State 
Preschool to document continued need and eligibility and determine any change to fee assessment, if 
applicable, within thirty (30) days whenever there is a change in family size, income, public assistance 
status or need.  
 
Form 9600S will be used for application updates between re-certifications. 
 
O. Contents of Basic Data File 
Site Supervisors / Comprehensive Services staff must establish and maintain a basic data file for each 
family receiving childcare and development services. The basic data file must contain a signed 
application for services with:  

 The parent’s(s) full name(s), address(es) and telephone number(s). 

 The names, gender and birth dates of all children under the age of eighteen (18) counted in the 
family size whether or not they are served by the program. 

 The number of hours of service each day for each child. 

 The names of other family members in the household related by blood, marriage or adoption. 

 The reason for needing childcare and development services, if applicable. 

 Employment or training information for parent(s) including name and address of employer(s) or 
training institution(s) and days and hours of employment or training, if applicable.. 

 Eligibility status.. 

 Family size income, if applicable.. 

 The parent’s signature and date.. 

 The signature of the Site Supervisor/Assistant Director certifying the eligibility and date of 
signature. 

 A notation on when the first services begin.. 

 A notation of the last day services were received. 
The data file must also contain, as applicable: 

 Documentation of income eligibility, including an income calculation worksheet. 

 Documentation of employment. 

 Documentation of seeking employment. 

 Documentation of training. 

 Documentation of parental incapacity. 

 Documentation of child's disabilities. 

 Documentation of homelessness. 

 Documentation of seeking permanent housing for family stability. 

 Written referral from a legally qualified professional from a legal, medical, or social services 
agency, or emergency shelter for children at risk of abuse, neglect, or exploitation.. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  26 

 Written referral from a county welfare department, child welfare services worker, certifying that 
the child is receiving protective services and the family requires child care and development 
services as part of the case plan.. 

 If the parent of the child was on cash assistance, the date the parental cash aid was terminated. 

 A signed Child Care Data Collection Privacy Notice and Consent Form CD 9600A shall be 
included.. 

 Notice of Action (as stated above in detail) and/or Recipient of Services. 

 All child health and current emergency information required by California Code of Regulations, 
title 22, Social Security, Division 12, Community Care Facilities Licensing Regulations.  

 
1. Documentation and Determination of Family Size 
A parent shall provide the names of the parents and the names, gender and birthdates of the children 
identified in the family. This information shall be documented on a confidential application for child care 
and development services and used to determine family size. The parent shall provide supporting 
documentation regarding the number of children and parents in the family. 
The number of children shall be documented by providing at least one of the following documents, as 
applicable for the state funded program*: 

 Birth certificates. 

 Court orders regarding child custody. 

 Adoption documents. 

 Records of Foster Care placements. 

 School or medical records.  

 County welfare department records; or 

 Other reliable documentation indicating the relationship of the child to the parent. 
               *Federally funded programs require documentation for the child to be enrolled, only. In state 
funded programs, when only one parent has signed the application and the information provided 
pursuant to subdivision (a)(1) indicates the child(ren) in the family has another parent whose name does 
not appear on the application, then the presence or absence of that parent shall be documented by 
providing any one of the following documents, as applicable: 

 Records of marriage, divorce, domestic partnership or legal separation. 

 Court-ordered child custody arrangements. 

 Evidence that the parent signing the application is receiving child support payments from that 
person, has filed for child support with the appropriate local agency, or has executed documents 
with that agency declining to file for child support. 

 Rental receipts or agreements, contracts, utility bills or other documents for the residence of 
the absent parent: or   

 Any other documentation, excluding a self-declaration, to confirm the presence or absence of a 
parent of a child in the family. 
 

If, due to the recent departure of a parent from the family, the remaining applicant parent cannot 
provide any documentation, the applicant parent may submit a self-declaration signed under penalty of 
perjury explaining the absence of that parent from the family.  
 
Within six months of applying or reporting this change in family size, the parent must provide 
documentation as noted above. 
 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  27 

If the information provided by the parent is insufficient, staff shall request any additional 
documentation necessary to verify the family composition and family size.  
 
For income eligibility and family fee purposes, when a child and his or her siblings are living in a family 
that does not include their biological or adoptive parent, only the child and related siblings shall be 
counted to determine family size. In these cases, the adult(s) must meet a need criterion.  
 
2. Documentation of Income Eligibility 
The parent is responsible for providing documentation of the family’s total countable income and the 
staff is required to verify the information, as described below  
 
The parent(s) shall document total countable income for all the individuals counted in the family size as 
follows:  
i. If the parent is employed, provide: 

 A release authorizing the staff to contact the employer(s), to the extent known, that includes 
the employer’s name, address, telephone number, and usual business hours, and 

 All payroll check stubs, a letter from the employer delivered to CSB independent of the 
employee, or other record of wages issued by the employer for the month preceding the initial 
certification, an update of the application, or the recertification that establishes eligibility for 
services.  
 

When the employer refuses or fails to provide requested documentation or when a request for 
documentation would adversely affect the parent’s employment, provide other means of verification 
that may include a list of clients and amounts paid, the most recently signed and completed tax returns, 
quarterly estimated tax statements, or other records of income to support the reported income, along 
with a self-certification of income. 
 
ii. If the parent is self-employed, provide a combination of documentation necessary to establish current 
income eligibility for at least the month preceding the initial certification, an update of the application, 
or the recertification that establishes eligibility for services. Documentation shall consist of as many of 
the following types of documentation as necessary to determine income:  

 A letter from the source of the income, 

 A copy of the most recently signed and completed tax return with a statement of current 
estimated income for tax purposes, or 

 Other business records, such as ledgers, receipts, or business logs. 
 

Parents shall provide copies of the documentation of all non-wage income, self-certification of any 
income for which no documentation is possible, and any verified child support payments. 
Staff: 
 

Staff shall retain copies of the documentation of total countable income and adjusted monthly income 

in the family data file. 

 

When the parent is employed, staff shall, as applicable, verify the parent’s salary/wage; rate(s) of pay; 

potential for overtime, tips or additional compensation; hours and days of work; variability of hours and 

days of work; pay periods and frequency of pay, start date for the employee. If the employer refuses or 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  28 

is non-responsive in providing requested information or a request for employer documentation would 

adversely affect the parent’s employment, and if the information provided by a self-employed parent is 

inconsistent with the staff’s knowledge or community practice, shall request clarification in the self-

certification of income, additional income information or a reasonable basis for concluding that the 

employer exists. 

 

When the parent is self-employed, staff shall obtain and make a record of independent verification 
regarding the cost for services provided by the parent that may be obtained by contacting clients, 
reviewing bank statements, or confirming the information in the parent’s advertisements or website.  

 
If the income cannot be independently verified, the staff shall assess whether the reported income is 
reasonable or consistent with the community practice for this employment. 
 
Staff may request additional documentation to verify total countable income to the extent that the 
information provided by the parent or the employer is insufficient to make a reasonable assessment of 
income eligibility. 
 
To establish eligibility, staff shall, by signing the application for services, certify to the staff’s reasonable 
belief that the income documentation obtained and, if applicable, the self-certification, support the 
reported income, are reliable and are consistent with all other family information and the staff’s 
knowledge, if applicable, of this type of employment or employer. 
 
If the family is receiving child care and development services because the child(ren) is/are at risk of 
abuse, neglect, or exploitation or receiving child protective services and the written referral specifies 
that it is necessary to exempt the family from paying a fee, then the parent will not be required to 
provide documentation of total countable income.  
 
If the basis of eligibility is a current aid recipient, the staff shall obtain verification from CalWIN.   
 
3. Calculation of Income 
i. General Procedures for calculating income 
Staff calculates total countable income based on income information reflecting the family’s current and 
on-going income using an income calculation worksheet that specifies the frequency and amount of the 
payroll check stubs provided by the parent and all other sources of countable income.  
 
When income fluctuates because of: 

o Agricultural work, by averaging income from the 12 months preceding the initial 
certification, an update of the application, or the recertification that establishes 
eligibility for services. 

o Intermittent income, by averaging the intermittent income from the preceding 12 
months by dividing by 12 and add this amount to the other countable income. 

o Unpredictable income, by averaging the income from at least three consecutive months 
and no more than 12 months preceding the initial certification, an update of the 
application, or the recertification that establishes eligibility for services. 
 

ii. Over-Income Families-General Description 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  29 

Both the State and Federal program allow over-income families meeting strict criteria. NO CHILD SHALL 
BE CONSIDERED FOR ENROLLMENT WITH AN INCOME ABOVE THE FEDERAL POVERTY GUIDELINE UNTIL 
ALL FAMILIES AT OR BELOW THE FEDERAL POVERTY GUIDELINES HAVE BEEN ENROLLED. To this end, it is 
critical that the recruitment plan be fully implemented and that extra efforts are made to assist income 
eligible families in completing the application to establish eligibility and be placed in the program 
expeditiously. After these efforts have been conducted, documented and certified, a request to waive 
the income guidelines may be made. The waiver form (See Forms > CSB606) includes a certification 
statement on the back of the form where the outreach efforts are documented. A simple statement that 
“the waitlist has been exhausted” is never acceptable. 
 
iii. Over-Income Protocols 
When enrolling over-income families, the Site Supervisor or Manager is responsible for: 

 Completing the over income waiver (CSB606). 

 Submitting completed waiver to Assistant Director/Partner Analyst for approval. 

 Placing original Assistant Director approved waiver in child’s file 
The Assistant Director/Partner Analyst is responsible for: 

 Receiving form and ensuring that all possible outreach has been conducted to ensure that there 
are no income eligible children to enroll.  

 Reviewing the aggregate waiver list on Shared Drive to ensure that their cluster has not 
exceeded the 10% unlimited over income designated primarily for children with an IEP or IFSP 
but for other cases as determined appropriate by the AS or 35% limited over income enrollment 
for the Head Start and Early Head Start program, or the 15% limited over income for the part 
day preschool (PP) or the part day family literacy program (PPL). 

 Signing form 

 Forwarding the original to Site Supervisor/Mgr. for placement in file. 

 Forwarding a copy of approved waiver to Division Manager (ERSEA). 
The Division Manager (ERSEA) is responsible for: 

 Receiving copies of approved over income waivers from Assistant Directors/Partner Analyst. 

 Logging each waiver on database on shared drive. 

 Providing alerts to each Assistant Director/Partner Analyst that are nearing their over income 
allowance. 

 Analyzing placement of over income slots to inform recruitment and slot planning processes. 

 Periodically purging the list as children transition out of the program. 
 
4. Documentation of the Child’s Exceptional Needs (known as Children with Disabilities at CSB). 
The family data file shall contain documentation of the child’s exceptional needs if the staff is claiming 
adjustment factors. The documentation of exceptional needs shall include:  

 A copy of the portion of the active individual family service plan (IFSP) or the individualized 
education program (IEP) that includes the information as specified in Education Code section 
56026 and California Code of Regulations, title 5, sections 3030 and 3031; and 

 A statement signed by a legally qualified professional that: 
o The child requires the special attention of adults in a child care setting; and 
o Includes the name, address, license number, and telephone number of the legally 

qualified professional who is rendering the opinion. 
 
P. Admission Policies and Procedures 
Children are admitted into the program based on need and family income adjusted for family size. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  30 

Highest priority goes to children with need for protective services and/or having lowest income. 
 
When a parent seeks services, the Site Supervisor/Assistant Director or Comprehensive Services Team 
member collects family information from the Waiting List Pre-Registration form (CSB690).  The child is 
placed on CLOUDS upon applying for child care services. 
 
As openings become available, names are drawn by rank from the CLOUDS waitlist for the various 
program options in accordance with the approved selection criteria/admission priorities. 
 
If multiple families have the same rank, the family waiting the longest period of time is selected first.  
CSB makes available 10% of its federally funded spaces for children with disabilities and gives priority for 
its unlimited over income allotment to these children (also 10% of its funded slots). 
 
Children will not be denied when a family needs less than full-time services. 
 
Families who have been recruited for admissions to the program will be required to complete an 
application and provide supporting documentation.  These documents must be of the current year, 
verification of income, shots, and birth certification of the child applying for enrollment.   
 
Letters informing the family of acceptance or denial for services must be sent once certification is 
complete.  The family has the right to dispute the denial of services by providing additional information 
to prove eligibility to receive services.  Re-Certification may happen anytime the family’s situation 
changes and requests that new documentation be reviewed. Any changes must be reported by the 
family within 5 days. 
 
Q.  General Admission Procedure 
When an opening occurs in the center, the Site Supervisor will call the parent with the highest rank on 
the CLOUDS eligible list for an appointment for processing eligibility documents, noting any change of 
income and need for service.  At this time, the parent receives an official Notice of Action (NOA) 
approving or disapproving state funded services.  The NOA provides information outlining the parent’s 
due process rights in a statement on the back of the NOA.  Parents wishing to appeal an agency decision 
must follow the procedure carefully or void the right to appeal. Following the timelines is essential. 
Parents applying for a Head Start only slot sign the Admissions Agreement and Application but do not 
receive an NOA. 
 
R. Children’s Enrollment File 
The Federal Regulations and the State of California require children’s centers to maintain a file on each 
enrolled child including the following information: 

 Birth Certificate to verify birth, age of child, gender and parents names.  Information on date of 
admission, termination and re-enrollment. 

 Names, addresses and phone numbers of parents and other relatives and/or friend that may be 
contacted in case of emergency. 

 A Health History is completed by the parent to collect information on child’s general health. 
 

This and much more information is collected during one-on-one parent meetings, while assisting the 
parent to complete the enrollment packet and assisting the parent with health needs of the child or 
issues of the parent and household.  Information must be updated and data entered into CLOUDS as it is 
received. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  31 

 
S. Due Process Requirements 
1. Notice of Action, Application for Services 
The Site Supervisor’s decision to approve or deny services shall be communicated to the applicant 
through a written statement referred to as a Notice of Action, Application for Services. The Site 
Supervisor shall maintain copies of the Notice of Action, Application for Services in the basic data file.  
The Notice of Action, Application for Services shall include:  (1) the applicant’s name and address; (2) the 
Site Supervisor’s name and address or the name and telephone number of the CSB authorized 
representative who made the decision; (3) the date of the notice; (4) the method of distribution of the 
notice. 
 
If services are approved, the notice shall also contain: (1) basis of eligibility; (2) daily fee, if applicable; (3) 
duration of the eligibility; (4) names of children approved to receive services; and (5) the hours of 
service approved for each day. 
 
If the services are denied, the notice shall contain: (1) the basis of denial and (2) instructions for the 
parent(s) on how to request a hearing if they do not agree with the Site Supervisor’s decision in 
accordance with procedures specified below.   
 
2. Notice of Action, Recipient of Services 
If, upon re-certification or update of the application, CSB determines that the need or eligibility 
requirements are no longer being met, or the fee amount of service needs to be modified, the Site 
Supervisor will notify the family through a written Notice of Action, Recipient of Services. The Site 
Supervisor will maintain copies of all Notice of Action, Recipient of Services in the family’s basic file. The 
Notice of Action, Recipient of Services will include: (1) the type of action being taken; (2) The effective 
date of action; (3) the name and address of recipient; (4) the name and address of CSB; (5) the name 
and telephone number of the CSB authorized representative who is taking the action; (6) the date of 
notice is mailed or given to the recipient; (7) the method of distribution to the recipient; (8) a 
description of the action; (9) a statement of the reason(s) for the changes; (10) a statement of the 
reason(s) for termination, if applicable; and (11) instructions for the parent(s) on how to request a 
hearing if they do not agree with the Site Supervisor decisions.   
 
3. Approval or Denial of Child Care and Development Services 
The Site Supervisor will mail or deliver a completed Notice of Action, Application for Services to the 
parents within thirty (30) calendar days from the date the application is signed by the parent(s).   
 
4. Changes Affecting Service 
The Site Supervisor will complete a Notice of Action, Recipient of Services when changes are made to 
the service agreement. Such changes may include, but are not limited to, an increase in parent fees, an 
increase or decrease in the amount of services, or termination of service.  
The Site Supervisor will mail or deliver the Notice of Action to the parents at least fourteen (14) calendar 
days before the effective date of the intended action. 
 
To promote the continuity of child care and development services, a family that no longer meets a 
particular program’s income, eligibility or need criteria may have their services continued if the Site 
Supervisor is able to transfer that family’s enrollment to another program for which the family continues 
to be eligible prior to the date of termination of services. The transfer of enrollment may be to another 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  32 

program within the same administrative agency or to another agency that administers state or federally 
funded childcare and development programs within that county. 
 
T. Alternative Placement for Children 
When terminating children from the state funded portion of the program, Site Supervisors are 
responsible for the following: 

 Issue Notice of Action 14 days prior to termination date. 

 Explain to parents their appeal rights. 

 If parent does not appeal termination: 

 Enter information regarding reason for ending services in CLOUDS Child Data Sheet. Date and 
initial comments. 

 Change enrollment status in CLOUDS. 

 Discontinue services on Family Data Sheet. 

 Determine if child may return within the program year.  If so, place child back on 
Eligible/Accepted List.  If not, archive the CLOUDS record. 

 Assist the family in finding an alternate placement for the child. 

 If parent appeals termination, send appeal notice to Assistant Director and continue to serve 

child until informed to move forward with termination. 

 
Head Start children that are deemed inappropriate for their current setting are always afforded an 
opportunity in another program option as space is available. If the parent is ineligible for Head Start or 
our state funded programs, they are to be referred to a partner site and/or to the county’s resource and 
referral agency, Contra Costa Child Care Council (925-676-KIDS). 
 
U. Client’s Request for a Hearing and Procedures 
If a parent in the state funded program disagrees with an action, the parent(s) may file a written request 
for a hearing with the Site Supervisor within fourteen (14) calendar days of the date the Notice of Action 
was received.   
 
Upon the filing of a request for hearing, the intended action shall be suspended until the review process 
has been completed.  The review process is complete when the appeal process has been exhausted or 
when the parent(s) abandons the appeal process. 
 
Within ten (10) calendar days following the receipt of the request for a hearing, the Site Supervisor will 
notify the parent(s) of the time and place of the hearing.  The time and place of the hearing will, to the 
extent possible, be convenient for the parent(s). 
 
An Assistant Director, who will be referred to as “the hearing officer” will conduct the hearing.  The 
hearing officer will be at a staff level higher in authority than the staff person who made the contested 
decision. 
 
The parent(s) or parent’s authorized representative is required to attend the hearing.  If the parent or 
the parent’s authorized representative fails to appear at the hearing, the parent will be deemed to have 
abandoned his or her appeal.  Only persons directly affected by the hearing will be allowed to attend the 
hearing. 
 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  33 

The Assistant Director will arrange for the presence of an interpreter at the hearing, if one is requested 
by the parent(s). 
 
The Assistant Director will explain to the parent(s) the legal, regulatory, or policy basis for the intended 
action. 
 
During the hearing, the parent(s) will have an opportunity to explain the reason(s) they believe the Site 
Supervisor’s decision was incorrect.  The Site Supervisor will present any material facts omitted by the 
parent(s). 
 
The Assistant Director will mail or deliver to the parent(s) a written decision within ten (10) days after 
the hearing. 
 
V. Appeal Procedure for CDD Review 
If the parent disagrees with the written decision from the Site Supervisor, the parent has fourteen (14) 
calendar days in which to appeal to the CDD.  If the parent(s) do(es) not submit an appeal request to the 
CDD within fourteen (14) calendar days, the parents’ appeal process will be deemed abandoned and the 
Site Supervisor may implement the intended action. 
 
The parent(s) will specify in the appeal request the reason(s) why he/she believes the Site Supervisor’s 
decision was incorrect.  
 
The parents must submit a copy of CSB’s Notice of Action with the appeal request. 
Upon receipt of the appeal request, the CDD may request copies of the basic data file and other relevant 
materials from CSB.  The CDD may also conduct any investigations, interviews or mediation necessary to 
resolve the appeal. 
 
The decision of the CDD will be mailed or delivered to the parent(s) and the Site Supervisor within thirty 
(30) calendar days after receipt of the appeal request. 
 
W. CSB Compliance with CDD Decision 
CSB will comply with the decision of the CDD immediately upon receipt thereof. 
 
CSB will be reimbursed for childcare and development services delivered to the family during the appeal 
process.   
 
If the Site Supervisor’s determination that a family is ineligible is upheld by the State, services to the 
family will cease upon receipt by the Site Supervisor of the State’s decision. 
 
X. Retention of Enrollment Records 
Delegate Agencies, the Grantee-Operated Program, and sub-contractor retain copies of official 
enrollment application forms, which contain certification data for each child enrolled during the 
program year for 5 years. 
 
Copies of enrollment records serve as a primary source document for audit purposes. 
 
Cooperation with local Contra Costa County welfare offices is encouraged for recruiting eligible children 
into the program. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  34 

 
Y. Enrolled But Waiting For Transfer Protocol 
When staff has a child/family that wants to transfer sites: 

 Comprehensive Services staff and site staff who learn about a family wanting to transfer 
communicate via email to all applicable SSs, CSAMs & Partners (as known or Partner CSAM) the 
need for a transfer. Make additional calls as necessary. 

 Clearly and fully document the transfer in the case file on CLOUDS. 

 Clearly and fully explain to the family about any changes they may experience as a result of a 
possible program model change at time of transfer to other center (ex: part-day to full-day  - 
family must now show need) 
 

When staff are searching to fill an open slot: 

 Notify CSAM immediately upon determination that a slot will become available. 

 CSAM check notes for any children that are enrolled but waiting for a slot.  

 CSAM of current center reviews files for pending issues prior to transfer and communicates any 
issues to receiving CSAM. Transfer file to new center’s Site Supervisor or designee. 

 Site Supervisor completes 9600S and NOA. Also, collect any additional documentation required 
for program model change (see Eligibility and Need Criteria Documentation Checklists) 

 Site Supervisor enrolls the child from CLOUDS. 
 
Z. Transfer of Child with Disabilities or of Child Receiving Mental Health Services 
When a child with disabilities or receiving mental health services transfers to another CSB site, 
communication is vital. The Comprehensive Services team member is responsible for notifying the Site 
Supervisor/Head Teacher and CS/Disabilities/Mental Health Manager in writing.  Notification is to be 
sent before the child begins at another site so that necessary arrangements or accommodations can be 
made. 
 
The Site Supervisor/Head Teacher will inform the appropriate teacher of the transfer.  The 
Comprehensive Services team member and the CS/Mental Health Manager will complete this process 
within two weeks of notification of an opening. 
 
AA. CSPP Full-day to Part-Day or Tuition Based Approval Process 
1. General Description 
In the event that a family loses eligibility or need for services during the program year, CSB has the 
discretion to offer families the option to receive services part-day (less than 4 hours per day) or pay a 
fee for full-day services (Tuition Based) rather than terminate services. Part-day services could be 
offered in the child’s same class or in another class during the “pre-school portion of the day” (8:30 – 
12:00) as available. Whenever possible, the child will be allowed to stay in their current classroom.   

 
CSB fiscal unit tracks CDE earnings monthly, and notifies program staff if the risk of under earning 
develops. If under earning is a risk, ADs cease to approve all moves to part-day until risk subsides 
according to reports from fiscal unit.  
 
2. Action Guidance for Staff  
i. Full-day or ¾ time to Part-day 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  35 

 Site Supervisor determines family no longer meets eligibility or need criteria (for more than 4 
hours of care) and issues NOA for termination of full-day (or ¾ time) services effective 14 or 19 
days as appropriate.  

 The below process must be complete no later than the effective date of action noted on the 
NOA. 

 Site Supervisor ensures that each class is fully enrolled morning and afternoon through 
enrollment and certified hours of care.  

 Site Supervisor determines if part-day services are available during the preschool portion of the 
day (8:30 – 12:00). 

 If available, the Site Supervisor and family determine if part-day services are desirable and 
appropriate. 

 If desired by the family and appropriate, Site Supervisor completes approval form CSB607 (See 
CSB Forms). 

 If part-day services are unavailable, not desired by the family or inappropriate, Site Supervisor 
terminates the child and closes the file. 

 AD approves or denies CSB607 request, maintains original for her records and returns a copy to 
the site. 

 If approved, Site Supervisor files copy in student file, updates CLOUDS (waitlist & re-enroll with 
new program model), and updates student file including the following and moves the child to 
part-day services on date on or after AD approval date and no later than effective date of NOA 
terminating full-day (or ¾ time) services. 

o Completed 9600S – update program model at least and hours of care, and other 
information as applicable 

o Income and family size remain as they were at original enrollment unless 
documentation of current income or family size benefits the family. 

o NOA stating change to part-day services - effective date is same as effective date for 
termination of full-day services (or before if desired by the parent). 

o Update CLOUDS hours of care. 
o Update CLOUDS program model (while retaining previous enrollment history), reason 

for needing care (if applicable), program option (if applicable) to “part-day center-
based”, and any other appropriate updates.  

o Site Supervisor ensures child is reflected on appropriate 9400s for appropriate number 
of days during the month of the move. 

 
ii. Full-day or ¾ time to Tuition Based (TB) 

 Site Supervisor determines family no longer meets eligibility or need criteria (for more than 4 
hours of care) and issues NOA for termination of full-day (or ¾ time) services effective 14 or 19 
days as appropriate. 

 Site Supervisor ensures that each class is fully enrolled morning and afternoon through 
enrollment and hours of care.  

 Site Supervisor determines if TB services are available. 

 If available, Site Supervisor and family determine if TB services are desirable and appropriate. 

 If desired by the family and appropriate, Site Supervisor completes approval form CSB607 (See 
CSB Forms). 

 AD approves or denies request, maintains original for her records and returns a copy to the site. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  36 

 If approved, Site Supervisor closes file and CLOUDS, completes all applicable paperwork and 
required forms, including an NOA stating termination of services and moves the child to TB 
services on first day after the end of the 14 to 19 day NOA waiting period. 

 Site Supervisor ensures child is reflected on 9400 for only the appropriate number of days 
during the month until the date the move to TB services was effective. 

 See section at end of this manual for Tuition Based services policies and procedures. 
 
BB. Withdrawal of Child from the Program 
When the teaching staff learns that a child has terminated services, they should note the “last day 
attended” on the child's application (9600) and the sign in/out sheet.  They must also notify the CSAM 
immediately upon knowledge of a pending vacancy.  Whenever possible, the reason for the withdrawal 
should be ascertained and recorded. The child’s termination date in CLOUDS is the first date the child 
does not attend so that attendance data can be captured for the last day of attendance.  
 
Parents who wish to reinstate must meet Title V Regulations. If the parents are successful in meeting the 
Title V Regulations, the parent must complete all required paperwork and provide income 
documentation. 
 
The following are some reasons that a child might be placed back on the waiting list (please see Parent 
Handbook for a complete listing): 

 A pattern of unexcused absences - Poor attendance / sporadic attendance is defined as three or 
more unexcused absences.  When this occurs, the teacher calls the Site Supervisor, who makes 
personal contact with the parent as soon as they realized a child has not attended and the 
parent has not called.  If multiple service needs are disclosed by a parent, he/she should be 
offered Case Management services in order to create a plan to correct the absenteeism. Every 
effort is made to assist parents in removing barriers to attendance. 

 Parent’s failure to comply with rules/regulations, resulting in danger to the health / safety of 
children / staff – (Must be approved by the Assistant Director) 

 Parent’s failure to comply with health requirements as mandated by Community Care Licensing. 

 Extreme behavior problems in a child that may be harmful to the child or others (This must be 
based on a joint assessment by the CS / Disabilities / Mental Health Manager, and the Site 
Supervisor.) 

 For General Childcare, a change in income or need eligibility status such that the family is no 
longer eligible for care. 
 

When a child has been terminated from the program, the Site Supervisor will then call the Assistant 
Director, CSAM and teacher, notifying them of a new child replacing the terminated child.  The Site 
Supervisor will call the parent of the terminated child, informing him/her that the child has been put 
back on the waiting list. If a terminated child is brought to school, the parent should be told to speak to 
the Site Supervisor.  
 
CC. Attendance Expectations 
1. General Description 
CSB children are expected to attend classes daily.  Regular attendance is strictly enforced, and each 
center maintains documentation of all attendance/absenteeism activities.  Upon registration, parents 
are oriented about enrollment/attendance policies. 
 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  37 

Each parent receives a copy of the attendance policies, and the importance of regular attendance is 
stressed to them.  Re-orientation of the enrollment/attendance policies occurs at the beginning of 
classes, and ongoing reminders are communicated as needed. 
 
2. Unexcused Absences 
After a child has been absent for two consecutive days, the center staff must contact the child’s parents 
to determine the cause of the absence and to clarify the attendance policy. 
 
After two days of unexcused absences from the center, the parent is contacted inquiring about the 
absences and clarifying the attendance policy. 
 
After four consecutive unexcused absences, a conference with parents is called.  Parents are informed 
that failure to attend the conference may result in their child being terminated from the program and 
placed onto the waiting list. 
 
After ten consecutive or intermittent days of unexcused absences, the child is dropped from the active 
program and is put back onto the waiting list.  (Children absent due to illness are counted in the Average 
Daily Attendance criteria.) 
 
Site supervisor will check attendance sheets daily or at least three times a week to ensure attendance 
policies are implemented. 
 
DD. Attendance Accounting 
1. General Description 
Accounting for attendance is completed daily by the classroom teacher.  Attendance is entered into 
CLOUDS weekly, and reports are utilized to ensure that each center maintains 85% monthly attendance 
for all federally funded slots.  If the monthly attendance rate falls below 85%, the Site Supervisor will be 
notified by the ERSEA analyst and will utilize the CLOUDS absence reports to analyze the reasons and 
develop a corrective action plan that they submit to the Assistant Director and the ERSEA Analyst.  
 
2. Procedure 
Centers maintain attendance binders for each class as the primary source document for billing the 
funding source, for licensing and for audit purposes. This will be phased out when CLOUDS has approval 
by the California Department of Education. 
 
Parents or their designee must sign children in and out of the centers daily and note the time of drop off 
and pick up. 
 
A code is used consistently throughout the entire program to mark Present, Excused Absence, and 
Unexcused Absence.  Absences are marked with an ”A” and given the excuse provided by the parent in 
the comment section of the sign-in sheet. The teacher determines if the absence is excused in 
accordance with the excused and unexcused absence policies included herein.  When absences are 
excused, the ”A” is enclosed in a circle.   
 
At the end of the month, the teacher reviews each attendance record and totals the days of attendance, 
excused and unexcused absences, and signs and dates the sheet before sending it to the Site Supervisor. 
 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  38 

Parents are required to give the reason for a child’s absence when the child returns to school and to sign 
the comment to authenticate it.  On occasions where the child has not returned to school, the Site 
Supervisor fills in and signs the reason for absence after contacting the parent. 
 
Attendance records are reviewed by the Site Supervisor and coded by program type and special need of 
the child where applicable.   
 
Attendance sheets are alphabetized and collated according to special categories. 
 
The Site Supervisor in programs funded by the State produces computerized reports for the various 
programs at the center.  The report is entitled the CD 9400.   

 The Site Supervisor completes and signs each page of the CD 9400s signifying that the entries 
match the children’s attendance sheets. 

 The Site Supervisor forwards the signed CD 9400s and attendance sheets to the Assistant 
Director for review. 

 The Assistant Director reviews and signs off on the CD 9400s then submits the CD 9400s with 
attached attendance sheets to the Enrollment/Attendance Cluster Clerk by the 4th work day of 
each month for the preceding month. 

 The Enrollment/Attendance Cluster Clerk reviews and signs off on the CD 9400s then submits 
the finalized CD 9400s to the Administration Office (Business Systems Clerk) by the 6th work day 
of each month. 

 The Business Systems Clerk collects all the CD 9400s then reviews, signs and submits the CDFS 
9500s and the CDFS8501 to the Fiscal Department by the 10th working day of each month. 

 The Business Systems Assistant Manager prepares the CD 801A report and submits it 
electronically to teh State CDMIS website by the 20th of every month for the preceding month. 

 The Fiscal Department reviews the submitted CDFS 9500s and the CDFS 8501 then submits 
finalized report to the California Department of Education by the 20th of the month for each 
quarter. 

 
3. Excused Absences 

 Illness: Absences may be excused for illness of the child, parent, or any sibling.  Illness absences 
lasting 3 or more consecutive days may require appropriate medical professional 
documentation.  

 Family Emergency: Absences due to family emergencies may be considered excused absences. 
The reason for the family emergency must be specified in the sign in and out sheets. Any of the 
following reasons can be considered family emergencies: 

 Death of a family member. 

 Immediate need for medical health treatment of anyone in the family unit.  

 Any incident caused by a situation which results in the family having their normal schedule 
disrupted to the extent that the parent cannot safely accompany their child to the site (i.e., 
theft, fire, flood, arrest and/or incarceration of a parent, or any other similar situations) 

 If regular means of transportation to school is disrupted, and no alternative, i.e. public 
transportation is available. 

 Any other situation at the discretion of the site supervisor. 

 Best Interest Days (BID): Absences may be excused for the “best interest of    the child” which 
would include time for a child to be with a parent or relative (i.e. vacation or visitation with non-
custodial parent, a court-mandated visit, or participating in cultural or religious holidays). Other 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  39 

requests for BID are at the discretion of the Site Supervisor.  BID absences are limited to ten (10) 
days per program year per child, with the exception of children who are recipients of protective 
services or are at risk of abuse or neglect. Proof of such services must be documented in the 
child’s data file. The reason for the “Best Interest Day” must be specified in the sign in and out 
sheets. 

 Exclusion due to unmet health requirements: Children must be excused for immunizations that 
are not up-to-date or a physical or TB clearance that is not received within 30 days of 
enrollment. Parents are allowed one extension beyond the 30 day requirement with proof of an 
appointment on file. Children are permitted up to three days of excused absences. After that, a 
Notice of Action (as applicable) will be issued for termination from the program. 

 
EE. Title XXII Requirements for All Children 
Record of “up to date” immunizations must be on file before children can attend. A complete physical 
examination by the child’s physician is required within 30 days of admission.  A form is provided at the 
intake interview for use by the family physician.  An immunization record authorized by a Medical 
Doctor or a Registered Nurse must be shown.  The Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services staff will 
review and file a copy at the time of enrollment.  Immunizations must be kept current while the child is 
attending the centers. The Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services staff member notifies parents 
when immunizations are due. Children whose immunizations are not kept up to date will be excluded 
from the center until they are brought up-to-date, unless there is a medical waiver on file. 
 
Although TB clearance must be obtained within thirty days of admission, the physical must also have 
indicated the result of the TB screening on the child’s record. 
Children may be eligible for a free physical through the Child Health Disability Prevention Program.  
Parents should be encouraged to discuss this option with the Site Supervisor or Comprehensive Services 
staff member. 
 
Enrollment information is kept confidential from all but: (1) authorized program staff, (2) California 
Department of Education program evaluators (3) authorized public officials. Information will not be 
released without parental permission, except as mentioned above. 
 
Children with disabilities are accepted by the centers when CSB is able to obtain appropriate 
documentation to determine the child’s needs.  CSB will work with the family to make all reasonable 
accommodations for the child. CSB complies with ADA and IDEA. 
 
FF. Fees for Non-Head Start and Early Head Start Funded Programs  
1. Purpose 
The purpose of these procedures is to document the process of billing, collecting, and depositing of 
childcare fees in accordance with County policies and the State’s Funding Terms and Conditions related 
to child development programs. 
 
2. County Administrative Bulletins  
Community Services Bureau shall comply with the requirements set forth in Administrative Bulletin 
Number 205 regarding cash collections procedures. 
 
3. Fee Assessment 
i. CSB shall use the current fee schedule prepared and issued by California Department of Education for 
child care programs funded by the State.  If more than one child in a family is participating in the state 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  40 

funded program the family’s fee shall be assessed and collected based on the child who is enrolled for 
the longest period in a day. If the children are located at different child care centers, the fee shall be 
collected by the center in which the child who is enrolled the longest period in the day is enrolled. 
 
For Fee for Service Program (Tuition Based), CSB shall use the monthly rate approved by the County 
Board of Supervisors. 
 
ii. Exclusions from Fee Assessment 

 The exclusions shall apply only to State-funded child care programs. 

 No fees shall be collected from families with an income level that, in relation to family size, is 
less than the first entry in the fee schedule. 

 Families receiving services because the child is at risk of abuse, neglect, or exploitation, may be 
exempt from paying fees for up to three months if the referral prepared by a legally qualified 
professional from a legal, medical, or social services agency, or emergency shelter specifies that 
it is necessary to exempt the family from paying a fee. The cumulative period of time that a 
family may be exempt from paying a fee for this reason shall not exceed 12 months. 

 Families receiving services because the child is receiving protective services may be exempt 
from paying fees for up to 12 months if the referral prepared by the county welfare department, 
child welfare services worker specifies that it is necessary to exempt the family from paying a 
fee. The cumulative period of time that a family may be exempt from paying a fee for this 
reason shall not exceed 12 months. 

 In accordance with the State’s Management Bulletin 09-18, all families that currently receive a 
CalWORKS grant on behalf of the children will not be assessed a fee. Former CalWORKS grant 
recipients are not included in this exemption. 

 
iii. Credit for Fees Paid to Other Service Providers 
This section shall apply only to State-funded child care programs. 

 When CSB cannot meet all of the family’s needs for child care for which eligibility and need have 
been established, CSB shall grant a fee credit equal to the amount paid to the other provider(s) 
of these childcare and development services.  CSB shall apply the fee credit to the family’s 
subsequent fee billing period.  The family shall not be allowed to carry over the fee credit 
beyond the family’s subsequent fee billing period. 

 CSB shall obtain copies of receipts or cancelled checks for the other child care and development 
services from the parent.  The copies of the receipts or cancelled checks and a complete and 
signed CSB Fees Rendered Form shall be maintained in the parent’s fee assessment records.  

 The copies of the receipts or cancelled checks and a complete and signed CSB Fees Rendered 
Form are due by the first day of the month. Fees due shall be considered delinquent if this 
documentation and any remaining fees owed are not collected within seven (7) calendar days. 

 Copies of the receipt or cancelled check shall include the following: name of the other service 
provider, amount of payment, date of receipt or payment, the period of child care services 
covered by the payment, name of the parent, and name of the child who received childcare 
from the other service provider.  

 
GG. Billing Procedures 
Child care fees are paid in advance.  One week before the end of each month, each Center shall submit 
to the Fiscal Unit a Billing Worksheet that contains following information:  

 Name of the parent or guardian 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  41 

 Name of the child enrolled 

 Funding category of the program where the child is enrolled in. 

 Total number of school days in the billing month 

 Daily rate determined by the Site Supervisor based on State’s fee schedule (for child 
development contracts) or county approved rate (for fee for service program) 

 Total amount assessed 

 Collections made in prior month 

 Comment section for effective date of the daily rate, last date the child will attend the day care, 
and other pertinent information that affects the calculation of monthly billing. 

 
No adjustments shall be made for excused or unexcused absences. The parent or guardian shall pay the 
total amount billed if the child is absent regardless of the reason during the billing month. 
 
Periodic review of billing information – Assistant Directors shall reconcile or perform independent 
review from the participant’s files to the billing report to ensure all parent fees are billed correctly. 
 
Fiscal staff shall input the information from the Billing Worksheet to QuickBooks in order to generate 
the Monthly Invoice and Statement for the following month.  The Invoice and Account Statement shall 
be sent to the Site Supervisor for distribution to fee paying parents by the first of the following month.  
 
Child care fees are due by the first of the month. They shall be considered delinquent if not paid within 
seven (7) calendar days. 
 
If account is delinquent at the close of business on the seventh calendar day, a Notice of Action shall be 
issued to inform the family of the following: 

 The total amount of unpaid fees 

 The fee rate 

 The period of delinquency 
That services shall be terminated fourteen (14) to nineteen (19) calendar days (depending on 
method of issuance) from the date of the Notice of Action unless all delinquent fees are paid 
and/or documentation of credit for fees paid to other service providers is collected before the 
end of the 14-19 day waiting period.  The 14 day period pertains to NOAs that are hand 
delivered to the parent; the 19 day period pertains to NOAs that are delivered to the parent via 
the US Postal Service. 
 

If the family is unable to pay their fee the program shall accept a reasonable plan from the parents 

for payment of delinquent fees. The plan must be developed before the end of the 14-19 day 

waiting period and shall not exceed 4 months to repay the full amount of delinquent fees.  The 

center shall continue to provide services to the child provided the parents make a minimum “good 

faith” payment of at least 10% of the total delinquent fees at the time the plan is developed, pay 

their full assessed monthly fees when due and comply with the provisions of the repayment plan. 

The Delinquent Child Care Fee Repayment Plan Form can be printed from MyCSD under 0600 

Enrollment of Electronic Forms.   

 Agency staff shall submit the repayment plan to their Assistant Director or Partner Agency 
Director for approval before finalizing the plan. Once approved, the originals of the termination 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  42 

NOA and repayment plan shall be filed in the family file and copies shall immediately be 
provided to CSB Fiscal and the center’s Assistant Director or Partner Agency Director. 

 Upon termination of services from non-payment of delinquent fees, staff shall make this 
indication in CLOUDS, and the family shall be ineligible for childcare services until all delinquent 
fees are paid.   
 

Center staff shall make reasonable attempts to collect unpaid fees from terminated families through 
letters and phone calls.  

 Attempts shall be documented and copies of letters shall be maintained in the family’s file 

 If unpaid fees are collected, staff shall send the collected fees, the pre-numbered receipt 
and a copy of the termination NOA to CSB Fiscal.  

 If unpaid fees have not successfully been collected after making several attempts to do so 
staff shall send to CSB Fiscal copies of the termination NOA and letters and case notes 
regarding attempts to collect.  

 All attempts to collect unpaid fees must be made within 45 days of termination. 

 Documentation of attempts and the termination NOA are due to CSB Fiscal not more than 
45 days after termination.  

 
HH. Fee Collection Procedures 

 Each center shall collect checks, money order or cashier check from the parents.  Cash is not 
acceptable mode of payment.  A designated center staff shall issue signed receipt to the parent 
for the amount collected.  At CSB centers this person must be a county employee, and may not 
be temporary staff. The designated staff shall be accountable for the money received and such 
money shall be stored in a locked cash box placed in a secured area of the center. 

 Center staff shall process all collected fees immediately. At least once weekly, or if fee 
collections exceed $50, the designated staff shall deposit the money to the County Wells Fargo 
Bank account.  Immediately following the deposit designated staff shall submit a copy of the 
receipt(s) issued to the parent(s), a copy of the Deposit Slip and Original Bank Receipt to the 
Fiscal Unit. 

 Fiscal staff shall check copies of Receipts to make sure that total amount agrees to Deposit Slip 
and Bank Receipt amounts. 

 Fiscal staff shall enter the payment information to QuickBooks in order to update parent 
accounts.  Receipts shall be stamped “Posted” and filed in numeric order by Center. 

 Fiscal staff shall code the collected family fees accordingly and input the data in the county’s 
Electronic Deposit Permit system. 

 Fiscal staff shall file the Deposit Slip, Bank Receipt and print out of Validated Deposit Permit in 
the Deposit binder. 

 
II. Receipts/Banking Procedures 
The S-Receipts issued to parents shall be in quadruplicate (4 copies). 

 Take the hard cardboard piece from inside the back cover of the book to use between the series 
of S-receipts. 

 Give the original S-receipt (yellow copy) to the parent and send the duplicate (white) copy of the 
S-receipt to the Fiscal Unit with the duplicate (pink) deposit slip and original (white) bank receipt 
(the transaction record). 

 The golden copy of the S-receipt shall be put in the parent’s file at the site. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  43 

 The pink copy of the S-receipt shall stay in the S-receipt book and the entire book shall be sent 
to the Fiscal Unit when a new S-receipt booklet is needed.  

 The original (yellow), white and golden copies shall be sent to the Fiscal Unit even if an error is 
made that resulted in the voiding of the S-receipt.  Write “VOID” across it.  The voided S-receipt 
must be signed and dated by the Site Supervisor.  The reason for the void must also be written 
on the S-receipt. 

 For credit for fees paid to other service providers, the center staff shall send to CSB Fiscal a copy 
of the receipt or cancelled check paid by the parent to the other child care service provider.  The 
Site Supervisor shall attach these receipts or cancelled checks to the signed Fees Rendered Form 
and submit to CSB Fiscal Unit.  The Fees Rendered Form can be printed from MyCSD under 0600 
Enrollment of Electronic Forms.  The form should be properly filled out and the credit amount 
should be equal to and no more than the amount paid to the other provider and shall not 
exceed the parent fees billed during the month.   

 
JJ. Confidentiality of Records 
The use or disclosure of all information pertaining to the child and his/her family will be restricted to 
purposes directly connected with the administration of the program. The Site Supervisor will permit the 
review of the basic data file by the child’s parent(s) or parent’s authorized representative, upon request 
and at a reasonable times and places.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  44 

 
 
 
II. Staffing Requirements 
A. Program Director 
Community Services Bureau operates at two (2) or more sites; therefore CSB will employ Program 
Directors that have administrative and programmatic responsibility for the program. The Program 
Directors will meet the California Department of Education requirements. 
The California Child Development Division (CDD) may waive the qualifications for program Director upon 
a finding of one of the following:  

 The applicant is making satisfactory progress toward securing a permit issued by the 
Commission on Teacher Credentialing authorizing supervision of a childcare and development 
program operating in two (2) or more sites or fulfilling the qualifications for program Directors in 
severely handicapped programs. 

 The place of employment is so remote from institutions offering the necessary course work as to 
make continuing education impracticable, and the contracting agency Director has made a 
diligent search but has been unable to hire a more qualified applicant. 

 Any other reason established by the rules of the Superintendent of Public Instruction. 
 
B. Site Supervisor 
At each site, there will be a person designated as the Site Supervisor who has operational program 
responsibility for the program. A Site Supervisor will meet the requirements establish by the California 
Title V Regulations and the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing. 
 
The CDD will grant a waiver of this requirement upon the program’s demonstration of the existence of 
compelling need. Factors the CDD will consider in determining compelling need are as follows: (1) 
evidence that the program’s recruitment efforts have been successful in obtaining qualified applicants; 
(2) evidence of the program’s inability to offer competitive salaries; and/or (3) evidence of potential or 
current staff’s lack of reasonable access to training resources which offer required course work.  
 
C. Teacher 
Master Teachers, Teachers and Associate Teachers will meet California Title V Regulations as listed on 
the California Teacher Credentialing Permit Matrix and the Early Head Start and Head Start degree 
requirements as specified by the Head Start Act of 2007.   
 
D. Applicability of Staffing Requirements 
CSB is not subject to regulations under CCR, Title V, and the laws upon which those regulations are 
enforced if subsidized children comprise less than a majority of the enrollment at a given center. If there 
are no facilities in the area to meet the special needs of particular children, then the CDD may, upon 
request, waive its regulations in the area for staffing and ratios for programs in which subsidized 
children comprise a majority of the enrollment. 
 
E. Staffing Ratios for Site Supervisors or Teachers 
CSB Site Supervisors shall maintain at least the following minimum ratios in all centers: 

 Infants (birth to 18 months old) – 1:3 Adult to Children; 1:18 Teacher to Children (with no more 
than eight infants in a group) 

 Toddlers (18 months to 36 months old) – 1:4 Adults to Children; 1:16 Teachers to Children (with 
no more than eight toddlers in a group) 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  45 

 Preschool (36 months to kindergarten enrollment) – 1:8 Adults to Children; 1:24 Teacher to 
Children 

Compliance with these ratios shall be determined based on actual attendance. 
 
Whenever groups of children of two age categories are co-mingled and the younger age group exceeds 
50% of the number of children present, the ratios for the entire group must meet the ratios required for 
the younger age group.  If the younger age group does not exceed 50% of the total number of the 
children present, the teacher-child and adult-child ratios shall be computed separately from each group. 
Except as otherwise provided in Title 22 California Code of Regulations, Community Care Licensing 
Standards, the program may exceed teacher-child and adult-child ratios by 15% for a period of time not 
to exceed 120 minutes in any one day. 
 
F. Comprehensive Services 
The program is supported at all times by the following personnel: 

 A health services content area expert who is trained and experienced in public health, nursing, 
health education, maternal and child health, or health administration. Additionally, when a 
health procedure must only be by a licensed / certified health professional, the agency will 
ensure that this requirement is met. 

 A nutrition services content area expert who is a registered dietician or nutritionist. 

 A mental health services content area expert who is a licensed or certified mental health 
professional with experience and expertise in serving young children and their families. 

 A parent, family and community engagement content expert who is trained and experienced in 
field(s) related to social, human, or family services and who is skilled in assisting parents of 
young children in advocating and decision making for their families. 

 A disabilities services content area expert who is trained and experienced in securing and 
individualizing needed services for children with disabilities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
III. Business Systems 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  46 

A. Overview 
The Business Systems Unit supports the operation of CSB programs by ensuring that CSB has: 

 Safe, secure facilities. 

 Technology and related services to effectively manage work. 

 Safe transportation for travel as necessary and available. 

 Grant writing leadership and support. 

 Ongoing monitoring, planning, and communication systems. 

 Equipment and supplies necessary to operate a quality program; and  

 Forums for sharing ideas and implementing continuous improvement. 
 
B. Facilities 
1. Physical Environment and Facilities  
Both the CSB and their designated contractors shall endeavor to operate offices and childcare centers 
that are free of exposure from toxins such as cigarette smoke, pesticides, herbicides, lead, and other air 
pollutants as well as contaminants from the soil and the water.   
 
Smoking is not permitted under any circumstances on the premises of the centers and is posted as such. 
Anyone found bringing in a lighted cigarette or cigar shall be directed to immediately leave the 
office/center until the item has been safely extinguished outside of the building. 
 
No center or office shall be sprayed with herbicides or pesticides when children or staff is present.  
Each center has a thermostat that must maintain a minimum of 68 degrees F. and a maximum of 85 
degrees F. 
 
All plumbing fixtures must be sanitary, safe and in working condition at all times, including hot and cold 
water availability (a minimum of 105 degrees F. and not to exceed 120 degrees F) and may not serve 
more than 15 children. 
 
i. Children’s Centers-Outdoor Environment 
The outdoor space must be safe and free from hazards at all times.  Each morning, before the children 
go outside, the Site Supervisor or designee must assess the entire outside area including the sandbox, 
climbing area, playground surfacing, fences and any other area in use by the children to ensure 
compliance with state and federal health and safety requirements.  This is done by using the “Outdoor 
Health and Safety Checklist”. 
 
If there are hazards on the playground, the Site Supervisor must: 

 Assess what needs to be done immediately to fix the hazard.  If he/she is unable to fix the 
situation immediately, he/she must make alternate space for the children until the situation is 
fixed. 

 Report the hazard to his/her immediate supervisor. 

 Complete a Facility Work Request after receiving approval from the Site Supervisor.   

 In centers with infants, toddlers and preschoolers, the age groups must be kept separated at all 
times. 

 
ii. Children’s Centers-Indoor Environment 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  47 

The indoor space must meet applicable state and federal regulations at all times.   Each morning, the 
opening staff member(s) must conduct an indoor health and safety check to ensure the facility is ready 
for children. 
 
iii. Infants Environment 
The indoor and outdoor spaces for infants must be separate from areas for children of differing ages. 
Inside it can be a separate room or separated by moveable walls or partitions that have correct square 
footage in each area. The moveable walls or partitions must be at least four feet high, made of sound 
absorbing material and designed to minimize injury to infants.  
 
The calculation of the indoor space does not include the space used by cribs. The sleeping area must be 
physically separate from the activity area. This can be accomplished by having a separate room or with 
the partitions described above. 
 
2. Building Security/Alarms and Maintenance 
i. Building Closure  
Procedures are established at each site based on the whether they have an Electronic Access System 
and/or Building Security Alarm.  Each site is responsible for developing and enforcing a building opening 
and closing procedure.  The Site Supervisor or senior staff member is responsible to see that all 
appropriate staff are informed and trained on the procedure to lock the building and arm the alarm (if 
applicable).  Information on how to contact the alarm company and who to contact for after hour 
emergencies is posted at the alarm panel. 
 
ii. Building Security Alarms  
Building security alarms are turned on by assigned staff when leaving the site at the end of the day and 
turned off at the beginning of the day.  If there are problems with arming or disarming the system, staff 
call the alarm monitoring company at the phone number shown at the arming station.  If assistance 
cannot be provided over the phone, an alarm technician will be sent to the site.  If error codes are 
present but the system is functioning, staff submits an electronic work order to Facilities stating the 
error code.    
 
The Security system performs a self test and displays a trouble code for any required maintenance on a 
daily basis.   An emergency contact list is provided to the alarm monitoring company of staff to contact 
in case of an alarm being triggered after hours. 
 
iii. Fire and carbon monoxide monitoring systems  
Fire and carbon monoxide monitoring systems are tested annually by the local fire authority and 
inspection reports are kept on site.  Any identified deficiencies must be repaired and pass re-inspection.   
Repair work orders are submitted electronically to Facilities by the Site Supervisor along with a copy of 
the Fire Inspection Report on the day of the inspection. 
 
Trouble codes are sent from the alarm system to the monitoring company which alerts the fire 
department.  When an alarm sounds staff evacuates the building to the designated evacuation area and 
wait for emergency personnel.   
 
iv. Exterior door alarms  



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  48 

Exterior door alarms are located at the top of the door and are to remain active in the “On” position at 
all times.  Alarms can be over-ridden by use of a key to turn the alarm to the “Off” position to open the 
door for transition to and from a classroom.   
 
The Site Supervisor will submit a work order to Facilities the same day as problems occur, for example 
the alarm not sounding when the door is opened without turning the key to the “Off” position.   The 
exterior doors alarms are battery operated and beep when a battery becomes weak.   Facilities Building 
Services Workers will replace batteries within 24-hours of receiving a work order request notifying them 
of a low battery alert.   
 
The Safety Officer performs a test of exterior door alarms as part of the monthly health and safety 
checklist and all problems are reported to Facilities immediately through submission of an electronic 
work order request.    
 
v. Alarmed Push Bars on Half-doors  
Alarmed push bars on half-doors are located in building entrances and must be armed at all times.  The 
Safety Officer tests all half-doors in the facility as part of the monthly health and safety checklist and all 
problems are reported to Facilities immediately through submission of an electronic work order request.   
The Site Supervisor will submit a work order the same day as problems occur, for example by the alarm 
not sounding when a door is opened when pressing on the bar, or if the alarm does not reset after the 
door is closed.   A half door that is armed will show a red light on the alarm panel.  No light or a green 
light indicates the alarm is not set.  To activate the alarm: the key is turned to the off/green light 
position, staff waits 30 seconds, and then turns to the on/red light position. Keys to the doors are to be 
kept out of the reach of children at all times and in a discrete location from visitors.  Staff is to 
demonstrate proficiency in arming the system.  Facilities staff will review and provide training on arming 
the doors upon request.    
 
Centers with alarmed push bars on playground gates are to include the testing of the gates in the 
monthly Health and Safety checklist.   Playground gates do not have alarm panels with lights and are 
armed at all times. 
 
vi. Electronic Access Card Systems  
Electronic access card systems on exterior entry doors maintain the security of the facilities by limiting 
access.  Staff is issued electronic access cards to sites that work like electronic keys.  Exterior doors 
remain locked from the outside while allowing staff access with their electronic card.  The cards are also 
printed with staff names and photos to be used as identification cards.  If an electronic access card is 
lost or stolen it will be promptly deactivated to maintain the security of the facility.  Repairs to access 
card systems are rarely needed and are made when issues are reported by the Site Supervisor to the 
Facilities unit through an electronic work order request.    
 
vii. Keys 
Keys for entry to Community Services Bureau buildings will be furnished by Business Systems per 
request of Site Supervisor or employee’s supervisor. 
 
At time of issuance of keys, the employee will be requested to sign in copy of the Portable Media/Access 
Policy and key sign out sheet. 
 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  49 

Upon receiving access to any of the site keys, the staff member is responsible for safe keeping the key 
and its use as well as to ensure that all building doors are secured prior to leaving the building. Keys are 
not to be loaned or made available to others and any lost or stolen keys should be reported to Business 
Systems immediately. 
 
For more information, refer to Portable Media/Access Device Policy. 
 
viii. AiPhone (Video/intercom) Systems  
AiPhone systems are used at some sites to allow staff to easily allow access to families while keeping the 
facility secure.  Visitors to a center press the buzzer outside the entrance and are greeted over the 
intercom.   When they are visually identified the door is unlocked.   
 
ix. Video Surveillance Systems  
Video surveillance systems operate 24 hours a day 7 days a week.   The Site Supervisor monitors the 
surveillance cameras daily and confirms cameras are directed to show a clear unobstructed view of the 
classrooms, entrances, and playgrounds.  Any obstructions to the view or misdirected cameras are 
reported to Facilities through an electronic work order request by the site supervisor the same day as 
they occur.   The Facilities staff will check the video feed from their location and report the problem 
immediately to General Services. The facilities unit will work with General Services to make any 
necessary repairs within 24 hours of the reported problem.  
 
Requests for video footage are made to Facilities by the Site Supervisor or senior management staff 
through an electronic work order request.   Requests must be made as soon as possible as the system 
retains footage for only a few days to a week.  
 
3. Acquiring Space 
The Policy Council must be consulted on the location of space acquired for the program’s use.  Space 
acquired must meet all applicable local ordinances for both classroom and office use.  Additionally, all 
space acquired for classroom use must meet all state and federal regulations.  Negotiation of leases is 
delegated to Contra Costa County Lease Management, and lease costs must be within budgeted 
amounts designated for such expenditures.  Lease Management prepares/finalizes all leases for the 
Assistant Director’s signature.  Also, the Business Systems Manager or Division Manager must 
approve/sign all leases negotiated for CSB. 
 
4.  Use of County Facilities 
The use of county facilities is covered by the following regulations: 

 Use of County building space by private organizations is regulated by inter-agency agreement. 

 Departmental officials may make arrangements for posting official announcements on County 
bulletin boards through the General Services Department.  Use of County bulletin boards by for 
private organizations for advertising, except as provided by ordinance for employee 
organizations, is prohibited. 

 CSB program managers are responsible for County facilities and property used by employees 
under their jurisdiction.  While controlling and administering use of space/facilities, managers 
must see that employees do not introduce material which others would find objectionable / 
offensive for reasons such as different social, political, religious, or moral beliefs. 

 Solicitation of contributions and sale of merchandise within County buildings except for 
purposes authorized by the Board of Supervisors is prohibited. 

 Restrooms and lounge facilities are provided for employee use. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  50 

 CSB classrooms and offices are not to be used as lunch or coffee rooms. 

 All facilities serving children must meet applicable state and federal regulations pertaining to 
health, safety, and developmentally appropriate practice. 

 
5.  Document Posting 
Before classes begin each program year, the Site Supervisor obtains and assures the proper posting or 
filing of the following documents at each facility and/or classroom: 

 Evacuation Plan 

 Fire / Earthquake Drill Schedule 

 Emergency Guidelines for Illness and Accident First Aid Manual 

 Emergency phone numbers for fire, police, paramedics, nearest emergency hospital, poison 
control center, physician, and administrative office 

 Parents’ Rights Form 

 Children’s Rights Form 

 No Smoking signs 

 Employee Safety Policy Statement 

 Current license 

 Any other document mandated by the state or federal government. 

 Note: Children’s contact numbers are never to be posted. 
 
6.  Safety Officer 
For each building which houses CSB personnel, a safety officer has been designated.  General 
responsibilities of safety officers are to: 

 Complete monthly health and safety checklist. 

 Instruct co-workers in emergency procedures. 

 Assume control during an emergency. 

 Keep track of persons assigned to each building. 

 Know the conditions under which a building should be evacuated. 

 Know what procedures/equipment is available for the evacuation of handicapped persons. 

 Know the location of all primary and alternate building exits and know direct routes to each exit. 

 After evacuating a building, search to make certain all individuals have left. 

 When emergency responders arrive, report to them any injured person requiring special 
attention. 

 Call roll at the evacuation assembly area and report missing persons to emergency responders. 

 Know the location of all fire alarms and fire extinguishers. 

 Know how to operate fire extinguishers. 

 Know the location of all first aid and emergency kits. 

 Know first aid and CPR.   
 
C. Use of Technology 
CSB utilizes a variety of technology throughout the bureau and is supported by the Contra Costa County 
Department of Information Technology.  
 
1. Business Systems Re-engineering Committee (BARC) 
BARC is comprised of a cross-section of staff with the following charter: to create business systems that 
maximize automation and efficiency by using streamlined processes that eliminate duplication, 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  51 

maximize output, and lend themselves to order resulting in easily and readily accessible information 
that drives quality programming. 
 
2. Child Location Observation Utilization Data System (CLOUDS) 
CSB uses CLOUDS as its management information system. Staff are required to keep the system up-to-
date in accordance with their respective roles in the organization. These roles are detailed in these 
policies and procedures in each service area. In addition, teachers are responsible for ensuring that 
parents sign their child in and out electronically. Manual systems are in place for back-up purposes. 
 
i. User Support 
CLOUDS user manuals are posed on the CSB intranet and in the Shared Drive (S:\CLOUDS) that detail 
how to use the system. In addition, training is provided in an ongoing fashion via user groups. New staff 
are assigned a mentor user to orient them to the system.  
 
ii. Ongoing System Enhancements 
All system enhancements must be requested via the content area expert for the respective portion of 
the system. Content area experts formally request the enhancement to be placed in the project queue 
via the CSB Resource Center on the CSB intranet. Enhancement requests must include attachments with 
screen shots and indicate the level of priority with a justification for the priority level. The Business 
Systems Manager will evaluate all requests and notify requestor of final decision regarding placement in 
the project queue. As enhancements are developed, content area experts are required to test them and 
then to inform staff regarding proper usage of enhancement. User manuals will be updated with 
finalized enhancements by the vendor. 
 
D. Equipment and Supplies 
1. Procedures for Ordering Materials - Employees and Supervisors 
i. General Description 
An employee or supervisor has alternatives for obtaining non-emergency material or services.  These 
are: 

 Office Supplies - Approved ordering staff at each location prepare an on-line order form.  CSB 
has an approved shopping list of discounted items that should be utilized whenever possible.  
Items can be added from the general catalog if they are not on the approved list.  The 
completed order is sent electronically to the Assistant Director for approval and submission to 
the office supply company.  Ordering staff can track their order progress on-line. 

 Classroom Supplies – Requests for classroom supplies are sent from the Site Supervisor to their 
Assistant Director for approval.  The designated Assistant Director orders classroom supplies for 
all sites. 

 Health / Janitorial Supplies – All health and janitorial supplies may be ordered on an on-line 
Supply Order Form.  Supply orders should be completed on a monthly basis by the Site 
Supervisor and are approved by the Assistant Director.  The order is then sent electronically to 
the Purchasing Unit for processing. 

 Open Purchase Order - The County has established a number of Open Purchase Orders (POs) 
with vendors in the area authorizing certain persons to pick up material and charge it to the CSB 
account. 
 

If you wish to order materials from these vendors, submit a purchase requisition to your supervisor for 
approval of the Assistant Director.  If approved, it will be forwarded to a person authorized to purchase 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  52 

material under the Open PO by credit card or other arrangement.  If an order is over $5,000 it must be 
signed by the Division Manager. 
 
After the purchase is made, the requisition and the vendor’s receipt will be forwarded to the CSB 
Accounts Payable Unit.  When the bill is received, the Accounts Payable Clerk will match it to the 
approved requisition and receipt prior to payment.  CSB has established Open Purchase Orders with 
many vendors.  A current list can be obtained from Fiscal.   If you are making a large number of 
purchases from a vendor that does not have an Open PO you may request that one be established by 
contacting the purchasing clerk. 
 
CSB Requisition - If there is no Open PO available for the material required, you must submit an 
approved CSB purchase requisition to your division’s purchasing clerk.  After a purchase is made, the 
requisition and packing receipt must be forwarded as soon as possible to CSB Accounts Payable Unit.  
When the bill is received the Accounts Payable Clerk will match it to the approved requisition and 
receipt for payment. 
 
ii. Purchasing Procedures - Purchasing Clerks 
Purchasing clerks are located in the CSB Administrative Office and are responsible for processing all 
department requisitions.  Once the purchasing clerk receives a CSB requisition he/she has several 
options of procurement methods depending on the situation.  Below is a description of the methods 
available to the purchasing clerk. 

 Warrant Request - CSB can normally use a Warrant Request to purchase items with a total cost 
under $500.  This form needs to be signed by the requester and an authorized manager.  This 
procedure is faster than a purchase order as it does not need to be processed by County 
Purchasing.   

 CSB cannot use a Warrant Request to purchase any item that can be purchased using an open 
purchase agreement.  In addition, the following items cannot be purchased using a warrant 
request:  

o Furniture 
o Printing Services 
o Appliances 
o Professional Services  
o Cellular Telephones 
o Building Related Charges 

 County Requisition (Form REQ) - For vendors not having an Open PO, or not qualifying for a 
Warrant Request, items are purchased using an approved Purchase Order.   The purchasing clerk 
completes a County Requisition form based on the submitted requisition form and forwards it to 
the General Services Purchasing Division for preparation of a Purchase Order.   

 
There is no dollar limit for a Purchase Order however it can be an extensive process as it may have to go 
through the County’s procurement process and involve soliciting competitive bids and awarding of the 
contract to the lowest qualified bidder depending on the dollar amount of the proposed contract. 
It should be noted that, when time is critical, CSB might ask the Purchasing Division for a PO number.  If 
they agree, CSB is allowed to make the purchase without the normal process. 

 Equipment Definition / purchase of equipment must adhere to both Grantee policies and 
guidelines outline in the Contra Costa County Head Start Administrative Manual.  (For local 
purposes, “equipment” is defined as any purchase costing $5,000 or more.)  Any 
equipment/equipment purchase not identified in the annual grant (or subsequent applications) 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  53 

must receive Policy Council, Regional, and Executive Director’s approval.  Such requests must be 
made prior to the end of the Head Start fiscal year (by December 31st of each year).  Equipment 
funded in part or wholly through CA Department of Education must have prior approval on any 
single item of $5,000. 

 Supplies 
Supplies purchased for CSB programs must be deemed necessary and appropriate by the Bureau 
Director.  (The process for expenditures of funds for supplies is outlined in the procurement 
procedure on file in the fiscal office.  It must be followed.)  All expenditures of funds must be 
approved by the Program Director. 

 
2.  CSB Equipment, Toys, Materials, and Furniture 
i. General Description 
CSB sites must provide clean sheets and blankets for children’s use at naptime to be washed each week 
or as needed.  If there are not sufficient sheets and blankets, the Site Supervisor must notify the 
Assistant Director immediately. 
 
All play structures and equipment used by the children must meet the following requirements: 

 Age and developmentally appropriate. 

 Maintained in good condition. 

 In sufficient quantity to allow full participation. 

 Free of health and safety hazards. 

 Free of toxic substances. 

 If any material in the environment does not meet the above standards, it must be removed 
immediately or deemed off limits to the children until it can be safely removed. 

 
ii. Infant Furniture 
The infant equipment and furniture, inside and outside, must be developmentally appropriate and 
include cribs, cots or mats, changing tables and other necessary equipment.  The type, height, and size 
of all furniture and equipment must be age appropriate. There must be a variety of age appropriate 
washable toys and equipment. 
 
CSB does not use swings, playpens, walkers or high chairs. Walkers may not be kept on the premises.  
Equipment that is assembled when purchased must not be modified, and if assembly is needed, it must 
be assembled according to the manufacturer’s instructions.  
 
Supplies containing toxic materials or substances shall not be purchased and used on the centers. 
All equipment and furniture must be maintained in good repair and safe condition and disinfected after 
each use. Equipment must be safe and must not have sharp points or edges or splinters, or be made of 
small parts that can be swallowed.  
 
Toilets and hand washing sinks must be in close proximity to the activity areas. 
 
Infant changing tables must: 

 Have a padded surface no less than one-inch thick and be covered with washable vinyl or plastic 

 Have raised sides at least three inches high 

 Be maintained in good repair and safe condition 

 While in use, be placed within arm’s reach of a sink 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  54 

 Not be located in the kitchen/food-preparation area 
Toy storage containers must meet the following requirements: 

 Lids and the hardware used to hinge lids on boxes or chests must be removed 

 All edges and corners must be rounded and padded 

 The container must be well ventilated 

 The container must be lockable 

 The container must be maintained in good repair and safe condition 

 Metal and wood boxes must not have sharp or splintery surfaces 
 
Pacifiers must have a shield or guard large enough that the child cannot choke. Rattles must be large 
enough that they cannot become lodged in the infant’s throat and constructed so that they will not 
separate into small pieces. 
 
It is recommended that all infant sites comply with the US Consumer Product Safety Commission advice 
for the selection and safe use of children’s toys. Avoid toys with small parts.  Look for the age 
recommendation on labels.  Toys should be suited to the skills, abilities and interests of children. 
 
iii. Infant Napping Equipment 
Each crib, mat or cot must be occupied by no more than one infant at a time.  
 
For each infant who is unable to climb out of a crib, a standard size crib meeting the following 
requirements is provided:  

 Slats must be no more than 2 and 3/8 inches apart. 

 Tiered cribs are not allowed. 

 Cribs must not limit the ability of the staff to see the infant. 

 Cribs must not limit the infant’s ability to stand upright. 

 The mattress must be at its lowest position . 

 Cribs will have stationary sides. 
Crib mattresses must be: 

 Covered with vinyl or similar moisture resistant material. 

 Wiped with disinfectant daily when soiled or wet. 

 Maintained in a safe condition with no exposed foam, batting or coils. 

 Bumper pads must not be used at CSB facilities. 
 

Each infant must have his/her own bedding used solely for him/her. It must be replaced when wet or 
soiled or when it is to be occupied by another infant.  
 
Bedding must be changed daily or more often if required, and placed in a container that is inaccessible 
to children. 
 
Floor mats or cots must be provided for all infants who have the ability to climb out of a crib.  
 
Cribs, mats or cots must be arranged so that the staff can reach each infant without having to step over 
or reach over any other infant. Placement must not hinder going in and out of the nap area. 
 
3. Use of County Communication Services 
i. General Description 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  55 

Communication services are provided for the use of County employees for work-related 
communications.  For example: 

 The telephone system is provided for the use of Contra Costa County employees in the conduct 
of their assigned duties.  (See EHSD & CSB Internet/Email/IT Standard Usage Policies) 

 Contra Costa County provides a message service (to forward written material and small 
packages among various County facilities on a regular route and time schedule).  Each work site 
served posts the time of pickup and delivery; this service is to be used where available.  
(Supervisors have further information regarding this program.) 

 The Contra Costa County General Services Department provides a centralized United States 
Postal Service operation.  All mail must be processed through this Center- except for emergency 
situations.  Materials to be mailed may be submitted through Messenger Service. 

• The department pays for all postage charges, but receives reduced costs for bulk and ZIP code 
mailings.  Contra Costa County’s Postal Service is provided for office use of County staff.  It is not 
to be used for personal benefit of employees or the public.  (Supervisors may be contacted for 
rules and Regulations regarding United States Postal Services.) 

 Fax machines are available for Contra Costa County use.  Telephone numbers for fax machines 
are listed in the Inter-Office Telephone Directory.  CSB implemented the use of E-fax, faxes 
received and sent by email, and paperless faxing through copiers to switch to paperless faxing. 

 
ii. Portable Communication Devices 
Smart phones, tablets, laptops and wireless modems (collectively referred to as portable communication 
devices) are utilized by CSB to allow management personnel to stay in communication when away from 
their primary office, when traveling on business, and in emergency situations.  Portable communication 
devices are county property and are covered under the same requirements as other county property.  
This includes: 

 Employees are responsible for the security of communication devices and are to report lost, 
damaged or malfunctioning devices to their supervisor as soon as possible after discovery. 

 Employees are responsible to ensure the confidentiality and security of information contained 
on or obtained through communication devices. 

 All communication on the device is considered county business and as such is not considered 
personal or private. 

 Voice messages, text messages, e-mails, photos and other methods of communication or 
storage of information can be reviewed at any time by appropriate county personnel.  This 
includes call, data and text logs. 

 Communication devices are to be used for county business only.  Inappropriate use of county 
property, including the personal use of communication devices that cause excess use charges to 
be incurred whether reimbursed or not, can result in loss of privileges to use county property. 

 Communication devices are to be used only by the county employee they are assigned to.  If 
devices are to be used by more than one authorized employee they will be assigned to specified 
employees for a defined time period before reassignment to other employees. (Sites make 
assignments on the Equipment Check-out Log). 

 Use of a device for texting while driving, whether in a county vehicle or personal vehicle on 
county business, is prohibited by state law.  Phone calls made or received while driving are 
strongly discouraged, but are allowed only if possible with the safe use of hands-free devices. 

 CSB is required to submit reports on the use of the devices to DoIT and the CAO.  The reports 
will contain information specific to each device, including any use of a device that caused 
additional charges to be incurred, and confirmation of reimbursement of those charges. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  56 

 As with all county property, each communication device (including accessories) is to be returned 
upon change of position or separation of employment. 
 

E. Vehicle Usage Policy 
1. General Procedures 
CSB maintains vehicles for use by authorized personnel in order to conduct official County business.  
Policies on the use and operation of vehicles on County business also apply to driving personal vehicles 
while on County business.  Vehicles are reserved through designated clerical staff or vehicle reservation 
calendars.  In an effort to ensure that CSB vehicles are kept in top condition, the following procedures 
must be followed. 

 County vehicles can only be used by authorized employees. 

 Authorized drivers must have a valid California Drivers license. 

 Authorized drivers are to immediately notify their supervisor of any change in the status of their 
California Drivers license. 

 County vehicles are to be used only for authorized county business. 

 Drivers are responsible for safe driving, including parking in a well-lit area, and locking the 
vehicle at all times. 

 Drivers are to be courteous and practice defensive driving and fuel conserving practices. 

 Authorized drivers are to observe all traffic rules and regulations. 

 Car pooling in county vehicles is strongly encouraged when multiple employees are attending 
the same business function. 

 Employees are prohibited from carrying unauthorized riders while on county business. 

 Moving, parking and toll violations are the personal responsibility of the driver. 

 No smoking is allowed in county vehicles. 

 While the vehicle is in operation no eating or drinking is allowed. 

 Cell phones and other hand held devises are not to be used while operating a vehicle. 

 All persons driving or riding in a vehicle are to be properly secured with the use of seat belts or 
other approved restraint systems. 

 Vehicles are to be returned free of trash or other debris. 

 Car seats and other cargo should be secured in the cargo area of the vehicle so that they will not 
become projectiles in case of a sudden stop or accident. 

 Drivers are to wear appropriate footwear, no backless or loose sandals. 

 Vehicles are to be returned with a minimum of a half tank of fuel. 

 County vehicles are to be fueled regularly at the County Fleet station or other approved 
facilities.   

 The County credit card is to be used exclusively for purchasing gasoline at authorized fueling 
centers. (See list of centers and addresses in the vehicle binder fuel tab.)  

 If the credit card is lost it must be reported immediately to avoid fraudulent use.   

 County vehicles will be serviced at the Waterbird Fleet station except in after-hour emergencies. 

 CSB does not use Fleet loaner vehicles. Contact the Facilities clerk for possible temporary use of 
another CSB vehicle if necessary. 

 County vehicles are not to be taken to a personal residence without Sr. Management approval. 

 Vehicle binders and keys are to be returned punctually after vehicle use.   
 

It is CSB policy to use a county vehicle when one is available in lieu of using a personal vehicle.  If a 
county vehicle is available it must be utilized unless a supervisor determines that the use of a personal 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  57 

vehicle is justified.  Justification for the use of a personal vehicle is documented by the supervisor’s 
signature on the request for reimbursement of travel expenses.   
 
2. Accident and Maintenance/Repair Reporting 
Drivers are to report any accident or service need the same day as occurred.  All accidents MUST be 
reported and the proper paperwork completed and submitted to Risk Management within 24 hours of 
the accident.  Any unusual sound, odor, low fuel, maintenance light or other indication that the vehicle 
is malfunctioning or may need service is to be reported to the clerk when returning the vehicle binder. 
 
3. Child Passenger Safety Procedures  
A child will be transported in county vehicles only if the child is fastened in an approved 
developmentally appropriate safety seat, seat belt, or harness appropriate to the child’s weight, and the 
restraint is installed and used in accordance with the manufacturers’ instructions for the car seat and 
the motor vehicle.  Each child must have an individual seat belt and be positioned in the vehicle in 
accordance with the requirements for the safe use of air bags. 
 
Age and size appropriate vehicle child restraint systems shall be used for children 8 years, 80 pounds.  
Vehicle restraint systems should be secured in the back seats only.  Infants shall ride facing the back of 
the car until they have reached one year of age or weigh over 20 pounds.  A booster child safety seat 
shall be used when the child has outgrown the convertible child safety seat. A vehicle seat belt can only 
be used when the child is over 8 years, 80 pounds. The seat belt only fits properly when the lap belt lies 
low and tight across the child’s hips (not the abdomen) and the shoulder belt lies flat across the 
shoulder, away from the neck and face. Never tuck the shoulder belt under the child’s arm or behind the 
child’s back.  The child’s knees should bend easily over the edge of the vehicle seat. 
Staff transporting children must be aware of the following: 

 The rear of vehicle is the only place for a child to ride. 

 Staff should use the diagram of seating plan when placing children in vehicle.  

 Lap-belt only positions can only use the 5-point harness car seats.   

 Shoulder and lap belt position close to sliding door should be last position to seat child. 

 The car seat and seat belts should be checked before each use to make sure they are in correctly 
and that the belt straps are not twisted. 

 Empty car or booster seats should be strapped in with the seat belt system or stowed in the 
cargo area away from passengers. 

 No loose items should be on floor. 
The following are child passenger safety basics for each type of car seat: 

 Rear-Facing 
o Must ride rear facing until at-least 1 year AND at-least 20 pounds 
o Do not bundle or swaddle; no heavy clothing 
o Harnesses at or BELOW shoulder level 
o Harnesses snug and flat across infant 
o Retainer clip at armpit level 
o  
o Seat secured tightly to vehicle with less than 1 inch of movement side-to-side and 

forward 

 Forward-Facing 
o Toddlers over 1 year and 20 pounds but generally weighing less than 40 pounds ride 

either in convertible or forward facing seat in the forward facing position 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  58 

o No heavy clothing 
o Harnesses ABOVE shoulder level AND in reinforced slots 
o Harnesses snug and flat across infant 
o Retainer clip at armpit level 
o Generally ride fully upright 
o Seat secured tightly to vehicle with less than 1” of movement side-to-side and forward 
o Top tether in use when available and appropriate 

 Belt Positioning Boosters 
o For children who have outgrown the car seat but do not yet fit the adult lap/shoulder 

belt 
o Lap belt crosses pelvis or top of thighs 
o Shoulder belt crosses chest 
o Middle of child’s head is below the top of the vehicle seat or booster 

 
F. Transportation 
While CSB does not provide direct transportation services to and from the centers each day, the Site 
Supervisor or Comprehensive Services team member must assess the needs of each family upon 
enrollment and attempt to make reasonable effort to assist if the family is in need of transportation 
services to the center. 
Transportation services are offered for the following: 

 To / from socialization activities 

 To / from Policy Council Meetings 

 To / from field trip locations 
 
 
 
                                                                         
            

 

 

• Lap Belts – use only 5-point 
Harness Seats.  No Boosters 
 

• Shoulder Lap with Star (*) is 
the last Shoulder Harness to 
fill 
 

• No loose items in the vehicle 
 

• Unused car or booster seats 
are strapped in or removed 
from the passenter area of 
the vehicle. 

. 



2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 4: Program Design 

  59 

 
 
 
 



CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT COMMUNITY 
SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

SECTION 5-ALTERNATIVE PAYMENT PROGRAM 
 

 

2013-2014 

 
 
 
  

Policy Council Approved:                                                                                                        
Board of Supervisors Approved:  



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

2 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

 
  

PART I PROGRAM OVERVIEW  

A How to Qualify for Services 3 

B Share of Costs 7 

C Selection Process 7 

D Enrollment Process 8 

E Maintaining Enrollment 9 

F Alternative Payment Program Policies and Procedures 9 

   

PART II ALTERNATIVE PAYMENT PROGRAM PARENT POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

 

A Attendance Policies 10 

B Limited Term Service Leave (LTSL) 11 

C Confidentiality 11 

D Grievance Procedures 12 

E Uniform Complaint Policy 12 

F Zero Tolerance 12 

G Termination Policies 13 

   

PART III PROVIDER PARTICIPATION  

A General Requirements- Parental Choice 14 

B Provider Rate Sheet 15 

C  Attendance Sheet Policies 15 

D Child Care Agreement 16 

E Reimbursement 17 

F Provider Days of Non-Operation 17 

G School Age Children 17 

H Parents Rights to Change Providers/Providers Right to Terminate 
Services 

17 

   

PART IV STAFF ROLES AND RESPOSIBILITIES  

A Stage II/CAPP Unit Clerks 19 

B Stage II/CAPP Unit Child Care Assistant Managers (CCCAM) 19 

C Stage II/CAPP Unit Manager – (CSM) 20 

D Stage II/CAPP Fiscal Support (Accountant III) 20 

E Stage II/CAPP Program Manager (ASA III) 21 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

3 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

I. Program Overview 
The purpose of this program is to provide subsidized child care for eligible children and families living in 
Contra Costa County and to provide a wide range of child care choices for parents.  The CalWORKS Stage 
II Child Care program is limited to those parents who are in receipt of or have received CalWORKS cash 
assistance within the last twenty four (24) months. Our California Alternative Payment Program (CAPP) 
assists families referred by Children and Family Services and low-income families. Both of these 
programs support families in their child care decisions and make timely payments to their chosen child 
care providers.  
 
Children can be served from birth up to age 13, or up to age 21 if special needs are proven with 
appropriate documentation.  
 
The CSB Stage II/CAPP program administers subsidized child care through a vendor approach, providing 
full or partial payments for child care of eligible families. These programs are designed to maximize 
parental choice in selecting child care. Parents may select child care services from licensed centers and 
preschools, licensed family child care homes, licensed-exempt out of home providers, or licensed-
exempt in-home providers. Subsidized child care does NOT pay for private schooling. 
 
CSB operates in accordance with all applicable state and federal laws governing human service agencies. 
These policies may change periodically as directed by the California Department of Education (CDE). 
Addendums will be issued to parents and providers as regulations change. 
 
A. How to Qualify for Services 
1. General Description 
There are various ways that families can qualify for our programs.  The two distinctly funded programs 
administered are Stage II and CAPP. 

 Stage II – Parents in receipt of CalWORKS assistance payments and former CalWORKS parents 
(those having received CalWORKS within twenty four (24) months from the date of application 
for child care supportive services) may be eligible for subsidized child care services. There are 
various stages of funding in this program and each has its own priorities and limitations. It will 
be the responsibility of the Child Care Assistant Manager to work with the parent to determine 
the appropriate stage for child care services. 

 CAPP (California Alternative Payment Program) – Families may be eligible for CAPP funding 
based on need and eligibility criteria (such as low income working families), with 1st priority for 
those children currently receiving child protective services, or those children who are 
considered at risk of abuse, neglect or exploitation by a legally qualified professional. 

 
2. Application 
Applications for the Stage II/CAPP Child Care Unit require the completed application forms found in the 
Child Care Application packet.  Parents must provide all requested information and documentation to 
determine initial eligibility. 
 
 
 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

4 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

3. Eligibility and Need 
i. Eligibility is determined at the time of enrollment, or within six (6) months of the date of transfer from 
CalWORKS Stage I to Stage II.   Families are required to provide their Child Care Assistant Manager the 
appropriate documentation to prove their eligibility for child care for at least one of the following 
criteria: 

 Gross wages/salaries from employment 

 Tips 

 Overtime pay 

 Cash assistance (TANF/Cash Aid) 

 Student loans 

 Disability compensation 

 Unemployment compensation 

 Spousal and/or child support received  

 Foster/Guardianship assistance 
 
Parents will be required to provide supporting documentation for all total countable income. For 
example: 

 Payroll check stubs 

 Letter from employer 

 Most recent tax returns 

 Bank statements 

 Cash aid documents 
 
ii. The family is homeless and provides a written referral from a local shelter, or legally qualified 
professional from a medical or social service agency, or submits a written parental declaration that the 
family is homeless and a statement describing the family’s current living situation. 
 
iii. Child is referred by Child Protective Services (CPS) with a written referral by the county welfare 
department indicating the child is currently receiving CPS services and child care is a necessary piece of 
the service plan. The referral must include the contact information for the social worker and the 
duration of the CPS service plan. These referrals must be dated within 6 months of receiving the child 
care application.  
 
iv. Child is deemed At-Risk of abuse/neglect and provides a written statement by a legally qualified 
professional indicating child care is needed to reduce the risk. The statement must include the 
professionals contact information and probable duration of the situation.  
 
v. Family is transferred from Stage I to Stage II by the county welfare department. Parent will be asked 
to provide documents for recertification within 6 months of the transfer effective date. 
 
4. Family Size - Upon completion of your initial application for services, you will need to provide 
supporting documentation for all children and adults listed in the family. The family members may be 
documented by the following: 

 Birth certificates 

 Court ordered child custody agreements 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

5 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

 Adoption records 

 Foster care placement records 

 School or medical records 

 County welfare department records 

 Any other document proving relationship between the parent and the child 

 In the absence of a second parent, documentation must be provided to support the absence. 
This documentation may be any one of the following: 

o Records of marriage, divorce, separation 
o Court ordered child custody documents 
o Evidence of child support 
o Rental agreements 
o Any other documentation to verify the presence or absence of the 2nd parent 
o The Child Care Assistant Manager may require further documentation at any time to 

prove the absence of the 2nd parent.  
o Only in the instance when the absence of a parent is a recent departure from the family, 

may the remaining applicant submit a self-declaration under penalty of perjury 
explaining the absence. The remaining applicant has from six (6) months of applying, or 
reporting the change in family size, to provide one of the previously listed documents to 
support the absence of the 2nd parent. 

 
5. Service Need - Families who are income eligible to receive subsidized child care must also have, at 
minimum, one of the following services needs to become enrolled or continue with current service. All 
parents/guardians listed in the family size must have a service need. (Hours of care provided to the 
family will be determined by the family’s need for services.) 
 
i. Child Protective Services (CPS) – Families may be eligible for child care services if the child is referred 
by CPS and parent provides a written referral by the county welfare department indicating the child is 
currently receiving CPS services and child care is a necessary piece of the service plan. The referral must 
include the contact information for the social worker and the duration of the CPS service plan. These 
referrals must be dated within 6 months of receiving the child care application. 
 
ii. At-Risk – Families may be eligible for child care services if the child is deemed at-risk of abuse/neglect 
and parent provides a written statement by a legally qualified professional indicating child care is 
needed to reduce the risk. The statement must include the professionals contact information and 
probable duration of the situation. 
 
iii. Parental Incapacity – Families may be eligible for child care services if the parent(s) are physically or 
mentally unable to provide care for their children. To qualify for child care services under this need, the 
parent would have to submit documentation from legally qualified health professional releasing 
information to verify the parent meets the definition of incapacity, as defined in the California Title 5 
Regulations. The documentation must include the extent of which the parent is unable to provide care, 
the days and hours care is recommended and the health professionals contact information. 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

6 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

iv. Employment – Families may receive child care services during the time they are working and traveling 
to and from work. To qualify for child care services under this need parents would need to submit the 
following documentation: 

 An employment verification form – signed by the parents employer stating the days and hours 
worked by the parent 

 One month’s worth of current and consecutive pay stubs 

 If parent is paid in cash by their employer, parent will provide a letter from the employer 
verifying the following: 

o Employers contact information, including the employer tax identification number 
o Date of hire 
o Days and hours of employment 
o Pay rate or gross monthly income 
o Other potential income (i.e. tips, overtime) 
o Statement declaring employee is paid in cash only 

 

 If the parent is self-employed, the parent will provide the following: 
o A declaration under penalty of perjury that includes a description of the nature of their 

employment and an estimated number of days and hours worked per week 
o Copies of appointment logs, client receipts and/or mileage logs 
o Copy of their business license if available, or workspace rental agreement 
o List of clients with contact information  

 
** Note: Parents employed by child care centers, or assisting family care home providers may receive 
services, but those parents who are licensed providers registered with Community Care licensing are not 
eligible to receive child care services for their child(ren). 
 
v. Training Towards Vocational Goal – Families may be eligible for child care services if the parent(s) are 
enrolled in a program that will directly lead to a recognized trade or profession. There is a six (6) year 
limitation for services under this need and the parent must continually make adequate progress towards 
their goal. Regardless of the length of time a parent needs to complete their training, child care services 
must not exceed the six (6) year time limit. To qualify for child care under this need, parents must 
submit the following documentation: 

 Training Verification Form to be signed by registrar (or designee of program). This form includes 
such information as name and location of school/training institute, days and hours of 
class/training schedule, vocational goal of parent, etc. 

 A copy of the current class schedule if available in electronic print, if not this information may be 
indicated on the verification form listed above. 

 The anticipated completion date of all required courses/trainings to meet the vocational goal of 
the parent. 
 

vi. Actively seeking employment – Each parent in the home may qualify for child care services during the 
time they are actively seeking employment. Services must not exceed sixty (60) working days within a 
fiscal year (July 1st through June 30th) and are limited to less than thirty (30) hours of child care per 
week. Parents seeking employment will be required to submit a self declaration under penalty of perjury 
that they are looking for employment. This declaration will include their plan to secure/change 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

7 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

employment and a general description of the child care hours necessary during this time. The Child Care 
Assistant Manger may request verification of the job search and/or interviews at any time. 
 
vii. Seeking permanent housing – Families receiving services through the CAPP program may be eligible 
for child care if they are trying to secure permanent housing to stabilize the family. Services must not 
exceed sixty (60) working days within a fiscal year (July 1st through June 30th) and are limited to less 
than thirty (30) hours of child care per week. The parents will be required to submit a self declaration 
under penalty of perjury that describes their plan to secure adequate housing for the family and a 
general description of the child care hours necessary during this time. 
 
** Child Care Assistant Managers may require further documentation to prove a families need for 
services at any time. 
 
B. Share of Costs 
1. Family fees 
Some families may be required to pay a portion of their child care costs, this is called the “family fee”. 
These fees are paid by the parent directly to their child care provider. Family fees are determined using 
the “Family Fee Schedule” provided by the California Department of Education (CDE). The following 
determines a parent’s family fee: 

 Family’s gross monthly income 

 Family size 

 The child who uses the most hours of care  

 Whether child care services are part-time (less than 6 hours a day) or full-time (greater than 6 
hours per day) 
 

Based on the above criteria the Child Care Assistant Manager will issue a notice of action to the parent 
informing them of the changes to their Child Care Agreement. An informational copy will be sent to the 
provider. 
 
The parent and provider work out a payment schedule and declare on the monthly attendance sheet 
that the fees have been paid for the month of services rendered. The provider shall issue a receipt of 
family fees paid to the parent. 
 
2. Co-Payments 
If the parent chooses a provider who charges more than the maximum amount CSB can reimburse, the 
parent will be responsible to pay the difference directly to the provider. This difference is referred to as 
a “co-payment”. The maximum amount CSB can reimburse is determined by the California Department 
of Education (CDE) income ceiling guidelines and it will be the provider’s responsibility to collect 
payment from the parent if desired. 
 
C. Selection Process 
There are various ways that families may be selected to participate in one of our programs. Families are 
enrolled based on the following (all enrollments are subject to availability of funding): 
 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

8 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

 
1. Children and Family Service Referrals  
Families may be referred to CSB for enrollment from Children and Family Services (CFS), if child care is 
deemed a necessary piece of the service plan.  CSB will review the referral to determine a family’s 
eligibility for Head Start, Early Head Start, Center Based, Stage II and CAPP programs. Based on eligibility 
and need requirements the referral will be forwarded to the appropriate program, taking into 
consideration parental choice. Once the referral is received by the Stage II/CAPP Unit the family will be 
contacted to determine eligibility. If the family is Stage II eligible and meets all necessary requirements, 
they may be enrolled under Stage II funding. If the family is not Stage II eligible, but staff verifies the 
availability of CAPP funding and the family meets all necessary requirements, they may be enrolled 
under CAPP funding. If the family does not meet the necessary requirements for either program, or 
there is no program funding available at the time of referral, the Unit Manager will forward the referral 
to an outside agency for potential enrollment. At this time staff will notify the referring individual 
whether or not the family was enrolled or referred to an outside agency.  
 
2. Eligibility Lists 
Families may be enrolled through a countywide eligibility list if available, or through an eligibility list 
maintained by CSB for families wanting to participate in subsidized child care. These lists rank families 
on their income and family size to ensure the most eligible family is being served at the time of 
enrollment. (All families with CPS, or at-risk referrals, will be enrolled as 1st priority.) 
 
3. Stage I transfers 
Families may be transferred to Stage II child care services from the Stage I child care unit upon 
discontinuance of cash assistance or when families have been considered stable by their previous child 
care worker (Families may be enrolled directly into Stage II funding if the family is deemed Stage II 
eligible).  
 
D. Enrollment process 
For those families transferred from CalWORKS Stage I to our Stage II child care unit, a Welcome Packet 
will be mailed to the parent explaining that the transfer has occurred. The packet will contain 
information regarding contact information for the family’s new Child Care Assistant Manager, their Child 
Care Agreement(s), the Participation Handbook, attendance forms, etc. An additional copy will be sent 
to the child care provider on file for that family as well.  
 
Based on the availability of funding, all other families will be notified by phone if they are selected to 
participate in our program. For those families referred by Children and Family Services or for those 
deemed At-Risk, we will contact the referring individual to verify the child’s need and begin 
communication regarding enrollment to better support the needs of the family. 
 
The family will be offered an appointment to begin the enrollment process. At the time of appointment, 
the parent will be required to bring documentation that may include, but is not limited to, the following: 

 Birth Certificates for all children counted in the family size 

 One month current/consecutive paycheck stubs 

 Verification of employment, vocational training, or parental incapacity 

 Child Support documentation 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

9 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

 Immunization records for non-school age children 

 If applicable, IEP/IFSP for children with special needs  

 Any other income or verification documentation as requested by the Child Care Assistant 
Manager to determine the families need and eligibility for services. 
 

During the enrollment appointment, the parent will be asked to complete an application for child care 
services. The information must be completed by the parent(s), signed, dated and then verified and 
signed off by the Child Care Assistant Manager.  
 
Once services are approved the Child Care Assistant Manager will issue the parent and provider a Notice 
of Action (NOA) indicating the certification is completed. The parent and provider will receive the Child 
Care Agreement(s) and be asked to sign and return to the Child Care Assistant Manager for services to 
begin. These agreements will outline the days and times that child care has been approved and whether 
or not there is a family fee/co-payment due to the provider. Each time there is a change to the schedule, 
increase in provider rates, change in family information, or at time of recertification, a NOA and updated 
Child Care Agreement will be issued to both the parent and provider. 
 
E. Maintaining Enrollment 
1. Recertification 
Parents are required to recertify their services once every six (6) to twelve (12) months, or more 
frequent depending on their need for services. The Child Care Assistant Manager will issue the parent(s) 
a Recertification Packet to be completed within a specified amount of time. Failure to complete the 
recertification packet by the due date indicated may result in termination of services.  
 
2. Reporting Changes 
It is the parent’s responsibility to report any changes to their family size, income, need for services, 
address, contact phone numbers, or any other information with regards to their need and eligibility 
within five (5) days of the change. Failure to notify the Child Care Assistant Manager of any change 
within the five (5) days following the change may result in termination of services.  
 
3. Fee Payment/Repayment Plans 
All family fees are to be collected by the child care provider. Due dates for these fees will be agreed 
upon by the parent and provider, and payment will be acknowledged on the monthly attendance form. 
It is the provider’s responsibility to collect all fees from the parent and notify the Child Care Assistant 
Manager if fees have not been paid. Upon receipt of notification that the parent has outstanding fees 
due to the provider, the Child Care Assistant Manager will issue a NOA for Delinquent Family Fees and 
the parent will have nineteen (19) days to pay the debt owed to the provider, or agree to a reasonable 
repayment plan signed off by both the parent and provider. If the provider notifies the Child Care 
Assistant Manager that the parent is failing to comply with the repayment plan, the family will be 
terminated from the program. 
 
F. Alternative Payment Program Policies and Procedures 
By abiding to the policies and procedures outlined in the Participation Handbook, parents may retain 
their child care services as long as they are eligible to participate. Any violation of the program 
regulations may result in termination from the program.   



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

10 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

II. Alternative Payment Program Parent Policies and Procedures 
A. Attendance Policies 
1. General Description 
Payment for services is based upon the attendance of children enrolled in the Child Care Program. The 
Child Care Program pays for “excused” absences, which include, but are not limited to child’s illness, 
parent illness, doctor’s appointments, or a family emergency. In order to be reimbursed for excused 
absences, parent must specify the type of illness, or reason for absence and then sign his/her full 
signature after the reason. This does not apply to child care in which the provider charges an hourly rate 
or has a drop-in rate. 
 
2. Excused Absences 
Providers must be sure that parents state the specific reason for absence of the child(ren) on the 
attendance sheet and sign with a full signature. (This does not apply to child care in which the provider 
charges and hourly rate or has a drop-in daily rate.) The parent will be required to submit written 
documentation, with the monthly attendance sheet, justifying a child’s absence exceeding 3 or more 
consecutive days. The following are excused absences: 

 Illness: 
o Child Illness: parent must note specific illness for the child 
o Parent Illness 
o Quarantine of child or parent 
o Dental, doctor, or therapy appointment (for child, parent, or sibling) 

 Family Emergency: 
o Parent must note explanation of family emergency. May include, but is not limited to, 

death, funeral, sibling illness, close of work or training facility due to natural disaster, 
etc. 

 Parental Jury Duty: 
o Parent must provide legal documentation 

 Court Ordered Visitations: 
o Parent must provide legal documentation 

 Best Interest Days: 
o Children are allowed up to ten (10) Best Interest Days per fiscal year for other excused 

absences. These would include time for a child to be with a parent or relative (i.e. 
vacation, visitation from a non-custodial parent/family member or participation in 
cultural or religious holidays). The reason for the Best Interest Day must be specified on 
the attendance sheet. CSB will not pay for unexcused absences or more than ten (10) 
Best Interest Days. The provider may charge and obtain payment directly from the 
parent for these absences. 

 
3. Unexcused Absences 
CSB will not pay for unexcused absences. The provider must notify the Child Care Assistant Manager if a 
child is absent for more than three (3) consecutive days and the parent has not contacted the provider 
with the reason for the absence. Failure to report the unexcused absences will result in non-
reimbursement for those absences after the child’s last day of attendance, including any payment for 
two (2) week notice to terminate.  
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

11 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

The provider may charge the parent and obtain payment directly from the parent for these absences. It 
is the parent’s responsibility to pay any charges for unexcused absences to the provider. The following 
are possible examples of absences that would not be considered excused and for which the provider will 
not be paid by CSB: 

 Absences without documentation 

 Provider was NOT available to provide child care (includes when the provider is sick, etc.) 

 Any Best Interest Days over ten (10) per fiscal year 
 

The provider must notify CSB if a parent withdraws from care without advance notice or if provider has 
knowledge of a change of parental or family status including change of address, income, employment 
and/or marital status. 
 
B. Limited Term Service Leave (LTSL) 
**Only applies to non-CalWORKS subsidized families.  
 
If the family temporarily does not have a need for subsidized child care, they may submit a written 
request for a temporary leave from services. CSB may grant the family a limited term service leave for 
no more than twelve (12) consecutive weeks, except when the parent is on a maternity or medical 
related leave of absence from his/her employment or vocational training.  
 
Maternity leave, or medical limited term service leave, shall not exceed sixteen (16) consecutive weeks 
in duration. During this time no child care services shall be provided nor be claimed for reimbursement. 
Parents will be required to provide documentation from their physician prior to going on leave and again 
when released. 
 
At the time of authorized reinstatement, when the service leave ends, CSB cannot pay another 
registration or other new provider charges.  
 
**It is important to remember that providers do not have to hold child care spaces throughout the leave 
and parents may need to seek a new child care provider(s) upon their return from leave. Also, parental 
reinstatement on to CSB’s program will depend on funding availability.  
 
C. Confidentiality 
The use or disclosure of information about the child and his/her family is limited to purposes directly 
connected with administering the program. When helping parents/families move to another subsidized 
program, information about the parent/family may be exchanged and the other program or provider is 
then bound by these same confidentiality guidelines. Parents or their authorized representatives may 
review the case file upon request and at the time and place considered reasonable by CSB. (Parents may 
only review the forms or other documentation/information that they have provided CSB and are in their 
own case file.) 
 
CSB will provide child care services to help support families and children in need. In providing these child 
care services, CSB is promoting independence, personal responsibility and self-sufficiency on the part of 
the parent(s). 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

12 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

All parents will be treated with dignity and respect. The Child Care Assistant Manager will work with the 
parent to develop the best plan for the family. 
 
D. Grievance Procedures 
All parents and providers are encouraged to first speak with the Child Care Assistant Managers to 
attempt to resolve any issues that may arise. If the issue is not resolved to the parents/providers 
satisfaction the parent/provider may file a written request to be submitted to the supervisor of the staff 
in question.  
 
The supervisor will review the complaint and meet with the parent/provider by phone, or by 
appointment, to discuss the issue within ten (10) calendar days of receiving the complaint. If the 
parent/provider still feels dissatisfied, they may submit a written request for the issue to be elevated to 
staff at least one level higher than the staff person who made the contested decision. The 
parent/provider will be contacted within ten (10) calendar days of receiving the complaint and given an 
opportunity to present their concerns. The decision at this level will be final.  
 
E. Uniform Complaint Policy 
It is the intent of the Community Services Bureau to fully comply with all applicable state and federal 
laws and regulations.  
 
Individuals, agencies, organizations, students and interested third parties have the right to file a 
complaint regarding Community Services alleged violations of federal and/or state laws. This includes 
allegations of unlawful discrimination (ED Code Sections 200 and 220 and Government Code Section 
11135) in any program or activity funded directly by the State or receiving federal or state financial 
assistance. 
 
Complaints must be signed and filed in writing with: 
 

The California State Department of Education 
Child Development Division 

Complaint Coordinator 
1430 N Street, Suite 3410 

Sacramento, CA, 95814 
 
If the complaint is not satisfied with the final written decision of the California Department of Education, 
remedies may be available in federal or state court. The complainant should seek the advice of an 
attorney of his/her choosing in this event. 
 
A complainant filing a written complaint alleging violations of prohibited discrimination may also pursue 
civil law remedies, including, but not limited to, injunctions, restraining order, or other remedies or 
orders. 
 
F. Zero Tolerance 
CSB prohibits inappropriate behavior towards staff, or in the presence of families, children or providers 
on the program. Such use of abusive/foul language, intimidating actions (including belligerent emails 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

13 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

and voicemails), physical harassment, destruction of property, threats to staff, etc., will be documented 
and may lead to termination from the program. 
 
G. Termination Policies 
1. Reasons for Terminations 
Child Care services may be terminated for any, but not limited to, the following reasons: 

 Failure to maintain required need and/or eligibility for the program with which the family is 
enrolled 

 Failure to inform the Child Care Assistant Manager within five (5) days of changes that affect the 
families need and/or eligibility to retain services 

 Failure to recertify in a timely manner 

 Failure to pay family fee or co-payment 

 Failure to make payments to licensed exempt in-home providers in a timely manner 

 Failure to use services for sixty (60) consecutive days, or two (2) consecutive months 

 Violation of the Zero Tolerance policy towards staff 

 Failure to comply with the State mandates requirements of the program 

 Family’s income exceeds the state income ceiling 

 Children are no longer age appropriate for the program with which they are enrolled, and family 
cannot provide required documentation to maintain services past that age (i.e. IEP, verification 
of non-traditional hours) 

 Failure to maintain a 2.0 GPA if services are based on a vocational training need 

 Failure to abide by attendance polices and reimbursement guidelines 
 
2. Appeal Process 
All terminations will be documented by a Notice of Action (NOA). The Child Care Assistant Manager will 
issue a NOA to the parent and send an informational copy to the provider(s). If a parent disagrees with 
an action taken by CSB, the parent may file an appeal request for a hearing with Employment and 
Human Services Department Appeals Unit: 
 

Office of Appeals Coordinator 
400 Ellinwood Way 

Pleasant Hill, CA 94523 
(925) 677-2900 

 
If the parent disagrees with the written decision of the hearing, the parent can appeal the decision to 
the Child Development Division of the California Department of Education within 14days. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

14 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

III. Provider Participation 

A. General Requirements- Parental Choice 
CSB policies provide for parental choice in selecting a child care provider. Parents are responsible for 
selecting the child care provider and the type of care, which they feel best, meets the needs of the 
family and meets enrollment requirements. Parents also have the right to change providers while they 
are participating in the child care program. Parents may choose the following types of care: 

 Licensed Child Care Centers/Licensed Family Child Care Homes 
Child care centers and family child care homes are all licensed by the California Department of 
Social Services Community Care Licensing division, which ensures all standards of health and 
safety criteria are being met. These programs will be required to submit and comply with the 
following: 

o A copy of their current license 
o A copy of their current policies, rules and rates 
o Provide services to all eligible children on a non-discriminatory basis, giving equal 

treatment and access to services without regard to race, color, creed, religion, sex, 
national origin, or any other category that is prohibited by law  

o Providers must report observed and/or suspected child abuse to the local police 
departments and/or Children and Family Services and refrain from all forms of 
punishment, cruelty, and/or physical/corporal punishment 

o Providers must maintain confidential child and family records and other information 
with the exception of authorized disclosures to CSB staff or other authorized State or 
Federal agency staff in accordance with the law 

o Allow CSB to visit licensed facilities if requested 
o Provide care for children only during the period authorized 
o Enter into Child Care Provider Agreement with CSB as an independent contractor and in 

no way be considered an employee of the CSB or any of its funding sources 
o Hold CSB harmless for any damages to person(s), or property, which arise out of the 

delivery of services under agreement with CSB 
o Inform Child Care Assistant Manager if religious instruction is part of their child care 

program or curriculum. This will allow CSB to maximize the correct funding for the child 
care program. 

 Licensed-Exempt Out of Home Providers 
Licensed-exempt providers are not licensed by the state of California. Parents are responsible 
for hiring, terminating services, and setting up the days and hours when care will be used. 
Licensed-exempt child care providers must be Trust line Registered. A Trustline registration 
means completing an application within fourteen (14) calendar days, which includes a health 
and safety self-certification and checklist and being fingerprinted through the Department of 
Justice (DOJ) and the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). 

 
• If the parent selects a grandparent, aunt or uncle of the children to provide care, they would be 

exempt from the Trustline registration. 
 

• Within fourteen (14) calendar days of application, CSB is required to have on file: 
o of the provider’s qualifications and experience 
o A health statement, including Tuberculosis clearance 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

15 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

o A statement from the parent that he/she has interviewed and approve of the provider 
o A California driver’s license number or a valid California ID verifying the provider to be at 

least eighteen (18) years of age 
o The exempt caregiver’s name, address and a copy of their Social Security Card 
o Names and ages of all other adults residing in the home where the child care is provided 
o The address where the care is to be provided 
o The hours and rates for the care 
o All forms signed by both the parent and provider, as appropriate 

 Licensed-Exempt In-Home Providers 
License-exempt In-home providers will be required to have the same documents on file as 
License-Exempt Out of home providers. In addition the following will be required for License-
Exempt In-Home Providers: 

o A copy of a Worker’s Compensation policy that the parent has taken out for the 
employee (care provider) 

o A copy of required documents the parent has filed indicating that they are the employer 
of record and will be withholding income tax, social security tax, and any additional 
withholdings from the provider’s pay as required for the Internal Revenue Service, the 
Franchise Tax Board and Social Security Administration 

o In-Home child care providers must be assured California Minimum Wage. Effective 
January 2008, California Minimum Wage is $8.00 per hour (subject to change as defined 
by the State of California. Adjustments to provider compensation must be made when 
those changes occur). In some cases, the highest amount CSB is authorized to pay for 
child care will not meet the minimum wage requirement. The parent, then, will be 
responsible to co-pay the provider the difference between what CSB can pay and 
California Minimum Wage to assure adequate compensation for the provider. The 
parent and provider will be asked to submit written documentation that they have 
agreed upon a payment plan to ensure minimum wage requirements are met. 

 
B. Provider Rate Sheet 
Providers shall submit a statement of their current rates to CSB. Rates must be the same for both 
subsidized and private pay families. If the provider charges more than the current Regional Market Rate 
allows CSB to pay, the parent will be responsible to pay the difference directly to the provider. If a 
provider offers any discount for siblings, the subsidized family will offered the same discount.  
 
Providers must submit a written thirty (30) day advanced notice of any changes to their rates; all rate 
increases are subject to availability of funds. New rate increases will take effect thirty (30) days after 
receipt of notice. Providers may only change their rates once per fiscal year (July 1st – June 30th). 
 
C. Attendance Sheet Policies 
Providers are responsible for the accurate completion of the CSB attendance sheets (CCARE5). They are 
the provider’s method of billing for payment and are the only form of documentation that will be 
accepted for reimbursing provider claims. CSB can only pay for childcare services, not private school 
tuition, educational fees, transportation, diapers, clothing items, or other expenses that are not part of 
the basic child care cost. 
Below are criteria for accurate and reimbursable attendance sheets: 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

16 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

 Only original attendance sheets will be accepted. Parents/Providers may request additional 
attendance sheets by calling the main office or their Child Care Assistant Manager. CSB will not 
reimburse copies of any attendance sheets. 

 Attendance sheets must be filled out DAILY. The parent must sign their full name and record the 
actual in and out times for when the children are dropped off and picked up. (Do not round off 
the time, the actual time must be recorded.) If the attendance sheet appears to not have been 
filled out daily, it may result in non-payment. 

 The provider must sign school age children in and out from school on the attendance sheet 
using the exact drop off/pick up times and by initialing where appropriate. 

 The parent must fill in a reason explaining the child’s absence from care and sign appropriately. 

 The parent and provider must sign their full signatures on the back of the attendance sheet each 
month indicating the accuracy of the information on the form and acknowledgement of receipt 
of fees due the provider. 

 Attendance sheets are to be completed in blue or black ink only. Should you make a mistake on 
the attendance form, simply cross out the error, initial it and write in the correct information. 
(We will not reimburse for corrections using correction tape.) 

Complete and accurate attendance sheets are due by 5pm on the seventh (7th) day of each month 
following the month in which services were rendered. If the seventh (7th) day falls on a weekend, or 
holiday, attendance sheets will be due by 5pm on the next business day following the seventh (7th).  
 
Payments for complete and accurate attendance sheets received by the seventh (7th) of the month we 
will be processed and mailed out by the end of the month they were received. Any attendance sheet 
submitted after the 5pm on the seventh (7th) day of the month will be processed and mailed the 
following month. (For example, an attendance sheet submitted on April 8th will not be processed and 
mailed until May.)  
 
**Any attendance sheet submitted sixty (60) days after the month in which services were rendered, will 
not be reimbursed.  
 
D. Child Care Agreement 
Upon approval for child care services the Child Care Assistant Manager will issue a NOA indicating initial 
approval for services and will be accompanied by a Child Care Agreement that will outline the schedule 
approved for services and will indicate if there is a Family Fee and/or Co-payment. The Child Care 
Agreements will be sent to both parent and, if applicable, the licensed provider. These certificates must 
be signed and returned to the Child Care Assistant Manager within ten (10) days of receipt 
acknowledging the approved schedule and rates for service provided.  
 
E. Reimbursement 
1. Regional Market Rate (RMR) 
Child Care is reimbursed up to 70% of the average ceiling rate as set by the California Department of 
Education for our county. This is referred to as the Regional Market Rate (RMR). (This rate is subject to 
change, if directed from the California Department of Education (CDE).) 
 
Children attending less than thirty (30) hours of child care per week will be reimbursed at the part-time 
benefit ceiling and children attending thirty (30) hours or more will be reimbursed at the full time 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

17 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

benefit ceiling. Those families that have variable schedules will be assessed by the Child Care Assistant 
Manager and assigned the most appropriate ceiling for their needs.  
 
Should the parent chose a provider with a rate exceeding the allowable payment of the program, the 
parent must pay the difference with a co-payment. This is paid by the parent to the provider directly and 
not accounted for by CSB. 
 
If the provider has a registration fee (licensed providers only) the rate for reimbursement will be 
determined by State guidelines and may be paid no more than once a year if the provider meets 
eligibility requirements.  
 
F. Provider Days of Non-Operation 
CSB will only pay for up to ten (10) days of non-operation (per fiscal year) to a licensed provider when 
the center, or family child care home, is closed if they fall on a contracted day. The provider contract 
MUST list the days of non-operation on the Provider Self Declaration form to be eligible to receive 
payment for them. Days of non-operation may include, but are not limited to the following: 

 Holiday (i.e. New Year’s Day, Christmas, Labor Day) 

 Provider Vacation Days 

 Staff Training/Development Days 

 Multiple/Alternate Providers 
 

CSB can only pay one provider per child for child care services. However, there are some exceptions: 
If a family has needs that exceed the hours of operation of the first provider, the Child Care Assistant 
Manager will assess the families need status and approve multiple providers as necessary. 
 
If a child’s usual child care provider is closed, or if the child is sick and cannot attend the usual care, the 
parent may need to seek alternate child care. CSB will contract separately with the alternate provider 
for child care services. CSB can only pay an alternate for ten (10) days per fiscal year. 
 
G. School Age Children 
Providers will not be reimbursed for school age children care during instructional minutes, whether they 
are attending public or private schools.   
 
H. Parents Rights to Change Providers/Providers Right to Terminate Services 
Parents have the right to change their providers, up to twice annually, unless they can provide the Child 
Care Assistant Manager with reasonable concerns for more changes.  CSB asks all parents to provide a 
written, or verbal, two (2) week notice to their licensed provider regarding the termination of care. The 
Child Care Assistant Manager will follow up with any notifications necessary. (**License-exempt 
providers are only paid for time the child is in their care.) 
 
Should the parent not give a two (2) week notice to the licensed provider, CSB will work with the 
licensed provider and offer any reimbursement as required by the licensed provider’s established 
policies and procedures submitted with the initial approval of care.  
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

18 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

A licensed provider may terminate services with cause in adherence to his/her established policies and 
procedures and with a two (2) week advance notification to the parent and the Child Care Assistant 
Manager. Should a licensed provider terminate a family without notification, CSB will not reimburse any 
days past the child’s last day of care.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

19 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

IV. Staff Roles and Responsibilities 

A. Stage II/CAPP Unit Clerks 

 Administrative Support to Unit Mangers 
o Program Calendars 
o Form Revisions 
o Mass Mailings 
o Other clerical tasks as assigned by Assistant Managers 

 Reimbursement Calculations 
o Collect, review and distribute incoming CCAREs to appropriate staff 
o Perform initial reimbursement calculations for Assistant Managers 

 Incoming Phone Calls 
o Check and empty Stage II/CAPP Unit General Voicemail 
o Return all calls within 24 hours of retrieving the message 
o Answer and forward calls to appropriate staff member 

 Mail Process 
o Log all mail on “Mail Log Sheet” 
o Forward mail to appropriate staff member 

 Scanning Process/Document Record Keeping 
o Scan and Index all documents into Northwoods Compass database  

 Stage I Transfers 
o Prepare and send Welcome Packets 
o Prepare Working Files 
o Coordinate with Unit Manager on case assignments 

 Family Recertification’s 
o Prepare and mail recertification packets 

 Suite Support 
o Monitor office supplies 
o Monitor Postage Meter 

 
B. Stage II/CAPP Unit Child Care Assistant Managers (CCAM) 

 Case Management 
o Initial intake for new/transferred families 
o Verify documents  
o Coordinate with referring agencies about prior case information 
o Review selection of provider(s) 
o Monitor families need and eligibility 
o Family/Provider Correspondence as needed 
o Recertify families need/eligibility for services at minimum once annually 
o Termination procedures where appropriate  

 Process Reimbursements 
o Review calculations 
o Process payments into CalWIN system for fiscal review/release 

 Review and release payments to providers in CalWIN 

 Monitoring/Audits/Reviews 
o Monthly monitoring of selected family files 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

20 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

o Assist Unit Manager with fiscal and/or state audits and reviews of program 
o Prepare family files as needed for reviews 

 
C. Stage II/CAPP Unit Manager – (CSM) 

 Reports 
o Monthly to Program Director 
o Monthly to fiscal 
o As needed to CDE 

 Personnel 
o Supervise CAT Assignments 
o Supervise Field Intern Assignments 
o Supervise Clerks 
o Supervise Child Care Assistant Managers 

 Program Handbook 
o Revisions per CDE regulations  
o Annual Update 

 CDE Regulations 
o Monitor Management Bulletin Releases 
o Participate in CDE conference calls regarding program regulations 
o Review Title 5 and Education Codes as they pertain to program implementation 

 Client/Provider Correspondence 

 CCAM Support 

 Clerk Support 

 Stage I Transfer Process 
o Monitor incoming Stage I transfer process 
o Assign cases to CCAMs 
o Review potential cases to be transferred out 

 Monitoring 
o Review monthly reimbursements 
o Monitor CCAM Caseloads 
o Review terminations 
o Monitor Unit calendar 
o Fiscal Audit 
o State Reviews 

 Facility Support 
o Order office supplies for Suite 
o Design and Implement Emergency Plan 
o Submit requests for equipment/work orders 
o Maintain location binder 

 
D. Stage II/CAPP Fiscal Support (Accountant III) 

 Review and release payments to providers in CalWIN in the absence of Program staff 

 Monitor program budgets 

 Review and release payments for Maintenance of Effort contracts 

 Submit to Sate CDE monthly Fiscal and Caseload reports on or before the 20th of each month 



2013-2014  
Policies and Procedures 
Section 5: Alternative Payment Program 
 

21 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 5-Alternative Payment Program 

 

 Submit year-end financial reports and schedules to External Auditors 

 Correspond with Unit Manager/Program Manager (Administrative Services Assistant III 
responsible for AP/CAPP program) 

 
E. Stage II/CAPP Program Manager (ASA III) 

 Program Support 

 State Correspondence 

 Liaison with Appeals Unit 

 Monthly Monitoring 

 Contract initiation/renewal 
 



CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT                  
COMMUNITY SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

SECTION 6-LOW-INCOME HOME ENERGY 
ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

 

 

2013-2014 
 

 

 
  

Policy Council Approved:                                                                                                         
Board of Supervisors Approved: 



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

2 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

 
  

PART I INTRODUCTION  

A Program Overview 3 

B Types of Assistance are Available 3 

C Service Center Locations 3 

   

PART II LIHEAP ELIGIBILITY GUIDELINES  

A General Guidelines 4 

B Credit Balances 4 

C High Balances 4 

D LIHEAP Questions to determine Eligibility 4 

   

PART III WEATHERIZATION REFERRALS  

A General Description 5 

B Weatherization for Rental Units 5 

C  Weatherization for Home Owners 5 

   

PART IV RECEIVEING AND PROCESSING APPLICATIONS  

A Procedures for starting a client file 6 

B Application and Documentation Review 6 

   

PART V LIHEAP/FAST TRACK COMPLAINT PROCEDURE 7 

   

PART VI APPEAL PROCEDURE  

A General Description 7 

B Appeal Procedure 7 



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

3 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

I. Introduction 
A. Program Overview 
The Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) is a federally-funded program that assists 
low-income households with their heating and cooling needs, while helping protect the health and 
safety of the household. 
 
B. Types of Assistance are Available 

 Bill Payment Assistance  
LIHEAP may pay a portion of your energy bill in the form of a dual or single party warrant or a 
direct payment to a utility company. The amount of assistance is based on household income 
and size, energy cost, and funding availability.  

 Energy Crisis Assistance  
LIHEAP funds are available to low-income households that are in a crisis situation; such as 
receiving a 48-hour disconnect notice, or service termination by a utility company.  

 Weatherization Assistance  
The weatherization program provides services designed to reduce heating and cooling costs and 
improve the energy efficiency of a home, while safeguarding the health and safety of the 
household. 

 
C. Service Center Locations 

 LIHEAP Assistance 
Summit Center 
2530 Arnold Dr. Ste. 360 
Martinez, CA  94553 
Phone: 925 335-8900 
Fax:  925 335-8905 

 

 Weatherization Assistance 
220-A Glacier Dr. 
Martinez, CA  94553 
Phone:  925-335-2100 
Fax:  925-335-2119 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

4 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

II. LIHEAP Eligibility Guidelines   
A. General Guidelines 

 Families with children 5 years or younger living in the household. 

 Families with elderly members (60 years or older) living in the household. 

 Families who have permanent and/or temporary disabled members in the household, and proof 
of disability. 

 Households who are new clients and have a high energy burden with very low to zero income. 

 Utility bill must be $300 or less in order to receive assistance. 

 Repeat clients with no vulnerable population will receive negative points. 

 Active Military and Veterans. 

 Documents verifying legal status in the USA for applicant of the household.  

 Copy of documentation verifying current total gross income for ALL household members. 

 ID for person named on bill. 
 
B. Credit Balances:  If credit balance on client’s account is more than double the monthly gas and electric 
charges; the client will have to re-apply when the credit balance has exhausted. 
 
C. High Balances:  HEAP or Fast Track payment must bring clients to zero balance.  If the HEAP payment 
doesn’t bring the balance to zero, the client must make a co-payment before our pledge can be made.    
 
D. LIHEAP Questions to determine Eligibility: 

 What City do you live in? (Contra Costa County residents only) 

 What is the total of your PG&E?  

 If over $300, we will determine eligibility at their appointment and will have to make a payment 
depending on eligibility.   

 Are there any children 5 years or younger? 
o If yes, birth certificates of children are required. 

 Is there anyone in the household 60 years or older? 

 If yes, verification of identification is required. 

 Is there anyone in the household disabled? 

 If yes, verification of disability can vary from State Disability, Social Security, workers comp., Paid 
Family Leave. 

 Have you been helped in the past (new client)? 

 If there an Active Military or Veteran in the household? 

 Whose name is on the PG&E bill?  Is that person over the age of 18? If so, please bring I.D. of the 
person.  

 Current monthly whole utility bill (blue strip) and a 48hr notice or shut off (if applicable), income 
of all household members over the age of 18 for the past 30 days and legal status for the 
applicant. 

 
Clients will have to make a payment depending on eligibility.  Our payment will have to bring their 
account to zero or credit balance. 
 
LIHEAP does not Guarantee Assistance. 



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

5 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

III. Weatherization Referrals 
A. General Description 
After the interview process is complete and the client is eligible for our assistance, we ask and offer 
weatherization for their homes.  We ask if they are renting or owning their home.  Weatherization will 
improve their home and make it more energy efficient.  This could include windows, doors, caulking, 
weather stripping, heaters, water heaters, stoves, refrigerators and more.  All home improvements are 
done at NO COST to landlords with eligible tenants, or eligible property owners.   
 
B. Weatherization for Rental Units 
If the client is renting they have to ask their landlord to fill out and sign the Energy Service Agreement 
for Rental Units and Post Weatherization Lead Forms.  This is requesting permission to go in the home 
and do inspection for improvement.  The Post Weatherization Lead Form is the only item not paid by the 
program and the cost is between $200 and $400.  If the landlord does not wish to pay this they can 
select wish not to pay and sign the form. 
 
C. Weatherization for Home Owners 
If the client owns the home and has been determined eligible for services the client can fill out and sign 
the Energy Service Agreement for Owner and Post Weatherization Lead forms.  This is giving the 
program authorization to inspect and improve their home to be more energy efficient.  The Post 
Weatherization Lead Form is the only item not paid by the program and the cost is between $200 and 
$400.  If the owner does not wish to pay this they can select wish not to pay and sign the form. 
 
Include these forms with the LIHEAP Intake Application, Statement of Citizenship, current monthly utility 
bill, current monthly income, legal status, Energy Service Agreement and Post Weatherization Lead 
Forms.  
 
After the forms are filled and signed include them with our LIHEAP application and fax them to the 
Weatherization office at (925) 335-2119.  As soon as the Weatherization Program receives the fax they 
will contact the applicant for an appointment and start with improvements in their home.   
 
This will ensure their home to be more energy efficient and same money on their utility bill. 
 
  



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

6 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

IV. Receiving and Processing Applications 
A. Procedures for starting a client file: 

 All documents are date stamped (date received)  

 Have client fill out application (assist if needed) 

 Ensure that client has brought all required documentation  

 Ensure that the application is signed and dated 

 Ensure that the citizenship form is filled out, signed and dated 
 
B. Application and Documentation Review 
1. Check to see if all 5 documents are included in file folder and date stamped: 

 Intake Application 

 Statement of Citizenship Form 

 Income for the past month 

 Whole monthly utility bill (48hr notice also included if FT) 

 Birth Certificate of the applicant or any children in the household under the age of 5.  
 
2. Intake Application: 

 Has date stamp on entire paperwork. 

 Application is signed and filled out completely.  

 Social Security matches on the intake form and update on the Serv Traq N-1 database. 
 
3. Statement of Citizenship Form: 

 Has name of applicant, place of birth and signature on form. 
 
4. Current Income: 

 Show current monthly income for a month from the date stamped for everyone in the 
household. 

 Total the Gross Income for the month.  

 Income can include SSI, SSA, TANF (cash aid), unemployment, state disability, retirement, 
pension, and check stubs.  

 
5. Complete Monthly Utility Bill: 

 Show whole current monthly utility bill from the date stamped.   

 Also a 48hr notice or shut off included if Fast Track. 

 The name, account number from page one and utility bill address from page 3 match the utility 
information on the application. 

 
6. Birth Certificate: 

 Attach a certified birth certificate of applicant. 

 Passport, naturalization form and green card are also acceptable.  
 
7. Complete the priority points sheet and calculate points.   
 
8. Complete Assurance 16 Activities form with appropriate action taken. 



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

7 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

V. LIHEAP/Fast Track Complaint Procedure 
Any complaints are to be handled immediately by the intake clerk who received the complaint. 
 
Complaints that cannot be resolved by the intake clerk in a reasonable amount of time, up to two 
weeks, are to be passed to the LIHEAP Assistant Manager.   
 
Should the LIHEAP Assistant Manager be unable to resolve the complaint; it will be forwarded to the 
Program Manager. 
 
Once a complaint has been resolved, a written dated account is to be made and filed in the complaint 
file. 
 
VI. Appeal Procedure 
A. General Description 
Contra Costa County residents are entitled to apply for assistance from the Low Income Home Energy 
Assistance Program (LIHEAP) with their energy cost.  The LIHEAP program is funded by the state and 
federal government, and is administered by the State Community Services and Development 
Department in Sacramento. 
 
There are cases when a client is denied assistance.  A client does, however, have the right to appeal that 
decision.  State Regulation 22 CCR 100805 defines situations as appealable: 

 If the application was not acted upon within 15 working days 

 Unsatisfactory performance 

 If you are denied LIHEAP services 
 
B. Appeal Procedure 
1. The client receives a letter denying LIHEAP services and the reason(s) why.  If client disagrees with this 
decision the client may call the HEAP office and set up an appointment with the intake clerk for a file 
review to discuss the reasons for denial and to see if anything can be done to correct the information so 
that the application may be approved (This is not true in cases of families who are over income or who 
do not have a minimum of five priority points.  If client makes too much money or does not have enough 
priority points there is nothing we can do.) 
  
If the client is not satisfied after meeting with the Intake Clerk she/he will assist the client in completing 
an appeals form.  If the client is not interested in filing an appeal at that time, has a total of ten working 
days after the date of meeting with the Intake Clerk to file a written appeal. 
 
2. The client file and completed appeals form will then go to the Assistant Manager where he/she will 
review the information and either overrule the Intake Clerk’s decision or agree with the current 
decision.  Client is notified by letter within five (5) working days of the Assistant Manager’s decision after 
the review. 
 
3. The client file and completed appeals form will then go to the Program Manager where he/she will 
review the information and either overrule the Assistant Manager’s decision or agree with the current 



2013-2014  

Policies and Procedures 

Section 6: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program 
 

8 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Section 6-LIHEAP 

 

decision.  Then client is notified by letter within five (5) working days of the Program Manager’s decision 
after his/her review. 
 
At this point, if satisfaction is not reached, the client still has the option to appeal at the State level by 
contacting the Department of Community Services and Development in Sacramento, CA by writing to: 
 

California Department of Community Services and Development 
PO Box 1947 

Sacramento, CA  95812 
(916) 576-7109 
(916) 263-1406 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

1 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT & HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT                                                                                                        
COMMUNITY SERVICES BUREAU 

POLICIES AND                                  
PROCEDURES 

SECTION 7-WRITTEN SERVICE PLAN 
 

 

2013-2014 

2013-2014 

  



 

2 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

VII. WRITTEN SERVICE PLAN 

A. 1304.20 CHILD HEALTH AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Child Health and Development Services 1304.20  

(a) Determining Child Health Status 
1304.20(a)(1)(i) - 

1304.20(a)(2) 
Section 2 

Pg. 5 
CSAM 

Child Health Status shall be 
determined for all children. 

Within 90 days of 
enrollment 

(b) Screening for Developmental Sensory and 
Behavioral Concerns 

1304.20(b)(1) – 
1304.20(b)(3) 

Section 2 
Page 13 

CSAM and 
Teachers 

All children will be screened. 
Within 45 days of 

enrollment 

(c) Extended Follow-up and Behavioral 
Treatment 

1304.20(c)(1)&(2) – 
1304.20(c)(5) 

Section 2 
Page 15 

CSAM / MH Interns 
All children benefit from extensive 

follow-up and treatment for all 
identified health needs. 

Upon identification 
& ongoing 

(d) Ongoing Care 1304.20(d) 
Section 2 

Page 3 
CSAM 

All children receive treatment at 
their medical home. 

Ongoing 

(e) Involving Parents 
1304.20(e)(1) – 
1304.20(e)(5) 

Section 2 
Pages 15-27 

CSAM, Teachers 
and Site 

Supervisors 

Parents are notified immediately 
when problems are suspected or 

identified and are familiarized with 
all services. 

Ongoing 

(f) Individualization of the Program 
1304.20(f)(1) – 

1304.20(f)(2)(iv) 
Section 2 
Page 56 

All Staff/CS 
Managers 

Services are individualized to meet 
the unique needs of each child & 

family. 
Ongoing 

 

  



 

3 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

 

B. 1304.21 EDUCATION AND EARLY CHILDHOOD DEVELOPMENT 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Education and Early Childhood Development 1304.21  

(a) Child Development and Education 
Approach for All Children 

1304.21(a)(1)(i) - 
1304.21(a)(6) 

Section 2 
Page 61 

CSM – Education 

Approach to child development 
services is developmentally and 

linguistically appropriate and 
individualized to the child’s unique 

needs and attributes. 

Ongoing 

(b) Child Development and Education 
Approaches for Infants and Toddlers 

1304.21(b)(1)(i) – 
1304.21(b)(3)(ii) 

Section 2 
Page 61 

CSM – 
Infant/Toddler 

Education 

The research-based Creative 
Curriculum for Infants, Toddlers and 
Twos is implemented for infants and 

toddlers and focuses on 
relationships.  In addition caregiving 

is provided with a focus on the 
Program for Infant and Toddler Care 

policies. 

Ongoing 

(c) Child Development and Education for 
Preschoolers 

1304.21(c)(1) – 
1304.21(2)(2) 

Section 2 
Page 61 

CSM – Pre-School 
Education 

The research based Creative 
Curriculum for Preschool is 

implemented in the program. This 
curriculum is developmentally and 

linguistically appropriate. 

Ongoing 

 

C. 1304.22 CHILD HEALTH AND SAFETY 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Child Health and safety 1304.22  

(a) Health Emergency Procedures 
1304.22(a) - 

1304.22(a)(5) 

Section 2 
Pages 92-95, 99, 

104-105 
Site Supervisors 

Health Emergency Procedures are 
implemented 

Daily 

(b) Conditions of Short-Term Exclusion and 
Admittance 

1304.22(b)(1) – 
1304.22(b)(3) 

Section 2 
Pages 85-86, 

Site Supervisors 
Health checks and Sick Policy is 

implemented. 
Daily 



 

4 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

 90-93 

(c) Medical Administration 
1304.22(c) – 
1304.22(c)(6) 

Section 2 
Pages 95-98 

Designated Staff in 
the classroom 

Medication is stored and 
administered correctly with consent. 

Daily 

(d) Injury Prevention 1304.22(d)(1)&(2) 
Section 2 

Pages 99, 101-
102 

All Staff/Health 
and Safety Officers 

Health and Safety checks result in 
injury prevention 

Daily and Monthly 

(e) Hygiene 
1304.22(e)(1)&(2) – 

1304.22(e)(7) 
Section 2 
Page 87 

All Staff 
Staff, children and parents practice 

hygiene according to program 
standards. 

Daily 

(f) First Aid Kits 
1304.22(f)(1) – 
1304.22(f)(2) 

Section 2 
Page 103 

Site Supervisors 
and  

CSM – Health 
Services 

First Aid Kits are stocked at all times 
and readily available. 

Daily 

 

D. 1304.23 CHILD NUTRITION 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Child Health and safety 1304.22  

(a) Identification of Nutritional Needs 
1304.23(a) - 

1304.23(a)(4) 
Section 2 
Page 78 

CSAMs 
Children with nutritional risk are 

identified. 
Upon enrollment 

and within 45 days. 

(b) Nutritional Services 
1304.23(b)(1) – 
1304.23(b)(4) 

Section 2 
Page 112 

Registered 
Dietitian 

Staff, families and children benefit 
from nutritional services. 

Ongoing 

(c) Meal Services 
1304.23(c) – 
1304.23(c)(7) 

Section 2 
Pages 66, 108-

112 

Food Services 
Manager 

Children receive nutritious meals. Daily 

(d) Family Assistance With Nutrition 1304.23(d) 
Section 2 

Pages 79-82 
CSAMs 

Families receive nutrition education 
resources, and referrals to meet 

their needs. 
Ongoing 

(e) Food Safety and Sanitation 
1304.23(e)(1) – 
1304.23(e)(2) 

Section 2 
Page 108 

Food Services 
Manager 

All food is served in as safe and 
sanitary. 

Daily 

 

E. 1304.24 CHILD MENTAL HEALTH 
Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 



 

5 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Child Mental Health 1304.24  

(a) Mental Health Services 
1304.24(a)(1)(i) - 
1304.24(a)(3)(iv) 

Section 2 
Pages 24-25, 

section 3 
Page 9 

Mental Health 
Manager/Interns 

Quality Mental Health Services are 
provided as appropriate 

Daily 



 

6 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

F. 1304.40 FAMILY PARTNERSHIPS 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Family Partnerships 1304.40  

(a) Family Goal Setting 
1304.40(a)(1) - 

1304.40(a)(4)&(5) 
Section 3 

Page 4 
CSAMs 

Families are engaged in meaningful 
goal setting. 

Ongoing 

(b) Accessing Community Services and 
Resources 

1304.40(b)(1) – 
1304.40(b)(2) 

Section 3 
Page 8 

CSAMs/Home 
Educators 

Parents receive community services 
and resources appropriate to their 

needs and desires. 
Ongoing 

(c) Services to Pregnant Women Who Are 
Enrolled in Programs Serving Pregnant 
Women, Infants and Toddlers 

1304.40(c)(1)(i),(ii)&(iii) 
– 1304.40(c)(3) 

Section 3 
Page 10 

CSM – 
Infant/Toddler 

Programs 

Pregnant women receive 
comprehensive services 

Ongoing 

(d) Parent Involvement – General 
1304.40(d)(1) – 
1304.40(d)(3) 

Section 3 
Page 11 

CSM – Parent, 
Family and 
Community 
Engagement 

Parents are engaged in all aspects of 
the program. 

Ongoing 

(e) Parent Involvement in Child Development 
and Education 

1304.40(e)(1) – 
1304.40(e)(5) 

Section 2 
Pages 70-71 

Section 3 
Pages 11, 16 

Teachers/Home 
Educators 

Parents are recognized as their 
child’s primary educator and 

involved in all aspects of education 
services. 

Ongoing 

(f) Parent Involvement in Health, Nutrition, 
and Mental Health Education 

1304.40(f)(1) – 
1304.40(f)(4)(i),(ii)&(iii) 

Section 3 
Page 17 

CSAMs/Home 
Educators 

Parents are engaged in health, 
nutrition, and Mental Health 

Education. 
Ongoing 

(g) Parent Involvement Community 
Advocacy 

1304.40(g)(1)&(2) 
Section 3 
Page 18 

CSM – Parent, 
Family & 

Community 
Engagement 

Parents are involved in advocacy 
efforts in their community. 

Ongoing 

(h) Parent Involvement in Transition 
Activities 

1304.40(h)(1)-(4) 

Section 2 
Pages 58-60 

Section 3 
Page 18 

Teachers/Home 
Educators 

Parents are engaged in transition 
activities. 

Ongoing 

(i) Parent Involvement in Home Visits 
1304.40(i)(1)-(3) – 
1304.40(i)(4)&(5) 

Section 2 
Page 69-71 
Section 3 
Page 19 

CSM – Home Based 
Services 

Parents are involved in all home 
visits and socializations. 

Ongoing 



 

7 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

 

  



 

8 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

 

G. COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Community Partnerships 1304.41  

(a) Partnerships 
1304.41(a)(1) - 
1304.41(a)(4) 

Section 3 
Page 20 

ASA III  
CSM – Parent,  

Family and  
Community  
Engagement 

CSB engages in multiple formal and 
informal community partnerships 
that enhance services to children 

and families. 

Ongoing 

(b) Advisory Committees 1304.41(b) 
Section 3 
Page 21 

CSM – Health and 
Registered 
Dietitian 

Health Services Advisory Committee 
and Nutrition Advisory Committee 

are active. 
Twice Annually 

(c) Transition Services 
1304.41(c)(1) – 
1304.41(c)(3) 

Section 3 
Page 18 

CSM – Education 
and Disabilities 

Transitions into and out of EHS and 
HS are seamless and coordinated. 

Ongoing 

 

  



 

9 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

 

H. 1304.50 PROGRAM DESIGN AND MANAGEMENT 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Program Design and Management 1304.50  

(a) Policy Council, Policy Committee, and 
Parent Committee Structure 

1304.50(a)(1) - 
1304.50(a)(5) 

Section 1 
Pages 4-6 

CSM – Policy 
Council 

A formal structure of program 
governance provides parents and 
other community representatives 

with the authority and opportunity 
to participate in shared decision-

making concerning program design 
and implementation. 

Ongoing 

(b) Policy Council Composition and 
Formation 

1304.50(b)(1) – (b)(7) 
Section 1 
Pages 4-5 

 

CSM – Policy 
Council 

Policy groups are formed based on 
approved bylaws. 

Ongoing 

(c) Policy Council Responsibilities-General 1304.50(c)&(d) 
Section 1 

Pages 6-12 
Head Start Director 

Policy Groups are charge with the 
responsibilities as noted in Appendix 

A. 
Ongoing 

(d) The Policy Council or Policy Committee 
1304.50(c)(d) – 
1304.50(d)(2)(v) 

Section 1 
Pages 6-11 

Head Start Director 
and Delegate 

Agency Director 

Policy Council and the Local Policy 
Committee are engaged in policy 

decisions regarding the nature and 
operation of the program. 

Ongoing 

(e) Parent Committee 1304.50(e)(1),(2) &(3) 
Section 1 
Pages 5-6 

Site Supervisor 
Parent Committees are 

appropriately engaged and carry out 
their designated responsibilities. 

Ongoing 

(f) Policy Council, Policy Committee, and 
Parent Committee Reimbursement 

1304.50(f) 
Section 1 

Pages 73-74 
CSM – Policy 

Council 

Reimbursements to parents are 
reasonable and provided timely for 

any travel, lodging, childcare and per 
diem expenses. 

As requested 

(g) Governing Body Responsibilities 1304.50(g)(1)&(2) 
Section 1 

Pages 4, 6-12 
 

Head Start Director 
Governing body is engaged in 
decision making as required. 

Ongoing 

(h) Internal Dispute Resolutions 1340.50(h) 
Section 1 

Pages 12-13 
 

Head Start Director 
Internal disputes are resolved in 

accordance with policy. 
As needed 



 

10 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

 

I. 1304.51 MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Management System and Procedures 1304.51  

(a) Program Planning 
1304.51(a)(1)(i)-(iii) - 

1304.51(a)(2) 
Section 1 

Pages 15-17 
Directors & 

Assistant Directors 

The program has an established, 
dynamic, and cohesive management 

system that support continuous 
improvement and foster 

commitment to providing the 
highest level of services to children 

and families. 

Ongoing 

(b) Communication – General 1304.51(b) 
Section 1 

Pages 17-25 
Division Managers 

Systems are in place to ensure a 
smooth flow of two-way 

communication with staff, parents, 
governing bodies, and delegate 

agency. 

Ongoing 

(c) Communication with Families 1304.51(c)(1)&(2) 
Section 1 

Pages 18-19 
Site Supervisors 

Communication with families is 
clear, concise, respectful, 
confidential and timely. 

Ongoing 

(d) Communications with Governing Bodies 
and Policy Groups 

1304.51(d) 
Section 1 

Pages 19-20 
Head Start Director 

Communications with Governing 
Bodies and Policy Groups is of high 
quality, informational, educational 

and responsive. 

Ongoing 

(e) Communication Among Staff 1304.51(e) 
Section 1 
Page 18 

Assistant 
Directors/Senior 

Managers 

Quality outcomes for children and 
families are facilitated by various 

mechanisms for regular 
communication. 

Daily 

(f) Communication with Delegate Agencies 1304.51(f) 
Section 1 

Pages 19-20, 25 
Analyst for 

Partners 
Communication with the delegate is 

effective and timely. 
Ongoing 

(g) Record keeping Systems 1304.51(g) 
Section 1 

Pages26-30 
Business Systems 

Manager 

Multiple record keeping systems are 
in place which provides accurate and 

timely information. 
Ongoing 

(h) Reporting System 1304.51(h)(1) – Section 1 Division Managers Efficient and effective reporting Ongoing 



 

11 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

1304.51(h)(2) Pages 18-26 systems are in place. 

(i) Program Self-Assessment Monitoring 
1340.51(i)(1) – 
1304.51(i)(3) 

Section 1 
Pages 39-40 

Analyst 
Self-Assessment is conducted to 

determine the program’s 
effectiveness. 

Annually 

 

 

J. 1304.52 HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Human Resources Management 1304.52  

(a) Organizational Structure 
1304.52(a)(1) - 

1304.52(a)(2)(i)&(iii) 
Section 1 
Page 41 

Personnel 
Administrator 

The organizational structure outlines 
how staff & functions are set up to 

meet the program’s mission & goals. 
The structure also describes how 

Head Start fits into a larger agency. 

Ongoing 

(b) Staff Qualifications-General 
1304.52(b)(1)&(2) – 

1304.52(b)(4) 
Section 1 

Pages 51-52 
Personnel 

Administrator 

Staff and consultants have the 
knowledge, skills, and experience to 

perform. 
When hired 

(c) Early Head Start or Head Start Director 
Qualifications 

1304.52(c) 
Section 4 
Page 44 

Personnel 
Administrator 

The Head Start Director has meets 
and exceeds the required 

qualifications. 
When hired 

(d) Qualifications of Content Area Experts 
1304.52(d) – 
1304.52(d)(8) 

Section 4 
 page 45 

Personnel 
Administrator 

Content Area staff is qualified to 
fulfill their job responsibilities, 

including comprehensive services 
manager with disabilities expertise. 

When hired 

(e) Home Visitor Qualifications 1304.52(e) 
Section 1 

Page 51-52 
Personnel 

Administrator 
Home Visitors meet qualifications When hired 

(f) Infant and Toddler Staff Qualifications 1304.52(f) 
Section 1 

Pages 51-52 
Personnel 

Administrator 
Infant and Toddler Staff meet 

qualifications. 
When hired 

(g) Classroom Staffing and Home Visits 
1304.52(g)(1) – 
1304.52(g)(5) 

Section 1 
Page 52 

Personnel 
Administrator 

Staffing ratios and class sizes are 
maintained and home visits and 
home educator caseloads meet 

regulations. 

Daily 

(h) Standards of Conduct 1304.52(h)(1) – Section 1 Personnel All staff signs the Standards of Upon hire and 



 

12 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

1304.52(h)(2)&(3) Page 54 Administrator Conduct Policy and adhere to 
standards. 

annually thereafter 

(i) Staff Performance Appraisals 1340.52(i) 
Section 1 

Pages 60-62 
Supervisors 

All staff receives their performance 
evaluation in a timely fashion. 

Annually, or more 
often as needed 

(j) Staff and Volunteer Health 
1304.52(j)(1) – 
1304.52(j)(3) 

Section 1 
Pages 62-63 

Personnel Analyst 
and Site 

Supervisors 

Staff and volunteers are in good 
health. 

Established within 
7 days of hire or 

when volunteering 
regularly 

(k) Training and Development 
1304.52(k)(1)-(3) – 

1304.52(k)(4) 
Section 1 

Pages 65-70 
Personnel Analyst 

Training programs are required, & it 
is mandatory staff attend. 

Attendance is tracked. 

Ongoing per 
training calendar 

 

 

K. 1304.53 FACILITIES, MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Facilities, Materials, and Equipment 1304.53  

(a) Head Start Physical Environment and 
Facilities 

1304.53(a)(1) - 
1304.53(a)(10)(xvii) 

Section 4 
Pages 46-49 

Facilities Manager 
Facilities meet state and local 

licensing requirements, are hazard 
free and safe. 

Daily 

(b) Head Start Equipment, Toys, Materials, 
and Furniture 

1304.53(b)(1) – 
1304.53(b)(3) 

Section 4 
Pages 53-55 

Site Supervisor 

Equipment, toys, materials and 
furniture are age and 

developmentally appropriate, in 
good repair, and hazard free. 

Daily 

 

L. 1305 ELIGIBILITY, RECRUITMENT, SELECTION, ENROLLMENT, AND ATTENDANCE IN HEAD START 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 

Determining Community Strengths and Needs 1305.3 
Section 1 

Pages 15-17 
Analyst – Grants 

A community assessment is 
conducted to determine strengths 

and needs. 

Every three years 
and updated 

annually 

Age of Children and Family Income Eligibility 1305.4 Section 4 CSAMs Enrolled children meet age and Ongoing 



 

13 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Page 9 income requirements. 

Recruitment of Children 1305.5 
Section4 

Pages 9-10 
Analyst – ERSEA 

Recruitment Plan is fully 
implemented. 

Ongoing 

Selection Process 1305.6 
Section4 

Pages 9-10 
CSAM 

Children are selection according to 
approved selection criteria. 

Ongoing 

Enrollment and Re-enrollment 1305.7 
Section4 

Pages 12-13 
Site Supervisor 

Children are enrolled when 
vacancies occur and re-enrolled in 

accordance with policy. 
Ongoing 

Attendance 1305.8 
Section4 

Pages 36-38 
Site Supervisor 

Attendance is tracked, analyzed and 
corrective action plans are in place 

for centers below 85%. 

Daily tracking 
monthly reporting 

Policy on fees 1305.9 
Section4 

Pages 5, 39 
Site Supervisor 

No fees are charged for Head Start 
and Early Head Start Services. 

Ongoing 

Compliance 1305.10 

Section 1 
31 

Section4 
Page 9 

Analyst – ERSEA Agency is compliant with CFR 1305. Ongoing 

 

  



 

14 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

 

M. 1306 HEAD START STAFFING REQUIREMENTS AND PROGRAM OPTIONS 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Head Start Staffing Requirements and 
Program Options 

1306  

Subpart B – Head Start Program Staffing 
Requirements 

1306.20-1306.23  

Program Staffing Patterns 1306.20 

Section 1 
Pages 51-53 

Section 4 
Pages 44-45 

Personnel 
Administrator 

Program staffing patterns 
meet/exceed standards. 

Daily 

Staff Qualification Requirements 1306.21 
Section 4 

Pages 44-45 
Personnel 

Administrator 
Staff meets HS Act Requirements. Daily 

Volunteers 1306.22 
Section 1 

Pages 53, 62 

CSM-Family & 
Community 
Partnership 

Parents are active volunteers in the 
program 

Daily 

Training 1306.23 
Section 1 

Pages 63-67 
Personnel Analyst Staff is well trained. 

Ongoing per T/TA 
plan 

Subpart C – Head Start Program Options 1306.30-1306.36  

Provisions of Comprehensive Child 
Development Services 

1306.30 
Section 2 

Pages 61-76 
Head Start Director 

All services meet local, State, and 
Federal regulations, involve parents, 

and involve community partners. 
Daily 

Choosing a Head Start Program Option 1306.31 
Section 1 
Page 15 

Head Start Director 
Head Start options are chosen to 

meeting the needs of the 
community, family, and child. 

Ongoing 

Center-based Program Option 1306.32 
Section 2 
Page 61 

Assistant Directors 
The center-based program is 

operated in accordance with the 
regulations. 

Daily 

Home-based Program Option 1306.33 
Section 2 

Pages 61, 70-71 
Assistant Directors 

The home-based program is 
operated in accordance with the 

regulations. 
Daily 

Combination Program Option 1306.34 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Additional Head Start Program Option 
Variations 

1306.35 
Section 1 
Page 15 

Head Start Director 
24-Waiver classrooms are operation 

with ACF/OHS approval. 
Daily 



 

15 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Compliance Waiver 1306.36 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
 

N. 1308 DISABILITIES SERVICES 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
A. Subpart A General  

Purpose 
1308.1 
1308.2 

Section 2 
Pages 37-38 

All Comprehensive 
Services Team 

HS grantees and Delegates ensure 
that children with Disabilities 

enrolled in HS/EHS receive all the 
services to which they are entitled. 

Ongoing 

Definitions 1308.3 
Section 2 

Pages 38-39 
All Comprehensive 

Services Team 
Understanding Definitions related to 

Disabilities service area. 
Ongoing 

B. Subpart B Disabilities Service Plan  

Purpose and Scope 130.4 
Section 2 

Pages 37-42 
Disabilities 

CSM 

Development of Disabilities Service 
Plan to meet the special needs of 
children with disabilities and their 

parents. 

Annually (July) 

C. Subpart C Social Services  

Recruitment and Enrollment 1308.5 (a)(b)(c)(d)(e)(f) 
Section 4 
Page 10 

All CSB Staff 

The grantee and delegate has 
implemented plans to locate and 
recruit children with disabilities.  
Meet 10% enrollment of children 

with disabilities. 

Ongoing 

D. Subpart D Health Services  

Assessment of children 1308.6 (a)(b)(c)(d)(e) 
Section 2 

Pages 43, 52-54 
All CS Team / 

Education Team 

All children benefit from screenings 
and assessments. Children identified 
as needing further assessments are 
referred for further evaluations to 

LEA or RCEB. 

Within 45 days of 
enrollment 

Eligibility Criteria:  

Health Impairment 1308.7 
Section 2 
Page 50 

All CS Team / 
Home Educator / 

Teachers 

Disability CSM coordinates with 
Health, Mental Health, Nutrition, 

Family Services and Education 
Manager to ensure the needs of the 

Ongoing 

Emotional/behavioral disorders 1308.8 
Section 2 
Page 50 



 

16 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 

Speech and language 1308.9 
Section 2 
Page 50 

children with disabilities are met. 

Intellectual Disability 1308.10 
Section 2 
Page 50 

Hearing impairment including 
deafness 

1308.11 
Section 2 
Page 50 

Orthopedic impairment 1308.12 
Section 2 
Page 50 

Visual impairment 1308.13 
Section 2 

Page 50-51 

Learning disabilities 1308.14 
Section 2 
Page 51 

Autism 1308.15 
Section 2 
Page 51 

Traumatic brain injury 1308.16 
Section 2 
Page 51 

Other impairments 1308.17 
Section 2 
Page 51 

Disabilities/health services coordination 1308.18 
Section 2 
Page 51 

Disabilities CSM, 
Nutrition CSM and 

Health CSM 

Disability CSM assures that the 
special needs of each child with 

disabilities are met. 
Ongoing 

E. Subpart E Education Services 
Performance Standards 

 

Developing individualized education program 
(IEP) 

1308.19 
Section 2 

Pages 43-46 

Disability CSM/ 
Family Services 

CSM / LEA / 
Education Team/ 

CS Team 

Individualized services are provided 
to meet the unique needs of each 

child with disabilities and their 
families are met. 

Ongoing 

F. Subpart F Nutrition  

Nutrition Services 1308.20 
Section 2 
Page 54 

Nutrition CSM/ 
Health CSM/ CS 

Team 

Nutrition program provides 
identification, education, resources 
and referrals to serve children with 

disabilities. 

Ongoing 

G. Subpart G Parent involvement  



 

17 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 

Parent participation and transition of children 
into Head Start and form Head Start to public 
school. 

1308.21 
Section 2 
Page 58 

Disability 
CSM/CSAM / 

Home Educator / 
Education Team 

Transitions are provided for children 
transferring from: 

-EHS to HS 
-HS to kinder 

-Or to other related agencies 

Ongoing 

 

 

O. 1310 HEAD START TRANSPORTATION 
 

Description Perform Standards P&P Manual Responsibility Outcome Measure Date 
Subpart B – Transportation Requirements 1310.10 – 1310.17  

General  1310.10 
Section 4 
Page 59 

CSAM 

Agency does not provide 
transportation; families are 

connected with transportation 
resources as needed. 

Ongoing 

Child Restraint System 1310.11 
Section 4 

Page 57-59 
CSM – Health 

Services 
All children are secured in 

appropriate child restraint systems. 

Any time a child is 
transported in a car 

or van. 
Required use of School Buses or Allowable 
Alternate Vehicle 

1310.12 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Maintenance of Vehicles 1310.13 
Section 4 

Page 56-57 
Facilities Manager 

All vehicles are maintained in safe 
operating condition. 

Daily 

Inspection of New Vehicles at the Time of 
Delivery 

1310.14 
Section 4 

Page 56-57 
Facilities Manager All new vehicles are inspected Upon delivery 

Operation of Vehicles 1310.15 
Section 4 

Page 56-57 
N/A N/A N/A 

Driver Qualifications 1310.16 
Section 4 

Page 56-57 
Personnel 

Administrator 
All staff driving county vehicles has a 

valid CDL. 
Daily 

Driver and Bus Monitor Training 1310.17 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Subpart C – Special Requirements 1310.20 – 1310.23  

Trip Routing 1310.20 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Safety Education 1310.21 
Section 2 
Page 65 

CSM – Family and 
Community 

All children and parents are provided 
with Pedestrian Safety Education. 

Annually in Sept. 
and Ongoing for 



 

18 
2013-2014 Policies and Procedures 
Policy Council approved:  
Board of Supervisors approved:  
Service Plan 

 

Partnerships children 

Children with Disabilities 1310.22 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Coordinated Transportation 1310.23 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
 


	Agenda
	SD.2_Temporary Hire of County Retiree - Waiver of 180 day _Sit Out_ Period
	SD.2_ATT_CCCERA 180 Day Waiver Memo
	SD.3_36th Annual Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., Commemoration and Humanitarian Awards Ceremony
	D.1_Hearing to Consider Two Appeals on the Phillips 66 Propane Recovery Project (County File _LP12-2073)
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _1 - CPC Resolution No. 19-2013
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _2 - Conditions of Approval Approved by CPC
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _3a - Appeal Letter 11_22_13 Shute Mihaley and Weinberger (SMW)
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _3b - SMW 11_18_13 Letter and Related Fox Report
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _4a - Appeal Letter 12_02_13 Communities for a Better Environment (CBE)
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _4b - CBE 11_19_13 Letter by Roger Lin
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _4c - CBE 11_19_13 Letter and Related Report by Greg Karras
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _4d - CBE 12_12_13 Letter Regarding WesPac Project
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _4e - CBE 01_07_14 Letter
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _5 - Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _6 - County Response
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _7 - Phillips 66 Response to Appeals
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _8 - CPC 11_19_13 Staff Report 
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _9 - Notification List
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _10 - Maps
	D.1_ATT_Exhibit _11 - CBE 01_14_14 Letter
	CBE LP12-2073 Appeal Supp C letter
	CBE Supp Att 4 Cover
	CBE Supp Attachment 4 Part 1
	CBE Supp Attachment 4 Part 2
	CBE Supp Att 5 Cover
	CBE Supp Attachment 5

	C.  1_Establish speed limits on Rudgear Road (Road No. 4141 and 4144A), Walnut Creek area. (District IV)
	C.  1_ATT_Rudgear Road Resolution
	C.  2_Accepting completion of warranty period and release of cash deposit under the Subdivision Agreement for road acceptance RA05-01186
	C.  2_ATT_Resolution No. 2014_19
	C.  3_CLAIMS
	C.  4_RESOLUTION FOR MIKE MCGOWAN
	C.  4_ATT_Resolution No. 2014_29
	C.  5_Resolution Honoring Richard Cabral Upon His Retirement
	C.  5_ATT_Resolution No. 2014_20
	C.  6_Resolution Honoring Chinese American Cooperation Council
	C.  6_ATT_Resolution No. 2014_21
	C.  7_Resolution  honoring Resident Brian Aiello as the 2014 Business person of the year
	C.  7_ATT_Resolution No. 2014_23
	C.  8_Resolution honoring the 100th Anniversary of the United States Power Squadrons
	C.  8_ATT_Resolution No. 2014_24
	C.  9_Declare Vacancy on the Hazardous Materials Commission
	C. 10_BYRON-BRENTWOOD-KNIGHTSEN UNION CEMETERY DISTRICT
	C. 11_APPOINTMENT TO COUNTY SERVICE AREA P-2A
	C. 12_CORRECTION TO SEAT TERM FOR BOARD APPOINTEE TO CONTRA COSTA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY BOARD OF DIRECTORS SEAT 2
	C. 12_ATT_Resolution No. 2014_25
	C. 12_ATT_Attachments to Resolution No. 2014_25 Board Committee Appointments
	C. 13_APPROPRIATIONS ADJUSTMENT FOR ELECTIONS FIXED ASSETS
	C. 13_ATT_APOO 5040_Clerk-Recorder TC27 Ballot Sorter
	C. 14_Cancel One (1) Lieutenant Position  and add One (1) Captain  Position to the Field Operations Bureau _ Town of Danville.
	C. 14_ATT_P300 No. 21404
	C. 15_Suspension of Competition and Direct Appointment in Animal Services Dept.
	C. 16_Add and cancel position in the Health Services Department
	C. 16_ATT_P-300 21411
	C. 17_Add and cancel position in the Health Services Department
	C. 17_ATT_P-300 _21412
	C. 18_Agreement _13-0369-SA Weighmaster_Petroleum Product Program
	C. 19_CA Seed Law MOU13-sd07
	C. 20_Approval to Submit an Application and Execute a Grant Award for Funding of Disability and Healthcare Insurance Fraud Prosecution
	C. 20_ATT_Resolution No. 2014_18
	C. 21_Apply for and Accept a Big Read Grant in the Amount of $20,000 from the National Endowment for the Arts
	C. 22_Facility Dog Program to Provide a Service Dog to Work With Victims of Crimes in Contra Costa County
	C. 23_2014 Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program funding
	C. 24_InTelegy Corporation Amendment
	C. 25_Contract Extension with Rubicon Programs
	C. 26_Contract _27-781-3 with The Bay Area Cardiology Medical Group, Inc. 
	C. 27_Contract with National Council on Crime and Delinquency (NCCD)
	C. 28_Risk Management Legal Defense Contracts
	C. 29_Approval of Purchase Order with R-Computer
	C. 30_Purchase Order for Hyland Software, Inc.
	C. 31_Contract _23-441-3 with DJR Healthcare Consulting, Inc.
	C. 32_Amendment _24-681-73(13) with LTP Carepro, Inc. (dba Pleasant Hill Manor)
	C. 33_Purchase Order - Buchanan Food Service
	C. 34_Purchase Order - Producers Dairy Products, Inc.
	C. 35_Purchase Order - Producers Dairy Products, Inc.
	C. 36_Purchase Order - Allen Packaging
	C. 37_Purchase Order - National Food Group, Inc.
	C. 38_Contra Costa County Planning Commission 2013 Annual Report
	C. 38_ATT_2013 Annual Report
	C. 39_Disposal of Surplus Property
	C. 39_ATT_Surplus Vehicles and Equipment
	C. 40_Bequest
	C. 41_REFERRAL TO FINANCE COMMITTEE VEHICLE LEASE, MAINTENANCE, AND FLEET MANAGEMENT PROGRAM and REVIEW OF EMS FIRST RESPONDER FEE IMPLEMENTATION
	C. 42_2013 Annual Report for the Finance Committee
	C. 43_CONTINUE Extension of Emergency Declaration Regarding Homelessness
	C. 44_2013-14 Community Services Bureau Policies and Procedures manual and Service Plan
	C. 44_ATT_2014 CSB Policies and Procedures
	2013-2014 P&P Cover
	2013-2014 SECTION 1-ADMINISTRATION
	2013-2014 SECTION 2-CHILD DEVELOPMENT
	2013-2014 SECTION 3-FAMILY AND COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS
	2013-2014 SECTION 4-PROGRAM DESIGN
	2013-2014 SECTION 5-ALTERNATIVE PAYMENT PROGRAM
	2013-2014 SECTION 6-LIHEAP
	2013-2014 SECTION 7-WRITTEN SERVICE PLAN

	C. 44_ATT_Clean Copy 2014 CSB Policy and Procedure
	2013-2014 P&P Cover
	P&P 2013-2014 Full Table of Contents
	2013-2014 SECTION 1-ADMINISTRATION
	2013-2014 SECTION 2-CHILD DEVELOPMENT
	2013-2014 SECTION 3-FAMILY AND COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS
	2013-2014 SECTION 4-PROGRAM DESIGN
	2013-2014 SECTION 5-ALTERNATIVE PAYMENT PROGRAM
	2013-2014 SECTION 6-LIHEAP
	2013-2014 SECTION 7-WRITTEN SERVICE PLAN


